Glen E. Bredon Sheaf Theory

Second Edition



Editorial Board S. Axler F.W. Gehring P.R. Halmos

Springer-Science+Business Media, LLC

- 1 TAKEUTI/ZARING. Introduction to Axiomatic Set Theory. 2nd ed.
- 2 OXTOBY. Measure and Category. 2nd ed.
- 3 SCHAEFER. Topological Vector Spaces.
- 4 HILTON/STAMMBACH. A Course in Homological Algebra. 2nd ed.
- 5 MAC LANE. Categories for the Working Mathematician.
- 6 HUGHES/PIPER. Projective Planes.
- 7 SERRE. A Course in Arithmetic.
- 8 TAKEUTI/ZARING. Axiomatic Set Theory.
- 9 HUMPHREYS. Introduction to Lie Algebras and Representation Theory.
- 10 COHEN. A Course in Simple Homotopy Theory.
- CONWAY, Functions of One Complex Variable I. 2nd ed.
- 12 BEALS. Advanced Mathematical Analysis.
- 13 ANDERSON/FULLER. Rings and Categories of Modules. 2nd ed.
- 14 GOLUBITSKY/GUILLEMIN. Stable Mappings and Their Singularities.
- 15 BERBERIAN. Lectures in Functional Analysis and Operator Theory.
- 16 WINTER. The Structure of Fields.
- 17 ROSENBLATT. Random Processes. 2nd ed.
- 18 HALMOS. Measure Theory.
- 19 HALMOS. A Hilbert Space Problem Book. 2nd ed.
- 20 HUSEMOLLER. Fibre Bundles. 3rd ed.
- 21 HUMPHREYS. Linear Algebraic Groups.
- 22 BARNES/MACK. An Algebraic Introduction to Mathematical Logic.
- 23 GREUB. Linear Algebra. 4th ed.
- 24 HOLMES. Geometric Functional Analysis and Its Applications.
- 25 HEWITT/STROMBERG. Real and Abstract Analysis.
- 26 MANES. Algebraic Theories.
- 27 KELLEY. General Topology.
- 28 ZARISKI/SAMUEL. Commutative Algebra. Vol.I.
- 29 ZARISKI/SAMUEL. Commutative Algebra. Vol.II.
- 30 JACOBSON. Lectures in Abstract Algebra I. Basic Concepts.
- 31 JACOBSON. Lectures in Abstract Algebra II. Linear Algebra.
- 32 JACOBSON. Lectures in Abstract Algebra III. Theory of Fields and Galois Theory.

- 33 HIRSCH. Differential Topology.
- 34 SPITZER. Principles of Random Walk. 2nd ed.
- 35 WERMER. Banach Algebras and Several Complex Variables. 2nd ed.
- 36 KELLEY/NAMIOKA et al. Linear Topological Spaces.
- 37 MONK. Mathematical Logic.
- 38 GRAUERT/FRITZSCHE. Several Complex Variables.
- 39 ARVESON. An Invitation to C*-Algebras.
- 40 KEMENY/SNELL/KNAPP. Denumerable Markov Chains. 2nd ed.
- 41 APOSTOL. Modular Functions and Dirichlet Series in Number Theory. 2nd ed.
- 42 SERRE. Linear Representations of Finite Groups.
- 43 GILLMAN/JERISON. Rings of Continuous Functions.
- 44 KENDIG. Elementary Algebraic Geometry.
- 45 LOÈVE. Probability Theory I. 4th ed.
- 46 LOÈVE. Probability Theory II. 4th ed.
- 47 MOISE. Geometric Topology in Dimensions 2 and 3.
- 48 SACHS/WU. General Relativity for Mathematicians.
- 49 GRUENBERG/WEIR. Linear Geometry. 2nd ed.
- 50 EDWARDS. Fermat's Last Theorem.
- 51 KLINGENBERG. A Course in Differential Geometry.
- 52 HARTSHORNE. Algebraic Geometry.
- 53 MANIN. A Course in Mathematical Logic.
- 54 GRAVER/WATKINS. Combinatorics with Emphasis on the Theory of Graphs.
- 55 BROWN/PEARCY. Introduction to Operator Theory I: Elements of Functional Analysis.
- 56 MASSEY. Algebraic Topology: An Introduction.
- 57 CROWELL/FOX. Introduction to Knot Theory.
- 58 KOBLITZ. *p*-adic Numbers, *p*-adic Analysis, and Zeta-Functions. 2nd ed.
- 59 LANG. Cyclotomic Fields.
- 60 ARNOLD. Mathematical Methods in Classical Mechanics. 2nd ed.

continued after index

Editorial Board S. Axler F.W. Gehring P.R. Halmos

Springer-Science+Business Media, LLC

- 1 TAKEUTI/ZARING. Introduction to Axiomatic Set Theory. 2nd ed.
- 2 OXTOBY. Measure and Category. 2nd ed.
- 3 SCHAEFER. Topological Vector Spaces.
- 4 HILTON/STAMMBACH. A Course in Homological Algebra.
- 5 MAC LANE. Categories for the Working Mathematician.
- 6 HUGHES/PIPER. Projective Planes.
- 7 SERRE. A Course in Arithmetic.
- 8 TAKEUTI/ZARING. Axiomatic Set Theory.
- 9 HUMPHREYS. Introduction to Lie Algebras and Representation Theory.
- 10 COHEN. A Course in Simple Homotopy Theory.
- 11 CONWAY. Functions of One Complex Variable I. 2nd ed.
- 12 BEALS. Advanced Mathematical Analysis.
- 13 ANDERSON/FULLER. Rings and Categories of Modules. 2nd ed.
- 14 GOLUBITSKY/GUILLEMIN. Stable Mappings and Their Singularities.
- 15 BERBERIAN. Lectures in Functional Analysis and Operator Theory.
- 16 WINTER. The Structure of Fields.
- 17 ROSENBLATT. Random Processes. 2nd ed.
- 18 HALMOS. Measure Theory.
- HALMOS. A Hilbert Space Problem Book. 2nd ed.
- 20 HUSEMOLLER. Fibre Bundles. 3rd ed.
- 21 HUMPHREYS. Linear Algebraic Groups.
- 22 BARNES/MACK. An Algebraic Introduction to Mathematical Logic.
- 23 GREUB. Linear Algebra. 4th ed.
- 24 HOLMES. Geometric Functional Analysis and Its Applications.
- 25 HEWITT/STROMBERG. Real and Abstract Analysis.
- 26 MANES. Algebraic Theories.
- 27 KELLEY. General Topology.
- 28 ZARISKI/SAMUEL. Commutative Algebra. Vol.I.
- 29 ZARISKI/SAMUEL. Commutative Algebra. Vol.II.
- 30 JACOBSON. Lectures in Abstract Algebra I. Basic Concepts.
- 31 JACOBSON. Lectures in Abstract Algebra II. Linear Algebra.
- 32 JACOBSON. Lectures in Abstract Algebra III. Theory of Fields and Gabais Theory.

- 33 HIRSCH. Differential Topology.
- 34 SPITZER. Principles of Random Walk. 2nd ed.
- 35 WERMER. Banach Algebras and Several Complex Variables. 2nd ed.
- 36 KELLEY/NAMIOKA et al. Linear Topological Spaces.
- 37 MONK. Mathematical Logic.
- 38 GRAUERT/FRITZSCHE. Several Complex Variables.
- 39 ARVESON. An Invitation to C*-Algebras.
- 40 KEMENY/SNELL/KNAPP. Denumerable Markov Chains. 2nd ed.
- APOSTOL. Modular Functions and Dirichlet Series in Number Theory. 2nd ed.
- 42 SERRE. Linear Representations of Finite Groups.
- 43 GILLMAN/JERISON. Rings of Continuous Functions.
- 44 KENDIG. Elementary Algebraic Geometry.
- 45 LOÈVE. Probability Theory I. 4th ed.
- 46 LOÈVE. Probability Theory II. 4th ed.47 MOISE. Geometric Topology in
- Dimensions 2 and 3.
- 48 SACHS/WU. General Relativity for Mathematicians.
- 49 GRUENBERG/WEIR. Linear Geometry. 2nd ed.
- 50 EDWARDS. Fermat's Last Theorem.
- 51 KLINGENBERG. A Course in Differential Geometry.
- 52 HARTSHORNE. Algebraic Geometry.
- 53 MANIN. A Course in Mathematical Logic.
- 54 GRAVER/WATKINS. Combinatorics with Emphasis on the Theory of Graphs.
- 55 BROWN/PEARCY. Introduction to Operator Theory I: Elements of Functional Analysis.
- 56 MASSEY. Algebraic Topology: An Introduction.
- 57 CROWELL/FOX. Introduction to Knot Theory.
- 58 KOBLITZ. *p*-adic Numbers, *p*-adic Analysis, and Zeta-Functions. 2nd ed.
- 59 LANG. Cyclotomic Fields.
- 60 ARNOLD. Mathematical Methods in Classical Mechanics. 2nd ed.

continued after index

Glen E. Bredon

Sheaf Theory

Second Edition



Glen E. Bredon Department of Mathematics Rutgers University New Brunswick, NJ 08903 USA

Editorial Board

S. Axler Department of Mathematics Michigan State University East Lansing, MI 48824 USA

F.W. Gehring Department of Mathematics University of Michigan Ann Arbor, MI 48109 USA P.R. Halmos Department of Mathematics Santa Clara University Santa Clara, CA 95053 USA

Mathematics Subject Classification (1991): 18F20, 32L10, 54B40

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data Bredon, Glen E. Sheaf theory / Glen E. Bredon. – 2nd ed. p. cm. – (Graduate texts in mathematics ; 170) Includes bibliographical references and index. ISBN 978-1-4612-6854-3 ISBN 978-1-4612-0647-7 (eBook) DOI 10.1007/978-1-4612-0647-7 1. Sheaf theory. I. Title. II. Series. QA612.36.B74 1997 514'.224 – dc20 96-44232

Printed on acid-free paper.

The first edition of this book was published by McGraw Hill Book Co., New York-Toronto, Ont.-London, © 1967.

© 1997 Springer Science+Business Media New York Originally published by Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg New York in 1997 Softcover reprint of the hardcover 2nd edition 1997

All rights reserved. This work may not be translated or copied in whole or in part without the written permission of the publisher Springer-Science+Business Media, LLC, except for brief excerpts in connection with reviews or scholarly analysis. Use in connection with any form of information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed is forbidden.

The use of general descriptive names, trade names, trademarks, etc., in this publication, even if the former are not especially identified, is not to be taken as a sign that such names, as understood by the Trade Marks and Merchandise Marks Act, may accordingly be used freely by anyone.

Production managed by Timothy Taylor; manufacturing supervised by Jacqui Ashri. Camera-ready copy prepared from the author's LaTeX files.

987654321

Preface

This book is primarily concerned with the study of cohomology theories of general topological spaces with "general coefficient systems." Sheaves play several roles in this study. For example, they provide a suitable notion of "general coefficient systems." Moreover, they furnish us with a common method of defining various cohomology theories and of comparison between different cohomology theories.

The parts of the theory of sheaves covered here are those areas important to algebraic topology. Sheaf theory is also important in other fields of mathematics, notably algebraic geometry, but that is outside the scope of the present book. Thus a more descriptive title for this book might have been Algebraic Topology from the Point of View of Sheaf Theory.

Several innovations will be found in this book. Notably, the concept of the "tautness" of a subspace (an adaptation of an analogous notion of Spanier to sheaf-theoretic cohomology) is introduced and exploited throughout the book. The fact that sheaf-theoretic cohomology satisfies the homotopy property is proved for general topological spaces.¹ Also, relative cohomology is introduced into sheaf theory. Concerning relative cohomology, it should be noted that sheaf-theoretic cohomology is usually considered as a "single space" theory. This is not without reason, since cohomology relative to a closed subspace can be obtained by taking coefficients in a certain type of sheaf, while that relative to an open subspace (or, more generally, to a taut subspace) can be obtained by taking cohomology with respect to a special family of supports. However, even in these cases, it is sometimes of notational advantage to have a relative cohomology theory. For example, in our treatment of characteristic classes in Chapter IV the use of relative cohomology enables us to develop the theory in full generality and with relatively simple notation. Our definition of relative cohomology in sheaf theory is the first fully satisfactory one to be given. It is of interest to note that, unlike absolute cohomology, the relative cohomology groups are not the derived functors of the relative cohomology group in degree zero (but they usually are so in most cases of interest).

The reader should be familiar with elementary homological algebra. Specifically, he should be at home with the concepts of category and functor, with the algebraic theory of chain complexes, and with tensor products and direct limits. A thorough background in algebraic topology is also nec-

¹This is not even restricted to Hausdorff spaces. This result was previously known only for paracompact spaces. The proof uses the notion of a "relatively Hausdorff subspace" introduced here. Although it might be thought that such generality is of no use, it (or rather its mother theorem II-11.1) is employed to advantage when dealing with the derived functor of the inverse limit functor.

essary. In Chapters IV, V and VI it is assumed that the reader is familiar with the theory of spectral sequences and specifically with the spectral sequence of a double complex. In Appendix A we give an outline of this theory for the convenience of the reader and to fix our notation.

In Chapter I we give the basic definitions in sheaf theory, develop some basic properties, and discuss the various methods of constructing new sheaves out of old ones. Chapter II, which is the backbone of the book, develops the sheaf-theoretic cohomology theory and many of its properties.

Chapter III is a short chapter in which we discuss the Alexander-Spanier, singular, de Rham, and Čech cohomology theories. The methods of sheaf theory are used to prove the isomorphisms, under suitable restrictions, of these cohomology theories to sheaf-theoretic cohomology. In particular, the de Rham theorem is discussed at some length. Most of this chapter can be read after Section 9 of Chapter II and all of it can be read after Section 12 of Chapter II.

In Chapter IV the theory of spectral sequences is applied to sheaf cohomology and the spectral sequences of Leray, Borel, Cartan, and Fary are derived. Several applications of these spectral sequences are also discussed. These results, particularly the Leray spectral sequence, are among the most important and useful areas of the theory of sheaves. For example, in the theory of transformation groups the Leray spectral sequence of the map to the orbit space is of great interest, as are the Leray spectral sequences of some related mappings; see [15].

Chapter V is an exposition of the homology theory of locally compact spaces with coefficients in a sheaf introduced by A. Borel and J. C. Moore. Several innovations are to be found in this chapter. Notably, we give a definition, in full generality, of the homomorphism induced by a map of spaces, and a theorem of the Vietoris type is proved. Several applications of the homology theory are discussed, notably the generalized Poincaré duality theorem for which this homology theory was developed. Other applications are found in the last few sections of this chapter. Notably, three sections are devoted to a fairly complete discussion of generalized manifolds. Because of the depth of our treatment of Borel-Moore homology, the first two sections of the chapter are devoted to technical development of some general concepts, such as the notion and simple properties of a cosheaf and of the operation of dualization between sheaves and cosheaves. This development is not really needed for the definition of the homology theory in the third section, but is needed in the treatment of the deeper properties of the theory in later sections of the chapter. For this reason, our development of the theory may seem a bit wordy and overcomplicated to the neophyte, in comparison to treatments with minimal depth.

In Chapter VI we investigate the theory of cosheaves (on general spaces) somewhat more deeply than in Chapter V. This is applied to Čech homology, enabling us to obtain some uniqueness results not contained in those of Chaper V.

At the end of each chapter is a list of exercises by which the student

may check his understanding of the material. The results of a few of the easier exercises are also used in the text. Solutions to many of the exercises are given in Appendix B. Those exercises having solutions in Appendix B are marked with the symbol (§).

The author owes an obvious debt to the book of Godement [40] and to the article of Grothendieck [41], as well as to numerous other works. The book was born as a private set of lecture notes for a course in the theory of sheaves that the author gave at the University of California in the spring of 1964. Portions of the manuscript for the first edition were read by A. Borel, M. Herrera, and E. Spanier, who made some useful suggestions. Special thanks are owed to Per Holm, who read the entire manuscript of that edition and whose perceptive criticism led to several improvements.

This book was originally published by McGraw-Hill in 1967. For this second edition, it has been substantially rewritten with the addition of over eighty examples and of further explanatory material, and, of course, the correction of the few errors known to the author. Some more recent discoveries have been incorporated, particularly in Sections II-16 and IV-8 regarding cohomology dimension, in Chapter IV regarding the Oliver transfer and the Conner conjecture, and in Chapter V regarding generalized manifolds. The Appendix B of solutions to selected exercises is also a new feature of this edition, one that should greatly aid the student in learning the theory of sheaves. Exercises were chosen for solution on the basis of their difficulty, or because of an interesting solution, or because of the usage of the result in the main text.

Among the items added for this edition are new sections on Čech cohomology, the Oliver transfer, intersection theory, generalized manifolds, locally homogeneous spaces, homological fibrations and p-adic transformation groups. Also, Chapter VI on cosheaves and Čech homology is new to this edition. It is based on [12].

Several of the added examples assume some items yet to be proved, such as the acyclicity of a contractible space or that sheaf cohomology and singular cohomology agree on nice spaces. Disallowing such forward references would have impoverished our options for the examples.

As well as the common use of the symbol \Box to signal the end, or absence, of a proof, we use the symbol \diamondsuit to indicate the end of an example, although that is usually obvious.

Throughout the book the word "map" means a *morphism* in the particular category being discussed. Thus for spaces "map" means "continuous function" and for groups "map" means "homomorphism."

Occasionally we use the equal sign to mean a "canonical" isomorphism, perhaps not, strictly speaking, an equality. The word "canonical" is often used for the concept for which the word "natural" was used before category theory gave that word a precise meaning. That is, "canonical" certainly means natural when the latter has meaning, but it means more: that which might be termed "God-given." We shall make no attempt to define that concept precisely. (Thanks to Dennis Sullivan for a theological discussion

in 1969.)

The manuscript for this second edition was prepared using the SCIEN-TIFIC WORD technical word processing software system published by TCI Software research, Inc. This is a "front end" for Donald Knuth's TEX typesetting system and the LATEX extensions to it developed by Leslie Lamport. Without SCIENTIFIC WORD it is doubtful that the author would have had the energy to complete this project.

NORTH FORK, CA 93643 November 22, 1996

viii

Contents

Preface

| Ι | \mathbf{Sh} | leaves and Presheaves | 1 |
|----|---------------|--|-----|
| | 1 | Definitions | 1 |
| | 2 | Homomorphisms, subsheaves, and quotient sheaves | 8 |
| | 3 | Direct and inverse images | 12 |
| | 4 | Cohomomorphisms | 14 |
| | 5 | Algebraic constructions | 16 |
| | 6 | Supports | 21 |
| | 7 | Classical cohomology theories | 24 |
| | | Exercises | 30 |
| II | \mathbf{Sh} | eaf Cohomology | 33 |
| | 1 | Differential sheaves and resolutions | 34 |
| | 2 | The canonical resolution and sheaf cohomology | 36 |
| | 3 | Injective sheaves | 41 |
| | 4 | Acyclic sheaves | 46 |
| | 5 | Flabby sheaves | 47 |
| | 6 | Connected sequences of functors | 52 |
| | 7 | Axioms for cohomology and the cup product | 56 |
| | 8 | Maps of spaces | 61 |
| | 9 | Φ -soft and Φ -fine sheaves \ldots | 65 |
| | 10 | Subspaces | 71 |
| | 11 | The Vietoris mapping theorem and homotopy invariance . | 75 |
| | 12 | Relative cohomology | 83 |
| | 13 | Mayer-Vietoris theorems | 94 |
| | 14 | Continuity | 100 |
| | 15 | The Künneth and universal coefficient theorems | 107 |
| | 16 | Dimension | 110 |
| | 17 | Local connectivity | 126 |
| | 18 | Change of supports; local cohomology groups | 134 |
| | 19 | The transfer homomorphism and the Smith sequences | 137 |
| | 20 | Steenrod's cyclic reduced powers | 148 |
| | 21 | The Steenrod operations | 162 |
| | | Exercises | 169 |

v

| Π | I Co | omparison with Other Cohomology Theories | 179 |
|----|----------|---|-----|
| | 1 | Singular cohomology | 179 |
| | 2 | Alexander-Spanier cohomology | 185 |
| | 3 | de Rham cohomology | 187 |
| | 4 | Čech cohomology | 189 |
| | | Exercises | 194 |
| | | | |
| IV | ⁄ Ap | oplications of Spectral Sequences | 197 |
| | 1 | The spectral sequence of a differential sheaf | 198 |
| | 2 | The fundamental theorems of sheaves | 202 |
| | 3 | Direct image relative to a support family | 210 |
| | 4 | The Leray sheaf | 213 |
| | 5 | Extension of a support family by a family on the base space | 219 |
| | 6 | The Leray spectral sequence of a map | 221 |
| | 7 | Fiber bundles | 227 |
| | 8 | Dimension | 237 |
| | 9 | The spectral sequences of Borel and Cartan | 246 |
| | 10 | Characteristic classes | 251 |
| | 11 | The spectral sequence of a filtered differential sheaf | 257 |
| | 12 | The Fary spectral sequence | 262 |
| | 13 | Sphere bundles with singularities | 264 |
| | 14 | The Oliver transfer and the Conner conjecture | 267 |
| | | Exercises | 275 |
| | | | |
| v | Bo | rel-Moore Homology | 279 |
| | 1 | Cosheaves | 281 |
| | 2 | The dual of a differential cosheaf | 289 |
| | 3 | Homology theory | 292 |
| | 4 | Maps of spaces | 299 |
| | 5 | Subspaces and relative homology | 303 |
| | 6 | The Vietoris theorem, homotopy, and covering spaces | 317 |
| | 7 | The homology sheaf of a map | 322 |
| | 8 | The basic spectral sequences | 324 |
| | 9 | Poincaré duality | 329 |
| | 10 | The cap product | 335 |
| | 11 | Intersection theory | 344 |
| | 12 | Uniqueness theorems | 349 |
| | 13 | Uniqueness theorems for maps and relative homology | 358 |
| | 14 | The Künneth formula | 364 |
| | 15 | Change of rings | 368 |
| | 16 | Generalized manifolds | 373 |
| | 17 | Locally homogeneous spaces | 392 |
| | 18 | Homological fibrations and <i>p</i> -adic transformation groups | 394 |
| | 19 | The transfer homomorphism in homology | 403 |
| | 20 | Smith theory in homology | 407 |
| | | Exercises | 411 |

| \mathbf{V} | I Co | sheaves and Čech Homology | 417 | |
|--------------|-----------------|---|-----|--|
| | 1 | Theory of cosheaves | 418 | |
| | 2 | Local triviality | 420 | |
| | 3 | Local isomorphisms | 421 | |
| | 4 | Čech homology | 424 | |
| | 5 | The reflector | 428 | |
| | 6 | Spectral sequences | 431 | |
| | 7 | Coresolutions | 432 | |
| | 8 | Relative Čech homology | 434 | |
| | 9 | Locally paracompact spaces | 438 | |
| | 10 | Borel-Moore homology | 439 | |
| | 11 | Modified Borel-Moore homology | 442 | |
| | 12 | Singular homology | 443 | |
| | 13 | Acyclic coverings | 445 | |
| | 14 | Applications to maps | 446 | |
| | | Exercises | 448 | |
| A | Sp | ectral Sequences | 449 | |
| | 1 | The spectral sequence of a filtered complex | 449 | |
| | 2 | Double complexes | 451 | |
| | 3 | Products | 453 | |
| | 4 | Homomorphisms | 454 | |
| в | So | lutions to Selected Exercises | 455 | |
| | | Solutions for Chapter I. | 455 | |
| | | Solutions for Chapter II | 459 | |
| | | Solutions for Chapter III | 472 | |
| | | Solutions for Chapter IV | 473 | |
| | | Solutions for Chapter V | 480 | |
| | | Solutions for Chapter VI | 486 | |
| | Bil | bliography | 487 | |
| | List of Symbols | | | |
| | \mathbf{Lis} | t of Selected Facts | 493 | |
| | Inc | lex | 495 | |

Chapter I Sheaves and Presheaves

In this chapter we shall develop the basic properties of sheaves and presheaves and shall give many of the fundamental definitions to be used throughout the book. In Sections 2 and 5 various algebraic operations on sheaves are introduced. If we are given a map between two topological spaces, then a sheaf on either space induces, in a natural way, a sheaf on the other space, and this is the topic of Section 3. Sheaves on a fixed space form a category whose morphisms are called homomorphisms. In Section 4, this fact is extended to the collection of sheaves on all topological spaces with morphisms now being maps f of spaces together with so-called f-cohomomorphisms of sheaves on these spaces. In Section 6 the basic notion of a family of supports is defined and a fundamental theorem is proved concerning the relationship between a certain type of presheaf and the cross-sections of the associated sheaf. This theorem is applied in Section 7 to show how, in certain circumstances, the classical singular, Alexander-Spanier, and de Rham cohomology theories can be described in terms of sheaves.

1 Definitions

Of central importance in this book is the notion of a presheaf (of abelian groups) on a topological space X. A presheaf A on X is a function that assigns, to each open set $U \subset X$, an abelian group A(U) and that assigns, to each pair $U \subset V$ of open sets, a homomorphism (called the restriction)

$$r_{U,V}: A(V) \to A(U)$$

in such a way that

$$r_{U,U} = 1$$

and

 $r_{U,V}r_{V,W} = r_{U,W}$ when $U \subset V \subset W$.

Thus, using functorial terminology, we have the following definition:

1.1. Definition. Let X be a topological space. A "presheaf" A (of abelian groups) on X is a contravariant functor from the category of open subsets of X and inclusions to the category of abelian groups.

In general, one may define a presheaf with values in an arbitrary category. Thus, if each A(U) is a ring and the $r_{U,V}$ are ring homomorphisms, then A is called a presheaf of rings. Similarly, let A be a presheaf of rings on X and suppose that B is a presheaf on X such that each B(U) is an A(U)-module and the $r_{U,V} : B(V) \to B(U)$ are module homomorphisms [that is, if $\alpha \in A(V), \beta \in B(V)$ then $r_{U,V}(\alpha\beta) = r_{U,V}(\alpha)r_{U,V}(\beta)$]. Then Bis said to be an A-module.

Occasionally, for reasons to be explained later, we refer to elements of A(U) as "sections of A over U." If $s \in A(V)$ and $U \subset V$ then we use the notation s|U for $r_{U,V}(s)$ and call it the "restriction of s to U."

Examples of presheaves are abundant in mathematics. For instance, if M is an abelian group, then there is the "constant presheaf" A with A(U) = M for all U and $r_{U,V} = 1$ for all $U \subset V$. We also have the presheaf B assigning to U the group (under pointwise addition) B(U) of all functions from U to M, where $r_{U,V}$ is the canonical restriction. If M is the group of real numbers, we also have the presheaf C, with C(U) being the group of all *continuous* real-valued functions on U. Similarly, one has the presheaves of differentiable functions on (open subsets of) a differentiable manifold X; of differential p-forms on X; of vector fields on X; and so on. In algebraic topology one has, for example, the presheaf of singular p-cochains of open subsets $U \subset X$; the presheaf assigning to U its pth singular cohomology group; the presheaf assigning to U the pth singular chain group of X mod X - U; and so on.

It is often the case that a presheaf A on X will have a relatively simple structure "locally about a point $x \in X$." To make precise what is meant by this, one introduces the notion of a "germ" of A at the point $x \in X$. Consider the set \mathfrak{M} of all elements $s \in A(U)$ for all open sets $U \subset X$ with $x \in U$. We say that the elements $s \in A(U)$ and $t \in A(V)$ of \mathfrak{M} are equivalent if there is a neighborhood $W \subset U \cap V$ of x in X with $r_{W,U}(s) = r_{W,V}(t)$. The equivalence classes of \mathfrak{M} under this equivalence relation are called the germs of A at x. The equivalence class containing $s \in A(U)$ is called the germ of s at $x \in U$. Thus, for example, one has the notion of the germ of a continuous real-valued function f at any point of the domain of f.

Of course, the set \mathscr{A}_x of germs of A at x that we have constructed is none other than the direct limit

$$\mathscr{A}_x = \varinjlim A(U),$$

where U ranges over the open neighborhoods of x in X. The set \mathscr{A}_x inherits a canonical group structure from the groups A(U). The disjoint union \mathscr{A} of the \mathscr{A}_x for $x \in X$ provides information about the local structure of A, but most global structure has been lost, since we have discarded all relationships between the \mathscr{A}_x for x varying. In order to retrieve some global structure, a topology is introduced into the set \mathscr{A} of germs of A, as follows. Fix an element $s \in A(U)$. Then for each $x \in U$ we have the germ s_x of s at x. For s fixed, the set of all germs $s_x \in \mathscr{A}_x$ for $x \in U$ is taken

§1. Definitions

to be an open set in \mathscr{A} . The topology of \mathscr{A} is taken to be the topology generated by these open sets. (We shall describe this more precisely later in this section.) With this topology, \mathscr{A} is called "the sheaf generated by the presheaf A" or "the sheaf of germs of A," and we denote this by

$$\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{S}heaf(A) \text{ or } \mathcal{A} = \mathcal{S}heaf(U \mapsto A(U)).$$

In general, the topology of \mathscr{A} is highly non-Hausdorff.

There is a natural map $\pi : \mathscr{A} \to X$ taking \mathscr{A}_x into the point x. It will be verified later in this section that π is a local homeomorphism. That is, each point $t \in \mathscr{A}$ has a neighborhood N such that the restriction $\pi|N$ is a homeomorphism onto a neighborhood of $\pi(t)$. (The set $\{s_x \mid x \in U\}$ for $s \in A(U)$ is such a set N.) Also it is the case that in a certain natural sense, the group operations in \mathscr{A}_x , for x varying, are continuous in x. These facts lead us to the basic definition of a sheaf on X:

1.2. Definition. A "sheaf" (of abelian groups) on X is a pair (\mathcal{A}, π) where:

- (i) \mathcal{A} is a topological space (not Hausdorff in general);
- (ii) $\pi : \mathscr{A} \to X$ is a local homeomorphism onto X;
- (iii) each $\mathscr{A}_x = \pi^{-1}(x)$, for $x \in X$, is an abelian group (and is called the "stalk" of \mathscr{A} at x);
- (iv) the group operations are continuous.

(In practice, we always regard the map π as being understood and we speak of the sheaf \mathscr{A} .) The meaning of (iv) is as follows: Let $\mathscr{A} \triangle \mathscr{A}$ be the subspace of $\mathscr{A} \times \mathscr{A}$ consisting of those pairs $\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle$ with $\pi(\alpha) = \pi(\beta)$. Then the function $\mathscr{A} \triangle \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}$ taking $\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle \mapsto \alpha - \beta$ is continuous. [Equivalently, $\alpha \mapsto -\alpha$ of $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}$ is continuous and $\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle \mapsto \alpha + \beta$ of $\mathscr{A} \triangle \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}$ is continuous.]

Similarly one may define, for example, a sheaf of rings or a module (sheaf of modules) over a sheaf of rings.

Thus, for a sheaf \mathscr{R} of abelian groups to be a *sheaf of rings*, each stalk is assumed to have the (given) structure of a ring, and the map $\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle \mapsto \alpha\beta$ of $\mathscr{R} \bigtriangleup \mathscr{R} \to \mathscr{R}$ is assumed to be continuous (in addition to (iv)). By a *sheaf of rings with unit* we mean a sheaf of rings in which each stalk has a unit and the assignment to each $x \in X$ of the unit $1_x \in \mathscr{R}_x$ is continuous.¹

If \mathscr{R} is a sheaf of rings and if \mathscr{A} is a sheaf in which each stalk \mathscr{A}_x has a given \mathscr{R}_x -module structure, then \mathscr{A} is called an \mathscr{R} -module (or a module over \mathscr{R}) if the map $\mathscr{R} \triangle \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}$ given by $\langle \rho, \alpha \rangle \mapsto \rho \alpha$ is continuous, where, of course, $\mathscr{R} \triangle \mathscr{A} = \{ \langle \rho, \alpha \rangle \in \mathscr{R} \times \mathscr{A} \mid \pi(\rho) = \pi(\alpha) \}.$

¹Example 1.13 shows that this latter condition is not superfluous.

For example, the sheaf Ω^0 of germs of smooth real-valued functions on a differentiable manifold M^n is a sheaf of rings with unit, and the sheaf Ω^p of germs of differential *p*-forms on M^n is an Ω^0 -module; see Section 7.

If \mathscr{A} is a sheaf on X with projection $\pi : \mathscr{A} \to X$ and if $Y \subset X$, then the *restriction* $\mathscr{A}|Y$ of \mathscr{A} is defined to be

$$\mathscr{A}|Y = \pi^{-1}(Y),$$

which is a sheaf on Y.

If \mathscr{A} is a sheaf on X and if $Y \subset X$, then a section (or cross section) of \mathscr{A} over Y is a map $s: Y \to \mathscr{A}$ such that $\pi \circ s$ is the identity. Clearly the pointwise sum or difference (or product in a sheaf of rings, and so on) of two sections over Y is a section over Y.

Every point $x \in \mathcal{Y}$ admits a section s over some neighborhood U of x by (ii). It follows that s - s is a section over U taking the value 0 in each stalk. This shows that the zero section $0: X \to \mathcal{A}$, is indeed a section. It follows that for any $Y \subset X$, the set $\mathcal{A}(Y)$ of sections over Y forms an abelian group. Similarly, $\mathcal{R}(Y)$ is a ring (with unit) if \mathcal{R} is a sheaf of rings (with unit), and moreover, $\mathcal{A}(Y)$ is an $\mathcal{R}(Y)$ -module if \mathcal{A} is an \mathcal{R} -module.

Clearly, the restriction $\mathscr{A}(Y) \to \mathscr{A}(Y')$, for $Y' \subset Y$, is a homomorphism. Thus, in particular, the assignment $U \mapsto \mathscr{A}(U)$, for open sets $U \subset X$, defines a presheaf on X. This presheaf is called the *presheaf of sections* of \mathscr{A} .

Another common notation for the group of all sections of \mathscr{A} is

$$\Gamma(\mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{A}(X).$$

See Section 6 for an elaboration on this notation.

We shall now list some elementary consequences of Definition 1.2. The reader may supply any needed argument.

- (a) π is an open map.
- (b) Any section of \mathscr{A} over an open set is an open map.
- (c) Any element of \mathcal{A} is in the range of some section over some open set.
- (d) The set of all images of sections over open sets is a base for the topology of \mathscr{A} .
- (e) For any two sections $s \in \mathcal{A}(U)$ and $t \in \mathcal{A}(V)$, U and V open, the set W of points $x \in U \cap V$ such that s(x) = t(x) is open.

Note that if \mathscr{A} were Hausdorff then the set W of (e) would also be closed in $U \cap V$. That is generally false for sheaves. Thus (e) indicates the "strangeness" of the topology of \mathscr{A} . It is a consequence of part (ii) of Definition 1.2.

§1. Definitions

1.3. Example. A simple example of a non-Hausdorff sheaf is the sheaf on the real line that has zero stalk everywhere but at 0, and has stalk \mathbb{Z}_2 at 0. There is only one topology consistent with Definition 1.2, and the two points in the stalk at 0 cannot be separated by open sets (sections over open sets in \mathbb{R}). As a topological space, this is the standard example of a non-Hausdorff 1-manifold.

1.4. Example. Perhaps a more illuminating and more important example of a non-Hausdorff sheaf is the sheaf \mathscr{C} of germs of continuous real-valued functions on \mathbb{R} . The function f(x) = x for $x \ge 0$ and f(x) = 0 for $x \le 0$ has a germ f_0 at $0 \in \mathbb{R}$ that does not equal the germ 0_0 of the zero function, but a section through f_0 takes value 0 in the stalk at x for all x < 0 sufficiently near 0. Thus f_0 and 0_0 cannot be separated by open sets in \mathscr{C} . The sheaf of germs of differentiable functions gives a similar example, but the sheaf of germs of real analytic functions is Hausdorff.

1.5. We now describe more precisely the construction of the sheaf generated by a given presheaf.

Let A be a presheaf on X. For each open set $U \subset X$ consider the space $U \times A(U)$, where U has the subspace topology and A(U) has the discrete topology. Form the topological sum

$$E = \underset{U \subset X}{+} (U \times A(U)).$$

Consider the following equivalence relation R on E: If $\langle x, s \rangle \in U \times A(U)$ and $\langle y, t \rangle \in V \times A(V)$ then $\langle x, s \rangle R \langle y, t \rangle \Leftrightarrow (x = y \text{ and there exists an open}$ neighborhood W of x with $W \subset U \cap V$ and s|W = t|W.

Let \mathscr{A} be the quotient space E/R and let $\pi : \mathscr{A} \to X$ be the projection induced by the map $p : E \to X$ taking $\langle x, s \rangle \mapsto x$. We have the commutative diagram



Recall that the topology of $\mathscr{A} = E/R$ is defined by: $Y \subset \mathscr{A}$ is open $\Leftrightarrow q^{-1}(Y)$ is open in E. Note also that for any open subset E' of E, the saturation $R(E') = q^{-1}q(E')$ of E' is open. Thus q is an open map. Now π is continuous, since p is open and q is continuous; π is locally one-to-one, since p is locally one-to-one and q is onto. Thus π is a local homeomorphism.

Clearly $\mathscr{A}_x = \pi^{-1}(x)$ is the direct limit of A(U) for U ranging over the open neighborhoods of x. Thus the stalk \mathscr{A}_x has a canonical group structure. It is easy to see that the group operations in \mathscr{A} are continuous since they are so in E. Therefore \mathscr{A} is a sheaf.

 \mathcal{A} is called the sheaf generated by the presheaf A. As we have noted, this is denoted by $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{Sheaf}(A)$ or $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{Sheaf}(U \mapsto A(U))$.

1.6. Let \mathscr{A}_0 be a sheaf, A the presheaf of sections of \mathscr{A}_0 , and $\mathscr{A} = \mathscr{Sheaf}(A)$. Any element of \mathscr{A}_0 lying over $x \in X$ has a local section about it, and this determines an element of \mathscr{A} over x. This gives a canonical function $\lambda : \mathscr{A}_0 \to \mathscr{A}$. By the definition of the topology of \mathscr{A}, λ is open and continuous. It is also bijective on each stalk, and hence globally. Therefore λ is a homeomorphism. It also preserves group operations. Thus \mathscr{A}_0 and \mathscr{A} are essentially the same. For this reason we shall usually not distinguish between a sheaf and its presheaf of sections and shall denote them by the same symbol.

1.7. Let A be a presheaf and \mathscr{A} the sheaf that it generates. For any open set $U \subset X$ there is a natural map $\theta_U : A(U) \to \mathscr{A}(U)$ (recall the construction of \mathscr{A}) that is a homomorphism and commutes with restrictions (which is the meaning of "natural"). When is θ_U an isomorphism for all U? Recalling that $\mathscr{A}_x = \lim_{x \in U} A(U)$, it follows that an element $s \in A(U)$ is in Ker $\theta_U \Leftrightarrow s$ is "locally trivial" (that is, for every $x \in U$ there is a neighborhood V of x such that s|V=0).

Thus θ_U is a monomorphism for all $U \subset X \Leftrightarrow$ the following condition holds:

(S1) If $U = \bigcup_{\alpha} U_{\alpha}$, with U_{α} open in X, and $s, t \in A(U)$ are such that $s|U_{\alpha} = t|U_{\alpha}$ for all α , then s = t.²

A presheaf satisfying condition (S1) is called a monopresheaf.

Similarly, let $t \in \mathscr{A}(U)$. For each $x \in U$ there is a neighborhood U_x of x and an element $s_x \in A(U_x)$ with $\theta_{U_x}(s_x)(x) = t(x)$. Since $\pi : \mathscr{A} \to X$ is a local homeomorphism, $\theta(s_x)$ and t coincide in some neighborhood V_x of x. We may assume that $V_x = U_x$. Now $\theta(s_x|U_x \cap U_y) = \theta(s_y|U_x \cap U_y)$ so that if (S1) holds, we obtain that $s_x|U_x \cap U_y = s_y|U_x \cap U_y$. If A were a presheaf of sections (of any map), then this condition would imply that the s_x are restrictions to U_x of a section $s \in A(U)$. Conversely, if there is an element $s \in A(U)$ with $s|U_x = s_x$ for all x, then $\theta(s) = t$.

We have shown that if (S1) holds, then θ_U is surjective for all U (and hence is an isomorphism) \Leftrightarrow the following condition is satisfied:

(S2) Let $\{U_{\alpha}\}$ be a collection of open sets in X and let $U = \bigcup U_{\alpha}$. If $s_{\alpha} \in A(U_{\alpha})$ are given such that $s_{\alpha}|U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta} = s_{\beta}|U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta}$ for all α, β , then there exists an element $s \in A(U)$ with $s|U_{\alpha} = s_{\alpha}$ for all α .

A presheaf satisfying (S2) is called *conjunctive*. If it only satisfies (S2) for a particular collection $\{U_{\alpha}\}$, then it is said to be *conjunctive for* $\{U_{\alpha}\}$.

Thus, sheaves are in one-to-one correspondence with presheaves satisfying (S1) and (S2), that is, with conjunctive monopresheaves. For this

²Clearly, we could take t = 0 here, i.e., replace (s, t) with (s - t, 0). However, the condition is phrased so that it applies to presheaves of sets.

§1. Definitions

reason it is common practice not to distinguish between sheaves and conjunctive monopresheaves.³

Note that with the notation $U_{\alpha,\beta} = U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta}$, (S1) and (S2) are equivalent to the hypothesis that the sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow A(U) \stackrel{f}{\longrightarrow} \prod_{\alpha} A(U_{\alpha}) \stackrel{g}{\longrightarrow} \prod_{\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle} A(U_{\alpha, \beta})$$

is exact, where $f(s) = \prod_{\alpha} (s|U_{\alpha})$ and

$$g\left(\prod_{\alpha} s_{\alpha}\right) = \prod_{\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle} (s_{\alpha}|U_{\alpha,\beta} - s_{\beta}|U_{\alpha,\beta}),$$

where $\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle$ denotes ordered pairs of indices.

1.8. Definition. Let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X and let $Y \subset X$. Then $\mathscr{A}|Y = \pi^{-1}(Y)$ is a sheaf on Y called the "restriction" of \mathscr{A} to Y.

1.9. Definition. Let G be an abelian group. The "constant" sheaf on X with stalk G is the sheaf $X \times G$ (giving G the discrete topology). It is also denoted by G when the context indicates this as a sheaf. A sheaf \mathcal{A} on X is said to be "locally constant" if every point of X has a neighborhood U such that $\mathcal{A}|U$ is constant.

1.10. Definition. If \mathscr{A} is a sheaf on X and $s \in \mathscr{A}(X)$ is a section, then the "support" of s is defined to be the closed set $|s| = \{x \in X | s(x) \neq 0\}$.

The set |s| is closed since its complement is the set of points at which s coincides with the zero section, and that is open by item (e) on page 4.

1.11. Example. An important example of a sheaf is the orientation sheaf on an *n*-manifold M^n . Using singular homology, this can be defined as the sheaf $\mathcal{O}_n = \mathscr{Sheaf}(U \mapsto H_n(M^n, M^n - U; \mathbb{Z}))$. It is easy to see that this is a locally constant sheaf with stalks \mathbb{Z} . It is constant if M^n is orientable. If M^n has a boundary then \mathcal{O}_n is no longer locally constant since its stalks are zero over points of the boundary.

More generally, for any space X and index p there is the sheaf $\mathscr{H}_p(X) = \mathscr{Sheaf}(U \mapsto H_p(X, X - U; \mathbb{Z}))$, which is called the "p-th local homology sheaf" of X. Generally, it has a rather complicated structure. The reader would benefit by studying it for some simple spaces. For example, the sheaf $\mathscr{H}_1(\bot)$ has stalk $\mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}$ at the triple point, stalks 0 at the three end points, and stalks \mathbb{Z} elsewhere. How do these stalks fit together? \diamondsuit

 $^{^{3}}$ Indeed, in certain generalizations of the theory, Definition 1.2 is not available and the other notion is used. This will not be of concern to us in this book.

1.12. Example. Consider the presheaf P on the real line \mathbb{R} that assigns to an open set $U \subset \mathbb{R}$, the group P(U) of all real-valued polynomial functions on U. Then P is a monopresheaf that is conjunctive for *coverings* of \mathbb{R} , but it is not conjunctive for arbitrary collections of open sets. For example, the element $1 \in P((0,1))$ (the constant function with value 1) and the element $x \in P((2,3))$ do not come from any single polynomial on $(0,1) \cup (2,3)$. The sheaf $\mathscr{P} = \mathscr{P}_{heaf}(P)$ has for $\mathscr{P}(U)$ the functions that are "locally polynomials"; e.g., 1 and x, as before, do combine to give an element of $\mathscr{P}((0,1) \cup (2,3))$. Important examples of this type of behavior are given in Section 7 and Exercise 12.

1.13. Example. Consider the presheaf A on X = [0,1] with $A(U) = \mathbb{Z}$ for all $U \neq \emptyset$ and with $r_{V,U} : A(U) \to A(V)$ equal to the identity if $0 \in V$ or if $0 \notin U$ but $r_{V,U} = 0$ if $0 \in U - V$. Let $\mathscr{A} = \mathscr{P}_{heaf}(A)$. Then $\mathscr{A}_x \approx \mathbb{Z}$ for all x. However, any section over $[0, \varepsilon)$ takes the value $0 \in \mathscr{A}_x$ for $x \neq 0$, but can be arbitrary in $\mathscr{A}_0 \approx \mathbb{Z}$ for x = 0. The restriction $\mathscr{A}|(0,1]$ is constant. Thus \mathscr{A} is a sheaf of rings but not a sheaf of rings with unit. (In the notation of 2.6 and Section 5, $\mathscr{A} \approx \mathbb{Z}_{\{0\}} \oplus \mathbb{Z}_{(0,1]}$.)

1.14. Example. A sheaf can also be described as being generated by a "presheaf" defined only on a *basis* of open sets. For example, on the circle \mathbb{S}^1 , consider the basis \mathscr{B} consisting of open arcs U of \mathbb{S}^1 . For $U \in \mathscr{B}$ and for $x, y \in U$ we write x > y if y is taken into x through U by a counterclockwise rotation. Fix a point $x_0 \in \mathbb{S}^1$. For $U \in \mathscr{B}$ let $A(U) = \mathbb{Z}$ and for $U, V \in \mathscr{B}$ with $V \subset U$ let $r_{V,U} = 1$ if $x_0 \in V$ or if $x_0 \notin U$ (i.e., if x_0 is in both U and V or in neither). If $x_0 \in U - V$ then let $r_{V,U} = 1$ if $x_0 > y$ for all $y \in V$, and $r_{V,U} = n$ (multiplication by the integer n) if $x_0 < y$ for all $y \in V$. This generates an interesting sheaf \mathscr{A}_n on \mathbb{S}^1 . It can be described directly (and more easily) as the quotient space $(-1, 1) \times \mathbb{Z}$ modulo the identification $\langle t, k \rangle \sim \langle t - 1, nk \rangle$ for 0 < t < 1, and with the projection $[\langle t, k \rangle] \mapsto [t]$ to $\mathbb{S}^1 = (-1, 1)/\{t \sim (t-1)\}$. Note, in particular, the cases n = 0, -1. The sheaf \mathscr{A}_n is Hausdorff for $n \neq 0$ but not for n = 0.

2 Homomorphisms, subsheaves, and quotient sheaves

In this section we fix the base space X. A homomorphism of presheaves $h: A \to B$ is a collection of homomorphisms $h_U: A(U) \to B(U)$ commuting with restrictions. That is, h is a natural transformation of functors.

A homomorphism of sheaves $h : \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B}$ is a map such that $h(\mathscr{A}_x) \subset \mathscr{B}_x$ for all $x \in X$ and the restriction $h_x : \mathscr{A}_x \to \mathscr{B}_x$ of h to stalks is a homomorphism for all x.

A homomorphism of sheaves induces a homomorphism of the presheaves of sections in the obvious way. Conversely, let $h : A \to B$ be a homomorphism of presheaves (not necessarily satisfying (S1) and (S2)). For each

§2. Homomorphisms, subsheaves, and quotient sheaves

 $x \in X$, h induces a homomorphism $h_x : \mathscr{A}_x = \lim_{x \in U} A(U) \to \lim_{x \in U} B(U) = \mathscr{B}_x$ and therefore a function $h : \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B}$. If $s \in A(U)$ then h maps the section $\theta(s) \in \mathscr{A}(U)$ onto the section $\theta(h(s)) \in \mathscr{B}(U)$. Thus h is continuous (since the projections to U are local homeomorphisms and take this function to the identity map).

The group of all homomorphisms $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is denoted by $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$.

2.1. Definition. A "subsheaf" \mathscr{A} of a sheaf \mathscr{B} is an open subspace of \mathscr{B} such that $\mathscr{A}_x = \mathscr{A} \cap \mathscr{B}_x$ is a subgroup of \mathscr{B}_x for all $x \in X$. (That is, \mathscr{A} is a subspace of \mathscr{B} that is a sheaf on X with the induced algebraic structure.)

If $h: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is a homomorphism of sheaves, then

$$\operatorname{Ker} h = \{ \alpha \in \mathcal{A} \mid h(\alpha) = 0 \}$$

is a subsheaf of \mathscr{A} and Im *h* is a subsheaf of \mathscr{B} . We define exact sequences of sheaves as usual; that is, the sequence $\mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{f} \mathscr{B} \xrightarrow{g} \mathscr{C}$ of sheaves is exact if Im $f = \operatorname{Ker} g$. Note that such a sequence of sheaves is exact \Leftrightarrow each $\mathscr{A}_x \to \mathscr{B}_x \to \mathscr{C}_x$ is exact.⁴ Since \varinjlim is an exact functor, it follows that the functor $A \mapsto \operatorname{Sheaf}(A)$, from presheaves to sheaves, is exact.

Let $h: A \xrightarrow{f} B \xrightarrow{g} C$ be homomorphisms of presheaves. The induced sequence $\mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{f'} \mathscr{B} \xrightarrow{g'} \mathscr{C}$ of generated sheaves will be exact if and only if $\theta \circ g \circ f = 0$ and the following condition holds: For each open $U \subset X$, $x \in U$, and $s \in B(U)$ such that g(s) = 0, there exists a neighborhood $V \subset U$ of x such that s|V = f(t) for some $t \in A(V)$. This is an elementary fact resulting from properties of direct limits and from the fact that $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{C}$ is exact $\Leftrightarrow \mathscr{A}_x \to \mathscr{B}_x \to \mathscr{C}_x$ is exact for all $x \in X$. It will be used repeatedly. Note that the condition $\theta \circ g \circ f = 0$ is equivalent to the statement that for each $s \in A(U)$ and $x \in U$, there is a neighborhood $V \subset U$ of x such that g(f(s|V)) = 0, i.e., that $(g \circ f)(s)$ is "locally zero."

2.2. Proposition. If $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}'' \to 0$ is an exact sequence of sheaves, then the induced sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{A}'(Y) \to \mathscr{A}(Y) \to \mathscr{A}''(Y)$$

is exact for all $Y \subset X$.

Proof. Since the restriction of this sequence to Y is still exact, it suffices to prove the statement in the case Y = X. The fact that the sequence of sections over X has order two and the exactness at $\mathscr{A}'(X)$ are obvious

⁴Caution: an exact sequence of sheaves is not necessarily an exact sequence of *presheaves*. See Proposition 2.2 and Example 2.3.

Categorical readers might check that these definitions give notions equivalent to those based on the fact that sheaves and presheaves form abelian categories.

(look at stalks). We can assume that \mathscr{A}' is a subspace of \mathscr{A} . Then a section $s \in \mathscr{A}(X)$ going to $0 \in \mathscr{A}''(X)$ must take values in the subspace \mathscr{A}' , as is seen by looking at stalks. But this just means that it comes from a section in $\mathscr{A}'(X)$.

2.3. Example. This example shows that $\mathscr{A}(Y) \to \mathscr{A}''(Y)$ need not be onto even if $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}''$ is onto. On the unit interval I let \mathscr{A} be the sheaf $\mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ and \mathscr{A}'' the sheaf with stalks \mathbb{Z}_2 at $\{0\}$ and $\{1\}$ and zero otherwise. (There is only one possible topology in \mathscr{A}'' .) The canonical map $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}''$ is onto (with kernel being the subsheaf $\mathscr{A}' = (0, 1) \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \cup [0, 1] \times \{0\} \subset \mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{Z}_2$), but $\mathscr{A}(\mathbb{I}) \approx \mathbb{Z}_2$ while $\mathscr{A}''(\mathbb{I}) \approx \mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2$, so that $\mathscr{A}(\mathbb{I}) \to \mathscr{A}''(\mathbb{I})$ is not surjective. Also see Example 2.5 and Exercises 13, 14, and 15.

2.4. Definition. Let \mathscr{A} be a subsheaf of a sheaf \mathscr{B} . The "quotient sheaf" \mathscr{B}/\mathscr{A} is defined to be

$$\mathcal{B}/\mathcal{A}=\mathcal{S}$$
heaf $(U\mapsto \mathcal{B}(U)/\mathcal{A}(U)).$

The exact sequence of presheaves

$$0 \to \mathscr{A}(U) \to \mathscr{B}(U) \to \mathscr{B}(U)/\mathscr{A}(U) \to 0 \tag{1}$$

induces a sequence $0 \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{B}/\mathscr{A} \to 0$. On the stalks at x this is the direct limit of the sequences (1) for U ranging over the open neighborhoods of x. This sequence of stalks is exact since direct limits preserve exactness. Therefore, $0 \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{B}/\mathscr{A} \to 0$ is exact.⁵

Suppose that $0 \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{C} \to 0$ is an exact sequence of sheaves. We may regard \mathscr{A} as a subsheaf of \mathscr{B} . The exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{A}(U) \to \mathscr{B}(U) \to \mathscr{C}(U)$$

provides a monomorphism $\mathscr{B}(U)/\mathscr{A}(U) \to \mathscr{C}(U)$ of presheaves and hence a homomorphism of sheaves $\mathscr{B}/\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{C}$, and the diagram

commutes. It follows, by looking at stalks, that $\mathscr{B}/\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{C}$ is an isomorphism.

2.5. Example. Consider the sheaf \mathscr{C} of germs of continuous real-valued functions on $X = \mathbb{R}^2 - \{0\}$. Let Z be the subsheaf of germs of locally constant functions with values the integer multiples of 2π . Then Z can be regarded as a subsheaf of \mathscr{C} . (Note that Z is a constant sheaf.) The polar angle θ is *locally* defined (ambiguously) as a section of \mathscr{C} , but it

⁵Note, however, that $(\mathscr{B}/\mathscr{A})(U) \neq \mathscr{B}(U)/\mathscr{A}(U)$ in general.

§2. Homomorphisms, subsheaves, and quotient sheaves

is not a global section. It does define (unambiguously) a section of the quotient sheaf \mathscr{C}/Z . This gives another example of an exact sequence $0 \to Z \to \mathscr{C} \to \mathscr{C}/Z \to 0$ of sheaves for which the sequence of sections is not right exact. Note that \mathscr{C}/Z can be interpreted as the sheaf of germs of continuous functions on X with values in the circle group \mathbb{S}^1 . Note also that Z(X) is the group of constant functions on X with values in $2\pi\mathbb{Z}$ and hence is isomorphic to \mathbb{Z} ; $\mathscr{C}(X)$ is the group of continuous functions $X \to \mathbb{S}^1$. The sequence

$$0 \to Z(X) \to \mathscr{C}(X) \xrightarrow{\jmath} (\mathscr{C}/Z)(X) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{deg}} \mathbb{Z} \to 0$$

is exact by covering space theory, and so Coker $j \approx \mathbb{Z}$.

2.6. Let A be a locally closed subspace of X and let \mathscr{B} be a sheaf on A. It is easily seen (since A is locally closed) that there is a unique topology on the point set $\mathscr{B} \cup (X \times \{0\})$ such that \mathscr{B} is a subspace and the projection onto X is a local homeomorphism (we identify $A \times \{0\}$ with the zero section of \mathscr{B}). With this topology and the canonical algebraic structure, $\mathscr{B} \cup (X \times \{0\})$ is a sheaf on X denoted by

$$\mathscr{B}^X = \mathscr{B} \cup (X \times \{0\}).$$

Thus \mathscr{B}^X is the unique sheaf on X inducing \mathscr{B} on A and 0 on X-A. Clearly, $\mathscr{B} \mapsto \mathscr{B}^X$ is an exact functor. The sheaf \mathscr{B}^X is called the *extension of* \mathscr{B} by zero.

Now let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X and let $A \subset X$ be locally closed. We define

$$\mathscr{A}_A = (\mathscr{A}|A)^X.$$

For $U \subset X$ open, \mathscr{A}_U is the subsheaf $\pi^{-1}(U) \cup (X \times \{0\})$ of \mathscr{A} , while for $F \subset X$ closed \mathscr{A}_F is the quotient sheaf $\mathscr{A}_F = \mathscr{A}/\mathscr{A}_{X-F}$. If $A = U \cap F$, then $\mathscr{A}_A = (\mathscr{A}_U)_F = (\mathscr{A}_F)_U$.⁶

In this notation, the sheaf \mathscr{A}' of 2.3 is $\mathscr{A}_{(0,1)}$, and $\mathscr{A}'' \approx \mathscr{A}_{\{0,1\}}$.

2.7. Example. Let U_i be the open disk of radius $1 - 2^{-i}$ in $X = \mathbb{D}^n$, the unit disk in \mathbb{R}^n . Put $A_1 = U_1$ and $A_i = U_i - U_{i-1}$ for i > 1. Note that for i > 1, $A_i \approx \mathbb{S}^{n-1} \times (0, 1]$ is locally closed in X. Using the notation of 2.6, put

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{L}_1 &= \mathbb{Z}_{U_1} \\ \mathscr{L}_2 &= \mathscr{L}_1 \cup 2\mathbb{Z}_{U_2} \\ \mathscr{L}_3 &= \mathscr{L}_2 \cup 4\mathbb{Z}_{U_3} \end{aligned}$$

 $^{^{6}}$ Note that *any* locally closed subspace is the intersection of an open subspace with a closed subspace; see [19].

Let $\mathscr{L} = \bigcup \mathscr{L}_i \subset \mathbb{Z}$. Then the stalks of \mathscr{L} are 0 on $\partial \mathbb{D}^n$ and are $2^i \mathbb{Z}$ on A_i . This is an example of a fairly complicated subsheaf of the constant sheaf \mathbb{Z} on \mathbb{D}^n even in the case n = 1. It is a counterexample to [40, Remark II-2.9.3].

3 Direct and inverse images

Let $f: X \to Y$ be a map and let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X. The presheaf $U \mapsto \mathscr{A}(f^{-1}(U))$ on Y clearly satisfies (S1) and (S2) and hence is a sheaf. This sheaf on Y is denoted by $f\mathscr{A}$ and is called the *direct image* of \mathscr{A} .⁷ Thus we have

$$f\mathscr{A}(U) = \mathscr{A}(f^{-1}(U)).$$
⁽²⁾

By 2.2 it is clear that $\mathscr{A} \mapsto f\mathscr{A}$ is a left exact covariant functor. The direct image is not generally right exact, and in fact, the theory of sheaves is largely concerned with the right derived functors of the direct image functor.

For the map $\varepsilon : X \to \star$, where \star is the one point space, the direct image $\varepsilon \mathscr{A}$ is just the group $\Gamma(\mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{A}(X)$ (regarded as a sheaf on \star). Consequently, the direct image functor $\mathscr{A} \mapsto f \mathscr{A}$ is a generalization of the global section functor Γ .

Now let \mathscr{B} be a sheaf on Y. The *inverse image* $f^*\mathscr{B}$ of \mathscr{B} is the sheaf on X defined by

$$f^*\mathscr{B} = \{ \langle x, b \rangle \in X \times \mathscr{B} \, | \, f(x) = \pi(b) \},$$

where $\pi : \mathscr{B} \to Y$ is the canonical projection. The projection $f^*\mathscr{B} \to Y$ is given by $\langle x, b \rangle \mapsto x$. To check that $f^*\mathscr{B}$ is indeed a sheaf, we note that if $U \subset Y$ is an open neighborhood of f(x) and $s : U \to \mathscr{B}$ is a section of \mathscr{B} with s(f(x)) = b, then the neighborhood $(f^{-1}(U) \times s(U)) \cap f^*\mathscr{B}$ of $\langle x, b \rangle \in f^*\mathscr{B}$ is precisely $\{\langle x', sf(x') \rangle | x' \in f^{-1}(U)\}$ and hence maps homeomorphically onto $f^{-1}(U)$. The group structure on $(f^*\mathscr{B})_x$ is defined so that the one-to-one correspondence

$$f_x^*: \mathscr{B}_{f(x)} \xrightarrow{\approx} (f^*\mathscr{B})_x, \tag{3}$$

defined by $f_x^*(b) = \langle x, b \rangle$, is an isomorphism. It is easy to check that the group operations are continuous.

We have already remarked that if $s: U \to \mathscr{B}$ is a section, then $x \mapsto \langle x, s(f(x)) \rangle = f_x^*(s(f(x)))$ is a section of $f^*\mathscr{B}$ over $f^{-1}(U)$. Thus we have the canonical homomorphism

$$f_U^*: \mathscr{B}(U) \to (f^*\mathscr{B})(f^{-1}(U)) \tag{4}$$

defined by $f_U^*(s)(x) = f_x^*(s(f(x))).$

⁷For a generalization of the direct image see IV-3.

From (3) it follows that f^* is an exact functor.

Note that for an inclusion $i: X \hookrightarrow Y$ and a sheaf \mathscr{B} on Y, we have $\mathscr{B}|X \approx i^*\mathscr{B}$, as the reader is asked to detail in Exercise 1.

3.1. Example. Consider the constant sheaf \mathbb{Z} on X = [0,1] and its restriction $\mathscr{L} = \mathbb{Z}|(0,1)$. Let $i : (0,1) \hookrightarrow X$ be the inclusion. Then $i\mathscr{L} \approx \mathbb{Z}$, because for U a small open interval about 0 or 1, we have that $i\mathscr{L}(U) = \mathscr{L}(U \cap (0,1)) \approx \mathbb{Z}$. Also, $\mathscr{L}^X = \mathbb{Z}_{(0,1)}$. Therefore, $i\mathscr{L} \not\approx \mathscr{L}^X$ in general.

However, for an inclusion $i: F \hookrightarrow X$ of a *closed* subspace and for any sheaf \mathscr{L} on F, it is true that $i\mathscr{L} \approx \mathscr{L}^X$, as the reader can verify. (This is essentially Exercise 2.) \diamondsuit

3.2. Example. Consider the constant sheaf \mathscr{A} with stalks \mathbb{Z} on $\mathbb{R} - \{0\}$ and let $i : \mathbb{R} - \{0\} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{R}$. Then $i\mathscr{A}$ has stalk $\mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}$ at 0 and stalk \mathbb{Z} elsewhere, because, for example, $i\mathscr{A}(-\varepsilon, \varepsilon) = \mathscr{A}((-\varepsilon, 0) \cup (0, \varepsilon)) \approx \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}$. A local section over a connected neighborhood of 0 taking value $(n, m) \in (i\mathscr{A})_0$ at 0 is $n \in (i\mathscr{A})_x$ for x < 0 and is $m \in (i\mathscr{A})_x$ for x > 0.

3.3. Example. Consider the constant sheaf \mathscr{A} with stalks \mathbb{Z} on $X = \mathbb{S}^1$; let Y = [-1,1] and let $\pi : X \to Y$ be the projection. Then $\pi \mathscr{A}$ has stalks \mathbb{Z} at -1 and at 1 but has stalks $(\pi \mathscr{A})_x \approx \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}$ for -1 < x < 1. The reader should try to understand the topology connecting these stalks. For example, is it true that $\pi \mathscr{A} \approx \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}_{(-1,1)}$, as defined in Section 5? Is there a sheaf on Y that is "locally isomorphic" to $\pi \mathscr{A}$ but not isomorphic to it?

3.4. Example. Let Z be the constant sheaf with stalks \mathbb{Z} on $X = \mathbb{S}^1$ and let Z^t denote the "twisted" sheaf with stalks \mathbb{Z} on X (i.e., $Z^t = [0, 1] \times \mathbb{Z}$ modulo the identifications $(0 \times n) \sim (1 \times -n)$). Let $f: X \to X$ be the covering map of degree 2. Then fZ is the sheaf on X with stalks $\mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}$ twisted by the exchange of basis elements in the stalks. Also, $f^*Z^t \approx Z$ since it is the locally constant sheaf with stalks \mathbb{Z} on X twisted twice, which is no twist at all. Note that fZ has both Z and Z^t as subsheaves. The corresponding quotient sheaves are $(fZ)/Z \approx Z^t$ and $(fZ)/Z^t \approx Z$. However, $fZ \not\approx Z \oplus Z^t$ (defined in Section 5).

3.5. Example. Let X and Z be as in Example 3.4 but let $f: X \to X$ be the covering map of degree 3. Then fZ is the locally constant sheaf with stalks $\mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}$ twisted by the cyclic permutation of factors. Thus fZ has the constant sheaf Z as a subsheaf (the "diagonal") with quotient sheaf the locally constant sheaf with stalks $\mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}$ twisted by the, essentially unique, nontrivial automorphism of period 3.

3.6. Example. Let $\pi : \mathbb{S}^n \to \mathbb{RP}^n$ be the canonical double covering. Then $\pi\mathbb{Z}$ is a twisted sheaf with stalks $\mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}$ on projective space, analogous to the sheaf fZ of Example 3.4. It contains the constant sheaf \mathbb{Z} as a subsheaf with quotient sheaf Z^t , a twisted integer sheaf. If n is even, so that \mathbb{RP}^n is nonorientable, Z^t is just the orientation sheaf \mathscr{O}_n of Example 1.11. \diamond

4 Cohomomorphisms

Throughout this section we let $f: X \to Y$ be a given map.

4.1. Definition. If A and B are presheaves on X and Y respectively, then an "f-cohomomorphism" $k : B \rightsquigarrow A$ is a collection of homomorphisms $k_U : B(U) \rightarrow A(f^{-1}(U))$, for U open in Y, compatible with restrictions.

4.2. Definition. If \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} are sheaves on X and Y respectively, then an "f-cohomomorphism" $k : \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A}$ is a collection of homomorphisms $k_x : \mathscr{B}_{f(x)} \to \mathscr{A}_x$ for each $x \in X$ such that for any section $s \in \mathscr{B}(U)$ the function $x \mapsto k_x(s(f(x)))$ is a section of \mathscr{A} over $f^{-1}(U)$ (i.e., this function is continuous).⁸

An f-cohomomorphism of sheaves induces an f-cohomomorphism of presheaves by putting $k_U(s)(x) = k_x(s(f(x)))$ where $U \subset Y$ is open and $s \in \mathcal{B}(U)$. Conversely, an f-cohomomorphism of presheaves $k : B \rightsquigarrow A$ induces, for $x \in X$, a homomorphism

$$k_x: \mathscr{B}_{f(x)} = \varinjlim B(U) \to \varinjlim A(f^{-1}U) \to \mathscr{A}_x$$

[where U ranges over neighborhoods of f(x)]. Then for $\theta: B(U) \to \mathscr{B}(U)$ the canonical homomorphism and for $s \in B(U)$, we have

$$\theta(k_U(s))(x) = k_x(s(f(x))),$$

so that $\{k_x\}$ is an *f*-cohomomorphism of sheaves $\mathscr{B} \rightsquigarrow \mathscr{A}$ (generated by *B* and *A*).

For any sheaf \mathscr{B} on Y, the collection $f^* = \{f_x^*\}$ of (3) defines an f-cohomomorphism

$$f^*: \mathcal{B} \rightsquigarrow f^*\mathcal{B}.$$

If $k: \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{A}$ is any *f*-cohomomorphism, let $h_x: (f^*\mathcal{B})_x \to \mathcal{A}_x$ be defined by $h_x = k_x \circ (f_x^*)^{-1}$. Together, the homomorphisms h_x define a function $h: f^*\mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{A}$. For $s \in \mathcal{B}(U)$, the equation

$$h(f_U^*(s)(x)) = h(f_x^*(s(f(x)))) = k_x(s(f(x))),$$

together with the fact that the $f_U^*(s)$ form a basis for the topology of $f^*\mathscr{B}$, implies that h is continuous. Thus any f-cohomomorphism k admits a unique factorization

$$k: \mathscr{B} \stackrel{f^*}{\leadsto} f^*\mathscr{B} \stackrel{h}{\longrightarrow} \mathscr{A},$$

h being a homomorphism.

⁸Note that an *f*-cohomomorphism $\mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{A}$ is not generally a function, since it is multiply valued unless *f* is one-to-one, and it is not defined everywhere unless *f* is onto. Of course, cohomomorphisms are the morphisms in the category of all sheaves on all spaces.

Similarly, for any sheaf \mathscr{A} on X, the definition (2) provides an fcohomomorphism $f : f \mathscr{A} \rightsquigarrow \mathscr{A}$. Since $f_U : f \mathscr{A}(U) \to \mathscr{A}(f^{-1}(U))$ is
an isomorphism, it is clear that any f-cohomomorphism k admits a unique
factorization

$$k: \mathcal{B} \xrightarrow{j} f \mathcal{A} \xrightarrow{f} \mathcal{A}$$

(i.e., $k_U = f_U j_U$), where j is a homomorphism.

Thus to each f-cohomomorphism k there correspond unique homomorphisms $h: f^*\mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{A}$ and $j: \mathcal{B} \to f\mathcal{A}$. This correspondence is additive and natural in \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} . Therefore, denoting the group of all f-cohomomorphisms from \mathcal{B} to \mathcal{A} by f-cohom $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{A})$, we have produced the following natural isomorphisms of functors:

$$\operatorname{Hom}(f^*\mathscr{B},\mathscr{A})\approx f\operatorname{-\operatorname{cohom}}(\mathscr{B},\mathscr{A})\approx\operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{B},f\mathscr{A}).$$

Leaving out the middle term, we shall let φ denote this natural isomorphism

$$\varphi: \operatorname{Hom}(f^*\mathscr{B}, \mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\approx} \operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{B}, f\mathscr{A})$$
(5)

of functors.9

Taking $\mathscr{A} = f^*\mathscr{B}$, we obtain the homomorphism

$$\beta = \varphi(1) : \mathscr{B} \to f f^* \mathscr{B}, \tag{6}$$

and taking $\mathscr{B} = f\mathscr{A}$, we obtain the homomorphism

$$\alpha = \varphi^{-1}(1) : f^* f \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}.$$
(7)

If $h: f^*\mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A}$ is any homomorphism, then the naturality of φ implies that the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \operatorname{Hom}(f^*\mathscr{B}, f^*\mathscr{B}) & \xrightarrow{\varphi} & \operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{B}, ff^*\mathscr{B}) \\ \operatorname{Hom}(f^*\mathscr{B}, h) & & & & \\ \operatorname{Hom}(f^*\mathscr{B}, \mathscr{A}) & \xrightarrow{\varphi} & \operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{B}, f\mathscr{A}) \end{array}$$

commutes. That is,

$$\varphi(h) = f(h) \circ \varphi(1) = f(h) \circ \beta, \tag{8}$$

which means that $\varphi(h)$ is the composition

$$\mathscr{B} \xrightarrow{\beta} ff^* \mathscr{B} \xrightarrow{f(h)} f\mathscr{A}.$$

⁹The existence of such a natural isomorphism means that f^* and f are "adjoint functors."

Similarly, if $j: \mathscr{B} \to f\mathscr{A}$ is any homomorphism, then the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \operatorname{Hom}(f^*f\mathscr{A},\mathscr{A}) & \stackrel{\varphi}{\longrightarrow} & \operatorname{Hom}(f\mathscr{A}, f\mathscr{A}) \\ \operatorname{Hom}(f^*(j),\mathscr{A}) & & & & \\ \operatorname{Hom}(f^*\mathscr{B}, \mathscr{A}) & \stackrel{\varphi}{\longrightarrow} & \operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{B}, f\mathscr{A}) \end{array}$$

commutes, whence

$$\varphi^{-1}(j) = \varphi^{-1}(1) \circ f^*(j) = \alpha \circ f^*(j)$$
 (9)

is the composition

$$f^*\mathscr{B} \xrightarrow{f^*(j)} f^*f\mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{\alpha} \mathscr{A}.$$

In particular, applying (9) to $j = \beta : \mathcal{B} \to ff^*\mathcal{B}$, we obtain that $\alpha \circ f^*(\beta) = \varphi^{-1}(\beta) = 1$. That is, the composition

$$f^*\mathscr{B} \xrightarrow{f^*(\beta)} f^*ff^*\mathscr{B} \xrightarrow{\alpha} f^*\mathscr{B}$$

is the identity. Thus $f^*(\beta)$ is a monomorphism, and since $(f^*\mathscr{B})_x = \mathscr{B}_{f(x)}$, it follows that

 $\beta: \mathcal{B} \to ff^*\mathcal{B}$

is a monomorphism provided that $f: X \to Y$ is surjective.

In the next chapter we shall apply this to the special case in which $f: X_d \to X$ is the identity, where X_d denotes X with the discrete topology. In this case

$$(ff^*\mathscr{B})(U) = \prod_{x \in U} \mathscr{B}_x$$

is the group of "serrations" of \mathscr{B} over U, where a serration is a possibly discontinuous cross section of $\mathscr{B}|U$. Then $\beta : \mathscr{B}(U) \to (ff^*\mathscr{B})(U)$ is just the inclusion of the group of (continuous) sections in that of serrations.

4.3. We conclude this section with a remark on cohomomorphisms in quotient sheaves. Let \mathscr{A}' be a subsheaf of a sheaf \mathscr{A} on X and \mathscr{B}' a subsheaf of \mathscr{B} on Y. Let $k : \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A}$ be an *f*-cohomomorphism that takes \mathscr{B}' into \mathscr{A}' . Then k clearly induces an *f*-cohomomorphism

$$\mathscr{B}(U)/\mathscr{B}'(U) \rightsquigarrow \mathscr{A}(f^{-1}(U))/\mathscr{A}'(f^{-1}(U))$$

of presheaves, which, in turn, induces an *f*-cohomomorphism $\mathscr{B}/\mathscr{B}' \rightsquigarrow \mathscr{A}/\mathscr{A}'$ of the generated sheaves.

5 Algebraic constructions

In this section we shall consider covariant functors $F(G_1, G_2, ...)$ of several variables from the category of abelian groups to itself. (More generally, one may consider covariant functors from the category of "diagrams of abelian

groups of a given shape" to the category of abelian groups.) For general illustrative purposes we shall take the case of a functor of two variables.

We may also consider F as a functor from the category of presheaves on X to itself in the canonical way (since F is covariant). That is, we let

$$F(A,B)(U) = F(A(U), B(U)),$$

for presheaves A and B on X. The sheaf generated by the presheaf F(A, B) will be denoted by $\mathscr{F}(A, B) = \mathscr{G}_{heaf}(F(A, B))$. In particular, if \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} are sheaves on X then $\mathscr{F}(\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{B}) = \mathscr{G}_{heaf}(U \mapsto F(\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{B})(U) = F(\mathscr{A}(U), \mathscr{B}(U)))$.¹⁰

Now suppose that the functor F commutes with direct limits. That is, suppose that the canonical map $\varinjlim F(G_{\alpha}, H_{\alpha}) \to F(\varinjlim G_{\alpha}, \varinjlim H_{\alpha})$ is an isomorphism for direct systems $\{G_{\alpha}\}$ and $\{H_{\alpha}\}$ of abelian groups. Let \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} denote the sheaves generated by the presheaves A and Brespectively. Then for U ranging over the neighborhoods of $x \in X$, we have $\varinjlim F(A, B)(U) = \varinjlim F(A(U), B(U)) \approx F(\varinjlim A(U), \varinjlim B(U)) =$ $F(\mathscr{A}_x, \mathscr{B}_x)$ so that we have the natural isomorphism

$$\mathscr{F}(A,B)_x \approx F(\mathscr{A}_x,\mathscr{B}_x) \tag{10}$$

when F commutes with direct limits.

More generally, consider the natural maps $A(U) \to \mathscr{A}(U)$ and $B(U) \to \mathscr{B}(U)$. These give rise to a homomorphism $F(A, B) \to F(\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{B})$ of presheaves and hence to a homomorphism

$$\mathscr{F}(A,B) \to \mathscr{F}(\mathscr{A},\mathscr{B})$$
 (11)

of the generated sheaves. If U ranges over the neighborhoods of $x \in X$, then the diagram

commutes. The bottom homomorphism is an isomorphism by definition of \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} . The top homomorphism is the restriction of (11) to the stalks at x. The vertical maps are isomorphisms when F commutes with direct limits. Thus we see that (11) is an *isomorphism* of sheaves provided that F commutes with direct limits. That is, in this case,

$$\mathscr{S}\mathit{heaf}(U\mapsto F(\mathscr{A}(U),\mathscr{B}(U)))\approx \mathscr{S}\mathit{heaf}(U\mapsto F(A(U),B(U)))$$

naturally.

 $^{^{10}{\}rm Our}$ notation in some of the specific examples to follow will differ from the notation we are using in the general discussion.

We shall now discuss several explicit cases, starting with the tensor product. If \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are sheaves on X, we let

$$\mathcal{A}\otimes\mathcal{B}=\mathscr{G}$$
heaf $(U\mapsto\mathcal{A}(U)\otimes\mathcal{B}(U)).$

Since \otimes commutes with direct limits, we have the natural isomorphism

$$(\mathscr{A}\otimes\mathscr{B})_xpprox\mathscr{A}_x\otimes\mathscr{B}_x$$

by (10). Since \otimes is right exact for abelian groups, it will also be right exact for sheaves since exactness is a stalkwise property.

The following terminology will be useful:

5.1. Definition. An exact sequence $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}'' \to 0$ of sheaves on X is said to be "pointwise split" if $0 \to \mathscr{A}'_x \to \mathscr{A}_x \to \mathscr{A}''_x \to 0$ splits for each $x \in X$.

This condition clearly implies that $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \otimes \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A}'' \otimes \mathscr{B} \to 0$ is exact for every sheaf \mathscr{B} on X.

Our second example concerns the torsion product. We shall use G * H to denote Tor(G, H). For sheaves \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} on X we let

$$\mathcal{A} \ast \mathcal{B} = \operatorname{Sheaf}(U \mapsto \mathcal{A}(U) \ast \mathcal{B}(U)).$$

We have that

$$(\mathscr{A} * \mathscr{B})_x \approx \mathscr{A}_x * \mathscr{B}_x$$

since the torsion product * commutes with direct limits.

Let $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}'' \to 0$ be an exact sequence of sheaves. Then for each open set $U \subset X$, we have the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{A}'(U) * \mathscr{B}(U) \to \mathscr{A}(U) * \mathscr{B}(U) \to (\mathscr{A}(U)/\mathscr{A}'(U)) * \mathscr{B}(U)$$
$$\to \mathscr{A}'(U) \otimes \mathscr{B}(U) \to \mathscr{A}(U) \otimes \mathscr{B}(U) \to (\mathscr{A}(U)/\mathscr{A}'(U)) \otimes \mathscr{B}(U) \to 0$$

of presheaves on X, where \mathscr{B} is any sheaf. Now \mathscr{A}'' is canonically isomorphic to $\mathscr{Sheaf}(U \mapsto \mathscr{A}(U)/\mathscr{A}'(U))$. Thus this sequence of presheaves generates the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{A}' * \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A} * \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A}'' * \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A}' \otimes \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A}'' \otimes \mathscr{B} \to 0$$
(12)

of sheaves on X.¹¹

Before passing on to other examples of our general considerations, we shall introduce some further notation concerned with tensor and torsion

¹¹It should be noted that this is a special case of a general fact. Namely, if $\{F_n\}$ is an exact connected sequence of functors of abelian groups (as above), then the induced sequence of functors $\{\mathscr{F}_n\}$ on the category of sheaves to itself is also exact and connected.

products. If X and Y are spaces and $\pi_X : X \times Y \to X, \pi_Y : X \times Y \to Y$ are the projections, then for sheaves \mathscr{A} on X and \mathscr{B} on Y we define the *total tensor product* $\mathscr{A} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{B}$ to be the sheaf

$$\mathscr{A}\widehat{\otimes}\mathscr{B} = (\pi_X^*\mathscr{A}) \otimes (\pi_Y^*\mathscr{B})$$

on $X \times Y$. Similarly, the total torsion product is defined to be

$$\mathscr{A} \widehat{*} \mathscr{B} = (\pi_X^* \mathscr{A}) * (\pi_Y^* \mathscr{B}).$$

Clearly, we have natural isomorphisms

$$\begin{split} (\mathscr{A}\widehat{\otimes}\mathscr{B})_{\langle x,y\rangle} &\approx \mathscr{A}_x \otimes \mathscr{B}_y, \\ (\mathscr{A}\widehat{*}\mathscr{B})_{\langle x,y\rangle} &\approx \mathscr{A}_x * \mathscr{B}_y. \end{split}$$

Another special case of our general discussion is provided by the direct sum functor. Thus, if $\{\mathscr{A}_{\alpha}\}$ is a family of sheaves on X, we let

$$\bigoplus \mathcal{A}_{\alpha} = \mathcal{Sheaf}(U \mapsto \bigoplus (\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}(U))).$$

Since direct sums commute with direct limits, we have that

$$\left(\bigoplus_{\alpha}\mathscr{A}_{\alpha}\right)_{x}\approx\bigoplus_{\alpha}(\mathscr{A}_{\alpha})_{x}.$$

In the case of the direct product, we note that the presheaf $U \mapsto \prod(\mathscr{A}_{\alpha}(U))$ satisfies (S1) and (S2) on page 6 and therefore is a sheaf. It is denoted by $\prod \mathscr{A}_{\alpha}$. However, direct products do not generally commute with direct limits, and in fact, $(\prod \mathscr{A}_{\alpha})_x \not\approx \prod(\mathscr{A}_{\alpha})_x$ in general. [For example let $\mathscr{A}_i = \mathbb{Z}_{[0,1/i)} \subset \mathbb{Z}$ for $i \geq 1$ on X = [0,1]. Then for U = [0,1/n), we have that $\mathscr{A}_i(U) = 0$ for i > n, and so $\prod_{i=1}^{\infty} (\mathscr{A}_i(U)) = \mathbb{Z}^n$, whence $(\prod \mathscr{A}_i)_{\{0\}} \approx \lim_{i=1} \mathbb{Z}^n \in \mathbb{Z}^\infty$, the countable direct sum of copies of \mathbb{Z} . However, $\prod(\mathscr{A}_i)_{\{0\}} \approx \prod_{i=1}^{\infty} \mathbb{Z}$, which is uncountable. For another example, let $\mathscr{B}_n = \mathbb{Z}_{\{1/n\}}$. Then $\prod(\mathscr{B}_n)_{\{0\}} = 0$; but $(\prod \mathscr{B}_n)_{\{0\}} \neq 0$ since the sections $s_n \in \mathscr{B}_n(X)$ that are 1 at 1/n give a section $s = \prod s_n$ of the product that is not zero in any neighborhood of 0 and hence has nonzero germ at 0.]

For a finite number of variables (or, generally, for locally finite families), direct sums and direct products of sheaves coincide. For two variables (for example) \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} , the direct sum is denoted by $\mathscr{A} \oplus \mathscr{B}$. (Note that $\mathscr{A} \triangle \mathscr{B}$ is the underlying topological space of $\mathscr{A} \oplus \mathscr{B}$.) The notation $\mathscr{A} \times \mathscr{B}$ is reserved for the *cartesian* product of \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} , which with coordinatewise addition is a sheaf on $X \times Y$ when \mathscr{A} is a sheaf on X and \mathscr{B} is one on Y. Note that $\mathscr{A} \times \mathscr{B} = (\pi_X^* \mathscr{A}) \oplus (\pi_Y^* \mathscr{B})$.

Note that for X = Y, we have that $\mathscr{A} \oplus \mathscr{B} = (\mathscr{A} \times \mathscr{B})|\Delta$, where Δ is the diagonal of $X \times X$, identified with X, and similarly that $\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B} = (\mathscr{A} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{B})|\Delta$ and $\mathscr{A} * \mathscr{B} = (\mathscr{A} \widehat{*} \mathscr{B})|\Delta$.

Sheaves and Presheaves

Our next example is given by a functor on a category of "diagrams." Let A be a directed set. Consider *direct* systems $\{G_{\alpha}; \pi_{\alpha,\beta}\}$ (where $\pi_{\alpha,\beta}: G_{\beta} \to G_{\alpha}$ is defined for $\alpha > \beta$ in A and satisfies $\pi_{\alpha,\beta}\pi_{\beta,\gamma} = \pi_{\alpha,\gamma}$) of abelian groups based on the directed set A. Let F be the (covariant) functor that assigns to each such direct system $\{G_{\alpha}; \pi_{\alpha,\beta}\}$ its direct limit

$$F(\{G_{\alpha};\pi_{\alpha,\beta}\}) = \lim G_{\alpha}.$$

Now let $\{\mathscr{A}_{\alpha}; \pi_{\alpha,\beta}\}$ be a direct system of sheaves based on A. Then we define

$$\underline{\lim} \, \mathscr{A}_{\alpha} = \mathscr{S}heaf\left(U \mapsto \underline{\lim}_{\alpha} \mathscr{A}_{\alpha}(U)\right).$$

There are the compatible maps $\mathscr{A}_{\alpha}(U) \to \lim_{\alpha} \mathscr{A}_{\alpha}(U)$ that induce canonical homomorphisms $\pi_{\beta} : \mathscr{A}_{\beta} \to \lim_{\alpha} \mathscr{A}_{\alpha}$ such that $\pi_{\beta} = \pi_{\alpha} \circ \pi_{\alpha,\beta}$ whenever $\alpha > \beta$. Since direct limits commute with one another, we have that

$$(\varinjlim \mathscr{A}_{\alpha})_x \approx \varinjlim (\mathscr{A}_{\alpha})_x.$$

Now suppose that \mathscr{A} is another sheaf on X and that we have a family of homomorphisms $h_{\alpha} : \mathscr{A}_{\alpha} \to \mathscr{A}$ that are compatible in the sense that $h_{\beta} = h_{\alpha} \circ \pi_{\alpha,\beta}$ whenever $\alpha > \beta$. These induce compatible maps $\mathscr{A}_{\alpha}(U) \to \mathscr{A}(U)$ for all open U and hence a homomorphism $\underline{\lim}(\mathscr{A}_{\alpha}(U)) \to \mathscr{A}(U)$ of presheaves. In turn this induces a homomorphism

$$h: \underline{\lim} \mathscr{A}_{\alpha} \to \mathscr{A}$$

of the generated sheaves such that $h \circ \pi_{\alpha} = h_{\alpha}$ for all α . That is, the direct limit of sheaves satisfies the "universal property" of direct limits.

In particular, if $\{\mathscr{A}_{\alpha}\}$ and $\{\mathscr{B}_{\alpha}\}$ are direct systems based on the same directed set, then the homomorphisms $\mathscr{A}_{\alpha} \to \lim \mathscr{A}_{\alpha}$ and $\mathscr{B}_{\alpha} \to \lim \mathscr{B}_{\alpha}$ induce compatible homomorphisms $\mathscr{A}_{\alpha} \otimes \mathscr{B}_{\alpha} \to \lim \mathscr{A}_{\alpha} \otimes \lim \mathscr{B}_{\alpha}$ and hence a homomorphism $\lim (\mathscr{A}_{\alpha} \otimes \mathscr{B}_{\alpha}) \to \lim \mathscr{A}_{\alpha} \otimes \lim \mathscr{B}_{\alpha}$. On stalks this is an isomorphism since tensor products and direct limits commute. Thus it follows that this is an isomorphism

$$\lambda: \lim_{\alpha \to \infty} (\mathscr{A}_{\alpha} \otimes \mathscr{B}_{\alpha}) \xrightarrow{\approx} \lim_{\alpha \to \infty} \mathscr{A}_{\alpha} \otimes \lim_{\alpha \to \infty} \mathscr{B}_{\alpha}.$$
(13)

The functor $\operatorname{Hom}(G, H)$ on abelian groups is covariant in only one of its variables, so that the general discussion does not apply. However, note that every homomorphism $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B}$ of sheaves induces a homomorphism

$$\mathscr{A}|U \to \mathscr{B}|U$$

Thus we see that the functor

$$U \mapsto \operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{A}|U, \mathscr{B}|U) \tag{14}$$

defines a presheaf on X. We define

$$\mathcal{H}om(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B})=\mathcal{P}heaf(U\mapsto \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{A}|U,\mathcal{B}|U)).$$

It is clear that the presheaf (14) satisfies (S1) and (S2), so that

```
\mathcal{H}om(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B})(U) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{A}|U,\mathcal{B}|U).
```

It is important to note that the last equation does not apply in general to sections over nonopen subspaces, and in particular that

$$\mathcal{H}om(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B})_x \not\approx \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{A}_x,\mathcal{B}_x)$$

in general. For example, let \mathscr{B} be the constant sheaf with stalks \mathbb{Z} on X = [0,1] and let $\mathscr{A} = \mathscr{B}_{\{0\}}$, which has stalk \mathbb{Z} over $\{0\}$ and stalks 0 elsewhere. Then $\mathscr{H}om(\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{B})(U) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{A}|U, \mathscr{B}|U) = 0$ for the open sets of the form $U = [0, \varepsilon)$, and hence $\mathscr{H}om(\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{B})_{\{0\}} = 0$, whereas $\mathscr{A}_{\{0\}} = \mathbb{Z} = \mathscr{B}_{\{0\}}$, whence $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{A}_{\{0\}}, \mathscr{B}_{\{0\}}) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{Z}, \mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}$.

If \mathscr{R} is a sheaf of rings on X and if \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} are \mathscr{R} -modules, then one can define, in a similar manner, the sheaves

$$\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathscr{R}} \mathscr{B}, \quad \operatorname{Tor}_n^{\mathscr{H}}(\mathcal{A}, \mathscr{B}), \quad \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathscr{R}}(\mathcal{A}, \mathscr{B}).$$

6 Supports

A paracompact space is a Hausdorff space with the property that every open covering has an open, locally finite, refinement. The following facts are well known (see [34], [53] and [19]):

- (1) Every paracompact space is normal.
- (2) A metric space is paracompact.
- (3) A closed subspace of a paracompact space is paracompact.
- (4) If {U_α} is a locally finite open cover of a normal space X, then there is an open cover {V_α} of X such that V_α ⊂ U_α.
- (5) A locally compact space is paracompact \Leftrightarrow it is a disjoint union of open, σ -compact subspaces.

A space is called *hereditarily paracompact* if every open subspace is paracompact. It is easily seen that this implies that every subspace is paracompact. Of course, metric spaces are hereditarily paracompact.

6.1. Definition. A "family of supports" on X is a family Φ of closed subsets of X such that:

(1) a closed subset of a member of Φ is a member of Φ ;

(2) Φ is closed under finite unions.

- Φ is said to be a "paracompactifying" family of supports if in addition: (3) each element of Φ is paracompact;
 - (4) each element of Φ has a (closed) neighborhood which is in Φ .

We define the extent $E(\Phi)$ of a family of supports to be the union of the members of Φ . Note that $E(\Phi)$ is open when Φ is paracompactifying.

The family of all compact subsets of X is denoted by c. It is paracompactifying if X is locally compact. We use 0 to denote the family of supports whose only member is the empty set \emptyset . It is customary to "denote" the family of all closed subsets of X by the absence of a symbol, and we shall also use *cld* to denote this family.

Recall that for $s \in \mathscr{A}(X)$, $|s| = \{x \in X | s(x) \neq 0\}$ denotes the support of the section s. Now if A is a presheaf on X and $s \in A(X)$, we put $|s| = |\theta(s)|$, where $\theta : A(X) \to \mathscr{A}(X)$ is the canonical map, \mathscr{A} being the sheaf generated by A.

Note that for $s \in A(X)$, $x \notin |s| \Leftrightarrow (s|U = 0$ for some neighborhood U of x).

If \mathcal{A} is a sheaf on X, we put

$$\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}) = \{ s \in \mathscr{A}(X) \mid |s| \in \Phi \}.$$

Then $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A})$ is a subgroup of $\mathscr{A}(X)$, and for an exact sequence $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}'' \to 0$, the sequence

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}') \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}'')$$

is exact.

For a presheaf A on X we put $A_{\Phi}(X) = \{s \in A(X) \mid |s| \in \Phi\}$.¹²

6.2. Theorem. Let A be a presheaf on X that is conjunctive for coverings of X and let \mathcal{A} be the sheaf generated by A. Then for any paracompactifying family Φ of supports on X, the sequence

$$0 \to A_0(X) \to A_{\Phi}(X) \xrightarrow{\theta} \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}) \to 0$$

is exact.

Proof. The only nontrivial part is that θ is surjective. Let $s \in \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A})$ and let U be an open neighborhood of |s| with \overline{U} paracompact. By covering \overline{U} and then restricting to U, we can find a covering $\{U_{\alpha}\}$ of U that is locally finite in X and such that there exist $s_{\alpha} \in A(U_{\alpha})$ with $\theta(s_{\alpha}) = s|U_{\alpha}$. Similarly, we can find a covering $\{V_{\alpha}\}$ of U with $U \cap \overline{V}_{\alpha} \subset U_{\alpha}$. Add X - |s|to the collection $\{V_{\alpha}\}$, giving a locally finite covering of X, and use the zero section for the corresponding s_{α} .

 $^{^{12} {\}rm The}~\Gamma$ notation will be used only for sheaves and not for presheaves.
For $x \in X$ let $I(x) = \{\alpha \mid x \in \overline{V}_{\alpha}\}$, a finite set. For each $x \in X$ there is a neighborhood W(x) such that $y \in W(x) \Rightarrow I(y) \subset I(x)$ and such that $W(x) \subset V_{\alpha}$ for each $\alpha \in I(x)$.

If $\alpha \in I(x)$, then $\theta(s_{\alpha})(x) = s(x)$. Since I(x) is finite, we may further assume that W(x) is so small that $s_{\alpha}|W(x)$ is independent of $\alpha \in I(x)$ [since $\mathscr{A}_x = \lim A(N)$, N ranging over the neighborhoods of x].

Let $s_x \in A(W(x))$ be the common value of $s_\alpha | W(x)$ for $\alpha \in I(x)$.

Suppose that $x, y \in X$ and $z \in W(x) \cap W(y)$. Let $\alpha \in I(z) \subset I(x) \cap I(y)$. Then $s_x = s_\alpha | W(y)$, so that $s_x | W(x) \cap W(y) = s_y | W(x) \cap W(y)$. Since A is conjunctive for coverings of X, there is a $t \in A(X)$ such that $t | W(x) = s_x$ for all $x \in X$. Clearly $\theta(t) = s$, and by definition, $|t| = |s| \in \Phi$.

Note that $A_0(U) = 0$ for all open $U \subset X \Leftrightarrow A$ is a monopresheaf.

6.3. Definition. If $A \subset X$ and Φ is a family of supports on X, then $\Phi \cap A$ denotes the family $\{K \cap A \mid K \in \Phi\}$ of supports on A, and $\Phi \mid A$ denotes the family $\{K \mid K \subset A \text{ and } K \in \Phi\}$ of supports on A or on X.¹³

If X, Y are spaces with support families Φ and Ψ respectively, then $\Phi \times \Psi$ denotes the family on $X \times Y$ of all closed subsets of sets of the form $K \times L$ with $K \in \Phi$ and $L \in \Psi$.

If $f: X \to Y$ and Ψ is a family on Y, then $f^{-1}\Psi$ denotes the family on X of all closed subsets of sets of the form $f^{-1}K$ for $K \in \Psi$.

6.4. Example. For the purposes of this example, let us use the subscript Y on the family of supports cld or c to indicate the space to which these symbols apply. (In other places we let the context determine this.) Let $X = \mathbb{R}$ and A = (0, 1). Then $cld_X \cap A = cld_A$ and $cld_X|_A = c_A$. Also, $c_X \cap A = cld_A$ and $c_X|_A = c_A$.

If instead, X = (0, 1], then $cld_X \cap A = cld_A$ and $c_X|A = c_A$, while $cld_X|A$ is the family of closed subsets of A bounded away from 1. Also, $c_X \cap A$ is the family of closed subsets of A bounded away from 0.

If $X = \mathbb{R} = Y$, then the family $c_X \times c_Y = c_{X \times Y}$, while $c_X \times cld_Y$ is the family of all closed subsets of $X \times Y$ whose projection to X is bounded (but the projection need not be closed). This is the same as the family $\pi_X^{-1}c_X$. Also, $cld_X \times cld_Y = cld_{X \times Y} = \pi_X^{-1}cld_X$.

For any map $f: X \to Y$, the family $f^{-1}c_Y$ can be thought of as the family of (closed) "basewise compact" sets. In IV-5 we shall define what can be thought of as the family of "fiberwise compact" sets.

6.5. Proposition. If Φ is a paracompactifying family of supports on X and if $Y \subset X$ is locally closed, then $\Phi|Y$ is a paracompactifying family of supports on Y.

Proof. For $Y = U \cap F$ with U open and F closed, we have that $\Phi|Y = (\Phi|U)|(U \cap F)$, so that it suffices to consider the two cases Y open and Y closed. These cases are obvious.

¹³Note that $\Phi|F = \Phi \cap F$ for F closed.

6.6. Proposition. Let $A \subset X$ be locally closed, let Φ be a family of supports on X, and let \mathcal{B} be a sheaf on A. Then the restriction of sections $\Gamma(\mathcal{B}^X) \to \Gamma(\mathcal{B}^X | A) = \Gamma(\mathcal{B})$ induces an isomorphism

$$\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{B}^X) \xrightarrow{\approx} \Gamma_{\Phi|A}(\mathscr{B}).$$

Similarly, for a sheaf \mathcal{A} on X, the restriction of sections induces an isomorphism

$$\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}_A) \xrightarrow{\approx} \Gamma_{\Phi|A}(\mathscr{A}|A).$$

Proof. A section $s \in \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{B}^X)$ must have support in A since \mathscr{B}^X vanishes outside of A. Thus $|s| \in \Phi | A$. Moreover, s | A can be zero only if s is zero. Now suppose that $t \in \Gamma_{\Phi|A}(\mathscr{B})$, and let $s : X \to \mathscr{B}^X$ be the extension of t by zero. It suffices to show that s is continuous. Since s coincides with the zero section on the open set X - |t|, it suffices to restrict our attention to the neighborhood of any point $x \in |t|$. Let $v \in \mathscr{B}^X(U)$ be a section of \mathscr{B}^X with v(x) = t(x) = s(x). We may assume, by changing the open neighborhood U of x, that $v|U \cap A = t|U \cap A$. But v must vanish on U - A, so that v = s|U. Hence s is continuous on U, and this completes the proof of the first statement. The second statement is immediate from the identity $(\mathscr{A}|A)^X = \mathscr{A}_A$.

6.7. In this book the Γ notation will be used only for the group of global sections. Thus the group of sections over $A \subset X$ of a sheaf \mathscr{A} on X is denoted by $\Gamma(\mathscr{A}|A)$. In the literature, but not here, it is often denoted by $\Gamma(A, \mathscr{A})$. Of course, for the case of a support family Φ on X, there are at least two variations: $\Gamma_{\Phi \cap A}(\mathscr{A}|A)$ and $\Gamma_{\Phi|A}(\mathscr{A}|A)$.

7 Classical cohomology theories

As examples of the use of Theorem 6.2 and also for future reference we will briefly describe the "classical" singular, Alexander-Spanier, de Rham, and Čech cohomology theories.

Alexander-Spanier cohomology

Let G be a fixed abelian group. For $U \subset X$ open let $A^p(U;G)$ be the group of all functions $f: U^{p+1} \to G$ under pointwise addition. Then the functor $U \mapsto A^p(U;G)$ is a conjunctive presheaf on X. [For if $f_\alpha: U_\alpha^{p+1} \to G$ are functions such that f_α and f_β agree on $U_\alpha^{p+1} \cap U_\beta^{p+1}$, then define $f: U^{p+1} \to G$, where $U = \bigcup U_\alpha$, by $f(x) = f_\alpha(x)$ if $x \in U_\alpha^{p+1}$ and f(x) arbitrary if $x \notin U_\alpha^{p+1}$ for any α .] Let $\mathscr{A}^p(X;G) = \mathscr{P}heaf(U \mapsto A^p(U;G))$.

§7. Classical cohomology theories

The differential (or "coboundary") $d: A^p(U;G) \to A^{p+1}(U;G)$ is defined by

$$df(x_0,\ldots,x_{p+1}) = \sum_{i=0}^{p+1} (-1)^i f(x_0,\ldots,\widehat{x_i},\ldots,x_{p+1}),$$

where $f: U^{p+1} \to G$.

Now d is a homomorphism of presheaves and $d^2 = 0$. Thus d induces a differential

$$d: \mathscr{A}^p(X;G) \to \mathscr{A}^{p+1}(X;G)$$

with $d^2 = 0$.

The classical definition of Alexander-Spanier cohomology with supports in the family Φ is

$$_{AS}H^p_{\Phi}(X;G) = H^p(A^*_{\Phi}(X;G)/A^*_0(X;G)).$$

Note that $A_0^p(X;G)$ is the set of all functions $X^{p+1} \to G$ that vanish in some neighborhood of the diagonal. Thus two functions $f, g: X^{p+1} \to G$ represent the same element of $A^p(X;G)/A_0^p(X;G) \Leftrightarrow$ they coincide in some neighborhood of the diagonal.¹⁴

Thus Theorem 6.2 implies that if Φ is a *paracompactifying* family of supports, then there is a natural isomorphism

$${}_{AS}H^p_{\Phi}(X;G) \approx H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*(X;G))).$$
(15)

There is a "cup product" $\cup :A^p(U;G_1) \otimes A^q(U;G_2) \to A^{p+q}(U;G_1 \otimes G_2)$ given by the Alexander-Whitney formula

$$(f \cup g)(x_0, \ldots, x_{p+q}) = f(x_0, \ldots, x_p) \otimes g(x_p, \ldots, x_{p+q}),$$

with $d(f\cup g)=df\cup g+(-1)^pf\cup dg$ and $|f\cup g|\subset |f|\cap |g|.$ This induces products

$$\cup: \mathscr{A}^{p}(X;G_{1}) \otimes \mathscr{A}^{q}(X;G_{2}) \to \mathscr{A}^{p+q}(X;G_{1} \otimes G_{2}),$$

$$\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^{p}(X;G_{1}))\otimes\Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{A}^{q}(X;G_{2}))\to\Gamma_{\Phi\cap\Psi}(\mathscr{A}^{p+q}(X;G_{1}\otimes G_{2})),$$

and

$$H^{p}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^{q}(X;G_{1}))) \otimes H^{q}(\Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{A}^{q}(X;G_{2}))) \to H^{p+q}(\Gamma_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(\mathscr{A}^{*}(X;G_{1} \otimes G_{2})));$$

i.e.,

$${}_{AS}H^p_\Phi(X;G_1) \otimes {}_{AS}H^q_\Psi(X;G_2) \to {}_{AS}H^{p+q}_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(X;G_1 \otimes G_2).$$

In particular, for a base ring L with unit and an L-module G, $\mathscr{A}^0(X; L)$ is a sheaf of rings with unit, and each $\mathscr{A}^n(X; G)$ is an $\mathscr{A}^0(X; L)$ -module.

¹⁴Note that it is the taking of the quotient by the elements of empty support that brings the topology of X into the cohomology groups, since $A^*(X;G)$ itself is totally independent of the topology.

Singular cohomology

Let \mathscr{A} be a locally constant sheaf on X. (Classically \mathscr{A} is called a "bundle of coefficients.") For $U \subset X$, let $S^p(U; \mathscr{A})$ be the group of singular pcochains of U with values in \mathscr{A} . That is, an element $f \in S^p(U; \mathscr{A})$ is a function that assigns to each singular p-simplex $\sigma : \Delta_p \to U$ of U, a cross section $f(\sigma) \in \Gamma(\sigma^*(\mathscr{A}))$, where Δ_p denotes the standard p-simplex.

Since \mathscr{A} is locally constant and Δ_p is simply connected, $\sigma^*(\mathscr{A})$ is a constant sheaf on Δ_p (as $\sigma^*(\mathscr{A})$ is just the induced bundle on Δ_p). It follows that we can define the coboundary operator

$$d: S^p(U; \mathscr{A}) \to S^{p+1}(U; \mathscr{A})$$

by $df(\tau) = f(\partial \tau) \in \Gamma(\tau^*(\mathscr{A})).$

Let $\mathscr{S}^p(X;\mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{B}_{heaf}(U \mapsto S^p(U;\mathscr{A}))$ with the induced differential. The presheaf $S^p(\bullet;\mathscr{A})$ is conjunctive since if $\{U_\alpha\}$ is a collection of open sets with union U and if $f(\sigma)$ is defined whenever σ is a singular simplex in some U_α with value that is independent of the particular index α , then just define $f(\sigma) = 0$ (or anything) if $\sigma \notin U_\alpha$ for any α , and this extends fto be an element of $S^p(U;\mathscr{A})$.

The classical definition of singular cohomology (with the local coefficients \mathscr{A} and supports in Φ) is

$$_{\Delta}H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) = H^p(S^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A})).$$

However, it is a well-known consequence of the operation of subdivision that

$$H^p(S_0^*(X; \mathscr{A})) = 0$$
 for all p .

[We indicate the proof: Let $\mathfrak{U} = \{U_{\alpha}\}$ be a covering of X by open sets and let $S^{p}(\mathfrak{U}; \mathscr{A})$ be the group of singular cochains based on \mathfrak{U} -small singular simplices. Then a subdivision argument shows that the surjection

$$j_{\mathfrak{U}}: S^*(X; \mathscr{A}) \twoheadrightarrow S^*(\mathfrak{U}; \mathscr{A})$$

induces a cohomology isomorphism. Therefore, if we let $K_{\mathfrak{U}}^* = \operatorname{Ker} j_{\mathfrak{U}}$, then $H^*(K_{\mathfrak{U}}^*) = 0$ by the long exact cohomology sequence induced by the short exact cochain sequence $0 \to K_{\mathfrak{U}}^* \to S^*(X; \mathscr{A}) \to S^*(\mathfrak{U}; \mathscr{A}) \to 0$. However, $S_0^*(X; \mathscr{A}) = \bigcup K_{\mathfrak{U}}^* = \lim K_{\mathfrak{U}}^*$, so that

$$H^*(S^*_0(X;\mathscr{A})) = H^*(\varinjlim K^*_{\mathfrak{U}}) \approx \varinjlim H^*(K^*_{\mathfrak{U}}) = 0.]$$

Therefore, if Φ is paracompactifying, then the exact sequence

$$0 \to S_0^* \to S_{\Phi}^* \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{S}^*) \to 0$$

of 6.2 yields the isomorphism

$${}_{\Delta}H^{p}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \approx H^{p}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{S}^{*}(X;\mathscr{A}))).$$
(16)

As with the case of Alexander-Spanier cohomology, the singular cup product makes $\mathscr{S}^0(X; L)$ into a sheaf of rings and each $\mathscr{S}^n(X; \mathcal{A})$ into an $\mathscr{S}^0(X; L)$ -module, where \mathscr{A} is a locally constant sheaf of L-modules.

Remark: If X is a differentiable manifold and we let $S^*(U; \mathcal{A})$ be the complex of singular cochains based on C^{∞} singular simplices, a similar discussion applies.

de Rham cohomology

Let X be a differentiable manifold and let $\Omega^{p}(U)$ be the group of differential p-forms on U with $d: \Omega^{p}(U) \to \Omega^{p+1}(U)$ being the exterior derivative.¹⁵

The de Rham cohomology group of X is defined to be

$${}_{\Omega}H^p_{\Phi}(X) = H^p(\Omega^*_{\Phi}(X)).$$

However, the presheaf $U \mapsto \Omega^p(U)$ is a conjunctive monopresheaf and hence is a sheaf. Thus, trivially, we have

$${}_{\Omega}H^{p}_{\Phi}(X) \approx H^{p}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\Omega^{*}))$$
(17)

for any family Φ of supports.

Čech cohomology

Let $\mathfrak{U} = \{U_{\alpha}; \alpha \in I\}$ be an open covering of a space X indexed by a set I and let G be a presheaf on X. Then an n-cochain c of \mathfrak{U} is a function defined on ordered (n + 1)-tuples $(\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_n)$ of members of I such that $U_{\alpha_0,\ldots,\alpha_n} = U_{\alpha_0} \cap \cdots \cap U_{\alpha_n} \neq \emptyset$ with value

$$c(\alpha_0,\ldots,\alpha_n)\in G(U_{\alpha_0,\ldots,\alpha_n}).$$

These form a group denoted by $\check{C}^n(\mathfrak{U}; G)$. An open set V of X is covered by $\mathfrak{U} \cap V = \{U_\alpha \cap V; \alpha \in I\}$. Thus we have the cochain group $\check{C}^n(\mathfrak{U} \cap V; G)$, and the assignment $V \mapsto \check{C}^n(\mathfrak{U} \cap V; G)$ gives a presheaf on X, and hence a sheaf

$$\check{\mathscr{C}}^{n}(\mathfrak{U};G) = \mathscr{G}heaf(V \mapsto \check{C}^{n}(\mathfrak{U} \cap V;G)).$$

Thus it makes sense to speak of the support |c| of a cochain, i.e., $|c| = |\theta(c)|$, where $\theta : \check{C}^n(\mathfrak{U}; G) \to \Gamma(\check{\mathscr{C}}^n(\mathfrak{U}; G))$. This defines the cochain group $\check{C}^n_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U}; G)$ for a family Φ of supports on X. The coboundary operator $d : \check{C}^n_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U}; G) \to \check{C}^{n+1}_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U}; G)$ is defined by

$$dc(\alpha_0,\ldots,\alpha_{n+1}) = \sum_{i=0}^{n+1} (-1)^i c(\alpha_0,\ldots,\widehat{\alpha_i},\ldots,\alpha_{n+1}) | U_{\alpha_0,\ldots,\alpha_{n+1}}$$

¹⁵See, for example, [19, Chapters II and V].

It is easy to see that $d^2 = 0$ and so there are the cohomology groups

$$\check{H}^n_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U};G) = H^n(\check{C}^*_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U};G)).$$

A refinement of \mathfrak{U} is another open covering $\mathfrak{V} = \{V_{\beta}; \beta \in J\}$ together with a function (called a refinement projection) $\varphi: J \to I$ such that $V_{\beta} \subset U_{\varphi(\beta)}$ for all $\beta \in J$. This yields a chain map $\varphi^*: \check{C}^*_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U}; G) \to \check{C}^*_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{V}; G)$ by

$$arphi^*(c)(eta_0,\ldots,eta_n)=c(arphi(eta_0),\ldots,arphi(eta_n))|V_{eta_0,\ldots,eta_n}.$$

If $\psi : J \to I$ is another refinement projection, then the functions $D : \check{C}^{n+1}_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U};G) \to \check{C}^n_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{V};G)$ given by

$$Dc(\beta_0,\ldots,\beta_n) = \sum_{i=0}^n (-1)^i c(\varphi(\beta_0),\ldots,\varphi(\beta_i),\psi(\beta_i),\ldots,\psi(\beta_n)) | V_{\beta_0,\ldots,\beta_n}$$

provide a chain homotopy between φ^* and ψ^* . Therefore, there is a homomorphism

$$j^n_{\mathfrak{V},\mathfrak{U}}:\check{H}^n_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U};G)\to\check{H}^n_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{V};G)$$

induced by φ^* but *independent* of the particular refinement projection φ used to define it. Thus we can define the Čech cohomology group as

$$\check{H}^n_{\Phi}(X;G) = \underline{\lim}_{\mathfrak{U}} \check{H}^n_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U};G).$$

Since it does not affect the direct limit to restrict the coverings to a cofinal set of coverings, it is legitimate to restrict attention to coverings $\mathfrak{U} = \{U_x; x \in X\}$ such that $x \in U_x$ for all x. In this case there is a *canonical* refinement projection, the identity map $X \to X$, for a refinement $\mathfrak{V} = \{V_x; x \in X\}$, $V_x \subset U_x$. Thus there is a canonical chain map

$$\check{C}^*_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U};G) \to \check{C}^*_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{V};G),$$

and so it is legitimate to pass to the limit and define the Čech cochain group

$$\check{C}^*_{\Phi}(X;G) = \underline{\lim}_{\mathfrak{U}}\check{C}^*_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U};G).$$

Since the direct limit functor is exact, it commutes with cohomology, i.e., there is a canonical isomorphism

$$\check{H}^*_{\Phi}(X;G) \approx H^*(\check{C}^*_{\Phi}(X;G)),$$

which we shall regard as equality.

We shall study this further in Chapter III. For the present, let us restrict attention to the case in which G is an abelian group regarded as a constant presheaf. We wish to define a natural homomorphism from the Alexander-Spanier groups to the Čech groups. If $f: X^{n+1} \to G$ is an Alexander-Spanier cochain and $\mathfrak{U} = \{U_x; x \in X\}$ is a covering of X, then f induces an element $f_{\mathfrak{U}} \in \check{C}^{n}(\mathfrak{U}; G)$ by putting $f_{\mathfrak{U}}(x_{0}, \ldots, x_{n}) = f(x_{0}, \ldots, x_{n})$ when $U_{x_{0}, \ldots, x_{n}} \neq \emptyset$. Consequently, f induces $f_{\infty} = \underline{\lim} f_{\mathfrak{U}} \in \check{C}^{*}(X; G)$. We claim that $|f_{\infty}| = |f|$. Indeed,

$$\begin{aligned} x \notin |f_{\infty}| &\Leftrightarrow \quad \exists \mathfrak{U}, V, x \in V \text{ and } f_{\mathfrak{U}}|V = 0 \text{ in } \check{C}(\mathfrak{U} \cap V; G) \\ &\Leftrightarrow \quad \exists \mathfrak{U}, V, x \in V \ni x_0, \dots, x_n \in V \implies f_{\mathfrak{U}}(x_0, \dots, x_n) = 0 \\ &\Leftrightarrow \quad \exists W, x \in W \ni x_0, \dots, x_n \in W \implies f(x_0, \dots, x_n) = 0 \\ &\Leftrightarrow \quad \exists W, x \in W \ni f|W^{n+1} = 0 \\ &\Leftrightarrow \quad x \notin |f|. \end{aligned}$$

Also, $|f_{\infty}| = \emptyset \Leftrightarrow f_{\infty} = 0$. Now, given $g \in \check{C}^*(X; G)$, g comes from some $g_{\mathfrak{U}} \in \check{C}^n(\mathfrak{U}; G)$, and it is clear that $g_{\mathfrak{U}}$ extends arbitrarily to an Alexander-Spanier cochain g. It follows that $f \mapsto f_{\infty}$ induces an *isomorphism*

$$A^n_{\Phi}(X;G)/A^n_0(X;G) \xrightarrow{\approx} \check{C}^n_{\Phi}(X;G),$$

whence

$$ASH^{n}_{\Phi}(X;G) \approx \check{H}^{n}_{\Phi}(X;G)$$
(18)

for all spaces X and families Φ of supports on X.

Now, the Čech cohomology groups are not altered by restriction to any cofinal system of coverings. Therefore, if X is compact, we can restrict the coverings used to finite coverings. Similarly, if X is paracompact, we can restrict attention to locally finite coverings.

Finally, if the covering dimension¹⁶ covdim $X = n < \infty$ then we can restrict attention to locally finite coverings $\mathfrak{U} = \{U_{\alpha}; \alpha \in I\}$ such that $U_{\alpha_0,\ldots,\alpha_{n+1}} = \emptyset$ for distinct α_i . Now, $\check{C}^*(\mathfrak{U};G)$ is the ordered simplicial cochain complex $C^*(N(\mathfrak{U});G)$ of an *n*-dimensional abstract simplicial complex, namely the *nerve* $N(\mathfrak{U})$ of $\mathfrak{U}.^{17}$ For $c \in \check{C}^p(\mathfrak{U};G)$ we have that $|c| = \bigcup \{\overline{U}_{\alpha_0,\ldots,\alpha_p} \mid c(\alpha_0,\ldots,\alpha_p) \neq 0\}$, since \mathfrak{U} is locally finite. Thus

$$\begin{split} \dot{C}^{*}_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U};G) &= \{ c \in \check{C}^{*}(\mathfrak{U};G) \mid \exists K \in \Phi \ni c(\alpha_{0},\ldots,\alpha_{p}) = 0 \text{ if } \overline{U}_{\alpha_{0},\ldots,\alpha_{p}} \not\subset K \} \\ &= \underbrace{\lim_{K \in \Phi} \{ c \in \check{C}^{*}(\mathfrak{U};G) \mid c(\alpha_{0},\ldots,\alpha_{p}) = 0 \text{ if } \overline{U}_{\alpha_{0},\ldots,\alpha_{p}} \not\subset K \} \\ &= \underbrace{\lim_{K \in \Phi} C^{*}(N(\mathfrak{U}), N_{K}(\mathfrak{U});G), \end{split}$$

where $N_K(\mathfrak{U}) = \{\{\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_p\} \in N(\mathfrak{U}) | \overline{U}_{\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_p} \not\subset K\}$, which is a subcomplex of $N(\mathfrak{U})$. But $C^*(N(\mathfrak{U}), N_K(\mathfrak{U}); G)$ is chain equivalent to the corresponding oriented simplicial cochain complex that vanishes above degree n. Therefore $\check{H}^p_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U}; G) = 0$ for p > n, whence $\check{H}^p_{\Phi}(X; G) = 0$ for p > n. Consequently,

$${}_{AS}H^p_{\Phi}(X;G) = 0 \text{ for } p > \operatorname{covdim} X.$$
(19)

¹⁶The covering dimension of X is the least integer n (or ∞) such that every covering of X has a refinement for which no point is contained in more than n+1 distinct members of the covering.

¹⁷This has the members of I as vertices and the subsets $\{\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_p\} \subset I$, where $U_{\alpha_0,\ldots,\alpha_p} \neq \emptyset$, as the *p*-simplices.

Singular homology

Even though the definition of singular cohomology requires a *locally con*stant sheaf as coefficients,¹⁸ one can define singular homology with coefficients in an arbitrary sheaf \mathcal{A} . To do this, define the group of singular *n*-chains by

$$S_n(X; \mathscr{A}) = \bigoplus_{\sigma} \Gamma(\sigma^* \mathscr{A}),$$

where the sum ranges over all singular simplices $\sigma : \Delta_n \to X$ of X. If $F_i : \Delta_{n-1} \to \Delta_n$ is the *i*th face map, then we have the induced homomorphism

$$\eta_i: \Gamma(\sigma^*\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma(F_i^*\sigma^*\mathscr{A}) = \Gamma((\sigma \circ F_i)^*\mathscr{A})$$

of Section 4, and so the boundary operator

$$\partial: S_n(X; \mathscr{A}) \to S_{n-1}(X; \mathscr{A})$$

can be defined by

$$\partial s = \sum_{i=0}^n (-1)^i \eta_i(s)$$

for $s \in \Gamma(\sigma^* \mathscr{A})$.

When \mathscr{A} is locally constant, then this, and the case of cohomology, is equivalent to Steenrod's definition of (co)homology with "local coefficients"; see [75] for the definition of the latter.

The functor $U \mapsto S_n(U; \mathscr{A})$ is *covariant*, and so it is not a presheaf. Thus it has a different nature than do the cohomology theories. See, however, Exercise 12 for a different description of singular homology that has a closer relationship to the cohomology theories.

Exercises

- 1. (S) If \mathscr{A} is a sheaf on X and $i: B \hookrightarrow X$, show that $i^*\mathscr{A} \approx \mathscr{A}|B$.
- 2. (§) If \mathscr{B} is a sheaf on B and $i: B \hookrightarrow X$, show that $(i\mathscr{B})|B \approx \mathscr{B}$.
- 3. Let $\{B_{\alpha}, \pi_{\alpha,\beta}\}$ be a direct system of presheaves [that is, for $U \subset X$, $\{B_{\alpha}(U), \pi_{\alpha,\beta}(U)\}$ is a direct system of groups such that the $\pi_{\alpha,\beta}$'s commute with restrictions]. Let $B = \lim_{\alpha \to \infty} B_{\alpha}$ denote the presheaf $U \mapsto \lim_{\alpha \to \infty} B_{\alpha}(U)$. Let $\mathcal{B}_{\alpha} = \mathscr{P}heaf(B_{\alpha})$ and $\mathcal{B} = \mathscr{P}heaf(B)$. Show that \mathcal{B} and $\lim_{\alpha \to \infty} \mathcal{B}_{\alpha}$ are canonically isomorphic.
- 4. (S) A sheaf \mathscr{P} on X is called *projective* if the following commutative diagram, with exact row, can always be completed as indicated:



¹⁸This will be generalized by another method in Chapter III.

Show that the constant sheaf \mathbb{Z} on the unit interval is not the quotient of a projective sheaf. (Thus there are not "sufficiently many projectives" in the category of sheaves.)

More generally, show that on a locally connected Hausdorff space without isolated points the only projective sheaf is 0.

5. Show that the tensor product of two sheaves satisfies the universal property of tensor products. That is, if \mathcal{A} , \mathcal{B} , and \mathscr{C} are sheaves on X and if $f: \mathcal{A} \triangle \mathcal{B} \rightarrow \mathscr{C}$ is a map that commutes with the projections onto X and is bilinear on each stalk, then there exists a unique homomorphism $h: \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B} \rightarrow \mathscr{C}$ such that f = hk, where $k: \mathcal{A} \triangle \mathcal{B} \rightarrow \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$ takes $(a, b) \in \mathcal{A}_x \times \mathcal{B}_x = (\mathcal{A} \triangle \mathcal{B})_x$ into $a \otimes b \in \mathcal{A}_x \otimes \mathcal{B}_x = (\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B})_x$.

Treat the direct sum in a similar manner.

- 6. Show that the functor $Hom(\bullet, \bullet)$ of sheaves is left exact.
- 7. Let $f: X \to Y$ and let \mathscr{R} be a sheaf of rings on Y. Show that the natural equivalence (5) of Section 4 restricts to a natural equivalence

$$\varphi : \operatorname{Hom}_{f^*\mathscr{R}}(f^*\mathscr{B},\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\approx} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathscr{R}}(\mathscr{B}, f\mathscr{A}),$$

where \mathscr{B} is an \mathscr{R} -module and \mathscr{A} is an $f^*\mathscr{R}$ -module. [The \mathscr{R} -module structure of $f\mathscr{A}$ is given by the composition

$$\mathscr{R}(U) \otimes (f\mathscr{A})(U) \to (f^*\mathscr{R})(f^{-1}U) \otimes \mathscr{A}(f^{-1}U) \to \mathscr{A}(f^{-1}U).]$$

- 8. (s) Let $f : X \to Y$ and let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X. Show that $\Gamma_{\Phi}(f\mathscr{A}) = \Gamma_{f^{-1}\Phi}(\mathscr{A})$, under the defining equality $(f\mathscr{A})(Y) = \mathscr{A}(X)$, for any family Φ of supports on Y. [Also, see IV-3.]
- 9. (§) Let 0 → A' → A → A'' → 0 be an exact sequence of sheaves on a locally connected Hausdorff space X. Suppose that A' and A'' are locally constant and that the stalks of A'' are finitely generated (over some constant base ring). Show that A is also locally constant. [Hint: For x ∈ X find a neighborhood U such that A(U) → A''(U) is surjective and such that A'(U) → A''_y and A''(U) → A''_y are isomorphisms for every y ∈ U.]
- 10. (§) Show by example that Exercise 9 does not hold without the condition that the stalks of \mathscr{A}'' are finitely generated.
- 11. (S) If $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}'' \to 0$ is an exact sequence of *constant* sheaves on X, show that the sequence

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}') \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}'') \to 0$$

is exact for any family Φ of supports on X.

12. (S) Let $\Delta_*(X, A)$ [respectively, $\Delta^{\circ}_*(X, A)$] be the chain complex of locally finite (respectively, finite) singular chains of X modulo those chains in A. Show that the homomorphism of generated sheaves induced by the obvious homomorphism

$$\Delta^c_*(X, X - U) \hookrightarrow \Delta_*(X, X - U)$$

of presheaves is an isomorphism. Denote this generated sheaf by Δ_* . Show that the presheaf $U \mapsto \Delta_*(X, X - U)$ (which generates Δ_*) is a monopresheaf and that it is conjunctive for *coverings* of X. Deduce that

$$\theta: \Delta_*(X) \to \Gamma(\Delta_*)$$

is an isomorphism when X is paracompact. [Note, however, that $U \mapsto \Delta_*(X, X - U)$ is not fully conjunctive and hence is not itself a sheaf.] Also show that θ induces an isomorphism

$$\Delta^c_*(X) \xrightarrow{\approx} \Gamma_c(\Delta_*).$$

(This provides another approach to the definition of singular homology with coefficients in a sheaf, by putting $\Delta_{*}^{*}(X; \mathscr{A}) = \Gamma_{c}(\Delta_{*} \otimes \mathscr{A})$.)

13. Let X be the complex line (real 2-dimensional) and let C denote the constant sheaf of complex numbers. Let \mathscr{A} be the sheaf of germs of complex analytic functions on X. Show that

$$0 \to C \xrightarrow{i} \mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{d} \mathscr{A} \to 0$$

is exact, where *i* is the canonical inclusion and *d* is differentiation. For $U \subset X$ open show that $d : \mathcal{A}(U) \to \mathcal{A}(U)$ need not be surjective. For which open sets *U* is it surjective?

- 14. (S) Let X be the unit circle in the plane. Let \mathbb{R} denote the constant sheaf of real numbers; \mathscr{D} the sheaf of germs of continuously differentiable realvalued functions on X; and \mathscr{C} the sheaf of germs of continuous real-valued functions on X. Show that $0 \to \mathbb{R} \xrightarrow{i} \mathscr{D} \xrightarrow{d} \mathscr{C} \to 0$ is exact, where d is differentiation. Show that $\operatorname{Coker} \{d : \mathscr{D}(X) \to \mathscr{C}(X)\}$ is isomorphic to the group of real numbers.
- 15. (S) Let X be the real line. Let \mathscr{F} be the sheaf of germs of all integer-valued functions on X and let $i: \mathbb{Z} \hookrightarrow \mathscr{F}$ be the canonical inclusion. Let \mathscr{G} be the quotient sheaf of \mathscr{F} by \mathbb{Z} . Show that $\mathscr{F}(X) \to \mathscr{G}(X)$ is surjective, while $\operatorname{Coker}\{\Gamma_c(\mathscr{F}) \to \Gamma_c(\mathscr{G})\} \approx \mathbb{Z}$.
- 16. Show that there are natural isomorphisms

Hom
$$\left(\bigoplus_{\lambda} \mathscr{A}_{\lambda}, \mathscr{B}\right) \approx \prod_{\lambda} \operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{A}_{\lambda}, \mathscr{B})$$

 \mathbf{and}

$$\operatorname{Hom}\left(\mathscr{A},\prod_{\lambda}\mathscr{B}_{\lambda}\right)\approx\prod_{\lambda}\operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{A},\mathscr{B}_{\lambda}).$$

17. Prove or disprove that there is the following natural isomorphism of functors of sheaves \mathscr{A} , \mathscr{B} , and \mathscr{C} on X:

$$Hom(\mathcal{A}, Hom(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{C})) \approx Hom(\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{C}).$$

- 18. (S) If $f: A \to X$ is a map with f(A) dense in X and \mathscr{M} is a subsheaf of a constant sheaf on X, then show that the canonical map $\beta: \mathscr{M} \to ff^*\mathscr{M}$ of Section 4 is a monomorphism. Also, give an example showing that this is false for arbitrary sheaves \mathscr{M} on X.
- 19. (S) For a given point x in the Hausdorff space X, let x also denote the family $\{\{x\}, \emptyset\}$ of supports on X. Show that ${}_{AS}H^n_x(X;G) = 0$ for all n > 0. (Compare II-18.)

Chapter II Sheaf Cohomology

In this chapter we shall define the sheaf-theoretic cohomology theory and shall develop many of its basic properties.

The cohomology groups of a space with coefficients in a sheaf are defined in Section 2 using the canonical resolution of a sheaf due to Godement. In Section 3 it is shown that the category of sheaves contains "enough injectives," and it follows from the results of Sections 4 and 5 that the sheaf cohomology groups are just the right derived functors of the left exact functor Γ that assigns to a sheaf its group of sections.

A sheaf \mathscr{A} is said to be *acyclic* if the higher cohomology groups with coefficients in \mathscr{A} are zero. Such sheaves provide a means of "computing" cohomology in particular situations. In Sections 5 and 9 some important classes of acyclic sheaves are defined and investigated.

In Section 6 we prove a theorem concerning the existence and uniqueness of extensions of a natural transformation of functors (of several variables) to natural transformations of "connected systems" of functors. This result is applied in Section 7 to define, and to give axioms for, the cup product in sheaf cohomology theory. These sections are central to our treatment of many of the fundamental consequences of sheaf theory.

The cohomology homomorphism induced by a map is defined in Section 8. The relationship between the cohomology of a subspace and that of its neighborhoods is investigated in Section 10, and the important notion of "tautness" of a subspace is introduced there.

In Section 11 we prove the Vietoris mapping theorem and use it to prove that sheaf-theoretic cohomology, with constant coefficients, satisfies the invariance under homotopy property for general topological spaces.

Relative cohomology theory is introduced into sheaf theory in Section 12, and its properties, such as invariance under excision, are developed. In Section 13 we derive some exact sequences of the Mayer-Vietoris type.

Sections 14, 15, and 17 are concerned, almost exclusively, with locally compact spaces. In Section 14 we prove the "continuity" property, both for spaces and for coefficient sheaves. This property is an important feature of sheaf-theoretic cohomology that is not satisfied for such theories as singular cohomology. A general Künneth formula is derived in Section 15. Section 17 treats local connectivity in higher degrees. This section really has nothing to do with sheaf theory, but the results of this section are used repeatedly in later parts of the book.

In Section 16 we study the concept of cohomological dimension, which

has important applications to other parts of the book. Section 18 contains definitions of "local cohomology groups" and of cohomology groups of the "ideal boundary."

If G is a finite group acting on a space X and if $\pi : X \to X/G$ is the "orbit map," then π induces, as does any map, a homomorphism from the cohomology of X/G to that of X. In Section 19 the "transfer map," which takes the cohomology of X into that of X/G, is defined. When G is cyclic of prime order we also obtain the exact sequences of P. A. Smith relating the cohomology of the fixed point set of G to that of X (a general Hausdorff space on which G acts).

In Sections 20 and 21 we define the Steenrod cohomology operations (the squares and pth powers) in sheaf cohomology and derive several of their properties. This material is not used elsewhere in the book.

All of the sections of this chapter, except for Sections 18 through 21, are used repeatedly in other parts of the book.

Most of Chapter III can be read after Section 9 of the present chapter.

1 Differential sheaves and resolutions

1.1. Definition. A "graded sheaf" \mathscr{L}^* is a sequence $\{\mathscr{L}^p\}$ of sheaves, p ranging over the integers. A "differential sheaf" is a graded sheaf together with homomorphisms $d: \mathscr{L}^p \to \mathscr{L}^{p+1}$ such that $d^2: \mathscr{L}^p \to \mathscr{L}^{p+2}$ is zero for all p. A "resolution" of a sheaf \mathscr{A} is a differential sheaf \mathscr{L}^* with $\mathscr{L}^p = 0$ for p < 0 together with an "augmentation" homomorphism $\varepsilon : \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{L}^0$ such that the sequence $0 \to \mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{\varepsilon} \mathscr{L}^0 \xrightarrow{d} \mathscr{L}^1 \xrightarrow{d} \mathscr{L}^2 \to \cdots$ is exact.

Similarly, one can define graded and differential presheaves.

Since exact sequences and direct limits commute, it follows that the functor \mathscr{G}_{heaf} , assigning to a presheaf its associated sheaf, is an exact functor. Thus if $A \xrightarrow{f} B \xrightarrow{g} C$ is a sequence of *presheaves* of order two [i.e., $g(U) \circ f(U) = 0$ for all U] and if $\mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{f'} \mathscr{B} \xrightarrow{g'} \mathscr{C}$ is the induced sequence of generated sheaves, then $\operatorname{Im} f'$ and $\operatorname{Ker} g'$ are generated respectively by the presheaves $\operatorname{Im} f$ and $\operatorname{Ker} g$. Similarly, the sheaf $\operatorname{Ker} g'/\operatorname{Im} f'$ is (naturally isomorphic to) the sheaf generated by the presheaf $\operatorname{Ker} g/\operatorname{Im} f: U \mapsto \operatorname{Ker} g(U)/\operatorname{Im} f(U)$.

If \mathscr{L}^* is a differential sheaf then we define its homology sheaf (or "derived sheaf") to be the graded sheaf $\mathscr{H}^*(\mathscr{L}^*)$, where as usual,

$$\mathscr{H}^{p}(\mathscr{L}^{*}) = \operatorname{Ker}(d: \mathscr{L}^{p} \to \mathscr{L}^{p+1}) / \operatorname{Im}(d: \mathscr{L}^{p-1} \to \mathscr{L}^{p}).$$

Note that in general, $\mathscr{H}^{p}(\mathscr{L}^{*})(U) \not\approx H^{p}(\mathscr{L}^{*}(U))$. [For example, if we let $\mathscr{L}^{0} = \mathscr{L}^{1}$ be the "twisted" sheaf with stalks \mathbb{Z} on $X = \mathbb{S}^{1}$ and let

§1. Differential sheaves and resolutions

 $\mathscr{L}^2 = \mathbb{Z}_2$, the constant sheaf, then $0 \to \mathscr{L}^0 \xrightarrow{2} \mathscr{L}^1 \to \mathscr{L}^2 \to 0$ is exact, so that $\mathscr{H}^p(\mathscr{L}^*)(X) = 0$ for all p. However, $\mathscr{L}^0(X) = 0 = \mathscr{L}^1(X)$ and $\mathscr{L}^2(X) \approx \mathbb{Z}_2$, so that $H^2(\mathscr{L}^*(X)) \approx \mathbb{Z}_2$.]

1.2. Example. In singular cohomology let G be the coefficient group (that is, the constant sheaf with stalk G; this is no loss of generality since we are interested here in local matters).

We have the differential presheaf

$$0 \to G \to S^0(U;G) \to S^1(U;G) \to \cdots,$$
(1)

where $G \to S^0(U;G)$ is the usual augmentation. Here we regard G as the constant presheaf $U \mapsto G(U) = G$. This generates the differential sheaf

$$0 \to G \to \mathscr{G}^0(X;G) \to \mathscr{G}^1(X;G) \to \cdots$$
(2)

When is this exact? That is, when is $\mathscr{P}^*(X;G)$ a resolution of G? Clearly this sequence is exact at G since (1) is. The homology of (1) is just the reduced singular cohomology group $_{\Delta}\tilde{H}^*(U;G)$. Thus (2) is exact \Leftrightarrow the sheaf $_{\Delta}\tilde{\mathscr{H}}^*(X;G) = \mathscr{P}_{heaf}(U \mapsto _{\Delta}\tilde{H}^*(U;G))$ is trivial. This is the case \Leftrightarrow

$$\lim_{\Delta} \Delta \tilde{H}^*(U;G) = 0 \tag{3}$$

for all $x \in X$, where U ranges over the neighborhoods of x. In the terminology of Spanier, (3) is the condition that the point x be "taut" with respect to singular cohomology with coefficients in G. Note that this condition is implied by the condition $HLC_{\mathbb{Z}}^{\infty}$. [A space X is said to be HLC_{L}^{n} (homologically locally connected) if for each $x \in X$ and neighborhood Uof x, there is a neighborhood $V \subset U$ of x, depending on p, such that the homomorphism ${}_{\Delta}\tilde{H}_{p}(V;L) \to {}_{\Delta}\tilde{H}_{p}(U;L)$ is trivial for $p \leq n$. Obviously any locally contractible space, and hence any manifold or CW-complex, is HLC.] An example of a space that does not satisfy this condition is the union X of circles of radius 1/n all tangent to the x-axis at the origin. It is clear that this is not HLC^{1} , and at least in the case of rational coefficients, the sheaf ${}_{\Delta}\mathscr{H}^{1}(X;\mathbb{Q}) \neq 0$ for this space.

1.3. Example. The Alexander-Spanier presheaf $A^*(\bullet; G)$ provides a differential presheaf

$$0 \to G \to A^0(U;G) \to A^1(U;G) \to \cdots$$
(4)

and hence a differential sheaf. However, in this case (4) is already exact. [For if $f: U^{p+1} \to G$ and df = 0, define $g: U^p \to G$ by $g(x_0, \ldots, x_{p-1}) = f(x, x_0, \ldots, x_{p-1})$, where x is an arbitrary element of U. Then

$$dg(x_0, ..., x_p) = \sum (-1)^i g(x_0, ..., \hat{x_i}, ..., x_p) = \sum (-1)^i f(x, x_0, ..., \hat{x_i}, ..., x_p) = f(x_0, ..., x_p) - df(x, x_0, ..., \hat{x_i}, ..., x_p) = f(x_0, ..., x_p),$$

so that f = dg.]

Thus the Alexander-Spanier sheaf $\mathscr{A}^*(X;G)$ is always a resolution of G.

1.4. Example. The de Rham sheaf Ω^* on any differentiable manifold is a differential sheaf and has an augmentation $\mathbb{R} \to \Omega^0$ defined by taking a real number r into the constant function on X with value r. Moreover, $0 \to \mathbb{R} \to \Omega^0 \to \Omega^1 \to \cdots$ is an exact sequence of sheaves, as follows from the Poincaré Lemma, which states that every closed differential form on euclidean space is exact; see [19, V-9.2]. Therefore, Ω^* is a resolution of \mathbb{R} .

2 The canonical resolution and sheaf cohomology

For any sheaf \mathscr{A} on X and open set $U \subset X$ we let $C^0(U; \mathscr{A})$ be the collection of all functions (not necessarily continuous) $f: U \dashrightarrow \mathscr{A}$ such that $\pi \circ f$ is the identity on $U, \pi: \mathscr{A} \to X$ being the canonical projection. Such possibly discontinuous sections are called *servations*, a terminology introduced by Bourgin [10]. That is,

$$C^0(U;\mathscr{A}) = \prod_{x \in U} \mathscr{A}_x.$$

Under pointwise operations, this is a group, and the functor $U \mapsto C^0(U; \mathscr{A})$ is a conjunctive monopresheaf on X. Hence this presheaf is a sheaf, which will be denoted by $\mathscr{C}^0(X; \mathscr{A})$. Note that if X_d denotes the point set of X with the discrete topology and if $f : X_d \to X$ is the canonical map, then $\mathscr{C}^0(X; \mathscr{A}) \approx ff^* \mathscr{A}$, as already mentioned in I-4.

Inclusion of the collection of sections of \mathscr{A} in the collection of all serrations gives an inclusion $\mathscr{A}(U) \hookrightarrow C^0(U; \mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{C}^0(X; \mathscr{A})(U)$ and hence provides a natural monomorphism

$$\varepsilon: \mathscr{A} \rightarrowtail \mathscr{C}^0(X; \mathscr{A}).$$

(For $f: X_d \to X$ as above, this inclusion coincides with the monomorphism $\beta: \mathscr{A} \to ff^*\mathscr{A}$ of (6) on page 15.)

If Φ is a family of supports on X, we put

$$C^0_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) = \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}^0(X; \mathscr{A})).$$

Then for any exact sequence $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}'' \to 0$ of sheaves, the corresponding sequence of *presheaves*

$$0 \to C^{0}(\bullet; \mathscr{A}') \to C^{0}(\bullet; \mathscr{A}) \to C^{0}(\bullet; \mathscr{A}'') \to 0$$

is obviously exact. Moreover, for any family Φ of supports, the sequence

$$0 \to C^0_{\Phi}(\bullet; \mathscr{A}') \to C^0_{\Phi}(\bullet; \mathscr{A}) \to C^0_{\Phi}(\bullet; \mathscr{A}'') \to 0$$

is exact. [To see that the last map is onto, we recall that $f \in C^0_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}'')$ can be regarded as a servation $\hat{f}: X \to \mathscr{A}''$. Then |f| is the closure of $\{x \mid \hat{f}(x) = 0\}$. Clearly \hat{f} is the image of a servation \hat{g} of \mathscr{A} that vanishes wherever \hat{f} vanishes. Thus $|g| = |f| \in \Phi$.] Let $\mathcal{J}^1(X; \mathcal{A}) = \operatorname{Coker} \{ \varepsilon : \mathcal{A} \to \mathscr{C}^0(X; \mathcal{A}) \}$, so that the sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{A} \stackrel{\varepsilon}{\longrightarrow} \mathscr{C}^{0}(X; \mathscr{A}) \stackrel{\partial}{\longrightarrow} \mathscr{J}^{1}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to 0$$

is exact. We also define, inductively,

$$\mathscr{C}^{n}(X;\mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{C}^{0}(X;\mathcal{J}^{n}(X;\mathscr{A}))$$
$$\mathcal{J}^{n+1}(X;\mathscr{A}) = \mathcal{J}^{1}(X;\mathcal{J}^{n}(X;\mathscr{A}))$$

so that

$$0 \to \mathcal{J}^n(X; \mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\varepsilon} \mathscr{C}^n(X; \mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\partial} \mathcal{J}^{n+1}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to 0$$

is exact. Let $d = \varepsilon \circ \partial$ be the composition

$$\mathscr{C}^{n}(X;\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\partial} \mathscr{J}^{n+1}(X;\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\varepsilon} \mathscr{C}^{n+1}(X;\mathscr{A}).$$

Then the sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{\varepsilon} \mathscr{C}^0(X; \mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{d} \mathscr{C}^1(X; \mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{d} \mathscr{C}^2(X; \mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{d} \cdots$$

is exact. That is, $\mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$ is a resolution of \mathscr{A} . It is called the *canonical* resolution of \mathcal{A} and is due to Godement [40].

This resolution satisfies the stronger property of being naturally "pointwise homotopically trivial." In fact, for $x \in U \subset X$ consider the homomorphism $C^0(U; \mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{A}_x$ that assigns to a servation $U \dashrightarrow \mathscr{A}$ its value at x. Passing to the limit over neighborhoods of x, this induces a homomorphism $\eta_x: \mathscr{C}^0(X;\mathscr{A})_x \to \mathscr{A}_x.$ Clearly $\eta_x \circ \varepsilon : \mathscr{A}_x \to \mathscr{A}_x$ is the identity. Thus, defining $\nu_x: \mathfrak{Z}^1(X;\mathscr{A})_x \to \mathscr{C}^0(X;\mathscr{A})_x$ by $\nu_x \circ \partial = 1 - \varepsilon \circ \eta_x$ (which is unambiguous), we obtain the pointwise splitting

$$\mathscr{A}_x \xrightarrow{\varepsilon}_{\eta_x} \mathscr{C}^0(X;\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\partial}_{\nu_x} \mathscr{J}^1(X;\mathscr{A})_x.$$

Replacing \mathscr{A} by $\mathscr{J}^n(X; \mathscr{A})$ we obtain, generally, the splittings

$$\mathcal{J}^{n}(X;\mathscr{A})_{x} \xrightarrow{\varepsilon}_{\eta_{x}} \mathscr{C}^{n}(X;\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\partial}_{\nu_{x}} \mathcal{J}^{n+1}(X;\mathscr{A})_{x}.$$

[Note that as a consequence of these splittings, all these sheaves are torsion free (i.e., have torsion free stalks) when \mathscr{A} is torsion free.] Let $D_x = \nu_x \circ \eta_x$: $\mathscr{C}^n(X; \mathscr{A})_x \to \mathscr{C}^{n-1}(X; \mathscr{A})_x$, for n > 0. Then on $\mathscr{C}^n(X; \mathscr{A})_x$ for n > 0 we have $dD_x + D_x d = \varepsilon \partial \nu_x \eta_x + \nu_x \eta_x \varepsilon \partial = \varepsilon \eta_x + \nu_x \partial = 1$, while on $\mathscr{C}^0(X; \mathscr{A})_x$ we have $D_x d = \nu_x \eta_x \varepsilon \partial = \nu_x \partial = 1 - \varepsilon \eta_x$. These three equations,

$$\begin{cases} dD_x + D_x d = 1, & \text{in positive degrees,} \\ D_x d = 1 - \varepsilon \eta_x, & \text{in degree zero,} \\ \eta_x \varepsilon = 1, & \text{on } \mathcal{A}, \end{cases}$$
(5)

show that $\mathscr{C}^*(X;\mathscr{A})_x$ is a homotopically trivial resolution of \mathscr{A}_x , and this is what we mean when we say that $\mathscr{C}^*(X;\mathscr{A})$ is *pointwise homotopically trivial*. Moreover, the D_x and η_x are natural in \mathscr{A} .

2.1. Lemma. If \mathscr{A}^* is a pointwise homotopically trivial resolution of a sheaf \mathscr{A} on X (e.g., $\mathscr{A}^* = \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$), then $\mathscr{A}^* \otimes \mathscr{B}$ is a resolution of $\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}$ for any sheaf \mathscr{B} on X.

Proof. The hypothesis means that there are the homomorphisms $D_x : \mathscr{A}_x^n \to \mathscr{A}_x^{n-1}$ for n > 0 and $\eta_x : \mathscr{A}_x^0 \to \mathscr{A}_x$ satisfying (5). Tensoring with \mathscr{B} preserves these equations and the result follows immediately. \Box

Now suppose that \mathscr{R} is a sheaf of rings and that \mathscr{A} is an \mathscr{R} -module. Then $\mathscr{C}^{0}(X;\mathscr{A})$ is a $\mathscr{C}^{0}(X;\mathscr{R})$ -module and, a fortiori, it is an \mathscr{R} -module. Also note that $\varepsilon : \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{C}^{0}(X;\mathscr{A})$ is an \mathscr{R} -module homomorphism. Thus $\mathscr{J}^{1}(X;\mathscr{A})$ is an \mathscr{R} -module. By induction, each $\mathscr{C}^{n}(X;\mathscr{A})$ and $\mathscr{J}^{n}(X;\mathscr{A})$ is an \mathscr{R} -module, and d is an \mathscr{R} -module homomorphism.

Since $\mathscr{J}^n(X;\mathscr{A})$ is an \mathscr{R} -module, when \mathscr{A} is an \mathscr{R} -module, it follows that $\mathscr{C}^n(X;\mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{C}^0(X;\mathscr{J}^n(X;\mathscr{A}))$ is a $\mathscr{C}^0(X;\mathscr{R})$ -module. We remark, however, that d is not a $\mathscr{C}^0(X;\mathscr{R})$ -module homomorphism (for if it were, then it would turn out that the cohomology theory we are going to develop would all be trivial).

Since $\mathscr{C}^0(X;\mathscr{A})$ is an exact functor of \mathscr{A} , so is $\mathscr{J}^1(X;\mathscr{A})$. By induction it follows that $\mathscr{C}^n(X;\mathscr{A})$ and $\mathscr{J}^n(X;\mathscr{A})$ are all exact functors of \mathscr{A} .

For a family Φ of supports on X we put

$$C^n_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) = \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}^n(X;\mathscr{A})) = C^0_{\Phi}(X;\mathcal{J}^n(X;\mathscr{A})).$$

Since $C^0_{\Phi}(X; \bullet)$ and $\mathcal{J}^n(X; \bullet)$ are exact functors, it follows that

 $C^n_{\Phi}(X; \bullet)$ is an exact functor.

2.2. Definition. For a family Φ of supports on X and for a sheaf \mathscr{A} on X we define

$$H^n_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) = H^n(C^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A})).$$

Since $0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}^0(X; \mathscr{A})) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}^1(X; \mathscr{A}))$ is exact, we obtain the natural isomorphism

$$\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^0_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A})$$

of functors of \mathcal{A} .

From a short exact sequence $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}'' \to 0$ of sheaves on X we obtain a short exact sequence

$$0 \to C^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}') \to C^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to C^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}'') \to 0$$

of chain complexes and hence an induced long exact sequence

$$\cdots \to H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}') \to H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}'') \xrightarrow{\delta} H^{p+1}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}') \to \cdots$$

2.3. If \mathscr{A} is a sheaf on X and $A \subset X$, and if Ψ is a family of supports on A, then we shall often use the abbreviation

$$H^p_{\Psi}(A; \mathscr{A}) = H^p_{\Psi}(A; \mathscr{A}|A).$$

2.4. We shall now describe another type of canonical resolution, also due to Godement, which is of value in certain situations. Most of the details will be left to the reader since this resolution will play a minor role in this book. Let $\mathscr{F}^p(X;\mathscr{A})$ be defined inductively by $\mathscr{F}^0(X;\mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{C}^0(X;\mathscr{A})$ and $\mathscr{F}^p(X;\mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{C}^0(X;\mathscr{F}^{p-1}(X;\mathscr{A}))$. Define $F^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) = \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{F}^p(X;\mathscr{A}))$ for any family Φ of supports on X. Then both $\mathscr{F}^p(X;\mathscr{A})$ and $F^p(X;\mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{F}^{p+1}(X;\mathscr{A})$ that makes $\mathscr{F}^*(X;\mathscr{A})$ into a resolution of \mathscr{A} . To do this we first give a description of $F^p(X;\mathscr{A}) = \Gamma(\mathscr{F}^p(X;\mathscr{A}))$ that is analogous to the definition of Alexander-Spanier cochains.

Denote by $M^p(X; \mathscr{A})$ the set of all functions defined on (p+1)-tuples (x_0, x_1, \ldots, x_p) of points in X such that $f(x_0, \ldots, x_p) \in \mathscr{A}_{x_p}$. We shall define an epimorphism

$$\psi_p: M^p(X; \mathscr{A}) \twoheadrightarrow F^p(X; \mathscr{A})$$

by induction on p. Let ψ_0 be the identity. If ψ_{p-1} has been defined, let $f \in M^p(X; \mathscr{A})$, and for each $x_0 \in X$, let $f_{x_0} \in M^{p-1}(X; \mathscr{A})$ be defined by

$$f_{x_0}(x_1,\ldots,x_p)=f(x_0,x_1,\ldots,x_p).$$

The assignment

$$x_0 \mapsto \psi_{p-1}(f_{x_0})(x_0) \in \mathscr{F}^{p-1}(X; \mathscr{A})_{x_0}$$

is a servation of $\mathscr{F}^{p-1}(X;\mathscr{A})$ and hence defines an element of

$$C^0(X; \mathscr{F}^{p-1}(X; \mathscr{A})) = F^p(X; \mathscr{A})$$

We let $\psi_p(f)$ be this element. Clearly, ψ_p is surjective.

By an induction on p it is easy to check that $\operatorname{Ker} \psi_p$ consists of all elements $f \in M^p(X; \mathscr{A})$ such that for each (q+1)-tuple (x_0, \ldots, x_q) there is a neighborhood $U(x_0, \ldots, x_q)$ of x_q such that if

$$x_1 \in U(x_0), x_2 \in U(x_0, x_1), \dots x_p \in U(x_0, \dots, x_{p-1}),$$

then $f(x_0, ..., x_p) = 0$.

We now define the differential δ . If $t \in \mathcal{A}_x$, let S(t) be any servation of \mathcal{A} that is continuous in some neighborhood of x and with S(t)(x) = t. [Note that S induces the canonical inclusion $\varepsilon : \mathcal{A} \to \mathscr{C}^0(X; \mathcal{A}) = \mathscr{F}^0(X; \mathcal{A})$.] For $f \in M^p(X; \mathcal{A})$ let $\delta f \in M^{p+1}(X; \mathcal{A})$ be defined by

$$\delta f(x_0, \dots, x_{p+1}) = \sum_{i=0}^{p} (-1)^i f(x_0, \dots, \widehat{x_i}, \dots, x_{p+1}) + (-1)^{p+1} S(f(x_0, \dots, x_p))(x_{p+1}).$$

The reader may check that $\delta(\operatorname{Ker} \psi_p) \subset \operatorname{Ker} \psi_{p+1}$ and that $\delta\delta f \in \operatorname{Ker} \psi_{p+2}$ for all $f \in M^p(X; \mathscr{A})$. Thus, we may define a differential δ on $F^p(X; \mathscr{A})$ by $\psi_{p+1}\delta = \delta\psi_p$. Note that on $F^p(X; \mathscr{A})$, δ does not depend on the particular choice function S. On $F^p(X; \mathscr{A})$ we have that $\delta\delta = 0$. These definitions are natural with respect to inclusions of open sets $U \subset X$, and thus we obtain a differential δ on $\mathscr{F}^p(X; \mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{G}heaf(U \mapsto F^p(U; \mathscr{A}))$.

Consider the homomorphism $E_x: M^p(X;\mathscr{A}) \to M^{p-1}(X;\mathscr{A})$, for p > 0, given by $E_x(f) = f_x$. We claim that this induces a homomorphism $D_x: \mathscr{F}^p(X;\mathscr{A})_x \to \mathscr{F}^{p-1}(X;\mathscr{A})_x$. To see this, let $\theta_x^p: M^p(X;\mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{F}^p(X;\mathscr{A})_x$ be the composition of $\psi_p: M^p(X;\mathscr{A}) \to F^p(X;\mathscr{A})$ with the restriction $F^p(X;\mathscr{A}) = \Gamma(\mathscr{F}^p(X;\mathscr{A})) \to \mathscr{F}^p(X;\mathscr{A})_x$. If $f \in \operatorname{Ker} \theta_x^p$ then there exists a neighborhood U of x such that $f|U \in M^p(U;\mathscr{A})$ is in $\operatorname{Ker} \psi_p$. Thus there is a sequence of neighborhoods $U(x_0,\ldots,x_q)$ in U as above such that if each $x_q \in U(x_0,\ldots,x_{q-1})$, then $f(x_0,\ldots,x_p) = 0$. Specializing to $x_0 = x$ we can cut U down so that U = U(x). Put $V(x_1,\ldots,x_q) = U(x,x_1,\ldots,x_q)$. Then if $x_2 \in V(x_1), x_3 \in V(x_1,x_2)$, etc., we have that $f_x(x_1,x_2,\ldots,x_p) = f(x,x_1,\ldots,x_p) = 0$, whence $E_x(f) = f_x \in \operatorname{Ker} \theta_x^{p-1}$, as claimed.

Now, it is easy to compute that $E_x\delta + \delta E_x = 1$, whence $D_x\delta + \delta D_x = 1$. We also have $\eta_x : \mathscr{F}^0(X; \mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{C}^0(X; \mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{A}$, as before, and the reader may check that $D_x\delta = 1 - \varepsilon \eta_x$. Thus, we have produced a pointwise splitting of $\mathscr{F}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$. In particular, this implies that $\mathscr{F}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$ is a resolution of \mathscr{A} .

One advantage of this resolution is that it has a semisimplicial structure. The description above in terms of the Alexander-Spanier type of cochains has an analogue for $\mathscr{C}^*(X;\mathscr{A})$. For these facts we refer the reader to [40].

3 Injective sheaves

Let \mathscr{R} be a sheaf of rings with unit on X. All sheaves on X in this section will be \mathscr{R} -modules; homomorphisms will be \mathscr{R} -module homomorphisms and so on. An \mathscr{R} -module \mathscr{I} on X is said to be *injective* (with respect to \mathscr{R}) if, for any subsheaf \mathscr{A} of a sheaf \mathscr{B} on X and for any homomorphism $h: \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{I}$ (of \mathscr{R} -modules) there exists an extension $\mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{I}$ of h. That is, \mathscr{I} is injective if the contravariant functor

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathscr{R}}(\bullet,\mathscr{I})$$

is right exact and hence exact (see I-Exercise 6).

In this section we shall show that there are "enough" injective sheaves in the category of \mathscr{R} -modules.¹

First, we need the following preliminary result:

3.1. Theorem. Let $f: W \to X$ be a map and let \mathscr{L} be an $f^*\mathscr{R}$ -injective sheaf on W. Then $f\mathscr{L}$ is an \mathscr{R} -injective sheaf on X.

Proof. We must show that the functor $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathscr{R}}(\bullet, f\mathscr{L})$ is exact. But by I-Exercise 7, it is naturally equivalent to the functor $\operatorname{Hom}_{f^*\mathscr{R}}(f^*(\bullet), \mathscr{L})$, which is exact since f^* is exact and \mathscr{L} is $f^*\mathscr{R}$ -injective.

We shall now apply this result to the case in which $W = X_d$, the discrete space with the same underlying point set as X. Here \mathscr{R} and $f^*\mathscr{R}$ have the same stalks, and it is clear that a sheaf \mathscr{L} on X_d is injective \Leftrightarrow each stalk \mathscr{L}_x is an injective \mathscr{R}_x -module. Thus 3.1 immediately yields the result that if I(x) is an injective \mathscr{R}_x -module for each $x \in X$, then the sheaf \mathscr{I} on X defined by

$$\mathscr{I}(U) = \prod_{x \in U} I(x), \tag{6}$$

with the obvious restriction maps, is an injective sheaf on X, since it is just the direct image of the sheaf on X_d whose stalk at x is I(x).

3.2. Theorem. Any sheaf \mathcal{A} on X is a subsheaf of some injective sheaf.

Proof. With the previous notation, let I(x) be some injective \mathscr{R}_x -module containing \mathscr{A}_x as a submodule. Then the inclusion

$$\prod_{x \in U} \mathscr{A}_x \hookrightarrow \prod_{x \in U} I(x)$$

provides a monomorphism $\mathscr{C}^0(X;\mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{I}$. Composing this with the canonical monomorphism $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{C}^0(X;\mathscr{A})$ yields the desired monomorphism $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{I}$.

 $^{^1 \}mathrm{We}$ shall make use of this fact only in the case in which $\mathcal R$ is a constant sheaf.

3.3. Proposition. Let L be an integral domain and suppose that \mathscr{R} is the constant sheaf with stalks L. If \mathscr{I} is an L-injective sheaf on X, then $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{I})$ is divisible (with respect to L) for any family Φ of supports on X.²

Proof. Let Q be the field of quotients of L and let $s \in \mathscr{I}(X)$ with $K = |s| \in \Phi$. Then s defines a homomorphism g of the constant sheaf L into \mathscr{I} by $g(\lambda_x) = \lambda_x s(x)$. Since this kills the subsheaf L_{X-K} , it factors to give a homomorphism $h: L_K \to \mathscr{I}$ such that s is the image of the unity section 1 of L via $L \to L_K \xrightarrow{h} \mathscr{I}$. Since \mathscr{I} is injective, h can be extended to $h': Q_K \to \mathscr{I}$. Now if $k \in L$, then $1/k \in Q$ gives a section of Q_K that is carried by h' to a section $t \in \mathscr{I}(X)$ with |t| = K and kt = s. \Box

3.4. Proposition. If \mathscr{I} is an injective sheaf, then so is $\mathscr{I}|U$ for any open set $U \subset X$.

Proof. Let $0 \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B}$ be an exact sequence of sheaves on U and let $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}|U$ be any homomorphism. The exact commutative diagram³

can be completed as indicated since \mathscr{I} is injective, yielding the required homomorphism $\mathscr{B} = \mathscr{B}^X | U \to \mathscr{I} | U$.

Because of 3.2, standard methods of homological algebra can be applied to the theory of sheaves. For example, every sheaf has an injective resolution.⁴ Moreover, suppose that \mathscr{I}^* is a differential sheaf with each \mathscr{I}^p injective and that $\mathscr{B} \to \operatorname{Ker}(\mathscr{I}^0 \to \mathscr{I}^1)$ is a given homomorphism. Then for any resolution \mathscr{L}^* of a sheaf \mathscr{A} , any homomorphism $h: \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B}$ admits an extension to a chain map $\mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{I}^*$, that is, a commutative diagram

Moreover, any two such chain maps $\mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{I}^*$ extending h are chain homotopic, that is, if $h', h'' : \mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{I}^*$ are chain maps extending h, then there is a sequence of homomorphisms

$$\eta: \mathscr{L}^p \to \mathscr{I}^{p-1}$$
 such that $d\eta + \eta d = h' - h''.$

²Also see Exercise 6.

³Recall that $(\mathscr{I}|U)^X = \mathscr{I}_U \subset \mathscr{I}$.

⁴For the benefit of readers with deficient background in homological algebra, we detail this and some other items we need about injective resolutions at the end of this section.

Any chain map $\mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{I}^*$ induces a chain map of complexes $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{I}^*)$. Since a chain homotopy induces a chain homotopy, we see that there is a canonical homomorphism

$$h^*: H^*(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*)) \to H^*(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{I}^*))$$

induced by $h : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$, independent of all choices.

Now let \mathscr{I}^* be an injective resolution of \mathscr{B} . If \mathscr{L}^* is also an injective resolution of \mathscr{A} and if $\mathscr{A} = \mathscr{B}$, h being the identity, we see that h^* is an isomorphism, since a map in the other direction exists and both compositions must be the identity because of the uniqueness. Thus $H^*(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{I}^*))$ depends only on \mathscr{B} and not on the particular injective resolution.

The functor $\mathscr{B} \mapsto H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{I}^*))$ is called the *p*th right derived functor of the left exact functor $\mathscr{B} \mapsto \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{B})$. We shall show in Section 5 that this functor is precisely the functor

$$\mathscr{B} \mapsto H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{B}).$$

More generally, the functor $\mathscr{B} \mapsto H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{H}om_{\mathscr{R}}(\mathscr{A},\mathscr{I}^*)))$ is the *p*th derived functor of the left exact functor $\mathscr{B} \mapsto \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{H}om_{\mathscr{R}}(\mathscr{A},\mathscr{B}))$ and is denoted by $\operatorname{Ext}_{\Phi,\mathscr{R}}^p(\mathscr{A},\mathscr{B})$. Since $\mathscr{H}om_{\mathscr{R}}(\mathscr{R},\mathscr{B}) \approx \mathscr{B}$ (naturally) we will have that

$$H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{B}) \approx \operatorname{Ext}^p_{\Phi,\mathscr{R}}(\mathscr{R},\mathscr{B}).$$

3.5. Sometimes it is convenient to have a *canonical* injective resolution of a sheaf. To obtain this we need only choose, canonically, the injective module I(x). We now show how to do this.

Let L be a ring with unit and let A be an L-module. Recall that an abelian group is injective as a Z-module \Leftrightarrow it is divisible.⁵ We let T denote the group of rationals modulo the integers. Let \widehat{A} denote the L-module $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(A,T)$ and note that $A \mapsto \widehat{A}$ is an exact contravariant functor since T is injective as a Z-module. Since T is injective, it is easily seen that the map $A \to \widehat{\widehat{A}}$, taking $a \mapsto a^*$ where $a^*(f) = f(a)$, is a monomorphism.

We claim that if A is projective then \widehat{A} is injective (as L-modules). To see this, consult the following diagrams



in which we are to produce the map g. The map h exists since A is projective. This dualizes to give the third diagram, and we let g be the composition $C \rightarrow \widehat{\widehat{C}} \xrightarrow{\widehat{h}} \widehat{A}$. The composition $B \rightarrow \widehat{\widehat{B}} \rightarrow \widehat{A}$ is easily seen to be the

⁵See, for example, [19, V-6.2].

original map f. Thus, by commutativity of the third diagram, $f = g \circ i$, as desired.

Now, for an L-module B, let F(B) be the free L-module on the nonzero elements of B. (More accurately, F(B) should be considered as the free module on B as a basis modulo the cyclic submodule generated by $0 \in B$.) Then F is a covariant functor. Moreover, there is a natural surjection $F(B) \to B$ and hence a natural monomorphism $\widehat{B} \to \widehat{F(B)}$.

The composition $A \mapsto \widehat{\widehat{A}} \mapsto \widehat{F(\widehat{A})}$ is then a natural monomorphism into the injective *L*-module $I(A) = \widehat{F(\widehat{A})}$. Also, $A \mapsto I(A)$ is a covariant functor. Note, however, that $I(\bullet)$ is not an exact functor since F is not exact.

If \mathscr{A} is a sheaf of \mathscr{R} -modules, where \mathscr{R} is a sheaf of rings with unit, let $\mathscr{I}^0(X;\mathscr{A})$ denote the sheaf \mathscr{I} of (6) on page 41, where I(x) is taken to be $I(\mathscr{A}_x)$ as constructed above (for the ring \mathscr{R}_x). The proof of 3.2 gives a monomorphism $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{I}^0(X;\mathscr{A})$, which we shall regard as an inclusion. Define, inductively,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{J}^1(X;\mathcal{A}) &= \mathcal{I}^0(X;\mathcal{A})/\mathcal{A}, \\ \mathcal{I}^n(X;\mathcal{A}) &= \mathcal{I}^0(X;\mathcal{J}^n(X;\mathcal{A})), \\ \mathcal{J}^n(X;\mathcal{A}) &= \mathcal{J}^1(X;\mathcal{J}^{n-1}(X;\mathcal{A})). \end{aligned}$$

Then we have the exact sequences

$$0 \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{I}^0(X; \mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{J}^1(X; \mathscr{A}) \to 0$$

and

$$0 \to \mathcal{J}^n(X; \mathcal{A}) \to \mathcal{I}^n(X; \mathcal{A}) \to \mathcal{J}^{n+1}(X; \mathcal{A}) \to 0,$$

which concatenate to give the natural exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{I}^0(X; \mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{I}^1(X; \mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{I}^2(X; \mathscr{A}) \to \cdots$$

That is, $\mathscr{I}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$ is an injective resolution of \mathscr{A} and is a covariant functor of \mathscr{A} .⁶ It will be called the *canonical injective resolution* of \mathscr{A} .

3.6. For the benefit of readers who have insufficient background concerning resolutions, we indicate here the derivations of some of the statements we have made about injective resolutions and others we shall need later. Readers already at home with this subject should skip to the next section. Although we discuss this subject in the language of sheaves, everything here can be done in general abelian categories.

The discussion in 3.5 already indicated how one can construct an injective resolution of a sheaf just given the fact that any sheaf can be embedded in an injective sheaf.

If $h : \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B}$ is any homomorphism of sheaves on X, and if $\varepsilon : \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{L}^*$ is a resolution and $\eta : \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{I}^*$ is a degree zero map of \mathscr{B} into an injective

⁶Unfortunately, however, it is not an *exact* functor.

§3. Injective sheaves

differential sheaf, let us show how to construct an extension $h^*: \mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{I}^*$ of h. Consider the diagram

in which the top row is exact. The map h^0 extending $\eta \circ h$ exists since \mathscr{I}^0 is injective. This makes the diagram commute. Next, the induced diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} 0 \ \to \ \mathscr{L}^0 / \operatorname{Im} \varepsilon & \stackrel{\varepsilon'}{\longrightarrow} \ \mathscr{L}^1 \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ \mathscr{I}^0 / \operatorname{Im} \eta & \stackrel{\eta'}{\longrightarrow} \ \mathscr{I}^1 \end{array}$$

can similarly be completed. The inductive step for the completion of the argument is now clear.

Now suppose that $h^*, k^* : \mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{I}^*$ are two such extensions of the same map $h : \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B}$. We wish to construct a chain homotopy g^* between them. That is, we want homomorphisms $g^n : \mathscr{L}^n \to \mathscr{I}^{n-1}$ with $g^0 = 0$ and $d^{n-1}g^n + g^{n+1}d^n = h^n - k^n$, where d^* stands for the differentials in both \mathscr{L}^* and \mathscr{I}^* . We have the commutative diagram

which has $(h^0 - k^0) \circ \varepsilon = \eta \circ 0 = 0$. Thus $h^0 - k^0$ factors through $\mathscr{L}^0/\mathscr{A}$, and d^0 induces a monomorphism $\mu : \mathscr{L}^0/\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{L}^1$. Since \mathscr{I}^0 is injective, μ extends to give a homomorphism $g^1 : \mathscr{L}^1 \to \mathscr{I}^0$ such that $g^1 \circ d^0 = h^0 - k^0$. Since $g^0 = 0$ by definition, this is the desired equation $d^{-1}g^0 + g^1d^0 = h^0 - k^0$. Now,

$$(h^{1} - k^{1} - d^{0}g^{1})d^{0} = (h^{1} - k^{1})d^{0} - d^{0}(g^{1}d^{0}) = (h^{1} - k^{1})d^{0} - d^{0}(h^{0} - k^{0}) = 0$$

by the commutativity of the diagram. Thus $(h^1 - k^1 - d^0g^1) : \mathscr{L}^1 \to \mathscr{I}^1$ factors through $\mathscr{L}^1/\operatorname{Im} d^0 = \mathscr{L}^1/\operatorname{Ker} d^1$. Therefore, since \mathscr{I}^1 is injective, there exists a map $g^2 : \mathscr{L}^2 \to \mathscr{I}^1$ such that $d^1g^2 = h^1 - k^1 - d^0g^1$, which is exactly the equation we are after. The inductive step is now clear.

Finally, given an exact sequence $0 \to \mathscr{A} \stackrel{i}{\longrightarrow} \mathscr{B} \stackrel{j}{\longrightarrow} \mathscr{C} \to 0$ of sheaves, we wish to construct injective resolutions \mathscr{A}^* , \mathscr{B}^* , and \mathscr{C}^* of them and an exact sequence $0 \to \mathscr{A}^* \to \mathscr{B}^* \to \mathscr{C}^* \to 0$ extending the original sequence. First, let $\varepsilon : \mathscr{C} \to \mathscr{C}^*$ be an injective resolution and let $\kappa : \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A}^0$ be a monomorphism into an injective sheaf. Put $\mathscr{B}^0 = \mathscr{A}^0 \oplus \mathscr{C}^0$ and let $j^0 : \mathscr{B}^0 \to \mathscr{C}^0$ be the projection. Then $\eta = \langle \kappa, \varepsilon j \rangle : \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{B}^0$ is a monomorphism and $j^0 \circ \eta = \varepsilon \circ j$. Next, by looking at the quotient of \mathscr{B}^0 by Im η there is a map $\kappa^0 : \mathscr{B}^0 \to \mathscr{A}^1$ with Ker $\kappa^0 = \operatorname{Im} \eta$, where \mathscr{A}^1 is some injective sheaf. Then define $\mathscr{B}^1 = \mathscr{A}^1 \oplus \mathscr{C}^1$, with $j^1 : \mathscr{B}^1 \to \mathscr{C}^1$ being the projection and with $d^0 = \langle \kappa^0, d^0 j^0 \rangle : \mathscr{B}^0 = \mathscr{A}^0 \oplus \mathscr{C}^0 \to \mathscr{A}^1 \oplus \mathscr{C}^1 = \mathscr{B}^1$. Then $j^1 d^0 = d^0 j^0$. The inductive step should now be clear, and it gives a resolution $\mathscr{B}^* = \mathscr{A}^* \oplus \mathscr{C}^*$ of \mathscr{B}^* (but the differential is not the direct sum of that on \mathscr{C}^* and the one to be put on \mathscr{A}^*) and a map $j^* : \mathscr{B}^* \to \mathscr{C}^*$ of resolutions extending j. Also, j^* is the projection and thus has kernel \mathscr{A}^* , which was chosen to consist of injective sheaves (and hence \mathscr{B}^* also consists of injective sheaves). By a simple diagram chase, \mathscr{A}^* inherits a differential and is a resolution of \mathscr{A} , as follows by looking at the long exact homology sequence (of derived sheaves) associated with the short exact sequence $0 \to \mathscr{A}^* \to \mathscr{B}^* \to \mathscr{C}^* \to 0$ of differential sheaves.

4 Acyclic sheaves

Let Φ be a family of supports on X and \mathscr{A} a sheaf on X. The sheaf \mathscr{A} is said to be Φ -acyclic if

$$H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) = 0, \text{ for all } p > 0.$$

We shall see in Section 5 that injective sheaves are Φ -acyclic for all Φ .

Let \mathscr{L}^* be a resolution of the sheaf \mathscr{A} . We shall describe a natural homomorphism

$$\gamma: H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*)) \to H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}).$$

Let $\mathcal{J}^p = \operatorname{Ker}(\mathscr{L}^p \to \mathscr{L}^{p+1}) = \operatorname{Im}(\mathscr{L}^{p-1} \to \mathscr{L}^p)$, where $\mathcal{J}^0 = \mathscr{A}$. The exact sequence $0 \to \mathcal{J}^{p-1} \to \mathscr{L}^{p-1} \to \mathcal{J}^p \to 0$ induces the exact sequence

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathcal{J}^{p-1}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^{p-1}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathcal{J}^p) \to H^1_{\Phi}(X; \mathcal{J}^{p-1})$$

(Note that the next term is 0 if \mathscr{L}^{p-1} is $\Phi\mbox{-acyclic.})$ Thus we obtain the monomorphism

$$H^{p}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^{*})) = \frac{\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{J}^{p})}{\operatorname{Im}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^{p-1}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{J}^{p}))} \mapsto H^{1}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{J}^{p-1})$$
(7)

[since $0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathcal{J}^{p}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathcal{L}^{p}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathcal{L}^{p+1})$ is exact], which is an isomorphism when \mathcal{L}^{p-1} is Φ -acyclic. Moreover, the exact sequence $0 \to \mathcal{J}^{p-r} \to \mathcal{L}^{p-r} \to \mathcal{J}^{p-r+1} \to 0$ induces the connecting homomorphism

$$H^{r-1}_{\Phi}(X;\mathcal{J}^{p-r+1}) \to H^{r}_{\Phi}(X;\mathcal{J}^{p-r}), \tag{8}$$

and we let γ be the composition

$$H^{p}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^{*})) \to H^{1}_{\Phi}(X;\mathcal{J}^{p-1}) \to H^{2}_{\Phi}(X;\mathcal{J}^{p-2}) \to \cdots \to H^{p}_{\Phi}(X;\mathcal{J}^{0}).$$

Now (7) and (8) are isomorphisms if each \mathscr{L}^i is Φ -acyclic. Thus we have:

4.1. Theorem. If \mathscr{L}^* is a resolution of \mathscr{A} by Φ -acyclic sheaves, then the natural map

$$\gamma: H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*)) \to H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A})$$

is an isomorphism for all p.

Naturality means that if the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathcal{A} & \to & \mathcal{L}^* \\ \downarrow f & & \downarrow h \\ \mathcal{B} & \to & \mathcal{M}^* \end{array}$$

commutes (h being a homomorphism of resolutions, i.e., a chain map) then

$$\begin{array}{ccc} H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*)) & \stackrel{\gamma}{\longrightarrow} & H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \\ & & \downarrow^{h^*} & & \downarrow^{f^*} \\ H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{M}^*)) & \stackrel{\gamma}{\longrightarrow} & H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{B}) \end{array}$$

also commutes. A similar statement holds regarding connecting homomorphisms, but we shall not need it.

4.2. Note that it follows from 4.1 that if $\mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{M}^*$ is a homomorphism of resolutions by Φ -acyclic sheaves of the same sheaf \mathscr{A} , then the induced map

$$H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*)) \to H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{M}^*))$$

is an isomorphism.

4.3. Corollary. If $0 \to \mathscr{L}^0 \to \mathscr{L}^1 \to \mathscr{L}^2 \to \cdots$ is an exact sequence of Φ -acyclic sheaves, then the corresponding sequence

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^{0}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^{1}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^{2}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^{3}) \to \cdots$$

is exact.

Proof. We must show that $H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{Q}^*)) = 0$ for all p. By 4.1 we have $H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{Q}^*)) \approx H^p_{\Phi}(X;0)$ since \mathscr{Q}^* is a Φ -acyclic resolution of the zero sheaf 0. But $\mathscr{C}^0(X;0) = 0$, and it follows that $\mathscr{C}^n(X;0) = 0$ for all n, whence $C^n_{\Phi}(X;0) = 0$ and $H^n_{\Phi}(X;0) = 0$.

5 Flabby sheaves

In this section we define and study an important class of Φ -acyclic sheaves containing the class of injective sheaves. In particular, we will show that injective sheaves are Φ -acyclic for all Φ .

5.1. Definition. A sheaf \mathscr{A} on X is "flabby" if $\mathscr{A}(X) \to \mathscr{A}(U)$ is surjective for every open set $U \subset X$.

5.2. Proposition. If \mathscr{A} is flabby on X and Φ is any family of supports on X, then $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi \cap U}(\mathscr{A}|U)$ is surjective for all open $U \subset X$.

Proof. Let $s \in \Gamma_{\Phi \cap U}(\mathscr{A}|U)$. Then $|s| = K \cap U$ for some $K \in \Phi$. Then s extends by 0 to the open set $U \cup (X - K)$. Extend this arbitrarily to $t \in \Gamma(\mathscr{A})$ using that \mathscr{A} is flabby. Then $|t| \subset K$ and so $t \in \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A})$. \Box

For any sheaf \mathscr{A} on X, it follows directly from the definitions that $\mathscr{C}^{0}(X;\mathscr{A})$, and hence $\mathscr{C}^{n}(X;\mathscr{A})$ and $\mathscr{F}^{n}(X;\mathscr{A})$, are flabby.

5.3. Proposition. Every injective module \mathcal{I} over a sheaf \mathcal{R} of rings with unit is flabby.

Proof. Let $s \in \mathscr{I}(U)$. The map $\mathscr{R}|U \to \mathscr{I}|U$ defined by $\rho_x \mapsto \rho_x \cdot s(x)$, where $\rho_x \in \mathscr{R}_x$ for $x \in U$ clearly extends to a homomorphism $h : \mathscr{R}_U \to \mathscr{I}$. Since \mathscr{I} is injective, h extends to a homomorphism $g : \mathscr{R} \to \mathscr{I}$. Thus the section $x \mapsto g(1_x)$ of \mathscr{I} extends s to X. \Box

5.4. Theorem. Let $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}'' \to 0$ be exact and suppose that \mathscr{A}' is flabby. Then for any family Φ of supports on X,

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}') \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}'') \to 0$$

is exact. In particular, since $\mathscr{A}'|U$ is flabby for U open in X,

$$0 \to \mathscr{A}'(U) \to \mathscr{A}(U) \to \mathscr{A}''(U) \to 0$$

is exact. Moreover, \mathscr{A} is flabby $\Leftrightarrow \mathscr{A}''$ is flabby.

Proof. We may consider \mathscr{A}' as a subsheaf of \mathscr{A} . Let $s \in \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}'')$. Let \mathscr{C} be the collection of all pairs (U,t), U open in $X, t \in \mathscr{A}(U)$, such that t represents $s|U \in \mathscr{A}''(U)$. Order \mathscr{C} by (U,t) < (U',t') if $U \subset U'$ and t'|U = t. Then \mathscr{C} is inductively ordered (i.e., a chain in \mathscr{C} has an upper bound, its union) and hence has a maximal element, say (V,t). Suppose that $V \neq X$. Let $x \notin V$ and let W be a neighborhood of x such that $(W,t') \in \mathscr{C}$ for some $t' \in \mathscr{A}(W)$ (which clearly exists).

Now, $t|V \cap W - t'|V \cap W \in \mathscr{A}'(V \cap W)$ and hence extends to some $t'' \in \mathscr{A}'(W)$ since \mathscr{A}' is flabby. Then t and t' + t'' agree on $V \cap W$, so that together they define an element of $\mathscr{A}(V \cup W)$ extending t and representing s on $V \cup W$. This contradicts the maximality of (V, t) and shows that V = X.

Now put U = X - |s| and note that $t|U \in \mathscr{A}'(U)$. We can extend t|U to some $t' \in \mathscr{A}'(X)$ since \mathscr{A}' is flabby. Then t - t' represents s on X and is zero on U. Therefore $|t - t'| = |s| \in \Phi$.

The last statement follows from the exact commutative diagram

and a diagram chase.

5.5. Theorem. A flabby sheaf is Φ -acyclic for any Φ .

Proof. Since $\mathscr{C}^0(X;\mathscr{A})$ is always flabby, it follows from the last part of 5.4 that $\mathscr{F}^1(X;\mathscr{A})$ is flabby when \mathscr{A} is flabby. By induction, all $\mathscr{F}^n(X;\mathscr{A})$ are flabby when \mathscr{A} is flabby.

Thus if we apply the functor Γ_{Φ} to the exact sequences

$$0 \to \mathcal{J}^{n}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{C}^{n}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to \mathcal{J}^{n+1}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to 0$$

[n = 0, 1, ... and where $\mathcal{J}^0(X; \mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{A}]$, we obtain exact sequences. It follows immediately that the concatenated sequence

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}) \to C^{0}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to C^{1}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to \cdots$$

is exact, as was to be shown.

5.6. Corollary. The functor $\mathscr{A} \mapsto H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$ is the pth right derived functor of the left exact functor Γ_{Φ} .

Proof. This follows immediately from 4.1, 5.3 and 5.5.

5.7. Proposition. If $f: X \to Y$ and \mathscr{A} is a flabby sheaf on X, then $f\mathscr{A}$ is flabby on Y.

Proof. This is immediate from the definition of $f \mathscr{A}$ and of "flabby." \Box

5.8. Corollary. If $F \subset X$ is closed and \mathcal{B} is a flabby sheaf on F, then \mathcal{B}^X is flabby on X.

Proof. If
$$i: F \hookrightarrow X$$
 is the inclusion, then $\mathscr{B}^X = i\mathscr{B}$.

5.9. Proposition. If $\{\mathscr{L}_{\lambda} | \lambda \in \Lambda\}$ is a family of flabby sheaves on X, then $\prod_{\lambda} \mathscr{L}_{\lambda}$ is flabby.

Proof. This follows from the definition $(\prod_{\lambda} \mathscr{L}_{\lambda})(U) = \prod_{\lambda} (\mathscr{L}_{\lambda}(U))$. \Box

A family $\{\mathscr{L}_{\lambda} \mid \lambda \in \Lambda\}$ of sheaves on X is said to be *locally finite* if each point $x \in X$ has a neighborhood U such that $\mathscr{L}_{\lambda}|U = 0$ for all but a finite collection of indices λ .

5.10. Corollary. If $\{\mathscr{L}_{\lambda} | \lambda \in \Lambda\}$ is a locally finite family of sheaves on X then

$$\underline{H^p(X;\prod_{\lambda}\mathscr{L}_{\lambda})\approx\prod_{\lambda}H^p(X;\mathscr{L}_{\lambda})}.$$

If Λ is finite then this holds for arbitrary support families.

Proof. If we let $\mathscr{L}_{\lambda}^{*} = \mathscr{C}^{*}(X; \mathscr{L}_{\lambda})$, then $\{\mathscr{L}_{\lambda}^{*}\}$ is also locally finite, and it follows that $(\prod_{\lambda} \mathscr{L}_{\lambda}^{*})_{x} = \prod_{\lambda} (\mathscr{L}_{\lambda}^{*})_{x}$ since locally near $x, \prod_{\lambda} \mathscr{L}_{\lambda}^{*} = \bigoplus_{\lambda} \mathscr{L}_{\lambda}^{*}$. Since \prod_{λ} is exact, it follows that $\prod_{\lambda} \mathscr{L}_{\lambda}^{*}$ is a resolution of $\prod_{\lambda} \mathscr{L}_{\lambda}$ for locally finite collections. It is flabby by 5.9. The result then follows from 4.1, the fact that \prod_{λ} commutes with Γ , and the fact that \prod_{λ} is exact. The last statement follows from the fact that $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\prod_{\lambda} \mathscr{L}_{\lambda}^{*}) = \prod_{\lambda} (\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}_{\lambda}^{*}))$ when Λ is finite, due to the fact that the union of a finite collection of members of Φ is a member of Φ .

5.11. Example. This example shows that 5.9 does not hold for (infinite) direct sums instead of direct products. Let $\mathscr{L}_n = \mathbb{Z}_{\{1/n\}}$ on $X = \mathbb{R}$. Then \mathscr{L}_n is flabby but $\mathscr{L} = \bigoplus_n \mathscr{L}_n \approx \mathbb{Z}_{\{1,1/2,\ldots\}}$ is not. (The unique servation of \mathscr{L} that is 1 at all the points 1/n is continuous over $(0,\infty)$ but not at 0 since it does not coincide with the zero section in some neighborhood of 0.) Note that for this example, $(\mathscr{L}_n)_{\{0\}} = 0$ for all n and $(\bigoplus_n \mathscr{L}_n)_{\{0\}} = 0$, but $(\prod_n \mathscr{L}_n)_{\{0\}} \neq 0$.

5.12. Example. This example shows that 5.10 does not hold for general support families. Let $\mathscr{L}_n = \mathbb{Z}_{\{n\}}$ on $X = \mathbb{R}$. Then $\{\mathscr{L}_n\}$ is locally finite. Clearly $H^0_c(X; \prod_n \mathscr{L}_n) = \Gamma_c(\prod_n \mathscr{L}_n) \approx \bigoplus_n \mathbb{Z}$, which is countable, while $\prod_n (H^0_c(X; \mathscr{L}_n)) = \prod_n (\Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}_n)) \approx \prod_n \mathbb{Z}$ is uncountable.

5.13. Proposition. Let L be a principal ideal domain. If \mathscr{A} is a flabby sheaf of L-modules on X and \mathscr{M} is a locally constant sheaf of L-modules on X with finitely generated stalks and with $\mathscr{A} *_{L} \mathscr{M} = 0$, then $\mathscr{A} \otimes_{L} \mathscr{M}$ is flabby.

Proof. Since flabbiness is a local property by Exercise 10, it suffices to treat the case in which \mathcal{M} is constant. Since a direct product of flabby sheaves is flabby by 5.9, it suffices to consider the case of a cyclic *L*-module $\mathcal{M} = L_k = L/kL$ for which \mathcal{A} has no *k*-torsion. Then the exact sequence $0 \to \mathcal{A} \otimes_L L \xrightarrow{k} \mathcal{A} \otimes_L L \to \mathcal{A} \otimes_L L_k \to 0$ shows that $\mathcal{A} \otimes_L L_k$ is flabby by 5.4 since $\mathcal{A} \otimes_L L \approx \mathcal{A}$ is flabby. \Box

5.14. Corollary. Let L be a principal ideal domain. Let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf of L-modules on X and let \mathscr{M} be a locally constant sheaf of L-modules on X with finitely generated stalks such that $\mathscr{A} *_L \mathscr{M} = 0$. Then with $\mathscr{A}^* = \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$, there is a natural isomorphism

$$H_{\Phi}^*(X; \mathscr{A} \otimes_L \mathscr{M}) \approx H^*(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^* \otimes_L \mathscr{M}))$$

for any family Φ of supports on X. If \mathcal{M} is constant with stalks M, then also

$$H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A} \otimes_L \mathscr{M}) \approx H^*(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*) \otimes_L M).$$

§5. Flabby sheaves

Proof. Since \mathscr{A}^* has no torsion that \mathscr{A} does not have, $\mathscr{A}^* *_L \mathscr{M} = 0$, and so $\mathscr{A}^* \otimes_L \mathscr{M}$ is a flabby resolution of $\mathscr{A} \otimes_L \mathscr{M}$ by 5.13 and 2.1. Thus the first statement follows from 4.1. If M is a finitely generated L-module, then there is an exact sequence $0 \to R \to F \to M \to 0$ with R and F free and finitely generated. The sequence

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^* \otimes_L R) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^* \otimes_L F) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^* \otimes_L M) \to 0$$

is exact since $\mathscr{A}^* \otimes_L R$ is flabby by 5.13. Now $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^* \otimes_L F) \approx \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*) \otimes_L F$, and similarly for R, since it is just a finite direct sum of copies of $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*)$. It follows that $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^* \otimes_L M) \approx \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*) \otimes_L M$, whence the second statement follows from the first. \Box

5.15. We conclude this section with an improved version of the map γ of Section 4. Let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X, \mathscr{L}^* a resolution of \mathscr{A} , and \mathscr{I}^* an injective resolution of \mathscr{A} . Denote $\mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$ by \mathscr{A}^* . We can find homomorphisms of resolutions (unique up to homotopy)

$$\mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{I}^* \leftarrow \mathscr{A}^*.$$

By 4.2 together with 5.3 and 5.5 the induced map

$$H^*(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*)) \to H^*(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{I}^*))$$

is an isomorphism. Let

$$\rho: H^*(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*)) \to H^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A})$$

be the composition $H^*(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*)) \to H^*(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{I}^*)) \approx H^*(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*)) = H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$. It is easy to see that ρ does not depend on the choices made. Also, \mathscr{I}^* could be replaced by any Φ -acyclic resolution, provided the indicated maps from \mathscr{L}^* and \mathscr{A}^* exist.

Note that ρ is an isomorphism when \mathscr{L}^* is Φ -acyclic. One can see without much difficulty that $\rho = (-1)^{p(p+1)/2}\gamma$, where γ is the isomorphism of Section 4, but this is immaterial and will not be proved here; see [24, V-7.1]. It is of more importance that ρ is easier to work with. For example, when $\mathscr{L}^* = \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{A}^*$, it is clear that ρ is the identity.

Let $0 \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{C} \to 0$ be an exact sequence of sheaves on X; let $\mathscr{L}^*, \ \mathscr{N}^*$, and \mathscr{M}^* be resolutions of $\mathscr{A}, \ \mathscr{B}$, and \mathscr{C} respectively; and let $\mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{N}^* \to \mathscr{M}^*$ extend $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{C}$. Assume further that $0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{M}^*) \to 0$ is exact, so that there is an induced long exact sequence in homology. Then it can be shown that ρ maps this induced sequence into the cohomology sequence of $0 \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{C} \to 0$ so as to form a commutative ladder. (Use the fact from 3.6 that a short exact sequence can always be extended to a short exact sequence of injective resolutions and use Exercise 47.)

6 Connected sequences of functors

In this section we prove an elementary theorem on functors of sheaves that will be basic in following sections. It will be useful in defining and proving the uniqueness of various homomorphisms involving cohomology groups. A basic reference is [58, Chapter XII]. Also see [80, Chapter III]. All sheaves in this section are sheaves on a *fixed* base space X. All functors will be additive covariant functors from the category of sheaves to that of abelian groups.⁷

A class \mathscr{E} of short exact sequences $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}'' \to 0$ will be said to be *admissible* if the following three conditions hold:

- \mathscr{E} is closed under isomorphisms of exact sequences.
- Every pointwise split⁸ short exact sequence is in \mathscr{E} .
- If $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}'' \to 0$ is in \mathscr{E} , then regarding \mathscr{A}' as a subsheaf of \mathscr{A} , the sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{C}^{0}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{C}^{0}(X; \mathscr{A})/\mathscr{A}' \to 0$$

is in E.

Remark: The class of pointwise split short exact sequences is admissible because there is a splitting $\mathscr{A}_x \to \mathscr{A}'_x$ by definition and a splitting $\mathscr{C}^0(X; \mathscr{A})_x \to \mathscr{A}_x$ as shown in Section 2. Also, any "proper class" in the sense of Mac Lane [58, p. 367] is admissible provided it contains all pointwise split sequences.

An \mathscr{E} -connected sequence of (covariant) functors (F^*, δ) is a sequence of functors $F^n : \mathscr{A} \to F^n(\mathscr{A})$, *n* an integer, together with natural transformations $\delta : F^n(\mathscr{A}'') \to F^{n+1}(\mathscr{A}')$ defined for all exact sequences $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}'' \to 0$ in \mathscr{E} such that the induced long sequence

$$\cdots \to F^n(\mathscr{A}') \to F^n(\mathscr{A}) \to F^n(\mathscr{A}'') \xrightarrow{\delta} F^{n+1}(\mathscr{A}') \to \cdots$$
(9)

is of order two, and such that a commutative diagram

(the rows being in \mathscr{E}) induces a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} F^{n}(\mathscr{A}'') & \stackrel{\delta}{\longrightarrow} & F^{n+1}(\mathscr{A}') \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ F^{n}(\mathscr{B}'') & \stackrel{\delta}{\longrightarrow} & F^{n+1}(\mathscr{B}'). \end{array}$$

⁸See I-5.1.

⁷The results of this section remain true if we replace the category of all sheaves by that of \mathcal{R} -modules, where \mathcal{R} is a fixed sheaf of rings with unit.

§6. Connected sequences of functors

"Connected" will stand for $\mathscr E\text{-connected}$ when $\mathscr E$ consists of all short exact sequences.

An \mathscr{E} -connected system of multifunctors is a system $(F^{*,...,*}, \delta_1, ..., \delta_n)$, where $F^{*,...,*}$ is a system of functors of n variables (where n is fixed) indexed by n-tuples of integers, such that if all indices $p_1, ..., p_n$ are fixed except for the *i*th, and all variables $\mathscr{A}_1, ..., \mathscr{A}_n$ are fixed except the *i*th, then together with δ_i , we obtain an \mathscr{E} -connected sequence of functors of one variable, and we also require that $\delta_i \delta_j = \delta_j \delta_i$ for all i, j when this is defined.

6.1. We shall call a connected sequence of functors (F^*, δ) fundamental if the following three conditions hold:

- $F^p(\mathscr{A}) = 0$ if p < 0.
- $F^p(\mathscr{A}) = 0$ if p > 0 and \mathscr{A} has the form $\mathscr{C}^0(X; \mathscr{B})$ for some sheaf \mathscr{B} .
- For any short exact sequence $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}'' \to 0$, the induced sequence (9) is *exact*.

These conditions imply that F^p is the *p*th right derived functor of the left exact functor $F^{0,9}$ The standard examples are, of course, $F^*(\mathscr{A}) = H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$ for any given family Φ of supports on X.

6.2. Theorem. Suppose that $(F_1^*, \delta_1), \ldots, (F_n^*, \delta_n)$ are fundamental connected sequences of functors and that $(F^*, \ldots, *, \delta'_1, \ldots, \delta'_n)$ is an \mathscr{E} -connected system of multifunctors of n variables, with \mathscr{E} admissible. Assume that we are given a natural transformation of functors

$$T^{0,\ldots,0}: F_1^0(\mathscr{A}_1)\otimes\cdots\otimes F_n^0(\mathscr{A}_n)\longrightarrow F^{0,\ldots,0}(\mathscr{A}_1,\ldots,\mathscr{A}_n).$$

Then:

(a) There exists a unique extension of $T^{0,...,0}$ to natural transformations

 $T^{p_1,\ldots,p_n}: F_1^{p_1}(\mathscr{A}_1) \otimes \cdots \otimes F_n^{p_n}(\mathscr{A}_n) \longrightarrow F^{p_1,\ldots,p_n}(\mathscr{A}_1,\ldots,\mathscr{A}_n)$

that are compatible with respect to δ_i and δ'_i for all *i*; (see below for the meaning of "compatible").

- (b) If for fixed indices p_j, j ≠ i, and for fixed variables A_j, j ≠ i, the sequence of functors A_i → F^{p₁,...,p_n}(A₁,...,A_n) is &'-connected, for some admissible &' ⊃ &, by a transformation δ''_i extending δ'_i, then δ_i and δ''_i are compatible.
- (c) If n = 1 and (F^*, δ'_1) is also fundamental, then:
 - (i) If $T^0: F_1^0(\mathscr{A}) \to F^0(\mathscr{A})$ is surjective for all \mathscr{A} , then so are all the T^p .
 - (ii) If T^0 is injective for all \mathscr{A} and is an isomorphism for \mathscr{A} flabby, then T^p is an isomorphism for all \mathscr{A} and p.

⁹For one can resolve any sheaf by injective sheaves of the form $\mathscr{C}^0(X; \bullet)$.

Proof. The "compatibility" of δ_i and δ'_i means that if

$$0 \to \mathscr{A}'_i \to \mathscr{A}_i \to \mathscr{A}''_i \to 0$$

is in \mathscr{E} and if $\alpha_j \in F_j^{p_j}(\mathscr{A}_j)$ for $j \neq i$, and $\alpha_i \in F_i^{p_i}(\mathscr{A}''_j)$, then

$$T^{p_1,\ldots,p_i+1,\ldots,p_n}(\alpha_1\otimes\cdots\otimes\delta_i\alpha_i\otimes\cdots\otimes\alpha_n)=\delta'_iT^{p_1,\ldots,p_n}(\alpha_1\otimes\cdots\otimes\alpha_n).$$

Let us use the abbreviations $\mathcal{J}_i^p = \mathcal{J}^p(X; \mathcal{A}_i)$ and $\mathscr{C}_i^p = \mathscr{C}^p(X; \mathcal{A}_i)$, where $\mathcal{J}_i^0 = \mathcal{A}_i$ and $\mathscr{C}_i^{-1} = 0$. Also, for brevity, let

$$T = T^{0,...,0}$$
 and $F = F^{0,...,0}$

Applying F_i^* to the sequences

$$0 \to \mathcal{F}_i^p \to \mathcal{C}_i^p \to \mathcal{F}_i^{p+1} \to 0 \tag{10}$$

we obtain the sequence of homomorphisms

$$F_i^0(\mathscr{C}_i^{p-1}) \to F_i^0(\mathscr{J}_i^p) \twoheadrightarrow F_i^1(\mathscr{J}_i^{p-1}) \xrightarrow{\approx} F_i^2(\mathscr{J}_i^{p-2}) \xrightarrow{\approx} \cdots \xrightarrow{\approx} F_i^p(\mathscr{A}_i),$$

which is exact at the second term.

Then the composition of the δ_i of the sequences (10) yields canonical surjections

$$\gamma_i: F_i^0(\mathcal{J}_i^{p_i}) \twoheadrightarrow F_i^{p_i}(\mathcal{A}_i)$$

whose kernel is the image of $\lambda_i : F_i^0(\mathscr{C}_i^{p_i-1}) \to F_i^0(\mathscr{Z}_i^{p_i}).$

Similarly for F^{p_1,\ldots,p_n} , using the fact that $\delta'_i \delta'_j = \delta'_j \delta'_i$, the composition of the δ'_i 's of the sequences (10) in *any order* yields a canonical homomorphism:

$$\eta: F(\mathcal{J}_1^{p_1},\ldots,\mathcal{J}_n^{p_n}) \to F^{p_1,\ldots,p_n}(\mathcal{A}_1,\ldots,\mathcal{A}_n).$$

Moreover, the kernel of this map *contains* the images of all of the induced maps $\rho_i =$

$$T(1,...,\gamma_i,...,1):F(\mathcal{J}_1^{p_1},...,\mathcal{C}_i^{p_i-1},...,\mathcal{J}_n^{p_n}) \to F(\mathcal{J}_1^{p_1},...,\mathcal{J}_i^{p_i-1},...,\mathcal{J}_n^{p_n})$$

(the \mathscr{C} term in only the *i*th variable) so that $\eta \rho_i = 0$. Now, if $b_i \in \mathscr{F}_i^{p_i}$ and $\gamma_j(b_j) = 0$ for some j, then $b_j = \lambda_j(c_j)$ for some $c_j \in F_j^0(\mathscr{C}_j^{p_j-1})$, so that

$$\eta(T(b_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes b_j \otimes \cdots \otimes b_n)) = \eta(T(b_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \lambda_j(c_j) \otimes \cdots \otimes b_n))) = \eta(\rho_j(T(b_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes b_j \otimes \cdots \otimes b_n))) = 0.$$

Therefore the map $T: F_1^0(\mathcal{J}_1^{p_1}) \otimes \cdots \otimes F_n^0(\mathcal{J}_n^{p_n}) \to F(\mathcal{J}_1^{p_1}, \ldots, \mathcal{J}_n^{p_n})$ induces a unique compatible map

$$T^{p_1,\ldots,p_n}: F_1^{p_1}(\mathscr{A}_1) \otimes \cdots \otimes F_n^{p_n}(\mathscr{A}_n) \to F^{p_1,\ldots,p_n}(\mathscr{A}_1,\ldots,\mathscr{A}_n)$$

§6. Connected sequences of functors

given by $T^{p_1,\ldots,p_n}(a_1\otimes\cdots\otimes a_n) = \eta(T(\gamma_1^{-1}(a_1)\otimes\cdots\otimes \gamma_n^{-1}(a_n))).$ It is clear from the definition of T^{p_1,\ldots,p_n} that the δ 's are compatible

It is clear from the definition of $T^{p_1,...,p_n}$ that the δ 's are compatible on the class of short exact sequences of the form $0 \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{C}^0(\mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{J}^1(\mathscr{A}) \to 0$. The sequences (10) are of this form. Thus to complete the proof of (a) we need only prove (b). But then it suffices to prove the case of one variable, for if we fix p_j, \mathscr{A}_j , and $\alpha_j \in F_j^{p_j}(\mathscr{A}_j)$ for $j \neq i$, we need only consider the functors F_i^* and $\mathscr{B} \mapsto F^{p_1,...,p_n}(\mathscr{A}_1,...,\mathscr{B},...,\mathscr{A}_n)$ of one variable $\mathscr{B} = \mathscr{A}_i$ and the transformation $S^{p_i}(\beta) = T^{p_1,...,p_n}(\alpha_1,...,\beta,...,\alpha_n) :$ $F_i^{p_i}(\mathscr{B}) \to F^{p_1,...,p_n}(\mathscr{A}_1,...,\mathscr{B},...,\mathscr{A}_n).$

For one variable, (b) is contained in (a). Therefore we need only complete the proof of (a) for the case of one variable. Let $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}'' \to 0$ be in \mathscr{E} and consider the commutative diagram with exact rows

all of whose rows are in \mathscr{E} . Applying F_1 (respectively F) we obtain a commutative diagram¹⁰

and a map of this into the corresponding diagram for F. Denoting δ'_1 by δ , we must show that if $\alpha \in F_1^p(\mathscr{A}'')$, then

$$\delta T^p(\alpha) = T^{p+1}(\delta_1 \alpha).$$

However,

$$\delta T^p(\alpha) = \delta f^* T^p(\alpha) = \delta T^p(f^*\alpha) \text{ and } T^{p+1}(\delta_1 \alpha) = T^{p+1}(\delta_1 f^*\alpha).$$

Thus it suffices to show, for $\alpha' \in F_1^p(\mathscr{C}^0(\mathscr{A})/\mathscr{A}')$, that

$$\delta T^p(\alpha') = T^{p+1}(\delta_1 \alpha'). \tag{12}$$

However, note that $F_1^p(\mathcal{J}^1(\mathcal{A}'))$ maps onto $F_1^p(\mathcal{C}^0(\mathcal{A})/\mathcal{A}')/(\operatorname{Im} k^*)$. (Also note that the kernel is $\operatorname{Im} l^*$.) Thus it suffices to prove (12) for $\alpha' = g^*(\alpha'')$

¹⁰Note that for p > 0 the bottom two groups in the first column are zero.

for some $\alpha'' \in F_1^p(\mathcal{J}^1(\mathcal{A}'))$. We compute¹¹

$$\delta T^{p}(\alpha') = \delta T^{p}(g^{*}\alpha'') = \delta g^{*}T^{p}(\alpha'') = \delta T^{p}(\alpha'')$$
$$=_{def} T^{p+1}(\delta_{1}\alpha'') = T^{p+1}(\delta_{1}g^{*}\alpha'') = T^{p+1}(\delta_{1}\alpha')$$

as was to be shown; completing the proof of (a) and (b).

Part (c) is an elementary application of the five-lemma, which will be left to the reader. $\hfill \Box$

Remark: The conditions defining a fundamental connected sequence are more restrictive than is necessary, but they are sufficient for our purposes. See [58, Chapter XII] in this regard.

6.3. Example. Let $f: X \to Y$ and let Φ and Ψ be families of supports on X and Y respectively such that $f^{-1}\Psi \subset \Phi$. Then $F_1^*(\mathscr{B}) = H_{\Psi}^*(Y; \mathscr{B})$ is a fundamental connected sequence of functors of sheaves \mathscr{B} on Y. Also, $F_2^*(\mathscr{B}) = H_{\Phi}^*(X; f^*\mathscr{B})$ is a connected system of functors of \mathscr{B} , since $\mathscr{B} \mapsto f^*\mathscr{B}$ is exact. We have the natural transformation

$$F_1^0(\mathscr{B}) = \Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{B}) \to \Gamma_{f^{-1}\Psi}(f^*\mathscr{B}) \hookrightarrow \Gamma_{\Phi}(f^*\mathscr{B}) = F_2^0(\mathscr{B}).$$

Therefore, Theorem 6.2 gives us a natural transformation

$$f^*: H^*_{\Psi}(Y; \mathscr{B}) \to H^*_{\Phi}(X; f^*\mathscr{B})$$

of functors compatible with connecting homomorphisms. This means that an exact sequence $0 \to \mathscr{B}' \to \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{B}'' \to 0$ of sheaves gives rise to a commutative ladder

in cohomology. This will be generalized and discussed at more length in Section 8. \diamond

7 Axioms for cohomology and the cup product

A cohomology theory (in the sense of Cartan) on a space X with supports in Φ is a fundamental connected sequence of functors $\overline{H}_{\Phi}^{*}(X; \bullet)$ (additive and covariant from the category of sheaves on X to that of abelian groups) together with a natural isomorphism of functors

$$T^0: \Gamma_{\Phi}(\bullet) \xrightarrow{\approx} \overline{H}^0_{\Phi}(X; \bullet).$$

¹¹In this computation g^* stands for both $F^p(g)$ and $F_1^p(g)$ and similarly for f^* .

By Theorem 6.2, any cohomology theory is naturally isomorphic to $H^*_{\Phi}(X; \bullet)$.

The following theorem similarly defines and gives axioms for the cup product in sheaf cohomology.

7.1. Theorem. Let Φ , Ψ be families of supports on X. Then there exists a unique natural transformation of functors (on the category of sheaves on X to abelian groups)

$$\cup: H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \otimes H^q_{\Psi}(X; \mathscr{B}) \to H^{p+q}_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(X; \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B})$$
(13)

called the "cup product" and satisfying the following three properties:

- (a) For p = q = 0, ∪: Γ_Φ(A) ⊗ Γ_Ψ(B) → Γ_{Φ∩Ψ}(A ⊗ B) is the transformation induced by the canonical map A(X) ⊗ B(X) → (A ⊗ B)(X) of I-Section 5.
- (b) If $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}'' \to 0$ and $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \otimes \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A}' \otimes \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A}'' \otimes \mathscr{B} \to 0$ are exact, then for $\alpha \in H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}'')$ and $\beta \in H^q_{\Psi}(X; \mathscr{B})$ we have $\delta(\alpha \cup \beta) = \delta \alpha \cup \beta$.
- (c) If $0 \to \mathscr{B}' \to \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{B}'' \to 0$ and $0 \to \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}' \to \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}'' \to 0$ are exact, then for $\alpha \in H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$ and $\beta \in H^q_{\Psi}(X; \mathscr{B}'')$ we have $\delta(\alpha \cup \beta) = (-1)^p \alpha \cup \delta\beta$.

Proof. Let $F_1^p(\mathscr{A}) = H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$ and $F_2^q(\mathscr{B}) = H^q_{\Psi}(X; \mathscr{B})$, and

$$F^{p,q}(\mathscr{A},\mathscr{B}) = H^{p+q}_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(X; \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}).$$

Let \mathscr{E} be the class of pointwise split short exact sequences.

If $E_1: 0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}'' \to 0$ is in \mathscr{E} , then $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \otimes \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A}'' \otimes \mathscr{B} \to 0$ is exact for all \mathscr{B} , and we take $\delta'_1: F^{p,q}(\mathscr{A}'', \mathscr{B}) \to F^{p+1,q}(\mathscr{A}', \mathscr{B})$ to be the connecting homomorphism δ on $H^{p+q}_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(X; \bullet)$ of this sequence.

Similarly, if $E_2: 0 \to \mathscr{B}' \to \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{B}'' \to 0$ is in \mathscr{E} , then $0 \to \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}' \to \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}'' \to 0$ is exact, and $\delta'_2: F^{p,q}(\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{B}'') \to F^{p,q+1}(\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{B}')$ is taken to be $(-1)^p \delta$.

If E_1 and E_2 are both in \mathscr{E} , then applying $C^*_{\Phi \cap \Psi}$ to the diagram

we obtain a commutative diagram of chain complexes, and it is a wellknown algebraic fact that the induced square

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H^{p+q}_{\Phi\cap\Psi}(X;\mathscr{A}''\otimes\mathscr{B}') & \stackrel{\delta}{\longrightarrow} & H^{p+q}_{\Phi\cap\Psi}(X;\mathscr{A}'\otimes\mathscr{B}'') \\ & & & & \downarrow \delta \\ H^{p+q}_{\Phi\cap\Psi}(X;\mathscr{A}''\otimes\mathscr{B}') & \stackrel{\delta}{\longrightarrow} & H^{p+q}_{\Phi\cap\Psi}(X;\mathscr{A}'\otimes\mathscr{B}') \end{array}$$

anticommutes. Thus, by definition, $\delta'_1 \delta'_2 = \delta'_2 \delta'_1$.

The theorem now follows from 6.2. [To get the full (b), one needs to show that the class of sequences $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}'' \to 0$ satisfying the conditions of (b), for \mathscr{B} given, is admissible; and similarly for (c). This is immediate because the only thing needing proof is that $\mathscr{A}' \otimes \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{C}^0(X; \mathscr{A}) \otimes \mathscr{B}$ is a monomorphism, and this is just the composition of the monomorphisms $\mathscr{A}' \otimes \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}$ and $\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{C}^0(X; \mathscr{A}) \otimes \mathscr{B}$, the latter being a monomorphism because the canonical monomorphism $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{C}^0(X; \mathscr{A})$ splits pointwise.]

Remark: For uniqueness, (b) and (c) can be restricted to sequences of the form

$$0 \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{C}^0(X; \mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{J}^1(X; \mathscr{A}) \to 0.$$

7.2. Corollary. Let $\tau : \mathcal{B} \otimes \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$ be the canonical isomorphism. Then for $\alpha \in H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathcal{A})$ and $\beta \in H^q_{\Psi}(X; \mathcal{B})$, we have that

$$\alpha \cup \beta = (-1)^{pq} \tau^*(\beta \cup \alpha).$$

Proof. If $T: H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \otimes H^q_{\Psi}(X; \mathscr{B}) \to H^q_{\Psi}(X; \mathscr{B}) \otimes H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$ is given by $T(\alpha \otimes \beta) = (-1)^{pq}\beta \otimes \alpha$, then $\tau^* \circ \cup \circ T$ is immediately seen to satisfy the hypotheses of 7.1, and so it must coincide with the cup product. Hence $\alpha \cup \beta = (\tau^* \circ \cup \circ T)(\alpha \cup \beta) = \tau^*((-1)^{pq}\beta \cup \alpha).$

- Remark: Clearly either of the conditions (b) or (c) of 7.1 could be replaced by the commutativity formula of 7.2.
- Remark: If we restrict attention to the category of \mathscr{R} -modules where \mathscr{R} is a sheaf of rings, then in (13) $\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}$ can be replaced by the tensor product over \mathscr{R} and the other tensor product by the tensor product over $\Gamma(\mathscr{R})$. This is an easy consequence of the following result.
- **7.3.** Proposition. The cup product is associative.

Proof. We are to show that the two ways of defining the map

$$H^{p}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \otimes H^{q}_{\Psi}(X;\mathscr{B}) \otimes H^{r}_{\Theta}(X;\mathscr{C}) \to H^{p+q+r}_{\Phi \cap \Psi \cap \Theta}(X;\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B} \otimes \mathscr{C})$$

agree. Thus we apply Theorem 6.2 to the \mathscr{E} -connected system of trifunctors (with \mathscr{E} being the class of pointwise split short exact sequences)

$$F^{p,q,r}(\mathscr{A},\mathscr{B},\mathscr{C}) = H^{p+q+r}_{\Phi \cap \Psi \cap \Theta}(X; \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B} \otimes \mathscr{C}),$$
where if δ is the ordinary connecting homomorphism of $H^*_{\Phi \cap \Psi \cap \Theta}$, then we put $\delta'_1 = \delta$, $\delta'_2 = (-1)^p \delta$, and $\delta'_3 = (-1)^{p+q} \delta$ on $F^{p,q,r}$. The result follows immediately.

If \mathscr{R} is a sheaf of rings, then the product $\mathscr{R} \otimes \mathscr{R} \to \mathscr{R}$ together with the cup product makes $H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{R})$ into a ring (with unit if \mathscr{R} has a unit and Φ consists of all closed sets) called the *cohomology ring* of X. Moreover, for any \mathscr{R} -module \mathscr{A} , the map $\mathscr{R} \otimes \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}$ makes $H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$ into an $H^*_{\Psi}(X; \mathscr{R})$ -module for any $\Psi \supset \Phi$.

Let X and Y be spaces; \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} sheaves on X and Y respectively; and Φ and Ψ families of supports on X and Y respectively. Let $\pi_X : X \times Y \to X$ and $\pi_Y : X \times Y \to Y$ be the projections. We use the notation $\Phi \times Y = \pi_X^{-1}(\Phi)$ and $X \times \Psi = \pi_Y^{-1}(\Psi)$. Note that $\Phi \times \Psi = (\Phi \times Y) \cap (X \times \Psi)$. In Example 6.3 we defined a natural homomorphism

$$\pi_X^*: H^p_\Phi(X; \mathscr{A}) \to H^p_{\Phi \times Y}(X \times Y; \pi_X^*(\mathscr{A}))$$

and similarly with π_Y^* .

Following π_X^* and π_Y^* with the cup product, we obtain the homomorphism

$$\times: H^p_\Phi(X;\mathscr{A}) \otimes H^q_\Psi(Y;\mathscr{B}) \to H^{p+q}_{\Phi \times \Psi}(X \times Y;\mathscr{A} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{B}),$$

called the cross product. Thus

$$\alpha \times \beta = \pi_X^*(\alpha) \cup \pi_Y^*(\beta).$$

We shall allow the reader to develop the properties of this product.

7.4. Let L be a ring with unit and let \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} be sheaves of L-modules on X. Let $\beta \in \Gamma(\mathscr{B}) = H^0(X; \mathscr{B})$. Then β induces a homomorphism

$$h_{\mathscr{A},\beta}:\mathscr{A}\to\mathscr{A}\otimes_L\mathscr{B}$$

by $h_{\mathcal{A},\beta}(a)(x) = a \otimes \beta(x)$ for $a \in \mathcal{A}_x$. Therefore we have the induced homomorphism

$$h^*_{\mathscr{A},\beta}: H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \to H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A} \otimes_L \mathscr{B}).$$
(14)

It follows from 6.2 that

$$h^*_{\mathcal{A},\beta}(\alpha) = \alpha \cup \beta.$$

(The reader might investigate generalizing this to the case $\beta \in \Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{B})$.) If $\mathscr{B} = L$ and $\beta = 1 \in \Gamma(L)$, then $h_{\mathscr{A},1}$ is the canonical isomorphism $\mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{\approx} \mathscr{A} \otimes_L L$ and so $h^*_{\mathscr{A},1}(\alpha) = \alpha$, whence

$$\alpha \cup 1 = \alpha$$
.

(This also follows directly from 6.2.)

Note that (14) factors as

$$H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A} \otimes_L L) \xrightarrow{(1\otimes\beta)^*} H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A} \otimes_L \mathscr{B}),$$

where $1 \otimes \beta : \mathscr{A} \otimes_L L \to \mathscr{A} \otimes_L \mathscr{B}$ is $(1 \otimes \beta)(a_x \otimes \lambda_x) = a_x \otimes \lambda_x \beta(x)$. In particular, if the subsheaf $h_{L,\beta}(L) = \operatorname{Im}\{h_{L,\beta}: L \to L \otimes_L \mathscr{B} \approx \mathscr{B}\}$ of \mathscr{B} is a direct summand, then $h^*_{\mathscr{A},\beta}$ is a monomorphism. Particularly note this in the case in which L is a field and the coefficient sheaves are the constant sheaves A and B (vector spaces over L). Then any element $0 \neq b \in B$ induces a monomorphism

$$h_{A,b}^*: H^p_{\Phi}(X; A) \rightarrow H^p_{\Phi}(X; A \otimes_L B),$$

which is given by

$$h^*_{A,b}(\alpha) = \alpha \cup \beta,$$

where $\beta \in H^0(X; B)$ is the constant section with value *b*. It follows that $\alpha \cup \beta \neq 0$ when $\alpha \neq 0$ in this case.

In particular, if X is connected and A, B are vector spaces over the *field* L, then

$$0 \neq \alpha \in H^p_{\Phi}(X; A), \, 0 \neq \beta \in H^0(X; B) \implies 0 \neq \alpha \cup \beta \in H^p_{\Phi}(X; A \otimes_L B).$$

7.5. We conclude this section with remarks concerning the "computation" of the cup product by means of resolutions.

Suppose that $\mathscr{A} \mapsto \mathscr{L}^*(\mathscr{A})$ (respectively, \mathscr{N}^* and \mathscr{M}^*) are exact functors carrying a sheaf \mathscr{A} into a resolution of \mathscr{A} by Φ -acyclic (resp., Ψ -acyclic and $\Phi \cap \Psi$ -acyclic) sheaves. Suppose, moreover, that we are given a functorial homomorphism of differential sheaves $\mathscr{L}^*(\mathscr{A}) \otimes \mathscr{N}^*(\mathscr{B}) \to \mathscr{M}^*(\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B})$ (where the source has the total degree and differential $1 \otimes \delta + \delta \otimes 1$, with the usual sign convention $(1 \otimes \delta)(a \otimes b) = (-1)^{\deg a} a \otimes \delta b$; see, for example, [19, Chapter VI]).

Then we have the natural map

$$\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^{*}(\mathscr{A})) \otimes \Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{N}^{*}(\mathscr{B})) \to \Gamma_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(\mathscr{L}^{*}(\mathscr{A}) \otimes \mathscr{N}^{*}(\mathscr{B})) \to \Gamma_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(\mathscr{M}^{*}(\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B})),$$

which induces a product

$$H^{p}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^{*}(\mathscr{A}))) \otimes H^{q}(\Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{N}^{*}(\mathscr{B}))) \to H^{p+q}(\Gamma_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(\mathscr{M}^{*}(\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}))).$$

We claim that under the isomorphisms ρ of 5.15 this becomes the cup product. This is just a matter of easy verification of the axioms for the cup product, which will be left to the reader.

For example, with the notation of Section 2, the map

$$\cup: M^p(X; \mathscr{A}) \otimes M^q(X; \mathscr{B}) \to M^{p+q}(X; \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B})$$

defined by

$$(f \cup g)(x_0, \ldots, x_{p+q}) = S(f(x_0, \ldots, x_p))(x_{p+q}) \otimes g(x_p, \ldots, x_{p+q})$$

is easily seen to induce a functorial product

$$\cup: \mathscr{F}^{p}(X; \mathscr{A}) \otimes \mathscr{F}^{q}(X; \mathscr{B}) \to \mathscr{F}^{p+q}(X; \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B})$$

[with $d(\alpha \cup \beta) = d\alpha \cup \beta + (-1)^p \alpha \cup d\beta$], which must induce the cup product in cohomology by the preceding remarks.¹²

Our next remarks will depend on some notions to be defined later in this book. Let L be a principal ideal domain considered as a ground ring. We also consider L to be a constant sheaf on X. Let Φ and Ψ be paracompactifying families of supports on X, and let \mathscr{L}^* be a resolution of L consisting of sheaves that are torsion free and both Φ -fine and Ψ -fine (varieties of acyclic sheaves to be defined in Section 9), and for which there is a homomorphism $h: \mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{L}^*$ of differential sheaves. (We shall see in Chapter III that this is the case for the Alexander-Spanier and the de Rham resolutions.)

Since \mathscr{L}^* is torsion free, $\mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{A}$ is a resolution of \mathscr{A} for any sheaf \mathscr{A} of *L*-modules. In the preceding discussion, put $\mathscr{L}^*(\mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{A}$, $\mathscr{N}^*(\mathscr{B}) = \mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{B}$, and $\mathscr{M}^*(\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}) = \mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}$. It will be shown in Section 9 that $\mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{A}$ is exact in \mathscr{A} and is Φ - (and Ψ and $\Phi \cap \Psi$)-acyclic, and hence the preceding remarks apply to show that the cup product

$$H^{p}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \otimes H^{q}_{\Psi}(X;\mathscr{B}) \to H^{p+q}_{\Phi \times \Psi}(X \times Y;\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B})$$

is induced by $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{A}) \otimes \Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{B}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(\mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{B}) \approx \Gamma_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(\mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{h \otimes 1 \otimes 1} \Gamma_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(\mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}).$

We conclude this section with another description of the cup product via resolutions. Using the fact from Section 2 that $\mathscr{C}^*(X;\mathscr{A})$ is pointwise homotopically trivial, it follows that the total differential sheaf $\mathscr{C}^*(X;\mathscr{A}) \otimes \mathscr{C}^*(X;\mathscr{B})$ is a resolution of $\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}$. Thus, by 5.15 we have the map

$$\rho: H^*(\Gamma_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(\mathscr{C}^*(X;\mathscr{A}) \otimes \mathscr{C}^*(X;\mathscr{B}))) \to H^*_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(X;\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}),$$

which, when combined with the natural map

$$\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}^{*}(X;\mathscr{A})) \otimes \Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{C}^{*}(X;\mathscr{B})) \to \Gamma_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(\mathscr{C}^{*}(X;\mathscr{A}) \otimes \mathscr{C}^{*}(X;\mathscr{B}))$$

(and the map $H^p(A^*) \otimes H^q(B^*) \to H^{p+q}(A^* \otimes B^*)$ from ordinary homological algebra), yields a product satisfying the axioms for the cup product.

8 Maps of spaces

Let $f: X \to Y$ be a map and let $k: \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A}$ be an *f*-cohomomorphism from the sheaf \mathscr{B} on Y to \mathscr{A} on X.

 $^{^{12}}$ It is shown in [40] that a similar construction is possible with the canonical resolution $\mathscr{C}^{0}(X; \bullet)$. Also see 21.2.

For $U \subset Y$, we have the induced map $k_U^0 : C^0(U; \mathscr{B}) \to C^0(f^{-1}(U); \mathscr{A})$ defined by taking a servation $s: U \dashrightarrow \mathscr{B}$ into the servation

$$k_U^0(s): f^{-1}(U) \dashrightarrow \mathscr{A}$$

given by

$$k_U^0(s)(x) = k_x(s(f(x))).$$

These evidently form an *f*-cohomomorphism $\mathscr{C}^{0}(Y;\mathscr{B}) \to \mathscr{C}^{0}(X;\mathscr{A})$ commuting with k and the canonical monomorphisms $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{C}^{0}(X;\mathscr{A})$ and $\mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{C}^{0}(X;\mathscr{B})$. This yields an *f*-cohomomorphism of the quotient sheaves $\mathfrak{Z}^{1}(\bullet;\bullet)$ by I-4.3. By induction, we obtain an *f*-cohomomorphism

 $k^*: \mathscr{C}^*(Y; \mathscr{B}) \rightsquigarrow \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$

of resolutions (i.e., commuting with differentials).

It is clear that for any f-cohomomorphism $k : \mathcal{B} \rightsquigarrow \mathcal{A}$, the induced map $k_Y : \mathcal{B}(Y) \to \mathcal{A}(X)$ satisfies $|k_Y(s)| \subset f^{-1}(|s|)$. Consequently, if Φ and Ψ are families of supports on X and Y respectively with $f^{-1}\Psi \subset \Phi$, then

$$k_Y: \Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{B}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}).$$

Thus k^* induces the chain map

$$k_Y^*: C_{\Phi}^*(Y; \mathscr{B}) \to C_{\Psi}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$$

and hence gives rise to a homomorphism

$$k^*: H^*_{\Psi}(Y; \mathscr{B}) \to H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \quad \text{when } f^{-1}\Psi \subset \Phi.$$
(15)

Noting that $\mathscr{C}^*(\bullet; \bullet)$ is functorial with respect to cohomomorphisms, we see that if $X \xrightarrow{f} Y \xrightarrow{g} Z$ are maps, $k : \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A}$ is an *f*-cohomomorphism, and $j : \mathscr{C} \to \mathscr{B}$ is a *g*-cohomomorphism, then in cohomology with suitable supports we have that

$$(k \circ j)^* = k^* \circ j^*.$$

Recall that any *f*-cohomomorphism $k: \mathscr{B} \rightsquigarrow \mathscr{A}$ factors in two ways:

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathcal{B} & \stackrel{f^*}{\longrightarrow} & f^*\mathcal{B} \\ & \downarrow_j & & \downarrow_h \\ f\mathcal{A} & \stackrel{f}{\longrightarrow} & \mathcal{A} \end{array}$$

where j and h are homomorphisms.¹³ Thus the induced square in cohomology commutes, with composition k^* . Thus k^* is determined by either of the natural transformations of functors

$$f^*: H^*_{\Psi}(Y; \mathscr{B}) \to H^*_{\Phi}(X; f^*\mathscr{B})$$
(16)

¹³Recall that homomorphisms are special cases of cohomomorphisms.

§8. Maps of spaces

and

$$f^{\dagger}: H_{\Psi}^{*}(Y; f\mathscr{A}) \to H_{\Phi}^{*}(X; \mathscr{A}),$$
(17)

which are induced by the *f*-cohomomorphisms $f^* : \mathscr{B} \to f^*\mathscr{B}$ and $f : f\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}$ respectively. That is, we have

$$k^* = h^* \circ f^* = f^\dagger \circ j^*.$$

[Of course, f^* (with \mathcal{B} , and hence $f^*\mathcal{B}$, constant) is the one of these most familiar to readers.]

Since the functor $\mathscr{B} \mapsto f^*\mathscr{B}$ is exact, we see easily from the definition that (16) commutes with connecting homomorphisms. Thus, by 6.2, it coincides with the version of f^* defined in 6.3.

In case $\mathscr{A} = f^*\mathscr{B}$, we have h = 1 and $j = \beta : \mathscr{B} \to ff^*\mathscr{B}$, the canonical homomorphism of I-4. Thus

$$f^* = f^{\dagger} \circ \beta^*, \tag{18}$$

which is the composition

$$f^*: H^*_{\Psi}(Y; \mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{\beta^*} H^*_{\Psi}(Y; ff^*\mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{f^{\dagger}} H^*_{\Phi}(X; f^*\mathscr{B}).$$

8.1. Suppose now that \mathscr{B}^* and \mathscr{A}^* are resolutions of \mathscr{B} and \mathscr{A} respectively and that

$$g^*: \mathscr{B}^* \to \mathscr{A}^*$$

is an *f*-cohomomorphism of resolutions¹⁴ extending $k : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{A}$. Let \mathscr{I}^* be an injective resolution of \mathscr{B} and \mathscr{L}^* an injective resolution of \mathscr{A} . Then $f^*\mathscr{I}^*$ is a resolution of $f^*\mathscr{B}$, since f^* is exact, and we can construct homomorphisms $\mathscr{B}^* \xrightarrow{\varphi} \mathscr{I}^*$, $\mathscr{A}^* \xrightarrow{\psi} \mathscr{L}^*$, and $f^*\mathscr{I}^* \xrightarrow{\gamma} \mathscr{L}^*$ of resolutions that are unique up to homotopy and where γ extends the canonical map $h: f^*\mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A}$ induced by the *f*-cohomomorphism $k: \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A}$. We have the diagram

in which the composition along the top is g^* , the left-hand square commutes, and the right-hand square commutes up to chain homotopy. Taking sections, we obtain the square

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{B}^{*}) & \xrightarrow{g^{*}} & \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^{*}) \\ & \downarrow^{\varphi} & & \downarrow^{\psi} \\ \Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{I}^{*}) & \xrightarrow{\eta} & \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^{*}) \end{array}$$

¹⁴I.e., commuting with differentials and augmentations.

which commutes up to chain homotopy. By definition, φ and ψ induce the maps denoted by ρ in 5.15.

The special case in which $\mathscr{A}^* = \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A}), \ \mathscr{B}^* = \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{B}), \ \text{and} \ g^* = k^*$ shows that the map η induces the canonical homomorphism

$$k^*: H^*_{\Psi}(Y; \mathscr{B}) \to H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$$

of (15). The general case then shows that the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} H^*(\Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{B}^*)) & \xrightarrow{g^*} & H^*(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*)) \\ & & & \downarrow^{\rho} \\ & & & \downarrow^{\rho} \\ H^*_{\Psi}(Y;\mathscr{B}) & \xrightarrow{k^*} & H^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \end{array}$$

commutes. If \mathscr{A}^* is Φ -acyclic and \mathscr{B}^* is Ψ -acyclic, then the vertical maps in this diagram are isomorphisms. This shows that the canonical homomorphism k^* of (15) can be "computed" (via the isomorphisms ρ of 5.15) from any *f*-cohomomorphism $g^* : \mathscr{B}^* \to \mathscr{A}^*$ of acyclic resolutions of \mathscr{B} and \mathscr{A} that extends the given *f*-cohomomorphism $k : \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A}$.

8.2. We conclude this section by indicating the proof that (16) preserves cup products. Let Ψ_i , Φ_i , i = 1, 2, be support families on Y and X respectively with $f^{-1}(\Psi_i) \subset \Phi_i$ and let \mathscr{B}_1 and \mathscr{B}_2 be sheaves on Y. The cohomomorphisms $\mathscr{B}_i \sim f^*\mathscr{B}_i$ induce a cohomomorphism of presheaves $\mathscr{B}_1(U) \otimes \mathscr{B}_2(U) \sim f^*\mathscr{B}_1(f^{-1}(U)) \otimes f^*\mathscr{B}_2(f^{-1}(U))$ and hence a cohomomorphism of the induced sheaves $\mathscr{B}_1 \otimes \mathscr{B}_2 \sim f^*\mathscr{B}_1 \otimes f^*\mathscr{B}_2$. There is the factorization of this: $\mathscr{B}_1 \otimes \mathscr{B}_2 \sim f^*(\mathscr{B}_1 \otimes \mathscr{B}_2) \to f^*\mathscr{B}_1 \otimes f^*\mathscr{B}_2$. The latter homomorphism is fairly clearly an isomorphism on stalks, and hence it is an isomorphism of sheaves. Then we have the commutative diagram

We wish to show that the diagram

commutes. This is true in degree zero by (19) and follows in general from 6.2 (see the proof of 7.1) where we take \mathscr{E} to be the class of pointwise split sequences so that the functors on the lower right-hand side of (20) will be \mathscr{E} -connected. This gives the formula

$$f^*(eta_1\cupeta_2)=f^*(eta_1)\cup f^*(eta_2)$$

for $\beta_i \in H^*_{\Psi_1}(Y; \mathscr{B}_i)$, which converts immediately into

$$f_1^*(eta_1) imes f_2^*(eta_2) = f_1^*(eta_1) imes f_2^*(eta_2)$$

for $f_i: X_i \to Y_i$, and $\beta_i \in H^*_{\Psi_1}(Y_1; \mathscr{B}_i)$.

9 Φ -soft and Φ -fine sheaves

When Φ is a paracompactifying family of supports, the class of flabby sheaves can be extended to an important larger class of Φ -acyclic sheaves, the Φ -soft sheaves. We define this notion for general support families Φ but stress that they are not, in general, Φ -acyclic unless Φ is paracompactifying. (For example if $x \in \mathbb{R}^2$ and we let x denote the support family $\{\{x\}, \emptyset\}$, then the constant sheaf \mathbb{Z} is x-soft on \mathbb{R}^2 but is not x-acyclic. Indeed, $H^2_x(\mathbb{R}^2; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}$; see formula (41) on page 136.)

We shall use the abbreviation $\mathscr{A}(K) = (\mathscr{A}|K)(K) = \Gamma(\mathscr{A}|K)$ for arbitrary sets K and not just open sets.

9.1. Definition. A sheaf \mathscr{A} on X is called " Φ -soft" if the restriction map $\mathscr{A}(X) \to \mathscr{A}(K)$ is surjective for all $K \in \Phi$. If $\Phi = cld$ then \mathscr{A} is simply called "soft."

9.2. Proposition. If \mathscr{A} is a Φ -soft sheaf on X, then $\mathscr{A}|A$ is $\Phi|A$ -soft for any subspace $A \subset X$.

Proof. This is trivial, but note that in general, A must be locally closed in order that $\Phi|A$ be paracompactifying on A when Φ is paracompactifying on X.

9.3. Proposition. Let Φ be paracompactifying on X. Then the following three statements are equivalent:

- (i) \mathcal{A} is Φ -soft.
- (ii) $\mathscr{A}|K$ is soft for every $K \in \Phi$.
- (iii) $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi|F}(\mathscr{A}|F)$ is surjective for all closed $F \subset X$.

Proof. Statement (iii) implies (i) trivially, and (i) implies (ii) by 9.2. Assume (ii) and let $s \in \Gamma_{\Phi|F}(\mathcal{A}|F)$. Let K = |s| and let $K' \in \Phi$ be a neighborhood of K. Let B be the boundary of K'. By (ii), the element of $\mathcal{A}((K' \cap F) \cup B)$ that is s on $K' \cap F$ and is 0 on B can be extended to some $s' \in \mathcal{A}(K')$. Then s' extends by zero to $s'' \in \mathcal{A}(X)$ with $|s''| \subset K'$, and so s'' is the desired extension of s. **9.4. Example.** Consider the sheaf \mathscr{F} of germs of smooth real-valued functions on a differentiable manifold M^n . For a closed set $K \subset M$, an element of $\mathscr{F}(K)$ can be regarded as a real-valued function on K that extends *locally about each point* to a smooth function. By a smooth partition of unity argument, such a function extends globally to a smooth function on all of M.¹⁵ This means that \mathscr{F} is soft, indeed, Φ -soft for Φ paracompactifying.

Similarly, on any paracompact topological space X, the sheaf \mathscr{C} of germs of continuous real-valued functions is soft.

The following result is basic. (Also note Exercises 6 and 37.)

9.5. Theorem. Let A be a subspace of X having a fundamental system of paracompact neighborhoods. Then for any sheaf \mathcal{A} on X, we have $\mathcal{A}(A) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \mathcal{A}(U)$, where U ranges over the neighborhoods of A.¹⁶

Proof. The canonical map $\lim_{\to} \mathscr{A}(U) \to \mathscr{A}(A)$ is injective since two sections that coincide on A must coincide on an open set containing A. Thus it suffices to show that any section $s \in \mathscr{A}(A)$ extends to some neighborhood of A. Cover A by open sets U_{α} such that there is an $s_{\alpha} \in \mathscr{A}(U_{\alpha})$ with $s_{\alpha}|U_{\alpha} \cap A = s|U_{\alpha} \cap A$. By passing to a neighborhood of A, we may assume that X is paracompact and that $\{U_{\alpha}\}$ is a locally finite covering of X. Let $\{V_{\alpha}\}$ be a covering of X with $\overline{V}_{\alpha} \subset U_{\alpha}$ for all α . Put $W = \{x \in X \mid x \in \overline{V}_{\alpha} \cap \overline{V}_{\beta} \Rightarrow s_{\alpha}(x) = s_{\beta}(x)\}$. Let $J(x) = \{\alpha \mid x \in \overline{V}_{\alpha}\}$, a finite set. Then every $x \in X$ has a neighborhood N(x) such that $y \in N(x) \Rightarrow J(y) \subset J(x)$.

If $x \in W$, the sections s_{α} for $\alpha \in J(x)$ coincide in a neighborhood of x, since J(x) is finite. Thus W is open. Also, $A \subset W$. Now let $t \in \mathscr{A}(W)$ be defined by $t(x) = s_{\alpha}(x)$ when $x \in V_{\alpha} \cap W$. Then t is well-defined by the definition of W, and it is continuous since it coincides with s_{α} on $V_{\alpha} \cap W$. Therefore t is the desired extension of s.

9.6. Corollary. If Φ is paracompactifying, then every flabby sheaf on X is Φ -soft. \Box

9.7. Corollary. If X is hereditarily paracompact and \mathcal{A} is a flabby sheaf on X, then $\mathcal{A}|A$ is flabby for every subspace $A \subset X$.

Proof. Let $s \in \mathscr{A}(U \cap A)$ for some open set $U \subset X$. Then there is an open subset $V \supset U \cap A$ of X and a section $t \in \mathscr{A}(V)$ with $s = t | U \cap A$, by 9.5. Then t extends to X since \mathscr{A} is flabby. The restriction of this to A gives the desired extension of s. \Box

Let us call a subspace $A \subset X$ relatively Hausdorff (in X) if any two points of A have disjoint open neighborhoods in X. By the same proof

¹⁵See, for example, [19, II-10.6].

¹⁶The condition on A is satisfied for any closed subset of a paracompact space X, and also for an arbitrary subspace A of a hereditarily paracompact space X.

that shows that a compact Hausdorff space is normal, a compact relatively Hausdorff subspace A of X has the property that any two disjoint closed sets in A have disjoint neighborhoods in X.

The following is a modification of 9.5 that we will find useful in dealing with the invariance of cohomology under homotopies.

9.8. Theorem. Let A be a compact, relatively Hausdorff subspace of a space X. Then for any sheaf \mathcal{A} on X, we have that $\mathcal{A}(A) = \lim \mathcal{A}(U)$, where U ranges over the neighborhoods of A in X.

Proof. Given $s \in \mathcal{A}(A)$ we can find a finite open covering $\{U_i\}$ of A in X and elements $s_i \in \mathcal{A}(U_i)$ with $s_i | A \cap U_i = s | A \cap U_i$. We can find compact sets $K_i \subset U_i \cap A$ such that $A = \bigcup K_i$. By a finite induction it suffices to prove the following assertion: If P_1 and P_2 are compact subsets of A with open neighborhoods V_1 and V_2 , respectively, in X, and if $t_i \in \mathcal{A}(V_i)$ coincide on $P_1 \cap P_2$, then there is a section t over some neighborhood of $P_1 \cup P_2$ coinciding with t_i on P_i , i = 1, 2.

To prove this, notice that t_1 coincides with t_2 on some neighborhood V of $P_1 \cap P_2$ and that we may suppose that $V \subset V_1 \cap V_2$. The sets $P_1 - V$ and $P_2 - V$ are compact and disjoint, and since A is relatively Hausdorff, they have disjoint open neighborhoods $Q_i \supset P_i - V$ in X. Then the sections $t_1|Q_1, t_1|V = t_2|V$, and $t_2|Q_2$ coincide on their common domains and thereby provide the desired section t on $Q_1 \cup V \cup Q_2 \supset P_1 \cup P_2$.

9.9. Theorem. Let Φ be paracompactifying and suppose that

$$0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}'' \to 0$$

is exact with \mathscr{A}' being Φ -soft. Then the sequence

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}') \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}'') \to 0$$

is exact.

Proof. We may consider \mathscr{A}' as a subsheaf of \mathscr{A} . Let $s \in \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}'')$ and let $K = |s| \in \Phi$. Let $K' \in \Phi$ be a neighborhood of K. Suppose that we can find an element $t \in \mathscr{A}(K')$ representing s|K'. Then on the boundary B of $K', t|B \in \mathscr{A}'(B)$ can be extended to $\mathscr{A}'(K')$. Subtracting this from t, we see that we may assume that t|B = 0. But then t can be extended by zero to X. Thus we may as well assume X to be paracompact and Φ to be the class *cld* of all closed subsets of X.

Let $s \in \mathscr{A}''(X)$ and let $\{U_{\alpha}\}$ be a locally finite covering of X with $s_{\alpha} \in \mathscr{A}(U_{\alpha})$ representing $s|U_{\alpha}$. Let $\{V_{\alpha}\}$ be a covering of X with $\overline{V}_{\alpha} \subset U_{\alpha}$. Assume that the indexing set $\{\alpha\}$ is well-ordered and put $F_{\alpha} = \bigcup_{\beta < \alpha} \overline{V}_{\beta}$.

Since $\{U_{\alpha}\}$ is locally finite, F_{α} is closed for all α . We shall define inductively an element $t_{\alpha} \in \mathscr{A}(F_{\alpha})$ representing $s|F_{\alpha}$ such that $t_{\alpha}|F_{\beta} = t_{\beta}$ for all $\beta < \alpha$. Say that t_{β} has been defined for all $\beta < \alpha$. If α is a limit ordinal, then $F_{\alpha} = \bigcup_{\beta < \alpha} F_{\beta}$ and t_{α} is defined as the union of the previous t_{β} 's. This is continuous since each $x \in X$ has a neighborhood meeting only finitely many of the \overline{V}_{β} 's. If α is the successor of α' then $t_{\alpha'}$ and s_{α} both represent s on $F_{\alpha'} \cap \overline{V}_{\alpha}$. The difference is a section of \mathscr{A}' over $F_{\alpha'} \cap \overline{V}_{\alpha}$ and hence can be extended to $\mathscr{A}'(\overline{V}_{\alpha})$. Therefore, $t_{\alpha'}$ can be extended to F_{α} representing $s|F_{\alpha}$, completing the induction.

9.10. Proposition. If Φ is paracompactifying and $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}'' \to 0$ is exact with \mathscr{A}' being Φ -soft, then \mathscr{A}'' is also Φ -soft $\Leftrightarrow \mathscr{A}$ is Φ -soft.

Proof. This follows from 9.3 and 9.9 by a simple diagram chase. \Box

9.11. Theorem. A Φ -soft sheaf is Φ -acyclic if Φ is paracompactifying.

Proof. Let \mathscr{A} be a Φ -soft sheaf and consider the sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{C}^0(X; \mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{Z}^1(X; \mathscr{A}) \to 0.$$

Since $\mathscr{C}^0(X;\mathscr{A})$ is flabby, we have that $H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{C}^0(X;\mathscr{A})) = 0$ for p > 0, and it follows from the associated cohomology sequence that

$$H^n_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \approx H^{n-1}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{J}^1(X; \mathscr{A})),$$

for n > 1. Also, $H^1_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) = 0$ by 9.9. By 9.10, $\mathscr{J}^1(X; \mathscr{A})$ is also Φ -soft, so that the theorem follows by induction on n.

9.12. Proposition. Let Φ be a paracompactifying family of supports on X and let $A \subset X$ be locally closed. Then for a sheaf \mathcal{B} on A,

 \mathscr{B} is $\Phi|A$ -soft on $A \Leftrightarrow \mathscr{B}^X$ is Φ -soft on X.

Proof. The \Leftarrow part follows from 9.2 since $\mathscr{B} = \mathscr{B}^X | A$. For the \Rightarrow part, we note that $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{B}^X) \approx \Gamma_{\Phi|A}(\mathscr{B})$ naturally by I-6.6, and similarly, for $F \subset X$ closed, $\Gamma_{\Phi|F}(\mathscr{B}^X) \approx \Gamma_{\Phi|A\cap X}(\mathscr{B}|A\cap F)$. The result now follows from 9.3iii.

9.13. Corollary. Let Φ be paracompactifying and $A \subset X$ locally closed. Then for a sheaf \mathscr{A} on X,

$$\mathscr{A} \text{ is } \Phi \text{-soft} \Rightarrow \mathscr{A}_A \text{ is } \Phi \text{-soft.}$$

Proof. $\mathscr{A}|A$ is $\Phi|A$ -soft by 9.2, so that $\mathscr{A}_A = (\mathscr{A}|A)^X$ is Φ -soft by 9.12.

The following result shows that softness is a "local" property. Recall that $E(\Phi) = \bigcup \{K \mid K \in \Phi\}$.

9.14. Lemma. Let Φ be paracompactifying and \mathscr{L} a sheaf on X. If each point $x \in E(\Phi)$ has a closed neighborhood N such that $\mathscr{L}|N$ is soft, then \mathscr{L} is Φ -soft.

Proof. By 9.3(ii), it suffices to consider the case in which X is paracompact and $\Phi = cld$. Let $\{U_{\alpha}\}$ be a locally finite open covering of X such that $\mathscr{L}|\overline{U}_{\alpha}$ is soft. Let $\{V_{\alpha}\}$ be an open covering of X with $\overline{V}_{\alpha} \subset U_{\alpha}$. Well order the indexing set and let $F_{\alpha} = \bigcup_{\beta < \alpha} \overline{V}_{\beta}$ (a closed set).

Let $K \subset X$ be closed and $s \in \mathscr{L}(K)$. We must extend s to X. By an easy transfinite induction we can define $t_{\alpha} \in \mathscr{L}(F_{\alpha})$ such that $t_{\alpha}|F_{\alpha} \cap K = s|F_{\alpha} \cap K$ and $t_{\alpha}|F_{\beta} = t_{\beta}$ for $\beta < \alpha$. In the end we have the desired extension.

9.15. Definition. A sheaf \mathcal{A} is said to be " Φ -fine" if $\mathcal{H}_{om}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A})$ is Φ -soft.

The following is another basic result.

9.16. Theorem. Let Φ be paracompactifying. Then any module over a Φ -soft sheaf \mathcal{R} of rings with unit is Φ -fine, and any Φ -fine sheaf is Φ -soft.

Proof. Let \mathscr{A} be an \mathscr{R} -module. We must show that $\mathscr{H}om(\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{A})$ is Φ -soft. But $\mathscr{H}om(\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{A})$ is an \mathscr{R} -module so that it suffices to show that every \mathscr{R} -module \mathscr{A} is Φ -soft. [The last statement of the theorem will follow since a Φ -fine sheaf \mathscr{B} is a module over the Φ -soft sheaf of rings $\mathscr{H}om(\mathscr{B}, \mathscr{B})$.]

Thus, let $s \in \mathcal{A}(K)$ for some $K \in \Phi$. By 9.5 there is a neighborhood $K' \in \Phi$ of K and an $s' \in \mathcal{A}(K')$ extending s. Since \mathcal{R} is Φ -soft, there is a section $t \in \mathcal{R}(K')$ that is zero on the boundary B of K' and 1 on K. The section $ts' : x \mapsto t(x) \cdot s'(x)$ in $\mathcal{A}(K')$ is zero on B and coincides with s on K. Therefore ts', and hence s, can be extended to X.

9.17. Example. The sheaf \mathscr{F} of germs of smooth real-valued functions on a differentiable manifold M^n is soft, as shown in Example 9.4. This is a sheaf of rings with unit, and so \mathscr{F} is fine. Consequently, any \mathscr{F} -module is fine. This includes the sheaf of germs of differential *p*-forms on *M*, the sheaf of germs of vector fields on *M*, etc. \diamond

Since $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$ is a $\mathcal{H}om(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A})$ -module, we have the following consequence of 9.16:

9.18. Corollary. If \mathscr{A} is Φ -fine, Φ paracompactifying, then $\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}$ is Φ -fine, and hence Φ -soft, for any sheaf \mathscr{B} .¹⁷

9.19. Corollary. If Φ is paracompactifying and \mathscr{L}^* is a torsion free Φ -fine¹⁸ resolution of \mathbb{Z} on X, then there is a natural isomorphism

$$H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \approx H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{A})).$$

Proof. Since \mathscr{L}^* is torsion free, $\mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{A}$ is a resolution of $\mathbb{Z} \otimes \mathscr{A} \approx \mathscr{A}$.¹⁹ It is Φ -soft, and hence Φ -acyclic, by 9.18. The result follows from 4.1. \Box

9.20. Definition. Let $A \subset X$. A family Φ of supports on X will be said to be "paracompactifying for the pair (X, A)" if Φ is paracompactifying and if each $K \cap A$, for $K \in \Phi$, has a fundamental system of paracompact neighborhoods in X.

Note that these conditions imply that $\Phi \cap A$ is a paracompactifying family of supports on A. Also note that if A is closed, then Φ is paracompactifying for the pair $(X, A) \Leftrightarrow \Phi$ is paracompactifying. Moreover, for A open and $\Phi = cld$, Φ is paracompactifying for the pair $(X, A) \Leftrightarrow$ both X and A are paracompact.

9.21. Proposition. If Φ is paracompactifying for the pair (X, A), then for any sheaf \mathcal{A} on X, the map

$$\theta: \underline{\lim} \, \Gamma_{\Phi \cap U}(\mathscr{A}|U) \to \Gamma_{\Phi \cap A}(\mathscr{A}|A)$$

(U ranging over the neighborhoods of A) is bijective. Moreover, if \mathscr{A} is flabby, then $\mathscr{A}|A$ is $(\Phi \cap A)$ -soft.

Proof. θ is clearly injective. Let $s \in \Gamma_{\Phi \cap A}(\mathscr{A}|A)$ with $|s| = K \cap A$ where $K \in \Phi$. Let $K' \in \Phi$ be a neighborhood of K. By 9.5 there is a neighborhood V of $K' \cap A$ in K' and an element $s' \in \mathscr{A}(V)$ extending $s|K' \cap A$. Let L be the closure in X of |s'|. Then s'|(V - L) = 0 and so s' on V and 0 on X - L combine to form a section s'' over the open set $U = V \cup (X - L)$. Now $V \supset K' \cap A$ and $K' \supset L$, so that $A - V \subset X - K' \subset X - L$. Thus $A \subset V \cup (X - L) = U$. Both s'' and s vanish outside V and coincide on $V \cap A$, and so s''|A = s. Also, $|s''| = |s'| \subset U \cap L \in U \cap \Phi$ since $L \subset K' \in \Phi$. Therefore, s'' induces an element of $\lim_{t \to T} \Gamma_{\Phi \cap U}(\mathscr{A}|U)$ mapping to s under θ , proving the first statement.

For the last statement, let $t \in \mathcal{A}(A \cap K)$ for some $K \in \Phi$. By 9.5, t can be extended to X since \mathcal{A} is flabby, and a fortiori to A.

Using 9.8 instead of 9.5 in the last paragraph gives:

¹⁷Also see 16.31.

¹⁸Or just Φ -soft by 16.31.

¹⁹This is a stalkwise assertion, so it follows from standard homological algebra.

9.22. Proposition. If A is a compact relatively Hausdorff subspace of X, then $\mathcal{A}|A$ is soft for any flabby sheaf \mathcal{A} on X. \Box

For more facts concerning soft sheaves see Section 16.

9.23. Let *L* be a ring with unit, let *G* be an *L*-module, and let Φ be a paracompactifying family of supports on *X*. Then the singular and Alexander-Spanier sheaves $\mathscr{P}^0(X;L)$ and $\mathscr{A}^0(X;L)$ are the same as $\mathscr{C}^0(X;L)$ and so they are Φ -soft. Also, they are sheaves of rings, and $\mathscr{P}^n(X;G)$ and $\mathscr{A}^n(X;G)$ are modules over them, and so they are also Φ -soft. As remarked in Section 1, $\mathscr{A}^*(X;G)$ is always a resolution of *G*, and $\mathscr{P}^*(X;G)$ is a resolution of *G* if *X* is *HLC*. Therefore, by 4.1 or 5.15,

 $_{AS}H^*_{\Phi}(X;G) \approx H^*_{\Phi}(X;G)$

for Φ -paracompactifying, and

 $_{\Delta}H^*_{\Phi}(X;G) \approx H^*_{\Phi}(X;G)$

for Φ -paracompactifying and X HLC. Similarly, by 9.17, if X is a smooth manifold then the de Rham sheaf $\Omega^*(X)$ is a Φ -fine resolution of \mathbb{R} , and so

 $_{\Omega}H^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathbb{R}) \approx H^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathbb{R})$

for Φ paracompactifying.

In Chapter III we shall study these isomorphisms in more detail. We shall extend them to more general coefficients, show they are natural in X as well as in the coefficients, and show that they preserve cup products. We also take up the relative case there. Except for the latter, that chapter can be read at this point.

10 Subspaces

In this section we study relationships between the cohomology of a space and that of a subspace, with coefficients in sheaves related to the subspace. The main theorem 10.6 relates the cohomology of a subspace to that of its neighborhoods. This will be of central importance throughout the book.

10.1. Theorem. Suppose either that Φ is a paracompactifying family of supports on X and that $A \subset X$ is locally closed, or that Φ is arbitrary and $A \subset X$ is closed. Then there is a natural isomorphism

$$H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{B}^X) \approx H^*_{\Phi|A}(A; \mathscr{B})$$

of functors of sheaves on A, which preserves cup products.²⁰

²⁰Also see Exercise 1.

Proof. Note that the functor $\mathscr{B} \mapsto \mathscr{B}^X$ is exact. Thus we have the connected sequences of functors $F_1^p(\mathscr{B}) = H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{B}^X)$ and $F_2^p = H^p_{\Phi|A}(A; \mathscr{B})$, both of which are *fundamental* by 9.12 and 5.8. Now,

$$F_1^0(\mathscr{B}) = \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{B}^X)$$
 and $F_2^0(\mathscr{B}) = \Gamma_{\Phi|A}(\mathscr{B}).$

The restriction map $T^0: \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{B}^X) \to \Gamma_{\Phi|A}(\mathscr{B})$ is an isomorphism of functors by I-6.6, whence the first part of the result follows from Theorem 6.2. The fact that cup products are preserved follows immediately from the axioms 7.1 for the cup product on the cohomology of A^{21}

10.2. Corollary. With the same hypotheses as in 10.1 we have the natural isomorphism

$$H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}_A) \approx H^*_{\Phi|A}(A; \mathscr{A}|A)$$

of functors of sheaves \mathcal{A} on A, which preserves cup products.

Proof. This follows from the fact that $\mathscr{A}_A = (\mathscr{A}|A)^X$.

In particular we have the most important cases:

$$H^*_\Phi(X;\mathscr{A}_F)\approx H^*_{\Phi|F}(F;\mathscr{A}|F)\quad\text{for F closed and Φ arbitrary,}$$

and

$$H^*_\Phi(X;\mathscr{A}_U)\approx H^*_{\Phi|U}(U;\mathscr{A}|U)\quad\text{for U open and Φ paracompactifying}.$$

Note that $\mathscr{C}^*(X;\mathscr{A}_U)|U = \mathscr{C}^*(U;\mathscr{A}|U)$, so that there is the chain map

$$C^*_{\Phi|U}(U;\mathscr{A}|U) = \Gamma_{\Phi|U}(\mathscr{C}^*(U;\mathscr{A}|U)) \hookrightarrow \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}^*(X;\mathscr{A}_U)) = C^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}_U),$$

which clearly induces the preceding isomorphism.

10.3. Suppose that $F \subset X$ is closed and U = X - F. If Φ is paracompactifying, then 10.2 together with the exact coefficient sequence $0 \to \mathcal{A}_U \to \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}_F \to 0$ yields the fundamental exact cohomology sequence

$$\cdots \to H^p_{\Phi|U}(U;\mathscr{A}) \to H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \to H^p_{\Phi|F}(F;\mathscr{A}) \to H^{p+1}_{\Phi|U}(U;\mathscr{A}) \to \cdots$$

This sequence will be generalized in Section 12.

10.4. Let $A \subset X$ be an arbitrary subspace, Φ any family of supports on X, and \mathscr{A} a sheaf on X. By 6.2 the restriction of sections $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi \cap \mathcal{A}}(\mathscr{A}|A)$ extends canonically to a homomorphism

$$r^*_{A,X}: H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to H^*_{\Phi \cap A}(A; \mathscr{A}|A)$$

²¹This uses the obvious natural isomorphism $\mathscr{A}^X \otimes \mathscr{B}^X \approx (\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B})^X$.

§10. Subspaces

called the *restriction* homomorphism. We also denote $r_{A,X}^*(\alpha)$ by $\alpha|A$.

Since $\Phi \cap A = i^{-1}(\Phi)$ and $\mathscr{A}|A = i^*(\mathscr{A})$ where $i : A \hookrightarrow X$, r^* is none other than the homomorphism induced by i; see Section 8. In particular (or directly from 7.1), r^* preserves cup products.

For a closed subspace $F \subset X$, $\Phi \cap F = \Phi|F$, and the restriction map

$$r^*_{F,X}: H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to H^*_{\Phi|F}(F; \mathscr{A}|F)$$

is the same as the homomorphism $H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}_F)$ induced by the epimorphism $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}_F$ followed by the isomorphism $H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}_F) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^*_{\Phi|F}(F; \mathscr{A}|F)$ of 10.2. This follows from the uniqueness portion of 6.2.

We wish to relate the cohomology of a subspace to that of its neighborhoods. In order to deal with several cases at the same time, we make the following definition. It will also be useful in the study of relative cohomology. The term "taut" is borrowed from Spanier, who uses it in situations analogous to 10.6, but mainly in singular homology.

10.5. Definition. Let Φ be a family of supports on X. Then a subspace $A \subset X$ is said to be " Φ -taut" if for every flabby sheaf F on X, the restriction $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{F}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi \cap A}(\mathscr{F}|A)$ is surjective and $\mathscr{F}|A$ is $(\Phi \cap A)$ -acyclic.

The following five cases are examples of Φ -taut subspaces A of X:

- (a) Φ arbitrary, A open.
- (b) Φ paracompactifying for the pair (X, A).
- (c) Φ paracompactifying, X hereditarily paracompact (e.g., metric), A arbitrary.
- (d) Φ paracompactifying, A closed.
- (e) $\Phi = cld$, A compact and relatively Hausdorff in X, e.g., a point.

Item (a) follows from 5.2; (b) follows from 9.21; (c) and (d) are special cases of (b); (e) follows from 9.8 and 9.22. Also see 12.1, 12.13, 12.14, 12.15, and Exercise 8.

The following result is fundamental and will be used often in the remainder of the book.

10.6. Theorem. Let Φ be a family of supports on X and let A be a subspace of X. Let \mathcal{N} be a collection of Φ -taut subspaces of X containing A and directed downwards by inclusion. Assume that for each $K \in \Phi | X - A$ there is an $N \in \mathcal{N}$ with $N \subset X - K$. Then A is Φ -taut \Leftrightarrow the map

$$\theta: \varinjlim_{N \in \mathscr{N}} H^*_{\Phi \cap N}(N; \mathscr{A}|N) \to H^*_{\Phi \cap A}(A; \mathscr{A}|A),$$

induced by restriction, is an isomorphism for every sheaf \mathcal{A} on X.

Proof. For \Leftarrow , suppose that θ is an isomorphism and let \mathscr{A} be flabby. For $N \in \mathscr{N}, \mathscr{A}|N$ is $(\Phi \cap N)$ -acyclic, since N is Φ -taut. It follows that $\mathscr{A}|A$ is $(\Phi \cap N)$ -acyclic. Moreover, $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}) \to \varinjlim \Gamma_{\Phi \cap N}(\mathscr{A}|N) \xrightarrow{\approx} \Gamma_{\Phi \cap A}(\mathscr{A}|A)$ is surjective since each N is Φ -taut. Thus A is Φ -taut.

For \Rightarrow , suppose that A is Φ -taut and consider the functors $F_1^p(\mathscr{A}) = \lim_{n \to \infty} H^p_{\Phi \cap N}(N; \mathscr{A}|N)$ and $F_2^p(\mathscr{A}) = H^p_{\Phi \cap A}(A; \mathscr{A}|A)$. The tautness of A and of each $N \in \mathscr{N}$ implies that these are both fundamental connected sequences of functors. Moreover, in degree zero, $\theta : \lim_{n \to \infty} \Gamma_{\Phi \cap N}(N; \mathscr{A}|N) \to \Gamma_{\Phi \cap A}(\mathscr{A}|A)$ is clearly one-to-one for \mathscr{A} arbitrary and is onto for \mathscr{A} flabby, since A is Φ -taut. It follows from 6.2(c) that θ is an isomorphism in general.

- Remark: An important case of 10.6 is that for which \mathcal{N} is a fundamental system of neighborhoods of A. However, as we shall see, the usefulness of this result is hardly limited to that case.
- Remark: Let $f: X \to Y$ be Φ -closed (meaning f(K) is closed for $K \in \Phi$) where Φ is a family of supports on X. Then putting $A = f^{-1}(y)$ for some $y \in Y$, we see that the family $\{f^{-1}(U) \mid U$ a neighborhood of $y\}$ of neighborhoods of A refines the family $\{X - K \mid K \in \Phi \mid (X - A)\}$. Thus 10.6 implies that $H^*_{\Phi \cap f^{-1}(y)}(f^{-1}(y); \mathscr{A}) = \lim_{\to H} H^*_{\Phi \cap f^{-1}(U)}(f^{-1}(U); \mathscr{A})$ when $f^{-1}(y)$ is Φ -taut. (This holds, in particular, when Φ is paracompactifying, or when $\Phi = cld$ and $f^{-1}(y)$ is compact and relatively Hausdorff.) This will be of importance in Chapter IV. Note that in general, $\{f^{-1}(U)\}$ is not a fundamental system of neighborhoods of $f^{-1}(y)$.

10.7. Corollary. (Weak continuity.) If $\{F_{\alpha}\}$ is a downward directed family of closed subspaces of the locally compact Hausdorff space X, then

$$H_c^*(\bigcap F_{\alpha};\mathscr{A}) \approx \lim H_c^*(F_{\alpha};\mathscr{A}).$$

This result will be generalized considerably in Section 14.

10.8. Corollary. (The minimality principle.) Let X be a locally compact Hausdorff space and c the family of compact subsets of X. Then for any nonzero class $\alpha \in H^n_c(X; \mathcal{A})$, the collection of closed subspaces F of X such that $0 \neq \alpha | F \in H^n_c(F; \mathcal{A} | F)$ has a minimal element. \Box

10.9. Example. Consider the "topologist's sine curve," which is the union

$$X = \{(x, y) \mid y = \sin \pi/x; 0 < x \le 1\} \cup \{0\} \times [-1, 2] \cup [0, 1] \times \{2\} \cup \{1\} \times [0, 2]$$

or any of its variants. This space has the singular cohomology of a point. However, it is a decreasing intersection of spaces homeomorphic to an annulus, and the inclusion maps are homotopy equivalences. Therefore, by 10.7, $H^*(X;\mathbb{Z}) \approx H^*(\mathbb{S}^1;\mathbb{Z})$. This is a typical example of the difference between singular theory and "Čech type" theories such as sheaf-theoretic cohomology. \diamond

§11. The Vietoris mapping theorem and homotopy invariance

10.10. Example. Let X be the union in \mathbb{R}^3 of spheres of radius 1/n all tangent to the xy-plane at the origin. This is a decreasing intersection of spaces of the homotopy type of a finite one-point union of spheres, and hence

$$H^2(X;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\infty} \mathbb{Z},$$

and $H^i(X;\mathbb{Z}) = 0$ for $i \neq 0, 2$. This contrasts with singular theory for which the cohomology of this space is nonzero in arbitrarily large degrees; see [3].

10.11. Example. Let M be any abelian group. An open interval U in \mathbb{R} is contractible, and it will be shown in the next section that this implies that $H^p(U; M) = 0$ for all p > 0. Since an open subset of \mathbb{R} is a topological sum of open intervals, this also holds for any open set $U \subset \mathbb{R}$. By 10.6 it follows that $H^p(A; M) = 0$ for all p > 0 and all subspaces $A \subset \mathbb{R}$, since \mathbb{R} is hereditarily paracompact. In 16.28 and the solution to V-Exercise 26 the much more difficult fact is shown that $H^p(U; M) = 0$ for $p \ge n$ and any open set $U \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. Thus it will follow from 10.6 that $H^p(A; M) = 0$ for $p \ge n$ and any subspace A of \mathbb{R}^n .

11 The Vietoris mapping theorem and homotopy invariance

Let $f: X \to Y$ be a *closed* map. Let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X and Ψ a family of supports on Y. Assume further that each $f^{-1}(y)$, for $y \in Y$, is taut in X. This holds, for instance, when X is paracompact or when each $f^{-1}(y)$ is compact and relatively Hausdorff in X. The *f*-cohomomorphism $f: f\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}$ induces an *f*-cohomomorphism $\mathscr{C}^*(Y; f\mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$, which has the factorization

$$\mathscr{C}^*(Y; f\mathscr{A}) \to f \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A}) \rightsquigarrow \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A}).$$

Now, assume that $H^p(f^{-1}(y); \mathscr{A}) = 0$ for all p > 0 and all $y \in Y$. Then the derived sheaf of the differential sheaf $f \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$ has stalks

$$\mathcal{H}^{p}(f\mathcal{C}^{*}(X;\mathcal{A}))_{y} = \varinjlim H^{p}(C^{*}(f^{-1}(U);\mathcal{A}))$$
$$= \varinjlim H^{p}(f^{-1}(U);\mathcal{A})$$
$$= H^{p}(f^{-1}(y);\mathcal{A}) = 0$$

by 10.6 for $p \neq 0$ (where U ranges over the open neighborhoods of y), while the exact sequence

$$0 \to f\mathscr{A} \to f\mathscr{C}^0(X;\mathscr{A}) \to f\mathscr{C}^1(X;\mathscr{A})$$

(since $\mathscr{A} \mapsto f \mathscr{A}$ is left exact) yields an isomorphism

$$f\mathscr{A} \approx \mathscr{H}^0(f\mathscr{C}^*(X;\mathscr{A})).$$

It follows that $f \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$ is a resolution of $f \mathscr{A}$. Moreover, $f \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$ is flabby by 5.7. Thus the chain map $C^*_{\Psi}(Y; f \mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Psi}(f \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A}))$ induces an isomorphism in cohomology by 4.2. Moreover, by Exercise I-8, the map $\Gamma_{\Psi}(f \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})) \to \Gamma_{f^{-1}\Psi}(\mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})) = C^*_{f^{-1}\Psi}(X; \mathscr{A})$ is an isomorphism.

Combining these facts, we obtain the following very general version of the Vietoris mapping theorem:

11.1. Theorem. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a closed map, \mathscr{A} a sheaf on X, and Ψ a family of supports on Y. Suppose that $H^p(f^{-1}(y); \mathscr{A}) = 0$ for all p > 0 and all $y \in Y$, and that each $f^{-1}(y)$ is taut in X. Then the natural map

$$f^{\dagger}: H^*_{\Psi}(Y; f\mathscr{A}) \to H^*_{f^{-1}\Psi}(X; \mathscr{A}),$$

induced by the f-cohomomorphism $f: f \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}$, is an isomorphism. \Box

Note the case of an inclusion $i: F \hookrightarrow X$ of a closed subspace. In this case $i\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}^X$, and we retrieve 10.1.

11.2. Let us specialize, for the moment, to the case of a closed map $f : X \to Y$ that is finite-to-one (e.g., a covering map with finitely many sheets, or the orbit map of a finite group of transformations). Let \mathscr{B} be a sheaf on Y and put $\mathscr{A} = f^*\mathscr{B}$. Then

$$(f\mathscr{A})_y = \bigoplus_{x \in f^{-1}(y)} \mathscr{A}_x = \bigoplus_{x \in f^{-1}(y)} \mathscr{B}_y = \underbrace{\mathscr{B}_y \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathscr{B}_y}_{n \text{ times}}$$

(where *n* is the number of points in $f^{-1}(y)$). The *f*-cohomomorphism $\mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A}$ induces the homomorphism $\beta : \mathscr{B} \to f\mathscr{A}$, which on the stalks at *y*, is the diagonal map $\mathscr{B}_y \to \mathscr{B}_y \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathscr{B}_y$. The composition

$$f^{\dagger}\beta^{*}: H_{\Psi}^{*}(Y; \mathscr{B}) \to H_{\Psi}^{*}(Y; f\mathscr{A}) \stackrel{\approx}{\longrightarrow} H_{f^{-1}\Psi}^{*}(X; \mathscr{A})$$

is just $f^*: H^*_{\Psi}(Y; \mathscr{B}) \to H^*_{f^{-1}\Psi}(X; \mathscr{A})$. (This is, of course, a general fact that we discussed in Section 8.)

Now suppose that f is a covering map with n sheets. Then the map $\sigma: f\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$, defined by $(f\mathcal{A})_y = \mathcal{B}_y \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathcal{B}_y \to \mathcal{B}_y$ where

$$\sigma(s_1,\ldots,s_n)=\sum s_i,$$

is continuous, since it is induced from

$$(f\mathscr{A})(U) = \mathscr{A}(f^{-1}U) = \mathscr{A}(U_1) \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathscr{A}(U_n) \xrightarrow{\Theta} \mathscr{B}(U) \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathscr{B}(U) \xrightarrow{\Sigma} \mathscr{B}(U)$$

on the presheaf level, where U is a connected evenly covered neighborhood of y and the U_i are the components of $f^{-1}(U)$, and where Θ is the direct sum of the inverses of the isomorphisms

$$(f|U_i)^*: \mathscr{B}(U) \xrightarrow{\approx} (f^*\mathscr{B})(U_i) = \mathscr{A}(U_i).$$

Thus we have the homomorphisms

$$\mathscr{B} \xrightarrow{\beta}{\longleftarrow} f\mathscr{A}$$

with $\sigma\beta = n$, which induce, via 11.1,

$$H^*_{\Psi}(Y;\mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{f^*}_{\mu} H^*_{f^{-1}\Psi}(X; f^*\mathscr{B}),$$

with $\mu f^*(\alpha) = n\alpha$. The map μ is called the *transfer*. A similar "transfer homomorphism" is considered in Section 19, and Exercise 26 generalizes both.

This implies, for example, that if $f: X \to Y$ is a covering map with $n < \infty$ sheets, then $\dim H^k_{\Phi}(Y; \mathbb{Q}) \leq \dim H^k_{f^{-1}\Phi}(X; \mathbb{Q})$ for each k.

11.3. Example. Consider the covering map $f : \mathbb{S}^n \to \mathbb{RP}^n$ and let $\mathscr{A} = f\mathbb{Z}$. This has stalks $\mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}$ and is "twisted" via the automorphism $(n,k) \mapsto (k,n)$; see I-3.6. By 11.1 we have $H^*(\mathbb{RP}^n; \mathscr{A}) \approx H^*(\mathbb{S}^n; \mathbb{Z})$. We have the inclusion $\beta : \mathbb{Z} \hookrightarrow \mathscr{A}$ as the diagonal, and the composition

$$H^*(\mathbb{R}\mathbb{P}^n;\mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{\beta^*} H^*(\mathbb{R}\mathbb{P}^n;\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^*(\mathbb{S}^n;\mathbb{Z})$$

is f^* by the remarks in 11.2. The quotient sheaf $\mathscr{A}/\mathbb{Z} = \mathbb{Z}^t$ has stalks \mathbb{Z} twisted by $n \mapsto -n$. The exact sequence $0 \to \mathbb{Z} \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathbb{Z}^t \to 0$ and 11.2 give

$$H^i(\mathbb{RP}^n;\mathbb{Z}^t)pprox \left\{egin{array}{ll} \mathbb{Z}_2, & i ext{ odd}, \ 0 < i \leq n, \ \mathbb{Z}, & i = n ext{ even}, \ 0, & ext{ otherwise}. \end{array}
ight.$$

Note that in case *n* is even, \mathbb{RP}^n is nonorientable and \mathbb{Z}^t is its orientation sheaf. In this case, Poincaré duality (see Chapter V or IV-2.9) yields $H^i(\mathbb{RP}^n;\mathbb{Z}^t) \approx H_{n-i}(\mathbb{RP}^n;\mathbb{Z})$, giving another calculation of this. Also, $H_i(\mathbb{RP}^n;\mathbb{Z}^t) \approx H^{n-i}(\mathbb{RP}^n;\mathbb{Z})$. For *n* odd, duality gives $H^i(\mathbb{RP}^n;\mathbb{Z}^t) \approx H_{n-i}(\mathbb{RP}^n;\mathbb{Z}^t)$, and so our calculations give these homology groups. \diamondsuit

11.4. Example. Let $f : \mathbb{S}^1 \to I = [-1, 1]$ be the projection, and consider the sheaf $f\mathbb{Z}$ on I; see I-3.3. It is not hard to check that $f\mathbb{Z} \approx \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}_{I-\partial I}$. Hence, by 11.1, we have

$$\begin{aligned} H^p(I; f\mathbb{Z}) &\approx H^p(I; \mathbb{Z}) \oplus H^p(I; \mathbb{Z}_{I-\partial I}) \\ &\approx H^p(I; \mathbb{Z}) \oplus H^p_c(I - \partial I; \mathbb{Z}) \quad \text{by 10.2} \\ &\approx H^p(\star; \mathbb{Z}) \oplus H^p(I, \partial I; \mathbb{Z}) \quad \text{as will be seen later,} \end{aligned}$$

which is \mathbb{Z} for p = 0, 1 and is 0 otherwise. This agrees with 11.1, which gives $H^*(I; f\mathbb{Z}) \approx H^*(\mathbb{S}^1; \mathbb{Z})$.

11.5. Example. Consider the 3-fold covering map $f: \mathbb{S}^1 \to \mathbb{S}^1$; see I-3.5. The sheaf $f\mathbb{Z}$ has stalks $\mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}$ twisted by the cyclic automorphism. By 11.1, $H^*(\mathbb{S}^1; f\mathbb{Z}) \approx H^*(\mathbb{S}^1; \mathbb{Z})$. Let $\beta : \Delta \hookrightarrow f\mathbb{Z}$ be the "diagonal" subsheaf, which is constant with stalk \mathbb{Z} . Then by 11.2, the composition $H^1(\mathbb{S}^1; \mathbb{Z}) \approx H^1(\mathbb{S}^1; \Delta) \xrightarrow{\beta^*} H^1(\mathbb{S}^1; f\mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^1(\mathbb{S}^1; \mathbb{Z})$ is just f^* , which is multiplication by 3. Let $\mathscr{A} = (f\mathbb{Z})/\Delta$, which has stalks $\mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}$ twisted by the essentially unique automorphism of period 3. The exact coefficient sequence $0 \to \Delta \to f\mathbb{Z} \to \mathscr{A} \to 0$ induces the exact sequence

 $0=\Gamma(\mathscr{A})\to H^1(\mathbb{S}^1;\varDelta)\xrightarrow{\beta^{\star}}H^1(\mathbb{S}^1;f\mathbb{Z})\to H^1(\mathbb{S}^1;\mathscr{A})\to 0,$

and it follows that

$$H^p(\mathbb{S}^1; \mathscr{A}) \approx \begin{cases} \mathbb{Z}_3, & \text{for } p = 1, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

11.6. Example. Let N be the positive integers with the non-Hausdorff topology in which N and the initial segments $U_n = \{1, \ldots, n\}$ are the open sets; see Exercise 27. Let $A_1 \leftarrow A_2 \leftarrow \cdots$ be an inverse sequence of abelian groups. According to the exercise, this is equivalent to the sheaf \mathscr{A} on N where $\mathscr{A}(U_n) = A_n$. Also by the exercise, $H^0(\mathbb{N};\mathscr{A}) = \varprojlim A_i$ and $H^1(\mathbb{N};\mathscr{A}) = \varprojlim^1 A_i$, the derived functor of \varprojlim . Let $0 = i_0 < i_1 < i_2 < \cdots$ be a sequence of integers and let $f : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{N}$ be given by f(n) = k for $i_{k-1} < n \leq i_k$. Then f is continuous and closed. Each $f^{-1}(k)$ is finite, and Exercise 58 shows that $\mathscr{A}|f^{-1}(k)$ is acyclic for all sheaves \mathscr{A} on N and that $f^{-1}(y)$ is taut in N. Now $(f\mathscr{A})(U_k) = \mathscr{A}(f^{-1}U_k) = \mathscr{A}(U_{i_k}) = A_{i_k}$, so that $f\mathscr{A}$ is just the inverse subsequence given by this sequence of indices. By 11.1 we have that $H^*(\mathbb{N}; f\mathscr{A}) \approx H^*(\mathbb{N}; \mathscr{A})$. This means that passage to a subsequence does not change \varprojlim or \varprojlim^1 .

An important special case of 11.1 is that for which each $f^{-1}(y)$ is connected, and $\mathscr{A} = f^*\mathscr{B}$ for some sheaf \mathscr{B} on Y, particularly a constant sheaf. In this case we have:

11.7. Theorem. (Vietoris mapping theorem.) Let $f: X \to Y$ be a closed surjection, let \mathcal{B} be a sheaf on Y, and let Ψ be a family of supports on Y. Also assume that each $f^{-1}(y)$ is connected and taut in X and that $H^p(f^{-1}(y); \mathcal{B}_y) = 0$ for p > 0 and all $y \in Y$. Then

$$f^*: H^*_{\Psi}(Y; \mathscr{B}) \to H^*_{f^{-1}\Psi}(X; f^*\mathscr{B})$$

is an isomorphism.

Proof. Consider the monomorphism $\beta : \mathscr{B} \to ff^*\mathscr{B}$ of I-4 which is induced by the *f*-cohomomorphism $\mathscr{B} \to f^*\mathscr{B}$ via the composition

$$\mathscr{B}(U) \to (f^*\mathscr{B})(f^{-1}(U)) = (ff^*\mathscr{B})(U).$$

On the stalks at $y \in Y$ this becomes

$$\mathscr{B}_y \to (f^*\mathscr{B})(f^{-1}(y)) \xrightarrow{\approx} (ff^*\mathscr{B})_y$$

since $f^{-1}(y) \neq \emptyset$ is taut. This is an isomorphism, since $(f^*\mathscr{B})|f^{-1}(y)$ is constant with stalks \mathscr{B}_y and since $f^{-1}(y)$ is connected. It follows that $\beta : \mathscr{B} \to ff^*\mathscr{B}$ is an isomorphism. Since $f^* = f^{\dagger} \circ \beta^* : H^*_{\Psi}(Y; \mathscr{B}) \to H^*_{f^{-1}\Psi}(X; f^*\mathscr{B})$ by (18) of Section 8, the theorem follows from 11.1. \Box

Note that the inverse image of a constant sheaf is constant.

11.8. Corollary. Let X be a space and \mathscr{B} a sheaf on X. Let T be a compact, connected Hausdorff space that is acyclic for any constant coefficient sheaf [it suffices that $H^p(T; \mathscr{B}_x) = 0$ for p > 0 and all $x \in X$]. If $\pi : X \times T \to X$ is the projection, put $\mathscr{B} \times T = \pi^* \mathscr{B}$. For $t \in T$, let $i_t : X \to X \times T$ be the inclusion $x \mapsto (x, t)$. Then

$$i_t^*: H^*_{\Phi \times T}(X \times T; \mathscr{B} \times T) \to H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{B})$$

is an isomorphism that is the inverse of π^* and hence is independent of $t \in T$.

Proof. This makes sense, since $i_t^*(\mathscr{B} \times T) = i_t^*(\pi^*\mathscr{B}) = 1^*\mathscr{B} = \mathscr{B}$. In cohomology we have $i_t^* \circ \pi^* = (\pi \circ i_t)^* = 1^* = 1$. Each $\{x\} \times T$ is compact and relatively Hausdorff, whence taut, in $X \times T$. By 11.7, π^* is an isomorphism, and hence $i_t^* = (\pi^*)^{-1}$ is independent of t.

We now prove a strengthened version of 11.8 valid for locally compact spaces:

11.9. Theorem. Let X be a locally compact Hausdorff space and let T be a compact connected Hausdorff space. Then with the notation of 11.8,

 $i_t^*: H_c^*(X \times T; \mathscr{B} \times T) \to H_c^*(X; \mathscr{B})$

is independent of $t \in T$.²²

Proof. The point is that here, T need not be acyclic. Let $\pi: X \times T \to X$ be the projection. For any $\alpha \in H^*_c(X \times T; \mathcal{B} \times T)$, let $K(\alpha) = \{t \in T \mid \alpha \in Ker i^*_t\}$. By 10.6, $t \in K(\alpha) \Rightarrow \alpha \mid (X \times N) = 0$ for some neighborhood N of $t \in T$. Then $N \subset K(\alpha)$, and it follows that $K(\alpha)$ is open for any α .

Now let $t \in T$ and put $i_t^*(\alpha) = \beta$. Then $i_t^*(\alpha - \pi^*\beta) = 0$, so that $t \in K(\alpha - \pi^*\beta)$. Thus, for all s near t, we have that $s \in K(\alpha - \pi^*\beta)$, which implies that

$$0 = i_{s}^{*}(\alpha - \pi^{*}\beta) = i_{s}^{*}(\alpha) - (i_{s}^{*}\pi^{*})i_{t}^{*}(\alpha) = i_{s}^{*}(\alpha) - i_{t}^{*}(\alpha)$$

Thus the value of $i_t^*(\alpha)$ is locally constant in t and hence is constant, since T is connected.

²²See, however, Example 14.8.

11.10. Corollary. The unit interval \mathbb{I} is acyclic for any constant coefficients.

Proof. Consider the map $\mu : \mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{I}$ given by $\mu(s,t) = st$. By 11.9 we have that $(\mu \circ i_0)^* = (\mu \circ i_1)^* : H^*(\mathbb{I};G) \to H^*(\mathbb{I};G)$. But $\mu \circ i_1$ is the identity map while $\mu \circ i_0$ is the constant map to $0 \in \mathbb{I}$, and the result follows.

Remark: Corollary 11.10 can be proved in other ways. See, for example, Exercise2. It also follows from 9.23, assuming the result for singular theory as known. However, we find it somewhat amusing to use a type of homotopy invariance to prove the acyclicity of I instead of the other way around.

11.11. Corollary. If G is a compact connected topological group acting on the locally compact Hausdorff space X, then G acts trivially on $H_c^*(X; L)$ for any constant coefficient group L.

We remark that there are compact connected groups (e.g., inverse limits of circle groups, called *solenoids*) that are not arcwise connected. Thus such actions need not be homotopically trivial.

If Φ and Ψ are given families of supports on X and Y respectively, we shall say that a map $f: X \to Y$ is proper (with respect to Φ and Ψ) if $f^{-1}\Psi \subset \Phi$. If that is the case, then $f^*: H^*_{\Psi}(Y) \to H^*_{\Phi}(X)$ is defined. A homotopy $X \times \mathbb{I} \to Y$ is proper if it is so with respect to the families $\Phi \times \mathbb{I}$ and Ψ . For locally compact spaces, "proper" means proper with respect to compact supports unless otherwise indicated.

11.12. Theorem. Any two properly homotopic maps (with respect to Φ and Ψ) of a space X into a space Y induce identical homomorphisms

$$H^*_{\Psi}(Y;G) \to H^*_{\Phi}(X;G),$$

where G is any constant coefficient group.

Note the special cases:

- (a) $\Phi = cld = \Psi$. In this case, "properly homotopic" is the same as "homotopic."
- (b) X, Y locally compact Hausdorff, $\Phi = c = \Psi$.
- (c) $A \subset X$, $B \subset Y$, $\Phi = cld|X A$, $\Psi = cld|Y B$, with the homotopy taking A through B; see Section 12.

The foregoing results of this section will be considerably generalized in Chapter IV.

11.13. Corollary. For constant coefficients in G, $H^*(\bullet; G)$ is an invariant of homotopy type for arbitrary topological spaces and maps.

Also, $H_c^*(\bullet; G)$ is an invariant of proper homotopy type for locally compact Hausdorff spaces and proper maps.

11.14. Example. This example shows that the condition that f be closed in 11.7 cannot be removed. In fact, in this example, f is an open map from a locally compact space to the unit interval, and each fiber $f^{-1}(y)$ is homeomorphic to the unit interval except at one point, y = 0, for which it is a real line. Moreover, X has the homotopy type of a circle, so that 11.7 will not hold for any nontrivial constant sheaf of coefficients.

Let X be obtained from the square $\mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I}$ by deleting the point $\langle 0, \frac{1}{2} \rangle$ and identifying the points $\langle 0, 0 \rangle$ and $\langle 0, 1 \rangle$. Let $f : X \to \mathbb{I}$ be induced by $\langle x, y \rangle \mapsto x$. The reader may verify the properties claimed for this example.

11.15. Example. Let us do some elementary calculations involving the cross product, even though they will follow trivially from later results. Let X be an arbitrary space and Φ a family of supports on X. Let L be a fixed base ring with unit and let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf of L-modules. Consider the product $\mathbb{I} \times X$ and the constant sheaf L on I. The epimorphism $L \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{A} \twoheadrightarrow L_{\{0\}} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{A}$ induces an isomorphism

$$H^n_{\mathbb{I}\times\Phi}(\mathbb{I}\times X;L\widehat{\otimes}\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^n_{\mathbb{I}\times\Phi}(\mathbb{I}\times X;L_{\{0\}}\widehat{\otimes}\mathscr{A})$$

by 10.2 and 11.8. The exact sequence induced by the coefficient sequence $0 \to L_{(0,1]} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{A} \to L \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{A} \to L_{\{0\}} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{A} \to 0$ then shows that

$$H^n_{\mathbb{I}\times\Phi}(\mathbb{I}\times X; L_{(0,1]}\widehat{\otimes}\mathscr{A}) = 0 \text{ for all } n.$$

Then the coefficient sequence $0 \to L_{(0,1)} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{A} \to L_{(0,1]} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{A} \to L_{\{1\}} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{A} \to 0$ shows that

$$H^n_{\mathbf{I}\times\Phi}(\mathbb{I}\times X; L_{\{1\}}\widehat{\otimes}\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\delta} H^{n+1}_{\mathbf{I}\times\Phi}(\mathbb{I}\times X; L_{(0,1)}\widehat{\otimes}\mathscr{A})$$

is an isomorphism for all n. In particular,

$$H^{0}(\{1\}; L) \approx H^{0}(\mathbb{I}; L_{\{1\}}) \xrightarrow{\delta} H^{1}(\mathbb{I}; L_{(0,1)})$$

is an isomorphism. There are the cross products

$$\begin{split} H^{0}(\mathbb{I}; L_{\{1\}}) \otimes H^{n}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) &\to H^{n}_{\mathbb{I} \times \Phi}(\mathbb{I} \times X; L_{\{1\}} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{A}), \\ H^{1}(\mathbb{I}; L_{(0,1)}) \otimes H^{n}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) &\to H^{n+1}_{\mathbb{I} \times \Phi}(\mathbb{I} \times X; L_{(0,1)} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{A}). \end{split}$$

The first of these is equivalent to the cross product

$$H^{0}(\{1\}; L) \otimes H^{n}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to H^{n}_{\mathbb{I} \times \Phi}(\{1\} \times X; L \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{A})$$

by 10.2, and this is equivalent to the composition

$$L\otimes H^n_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\epsilon^*\otimes 1} H^0(X;L) \otimes H^n_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\cup} H^n_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}),$$

which is an isomorphism taking $1 \otimes a \mapsto 1 \cup a = a$. Letting 1 denote the generator of $H^0(\mathbb{I}; L_{\{1\}}) \approx H^0(\{1\}; L) \approx L$ we have, for $a \in H^n_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$,

$$\delta(1 \times a) = \iota \times a,$$

where

$$\iota = \delta(1) \in H^1(\mathbb{I}; L_{(0,1)}).$$

Consequently, we have the isomorphism

$$H^n_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^{n+1}_{\mathbb{I} \times \Phi}(\mathbb{I} \times X; L_{(0,1)}\widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{A}),$$

given by $a \mapsto \iota \times a$.

In particular we have the isomorphism

$$H^{p}(\mathbb{I}^{n}; L_{U}) \approx \begin{cases} L, & p = n, \\ 0, & p \neq n, \end{cases}$$

where $U = (0,1)^n$ and where $H^n(\mathbb{I}^n; L_U)$ is generated by $\iota \times \cdots \times \iota$. This is isomorphic to $H^p_c((0,1)^n; L) \approx H^p_c(\mathbb{R}^n; L)$ by 10.2, so that

$$H^p_c(\mathbb{R}^n;L) \approx \begin{cases} L, & p=n, \\ 0, & p \neq n. \end{cases}$$

Regarding \mathbb{S}^n , n > 0, as the one-point compactification of \mathbb{R}^n , the exact coefficient sequence $0 \to L_{\mathbb{R}^n} \to L \to L_{\{\infty\}} \to 0$ on \mathbb{S}^n gives

$$H^{p}(\mathbb{S}^{n};L)\approx \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} L, & p=0,n,\\ 0, & p\neq 0,n. \end{array} \right.$$

Now consider the sheaf L_V on \mathbb{S}^n where $V = \mathbb{S}^n - \{x\}$ for some point $x \in \mathbb{S}^n$. Let $f : \mathbb{I}^n \to \mathbb{S}^n$ be the identification of $\partial \mathbb{I}^n$ to the point x. By 11.7,

$$f^*: H^n(\mathbb{S}^n; L_V) \to H^n(\mathbb{I}^n; L_U)$$

is an isomorphism. Let $\alpha_n \in H^n(\mathbb{S}^n; L_V)$ be such that $f^*(\alpha_n) = \iota \times \cdots \times \iota$. Let $u_n = j^*(\alpha_n) \in H^n(\mathbb{S}^n; L)$, where $j^* : H^n(\mathbb{S}^n; L_V) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^n(\mathbb{S}^n; L)$. Similarly, by 11.7,

$$(f \times 1)^* : H^p_{\mathbb{S}^n \times \Phi}(\mathbb{S}^n \times X; L_V \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{A}) \to H^p_{\mathbb{I}^n \times \Phi}(\mathbb{I}^n \times X; L_U \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{A})$$

is an isomorphism for all p that carries $\alpha_n \times \beta \mapsto \iota \times \cdots \times \iota \times \beta$. By the previous remarks, $\beta \mapsto \iota \times \cdots \times \iota \times \beta$ of $H^n_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to H^{n+p}_{I^n \times \Phi}(\mathbb{I}^n \times X; L_U \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{A})$ is an isomorphism. Therefore we have the isomorphism

$$H^n_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^{n+p}_{\mathbb{S}^n \times \Phi}(\mathbb{S}^n \times X; L_V \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{A})$$

given by $\beta \mapsto \alpha_n \times \beta$. By naturality, the map

$$H^p_{\mathbb{S}^n \times \Phi}(\mathbb{S}^n \times X; L_V \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{A}) \to H^p_{\mathbb{S}^n \times \Phi}(\mathbb{S}^n \times X; L \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{A})$$

takes $\alpha_n \times \beta$ to $u_n \times \beta$. The exact coefficient sequence $0 \to L_V \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{A} \to L_{\widehat{\otimes}} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{A} \to 0$ induces the exact sequence

$$H^{p}_{\mathbb{S}^{n}\times\Phi}(\mathbb{S}^{n}\times X; L_{V}\widehat{\otimes}\mathscr{A}) \to H^{p}_{\mathbb{S}^{n}\times\Phi}(\mathbb{S}^{n}\times X; L\widehat{\otimes}\mathscr{A}) \to H^{p}_{\mathbb{S}^{n}\times\Phi}(\mathbb{S}^{n}\times X; L_{\{x\}}\widehat{\otimes}\mathscr{A}),$$

in which the last map can be identified with the map $H^p_{\mathbb{S}^n \times \Phi}(\mathbb{S}^n \times X; L \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{A}) \to H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$ induced by the inclusion $i_x : X \hookrightarrow \mathbb{S}^n \times X$. This sequence is split by $\pi^* : H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to H^p_{\mathbb{S}^n \times \Phi}(\mathbb{S}^n \times X; L \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{A})$, noting that $L \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{A} \approx \pi^* \mathscr{A}$. It follows that the map

$$\eta: H^{p-n}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \oplus H^{p}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to H^{p}_{\mathbb{S}^{n} \times \Phi}(\mathbb{S}^{n} \times X; L \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{A})$$

given by

$$\eta(a,b) = u_n \times a + 1 \times b$$

is an isomorphism, since $1 \times b = \pi^*(b)$. In particular, since $u_n^2 = 0$ for n > 0,

$$H^*(\mathbb{S}^n \times X; L) \approx \Lambda_L(v_n) \otimes H^*(X; L),$$

where $v_n = u_n \times 1 \in H^n(\mathbb{S}^n \times X; L)$ is an algebra isomorphism for n > 0, where $\Lambda_L(v_n)$ is the exterior algebra over L on v_n . An induction shows that for all $n_i > 0$,

$$H^*(\mathbb{S}^{n_1} \times \cdots \times \mathbb{S}^{n_k}; L) \approx \Lambda_L(w_1, \ldots, w_n),$$

where $w_i = \pi_i^*(u_{n_i}), \pi_i : \mathbb{S}^{n_1} \times \cdots \times \mathbb{S}^{n_k} \to \mathbb{S}^{n_i}$ being the *i*th projection.

12 Relative cohomology

In this section, we establish a sheaf-theoretic relative cohomology theory. For a closed subspace $F \subset X$ and for Φ paracompactifying, we will have, by 12.3, that $H_{\Phi}^*(X, F; \mathscr{A}) = H_{\Phi|X-F}^*(X-F; \mathscr{A}|X-F)$ and so in this case, we already have the long exact cohomology sequence of the pair (X, F) by 10.3. This is also enough to conclude a very strong excision property. Hence, for closed paracompact pairs, closed supports, and constant coefficients, this gives us all the Eilenberg-Steenrod axioms for cohomology. The Milnor additivity axiom also holds obviously. Consequently, we can conclude, in this case, that this cohomology theory agrees with singular theory on CW-complexes. (Chapter III, most of which can be read at this point, also establishes this in a different manner.) For most purposes this suffices, and so we recommend that first-time readers skip this somewhat technical section, after making note of the formulas in 12.1 and 12.3 for the purpose of understanding the relative notation.

Let $i: A \hookrightarrow X$ and let Φ be a family of supports on X. For any sheaf \mathcal{A} on X we have the natural *i*-cohomomorphism (see Section 8)

$$\mathscr{C}^*(X;\mathscr{A}) \rightsquigarrow \mathscr{C}^*(A;\mathscr{A}|A).$$

Equivalently, we have the homomorphism

$$i^*: \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A}) \to i \mathscr{C}^*(A; \mathscr{A}|A)$$

of sheaves on X.

In order to define relative cohomology, we shall show that i^* is surjective and has a flabby kernel. We introduce the notation

$$\operatorname{Ker} i^* = \mathscr{C}^*(X, A; \mathscr{A}),$$

$$C^*_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) = \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}^*(X,A;\mathscr{A})),$$

and

$$H^*_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) = H^*(C^*_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A})).$$

Since Ker i^* is flabby and since $\Gamma_{\Phi}(i\mathscr{B}) = \Gamma_{\Phi \cap A}(\mathscr{B})$ by I-Exercise 8, we will obtain the induced short exact sequence

$$0 \to C^*_{\Phi}(X, A; \mathscr{A}) \to C^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to C^*_{\Phi \cap A}(A; \mathscr{A}|A) \to 0$$
(21)

and hence the long exact cohomology sequence

$$\cdots \to H^p_{\Phi}(X, A; \mathscr{A}) \to H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to H^p_{\Phi \cap A}(A; \mathscr{A}|A) \to H^{p+1}_{\Phi}(X, A; \mathscr{A}) \to \cdots$$
(22)

Now $\mathscr{C}^*(X, A; \mathscr{A})$ and $C^*_{\Phi}(X, A; \mathscr{A})$ are exact functors²³ of \mathscr{A} , so that a short exact sequence $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}'' \to 0$ of sheaves will induce the long exact sequence

$$\cdots \to H^{p}_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}') \to H^{p}_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \to H^{p}_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}'') \to H^{p+1}_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}') \to \cdots$$
(23)

compatible with (22).

We now proceed to verify our contention. If \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} are sheaves on X and A respectively and $k : \mathscr{A} \sim \mathscr{B}$ is an *i*-cohomomorphism, we shall say that k is *surjective* if each $k_x : \mathscr{A}_x \to \mathscr{B}_x$ is surjective for $x \in A$; that is, if the induced homomorphism $\mathscr{A}|A \to \mathscr{B}$ is surjective.

If $k : \mathscr{A} \rightsquigarrow \mathscr{B}$ is surjective and $U \subset X$ is open, then we have the exact sequence

$$0 \to \prod_{x \in U-A} \mathscr{A}_x \times \prod_{x \in U \cap A} \operatorname{Ker}(k_x) \longrightarrow \prod_{x \in U} \mathscr{A}_x \xrightarrow{\prod k_x} \prod_{x \in U \cap A} \mathscr{B}_x \to 0.$$

Thus $k_U^0 : C^0(U; \mathscr{A}) \to C^0(U \cap A; \mathscr{B})$ is surjective. [Note that this is the map $\mathscr{C}^0(X; \mathscr{A})(U) \to (i\mathscr{C}^0(A; \mathscr{B}))(U)$.] Moreover, the kernel of the surjection $\mathscr{C}^0(X; \mathscr{A}) \twoheadrightarrow i\mathscr{C}^0(X; \mathscr{B})$ is the flabby sheaf

$$U\mapsto \prod_{x\in U-A}\mathscr{A}_x imes \prod_{x\in U\cap A}\operatorname{Ker}(k_x).$$

It follows immediately that the induced *i*-cohomomorphism

$$k^{0}: \mathscr{C}^{0}(X; \mathscr{A}) \rightsquigarrow \mathscr{C}^{0}(A; \mathscr{B})$$

84

²³This follows from the exactness of the absolute versions by an easy diagram chase.

is surjective in our sense. Passing to quotient sheaves, we see that

$$\mathcal{J}^1(X;\mathscr{A}) \rightsquigarrow \mathcal{J}^1(A;\mathscr{B})$$

is also surjective.

By induction, it follows that the homomorphisms

$$\mathscr{C}^{n}(X;\mathscr{A}) \to i \mathscr{C}^{n}(A;\mathscr{B})$$

are all surjective and have flabby kernels. Taking $\mathscr{B} = \mathscr{A}|A$ yields our original contention.

Note that

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi|X-A}(\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi\cap A}(\mathscr{A}|A)$$

is always exact, so that

$$H^0_\Phi(X,A;\mathscr{A}) = \Gamma_{\Phi|X-A}(\mathscr{A}) = H^0_{\Phi|X-A}(X;\mathscr{A}).$$

Thus the derived functors of $H^0_{\Phi}(X, A; \mathscr{A})$ are $H^*_{\Phi|X-A}(X; \mathscr{A})$. The following result shows that Φ -tautness is a necessary and sufficient condition for the $H^*_{\Phi}(X, A; \mathscr{A})$ to be the derived functors of $H^0_{\Phi}(X, A; \mathscr{A})$.

12.1. Theorem. If A is a Φ -taut subspace of X, then there is a natural isomorphism

$$H^*_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \approx H^*_{\Phi|X-A}(X;\mathscr{A}).$$

Conversely, if $H^p_{\Phi}(X, A; \mathscr{A}) = 0$ for p > 0 and every flabby sheaf \mathscr{A} on X, then A is Φ -taut.²⁴

Proof. Let $\mathscr{A}^* = \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$. By Definition 10.5 the following sequence, which is always left exact, is exact when A is Φ -taut:

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi|X-A}(\mathscr{A}^*) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*) \to \Gamma_{\Phi\cap A}(\mathscr{A}^*|A) \to 0.$$

We also have the natural map $\mathscr{A}^*|A \to \mathscr{C}^*(A; \mathscr{A}|A)$ induced by the natural cohomomorphism $\mathscr{A}^* \to \mathscr{C}^*(A; \mathscr{A}|A)$. Thus we have a commutative diagram

Since A is Φ -taut, whence $\mathscr{A}^*|A$ is $\Phi \cap A$ -acyclic, g induces an isomorphism in cohomology. By the 5-lemma, f also induces an isomorphism. The

²⁴Also see Exercise 18.

second statement follows directly from (22) and the definition of tautness. $\hfill \Box$

Note that the proof also shows that in the situation of 12.1, the exact sequence of the pair (X, A) is equivalent to the long exact sequence induced by the short exact sequence

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi|X-A}(\mathscr{A}^*) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*) \to \Gamma_{\Phi\cap A}(\mathscr{A}^*|A) \to 0$$

of cochain complexes.

We remark that by (21), $C^*_{\Phi|X-A}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) = C^*_{\Phi|X-A}(X;\mathscr{A})$ because $(\Phi|X-A)\cap A = 0$, and that the isomorphism of 12.1 is induced by inclusion of supports: $H^*_{\Phi|X-A}(X;\mathscr{A}) = H^*_{\Phi|X-A}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \to H^*_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}).$

12.2. The cup product in relative cohomology will be discussed briefly at the end of this section. However, in some special cases it can be produced based on 12.1 as follows. If Φ and Ψ are families of supports on X, then there is the cup product

$$\cup: H^{p}_{\Phi|X-A}(X;\mathscr{A}) \otimes H^{q}_{\Psi|X-B}(X;\mathscr{B}) \to H^{p+q}_{\Phi \cap \Psi|X-A \cup B}(X;\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}).$$

Therefore, if A is Φ -taut, B is Ψ -taut, and $A \cup B$ is $(\Phi \cap \Psi)$ -taut, then by 12.1, this gives a relative cup product

$$\cup: H^p_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \otimes H^q_{\Psi}(X,B;\mathscr{B}) \to H^{p+q}_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(X,A \cup B;\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}).$$

In particular, this holds for arbitrary Φ and Ψ if A and B are open, and it also holds for paracompactifying families when A and B are closed. [Such a product for A and B closed and *arbitrary* families can also be based on 12.3.] Various compatibility formulas follow directly from 7.1. For example, if $U \supset V$ are open in X and $j^* : H^*_{\Psi}(X, V; \mathscr{A}) \to H^*_{\Psi}(X; \mathscr{A})$ is the canonical map (induced, for example, by the inclusion of supports $\Phi|X - V \hookrightarrow \Phi$), $\alpha \in H^p_{\Phi}(X, U; \mathscr{A})$, and $\beta \in H^q_{\Psi}(X, V; \mathscr{B})$, then

$$\alpha \cup j^*(\beta) = \alpha \cup \beta \in H^{p+q}_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(X, U; \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}).$$

Similarly, if $\alpha \in H^p_{\Phi}(U; \mathscr{A})$ and $\beta \in H^q_{\Psi}(X; \mathscr{B})$ and δ is the connecting homomorphism for the pair (X, U), then

$$\delta(\alpha \cup \beta) = \delta \alpha \cup \beta \in H^{p+q+1}_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(X, U; \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}).$$

Many other such formulas are self-evident.

For the case of closed subspaces, relative cohomology has the following "single space" interpretation:

12.3. Proposition. If $F \subset X$ is closed, then there is a natural isomorphism

$$H^p_{\Phi}(X,F;\mathscr{A}) \approx H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}_{X-F})$$

valid for any sheaf \mathcal{A} on X and any family Φ of supports. If, in addition, Φ is paracompactifying,²⁵ then

$$H^p_{\Phi}(X,F;\mathscr{A}) \approx H^p_{\Phi|X-F}(X-F;\mathscr{A}).$$

Proof. Since $\mathscr{A}_{X-F}|F = 0$, the cohomology sequence of the pair (X, F) with coefficients in \mathscr{A}_{X-F} shows that the map

 $j^*: H^*_{\Phi}(X, F; \mathscr{A}_{X-F}) \to H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}_{X-F})$

is an isomorphism.

The map $H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}_F) \to H^*_{\Phi \cap F}(F; \mathscr{A}|F)$ is an isomorphism by 10.2. Thus the cohomology sequence of (X, F) with coefficients in \mathscr{A}_F shows that

$$H^*_{\Phi}(X,F;\mathscr{A}_F)=0.$$

It follows from the sequence (23), with $\mathscr{A}' = \mathscr{A}_{X-F}$ and $\mathscr{A}'' = \mathscr{A}_F$, that

$$h^*: H^*_{\Phi}(X, F; \mathscr{A}_{X-F}) \to H^*_{\Phi}(X, F; \mathscr{A})$$

is an isomorphism. Thus j^* and h^* provide the required isomorphism. The last statement is a special case of 10.2, included here for the benefit of browsers.

Clearly, the last part of 12.3 is a very strong type of "excision" isomorphism in cases where it applies. In the case of locally compact Hausdorff spaces and compact supports this is often stated as "invariance under relative homeomorphism." A relative homeomorphism is a closed map of pairs $(X, A) \to (Y, B)$ such that $A = f^{-1}B$ and the induced map $X - A \to Y - B$ is a homeomorphism.

12.4. Corollary. Let (X, A) and (Y, B) be closed pairs. Let Ψ and Φ be paracompactifying families of supports on X and Y respectively. Let $f: (X, A) \to (Y, B)$ be a relative homeomorphism such that $\Psi|X - A = f^{-1}(\Phi|Y - B)$ (e.g., if $\Psi = f^{-1}\Phi$). Then

$$f^*: H^*_{\Phi}(Y, B; \mathscr{A}) \to H^*_{\Psi}(X, A; f^*\mathscr{A})$$

is an isomorphism for any sheaf \mathcal{A} on Y.

Proof. This follows directly from 12.3 except for the parenthetical condition. To see that the condition is sufficient, let $K \in \Psi | X - A$. Then $K \subset f^{-1}L$ for some $L \in \Phi$ and so $f(K) \subset L$. Since f(K) is closed, it follows that $f(K) \in \Phi | Y - B$. The converse is immediate.

This has the following two special cases as the main cases of interest:

²⁵Also see 12.10.

12.5. Corollary. If (X, A) and (Y, B) are closed paracompact pairs and $f: (X, A) \rightarrow (Y, B)$ is a relative homeomorphism, then

$$f^*: H^*(Y, B; \mathscr{A}) \to H^*(X, A; f^*\mathscr{A})$$

is an isomorphism for any sheaf \mathcal{A} on Y.

12.6. Corollary. If (X, A) and (Y, B) are closed locally compact Hausdorff pairs and $f : (X, A) \to (Y, B)$ is a proper relative homeomorphism, then

$$f^*: H^*_c(Y, B; \mathscr{A}) o H^*_c(X, A; f^*\mathscr{A})$$

is an isomorphism for any sheaf \mathcal{A} on Y.

12.7. If $f: (X, A) \to (Y, B)$ is a map of pairs and \mathscr{A}, \mathscr{B} are sheaves on X and Y respectively with a given f-cohomomorphism $k: \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A}$, then there is the induced commutative diagram (assuming that $f^{-1}\Psi \subset \Phi$)

and hence a corresponding diagram of cohomology groups.

For the particular case of the inclusion $(A, B) \hookrightarrow (X, B)$ where $B \subset A \subset X$, we have the commutative diagram (with coefficients in \mathscr{A} understood)

in which the columns and second row are exact. Simple diagram chasing yields the fact that the first row is exact. Thus we have the induced exact "cohomology sequence of a triple (X, A, B)":

$$\cdots \to H^{p}_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \to H^{p}_{\Phi}(X,B;\mathscr{A}) \to H^{p}_{\Phi\cap A}(A,B;\mathscr{A}) \to H^{p+1}_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \to \cdots$$
(24)

Note that when A and B are closed then this is induced by the exact coefficient sequence $0 \to \mathscr{A}_{X-A} \to \mathscr{A}_{X-B} \to \mathscr{A}_{A-B} \to 0$ via 12.3 and 10.2.

Most of the remainder of this section is devoted to generalizing the foregoing results. For example, we wish to see how much the "paracompactifying" assumption can be weakened in the last part of 12.3. We also

want to investigate more general types of subspaces. Consequently, the rest of this section is rather technical and can be skipped with little loss.

For closed subspaces, we have the following "excision" theorem for arbitrary support families:

12.8. Theorem. If $F \subset X$ is closed and $U \subset F$ is open in X, then the restriction

$$i^*: H^*_{\Phi}(X, F; \mathscr{A}) \to H^*_{\Phi \cap (X-U)}(X-U, F-U; \mathscr{A})$$

is an isomorphism for any sheaf \mathscr{A} on X and any family Φ of supports.

Proof. By 12.3 it suffices to show that the homomorphism

$$H^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}_{X-F}) \to H^*_{\Phi\cap(X-U)}(X-U;\mathscr{A}_{X-F})$$

is an isomorphism. By (22) it suffices to show that

$$H^*_{\Phi}(X, X-U; \mathscr{A}_{X-F}) = 0,$$

but by 12.3, this group is isomorphic to $H_{\Phi}^*(X; \mathscr{A}_{(X-F)\cap U})$, which is zero since $(X - F) \cap U = \emptyset$.

The following result is the basic excision theorem for nonclosed subspaces:

12.9. Theorem. If A and B are subspaces of X with $\overline{B} \subset int(A)$, then the inclusion of pairs $i : (X - B, A - B) \hookrightarrow (X, A)$ induces an isomorphism

$$\mathscr{C}^*(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\approx} i \mathscr{C}^*(X-B,A-B;\mathscr{A}),$$

and hence the restriction map

$$i^*: H^*_{\Phi}(X, A; \mathscr{A}) \to H^*_{\Phi \cap (X-B)}(X-B, A-B; \mathscr{A})$$

is an isomorphism for any family of supports Φ on X.

Proof. Since $\mathscr{C}^*(X, A; \mathscr{A})$ is zero on int(A), $\mathscr{C}^*(X-B, A-B; \mathscr{A})$ is zero on int(A) - B. It follows that $i\mathscr{C}^*(X - B, A - B; \mathscr{A})$ is zero on int(A).

Consider the commutative diagram

with exact rows,²⁶ where *i* is used for all inclusion maps into X. Now g and h are isomorphisms on the stalk at any point $x \in X - \overline{B}$, and the same

 $^{^{26}}$ Exactness of the bottom row is by 5.4 and 5.7.

fact follows for f by the 5-lemma. Thus f is an isomorphism, as claimed, since both sheaves vanish on $int(A) \supset \overline{B}$.

In some situations, one can prove stronger excision theorems, such as the following:

12.10. Theorem. If $B \subset A \subset X$ and Φ is a family of supports on X such that A is Φ -taut and X - B is $(\Phi|X - A)$ -taut in X and such that A - B is $(\Phi|X - B)$ -taut in X - B (e.g., if A is open and B is closed and Φ -taut) then there is a natural isomorphism

$$H^*_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \approx H^*_{\Phi|X-B}(X-B,A-B;\mathscr{A}).$$

Thus, for F closed and Φ -taut in X, we have (by taking A = B = F)

$$H^*_{\Phi}(X,F;\mathscr{A}) \approx H^*_{\Phi|X-F}(X-F;\mathscr{A}).$$

Proof. Since $\Phi|X - A = (\Phi|X - A) \cap (X - B)$ we have the exact sequence (coefficients in \mathscr{A})

$$\cdots \to H^*_{\Phi|X-A}(X, X-B) \to H^*_{\Phi|X-A}(X) \to H^*_{\Phi|X-A}(X-B) \to \cdots$$

Since X - B is $\Phi|X - A$ taut and since $(\Phi|X - A)|B = 0$, the first term is zero by 12.1. Since A is Φ -taut, the second term is isomorphic to $H^p_{\Phi}(X, A)$ by 12.1. Since $(\Phi|X - A) = (\Phi|X - B)|(X - B) - (A - B)$, the third term is isomorphic to $H^*_{\Phi|X-B}(X - B, A - B)$ by 12.1.

Note that in 12.10, $\Phi|X - B$ can be replaced by any family Ψ on X - B such that A - B is Ψ -taut and $\Psi|X - A = \Phi|X - A$.

12.11. Corollary. Let $A \subset X$ be closed, let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X/A, and let Φ be a family of supports on X/A such that $\{\star\}$ is Φ -taut in X/A where $\star = \{A\}$; e.g., either some member of Φ is a neighborhood of \star or $\{\star\} \notin \Phi$. Let $\Psi = f^{-1}\Phi$ where $f : X \to X/A$ is the collapsing map. If A is Ψ -taut in X then

$$f^*: H^*_{\Phi}(X/A, \star; \mathscr{A}) \to H^*_{\Psi}(X, A; f^*\mathscr{A})$$

is an isomorphism. In particular, if X is paracompact, then

$$f^*: H^*(X/A, \star; \mathscr{A}) \to H^*(X, A; f^*\mathscr{A})$$

is an isomorphism. Similarly, if A is compact and X is locally compact Hausdorff, then

$$f^*: H^*_c(X/A, \star; \mathscr{A}) \to H^*_c(X, A; f^*\mathscr{A})$$

is an isomorphism.

Proof. It follows from the proof of 12.4 that $\Psi|X-A = f^{-1}(\Phi|X/A - \star)$. Since $\{\star\}$ is Φ -taut, the result is an immediate consequence of the last part of 12.10.²⁷

12.12. Example. This example shows that the tautness assumption in the first part of 12.11 (or the paracompactness assumption in the second part) is necessary. Let $[0, \Omega]$ denote the compactified "long ray" in the compactified long line; see Exercise 3. Let $Y = [0, \Omega] \times [0, 1]$ and $B = Y - (0, \Omega) \times (0, 1)$, the "boundary" of Y. Let $X = Y - \{\langle \Omega, 1 \rangle\}$ and $A = X \cap B$. Standard arguments show that any neighborhood of A in X is the intersection with X of a neighborhood of B in Y. It follows that $X/A \approx Y/B$. However, it is not hard to show, with the aid of Exercise 3, that X, Y, and A are all acyclic while B has the cohomology of a circle. It follows that $H^2(X, A; \mathbb{Z}) = 0$ while $H^2(X/A; \mathbb{Z}) \approx H^2(Y/B; \mathbb{Z}) \approx H^2(Y, B; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}$.

We shall now show how to simplify the hypotheses of 12.10 in the case in which B is closed.

12.13. Proposition. Let $B \subset A \subset X$ and let Φ be a family of supports on X. Assume that B is closed. Then A-B is $(\Phi|X-B)$ -taut in $X-B \Leftrightarrow A$ is $(\Phi|X-B)$ -taut in X.

Proof. Let $\Psi = \Phi | X - B$. Then $(\Psi \cap A) | B = 0$ and, since A - B is open (hence taut) in A, the restriction (arbitrary coefficients)

$$H^*_{\Psi \cap A}(A) \to H^*_{\Psi \cap (A-B)}(A-B)$$

is an isomorphism by 12.1. Similarly, for an open neighborhood U of A, the restriction

$$H^*_{\Psi \cap U}(U) \to H^*_{\Psi \cap (U-B)}(U-B)$$

is an isomorphism. The result now follows from 10.6.

12.14. Proposition. If A and B are subspaces of X with $B \subset A$, and if B is Φ -taut in X, then B is $(\Phi \cap A)$ -taut in A.

Proof. Let \mathscr{A} be a flabby sheaf on A. Then $i\mathscr{A}$ is flabby by 5.7, where $i: A \hookrightarrow X$ is the inclusion. Since B is Φ -taut in X, the map $\Gamma_{\Phi}(i\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi \cap B}(i\mathscr{A}|B)$ is surjective. But $\Gamma_{\Phi}(i\mathscr{A}) = \Gamma_{\Phi \cap A}(\mathscr{A})$ and $\mathscr{A}|B = (i\mathscr{A})|B$, so that $\Gamma_{\Phi \cap A}(\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi \cap B}(\mathscr{A}|B)$ is surjective. Also, $\mathscr{A}|B = (i\mathscr{A})|B$ is $(\Phi \cap B)$ -acyclic since B is Φ -taut in X and $i\mathscr{A}$ is flabby. But $\Gamma_{\Phi \cap A}(\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi \cap B}(\mathscr{A}|B)$ being surjective and $\mathscr{A}|B$ being $(\Phi \cap B)$ -acyclic for all flabby sheaves \mathscr{A} on A is the definition of B being $(\Phi \cap A)$ -taut in A.

12.15. Proposition. If A and B are Φ -taut subspaces of X with $B \subset A$, then A is $(\Phi|X - B)$ -taut in X.

 $^{^{27}\}mathrm{The}$ second and third parts are also immediate consequences of the corollaries to 12.4.

Proof. Let \mathcal{A} be a flabby sheaf on X. Note that

$$(\Phi|X-B)\cap A=(\Phi\cap A)|A-B$$

since if $K \cap A \in (\Phi \cap A)|A - B$, then $\overline{K \cap A} \cap B = \overline{K \cap A} \cap A \cap B = K \cap A \cap B = \emptyset$. Consider the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccccc} 0 & 0 \\ \downarrow & \downarrow \\ \Gamma_{\Phi|X-B}(\mathscr{A}) & \xrightarrow{f} & \Gamma_{(\Phi|X-B)\cap A}(\mathscr{A}|A) \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}) & \longrightarrow & \Gamma_{\Phi\cap A}(\mathscr{A}|A) & \longrightarrow & 0 \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ \Gamma_{\Phi\cap B}(\mathscr{A}|B) & \xrightarrow{=} & \Gamma_{\Phi\cap B}(\mathscr{A}|B) \end{array}$$

with exact row and columns (since A is Φ -taut). Diagram chasing reveals that f is onto. Thus it suffices to show that $H^p_{(\Phi \cap A)|A-B}(A; \mathscr{A}|A) = 0$ for p > 0. But this is isomorphic to $H^p_{\Phi \cap A}(A, B; \mathscr{A})$ by 12.1, since B is $(\Phi \cap A)$ -taut by 12.14. By (24) it now suffices to show that

$$H^*_{\Phi}(X,B;\mathscr{A}) = 0 = H^*_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A})$$

for p > 0. But $H^*_{\Phi}(X, B; \mathscr{A}) \approx H^*_{\Phi|X-B}(X; \mathscr{A}) = 0$ by 12.1 and since \mathscr{A} is flabby. Similarly, $H^*_{\Phi}(X, A; \mathscr{A}) = 0$. \Box

12.16. Corollary. If $B \subset A \subset X$ with B closed and A and B Φ -taut in X, then

$$H^*_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \approx H^*_{\Phi|X-B}(X-B,A-B;\mathscr{A}).$$

Now we will show that relative cohomology does not depend on the use of the canonical resolution in its definition. The proof will rely on the fact that for any resolution \mathscr{L}^* of a sheaf \mathscr{A} , the differential sheaf $\mathscr{C}^*(X;\mathscr{L}^*)$ is also a resolution of \mathscr{A} . Here $\mathscr{C}^*(X;\mathscr{L}^*)$ is given the total gradation $\mathscr{C}^*(X;\mathscr{L}^*)^n = \bigoplus_{p+q=n} \mathscr{C}^p(X;\mathscr{L}^q)$ and total differential d = d' + d'', where d' is the differential of $\mathscr{C}^*(X;\mathscr{L}^q)$ and d'' is, on $\mathscr{C}^p(X;\mathscr{L}^*)$, $(-1)^p$ times the homomorphism induced by the differential of \mathscr{L}^* . This fact follows from the pointwise homotopy triviality of the canonical resolution $\mathscr{C}^*(X;\bullet)$; see Exercise 48.

12.17. Theorem. Let $i : A \hookrightarrow X$ and let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X. Let \mathscr{L}^* and \mathscr{N}^* be resolutions of \mathscr{A} and $\mathscr{A}|A$ respectively for which there is a surjective *i*-cohomomorphism $k : \mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{N}^*$ of resolutions. Suppose, moreover, that \mathscr{L}^* consists of Φ -acyclic sheaves and \mathscr{N}^* of $(\Phi \cap A)$ -acyclic sheaves, and that $k_X : \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*) \to \Gamma_{\Phi \cap A}(\mathscr{N}^*)$ is onto. Let \mathscr{K}^* be the kernel of the associated homomorphism $\mathscr{L}^* \to i\mathscr{N}^*$ [so that $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{K}^*) = \operatorname{Ker} k_X$]. Then there is a natural isomorphism

$$H^*(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{K}^*)) \approx H^*_{\Phi}(X, A; \mathscr{A}).$$

Proof. Note that there are the homomorphisms of resolutions $\mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{L}^*) \leftarrow \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$ and similarly for \mathscr{N}^* .

We have the commutative diagram

in which the rows are exact (hence defining K^*). The vertical maps on the right and the middle induce isomorphisms in cohomology [since $\mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{L}^*)$ is a flabby resolution of \mathscr{A} , etc.]. By the 5-lemma, the vertical maps on the left also induce isomorphisms.

Now we shall apply 12.17 to the case of the resolution $\mathscr{F}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$ defined at the end of Section 2. We shall use the notation introduced in that section.

Let $M^p(X, A; \mathscr{A})$ be the collection of all $f \in M^p(X; \mathscr{A})$ such that $f(x_0, \ldots, x_p) = 0$ when all $x_i \in A$. Let $F^p(X, A; \mathscr{A}) = \psi_p(M^p(X, A; \mathscr{A}))$. We claim that

$$F^p(X,A;\mathscr{A}) = \operatorname{Ker}\{i^*: F^p(X;\mathscr{A}) \to F^p(A;\mathscr{A}|A)\}.$$

In fact, if $g \in M^p(X; \mathscr{A})$ and $\psi_p(g) \in \operatorname{Ker} i^*$, define $h \in M^p(X; \mathscr{A})$ by

$$h(x_0,\ldots,x_p) = \begin{cases} g(x_0,\ldots,x_p), & \text{if } x_i \in A \text{ for all } i \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Then $h \in \text{Ker } \psi_p$ and $f = g - h \in M^p(X, A; \mathscr{A})$, whence $\psi_p(g) = \psi_p(f) \in F^p(X, A; \mathscr{A})$.

Passing to open subsets of X, we see that the presheaf $U \mapsto F^p(U, A \cap U; \mathscr{A})$ is a flabby sheaf [denoted by $\mathscr{F}^p(X, A; \mathscr{A})$] which is the kernel of the restriction $\mathscr{F}^p(X; \mathscr{A}) \to i \mathscr{F}^p(A; \mathscr{A}|A)$. Let

$$F^p_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) = \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{F}^p(X,A;\mathscr{A})).$$

Then it follows that

$$0 \to F^p_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \to F^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \to F^p_{\Phi \cap A}(A;\mathscr{A}) \to 0$$

is exact, and by 12.17, that

$$H^p_\Phi(X,A;\mathscr{A})\approx H^p(F^*_\Phi(X,A;\mathscr{A})).$$

The cup product on $M^*(X; \bullet)$ defined at the end of Section 7 induces a homomorphism

$$\mathscr{F}^{p}(X;\mathscr{A})\otimes\mathscr{F}^{q}(X,A;\mathscr{B})\to\mathscr{F}^{p+q}(X,A;\mathscr{A}\otimes\mathscr{B}),$$
 (25)

which in turn induces

$$\cup: F^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \otimes F^q_{\Psi}(X, A; \mathscr{B}) \to F^{p+q}_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(X, A; \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B})$$

and

$$\cup: H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \otimes H^q_{\Psi}(X, A; \mathscr{B}) \to H^{p+q}_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(X, A; \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}).$$

The reader may develop properties of this product as well as show that it coincides with the "single space" cup product

$$\cup: H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \otimes H^q_{\Psi|X-A}(X; \mathscr{B}) \to H^{p+q}_{\Phi \cap \Psi|X-A}(X; \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}),$$

via 12.1, when A is Ψ -taut and $(\Phi \cap \Psi)$ -taut in X. We shall return to this subject at the end of Section 13.

13 Mayer-Vietoris theorems

In this section we shall first derive the two exact sequences of the Mayer-Vietoris type that one encounters most frequently. We shall then endeavor to generalize these sequences through the use of the relative cohomology groups introduced in the preceding section.

First, let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X and Φ a family of supports on X. Let X_1 and X_2 be *closed* subspaces of X with $X = X_1 \cup X_2$ and put $A = X_1 \cap X_2$. We have the surjections

$$r_i: \mathscr{A} \twoheadrightarrow \mathscr{A}_{X_i} \quad \text{and} \quad s_i: \mathscr{A}_{X_i} \twoheadrightarrow \mathscr{A}_A.$$

Considering stalks, we see that the sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{\alpha} \mathscr{A}_{X_1} \oplus \mathscr{A}_{X_2} \xrightarrow{\beta} \mathscr{A}_A \to 0$$

is exact, where $\alpha = (r_1, r_2)$ and $\beta = s_1 - s_2$. Thus, by 10.2, we have the exact Mayer-Vietoris sequence (for X_i closed and arbitrary Φ)

$$\cdots \to H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \to H^p_{\Phi\cap X_1}(X_1;\mathscr{A}) \oplus H^p_{\Phi\cap X_2}(X_2;\mathscr{A}) \to H^p_{\Phi\cap A}(A;\mathscr{A}) \to H^{p+1}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \to \cdots$$
(26)

since $\Phi \cap X_1 = \Phi | X_1$, etc.

Second, assume instead that Φ is paracompactifying and let U_1 and U_2 be open sets with $U = U_1 \cap U_2$ and $X = U_1 \cup U_2$. We have the inclusions

$$i_k : \mathscr{A}_U \to \mathscr{A}_{U_k} \quad \text{and} \quad j_k : \mathscr{A}_{U_k} \to \mathscr{A}.$$

Again the sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{A}_U \xrightarrow{\alpha} \mathscr{A}_{U_1} \oplus \mathscr{A}_{U_2} \xrightarrow{\beta} \mathscr{A} \to 0$$

is exact, where $\alpha = (i_1, i_2)$ and $\beta = j_1 - j_2$. Thus we obtain from 10.2 the exact Mayer-Vietoris sequence

$$\cdots \to H^{p}_{\Phi|U}(U;\mathscr{A}) \to H^{p}_{\Phi|U_{1}}(U_{1};\mathscr{A}) \oplus H^{p}_{\Phi|U_{2}}(U_{2};\mathscr{A}) \to H^{p}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \to H^{p+1}_{\Phi|U}(U;\mathscr{A}) \to \cdots$$

$$(27)$$
§13. Mayer-Vietoris theorems

when Φ is paracompactifying. One can generalize this to the case of *arbitrary* supports on a *normal* space $X = U_1 \cup U_2$ as follows. In fact it is enough to have a separation for the sets $A = X - U_1$ and $B = X - U_2$; say $V \supset A$ is open and $X - \overline{V} \supset B$, i.e., $\overline{V} \subset U_2$. Let \mathscr{A}^* be a flabby resolution of \mathscr{A} on X. Then the sequence

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}_{U}^{*}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}_{U_{1}}^{*} \oplus \mathscr{A}_{U_{2}}^{*}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^{*})$$

is exact, and this is equivalent to the sequence

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi|U}(\mathscr{A}^*|U) \xrightarrow{\alpha} \Gamma_{\Phi|U_1}(\mathscr{A}^*|U_1) \oplus \Gamma_{\Phi|U_2}(\mathscr{A}^*|U_2) \xrightarrow{\beta} \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*).$$

The claimed sequence will follow from this and the fact that $H^*_{\Phi|U}(U;\mathscr{A}) \approx H^*(\Gamma_{\Phi|U}(\mathscr{A}^*|U))$ etc., if we can show that β is surjective. For this, suppose that $f \in \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*)$ and let $h \in \Gamma(\mathscr{A}^*)$ be an extension of f on V and 0 on $X - (|f| \cap \overline{V})$. Then $|h| \subset |f| \cap \overline{V} \in \Phi|U_2$. Also, g = f - h is zero on V and on X - |f|, so that $|g| \subset |f| \cap (X - V) \in \Phi|U_1$. Thus $f = g + h = \beta(g, -h)$ is the desired decomposition.

Conversely, if the sequence (27) always holds for $\Phi = cld$ on a space X, then the disjoint closed sets $A = X - U_1$ and $B = X - U_2$ can be separated. To see this, let $\mathscr{A} = \mathscr{C}^0(X;\mathbb{Z})$ and let $f \in \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A})$ be the section that is the constant seration of \mathbb{Z} with value 1. Since $\mathscr{A}|U$ is flabby, we have $H^1_{\Phi|U}(U;\mathscr{A}|U) = 0$, and so the assumed exactness of the sequence implies the existence of a decomposition f = g + h with $g \in \Gamma_{\Phi|U_1}(\mathscr{A}|U_1)$ and $h \in \Gamma_{\Phi|U_2}(\mathscr{A}|U_2)$. Then $X - |g| \supset A, X - |h| \supset B$ and $(X - |g|) \cap (X - |h|) = X - (|g| \cup |h|) \subset X - |f| = \emptyset$.²⁸

13.1. Example. For an arbitrary space X, the cone CX on X is the quotient space $X \times \mathbb{I}/X \times \{0\}$. Since this is contractible, it is acyclic for any constant coefficients and closed supports. The (unreduced) suspension of a space X is $\Sigma X = CX/X \times \{1\}$. This is the union along $X \times \{\frac{1}{2}\}$ of two cones. The Mayer-Vietoris sequence (26) applies to show that $\tilde{H}^k(\Sigma X) \approx \tilde{H}^{k-1}(X)$ for all k. If $\star \in X$ is a base point, then ΣX contains the arc I, which is the image of $\star \times \mathbb{I}$ and is a closed subspace of ΣX . The reduced suspension of X is $SX = \Sigma X/I$. Now the collapsing map $\Sigma X \to SX$ is closed and I is connected, acyclic, and taut (since it is compact and relatively Hausdorff in ΣX), so the Vietoris mapping theorem 11.7 applies to show that $\tilde{H}^k(SX) \approx \tilde{H}^k(\Sigma X) \approx \tilde{H}^{k-1}(X)$ for all k. Note that this does not hold in this generality for singular theory where one must assume the space to be "well pointed," that is, that the base point is nondegenerate.

13.2. Example. We shall use the Mayer-Vietoris sequence (26) to compute a rather interesting cohomology group. Let $S = \{0, 1, 1/2, 1/3, \ldots\}$ on the x-axis of the plane. Let $K = \{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 | x \in S, -1 \leq y \leq 1\}$,

²⁸Compare Exercise 6.

which is compact. Let $X = K - \{(0,0)\}$, which is locally compact. We wish to compute $H^1(X;\mathbb{Z})$. Let X_1 be the part of X with coordinate $y \ge 0$ and X_2 that with $y \le 0$. Then $X_1 \cap X_2 = \{1, 1/2, 1/3, \ldots\}$ is discrete, and so $H^0(X_1 \cap X_2) \approx \prod_{i=1}^{\infty} \mathbb{Z}$ is uncountable. However, X_1 has $S \times \{1\}$ as a deformation retract and so $H^0(X_1) \approx H^0(S) \approx \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\infty} \mathbb{Z}$ since it is just the locally constant integer-valued functions on S. (This also follows easily from weak continuity, 10.7.) This group is countable. Similarly for X_2 . The Mayer-Vietoris sequence has the segment

$$H^0(X_1) \oplus H^0(X_2) \to H^0(X_1 \cap X_2) \to H^1(X),$$

and it follows that $H^1(X)$ is uncountable.²⁹ Note that by Exercise 40, $H^1(X) \approx [X; \mathbb{S}^1]$, the group of homotopy classes of maps $X \to \mathbb{S}^1$. Thus, there exist an uncountable number of homotopically distinct maps $X \to \mathbb{S}^1$. This might seem quite unintuitive, and the reader is encouraged to construct some such homotopically nontrivial maps. (Note that they cannot extend to all of K, since $[K; \mathbb{S}^1] \approx H^1(K) = 0$ because $K \simeq S$.) \diamondsuit

In the remainder of this section we shall generalize these sequences to more general subspaces. For instance, one may want such a sequence for a pair of subspaces, one of which is open and the other closed. However, this is rare and the rest of this section is rather technical, so we recommend that first-time readers skip to the next section.

The following terminology will be convenient:

13.3. Definition. Let Φ be a family of supports on the space X. A pair (X_1, X_2) of subspaces of X will be said to be " Φ -excisive" if the inclusion $(X_1, X_1 \cap X_2) \hookrightarrow (X_1 \cup X_2, X_2)$ induces an isomorphism

$$H^*_{\Phi\cap(X_1\cup X_2)}(X_1\cup X_2, X_2; \mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^*_{\Phi\cap X_1}(X_1, X_1\cap X_2; \mathscr{A})$$

for every sheaf \mathscr{A} on X.

Proposition 13.4 will show that this property does not depend on the order in which we take X_1 and X_2 .

In order to characterize excisive pairs it will be convenient to work with the resolutions $\mathscr{F}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$ of Section 2. However, the resolutions $\mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$ could be employed in much the same way.

Define

$$M^p(X, X_1, X_2; \mathscr{A}) = M^p(X, X_1; \mathscr{A}) \cap M^p(X, X_2; \mathscr{A}),$$

that is, the set of all $f \in M^p(X; \mathscr{A})$ such that $f(x_0, \ldots, x_p) = 0$ whenever all the x_i are in X_1 or all are in X_2 . Let

$$F^p(X, X_1, X_2; \mathscr{A}) = \psi_p(M^p(X, X_1, X_2; \mathscr{A})).$$

²⁹In V-9.13, another method is given for doing this computation. It shows that any subspace of the plane looking very roughly like this one has similar properties.

We claim that

$$F^p(X, X_1, X_2; \mathscr{A}) = F^p(X, X_1; \mathscr{A}) \cap F^p(X, X_2; \mathscr{A}).$$

In fact, if $\psi_p(g)$ is in the right-hand side, define

$$h(x_0, \ldots, x_p) = \begin{cases} g(x_0, \ldots, x_p), & \text{if all } x_i \in X_1 \text{ or if all } x_i \in X_2, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Then $\psi_p(h) = 0$ and $g - h \in M^p(X, X_1, X_2; \mathscr{A})$, so that

$$\psi_p(g) = \psi_p(g-h) \in F^p(X, X_1, X_2; \mathscr{A})$$

as claimed.

The presheaf $\mathscr{F}^p(X, X_1, X_2; \mathscr{A}) : U \mapsto F^p(U, X_1 \cap U, X_2 \cap U; \mathscr{A})$ is the intersection of the subsheaves $\mathscr{F}^p(X, X_i; \mathscr{A})$ of $\mathscr{F}^p(X; \mathscr{A})$, and hence it is a sheaf. It is obviously flabby since $F^p(U, X_1 \cap U, X_2 \cap U; \mathscr{A})$ is the image under ψ_p of

$$\{f \in M^p(U; \mathscr{A}) \mid f(x_0, \dots, x_p) = 0 \text{ if all } x_i \in X_1 \text{ or all } x_i \in X_2\},\$$

and such an f extends to all of X. Let

$$F^p_{\Phi}(X, X_1, X_2; \mathscr{A}) = \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{F}^p(X, X_1, X_2; \mathscr{A}))$$

and

$$H^p_{\Phi}(X, X_1, X_2; \mathscr{A}) = H^p(F^*_{\Phi}(X, X_1, X_2; \mathscr{A})).$$

Consider the commutative diagram (28), which has exact rows and columns (coefficients in \mathcal{A}):

Taking $X = X_1 \cup X_2$ in (28) we obtain immediately, from the cohomology sequence of the first row, the following criterion for Φ -excisiveness:

13.4. Proposition. (X_1, X_2) is Φ -excisive $\Leftrightarrow H^p_{\Psi}(X_1 \cup X_2, X_1, X_2; \mathscr{A}) = 0$ for all p and all sheaves \mathscr{A} on $X_1 \cup X_2$, where $\Psi = \Phi \cap (X_1 \cup X_2)$. \Box

For general $X \supset X_1 \cup X_2$ we also have the exact sequence

 $F_{\Phi}^*(X, X_1 \cup X_2; \mathscr{A}) \rightarrow F_{\Phi}^*(X, X_1, X_2; \mathscr{A}) \twoheadrightarrow F_{\Phi \cap (X_1 \cup X_2)}^*(X_1 \cup X_2, X_1, X_2; \mathscr{A})$ and it follows that for (X_1, X_2) Φ -excisive, there is a natural isomorphism

$$H^*_{\Phi}(X, X_1 \cup X_2; \mathscr{A}) \approx H^*_{\Phi}(X, X_1, X_2; \mathscr{A}).$$
⁽²⁹⁾

From (28) we derive the exact sequence (coefficients in \mathcal{A})

$$0 \to F_{\Phi}^*(X, X_1, X_2) \to F_{\Phi}^*(X) \xrightarrow{(i_1, i_2)} F_{\Phi \cap X_1}^*(X_1) \oplus F_{\Phi \cap X_2}^*(X_2)$$

$$\xrightarrow{j_1 - j_2} F_{\Phi \cap X_1 \cap X_2}^*(X_1 \cap X_2) \to 0.$$
(30)

For the moment let $G_{\Phi}^*(X_1, X_2) = F_{\Phi}^*(X_1 \cup X_2)/F_{\Phi}^*(X_1 \cup X_2, X_1, X_2)$. Then $H_{\Phi}^*(X_1 \cup X_2; \mathscr{A}) \approx H^*(G_{\Phi}^*(X_1, X_2))$ for (X_1, X_2) Φ -excisive, and from (30) we have the exact sequence

$$G^*_{\Phi}(X_1, X_2) \rightarrowtail F^*_{\Phi \cap X_1}(X_1) \oplus F^*_{\Phi \cap X_2}(X_2) \twoheadrightarrow F^*_{\Phi \cap X_1 \cap X_2}(X_1 \cap X_2).$$
(31)

For (X_1, X_2) Φ -excisive, (31) induces the exact Mayer-Vietoris sequence (26), where $X = X_1 \cup X_2$ and $A = X_1 \cap X_2$.

Now let (A_1, A_2) be a pair of subspaces of X with $A_i \subset X_i$. Let

$$G_{\Phi}^{*}(X_{1}, X_{2}; A_{1}, A_{2}) = \operatorname{Ker}\{G_{\Phi}^{*}(X_{1}, X_{2}) \to G_{\Phi \cap (A_{1} \cup A_{2})}^{*}(A_{1}, A_{2})\}.$$

Then for (X_1, X_2) and (A_1, A_2) both Φ -excisive, we have

$$H^*_{\Phi}(X_1 \cup X_2, A_1 \cup A_2; \mathscr{A}) \approx H^*(G^*_{\Phi}(X_1, X_2; A_1, A_2)).$$

Consider the following commutative diagram with exact rows and columns (in which we have omitted the obvious supports):

From this we derive that when (X_1, X_2) and (A_1, A_2) are both Φ -excisive with $A_i \subset X_i$, there is the following exact Mayer-Vietoris sequence (with coefficients in \mathscr{A}):

$$\cdots \to H^p_{\Phi}(X_1 \cup X_2, A_1 \cup A_2) \to H^p_{\Phi \cap X_1}(X_1, A_1) \oplus H^p_{\Phi \cap X_2}(X_2, A_2)$$
$$\to H^p_{\Phi \cap X_1 \cap X_2}(X_1 \cap X_2, A_1 \cap A_2) \to \cdots$$
(32)

This exact sequence generalizes both (26) and (27).

In both of the following cases, the pair (X_1, X_2) is Φ -excisive for all Φ :

- (a) $X_1 \cup X_2 = int(X_1) \cup int(X_2)$, interiors relative to $X_1 \cup X_2$, by 12.9.
- (b) X_1 and X_2 both closed in $X_1 \cup X_2$, by 12.8.³⁰

In particular, (32) is always valid when the X_i and A_i are all closed. Consequently, (27) is valid by 12.10 whenever the closed sets $X-U_1$, $X-U_2$, and X-U are all Φ -taut (and $X = U_1 \cup U_2$).

The following result gives another sufficient condition for Φ -excisiveness:

13.5. Proposition. Let $X = X_1 \cup X_2$ and $A = X_1 \cap X_2$. If Φ is a family of supports on X with

$$(\Phi \cap X_1)|(X_1 - A) = \Phi|(X - X_2) \subset \Phi|\operatorname{int}(X_1)$$

and such that X_2 is Φ -taut in X and A is $(\Phi \cap A)$ -taut in X_1 , then (X_1, X_2) is Φ -excisive.

Proof. Since $\mathscr{C}^*(X, X_1; \mathscr{A})$ vanishes on $int(X_1)$ and since

$$\Phi|X - X_2 \subset \Phi| \operatorname{int}(X_1),$$

we have that

$$H^*_{\Phi|X-X_2}(X, X_1; \mathscr{A}) = 0.$$

By 12.1 it follows that X_1 is $(\Phi|X-X_2)$ -taut. Let \mathscr{A}^* be a flabby resolution of \mathscr{A} on X. Since $(\Phi|X-X_2) = (\Phi|X-X_2) \cap X_1$, the restriction

$$f:\Gamma_{\Phi|X-X_2}(\mathscr{A}^*)\to\Gamma_{\Phi|X-X_2}(\mathscr{A}^*|X_1)$$

is surjective. Its kernel is $\Gamma_{(\Phi|X-X_2)|X-X_1}(\mathscr{A}^*) = 0$. Since X_1 is $(\Phi|X-X_2)$ -taut and $\Phi|X-X_2 = (\Phi \cap X_1)|X_1 - A$, f induces an isomorphism

$$f^*: H^*_{\Phi|X-X_2}(X; \mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^*_{(\Phi \cap X_1)|X_1-A}(X_1; \mathscr{A}|X_1),$$

which by tautness and 12.1 can be canonically identified with

$$H^*_{\Phi}(X, X_2; \mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^*_{\Phi \cap X_1}(X_1, A; \mathscr{A}),$$

as was to be shown.

13.6. Corollary. If $X = X_1 \cup int(X_2) = int(X_1) \cup X_2$ and if X_1, X_2 , and $X_1 \cap X_2$ are all Φ -taut in X, then (X_1, X_2) is Φ -excisive.

 $^{^{30}\}mathrm{This}$ contrasts with singular theory, where such a weak condition falls far short of sufficing.

Proof. This follows easily from 12.14 and 13.5.

We note that with the hypotheses of 13.6, the Mayer-Vietoris sequence (26) can be derived directly as the cohomology sequence of the short exact sequence

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*) \xrightarrow{(r_1, r_2)} \Gamma_{\Phi \cap X_1}(\mathscr{A}^* | X_1) \oplus \Gamma_{\Phi \cap X_2}(\mathscr{A}^* | X_2) \xrightarrow{j_1 - j_2} \Gamma_{\Phi \cap A}(\mathscr{A}^* | A) \to 0$$

where \mathscr{A}^* is a flabby resolution of \mathscr{A} .

13.7. Let A and B be subspaces of X and let \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} be sheaves on X. The cup product on $M^*(X; \bullet)$ defined in Section 7 clearly induces a product

$$M^p(X,A;\mathscr{A})\otimes M^q(X,B;\mathscr{B})\to M^{p+q}(X,A,B;\mathscr{A}\otimes\mathscr{B})$$

and hence also

$$\mathcal{F}^{p}(X,A;\mathscr{A})\otimes\mathcal{F}^{q}(X,B;\mathscr{B})\to\mathcal{F}^{p+q}(X,A,B;\mathscr{A}\otimes\mathscr{B}),$$
$$F^{p}_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A})\otimes F^{q}_{\Psi}(X,B;\mathscr{B})\to F^{p+q}_{\Phi\cap\Psi}(X,A,B;\mathscr{A}\otimes\mathscr{B}),$$

and

$$H^p_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \otimes H^q_{\Psi}(X,B;\mathscr{B}) \to H^{p+q}_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(X,A,B;\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}).$$

Thus, by (29), when (A, B) is $(\Phi \cap \Psi)$ -excisive, we obtain the cup product

$$\cup: H^{p}_{\Phi}(X, A; \mathscr{A}) \otimes H^{q}_{\Psi}(X, B; \mathscr{B}) \to H^{p+q}_{\Phi \times \Psi}(X, A \cup B; \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}).$$
(33)

Also see Exercises 19 and 20 at the end of the chapter.

If $A \subset X$ and $B \subset Y$ and if Φ and Ψ are families of supports on X and Y, respectively, such that $(X \times B, A \times Y)$ is $(\Phi \times \Psi)$ -excisive, then the cup product (33) induces the cross product³¹

$$\times : H^p_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \otimes H^q_{\Psi}(X,B;\mathscr{B}) \to H^{p+q}_{\Phi \times \Psi}((X,A) \times (Y,B);\mathscr{A}\widehat{\otimes}\mathscr{B}),$$

by $\alpha \times \beta = \pi_X^*(\alpha) \cup \pi_Y^*(\beta)$, π_X and π_Y being the projections $(X \times Y, A \times B) \to (X, A)$ and $(X \times Y, A \times B) \to (Y, B)$ respectively. In particular, the cross product is defined when either A or B is empty or when A and B are both closed or both open.

14 Continuity

Let $D = \{\lambda, \mu, \ldots\}$ be a *directed* set. Let $\{X_{\lambda}; f_{\lambda,\mu}\}$ be an inverse system of spaces based on D (that is, $f_{\lambda,\mu}: X_{\mu} \to X_{\lambda}$ is defined for $\mu > \lambda$ and satisfies $f_{\lambda,\mu} \circ f_{\mu,\nu} = f_{\lambda,\nu}$), and let $X = \varprojlim X_{\lambda}$. For each $\lambda \in D$ let \mathscr{A}_{λ} be a sheaf

³¹Where $(\overline{X, A}) \times (Y, B)$ denotes the pair $(X \times Y, X \times B \cup A \times Y)$.

on X_{λ} , and for $\mu > \lambda$ assume that we are given an $f_{\lambda,\mu}$ -cohomomorphism $k_{\lambda,\mu} : \mathscr{A}_{\mu} \rightsquigarrow \mathscr{A}_{\lambda}$ such that for $\nu > \mu > \lambda$, $k_{\nu,\mu} \circ k_{\mu,\lambda} = k_{\nu,\lambda}$. (That is, $\{\mathscr{A}_{\lambda}; k_{\mu,\lambda}\}$ is a *direct* system of sheaves and cohomomorphisms.)

Let $f_{\lambda}: X \to X_{\lambda}$ be the canonical projection. Note that $k_{\mu,\lambda}$ induces a homomorphism

$$h_{\mu,\lambda}: f_{\lambda}^* \mathscr{A}_{\lambda} \to f_{\mu}^* \mathscr{A}_{\mu}$$

(regard $f_{\lambda}^* \mathscr{A}_{\lambda}$ as $f_{\mu}^* f_{\lambda,\mu}^* \mathscr{A}$) with $h_{\nu,\mu} \circ h_{\mu,\lambda} = h_{\nu,\lambda}$. Let $\mathscr{A} = \lim f_{\lambda}^* \mathscr{A}_{\lambda}$.

14.1. We have, for $x \in X$, the natural commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathscr{A}_{\lambda}(X_{\lambda}) & \longrightarrow & (f_{\lambda}^{*}\mathscr{A}_{\lambda})(X) & \longrightarrow & \mathscr{A}(X) \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ (\mathscr{A}_{\lambda})_{f_{\lambda}(x)} & \xrightarrow{\approx} & (f_{\lambda}^{*}\mathscr{A}_{\lambda})_{x} & \longrightarrow & \mathscr{A}_{x}. \end{array}$$

The horizontal map on the lower right becomes an isomorphism upon passage to the limit over λ (since $\mathscr{A} = \lim f_{\lambda}^* \mathscr{A}_{\lambda}$). Thus we obtain the commutative diagram

$$\varinjlim_{\lambda}(X_{\lambda}) \xrightarrow{\theta} \mathscr{A}(X) \downarrow \qquad \downarrow \\ \varinjlim_{\lambda}(\mathscr{A}_{\lambda})_{f_{\lambda}(x)} \xrightarrow{\theta_{x}} \mathscr{A}_{x}.$$

Note that for suitable supports, $H^*(X_{\lambda}; \mathscr{A}_{\lambda})$ forms (via $k^*_{\mu,\lambda}$) a direct system of groups and that there are compatible maps $H^*(X_{\lambda}; \mathscr{A}_{\lambda}) \to H^*(X; f^*_{\lambda} \mathscr{A}_{\lambda}) \to H^*(X; \mathscr{A})$, so that θ generalizes to a map

$$\overline{\theta: \lim_{\lambda \to \infty} H^*(X_{\lambda}; \mathscr{A}_{\lambda}) \to H^*(X; \mathscr{A})}.$$

14.2. Lemma. If each X_{λ} (and hence X) is compact Hausdorff, then the canonical map

 $\theta: \varinjlim \mathscr{A}_{\lambda}(X_{\lambda}) \to \mathscr{A}(X)$

is an isomorphism.

Proof. First, we show that θ is one-to-one. Let $s_{\lambda} \in \mathscr{A}_{\lambda}(X_{\lambda})$ and for $\mu > \lambda$, let $s_{\mu} = k_{\mu,\lambda}(s_{\lambda}) \in \mathscr{A}_{\mu}(X_{\mu})$. Let $s \in \underline{\lim}(\mathscr{A}_{\lambda}(X_{\lambda}))$ be the element defined by s_{λ} and assume that $\theta(s) = 0$.

Now, $\theta(s)(x) = \theta_x(\lim_{\to} s_\mu(f_\mu(x)))$ by 14.1. Thus, for each $x \in X$ there is an element $\mu > \lambda$ of D such that $s_\mu(f_\mu(x)) = 0$. But then $s_\mu(f_\mu(y)) = 0$ for all y sufficiently close to x, because a section of a sheaf meets the zero section in an open set. By the compactness of X and the directedness property of D, there is a $\mu > \lambda$ such that $s_\mu(f_\mu(x)) = 0$ for all $x \in X$. Thus s_μ vanishes in a neighborhood N of $f_\mu(X) \subset X_\mu$. Since the X_ν are compact, there is a $\nu > \mu$ such that $f_{\mu,\nu}(X_\nu) \subset N$ (this follows from the fact that the inverse limit of nonempty compact sets is nonempty), and it follows that $s_\nu = k_{\nu,\mu}(s_\mu) = 0$ on all of X_ν . Thus θ is injective. We now show that θ is onto. Let $s \in \mathscr{A}(X)$. For each $x \in X$, there is a $\lambda = \lambda(x) \in D$ and an element of $(\mathscr{A}_{\lambda})_{f_{\lambda}(x)}$ mapping onto s(x) by 14.1. Let $U_{\lambda} \subset X_{\lambda}$ be a neighborhood of $f_{\lambda}(x)$ and let $s_{\lambda} \in \mathscr{A}_{\lambda}(U_{\lambda})$ be such that $s_{\lambda}(f_{\lambda}(x))$ maps to s(x). Then, using k_{λ} to also denote the map $\mathscr{A}_{\lambda}(U_{\lambda}) \to \mathscr{A}(f_{\lambda}^{-1}(U_{\lambda})), k_{\lambda}(s_{\lambda})$ coincides with s in some neighborhood of x. We may assume that $k_{\lambda}(s_{\lambda}) = s|f_{\lambda}^{-1}(U_{\lambda})$, since sets of the form $f_{\mu}^{-1}(U_{\mu}), \mu$ varying, form a neighborhood basis in X.

Now, since X is compact, there are a finite number of such $f_{\lambda}^{-1}(U_{\lambda})$ that cover X, and by the directedness property of D, we may assume that for some fixed λ , there are a finite number of open subsets U_1, \ldots, U_n of X_{λ} and elements $s_i \in \mathscr{A}_{\lambda}(U_i)$ such that

$$k_{\lambda}(s_i) = s | f_{\lambda}^{-1}(U_i) \quad \text{for } i = 1, \dots, n,$$

and such that the $f_{\lambda}^{-1}(U_i)$ cover X. Passing to a larger λ , it may even be assumed that the U_i cover X_{λ} .

Let $\{V_i \mid i = 1, ..., n\}$ be an open covering of X_{λ} such that $\overline{V}_i \subset U_i$. Then, for each pair (i, j), k_{λ} maps $s_i |\overline{V}_{i,j} - s_j| |\overline{V}_{i,j}|$ to zero, where $V_{i,j} = V_i \cap V_j$. Now $f_{\lambda}^{-1}(\overline{V}_{i,j}) = \varprojlim f_{\lambda,\mu}^{-1}(\overline{V}_{i,j})$ (over $\mu > \lambda$), and similarly for the restrictions of the sheaves to these sets, so that the fact that θ is a monomorphism implies that there is a $\mu = \mu(i, j) > \lambda$ such that $k_{\mu,\lambda}(s_i | \overline{V}_{i,j}) = k_{\mu,\lambda}(s_j | \overline{V}_{i,j})$. We may assume that μ is independent of (i, j), and replacing λ by μ , we see that we can assume that s_i and s_j coincide on $V_i \cap V_j$ for all i, j. Thus there is an $s_{\lambda} \in \mathscr{A}_{\lambda}(X_{\lambda})$ (λ large) restricting on V_i to s_i . Hence $k_{\lambda}s_{\lambda} = s$ and the lemma follows, since θ is induced by the k_{λ} .

14.3. Corollary. If each X_{λ} is compact Hausdorff and each \mathcal{A}_{λ} is soft, then \mathcal{A} is soft.³²

Proof. For any closed set $F \subset X$, $F = \underline{\lim}(f_{\lambda}F)$, so that by 14.2, $\mathscr{A}(F) = \underline{\lim} \mathscr{A}_{\lambda}(f_{\lambda}F)$, and the result follows immediately.

14.4. Theorem. (Continuity.) If each X_{λ} is locally compact Hausdorff and each $f_{\lambda,\mu}$ is proper, then the homomorphism

$$heta: \varinjlim H^*_c(X_\lambda; \mathscr{A}_\lambda) o H^*_c(X; \mathscr{A})$$

is an isomorphism.

Proof. Embed each X_{λ} , and hence X, in its one-point compactification X_{λ}^+ and extend each \mathscr{A}_{λ} by zero to a sheaf on X_{λ}^+ . This does not alter the cohomology with *compact* supports because $H_c^*(X;\mathscr{A}) \approx H^*(X^+;\mathscr{A}^{X^+})$ by 10.1. Therefore it suffices to treat the case in which each X_{λ} is compact.

³²Also see 16.30 and Exercise 29.

Now let $\mathscr{L}^*_{\lambda} = \mathscr{C}^*(X_{\lambda}; \mathscr{A}_{\lambda})$. The cohomomorphism $k_{\mu,\lambda} : \mathscr{A}_{\lambda} \rightsquigarrow \mathscr{A}_{\mu}$ induces a cohomomorphism

$$k^*_{\mu,\lambda}: \mathscr{L}^*_\lambda \rightsquigarrow \mathscr{L}^*_\mu.$$

Note that $f_{\lambda}^* \mathscr{L}_{\lambda}^*$ is a resolution of $f_{\lambda}^* \mathscr{A}_{\lambda}$ since f_{λ}^* is an exact functor. Thus, $\mathscr{L}^* =_{def} \lim_{\lambda} f_{\lambda}^* \mathscr{L}_{\lambda}^*$ is a resolution of $\lim_{\lambda} f_{\lambda}^* \mathscr{A}_{\lambda} = \mathscr{A}$. By 14.3, \mathscr{L}^* is soft.

The cohomomorphism $k_{\lambda}^*: \mathscr{L}_{\lambda}^* = \mathscr{C}^*(X_{\lambda}; \mathscr{A}_{\lambda}) \rightsquigarrow \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{A}^*$ admits the factorization

$$\mathscr{L}^*_{\lambda} \rightsquigarrow f^*_{\lambda} \mathscr{L}^*_{\lambda} \to \mathscr{A}^*$$

inducing

$$H^*(X_{\lambda};\mathscr{A}_{\lambda}) = H^*(\mathscr{L}^*_{\lambda}(X_{\lambda})) \to H^*(f^*_{\lambda}\mathscr{L}^*_{\lambda}(X)) \to H^*(\mathscr{A}^*(X)) = H^*(X;\mathscr{A}),$$

which induces θ upon passage to the limit. However,

$$\underline{\lim} H^*(\mathscr{L}^*_{\lambda}(X_{\lambda})) = H^*(\underline{\lim} \mathscr{L}^*_{\lambda}(X_{\lambda})) = H^*(\mathscr{L}^*(X))$$

by 14.2, and the homomorphism $\mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{A}^*$ of resolutions induces an isomorphism $H^*(\mathscr{L}^*(X)) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^*(\mathscr{A}^*(X))$ by 4.2, since \mathscr{L}^* is soft. \Box

There are two special cases of 14.4 of individual importance. First, when each $X_{\lambda} = X$, we obtain:

14.5. Corollary. Let $\{\mathcal{A}_{\lambda}\}$ be a direct system of sheaves on a locally compact Hausdorff space X and let $\mathcal{A} = \lim_{\lambda \to \infty} \mathcal{A}_{\lambda}$. Then the canonical map

 $\theta: \varinjlim H^*_c(X; \mathscr{A}_\lambda) \to H^*_c(X; \mathscr{A})$

is an isomorphism.³³

Second, if each \mathscr{A}_{λ} is the constant sheaf G, we obtain:

14.6. Corollary. Let $\{X_{\lambda}\}$ be an inverse system of locally compact Hausdorff spaces and proper maps, and let $X = \lim_{\lambda \to \infty} X_{\lambda}$. Then for constant coefficients in G, the canonical map

$$\theta: \lim H^*_c(X_\lambda; G) \to H^*_c(X; G)$$

is an isomorphism.

14.7. Example. For each integer n > 0 let $X_n = \mathbb{S}^1$ and let $\pi_n : X_{n+1} \to X_n$ be the covering map of degree p. Then the space $\Sigma_p = \lim X_n$ is called the "*p*-adic solenoid." By 14.6 we see that $H^1(\Sigma_p; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Q}_p$, the group of rational numbers with denominators a power of p.

³³Contrast Exercise 4.

If instead, we take π_n to be of degree *n*, then the solenoid $\Sigma = \lim X_n$ has $H^1(\Sigma; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Q}$.

14.8. Example. Let Y_n be the union of the unit circle $C = S^1$ with the line segment $I = [-1, 1] \times \{0\}$. Let $\pi_n : Y_{n+1} \to Y_n$ be the covering map of degree 3 on $X_{n+1} = C$ together with the identity on I. Put $Y = \varprojlim Y_n$, which is compact and contains the compact subspace $X = \Sigma_3$. Also let $a, b \in Y$ be the points corresponding to the end points of the interval I. Then Y is just the mapping cone of the inclusion $\{a, b\} \hookrightarrow X$. In simplicial homology with integer coefficients take the basis of $H^1(Y_n)$ represented by the counterclockwise cycle in C and the cycle given by I in the direction from 1 to -1 followed by the counterclockwise lower semicircle in C. Take the Kronecker dual basis $\{\alpha_n, \beta_n\}$ in $H^1(Y_n)$. Let $g_n : Y_n \to C$ be the projection collapsing X_n to a point and let $\gamma \in H^1(C)$ be the class dual to the counterclockwise circle. Then one can compute that

$$\begin{array}{lll} \pi_n^*(\alpha_n) \ = \ 3\alpha_{n+1} \ + \ \beta_{n+1} \\ \pi_n^*(\beta_n) \ = & \beta_{n+1} \\ g_n^*(\gamma) \ = \ \beta_n. \end{array}$$

It follows from continuity that in terms of generators and relations,

$$H^1(Y) \approx \{\beta, \alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots \mid \alpha_n = 3\alpha_{n+1} + \beta\}.$$

The map $g: Y \to Y/X \approx C$ induces $g^*(\gamma) = \beta$. Since $H^2(Y,X) \approx H^2_c(Y-X) \approx H^2(I,\partial I) = 0$ and $\tilde{H}^0(X) = 0$, there is the exact sequence

$$0 \to H^1(Y, X) \to H^1(Y) \to H^1(X) \to 0,$$

which has the form

$$0 \to \mathbb{Z} \to H^1(Y) \to \mathbb{Q}_3 \to 0.$$

We claim that this does not split. Indeed, a splitting map $f: H^1(Y) \to \mathbb{Z}$ would have the form

$$\begin{array}{l}f(\alpha_n) \ = \ s_n,\\f(\beta) \ = \ 1,\end{array}$$

for some integers s_n , and the relations imply that

$$s_n = 3s_{n+1} + 1.$$

It is easy to see that no such sequence of integers can exist.

For a space K consider the Mayer-Vietoris sequence (26) of the pair $(K \times X, K \times I)$ of closed subspaces of $K \times Y$. Let $j: K \times X \hookrightarrow K \times Y$ be the inclusion. Identifying the cohomology of $K \times I$ with that of K and that of $K \times \{a, b\}$ with the direct sum of two copies of that of K, this sequence has a segment of the form

$$H^{1}(K \times Y) \to H^{1}(K \times X) \oplus H^{1}(K) \xrightarrow{\varphi} H^{1}(K) \otimes H^{1}(K),$$

and the homomorphism φ is given by

$$\varphi\langle s,t\rangle = \langle i_a^*(s) + t, -i_b^*(s) - t\rangle,$$

where $i_x: K \to K \times X$ is the inclusion $i_x(k) = \langle k, x \rangle$. We wish to ask, as in 11.9, whether $i_a^* = i_b^*$. If this is the case, then for any $s \in H^1(K \times X)$ there is a $t \in H^1(K)$, namely $t = -i_a^*(s) = -i_b^*(s)$, such that $\varphi(s, t) = 0$. This implies that $s \in \text{Im}(j^*: H^1(K \times Y) \to H^1(K \times X))$. Thus the condition $i_a^* = i_b^*$ implies that j^* is surjective. By Exercise 40 this is equivalent to $j^{\#}: [K \times Y; C] \to [K \times X; C]$ being onto. By the exponential law in homotopy theory this implies that $\hat{j}: [K; C^Y] \to [K; C^X]$ is onto. Now take $K = C^X$, which is metrizable and hence paracompact. If \hat{j} is onto, then there is a map $\lambda: C^X \to C^Y$ such that the composition $C^X \to C^Y \to C^X$ is homotopic to the identity. Then $\lambda_{\#}: [X; C] \to [Y; C]$ splits the surjection $H^1(Y) \approx [Y; C] \to [X; C] \approx H^1(X)$. We have seen that such a splitting does not exist in the present example, and so we conclude that for $K = C^X$ where $X = \Sigma_3$, the epimorphisms $i_x^*: H^1(K \times X) \twoheadrightarrow H^1(K)$ are not independent of $x \in X$.

14.9. Example. Consider Example I-2.7, and retain the notation used there. The sheaves \mathscr{L}_n there form a direct system, of which an increasing union is a special case, with direct limit \mathscr{L} . We wish to illustrate 14.5 by calculating the cohomology of X with coefficients in \mathscr{L} . Note that $\mathscr{L}_n/\mathscr{L}_{n-1} \approx \mathbb{Z}_{A_n}$ for n > 1, and $\mathscr{L}_1 \approx \mathbb{Z}_{U_1}$. Thus, for n > 1,

$$\begin{split} H^p(X;\mathscr{L}_n/\mathscr{L}_{n-1}) &\approx H^p(X;\mathbb{Z}_{A_n}) \\ &\approx H^p_{cld|A_n}(A_n;\mathbb{Z}) & \text{by 10.2} \\ &\approx H^p_c(A_n;\mathbb{Z}) & \text{since } cld|A_n = c \\ &\approx H^p_c(\mathbb{S}^{n-1}\times(0,1];\mathbb{Z}) & \text{homeomorphism} \\ &\approx H^p(\mathbb{S}^{n-1}\times([0,1],\{0\});\mathbb{Z}) & \text{by 12.3} \\ &\approx 0 & \text{by 11.12.} \end{split}$$

By the exact cohomology sequence of the coefficient sequence $0 \to \mathscr{L}_n \to \mathscr{L}_{n+1} \to \mathscr{L}_{n+1}/\mathscr{L}_n \to 0$, we conclude that $H^p(X;\mathscr{L}_n) \to H^p(X;\mathscr{L}_{n+1})$ is an isomorphism. By 14.5 we get $H^p(X;\mathscr{L}) \approx H^p(X;\mathscr{L}_1) \approx H^p(X;\mathbb{Z}_{U_1}) \approx H^p(U_1;\mathbb{Z}) \approx H^p(\mathbb{D}^n, \mathbb{S}^{n-1};\mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}$ for p = n and is 0 otherwise. \diamondsuit

14.10. Example. The direct system $\mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{2} \mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{3} \mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{4} \cdots$ has limit \mathbb{Q} , and since tensor products and direct limits commute, tensoring this with a group A gives that the limit of $A \xrightarrow{2} A \xrightarrow{3} A \xrightarrow{4} \cdots$ is $A \otimes \mathbb{Q}$. Thus if X is compact Hausdorff then

 $H^p(X;\mathbb{Q}) \approx H^p(X; \lim \mathbb{Z}) \approx \lim H^p(X; \mathbb{Z}) \approx H^p(X; \mathbb{Z}) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$

by 14.5. This does not generally hold for a noncompact space. For example, if X_n is the mapping cone of the covering map $\mathbb{S}^1 \to \mathbb{S}^1$ of degree n, and $X = +X_n$, then $H^2(X; \mathbb{Q}) = \prod H^2(X_n; \mathbb{Q}) = 0$ while $H^2(X; \mathbb{Z}) \otimes \mathbb{Q} \approx$

 $(\prod \mathbb{Z}_n) \otimes \mathbb{Q} \neq 0$, since $\prod \mathbb{Z}_n$ is not all torsion. Thus the displayed formula, which will be generalized in Section 15, represents a limitation on which groups can appear as cohomology groups of compact spaces. \diamond

Continuity does not extend to more general support families, as is shown by Exercise 4. However, somewhat restricted continuity type results can be shown in more generality, as we shall now see.

14.11. Definition. A sheaf \mathscr{S} on X is said to be concentrated on a subspace $A \subset X$ if $\mathscr{S}|X - A = 0$.

14.12. Lemma. If \mathscr{S} is a sheaf on X that is concentrated on $A \subset X$ and if \mathscr{T} is a torsion free sheaf on X, then the canonical map

 $\theta: \lim \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{S}' \otimes \mathscr{T}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{S} \otimes \mathscr{T}),$

where \mathscr{S}' ranges over the subsheaves of \mathscr{S} concentrated on members of $\Phi|A$, is an isomorphism for any paracompactifying family Φ of supports on X.

Proof. Each $\mathscr{G}' \otimes \mathscr{T} \to \mathscr{G} \otimes \mathscr{T}$ is monomorphic since \mathscr{T} is torsion free. Thus each $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{G}' \otimes \mathscr{T}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{G} \otimes \mathscr{T})$ is monomorphic, so that θ is monomorphic since $\lim_{t \to \infty}$ is exact.

Let $s \in \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{S} \otimes \mathscr{F})$. Then |s| has a neighborhood $K \in \Phi$. For $x \in |s|$ there is a neighborhood $U \subset K$ of x such that $s|U = \sum s_{\alpha,U} \otimes t_{\alpha,U}$ for some $s_{\alpha,U} \in \mathscr{S}(U)$ and $t_{\alpha,U} \in \mathscr{F}(U)$. Since K is paracompact, we can cover |s|by a locally finite family $\{U\}$ of such sets U. By passing to a shrinking of this covering, we can assume that $\{\overline{U}\}$ is locally finite, and that the $s_{\alpha,U}$ extend to some $\bar{s}_{\alpha,U} \in \Gamma(\mathscr{S}|\overline{U})$. Let $B = \bigcup |\bar{s}_{\alpha,U}| \subset K \cap A$. The set B is closed since the collection $\{\overline{U}\}$ is locally finite, and so $B \in \Phi$ since $K \in \Phi$. The sections $s_{\alpha,U}$ generate a subsheaf \mathscr{S}' of \mathscr{S} that is concentrated on $B \in \Phi|A$, and clearly $s \in \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{S}' \otimes \mathscr{F})$.

14.13. Theorem. If \mathscr{S} is a sheaf on X that is concentrated on $A \subset X$ and if Φ is a paracompactifying family of supports on X, then the canonical map

$$\lim H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{S}') \to H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{S})$$

is an isomorphism, where \mathscr{S}' ranges over the subsheaves of \mathscr{S} that are concentrated on members of $\Phi|A$.

Proof. Let \mathscr{T}^* be a torsion-free Φ -fine resolution of \mathbb{Z} , such as the canonical resolution. Then by 9.19 and 14.12, we have that

$$\begin{split} H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{S}) &\approx H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{S}\otimes\mathscr{T}^*)) \approx H^p(\varinjlim \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{S}'\otimes\mathscr{T}^*)) \\ &\approx \varinjlim H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{S}'\otimes\mathscr{T}^*)) \approx \varinjlim H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{S}'), \end{split}$$

which is obviously induced by the inclusions $\mathscr{G}' \hookrightarrow \mathscr{G}$.

§15. The Künneth and universal coefficient theorems

This result means, intuitively, that when \mathscr{S} is concentrated on a set A, then $H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{S})$ "depends" only on the subsets $B \subset A$ that are *closed* in X, in fact only on those sets $B \in \Phi | A$. Important applications of this will be given in IV-8.

14.14. Example. This example shows that the condition that Φ be paracompactifying in 14.13 is essential. Let X = [0,1], A = (0,1], and $\Phi = cld|\{0\}$. Then $H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathbb{Z}) \approx H^p(X,A;\mathbb{Z}) = 0$, so that the cohomology sequence of $0 \to \mathbb{Z}_{(0,1]} \to \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z}_{\{0\}} \to 0$ shows that $H^1_{\Phi}(X;\mathbb{Z}_{(0,1]}) \approx$ $H^0_{cld|\{0\}}(X;\mathbb{Z}_{\{0\}}) \approx H^0(\{0\};\mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}$. However, for any sheaf \mathscr{L} concentrated on $K \subset A$ with K closed in X, we have $H^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{L}) = 0$ since $\mathscr{C}^*(X;\mathscr{L})$ is also concentrated on K, whence $C^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{L}) = 0$.

14.15. Example. It might be thought that $H^*_{\Phi}(X, A; \mathscr{A}) = 0$ when \mathscr{A} is concentrated on A. This is true for A closed since then $H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) = H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}_A) \approx H^*_{\Phi \cap A}(A; \mathscr{A}|A)$, and the contention follows from the cohomology sequence of (X, A). However, this is far from true when A is not closed. For example, we shall compute $H^2(\mathbb{R}^2, U; \mathbb{Z}_U)$ for the open unit ball U about the origin. We have $H^2(\mathbb{R}^2; \mathbb{Z}_U) \approx H^2_c(U; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}$, as follows from 11.15 or from the Künneth formula in the next section or by noting that this is the same as $H^2(\mathbb{S}^2; \mathbb{Z})$ and using the fact that this is isomorphic to the singular cohomology by 9.23. Also, $H^p(U; \mathbb{Z}_U|U) = H^p(U; \mathbb{Z}) = 0$ for p > 0, since U is contractible. Thus the exact sequence of (\mathbb{R}^2, U) with coefficients in \mathbb{Z}_U shows that $H^2(\mathbb{R}^2, U; \mathbb{Z}_U) \approx \mathbb{Z}$.

However, it is true that $H^p(X; \mathscr{A}) \approx H^p(X, X - A; \mathscr{A})$ when \mathscr{A} is concentrated on A, as follows immediately from the cohomology sequence of the pair (X, X - A).

15 The Künneth and universal coefficient theorems

In this section a principal ideal domain L will be taken as the ground ring. Thus tensor and torsion products are over L throughout the section.

Let X and Y be locally compact Hausdorff spaces. If \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} are sheaves of L-modules on X and Y respectively and if $U \subset X$ and $V \subset Y$ are open, we have the cross product $\mu : \mathscr{A}(U) \otimes \mathscr{B}(V) \to (\mathscr{A} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{B})(U \times V)$, which induces an isomorphism $\mathscr{A}_x \otimes \mathscr{B}_y \xrightarrow{\sim} (\mathscr{A} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{B})_{(x,y)}$ on stalks.

15.1. Proposition. If \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} are c-fine sheaves on the locally compact Hausdorff spaces X and Y respectively, then the canonical map

$$\mu: \Gamma_c(\mathscr{A}) \otimes \Gamma_c(\mathscr{B}) \to \Gamma_c(\mathscr{A} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{B})$$

is an isomorphism.

Proof. If X^+ is the one-point compactification of X and if $\mathscr{A}^+ = \mathscr{A}^{X^+}$, then $\Gamma_c(\mathscr{A}) = \Gamma(\mathscr{A}^+)$. For $i: X \hookrightarrow X^+$, we have $\mathscr{H}om(\mathscr{A}^+, \mathscr{A}^+)(U) =$ $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{A}^+|U, \mathscr{A}^+|U) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{A}|U \cap X, \mathscr{A}|U \cap X) = \operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{A})(U \cap X) =$ $(i\mathscr{H}om(\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{A}))(U)$, whence $\mathscr{H}om(\mathscr{A}^+, \mathscr{A}^+) \approx i\mathscr{H}om(\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{A})$, so that \mathscr{A}^+ is *c*-fine since $i\mathscr{H}om(\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{A})$ is *c*-soft by Exercise 15. (\mathscr{A}' can also be seen to be *c*-fine by direct application of Exercise 12.) It follows that we may assume that X and Y are compact.

We shall first show that $\mu : \mathscr{A}(X) \otimes \mathscr{B}(Y) \to (\mathscr{A} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{B})(X \times Y)$ is onto. Let $s \in (\mathscr{A} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{B})(X \times Y)$. There are finite coverings $\{U_i\}$ of Xand $\{V_j\}$ of Y such that $s|U_i \times V_j = \mu(t_{i,j})$ for some element $t_{i,j} \in \mathscr{A}(U_i) \otimes \mathscr{B}(V_j)$. Let $\{g_i\}$ and $\{h_j\}$ be partitions of unity subordinate to $\{U_i\}$ and $\{V_j\}$ respectively [in Hom $(\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{A})$ and Hom $(\mathscr{B}, \mathscr{B})$ respectively]; see Exercise 13. Then the induced endomorphisms $g_i \widehat{\otimes} h_j \in \text{Hom}(\mathscr{A} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{B}, \mathscr{A} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{B})$ form a partition of unity subordinate to $\{U_i \times V_j\}$. Suppose that for i, j fixed, $t_{i,j} = \sum_k a_k \otimes b_k$, where $a_k \in \mathscr{A}(U_i)$ and $b_k \in \mathscr{B}(V_j)$. Then $(g_i \widehat{\otimes} h_j)(s) = \mu(\sum_k g_i(a_k) \otimes h_j(b_k))$. Now $g_i(a_k)$ vanishes outside some compact subset of U_i , so that it extends by zero to an element of $\mathscr{A}(X)$ and similarly for $h_j(b_k)$. Thus we obtain from $\sum_k g_i(a_k) \otimes h_j(b_k)$ an element $c_{i,j} \in \mathscr{A}(X) \otimes \mathscr{B}(Y)$ with $\mu(c_{i,j}) = (g_i \widehat{\otimes} h_j)(s)$. It follows that $s = \sum_{i,j} (g_i \widehat{\otimes} h_j)(s) = \sum_{i,j} \mu(c_{i,j}) = \mu\left(\sum_{i,j} c_{i,j}\right)$, so that μ is onto.

Similarly, if $c = \sum_k (a_k \otimes b_k)$ is an element of $\mathscr{A}(X) \otimes \mathscr{B}(Y)$ with $\mu(c) = 0$, then there are finite coverings $\{U_i\}$ of X and $\{V_j\}$ of Y such that $\sum_k (a_k|U_i) \otimes (b_k|V_j) = 0$ in $\mathscr{A}(U_i) \otimes \mathscr{B}(V_j)$. Again, let $\{g_i\}$ and $\{h_j\}$ be partitions of unity subordinate to these coverings. Then, since application of g_i followed by extension by zero defines a homomorphism $\mathscr{A}(U_i) \to \mathscr{A}(X)$, it follows that $\sum_k g_i(a_k) \otimes h_j(b_k) = 0$ for all i, j. Thus

$$c = \sum_{k} \left(\sum_{i} g_{i}(a_{k}) \right) \otimes \left(\sum_{j} h_{j}(b_{k}) \right) = \sum_{i,j} \sum_{k} g_{i}(a_{k}) \otimes h_{j}(b_{k}) = 0.$$

15.2. Theorem. (Künneth.) If X and Y are locally compact Hausdorff spaces and if \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are sheaves on X and Y respectively with $\mathcal{A} \ast \mathcal{B} = 0$, then there is a natural exact sequence (over the principal ideal domain L as base ring)

$$\bigoplus_{p+q=n} H^p_c(X;\mathscr{A}) \otimes H^q_c(Y;\mathscr{B}) \rightarrowtail H^n_c(X \times Y;\mathscr{A} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{B}) \twoheadrightarrow \bigoplus_{p+q=n+1} H^p_c(X;\mathscr{A}) * H^q_c(Y;\mathscr{B})$$

that splits nonnaturally.

Proof. Let $\mathscr{A}^* = \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$ and $\mathscr{B}^* = \mathscr{C}^*(Y; \mathscr{B})$. The differential sheaf $\mathscr{A}^* \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{B}^*$ is c-fine by Exercise 14. It is also a resolution of $\mathscr{A} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{B}$, since \mathscr{A}^* and \mathscr{B}^* are pointwise homotopically trivial. (This also follows from the algebraic Künneth formula for differential sheaves; see Exercise 42.) Thus we have

$$H^*_c(X \times Y; \mathscr{A}\widehat{\otimes}\mathscr{B}) \approx H^*(\Gamma_c(\mathscr{A}^*\widehat{\otimes}\mathscr{B}^*)) \approx H^*(\Gamma_c(\mathscr{A}^*) \otimes \Gamma_c(\mathscr{B}^*)).$$
(34)

Since $\Gamma_c(\mathscr{A}^*) * \Gamma_c(\mathscr{B}^*) = 0$ by Exercise 36, the algebraic Künneth formula (which we assume to be known; see [54] or [75]), when applied to the right-hand side of (34), yields the result.

15.3. Theorem. (Universal Coefficient Theorem.) Let X be a locally compact Hausdorff space. Let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X and let M be an L-module such that $\mathscr{A} * M = 0$. Then there is a natural exact sequence (over the principal ideal domain L as base ring)

 $0 \to H^n_c(X; \mathscr{A}) \otimes M \to H^n_c(X; \mathscr{A} \otimes M) \to H^{n+1}_c(X; \mathscr{A}) * M \to 0$

which splits (naturally in M but not in X).

Proof. With the notation of the proof of 15.2, this follows from the algebraic universal coefficient theorem applied to the formula

$$H^*_c(X; \mathscr{A} \otimes M) \approx H^*(\Gamma_c(\mathscr{A}^* \otimes M)) \approx H^*(\Gamma_c(\mathscr{A}^*) \otimes M),$$

by 15.1 applied to the case in which Y is a point. [Except for the naturality in M of the splitting, this also follows directly from 15.2 by taking Y to be a point and $\mathscr{B} = M$ to be an L-module.]

In general these results do not extend to more general spaces. For example, if X is the topological sum of the lens spaces L(p, 1), p ranging over all primes, then $H^2(X; \mathbb{Q}) \approx \prod_p H^2(L(p, 1); \mathbb{Q}) \approx \prod_p (\mathbb{Z}_p \otimes \mathbb{Q}) = 0$, while $H^2(X; \mathbb{Z}) \otimes \mathbb{Q} \approx (\prod_p \mathbb{Z}_p) \otimes \mathbb{Q} \neq 0$ since $\prod_p \mathbb{Z}_p$ is not all torsion. However, the following gives one case of the universal coefficient theorem that is valid for general spaces.

15.4. Theorem. Let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf of L-modules (L being a principal ideal domain) on the arbitrary space X and let M be a finitely generated L-module with $\mathscr{A} * M = 0$. Then for any family Φ of supports on X, there is a natural exact sequence

$$0 \to H^n_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \otimes M \to H^n_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A} \otimes M) \to H^{n+1}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) * M \to 0$$

which splits (naturally in M but not in X).

Proof. By 5.14, $H^n_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A} \otimes M) \approx H^n(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})) \otimes M)$, so that the result follows from the algebraic universal coefficient theorem applied to the complex $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})) \otimes M$.

See IV-7.6, IV-Exercise 18, and V-Exercise 25 for further results of the Künneth type on cohomology. Chapter V contains analogous results on homology.

The following result is an immediate corollary of 15.2:

15.5. Proposition. If \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} are sheaves on the locally compact Hausdorff spaces X and Y respectively, then over a principal ideal domain as base ring, the canonical map $\mu : \Gamma_c(\mathscr{A}) \otimes \Gamma_c(\mathscr{B}) \to \Gamma_c(\mathscr{A} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{B})$ is an isomorphism in any of the following three cases:

- (a) \mathcal{A} arbitrary, \mathcal{B} torsion free and c-acyclic.
- (b) \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} both torsion free.
- (c) $\mathscr{A} \ast \mathscr{B} = 0$ and \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} both c-acyclic.

15.6. Example. $H_c^p(\mathbb{R}; L) \approx H_c^p((0, 1); L) \approx L$ for p = 1 and is zero otherwise, as follows from the cohomology sequence of $([0, 1], \{0, 1\})$. By 15.2 we deduce that

$$H^p_c(\mathbb{R}^n;L) \approx \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} L, & p=n,\\ 0, & p\neq n. \end{array} \right.$$

From the cohomology sequence of (\mathbb{S}^n, \star) we also have that

$$H^{p}(\mathbb{S}^{n};L) \approx \begin{cases} L, & p = 0, n, \\ 0, & p \neq 0, n. \end{cases}$$

16 Dimension

In this section we study the notion of cohomological dimension, which has a close relationship with the classical dimension theory of spaces.

The case of locally compact spaces is of the most importance to us, and the proofs for it are often much simpler than for more general results. Thus we shall redundantly state and prove some results in the locally compact case even though more general results are given later in the section.

Also, although we shall occasionally comment upon known items from classical dimension theory, our formally stated results, with minor exceptions, are based solely upon the theory developed in this book. This makes the present discussion, as well as its continuation in Section 8 of Chapter IV, essentially self-contained.

16.1. Proposition. For a paracompactifying family Φ and a sheaf \mathscr{L} on X, the following four statements are equivalent:

(a) \mathscr{L} is Φ -soft.

- (b) \mathscr{L}_U is Φ -acyclic for all open $U \subset X$.
- (c) $H^1_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{L}_U) = 0$ for all open $U \subset X$.
- (d) $H^1_{\Phi|U}(U; \mathscr{L}|U) = 0$ for all open $U \subset X$.

Proof. Item (a) implies (b) by 9.13. Item (b) trivially implies (c), which is equivalent to (d) by 10.2. If (d) holds, $F \subset X$ is closed and U = X - F; then the exact sequence

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi|U}(\mathscr{L}|U) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi|F}(\mathscr{L}|F) \to H^{1}_{\Phi|U}(U;\mathscr{L}|U) = 0$$

of 10.3 shows that \mathscr{L} is Φ -soft by 9.3.

16.2. Theorem. For a paracompactifying family Φ of supports on X and a sheaf \mathcal{A} on X, the following four statements are equivalent:

- (a) For every resolution $0 \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{L}^0 \to \mathscr{L}^1 \to \cdots \to \mathscr{L}^n \to 0$ of \mathscr{A} of length n in which \mathscr{L}^p is Φ -soft for p < n, \mathscr{L}^n is also Φ -soft.
- (b) \mathscr{A} has a Φ -soft resolution of length n.
- (c) $H^k_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}_U) = H^k_{\Phi|U}(U; \mathscr{A}|U) = 0$ for all open $U \subset X$ and all k > n.
- (d) $H^{n+1}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}_U) = 0$ for all open $U \subset X$.

Proof. The implications (a) \Rightarrow (b) \Rightarrow (c) \Rightarrow (d) are clear. Assume (d) and let $0 \rightarrow \mathcal{A} \rightarrow \mathcal{L}^0 \rightarrow \mathcal{L}^1 \rightarrow \cdots \rightarrow \mathcal{L}^n \rightarrow 0$ be as in (a). Let $\mathcal{J}^p = \operatorname{Ker}(\mathcal{L}^p \rightarrow \mathcal{L}^{p+1})$. Then for $U \subset X$ open, the exact sequences

$$0 \to \mathcal{J}_U^p \to \mathcal{L}_U^p \to \mathcal{J}_U^{p+1} \to 0$$

show that $H^1_{\Phi}(X; \mathcal{J}^n_U) \approx H^2_{\Phi}(X; \mathcal{J}^{n-1}_U) \approx \cdots \approx H^{n+1}_{\Phi}(X; \mathcal{A}_U) = 0$. Thus $\mathcal{L}^n = \mathcal{J}^n$ is Φ -soft by 16.1.

16.3. Definition. Let Φ be a family of supports on X and let L be a fixed ground ring with unit. We let $\dim_{\Phi,L} X$ be the least integer n (or ∞) such that $H^k_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) = 0$ for all sheaves \mathscr{A} of L-modules and all k > n.

16.4. Theorem. The following four statements are equivalent:

- (a) $\dim_{\Phi,L} X \leq n$.
- (b) $H^{n+1}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) = 0$ for all sheaves \mathscr{A} of L-modules.
- (c) For every sheaf \mathscr{A} of L-modules, $\mathscr{Z}^n(X; \mathscr{A})$ is Φ -acyclic.
- (d) Every sheaf \mathcal{A} of L-modules has a Φ -acyclic resolution of length n.

Moreover, if Φ is paracompactifying, then " Φ -acyclic" in (c) and (d) can be replaced by " Φ -soft."

Proof. Clearly (c) \Rightarrow (d) \Rightarrow (a) \Rightarrow (b), so assume (b). Then as in the proof of 16.2, we have [for $\mathcal{J}^p = \mathcal{J}^p(X; \mathcal{A})$ and $\mathcal{J}^0 = \mathcal{A}$]

$$H^k_{\Phi}(X;\mathcal{J}^n) \approx H^{k+1}_{\Phi}(X;\mathcal{J}^{n-1}) \approx \cdots \approx H^{n+1}_{\Phi}(X;\mathcal{J}^{k-1}) = 0$$

for all $k \ge 1$, proving (c).

The following fact is an immediate consequence of 9.14 and shows that softness and dimension with respect to a paracompactifying family Φ of supports depends only on the extent $E(\Phi)$ of the family.

16.5. Proposition. If Φ and Ψ are paracompactifying and $E(\Phi) \subset E(\Psi)$, then any Ψ -soft sheaf is Φ -soft and $\dim_{\Phi,L} X \leq \dim_{\Psi,L} X$. \Box

We say that a space X is *locally paracompact* if it is Hausdorff and each point has a closed paracompact neighborhood. Such a space possesses a paracompactifying family Φ with $E(\Phi) = X$ (and conversely). Indeed, the set of all closed K such that K has a closed paracompact neighborhood in X is such a family.

16.6. Definition. If X is locally paracompact then we define (using 16.5) $\dim_L X = \dim_{\Phi,L} X$, where Φ is paracompactifying and $E(\Phi) = X$.

Note that $\dim_L X$ need not coincide with $\dim_{cld,L} X$ when X is not paracompact.

Suppose that Φ is paracompactifying on X and put $W = E(\Phi)$, an open set. Then $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{B}) = \Gamma_{\Phi|W}(\mathscr{B}|W)$ for any sheaf \mathscr{B} on X, since each member of Φ has a neighborhood in Φ . It follows that $H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \approx$ $H^p_{\Phi|W}(W;\mathscr{A}|W)$, whence $\dim_{\Phi,L} X = \dim_{\Phi|W,L} W = \dim_L W$, since W is locally paracompact, $\Phi|W$ is paracompactifying, and $E(\Phi|W) = W$. Therefore, when Φ is paracompactifying, the study of $\dim_{\Phi,L} X$ reduces to the study of $\dim_L W$ for W locally paracompact.

The following is an immediate consequence of 9.3 and 16.2(a).

16.7. Proposition. If Φ is a paracompactifying family of supports on X, then

$$\dim_{\Phi,L} X = \sup_{K \in \Phi} \{\dim_L K\}.$$

16.8. Theorem. Let X be locally paracompact (respectively, hereditarily paracompact). Then $\dim_L X \ge \dim_L A$ for any locally closed (resp., arbitrary) subspace $A \subset X$. Conversely, if each point $x \in X$ admits a locally closed (resp., arbitrary) neighborhood N with $\dim_L N \le n$, then $\dim_L X \le n$.

Proof. Let Φ be a paracompactifying family with $E(\Phi) = X$. Then the first part follows from 16.2 and the facts that $\mathscr{A}|A$ is Φ -soft for \mathscr{A} Φ -soft and that $\Phi|A$ is paracompactifying for A locally closed.

Now suppose that X is hereditarily paracompact and $A \subset X$ is arbitrary. Let $i: A \hookrightarrow X$ be the inclusion, let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on A, and recall that $\mathscr{A} \approx (i\mathscr{A})|A$. By 10.6 we have that $H^p(A; \mathscr{A}) \approx \lim_{X \to \infty} H^p(U; i\mathscr{A})$, where U ranges over the open neighborhoods of A in X, since A is taut in X. Now $\dim_L U \leq \dim_L X = n$, by the portion already proved. Therefore $H^p(A; \mathscr{A}) = 0$ for p > n, whence $\dim_L A \leq n$ as claimed.

For the converse, we may assume that N is closed in the statement of the theorem, in either case. Let Φ be paracompactifying with $E(\Phi) = X$ and let \mathscr{L}^* be a resolution of \mathscr{A} of length n with $\mathscr{L}^p \Phi$ -soft for p < n. Then $\mathscr{L}^p|N$ is $\Phi|N$ -soft for p < n. We may assume that $N \in \Phi$, so that $\mathscr{L}^p|N$ is soft for $p \leq n$ by 16.2. Thus \mathscr{L}^n is Φ -soft by 9.14 and dim_L $X \leq n$ by 16.2.

In the nonparacompact case one still has the following monotonicity property of cohomological dimension, which is an immediate consequence of 10.1 and Definition 16.3:

16.9. Proposition. If $F \subset X$ is closed, then $\dim_{\Phi|F,L} F \leq \dim_{\Phi,L} X$.

Generally, little can be said about $\dim_{\Phi,L} X$ when Φ is not paracompactifying. An exception is the next result concerning families of the form $\Phi|A$ and its corollary concerning arbitrary families. It will be used in Chapter V.

16.10. Theorem. Let Φ be paracompactifying on the locally paracompact space X and let $A \subset X$ with X - A locally closed, paracompact, and Φ -taut (e.g., A closed and X - A paracompact). Then $\dim_{\Phi|A,L} X \leq \dim_L X + 1$.

Proof. Let $n = \dim_L X$. Note that $\Phi \cap X - A$ is paracompactifying since X - A is paracompact. By 16.8 we have that $\dim_L X - A \leq n$, so that $H^p_{\Phi \cap X - A}(X - A; \mathscr{A}) = 0$ for p > n and any sheaf \mathscr{A} of L-modules on X. The exact sequence of the pair (X, X - A) shows that $H^p_{\Phi}(X, X - A; \mathscr{A}) = 0$ for p > n + 1. By 12.1, $H^p_{\Phi|A}(X; \mathscr{A}) \approx H^p_{\Phi}(X, X - A; \mathscr{A}) = 0$ for p > n + 1, whence $\dim_{\Phi|A,L} X \leq n + 1$ by definition.

16.11. Corollary. If X is hereditarily paracompact and Φ is an arbitrary family of supports on X, then $\dim_{\Phi,L} X \leq \dim_L X + 1$.³⁴

Proof. Note that $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*) = \underline{\lim} \Gamma_{\Phi|K}(\mathscr{A}^*)$, where K ranges over Φ and \mathscr{A}^* is a flabby resolution of \mathscr{A} , whence $H^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) = \underline{\lim} H^*_{\Phi|K}(X;\mathscr{A})$. This implies that $\dim_{\Phi,L} X \leq \sup_{K \in \Phi} \dim_{\Phi|K,L} X \leq \dim_L X + 1$, the last

³⁴By Exercise 25 this also holds when X is only *locally* hereditarily paracompact.

inequality resulting from 16.10 since $\Phi|K = cld|K$ and cld is paracompactifying on X.

Exercise 23 shows that the +1 in 16.10 and 16.11 cannot be dropped.

16.12. Lemma. Let \mathfrak{S} be a class of sheaves of L-modules (L a ring with unit) on a space X satisfying the following three properties:

- (a) If $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}'' \to 0$ is exact with $\mathscr{A}' \in \mathfrak{S}$, then $\mathscr{A} \in \mathfrak{S} \Leftrightarrow \mathscr{A}'' \in \mathfrak{S}$.
- (b) If {𝔄_α} is an upward-directed family of subsheaves of 𝔄 with each 𝔄_α ∈ 𝔅, then ⋃𝔄_α ∈ 𝔅.
- (c) For any ideal I of L and open set $U \subset X$ we have $I_U \in \mathfrak{S}$.

Then \mathfrak{S} consists of all sheaves of L-modules.³⁵

Proof. Assume that the sheaf $\mathscr{B} \notin \mathfrak{S}$. The class of subsheaves (of *L*-modules) of \mathscr{B} that are in \mathfrak{S} has a maximal element \mathscr{A} by (b). If $0 \neq s \in (\mathscr{B}/\mathscr{A})(U)$ for some open $U \subset X$, then *s* defines a nontrivial homomorphism $h: L_U \to \mathscr{B}/\mathscr{A}$. The image of *h* is not in \mathfrak{S} by (a), so that the kernel of *h* cannot be in \mathfrak{S} by (a) and (c). Thus we see that it suffices to show that any subsheaf (of ideals) of *L* is in \mathfrak{S} .

Now let \mathscr{I} be a subsheaf of L. Then any element of \mathscr{I} is contained in a subsheaf of \mathscr{I} of the form I_U , where I is an ideal of L and $U \subset X$ is open. Thus \mathscr{I} can be expressed as the sum (in \mathscr{I} , not direct) of subsheaves of the form I_U , and by (b), it suffices to show that every finite sum of sheaves of the form I_U is in \mathfrak{S} .

Let U_1, \ldots, U_n be open sets and I_1, \ldots, I_n ideals of L. Let $\mathcal{J} = (I_1)_{U_1} + \cdots + (I_n)_{U_n}$. For $k \leq n$, let V_k be the set of points lying in at least k of the sets U_i . Consider the sequence

$$0 \subset \mathcal{J}_{V_n} \subset \mathcal{J}_{V_{n-1}} \subset \cdots \subset \mathcal{J}_{V_1} = \mathcal{J}.$$

We note that each quotient $\mathcal{J}_{V_k}/\mathcal{J}_{V_{k+1}}$ is the *direct* sum of sheaves of the form J_A , where typically J is the ideal $I_{i_1} + \cdots + I_{i_k}$ of L and A is the locally closed set consisting of those points in $U_{i_1}, U_{i_2}, \ldots, U_{i_k}$ but in no other U_j .

Thus, by (a), it suffices to show that $J_A \in \mathfrak{S}$ for J an ideal of L and A locally closed. But if $A = U \cap F$ with U open and F closed, then $J_A = J_U/J_{(X-F)\cap U} \in \mathfrak{S}$ by (a) and (c).

16.13. Lemma. If X is a locally compact Hausdorff space and L is a ring with unit, then

$$H_c^n(X;L) = 0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad H_c^n(X;J) = 0$$

for all ideals J of L.

³⁵Also see Exercise 35.

Proof. We have $H_c^n(X;\mathbb{Z}) \otimes L = 0 = H_c^{n+1}(X;\mathbb{Z}) * L$ by the universal coefficient theorem 15.3. Therefore, $H_c^n(X;\mathbb{Z}) \otimes J = H_c^n(X;\mathbb{Z}) \otimes L \otimes_L J = 0$ and $H_c^{n+1}(X;\mathbb{Z}) * J = 0$ since the latter group injects into $H_c^{n+1}(X;\mathbb{Z}) * L$. Thus the universal coefficient theorem over \mathbb{Z} implies that $H_c^n(X;J) = 0$.

16.14. Theorem. Let X be locally compact Hausdorff and L a ring with unit. Then $\dim_L X \leq n \Leftrightarrow H_c^{n+1}(U;L) = 0$ for all open sets $U \subset X$.³⁶

Proof. The \Rightarrow part is trivial. Thus suppose that the condition is satisfied. Then $H_c^{n+1}(X; J_U) \approx H_c^{n+1}(U; J) = 0$ by 16.13, so that 16.2 implies that $H_c^k(X; J_U) = 0$ for all open $U \subset X$, all ideals J of L, and all k > n. Now let $\mathfrak{S} = \{\mathscr{L} \mid H_c^k(X; \mathscr{L}) = 0 \text{ for all } k > n\}$. Then \mathfrak{S} clearly satisfies conditions (a) and (c) of 16.12. Condition (b) follows from 14.5. Thus \mathfrak{S} consists of all sheaves of L-modules and this implies that $\dim_L X = \dim_{c,L} X \leq n$. \Box

The following is an immediate consequence of the definition:

16.15. Proposition. If X is locally paracompact, then $\dim_L X \leq \dim_Z X$ for any ring L with unit.

16.16. Proposition. Let X be locally compact Hausdorff with $\dim_L X \leq n$. Let $G \subset H^n_c(X; L)$ be a subgroup such that every point $x \in X$ has a neighborhood U with $\operatorname{Im}\{j^n_{X,U} : H^n_c(U; L) \to H^n_c(X; L)\} = G$. Then $G = H^n_c(X; L)$.

Proof. Let \mathfrak{S} be the collection of all open subsets U of X with $\operatorname{Im} j_{X,U}^n = G$. The Mayer-Vietoris diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} H^n_c(U) \oplus H^n_c(V) \ \to \ H^n_c(U \cup V) \ \to \ 0 \\ \downarrow & \downarrow \\ H^n_c(X) \oplus H^n_c(X) \ \to \ H^n_c(X) \ \to \ 0 \end{array}$$

shows that the union of two members of \mathfrak{S} is in \mathfrak{S} . Thus \mathfrak{S} is directed upwards, and $X = \bigcup \{W \mid W \in \mathfrak{S}\}$ by assumption. But $H_c^n(X; L) = \bigcup \operatorname{Im} j_{X,W}^n$ for W ranging over \mathfrak{S} [since $L = \lim L_W$, whence $H_c^n(X; L) = \lim H_c^n(X; L_W) = \lim H_c^n(W; L)$ by 14.5] and the result follows. \Box

16.17. Corollary. Let X be Hausdorff and locally compact with dim_L $X \leq n$. Suppose that for each open set $U \subset X$ and $x \in U$ there is a neighborhood $W \subset U$ of x such that $j_{U,W}^n : H_c^n(W; L) \to H_c^n(U; L)$ is trivial. Then dim_L X < n.

³⁶Also see 16.25, 16.32, and 16.33.

Proof. Applying 16.16 to each open set U with G = 0 gives $H_c^n(U; L) = 0$ for all open sets U, whence dim_L X < n by 16.14.

16.18. Example. The one-point union X of a countably infinite number of 2-spheres with radii tending to zero has $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}} X = 2$ as follows from Example 10.10 and 16.17. Since X is metrizable, it follows from 16.8 that $H^p(A;\mathbb{Z}) = 0$ for all subspaces $A \subset X$ and all p > 2. As remarked in 10.10, however, the singular cohomology of X is nonzero in arbitrarily high degrees. Also, computation of the singular groups is several orders of magnitude more difficult for such spaces than is sheaf-theoretic cohomology. This illustrates a fundamental difference between the two theories.

16.19. Lemma. If the space K is locally compact, Hausdorff, and totally disconnected, then $\dim_L K = 0$ for any ring L with unit.

Proof. Let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on K. We will suppress coefficients in \mathscr{A} from our notation. Let $\gamma \in H_c^1(K)$ and let the compact set B be the support of some cochain representative of γ . For any point $x \in B$ there is a neighborhood A, which can be assumed to be open and compact, of x such that $H_c^1(K) \to H_c^1(A)$ takes γ to zero, by 10.6. Thus B is contained in a disjoint union of such open and compact sets A_1, \ldots, A_n . Let $A_0 = K - (A_1 \cup \cdots \cup A_n)$. Then γ also restricts to 0 in $H_c^1(A_0)$. (Note that $c \cap A_0 = c | A_0$ and $c \cap A_i = c | A_i = cld$ for i > 0.) Since $H_c^1(K) \approx H_c^1(A_0) \oplus \cdots \oplus H_c^1(A_n)$, we conclude that $\gamma = 0$, whence $\dim_L K = 0$.

16.20. Proposition. If X is a connected space with at least two closed points, then $\dim_{cld,L} X > 0$ for any ring L with unit.

Proof. Let $x \neq y$ be distinct closed points in X and put $U = X - \{x, y\}$. Then the exact sequence of the pair $(X, \{x, y\})$ has the segment

 $\Gamma(L) \to \Gamma(L|\{x, y\}) \to H^1(X; L_U);$

see 12.3. This has the form $L \xrightarrow{\text{diag}} L \oplus L \to H^1(X; L_U)$, and hence $H^1(X; L_U) \neq 0$.

16.21. Corollary. A locally compact Hausdorff space K has $\dim_L K = 0$ $\Leftrightarrow K$ is totally disconnected.³⁷

Proof. If K^+ is the one-point compactification of K, we have

| $\dim_L K = 0 \Rightarrow$ | $\dim_L K^+ = 0$ | by Exercise 11 | |
|----------------------------|-------------------------------|-------------------|--|
| \Rightarrow | K^+ is totally disconnected | by 16.9 and 16.20 | |
| \Rightarrow | K is totally disconnected | obviously | |
| ⇒ | $\dim_L K = 0$ | by 16.19. | |

³⁷Also see 16.35.

16.22. Example. The "Knaster explosion set" K is an infinite subset of the plane that is connected but has a point $x_0 \in K$ such that $K - \{x_0\}$ is totally disconnected.³⁸ Now dim_L K > 0 by 16.20, so dim_L $K - \{x_0\} > 0$ by Exercise 11 for any ring L with unit. This shows that the condition in 16.19 and 16.21 that K be locally compact may not be discarded. Since K embeds in the plane and its closure \overline{K} there has dim_L $\overline{K} = 1$, it follows from 16.8 that dim_L K = 1. (The fact that dim_L $\overline{K} = 1$ follows from Exercise 11, the fact that $\overline{K} - \{x_0\} \approx C \times (0, 1]$ where C is a Cantor set, and 16.27.)

16.23. Example. According to Exercise 37 there exists a compact, totally disconnected Hausdorff space X containing a locally closed subspace A such that $\Gamma(L|U) \to \Gamma(L|A)$ is not surjective for any open $U \supset A$. Now, $\dim_L X = 0$ by 16.19. Also, $A = U \cap F$ for some open U and closed F, whence A is closed in U. The exact sequence

$$\Gamma(L|U) \to \Gamma(L|A) \to H^1(U,A;L)$$

and 12.3 show that $H^1(U; L_{U-A}) \approx H^1(U, A; L) \neq 0$. Thus $\dim_{cld, L} U > 0$, while $\dim_L U = \dim_{c, L} U = 0$ by 16.8. Of course, *cld* cannot be paracompactifying on U.

16.24. Corollary. (H. Cohen.) Let X and K be locally compact Hausdorff spaces. If $\dim_L X = n$ and $\dim_L K > 0$, then $\dim_L (X \times K) > n$.

Proof. By passing to the one-point compactification and using Exercise 11, we can assume that K is compact. By 16.21 and 16.9 we can also assume that K is connected and is not a single point. By passing to an open subset and using 16.14 we can assume that $H_c^n(X; L) \neq 0$. Let $0 \neq \alpha \in H_c^n(X; L)$ and let $k_1 \neq k_2 \in K$. Consider α as lying in $H_c^n(X \times \{k_1\}; L)$ and let $\beta \in H_c^n(X \times \{k_1, k_2\}; L)$ correspond to $\alpha \oplus 0$ in $H_c^n(X \times \{k_1\}; L) \oplus H_c^n(X \times \{k_2\}; L)$. If dim_L $(X \times K) \leq n$ then $H_c^{n+1}(X \times (K - \{k_1, k_2\}; L) = 0$ by 16.14, and so the exact sequence

$$H^n_c(X \times K; L) \to H^n_c(X \times \{k_1, k_2\}; L) \to H^{n+1}_c(X \times (K - \{k_1, k_2\}); L)$$

shows that β comes from some class $\gamma \in H^n_c(X \times K; L)$. But the composition

$$H^n_c(X \times K; L) \to H^n_c(X \times \{k\}; L) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^n_c(X; L)$$

is independent of $k \in K$ by 11.9, and this provides a contradiction. \Box

16.25. Lemma. For a locally compact Hausdorff space X, suppose that $H_c^k(U; L) = 0$ for all k > n and all U in some basis for the open sets of X that is closed under finite intersections. Then dim_L $X \le n$.

³⁸ If X is the union of line segments in the plane from $x_0 = (0, 1)$ to points in the Cantor set in the unit interval on the x-axis, then K is the set of points in X of rational height on rays from x_0 to end points of complementary intervals of the Cantor set together with the points of irrational height on the other rays; see [49, Example II-16]. The fact that K is connected is an exercise on the Baire category theorem.

Proof. By the Mayer-Vietoris sequence

$$H_c^k(U) \oplus H_c^k(V) \to H_c^k(U \cup V) \to H_c^{k+1}(U \cap V)$$

we can throw finite unions into the basis. Then any open set U is a union $U = \bigcup U_{\alpha}$ of elements of the basis *directed* upwards. Then $L_U = \lim_{\alpha \to 0} L_{U_{\alpha}}$, and so

$$H_c^{n+1}(U;L) \approx H_c^{n+1}(X;L_U) \approx \varinjlim H_c^{n+1}(X;L_{U_\alpha}) \approx \varinjlim H_c^{n+1}(U_\alpha;L) = 0$$

by 14.5, and so $\dim_L X \le n$ by 16.14.

Remark: It does not suffice in 16.25 that $H_c^k(U; L) = 0$ for k = n + 1 rather than for all k > n, since \mathbb{R}^{n+2} satisfies that hypothesis. Also, the Hilbert cube \mathbb{I}^{∞} satisfies that hypothesis for any given n.

16.26. Corollary. Let X and Y be locally compact Hausdorff spaces. Then $\dim_L(X \times Y) \leq \dim_L X + \dim_L Y$ for any ring L with unit.³⁹

Proof. Let $p = \dim_L X$ and $q = \dim_L Y$. The sets $U \times V$ where $U \subset X$ and $V \subset Y$ are open form a basis for the topology of $X \times Y$ which is closed under finite intersections since $(U_1 \times V_1) \cap (U_2 \times V_2) = (U_1 \cap U_2) \times (V_1 \cap V_2)$. By 15.2, $H_c^n(U \times V; L \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} L) = 0$ whenever n > p+q. Now the composition

$$L \approx \mathbb{Z} \widehat{\otimes}_{\mathbb{Z}} L \to L \widehat{\otimes}_{\mathbb{Z}} L \to L \widehat{\otimes}_L L \approx L$$

is the identity, and so $H_c^n(U \times V; L) = 0$ whenever n > p + q. Thus the result follows from 16.25.

Examples have been constructed by Pontryagin of compact spaces X, Y for which $\dim_L(X \times Y) < \dim_L X + \dim_L Y$.

16.27. Corollary. Let X and K be locally compact Hausdorff spaces. If $\dim_L K = 1$, then $\dim_L (X \times K) = 1 + \dim_L X$.

Proof. We have $\dim_L(X \times K) > \dim_L X$ by 16.24 and $\dim_L(X \times K) \le 1 + \dim_L X$ by 16.26.

16.28. Corollary. If M^n is a topological n-manifold, then $\dim_L M^n = n$ for any L.

Proof. By the cohomology sequence of the pair $(\mathbb{I}, \partial \mathbb{I})$, $H_c^p((0,1); L) \approx L$ for p = 1 and is zero otherwise. Since an open subset of \mathbb{R} is a disjoint union of open intervals, it follows from 16.14 that $\dim_L \mathbb{R} = 1$. By 16.27, $\dim_L \mathbb{R}^n = n$. The result now follows from 16.8.

 $^{^{39}\}mathrm{Also}$ see IV-8.5.

16.29. Corollary. Let M be a connected topological n-manifold and K any constant coefficient group. Then:

- (a) If $F \subsetneq M$ is a proper closed subspace, then $H_c^n(F; K) = 0$.
- (b) If $\emptyset \neq U \subset M$ is open, then $j_{M,U}^n : H_c^n(U;K) \to H_c^n(M;K)$ is onto.
- (c) $H_c^n(M; K) \approx K$ or K/2K.

Proof. By 15.3 it suffices to prove this in the case $K = \mathbb{Z}$. First we prove (a) for $M = \mathbb{S}^n$. Let $U \subset \mathbb{S}^n - F$ be an open metric disk. Now $H^n(\mathbb{S}^n) \to H^n(F)$ is surjective since $H_c^{n+1}(\mathbb{S}^n - F) = 0$ by the fact that dim $\mathbb{S}^n = n$. However, this map factors through $H^n(\mathbb{S}^n - U) = 0$ (since $\mathbb{S}^n - U$ is contractible), proving the contention. By adding a point at infinity, (a) follows for the case $M = \mathbb{R}^n$.

From the exact sequence of the pair (M, M - U) we see that (b) holds when $M = \mathbb{R}^n$.

Suppose now that $U \subset M$ and $U \approx \mathbb{R}^n$. Then for any open $V \subset U$, $j_{U,V}^n : H_c^n(V) \to H_c^n(U)$ is onto by the case of (b) just proved. It follows that $\operatorname{Im} j_{M,V}^n = \operatorname{Im} j_{M,U}^n$.

If U and V are open sets each homeomorphic to \mathbb{R}^n and if $U \cap V \neq \emptyset$, then it follows that $\operatorname{Im} j_{M,V}^n = \operatorname{Im} j_{M,U\cap V}^n = \operatorname{Im} j_{M,U}^n$. Since M is connected, we deduce that $G = \operatorname{Im} j_{M,U}^n$ is independent of U for $U \approx \mathbb{R}^n$. By 16.16 we have $G = H_c^n(M)$, proving (b) in general. The exact sequence of the pair (M, F) proves (a) in general.

Suppose that $\{U_{\alpha}\}$ is an upward-directed family of connected open sets such that each $H_c^n(U_{\alpha})$ is either \mathbb{Z} or \mathbb{Z}_2 . Then continuity 14.5 (applied to $\mathbb{Z}_{U_{\alpha}}$) shows that the same is true for $U = \bigcup U_{\alpha}$. It follows that there is a maximal connected open set U satisfying part (c) (for U in place of M). If $U \neq M$, then let $V \approx \mathbb{R}^n$ be an open neighborhood of a point in the boundary of U. Then $U \cup V$ is connected, $U \cap V \neq \emptyset$, and the Mayer-Vietoris sequence

$$H^n_c(U \cap V) \to H^n_c(U) \oplus H^n_c(V) \to H^n_c(U \cup V) \to 0$$

shows that (c) is true for $U \cup V$ since $H_c^n(U \cap V)$ is the direct sum of the cohomology of the components U_β of $U \cap V$ and each $H_c^n(U_\beta) \rightarrow$ $H_c^n(U) \oplus H_c^n(V)$ has an image that is the diagonal $\{(\lambda, \lambda)\} \subset \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z} \approx$ $H_c^n(U) \oplus H_c^n(V)$ or the antidiagonal $\{(\lambda, -\lambda)\}$, and similarly for the case in which $H_c^n(U) \approx \mathbb{Z}_2$. This contradicts the maximality of U, and so U = M.

Now we wish to extend 16.14 to general paracompactifying families of supports on general spaces. The main tool is the following extension of 14.3:

16.30. Theorem. (Kuz'minov, Liseĭkin [55].) Let Φ be a paracompactifying family of supports on X and let $\{\mathscr{L}_{\lambda}; \lambda \in \Lambda\}$ be a direct system of Φ -soft sheaves on X. Then $\mathscr{L} = \lim \mathscr{L}_{\lambda}$ is also Φ -soft. **Proof.** By 9.3 it suffices to treat the case in which X is paracompact and $\Phi = cld$. Let $K \subset X$ be closed and let $s \in \mathscr{L}(K)$. Then we can find a locally finite open covering $\{U_{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in A\}$ of X and sections $s_{\alpha} \in \mathscr{L}_{\lambda(\alpha)}(U_{\alpha})$ such that $k_{\lambda(\alpha)}(s_{\alpha})|K \cap U_{\alpha} = s|K \cap U_{\alpha}$, where the $k_{\lambda} : \mathscr{L}_{\lambda} \to \mathscr{L}$ are the canonical homomorphisms.

Any finite number of the s_{α} coincide in the direct limit at a point of K, and hence in a neighborhood of the point. Therefore, by passing to a refinement, it can also be assumed that for any finite subset $F \subset A$ there is an index $\lambda \in \Lambda$ such that $\lambda \geq \lambda(\alpha)$ for all $\alpha \in F$ and the $k_{\lambda,\lambda(\alpha)}(s_{\alpha})$ all coincide on $K \cap \bigcap_{\alpha \in F} U_{\alpha}$.

Let $\{V_{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in A\}$ be a shrinking of $\{U_{\alpha}\}$; i.e., $\overline{V}_{\alpha} \subset U_{\alpha}$ for all α . For $F \subset A$ finite, put

$$C_F = \bigcap_{\alpha \in F} \overline{V}_{\alpha} - \bigcup_{\beta \notin F} V_{\beta},$$

and note that

 $C_{F_1} \cap C_{F_2} \subset C_{F_1 \cap F_2}. \tag{35}$

For a given integer $n \geq 0$ and for all $F \subset A$ with fewer than n elements, suppose that we have defined an index $\lambda(F) \in \Lambda$ and sections $s_F \in \mathscr{L}_{\lambda(F)}(C_F)$ such that $\lambda(F) \geq \lambda(G)$ and $s_F = k_{\lambda(F),\lambda(G)}(s_G)$ on $C_F \cap C_G$ for all proper subsets $G \subsetneq F$ and such that $s_F = k_{\lambda(F),\lambda(\alpha)}(s_\alpha)$ on $K \cap C_F$ for all $\alpha \in F$.

For a given subset $F \subset A$ with *n* elements, there is an index $\lambda(F)$ such that $\lambda(F) \geq \lambda(G)$ for all $G \subsetneq F$ and such that the $k_{\lambda(F),\lambda(\alpha)}(s_{\alpha})$ all coincide on $K \cap C_F$ for $\alpha \in F$. Then the sections $k_{\lambda(F),\lambda(G)}(s_G)$, for $G \subsetneq F$, and the $k_{\lambda(F),\lambda(\alpha)}(s_{\alpha})|K \cap C_F$ fit together to give a section of $\mathscr{L}_{\lambda(F)}$ over $\bigcup \{C_G \cap C_F \mid G \subsetneq F\} \cup (K \cap C_F)$, which is closed in C_F . Since $\mathscr{L}_{\lambda(\alpha)}$ is soft, this extends to a section $s_F \in \mathscr{L}_{\lambda(F)}(C_F)$.

This completes the inductive construction of the s_F . Because of (35), the projections $k_{\lambda(F)}(s_F) \in \mathscr{L}(C_F)$ fit together to give a section $s' \in \mathscr{L}(X)$; and s'|K = s by construction.

16.31. Corollary. Let the base ring L be a principal ideal domain. If Φ is paracompactifying on X and \mathcal{B} is a torsion-free Φ -soft sheaf of L-modules on X, then $\mathcal{A} \otimes_L \mathcal{B}$ is Φ -soft for all sheaves \mathcal{A} of L-modules on X.

Proof. Let \mathfrak{S} be the collection of all sheaves \mathscr{A} on X such that $\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}$ is Φ -soft. Since $L_U \otimes \mathscr{B} \approx \mathscr{B}_U$ is Φ -soft by 9.13, $L_U \in \mathfrak{S}$, and so \mathfrak{S} satisfies condition (c) of 16.12. Condition (b) is satisfied by 16.30. Condition (a) is satisfied by 9.10, since \mathscr{B} is torsion-free, whence $(\bullet) \otimes \mathscr{B}$ is exact. Therefore \mathfrak{S} consists of all sheaves of L-modules by 16.12.

16.32. Corollary. If Φ is paracompactifying on X and L is a principal ideal domain, then the following four conditions are equivalent:

(a) $\dim_{\Phi,L} X \leq n$.

- (b) $H^{n+1}_{\Phi \mid U}(U;L) = 0$ for all open $U \subset X$.
- (c) $H^{n+1}_{\Phi}(X, F; L) = 0$ for all closed $F \subset X$.
- (d) $H^n_{\Phi}(X;L) \to H^n_{\Phi}(F;L)$ is surjective for all closed $F \subset X$.

Proof. By definition, (a) \Rightarrow (b), since $H_{\Phi|U}^{n+1}(U;L) \approx H_{\Phi}^{n+1}(X;L_U)$ by 10.2. Also, (b) \Rightarrow (c) because $H_{\Phi}^{n+1}(X,F;L) \approx H_{\Phi|X-F}^{n+1}(X-F;L)$ by 10.2 and 12.3. Third, (c) \Rightarrow (d) by the exact sequence of the pair (X,F). To prove the final implication (d) \Rightarrow (a), consider the exact sequences

$$0 \to \mathcal{J}^{i-1}(X;L)_F \to \mathscr{C}^{i-1}(X;L)_F \to \mathcal{J}^i(X;L)_F \to 0$$

for $0 < i \leq n$ and closed subsets $F \subset X$, where $\mathcal{J}^0(X;L) = L$. Since $\mathscr{C}^*(X;L)_F$ is Φ -soft by 9.13, the cohomology sequences of these coefficient sequences give the natural isomorphisms

$$H^{1}_{\Phi}(X;\mathcal{J}^{n-1}(X;L)_{F})\approx\cdots\approx H^{n}_{\Phi}(X;\mathcal{J}^{0}(X;L)_{F})=H^{n}_{\Phi}(X;L_{F})$$

and the exact sequences

$$H^0_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{C}^{n-1}(X; L)_F) \to H^0_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{J}^n(X; L)_F) \to H^1_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{J}^{n-1}(X; L)_F) \to 0.$$

These combine to give the exact commutative diagram

Now, f is onto by 9.3 since $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}_F) = \Gamma_{\Phi|F}(\mathscr{A}|F)$ by 10.2 and since $\mathscr{C}^{n-1}(X;L)$ is Φ -soft. Also, h is onto by assumption and 10.2. The 5-lemma implies that g is onto, showing that $\mathscr{G}^n(X;L)$ is Φ -soft. It is also torsion free, as remarked in Section 2, and so (for tensor products over L)

$$0 \to L \otimes \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{C}^{0}(X;L) \otimes \mathscr{A} \to \cdots \to \mathscr{C}^{n-1}(X;L) \otimes \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{J}^{n}(X;L) \otimes \mathscr{A} \to 0$$

is a Φ -soft resolution of \mathscr{A} , for any sheaf \mathscr{A} of *L*-modules. Thus $\dim_{\Phi,L} X \leq n$ by 16.4.

16.33. Corollary. If X is paracompact, then the following four conditions are equivalent over a principal ideal domain L:⁴⁰

- (a) $\dim_L X \leq n$.
- (b) $H^{n+1}_{\Phi}(X;L) = 0$ for all paracompactifying Φ on X.
- (c) $H^{n+1}(X, F; L) = 0$ for all closed $F \subset X$.
- (d) $H^n(X;L) \to H^n(F;L)$ is surjective for all closed $F \subset X$.

 $^{^{40} \}rm The$ equivalence of (c) and (d) is due to E. G. Skljarenko. The equivalence of these with (a) is new at least to the author.

Proof. Items (a), (c), and (d) are just those of 16.32 for $\Phi = cld$. Also, (a) \Rightarrow (b) by 16.5. Given (b), the cases $\Phi = cld|U$ show that $H^{n+1}_{cld|U}(U;L) \approx$ $H^{n+1}_{cld|U}(X;L) = 0$ for all open $U \subset X$ (since $\Gamma_{\Phi|U}(\mathscr{A}|U) = \Gamma_{\Phi|U}(\mathscr{A})$ for all sheaves \mathscr{A} on X). That is just case (b) of 16.32 for $\Phi = cld$, whence $\dim_L X = \dim_{cld,L} X \leq n$ by (b) \Rightarrow (a) of 16.32.

16.34. Corollary. If Φ is paracompactifying on X, then

$$\dim_{\Phi,L} X \le \sup_{K \in \Phi} \{\operatorname{covdim} K\}$$

for any ring L.

Proof. By 16.7 it suffices to show that $\dim_L K \leq \operatorname{covdim} K$ for $K \in \Phi$. Thus we may assume that $\Phi = cld$ on a paracompact space X. The result is then immediate from (19) on page 29, 9.23, and 16.33(b).

It is a theorem of Alexandroff [62, p. 243] that if $\operatorname{covdim} X < \infty$, then $\operatorname{covdim} X = n \Leftrightarrow H^k(X; \mathbb{Z}) \to H^k(F; \mathbb{Z})$ is onto for all closed $F \subset X$ and all $k \ge n$. Thus, by 16.33, $\operatorname{covdim} X = \dim_{\mathbb{Z}} X$ as long as $\operatorname{covdim} X < \infty$. There is a recent example of Dranishnikov [33] of a compact metric space X of infinite covering dimension but with $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}} X = 3$. The long line (see Exercise 3) is a nonparacompact (hence of infinite covering dimension) space with $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}} X = 1$. Also see the remarks below 16.39.

We shall now generalize 16.21 to the case of paracompactifying supports on general spaces. To do this we define the strong inductive dimension $\operatorname{Ind}_{\Phi} X$ with respect to a paracompactifying support family Φ as follows: Put $\operatorname{Ind}_{\Phi} X = -1$ if $X = \emptyset$. Then we say, inductively, that $\operatorname{Ind}_{\Phi} X \leq n$ if for any two sets $A, C \in \Phi$ with $A \subset \operatorname{int} C$ there exists a set $B \in \Phi$ with $A \subset \operatorname{int} B$ and $B \subset \operatorname{int} C$ and with $\operatorname{Ind}_{\Phi} \partial B < n$. If $\operatorname{Ind}_{\Phi} X \leq n$ and $\operatorname{Ind}_{\Phi} X \leq n-1$, then we say that $\operatorname{Ind}_{\Phi} X = n$. The case in which $\Phi = cld$ and X is metric is the classical case of the strong inductive dimension, which is known to coincide with covering dimension; see [62].

16.35. Theorem. If Φ is a paracompactifying family of supports on X and L is a ring with unit, then $\operatorname{Ind}_{\Phi} X = 0 \iff \dim_{\Phi,L} X = 0$.

Proof. Let $A, C \in \Phi$ be as in the definition. Let $F = A \cup (X - \operatorname{int} C)$ and let $s \in \Gamma_{\Phi|F}(L|F)$ be 1 on A and 0 on $X - \operatorname{int} C$. If $\dim_{\Phi,L} X = 0$ then L is Φ -soft and so s must extend to some $t \in \Gamma_{\Phi}(L)$. Let B = |t|. Then B is both closed and open since L is a constant sheaf. Thus $\operatorname{Ind}_{\Phi} X = 0$.

Conversely, suppose that $\operatorname{Ind}_{\Phi} X = 0$. For a sheaf \mathscr{A} of *L*-modules, let $c \in C_{\Phi}^1(X; \mathscr{A})$ be a cocycle with cohomology class γ and put $B = |c| \in \Phi$. Since *B* has a neighborhood *N* in Φ , it has one that is both open and closed. As in the proof of 16.21 (and since *N* is paracompact), there is a locally finite covering $\{U_{\alpha}\}$ of *N* consisting of sets both open and closed such that $\gamma|U_{\alpha} = 0 \in H^1_{\Phi \cap U_{\alpha}}(U_{\alpha}; \mathscr{A})$ for all α . Note that $\Phi \cap U_{\alpha} = \Phi|U_{\alpha}$ since U_{α} is closed as well as open, and so we can just call this family Φ without fear of confusion. Just by passing to finite intersections, we can assume that the U_{α} are disjoint. Now, $H^{1}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \rightarrow H^{1}_{\Phi}(X - N; \mathscr{A}) \oplus \prod H^{1}_{\Phi}(U_{\alpha}; \mathscr{A})$ and γ restricts to 0 in all these sets. Thus $\gamma = 0$, so that $H^{1}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) = 0$, whence $\dim_{\Phi,L} X = 0$.

Note that it follows that the statement $\dim_{\Phi,L} X = 0$ is independent of the base ring L, and also that the statement $\operatorname{Ind}_{\Phi} X = 0$ depends only on the extent $E(\Phi)$ and not on Φ itself. At least the first of these definitely does not extend to higher dimensions; i.e., there are examples for which $\dim_L X$ depends on L.

There is an example, due to E. Pol and R. Pol [67], of a normal, but not paracompact, space X with $\operatorname{Ind} X = 0$ but $\dim_{cld,L} X > 0$ for any L; see [72, 4.2].

16.36. Theorem. Let Φ be a paracompactifying family of supports on X and let $\{A_{\alpha}\}$ be a locally finite closed covering of X. Suppose that $\dim_{\Phi,L} A_{\alpha} \cap A_{\beta} < n$ for all $\alpha \neq \beta$. Then the restriction maps induce a monomorphism

$$r^*: H^{n+1}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \rightarrowtail \prod_{\alpha} H^{n+1}_{\Phi}(A_{\alpha}; \mathscr{A})$$

for any sheaf \mathscr{A} of L-modules on X. If, moreover, there is a $K \in \Phi$ with $A_{\alpha} \subset K$ for all but a finite number of α , then r^* is an isomorphism.

Proof. Let $A = \bigcup_{\alpha \neq \beta} A_{\alpha} \cap A_{\beta}$ and note that $\dim_{\Phi,L} A < n$ as follows from 16.8 and the fact that $\dim(B \cup C) = \max\{\dim(B), \dim(C - B)\}$ for closed sets B and C, by Exercise 11. Consider the identification map $f : \underset{\alpha}{+} A_{\alpha} \to X$. This is closed and finite-to-one. By 11.1 we have

$$H^{n+1}_{\Phi}(X; ff^*\mathscr{A}) \approx H^{n+1}_{f^{-1}\Phi}(\underset{\alpha}{+} A_{\alpha}; f^*\mathscr{A}) \rightarrowtail \prod_{\alpha} H^{n+1}_{\Phi}(A_{\alpha}; \mathscr{A}).$$

[If there is a $K \in \Phi$ with $A_{\alpha} \subset K$ for all but a finite number of α , then this is clearly onto.] There is the canonical monomorphism $\beta : \mathscr{A} \to ff^*\mathscr{A}$. Let $\mathscr{B} = ff^*\mathscr{A}/\beta\mathscr{A}$. Since \mathscr{B} is concentrated on the closed set A and $\dim_{\Phi,L} A < n$, we have that $H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{B}) = H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{B}_A) \approx H^p_{\Phi}(A; \mathscr{B}) = 0$ for $p \geq n$. Then the exact cohomology sequence

$$H^{n}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{B}) \to H^{n+1}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \to H^{n+1}_{\Phi}(X;ff^{*}\mathscr{A}) \to H^{n+1}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{B})$$

shows that $H^{n+1}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \approx H^{n+1}_{\Phi}(X;ff^{*}\mathscr{A}) \mapsto \prod_{\alpha} H^{n+1}_{\Phi}(A_{\alpha};\mathscr{A}).$

16.37. Theorem. (H. Cohen.) Suppose that X is locally compact Hausdorff and that L is a ring with unit. Let $X = \bigcup_{\alpha \in I} A_{\alpha}$, where A_{α} is closed and $\dim_{L} A_{\alpha} \leq n$ for each α . Assume that each A_{α} has an arbitrarily small closed neighborhood B_{α} with $\dim_{L} \partial B_{\alpha} < n$. Then $\dim_{L} X \leq n$.⁴¹

⁴¹Also see 16.40 and Exercise 60.

Proof. By 16.8 we can assume that X is compact. For a sheaf \mathscr{A} of L-modules let $\gamma \in H^{n+1}(X; \mathscr{A})$. Let $K \in c$ be the support of some cocycle representative of γ . Since $\gamma | A_{\alpha} = 0$ we have that $\gamma | B_{\alpha} = 0$ for all sufficiently small closed neighborhoods B_{α} of A_{α} , and such sets B_{α} can be chosen so that $\dim_L \partial B_{\alpha} < n$. Since the interiors of the B_{α} cover K, there is a finite subcollection that does so. By passing to the intersections and closures of differences of these B_{α} , we obtain a finite family C_1, \ldots, C_r of closed sets whose interiors cover K and such that $\gamma | C_i = 0$ and $\dim_L C_i \cap C_j < n$ (since $C_i \cap C_j \subset \partial B_{\alpha}$ for some α). Throwing in the closure C_0 of the complement of $C_1 \cup \cdots \cup C_r$, we get a collection of sets satisfying the hypotheses of 16.36 and with $\gamma | C_i = 0$ for all *i*. From 16.36 it follows that $\gamma = 0$.

Because of the finiteness of the collection $\{B_{\alpha}\}$ in the foregoing proof, one could use a less sophisticated argument based on Exercise 11 rather than on 16.36.

Recall that the weak inductive dimension ind X is defined by $\operatorname{ind} \emptyset = -1$ and $\operatorname{ind} X \leq n$ if each point $x \in X$ has an arbitrarily small neighborhood N with $\operatorname{ind} \partial N \leq n-1$. It is well known that $\operatorname{ind} X = \operatorname{Ind} X$ for separable metric spaces but not for general metric spaces. By taking the A_{α} to be the points of X in 16.37 we deduce:

16.38. Corollary. If X is locally compact Hausdorff and L is any ring with unit, then $\dim_L X \leq \operatorname{ind} X$.

According to [49, p. 65] a separable metric space X can be embedded in a compact separable metric space \overline{X} of the same inductive dimension. Thus the corollary and 16.8 imply that $\dim_L X \leq \operatorname{ind} X$ for all separable metric X. The following result is somewhat more general.

16.39. Theorem. For a paracompactifying family Φ of supports on X and any ring L with unit, we have $\dim_{\Phi,L} X \leq \operatorname{Ind}_{\Phi} X$.

Proof. The proof is very similar to that of 16.37, so that we will just indicate the necessary modifications. Assume that $\operatorname{Ind}_{\Phi} X = n$ and that the result holds for smaller inductive dimensions. Then, given $\gamma \in H^{n+1}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$, there is a locally finite closed covering $\{B_{\alpha}\}$ of X such that $\gamma|B_{\alpha} = 0$ and $\operatorname{Ind}_{\Phi} \partial B_{\alpha} < n$. By the inductive hypothesis, $\dim_{\Phi,L} \partial B_{\alpha} < n$. Construct the C_{α} , now just *locally* finite, and proceed as before.

Note that if X is paracompact, then $\operatorname{Ind} X$ is defined, and it is clear that $\operatorname{Ind}_{\Phi} X \leq \operatorname{Ind} X$. (In fact, it follows from the sum theorem for $\operatorname{Ind} X$ on paracompact spaces that $\operatorname{Ind} X = \operatorname{Ind}_{\Phi} X$ if $E(\Phi) = X$; see [62, p. 193].)

It is known that covdim $X \leq \text{Ind } X$ for X normal; see [62, p. 197]. There is a compact (but not metrizable) space X with covdim X = 1 (whence $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}} X = 1$) but with Ind X = 2 = ind X; see [62, p. 198]. Moreover, this space is the union $X = F_1 \cup F_2$ of two closed subspaces with $\text{Ind } F_i = 1$. There is also an example due to P. Roy [70] of a metric space (not separable) X for which ind X < Ind X.

16.40. Theorem. (The sum theorem.) Let X be locally paracompact and let L be any ring with unit. Suppose that $X = A_1 \cup A_2 \cup \cdots$, where the A_i are closed and dim_L $A_i \leq n$. Then dim_L $X \leq n$.

Proof. Let Φ be a paracompactifying support family on X and put $\mathscr{A}^* = \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$. Let $U_0 = X$ and $B_k = A_1 \cup \cdots \cup A_k$. By Exercise 11, $\dim_L B_k \leq n$. Let $\alpha \in H^{n+1}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) = H^{n+1}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*))$ and suppose that $a_0 \in \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*)$ is a cocycle representative of α . The exact sequence of the pair (X, B_1) has the form

$$H^{n+1}(\Gamma_{\Phi|X-B_1}(\mathscr{A}^*)) \to H^{n+1}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*)) \to H^{n+1}(\Gamma_{\Phi\cap B_1}(\mathscr{A}^*|B_1)) = 0,$$

since $H^{n+1}(\Gamma_{\Phi\cap B_1}(\mathscr{A}^*|B_1)) \approx H^{n+1}_{\Phi\cap B_1}(B_1;\mathscr{A}|B_1)$. Therefore there exist elements $a_1 \in \Gamma_{\Phi|X-B_1}(\mathscr{A}^*)$ and $b_0 \in \Gamma_{\Phi|U_0}(\mathscr{A}^*)$ with $a_1 = a_0 - db_0$. Since Φ is paracompactifying, there is an open set U_1 with $|a_1| \subset U_1$ and $\overline{U}_1 \subset X - B_1 = U_0 - B_1$. Thus $a_1 \in \Gamma_{\Phi|U_1}(\mathscr{A}^*)$. An inductive argument along these lines (replacing $\Phi = \Phi|U_0$ with $\Phi|U_1$, etc.) gives a sequence of open sets U_k with $\overline{U}_k \subset U_{k-1} - B_k$ and elements

$$a_k, b_k \in \Gamma_{\Phi|U_k}(\mathscr{A}^*)$$

with

$$a_{k+1} = a_k - db_k.$$

Now, $\bigcap \overline{U}_k = \bigcap U_k = \emptyset$, and so any given point $x \in X$ has a neighborhood meeting only finitely many \overline{U}_k . Since $|b_k| \subset U_k$ it follows that it makes sense to define

$$b = b_0 + b_1 + \cdots \in \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*).$$

On $X - U_k$, b coincides with $b_0 + \cdots + b_{k-1}$, and so db coincides with

$$d(b_0+\cdots+b_{k-1})=a_0-a_k,$$

which coincides with a_0 outside U_k . Consequently, $a_0 = db$ everywhere. Thus $\alpha = [a_0] = 0$, whence $H^{n+1}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) = 0$, and so dim_L $X \leq n$. \Box

16.41. Example. There are examples of countable connected Hausdorff spaces X. See [34, V-problem I-10] for one such example with a countable basis. For such a space, $\dim_{cld,L} X > 0$ by 16.20. Thus a result such as 16.40 (without local paracompactness) cannot hold for X.

16.42. Example. Let X be the set of points in Hilbert space with all coordinates rational. Then X is totally disconnected, but $\operatorname{Ind} X = 1$ as shown in [49]. Thus $\dim_L X = 1$ by 16.35 and 16.39 for any principal ideal domain L. Note that $X \times X \approx X$, so that $1 = \dim_L X \times X < 2 \dim_L X = 2$. Also note that there must be an open set $U \subset X$ with $H^{\perp}_{\Phi}(U;\mathbb{Z}) \neq 0$ by

16.32, where $\Phi = cld|U$. Now $H^1_{\Phi}(U;\mathbb{Z})$ is torsion-free by Exercise 28. Thus the cross product $H^1_{\Phi}(U;\mathbb{Z}) \otimes H^1_{\Phi}(U;\mathbb{Z}) \to H^2_{\Phi \times \Phi}(U \times U;\mathbb{Z}) = 0$ is not monomorphic in this example.

For further results concerning dimension, see Exercises 11 and 22-25 as well as IV-Section 8.

17 Local connectivity

In this section we take cohomology with coefficients in the constant sheaf L, where L is a principal ideal domain. There is the canonical inclusion $L \hookrightarrow \Gamma(L) = H^0(X; L)$, and the cokernel is called the *reduced* cohomology group $\tilde{H}^0(X; L) = H^0(X; L)/L$. For $p \neq 0$ we let $\tilde{H}^p(X; L) = H^p(X; L)$.

17.1. Definition. The space X is said to be $n\text{-}clc_L$ (cohomology locally connected) if for each point $x \in X$ and neighborhood N of x, there is a neighborhood $M \subset N$ of x such that the restriction homomorphism

$$r_{M,N}^n: \tilde{H}^n(N;L) \to \tilde{H}^n(M;L)$$

is zero.

X is said to be clc_L^n if it is k-clc_L for all $k \leq n$ and clc_L^∞ if it is k-clc_L for all k.

X is said to be clc_L if given x and N as above, M can be chosen, independently of n, so that $r_{M,N}^n = 0$ for all n.

Of course, the definition is not affected if we require M and N to be taken from a given neighborhood basis. It is clear that X is $0-clc_L$ if every point $x \in X$ has arbitrarily small connected neighborhoods (i.e., Xis "locally connected"), since $\tilde{H}^0(U; L) = \Gamma(L|U)/L = 0 \Leftrightarrow U$ is connected. Conversely, if X is $0-clc_L$, then given an open set N and a point $x \in N$, there is an open neighborhood M of x such that for any separation N = $U \cup V$ into disjoint open sets with $x \in U$ we have $M \subset U$. This means that the quasi-component of N containing x is open. But if all quasi-components of an open set are open then these quasi-components must be connected, and that implies that X is locally connected.⁴² Thus we have shown:

 $X \text{ is } 0\text{-}clc_L \iff X \text{ is locally connected.}$

17.2. Proposition. The space X is $n \cdot clc_L \Leftrightarrow given x \in X$ and N as in 17.1, there is a neighborhood $M \subset N$ of x such that $\operatorname{Im} r^n_{M,N}$ is finitely generated.

⁴²Also see [85, pp. 40 ff.].

Proof. This follows from the fact that $\lim \tilde{H}^n(N) = \tilde{H}^n(x) = 0$, since a point is always taut.

17.3. Lemma. Consider a commutative diagram of L-modules of the form

in which the middle row is exact. Let "small" mean "zero" or "finitely generated." In both of these cases, if $\operatorname{Im} th$ and $\operatorname{Im} ks$ are small, then $\operatorname{Im} gf$ is also small.

Proof. Put K = Ker jf. Then $gf(K) \subset \text{Im } th$ and hence is small. Also, jf induces a monomorphism $A_2/K \rightarrow B_3$, and its image $jf(A_2) = ks(A_2)$ is small, whence A_2/K is small. Thus there is a small submodule $S \subset A_2$ such that $A_2 = K + S$. Then $gf(A_2) = gf(K) + gf(S)$, which is small. \Box

17.4. Theorem. (Wilder.) Let X be locally compact Hausdorff. Consider the following four conditions:

- (rⁿ) If K and M are compact subspaces of X with $K \subset \text{int } M$, then $\operatorname{Im}(r_{K,M}^n: H^n(M; L) \to H^n(K; L))$ is finitely generated.
- (r_{\bullet}^{n}) If M is a neighborhood of $x \in X$, then there is a neighborhood $K \subset M$ of x with $\operatorname{Im} r_{K,M}^{n}$ finitely generated; i.e., X is $n-\operatorname{clc}_{L}$.
- (j^n) If U and V are open, relatively compact subspaces of X with $\overline{V} \subset U$, then $\operatorname{Im}(j^n_{U,V}: H^n_c(V; L) \to H^n_c(U; L))$ is finitely generated.
- (j_{\bullet}^{n}) If U is an open neighborhood of $x \in X$, then there is an open neighborhood $V \subset U$ of x with $\operatorname{Im} j_{U,V}^{n}$ finitely generated.

Then the following implications are true:

$$\begin{array}{rcl} (r^n) &\Rightarrow& (r^n_{\bullet}),\\ (j^n) &\Rightarrow& (j^n_{\bullet}),\\ (r^n) \ and \ (r^{n-1}) &\Rightarrow& (j^n),\\ (r^n_{\bullet}) \ and \ (r^{n-1}) &\Rightarrow& (r^n),\\ (j^n) \ and \ (j^{n-1}) &\Rightarrow& (r^{n-1}),\\ (j^n_{\bullet}) \ and \ (j^{n+1}) &\Rightarrow& (j^n). \end{array}$$

Proof. The first two implications are trivial.

Suppose that (r^n) and (r^{n-1}) hold. Given relatively compact open sets U, W with $\overline{U} \subset W$, construct an open set V and compact sets K, L, and M such that $U \subset V \subset W \subset K \subset L \subset M$, with the closure of each contained in the interior of the next. Then 17.3 applied to the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} H^n_c(U) & \to & H^n(M) \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ H^{n-1}(L-V) & \to & H^n_c(V) & \to & H^n(L) \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ H^{n-1}(K-W) & \to & H^n_c(W) \end{array}$$

implies that condition (j^n) holds.

Now assume that X satisfies (r^n) and (r^{n-1}) . Let M be fixed and let \mathfrak{S} be the collection of compact subsets K of int M such that K has a neighborhood K' in int M with $\operatorname{Im} r^n_{K',M}$ finitely generated. Then \mathfrak{S} contains a neighborhood of each point of int M by (r^n) . Let $K_1, K_2 \in \mathfrak{S}$ and let K'_i be a compact neighborhood of K_i (i = 1, 2) such that $\operatorname{Im} r^n_{K'_i,M}$ is finitely generated and let K''_i be a compact neighborhood of K_i with $K''_i \subset \operatorname{int} K'_i$. The Mayer-Vietoris diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H^n(M) & \to & H^n(M) \oplus H^n(M) \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ H^{n-1}(K'_1 \cap K'_2) & \to & H^n(K'_1 \cup K'_2) \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ H^{n-1}(K''_1 \cap K''_2) & \to & H^n(K''_1 \cup K''_2) \end{array}$$

together with 17.3 shows that $K_1 \cup K_2 \in \mathfrak{S}$ and consequently that \mathfrak{S} contains all compact subsets of int M, proving (r^n) .

Now suppose that (j^n) and (j^{n-1}) hold. Given K and M, construct L compact and U, V, and W open and relatively compact, with $K \subset L \subset M \subset U \subset V \subset W$, the closure of each being in the interior of the next. Condition (r^{n-1}) then follows from the diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H^{n-1}(M) & \to & H^n_c(U-M) \\ & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ H^{n-1}_c(V) & \to & H^{n-1}(L) & \to & H^n_c(V-L) \\ & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ H^{n-1}_c(W) & \to & H^{n-1}(K). \end{array}$$

Finally assume that X satisfies (j_{\bullet}^{n}) and (j^{n+1}) . Let U be a fixed open and relatively compact subset of X and let \mathfrak{S} be the collection of open subsets V of U such that \overline{V} has an open neighborhood V' with $\overline{V'} \subset U$ and with $\operatorname{Im} j_{U,V'}^{n}$ finitely generated. Then \mathfrak{S} contains a neighborhood of each point in U by (j_{\bullet}^{n}) . Let $V_{1}, V_{2} \in \mathfrak{S}$ and let V'_{i} be an open neighborhood of $\overline{V_{i}}$ (i = 1, 2) with $\operatorname{Im} j_{U,V'}^{n}$ finitely generated. Also, let $V''_{i'}$ be an open neighborhood of $\overline{V_i}$ with $\overline{V''_i} \subset V'_i$. Then the Mayer-Vietoris diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H^n_c(V_1'' \cup V_2'') \to & H^{n+1}_c(V_1'' \cap V_2'') \\ \downarrow & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ H^n_c(V_1') \oplus & H^n_c(V_2') \to & H^n_c(V_1' \cup V_2') & \to & H^{n+1}_c(V_1' \cap V_2') \\ \downarrow & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ H^n_c(U) \oplus & H^n_c(U) \to & H^n_c(U) \end{array}$$

together with 17.3 shows that $V_1 \cup V_2 \in \mathfrak{S}$ and consequently that \mathfrak{S} contains all open sets V with $\overline{V} \subset U$, proving (j^n) .

17.5. Corollary. If $(r^{\leq k})$ stands for " (r^n) for all $n \leq k$," etc., then the following implications are true:

$$\begin{split} clc_L^k = (r_{\bullet}^{\leqslant k}) & \Leftrightarrow \quad (r^{\leqslant k}) \quad \Rightarrow \quad (j^{\leqslant k}) \quad \Rightarrow \quad (j^{\leqslant k}) \\ & \downarrow \\ (r_{\bullet}^{\leqslant k-1}) = clc_L^{k-1}, \end{split}$$

$$(\dim_L X < \infty \text{ and } (j_{\bullet}^{<\infty})) \Rightarrow (j^{<\infty}) \Leftrightarrow clc_L^{\infty}.$$

In particular $(r_{\bullet}^{<\infty}) = clc_L^{\infty}, (r^{<\infty})$ and $(j^{<\infty})$ are equivalent, and they are equivalent to $(j_{\bullet}^{<\infty})$ provided that dim_L $X < \infty$.

Proof. The proofs of all but the last implication are by an obvious induction on $n \leq k$. The proof of the last implication is a similar downwards induction from dim_L X.

17.6. Theorem. If X is compact Hausdorff and clc_L^{n-1} , then $H^n(X; L)$ is finitely generated $\Leftrightarrow X$ satisfies condition (j^n) .

Proof. To see the implication \Leftarrow , take U = V = X in (j^n) . For the implication \Rightarrow , let U and V be open sets in X with $\overline{U} \subset V$. In the diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H^{n-1}(X-U) \to H^n_c(U) \to H^n(X) \\ & & \downarrow r^{n-1} & \downarrow j^n & \downarrow = \\ H^{n-1}(X-V) \to H^n_c(V) \to H^n(X) \end{array}$$

Im r^{n-1} is finitely generated since $clc_L^{n-1} \Rightarrow (r^{n-1})$. It follows that $\text{Im } j^n$ is finitely generated, which is condition (j^n) .

17.7. Corollary. If X is compact Hausdorff and clc_L^n , then $H^p(X; L)$ is finitely generated for $0 \le p \le n$. \Box

17.8. Proposition. A closed subspace F of an n-manifold M^n satisfies property (r^n) . If M - F has only finitely many components, then F also satisfies property (r_{\bullet}^{n-1}) .

Proof. The first part is a trivial consequence of 16.29(a). For the second part, let B be a compact neighborhood in M of a point $x \in F$, so small that it does not contain any component of U = M - F. Let $A \subset \operatorname{int} B$ be another compact neighborhood of x. Then $H^n_c(U \cap B) = 0 = H^n_c(U \cap A)$ by 16.29(a). Since M is clc_L^{∞} , the restriction $H^{n-1}(B) \to H^{n-1}(A)$ has finitely generated image. Then the exact commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} H^{n-1}(B) \ \rightarrow \ H^{n-1}(B \cap F) \ \rightarrow \ H^n_c(B \cap U) = 0 \\ \downarrow & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ H^{n-1}(A) \ \rightarrow \ H^{n-1}(A \cap F) \ \rightarrow \ H^n_c(A \cap U) = 0 \end{array}$$

shows that $H^{n-1}(B \cap F) \to H^{n-1}(A \cap F)$ has finitely generated image. \Box

The following is an immediate consequence of the Mayer-Vietoris sequences:

17.9. Proposition. Let $X = A \cup B$ be locally compact Hausdorff. If A and B are closed, then

$$(r^k)$$
 for A and B, (r^{k+1}) for $X \Rightarrow (r^k)$ for $A \cap B$,

and similarly for (r_{\bullet}) in place of (r). If A and B are open, then

 (j^k) for A and B, (j^{k-1}) for $X \Rightarrow (j^k)$ for $A \cap B$.

17.10. Example. This example shows that the finite dimensionality assumption is essential for the implication $(j_{\bullet}^{<\infty}) \Rightarrow (j^{<\infty})$ in 17.5. Let $X = Y \times \mathbb{I}^{\infty}$ for some locally compact Hausdorff space Y. Then every neighborhood of a point $x \in X$ contains an open neighborhood homeomorphic to $V \times (0, 1]$ for some locally compact subspace V. But $H_c^p(V \times (0, 1]) = 0$ for all p by the Künneth theorem since $H_c^*((0, 1]) \approx H^*([0, 1], \{0\}) = 0$. Therefore X satisfies $(j_{\bullet}^{<\infty})$. On the other hand, if Y is not locally connected, then neither is X.

Similarly, the infinite product $X = \prod_{i=1}^{\infty} \mathbb{S}^1$ satisfies $(j_{\bullet}^{<\infty})$ because every point has a neighborhood homeomorphic to $\mathbb{R}^k \times X$ for arbitrarily large k. However, $X = \underline{\lim}(\mathbb{S}^1)^n$, and so $H^1(X; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\infty} \mathbb{Z}$, by continuity, which is not finitely generated. Thus X does not satisfy 17.7.

17.11. Example. This example shows that the implication $(j^{\leq k}) \Rightarrow clc_L^k$ is false in general. Let K be the union of k-spheres with radii $1/n, n \geq 1$ integral, and with a single point in common. Let X be the cone on K. Then X is compact, contractible, and clc_L^{k-1} , but not clc_L^k . By 17.6, X satisfies condition $(j^{\leq k})$.

17.12. Example. The compactified long line⁴³ is an example of a space that is $clc_{\mathbb{Z}}$ but is not *HLC*, since it is not locally arcwise connected at the point Ω .

⁴³See Exercise 3.
17.13. Example. Let Y be the interval $[0,\Omega]$ in the compactified long line. Let $W = Y \times \mathbb{S}^1$, let $z \in \mathbb{S}^1$, and let $A = \{\Omega\} \times \mathbb{S}^1 \cup [1,\Omega] \times \{z\} \subset W$. Let X = W/A. Then X is $clc_{\mathbb{Z}}$ (indeed it is a cohomology manifold with boundary; see V-16). Also, X is locally arcwise connected (which is the reason for the inclusion of the interval $[1,\Omega] \times \{z\}$ in the set to be collapsed). However, X is not *HLC* in dimension 1, for the circle $\{0\} \times \mathbb{S}^1$ cannot bound a singular 2-chain. [If it did, then X would be the image of a finite polyhedron. This would imply that X is metrizable, and it is not.] \diamond

17.14. Example. If a space is locally connected, then each point has arbitrarily small neighborhoods that are connected. It is reasonable to ask whether this holds for higher connectivities such as clc_L^k , $k \ge 1$. This example shows that this is false. It is a slightly modified and generalized version of an example due to Wilder [85, p. 198], which we shall call Wilder's *necklace.* First we describe a bead of the necklace. Let S_i be a k-sphere with base point for $i \in \mathbb{Z}_n$, and let $f_i : S_i \twoheadrightarrow S_{i+1}$ be the base point preserving surjection of degree zero obtained by mapping S_i to a k-disk by identifying the upper and lower hemispheres and then collapsing the boundary of the k-disk to a point. Let B_i be the mapping cylinder of f_i . That is one bead. The k-sphere S_i is its "top" and S_{i+1} is its "bottom." Let $Y_n = B_0 \cup \cdots \cup B_{n-1}$. (Note that $S_n = S_0$.) This is a "strand" of the necklace. The *n* line segments made up of the generators I_i of the cylinders B_i between the base points form an *n*-gon T_n called the "thread" of the strand Y_n . Let X_n be the quotient space of the topological sum $Y_2 + \cdots + Y_n$ obtained by identification of the threads. Let the circle T be the common thread. Now, there is an obvious retraction $\rho_i: B_i \to I_i$, and these provide a retraction of the strand Y_n onto its thread T_n . This gives retractions $\pi_n : X_n \twoheadrightarrow X_{n-1}$ (n > 2) forming an inverse system of spaces. We let $X = \lim_{n \to \infty} X_n$, which is the whole necklace. We think of X as the union of the Y_n along T with a topology making Y_n "thin" as $n \to \infty$. It can be seen that X embeds in \mathbb{R}^{k+2} , but we do not need that. Note that $\dim_L X = k + 1$ by 16.40.

Now let C_i be the mapping cylinder of the map $S_i \to S_{i+1}$ taking all of S_i to the base point of S_{i+1} . (This is the one-point union, at the vertex, of a cone with a k-sphere.) Let D be the necklace, analogous to X, made up of the beads C_i rather than B_i . (D might be called a *dunce* necklace.) We will still use T to stand for the thread of D. Then there is a homotopy equivalence $\varphi : X \to D$ (restricting to $\varphi_i : B_i \to C_i$) with homotopy inverse $\psi : D \to X$, both being the identity map on the S_i and on the thread T; see [19, p. 48]. But there is an obvious strong deformation retraction $\theta : D \times \mathbb{I} \to D$ of D onto T. Then the composition

$$X \times \mathbb{I} \xrightarrow{\varphi \times 1} D \times \mathbb{I} \xrightarrow{\theta} D \xrightarrow{\psi} X$$

is a strong deformation retraction of X onto T. It follows that X is locally contractible,⁴⁴ and a fortiori, it is HLC and clc_L . (The argument just given

⁴⁴This means that for each point $x \in X$ and neighborhood U of x, there is a neigh-

proves local contractibility at points of T. Local contractibility at points outside T is obvious.)

Suppose now that N is some neighborhood in X of a point $x \in T$. We assume that N is small enough so that it omits a neighborhood in X of some other point of the thread T. Then for n sufficiently large, N contains some bead, but not all beads, of the strand Y_n . Clearly there must be some bead B_{i_n} of Y_n such that the top S_{i_n} of B_{i_n} is completely inside N but the entire bead B_{i_n} is not. (This is where the surjectivity of f_i is used.) Let $y_n \in B_{i_n} - N$ and let T'_n be a variant of T_n in Y_n that misses y_n . There is a map $Y_n \to T'_n \cup B_{i_n} \cup C_{i_n+1}$ that is φ_{i_n+1} on B_{i_n+1} , the identity on B_{i_n} , and ρ_j on B_j for $j \neq i_n, i_n + 1$. Consideration of several cases shows that $T'_n \cup S_{i_n}$ is a retract of $T'_n \cup B_{i_n} \cup C_{i_n+1} - \{y_n\}$, whence of $Y_n - \{y_n\}$. Putting $N_n = N \cap Y_n$, there are the restriction maps

$$H^k(Y_n - \{y_n\}; L) \to H^k(N_n; L) \to H^k(S_{i_n}; L) \approx L$$

whose composition is surjective. Now, $H^k(N \cap T; L) = 0.^{45}$ Thus, for m > n, a Mayer-Vietoris argument shows that

$$H^{k}(N) \to H^{k}(N_{2} \cup \cdots \cup N_{n-1}) \oplus H^{k}(N_{n}) \oplus \cdots \oplus H^{k}(N_{m}) \oplus H^{k}(N_{m+1} \cup \cdots)$$

is surjective, and it follows that the map $H^k(N; L) \to \bigoplus_{j=n}^m H^k(S_{ij}; L)$ is surjective. Consequently, $H^k(N; L)$ is not even finitely generated.

By taking a union along the threads T of Wilder's necklaces for $k = 1, \ldots, n$ and adding a 2-disk spanning T, one obtains a compact, contractible, and locally contractible space of dimension $n + 1 \ge 2$ that has points x such that any sufficiently small neighborhood N of x has $H^k(N; L)$ not finitely generated for any $1 \le k \le n$.

17.15. Theorem. (F. Raymond [69].) Let X be compact Hausdorff and let $F \subset X$ be closed and totally disconnected. Suppose that X - F is clc_L^{n+1} . Then X is $clc_L^n \Leftrightarrow H^p(X; L)$ is finitely generated for each $p \leq n$.

Proof. Let $x \in F$. Then any neighborhood of x contains an open neighborhood U such that $U \cap F$ is open and closed in F. Then there is a compact neighborhood $B_1 \subset U$ containing $U \cap F$ and there is a compact neighborhood $A_1 \subset \operatorname{int} B_1$ also containing $U \cap F$. Similarly, using $X - B_1$ as U was used, there are compact sets A_2, B_2 with $F - U \subset \operatorname{int} A_2, A_2 \subset \operatorname{int} B_2$, and $B_1 \cap B_2 = \emptyset$. Let $B = B_1 \cup B_2$ and $A = A_1 \cup A_2$. In the commutative diagram

borhood $V \subset U$ such that the inclusion $V \hookrightarrow U$ is homotopic to a constant map. ⁴⁵For k = 1 this follows from 10.11.

we have that $\operatorname{Im} j^*$ is finitely generated for $p \leq n$ since X - K satisfies (j^{p+1}) by 17.5. It follows that $\operatorname{Im} r^*$ is finitely generated for $p \leq n$. Since B is the disjoint union of B_1 and B_2 , it follows that $H^p(B_1) \to H^p(A_1)$ has a finitely generated image for $p \leq n$, showing that X is clc_L^n . The converse follows from 17.7.

17.16. Corollary. If X is locally compact Hausdorff and clc_L^{n+1} , then the one-point compactification of X is $clc_L^n \Leftrightarrow H^p_c(X;L)$ is finitely generated for each $p \leq n$.

Proof. This follows from the fact that $\tilde{H}^p(X^+;L) \approx H^p_c(X;L)$.

We conclude this section by giving one application of 17.5 and 17.8. It is a result of Wilder [85, p. 325] in modern dress and slightly generalized.⁴⁶ First we need a lemma.

17.17. Lemma. Let X be locally compact Hausdorff and $F \subset X$ closed. Let U be a union of some of the components of X - F and put G = X - U. Suppose that X is clc_L^{m+1} and that F is clc_L^m . Then G is also clc_L^m .

Proof. Let P, Q be compact subsets of X with $Q \subset \operatorname{int} P$. Let $k \leq m$. By 17.5, $H^i(P) \to H^i(Q)$ has finitely generated image for i = k, k + 1 and $H^k(P \cap F) \to H^k(Q \cap F)$ has finitely generated image. Then the exact sequences of $(P, P \cap F)$ and $(Q, Q \cap F)$, and an argument using 17.3 (and a set between P and Q), show that the restriction $H_c^{k+1}(P-F) \to H_c^{k+1}(Q-F)$ has finitely generated image. Now, X - F = U + V = (X - G) + V for some open set V, and it follows that $H_c^{k+1}(Q - G) \to H_c^{k+1}(Q - F)$ is a monomorphism (onto a direct summand). From the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{rcl} H_c^{k+1}(P-G) & \to & H_c^{k+1}(P-F) \\ & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ H_c^{k+1}(Q-G) & \rightarrowtail & H_c^{k+1}(Q-F) \end{array}$$

it follows that $H_c^{k+1}(P-G) \to H_c^{k+1}(Q-G)$ has a finitely generated image. Then the exact sequences of these pairs show that $H^k(P\cap G) \to H^k(Q\cap G)$ has finitely generated image. \Box

17.18. Theorem. (Wilder.) Let M be an n-manifold. Suppose that $F \subset M$ is closed and $clc_{\mathbb{Z}_2}^{n-2}$. Let $U \subset M$ be the union of a finite number of the components of M - F. Then \overline{U} and ∂U are locally connected.

 $^{^{46}}$ Wilder states his result for "generalized manifolds," but the present proof applies to that case. Wilder also assumes that M has the cohomology of a sphere, but that is not needed here.

Proof. Coefficients will be in \mathbb{Z}_2 throughout. As in 17.17, let G = M - U. Then G is $clc_{\mathbb{Z}_2}^{\infty}$ by 17.17 and 17.8. Let W and W' be connected open neighborhoods of a given point $x \in \overline{U}$ with $\overline{W'} \subset W$. Then in the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H^{n-1}_{c}(W' \cap G) \ \rightarrow \ H^{n}_{c}(U \cap W') \ \rightarrow \ H^{n}_{c}(W') \approx \mathbb{Z}_{2} \\ & & \downarrow_{\mathcal{I}^{*}} & & \downarrow_{\mathcal{I}^{*}} \\ H^{n-1}_{c}(W \cap G) \ \rightarrow \ H^{n}_{c}(U \cap W) \ \rightarrow \ H^{n}_{c}(W) \approx \mathbb{Z}_{2}, \end{array}$$

Im f^* is finite by property (j^{n-1}) for G. It follows that Im j^* is also finite. By 16.29, this implies that only a finite number of components, say V_1, \ldots, V_k , of $U \cap W$ meet W'. If $x \in \overline{V}_i$ for $i \leq k_0$ and $x \notin \overline{V}_i$ for $i > k_0$, then $\overline{V}_1 \cup \cdots \cup \overline{V}_{k_0}$ is a connected neighborhood of x in \overline{U} . Thus \overline{U} is locally connected. Since $\partial U = G \cap \overline{U}$, it is also locally connected by 17.9. \Box

17.19. Corollary. (Torhorst.⁴⁷) If M is a 2-manifold and if $F \subset M$ is a locally connected closed subset, then for any finite union U of the components of M - F, \overline{U} and ∂U are also locally connected. \Box

17.20. Example. Let U be the union of disjoint open disks in $X = S^2$ converging to a point $x \in X$. Then F = X - U is locally connected, but \overline{U} and ∂U are not locally connected at x. This shows that the last result is false without the restriction to finite unions. Similar examples in higher dimensions apply to Wilder's theorem. \diamond

18 Change of supports; local cohomology groups

This section will not be used in other parts of this book. It is partially based on Raymond [68].

Let Φ and Ψ be families of supports on X with $\Phi \subset \Psi$. Define the groups

$$I^{p}_{\Psi,\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) = H^{p}(C^{*}_{\Psi}(X;\mathscr{A})/C^{*}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A})).$$

The exact sequence

$$0 \to C^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to C^*_{\Psi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to C^*_{\Psi}(X; \mathscr{A}) / C^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to 0$$

of cochain complexes yields the exact cohomology sequence

$$\cdots \to H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \to H^p_{\Psi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \to I^p_{\Psi,\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \to H^{p+1}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \to \cdots$$
(36)

If \mathscr{L} is a flabby sheaf, such as $\mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$, then for $K \in \Phi$, we see that the sequence

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Psi|K}(\mathscr{L}) \to \Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{L}) \to \Gamma_{\Psi\cap(X-K)}(\mathscr{L}|X-K) \to 0$$

⁴⁷Torhorst proved this in the case $M = \mathbb{S}^2$.

is exact. But $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}) = \varinjlim_{K \in \Phi} \Gamma_{\Psi|K}(\mathscr{L})$, and hence

$$\Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{L})/\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}) \approx \varinjlim_{K \in \Phi} \Gamma_{\Psi \cap (X-K)}(\mathscr{L}|X-K)$$

naturally. Applying this to $\mathscr{L} = \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$ we have

$$I_{\Psi,\Phi}^{*}(X;\mathscr{A}) \approx H^{*}(\varinjlim_{K\in\Phi} C_{\Psi\cap(X-K)}^{*}(X-K;\mathscr{A}|X-K))$$

$$\approx \varinjlim_{K\in\Phi} H_{\Psi\cap(X-K)}^{*}(X-K;\mathscr{A}|X-K).$$
(37)

In case $\Psi = cld$, we put

$$I^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) = I^*_{cld,\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}).$$

If X is locally compact, then in [68], $I_c^*(X)$ is denoted by $I^*(X)$ and is called the *cohomology of the ideal boundary*.

18.1. Let $F \subset X$ be closed. We define

$$I^{p}_{F,\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) = I^{p}_{\Phi \cap (X-F),\Phi|(X-F)}(X-F;\mathscr{A}).$$

Assume now that F is Φ -taut (e.g., Φ paracompactifying) and let U = X - F. For a flabby sheaf \mathscr{L} on X we have the exact sequence

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi|F}(\mathscr{L}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi\cap U}(\mathscr{L}|U) \to 0$$

(since U is always Φ -taut). Moreover, the subgroup $\Gamma_{\Phi|U}(\mathscr{L})$ of $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L})$ maps isomorphically onto $\Gamma_{\Phi|U}(\mathscr{L}|U) \subset \Gamma_{\Phi\cap U}(\mathscr{L}|U)$. Thus the sequence

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi|F}(\mathscr{L}) \to \frac{\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L})}{\Gamma_{\Phi|U}(\mathscr{L})} \to \frac{\Gamma_{\Phi\cap U}(\mathscr{L}|U)}{\Gamma_{\Phi|U}(\mathscr{L}|U)} \to 0$$

is exact. Since F is Φ -taut, the middle group is naturally isomorphic to $\Gamma_{\Phi\cap F}(\mathscr{L}|F)$. Replacing \mathscr{L} by $\mathscr{C}^*(X;\mathscr{A})$, where \mathscr{A} is a sheaf on X, and passing to cohomology, we obtain the exact sequence (coefficients in \mathscr{A})

$$\cdots \to H^p_{\Phi}(X,U) \to H^p_{\Phi\cap F}(F) \to I^p_{F,\Phi}(X) \to H^{p+1}_{\Phi}(X,U) \to \cdots$$
(38)

Note that when $\Phi = cld$, then by (37) it follows that

$$I_F^p(X; \mathscr{A}) \approx \varinjlim H^p(W - F; \mathscr{A}),$$
(39)

W ranging over the neighborhoods of F.

18.2. Perhaps the most interesting case is that of the groups $I_c^*(U; \mathscr{A})$, where U is a dense open subspace of a compact space X. Then (36) becomes

$$\cdots \to H^p_c(U;\mathscr{A}) \to H^p(U;\mathscr{A}) \to I^p_c(U;\mathscr{A}) \to H^{p+1}_c(U;\mathscr{A}) \to \cdots$$

Letting F = X - U, we have $I_F^*(X; \mathscr{A}) = I_c^*(U; \mathscr{A})$, so that (38) becomes

$$\cdots \to H^p(X,U;\mathscr{A}) \to H^p(F;\mathscr{A}) \to I^p_c(U;\mathscr{A}) \to H^{p+1}(X,U;\mathscr{A}) \to \cdots$$

The latter sequence shows, for example, that if F is totally disconnected, then $I_c^p(U; \mathscr{A}) \approx H^{p+1}(X, U; \mathscr{A})$ for p > 0. Finally, (39) becomes

$$I_c^p(U;\mathscr{A}) \approx \underline{\lim} H^p(W - F;\mathscr{A}),$$

W ranging over a neighborhood basis of F in X.

18.3. When F in (39) consists of a single point, we obtain a type of local cohomology group.⁴⁸ We now consider a different, but closely related, notion of local cohomology.

The local cohomology group at the point $x \in X$ with coefficients in \mathscr{A} is defined to be $H_x^*(X; \mathscr{A})$ where the subscript x denotes the family of supports consisting only of $\{x\}$ and the empty set. For any family Φ containing $\{x\}$ we have, by 12.1 (provided that $\{x\}$ is closed),

$$H_x^*(X;\mathscr{A}) = H_{\Phi}^*(X, X - \{x\}; \mathscr{A}).$$

If $\Phi = cld$ and if $\{x\}$ is closed, then $\{x\}$ is Φ -taut, so that (38) and (39) yield the exact sequence

$$0 \to H^0_x(X;\mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{A}_x \to \varinjlim \mathscr{A}(W - \{x\}) \to H^1_x(X;\mathscr{A}) \to 0$$

$$\tag{40}$$

and the isomorphisms

$$H_x^p(X;\mathscr{A}) \approx \lim H^{p-1}(W - \{x\};\mathscr{A}), \quad \text{for } p > 1$$
(41)

(where W ranges over the neighborhoods of x). [This can, of course, be obtained directly by passing to the limit of the cohomology sequences of the pairs $(W, W - \{x\})$.]

Assume now that $\mathcal{A} = L$ is constant. Then if x is not isolated, we have $H_x^0(X;L) = \Gamma_x(L) = 0$. If, furthermore, $U - \{x\}$ is connected for a fundamental system of neighborhoods U of x, then (40) implies that $H_x^1(X;L) = 0$ also.

If X is an n-manifold with boundary B, then it can be seen that

$$H^p_x(X;L) \approx \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for } p \neq n \quad \text{or} \quad x \in B, \\ L, & \text{for } p = n \quad \text{and} \quad x \notin B. \end{cases}$$

⁴⁸For an *n*-manifold and constant coefficients it is the cohomology of the (n-1)-sphere.

Also, if X is a compact *n*-manifold with boundary B, then $I_c^p(X-B;L) \approx H^p(B;L)$, whence the term "ideal boundary." To see this, note that $I_B^p(X;L) = I_c^p(X-B;L)$ and apply (38).

The local cohomology groups introduced here have some pleasant properties, mainly because the limit in (41) is a direct limit. However, the problem of "comparing" the local groups at different points is quite difficult. See Raymond [68] in this regard. The situation in homology is considerably simpler because of the fact that the local *homology* groups form a *sheaf* (see Chapter V).

19 The transfer homomorphism and the Smith sequences

In this section let X be any topological space and let G be a finite group of transformations of X. Let X/G be the orbit space and $\pi : X \to X/G$ the orbit map [that is, X/G is the set of orbits $\{G(x) \mid x \in X\}$ given the quotient topology via the canonical map $\pi : x \mapsto G(x)$]. We shall assume that each orbit is relatively Hausdorff in X (e.g., X Hausdorff). Note that the map π is both open and closed.

19.1. Theorem. Let Ψ be any family of supports on X/G and let $\Phi = \pi^{-1}\Psi$. Let \mathcal{B} be any sheaf on X/G and let \mathcal{A} be the sheaf $\pi^*\mathcal{B}$ on X. Then there is a canonical action of G as a group of automorphisms of $\pi\mathcal{A}$. The induced action of G on $H^p_{\Psi}(X/G;\pi\mathcal{A})$ coincides with that on $H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathcal{A})$ via the isomorphism

$$\pi^{\dagger}: H^{p}_{\Psi}(X/G; \pi\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^{p}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$$

of 11.1. Moreover, the canonical homomorphism $\beta : \mathcal{B} \to \pi \mathcal{A} = \pi \pi^* \mathcal{B}$ of I-4 is a monomorphism onto the subsheaf $(\pi \mathcal{A})^G$ of G-invariant elements, whence

$$(\pi\mathscr{A})^G = (\pi\pi^*\mathscr{B})^G \approx \mathscr{B},\tag{42}$$

so that there is the canonical isomorphism

$$\bar{\beta}^*: H^p_{\Psi}(X/G; \mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^p_{\Psi}(X/G; (\pi \mathscr{A})^G)$$

with

$$\beta^* = \iota^* \bar{\beta}^*$$
 and $\pi^* = \pi^\dagger \beta^*$,

where $\iota : (\pi \mathscr{A})^G \hookrightarrow \pi \mathscr{A}$.

Proof. The equation $\beta^* = \iota^* \bar{\beta}^*$ is by definition. The equation $\pi^* = \pi^{\dagger} \beta^*$ has already been noted in Section 8.

For $g \in G$, regarded as a map $g : X \to X$, we have $\pi g = \pi$. Thus $g^* \mathscr{A} = g^* \pi^* \mathscr{B} = (\pi g)^* \mathscr{B} = \mathscr{A}$. Therefore we have the g-cohomomorphism

$$g^*: \mathscr{A} \rightsquigarrow g^*\mathscr{A} = \mathscr{A}$$

such that the diagram



of cohomomorphisms commutes. On stalks, (43) is the commutative diagram



of isomorphisms. If $U\subset X/G$ is open, then we obtain the induced commutative diagram



where g_U^* is defined by commutativity.

Thus we have the commutative diagram



of homomorphisms of sheaves on X/G and the commutative diagram

of cohomomorphisms. The diagram (44) induces the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H^*_{\Psi}(X/G;\pi\mathscr{A}) & \xrightarrow{g^*} & H^*_{\Psi}(X/G;\pi\mathscr{A}) \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \pi^{\dagger} \downarrow \approx \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & &$$

§19. The transfer homomorphism and the Smith sequences

in which the vertical maps are isomorphisms by 11.1 and the horizontal maps are also isomorphisms since each $g: X \to X$ is a homeomorphism.

For $y \in X/G$, we have

$$(\pi \mathscr{A})_y = \varinjlim_{y \in U} \mathscr{A}(\pi^{-1}U) = \mathscr{A}(\pi^{-1}(y)) \approx \underbrace{\mathscr{B}_y \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathscr{B}_y}_{n \text{ times}},$$

where $n = \#(\pi^{-1}(y))$. The homomorphism $\beta_y : \mathscr{B}_y \to (\pi \mathscr{A})_y$ is the diagonal map, and $g_y^* : (\pi \mathscr{A})_y \to (\pi \mathscr{A})_y$ permutes the factors \mathscr{B}_y as $g^{-1} : \pi^{-1}(y) \to \pi^{-1}(y)$ permutes the points of $\pi^{-1}(y)$. Thus we see that $\beta : \mathscr{B} \to \pi \mathscr{A}$ is a monomorphism onto $(\pi \mathscr{A})^G$.

Let $\sigma : \pi \mathscr{A} \to \pi \mathscr{A}$ be the endomorphism of $\pi \mathscr{A}$ defined by $\sigma = \sum_{g \in G} g^*$. Since the image of σ is invariant under G, σ induces a homomorphism $\mu : \pi \mathscr{A} \to (\pi \mathscr{A})^G \approx \mathscr{B}$. Therefore, we have the homomorphisms

$$\mathscr{B} \xrightarrow{\beta}{\longleftarrow} \pi \mathscr{A} \tag{45}$$

with $\beta \mu = \sigma = \sum_{g \in G} g^*$ and $\mu \beta = \text{ord } G$ (i.e., multiplication by the integer ord G).

Since $\pi^{\dagger}\beta^{*} = \pi^{*}$ we see that together with the isomorphism π^{\dagger} , the homomorphisms (45) induce the homomorphisms

$$H^*_{\Psi}(X/G;\mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{\pi^*}_{\mu^*} H^*_{\pi^{-1}\Psi}(X;\pi^*\mathscr{B})$$

$$\tag{46}$$

with

$$\mu^*\pi^*(b) = \operatorname{ord}(G)b$$
 and $\pi^*\mu^*(a) = \sum_{g \in G} g^*(a).$ (47)

The map μ^* is called the *transfer* homomorphism.

Let $H^*_{\pi^{-1}\Psi}(X;\pi^*\mathscr{B})^G$ denote the subgroup of invariant elements. The image of π^* clearly consists of invariant elements. The following result is immediate from (47):

19.2. Theorem. Let \mathcal{B} be a sheaf of L-modules, where L is a field of characteristic relatively prime to ord G. Then

$$\pi^*: H^*_{\Psi}(X/G; \mathscr{B}) \to H^*_{\pi^{-1}\Psi}(X; \pi^*\mathscr{B})^G$$

is an isomorphism.

19.3. Theorem. If X is Hausdorff and n-clc_L, where L is a field of characteristic relatively prime to ord G, then X/G is also n-clc_L.⁴⁹

⁴⁹Also see 19.14.

Proof. The case n = 0 is clear, so assume that n > 0. Let $x \in X$ and let $\check{x} \in X/G$ be its image. Let $U \subset X/G$ be a given open neighborhood of \check{x} . Let $S \subset G$ be a set of representatives of the left cosets of G_x in G, so that $\{g(x) \mid g \in S\}$ is an enumeration of the orbit G(x). For any $g \in S$ there is an open neighborhood $W_g \subset \pi^{-1}(U)$ of g(x) so small that $H^n(W_g; L) \to H^n(\pi^{-1}(U); L)$ is zero by the definition of n-clc_L. Since X is Hausdorff, we can assume that $W_g \cap W_h = \emptyset$ if $g \neq h$. Put $V = \bigcap \pi(W_g)$ and $V_g = \pi^{-1}(V) \cap W_g$. (Recall that π is an open map.) Then $V_g \subset W_g$, and $\pi^{-1}(V)$ is the disjoint union of the V_g . Therefore the restriction $r^* : H^n(\pi^{-1}(U); L) \to H^n(\pi^{-1}(V); L)$ is zero. From the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} H^n(U;L) & \stackrel{s^{\bullet}}{\longrightarrow} & H^n(V);L) \\ \pi^*_U & & & & \\ \pi^*_U & & & \\ H^n(\pi^{-1}(U);L) & \stackrel{r^{\bullet}}{\longrightarrow} & H^n(\pi^{-1}(V);L) \end{array}$$

we have $\operatorname{ord}(G)s^* = \mu_V^* \pi_V^* s^* = \mu_V^* r^* \pi_U^* = 0$, whence $s^* = 0$ since the characteristic of L is relatively prime to $\operatorname{ord}(G)$.

We wish to generalize the transfer to the case of the map $X/H \to X/G$, where H is a subgroup of G. First we need a lemma:

19.4. Lemma. Let $\alpha : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ be an endomorphism of a sheaf \mathcal{A} on any space X and put $\mathcal{A}^{\alpha} = \{s \in \mathcal{A} \mid \alpha(s) = s\}$. If $\pi : X \to Y$, then α induces an endomorphism $\pi(\alpha) : \pi \mathcal{A} \to \pi \mathcal{A}$ and there is a canonical isomorphism

$$\pi(\mathscr{A}^{\alpha}) \approx (\pi \mathscr{A})^{\pi(\alpha)}.$$

Proof. The composition $(\pi \mathscr{A})(U) = \mathscr{A}(\pi^{-1}U) \xrightarrow{\alpha} \mathscr{A}(\pi^{-1}U) = (\pi \mathscr{A})(U)$ gives the endomorphism $\pi(\alpha)$. Also, $\mathscr{A}^{\alpha} = \operatorname{Ker}(1-\alpha)$, so that the sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{A}^{\alpha} \to \mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{1-\alpha} \mathscr{A}$$

is exact. Applying the left exact functor π to this gives the exact sequence

$$0 \to \pi(\mathscr{A}^{\alpha}) \to \pi\mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{1-\pi(\alpha)} \pi\mathscr{A},$$

which shows that $\pi(\mathscr{A}^{\alpha}) \approx (\pi \mathscr{A})^{\pi(\alpha)}$.

Returning to the main discussion, let $\pi = \pi_G$ factor as

$$X \xrightarrow{\pi_H} X/H \xrightarrow{\pi_G/H} X/G.$$

Then the lemma and (42) provide the isomorphism

$$(\pi \mathscr{A})^{H} = (\pi_{G/H} \pi_{H} \pi_{H}^{*} \pi_{G/H}^{*} \mathscr{B})^{H} \\ \approx \pi_{G/H} ((\pi_{H} \pi_{H}^{*} \pi_{G/H}^{*} \mathscr{B})^{H} \\ \approx \pi_{G/H} (\pi_{G/H}^{*} \mathscr{B}),$$

$$(48)$$

whence

$$H^p_{\Psi}(X/G; (\pi\mathscr{A})^H) \approx H^p_{\Psi}(X/G; \pi_{G/H}(\pi^*_{G/H}\mathscr{B})) \approx H^p_{\Psi}(X/H; \pi^*_{G/H}\mathscr{B})$$

by 11.1. There is the homomorphism $\mu_{G/H} = \sum_i g_i^* : (\pi \mathscr{A})^H \to (\pi \mathscr{A})^G$, where $\{g_i\} \subset G$ is a set of representatives of the right cosets of H in G.⁵⁰ This induces a map $H^p_{\Psi}(X/G; (\pi \mathscr{A})^H) \to H^p_{\Psi}(X/G; (\pi \mathscr{A})^G)$, giving the transfer homomorphism

$$\mu^*_{G/H}: H^p_{\pi^{-1}_{G/H}\Psi}(X/H; \pi^*_{G/H}\mathscr{B}) \to H^p_{\Psi}(X/G; \mathscr{B})$$

such that

$$\mu_{G/H}^* \pi_{G/H}^* = \operatorname{ord}(G/H).$$

Since $\sum_{g \in G} g^* = \sum_i \sum_{h \in H} (hg_i)^* = \sum_i g_i^* \sum_{h \in H} h^*$, we have that $\mu_G = \mu_{G/H} \mu_H$, giving the relationship

$$\mu_G^* = \mu_{G/H}^* \mu_H^*.$$

19.5. We shall now restrict our attention to the case in which G is cyclic of prime order p. Let L be a field of characteristic p and let \mathscr{B} be a sheaf of L-modules on X/G. Let $F \subset X$ be the fixed-point set of G on X and note that F is closed. We shall also consider F to be a subset of X/G. Let $g \in G$ be a generator, chosen once and for all. Let τ and σ denote the elements

$$au=1-g,\ \sigma=1+g+g^2+\cdots+g^{p-1}$$

of the group ring L(G), and note that $\sigma = \tau^{p-1}$ since char(L) = p.

Since \mathscr{B} , and hence $\mathscr{A} = \pi^* \mathscr{B}$ and $\pi \mathscr{A}$, are sheaves of L-modules, L(G) operates on $\pi \mathscr{A}$.

If ρ denotes either σ or τ , let $\bar{\rho}$ denote the other. Let $\rho(\pi \mathscr{A})$ denote the image of $\pi \mathscr{A}$ under

$$\rho:\pi\mathscr{A}\to\pi\mathscr{A}.$$

Consider the sequence

$$0 \to \bar{\rho}(\pi\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{i} \pi\mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{\rho \oplus j} \rho(\pi\mathscr{A}) \oplus \mathscr{B}_F \to 0,$$
(49)

where i is the inclusion and j is the canonical map $\pi \mathscr{A} \to (\pi \mathscr{A})_F \approx \mathscr{B}_F$.

We claim that the sequence (49) is exact. On the stalk at $y \in F$ this is clear since $\rho(\pi \mathscr{A})_y = 0$ for both $\rho = \sigma, \tau$. For $y \notin F$, $(\pi \mathscr{A})_y \approx \mathscr{B}_y \otimes L(G)$, where the operation of L(G) is via the regular representation on the factor L(G). Thus it suffices to show that

$$0 \to \bar{\rho}L(G) \to L(G) \to \rho L(G) \to 0$$

⁵⁰It is immediate that $\mu_{G/H}$ is independent of the choice of the representatives g_i , whence its image is G-invariant.

is exact. Since it has order two (because $\sigma\tau = \tau\sigma = 1 - g^p = 0$) it suffices to show that dim $L(G) = \dim \rho L(G) + \dim \bar{\rho}L(G)$ as vector spaces over L. Now Ker $\{\tau : L(G) \to L(G)\}$ consists of the invariant elements and hence has dimension one. Consider the homomorphisms

$$L(G) \xrightarrow{\tau} \tau L(G) \xrightarrow{\tau} \tau^2 L(G) \xrightarrow{\tau} \cdots \xrightarrow{\tau} \tau^p L(G) = 0.$$

The kernel of each of these homomorphisms has dimension at most one, but the composition τ^p has kernel L(G) of dimension p. It follows that $\dim \tau^i L(G) = p - i$, whence $\dim \sigma L(G) + \dim \tau L(G) = 1 + (p - 1) = p = \dim L(G)$ as claimed.

This discussion also shows that $\tau^i(\pi \mathscr{A})/\tau^{i+1}(\pi \mathscr{A}) \approx \operatorname{Ker}\{\tau : \pi \mathscr{A} \to \pi \mathscr{A}\}$ on (X - F)/G and is zero on F, for i = 1, 2, ..., p - 1. That is,

$$\tau^{i}(\pi \mathscr{A})/\tau^{i+1}(\pi \mathscr{A}) \approx \sigma(\pi \mathscr{A}) \approx \mathscr{B}_{(X-F)/G} \quad \text{for } 1 \le i < p.$$
(50)

We define

$$_{\rho}H^{s}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) = H^{s}_{\Psi}(X/G;\rho(\pi\mathscr{A})),$$

called the "Smith special cohomology group." More generally, put

$$_{\tau^k}H^s_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) = H^s_{\Psi}(X/G;\tau^k(\pi\mathscr{A})).$$

Note that by (50) and 12.3, we have

$$_{\sigma}H^{s}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \approx H^{s}_{\Psi}(X/G,F;\mathscr{B}).$$
 (51)

By (49), 10.2, and 11.1, we have the exact Smith sequences

$$\cdots \to_{\bar{\rho}} H^{s}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{i^{*}} H^{s}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\rho^{*} \oplus j^{*}}_{\rho} H^{s}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \oplus H^{s}_{\Phi|F}(F;\mathscr{A})$$

$$\xrightarrow{\delta^{*}}_{\bar{\rho}} H^{s+1}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \to \cdots$$

$$(52)$$

(where $\mathscr{A} = \pi^* \mathscr{B}$ and $\Phi = \pi^{-1} \Psi$). It is easy to check that j^* is the usual restriction map. Similarly, using (50) we derive the exact sequences

$$\cdots \to_{\tau^{k+1}} H^{s}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{i^{*}}{\tau^{k}} H^{s}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{j^{*}}{\sigma} H^{s}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A})$$

$$\xrightarrow{\delta^{*}}{\tau^{k+1}} H^{s+1}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \to \cdots$$
(53)

Note that there is the commutative diagram

which induces the diagram

Similarly, using the fact that $\sigma = \tau \tau^{p-2}$, we have the following commutative diagram for p > 2,

which yields a relationship between the sequences (52) for $\rho = \sigma, \tau$.

Here are some applications of our general considerations:

19.6. Theorem. Let X be a Hausdorff space that has a connected double covering space \tilde{X} . Then $H^1(X; \mathbb{Z}_2) \neq 0$.

Proof. Since $\tau = \sigma$ for p = 2, the exact sequence (52) has the segment

$$0 \to H^0(X; \mathbb{Z}_2) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^0(\tilde{X}; \mathbb{Z}_2) \to H^0(X; \mathbb{Z}_2) \to H^1(X; \mathbb{Z}_2)$$

by (51), and the result follows.

19.7. Theorem. (P. A. Smith and E. E. Floyd.) Let X be a Hausdorff space with an action of $G = \mathbb{Z}_p$ with fixed point set F. Let $L = \mathbb{Z}_p$ and let \mathscr{B} be a sheaf of L-modules on X/G, and put $\mathscr{A} = \pi^* \mathscr{B}$. Let Ψ be a paracompactifying family of supports on X/G and put $\Phi = \pi^{-1}\Psi$, which is also paracompactifying. Assume that $\dim_{\Phi,L} X = n < \infty$. Then $\dim_{\Phi,L} F \leq n$ and $\dim_{\Psi,L} X/G \leq n$. Also, for each r,

$$\dim_L H^r_{\Psi}(X/G, F; \mathscr{B}) + \sum_{i=r}^{\infty} \dim_L H^i_{\Phi|F}(F; \mathscr{A}) \leq \sum_{i=r}^{\infty} \dim_L H^i_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}).$$

Moreover, if the Euler characteristic $\chi(X) = \sum (-1)^i \dim_L H^i_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$ of X is defined, then so are those of F and of X/G, and

$$\chi(X) = \chi(F) + p\chi(X/G, F).$$

Proof. The statements on dimension of F and X/G follow immediately from Exercise 11 and the local nature of dimension from 16.8. Let us use the shorthand notation $H^i(X) = H^i_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$ and $H^i(\tau^k) = {}_{\tau^k} H^i_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$, etc. Then, from (52) and (53) we derive the inequalities (with $\rho = \tau$ or $\rho = \sigma$)

$$\dim H^r(F) + \dim H^r(\rho) \leq \dim H^r(X) + \dim H^{r+1}(\bar{\rho}),$$

$$\dim H^{r+1}(F) + \dim H^{r+1}(\bar{\rho}) \leq \dim H^{r+1}(X) + \dim H^{r+2}(\rho),$$

These eventually become totally zero by the dimension assumption, and a downwards induction shows that all terms are finite if those for X are finite. Adding these inequalities gives

$$\dim H^{r}(\rho) + \sum_{i=r}^{\infty} \dim H^{i}(F) \leq \sum_{i=r}^{\infty} \dim H^{i}(X),$$

which gives the inequality of the theorem upon application of (51). Also, the exact sequences (52) and (53) give the following equations about Euler characteristics (with the obvious notation):

$$\begin{split} \chi(X) &= \chi(F) + \chi(\tau) + \chi(\sigma), \\ \chi(\tau) &= \chi(\tau^2) + \chi(\sigma), \\ \chi(\tau^2) &= \chi(\tau^3) + \chi(\sigma), \\ & \dots \\ \chi(\tau^{p-2}) &= \chi(\tau^{p-1}) + \chi(\sigma). \end{split}$$

Since $\tau^{p-1} = \sigma$ in the present situation, adding these and cancelling gives the desired result.

19.8. Corollary. Under the hypotheses of 19.7, suppose that X is acyclic. Then so are F and X/G. In particular, $F \neq \emptyset$.

19.9. Corollary. Under the hypotheses of 19.7, suppose that $H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \approx H^*(\mathbb{S}^m; \mathbb{Z}_p)$. Then $H^*_{\Phi|F}(F; \mathscr{A}|F) \approx H^*(\mathbb{S}^r; \mathbb{Z}_p)$ for some $-1 \leq r \leq m$. Moreover, m - r is even if p is odd.

19.10. Corollary. Let X be a paracompact space with $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}_p} X < \infty$ and with $H^*(X; \mathbb{Z}_p) \approx H^*(\mathbb{S}^n; \mathbb{Z}_p)$. Suppose we are given a free action of $G = \mathbb{Z}_p$ on X. If p = 2 then

$$H^*(X/G;\mathbb{Z}_2) \approx \mathbb{Z}_2[u]/(u^{n+1}),$$

where $\deg u = 1$. If p is an odd prime, then n must be odd and

$$H^*(X/G; \mathbb{Z}_p) \approx \Lambda(u) \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p[v]/(v^{(n+1)/2}),$$

where $\deg u = 1$ and $\deg v = 2$.

Proof. Coefficients will be in \mathbb{Z}_p unless otherwise indicated. Since \mathbb{Z}_p has no automorphisms of period $p, \rho^* : H^*(X) \to H^*(X)$ is zero for both $\rho^* = \tau^* = 1 - g^*$ and $\rho^* = \sigma^* = (\tau^*)^{p-1}$. The exact sequences

$$0 \to {}_{\bar{\rho}}H^0(X) \xrightarrow{i^*} H^0(X) \xrightarrow{\rho^*} {}_{\rho}H^0(X)$$

then show that $_{\rho}H^{0}(X) \approx \mathbb{Z}_{p}$ and that $\rho^{*}: H^{0}(X) \to _{\rho}H^{0}(X)$ is zero, because the composition $H^{0}(X) \xrightarrow{\rho^{*}} _{\rho}H^{0}(X) \xrightarrow{i^{*}} H^{0}(X)$ is zero.

By 19.7, $H^k(X/G) = 0$ for k > n. Similar considerations then show that $\rho^*: H^n(X) \to \rho H^n(X)$ is an isomorphism and that the maps

$$_{\rho}H^{0}(X) \xrightarrow{\delta^{*}} _{\bar{\rho}}H^{1}(X) \xrightarrow{\delta^{*}} \cdots \xrightarrow{\delta^{*}} _{\eta}H^{n}(X)$$

are all isomorphisms, where $\eta = \rho$ or $\eta = \bar{\rho}$, depending on the parity of n.

Let $L = \mathbb{Z}_p$ as a sheaf on X. Consider the case p = 2, so that $\rho = \sigma = \tau = \bar{\rho}$. We have the exact coefficient sequence $0 \to \sigma(\pi L) \to \pi L \to \sigma(\pi L) \to 0$ of (49). If $1 \in H^0(X/G) = H^0(X/G; \sigma(\pi L))$ and $a \in H^k(X/G; L)$, then for the connecting homomorphism $\delta^* : H^k(X/G; \sigma(\pi L)) \to H^{k+1}(X/G; \sigma(\pi L))$, we have $\delta^*(1 \cup a) = \delta^*(1) \cup a = u \cup a$ by 7.1(b), where $u = \delta^*(1) \in H^1(X/G; \sigma(\pi L)) = H^1(X/G)$. Since

$$\delta^*: H^k(X/G) \approx {}_{\sigma}H^k(X) \to {}_{\sigma}H^{k+1}(X) \approx H^{k+1}(X/G)$$

is an isomorphism for $0 \le k < n$, the result follows.

Now let p be an odd prime. Then n is odd by 19.9. The proof proceeds as in the case p = 2 except that σ and τ now alternate. Let $\delta_1^* : {}_{\sigma}H^k(X) \to {}_{\tau}H^{k+1}(X)$ and $\delta_2^* : {}_{\tau}H^k(X) \to {}_{\sigma}H^{k+1}(X)$ be the connecting homomorphisms for the exact coefficient sequences $0 \to \tau(\pi L) \to \pi L \to \sigma(\pi L) \to 0$ and $0 \to \sigma(\pi L) \to \pi L \to \tau(\pi L) \to 0$ on X/G, respectively, which we know to be isomorphisms for $0 \le k < n$. Then for $1 \in H^0(X/G) = {}_{\sigma}H^k(X)$ we have the elements

$$w = \delta_1^*(1) \in {}_{\tau}H^1(X) \text{ and } v = \delta_2^*(w) \in {}_{\sigma}H^2(X) = H^2(X/G).$$

Still, for $a \in H^k(X/G) = {}_{\sigma}H^k(X)$, we have $\delta_2^*\delta_1^*(1 \cup a) = \delta_2^*(w \cup a) = v \cup a$ by 7.1(b). It follows that v^i generates $H^{2i}(X/G)$, $1 \leq 2i < n$. We know that $H^1(X/G) = {}_{\sigma}H^1(X) \approx \mathbb{Z}_p$, so let $u \in H^1(X/G)$ be any generator. Then the preceding remarks also show that uv^i generates $H^{2i+1}(X/G)$, $1 \leq 2i + 1 \leq n$. Now $u^2 = 0$ for the usual reason: $u^2 = u \cup u = -u \cup u$. The result follows.

When \mathbb{Z}_p acts on a space with the integral cohomology of \mathbb{S}^n , then the fixed-point set F is a cohomology r-sphere over \mathbb{Z}_p by 19.9, but it may well have other torsion. (The first such example, given by the author [13], was a differentiable action of \mathbb{Z}_2 on \mathbb{S}^5 with F a lens space.) It is now known, due mainly to work of Jones and Oliver, that this torsion is virtually arbitrary. Thus it may be somewhat surprising that the *integral* cohomology of the *orbit space* is completely determined by n and r, as the following result shows.

19.11. Corollary. [17] Let X be a paracompact space with $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}_p} X < \infty$. Let L be either Z or \mathbb{Z}_p , p prime, and assume that $H^*(X; L) \approx H^*(\mathbb{S}^n; L)$. Suppose that $G = \mathbb{Z}_p$ acts on X with $H^*(F; \mathbb{Z}_p) \approx H^*(\mathbb{S}^r; \mathbb{Z}_p)$. Then in both cases,

$$\tilde{H}^k(X/G;\mathbb{Z}_p) \approx \begin{cases} \mathbb{Z}_p, & \text{for } r+2 \leq k \leq n, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

If $L = \mathbb{Z}$, then also

$$\tilde{H}^{k}(X/G;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \begin{cases} \mathbb{Z}_{p}, & \text{for } r+3 \leq k \leq n, \ k-r \ odd, \\ \mathbb{Z}, & \text{for } k=n \ if \ n-r \ is \ even, \\ 0, & otherwise. \end{cases}$$

Moreover, n-r is even $\Leftrightarrow g^* = 1$ on $H^n(X; \mathbb{Z})$.

Proof. By suspending X twice, it can be assumed that $r \ge 1$. The Smith sequence shows that the maps

$$H^{r}(F;\mathbb{Z}_{p}) \to {}_{\rho}H^{r+1}(X;\mathbb{Z}_{p}) \to {}_{\bar{\rho}}H^{r+2}(X;\mathbb{Z}_{p}) \to \dots \to {}_{\eta}H^{n}(X;\mathbb{Z}_{p})$$

are all isomorphisms, as is

$$H^n(X;\mathbb{Z}_p) \to {}_{\rho}H^n(X;\mathbb{Z}_p).$$

Then it follows from (54) that in the exact sequence of the pair (X/G, F),

$$H^{r}(F;\mathbb{Z}_{p}) \to H^{r+1}(X/G,F;\mathbb{Z}_{p}) \text{ and } H^{n-1}(F;\mathbb{Z}_{p}) \to H^{n}(X/G,F;\mathbb{Z}_{p})$$

are isomorphisms. The cohomology with \mathbb{Z}_p coefficients then follows.

For integer coefficients, the composition

$$H^{k}(X/G;\mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{\pi^{\star}} H^{k}(X;\mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{\sigma^{\star}} H^{k}(X/G;\mathbb{Z})$$
 (56)

is multiplication by p by (47). Therefore, $\tilde{H}^k(X/G;\mathbb{Z})$ is all p-torsion for $k \neq n$. The exact coefficient sequence $0 \to \mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{p} \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z}_p \to 0$ shows that there is the exact sequence

$$0 \to \tilde{H}^k(X/G; \mathbb{Z}) \to \tilde{H}^k(X/G; \mathbb{Z}_p) \to H^{k+1}(X/G; \mathbb{Z}) \to 0$$

for $0 \le k < n-1$ and for k > n, and this sequence is left exact for k = n-1. An induction then shows that $\tilde{H}^k(X/G;\mathbb{Z})$ is as stated for $k \le n-1$ and for k > n.

Now suppose that n-r is even. Then $H^{n-1}(X/G;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}_p$ maps monomorphically into $H^{n-1}(X/G;\mathbb{Z}_p) \approx \mathbb{Z}_p$, and so there is the exact sequence

$$0 \to H^n(X/G;\mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{p} H^n(X/G;\mathbb{Z}) \to H^n(X/G;\mathbb{Z}_p) \to 0,$$

where the marked map is the composition $\sigma^*\pi^*$ of (56). This implies that $\pi^*: H^n(X/G; \mathbb{Z}) \to H^n(X; \mathbb{Z})$ is monomorphic, whence $H^n(X/G; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}$. Moreover, $\sigma^* \neq 0$, and so $1 + g^* = \pi^*\sigma^* \neq 0$, whence $g^* = 1$.

Now suppose that n-r is odd. Then $\tilde{H}^{n-1}(X/G;\mathbb{Z}) = 0$, and so there is the exact sequence

$$0 \to H^{n-1}(X/G; \mathbb{Z}_p) \xrightarrow{\delta} H^n(X/G; \mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{p} H^n(X/G; \mathbb{Z}) \to H^n(X/G; \mathbb{Z}_p) \to 0,$$

in which the middle map is the composition (56). It follows that $K = \text{Coker } \delta$ is a subgroup of \mathbb{Z} , whence K = 0, or $K \approx \mathbb{Z}$ and $H^n(X/G; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}_p \oplus K$. If $K \approx \mathbb{Z}$ then the sequence implies that $H^n(X/G; \mathbb{Z}_p) \approx \mathbb{Z}_p \oplus \mathbb{Z}_p$, and so K = 0. Thus $H^n(X/G; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}_p$. The composition

$$\mathbb{Z} \approx H^n(X;\mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{\sigma^{\star}} H^n(X/G;\mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{\pi^{\star}} H^n(X;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}$$

is $1 + g^*$. Since the middle group is all torsion, this must be zero and so $g^* = -1$ and this can only happen when p = 2. (The reader should verify the somewhat exceptional case p = 2 and r = n - 1.)

19.12. Corollary. Suppose that X is paracompact with $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}_p} X < \infty$ (p prime) and $H^*(X;\mathbb{Z}) \approx H^*(\mathbb{S}^n;\mathbb{Z})$. Suppose that $G = \mathbb{Z}_p$ acts on X with $H^*(F;\mathbb{Z}_p) \approx H^*(\mathbb{S}^r;\mathbb{Z}_p)$. If r = n - 2 then $H^*(X/G;\mathbb{Z}) \approx H^*(\mathbb{S}^n;\mathbb{Z})$. If r = n - 1, then $\tilde{H}^*(X/G;\mathbb{Z}) = 0$.

19.13. Theorem. (E. E. Floyd.) Let X be a paracompact space with $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}} X < \infty$. Suppose that G is a finite group acting on X. If X is Z-acyclic then so is X/G.

Proof. If $H \subset G$ is cyclic of prime order p, then $H^k(X/H; \mathbb{Z}_p) = 0$ for k > 0 by 19.8. Since a p-group has nonzero center, an induction proves the same thing for H being the p-Sylow subgroup of G. Now, $\mu^*_{G/H}\pi^*_{G/H} =$ ord $(G) : H^k(X/G; \mathbb{Z}_p) \to H^k(X; \mathbb{Z}_p) \to H^k(X/G; \mathbb{Z}_p)$ is an isomorphism factoring through zero, so that $H^k(X/G; \mathbb{Z}_p) = 0$ for k > 0 and all primes p. An induction, using the cohomology sequences of the coefficient sequences

$$0 \to \mathbb{Z}_i \to \mathbb{Z}_{ij} \to \mathbb{Z}_j \to 0,$$

shows that $H^k(X/G; \mathbb{Z}_m) = 0$ for all m. Taking $m = \operatorname{ord} G$, we have that $\mu_G^* \pi_G^* = m$, whence $H^k(X/G; \mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{m} H^k(X/G; \mathbb{Z})$ is zero. The cohomology sequence of the coefficient sequence $0 \to \mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{m} \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z}_m \to 0$ then shows that $H^k(X/G; \mathbb{Z}) = 0$ for k > 0.

Remark: One can use Exercise 53 to replace the finite-dimensionality hypothesis in 19.7 and its corollaries, as well as 19.13, by an assumption that X is compact Hausdorff. This is done by showing, as in the proof of 19.10, that the connecting homomorphisms in the Smith sequences are cup products with fixed elements of $H^1(X/G; \tau^k(\pi\mathbb{Z}_p)), 0 < k < p$.

19.14. Theorem. (E. E. Floyd.) Let X be a locally paracompact Hausdorff space with $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}} X < \infty$. Suppose that G is a finite group acting on X. Let L be \mathbb{Z} or \mathbb{Z}_p for some prime p. If X is clc_L^{∞} , then so is X/G.

Proof. Let K be a closed paracompact neighborhood of $y \in X/G$. Since X is clc_L , there is a closed neighborhood $M \subset K$ of y such that the map $H^k(K^{\bullet}; L) \to H^k(M^{\bullet}; L)$ is zero for k > 0, where K^{\bullet} denotes $\pi^{-1}(K)$. Assume for the moment that G is cyclic of prime order p. Then by a downwards induction using 17.3 and the Smith sequences of the form (coefficients in \mathbb{Z}_p)

$$\tilde{H}^{k}(K^{\bullet}) \to {}_{\rho}H^{k}(K^{\bullet}) \oplus \tilde{H}^{k}(F \cap K^{\bullet}) \to {}_{\bar{\rho}}H^{k+1}(K^{\bullet}),$$

M can be chosen to be so small that ${}_{\rho}H^k(K^{\bullet}) \to {}_{\rho}H^k(M^{\bullet})$ and $\tilde{H}^k(F \cap K^{\bullet}) \to \tilde{H}^k(F \cap M^{\bullet})$ are both zero for all k and for both $\rho = \tau$ and $\rho = \sigma$. From the exact sequence of the pair (X/G, F), we see that M can be taken so small that $\tilde{H}^k(K;\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \tilde{H}^k(M;\mathbb{Z}_p)$ is zero, i.e., that X/G is $clc_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\infty}$. By an induction, as in the proof of 19.13, this also follows for G being any p-group. For general G and for H being the p-Sylow subgroup of G, $\mu_{G/H}^*\pi_{G/H}^* = \operatorname{ord} G/H$ is an isomorphism for \mathbb{Z}_p coefficients, so that X/H being $clc_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\infty}$ implies that X/G is $clc_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\infty}$, proving the case $L = \mathbb{Z}_p$ for any p. For any given integer m, an induction shows that M can be taken to be so small that $r_{M,K}^* : \tilde{H}^k(K;\mathbb{Z}_m) \to \tilde{H}^k(M;\mathbb{Z}_m)$ is zero for all k. For a closed neighborhood $N \subset M$ of y and with $m = \operatorname{ord} G$, we have that $mr_{N,M}^* = \mu_G^* \pi_N^* r_{N,M}^* = \mu_G^* r_{N^{\bullet},M^{\bullet}}^* \pi_G^* = 0$ for N sufficiently small. Then 17.3, applied to the diagram

gives the result for $L = \mathbb{Z}$.

The subjects of the transfer map and of Smith theory will be taken up again in V-19 and V-20.

20 Steenrod's cyclic reduced powers

In this section and the next we shall construct the Steenrod cohomology operations (the reduced squares and *p*th powers) in the context of sheaf theory and shall derive several of their properties. These two sections are not used elsewhere in this book and may be skipped. Several details of a straightforward computational nature are omitted.

Throughout these two sections p will denote a prime number, although much of what we do goes through for general integers p. The case p = 2differs in several details from the case of odd p, but it is basically much simpler. To avoid undue repetition, we shall concentrate on the case of odd p and merely note modifications that are necessary for the case p = 2.

§20. Steenrod's cyclic reduced powers

20.1. If \mathcal{A} is a sheaf on X, we let

$$T_p(\mathscr{A}) = \overbrace{\mathscr{A} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathscr{A}}^{p \text{ times}}$$
.

The symmetric group S_p on p elements acts on $T_p(\mathcal{A})$ as a group of automorphisms in the obvious way. Let \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} be given sheaves on X and assume that we are given a homomorphism

$$h: T_p(\mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{B}$$

that is symmetric (i.e., such that $h\gamma = h$ for any $\gamma \in S_p$). The skew-symmetric case can also be treated, and most of what we shall do applies to both, but it is not as important as the symmetric case and will be omitted for the sake of brevity.

For a differential sheaf \mathscr{A}^* , $T_p(\mathscr{A}^*)$ is also a differential sheaf with the usual total degree and differential. In this case, we assume that the action of S_p includes the usual sign conventions (i.e., so that a transposition of adjacent terms of degrees r and s is given the sign $(-1)^{rs}$). Then the action of S_p commutes with the differential.

Let Φ be a family of supports on X and let \mathscr{A}^* be any Φ -acyclic resolution of \mathscr{A} for which $T_p(\mathscr{A}^*)$ is a resolution of $T_p(\mathscr{A})$. For example, the canonical resolution $\mathscr{C}^*(X, \mathscr{A})$, or any pointwise homotopically trivial resolution, may be used. Let \mathscr{B}^* be any *injective* resolution of \mathscr{B} .

Let $\alpha \in S_p$ denote any cyclic permutation of the factors of $T_p(\mathscr{A}^*)$ and of $T_p(\mathscr{A})$. For notational convenience, and for nonambiguity of later definitions, we shall take α to be that permutation taking the *i*th factor to the (i-1)st place. We also introduce the notation

$$\tau = 1 - \alpha, \sigma = 1 + \alpha + \alpha^2 + \dots + \alpha^{p-1}.$$

These are endomorphisms of $T_p(\mathscr{A}^*)$ commuting with differentials. Note that

$$\tau \sigma = 0 = \sigma \tau.$$

20.2. Let $h_0: T_p(\mathscr{A}^*) \to \mathscr{B}^*$ be a homomorphism of resolutions extending h. Recall that h_0 induces the cup product

$$H^{n_1}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A})\otimes\cdots\otimes H^{n_p}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A})\to H^n_{\Phi}(X;T_p(\mathscr{A}))\xrightarrow{h^*}H^n_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{B}),$$

where $n = \sum n_i$. (We have not actually shown this, but it will follow from later developments in this section.)

The composition $h_0\tau$ extends $h\tau = h - h\alpha = 0$: $T_p(\mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{B}$, and it follows that $h_0\tau$ is homotopically trivial, since \mathscr{B}^* is injective. Thus there exists a homomorphism $h_1: T_p(\mathscr{A}^*) \to \mathscr{B}^*$, of degree -1, such that

$$h_0\tau = h_1 d + dh_1. \tag{57}$$

Applying σ to the right of (57), we see that $h_1\sigma$ anticommutes with d. Preceding $h_1\sigma$ by the sign $(-1)^{\text{deg}}$, one obtains a chain map $T_p(\mathscr{A}^*) \to \mathscr{B}^*$ (of degree -1), and since this must extend $T_p(\mathscr{A}) \to 0$, it must be homotopically trivial. In terms of $h_1\sigma$ itself, this means that there is a homomorphism $h_2: T_p(\mathscr{A}^*) \to \mathscr{B}^*$ of degree -2 such that

$$h_1 \sigma = h_2 d - dh_2. \tag{58}$$

Similarly, applying τ to the right of (58) shows that $h_2\tau$ is a chain map and must be homotopically trivial. Continuing inductively one obtains homomorphisms $h_i: T_p(\mathscr{A}^*) \to \mathscr{B}^*$ of degree -i such that

$$\begin{cases} h_{2n}\tau = h_{2n+1}d + dh_{2n+1}, \\ h_{2n-1}\sigma = h_{2n}d - dh_{2n}. \end{cases}$$
(59)

20.3. In this subsection we shall assume that $p\mathscr{B} = 0$ (i.e., that \mathscr{B} is a sheaf of \mathbb{Z}_p -modules). Then $h\sigma = ph = 0$, so that taking $k_0 = h_0$, we can modify the above constructions to find homomorphisms $k_i : T_p(\mathscr{A}^*) \to \mathscr{B}^*$ such that

$$\begin{cases} k_{2n}\sigma = k_{2n+1}d + dk_{2n+1}, \\ k_{2n-1}\tau = k_{2n}d - dk_{2n}. \end{cases}$$
(60)

In the present situation, of course, we can factor $h: T_p(\mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{B}$ through $T_p(\mathscr{A}/p\mathscr{A})$. Thus it is actually of no loss of generality to assume that \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} are both sheaves of \mathbb{Z}_p -modules. With this assumption, \mathscr{A}^* and \mathscr{B}^* can be taken to be sheaves of \mathbb{Z}_p -modules, with \mathscr{B}^* now \mathbb{Z}_p -injective. (Note that in fact $\mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{B})$ would be \mathbb{Z}_p -injective because of formula (6) on page 41.)

For \mathbb{Z}_p -modules we have that $\sigma = \tau^{p-1}$, and if we define

$$\begin{cases} k_{2n} = h_{2n}, \\ k_{2n-1} = h_{2n-1}\tau, \end{cases}$$
(61)

we see immediately that the k_i will satisfy (60) when the h_i satisfy (59).

20.4. By applying Γ_{Φ} and using the canonical map $T_p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*)) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(T_p(\mathscr{A}^*))$, we obtain homomorphisms $h_i: T_p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*)) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{B}^*)$, which still satisfy (59).

In this subsection we shall suppose, generally, that we are given chain complexes A^* and B^* or differential sheaves, with differentials of degree +1, and homomorphisms

$$h_i: T_p(A^*) \to B^*$$

of degree -i such that the formulas (59) hold. For $a \in A^*$ we put

$$\Delta a = a \otimes \dots \otimes a \in T_p(A^*). \tag{62}$$

Since the case p = 2 differs from the case of odd p, we shall first assume that p is odd and shall then give the modifications necessary for p = 2. If p

is odd then $\tau(\Delta a) = 0$, and it follows from (59) that $h_{2n-1}(\Delta a)$ is a cycle when a is a cycle. We wish to show that $h_{2n-1}(\Delta a)$ is a boundary when a is a boundary and, moreover, to obtain a formula for $h_{2n-1}(\Delta(db))$. We claim that there is a natural formula of the following type:

$$h_{2n-1}(\Delta(db)) = \sum_{i=1}^{p} (-1)^{i} dh_{2n-i}(\gamma_{i}) \qquad (p \text{ odd})$$
(63)

where γ_i is a natural integral linear combination of terms of the form $a_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes a_p$ in which *i* of the a_j are equal to *b* and the rest are equal to *db*. Moreover, we claim that γ_p , which must be an integral multiple of Δb , is given by

$$\gamma_p = (-1)^{m(q+1)} m! (\Delta b), \tag{64}$$

where

m = (p-1)/2 and $q = \deg b$.

To obtain these formulas, we shall consider the chain complex L^* , where L^q is the free abelian group generated by the symbol b, L^{q+1} is the free abelian group generated by the symbol db, and the remainder of the L^i are zero. The differential is defined to take $b \mapsto db$. Let $\lambda : L^n \to L^{n-1}$ be that homomorphism taking $db \mapsto b$. Let $\Lambda : T_p(L^*) \to T_p(L^*)$ be $\lambda \otimes 1 \otimes 1 \otimes \cdots \otimes 1$. Then

$$\Lambda d + d\Lambda = 1. \tag{65}$$

Note that $\tau \Delta(db) = 0$. Let

$$\gamma_1 = \Lambda(\Delta(db))$$

and note that $\Delta(db) = d\gamma_1$. We define, inductively,

$$\begin{cases} \gamma_{2i} = \Lambda \tau \gamma_{2i-1}, \\ \gamma_{2i+1} = \Lambda \sigma \gamma_{2i}. \end{cases}$$

Using (65), it follows by an easy inductive argument that for $i \ge 1$,

$$\begin{cases} d\gamma_{2i} = \tau \gamma_{2i-1}, \\ d\gamma_{2i+1} = \sigma \gamma_{2i}. \end{cases}$$
(66)

These definitions make sense in $T_p(A^*)$, and the equations (66) remain valid, since we have a natural chain map $L^* \to A^*$. [In $T_p(A^*)$, Λ can be thought of as a formal operator that tells us how to write down γ_{i+1} from the expression for γ_i .] Using (59) and (66) inductively leads immediately to equation (63). (Note that γ_{p+1} is necessarily zero.) It remains for us to prove formula (64).

For the proof of (64) let us define, in $T_p(L^*)$, the operator Λ_i given by

$$\Lambda_i(a_1\otimes\cdots\otimes a_p)=(-1)^{q_1+\cdots+q_{i-1}}a_1\otimes\cdots\otimes a_{i-1}\otimes\lambda a_i\otimes a_{i+1}\otimes\cdots\otimes a_p,$$

where $q_i = \deg a_i$. Thus $\Lambda = \Lambda_1$, and it is easily computed that

$$\Lambda_i \alpha^j = \alpha^j \Lambda_{i+j}.$$

In particular, we have

$$\begin{cases} \Lambda_i \tau = \Lambda_i - \alpha \Lambda_{i+1}, \\ \Lambda_i \sigma = \sum_j \alpha^j \Lambda_{i+j}. \end{cases}$$
(67)

Moreover,

$$\begin{cases} \Lambda_i \Lambda_j = -\Lambda_j \Lambda_i, \\ \Lambda_i \Lambda_i = 0. \end{cases}$$
(68)

Now let $M_i = \Lambda_{i+1}\Lambda_i$. Using (67) and (68) to move the operators Λ_i to the right, we see that $\gamma_2 = -\alpha M_1(\Delta db)$, $\gamma_3 = -\sum \alpha^{i-1}\Lambda_i M_1(\Delta db)$, and, by an easy induction, that

$$\begin{cases} \gamma_{2r} = (-1)^r \sum \alpha^j M_j \cdots M_i M_1(\Delta db), \\ \gamma_{2r+1} = (-1)^r \sum \alpha^{k-1} \Lambda_k M_j \cdots M_i M_1(\Delta db), \end{cases}$$
(69)

where the number of M's occurring in each equation is r and the summations run over all free indices.

Now, in the computation of γ_p note that the term $\Lambda_k M_j \cdots M_i M_1(\Delta db)$, when it is nonzero, must be Δb up to sign. Each M_i contributes the sign $(-1)^q$, where $q = \deg b$, and Λ_k contributes no sign (since k is necessarily odd and the first k - 1 terms in the tensor product it operates on are of the same degree). Thus, when r = (p - 1)/2 = m, we have $\Lambda_k M_j \cdots M_i M_1(\Delta db) = (-1)^{mq} (\Delta b)$. It follows that γ_p is $(-1)^m$ times $(-1)^{mq}$ times the number of permutations of m objects [the M's and Λ_k in (69)] times Δb . This yields formula (64).

Now let $a, b \in A^q$ be cycles, and consider $\Delta(a+b) - \Delta a - \Delta b \in T_p(A^q)$. This is a sum of monomials in a and b. These monomials are permuted by α , and none of them is left fixed by α . Thus the cyclic group generated by α , being of prime order, acts freely on this set of monomials. Select one of these monomials out of each orbit of this group action and let c be the sum of these. Then dc = 0 and $\sigma c = \Delta(a+b) - \Delta a - \Delta b$. It follows from (59) that

$$h_{2n-1}(\Delta(a+b)) - h_{2n-1}(\Delta a) - h_{2n-1}(\Delta b) = -dh_{2n}(c).$$
(70)

By (59) the mapping $a \mapsto h_{2n-1}(\Delta a)$ takes cycles into cycles, and by (63) it takes boundaries into boundaries. Thus, by (70), it yields homomorphisms

$$St_{2n-1}: H^q(A^*) \to H^{pq-(2n-1)}(B^*) \text{ for } p \text{ odd.}$$
 (71)

For p = 2 we have that $\sigma(\Delta a) = 0$ when $q = \deg a$ is odd, and $\tau(\Delta a) = 0$ when q is even. It follows easily from (59) that

$$h_{n+1}(da \otimes da) = (-1)^{n+1} dh_{n+1}(a \otimes da) + (-1)^{q-n} dh_n(a \otimes a) \quad \text{for } q-n \text{ odd.}$$
(72)

As before, it is easily seen that $a \mapsto h_n(a \otimes a)$ induces a homomorphism

$$St_n: H^q(A^*) \to H^{2q-n}(B^*) \quad \text{for } p=2 \text{ and } q-n \text{ odd.}$$
(73)

It is convenient to introduce the notation $St^j = St_n$ on $H^q(A^*)$, where j = q(p-1) - n. Thus (71) and (73) become, for any p,

$$St^j: H^q(A^*) \to H^{q+j}(B^*)$$
 for j odd.

Finally, we claim that the image of St^j consists of elements of order p. In fact, for p odd, we have that $p(\Delta a) = \sigma(\Delta a)$, and (59) shows that $ph_{2n-1}(\Delta a) = h_{2n-1}(\sigma(\Delta a))$ is a boundary when a is a cycle, as claimed. This also follows when p = 2 in a similar manner.

20.5. Now suppose that for chain complexes A^* and B^* we are given homomorphisms

$$k_i: T_p(A^*) \to B^*$$

(of degree -i) satisfying the equations (60). Then as in 20.4, we can derive the formula

$$k_{2n}(\Delta(db)) = \sum_{i=0}^{p-1} (-1)^i dk_{2n-i}(\gamma_{i+1}) \quad \text{for } p \text{ odd}, \tag{74}$$

with γ_i as in 20.4 and, in particular, with γ_p given by formula (64). Similarly to (70), we also have, for da = 0 = db,

$$k_{2n}(\Delta(a+b)) - k_{2n}(\Delta a) - k_{2n}(\Delta b) = dk_{2n+1}(c).$$
(75)

For p = 2 we have formula (72) with k_i in place of h_i and valid for q - n even $(q = \deg a)$, as well as an analogue of (74).

Thus, $a \mapsto k_{2n}(\Delta a)$ [or $a \mapsto k_n(a \otimes a)$ for p = 2] induces homomorphisms

$$\begin{cases} St_{2n}: H^q(A^*) \to H^{pq-2n}(B^*) & \text{for } p \text{ odd,} \\ St_n: H^q(A^*) \to H^{2q-n}(B^*) & \text{for } p = 2 \text{ and } q-n \text{ even.} \end{cases}$$

That is, we obtain homomorphisms

$$St^{j}: H^{q}(A^{*}) \to H^{q+j}(B^{*}) \quad \text{for } j \text{ even.}$$
 (76)

20.6. We may apply 20.4 to the case in which $A^* = \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*)$ and $B^* = \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{B}^*)$ with the h_i induced from the h_i defined in 20.2. Thus we obtain homomorphisms

$$St^j: H^q_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to H^{q+j}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{B}) \text{ for } j \text{ odd.}$$

Now suppose that $p\mathscr{B} = 0$. Then the k_i constructed in 20.3 induce

$$St^j: H^q_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to H^{q+j}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{B}) \quad \text{for } j \text{ even.}$$
 (77)

If, as we may as well assume, \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} are both sheaves of \mathbb{Z}_p -modules, then (for p odd) $St^{q(p-1)-2n} = St_{2n}$ of (77) is induced by $a \mapsto h_{2n}(\Delta a)$ because of (61). A similar remark holds for p = 2.

If j = (p-1)q, then $St^j = St_0$ is induced by $a \mapsto h_0(a \otimes \cdots \otimes a)$ and hence it is the *p*-fold cup product followed by h^* .

Also note that if j > (p-1)q, then $St^j = St_{(p-1)q-j} = 0$, since $h_i = 0$ for i < 0 by definition.

20.7. We wish to show that the homomorphisms St^{j} constructed in 20.6 are independent of the choices involved. In particular, we wish to show that the definitions do not depend on the choice of the h_{i} in 20.2.

Suppose that $\{h'_i\}$ is another system of homomorphisms $T_p(\mathscr{A}^*) \to \mathscr{B}^*$ satisfying (59) and such that h'_0 extends the given map h. Then h_0 is chain homotopic to h'_0 , so that there is a homomorphism D_1 with

$$h_0 - h'_0 = D_1 d + dD_1.$$

Applying τ to the right of this equation, we obtain

$$(D_1\tau)d + d(D_1\tau) = h_0\tau - h'_0\tau = (h_1d + dh_1) - (h'_1d + dh'_1).$$

Rearranging terms, we have

$$(h_1-h_1'-D_1 au)d+d(h_1-h_1'-D_1 au)=0.$$

As in (57), this implies the existence of a homomorphism D_2 with

$$h_1 - h_1' - D_1 \tau = D_2 d - dD_2.$$

Apply σ to the right of this equation and proceed as before. An easy inductive argument provides the existence of homomorphisms D_i with

$$\begin{cases} h_{2n-1} - h'_{2n-1} - D_{2n-1}\tau = D_{2n}d - dD_{2n}, \\ h_{2n} - h'_{2n} - D_{2n}\sigma = D_{2n+1}d + dD_{2n+1}. \end{cases}$$
(78)

[Note that the construction of the D_n (and of the h_i themselves) does not use the assumption that \mathscr{B}^* is a resolution of \mathscr{B} but only that it is an injective differential sheaf.]

Applying Γ_{Φ} to these equations, we see that for p odd and $a \in \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*)$ with da = 0, we have

$$h_{2n-1}(\Delta a) - h'_{2n-1}(\Delta a) = -dD_{2n}(\Delta a)$$

since $\tau \Delta a = 0$ and $d(\Delta a) = 0$. This proves our contention for odd p, and the case p = 2 is similar.

The analogous result for the k_i (when $p\mathcal{B} = 0$) is proved in exactly the same manner.

We shall also show in 20.8 that the definitions of the St^j are independent of the choices of the resolutions \mathscr{A}^* and \mathscr{B}^* (for the latter this should be clear). It is shown in Section 21 that the St^j are also independent, up to sign, of the choice of the particular cyclic permutation α .

§20. Steenrod's cyclic reduced powers

20.8. Suppose that $f: X \to Y$ is a map and let $h': T_p(\mathscr{L}) \to \mathscr{M}$ be a symmetric homomorphism of sheaves on Y. Let Ψ be a family of supports on Y with $f^{-1}\Psi \subset \Phi$ and suppose that we are given Ψ -acyclic resolutions \mathscr{L}^* and \mathscr{M}^* of \mathscr{L} and \mathscr{M} such that $T_p(\mathscr{L}^*)$ is a resolution of $T_p(\mathscr{L})$. Also assume that we are given homomorphisms $h'_i: T_p(\mathscr{L}^*) \to \mathscr{M}^*$ satisfying (59) [or k'_i satisfying (60)] and extending h'. Suppose further that we are given f-cohomomorphisms $k: \mathscr{L} \to \mathscr{A}$ and $g: \mathscr{M} \to \mathscr{B}$ such that the diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} T_p(\mathscr{L}) & \stackrel{h'}{\longrightarrow} & \mathscr{M} \\ \Delta k & & & & \downarrow g \\ T_p(\mathscr{A}) & \stackrel{h}{\longrightarrow} & \mathscr{B} \end{array}$$

commutes (where $\Delta k = k \otimes \cdots \otimes k$). Also suppose that k and g extend to f-cohomomorphisms $k^* : \mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{A}^*$ and $g^* : \mathscr{M}^* \to \mathscr{B}^*$ of resolutions. Consider the (not necessarily commutative) diagram

The maps $f(h_n)\Delta(k^*)$ and $g^*h'_n$ of $T_p(\mathscr{L}^*) \to f(\mathscr{B}^*)$ both satisfy (59) and extend $f(h)\Delta k = gh'$. Since $f(\mathscr{B}^*)$ is injective, it follows that homomorphisms $D_n: T_p(\mathscr{L}^*) \to f(\mathscr{B}^*)$ can be constructed, as in (78), such that

$$f(h_n)\Delta k^* - g^*h'_n - D_n\eta_n = D_{n+1}d + (-1)^n dD_{n+1},$$

where $\eta_n = \tau$ for *n* odd and $\eta_n = \sigma$ for *n* even. This formula remains valid upon passing to sections with supports in Ψ [of (79)], and it follows immediately that the diagram

commutes, where j is odd. This may also be shown for even j when $p\mathcal{B} = 0 = p\mathcal{M}$ and St^{j} is defined as in (76).

When f is the identity, these results show that the St^j are independent of the choice of the resolution \mathscr{A}^* (the independence of the choice of \mathscr{B}^* is clear). In fact, any \mathscr{A}^* such that $T_p(\mathscr{A}^*)$ is a resolution of $T_p(\mathscr{A})$ can be compared with $\mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$ by means of the maps

$$\mathscr{A}^* \to \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A}^*) \leftarrow \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A}),$$

and the middle term satisfies our hypothesis that the tensor product of the resolutions be a resolution of the tensor product. (This follows from Exercise 48, which asserts that the first map is a pointwise homotopy equivalence.) **20.9.** Suppose that we are given exact sequences $0 \to \mathscr{A}'^* \to \mathscr{A}^* \to \mathscr{A}''^* \to 0$ and $0 \to \mathscr{B}'^* \to \mathscr{B}^* \to \mathscr{B}''^* \to 0$ of chain complexes (with differentials of degree +1). Suppose, moreover, that we have *commutative* diagrams

where the h'_n , h_n , and h''_n satisfy (59) [respectively (60)]. Consider the induced diagram

$$\cdots \to H^{q}(A'^{*}) \xrightarrow{i^{*}} H^{q}(A^{*}) \xrightarrow{j^{*}} H^{q}(A''^{*}) \xrightarrow{\delta} H^{q+1}(A'^{*}) \to \cdots$$

$$\downarrow_{St^{s}} \qquad \downarrow_{St^{s}} \qquad \downarrow_{St^{s}} \qquad \downarrow_{St^{s}} \qquad \downarrow_{St^{s}} \qquad (82)$$

$$\cdots \to H^{q+s}(B'^{*}) \xrightarrow{f^{*}} H^{q+s}(B^{*}) \xrightarrow{g^{*}} H^{q+s}(B''^{*}) \xrightarrow{\delta} H^{q+s+1}(B'^{*}) \to \cdots$$

which is defined for odd s (respectively, for even s). This diagram is clearly commutative except for the square containing connecting homomorphisms. For this square, let $a \in A^q$ represent a cycle $j(a) \in A''^*$. Let a' be such that i(a') = da. Then in the case of odd s and odd p, for example, we have

$$fh'_{2n-1}(\Delta a') = h_{2n-1}(\Delta(da))$$

= $d\left(-r_p h_{2n-p}(\Delta a) + \sum_{i=1}^{p-1} (-1)^i h_{2n-i}(\gamma_i)\right)$ (83)

by (63) and (64), where $r_p = (-1)^{m(q+1)}m!$ and m = (p-1)/2.

Now, $gh_{2n-i}(\gamma_i) = h''_{2n-i}(j(\gamma_i)) = 0$ for i < p (since γ_i , for i < p, is a sum of monomials each of which contains a factor da = i(a')). Thus we also have that

$$-r_{p}h_{2n-p}''(\Delta j(a)) = g(-r_{p}h_{2n-p}(\Delta a))$$

= $g\left(-r_{p}h_{2n-p}(\Delta a) + \sum_{i=1}^{p-1} (-1)^{i}h_{2n-i}(\gamma_{i})\right).$ (84)

From (83) and (84) we see that $-r_p\delta St_{2n-p}[j(a)]$ is represented by $h'_{2n-1}(\Delta a')$. But the latter also represents $St_{2n-1}\delta[j(a)]$. In terms of St^s this means that

$$St^{s}\delta = (-1)^{s}(-1)^{m(q+1)}(m!)\delta St^{s}$$
 for p odd. (85)

We have proved this for odd s. The case of even s follows in the same way from (74).

In the case p = 2 it can be seen, in the same way, that (82) is commutative when it is defined (since in this case, the image of St^s consists of elements of order 2). We wish to apply these remarks to spaces. Let A be a Φ -taut subspace of X and assume that \mathscr{A}^* is flabby. The maps $h_n: T_p(\mathscr{A}^*) \to \mathscr{B}^*$ restrict to maps $T_p(\mathscr{A}^*|A) \to \mathscr{B}^*|A$, and the diagrams

clearly commute. Thus, if we define the St^s on the relative cohomology of (X, A), for A Φ -taut, via the isomorphism 12.1, it follows that the diagram

commutes when defined, except for the square involving connecting homomorphisms. This square commutes when n = 2 and satisfies (85) when p is odd.

We remark that this result can be extended to nontaut A by using the naturality of the particular set of h_n constructed in Section 21.

20.10. We shall now consider the case in which \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} are torsion-free. We put $\mathscr{A}_p = \mathscr{A}/p\mathscr{A}$ and note that the given map $h: T_p(\mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{B}$ induces a symmetric homomorphism $T_p(\mathscr{A}_p) \to \mathscr{B}_p$.

Now $St^j : H^q_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to H^{q+j}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{B})$ is defined for odd j, while $St^j : H^q_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}_p) \to H^{q+j}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{B}_p)$ (or from coefficients in \mathscr{A}) is defined for all j. We wish to find relationships between these operations.

If we use the fact, proved in Section 21, that the St^j can be defined using torsion-free resolutions of \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} then we could reduce these resolutions mod p to obtain resolutions of \mathcal{A}_p and \mathcal{B}_p and could use these for our comparison. However, we prefer to use another method, which, although longer, does not depend on this fact and has, perhaps, some independent interest.

The method we adopt utilizes the "mapping cone," of multiplication by p, of a differential sheaf. The mapping cone of $p : \mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{L}^*$ is the differential sheaf $M_p(\mathscr{L}^*)$, where

$$M_p(\mathscr{L}^*)^q = \mathscr{L}^{q+1} \oplus \mathscr{L}^q$$

and $d: M_p({\mathscr L}^*)^q \to M_p({\mathscr L}^*)^{q+1}$ is given by

$$d(a,b) = (-da, pa + db).$$

We have the exact sequences

$$0 \to \mathscr{L}^q \xrightarrow{\rho} M_p(\mathscr{L}^*)^q \xrightarrow{\beta'} \mathscr{L}^{q+1} \to 0,$$
(86)

where $\rho(b) = (0, b)$ and $\beta'(a, b) = a$. If \mathscr{L}^* is a Φ -acyclic resolution of a torsion-free sheaf \mathscr{L} , then according to Exercise 50, there is a natural isomorphism

$$H^q(\Gamma_{\Phi}(M_p(\mathscr{L}^*))) \approx H^q_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{L}_p),$$

and the homology sequence induced by Γ_{Φ} of (86) can be identified with the cohomology sequence of the exact coefficient sequence $0 \to \mathscr{L} \xrightarrow{p} \mathscr{L} \to \mathscr{L}_p \to 0$. [Note that ρ becomes reduction mod p and $\beta = -\beta'$ becomes the connecting homomorphism, which is called the "Bockstein" homomorphism in this case. We retain the notation ρ and β for these induced cohomology homomorphisms.]

Remark: The homology sequence of (86) shows that if \mathscr{L}^* is a resolution of a torsion-free sheaf \mathscr{L} , then

$$\mathscr{H}^{q}(M_{p}(\mathscr{Q}^{*})) \approx \begin{cases} \mathscr{Q}_{p}, & \text{for } q = 0, \\ 0, & \text{for } q \neq 0. \end{cases}$$

However, $M_p(\mathscr{L}^*)$ is not a resolution of \mathscr{L}_p since $M_p(\mathscr{L}^*)^{-1} \approx \mathscr{L}^0 \neq 0$. The minor alteration of dividing $M_p(\mathscr{L}^*)^0$ by $d(M_p(\mathscr{L}^*)^{-1})$ provides a resolution of \mathscr{L}_p , but we need not use this fact. The augmentation is induced by the canonical inclusion $b \mapsto (0, b)$ of \mathscr{L} in $\mathscr{L}^1 \oplus \mathscr{L}^0$.

Note that $p - \sigma$, as a polynomial in α , is divisible by τ . We let ω denote the quotient, so that

$$p - \sigma = \omega \tau.$$

Now suppose that $h_n: T_p(\mathscr{L}^*) \to \mathscr{M}^*$ are homomorphisms that satisfy (59). We claim that the following two statements hold:

- (i) Let $h'_n: T_p(\mathscr{L}^*) \to M_p(\mathscr{M}^*)$ be defined by $h'_n = (0, h_n)$. Then the h'_n satisfy (59).
- (ii) Let $h''_n: T_p(\mathscr{L}^*) \to M_p(\mathscr{M}^*)$ be defined by $h''_{2n} = (h_{2n-1}, h_{2n})$ and $h''_{2n+1} = (h_{2n}, -h_{2n+1}\omega)$. Then the h''_n satisfy (60).

These facts are easily obtained by straightforward computations, which will be omitted.

We shall digress for a moment to consider a construction to be used below. Define, for any differential sheaf \mathscr{A}^* (or chain complex), the homomorphisms θ and ψ of $T_p(M_p(\mathscr{A}^*)) \to T_p(\mathscr{A}^*)$ as follows: If $x = (a_1, b_1) \otimes \cdots \otimes (a_p, b_p) \in T_p(M_p(\mathscr{A}^*))$ and if $q_i = \deg b_i$, then we put

$$\begin{aligned} \theta(x) &= b_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes b_p, \\ \psi(x) &= a_1 \otimes b_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes b_p + (-1)^{q_1} b_1 \otimes a_2 \otimes b_3 \otimes \cdots \otimes b_p \\ &+ (-1)^{q_1 + q_2} b_1 \otimes b_2 \otimes a_3 \otimes b_4 \otimes \cdots \otimes b_p + \cdots \\ &+ (-1)^{q_1 + \cdots + q_{p-1}} b_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes b_{p-1} \otimes a_p. \end{aligned}$$

It is easy to check that

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{ll} \theta d \ = \ p\psi + d\theta, \\ \psi d \ = \ -d\psi. \end{array} \right.$$

Also note that

$$\begin{cases} \theta \alpha = \alpha \theta, \\ \psi \alpha = \alpha \psi. \end{cases}$$

Now define the homomorphisms

$$\lambda_n: T_p(M_p(\mathscr{A}^*)) \to \mathscr{B}^*$$

by the equations

$$\begin{cases} \lambda_{2n} = h_{2n}\theta + h_{2n+1}\omega\psi, \\ \lambda_{2n-1} = h_{2n-1}\theta + h_{2n}\psi. \end{cases}$$

We compute

$$\lambda_{2n}d - d\lambda_{2n} = (h_{2n}d - dh_{2n})\theta + h_{2n}p\psi - (h_{2n+1}d + dh_{2n+1})\omega\psi = h_{2n-1}\sigma\theta + h_{2n}(p - \tau\omega)\psi = (h_{2n-1}\theta + h_{2n}\psi)\sigma = \lambda_{2n-1}\sigma.$$
(87)

Similarly we have

$$\lambda_{2n-1}d + d\lambda_{2n-1} = (h_{2n-1}d + dh_{2n-1})\theta + h_{2n-1}p\psi - (h_{2n}d - dh_{2n})\psi$$

= $h_{2n-2}\tau\theta + h_{2n-1}(p-\sigma)\psi$
= $(h_{2n-2}\theta + h_{2n-1}\omega\psi)\tau = \lambda_{2n-2}\tau.$ (88)

Thus, by (87) and (88), the λ_n satisfy (59).

Now we let $\mathscr{A}^* = \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$ and let \mathscr{B}^* be any injective resolution of \mathscr{B} as usual. By statement (i) above, we see that the homomorphisms

$$\mu_n = (0, \lambda_n) : T_p(M_p(\mathscr{A}^*)) \to M_p(\mathscr{B}^*)$$

satisfy (59), and by (ii), we see that the homomorphisms ν_n defined by

$$\begin{cases} \nu_{2n} = (\lambda_{2n-1}, \lambda_{2n}), \\ \nu_{2n+1} = (\lambda_{2n}, -\lambda_{2n+1}\omega) \end{cases}$$

satisfy (60).

Since, in degree zero, $\lambda_{2n}((0, b_1) \otimes \cdots \otimes (0, b_p)) = h_{2n}(b_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes b_p)$, it follows that μ_0 and ν_0 both extend the homomorphism $h: T_p(\mathscr{A}_p) \to \mathscr{B}_p$. We claim that the homomorphism $St^j: H^q_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}_p) \to H^{q+j}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{B}_p)$ is induced by $(a, b) \mapsto \mu_n(\Delta(a, b))$ for j odd and by $(a, b) \mapsto \nu_n(\Delta(a, b))$ for jeven [where, of course, n = q(p-1) - j]. To see this, we note that there is a canonical homomorphism

$$M_p(\mathscr{A}^*) \to \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A}_p) = \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})/p \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A}),$$

which takes $(a, b) \mapsto b \pmod{p}$. This homomorphism clearly induces an isomorphism of derived sheaves, and in fact, it is just the map that identifies $H^q(\Gamma_{\Phi}(M_p(\mathscr{A}^*)))$ with $H^q_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}_p)$ (see Exercise 49). The diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} T_p(M_p(\mathscr{A}^*)) & \to & M_p(\mathscr{B}^*) \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ T_p(\mathscr{C}^*(X;\mathscr{A}_p)) & \to & (\mathscr{B}_p)^* \end{array}$$

[where $(\mathscr{B}_p)^*$ is any Z-injective resolution of \mathscr{B}_p] can then be treated as in 20.8, and our contention follows immediately. [Note that without modification, $T_p(M_p(\mathscr{A}^*))$ is not a resolution of $T_p(\mathscr{A}_p)$, and in fact, some of the derived sheaves in negative degrees are nonzero. However, the derived sheaves in positive degrees are all zero by the algebraic Künneth formula applied to the stalks, and this is sufficient for the construction of the homotopies of 20.7.]

Assume for the moment that p is odd. Taking sections, a q-cycle of $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathcal{M}_p(\mathcal{A}^*))$ is a pair (a, b) with deg b = q, da = 0, and db = -pa. Thus, for coefficients in \mathcal{A}_p and \mathcal{B}_p , St_{2n-1} is induced by

$$(a,b) \mapsto \mu_{2n-1}(\Delta(a,b)) = (0, h_{2n-1}(\theta \Delta(a,b)) + h_{2n}(\psi \Delta(a,b))),$$

while St_{2n} is induced by

$$(a,b) \mapsto \nu_{2n}(\Delta(a,b)) = (h_{2n-1}(\theta\Delta(a,b)) + h_{2n}(\psi\Delta(a,b)), h_{2n}(\theta\Delta(a,b)) + h_{2n+1}(\omega\psi\theta\Delta(a,b))).$$

Note that $\theta \Delta(0, b) = \Delta b$ and $\psi \Delta(0, b) = 0$.

Recall that reduction modulo p is induced by $b \mapsto (0, b)$ and that the Bockstein is induced by $(a, b) \mapsto -a$. It follows immediately that in the diagram



both of the triangles *anticommute* (and hence the outside square commutes). This also holds for p = 2 by the same arguments.

Remark: If in (59) and in similar equations we had chosen to use $dh \pm hd$ rather than $hd \pm dh$ (which would have been more logical in some ways), we would have obtained strict commutativity in (89). Clearly, such a change merely appends the sign $(-1)^n$ to h_{2n} and h_{2n+1} . We have adopted the present conventions because they provide slightly simpler formulas in several places, such as (63).

20.11. Let \mathscr{A}^* , \mathscr{B}^* , \mathscr{L}^* , and \mathscr{M}^* be differential sheaves (or chain complexes) and assume that we are given homomorphisms

$$\begin{cases} h_n : T_p(\mathscr{A}^*) \to \mathscr{B}^*, \\ k_n : T_p(\mathscr{A}^*) \to \mathscr{M}^*, \end{cases}$$
(90)

both of which satisfy the system (59) of equations. Let

$$\lambda: T_p(\mathscr{A}^* \otimes \mathscr{L}^*) \to T_p(\mathscr{A}^*) \otimes T_p(\mathscr{L}^*)$$

be the obvious "unshuffling" isomorphism (with the usual sign convention). It commutes with differentials. On $T_p(\mathscr{A}^*) \otimes T_p(\mathscr{A}^*)$ we use the notation $\Delta \tau = 1 \otimes 1 - \alpha \otimes \alpha$ and $\Delta \sigma = 1 \otimes 1 + \alpha \otimes \alpha + \cdots + \alpha^{p-1} \otimes \alpha^{p-1}$ [so that $\lambda^{-1}(\Delta \tau)\lambda$ and $\lambda^{-1}(\Delta \sigma)\lambda$ are the operators " τ " and " σ " on $T_p(\mathscr{A}^* \otimes \mathscr{A}^*)$]. Also, let $\Omega = \sum \alpha^i \otimes \alpha^j$, where the summation is over the range $0 \leq i < j < p$. The following identities are easy to verify:

$$\begin{cases} \sigma \otimes 1 + (1 \otimes \tau)\Omega = (1 \otimes \alpha)(\Delta \sigma), \\ 1 \otimes \sigma - (\tau \otimes 1)\Omega = \Delta \sigma, \\ 1 \otimes \tau + \tau \otimes \alpha = \Delta \tau, \\ 1 \otimes \sigma - \sigma \otimes 1 = \Omega(\Delta \tau). \end{cases}$$
(91)

We define homomorphisms $j_n: T_p(\mathscr{A}^* \otimes \mathscr{L}^*) \to \mathscr{B}^* \otimes \mathscr{M}^*$ by

$$\begin{cases} j_{2n} = \sum [(h_{2i} \otimes k_{2n-2i}) + (h_{2i+1} \otimes k_{2n-2i-1})\Omega]\lambda, \\ j_{2n+1} = \sum [(h_{2i} \otimes k_{2n-2i+1}) + (h_{2i+1} \otimes k_{2n-2i})\alpha]\lambda. \end{cases}$$

We claim that the j_n also satisfy (59). This is easily shown by formal manipulation using the identities (91). Note that $\Omega = 1 \otimes \alpha$ if p = 2, so that both equations can be combined in that case.

Now suppose that $\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{L}$, and \mathcal{M} are all sheaves of \mathbb{Z}_p -modules and that we are given symmetric homomorphisms

$$h: T_p(\mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{B} \text{ and } k: T_p(\mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{M}.$$

Let $\mathscr{A}^* = \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$ and similarly for \mathscr{B}^* , \mathscr{L}^* , and \mathscr{M}^* . These are all \mathbb{Z}_p -injective resolutions by (6) on page 6 since every (classical) \mathbb{Z}_p -module is \mathbb{Z}_p -injective. Thus the homomorphisms (90) can be constructed as in 20.2. Defining j_n as above, we see that j_0 extends

$$j = (h \otimes k)\lambda : T_p(\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{L}) \to \mathscr{B} \otimes \mathscr{M}.$$

Also, $\mathscr{B}^* \otimes \mathscr{M}^*$, being a resolution of $\mathscr{B} \otimes \mathscr{M}$, can be mapped into any injective resolution.

Now, for $a \in \mathscr{A}^s$ and $b \in \mathscr{L}^t$ and for p odd, we have

$$j_{2n}(\Delta(a \otimes b)) = (-1)^{p(p-1)st/2} \sum h_{2i}(\Delta a) \otimes k_{2n-2i}(\Delta b)$$
(92)

since $\lambda(\Delta(a \otimes b)) = (-1)^{p(p-1)st/2}(\Delta a) \otimes (\Delta b)$ and since $\Omega(\Delta a \otimes \Delta b) = p\left(\frac{p-1}{2}\right)(\Delta a \otimes \Delta b) = 0$. Similarly, if p = 2, we have

$$j_n((a \otimes b) \otimes (a \otimes b)) = (-1)^{st} \sum h_i(a \otimes a) \otimes k_{n-i}(b \otimes b)$$
(93)

(the sign is, of course, immaterial here).

Taking sections, passing to homology, and converting to upper indices, we get

$$St^{2n}(a \cup b) = (-1)^{p(p-1)st/2} \sum St^{2i}(a) \cup St^{2n-2i}(b) \quad \text{for } p \text{ odd} \qquad (94)$$

by (92). These are maps $H^{s}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \otimes H^{t}_{\Psi}(X; \mathscr{L}) \to H^{s+t+2n}_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(X; \mathscr{B} \otimes \mathscr{M})$ for sheaves of \mathbb{Z}_{p} -modules where Φ and Ψ are arbitrary support families. Similarly, by (93),

$$St^{n}(a \cup b) = \sum St^{i}(a) \cup St^{n-i}(b) \text{ for } p = 2$$

of $H^s_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \otimes H^t_{\Psi}(X; \mathscr{L}) \to H^{s+t+n}_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(X; \mathscr{B} \otimes \mathscr{M})$ for sheaves of \mathbb{Z}_2 -modules. These equations are known as the *Cartan formulas*.

21 The Steenrod operations

In this section, which is a continuation of the last section, we shall find certain values of j for which the operation St^{j} is trivial. Using this information, we then alter these operations to define operations, the "Steenrod powers," that possess somewhat simpler properties than do the St^{j} .

21.1. We shall first apply the results of 20.7 to show that up to sign, the St^{j} are independent of the choice of the particular cyclic permutation α . We shall then use this fact to find, for p odd, various values of j for which the operation St^{j} is trivial.

Let α denote the particular cyclic permutation that we have been using and let α' be any cyclic permutation of the factors of a *p*-fold tensor product. Then α and α' are conjugate in the symmetric group S_p . That is, there is an element $\gamma \in S_p$ with $\gamma \alpha' = \alpha \gamma$. If $\tau' = 1 - \alpha'$ and $\sigma' = 1 + \alpha' + \cdots + \alpha'^{p-1}$, then we have

$$\gamma \tau' = \tau \gamma \quad \text{and} \quad \gamma \sigma' = \sigma \gamma.$$

Applying γ to the right side of (59), we see that

$$\begin{cases} (h_{2n}\gamma)\tau' = (h_{2n+1}\gamma)d + d(h_{2n+1}\gamma),\\ (h_{2n-1}\gamma)\sigma' = (h_{2n}\gamma)d - d(h_{2n}\gamma). \end{cases}$$

Also, $h_0\gamma$ extends $h\gamma = h$, since h is symmetric. However, if $a \in \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*)$ is a cycle of degree q, then $\gamma(\Delta a) = (\operatorname{sgn} \gamma)^q \Delta a$, so that

$$\begin{cases} (h_{2n-1}\gamma)(\Delta a) = (\operatorname{sgn}\gamma)^q h_{2n-1}(\Delta a), \\ (h_{2n}\gamma)(\Delta a) = (\operatorname{sgn}\gamma)^q h_{2n}(\Delta a). \end{cases}$$
(95)

Thus St_{2n-1} , defined by means of α' , differs from St_{2n-1} , defined by means of α , by the sign $(\operatorname{sgn} \gamma)^q$ in degree q. This is also true, clearly, for St_{2n} when it is defined (i.e., for $p\mathcal{B} = 0$).

§21. The Steenrod operations

Let us now consider a particular choice of $\gamma \in S_p$ and let p be odd. Let γ take the *i*th term into the (i/k)th place (modulo p), where k is a generator of the multiplicative group of \mathbb{Z}_p (which is cyclic of order p-1). Then $\alpha' = \gamma^{-1}\alpha\gamma$ takes the *i*th term into the k(i/k-1)st = (i-k)th place. Thus $\alpha' = \alpha^k$. Moreover, γ takes $\langle k^1, k^2, \ldots, k^{p-1} = 1 \rangle \mapsto \langle k^{p-1}, k^1, k^2, \ldots \rangle$, and so γ is an *odd* permutation.

Now $\sigma' = \sigma$ for this choice of $\alpha' = \alpha^k$ and $\tau' = 1 - \alpha^k = (1 + \alpha + \dots + \alpha^{k-1})\tau$. Let us define

$$\begin{cases} h'_{2n} = h_{2n}(1 + \alpha + \dots + \alpha^{k-1})^n, \\ h'_{2n-1} = h_{2n-1}(1 + \alpha + \dots + \alpha^{k-1})^n. \end{cases}$$

An easy computation shows that the $\{h'_n\}$ satisfy (59) with τ replaced by $\tau' = 1 - \alpha^k$. But so do the $\{h_n\gamma\}$. By 20.7 it follows that for $a \in \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*)$ a cycle of degree q, we have that $(h_{2n-1}\gamma)(\Delta a)$ is homologous to $(h'_{2n-1})(\Delta a) = h_{2n-1}((1 + \alpha + \cdots + \alpha^{k-1})^n(\Delta a)) = k^n h_{2n-1}(\Delta a)$. From this and (95) it follows that

$$St_{2n-1}: H^q_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to H^{pq-2n+1}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{B})$$

is zero unless

$$k^n \equiv (-1)^q \pmod{p}. \tag{96}$$

(Recall that the image of St_i consists of elements of order p.) If $p\mathscr{B} = 0$, we can prove a similar fact for St_{2n} using the k_n of 20.3. However, we can treat this case directly by using formula (61), which reduces the question to one concerning h_{2n} . Again, it is seen that $(h_{2n}\gamma)(\Delta a)$ is homologous to $(h'_{2n})(\Delta a) = k^n h_{2n}(\Delta a)$, and by (95), it follows that

$$St_{2n}: H^q_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to H^{pq-2n}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{B})$$

is zero unless formula (96) holds.

Since k generates the multiplicative group of \mathbb{Z}_p , the equation $k^n \equiv 1 \pmod{p}$ is equivalent to n = r(p-1) and the equation $k^n \equiv -1 \pmod{p}$ is equivalent to n = (2r+1)(p-1)/2 (where r is some integer). In terms of St^j , which is more convenient, a short calculation shows that our criterion (96) becomes

$$St^{j} = 0$$
 unless $j = 2r(p-1)$ or $j = 2r(p-1) + 1$, for some $r \in \mathbb{Z}$. (97)

21.2. We wish to show that $St^j = 0$ for j < 0 and to identify St^0 . To do this we must, for the first time, give an explicit construction of one particular system of h_i . We shall, in fact, construct such homomorphisms $h_i: T_p(\mathscr{A}^*) \to \mathscr{B}^*$, where $\mathscr{A}^* = \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$ and $\mathscr{B}^* = \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{B})$. This can then be followed by a map to an injective resolution of \mathscr{B} if so desired.

Recall that $\mathscr{C}^*(X;\mathscr{A})$ is pointwise homotopically trivial. In fact, as in Section 2, let $\eta_x : \mathscr{C}^0(X;\mathscr{A})_x \to \mathscr{A}_x$ be the map assigning to a germ of a

servation $f: X \dashrightarrow \mathscr{A}$ its value $\eta_x(f) = f(x) \in \mathscr{A}_x$ at x. Then η_x provides a splitting

$$\mathscr{A}_x \xrightarrow{\varepsilon}_{\eta_x} \mathscr{C}^0(X;\mathscr{A})_x \xrightarrow{\partial}_{\nu_x} \mathscr{J}^1(X;\mathscr{A})_x$$

and hence, generally, a splitting

$$\mathcal{J}^{n}(X;\mathcal{A})_{x} \xrightarrow{\varepsilon}_{\eta_{x}} \mathcal{C}^{n}(X;\mathcal{A})_{x} \xrightarrow{\partial}_{\nu_{x}} \mathcal{J}^{n+1}(X;\mathcal{A})_{x}.$$

Then $d = \varepsilon \partial$: $\mathscr{C}^{n}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{C}^{n+1}(X; \mathscr{A})$, and letting

$$D_x = \nu_x \eta_x : \mathscr{C}^{n+1}(X; \mathscr{A})_x \to \mathscr{C}^n(X; \mathscr{A})_x,$$

we have that

$$\begin{cases} D_x d + dD_x = 1 : \mathscr{C}^n(X; \mathscr{A})_x \to \mathscr{C}^n(X; \mathscr{A})_x & \text{for } n > 0, \\ D_x d = 1 - \varepsilon \eta_x : \mathscr{C}^0(X; \mathscr{A})_x \to \mathscr{C}^0(X; \mathscr{A})_x. \end{cases}$$

Since $\eta_x \nu_x = 0$, we have

$$D_x^2 = 0.$$

 $T_p(\mathscr{A}^*) = T_p(\mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A}))$ is also pointwise homotopically trivial, with the homotopy provided by the operator Λ_x defined by

$$\Lambda_x(a_1\otimes\cdots\otimes a_p)=\varepsilon\eta_x(a_1)\otimes\cdots\otimes\varepsilon\eta_x(a_{i-1})\otimes D_x(a_i)\otimes a_{i+1}\otimes\cdots\otimes a_p,$$

where $a_1, ..., a_{i-1}$ have degree zero and $deg(a_i) > 0$. It is easily computed that, as claimed,

$$\begin{cases} \Lambda_x d + d\Lambda_x = 1 & \text{in positive degrees,} \\ \Lambda_x d = 1 - \varepsilon \eta_x & \text{in degree zero,} \\ \Lambda_x^2 = 0, \end{cases}$$

where $\varepsilon \eta_x$ stands for $\varepsilon \eta_x \otimes \cdots \otimes \varepsilon \eta_x$ here. [Note that $\varepsilon = \varepsilon \otimes \cdots \otimes \varepsilon$: $T_p(\mathscr{A}) \to T_p(\mathscr{A}^*)$ is the augmentation.]

We shall often suppress the variable x in Λ_x and in other operators. Define operators Λ_i on $T_p(\mathscr{A}^*)_x$ inductively by

$$\begin{cases} \Lambda_1 = \Lambda, \\ \Lambda_{2n} = \Lambda \tau \Lambda_{2n-1}, \\ \Lambda_{2n+1} = \Lambda \sigma \Lambda_{2n}. \end{cases}$$

Also define M_i on $T_p(\mathscr{A}^*)_x$ by

$$\begin{cases} M_1 = \Lambda = \Lambda_1, \\ M_{2n} = \Lambda \sigma M_{2n-1}, \\ M_{2n+1} = \Lambda \tau M_{2n}. \end{cases}$$

Since $\Lambda^2 = 0$ we have

$$\Lambda_i \Lambda_j = \Lambda_i M_j = M_i \Lambda_j = M_i M_j = 0.$$
⁽⁹⁸⁾

Since $D^2 = 0$, it is clear that Λ_n and M_n are linear combinations of terms of the form $K_1 \otimes K_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes K_p$, where *n* of the K_i are *D* and the rest are 1 (or possibly $\varepsilon \eta$). It follows that

$$\Lambda_{p+1} = 0 = M_{p+1}. \tag{99}$$

It is easily shown by induction that for $n \ge 1$, we have

$$\begin{cases} \Lambda_{2n}d = M_{2n-1}\tau - \tau\Lambda_{2n-1} + d\Lambda_{2n}, \\ \Lambda_{2n+1}d = M_{2n}\tau + \sigma\Lambda_{2n} - d\Lambda_{2n+1}, \end{cases}$$
(100)

where the first equation holds in degrees at least 2n and the second in degrees at least 2n + 1. However, another induction shows that for $n \ge 1$, these equations hold in degrees 2n - 1 and 2n, respectively (using the facts that η commutes with τ and σ in degree zero, that $\eta \Lambda = 0$, and that $\Lambda_n = 0$ in degrees less than n). The equations also hold in degrees less than 2n - 1and 2n respectively, since all terms are zero in that case. Thus (100) is valid for $n \ge 1$ in all degrees. Similarly we obtain, for $n \ge 1$,

$$\begin{cases} M_{2n}d = \Lambda_{2n-1}\sigma - \sigma M_{2n-1} + dM_{2n}, \\ M_{2n+1}d = \Lambda_{2n}\sigma + \tau M_{2n} - dM_{2n+1}. \end{cases}$$
(101)

We shall now define $h_n: T_p(\mathscr{A}^*) \to \mathscr{B}^*$. Note that to define h_n it suffices to define $\eta_x h_n$ for each $x \in X$. The definition proceeds by induction on n and on the total degree in $T_p(\mathscr{A}^*)$. Define h_0 in degree zero by

$$\eta_x h_0 = h \eta_x.$$

[That is, the servations $a_1, ..., a_p$ of \mathscr{A} are taken by h_0 into the servation $x \mapsto h(a_1(x) \otimes \cdots \otimes a_p(x))$.] Note that $\eta_x h_0 \varepsilon \eta_x = h \eta_x \varepsilon \eta_x = h \eta_x \varepsilon \eta_x$ so that

$$h_0 \varepsilon \eta_x = \varepsilon h \eta_x = \varepsilon \eta_x h_0$$

Define h_0 in positive degrees, inductively, by

$$\eta_x h_0 = \partial h_0 \Lambda.$$

More generally we define, by double induction,

$$\begin{cases} \eta_x h_{2n} = \sum_{i=0}^{p-1} (-1)^i \partial h_{2n-i} M_{i+1}, \\ \eta_x h_{2n-1} = \sum_{i=1}^p (-1)^i \partial h_{2n-i} \Lambda_i. \end{cases}$$
(102)

(We could leave the upper limits of summation open because of (99). The reader should notice the formal similarity with (63) and (74).) Note that if N is either M_j or Λ_j then $\eta_x h_n N = 0$ by (102) and (98). Thus

$$\nu_x \partial h_n N = h_n N \quad \text{for } N = M_j \text{ or } N = \Lambda_j,$$
 (103)

since $\nu_x \partial = 1 - \epsilon \eta_x$.

To show that the h_n satisfy (59), it suffices to prove that

$$\eta_x (h_{2n}d - dh_{2n}) = \eta_x h_{2n-1}\sigma \tag{104}$$

and

$$\eta_x(h_{2n-1}d + dh_{2n-1}) = \eta_x h_{2n-2}\tau.$$

We shall only prove (104), which is typical. The proof proceeds by double induction as in the definition (102). In degrees less than 2n - 1 both sides of (104) are zero. In degree 2n - 1 (so that the image has degree zero), the left-hand side of (104) is

$$\eta_x h_{2n} d = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} (-1)^i \partial h_{2n-i} M_{i+1} d = 0$$

by degree. The right-hand side of (104) is

$$\eta_x h_{2n-1}\sigma = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} (-1)^i \partial h_{2n-i} \Lambda_i \sigma = 0$$

by (102) and degree.

Now, for degrees greater than 2n-1, it suffices to show that

$$D_x h_{2n} d - D_x d h_{2n} = D_x h_{2n-1} \sigma,$$

since ν_x is one-to-one and $D_x = \nu_x \eta_x$. Using (102), (103), and (101) we have

$$D_{x}h_{2n}d = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} (-1)^{i}h_{2n-i}M_{i+1}d$$

= $h_{2n} - h_{2n}dM_{1} + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} h_{2n-2j}(\Lambda_{2j}\sigma + \tau M_{2j} - dM_{2j+1})$
 $- \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} h_{2n-2j+1}(\Lambda_{2j-1}\sigma - \sigma M_{2j-1} + dM_{2j}).$

Also, by (102),

$$D_x dh_{2n} = h_{2n} - dD_x h_{2n} = h_{2n} - \sum_{i=0}^{i} (-1)^i dh_{2n-i} M_{i+1}.$$

Subtracting and rearranging, we obtain

$$D_{x}h_{2n}d - D_{x}dh_{2n} = -\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} (h_{2n-2j}d - dh_{2n-2j})M_{2j+1} -\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (h_{2n-2j+1}d + dh_{2n-2j+1})M_{2j} +\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} h_{2n-2j}(\Lambda_{2j}\sigma + \tau M_{2j}) -\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} h_{2n-2j-1}(\Lambda_{2j+1}\sigma - \sigma M_{2j+1}).$$

166
Using the inductive assumption on the first two terms yields

$$D_{x}h_{2n}d - D_{x}dh_{2n} = -\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} h_{2n-2j-1}\sigma M_{2j+1} - \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} h_{2n-2j}\tau M_{2j}$$

$$-\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} h_{2n-2j-1}(\Lambda_{2j+1}\sigma - \sigma M_{2j+1})$$

$$+\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} h_{2n-2j}(\Lambda_{2j}\sigma + \tau M_{2j})$$

$$= -\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} h_{2n-2j-1}\Lambda_{2j+1}\sigma + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} h_{2n-2j}\Lambda_{2j}\sigma$$

$$= (\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{i}h_{2n-i}\Lambda_{i})\sigma = D_{x}h_{2n-1}\sigma.$$

as was to be shown. [The last equation is obtained by applying ν_x to (102) and using (103).]

We claim that for the h_n we have just constructed,

$$h_n(a_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes a_p) = 0 \quad \text{if } pn > (p-1) \deg(a_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes a_p). \tag{105}$$

This is easily proved by induction using the definition (102). In particular, we have

$$h_n(\Delta a) = 0$$
 if $n > (p-1) \deg(a)$. (106)

- Remark: The construction of this special system of h_n was undertaken for one purpose only, the proof of (105), and from now on this property is all we will use. It might be possible to show directly that the h_n defined by the general procedure of 20.2 can be so chosen to possess this property, but it is not clear how to do this. Of course, the present h_n have the added advantage of being homomorphisms into $\mathscr{C}^*(X;\mathscr{B})$ rather than into an injective resolution, and of being natural. This fact could be used to simplify and shorten the discussion of 20.10, but we prefer the method used there.
- 21.3. It follows directly from (106) that

$$St^{j} = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad j < 0.$$
 (107)

Now assume that \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} are sheaves of \mathbb{Z}_p -modules. By (61), (64), and (74), equation (105) implies that

$$h_{(p-1)(q+1)}(\Delta(da)) = (-1)^{m(q+1)}(m!)dh_{(p-1)q}(\Delta a),$$

where $q = \deg a$, p is odd, and m = (p-1)/2. For p = 2 we have, similarly,

$$h_{q+1}(da \otimes da) = dh_q(a \otimes a), \quad \text{where} \quad q = \deg a.$$

If p is odd we define

$$t_q = (-1)^{mq(q+1)/2} (m!)^{-q} \in \mathbb{Z}_p,$$

and if p = 2, we put $t_q = 1$. Then it follows that the maps

$$\lambda: a \mapsto t_q h_{(p-1)q}(\Delta a)$$

of $\mathscr{A}^q \to \mathscr{B}^q$ commute with the differential. For q = 0 this is just $a \mapsto h_0(\Delta a)$, so that λ extends the map $h\Delta : a \mapsto h(\Delta a)$ of $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B}$. Now $h\Delta$ is a homomorphism since $p\mathscr{B} = 0$. Moreover, by (61), (75), or their analogues for p = 2, it follows from (105) that λ is a homomorphism. Thus λ is a homomorphism of resolutions extending $h\Delta$, and it follows that $\lambda^* : H^{\Phi}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to H^{\Phi}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{B})$ is just the homomorphism $(h\Delta)^*$ induced by the coefficient homomorphism $h\Delta$. Consequently,

$$t_q S t^0 = (h\Delta)^* : H^q_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to H^q_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{B}).$$
(108)

21.4. For the remainder of this section we shall restrict our attention exclusively to sheaves of \mathbb{Z}_p -modules.

For p = 2 we define the Steenrod squares by

$$Sq^{j} = St^{j} : H^{q}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to H^{q+j}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{B})$$
(109)

since these homomorphisms already possess the properties we desire.

We shall now restrict the discussion to the case of odd p. Taking cognizance of (97) and (108) as well as (89), we define the *Steenrod* pth powers

$$\varphi_p^r : H^q_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to H^{q+2r(p-1)}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{B})$$
(110)

by

$$\wp_p^r = (-1)^r t_q S t^{2r(p-1)} = (-1)^r t_q S t_{(p-1)(q-2r)}.$$
(111)

By (108) we have

$$\wp_p^0 = (h\Delta)^* : H^q_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to H^q_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{B}),$$

which is the map induced by the coefficient homomorphism $h\Delta: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$.

According to (62), $St_0(a) = h^*(a^p)$ (a^p denotes the cup *p*th power of a), and it follows easily from this and (107) that

$$\wp_p^r(a) = \begin{cases} h^*(a^p), & \text{if } \deg a = 2r, \\ 0, & \text{if } \deg a < 2r. \end{cases}$$
(112)

[The verification of this uses the fact that $(m!)^2 \equiv (-1)^{(p+1)/2} \pmod{p}$, which follows easily from Wilson's theorem. Formula (112) is the reason for using the sign $(-1)^r$ in (111).]

Similarly,

$$Sq^{r}(a) = \begin{cases} h^{*}(a^{2}), & \text{if } \deg a = r, \\ 0, & \text{if } \deg a < r. \end{cases}$$

An easy computation using (94) yields the Cartan formula

$$\wp_p^r(a \cup b) = \sum_{i=0}^r \wp_p^i(a) \cup \wp_p^{r-i}(b)$$

Exercises

in the situation of (94), and similarly for the Sq^r .

Trivially, \wp_p^r commutes with the homomorphisms induced by maps (or, generally, cohomomorphisms of coefficient sheaves) in the situation of 20.8. (See the diagram (80).) It also follows from (85) that \wp_p^r commutes with connecting homomorphisms. That is, for $A \subset X$ Φ -taut, the diagram

$$\cdots \to H^{q}_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \to H^{q}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \to H^{q}_{\Phi\cap A}(A;\mathscr{A}) \to H^{q+1}_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \to \cdots \\ \downarrow^{\varphi^{r}_{p}} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\varphi^{r}_{p}} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\varphi^{r}_{p}} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\varphi^{r}_{p}} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\varphi^{r}_{p}} \\ \cdots \to H^{q+s}_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{B}) \to H^{q+s}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{B}) \to H^{q+s}_{\Phi\cap A}(A;\mathscr{B}) \to H^{q+s+1}_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{B}) \to \cdots$$

commutes, where s = 2r(p-1), and similarly for Sq^r .

Exercises

- 1. (§) Show that 10.1 need not hold for A open and Φ not paracompactifying. In fact, give an example for which $\Phi = cld|X - A$ and $H_{\Phi}^*(X; \mathscr{B}^X) \neq 0$, where \mathscr{B} is a constant sheaf on A.
- 2. (s) Let X be a simply ordered set with the order topology and assume that X is compact. Prove that $H^p(X) = 0$ for p > 0 with any constant coefficient sheaf. [*Hint*: Use the minimality principle 10.8 and the Mayer-Vietoris sequence.]
- 3. (s) Show that the "long line"⁵¹ is acyclic with respect to any constant coefficients. [*Hint*: Use the "long interval," a compactified long ray, as a parameter space to define a contracting "long homotopy" of the long line and apply 11.12 and Exercise 2.]
- 4. (§) Let X be the real line and let $\{\mathscr{A}_{\lambda}\}$ be a direct system of sheaves on X with $\mathscr{A} = \lim_{\lambda \to \infty} \mathscr{A}_{\lambda}$. Show, by examples, that the canonical map $\theta : \lim_{\lambda \to \infty} \mathscr{A}_{\lambda}(X) \to \mathscr{A}(X)$ need be neither one-to-one nor onto.
- 5. Let Φ be a family of supports on X, and $\{U_{\alpha}\}$ an upward-directed family of open sets such that each $K \in \Phi$ is contained in some U_{α} . Then show that

$$H^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \approx \varinjlim H^*_{\Phi|U_{\alpha}}(U_{\alpha};\mathscr{A}).$$

- 6. (s) If X is not normal then show that X contains a closed, nontaut subspace. Give such an example in which X is Hausdorff and the subspace is paracompact. [Thus it does not suffice for A to be paracompact in 9.5.]
- 7. If \mathscr{A} is a sheaf of *L*-modules on *X*, where *L* is a ring with unit, show that $\mathscr{C}^*(X, A; \mathscr{A})$ is a $\mathscr{C}^0(X; L)$ -module and hence that it is Φ -fine for Φ paracompactifying.
- 8. Call A hereditarily Φ -taut in X if $A \cap U$ is Φ -taut in X for every open $U \subset X$. [Then $A \cap U$ is $(\Phi \cap U)$ -taut in U.] Prove that if A is hereditarily Φ -taut and $B \subset A$, then B is Φ -taut in X \Leftrightarrow B is $(\Phi \cap A)$ -taut in A.

⁵¹If Ω is the set of countable ordinal numbers as a well-ordered set, then the *long ray* Y is $\Omega \times [0,1)$ with the dictionary order and the order topology. Then 0×0 is the least element of Y. The *long line* X is two copies of Y with their least elements identified. It is a nonparacompact topological 1-manifold.

- 9. (§) Define the "one-point paracompactification" X^+ of a space X with a given paracompactifying family of supports Φ for which $E(\Phi) = X$, and show that $H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \approx H^*(X^+; \mathscr{A}^{X^+})$.
- 10. (S) If \mathscr{A} is a sheaf on X such that $\mathscr{A}|U_x$ is flabby for some open neighborhood U_x of each $x \in X$, then show that \mathscr{A} is flabby.
- 11. (5) For paracompactifying Φ , $F \subset X$ closed and U = X F, show that

 $\dim_{\Phi,L} X = \max\{\dim_{\Phi|U,L} U, \dim_{\Phi|F,L} F\}.$

- 12. (S) Let Φ be paracompactifying. Show that a sheaf \mathscr{A} is Φ -fine \Leftrightarrow for every $K \in \Phi$ and neighborhood U of K there is an endomorphism $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}$ that is 1 on K and 0 outside U.
- 13. Let Φ be paracompactifying. Show that a sheaf A is Φ-soft ⇔ for every K ∈ Φ and s ∈ A(K) and for every locally finite covering {U_α} of K in X there exist elements s_α ∈ A(X) with |s_α| ⊂ U_α and with s = (∑s_α)|K [i.e., s(x) = ∑s_α(x) for x ∈ K]. Also show that A is Φ-fine ⇔ there exists a partition of unity subordinate to any locally finite covering {U_α} of X containing (at least) one member of the form X − K where K ∈ Φ [i.e., there exist endomorphisms h_α ∈ Hom(A, A) with |h_α| ⊂ U_α and ∑h_α = 1].
- 14. (S) (a) Let X and Y be locally compact Hausdorff and let A and B be c-fine sheaves on X and Y respectively. Show that A⊗B is also c-fine. [*Hint*: By taking one-point compactifications, reduce this to the compact case. If K ⊂ X × Y and W is a neighborhood of K, let {U_α} and {V_β} be finite coverings of X and Y respectively such that {U_α × V_β} refines {W, X − K}. Apply Exercises 12 and 13.]
 (b) If A and B are c-soft sheaves on the locally compact Hausdorff spaces X and Y respectively and if A and B is c-soft [Hint].

and Y respectively and if $\mathscr{A} \ast \mathscr{B} = 0$, then show that $\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}$ is c-soft. [Hint: Consider the collection of all open sets $W \subset X \times Y$ such that $(\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B})_W$ is c-acyclic, and use the Künneth Theorem 15.2, the Mayer-Vietoris sequence (27), continuity 14.5, and 16.1.]

- 15. (S) If W is the one-point compactification of the locally compact Hausdorff space X and if $i: X \hookrightarrow W$ is the inclusion, show that $i\mathcal{A}$ is soft for any c-soft sheaf \mathcal{A} on X.
- 16. If L is a ring with unit and \mathscr{I} is an injective sheaf of L-modules on X, show that $\mathscr{I}(X)$ is an injective L-module. [Hint: Map X into a point.]
- 17. If \mathscr{I} is an injective sheaf on X, show that the sheaf $\mathscr{H}om(\mathscr{A},\mathscr{G})$ is flabby for any sheaf \mathscr{A} on X. (For $\mathscr{A} = \mathscr{G}$, it follows that \mathscr{I} is Φ -fine for any paracompactifying family Φ of supports.)
- 18. (5) If the derived functors $H^p_{\Phi|X-A}(X; \bullet)$ of $H^0_{\Phi}(X, A; \bullet) = \Gamma_{\Phi|X-A}(\bullet)$ fit in an exact "cohomology sequence of a pair"

$$\cdots \to H^p_{\Phi|X-A}(X;\mathscr{A}) \to H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \to H^p_{\Phi\cap A}(A;\mathscr{A}|A) \to H^{p+1}_{\Phi|X-A}(X;\mathscr{A}) \to \cdots$$

then show that A is Φ -taut in X.

19. Let (A, B) be a $\Phi \cap \Psi$ -excisive pair of subspaces of X and assume that A is Φ -taut, B is Ψ -taut, and $A \cup B$ is $(\Phi \cap \Psi)$ -taut. Show that, through 12.1, the cup product (33) on page 100 coincides with that of 7.1.

- 20. Let A and B be closed subspaces of X. Show that, through 12.3, the cup product (33) on page 100 coincides with that of 7.1.
- 21. (S) Show that for a sheaf \mathscr{L} on the space X, the following four conditions are equivalent:
 - (a) \mathscr{L} is flabby.
 - (b) \mathscr{L} is Φ -acyclic for all families Φ of supports on X.
 - (c) $H^1_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{L}) = 0$ for all Φ .
 - (d) $H^1(X, U; \mathscr{L}) = 0$ for all open sets $U \subset X$.
- 22. Define $\operatorname{Dim} X$ to be the least integer n (or ∞) such that $H^k_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) = 0$ for all k > n, all sheaves \mathscr{A} on X, and all Φ ; i.e., $\operatorname{Dim} X = \sup_{\Phi} \dim_{\Phi, \mathbb{Z}} X$. Show that the following three statements are equivalent:
 - (a) Dim $X \leq n$.
 - (b) $\mathcal{J}^n(X; \mathscr{A})$ is flabby for all \mathscr{A} .
 - (c) Every sheaf \mathscr{A} on X has a flabby resolution of length n.
- 23. (5) Let X be the subspace of the unit interval [0, 1] consisting of the points $\{0\}$ and $\{1/n\}$ for integral n > 0. Show that dim_z X = 0 but Dim X = 1.
- 24. If every point of X has an open neighborhood U with $\text{Dim } U \leq n$, show that $\text{Dim } X \leq n$. [Hint: Use Exercises 10 and 22.]
- 25. (§) If X is locally hereditarily paracompact, show that $\text{Dim } X \leq \dim_{\mathbb{Z}} X + 1$. By 16.28, a topological *n*-manifold M^n has $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}} M^n = n$, and thus $\text{Dim } M^n$ is either n or n+1. Show that in fact, $\text{Dim } M^n = n+1$ for $n \geq 1$. This latter fact is due to Satya Deo [31].
- 26. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a closed surjection between locally paracompact spaces. Assume that X is second countable and that each $x \in X$ has a neighborhood N such that $f|N: N \to f(N)$ is a homeomorphism. Then show that $\dim_L Y = \dim_L X$.
- 27. (S) Define a topology on the set N of positive integers by taking the sets $U_n = \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ to be the only open sets, together with the whole space and the empty set. Show that every sheaf on N is equivalent to an inverse system of abelian groups based on the directed set N. If \mathscr{A} is a sheaf on N, show that $C^0(U_n; \mathscr{A})$ is isomorphic to the set of all n-tuples $\langle a_1, ..., a_n \rangle$, where $a_i \in \mathscr{A}_i = \mathscr{A}(U_i)$ and where the restriction to U_m (m < n) takes $\langle a_1, ..., a_n \rangle$ into $\langle a_1, ..., a_m \rangle$. Show that $Z^1(U_n; \mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{J}^1(\mathbb{N}; \mathscr{A})(U_n) \approx C^0(U_{n-1}; \mathscr{A})$ with the induced restriction map and such that the differential $C^0(U_n; \mathscr{A}) \to Z^1(U_n; \mathscr{A})$ takes $\langle a_1, ..., a_n \rangle$ into $\langle a_1 \pi_2 a_2, ..., a_{n-1} \pi_n a_n \rangle$, where π_n denotes the restriction $\mathscr{A}(U_n) \to \mathscr{A}(U_{n-1})$. Show that $\dim_{cld,\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{N} = 1$. Show that $H^0(\mathbb{N}; \mathscr{A}) = \varprojlim \mathfrak{A}_n$, so that $H^1(\mathbb{N}; \mathscr{A})$ is the right derived functor $\liminf \mathfrak{A}_n \to \mathscr{A}_{n-1}$ is surjective, and that \mathscr{A} is acyclic \Leftrightarrow for every system $\{a'_i \in \mathscr{A}_i\}$ the system of equations

$$\pi_2 a_2 = a_1 - a'_1, \ \pi_3 a_3 = a_2 - a'_2,$$

has a solution for the a_i .

Also show that an inverse sequence $\mathscr{A} = \{\mathscr{A}_1, \mathscr{A}_2, \ldots\}$ is acyclic if it satisfies the "Mittag-Leffler condition" that given *i*, there is a $j \ge i$ such that $\operatorname{Im}(\mathscr{A}_j \to \mathscr{A}_i) = \operatorname{Im}(\mathscr{A}_k \to \mathscr{A}_i)$ for all $k \ge j$.

- 28. (§) If M is a torsion-free L-module, where L is an arbitrary ring, show that H¹_Φ(X; M) is torsion-free over L for any space X and support family Φ. [Hint: Use I-Exercise 11.] Give an example of a torsion-free sheaf A on X = S¹ such that H¹(X; A) is not torsion-free.
- 29. (S) Give an example of a sequence $\{\mathscr{L}_i\}$ of flabby sheaves on the unit interval such that $\lim_{i \to \infty} \mathscr{L}_i$ is not flabby.
- 30. A Zariski space is a space satisfying the descending chain condition on closed subsets (such as an algebraic variety with the Zariski topology). If $\{\mathscr{L}_{\lambda}\}$ is a direct system of sheaves on a Zariski space X, show that the natural map

$$\lim H^*(X;\mathscr{L}_{\lambda}) \to H^*(X;\mathscr{L})$$

is an isomorphism, where $\mathscr{L} = \lim_{\lambda \to \infty} \mathscr{L}_{\lambda}$. Also show that \mathscr{L} is flabby if each \mathscr{L}_{λ} is flabby.

- 31. (S) A Zariski space is called *irreducible* if it is not the union of two proper closed subspaces. The Zariski dimension Z-dim X of a space X is the least integer n (or ∞) such that every chain $X_0 \supseteq X_1 \supseteq X_2 \supseteq \cdots \supseteq X_p \neq \emptyset$ of closed irreducible subspaces of X has "length" $p \leq n$. Show that dim_{cld,Z} $X \leq Z$ -dim X. [Hint: Prove an anologue of 16.14 and show that if X is irreducible then all constant sheaves on X are flabby.]
- 32. A differential sheaf \mathscr{L}^* on X is said to be homotopically Φ -fine, where Φ is a paracompactifying family, if for every locally finite covering $\{U_{\alpha}\}$ with one member of the form X - K for some $K \in \Phi$, there are endomorphisms $h_{\alpha} \in \operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{L}^*, \mathscr{L}^*)$ of degree zero with $|h_{\alpha}| \subset U_{\alpha}$ and such that $h = \sum h_{\alpha}$ is chain homotopic to the identity. [That is, there exist homomorphisms $D: \mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{L}^*$ of degree -1 with 1 - h = dD + Dd (d being the differential on \mathscr{L}^*).] If this holds for every locally finite covering of X, we merely say that \mathscr{L}^* is homotopically fine.

(a) If \mathscr{L}^* is homotopically Φ -fine, show that $H^*(H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{L}^*)) = 0$ for all p > 0. [*Hint*: If $\sigma \in C^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{L}^*)$, cover X by $\{U_{\alpha}\}$ such that $U_{\alpha_0} = X - |s|$ and $\overline{U}_{\alpha} \in \Phi$ for $\alpha \neq \alpha_0$, and such that $s|U_{\alpha}$ is a coboundary, say of $t_{\alpha} \in C^{p-1}(U_{\alpha};\mathscr{L}^*)$, with $t_{\alpha_0} = 0$. Let $t = \sum h^*_{\alpha}(t_{\alpha})$. Show that $d't = h^*(s)$, where d' is the differential of $C^*_{\Phi}(X; \bullet)$, so that $h^*(\sigma) = 0$ in $H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{L}^*)$, and finish the proof.]

(b) Show that the sheaf Δ_* of singular chains defined in I-Exercise 12 is homotopically fine. [*Hint*: Use the generalized operation of subdivision defined in [38, pp. 207-208] on the defining presheaf.]

33. (S) Let L be a principal ideal domain. Let us say that an L-module M has property F if for each finite set $\{a_1, ..., a_n\} \subset M$,

$$N = \{a \in M \mid ka = \sum_{i=1}^{n} k_{i}a_{i} \text{ for some } k_{i} \in L \text{ and } 0 \neq k \in L\}$$

is *free*. Prove the following statements:

- (a) If M is countably generated and has property \mathbf{F} , then M is free.
- (b) If X is locally compact Hausdorff, then $H^0_c(X; L)$ has property **F**. [*Hint*: Reduce this to the compact case and consider reduced cohomology. Cover X by closed sets $K_1, ..., K_k$ with $a_j | K_i \in \tilde{H}^0(K_i; L)$ trivial for all i, j.]
- (c) If X is locally compact, Hausdorff, and locally connected, then H¹_c(X; L) has property F. [Hint: Cover X by the interiors of sets K₁,..., K_k with each K_i compact for i > 1 and with K₁ a neighborhood of ∞. Prove by induction on r that if {D_i} is a closed covering of X with D_i ⊂ int K_i, then the image of N in H¹_c(D₁ ∪ ··· ∪ D_r; L) is finitely generated, and hence free by Exercise 28.]
- (d) If X is locally compact and separable metric, then $H_c^*(X; L)$ is countably generated. [*Hint*: Use continuity.]
- 34. (S) If S is a set, let B(S) be the additive group of all bounded functions $f : S \to \mathbb{Z}$. If X is a space, let C(X) be the group of all continuous functions $f : X \to \mathbb{Z}$ where \mathbb{Z} has the discrete topology. Prove the following statements:
 - (a) $H^0(X;\mathbb{Z}) \approx C(X) \approx {}_{AS}H^0(X;\mathbb{Z})$; generalize this to arbitrary constant coefficient groups.
 - (b) B(S) ≈ C(Ŝ), where Ŝ denotes the Stone-Čech compactification of the discrete space S.
 - (c) The following two statements are equivalent:
 - i. B(S) is free for every S with $card(S) \leq \eta$.
 - ii. C(X) is free for every compact Hausdorff space X with a dense set of cardinality $\leq \eta$.
 - (d) The same as part (c) with "free" replaced by " $Ext(\bullet, \mathbb{Z}) = 0$."

Remark: Nöbeling [63] has proved that B(S) is free for all S (previously, Specker [77] had done this for countable S) and so we conclude that $H^0_c(X;\mathbb{Z})$ is free for all locally compact Hausdorff X. The Universal Coefficient Theorem II-15.3 and Exercise 28 then imply that the same holds for an arbitrary coefficient ring L.

35. Let L be a Dedekind domain (i.e., a domain in which every ideal is projective). Show that 16.12 remains true if condition (c) is replaced by the following two conditions:

(c') $\mathscr{A} \oplus \mathscr{B} \in \mathfrak{S} \Rightarrow \text{both } \mathscr{A} \text{ and } \mathscr{B} \text{ are in } \mathfrak{S}.$

(c'') $L_U \in \mathfrak{S}$ for all open sets $U \subset X$.

Thus extend 16.31, 16.32, and 16.33 to Dedekind domains. [*Hint*: Use the known fact that every ideal of a Dedekind domain is finitely generated.]

36. Let L be a principal ideal domain. If \mathscr{A} is an L-module or a sheaf of L-modules and $p \in L$ is a prime, we say that \mathscr{A} has p-torsion if multiplication by $p : \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}$ is not a monomorphism. Let $T(\mathscr{A})$ denote the set of all primes $p \in L$ such that \mathscr{A} has p-torsion. Prove the following statements:

(a)
$$T(\mathscr{A}) = \bigcup_{x \in X} T(\mathscr{A}_x).$$

- (b) $T(\mathscr{A} \ast \mathscr{B}) = T(\mathscr{A}) \cap T(\mathscr{B})$. (Prove this first for modules and then generalize to sheaves).
- (c) If F is a covariant left exact functor (from sheaves to sheaves or sheaves to modules) that preserves the L-module operations, then

$$T(F(\mathscr{A}_1, \mathscr{A}_2, ..., \mathscr{A}_n)) \subset \bigcap_{i=1}^n T(\mathscr{A}_i).$$

[Note the cases: $F(\mathscr{A},\mathscr{B}) = C^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) * C^q_{\Psi}(Y;\mathscr{B})$) and $F(\mathscr{A},\mathscr{B}) = \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{L}) * \Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{B} \otimes \mathscr{N})$ when \mathscr{L} and \mathscr{N} are torsion-free.]

(d) $T(\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}) \subset T(\mathscr{A}) \cup T(\mathscr{B}).$

[*Hint for* (b): If $p \in T(A)$, there is a monomorphism $L_p = L/pL \to A$. Moreover, $L_p * B = \text{Ker}\{p : B \to B\}$.]

- 37. (S) Give an example of a compact, totally disconnected Hausdorff space X and a locally closed subspace $A \subset X$ such that the canonical map $\lim_{\to} \mathscr{A}(U) \to \mathscr{A}(A)$, where U ranges over the neighborhoods of A, is not surjective for any constant sheaf $\mathscr{A} \neq 0$ on X.
- 38. (S) If $A \subset X$ and \mathscr{A} is a sheaf on X that is concentrated on \overline{A} , then show that $H^p_{\Phi}(X, A; \mathscr{A}) \approx H^p_{\Phi \cap \overline{A}}(\overline{A}, A; \mathscr{A})$.
- 39. (§) Let A ⊂ X and let Φ be a family of supports on X such that each K ∈ Φ ∩ Ā is in the interior of A in Ā (i.e., K has a neighborhood N with N ∩ Ā ⊂ A). Show that C^{*}_{Φ∩Ā}(Ā, A; A) = 0 for all sheaves A on X. If A is concentrated on Ā, show that the restriction H^{*}_Φ(X; A) → H^{*}_{Φ∩A}(A; A) is an isomorphism. [Note that the conditions on Φ are satisfied when A is locally closed and Φ∩Ā = Φ∩A, and each member of Φ has a neighborhood in Φ.]
- 40. (S) Let $T = \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$. Let X be any space and let \mathscr{F} (respectively, \mathscr{F}_0) denote the sheaf of germs of continuous functions from X to \mathbb{R} (respectively, T). Show that there is an exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathbb{Z} \to \mathscr{F} \xrightarrow{j} \mathscr{F}_0 \to 0$$

of sheaves, where j is induced by the canonical surjection $\mathbb{R} \to T$. Conclude that if X is paracompact, then $H^1(X;\mathbb{Z})$ is isomorphic to the group [X;T] of homotopy classes of maps from X to T. Generalize this to arbitrary paracompactifying families of supports on X.

- 41. (S) Let $\mathscr{H}^*(X, A; \mathscr{A})$ be the derived sheaf of $\mathscr{C}^*(X, A; \mathscr{A})$, and let \mathscr{A} be constant.
 - (a) Show that $\mathscr{H}^0(X, A; \mathscr{A}) \approx \mathscr{A}_{X-\bar{A}}$.
 - (b) Show, by example, that $\mathscr{H}^{q}(X, A; \mathscr{A})$ need not be zero for q > 0.
 - (c) If $\mathscr{H}^q(X, A; \mathscr{A}) = 0$ for q > 0, show that there is a natural isomorphism $H^*_{\Phi}(X, A; \mathscr{A}) \approx H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}_{X-\tilde{A}})$ for any Φ .
 - (d) If there exists an isomorphism $H^*(U, A \cap U; \mathscr{A}) \approx H^*(U; \mathscr{A}_{U-\bar{A}})$ that is natural for open sets $U \subset X$, show that $\mathscr{H}^q(X, A; \mathscr{A}) = 0$ for q > 0.

42. Let \mathscr{A}^* and \mathscr{B}^* be differential sheaves on the spaces X and Y respectively. Suppose that $\mathscr{A}^{p_{\widehat{*}}}\mathscr{B}^{q} = 0$ for all p, q. Show that there is a natural exact sequence

$$0 \to \bigoplus_{p+q=n} \mathscr{H}^p(\mathscr{A}^*) \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{H}^q(\mathscr{B}^*) \to \mathscr{H}^n(\mathscr{A}^* \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{B}^*) \to \bigoplus_{p+q=n+1} \mathscr{H}^p(\mathscr{A}^*) \widehat{*} \mathscr{H}^q(\mathscr{B}^*) \to 0$$

of sheaves on $X \times Y$. In particular, show that $\mathscr{A}^* \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{B}^*$ is a resolution of $\mathscr{A} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{B}$ if \mathscr{A}^* and \mathscr{B}^* are resolutions of \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} respectively such that $\mathscr{A}^p \widehat{\ast} \mathscr{B}^q = 0$ for all p, q. [Hint: Consider the algebraic Künneth formula for the double complex $\mathscr{A}^*(U) \otimes \mathscr{B}^*(V)$, where U and V are open in X and Y respectively.]

- 43. Let Φ be a paracompactifying family of supports on X. If $\{\mathscr{L}_{\lambda}\}$ is any family of Φ -soft sheaves on X, show that $\prod_{\lambda} \mathscr{L}_{\lambda}$ is Φ -soft.
- 44. Let X be a locally paracompact space and let F be the fixed point set of a homeomorphism of period p on X, where p is a prime. Let $L = \mathbb{Z}_p$ and assume that dim_L $X < \infty$. If X is clc_L^{∞} , show that F is also clc_L^{∞} .
- 45. (§) Let \mathscr{L} be a sheaf on the Hausdorff space X such that \mathscr{L}_U is flabby for all open sets $U \subset X$. Show that |s| is discrete for all $s \in \mathscr{L}(X)$.
- 46. (S) If X is a nondiscrete Hausdorff space and if $M \neq 0$ is a constant sheaf on X, show that there does *not* exist a sheaf \mathscr{L} on X containing M as a subsheaf and such that $\mathscr{L} \otimes \mathscr{A}$ is Φ -acyclic for all families Φ of supports and all sheaves \mathscr{A} on X.

be a diagram of differential sheaves (or of ordinary chain complexes) such that the rows are exact and the square is homotopy commutative, i.e., there is a homomorphism $D: \mathscr{B}^* \to \mathscr{N}^*$ of degree -1 such that

$$j'g - hj = dD + Dd.$$

Define a homomorphism $f^* : \mathscr{H}^*(\mathscr{A}^*) \to \mathscr{H}^*(\mathscr{L}^*)$ as follows: If $a \in \mathscr{A}^*$ with da = 0 and if D(i(a)) = j'(m), put

$$f^{*}[a] = [(i')^{-1}(g(i(a)) - dm)],$$

where square brackets denote homology classes. Show that the induced diagram

is commutative.

Similarly, suppose that

has exact rows and homotopy commutative square, that is,

$$gi - i'f = dD' + D'd$$
, where $D' : \mathscr{A}^* \to \mathscr{M}^*$.

Define $h^*: \mathscr{H}^*(\mathscr{C}^*) \to \mathscr{H}^*(\mathscr{N}^*)$ as follows: If $b \in \mathscr{B}^*$ and db = i(a), put

$$h^*[j(b)] = [j'(g(b) - D'(a))].$$

Again, show that the diagram above of derived sheaves is commutative.

Also show that these maps $(f^*$ in the first case and h^* in the second) depend only on the homotopy class of D or of D'. Suppose that f, g, and h are all given such that both squares are homotopy commutative. Assume that there is a homomorphism $J : \mathscr{A}^* \to \mathscr{N}^*$, of degree -2, such that j'D' - Di = dJ - Jd. Then in the first case above, show that f^* is induced by f and in the second case, that h^* is induced by h.

48. Use the fact that $\mathscr{C}^*(X; \bullet)$ is naturally pointwise homotopically trivial (see Section 2) to show that for any differential sheaf \mathscr{A}^* , the inclusion $\varepsilon : \mathscr{A}^* \to \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A}^*)$ is a pointwise homotopy equivalence. That is, for each $x \in X$ there are natural homomorphisms

$$\begin{cases} \eta_x : \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A}^*)_x \to \mathscr{A}^*_x & \text{of degree zero,} \\ D_x : \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A}^*)_x \to \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A}^*)_x & \text{of degree } -1, \end{cases}$$

with

 $\eta_x \varepsilon = 1$ and $1 - \varepsilon \eta_x = dD_x + D_x d$.

Thus, for example, $\mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A}^*)$ is a resolution of \mathscr{A} if \mathscr{A}^* is.

49. Let $f: \mathscr{A}^* \to \mathscr{B}^*$ be a homomorphism of differential sheaves. (We note the special case in which these are ordinary chain complexes with differentials of degree +1, for example, the induced map $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{B}^*)$.) Define the mapping cone of f to be the differential sheaf \mathscr{M}_f^* , where

$$\mathscr{M}^p_{f} = \mathscr{A}^{p+1} \oplus \mathscr{B}^p$$

with differential given by d(a,b) = (-da, f(a) + db). [Note that $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathcal{M}_{f}^{*})$ is the mapping cone of $f : \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathcal{A}^{*}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathcal{B}^{*})$.] Consider the exact sequences

$$0 \to \mathscr{B}^p \xrightarrow{i} \mathscr{M}_f^p \xrightarrow{j} \mathscr{A}^{p+1} \to 0,$$

where i(b) = (0, b) and j(a, b) = a. Show that the connecting homomorphism $\delta : \mathscr{H}^p(\mathscr{A}^*) \to \mathscr{H}^p(\mathscr{B}^*)$ of this sequence is just f^* . Note that j anticommutes with d.

Suppose now that f is one-one and let $\mathscr{C}^* = \operatorname{Coker} f$, so that the sequence $0 \to \mathscr{A}^* \xrightarrow{f} \mathscr{B}^* \xrightarrow{g} \mathscr{C}^* \to 0$ is exact. Let $\delta' : \mathscr{H}^p(\mathscr{C}^*) \to \mathscr{H}^{p+1}(\mathscr{A}^*)$ be the connecting homomorphism of this sequence. Consider

the homomorphism $h:\mathscr{M}_{f}^{p}\to \mathscr{C}^{p}$ given by h(a,b)=g(b). Show that the diagram

commutes up to the sign that is indicated. In particular, h^* is an isomorphism.

[Note that if \mathscr{A}^* is Φ -acyclic then passing to sections, we obtain that $h^*: H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{M}_f^*)) \to H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}^*))$ is an isomorphism by applying the above results to the case of ordinary chain complexes and using the exactness of $0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{B}^*) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}^*) \to 0.$]

50. Let \mathscr{A} be a torsion-free sheaf and consider the multiplication $n: \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}$, where $n \neq 0$ is some fixed integer. Let \mathscr{A}^* be a given Φ -acyclic resolution of \mathscr{A} (not necessarily torsion-free) and let $M_n(\mathscr{A}^*)$ denote the mapping cone of $n: \mathscr{A}^* \to \mathscr{A}^*$ (see Exercise 49). Show that there is a natural isomorphism $h^*: H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(M_n(\mathscr{A}^*))) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}_n)$, where $\mathscr{A}_n = \mathscr{A}/n\mathscr{A}$, such that the diagram

commutes up to the signs indicated. [Here the top row is as in Exercise 49, the vertical maps $H^*(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*)) \to H^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A})$ are the canonical isomorphisms of 5.15, and the bottom sequence is the cohomology sequence of the coefficient sequence $0 \to \mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{n} \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}_n \to 0$.]

[*Hint*: Compare \mathscr{A}^* with an injective resolution and then compare $\mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$ with the same injective resolution and apply Exercise 49.]

- 51. (§) Let \mathscr{A}^* and \mathscr{B}^* be Φ -acyclic resolutions, of \mathbb{Z}_2 -modules, of \mathbb{Z}_2 on X. Suppose that we are given a homomorphism $\theta : \mathscr{A}^* \otimes \mathscr{A}^* \to \mathscr{B}^*$ of differential sheaves which is symmetric [i.e., $\theta(a \otimes b) = (-1)^{(\deg b)}\theta(b \otimes a)$] and which extends the multiplication map $\mathbb{Z}_2 \otimes \mathbb{Z}_2 \to \mathbb{Z}_2$. Then show that $H^q_{\Phi}(X;\mathbb{Z}_2) = 0$ for all q > 0. Moreover, if Φ is paracompactifying with $E(\Phi) = X$, and if \mathscr{A}^* and \mathscr{B}^* are Φ -soft, then show that $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}_2} X = 0$.
- 52. Let p be a prime and let \mathscr{L}^* be a sheaf of differential algebras over \mathbb{Z}_p on a space X (i.e., \mathscr{L}^* is a differential sheaf of \mathbb{Z}_p -modules and we are given a homomorphism $\theta : \mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{L}^*$ of differential sheaves preserving degree and associative). Suppose that \mathscr{L}^* is a Φ -acyclic resolution of \mathbb{Z}_p , that θ is (signed) commutative, and that θ extends multiplication $\mathbb{Z}_p \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p \to \mathbb{Z}_p$. Then show that $H^n_{\Phi}(X;\mathbb{Z}_p) = 0$ for all n > 0. If, moreover, Φ is paracompactifying with $E(\Phi) = X$, and \mathscr{L}^* is Φ -soft, then show that $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}_p} X = 0$.
- 53. (5) Let \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} be sheaves on a Hausdorff space X, let $\Phi \subset c$ (but X need not be locally compact), and let q > 0. For $\alpha \in H^{p}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$ and

 $\beta \in H^q(X; \mathscr{B})$, show that the cup product $\alpha \beta^n = 0$ for some integer n. [*Hint*: Φ may as well be taken to be c|K for some compact set $K \subset X$. Then n may be chosen to depend only on K and β . Use the fact that β is "locally zero."]

- 54. (S) Let G be a compact Lie group acting on the paracompact space X. Show that over any base ring L, $\dim_L X/G \leq \dim_L X$. [Hint: Use the fact that every orbit G(x) has a "tube" about it, that is, an invariant neighborhood N with an equivariant retraction $r: N \to G(x)$. Also, the set $S = r^{-1}(x)$ (called a "slice at x") induces a homeomorphism $S/G_x \xrightarrow{\approx} N/G$.]
- 55. (S) Let $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}'' \to 0$ be an exact sequence of sheaves on the Hausdorff space X and assume that \mathscr{A}' and \mathscr{A}'' are locally constant. Assume one of the following three conditions:
 - (a) X is locally compact Hausdorff and clc_{Z}^{2} .
 - (b) X is $clc_{\mathbb{Z}}^2$ and the stalks of \mathscr{A}' are finitely generated.
 - (c) X is $clc_{\mathbf{Z}}^{1}$ and the stalks of \mathscr{A}' are finitely generated and free.

Then show that \mathscr{A} is locally constant. (Compare I-Exercise 9.) Also, give an example showing that X being locally compact and clc^1 is not sufficient for the conclusion.

- 56. (S) If X is a locally compact Hausdorff space and dim_Z X = n, then show that dim_Z $X \times X$ is 2n or 2n 1. (This is due to I. Fary.)
- 57. (S) Call a space X rudimentary if each point $x \in X$ has a minimal neighborhood. (The prototype is the topology on the positive integers given by Exercise 27.) If $\{\mathscr{L}_{\lambda} \mid \lambda \in \Lambda\}$ is an arbitrary family of sheaves on the rudimentary space X, then show that

$$H^p(X;\prod_{\lambda}\mathscr{L}_{\lambda})\approx\prod_{\lambda}H^p(X;\mathscr{L}_{\lambda}).$$

- 58. (§) Let X be a rudimentary space. For $x \in X$ let U_x be the minimal neighborhood of x. If $A \subset X$, then show that A is rudimentary. If $x \in A \subset U_x$, then show that all sheaves on A are acyclic and that A is taut in X.
- 59. (S) Let $\mathbb{M} = \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N}$ where \mathbb{N} is as in Exercise 27. Then a sheaf \mathscr{A} on \mathbb{M} is equivalent to the double inverse system

$$\{A_{i,j} \mid \pi_{i,j} : A_{i,j} \to A_{i-1,j}; \, \varpi_{i,j} : A_{i,j} \to A_{i,j-1}; \, \pi_{i,j-1} \varpi_{i,j} = \varpi_{i-1,j} \pi_{i,j} \}.$$

Show that \mathscr{A} admits a flabby resolution $0 \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}^0 \to \mathscr{A}^1 \to \mathscr{A}^2 \to 0$, whence

 $\underline{\lim}_{i,j}^{n} A_{i,j} = H^{n}(\mathbb{M}; \mathscr{A}) = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad n > 2.$

Show, however, that for the inverse sequence $\mathscr{A}|\Delta = \{A_{1,1} \leftarrow A_{2,2} \leftarrow \cdots\}$ we have

$$\underline{\lim}_{i,j}^n A_{i,j} \approx \underline{\lim}_k^n A_{k,k},$$

and hence that $\lim_{i,j}^2 A_{i,j} = 0$ also.

- 60. Let X be locally paracompact and let $\{F_{\alpha}\}$ be a locally finite closed covering of X with $\dim_L F_{\alpha} \leq n$. Then show that $\dim_L X \leq n$.
- 61. Let K be a totally disconnected compact Hausdorff space. If \mathscr{A} is a sheaf on K with $\Gamma(\mathscr{A}) = 0$, then show that $\mathscr{A} = 0$.

Chapter III

Comparison with Other Cohomology Theories

We return in this chapter to the classical singular, Alexander-Spanier, de Rham, and Čech cohomology theories. It is shown that under suitable restrictions, these theories are equivalent to sheaf-theoretic cohomology. Homomorphisms induced by maps, cup products, and relative cohomology are also discussed at some length. In Section 3 the direct natural transformation between singular theory and de Rham theory, which is important in the applications, is considered.

Throughout this chapter L will denote a given principal ideal domain, which will be taken as the base ring. All sheaves are to be sheaves of L-modules; tensor products are over L; and so on.

Most of this chapter can be read after Section 9 of Chapter II.

1 Singular cohomology

For the moment, let X be a fixed space and let $\mathscr{P}^* = \mathscr{P}^*(X; L)$, in the notation from I-7. For a sheaf \mathscr{A} on X we define the singular cohomology groups of X with coefficients in \mathscr{A} and supports in the paracompactifying family Φ by

$${}_{S}H^{p}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) = H^{p}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{S}^{*}\otimes\mathscr{A})).$$
(1)

For \mathscr{A} locally constant with stalks G, we also have the functors ${}_{\Delta}H^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) = H^*(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{S}^*(X;\mathscr{A})))$ of Chapter I, which coincide with classical singular theory when Φ is paracompactifying. There is, for \mathscr{A} locally constant, the homomorphism

$$\mu: S^*(U;L)\otimes \mathscr{A}(U) \to S^*(U;\mathscr{A}|U)$$

given by $\mu(f \otimes g)(\sigma) = f(\sigma) \cdot \sigma_U^*(g) \in \Gamma(\sigma^*\mathscr{A})$, where $\sigma_U^* : \mathscr{A}(U) \to (\sigma^*\mathscr{A})(\sigma^{-1}U) = \Gamma(\sigma^*\mathscr{A})$ is the map (4) on page 12. Over an open set U on which \mathscr{A} is constant, this is just the canonical map

$$S^*(U;L)\otimes G = \operatorname{Hom}(\Delta_*(U),L)\otimes G \to \operatorname{Hom}(\Delta_*(U),G) = S^*(U;G).$$

Since $\Delta_*(U)$ is free, this is obviously an isomorphism when G is finitely generated. Therefore

$${}_{S}H^{*}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \approx {}_{\Delta}H^{*}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A})$$

when \mathscr{A} is locally constant with finitely generated stalks. This is not true if the stalks are not finitely generated; see Exercise 7. However, for a general locally constant sheaf \mathscr{A} the map μ is a map of differential presheaves, and so it induces a map of differential sheaves

$$\bar{\mu}:\mathscr{G}^*(X;L)\otimes\mathscr{A}\to\mathscr{G}^*(X;\mathscr{A})$$

and hence a natural map

$$\mu^*:{}_{S}H^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \to {}_{\Delta}H^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A})$$
(2)

to which we will return later.

The cup product of singular cochains $S^p(U; L) \otimes S^q(U; L) \to S^{p+q}(U; L)$ induces a product $\mathscr{S}^p \otimes \mathscr{S}^q \to \mathscr{S}^{p+q}$, which is a homomorphism of differential sheaves when $\mathscr{S}^* \otimes \mathscr{S}^*$ is given the total degree and differential. Thus \mathscr{S}^0 is a sheaf of rings with unit and each \mathscr{S}^p (and hence $\mathscr{S}^p \otimes \mathscr{A}$) is an \mathscr{S}^0 -module.

The sheaf \mathscr{S}^0 is clearly the same sheaf as $\mathscr{C}^0(X;L)$ and hence is flabby, and consequently is Φ -fine for any paracompactifying family Φ . Thus each $\mathscr{S}^p \otimes \mathscr{A}$ is also Φ -fine. Similarly, $\mathscr{S}^*(X;\mathscr{A})$ is Φ -fine for Φ paracompactifying and \mathscr{A} locally constant.

Now, the stalks of \mathscr{S}^p are torsion-free so that $\mathscr{S}^p \otimes \mathscr{A}$ and $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{S}^p \otimes \mathscr{A})$ are *exact* functors of \mathscr{A} when Φ is paracompactifying. Thus $\mathscr{A} \mapsto {}_{S}H^{+}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A})$ is a connected sequence of functors. The sequence

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\varepsilon} \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{S}^0 \otimes \mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{d} \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{S}^1 \otimes \mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{d} \cdots$$

is of order two (see II-1). Hence ε takes $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}) = H^{0}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$ into $\operatorname{Ker}(d) = {}_{S}H^{0}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$, yielding a natural transformation of functors

$$H^0_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to {}_S H^0_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}).$$

Thus, by II-6.2, we obtain a unique extension (compatible with connecting homomorphisms)

$$\theta: H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to {}_{S}H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}).$$

If X is *HLC*, then by II-1, \mathscr{S}^* is a resolution of L, and since \mathscr{S}^* is torsion free, $\mathscr{S}^* \otimes \mathscr{A}$ is a resolution of \mathscr{A} for any \mathscr{A} . By II-4.3 it follows that ${}_{S}H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) = 0$ for p > 0 and \mathscr{A} flabby and also that θ is an isomorphism in degree zero for Φ paracompactifying. Thus, if X is *HLC* and Φ is paracompactifying, then ${}_{S}H^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A})$ is a fundamental connected sequence of functors, whence θ is an isomorphism by II-6.2.¹

We shall be concerned with the properties of θ for general X, with Φ paracompactifying.

¹By II-6.2 the inverse of θ is the homomorphism ρ of II-5.15.

Again, for X general and Φ paracompactifying, the singular cup product induces a chain map

$$(\mathscr{S}^{p} \otimes \mathscr{A}) \otimes (\mathscr{S}^{q} \otimes \mathscr{B}) \to \mathscr{S}^{p+q} \otimes (\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B})$$

and hence a homomorphism

$$\cup:{}_{S}H^{p}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A})\otimes{}_{S}H^{q}_{\Psi}(X;\mathscr{B})\to{}_{S}H^{p+q}_{\Phi\cap\Psi}(X;\mathscr{A}\otimes\mathscr{B})$$

satisfying properties analogous to those in II-7.1.

We claim that θ preserves these products. That is, if Φ and Ψ are paracompactifying, then the two maps

$$H^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A})\otimes H^*_{\Psi}(X;\mathscr{B}) \to {}_{S}H^*_{\Phi\cap\Psi}(X;\mathscr{A}\otimes\mathscr{B})$$

defined by $\alpha \otimes \beta \mapsto \theta(\alpha \cup \beta)$ and $\alpha \otimes \beta \mapsto \theta(\alpha) \cup \theta(\beta)$, coincide. To check this in degree zero, note that the obvious commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} L \otimes L & \xrightarrow{\times} & L \\ & \downarrow^{\varepsilon \otimes \varepsilon} & & \downarrow^{\varepsilon} \\ \mathscr{G}^0 \otimes \mathscr{G}^0 & \stackrel{\cup}{\longrightarrow} & \mathscr{G}^0 \end{array}$$

induces, upon tensoring with $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$, the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} L \otimes \mathscr{A} \otimes L \otimes \mathscr{B} & \longrightarrow & L \otimes \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B} \\ & & \downarrow^{\varepsilon \otimes 1 \otimes \varepsilon \otimes 1} & & \downarrow^{\varepsilon \otimes 1 \otimes 1} \\ \mathscr{S}^{0} \otimes \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{S}^{0} \otimes \mathscr{B} & \longrightarrow & \mathscr{S}^{0} \otimes \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B} \end{array}$$

and this induces the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}) \otimes \Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{B}) & \stackrel{\cup}{\longrightarrow} & \Gamma_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}) & \stackrel{=}{\longrightarrow} & \Gamma_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}) \\ & & \downarrow^{\varepsilon \otimes \varepsilon} & & \downarrow & & \downarrow^{\varepsilon} \\ \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{S}^{0} \otimes \mathscr{A}) \otimes \Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{S}^{0} \otimes \mathscr{B}) \rightarrow \Gamma_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(\mathscr{S}^{0} \otimes \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{S}^{0} \otimes \mathscr{B}) \rightarrow \Gamma_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(\mathscr{S}^{0} \otimes \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}) \end{array}$$

in which the composition along the bottom is the degree zero cup product. By the definition of θ this implies that $\theta(\alpha \cup \beta) = \theta(\alpha) \cup \theta(\beta)$ in degree zero. The contention then follows from II-6.2 applied to the two natural transformations $\alpha \otimes \beta \mapsto \theta(\alpha \cup \beta)$ and $\alpha \otimes \beta \mapsto \theta(\alpha) \cup \theta(\beta)$.

Now let $f: X \to Y$ be a map and let Φ and Ψ be paracompactifying families on X and Y respectively, with $\Phi \supset f^{-1}\Psi$. Then f induces a homomorphism $S^*(U; L) \to S^*(f^{-1}(U); L), U \subset Y$ open and therefore an f-cohomomorphism of the induced sheaves

$$f^*: \mathscr{G}^*(Y;L) \rightsquigarrow \mathscr{G}^*(X;L).$$

Tensoring this with the *f*-cohomomorphism $\mathscr{A} \rightsquigarrow f^*\mathscr{A}$ for a sheaf \mathscr{A} on Y, we obtain a functorial *f*-cohomomorphism

$$\mathscr{S}^*(Y;L)\otimes \mathscr{A} \rightsquigarrow \mathscr{S}^*(X;L)\otimes f^*\mathscr{A}.$$

This induces, in turn, $f^* : \Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{S}^*(Y;L) \otimes \mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{S}^*(X;L) \otimes f^*\mathscr{A})$, which extends the canonical map $\Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(f^*\mathscr{A})$. (That is, we have compatibility with the augmentations $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{S}^*(X;L) \otimes \mathscr{A}$ and $f^*\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{S}^*(X;L) \otimes f^*\mathscr{A}$.) This gives the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} 0 &\to & \Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{A}) & \stackrel{\varepsilon}{\longrightarrow} & \Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{S}^{0}(Y;L) \otimes \mathscr{A}) \\ & & & \downarrow f^{*} & & \downarrow f^{*} \\ 0 &\to & \Gamma_{\Phi}(f^{*}\mathscr{A}) & \stackrel{\varepsilon}{\longrightarrow} & \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{S}^{0}(X;L) \otimes f^{*}\mathscr{A}), \end{array}$$

which induces the commutative diagram

$$egin{array}{cccc} H^0_\Psi(Y;\mathscr{A}) & \stackrel{ extsf{array}}{\longrightarrow} & {}_SH^0_\Psi(Y;\mathscr{A}) \ & & & \downarrow f^* & & \downarrow f^* \ H^0_\Phi(X;f^*\mathscr{A}) & \stackrel{ extsf{array}}{\longrightarrow} & {}_SH^0_\Phi(X;f^*\mathscr{A}). \end{array}$$

Consider the diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H^*_{\Psi}(Y;\mathscr{A}) & \xrightarrow{\theta} & {}_{S}H^*_{\Psi}(Y;\mathscr{A}) \\ & & \downarrow f^* & & \downarrow f^* \\ H^*_{\Phi}(X;f^*\mathscr{A}) & \xrightarrow{\theta} & {}_{S}H^*_{\Phi}(X;f^*\mathscr{A}). \end{array}$$

We claim that this diagram commutes. This is so in degree zero as just shown. Considering the upper left and lower right parts of the diagram as connected sequences of functors of \mathscr{A} , it is easily seen that both compositions $f^* \circ \theta$ and $\theta \circ f^*$ commute with connecting homomorphisms. Thus the contention follows from II-6.2.

Now we wish to study relationships with subspaces. Let $F \subset X$ be closed and put U = X - F. Let Φ be a paracompactifying family of supports on X.

The exact sequence $0 \to \mathscr{A}_U \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}_F \to 0$ induces an exact sequence $0 \to \mathscr{S}^*(X;L) \otimes \mathscr{A}_U \to \mathscr{S}^*(X;L) \otimes \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{S}^*(X;L) \otimes \mathscr{A}_F \to 0$. But $\mathscr{S}^*(X;L) \otimes \mathscr{A}_U \approx (\mathscr{S}^*(X;L) \otimes \mathscr{A})_U$. Therefore, also, $\mathscr{S}^*(X;L) \otimes \mathscr{A}_F \approx (\mathscr{S}^*(X;L) \otimes \mathscr{A})_F$.

The restriction homomorphism $S^*(V; L) \to S^*(V \cap F; L)$, for $V \subset X$ open, induces an epimorphism $(\mathscr{P}^*(X; L) \otimes \mathscr{A})|F \twoheadrightarrow \mathscr{P}^*(F; L) \otimes \mathscr{A}$ of sheaves on F. The kernel of this is an $\mathscr{P}^0(X; L)|F$ -module and hence is $\Phi|F$ -soft. Thus we have an epimorphism

$$\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{S}^{*}(X;L)\otimes\mathscr{A}_{F})=\Gamma_{\Phi|F}((\mathscr{S}^{*}(X;L)\otimes\mathscr{A})|F)\twoheadrightarrow\Gamma_{\Phi|F}(\mathscr{S}^{*}(F;L)\otimes\mathscr{A}|F)$$

of chain complexes. The map $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{S}^*(X;L)\otimes\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{S}^*(X;L)\otimes\mathscr{A}_F)$ is also onto. Define the chain complex $K^*_{\Phi}(X,F;\mathscr{A})$ to be the kernel of the epimorphism $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{S}^*(X;L)\otimes\mathscr{A}) \twoheadrightarrow \Gamma_{\Phi|F}(\mathscr{S}^*(F;L)\otimes\mathscr{A}|F)$.

We define the *relative* singular cohomology with coefficients in the sheaf \mathscr{A} by

$${}_{S}H^{*}_{\Phi}(X,F;\mathscr{A}) = H^{*}(K^{*}_{\Phi}(X,F;\mathscr{A})).$$

For \mathcal{A} locally constant we have the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} 0 \to K_{\Phi}^{*}(X,F;\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{S}^{*}(X;L) \otimes \mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi|F}(\mathscr{S}^{*}(F;L) \otimes \mathscr{A}|F) \to 0 \\ & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ 0 \to S_{\Phi}^{*}(X,F;\mathscr{A}) \to & S_{\Phi}^{*}(X;\mathscr{A}) & \to & S_{\Phi|F}^{*}(F;\mathscr{A}) & \to 0 \end{array}$$

in which the two vertical maps on the right are induced by $\bar{\mu}$ and the one on the left is forced by commutativity and exactness of the rows. The 5-lemma shows that the vertical map on the left induces a homology isomorphism if both the $\bar{\mu}$ maps do.

To relate these relative groups to the absolute groups and to the sheaftheoretic cohomology groups, we consider the homomorphisms θ for the sheaves \mathcal{A}_U , \mathcal{A} , \mathcal{A}_F , and the following diagram of chain groups:

This induces the following commutative diagram:

$$\begin{array}{ccccccc} H^p_{\Phi|U}(U;\mathscr{A}|U) & H^p_{\Phi|F}(F;\mathscr{A}|F) \\ & \parallel & & \parallel \\ \cdots \to & H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}_U) & \to & H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) & \to & H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}_F) & \to \cdots \\ & \downarrow \theta & & \downarrow \theta & & \downarrow \theta \\ \cdots \to & _{S}H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}_U) & \to & _{S}H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) & \to & _{S}H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}_F) & \to \cdots \\ & & \downarrow & & \downarrow f^* \\ \cdots \to & _{S}H^p_{\Phi}(X,F;\mathscr{A}) & \to & _{S}H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) & \to & _{S}H^p_{\Phi|F}(F;\mathscr{A}|F) & \to \cdots \end{array}$$

The bottom row, for $\mathscr{A} = L$, is just the singular cohomology sequence of the pair (X, F). The row of vertical maps marked " θ " are isomorphisms if X is *HLC*. The composition of vertical maps on the right is the " θ " map for F by the uniqueness part of II-6.2. Also, f^* , and hence each of the vertical maps on the bottom row, is an isomorphism if X and F are both *HLC*, as also follows from II-6.2. Note that $(\mathscr{P}^*(X;L)\otimes\mathscr{A})|U\approx\mathscr{P}^*(U;L)\otimes\mathscr{A}$ and $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{P}^*(X;L)\otimes\mathscr{A}_U) = \Gamma_{\Phi}((\mathscr{P}^*(X;L)\otimes\mathscr{A}_U)) = \Gamma_{\Phi}|_U((\mathscr{P}^*(X;L)\otimes\mathscr{A})|U) = \Gamma_{\Phi}|_U(\mathscr{P}^*(U;L)\otimes\mathscr{A})$, so that ${}_{S}H^{\Phi}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}_U) = {}_{S}H^{\Phi}_{\Phi}|_U(U;\mathscr{A}|U)$.

It follows that if X and F are both HLC, then all vertical maps in the last diagram are isomorphisms, and in particular, the relative singular cohomology of (X, F) "depends" only on X-F = U;² i.e., invariance under relative homeomorphisms is satisfied. Of course, this is false without the HLC condition on both X and F.

Since CW-complexes are locally contractible, and hence HLC, we now know that sheaf-theoretic cohomology agrees with singular cohomology (including cup products) on pairs of CW-complexes. (This also follows from

²Strictly speaking, it also depends on $\Phi|U$, but in the most important case of compact supports on locally compact spaces, $\Phi|U=c$ is also intrinsic to U.

uniqueness theorems for cohomology theories on CW-pairs, but the present result is stronger because it covers the case of twisted coefficients.)

For HLC pairs and constant coefficients, one can do much more using the methods employed at the end of the next section; see 2.1.

If X is HLC, \mathscr{A} is locally constant, and Φ is paracompactifying, then $\mathscr{S}^*(X;L) \otimes \mathscr{A}$ and $\mathscr{S}^*(X;\mathscr{A})$ are both Φ -acyclic resolutions of \mathscr{A} , and it follows that μ^* of (2) is an isomorphism. Since μ preserves cup products,³ so does μ^* . Therefore, for X HLC, \mathscr{A} locally constant, and Φ paracompactifying, we have the natural multiplicative isomorphisms

$$H^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow[\approx]{\theta} {}_{\mathcal{S}} H^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \xleftarrow{\mu^*}{\approx} {}_{\Delta} H^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A})$$

We summarize our discussion in the following theorem.

1.1. Theorem. There exist the natural multiplicative transformations of functors (of X as well as of \mathcal{A})

$$H^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \stackrel{\theta}{\longrightarrow} {}_{S}H^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \stackrel{\mu^*}{\longleftarrow} {}_{\Delta}H^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A})$$

in which the groups ${}_{\Delta}H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$, and hence μ^* , are defined only for locally constant \mathscr{A} and are the classical singular cohomology groups when Φ is paracompactifying. The map μ^* is an isomorphism when \mathscr{A} has finitely generated stalks. Both θ and μ^* are isomorphisms when X is HLC and Φ is paracompactifying. Both natural transformations extend to closed pairs of spaces with the same conclusions. \Box

1.2. Example. Let X be the union of the 2-spheres of radius 1/n all tangent to the xy-plane at the origin x_0 . (See II-10.10.) Let W be the same point set with the CW-topology. Then the identity map $(W, x_0) \rightarrow (X, x_0)$ is a relative homeomorphism, since the complement is a countable topological sum of 2-planes in both cases. However, by the foregoing results, $_{\Delta}H^n(W, x_0; \mathbb{Z}) \approx H^n(W, x_0; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\infty} H^n(\mathbb{R}^2; \mathbb{Z})$ vanishes for n > 2. On the other hand, $_{\Delta}H^n(X, x_0; \mathbb{Z}) \approx _{\Delta}\tilde{H}^n(X; \mathbb{Z})$ is nonzero for arbitrarily large n, as shown in [3].

1.3. Example. Let X be the Cantor set. Then by continuity II-14.6 we have $H^0(X;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \lim_{X \to \infty} \mathbb{Z}^{2^n}$, which is countable. On the other hand, $\Delta H^0(X;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(H_0(X;\mathbb{Z}),\mathbb{Z}) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(\bigoplus_X \mathbb{Z},\mathbb{Z}) \approx \prod_X \mathbb{Z}$, which is uncountable.

Another such example is the "topologist's sine curve" of II-10.9.

³This follows directly from the definition of the cup product in singular theory.

2 Alexander-Spanier cohomology

Put $\mathscr{A}^* = \mathscr{A}^*(X; L)$ as defined in I-7. For any sheaf \mathscr{B} on X we define the Alexander-Spanier cohomology with coefficients in \mathscr{B} and supports in Φ by

$${}_{A}H^{*}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{B}) = H^{*}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^{*}\otimes\mathscr{B})).$$
(3)

When $\mathscr{B} = L$ and Φ is paracompactifying, this coincides, by I-7, with the classical Alexander-Spanier cohomology. This is also true for $\mathscr{B} = G$ constant and Φ paracompactifying, as we shall see presently.

By II-1, \mathscr{A}^* is a resolution of L, and \mathscr{A}^* is torsion free. Thus, $\mathscr{A}^* \otimes \mathscr{B}$ is a resolution of \mathscr{B} and is an *exact* functor of \mathscr{B} . The cup product $A^p(U;L) \otimes A^q(U;L) \to A^{p+q}(U;L)$, defined by $(f \cup g)(x_0,\ldots,x_{p+q}) =$ $f(x_0,\ldots,x_p)g(x_p,\ldots,x_{p+q})$, induces a product $\mathscr{A}^p \otimes \mathscr{A}^q \to \mathscr{A}^{p+q}$ (a homomorphism of differential sheaves) and also $(\mathscr{A}^p \otimes \mathscr{B}) \otimes (\mathscr{A}^q \otimes \mathscr{C}) \to$ $\mathscr{A}^{p+q} \otimes (\mathscr{B} \otimes \mathscr{C})$. Thus \mathscr{A}^0 is a sheaf of rings with unit, and each $\mathscr{A}^p \otimes \mathscr{B}$ is an \mathscr{A}^0 -module. Now $\mathscr{A}^0 \approx \mathscr{C}^0(X;L)$, and hence it is flabby. Thus, when Φ is paracompactifying, $\mathscr{A}^p \otimes \mathscr{B}$ is Φ -fine.

Since $\mathscr{A}^* \otimes \mathscr{B}$ is a resolution of \mathscr{B} , we have the homomorphism

$$\rho: {}_{A}H^{*}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{B}) \to H^{*}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{B})$$

$$\tag{4}$$

of II-5.15.

If Φ is paracompactifying, then $\mathscr{A}^* \otimes \mathscr{B}$ is Φ -fine, so that ρ is an isomorphism. (Its inverse is the analogue of the map θ of Section 1.) For Φ paracompactifying, a development similar to that of Section 1 can be made. It is somewhat simpler since θ is now always an isomorphism.

In particular, for $F \subset X$ closed, U = X - F, and Φ paracompactifying, there is the natural commutative diagram with exact rows:

where the relative Alexander-Spanier cohomology is defined to be the homology of the kernel of the canonical surjection

$$\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*(X;L)\otimes\mathscr{B})\to\Gamma_{\Phi|F}(\mathscr{A}^*(F;L)\otimes\mathscr{B}).$$

If $f: U^{p+1} \to L$ is an Alexander-Spanier *p*-cochain on the open set $U \subset X$ and if $\sigma: \Delta_p \to U$ is a singular *p*-simplex in U, put $(\lambda f)(\sigma) = f(\sigma(e_0), ..., \sigma(e_p))$, where the e_i are the vertices of the standard *p*-simplex Δ_p . This defines a natural map $\lambda: A^*(U; L) \to S^*(U; L)$, which induces a homomorphism $\mathscr{A}^* \to \mathscr{P}^*$ of differential sheaves. This, in turn, induces a chain map $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^* \otimes \mathscr{B}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{P}^* \otimes \mathscr{B})$ and hence a natural homology homomorphism

$$\lambda^*:{}_AH^*_\Phi(X;\mathscr{B})\to {}_SH^*_\Phi(X;\mathscr{B}).$$

When Φ is paracompactifying, the compatibility properties of λ^* , together with II-6.2, imply that $\lambda^* = \theta \rho$, where θ is as in Section 1 and ρ is as in (4).

We now turn to the case of *constant coefficients* in the *L*-module G. There is a natural map

$$A^*(U;L)\otimes G\to A^*(U;G).$$

Note that when G is finitely generated, this is already an isomorphism. This induces a homomorphism $\mathscr{A}^* \otimes G \to \mathscr{A}^*(X;G)$. Also, $\mathscr{A}^*(X;G)$ is an $\mathscr{A}^0(X;L)$ -module and is a resolution of G. We have the maps

$$\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^* \otimes G) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*(X;G)) \leftarrow \bar{A}^*_{\Phi}(X;G),$$

where $\bar{A}_{\Phi}^* = A_{\Phi}^*/A_0^*$. When Φ is paracompactifying, the first map induces an isomorphism in homology by II-4.2, while the second map is already an isomorphism by I-7. Thus, for Φ paracompactifying and G constant,

$$H^*_{\Phi}(X;G) \approx {}_AH^*_{\Phi}(X;G) \approx {}_{AS}H^*_{\Phi}(X;G).$$

Moreover, these isomorphisms preserve the cup product, the first by the functorial method used in Section 1 (or by II-7.5) and the second by its definition.

Now suppose that $B \subset X$ is arbitrary. Let $\bar{A}^*_{\Phi}(X, B; G)$ be the kernel of the canonical surjection $\bar{A}^*_{\Phi}(X; G) \twoheadrightarrow \bar{A}^*_{\Phi \cap B}(B; G)$. The relative Alexander-Spanier cohomology group is defined by

$${}_{AS}H^p_\Phi(X,B;G) = H^p(\bar{A}^*_\Phi(X,B;G)).$$

For $U \subset X$ open, the restriction $A^*(U;G) \to A^*(B \cap U;G)$ is onto and hence, passing to the limit over neighborhoods U of $x \in B$, the induced map $\mathscr{A}^*(X;G)_x \to \mathscr{A}^*(B;G)_x$ is also onto. Thus the canonical cohomomorphism $\mathscr{A}^*(X;G) \to A^*(B;G)$ is surjective in the sense of II-12. We have the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \bar{A}^{*}_{\Phi}(X;G) & \longrightarrow & \bar{A}^{*}_{\Phi\cap B}(B;G) \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^{*}(X;G)) & \xrightarrow{r^{*}} & \Gamma_{\Phi\cap B}(\mathscr{A}^{*}(B;G)) \end{array}$$

in which the top map is always onto and the vertical maps are isomorphisms provided that Φ is paracompactifying. Thus $\operatorname{Ker} r^* \approx \overline{A}_{\Phi}^*(X, B; G)$, and by II-12.17,

$$H^p_{\Phi}(X,B;G) \approx {}_{AS}H^p_{\Phi}(X,B;G)$$

when Φ and $\Phi \cap B$ are both paracompactifying.

In a similar manner, when X and B are both HLC, \mathscr{A} is locally constant, and Φ and $\Phi \cap B$ are both paracompactifying, one can show that

$$H^p_{\Phi}(X,B;\mathscr{A}) \approx {}_{\Delta} H^p_{\Phi}(X,B;\mathscr{A}) \approx {}_{S} H^p_{\Phi}(X,B;\mathscr{A}).$$

We summarize the main results:

2.1. Theorem. There exist the natural multiplicative transformations of functors (of X as well as of \mathcal{A})

$$ASH_{\Phi}^{*}(X;\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\mu^{*}} {}_{A}H_{\Phi}^{*}(X;\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\rho} H_{\Phi}^{*}(X;\mathscr{A})$$
$$\downarrow^{\lambda^{*}} {}_{S}H_{\Phi}^{*}(X;\mathscr{A})$$

in which the groups ${}_{AS}H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$, and hence μ^* , are defined only for constant \mathscr{A} and are the classical Alexander-Spanier cohomology groups. The map μ^* is an isomorphism when $\mathscr{A} = L$ or when Φ is paracompactifying. The map ρ is an isomorphism when Φ is paracompactifying. The map λ^* is an isomorphism when X is HLC and Φ is paracompactifying. All three natural transformations extend to closed pairs of spaces with the same conclusions. The isomorphism $\rho\mu^*$ extends to arbitrary pairs (X, B) if Φ and $\Phi \cap B$ are paracompactifying and \mathscr{A} is constant. The isomorphism $\lambda^*\rho^{-1}$ extends to arbitrary HLC pairs (X, B) when Φ and $\Phi \cap B$ are paracompactifying and \mathscr{A} is locally constant. \Box

3 de Rham cohomology

Let X be a C^{∞} -manifold and let $L = \mathbb{R}$. Let \mathscr{A} be any sheaf of \mathbb{R} -modules and define the de Rham cohomology with coefficients in \mathscr{A} by

$${}_{\Omega}H^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) = H^*(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\Omega^*\otimes \mathscr{A})).$$

Now, Ω^* is a resolution of \mathbb{R} , so that $\Omega^* \otimes \mathscr{A}$ is a resolution of \mathscr{A} . The exterior product $\wedge : \Omega^p(U) \otimes \Omega^q(U) \to \Omega^{p+q}(U)$ induces a product $(\Omega^p \otimes \mathscr{A}) \otimes (\Omega^q \otimes \mathscr{B}) \to \Omega^{p+q} \otimes (\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B})$. Thus Ω^0 is a sheaf of rings with unit and each $\Omega^p \otimes \mathscr{A}$ is an Ω^0 -module. [Recall that $\Omega^0(U)$ is the ring of C^{∞} real-valued functions on U.]

For any paracompactifying family Φ on X and $K, K' \in \Phi$ with $K \subset$ int K' there is an $f \in \Omega^0(X)$ with f(x) = 1 for $x \in K$ and f(x) = 0 for $x \notin K'$. Let $g \in \Gamma(\Omega^0|K)$. We can extend g to a neighborhood, say K', of K by II-9.5. Then $f \cdot g$ is zero on the boundary of K' and thus can be extended to all of X. It follows that Ω^0 is Φ -soft, and hence each $\Omega^p \otimes \mathcal{A}$ is Φ -fine for any paracompactifying family Φ .

By II-5.15, there is a canonical map

$$\rho: {}_{\Omega}H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$$

for arbitrary Φ , and this is an *isomorphism* when Φ is paracompactifying. Moreover, ρ preserves products when Φ is paracompactifying by II-7.1. (This is also true for arbitrary Φ , but we have not proved it.)

For many applications it is important to have a more direct "de Rham isomorphism": ${}_{S}H^{*}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \approx {}_{\Omega}H^{*}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}), \Phi$ paracompactifying. We shall briefly describe this.

We use singular theory based on C^{∞} singular simplices. Let $\omega \in \Omega^p(X)$. We let $k(\omega)$ denote the singular *p*-cochain defined as follows. Let $\sigma : \Delta_p \to X$ be a C^{∞} singular simplex. Then define

$$k(\omega)(\sigma) = \int_{\Delta_p} \sigma^*(\omega).$$

Stokes' theorem may be interpreted as saying that

$$k(d\omega)(\sigma) = \int_{\Delta_p} \sigma^*(d\omega) = \int_{\Delta_p} d\sigma^*(\omega) = \int_{\partial \Delta_p} \sigma^*(\omega) = k(\omega)(\partial\sigma) = (d(k(\omega))(\sigma),$$

so that $k(d\omega) = dk(\omega)$. That is,

$$k: \Omega^*(X) \to S^*(X; \mathbb{R})$$

is a chain map.⁴

Clearly $|k(\omega)| = |\omega|$, so that $k : \Omega_{\Phi}^*(X) \to S_{\Phi}^*(X;\mathbb{R})$ for any family Φ . Thus k induces a homomorphism

$$k^*: {}_{\Omega}H^*_{\Phi}(X) \to {}_{\Delta}H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathbb{R}).$$

We claim that k^* is an isomorphism when Φ is paracompactifying and, in fact, that $k^* = \theta \rho$, where θ is as in Section 1.

To do this, we first generalize k^* as follows. The map $k : \Omega^*(U) \to S^*(U;\mathbb{R})$ induces a sheaf homomorphism $\Omega^* \to \mathscr{S}^*(X;\mathbb{R})$, which extends to a map $\Omega^* \otimes \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{S}^*(X;\mathbb{R}) \otimes \mathscr{A}$ inducing an extension of k to k: $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\Omega^* \otimes \mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{S}^*(X;L) \otimes \mathscr{A})$. Thus we have, in general, a natural homomorphism

$$k^*: {}_{\Omega}H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to {}_{S}H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$$

coinciding with the former map for $\mathscr{A} = \mathbb{R}$ and Φ paracompactifying.

Now, when Φ is paracompactifying, $k : \Omega^* \otimes \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{P}^*(X; \mathbb{R}) \otimes \mathscr{A}$ is a homomorphism of *resolutions* of \mathscr{A} by Φ -soft sheaves. Consequently k^* is an *isomorphism* by II-4.2. This isomorphism k^* also commutes with connecting homomorphisms, and it follows from II-6.2 that $k^* = \theta \rho$.

We summarize:

3.1. Theorem. For smooth manifolds X and sheaves \mathscr{A} of \mathbb{R} -modules, there are natural multiplicative transformations of functors (of X as well as of \mathscr{A})



in which all three maps are isomorphisms when Φ is paracompactifying. The map k^* is induced by the classical integration of differential forms over singular simplices.

⁴For a reasonably complete exposition of these matters see [19, V].

4 Čech cohomology

In I-7 we defined Čech cohomology with coefficients in a presheaf and proved one substantial result in the classical case of coefficients in a constant presheaf. In this section, we further develop the Čech approach to cohomology with coefficients in a sheaf as well as in a presheaf and study the connections between the two. The reader is advised to review the material in I-7 as to our notational conventions.

Let A be a presheaf on X and $\mathfrak{U} = \{U_{\alpha}; \alpha \in I\}$ an open covering of X. We shall use σ^n to denote an ordered n-simplex $\langle \alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_n \rangle$ of the nerve $N(\mathfrak{U})$ of \mathfrak{U} , and U_{σ^n} to denote $U_{\alpha_0,\ldots,\alpha_n} = U_{\alpha_0} \cap \cdots \cap U_{\alpha_n}$. Let $c \in \check{C}^{\mathbf{n}}_{\Phi}(X; A)$. Then the support |c| of c is characterized by

$$x \notin |c| \iff \exists V_x \ \ni \ 0 = c(\sigma^n) | U_{\sigma^n} \cap V_x \in A(U_{\sigma^n} \cap V_x) \ \forall \sigma^n \in N(\mathfrak{U}),$$

where V_x is an open neighborhood of x.

4.1. Proposition. The functor $\check{C}^n(\mathfrak{U}; \bullet)$ of presheaves is exact.

Proof. It is essential to understand that this applies to exact sequences of *presheaves* and not to sheaves, since an exact sequence of sheaves is not generally right exact as a sequence of presheaves.

Let $0 \to A' \to A \to A'' \to 0$ be an exact sequence of presheaves; that is, for all $U \subset X$ open, $0 \to A'(U) \to A(U) \to A''(U) \to 0$ is exact. Then the induced sequence

$$0 \to \check{C}^n(\mathfrak{U}; A') \to \check{C}^n(\mathfrak{U}; A) \to \check{C}^n(\mathfrak{U}; A'') \to 0$$

has the form

$$0 \to \prod_{\sigma^n} A'(U_{\sigma^n}) \to \prod_{\sigma^n} A(U_{\sigma^n}) \to \prod_{\sigma^n} A''(U_{\sigma^n}) \to 0$$

which is exact.

4.2. Theorem. If every member of Φ has a neighborhood in Φ then the functor $\check{C}^n_{\Phi}(X; \bullet)$ of presheaves is exact.

Proof. By passing to the direct limit over the coverings $\mathfrak{U} = \{U_x; x \in X\}$, we see that, for an exact sequence $0 \to A' \to A \to A'' \to 0$, the sequence

$$0 \to \check{C}^n(X; A') \to \check{C}^n(X; A) \to \check{C}^n(X; A'') \to 0$$

is exact by 4.1. It is also clear that

$$0 \to \check{C}^n_{\Phi}(X; A') \to \check{C}^n_{\Phi}(X; A) \xrightarrow{\jmath} \check{C}^n_{\Phi}(X; A'')$$

is exact, and it remains to show that j is surjective. Thus, suppose that $c''_{\mathfrak{U}} \in \check{C}^n_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U}; A'')$ represents a given element of $\check{C}^n_{\Phi}(X; A'')$, where $\mathfrak{U} = \{U_x; x \in U_x; x \in U_x\}$

X}, and that $K = |c''_{\mathfrak{U}}| \in \Phi$. Let $K' \in \Phi$ be a neighborhood of K. Then for each $x \in X - K$ there is a neighborhood $V_x \subset U_x$ such that $c''_{\mathfrak{U}}(\sigma^n)|U_{\sigma^n} \cap V_x = 0$ in $A''(U_{\sigma^n} \cap V_x)$ for all σ^n . For $x \in K$ let $V_x = U_x \cap \operatorname{int} K'$. Then for the refinement $\mathfrak{V} = \{V_x\}$, we see that the image $c''_{\mathfrak{V}}$ of $c''_{\mathfrak{U}}$ has $c''_{\mathfrak{V}}(\sigma^n) = 0$ whenever $\sigma^n = \{x_0, \ldots, x_n\}$ has some vertex $x_i \notin K$. If $c''_{\mathfrak{V}} = j_{\mathfrak{V}}(c_{\mathfrak{V}})$ for some $c_{\mathfrak{V}} \in \check{C}^n(\mathfrak{V}; A)$, then define $\bar{c}_{\mathfrak{V}} \in \check{C}^n(\mathfrak{V}; A)$ by

$$\bar{c}_{\mathfrak{V}}(\sigma^n) = \begin{cases} c_{\mathfrak{V}}(\sigma^n), & \text{if all vertices } x_i \text{ of } \sigma^n \text{ are in } K, \\ 0, & \text{if some vertex } x_i \text{ of } \sigma^n \text{ is in } X - K. \end{cases}$$

Then, also, $j_{\mathfrak{V}}(\bar{c}_{\mathfrak{V}}) = c''_{\mathfrak{V}}$ and $|\bar{c}_{\mathfrak{V}}| \subset K' \in \Phi$.

It follows, of course, that if $0 \to A' \to A \to A'' \to 0$ is an exact sequence of presheaves, then there is an induced long exact sequence

$$\cdots \to \check{H}^n_{\Phi}(X; A') \to \check{H}^n_{\Phi}(X; A) \to \check{H}^n_{\Phi}(X; A'') \to \check{H}^{n+1}_{\Phi}(X; A') \to \cdots$$

of Cech cohomology groups when Φ is paracompactifying. Presently we shall show that this also applies to short exact sequences of *sheaves*.

4.3. Proposition. If Φ is paracompactifying, then any given cohomology class $\gamma \in \check{H}^n_{\Phi}(X; A)$ is represented by a cocycle $c_{\mathfrak{U}} \in \check{C}^n_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U}; A)$ for some locally finite covering \mathfrak{U} of X.

Proof. Let γ be represented by the cocycle $c_{\mathfrak{U}} \in \check{C}^n_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U}; A)$ for some open covering $\mathfrak{U} = \{U_x\}$ and let $K = |c| \in \Phi$. Let $K' \in \Phi$ be a neighborhood of Kand $K'' \in \Phi$ a neighborhood of K'. For $x \in X - K$ there is a neighborhood $V_x \subset U_x - K$ of x such that $0 = c(\sigma^n)|V_x \cap U_{\sigma^n} \in A(V_x \cap U_{\sigma^n})$ for all σ^n . Let $\{W_{\alpha}; \alpha \in I\}$ be a locally finite open (in X) covering of K' in K'' that refines the covering $\{U_x \cap \operatorname{int} K''\}$ and is such that if $W_\alpha \cap (X - K') \neq \emptyset$ then $W_\alpha \subset V_x$ for some x. Then $\mathfrak{V} = \{V_x; x \in X - K'\} \cup \{W_\alpha; \alpha \in I\}$ is a refinement of \mathfrak{U} . The projection $c_{\mathfrak{V}}$ of $c_{\mathfrak{U}}$ has the property that $c_{\mathfrak{U}}(\sigma^n) = 0$ unless all vertices α_i of σ^n have $V_{\alpha_i} \subset K'$, since otherwise $V_{\alpha_i} \subset V_x$ for some x. Let $\mathfrak{W} = \{W_\alpha; \alpha \in I\} \cup \{X - K' = W_\infty\}$ (where $\infty \notin I$) and let $c_{\mathfrak{W}} \in \check{C}^n_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{W}; A)$ be given by

$$c_{\mathfrak{W}}(\sigma^n) = \left\{ egin{array}{cl} c_{\mathfrak{V}}(\sigma^n), & ext{if no vertex of } \sigma^n ext{ is } \infty, \ 0, & ext{if some vertex of } \sigma^n ext{ is } \infty. \end{array}
ight.$$

Then \mathfrak{V} refines both \mathfrak{U} and \mathfrak{W} . Moreover, $c_{\mathfrak{W}}$ projects to $c_{\mathfrak{V}} \in \check{C}^{n}_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{V}; A)$. We have $dc_{\mathfrak{W}}(\sigma^{n+1}) = dc_{\mathfrak{V}}(\sigma^{n+1}) = 0$ if no vertex of $\sigma^{n+1} = \{\alpha_{0}, \ldots, \alpha_{n+1}\}$ is ∞ . Also, $dc_{\mathfrak{W}}(\sigma^{n+1}) = 0$ if σ^{n+1} has at least two such vertices. If only the vertex $\alpha_{k} = \infty$, then

$$dc_{\mathfrak{W}}(\sigma^{n+1}) = \pm c_{\mathfrak{V}}(\alpha_0, \dots, \widehat{\alpha_k}, \dots, \alpha_{n+1}) | W_{\alpha_0} \cap \dots \cap W_{\infty} \cap \dots \cap W_{n+1} = 0,$$

since $W_{\infty} \cap W_{\alpha_i} = \emptyset$ unless $W_{\alpha_i} \cap X - K' \neq \emptyset$, in which case $W_{\alpha_i} \subset V_x$ for some x, whence $dc_{\mathfrak{W}}(\sigma^{n+1}) = \pm c_{\mathfrak{V}}(\alpha_0, \ldots, \widehat{\alpha_k}, \ldots, \alpha_{n+1})|W_{\sigma^{n+1}} = 0$. Since \mathfrak{W} is locally finite, $c_{\mathfrak{W}}$ is the required cocycle representative of γ . \Box **4.4. Theorem.** If Φ is paracompactifying and A is a presheaf on X such that $\mathscr{P}_{heaf}(A) = 0$, then $\check{H}^n_{\Phi}(X; A) = 0$ for all n.

Proof. Let $\gamma \in \check{H}^n_{\Phi}(X; A)$ be represented by the cocycle $c_{\mathfrak{U}} \in \check{C}^n_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U}; A)$ where $\mathfrak{U} = \{U_{\alpha}; \alpha \in I\}$ is a locally finite open covering of X. For each $x \in X$ there is an open neighborhood V_x of x such that $V_x \cap U_{\alpha} \neq \emptyset$ for only a finite number of α . Then V_x can be further restricted so that each $c_{\mathfrak{U}}(\sigma^n)|U_{\sigma^n} \cap V_x = 0$ and such that $\mathfrak{V} = \{V_x\}$ refines \mathfrak{U} . But then the projection $c_{\mathfrak{V}} \in \check{C}^n_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{V}; A)$ of $c_{\mathfrak{U}}$ is the zero cocycle, and so $\gamma = 0$.

4.5. Corollary. If Φ is paracompactifying on X, A is a presheaf on X, and $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{Sheaf}(A)$, then the canonical map $\theta : A \to \mathcal{A}$ induces an isomorphism

$$\check{H}^*_{\Phi}(X;A) \xrightarrow{\approx} \check{H}^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}).$$

Proof. Let $K = \operatorname{Ker} \theta$ and $I = \operatorname{Im} \theta$. Then the exact sequences

$$0 \to K \to A \to I \to 0$$

and

$$0 \to I \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}/I \to 0$$

of presheaves induce long exact cohomology sequences. Since $\mathcal{S}_{heaf}(K) = 0 = \mathcal{S}_{heaf}(\mathcal{A}/I)$, the claimed isomorphism follows.

4.6. Corollary. If Φ is paracompactifying and $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \xrightarrow{i} \mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{j} \mathscr{A}'' \to 0$ is an exact sequence of sheaves on X, then there is an induced long exact sequence

$$\cdots \to \check{H}^{n}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}') \xrightarrow{i^{*}} \check{H}^{n}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{j^{*}} \check{H}^{n}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}'') \xrightarrow{\delta^{*}} \check{H}^{n+1}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}') \to \cdots$$

of Čech cohomology groups.

Proof. If $A''(U) = \mathscr{A}(U)/i\mathscr{A}'(U)$ then the exact sequence $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{A} \to A'' \to 0$ of presheaves induces a long exact cohomology sequence. But $\mathscr{H}eaf(A'') = \mathscr{A}''$ by definition, and so $\check{H}^n_{\Phi}(X; A'') \approx \check{H}^n_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}'')$ by 4.5.

4.7. Proposition. If \mathscr{A} is a sheaf, then for any open covering \mathfrak{U} of X, the presheaf $V \mapsto \check{C}^n(\mathfrak{U} \cap V; \mathscr{A})$ is a sheaf. If \mathscr{A} is flabby, then so are the $\check{C}^n(\mathfrak{U} \cap \bullet; \mathscr{A})$.

Proof. We have

$$\check{C}^{n}(\mathfrak{U}\cap V;\mathscr{A})=\prod_{\sigma^{n}}\mathscr{A}(U_{\sigma^{n}}\cap V)=\prod_{\sigma^{n}}(i_{\sigma^{n}}(\mathscr{A}|U_{\sigma^{n}}))(V),$$

where $i_{\sigma^n}: U_{\sigma^n} \hookrightarrow X$. Since the direct product of sheaves is a sheaf and the direct image of a flabby sheaf is flabby, the result follows. \Box

4.8. Lemma. If $\mathfrak{U} = \{U_{\alpha}; \alpha \in I\}$ is a covering of X that includes the set X, then $\check{H}^{n}(\mathfrak{U}; A) = 0$ for n > 0 and any presheaf A.

Proof. Let $\mathfrak{V} = \{X\}$. Then \mathfrak{U} and \mathfrak{V} refine one another, whence $\check{C}^*(\mathfrak{U}; A)$ is chain equivalent to $\check{C}^*(\mathfrak{V}; A)$, which vanishes in positive degrees. \Box

4.9. Theorem. If \mathscr{A} is a sheaf on X and $\mathfrak{U} = \{U_{\alpha}; \alpha \in I\}$ is any open covering of X, then $\check{\mathscr{C}}^*(\mathfrak{U}; \mathscr{A})$ is a resolution of \mathscr{A} .

Proof. Let V be a neighborhood of a given point $x \in X$, so small that $V \subset U_{\alpha}$ for some $\alpha \in I$. We have the sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{A}(V) \xrightarrow{\varepsilon} \check{C}^{0}(\mathfrak{U} \cap V; \mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{d^{0}} \check{C}^{1}(\mathfrak{U} \cap V; \mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{d^{1}} \check{C}^{2}(\mathfrak{U} \cap V; \mathscr{A}) \to \cdots$$

and $\operatorname{Ker} d^p = \operatorname{Im} d^{p-1}$ for p > 0 by the lemma. The remainder of the exactness comprises the conditions (S1) and (S2) of I-1. Passage to the direct limit over neighborhoods V of x shows that

$$0 \to \mathscr{A}_x \to \check{\mathscr{C}}^0(\mathfrak{U}; \mathscr{A})_x \to \check{\mathscr{C}}^1(\mathfrak{U}; \mathscr{A})_x \to \cdots$$

is exact.

4.10. Corollary. Let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X and let \mathfrak{U} be an open covering of X. Then $\check{H}^{0}_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U};\mathscr{A}) \approx \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A})$. If \mathscr{A} is flabby, then $\check{H}^{n}_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U};\mathscr{A}) = 0$ for n > 0.

Proof. Since $V \mapsto \check{C}^{n}(\mathfrak{U} \cap V; \mathscr{A})$ is a sheaf by 4.7, it is $\check{\mathscr{C}}^{*}(\mathfrak{U}; \mathscr{A})$. By 4.9, $0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\check{\mathscr{C}}^{0}(\mathfrak{U}; \mathscr{A})) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\check{\mathscr{C}}^{1}(\mathfrak{U}; \mathscr{A}))$ is exact, whence $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}) \approx H^{0}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\check{\mathscr{C}}^{*}(\mathfrak{U}; \mathscr{A}))) = H^{0}(\check{C}^{*}_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U}; \mathscr{A})) = \check{H}^{0}_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U}; \mathscr{A})$. If \mathscr{A} is flabby then 4.7, 4.9, and II-4.3 show that

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\check{\mathscr{C}}^{0}(\mathfrak{U};\mathscr{A})) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\check{\mathscr{C}}^{1}(\mathfrak{U};\mathscr{A})) \to \cdots$$

is exact, so that $H^n_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U}; \mathscr{A}) = H^n(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}^{+}(\mathfrak{U}; \mathscr{A}))) = 0 \text{ for } n > 0.$

By passing to the limit over \mathfrak{U} we have:

4.11. Corollary. Let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X. Then $\check{H}^0_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \approx \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A})$. If \mathscr{A} is flabby, then $\check{H}^n_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) = 0$ for n > 0. \Box

4.12. Corollary. For Φ paracompactifying and sheaves \mathcal{A} on X there is a natural isomorphism

$$\check{H}_{\Phi}^{*}(X;\mathscr{A}) \approx H_{\Phi}^{*}(X;\mathscr{A}).$$

Proof. By the previous corollary and 4.6, $\check{H}^n_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$ is a fundamental connected sequence of functors of sheaves \mathscr{A} . Thus the result follows from II-6.2.

4.13. Theorem. Let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X and let $\mathfrak{U} = \{U_{\alpha}; \alpha \in I\}$ be an open covering of X having the property that $H^{p}(U_{\sigma^{n}}; \mathscr{A}) = 0$ for p > 0 and all $\sigma^{n} \in N(\mathfrak{U})$, all n. Then there is a canonical isomorphism

$$H^*(X;\mathscr{A})\approx\check{H}^*(\mathfrak{U};\mathscr{A}).$$

Proof. Let $\mathscr{A}^q = \mathscr{C}^q(X; \mathscr{A})$ and consider the complex $\check{C}^p(\mathfrak{U}; \mathscr{A}^*)$ for p fixed. Since $\check{C}^p(\mathfrak{U}; \bullet)$ is an exact functor of presheaves, we have

$$\begin{aligned} H^{q}(\check{C}^{p}(\mathfrak{U};\mathscr{A}^{*})) &= \check{C}^{p}(\mathfrak{U};H^{q}(\Gamma(\mathscr{A}^{*}|\bullet))) \\ &= \check{C}^{p}(\mathfrak{U};H^{q}(\bullet;\mathscr{A})) \\ &= \begin{cases} \check{C}^{p}(\mathfrak{U};\mathscr{A}), & \text{for } q = 0 \\ 0, & \text{for } q \neq 0 \end{cases} \end{aligned}$$

by the hypothesis that $H^q(U_{\sigma^n}; \mathscr{A}) = 0$ for q > 0.

Consider the diagram

in which the rows are exact, excepting the first, as just shown and the columns are exact, excepting the first, by 4.10 and 4.9. A diagram chase shows that the homology of the first (nontrivial) row is isomorphic to that of the first column. \hfical

4.14. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a map and \mathscr{A} a sheaf on Y. Then $f^*: \mathscr{A} \to f^*\mathscr{A}$ induces $f_U: \mathscr{A}(U) \to (f^*\mathscr{A})(f^{-1}U)$. If $\mathfrak{U} = \{U_\alpha; \alpha \in I\}$ is an open covering of Y and $f^{-1}(\mathfrak{U}) = \{f^{-1}(U) | U \in \mathfrak{U}\}$, indexed by the same set I, then we can define

$$f_{\mathfrak{U}}:\check{C}^{n}_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U};\mathscr{A})\to\check{C}^{n}_{f^{-1}\Phi}(f^{-1}\mathfrak{U};f^{*}\mathscr{A})$$

by $f_{\mathfrak{U}}(c)(\sigma^n) = f_{U_{\sigma^n}}(c(\sigma^n))$. This is clearly a chain map, and so it induces a map

$$f_{\mathfrak{U}}^{*}:\check{H}_{\Phi}^{n}(\mathfrak{U};\mathscr{A})\to\check{H}_{f^{-1}\Phi}^{n}(f^{-1}\mathfrak{U};f^{*}\mathscr{A}).$$

Following this with the canonical map

$$\check{H}^{n}_{f^{-1}\Phi}(f^{-1}\mathfrak{U}; f^{*}\mathscr{A}) \to \check{H}^{n}_{f^{-1}\Phi}(X; f^{*}\mathscr{A}),$$

we obtain maps

$$\check{H}^n_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U};\mathscr{A}) \to \check{H}^n_{f^{-1}\Phi}(X; f^*\mathscr{A})$$

compatible with refinements. Therefore, these induce homomorphisms

$$\check{f}^*:\check{H}^n_\Phi(Y;\mathscr{A})\to\check{H}^n_{f^{-1}\Phi}(X;f^*\mathscr{A}).$$

It is clear that for n = 0 this is just the canonical map

$$\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{f^{-1}\Phi}(f^*\mathscr{A}).$$

Therefore, by II-6.2, \check{f}^* becomes $f^*: H^n_{\Phi}(Y; \mathscr{A}) \to H^n_{f^{-1}\Phi}(X; f^*\mathscr{A})$ under the isomorphisms of 4.12.

4.15. For presheaves A and B on X, we can define a cup product

$$\cup: C^n_{\Phi}(X;A) \otimes C^m_{\Psi}(X;B) \to C^{n+m}_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(X;A \otimes B),$$

where $(A \otimes B)(U) = A(U) \otimes B(U)$, by

 $c_1 \cup c_2(\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_{n+m}) = (c_1(\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_n) \otimes c_2(\alpha_n, \ldots, \alpha_{n+m}))|U_{\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_{n+m}}.$

This induces a cup product

$$\cup: \check{H}^{n}_{\Phi}(X;A) \otimes \check{H}^{m}_{\Psi}(X;B) \to \check{H}^{n+m}_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(X;A \otimes B).$$

If $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{Sheaf}(A)$ and $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{Sheaf}(B)$, then $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B} = \mathcal{Sheaf}(A \otimes B)$ by definition, whence this becomes a cup product

$$\cup: \check{H}^{n}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \otimes \check{H}^{m}_{\Psi}(X;\mathscr{B}) \to \check{H}^{n+m}_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(X;\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B})$$

when Φ and Ψ are paracompactifying. It is not hard to see, by using II-7.1, that this coincides with the cup product for sheaf cohomology via 4.12.

Exercises

- 1. Complete the discussion of Section 2 with regard to homomorphisms induced by maps.
- 2. Investigate the behavior of de Rham cohomology with respect to differentiable mappings.
- 3. Let G be a compact Lie group acting differentiably on a C^{∞} -manifold M. There is an induced action of G on $\Omega^*(M)$ and on ${}_{\Omega}H^*(M) \approx H^*(M;\mathbb{R})$. Denoting invariant elements by a superscript G, show that the inclusion $\Omega^*(M)^G \hookrightarrow \Omega^*(M)$ induces an isomorphism

$$H^*(\Omega^*(M)^G) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^*(M)^G.$$

[This is nontrivial. Note that $H^*(M)^G = H^*(M)$ when G is connected.] [*Hint*: Let $J : \Omega^*(M) \hookrightarrow \Omega^*(M)$ be the inclusion. By integration over G, define $I : \Omega^*(M) \to \Omega^*(M)^G$ so that $I \circ J = 1$ and such that for $\alpha \in H^p(M)^G$ and $\omega \in \Omega^*(M)$ representing α , $I(\omega)$ also represents α .]

- 4. (§) If X is hereditarily paracompact and G is a constant sheaf, show that $\mathscr{P}^*(X;G)$ and $\mathscr{A}^*(X;G)$ are flabby. Thus $H^*(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^*(X;G))) \approx H^*_{\Phi}(X;G)$ for any family Φ of supports.
- 5. A continuous surjection f : X → Y is called "ductile" if for each y ∈ Y, there exists a neighborhood V ⊂ Y of y which contracts to y through U in such a way that this contraction can be covered by a homotopy of f⁻¹(V); see [16]. Let _fS^{*}(U; Z) = Hom(f_{*}Δ^c_{*}(f⁻¹(U), Z)) where f_{*}Δ^c_{*}(f⁻¹(U)) is the image in Δ^c_{*}(U) of the classical singular chain complex of f⁻¹(U) under f. If S^{*}(W; Z) = Hom(Δ^c_{*}(W), Z), as usual, then the inclusion f_{*}Δ^c_{*}(f⁻¹(U)) → Δ^c_{*}(U) induces a homomorphism S^{*}(U; Z) → _fS^{*}(U; Z) of presheaves and hence a map 𝔅^{*} → _f𝔅^{*} of the generated sheaves. If Φ is a paracompactifying family of supports on Y and if f is ductile, show that the induced map

$${}_{\Delta}H^*_{\Phi}(Y;\mathbb{Z}) = H^*(S^*_{\Phi}(Y;\mathbb{Z})) \to H^*({}_fS^*_{\Phi}(Y;\mathbb{Z}))$$

is an isomorphism, and that for any sheaf \mathcal{A} on Y, the map

$$H^*(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{G}^* \otimes \mathscr{A})) \to H^*(\Gamma_{\Phi}({}_f\mathscr{G}^* \otimes \mathscr{A}))$$

is an isomorphism. (That is, for ductile maps, the singular cohomology of Y can be computed using only those singular simplices of Y that are images of singular simplices of X.)

6. Let X be a complex manifold. Let 𝔄^{p,q} denote the sheaf of germs of C[∞] differentiable forms of type (p,q) on X and let Ω^p denote the sheaf of germs of holomorphic p-forms of X. (This is not to be confused with the notation used in the real case.) The operator d of exterior differentiation has the decomposition d = d' + d'', where d' : 𝔅^{p,q} → 𝔅^{p+1,q} and d'' : 𝔅^{p,q} → 𝔅^{p,q+1}, (d')² = 0 = (d'')², and d'd'' + d''d' = 0. It can be shown that via d'', 𝔅^{p,*} is a resolution of Ω^p for each p. Using this fact, prove that (with the obvious notation) there is a natural isomorphism

$$H^{q}_{\Phi}(X;\Omega^{p}\otimes\mathscr{B})\approx {}^{"}H^{q}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^{p,*}\otimes\mathscr{B})),$$

where Φ is paracompactifying, \mathscr{B} is any sheaf of complex vector spaces, and the tensor products are over the complex numbers. (This result is known as the theorem of Dolbeault [32].)

7. (S) Construct a compact space X with singular homology groups

$$H_1(X;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \bigoplus_{n=2}^{\infty} \mathbb{Z}_n, \qquad H_2(X;\mathbb{Z}) = 0.$$

Let \mathbb{Z} be the base ring, let \mathbb{Q} denote the rationals as a \mathbb{Z} -module, and show that $_{\Delta}H^{2}(X;\mathbb{Q}) = 0$ while

$$_{S}H^{2}(X;\mathbb{Q}) \approx _{S}H^{2}(X;\mathbb{Z}) \otimes \mathbb{Q} \approx _{\Delta}H^{2}(X;\mathbb{Z}) \otimes \mathbb{Q} \neq 0.$$

In particular, unlike ΔH^* , the $_{S}H^*$ depend on the base ring.

- 8. Show that $HLC \Rightarrow clc_{\mathbf{Z}}^{\infty}$.
- 9. If $F \subset X$ is closed and \mathscr{A} is a sheaf on X, show that $\check{H}^n(X;\mathscr{A}_F) \approx \check{H}^n(F;\mathscr{A}|F)$.

- 10. (S) Let X be a rudimentary space; see II-Exercise 57. Then show that $\check{H}^n(X; A) \approx H^n(X; \mathcal{A})$ for all n and any presheaf A on X with $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{Sheaf}(A)$.
- 11. (S) Let the Čech cohomology groups ${}_{LF}\check{H}^n(X;A)$ be defined using only locally finite coverings of X. If N is the rudimentary space of II-Exercise 27, show that ${}_{LF}\check{H}^n(\mathbb{N};A) = 0$ for all n > 0 and all presheaves A on N. (Compare Exercise 10.)
- 12. Define and study relative Čech cohomology groups $\check{H}^n_{\Phi}(X, B; \mathscr{A})$.
- 13. (§) For the sheaf \mathscr{A}_n on \mathbb{S}^1 described in I-1.14, compute $\check{H}^1(\mathbb{S}^1; \mathscr{A}_n)$.
- 14. (S) Use constant coefficients in some group throughout. Let X be a compact metric space and $0 \neq \gamma \in H^n(X)$. Show that there is a number $\varepsilon > 0$, depending on γ , such that if $f: X \twoheadrightarrow Y$ is a surjective map to a compact Hausdorff space Y with diam $f^{-1}(y) < \varepsilon$ for all $y \in Y$, then $\gamma = f^*(\gamma')$ for some $\gamma' \in H^n(Y)$.
- 15. For sheaves \mathscr{A} on X define a natural map $h^k : \check{H}^k(\mathfrak{U}; \mathscr{A}) \to H^k(X; \mathscr{A})$. If for every intersection U of at most m+1 members of \mathfrak{U} we have $H^q(U; \mathscr{A}) =$ 0 for 0 < q < n, then show that h^k is an isomorphism for $k < \min\{n, m\}$ and a monomorphism for $k = \min\{n, m\}$.
- 16. (S) Construct an example showing that 4.2 is false without the assumption that each member of Φ has a neighborhood in Φ .

Chapter IV

Applications of Spectral Sequences

In this chapter we shall assume that the reader is familiar with the theory of spectral sequences, especially with the spectral sequences of double complexes. This basic knowledge is applied specifically to the theory of sheaves in Sections 1 and 2. See Appendix A for an outline of the parts of the theory of spectral sequences we shall need.

In Section 3 we define an important generalization of the direct image functor, the direct image relative to a support family. Its derived functors, which yield the so-called Leray sheaf, are studied in Section 4. It should be noted that the direct image functor f_{Ψ} generalizes the functor Γ_{Ψ} since they are equivalent when f is the map to a point.

Section 5 is concerned with a construction dealing with support families and is primarily notational.

In Section 6 the Leray spectral sequence of an arbitrary map is derived and a few remarks about it are given. The cup product in this spectral sequence is also discussed. This spectral sequence is the central result of this chapter, perhaps of the whole book, and the remainder of the chapter is devoted to its consequences.

The important special case of a locally trivial bundle projection is discussed in Section 7, and it is shown that under suitable conditions, the Leray sheaf (the coefficient sheaf in the Leray spectral sequence) is locally constant and has the cohomology of the fiber as stalks. We also obtain a generalization of the Künneth formula to the case in which one of the factors X of $X \times Y$ is an arbitrary space, provided, however, that the other factor Y is locally compact Hausdorff and clc_L^{∞} and is provided with compact supports and constant coefficients in a principal ideal domain. These results are then applied to the case of vector bundles over an arbitrary space, and such things as the Thom isomorphism and the Gysin and Wang exact sequences are derived.

Some important consequences that the Leray spectral sequence and the fundamental theorems have for dimension theory are discussed in Section 8. That section also contains a strengthening of the Vietoris mapping theorem due to Skljarenko.

In Section 9 the Leray spectral sequence is applied to spaces with compact groups of transformations acting on them, and the Borel and Cartan spectral sequences are derived. In Section 10 we apply the discussion of Section 7 to give a general definition of the Stiefel-Whitney, Chern, and symplectic Pontryagin characteristic classes, and to derive some of their properties. Applications to the study of characteristic classes of the normal bundle to the fixed point set of a differentiable transformation group are discussed at the end of this section.

In Sections 11 and 12 we derive the Fary spectral sequence of a map with a filtered base space. This is applied in Section 13 to derive the Smith-Gysin sequence of a sphere fibration with singularities. In Section 14 we derive Oliver's transfer map and use it, as he did, to prove the Conner conjecture.

1 The spectral sequence of a differential sheaf

Let \mathscr{Q}^* be a differential sheaf on X. We are concerned with two cases:

(a)
$$\mathscr{L}^* = 0$$
 for $q < q_0$.

(b) $\dim_{\Phi,L} X < \infty$ for a given ground ring L and family Φ of supports.

If we are in case (b) with $\dim_{\Phi,L} X \leq n$, then

$$0 \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{C}^{0}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to \cdots \to \mathscr{C}^{n-1}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{F}^{n}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to 0$$

is a resolution of \mathscr{A} by Φ -acyclic sheaves and is an exact functor of \mathscr{A} . In the discussion below, $C^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$ should be replaced by Γ_{Φ} of this resolution when we are in case (b).

Let

$$L^{p,q} = C^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{L}^q).$$

We take $d': L^{p,q} \to L^{p+1,q}$ to be the differential of the complex $C_{\Phi}^*(X; \mathscr{Q}^q)$ and $(-1)^p d'': L^{p,q} \to L^{p,q+1}$ to be the differential induced by the coefficient homomorphism $\mathscr{Q}^q \to \mathscr{Q}^{q+1}$. Let d = d' + d'' be the total differential and L^* the total complex, where

$$L^n = \bigoplus_{p+q=n} L^{p,q}.$$

There are two spectral sequences, ${}^{'}E_{r}^{p,q}$ and ${}^{''}E_{r}^{p,q}$, of the double complex $L^{*,*}$ converging¹ to graded groups associated with filtrations on $H^{p+q}(L^{*})$. We abbreviate this statement by the notation $E_{2}^{p,q} \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}(L^{*})$; see Appendix A.

¹The first spectral sequence converges because of condition (a) or (b).

§1. The spectral sequence of a differential sheaf

In the first spectral sequence we have $E_2^{p,q} = H^p(H^q(L^{*,*}))$ and in the second $E_2^{p,q} = H^p(H^q(L^{*,*}))$, where H and H are computed using d' and d'' respectively.

Now

$${}^{\prime\prime}H^q(L^{*,*}) = C^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{H}^q(\mathscr{L}^*))$$

since $C^*_{\Phi}(X; \bullet)$ is an exact functor. Thus

$${}^{\prime}E_{2}^{p,q} = H^{p}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{H}^{q}(\mathscr{L}^{*})).$$

$$(1)$$

1.1. In the second spectral sequence ${}^{\prime}H^{q}(L^{*,*}) = H^{q}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{L}^{*})$, so that $\boxed{{}^{\prime\prime}E_{2}^{p,q} = H^{p}(H^{q}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{L}^{*})).}$

$${}^{\prime\prime}E_2^{p,q} = H^p(H^q_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{L}^*)).$$

Note that in particular, ${}^{\prime\prime}E_2^{p,0} = H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*)).$

In the second spectral sequence we have the edge homomorphism

$$H^{p}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^{*})) = {}^{\prime\prime}E_{2}^{p,0} \twoheadrightarrow {}^{\prime\prime}E_{\infty}^{p,0} \rightarrowtail H^{p}(L^{*}).$$

$$\tag{2}$$

Recall that this is induced by the chain map

$$\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^p) \rightarrowtail L^p, \tag{3}$$

given by $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^p) \to C^0_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{L}^p) = L^{0,p} \to L^p$; see Appendix A.

Suppose that we are given a homomorphism $\mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{M}^*$ of differential sheaves. Putting $M^{p,q} = C^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathcal{M}^q)$, we have a map $L^{p,q} \to M^{p,q}$ of double complexes and hence a corresponding map of spectral sequences. Since (2) is induced by the chain map (3), it follows that the diagram

$$\begin{array}{rcl}
H^{p}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}^{*})) &\to& H^{p}(L^{*}) \\
\downarrow & \downarrow \\
H^{p}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{M}^{*})) &\to& H^{p}(M^{*})
\end{array} \tag{4}$$

commutes.

Let $0 \to \mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{M}^* \to \mathscr{N}^* \to 0$ be an exact sequence of differential sheaves. Since $C^*_{\Phi}(X; \bullet)$ is an exact functor, the sequence

$$0 \to L^{p,q} \to M^{p,q} \to N^{p,q} \to 0$$

(with the obvious notation) is exact. We shall assume that the sequence

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{M}^*) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{N}^*) \to 0$$

is also exact. This is the case, for example, when \mathscr{L}^* is Φ -acyclic.² Then it follows that the diagram

$$\begin{array}{rcl}
H^{p}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{N}^{*})) & \to & H^{p}(N^{*}) \\
& & & & \downarrow \delta \\
H^{p+1}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^{*})) & \to & H^{p+1}(L^{*})
\end{array}$$
(5)

is commutative, where the horizontal maps are the edge homomorphisms (2) and the vertical maps are the obvious connecting homomorphisms.

²Also see exercise 14.

1.2. We wish to obtain naturality relations such as (4) and (5) for the edge homomorphisms of the first spectral sequence. In order to obtain results of the generality needed, we must go into this situation somewhat more deeply than we did for the second spectral sequence.

In the remainder of this section we shall assume either that $\dim_{\Phi,L} X < \infty$ or that all differential sheaves considered are bounded below; that is, that condition (a) or (b) is satisfied. This assumption is needed to ensure the convergence of the "first" spectral sequences considered.

Let \mathscr{L}^* be a differential sheaf such that

$$\mathscr{H}^q(\mathscr{L}^*) = 0 \quad ext{for} \quad q < 0.$$

Let \mathscr{L} be some given sheaf and let $\mathscr{L} \to \mathscr{H}^{0}(\mathscr{L}^{*})$ be a given homomorphism. Since $E_{2}^{p,q} = H_{\Phi}^{p}(X; \mathscr{H}^{q}(\mathscr{L}^{*})) = 0$ for q < 0 we have the edge homomorphism

$$H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{L}) \to H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{H}^0(\mathscr{L}^*)) = 'E_2^{p,0} \twoheadrightarrow 'E_{\infty}^{p,0} \rightarrowtail H^p(L^*).$$
(6)

Since we have not assumed that \mathscr{L}^* vanishes in negative degrees, we cannot immediately conclude that (6) is induced by a chain map. In order to provide such a chain map, we make the following construction. Let \mathscr{L}_0^* be the differential sheaf defined by

$$\mathscr{L}_{0}^{q} = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for } q < 0, \\ \operatorname{Coker} \{ \mathscr{L}^{-1} \to \mathscr{L}^{0} \}, & \text{for } q = 0, \\ \mathscr{L}^{q}, & \text{for } q > 0, \end{cases}$$

with differentials induced from those of \mathscr{L}^* . We have the canonical map

$$\mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{L}_0^*, \tag{7}$$

and it is clear that the induced map $\mathscr{H}^q(\mathscr{L}^*) \to \mathscr{H}^q(\mathscr{L}_0^*)$ is an isomorphism for all q. Thus we have the isomorphism

$$H^{p}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{H}^{q}(\mathscr{L}^{*})) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^{p}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{H}^{q}(\mathscr{L}^{*}_{0}))$$
(8)

for all p, q.

The homomorphism (7) induces a map of the "first" spectral sequences, which, by (8), is an isomorphism from E_2 on. Thus, with the obvious notation, we have the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccccc}
H^{p}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{L}) \to H^{p}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{H}^{0}(\mathscr{L}^{*})) \to H^{p}(L^{*}) \\
& & & \downarrow \approx & \downarrow \approx \\
H^{p}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{L}) \to H^{p}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{H}^{0}(\mathscr{L}^{*}_{0})) \to H^{p}(L^{*}_{0})
\end{array} \tag{9}$$

in which the horizontal maps are edge homomorphisms. Note that the given map $\mathscr{L} \to \mathscr{H}^{0}(\mathscr{L}^{*}) \approx \mathscr{H}^{0}(\mathscr{L}^{*}_{0})$ now arises from a homomorphism

 $\mathscr{L} \to \mathscr{L}^0_0$. We also know that the edge homomorphism on the bottom of (9) arises from the chain map

$$C^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{L}) \to L^p_0$$

given by $C^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{L}) \to C^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{L}^0) = L^{p,0}_0 \to L^p_0$; see Appendix A. It follows that the edge homomorphisms (6) satisfy, via (9), naturality relations similar to (4) and (5). Explicitly, let \mathscr{M}^* be a differential sheaf with $\mathscr{H}^q(\mathscr{M}^*) = 0$ for q < 0 and let $\mathscr{M} \to \mathscr{H}^0(\mathscr{M}^*)$ be given. Then for any homomorphism $\mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{M}^*$ of differential sheaves and any compatible map $\mathscr{L} \to \mathscr{M}$, the diagram

$$\begin{array}{rcl}
H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{L}) &\to& H^p(L^*) \\
\downarrow && \downarrow \\
H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{M}) &\to& H^p(M^*)
\end{array}$$
(10)

commutes.

Similarly, suppose we are also given \mathcal{N}^* with $\mathcal{H}^q(\mathcal{N}^*) = 0$ for q < 0and a compatible map $\mathcal{N} \to \mathcal{H}^0(\mathcal{N}^*)$. Suppose also that we have an exact sequence $0 \to \mathcal{L}^* \to \mathcal{M}^* \to \mathcal{N}^* \to 0$ of differential sheaves compatible with an exact sequence $0 \to \mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{N} \to 0$, that is, such that the diagram

commutes. Then the diagram

commutes.

Remark: The spectral sequences considered in this section are not changed, from E_2 on, if we replace $C_{\Phi}^*(X; \bullet)$ by $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{R}^*(X; \bullet))$, where $\mathscr{R}^*(X; \bullet)$ is any exact functorial resolution by Φ -acyclic sheaves. To see this, consider the natural homomorphisms

$$\mathscr{R}^*(X; \bullet) \to \mathscr{C}^*(\mathscr{R}^*(X; \bullet)) \leftarrow \mathscr{C}^*(X; \bullet),$$

where the middle term is considered as a functorial resolution with the total degree. Then apply these resolutions to \mathscr{Q}^* , take Γ_{Φ} , and consider the spectral sequences of the resulting double complexes. The contention follows immediately. Of course, in case (b), we must assume that $\mathscr{R}^*(X; \bullet)$ has finite length. For example, we could take $\mathscr{R}^*(X; \bullet) = \mathscr{F}^*(X; \bullet)$ of II-2. If Φ is paracompactifying, we could take $\mathscr{R}^*(X; \bullet) = \mathscr{R}^* \otimes (\bullet)$, where \mathscr{R}^* is a Φ -fine torsion-free resolution of the ground ring, such as the Alexander-Spanier sheaf.

2 The fundamental theorems of sheaves

The previous section has two cases of importance, corresponding to the degeneracy of one or the other of the spectral sequences.

Degeneracy of the second spectral sequence

Assume that

$${}^{"}E_2^{p,q} = H^p(H^q_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{L}^*)) = 0 \text{ for } q > 0.$$

This holds, for example, when each \mathscr{L}^p is Φ -acyclic. We also have that

$${}^{\prime\prime}E_2^{p,0} = H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*)).$$

It follows that the canonical homomorphisms $H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*)) \to H^p(L^*)$ of (2) are isomorphisms. The first spectral sequence then provides the following result:

2.1. Theorem. (First fundamental theorem.) Let \mathscr{L}^* be a differential sheaf on X. Assume either that $\dim_{\Phi,L} X < \infty$ or that \mathscr{L}^* is bounded below (i.e., $\mathscr{L}^q = 0$ for $q < q_0$, for some q_0). Also assume that

$$H^p(H^q_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{L}^*)) = 0 \quad for \quad q > 0.$$

Then there is a spectral sequence with

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{H}^q(\mathscr{L}^*)) \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*)).$$

Note also that if $\mathscr{H}^q(\mathscr{L}^*) = 0$ for q < 0 and if $\mathscr{L} \to \mathscr{H}^0(\mathscr{L}^*)$ is a given homomorphism, then the edge homomorphism provides a canonical map

$$H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{L}) \to H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*)),$$

which satisfies the naturality relations resulting from formulas (4), (5), (10), and (11) of Section 1.

2.2. Theorem. (Second fundamental theorem.) Let $h : \mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{M}^*$ be a homomorphism of differential sheaves and assume that $\dim_{\Phi,L} X < \infty$ or that both \mathscr{L}^* and \mathscr{M}^* are bounded below. Also assume that for some $0 < N \leq \infty$ the induced map $h^* : \mathscr{H}^q(\mathscr{L}^*) \to \mathscr{H}^q(\mathscr{M}^*)$ of derived sheaves is an isomorphism for q < N and that

$$H^*(H^q_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{L}^*)) = 0 = H^*(H^q_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{M}^*)) \quad for \quad q > 0.$$

Then the induced map $H^n(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*)) \to H^n(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{M}^*))$ is an isomorphism for each n < N.

202
§2. The fundamental theorems of sheaves

Proof. If $N = \infty$ (as suffices for most applications) then the proof is immediate from the fact³ that a homomorphism of regularly filtered complexes that induces an isomorphism on the E_2 terms of the spectral sequences also induces an isomorphism on the homology of the complexes. In general, we must digress to study a purely combinatorial construction.

For integers $r \geq 2$, define the collection

$$S_r = \{1, 1 + (r-1), 1 + (r-1) + (r-2), \dots, 1 + (r-1) + \dots + 2 + 1, \Rightarrow\}$$

of integers, where the symbol \Rightarrow indicates that all integers beyond that point are included in S_r . Then

$$S_{r+1} = \{1, 1+r, 1+r+(r-1), \dots, 1+r+(r-1)+\dots+2+1, \Longrightarrow\}.$$

Now, for $p \ge 0$, define $k_r(p) = N - p + \#(S_r \cap [0, p])$. Note that $m \in S_r \Leftrightarrow m + r \in S_{r+1}$ for $m \ge 0$. This implies that $k_{r+1}(p+r) - k_r(p)$ is constant in $p \ge 0$. Therefore

$$k_{r+1}(p+r) - k_r(p) = k_{r+1}(r) - k_r(0)$$

= $-r + \#(S_{r+1} \cap [0,r]) - \#(S_r \cap [0,0])$
= $-r + 1 - 0$
= $-r + 1$.

Thus we have the partial recursion formula

$$k_{r+1}(p+r) = k_r(p) - r + 1 \quad \text{for } p \ge 0.$$
 (12)

Also note that

$$k_{r+1}(p) \le k_r(p),$$

 $k_2(p) = N,$
 $k_{\infty}(p) = N - p + 1 \text{ for } p > 0,$
 $k_{\infty}(0) = N.$

For $r \geq 2$, we claim that $E_r^{p,q}(\mathscr{Q}^*) \to E_r^{p,q}(\mathscr{M}^*)$ is an isomorphism for $q < k_r(p)$. The proof is by induction on r. It is true for r = 2 since $k_2(p) = N$ for all p. Suppose it is true for r. Then we must show that

$$q \ge k_r(p) \Rightarrow q-r+1 \ge k_{r+1}(p+r)$$

when $p \ge 0$ (regarding differentials leading out of $E_r^{p,q}$) and

$$q+r-1 \ge k_r(p-r) \Rightarrow q \ge k_{r+1}(p)$$

when $p-r \ge 0$ (regarding differentials leading into $E_r^{p,q}$). But these follow immediately from (12). (We also need that $k_{r+1}(p) \le k_r(p)$, which has also been noted.)

In particular, $E_{\infty}^{p,q}(\mathscr{L}^*) \to E_{\infty}^{p,q}(\mathscr{M}^*)$ is an isomorphism for $p+q \leq N$ if p > 0 and for $q \leq N-1$ if p = 0. Therefore the total terms map isomorphically for total degree less than N.

³See A-4.

Remark: The case $N < \infty$ can also be attacked using a mapping cone argument; see II-Exercise 49. However the present method applies more generally since it is a pure spectral sequence argument. It also gives slightly better conclusions. Also note that Exercise 33 sharpens 2.2, perhaps only by an amount $< \varepsilon$.

The following result is needed in Section 12:

2.3. Proposition. Let \mathscr{L}^* be a Φ -soft differential sheaf on X with Φ paracompactifying, and let $A \subset X$ be locally closed. Then the spectral sequence 2.1 of the differential sheaf \mathscr{L}^*_A on X with supports in Φ is canonically isomorphic to the spectral sequence 2.1 of the differential sheaf $\mathscr{L}^*|A$ on A with supports in $\Phi|A$ (from E_2 on).

Proof. It is sufficient to prove this for the cases in which A is either open or closed. Note that since $\mathscr{B} \mapsto \mathscr{B}|_A$ and $\mathscr{B} \mapsto \mathscr{B}_A$ are exact functors, we have

$$\mathscr{H}^*(\mathscr{L}^*|A)=\mathscr{H}^*(\mathscr{L}^*)|A \quad ext{and} \quad \mathscr{H}^*(\mathscr{L}^*_A)=\mathscr{H}^*(\mathscr{L}^*)_A.$$

If $U \subset X$ is open, then the map

$$C^*_{\Phi|U}(U;\mathscr{L}^*|U) \to C^*_{\Phi|U}(X;\mathscr{L}^*_U) \hookrightarrow C^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{L}^*_U)$$

(using that $\mathscr{L}^*|U = \mathscr{L}^*_U|U$) induces a map of spectral sequences that on the E_2 terms reduces to the natural isomorphism

$$H^p_{\Phi|U}(U; \mathscr{H}^q(\mathscr{L}^*)|U) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{H}^q(\mathscr{L}^*)_U)$$

of II-10.2. It follows that this map of spectral sequences is an isomorphism from E_2 on, as was to be shown.

If $F \subset X$ is closed, then the map

$$C^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{L}^*_F) \to C^*_{\Phi|F}(F; \mathscr{L}^*|F)$$

of II-8 induces a map of spectral sequences that on the E_2 terms is the isomorphism

$$H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{H}^q(\mathscr{L}^*)_F) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^p_{\Phi|F}(F; \mathscr{H}^q(\mathscr{L}^*)|F)$$

of II-10.2. Again, it follows that the spectral sequences in question are isomorphic from E_2 on.

Degeneracy of the first spectral sequence

Here we assume that $\mathscr{H}^q(\mathscr{L}^*) = 0$ for $q \neq 0$. Also assume that either (a) or (b) of Section 1 holds. Let $\mathscr{L} = \mathscr{H}^0(\mathscr{L}^*)$. Note that these conditions hold, for example, when \mathscr{L}^* is a resolution of \mathscr{L} .

§2. The fundamental theorems of sheaves

We have that

$${}^{\prime}E_{2}^{p,q} = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for } q \neq 0, \\ H_{\Phi}^{p}(X; \mathscr{L}), & \text{for } q = 0, \end{cases}$$

and it follows that the canonical homomorphism

$$H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{L}) \to H^p(L^*)$$

of (6) is an isomorphism. From the second spectral sequence we conclude the following:

2.4. Theorem. (Third fundamental theorem.) Let \mathscr{L}^* be a differential sheaf such that $\mathscr{H}^q(\mathscr{L}^*) = 0$ for $q \neq 0$. Assume either that $\dim_{\Phi,L} X < \infty$ or that \mathscr{L}^* is bounded below. Then with $\mathscr{L} = \mathscr{H}^0(\mathscr{L}^*)$, there is a spectral sequence with

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p(H^q_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{Q}^*)) \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{Q}).$$

In particular, the edge homomorphism gives a canonical homomorphism

$$\rho: H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*)) \to H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{L})$$

satisfying the naturality relations resulting from formulas (4), (5), (10), and (11) of Section 1. If \mathscr{L}^* is a resolution of \mathscr{L} , then it follows from the naturality that this ρ is identical to the homomorphism ρ of II-5.15.

Also, there is the following generalization of II-4.1:

2.5. Theorem. (Fourth fundamental theorem.) Let \mathscr{L}^* be a differential sheaf such that $\mathscr{H}^q(\mathscr{L}^*) = 0$ for $0 \neq q < N$ and $H^*(H^q_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{L}^*)) = 0$ for q > 0. Assume either that $\dim_{\Phi,L} X < \infty$ or that \mathscr{L}^* is bounded below. Then with $\mathscr{L} = \mathscr{H}^0(\mathscr{L}^*)$, the edge homomorphism

$$\xi^n: H^n_\Phi(X; \mathscr{L}) = E_2^{n,0} \twoheadrightarrow E_\infty^{n,0} \rightarrowtail H^n(\Gamma_\Phi(\mathscr{L}^*))$$

in the spectral sequence 2.1 is an isomorphism for n < N and a monomorphism for n = N.⁴ In particular, for $N = \infty$ there is an isomorphism

$$H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*)) \approx H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{L}).$$

Proof. Since $E_2^{p,q} = 0$ for $0 \neq q < N$, ξ^n is an isomorphism for n < N. Also, $E_2^{N,0} \twoheadrightarrow E_{\infty}^{N,0}$ is an isomorphism, whence ξ^N is a monomorphism. \Box

We shall conclude this section with six examples of applications.

⁴Also see Exercise 32.

2.6. Example. Let ${}_{S}\mathscr{H}^{*}(X;\mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{H}^{*}(\mathscr{G}^{*}(X;L) \otimes \mathscr{A})$ be the singular cohomology sheaf. If Φ is paracompactifying, then $\mathscr{G}^{*}(X;L) \otimes \mathscr{A}$ is Φ -fine, whence 2.1 yields a spectral sequence with

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p_{\Phi}(X; {}_{S}\mathscr{H}^q(X; \mathscr{A})) \Longrightarrow {}_{S}H^{p+q}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}).$$

There is also a similar spectral sequence with the subscript S replaced by Δ when \mathscr{A} is locally constant. The edge homomorphism $H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\varphi} H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A})(X;\mathscr{A})) = E_2^{p,0} \twoheadrightarrow E_{\infty}^{p,0} \rightarrowtail {}_{S}H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A})$ is the map θ of III-1. If X is HLC_L^n , then ${}_{\Delta}\mathscr{H}^q(X;L) = 0$ for $0 \neq q \leq n$ and ${}_{\Delta}\mathscr{H}^0(X;L) \approx L$. Therefore ${}_{\Delta}H^p_{\Phi}(X;L) \approx H^p_{\Phi}(X;L)$ for $k \leq n$. In particular,

$$HLC_L^n \Rightarrow clc_L^n.$$

For some explicit cases see Exercises 22 to 25 and their solutions. \diamond

2.7. Example. For the Alexander-Spanier sheaf $\mathscr{A}^*(X; L) \otimes \mathscr{B}$ we obtain from 2.4 a spectral sequence with

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p(H^q_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}^*(X; L) \otimes \mathscr{B})) \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{B}).$$

This reduces to the isomorphism ${}_{A}H^{p}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{B}) = H^{p}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^{*}(X;L)\otimes\mathscr{B})) \approx H^{p}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{B})$ when Φ is paracompactifying or when $\mathscr{B} = L$ and X is hereditarily paracompact; see III-Exercise 4.

2.8. Example. There is a spectral sequence with

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{H}^q(X, A; \mathscr{A})) \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}_{\Phi}(X, A; \mathscr{A}).$$

(See II-Exercise 41.)

2.9. Example. Let Δ_* be the sheaf of germs of singular chains with coefficients in the given base ring L, as defined in I-Exercise 12, and let $_{\Delta}\mathscr{H}_*(X;L)$ denote its derived sheaf. Note that $_{\Delta}\mathscr{H}_*(X;L) = \mathscr{S}_{heaf}(U \mapsto _{\Delta}H^c_*(X,X-U;L))$, where $_{\Delta}H^c_*(X,X-U;L)$ is the classical relative singular homology group based on finite chains. Suppose that Φ is a paracompactifying family of supports on X and that $\dim_{\Phi,L} X < \infty$. Let \mathscr{L}^* be the differential sheaf defined by $\mathscr{L}^q = \Delta_{-q}$. Since \mathscr{L}^* is homotopically fine by II-Exercise 32b, it follows from II-Exercise 32a and 2.1 that there is a spectral sequence with

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p_{\Phi}(X; {}_{\Delta}\mathscr{H}_{-q}(X; L)) \Longrightarrow {}_{\Delta}H^{\Phi}_{-p-q}(X; L),$$

where the right-hand side is $H_{-p-q}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\Delta_*))$, which is the classical singular homology group based on locally finite chains with supports in Φ .⁵

 \diamond

⁵That is, the union of the images of the simplices in a chain is in Φ .

§2. The fundamental theorems of sheaves

If X is a topological n-manifold, then it is clear that $\Delta \mathscr{H}_q(X;L) = 0$ for $q \neq n$. Moreover, the "orientation sheaf" $\mathscr{O} = \Delta \mathscr{H}_n(X;L)$ is locally constant (constant if X is orientable, by definition), with stalks isomorphic to L. It follows that for an n-manifold X there is the isomorphism

$$H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{O}) \approx {}_{\Delta} H^{\Phi}_{n-p}(X; L).$$

This is the Poincaré duality theorem. It is easy to generalize this theorem so that it will apply to arbitrary coefficient sheaves. One may also obtain extensions to relative groups. Since this is done in considerably more generality in Chapter V, we shall not pursue the subject further here. \diamond

2.10. Example. Let \mathbb{N} be the positive integers with the topology as in II-Exercise 27. Let $A_1 \supset A_2 \supset \cdots$ be a decreasing sequence of subsets of a space X and let Φ be a family of supports on X. Assume either that Φ is paracompactifying and the A_i are arbitrary, or that Φ is arbitrary and each A_i is closed. Put $K = \bigcap A_n$ and assume that $K = \bigcap \overline{A}_n$ and that $\overline{A}_1 \in \Phi$. Let \mathscr{A}^* be a flabby differential sheaf on X. For a given index p consider the inverse system $\{\Gamma_{\Phi|A_n}(\mathscr{A}^p)\}$. As in the exercise, this is a sheaf \mathscr{L}^p on N. We claim that it is acyclic. According to the exercise, to prove this we must show that for every sequence $\{a'_1, a'_2, \ldots\}$ of sections of \mathscr{A}^p with $|a'_n| \subset A_n$ there exists such a sequence $\{a_1, a_2, \ldots\}$ with $a_{n+1} = a_n - a'_n$ for all n. Since \mathscr{A}^p is Φ -soft, we can find a section $b_1 \in \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^p)$ that coincides with a'_1 on $X - A_2$. (When Φ is paracompactifying make $b_1 = a'_1$ on X - int A₂.) Then $|b_1| \subset A_1$ and $|b_1 - a'_1| \subset A_2$. Next, we can find a section b_2 that coincides with $a'_1 + a'_2 - b_1$ on $X - A_3$. Then $|b_2| \subset A_2$ and $|b_2 + b_1 - a'_1 - a'_2| \subset A_3$. Continue inductively in the obvious manner. Define $b = b_1 + b_2 + \cdots$ on X - K. (This makes sense because each point $x \in X - K = X - \bigcap \overline{A}_n = \bigcup (X - \overline{A}_n)$ has a neighborhood disjoint from all but a finite number of the A_n .) Since \mathscr{A}^p is flabby, b extends to all of X with support necessarily in Φ . Now put $a_n = b - a'_1 - \cdots - a'_{n-1}$. Then $a_{n+1} = a_n - a'_n$, and at least outside of K,

$$|a_n|=|b-a_1'-\cdots-a_{n-1}'|\subset |b_n+b_{n+1}+\cdots|\cup A_n\subset A_n,$$

as required.

Now the spectral sequence of 2.1 has

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p(\mathbb{N}; \mathscr{H}^q(\mathscr{L}^*)) \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}(\Gamma(\mathscr{L}^*)).$$

For the limit term we have

$$H^{n}(\Gamma(\mathscr{L}^{*})) = H^{n}(\varprojlim \Gamma_{\Phi|A_{i}}(\mathscr{A}^{*})) = H^{n}(\Gamma_{\Phi|K}(\mathscr{A}^{*}))$$

by II-Exercise 27. Also, $E_2^{p,q} = 0$ for $p \neq 0, 1$ since dim $\mathbb{N} = 1$. We also have

$$E_2^{0,q} = H^0(\mathbb{N}; \{H^q(\Gamma_{\Phi|A_i}(\mathscr{A}^*))\}) = \varprojlim H^q(\Gamma_{\Phi|A_i}(\mathscr{A}^*))$$

and

$$E_2^{1,q} = H^1(\mathbb{N}; \{H^q(\Gamma_{\Phi|A_i}(\mathscr{A}^*))\}) = \varprojlim^1 H^q(\Gamma_{\Phi|A_i}(\mathscr{A}^*))$$

by the exercise. Since all differentials are zero and only two columns are nonzero, the spectral sequence degenerates into the exact sequences

$$0 \to E_2^{1,n-1} \to H^n(\Gamma_{\Phi|K}(\mathscr{A}^*)) \to E_2^{0,n} \to 0,$$

that is,

$$\underbrace{\lim}^{1} H^{n-1}(\Gamma_{\Phi|A_{i}}(\mathscr{A}^{*})) \rightarrowtail H^{n}(\Gamma_{\Phi|K}(\mathscr{A}^{*})) \twoheadrightarrow \underbrace{\lim}_{i} H^{n}(\Gamma_{\Phi|A_{i}}(\mathscr{A}^{*})).$$

Now let us specialize to the case in which each A_n is open, Φ is paracompactifying, and $\mathscr{A}^* = \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$. Then we have $H^n(\Gamma_{\Phi|K}(\mathscr{A}^*)) \approx$ $H^n_{\Phi|K}(X; \mathscr{A}) \approx H^n(X, X - K; \mathscr{A})$ by II-12.1 and II-12.9 since K has a neighborhood in Φ . Also, $H^n(\Gamma_{\Phi|A_i}(\mathscr{A}^*)) \approx H^n_{\Phi|A_i}(A_i; \mathscr{A})$ since A_i is open. Therefore, for Φ paracompactifying, if $U_1 \supset U_2 \supset \ldots$ is a decreasing sequence of open sets with $K = \bigcap U_i = \bigcap \overline{U}_i$ and $\overline{U}_1 \in \Phi$, then we get the exact sequence

$$0 \to \underline{\lim}^{1} H^{n-1}_{\Phi|U_{i}}(U_{i};\mathscr{A}) \to H^{n}(X, X-K;\mathscr{A}) \to \underline{\lim} H^{n}_{\Phi|U_{i}}(U_{i};\mathscr{A}) \to 0.$$

$$(13)$$

Particularly note the case in which X is locally compact Hausdorff, $\Phi = c$, and K is a point. In this case the exact sequence becomes

$$0 \to \underline{\lim}^1 H^{n-1}_c(U; \mathscr{A}) \to H^n(X, X - \{x\}; \mathscr{A}) \to \underline{\lim} H^n_c(U; \mathscr{A}) \to 0,$$

where U ranges over the open neighborhoods of x and we assume that x has a countable neighborhood basis. Note that if $K = \bigcap \overline{U}_i = \emptyset$, then the middle term, whence each term, of (13) is zero. Thus this discussion is essentially an elaboration of the proof of the sum theorem II-16.40 in cohomological dimension theory. In V-5.15 we will have an application of these remarks to homology theory.

2.11. Example. Let Φ be a family of supports on X and let $A_1 \subset A_2 \subset \cdots$ be an increasing sequence of subspaces with $X = \bigcup \inf A_i$. Assume either that each A_i is open or that Φ is paracompactifying and each A_i is closed. Let \mathscr{A}^* be a flabby resolution of a given sheaf \mathscr{A} on X. Then one can treat the inverse system $\mathscr{L}^p = \{\Gamma_{\Phi \cap A_i}(\mathscr{A}^p|A_i)\}$ as in 2.10. This situation is somewhat easier since \mathscr{L}^p is flabby on \mathbb{N} in both cases; i.e., each restriction map $\Gamma_{\Phi \cap A_{i+1}}(\mathscr{A}^p|A_{i+1}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi \cap A_i}(\mathscr{A}^p|A_i)$ is surjective. As in 2.10 we get a spectral sequence

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p(\mathbb{N}; \{H^q_{\Phi \cap A_i}(A_i; \mathscr{A})\}) \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}_{\Psi}(X; \mathscr{A})$$

in either of our two cases, where

$$\Psi = \{ K \subset X \text{ closed} \, | \, K \cap A_i \in \Phi \cap A_i \text{ all } i \}.$$

§2. The fundamental theorems of sheaves

This degenerates to the exact sequence

$$0 \to \underline{\lim}^{1} H^{n-1}_{\Phi \cap A_{i}}(A_{i}; \mathscr{A}) \to H^{n}_{\Psi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to \underline{\lim} H^{n}_{\Phi \cap A_{i}}(A_{i}; \mathscr{A}) \to 0.$$

In particular, if $\Phi = cld$, then there is an exact sequence

$$0 \to \underline{\lim}^{1} H^{n-1}(A_{i}; \mathscr{A}) \to H^{n}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to \underline{\lim} H^{n}(A_{i}; \mathscr{A}) \to 0$$
(14)

whenever each A_i is open, or when X is paracompact and each A_i is closed with $X = \bigcup \operatorname{int} A_i$.

For example, consider the union X of the mapping cylinders of $\mathbb{S}^1 \xrightarrow{2} \mathbb{S}^1 \xrightarrow{3} \mathbb{S}^1 \xrightarrow{4} \cdots$ Let A_i be the union of the first *i* of these. Then $H^2(A_i; \mathbb{Z}) = 0$ and the inverse system

$$\{H^1(A_1;\mathbb{Z})\leftarrow H^1(A_2;\mathbb{Z})\leftarrow\cdots\}$$

has the form $\mathbb{Z} \stackrel{2}{\leftarrow} \mathbb{Z} \stackrel{3}{\leftarrow} \cdots$ In V-5.15 we shall show that \lim^{1} of this is $\operatorname{Ext}(\mathbb{Q},\mathbb{Z})$ and that this is an uncountable rational vector space. Therefore

$$H^2(X;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \operatorname{Ext}(\mathbb{Q},\mathbb{Z}),$$

which is uncountable. On the other hand, the inverse sequence

$$\{H^1(A_1; \mathbb{Q}) \leftarrow H^1(A_2; \mathbb{Q}) \leftarrow \cdots\}$$

is flabby, and so

$$H^2(X;\mathbb{Q})=0.$$

If K is the one-point compactification of X and x is the point at infinity, then by (41) on page 136 we have that

$$H^3_x(K;\mathbb{Z})pprox \operatorname{Ext}(\mathbb{Q},\mathbb{Z})
eq 0$$

even though $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}} K = 2$ and K is separable metric, contractible, and locally contractible.

As another example consider the space X of II-13.2. Let N_n be an open square of side 1/n about the origin, and put $K_n = X - N_n$. Then $H^1(K_n; \mathbb{Z}) = 0$. We deduce from (14) that

$$\underline{\lim}^{1} H^{0}(K_{n};\mathbb{Z}) \approx H^{1}(X;\mathbb{Z}),$$

which is uncountable. Note that $H^0(K_n;\mathbb{Z})$ is free abelian. Also note that the reasoning that showed that $H^1(X;\mathbb{Z})$ is uncountable is also valid over a countable field L as base ring. Thus we conclude that unlike Ext and Tor, $\lim^1 does$ not generally vanish over a field as base ring. However, an inverse sequence of *finite-dimensional* vector spaces is Mittag-Leffler, and so $\lim^1 does$ vanish in that case.

As a nonexample consider $X = \mathbb{S}^1$ and the arcs $A_n = \{e^{2\pi i\theta} | 0 \le \theta \le 1 - 1/n\}$. Then $\lim^{1} H^0(A_n; \mathbb{Z}) = 0 = \lim^{1} H^1(A_n; \mathbb{Z})$, but $H^1(X; \mathbb{Z}) \ne 0$. This shows that the condition $X = \bigcup^{1} \operatorname{int} A_i$ is essential.

3 Direct image relative to a support family

Let $f : X \to Y$ and let Ψ be a family of supports on X. To simplify notation we let $U^{\bullet} = f^{-1}(U)$ for $U \subset Y$.

3.1. Definition. For an open set $U \subset Y$ let $\Psi(U)$ be the family of relatively closed subsets A of U^{\bullet} such that each point $y \in U$ has a neighborhood N with $A \cap N^{\bullet} \in \Psi \cap N^{\bullet}$.

Note that if this condition holds for N then it holds for any smaller neighborhood of y, and so N can be taken to be open in this definition.

Taking $N \subset U$, which is no loss of generality, we remark that the condition $A \cap N^{\bullet} \in \Psi \cap N^{\bullet}$ is equivalent to $\overline{A \cap N^{\bullet}} \in \Psi$. To see this, note that if $\overline{A \cap N^{\bullet}} \in \Psi$ then $A \cap N^{\bullet} = \overline{A \cap N^{\bullet}} \cap N^{\bullet} \in \Psi \cap N^{\bullet}$ since $\overline{A \cap N^{\bullet}} \cap N^{\bullet} \subset \overline{A} \cap U^{\bullet} = A \cap U^{\bullet} \subset A$. Conversely, if $A \cap N^{\bullet} \in \Psi \cap N^{\bullet}$, then $A \cap N^{\bullet} = K \cap N^{\bullet}$ for some $K \in \Psi$, and so $\overline{A \cap N^{\bullet}} \subset \overline{K} = K \in \Psi$.

Also note that if Y is regular, then N, and hence N^{\bullet} , can be taken to be closed, in which case $\Psi \cap N^{\bullet} = \Psi | N^{\bullet}$, which may make it easier to understand this family.

Also note that if Y is compact, then $\Psi(Y) = \Psi$ because a family of supports is closed under finite unions.

If \mathscr{A} is a sheaf on X, then the presheaf $U \mapsto \Gamma_{\Psi(U)}(\mathscr{A}|U^{\bullet})$ is clearly a conjunctive monopresheaf, and hence a sheaf.

3.2. Definition. Let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X and let Ψ be a family of supports on X. Then the "direct image of \mathscr{A} with respect to Ψ " is defined to be $f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A}$, where

$$(f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A})(U) = \Gamma_{\Psi(U)}(\mathscr{A}|U^{\bullet}).$$

Note that $\Psi(U) \supset \Psi \cap U^{\bullet}$, so that there is the inclusion

$$\Gamma_{\Psi \cap U^{\bullet}}(\mathscr{A}|U^{\bullet}) \hookrightarrow \Gamma_{\Psi(U)}(\mathscr{A}|U^{\bullet}) = (f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A})(U).$$
(15)

For a section $s \in \Gamma_{\Psi(U)}(\mathscr{A}|U^{\bullet})$ and for any point $y \in U$ there is, by definition, an open neighborhood N of y such that $|s| \cap N^{\bullet} \in \Psi \cap N^{\bullet}$. Then $s|N^{\bullet} \in \Gamma_{\Psi \cap N^{\bullet}}(\mathscr{A}|N^{\bullet})$. It follows that the map (15) of presheaves induces an isomorphism of the generated sheaves. Thus $f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A}$ can be described as the sheaf generated by the monopresheaf

$$U \mapsto \Gamma_{\Psi \cap U^{\bullet}}(\mathscr{A} | U^{\bullet}),$$

a useful fact. However, this presheaf is not conjunctive.

Obviously, the functor f_{Ψ} is left exact.

3.3. Proposition. If \mathscr{L} is a flabby sheaf on X and if Φ is a paracompactifying family of supports on Y, then $f_{\Psi}\mathscr{L}$ is Φ -soft for any family Ψ of supports on X.⁶

⁶Also see II-5.7 and Exercise 1.

§3. Direct image relative to a support family

Proof. Let $s \in (f_{\Psi}\mathscr{L})(K)$, where $K \in \Phi$. By II-9.5, there is an open neighborhood U of K and an extension $s' \in (f_{\Psi}\mathscr{L})(U) = \Gamma_{\Psi(U)}(\mathscr{L}|U^{\bullet})$ of s. Since K has a paracompact neighborhood and since paracompact spaces are normal, there is an open neighborhood V of K with $\overline{V} \subset U$ and $\overline{V} \in \Phi$. Let $s'' = s'|V^{\bullet} \in \Gamma_{\Psi(V)}(\mathscr{L}|V^{\bullet})$ and let t be the zero section of \mathscr{L} over $X - (\overline{V}^{\bullet} \cap |s'|)$.

Since s'' and t agree where both are defined and since \mathscr{L} is flabby, there is a section $s^{\bullet} \in \mathscr{L}(X)$ extending both s'' and t. Then $|s^{\bullet}| \subset \overline{V}^{\bullet} \cap |s'| \in \Psi(Y)$. Thus we may regard s^{\bullet} as an element of $(f_{\Psi}\mathscr{L})(Y)$, and as a section of $f_{\Psi}\mathscr{L}$ it has support in $\overline{V} \in \Phi$. Thus s^{\bullet} is the required extension of s to $\Gamma_{\Phi}(f_{\Psi}\mathscr{L})$.

3.4. Proposition. Let \mathscr{S} and \mathscr{R} be sheaves of rings on X and Y respectively, and suppose that there exists an f-cohomomorphism $\mathscr{R} \to \mathscr{S}$ preserving the ring structures. Then for any \mathscr{S} -module \mathscr{A} on X, $f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A}$ is an \mathscr{R} -module. In particular, if \mathscr{A} is a $\mathscr{C}^0(X; L)$ -module (where L is the base ring), then $f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A}$ is a $\mathscr{C}^0(Y; L)$ -module.

Proof. Note that $(f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A})(U) = \Gamma_{\Psi(U)}(\mathscr{A}|U^{\bullet})$ is a module over $\mathscr{P}(U^{\bullet})$ via the cup product

$$\mathscr{S}(U^{\bullet}) \otimes \Gamma_{\Psi(U)}(\mathscr{A}|U^{\bullet}) \to \Gamma_{\Psi(U)}((\mathscr{S} \otimes \mathscr{A})|U^{\bullet}) \to \Gamma_{\Psi(U)}(\mathscr{A}|U^{\bullet}),$$

where the last map is induced by the module product $\mathscr{G} \otimes \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}$. Thus $(f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A})(U)$ is also an $\mathscr{R}(U)$ -module, via the *f*-cohomomorphism $\mathscr{R}(U) \to \mathscr{G}(U^{\bullet})$, whence $f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A}$ is an \mathscr{R} -module as claimed. \Box

3.5. We shall need the following elementary observations concerning the naturality of the direct image under cohomomorphisms. Let

$$\begin{array}{cccc} X_1 & \stackrel{g}{\longrightarrow} & X_2 \\ & & \downarrow_{f_1} & & \downarrow_{f_2} \\ Y_1 & \stackrel{h}{\longrightarrow} & Y_2 \end{array}$$

be a commutative diagram of maps. Let \mathscr{A}_i be sheaves on X_i (i = 1, 2) and let $k : \mathscr{A}_2 \rightsquigarrow \mathscr{A}_1$ be a g-cohomomorphism. Let Ψ_i be a family of supports on X_i with $g^{-1}(\Psi_2) \subset \Psi_1$.

For $U_2 \subset Y_2$, let $U_2^{\bullet} = f_2^{-1}(U_2)$, $U_1 = h^{-1}(U_2)$ and $U_1^{\bullet} = f_1^{-1}(U_1) = g^{-1}(U_2^{\bullet})$. The homomorphisms

$$\Gamma_{\Psi_2 \cap U_2^{\bullet}}(\mathscr{A}_2 | U_2^{\bullet}) \to \Gamma_{\Psi_1 \cap U_1^{\bullet}}(\mathscr{A}_1 | U_1^{\bullet})$$

induced by k form an $h\mbox{-}{\rm cohomomorphism}$ of presheaves and hence give rise to an $h\mbox{-}{\rm cohomomorphism}$

$$k^*: f_{2,\Psi_2} \mathscr{A}_2 \rightsquigarrow f_{1,\Psi_1} \mathscr{A}_1$$

IV. Applications of Spectral Sequences

of induced sheaves.

If \mathscr{A}'_i are also sheaves on X_i and

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathscr{A}_2 \stackrel{k}{\leadsto} \mathscr{A}_1 \\ \downarrow & \downarrow \\ \mathscr{A}'_2 \stackrel{k'}{\leadsto} \mathscr{A}'_1 \end{array}$$

is a commutative diagram of homomorphisms and g-cohomomorphisms, then the diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} f_{2,\Psi_2}(\mathscr{A}_2) &\stackrel{k^*}{\hookrightarrow} & f_{1,\Psi_1}(\mathscr{A}_1) \\ & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ f_{2,\Psi_2}(\mathscr{A}'_2) &\stackrel{k'^*}{\hookrightarrow} & f_{1,\Psi_1}(\mathscr{A}'_1) \end{array}$$

also commutes.

The remaining material of this section is not used in this chapter⁷ and is presented to aid the reader's understanding of the these matters. The following is actually a special case of 4.2, but this direct treatment may be useful.

3.6. Proposition. Let $f : X \to Y$ be Ψ -closed for a family Ψ of supports on X. Then for any sheaf \mathcal{A} on X, the sheaf $f_{\Psi}\mathcal{A}$ is concentrated on f(X).

Proof. We have that $f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A} = \mathscr{G}_{heaf}(U \mapsto \Gamma_{\Psi \cap U^{\bullet}}(\mathscr{A}|U^{\bullet}))$. Let $y \in U$ with $y \notin f(X)$, and let $s \in \Gamma_{\Psi \cap U^{\bullet}}(\mathscr{A}|U^{\bullet})$. Then $|s| = K \cap U^{\bullet}$ for some $K \in \Psi$. Now, f(K) is closed and $y \notin f(K)$. Thus there is an open neighborhood $V \subset U$ of y with $V^{\bullet} \cap K = \mathscr{O}$. Therefore $s|V^{\bullet} = 0$, showing that s induces $0 \in (f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A})_y = \varinjlim \Gamma_{\Psi \cap U^{\bullet}}(\mathscr{A}|U^{\bullet})$. Consequently, $(f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A})_y = 0$.

3.7. Corollary. Let $i: A \hookrightarrow X$ be the inclusion of a subspace and let Ψ be a family of supports on A such that each member of Ψ is closed in X. Also assume that every point of A has a neighborhood, in A, that is in Ψ .⁸ Then $i_{\Psi} \mathcal{A} \approx \mathcal{A}^{X}$.

Proof. By 3.6, $i_{\Psi} \mathscr{A}$ vanishes outside of A. Now $U^{\bullet} = U \cap A$ and

$$i_{\Psi}\mathscr{A}=$$
 Sheaf $\left(U\mapsto \Gamma_{\Psi\cap U}{\scriptstyleullet}\left(\mathscr{A}|U\cap A
ight)
ight).$

Thus $(i_{\Psi}\mathscr{A})|A = \mathscr{H}$ heaf $(U \cap A \mapsto \Gamma_{\Psi \cap U^{\bullet}}(\mathscr{A}|U \cap A))$. Since every point of A has a neighborhood, in A, in Ψ , this is the same as the sheaf generated by the presheaf $U \cap A \mapsto \Gamma(\mathscr{A}|U \cap A)$, which is just \mathscr{A} . But \mathscr{A}^X is the unique sheaf inducing \mathscr{A} on A and zero on X - A.

3.8. Corollary. If $i : A \hookrightarrow X$ is the inclusion of a locally closed subspace A of a locally compact Hausdorff space X, then we have $i_c \mathscr{A} \approx \mathscr{A}^X$. \Box

⁷The last corollary is used in Chapter V.

⁸This implies that A is locally closed in X.

4 The Leray sheaf

Let $A \subset X$, let Ψ be a family of supports on X, let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X, and let $f: X \to Y$ be a map.

4.1. Definition. The "Leray sheaf of the map $f \mod f | A$ " is the sheaf

$$\mathscr{H}_{\Psi}^{*}(f, f|A; \mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{S}heaf\left(U \mapsto H_{\Psi \cap U^{\bullet}}^{*}(U^{\bullet}, U^{\bullet} \cap A; \mathscr{A}|U^{\bullet})\right)$$

on Y.

For $A = \emptyset$, $\mathscr{H}^{0}_{\Psi}(f; \mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{G}_{heaf}\left(U \mapsto \Gamma_{\Psi(U)}(\mathscr{A}|U^{\bullet}) = (f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A})(U)\right)$, and so

$${\mathscr H}^0_\Psi(f;{\mathscr A})=f_\Psi{\mathscr A}.$$

Now, $f_{\Psi} \mathscr{C}^*(X, A; \mathscr{A})$ is generated by the presheaf

$$U \mapsto \Gamma_{\Psi \cap U^{\bullet}}(\mathscr{C}^{*}(X, A; \mathscr{A})|U^{\bullet}) = \Gamma_{\Psi \cap U^{\bullet}}(\mathscr{C}^{*}(U^{\bullet}, U^{\bullet} \cap A; \mathscr{A}|U^{\bullet})) = C^{*}_{\Psi \cap U^{\bullet}}(U^{\bullet}, U^{\bullet} \cap A; \mathscr{A}|U^{\bullet}).$$

Thus its derived sheaf is the sheaf generated by the presheaf

$$U \mapsto H^*_{\Psi \cap U^{\bullet}}(U^{\bullet}, U^{\bullet} \cap A; \mathscr{A} | U^{\bullet}),$$

and so it is the Leray sheaf $\mathscr{H}_{\Psi}^*(f,f|A;\mathscr{A}).$ That is, the Leray sheaf is the derived sheaf

$$\mathscr{H}_{\Psi}^{*}(f, f | A; \mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{H}^{*}(f_{\Psi} \mathscr{C}^{*}(X, A; \mathscr{A})).$$

More generally,

$$\mathscr{H}_{\Psi}^{*}(f,f|A;\mathscr{A}) \approx \mathscr{H}^{*}(f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A}^{*}),$$

where \mathscr{A}^* is any flabby differential sheaf of the form

$$\mathscr{A}^* = \operatorname{Ker}\{k : \mathscr{L}^* \to i\mathscr{N}^*\},\tag{16}$$

where \mathscr{L}^* is a flabby resolution of \mathscr{A} on X, \mathscr{N}^* is a flabby resolution of $\mathscr{A}|A$ on A, and $k : \mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{N}^*$ is a surjective *i*-cohomomorphism, where $i : A \hookrightarrow X$. For example, \mathscr{A}^* could be taken to be $\mathscr{F}^*(X, A; \mathscr{A})$; see II-12.17.

For $A = \emptyset$, the Leray sheaf is denoted by $\mathscr{H}_{\Psi}^{*}(f;\mathscr{A})$, and by the preceding remarks, it is the derived sheaf

$$\mathcal{H}_{\Psi}^{*}(f;\mathcal{A}) \approx \mathcal{H}^{*}(f_{\Psi}\mathcal{A}^{*})$$

for any flabby (e.g., injective) resolution \mathscr{A}^* of \mathscr{A} . Therefore $\mathscr{H}^p_{\Psi}(f; \mathscr{A})$ is just the *p*th right derived functor of the left exact functor f_{Ψ} .

The exact cohomology sequences of the pairs $(U^{\bullet}, U^{\bullet} \cap A)$ induce an exact sequence

$$\cdots \to \mathscr{H}^{p}_{\Psi}(f, f|A; \mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{H}^{p}_{\Psi}(f; \mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{H}^{p}_{\Psi}(f|A; \mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{H}^{p+1}_{\Psi}(f, f|A; \mathscr{A}) \to \cdots$$
(17)

of sheaves on Y.

For $y \in Y$, let $y^{\bullet} = f^{-1}(y)$. The restriction map

$$H^*_{\Psi\cap U^{\bullet}}(U^{\bullet}, U^{\bullet}\cap A; \mathscr{A}|U^{\bullet}) \to H^*_{\Psi\cap y^{\bullet}}(y^{\bullet}, y^{\bullet}\cap A; \mathscr{A}|y^{\bullet})$$

induces a homomorphism

$$r_y^*: \mathscr{H}_{\Psi}^*(f, f|A; \mathscr{A})_y \to H_{\Psi \cap y^{\bullet}}^*(y^{\bullet}, y^{\bullet} \cap A; \mathscr{A}).$$
(18)

It will turn out to be of great importance to obtain sufficient conditions for r_y^* to be an isomorphism. Since r_y^* maps the sequence (17) into the cohomology sequence of the pair $(y^{\bullet}, y^{\bullet} \cap A)$, sufficient conditions in the absolute case, for both f and f|A, will also be sufficient for the relative case.

4.2. Proposition. If f is Ψ -closed and $y^{\bullet} = f^{-1}(y)$ is Ψ -taut in X (e.g., if Ψ is paracompactifying or if Ψ contains a neighborhood of y^{\bullet} and y^{\bullet} is compact and relatively Hausdorff in X), then

$$r_y^*: \mathscr{H}_{\Psi}^*(f; \mathscr{A})_y \to H_{\Psi \cap y^{\bullet}}^*(y^{\bullet}; \mathscr{A})$$

is an isomorphism for all \mathcal{A} . (Also see Section 7.)

Proof. This follows immediately from II-10.6.

4.3. Consider the situation of 3.5. Let $A_i \subset X_i$, i = 1, 2, be such that $g(A_1) \subset A_2$ and let $\mathscr{A}_i^* = \mathscr{C}^*(X_i, A_i; \mathscr{A}_i)$. The g-cohomomorphism $k : \mathscr{A}_2 \sim \mathscr{A}_1$ extends to one $\mathscr{A}_2^* \sim \mathscr{A}_1^*$ of differential sheaves. Thus we have the induced *h*-cohomomorphism

$$f_{2,\Psi_2}(\mathscr{A}_2^*) \rightsquigarrow f_{1,\Psi_1}(\mathscr{A}_1^*)$$

of differential sheaves and hence an h-cohomomorphism

$$\mathscr{H}^*_{\Psi_2}(f_2, f_2 | A_2; \mathscr{A}_2) \rightsquigarrow \mathscr{H}^*_{\Psi_1}(f_1, f_1 | A_1; \mathscr{A}_1)$$
(19)

of graded sheaves.

Again, in the absolute case, consider the special case of an inclusion $B \subset Y$ and $B^{\bullet} = f^{-1}(B) \subset X$. The cohomomorphism (19) gives rise to a homomorphism

$$r^*: \mathscr{H}^*_{\Psi}(f;\mathscr{A})|B \to \mathscr{H}^*_{\Psi \cap B^{\bullet}}(f|B^{\bullet};\mathscr{A}|B^{\bullet}).$$
⁽²⁰⁾

If B is open, then it is clear that r^* is an isomorphism, but this is false for general B. However, we have the following result:

4.4. Proposition. Let $f : X \to Y$ be Ψ -closed and let $B \subset Y$ be a subspace such that for each $y \in B$, $f^{-1}(y)$ is Ψ -taut in X. Then the natural map

$$r^*: \mathscr{H}^*_{\Psi}(f; \mathscr{A})|B \to \mathscr{H}^*_{\Psi \cap B^{\bullet}}(f|B^{\bullet}; \mathscr{A}|B^{\bullet}).$$

is an isomorphism.

Proof. This follows immediately from 4.2 and II-12.14, which imply that r^* in (20) is an isomorphism on each stalk.

4.5. Let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X and \mathscr{B} a sheaf on Y, where $f: X \to Y$. For open sets $U \subset Y$, the cup product on $U^{\bullet} = f^{-1}(U)$ induces the map

$$\begin{aligned} H^p_{\Psi}(U^{\bullet}, U^{\bullet} \cap A; \mathscr{A}) \otimes \mathscr{B}(U) &\to H^p_{\Psi}(U^{\bullet}, U^{\bullet} \cap A; \mathscr{A}) \otimes (f^*\mathscr{B})(U^{\bullet}) \\ &= H^p_{\Psi}(U^{\bullet}, U^{\bullet} \cap A; \mathscr{A}) \otimes H^0(U^{\bullet}; f^*\mathscr{B}) \\ &\to H^p_{\Psi}(U^{\bullet}, U^{\bullet} \cap A; \mathscr{A} \otimes f^*\mathscr{B}) \end{aligned}$$

of presheaves. This, in turn, induces a homomorphism

$$\mathscr{H}^{p}_{\Psi}(f, f|A; \mathscr{A}) \otimes \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{H}^{p}_{\Psi}(f, f|A; \mathscr{A} \otimes f^{*}\mathscr{B})$$
(21)

of the generated sheaves.

If f is Ψ -closed and if $y^{\bullet} = f^{-1}(y)$ is Ψ -taut in X, then on the stalks at y, (21) for A empty is just the cup product

$$H^p_{\Psi\cap y^{\bullet}}(y^{\bullet};\mathscr{A})\otimes M\to H^p_{\Psi\cap y^{\bullet}}(y^{\bullet};\mathscr{A}\otimes M),$$

where $M = \mathscr{B}_y$.

From these remarks and the Universal Coefficient Theorem II-15.3 we deduce:

4.6. Proposition. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a closed map such that each $y^{\bullet} = f^{-1}(y)$ is compact and relatively Hausdorff in X. Let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X and \mathscr{B} a sheaf on Y such that $\mathscr{A} \ast \mathscr{B} = 0$ and such that $H^{p+1}(y^{\bullet}; \mathscr{A}) \ast \mathscr{B}_y = 0$ for all $y \in Y$. Then the homomorphism

$$\mathscr{H}^p(f;\mathscr{A})\otimes \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{H}^p(f;\mathscr{A}\otimes f^*\mathscr{B})$$

of (21) is an isomorphism.⁹

4.7. Again, let $f : X \to Y$ and $A \subset X$. Let Ψ and Θ be families of supports on X and let \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} be sheaves on X. For open sets $U \subset Y$, the cup product

$$H^{p}_{\Psi\cap U^{\bullet}}(U^{\bullet};\mathscr{A})\otimes H^{q}_{\Theta\cap U^{\bullet}}(U^{\bullet},U^{\bullet}\cap A;\mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{\cup} H^{p+q}_{\Psi\cap\Theta\cap U^{\bullet}}(U^{\bullet},U^{\bullet}\cap A;\mathscr{A}\otimes\mathscr{B})$$

⁹Also see Exercise 4.

on $U^{\bullet} = f^{-1}(U)$ is compatible with restrictions and therefore defines a cup product of the generated sheaves:

$$\mathscr{H}^{p}_{\Psi}(f;\mathscr{A})\otimes\mathscr{H}^{q}_{\Theta}(f,f|A;\mathscr{B})\overset{\cup}{\longrightarrow}\mathscr{H}^{p+q}_{\Psi\cap\Theta}(f,f|A;\mathscr{A}\otimes\mathscr{B}).$$

Note that in particular, for A empty and p = 0 = q this provides a natural map

$$f_{\Psi}(\mathscr{A}) \otimes f_{\Theta}(\mathscr{B}) \to f_{\Psi \cap \Theta}(\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}),$$

which is, of course, easy to describe directly from Definition 3.2. The reader should be aware of the fact that in the absolute case, this cup product satisfies an analogue of the uniqueness theorem II-7.1 since II-6.2 generalizes word for word to the case of functors from the category of sheaves on X to the category of sheaves on Y. (Specializing Y to be a point retrieves the original situation.)

4.8. Example. Here is a simple, but not completely trivial, example of a Leray sheaf. Let $X = \mathbb{RP}^2$ considered as the unit disk in \mathbb{R}^2 with antipodal points on the boundary identified. The circle group $G = \mathbb{S}^1$ acts on X by rotations in the plane. Let Y = X/G be the orbit space, which can be considered as the cross section consisting of the interval [0,1] on the real axis. Let $f: X \to Y$ be the orbit map. The point 0 corresponds to a fixed point; the orbit corresponding to 1 is a circle wrapping around twice, and all other orbits are free. From this it is clear that the Leray sheaf $\mathscr{H}^1(f; \mathbb{Z})$ is the subsheaf of the constant sheaf \mathbb{Z} on [0,1] that is 0 at 0, 2 \mathbb{Z} at 1, and \mathbb{Z} at interior points. (For example, a generator of $H^1(f^{-1}(\frac{1}{2},1];\mathbb{Z})$ gives a section of $\mathscr{H}^1(f;\mathbb{Z})$ over $(\frac{1}{2},1]$ that induces a generator of the stalk at 1 since $f^{-1}(1)$ is a deformation retract of $f^{-1}(\frac{1}{2},1]$; $\mathbb{Z}) \to H^1(f^{-1}(x);\mathbb{Z})$ does that.) Since all orbits are connected, $\mathscr{H}^0(f;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}$, and of course, $\mathscr{H}^p(f;\mathbb{Z}) = 0$ for $p \neq 0, 1$.

4.9. Example. Let $X = (\mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I} - \{\langle 0, \frac{1}{2} \rangle\})/\{\langle 0, y \rangle \sim \langle 0, 1-y \rangle | 0 \leq y < \frac{1}{2}\}$, a square with the midpoint of one side deleted and the remaining two rays of that side identified. Let $Y = \mathbb{I}$ and let $f : X \to Y$ be the projection f(x, y) = x. Then the Leray sheaf $\mathscr{H}^1(f; \mathbb{Z})$ vanishes away from 0, but the stalk at $0 \in Y$ is $\mathscr{H}^1(f; \mathbb{Z})_0 \approx \mathbb{Z}$ since $H^1(f^{-1}[0,\varepsilon); \mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}$. Therefore $\mathscr{H}^1(f; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}_{\{0\}}$ is nonzero even though $H^1(f^{-1}(y); \mathbb{Z}) = 0$ for all $y \in Y$. Note that each $f^{-1}(y)$ is taut, but f is not closed. Now, X and Y are locally compact and f is c-closed, of course. The Leray sheaf $\mathscr{H}^1_c(f; \mathbb{Z}) = 0$ since, for example, $f^{-1}[0,\varepsilon] \approx \mathbb{D}^2 - \{0\} \approx \mathbb{S}^1 \times (0,1]$ and $H^1_c(\mathbb{S}^1 \times (0,1]; \mathbb{Z}) \approx H^1(\mathbb{S}^1 \times [0,1], \mathbb{S}^1 \times \{0\}; \mathbb{Z}) = 0$. By similar calculations, $\mathscr{H}^0_c(f; \mathbb{Z}) = \mathbb{Z}_{(0,1]}$. By 4.2 these stalks of $\mathscr{H}^*_c(f; \mathbb{Z})$ are the cohomology groups with compact supports of the corresponding fibers, as the reader may verify.

In some situations it is possible to prove some general niceness results about the Leray sheaf. The material in the remainder of this section is based largely on the work of Dydak and Walsh [35]. **4.10. Definition.** Let L be a principal ideal domain. A presheaf S of L-modules on X is said to be locally finitely generated if for each point $x \in X$ and open neighborhood U of x, there is an open neighborhood $V \subset U$ of x such that $\operatorname{Im}(r_{V,U} : S(U) \to S(V))$ is finitely generated over L. A sheaf \mathscr{S} is said to be locally finitely generated if $\mathscr{S} = \mathscr{Sheaf}(S)$ for some locally finitely generated presheaf S.

4.11. Theorem. Let L be a principal ideal domain. Suppose that S is a locally finitely generated presheaf of L-modules on the separable metric space Y. Let $\mathscr{G} = \mathscr{G}_{keaf}(S)$ and suppose that \mathscr{G} has finitely generated stalks over L. Let G be a given L-module and put $Y_G = \{y \in Y \mid \mathscr{G}_y \approx G\}$. Then Y_G is covered by a countable collection of sets Y_i , closed in Y, such that each $\mathscr{G} \mid Y_i$ contains a constant subsheaf \mathscr{G} with stalks G such that \mathscr{G}_y is a direct summand of \mathscr{G}_y for each $y \in Y_i$.

Proof. Let $\{U_i\}$ be a countable basis for the topology of Y. Call a triple i, j, k of indices admissible if $\overline{U}_k \subset U_j$, $\overline{U}_j \subset U_i$, and $G_{i,j} = \operatorname{Im} r_{U_j,U_i}$ is finitely generated. For $y \in U_j$ let $r_{y,i,j} : G_{i,j} \to \mathscr{S}_y$ denote the canonical map. Then for each $y \in Y$ and neighborhood U of y, there exists an admissible triple i, j, k such that $y \in U_k, U_i \subset U$, and $r_{y,i,j} : G_{i,j} \to \mathscr{S}_y$ is an isomorphism onto \mathscr{S}_y (since \mathscr{S}_y is finitely generated). For an admissible triple i, j, k, let

$$B_{i,j} = \{y \in Y_G \cap U_j \mid r_{y,i,j} \text{ is an isomorphism}\}$$

and

$$K_{i,j,k} = \overline{B_{i,j} \cap U_k}.$$

Suppose that $x \in K_{i,j,k}$. Then there is an admissible triple p, q, r such that $x \in U_r$, $U_p \subset U_j$, and $r_{x,p,q} : G_{p,q} \to \mathscr{S}_x$ is an isomorphism. Since $x \in \overline{B_{i,j} \cap U_k}$, there is a point $y \in B_{i,j} \cap U_r$. Since $U_p \subset U_j$, there is the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} G_{i,j} \xrightarrow{\approx} \mathscr{G}_y &\approx G \\ r_{x,i,j} & \searrow & \uparrow \\ \mathscr{G}_x & \xleftarrow{\approx} G_{p,q} \end{array}$$

showing that G is a direct summand of \mathscr{G}_x . By construction, the closed sets $K_{i,j,k}$ cover Y_G . The maps $r_{x,i,j} : G_{i,j} \to \mathscr{G}_x$ form a homomorphism of the constant sheaf \mathscr{G} with stalks G to $\mathscr{G}|K_{i,j,k}$, and we have shown this to be a monomorphism onto a direct summand on each stalk. \Box

4.12. Corollary. With the hypotheses of 4.11, suppose that Y is locally compact or complete metrizable and assume that the stalks of \mathscr{S} are mutually isomorphic. Then there is an open dense subspace U of Y over which \mathscr{S} is locally constant.

Proof. By the Baire category theorem some Y_i must have nonempty interior. Thus \bigcup int Y_i is dense in Y and \mathscr{S} is locally constant on it. \Box

4.13. Theorem. If $f : X \to Y$ is a proper closed map between separable metric spaces and L is a principal ideal domain then the Leray sheaf $\mathscr{H}^{n}(f;L)$ is locally finitely generated over L^{10}

Proof. We may assume that X is a subspace of the Hilbert cube \mathbb{I}^{∞} ; see [19, I-9]. Consider the presheaf S on Y given by $S(U) = H^n(N_{d(U)}(U^{\bullet}); L)$, where d(U) is the diameter of U and $N_{d(U)}(U^{\bullet})$ is the set of points in \mathbb{I}^{∞} of distance less than d(U) from U^{\bullet} . Let $\mathscr{S} = \mathscr{Sheaf}(S)$.

We claim that the sets $N_{d(U)}(U^{\bullet})$ form a neighborhood basis of y^{\bullet} in \mathbb{I}^{∞} . If not, then there is an open neighborhood V of y^{\bullet} in \mathbb{I}^{∞} containing no set of the form $N_{1/n}(f^{-1}(N_{1/2n}(y)))$. Let $z_n \in N_{1/n}(f^{-1}(N_{1/2n}(y))) - V$ and let $x_n \in f^{-1}(N_{1/2n}(y))$ with $\operatorname{dist}(x_n, z_n) < 1/n$. Then $f(x_n) \in N_{1/2n}(y)$, so that $f(x_n) \to y$. It follows that $\{y, f(x_1), f(x_2), \ldots\}$ is compact. Since f is proper, some subsequence $\{x_{n_i}\}$ must converge to a point $x \in X$. Then $f(x) = \lim f(x_{n_i}) = y$, so that $x \in y^{\bullet}$. Since $\operatorname{dist}(x_n, z_n) < 1/n$, $\lim z_{n_i} = x \in y^{\bullet}$, contrary to the fact that no z_{n_i} is in V.

Thus $\mathscr{P}_{y} = H^{n}(y^{\bullet}; L)$. Now, the canonical map $H^{n}(N_{d(U)}(U^{\bullet}); L) \to H^{n}(y^{\bullet}; L)$ factors through $H^{n}(U^{\bullet}; L)$, and the latter generate the Leray sheaf $\mathscr{H}^{n}(f; L)$. This gives a map $\mathscr{P} \to \mathscr{H}^{n}(f; L)$, which is an isomorphism on each stalk. Therefore, $\mathscr{P} \approx \mathscr{H}^{n}(f; L)$. Since the Hilbert cube \mathbb{I}^{∞} is clc_{L} , it follows from II-17.5 that the presheaf S is locally finitely generated. \Box

4.14. Corollary. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a proper closed map between separable metric spaces such that the stalks $H^*(y^{\bullet}; L)$ of $\mathscr{H}^*(f; L)$ are finitely generated for all $y \in Y$. Let Y_G be as in 4.11. Then Y_G is covered by a countable family of sets Y_i , closed in Y, such that each $\mathscr{H}^*(f; L)|Y_i$ contains a constant subsheaf \mathscr{G} , with stalks G, that is a stalkwise direct summand.

4.15. Example. Let Y = [-1, 1],

$$X = \{ \langle x, 0 \rangle \mid -1 \leq x \leq 1 \} \cup \{ \langle x, 1 \rangle \mid -1 \leq x \leq 0 \} \cup \{ \langle x, x \rangle \mid 0 \leq x \leq 1 \},$$

and $f\langle x, y \rangle = x$. Then $Y_{L \oplus L} = Y$. However, $\mathscr{H} = \mathscr{H}^0(f; L)$ is not constant. Instead, there is an exact sequence $0 \to L \to \mathscr{H} \to L_{[-1,0]} \oplus L_{(0,1]} \to 0$. No Y_i , as in 4.14, can have $\{0\}$ in its interior. The collection $Y_0 = [-1,0]$ and $Y_n = [2^{-n}, 2^{-n+1}]$ for n > 0 works, and each $\mathscr{H}|Y_n$ is constant.

4.16. Example. Let X be the Cantor set and let $f: X \to Y = [0, 1]$ be the identification of the end points in each complementary interval. Then f is 2-to-1 over a countable set $Q = Y_{L \oplus L}$ and 1-to-1 over $P = Y - Q = Y_L$.

¹⁰This is also true without separability. One uses the space C(X) of continuous bounded real-valued functions on X instead of the Hilbert cube. Since C(X) is not locally compact, II-17.5 does not apply directly, but its proof does.

§5. Extension of a support family by a family on the base space

Now, for $Q = \bigcup Q_i$ as in 4.14, the Q_i can simply be the points of Q. In any case there must be infinitely many Q_i since they are closed and contained in Q. For P we could take $P_1 = Y$. In any covering $P \subset P_1 \cup P_2 \cup \cdots$ with P_i closed in Y, some P_i must have nonempty interior by the Baire category theorem. Let U be an open interval inside some such P_i and let $\Phi = c|U$. Then the exact coefficient sequence $0 \to L \to \mathscr{H} \to \mathscr{Q} \to 0$ induces the exact sequence

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(L) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{H}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{Q}) \to H^{1}_{\Phi}(Y;L) \to H^{1}_{\Phi}(Y;\mathscr{H}).$$

The right-hand term is $H^1_{\Phi}(Y; fL) \approx H^1_{f^{-1}\Phi}(X; L) = 0$ by II-11.1, and the previous term is $H^1_{c|U}(Y; L) \approx H^1_c(U; L) \approx L$. Thus $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{H}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{Q})$ is not surjective, and so $\mathscr{Q}|P_i$, and hence $L|P_i$, cannot be a direct summand of $\mathscr{H}|P_i$ even though it is a stalkwise direct summand. \diamondsuit

5 Extension of a support family by a family on the base space

Let $f: X \to Y$ with Ψ and Φ being families of supports on X and Y respectively.

5.1. Definition. Let the "extension $\Phi(\Psi)$ of Ψ by Φ " be the family of supports on X defined by

$$\Phi(\Psi) = \{K \in \Psi(Y) \mid \overline{f(K)} \in \Phi\} = \Psi(Y) \cap f^{-1}(\Phi).$$

Intuitively, $\Phi(\Psi)$ is the result of "spreading Ψ out over Φ ." The reason for considering this construction is the following:

5.2. Proposition. For any sheaf \mathscr{A} on X we have

$$\Gamma_{\Phi}(f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A}) = \Gamma_{\Phi(\Psi)}(\mathscr{A})$$

under the defining equality $(f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A})(Y) = \Gamma_{\Psi(Y)}(\mathscr{A}) \subset \mathscr{A}(X).$

Proof. Let $s \in (f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A})(Y) = \Gamma_{\Psi(Y)}(\mathscr{A})$ and $K = |s| \subset X$ as a section of \mathscr{A} . Then the support of s as a section of $f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A}$ is clearly $\overline{f(K)}$. By Definition 5.1, $\overline{f(K)} \in \Phi \Leftrightarrow K \in \Phi(\Psi)$, since $K \in \Psi(Y)$, and the result follows.

Most cases of interest are those in which Φ, Ψ are one of the four combinations of *cld*, *c* on locally compact Hausdorff spaces X and Y and map $f: X \to Y$. The following table indicates the intuitive meaning of $\Phi(\Psi)$ in these four cases:

| Φ (on Y) | Ψ (on X) | $\Phi(\Psi)$ (on X) |
|--------------------------|---------------|---------------------|
| closed | closed | closed |
| compact | compact | compact |
| closed | compact | fiberwise compact |
| $\operatorname{compact}$ | closed | basewise compact |

The following is immediate from the definitions.¹¹

5.3. Proposition. If $f: X \to Y$ is a map between locally compact Hausdorff spaces, then

- (a) $c(Y) = \{K \subset X \text{ closed} | f|K : K \to Y \text{ is proper}\},\$
- (b) $\Phi(c) = \{ K \in f^{-1}(\Phi) \mid f \mid K : K \to Y \text{ is proper} \},\$
- (c) $\Psi \subset \Phi(c) \Leftrightarrow (f(\Psi) \subset \Phi \text{ and } f|K: K \to Y \text{ is proper for all } K \in \Psi).$

We collect some further miscellaneous facts about this construction:

5.4. Proposition. Let $f : X \to Y$, let Φ, Ξ be families of supports on Y and Ψ, Θ families of supports on X. Then, with $A^{\bullet} = f^{-1}(A)$,

- 1. $\Psi \subset \Psi(Y)$,
- 2. $\Psi \subset \Theta \Rightarrow \Psi(Y) \subset \Theta(Y)$ and $\Phi(\Psi) \subset \Phi(\Theta)$,
- 3. $\Phi(cld) = f^{-1}\Phi$,
- 4. $cld(\Psi) = \Psi(Y)$,
- 5. $\Psi(Y)(Y) = \Psi(Y),$
- 6. $\Phi(\Phi(\Psi)) = \Phi(\Psi),$
- 7. $\Phi(\Psi) \cap f^{-1}(\Xi) = (\Phi \cap \Xi)(\Psi),$
- 8. $f \ \Psi$ -closed, $A \subset Y \Rightarrow \Phi(\Psi) | A^{\bullet} = (\Phi|A)(\Psi) = (\Phi|A)(\Psi \cap A^{\bullet}),$
- 9. $\Phi(\Psi) \cap \Xi(\Theta) = (\Phi \cap \Xi)(\Psi \cap \Theta).$

Proof. Items 1–5 are clear. For 6, note that $\Phi(\Psi) \subset \Psi(Y)$ by definition. Thus $\Phi(\Psi)(Y) \subset \Psi(Y)(Y) = \Psi(Y)$ by 2 and 5. Therefore

$$\Phi(\Phi(\Psi)) =_{\mathrm{def}} \Phi(\Psi)(Y) \cap f^{-1}(\Phi) \subset \Psi(Y) \cap f^{-1}(\Phi) =_{\mathrm{def}} \Phi(\Psi).$$

Conversely, $\Phi(\Psi) \subset \Phi(\Psi)(Y)$ by 1, and $\Phi(\Psi) \subset f^{-1}(\Phi)$ by definition, whence $\Phi(\Psi) \subset \Phi(\Psi)(Y) \cap f^{-1}(\Phi) = \Phi(\Phi(\Psi))$.

¹¹Note that $f|K: K \to Y$ being proper implies that f(K) is closed in Y.

For 8, note that

$$\Phi(\Psi)|A^{\bullet} = \{K \in \Psi(Y) \mid \overline{f(K)} \in \Phi \text{ and } K \subset A^{\bullet}\} \\ = \{K \in \Psi(Y) \mid \overline{f(K)} \in \Phi \text{ and } f(K) \subset A\}.$$

Now suppose that $K \in \Phi(\Psi)|A^{\bullet}$, and let $y \in \overline{f(K)}$. Then by the definition of $\Psi(Y)$, there exists a neighborhood N of y and a $K' \in \Psi$ such that $K \cap N^{\bullet} = K' \cap N^{\bullet}$. Therefore $f(K) \cap N = f(K') \cap N$. Thus $y \in \overline{f(K')} = f(K')$ since f is Ψ -closed. Hence $y \in f(K)$. Thus f(K) is closed in Y, and so $\overline{f(K)} \subset A$. Also, $K' \cap A^{\bullet} \cap N^{\bullet} = K \cap N^{\bullet}$ since $K \subset A^{\bullet}$. Hence

$$\Phi(\Psi)|A^{\bullet} = \{K \in \Psi(Y) \mid f(K) \in \Phi|A\} = (\Phi|A)(\Psi)$$

(also) = $\{K \in (\Psi \cap A^{\bullet})(Y) \mid \overline{f(K)} \in \Phi|A\} = (\Phi|A)(\Psi \cap A^{\bullet})$

as claimed. Items 7 and 9 are obvious.

5.5. Proposition. If $f : X \to Y$ with Ψ paracompactifying on X and Φ paracompactifying on Y, then $\Phi(\Psi)$ is paracompactifying on X.

Proof. Since every member of Φ has a neighborhood in Φ , it suffices to consider the case in which $Y \in \Phi$. Thus we can assume that Y is paracompact and $\Phi = cld$, whence $\Phi(\Psi) = \Psi(Y)$. It is also clear that we can assume that $E(\Psi) = X$ and hence that X is regular. Now, if $K \in \Psi(Y)$, then there is a locally finite open covering $\{U_{\alpha}\}$ and a shrinking $\{V_{\alpha}\}$ of $\{U_{\alpha}\}$ such that each $K \cap f^{-1}(\overline{V}_{\alpha}) \in \Psi$. Therefore $K = \bigcup_{\alpha} K_{\alpha}$, where $K_{\alpha} \in \Psi$ and $K_{\alpha} \subset f^{-1}(\overline{V}_{\alpha})$, for some such covering. Conversely, any set K that can be written this way is in $\Psi(Y)$. Now, any such set K is paracompact since a locally finite union of closed paracompact subspaces of a regular space is paracompact; see [34, p. 178]. Also, by considering sets W_{α} with $\overline{V}_{\alpha} \subset W_{\alpha}$ and $\overline{W}_{\alpha} \subset U_{\alpha}$, it is clear that such a set K has a neighborhood K' of this form. \Box

6 The Leray spectral sequence of a map

Let $A \subset X$, let $f: X \to Y$, and let Ψ and Φ be families of supports on X and Y respectively. In this section we shall assume that at least one of the following two conditions holds:

- (A) $\Psi = cld$.
- (B) Φ is paracompactifying.

Let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X and let $\mathscr{A}^* = \mathscr{C}^*(X, A; \mathscr{A})$, or as in (16) in general. Then each $f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A}^p$ is Φ -acyclic by 3.3 or II-5.7. Thus from 2.1 we have a spectral sequence, derived from the double complex $C^p_{\Phi}(Y; f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A}^q)$, in which $E_2^{p,q} = H^p_{\Phi}(Y; \mathscr{H}^q_{\Psi}(f, f|A; \mathscr{A}))$ and E_{∞} is the graded group associated with some filtration of $H^*(\Gamma_{\Phi}(f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A}^*)) = H^*(\Gamma_{\Phi(\Psi}(\mathscr{A}^*)) = H^*_{\Phi(\Psi)}(X, A; \mathscr{A})$.

From this and 4.2 we obtain the following basic result, which is one of the most important consequences of sheaf-theoretic cohomology:

6.1. Theorem. If (A) or (B) holds, then there is a spectral sequence (the "Leray spectral sequence") in which

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p_\Phi(Y; \mathscr{H}^q_\Psi(f, f|A; \mathscr{A})) \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}_{\Phi(\Psi)}(X, A; \mathscr{A}).$$

Moreover, if f is Ψ -closed and $\Psi \cap A$ -closed and if each $y^{\bullet} = f^{-1}(y)$ is Ψ -taut and each $y^{\bullet} \cap A$ is $\Psi \cap A$ -taut in X, then the canonical homomorphisms

 $r_y^*: \mathscr{H}_{\Psi}^*(f, f|A; \mathscr{A})_y \to H_{\Psi \cap y^{\bullet}}^*(y^{\bullet}, y^{\bullet} \cap A; \mathscr{A})$

are isomorphisms.

This is clearly a far-reaching extension of the general Vietoris mapping theorem II-11.1; see 8.21. Most of the remainder of this chapter is concerned with applications of this spectral sequence.

6.2. Let us briefly discuss the naturality of the Leray spectral sequence. Consider the situation and notation of 3.5 and 4.3. Let Φ_i be a family of supports on Y_i satisfying (A) or (B) and with $h^{-1}(\Phi_2) \subset \Phi_1$. The *h*-cohomomorphism $f_{2,\Psi_2}\mathscr{A}_2^* \rightsquigarrow f_{1,\Psi_1}\mathscr{A}_1^*$ induces an *h*-cohomomorphism $\mathscr{C}^*(Y_2; f_{2,\Psi_2}\mathscr{A}_2^*) \leadsto \mathscr{C}^*(Y_1; f_{1,\Psi_1}\mathscr{A}_1^*)$ and hence a map of double complexes

$$C^*_{\Phi_2}(Y_2; f_{2,\Psi_2}\mathscr{A}_2^*) \to C^*_{\Phi_1}(Y_1; f_{1,\Psi_1}\mathscr{A}_1^*).$$

Therefore there is an induced map of spectral sequences

$${}^{2}E_{r}^{p,q} \rightarrow {}^{1}E_{r}^{p,q}$$

The homomorphism ${}^2E_2^{p,q} \rightarrow {}^1E_2^{p,q}$, i.e.,

$$H^{p}_{\Phi_{2}}(Y_{2}; \mathscr{H}^{q}_{\Psi_{2}}(f_{2}, f_{2}|A_{2}; \mathscr{A}_{2})) \to H^{p}_{\Phi_{1}}(Y_{1}; \mathscr{H}^{q}_{\Psi_{1}}(f_{1}, f_{1}|A_{1}; \mathscr{A}_{1})),$$

is induced by the *h*-cohomomorphism (19) of Leray sheaves. Moreover, the homomorphism ${}^{2}E_{\infty}^{p,q} \to {}^{1}E_{\infty}^{p,q}$ is the graded map associated to the homomorphism

$$H^*_{\Phi_2(\Psi_2)}(X_2, A_2; \mathscr{A}_2) \to H^*_{\Phi_1(\Psi_1)}(X_1, A_1; \mathscr{A}_1)$$

induced by $k: \mathscr{A}_2 \rightsquigarrow \mathscr{A}_1$ [note that $g^{-1}(\Phi_2(\Psi_2)) \subset \Phi_1(\Psi_1)$].

6.3. In the situation of 6.1 again, let f^{\diamond} denote the edge homomorphism

$$f^\diamond: H^p_\Phi(Y; f_\Psi \mathscr{A}) = E_2^{p,0} \twoheadrightarrow E_\infty^{p,0} \rightarrowtail H^p_{\Phi(\Psi)}(X; \mathscr{A})$$

of the Leray spectral sequence. We wish to relate this to more familiar maps. To do this, apply 6.2 to the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} X, cld & \xrightarrow{1} & X, \Psi \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow f \\ X, f^{-1}\Phi & \xrightarrow{f} & Y, \Phi \end{array}$$

of maps and support families. There is a map of the spectral sequence of $f: (X, \Psi) \to (Y, \Phi)$ to that of $(X, cld) \to (X, f^{-1}\Phi)$. This gives the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H^p_{\Phi}(Y; f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A}) & \xrightarrow{f^{\circ}} & H^p_{\Phi(\Psi)}(X; \mathscr{A}) \\ & & \downarrow^{f^{\dagger}} & & \downarrow^{\iota^{\bullet}} \\ H^p_{f^{-1}\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) & \xrightarrow{1^{\circ}} & H^p_{f^{-1}\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \end{array}$$

since $(f^{-1}\Phi)(cld) = f^{-1}\Phi$. The edge homomorphism 1° is the identity,¹² and ι^* is induced by inclusion of supports. By the general discussion of 6.2 the map f^{\dagger} is induced by the *f*-cohomomorphism $f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A} \to 1_{cld}\mathscr{A} = \mathscr{A}$, which is equivalent to the inclusion of supports homomorphism $f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A} \to f\mathscr{A}$, i.e., it is the composition $f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A} \to f\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}$. Therefore, we have the general relationship

$$\iota^* \circ f^{\diamond} = f^{\dagger} : H^p_{\Phi}(Y; f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A}) \to H^p_{f^{-1}\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}),$$

where f^{\dagger} is induced by the *f*-cohomomorphism $f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}$ and ι^* is induced by the inclusion of supports $\Phi(\Psi) \hookrightarrow f^{-1}\Phi$.

Now suppose that $\Psi = cld$. Then $f^{\dagger} : H^p_{\Phi}(Y; f\mathscr{A}) \to H^p_{f^{-1}\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$ is the map of that name in II-8. Also, ι^* is the identity. Thus the edge homomorphism f^{\diamond} is just the canonical map

$$f^{\diamond} = f^{\dagger} : H^p_{\Phi}(Y; f\mathscr{A}) \to H^p_{f^{-1}\Phi}(Y; \mathscr{A})$$

of II-8 induced by the *f*-cohomomorphism $f \mathcal{A} \rightsquigarrow \mathcal{A}$.

Now also suppose that $\mathscr{A} = f^*\mathscr{B}$ for some sheaf \mathscr{B} on Y. Then by (18) on page 63, $f^* = f^{\dagger} \circ \beta^*$, where $\beta : \mathscr{B} \to ff^*\mathscr{B}$ is the canonical homomorphism. Therefore the composition

$$f^{\diamond} \circ \beta^* = f^* : H^p_{\Phi}(Y; \mathscr{B}) \to H^p_{f^{-1}\Phi}(X; f^*\mathscr{B})$$

is the usual homomorphism induced by f.

See Exercise 5 regarding the other edge homomorphism.

6.4. Example. Consider the map $f: X \to Y = [0,1]$ of 4.8. The Leray sheaf $\mathscr{H}^1(f;\mathbb{Z})$, as computed there, is a subsheaf of the sheaf $\mathbb{Z}_{(0,1]}$ with quotient sheaf \mathscr{Q} having stalk \mathbb{Z}_2 at 1 and being zero elsewhere. We compute $H^p(\mathbb{I};\mathbb{Z}_{(0,1]}) = H^p(\mathbb{I},\{0\};\mathbb{Z}) = 0$ for all p by II-12.3. Therefore, the cohomology sequence of the exact coefficient sequence $\mathscr{H}^1(f;\mathbb{Z}) \to \mathbb{Z}_{(0,1]} \twoheadrightarrow \mathscr{Q}$ gives that $H^p(\mathbb{I};\mathscr{H}^1(f;\mathbb{Z})) \approx H^{p-1}(\mathbb{I};\mathscr{Q}) \approx H^{p-1}(\{1\};\mathbb{Z}_2) \approx \mathbb{Z}_2$ (by II-10.2) for p = 1 and is zero otherwise. Thus the Leray spectral sequence of f has $E_2^{1,1} = \mathbb{Z}_2, E_2^{0,0} = \mathbb{Z}$, and $E_2^{p,q} = 0$ otherwise. This spectral sequence degenerates, i.e., $E_{\infty}^{p,q} = E_2^{p,q}$, and gives, of course, the usual cohomology groups of the projective plane.

¹²See Exercise 29.

6.5. Example. This is an example of the Leray spectral sequence in a case in which the map f is *not* closed and the r_y^* are *not* all isomorphisms. Let $X = \mathbb{S}^2 - \{x_0\}$, where x_0 is the north pole; let Y be the unit disk in the plane; and let $f: X \to Y$ be the projection taking $x_0 \mapsto y_0$, the center of the disk Y. Use closed supports. Then at points $y \neq y_0$ in Y the Leray sheaf $\mathscr{H}^q(f;\mathbb{Z})$ is the same as that for the projection map from \mathbb{S}^2 , and so it vanishes for q > 0. However, the stalk at y_0 is

$$\mathscr{H}^{q}(f;\mathbb{Z})_{y_{0}} = \underline{\lim} H^{q}(U^{\bullet};\mathbb{Z}) \approx \begin{cases} \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}, & \text{for } q = 0, \\ \mathbb{Z}, & \text{for } q = 1, \\ 0, & \text{for } q \neq 0, 1, \end{cases}$$

where U ranges over the open disk neighborhoods of y_0 , since such U^{\bullet} are disjoint unions of open disks and open annuli (i.e., are homotopy equivalent to $\star + \mathbb{S}^1$). It is fairly clear that $\mathscr{H}^0(f;\mathbb{Z}) = f\mathbb{Z} \approx \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}_{Y-B}$, where $B = \partial Y$. Also, $\mathscr{H}^1(f;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}_{\{y_0\}}$, the sheaf that has stalk \mathbb{Z} at y_0 and is zero elsewhere. Thus the Leray spectral sequence has

$$E_2^{p,0} = H^p(Y; \mathscr{H}^0(f; \mathbb{Z})) \approx H^p(Y; \mathbb{Z}) \oplus H^p_c(Y - B; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \begin{cases} \mathbb{Z}, & \text{for } p = 0, 2, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

and

$$E_2^{p,1} = H^p(Y; \mathscr{H}^1(f; \mathbb{Z})) \approx H^p(Y; \mathbb{Z}_{\{y_0\}}) \approx H^p(\{y_0\}; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \begin{cases} \mathbb{Z}, & \text{for } p = 0, \\ 0, & \text{for } p \neq 0. \end{cases}$$

Since this converges to the cohomology of the contractible space X, we must have that the only possible nonzero differential,

$$\mathbb{Z} \approx E_2^{0,1} \xrightarrow{d_2} E_2^{2,0} \approx \mathbb{Z},$$

is an isomorphism.

It is of interest to consider the same example but with supports in c on X. Here, all of the hypotheses of 6.1 are valid, so that the Leray sheaf $\mathscr{H}^{q}_{c}(f;\mathbb{Z})$ vanishes for $q \neq 0$, and $\mathscr{H}^{0}_{c}(f;\mathbb{Z}) = f_{c}\mathbb{Z}$ has stalks

$$\mathscr{H}^{0}_{c}(f;\mathbb{Z})_{y} pprox \left\{ egin{array}{ll} \mathbb{Z}, & ext{for } y\in B, \ \mathbb{Z}\oplus\mathbb{Z}, & ext{for } y\in Y-B-\{y_{0}\}, \ \mathbb{Z}, & ext{for } y=y_{0}. \end{array}
ight.$$

Here, of course, the Leray spectral sequence degenerates to the isomorphism

$$H^{p}(Y; \mathscr{H}^{0}_{c}(f; \mathbb{Z})) \approx H^{p}_{c}(X; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \begin{cases} \mathbb{Z}, & \text{for } p = 2, \\ 0, & \text{for } p \neq 2. \end{cases}$$

From the stalks, one might think that $\mathscr{H}^{0}_{c}(f;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}_{Y-B-\{y_{0}\}}$, but this cannot hold since $\Gamma(\mathscr{H}^{0}_{c}(f;\mathbb{Z})) = H^{0}(Y;\mathscr{H}^{0}_{c}(f;\mathbb{Z})) = 0$, so that $\mathscr{H}^{0}_{c}(f;\mathbb{Z})$ has no nonzero global sections.

6.6. Example. Let $U_1 \subset U_2 \subset \cdots$ be an increasing sequence of open subsets of a space X with union X. Let N be as in II-Exercise 27. Define $\pi: X \to \mathbb{N}$ by $\pi(x) = \min\{n \mid x \in U_n\}$. Then π is continuous (but not, of course, closed) since $\pi^{-1}\{1, \ldots, n\} = U_n$. Then the Leray spectral sequence of π with closed supports is identical to the spectral sequence of 2.11, as the reader may detail.

As an application of the Leray spectral sequence, suppose that $f: X \to Y$ is a map between locally compact Hausdorff spaces. We say that f is a "c-Vietoris map" if $H_c^p(f^{-1}(y); L) = 0$ for p > 0 and any constant coefficients L. We say that f is a "locally c-Vietoris map" if $f|U: U \to Y$ is c-Vietoris for all open $U \subset X$, e.g., f finite-to-one or "discrete-to-one" such as any covering map. [Note that this implies that $\dim_L f^{-1}(y) = 0$.]

6.7. Theorem. If $f : X \to Y$ is a locally c-Vietoris map between locally compact Hausdorff spaces and if \mathscr{L} is a c-fine sheaf on Y, then $f^*\mathscr{L}$ is a c-fine sheaf on X.

Proof. In the Leray spectral sequence

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p_c(Y; \mathscr{H}^q_c(f; f^*\mathscr{L})) \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}_c(X; f^*\mathscr{L})$$

we have that the coefficient sheaf $\mathscr{H}^{q}_{c}(f; f^{*}\mathscr{L})$ has stalks $H^{q}_{c}(f^{-1}(y); \mathscr{L}_{y}) = 0$ for q > 0 by 6.1 and our assumption. Also, $\mathscr{H}^{0}_{c}(f; f^{*}\mathscr{L}) = f_{c}f^{*}\mathscr{L}$ is c-fine by Exercise 8. Hence $H^{n}_{c}(X; f^{*}\mathscr{L}) = 0$ for n > 0, meaning that $f^{*}\mathscr{L}$ is c-acyclic. This applies to the map f|U for $U \subset X$ open, and so $(f^{*}\mathscr{L})|U$ is c-acyclic. Therefore $f^{*}\mathscr{L}$ is c-soft by II-16.1. If \mathscr{L} is a module over a c-soft (hence c-fine) sheaf \mathscr{R} of rings, then $f^{*}\mathscr{L}$ is a module over the c-soft sheaf $f^{*}\mathscr{R}$ of rings, so that $f^{*}\mathscr{L}$ is c-fine.

6.8. We conclude this section with a discussion of the cup product in the Leray spectral sequence. Recall that the Leray spectral sequence of $f: X \to Y \mod A \subset X$ may be identified with the "first" spectral sequence of the double complex

$$F^p_{\Phi}(Y; f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A}^q), \quad ext{where} \quad \mathscr{A}^q = \mathscr{F}^q(X, A; \mathscr{A}).$$

Now, for i = 1, 2 let \mathscr{A}_i be a sheaf on X, Ψ_i a family of supports on X, and Φ_i a family of supports on Y. Let $\mathscr{A}_1^q = \mathscr{F}^q(X; \mathscr{A}_1), \mathscr{A}_2^q = \mathscr{F}^q(X, A; \mathscr{A}_2)$, and $\mathscr{A}_{1,2}^q = \mathscr{F}^q(X, A; \mathscr{A}_1 \otimes \mathscr{A}_2)$. The cup product (25) on page 93 provides a chain map $\mathscr{A}_1^q \otimes \mathscr{A}_2^t \to \mathscr{A}_{1,2}^{q+t}$. Similarly, we obtain the following cup product of double complexes:

$$F_{\Phi_{1}}^{p}(Y; f_{\Psi_{1}}\mathscr{A}_{1}^{q}) \otimes F_{\Phi_{2}}^{s}(Y; f_{\Psi_{2}}\mathscr{A}_{2}^{t}) \xrightarrow{(-1)^{s_{0}}} F_{\Phi_{1} \cap \Phi_{2}}^{p+s}(Y; f_{\Psi_{1}}(\mathscr{A}_{1}^{q}) \otimes f_{\Psi_{2}}(\mathscr{A}_{2}^{t})) \\ \longrightarrow F_{\Phi_{1} \cap \Phi_{2}}^{p+s}(Y; f_{\Psi_{1} \cap \Psi_{2}}(\mathscr{A}_{1}^{q} \otimes \mathscr{A}_{2}^{t})) \\ \longrightarrow F_{\Phi_{1} \cap \Phi_{2}}^{p+s}(Y; f_{\Psi_{1} \cap \Psi_{2}}\mathscr{A}_{1,2}^{q+t})$$

(see 4.7). This induces the cup product of the corresponding spectral sequences

$$\cup: {}^{1}E^{p,q}_{r} \otimes {}^{2}E^{s,t}_{r} \to {}^{1,2}E^{p+s,q+t}_{r}$$

with the usual properties. On the E_2 terms this coincides with the composition

$$\begin{split} H^p_{\Phi_1}(Y; \mathscr{H}^q_{\Psi_1}(f; \mathscr{A}_1)) \otimes H^s_{\Phi_2}(Y; \mathscr{H}^t_{\Psi_2}(f, f|A; \mathscr{A}_1)) \\ \xrightarrow{(-1)^{sq} \cup} H^{p+s}_{\Phi_1 \cap \Phi_2}(Y; \mathscr{H}^q_{\Psi_1}(f; \mathscr{A}_1) \otimes \mathscr{H}^t_{\Psi_2}(f, f|A; \mathscr{A}_2)) \\ \xrightarrow{} H^{p+s}_{\Phi_1 \cap \Phi_2}(Y; \mathscr{H}^{q+t}_{\Psi_1 \cap \Psi_2}(f, f|A; \mathscr{A}_1 \otimes \mathscr{A}_2)), \end{split}$$

and on E_{∞} it is compatible with the cup product

$$\cup: H^n_{\Phi_1(\Psi_1)}(X; \mathscr{A}_1) \otimes H^m_{\Phi_2(\Psi_2)}(X, A; \mathscr{A}_2) \to H^{n+m}_{\Theta}(X, A; \mathscr{A}_1 \otimes \mathscr{A}_2)$$

on the "total" cohomology, where $\Theta = \Phi_1(\Psi_1) \cap \Phi_2(\Psi_2) = (\Phi_1 \cap \Phi_2)(\Psi_1 \cap \Psi_2)$. [To see this, consider the *second* spectral sequence of the double complex $F^p_{\Phi}(Y; f_{\Psi} \mathcal{A}^q)$.]

The differential d_r satisfies the identity

$$d_r(\alpha \cup \beta) = d_r \alpha \cup \beta + (-1)^{p+q} \alpha \cup d_r \beta,$$

where $\alpha \in {}^{1}E_{r}^{p,q}$ (see Appendix A).

6.9. Let us specialize to the case in which $f: X \to Y$ is Ψ -closed and each $f^{-1}(y)$ is Ψ -taut and Φ is paracompactifying on X. Also assume that the Leray sheaf $\mathscr{H}_{\Psi}^{*}(f;L)$ is constant with stalks $H_{\Psi}^{*}(F;L)$, where L is some base ring with unit. There are the canonical homomorphisms $H_{\Psi}^{q}(F) \to H_{\Phi}^{0}(Y; H_{\Psi}^{q}(F))$ (the constant sections) and $H_{\Phi}^{p}(Y;L) \to H_{\Phi}^{p}(Y;\mathscr{H}^{0}(f))$ induced by the canonical homomorphism $L \to \mathscr{H}^{0}(f)$, which is often an isomorphism [e.g., when Y is locally connected and the $f^{-1}(y)$ are connected; but we need not assume this or even that $\mathscr{H}^{0}(f)$ is constant or that it has stalks $H^{0}(f^{-1}(y))$]. Thus we have the maps (coefficients in L)

$$H^p_{\Phi}(Y) \otimes_L H^q_{\Psi}(F) \to H^p_{\Phi}(Y; \mathscr{H}^0(f)) \otimes_L H^0(Y; H^q_{\Psi}(F)) \xrightarrow{\cup} H^p_{\Phi}(Y; H^q_{\Psi}(F)) = E_2^{p,q},$$

and the preceding remarks imply that this is an *algebra* homomorphism with the usual cup product

$$(a \otimes b) \cup (c \otimes d) = (-1)^{\deg(b) \deg(c)} (a \cup c) \otimes (b \cup d)$$

on $H^p_{\Phi}(Y;L) \otimes_L H^q_{\Psi}(F;L)$. [The cup product on $H^q_{\Psi}(F;L)$ is that of the stalk $H^q_{\Psi}(f^{-1}(y);L)$. We are assuming that this is independent of $y \in Y$. The reader should show that this is always the case if Y is connected.] In particular, if L is a field and $\Phi = c = \Psi$ on locally compact Hausdorff spaces, then

$$H^p_c(Y;L) \otimes_L H^q_c(F;L) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^p_c(Y;H^q_c(F;L)) = E_2^{p,q}$$

is an isomorphism of algebras. More generally, this holds when L is a principal ideal domain and $H^q_c(F; L)$ is torsion-free over L.

7 Fiber bundles

Clearly it is important to understand the Leray sheaf in particular cases. We begin by looking at the case of a projection in a product space:

7.1. Theorem. Let $f: Y \times F \to Y$ be the projection. Let Θ be a family of supports on F and put $\Psi = Y \times \Theta$. Let \mathcal{B} be a sheaf on F and put $\mathcal{A} = Y \times \mathcal{B}$. Let $H^n_{\Theta}(F; \mathcal{B})$ denote the constant sheaf on Y with stalks $H^n_{\Theta}(F; \mathcal{B})$. Then there is a canonical monomorphism

$$\pi^*: H^n_{\Theta}(F;\mathscr{B}) \rightarrowtail \mathscr{H}^n_{\Psi}(f;\mathscr{A}).$$

Moreover, if the map r_y^* of 4.2 is an isomorphism for all $y \in Y$, then π^* is an isomorphism.

Proof. Let $\pi: Y \times F \to F$ be the projection. Then for open sets $U \subset Y$, $\pi: U^{\bullet} = U \times F \to F$ induces the homomorphism $\pi^*: H^n_{\Theta}(F; \mathscr{B}) \to H^n_{\Psi \cap U^{\bullet}}(U^{\bullet}; \mathscr{A})$, which is a homomorphism of presheaves, the source being regarded as the constant presheaf. This then induces a homomorphism of the generated sheaves as required. On the stalks at $y \in Y$ this is a homomorphism

$$\pi_y^*: H^n_{\Theta}(F; \mathscr{B}) \to \varinjlim_{y \in U} H^n_{\Psi \cap U^{\bullet}}(U^{\bullet}; \mathscr{A}),$$

and it is clear that $r_y^* \circ \pi_y^* = 1$. Thus π^* is a monomorphism, as claimed. Moreover, if r_y^* is an isomorphism, then $\pi_y^* = (r_y^*)^{-1}$, so that π^* is an isomorphism if this holds for all $y \in Y$.

Note that the condition that the r_y^* be isomorphisms holds for fiberwise compact supports on locally compact Hausdorff spaces. More generally:

7.2. Theorem. Let Y be an arbitrary space and let F be a locally compact Hausdorff space. Let \mathscr{A} be any sheaf on $Y \times F$ and let $\pi: Y \times F \to Y$ be the projection. Then for any point $y \in Y$, the homomorphism

$$r_y^*: \mathscr{H}_{Y \times c}^n(\pi; \mathscr{A})_y \to H_c^n(F; \mathscr{A})$$

of 4.2 is an isomorphism. Thus, for any sheaf \mathcal{B} on F, the Leray sheaf $\mathscr{H}^n_{Y \times c}(\pi; Y \times \mathcal{B})$ is the constant sheaf $H^n_c(F; \mathcal{B})$.

Proof. Since π is $(Y \times c)$ -closed, it suffices, by II-10.6, to show that each $\pi^{-1}(y) = \{y\} \times F$ is $(Y \times c)$ -taut. This is trivial if Y is locally paracompact (see item (d) below II-10.5), but we wish to prove this for completely general Y, not necessarily even Hausdorff.

Thus let \mathscr{F} be a flabby sheaf on $Y \times F$ and let $s \in \Gamma_c(\mathscr{F}|\{y\} \times F)$ with $|s| = \{y\} \times K$. Let $W = Y \times F^+$, where F^+ is the one-point compactification of F. By II-9.8 there is an extension $t \in \Gamma(\mathscr{F}^W|U \times F^+)$ of s, where U

is some neighborhood of y in Y. By cutting U down, we can assume that $|t| \subset U \times K'$ for some compact K' that is a neighborhood of K. Then t extends by 0 to $(U \times F^+) \cup (Y \times (F^+ - K'))$. Restrict this extension to $Y \times F$ and then extend it (using that \mathscr{F} is flabby) to a section $t' \in \mathscr{F}(Y \times F)$ with $|t'| \subset Y \times K' \in Y \times c$. This shows that $\Gamma_{Y \times c}(\mathscr{F}) \to \Gamma_c(\mathscr{F}|\{y\} \times F)$ is surjective. By II-9.22, $\mathscr{F}|\{y\} \times K$ is soft for all compact $K \subset F$. By II-9.3, $\mathscr{F}|\{y\} \times F$ is c-soft. Therefore, by Definition II-10.5, $\{y\} \times F$ is $(Y \times c)$ -taut.

This result has an obvious generalization to (locally trivial) fiber bundles. A "fiber bundle" is a map $f: X \to Y$ such that each point $y \in Y$ has a neighborhood U such that there is a homeomorphism

 $h: U \times F \to f^{-1}(U) = U^{\bullet}$ with fh(u, t) = u for $u \in Y, t \in F$.

Often, h is restricted to belong to a smaller class of "admissible" homeomorphisms forming what is called the *structure group*.

Then let Ψ be a family of supports on X such that for sufficiently small open $U \subset Y$ and any admissible representation of U^{\bullet} as a product $U \times F$, we have that $\Psi \cap U^{\bullet} = U \times \Theta$, where Θ is a given family of supports on F. (For locally compact Hausdorff spaces the families of closed, compact, fiberwise compact, or basewise compact supports all are examples.)

Suppose also that \mathscr{A} is a sheaf on X that for any admissible representation $U^{\bullet} \approx U \times F$ has the form $U \times \mathscr{B}$ for a given sheaf \mathscr{B} on F. Then we deduce:

7.3. Corollary. In the preceding situation, assume that each r_y^* is an isomorphism (which is the case, for example, for compact or fiberwise compact supports on locally compact Hausdorff spaces). Then the Leray sheaf $\mathscr{H}^n_{\Psi}(f;\mathscr{A})$ is locally constant with stalks $H^n_{\Theta}(F;\mathscr{B})$. In this case, we usually denote the Leray sheaf by $\mathscr{H}^n_{\Theta}(F;\mathscr{B})$.

Analogous results obviously can be formulated in the relative case of $(X, A) \to Y$, where for any admissible $h: U \times F \xrightarrow{\approx} U^{\bullet}$ we have that $h^{-1}(U^{\bullet} \cap A) = U \times B$ for a given subspace $B \subset F$.

7.4. Example. Consider the solenoid Σ^1 , which is the inverse limit of the covering maps

$$\mathbb{S}^1 \xleftarrow{2}{\longleftarrow} \mathbb{S}^1 \xleftarrow{3}{\longleftarrow} \mathbb{S}^1 \xleftarrow{4}{\longleftarrow} \cdots$$

There is the projection $\pi: \Sigma^1 \to \mathbb{S}^1$ to the first factor. This is a bundle whose fiber F is the inverse limit of the sequence

$$1 \leftarrow \mathbb{Z}_{2!} \leftarrow \mathbb{Z}_{3!} \leftarrow \mathbb{Z}_{4!} \leftarrow \cdots$$

of epimorphisms, which is homeomorphic to the Cantor set. By continuity II-14.6, F has cohomology (integer coefficients) only in dimension zero, where

$$H = H^0(F) = \lim \mathbb{Z}^{n!},$$

which is free abelian on a countably infinite set of generators. (This also follows from II-Exercise 34.) Also by continuity,

$$H^1(\Sigma^1) \approx \mathbb{Q},$$

and of course $H^0(\Sigma^1) \approx \mathbb{Z}$ since Σ^1 is connected. The Leray sheaf $\mathscr{H} = \mathscr{H}^0(\pi)$ is locally constant with stalks H by the preceding results. The Leray spectral sequence degenerates into the isomorphisms $H^0(\Sigma^1) \approx \Gamma(\mathscr{H})$ and $H^1(\Sigma^1) \approx H^1(\mathbb{S}^1; \mathscr{H})$. Since $H^0(\Sigma^1) \approx \mathbb{Z} \not\approx H$, the sheaf \mathscr{H} is not constant (which is also clear from its definition). Of course $\mathscr{H} = \pi \mathbb{Z}$, and so the isomorphism $H^1(\mathbb{S}^1; \mathscr{H}) = H^1(\mathbb{S}^1; \pi \mathbb{Z}) \approx H^1(\Sigma^1)$ is also a consequence of II-11.1; also see 8.21. Let $y \in \mathbb{S}^1$ be given. The exact sequence of the pair (\mathbb{S}^1, y) has the segment

$$0 \to H^0(\mathbb{S}^1; \mathscr{H}) \to H^0(y; H) \to H^1(\mathbb{S}^1, y; \mathscr{H}) \to H^1(\mathbb{S}^1; \mathscr{H}) \to 0,$$

which has the form

$$0 \to \mathbb{Z} \to H \xrightarrow{g} H \to \mathbb{Q} \to 0.$$

It is fairly clear that $g = 1 - \eta$, where $\eta : H \to H$ is the monodromy automorphism. There is the canonical homomorphism

$$\beta: \mathbb{Z} \to \pi \pi^* \mathbb{Z} = \mathscr{H}.$$

On the stalks at y, this is just the inclusion

 $\mathbb{Z} \hookrightarrow H^0(\pi^{-1}(y);\mathbb{Z}) = \{ \text{continuous functions } \pi^{-1}(y) \to \mathbb{Z} \}$

of the set of constant functions into that of continuous functions. Thus the quotient sheaf $\mathscr{G} = \mathscr{H}/\mathbb{Z}$ is torsion-free. (In fact, the stalk of \mathscr{G} at y can be identified with the image of g, and so it is free abelian.) Since $\pi^{\dagger} : H^1(\mathbb{S}^1; \pi\pi^*\mathbb{Z}) \to H^1(\Sigma^1; \pi^*\mathbb{Z})$ is an isomorphism by II-11.1, $\beta^* : H^1(\mathbb{S}^1; \mathbb{Z}) \to H^1(\mathbb{S}^1; \mathscr{H})$ can be identified, by (18) on page 63, with $\pi^* : H^1(\mathbb{S}^1; \mathbb{Z}) \to H^1(\Sigma^1; \mathbb{Z})$, which is the inclusion $\mathbb{Z} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{Q}$. The exact sequence $0 \to \mathbb{Z} \to \mathscr{H} \to \mathscr{G} \to 0$ induces the exact sequence

$$0 \to \Gamma(\mathbb{Z}) \to \Gamma(\mathscr{H}) \to \Gamma(\mathscr{G}) \to H^1(\mathbb{S}^1; \mathbb{Z}) \to H^1(\mathbb{S}^1; \mathscr{H}) \to H^1(\mathbb{S}^1; \mathscr{G}) \to 0,$$

which by the preceding remarks has the form

$$0 \to \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z} \to \Gamma(\mathscr{G}) \to \mathbb{Z} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{Q} \to H^1(\mathbb{S}^1; \mathscr{G}) \to 0,$$

and so $\Gamma(\mathscr{G}) = 0$ (since it is torsion-free) and $H^1(\mathbb{S}^1; \mathscr{G}) \approx \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$.

We wish to find other conditions on the spaces of projections $X \times F \to Y$ and the support families for which the r_y^* are isomorphisms. One useful such result is the following:

7.5. Theorem. Let X be an arbitrary space and let Y be a locally compact Hausdorff space that is clc_L^k , where L is a given base ring that is a principal ideal domain. Let Θ be a family of supports on X and let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf of L-modules on X. Let $\pi: X \times Y \to Y$ be the projection. Then the Leray sheaf $\mathscr{H}_{\Theta \times Y}^n(\pi; \mathscr{A} \times Y)$ of π is the constant sheaf $H_{\Theta}^n(X; \mathscr{A})$ for all n < k, and similarly for $\pi \mod \pi | A \times Y$ for any subspace $A \subset X$.

 \diamond

Proof. Let $y \in Y$ and the integer n < k be fixed once and for all. If K_1 is any compact neighborhood of y in Y, the property clc_L^k implies that there exists a neighborhood $K_2 \subset K_1$ of y such that the restriction $H^q(K_1, y; L) \to H^q(K_2, y; L)$ is trivial for all $q \leq k$. By II-17.3 and II-15.3 it follows that K_2 may be so chosen that

$$H^q(K_1, y; M) \to H^q(K_2, y; M)$$

is trivial for every L-module M and all $q \leq n$. Similarly, choose $K_1 \supset K_2 \supset \cdots \supset K_m$ with the same property at each stage.

Consider the Leray spectral sequence ${}_{i}E_{r}^{p,q}$ of the projection $\eta: X \times K_{i} \to X \mod(X \times \{y\})$ with supports in Θ on X and closed on $X \times K_{i}$ and with coefficients in $\mathscr{A} \times K_{i}$. Thus

$$_{i}E_{2}^{p,q} = H^{p}_{\Theta}(X; \mathscr{H}^{q}(\eta; \eta | X \times \{y\}; \mathscr{A} \times K_{i})) \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}_{\Theta \times K_{i}}(X \times K_{i}, X \times \{y\}; \mathscr{A} \times K_{i}).$$

Since K_i and $\{y\}$ are compact, the stalk at $x \in X$ of the Leray sheaf of η is $H^q(K_i, y; \mathscr{A}_x)$.

The inclusion $K_{i+1} \hookrightarrow K_i$ induces a homomorphism of the spectral sequence ${}_iE_r^{p,q}$ into ${}_{i+1}E_r^{p,q}$, which for r = 2 reduces to the homomorphism attached to the coefficient homomorphism of Leray sheaves; see 4.3. But this coefficient homomorphism is trivial for $q \leq n$ and for all i by the choice of the K_i .

If follows that the homomorphism ${}_{i}E_{\infty}^{p,q} \rightarrow {}_{i+1}E_{\infty}^{p,q}$ is trivial for all $q \leq n$ and all i = 1, 2, ..., m - 1. Now the "total terms" are filtered as follows:

$$H^{n}_{\Theta \times K_{i}}(X \times K_{i}, X \times \{y\}; \mathscr{A} \times K_{i}) = J^{0,n}_{i} \supset J^{1,n-1}_{i} \supset \cdots \supset J^{n,0}_{i} \supset 0,$$

where $J_i^{p,q}/J_i^{p+1,q-1} \approx {}_i E_{\infty}^{p,q}$. This filtration is preserved by $K_{i+1} \hookrightarrow K_i$ and is compatible with the homomorphism ${}_i E_{\infty}^{p,q} \to {}_{i+1} E_{\infty}^{p,q}$ (which is trivial for $q \leq n$). Thus the induced homomorphism from $K_{i+1} \hookrightarrow K_i$ maps $J_i^{p,q}$ into $J_{i+1}^{p+1,q-1}$ for all i and all $q \leq n$. It follows that the restriction map

$$H^n_{\Theta \times K_1}(X \times K_1, X \times \{y\}, \mathscr{A} \times K_1) \to H^n_{\Theta \times K_m}(X \times K_m, X \times \{y\}, \mathscr{A} \times K_m)$$

is trivial for all $m \ge n+2$.

The cohomology sequences of the pairs $(X \times K_i, X \times \{y\})$ show that any element $\alpha \in H^n_{\Theta \times K_1}(X \times K_1; \mathscr{A} \times K_1)$ that restricts to zero in $X \times \{y\}$ must also restrict to zero in $X \times K_m$ for $m \ge n+2$.

Now let $i_y : X \to X \times K$ be the inclusion $x \mapsto (x, y)$ and consider the following commutative diagram:



in which the composition across the top is the identity and $r_y^* = \lim i_y^*$. The vertical map f is an isomorphism in the limit by the definition of the Leray sheaf of π . We have shown that if $\alpha \in H^n_{\Theta \times K}(X \times K; \mathscr{A} \times K)$ and if $i_y^*(\alpha) = 0$, then also $f(\alpha) = 0$. It follows that r_y^* is a monomorphism, and hence it must also be an isomorphism. The theorem now follows from 7.1.

Remark: Theorem 7.5 remains true if we take Y to be locally contractible (i.e., every neighborhood of $y \in Y$ contains a smaller neighborhood of y contracting through it), but not necessarily locally compact. The proof is essentially contained in the last paragraph above, with the preceding spectral sequence argument replaced by a more elementary argument using homotopy invariance in the form of II-11.8.

We shall now use 7.5 to prove a result of the Künneth type.

7.6. Theorem. Let $A \subset X$, where X is any space, and let the base ring L be a principal ideal domain. Let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf of L-modules on X and let Φ be any family of supports on X. Let Y be a locally compact Hausdorff and clc_{1}^{∞} space. Then there is a natural exact sequence

$$\bigoplus_{i+q=n} H^p_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \otimes H^q_c(Y;L) \rightarrowtail H^n_{\Phi \times c}((X,A) \times Y;\mathscr{A} \times Y) \twoheadrightarrow \bigoplus_{p+q=n+1} H^p_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) * H^q_c(Y;L)$$

which splits.¹³

Proof. Let $\pi: X \times Y \to Y$ and $\eta: X \times Y \to X$ be the projections. Let $\mathscr{B}^* = \mathscr{C}^*(Y; L), \ \mathscr{A}^* = \mathscr{C}^*(X, A; \mathscr{A}), \ \text{and} \ \mathscr{L}^* = \mathscr{C}^*(X \times Y, A \times Y; \eta^* \mathscr{A}) \ \text{[or use } \mathscr{F}^*(\bullet; \bullet)\text{]}.$ The η -cohomomorphism $\mathscr{A}^* \to \mathscr{L}^*$ induces a homomorphism

$$\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^{*}) \to \Gamma_{\eta^{-1}(\Phi)}(\mathscr{L}^{*}) \hookrightarrow \Gamma_{cld_{Y}(\Phi \times Y)}(\mathscr{L}^{*}) = \Gamma(\pi_{\Phi \times Y}\mathscr{L}^{*})$$

by 5.2, since $\eta^{-1}(\Phi) = \Phi \times Y \subset (\Phi \times Y)(Y) = cld_Y(\Phi \times Y)$ by 5.4. Thus the cup product on Y induces the following homomorphism of double complexes:

$$\begin{split} K^{p,q} &= \Gamma_c(\mathscr{B}^p) \otimes \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}^q) \\ &\to \Gamma_c(\mathscr{B}^p) \otimes \Gamma(\pi_{\Phi \times Y}\mathscr{L}^q) \\ &\to \Gamma_c(\mathscr{B}^p \otimes \pi_{\Phi \times Y}\mathscr{L}^q) = L^{p,q}. \end{split}$$

The "second" spectral sequence of the double complex $L^{p,q}$ shows that the homology of the total complex L^* of $L^{*,*}$ is isomorphic to

$$H^*(\Gamma_c(L \otimes \pi_{\Phi \times Y} \mathscr{L}^*)) = H^*(\Gamma_{\Phi \times c}(\mathscr{L}^*)) = H^*_{\Phi \times c}((X, A) \times Y; \mathscr{A} \times Y).$$

In the "first" spectral sequences of $K^{*,*}$ and $L^{*,*}$, the homomorphism on the E_1 terms induced by $K^{p,q} \to L^{p,q}$ is

$$\Gamma_{c}(\mathscr{B}^{p})\otimes H^{q}_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\cup} \Gamma_{c}(\mathscr{B}^{p}\otimes \mathscr{H}^{q}_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A})),$$

¹³Also see Exercises 18–19, and V-Exercise 25.

since \mathscr{B}^* is torsion free, where $\mathscr{H}^q_{\Phi}(X, A; \mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{H}^q_{\Phi \times Y}(\pi, \pi | A \times Y; \eta^* \mathscr{A})$ is constant by 7.1. Since \mathscr{B}^* is torsion free and flabby, the universal coefficient theorem II-15.3 in degree zero implies that this homomorphism on the E_1 terms is an isomorphism and hence that the induced homomorphism $H^n(K^*) \to H^n(L^*)$ on the "total" terms is also an isomorphism. The result now follows from the algebraic Künneth theorem applied to the double complex $K^{*,*}$.

7.7. Example. We shall show by example that the condition clc_L^{∞} in 7.6 (and hence in 7.5) is necessary, as is taking c to be the support family on Y. Moreover, the coefficient sheaf on Y cannot generally be taken to be any torsion-free sheaf (even constant).

Let $\mathscr{A} = L = \mathbb{Z}$. Let X be the disjoint union $\bigcup X_n$ where X_n is a connected polyhedron with $H^2(X_n; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}_n$ and the other reduced cohomology groups being zero. Let Y be a compact 1-dimensional space with $H^1(Y; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Q}$ (the rationals), or let Y be a 2-dimensional locally compact *HLC* space that has the singular homology groups $H_1(Y; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Q}$ and $H_2(Y; \mathbb{Z}) = 0$ (so that $H^2(Y; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \text{Ext}(\mathbb{Q}, \mathbb{Z})$, which is a nonzero rational vector space; see V-14.8), or let \mathbb{Q} be the coefficient sheaf on Y.¹⁴ The contentions then follow from the fact that

$$\left(\prod_{n} \mathbb{Z}_{n}\right) \otimes \mathbb{Q} \not\approx \prod_{n} (\mathbb{Z}_{n} \otimes \mathbb{Q}) = 0,$$

since $\prod_n \mathbb{Z}_n$ is not all torsion.

Note, however, that the condition that Y be clc_L^{∞} was used in 7.6 only to ensure that the Leray sheaf of $\pi : X \times Y \to Y$ modulo $A \times Y$ is the constant sheaf $H^*_{\Phi}(X, A; \mathscr{A})$.

7.8. Example. Here is another example, due to E. G. Skljarenko, showing that the clc_L^k assumption in 7.5 is needed. It is an instructive example about the Leray sheaf. For n = 1, 2, ..., let Y_n be the union of the circles in the upper half plane tangent to the x-axis at the origin and of radii 1/k for integers $k \ge n$. Put $Y = Y_1$ and let $y_0 \in Y$ be the origin. Let X be the same as Y but with the weak topology, making X a CW-complex. Let $\pi : X \times Y \to Y$ be the projection. Throughout the example, coefficients will be taken in the integers \mathbb{Z} and will be suppressed from the notation. We wish to study the Leray sheaf $\mathscr{H}^2(\pi)$. Since Y is locally contractible, and hence clc, near all points except y_0 , it is clear that $\mathscr{H}^2(\pi)$ is zero at all points other than y_0 . We claim that it is not zero at y_0 . From continuity, II-10.7, it is clear that

$$H^1(Y_n) \approx \bigoplus_{i=n}^{\infty} \mathbb{Z},$$

and if a_n, a_{n+1}, \dots is the obvious basis, the restriction $H^1(Y_n) \to H^1(Y_{n+1})$ is the map that kills a_n and retains the others.

¹⁴The construction of such spaces is left to the reader.

§7. Fiber bundles

Since Y_n is compact, the Leray sheaf of the projection $\eta: X \times Y_n \to X$ is constant with stalks $H^*(Y_n)$ by 7.2, and so the Leray spectral sequence of η has

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p(X; H^q(Y_n)) \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}(X \times Y_n),$$

which vanishes for p > 1 or q > 1. Thus $H^2(X \times Y_n) \approx H^1(X; H^1(Y_n))$. Since X is locally contractible, we have

$$H^1(X; H^1(Y_n)) \approx {}_{\Delta}H^1(X; H^1(Y_n)) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(H_1(X), H^1(Y_n)),$$

where the homology group is ordinary singular homology. Since X is a CW-complex with one 0-cell and countably many 1-cells, we have $H_1(X) = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\infty} \mathbb{Z}$. Thus

$$H^2(X \times Y_n) \approx \operatorname{Hom}\left(\bigoplus_{i=1}^{\infty} \mathbb{Z}, \bigoplus_{j=n}^{\infty} \mathbb{Z}\right),$$

where the restriction to $H^2(X \times Y_{n+1})$ is induced by the map killing the basis element a_n in the second argument. Let b_1, b_2, \ldots be the obvious basis of the first argument. Let $f: \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\infty} \mathbb{Z} \to \bigoplus_{j=n}^{\infty} \mathbb{Z}$ be defined by $f(b_i) = a_i$, this being regarded as zero if i < n. Then f survives in the direct limit over n, and so it defines a nonzero element of $\mathscr{H}^2(\pi)_{y_0} = \varinjlim H^2(X \times Y_n)$, as claimed. \diamondsuit

7.9. We shall now deal with the important special case of vector bundles at some length. Note that

$$H^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n},\mathbb{R}^{n}-\{0\};L)\approx\begin{cases} L, & p=n,\\ 0, & p\neq n. \end{cases}$$

We shall take the base ring L to be a principal ideal domain. Note that comparison with \mathbb{Z} using the universal coefficient theorem gives a preferred generator of $H^n(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n - \{0\}; L)$ well-defined up to sign.

Let ξ be an *n*-plane bundle over the arbitrary space Y, and let U be the total space of ξ . We shall identify Y with the zero section of ξ , and we put $U^{\circ} = U - Y$.

Let $\pi: U \to Y$ be the projection in ξ and let $\pi^{\circ} = \pi | U^{\circ}$. Let $\pi^{-1}(V) \approx V \times F$ be an admissible representation as a product of the restriction of ξ to some open set $V \subset Y$, where $F = \mathbb{R}^n$. Let D be the unit disk in F and ∂D its boundary. By homotopy invariance we have that over V, $\mathscr{H}^*(\pi; L) \approx \mathscr{H}^*(\pi|V \times D; L)$ and $\mathscr{H}^*(\pi, \pi^{\circ}; L) \approx \mathscr{H}^*(\pi|V \times D, \pi|V \times \partial D; L)$. It follows from 4.2 and 7.1 that globally, $\mathscr{H}^q(\pi; L)$ is the *constant* sheaf

$$\mathscr{H}^{q}(\pi;L) = \mathscr{H}^{q}(F;L) = \begin{cases} L, & q = 0, \\ 0, & q \neq 0 \end{cases}$$

and that $\mathscr{H}^q(\pi, \pi^\circ; L)$ is the *locally constant* sheaf $\mathscr{H}^q(F, F^\circ; L)$ (where $F^\circ = F - \{0\}$) with stalks

$$H^{q}(F, F^{\circ}; L) = \begin{cases} L, & q = n, \\ 0, & q \neq n, \end{cases}$$

and this, for q = n, has a generator well defined up to sign. [We remark that $\mathscr{H}^q(\pi, \pi^\circ; L) \approx \mathscr{H}^q_{\Psi}(\pi; L)$, where Ψ is the family of subsets of U that are "closed in the associated *n*-sphere bundle" (obtained by compactifying the fibers). For Y locally compact, Ψ consists of the fiberwise compact sets. However, Y would have to be assumed to be paracompact in the discussion below if we used this approach in place of the relative one.]

Let $\mathscr{O} = \mathscr{H}^n(F, F^\circ; L)$, the orientation sheaf, which is locally constant with stalks isomorphic to L. Each stalk \mathscr{O}_y has a generator ε_y well-defined up to sign. Thus $\mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{H}^n(F, F^\circ; L) = \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{O}$ is constant and has a canonical section given by $\varepsilon_y \otimes \varepsilon_y = -\varepsilon_y \otimes -\varepsilon_y$ in the fiber at $y \in Y$. Let this canonical section be $\sigma \in H^0(Y; \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{H}^n(F, F^\circ; L))$. Alternatively stated, there is a *canonical* isomorphism

$$\mathscr{O}\otimes\mathscr{H}^n(F,F^\circ;L)=\mathscr{O}\otimes\mathscr{O}\approx L.$$

Let \mathscr{B} be any sheaf on Y. Again, a usage of homotopy invariance II-11.8 together with 4.6 and (17) on page 214 ensures that the canonical maps

$$\mathscr{H}^{q}(\pi; L) \otimes \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{H}^{q}(\pi; \pi^{*}\mathscr{B})$$

and

$$\mathscr{H}^{q}(\pi, \pi^{\circ}; L) \otimes \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{H}^{q}(\pi, \pi^{\circ}; \pi^{*}\mathscr{B})$$

of (21) on page 215 are isomorphisms. Thus we have

$$\mathscr{H}^{q}(\pi;\pi^{*}\mathscr{B}) \approx \begin{cases} \mathscr{B}, & q=0, \\ 0, & q \neq 0 \end{cases}$$

and

$$\mathscr{H}^q(\pi,\pi^{\mathrm{o}};\pi^*\mathscr{B})pprox \left\{egin{array}{cc} \mathscr{O}\otimes\mathscr{B}, & q=n,\ 0, & q
eq n. \end{array}
ight.$$

Substitution of $\mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{B}$ for \mathscr{B} gives

$$\mathscr{O}\otimes\mathscr{H}^q(\pi,\pi^{\circ};\pi^*\mathscr{B})\approx\mathscr{H}^q(\pi,\pi^{\circ};\pi^*(\mathscr{O}\otimes\mathscr{B}))\approx\left\{\begin{array}{ll}\mathscr{B},&q=n,\\0,&q\neq n.\end{array}\right.$$

Now let Φ be any family of supports on Y and let $\Theta = \pi^{-1}(\Phi)$. Consider the Leray spectral sequences 'E, "E, and "E with

$${}^{\prime}E_{2}^{p,q} = H^{p}(Y; \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{H}^{q}(F, F^{\circ}; L)) \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}(U, U^{\circ}; \pi^{*}\mathscr{O})$$

[since $\mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{H}^q(F, F^\circ; L) \approx \mathscr{H}^q(\pi, \pi^\circ; \pi^* \mathscr{O})$ canonically as noted above],

$${}^{\prime\prime}E_2^{p,q}=H^p_\Phi(Y;\mathscr{H}^q(\pi;\pi^*\mathscr{B}))\Longrightarrow H^{p+q}_\Theta(U;\pi^*\mathscr{B}),$$

 and

$${}^{'''}E_2^{p,q} = H^p_{\Phi}(Y; \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{H}^q(\pi, \pi^\circ; \pi^*\mathscr{B})) \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}_{\Theta}(U, U^\circ; \pi^*(\mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{B})).$$

Since these spectral sequences have only one nontrivial fiber degree, they provide the canonical isomorphisms

$$\begin{split} H^p(Y;L) &\approx H^p(Y;\mathscr{O}\otimes\mathscr{H}^n(F,F^\circ;L)) \approx H^{p+n}(U,U^\circ;\pi^*\mathscr{O}), \\ H^p_\Phi(Y;\mathscr{B}) &\approx H^p_\Theta(U;\pi^*\mathscr{B}) \quad \text{via } \pi^* \end{split}$$

by 6.3, and, using that $\mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{B} \approx \mathscr{B}$ canonically,

$$H^p_{\Phi}(Y;\mathscr{B}) \approx H^{p+n}_{\Theta}(U, U^{\circ}; \pi^*(\mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{B})),$$

respectively. We have the cup product from 6.8:

$$\cup: 'E_r^{p,q} \otimes ''E_r^{s,t} \to '''E_r^{p+s,q+t}.$$

The homomorphism $''E_2^{p,0}\to '''E_2^{p,n}$ defined by $\alpha\mapsto\sigma\cup\alpha$ is $(-1)^{pn}$ times the map

$$H^p_{\Phi}(Y; \mathscr{H}^0(\pi; \pi^*\mathscr{B})) \to H^p_{\Phi}(Y; \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{H}^n(\pi, \pi^\circ; \pi^*\mathscr{B}))$$

induced by the coefficient homomorphism

$$\sigma \cup (\bullet) : \mathscr{H}^{0}(\pi; \pi^{*}\mathscr{B}) \to \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{H}^{n}(\pi, \pi^{\circ}; \pi^{*}\mathscr{B})$$

[from $\mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{H}^n(\pi, \pi^\circ; L) \otimes \mathscr{H}^0(\pi; \pi^*\mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{\cup} \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{H}^n(\pi, \pi^\circ; \pi^*\mathscr{B})$]. On the typical stalk at $y \in Y$ this is equivalent to the isomorphism

$$\sigma(y) \cup (\bullet) : H^0(F;L) \otimes \mathscr{B}_y \xrightarrow{\approx} H^n(F,F^\circ;L) \otimes \mathscr{B}_y.$$

Thus the map

$$\sigma \cup (\bullet) : "E_r^{p,0} \to "E_r^{p,n}$$

is an isomorphism for r = 2, and hence for any $2 \leq r \leq \infty$ and for the "total" terms. That is, σ defines an element $\tau \in H^n(U, U^\circ; \pi^* \mathscr{O}) \approx ' E^{0,n}_{\infty}$, and the map

$$\tau \cup (\bullet) : H^p_{\Theta}(U; \pi^*\mathscr{B}) \to H^{p+n}_{\Theta}(U, U^{\circ}; \pi^*(\mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{B}))$$

is an isomorphism.

As remarked above, $\pi^*: H^p_{\Phi}(Y; \mathscr{B}) \to H^p_{\Theta}(U; \pi^*\mathscr{B})$ is also an isomorphism, and hence the map

$$\tau \cup \pi^*(\bullet) : H^p_{\Phi}(Y; \mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^{p+n}_{\Theta}(U, U^\circ; \pi^*(\mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{B}))$$
(22)

is an isomorphism. It is called the *Thom isomorphism*, and the class $\tau \in H^n(U, U^\circ; \pi^* \mathscr{O})$ is called the *Thom class* of ξ . [More precisely, if the bundle

is orientable, then there is an isomorphism, by definition, $\mathscr{O} \approx L$ well defined only up to sign in each fiber. An orientation is a choice of such an isomorphism. Given such a choice the element τ produces a class in $H^n(U, U^\circ; L)$, and the latter class is called a Thom class. It depends on a choice of orientation, unlike the class $\tau \in H^n(U, U^\circ; \pi^* \mathscr{O})$.]

Let j^* denote the canonical map $H^*_{\Psi}(U, U^{\circ}) \to H^*_{\Psi}(U)$ for any Ψ and any coefficients. The diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H^{p}(U,U^{\circ};\pi^{*}\mathscr{O})\otimes H^{q}_{\Theta}(U;\pi^{*}\mathscr{B}) & \stackrel{\cup}{\longrightarrow} & H^{p+q}_{\Theta}(U,U^{\circ};\pi^{*}(\mathscr{O}\otimes\mathscr{B})) \\ & & & \downarrow^{j^{*}\otimes 1} & & \downarrow^{j^{*}} \\ H^{p}(U;\pi^{*}\mathscr{O})\otimes H^{q}_{\Theta}(U;\pi^{*}\mathscr{B}) & \stackrel{\cup}{\longrightarrow} & H^{p+q}_{\Theta}(U;\pi^{*}(\mathscr{O}\otimes\mathscr{B})) \end{array}$$

commutes; that is, $j^*(\alpha \cup \beta) = j^*(\alpha) \cup \beta$.

Let $\omega = i^* j^*(\tau) \in H^n(Y; \mathscr{O})$, where $i : Y \hookrightarrow U$ is the inclusion. Then $i^* j^*(\tau \cup \pi^*(\beta)) = i^*(j^*(\tau) \cup \pi^*(\beta)) = \omega \cup i^* \pi^*(\beta) = \omega \cup \beta$. That is, the following diagram commutes:

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
H^{p}_{\Phi}(Y;\mathscr{B}) & \xrightarrow{\omega \cup (\bullet)} & H^{p+n}_{\Phi}(Y;\mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{B}) \\
\approx & \downarrow_{\tau \cup \pi^{*}(\bullet)} & \approx & \downarrow_{\pi^{*}=(i^{*})^{-1} \\
H^{p+n}_{\Theta}(U,U^{\circ};\pi^{*}(\mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{B})) & \xrightarrow{j^{*}} & H^{p+n}_{\Theta}(U;\pi^{*}(\mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{B})).
\end{array}$$
(23)

The class ω is called the *Euler class* of ξ .

If there exists¹⁵ an associated *n*-disk bundle N to ξ , then U and U° may be replaced by N and ∂N . Note that ∂N can then be any (n-1)-sphere bundle on Y, ξ being the associated *n*-plane bundle.

Thus using (23), we see that if $\pi : X \to Y$ is an (n-1)-sphere bundle, then there is the exact *Gysin sequence*:

$$\cdots \to H^{p}_{\Phi}(Y;\mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{\omega \cup (\bullet)} H^{p+n}_{\Phi}(Y;\mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{\pi^{*}} H^{p+n}_{\pi^{-1}(\Phi)}(X;\pi^{*}(\mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{B})) \to H^{p+1}_{\Phi}(Y;\mathscr{B}) \to \cdots$$
 (24)

which results from the exact sequence of the pair (U, U°) and the fact that U° has X as a deformation retract preserving fibers. (This sequence can also be derived directly from the spectral sequence of $\pi : X \to Y$ in a similar manner to the derivation of the Wang sequence in 7.10.) Also, see Section 13.

7.10. Let $\pi: X \to \mathbb{S}^n$ be a bundle projection with fiber F. Let Θ be any family of supports on F invariant under the structure group. By 7.5, the Leray sheaf is locally constant with stalks $H^*_{\Theta}(F; L)$. Thus it is constant for n > 1, and will be *assumed* here to be constant for n = 1. In the Leray spectral sequence of π we have

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p(\mathbb{S}^n; H^q_{\Theta}(F; L)) \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}_{\Psi}(X; L),$$

¹⁵Always when Y is paracompact.

§8. Dimension

where Ψ is as in 7.3. Thus $E_2^{p,q} = \cdots = E_n^{p,q}$ and $E_{n+1}^{p,q} = \cdots = E_{\infty}^{p,q}$. There are also the exact sequences

$$0 \to E_{\infty}^{n,k-n} \to H_{\Psi}^k(X) \to E_{\infty}^{0,k} \to 0,$$

$$0 \to E_{n+1}^{0,k} \to E_n^{0,k} \xrightarrow{d_n} d_n(E_n^{0,k}) \to 0,$$

and

$$0 \to d_n(E_n^{0,k}) \to E_n^{n,k-n+1} \to E_{n+1}^{n,k-n+1} \to 0.$$

Putting these together, we obtain the exact sequence

$$\cdots \to H^k_{\Psi}(X) \to E_2^{0,k} \xrightarrow{d_n} E_2^{n,k-n+1} \to H^{k+1}_{\Psi}(X) \to \cdots$$

and hence the exact Wang sequence

$$\cdots \to H^k_{\Psi}(X) \xrightarrow{i^*} H^k_{\Theta}(F) \xrightarrow{\Delta} H^{k-n+1}_{\Theta}(X) \to H^{k+1}_{\Psi}(X) \to \cdots$$
 (25)

where $i: F \hookrightarrow X$ is the inclusion. The map Δ results from

$$H^0(\mathbb{S}^n; H^k_{\Theta}(F)) = E_n^{0,k} \xrightarrow{d_n} E_n^{n,k-n+1} = H^n(\mathbb{S}^n; H^{k-n+1}_{\Theta}(F)).$$

If Θ_1 and Θ_2 are two such support families on F and if we consider the cup product $H^k_{\Theta_1}(F) \otimes H^s_{\Theta_2}(F) \to H^{k+s}_{\Theta_1 \cap \Theta_2}(F)$, then it follows from the general results in Appendix A that the maps Δ satisfy the relation

$$\Delta(\alpha \cup \beta) = \Delta \alpha \cup \beta + (-1)^{k(n-1)} \alpha \cup \Delta \beta,$$
(26)

where $\alpha \in H^k_{\Theta_1}(F)$ and $\beta \in H^s_{\Theta_2}(F)$.

8 Dimension

In this section we apply the Leray spectral sequence and other results of this chapter to the theory of cohomological dimension. As before, for a map $f: X \to Y$ and $B \subset Y$, we use the shorthand notation $B^{\bullet} = f^{-1}(B)$.

If Φ is a paracompactifying family of supports on Y and $A \subset Y$, we define the *relative dimension* of A in Y to be

$$\underline{\dim}_{\Phi,L}^{Y}A = \sup\{\dim_{L} K \mid K \subset A, \, \emptyset \neq K \in \Phi\}.$$

Note that $\underline{\dim}_{\Phi,L}^{Y} \varnothing = -\infty$. Also note that $\underline{\dim}_{\Phi,L}^{Y} A \leq \underline{\dim}_{\Phi,L} A$ by II-16.9. This inequality may be strict as in the case for which $Y = \mathbb{R}^2$, $\Psi = cld$, and A is the Knaster explosion set less the explosion point, since a subset K of A that is closed in Y is compact and totally disconnected, whence $\underline{\dim}_{L} K = 0$, while $\underline{\dim}_{L} A = 1$.

Note that if A is locally closed in Y and Φ is paracompactifying on Y, then $\Phi|A$ is paracompactifying on A, and so $\underline{\dim}_{\Phi,L}^{Y}A = \underline{\dim}_{\Phi|A,L}A$ in this case by II-16.7.

8.1. Lemma. Let Φ be paracompactifying on Y. If $A \subset Y$ and \mathscr{A} is a sheaf of L-modules on Y that is concentrated on A, then $H^p_{\Phi}(Y; \mathscr{A}) = 0$ for $p > \underline{\dim}^Y_{\Phi,L}A$.

Proof. By II-14.13 we have that $H^p_{\Phi}(Y;\mathscr{A}) \approx \varinjlim H^p_{\Phi}(Y;\mathscr{P})$, where \mathscr{P} ranges over sheaves concentrated on sets $K \in \Phi | A$. But if \mathscr{P} is concentrated on $K \in \Phi | A$, then $H^p_{\Phi}(Y;\mathscr{P}) = H^p_{\Phi}(Y;\mathscr{P}_K) \approx H^p(K;\mathscr{P}|K) = 0$, by II-10.2 for $p > \dim_L K$, whence for $p > \dim_{\Phi,L} A$.

8.2. Theorem. (E. G. Skljarenko.) Let Ψ and Φ be paracompactifying families of supports on X and Y respectively and let $f : X \to Y$ be a Ψ -closed map. Let L be an arbitrary base ring. Let

$$M_k = \{ y \in Y \mid \dim_{\Psi, L} y^{\bullet} \ge k \}$$

and put $d_k = \underline{\dim}_{\Phi,L}^Y M_k$. Then

$$\dim_{\Phi(\Psi),L} X \le \sup\{k+d_k\} \le \dim_{\Phi,L} Y + \sup_{y \in Y} \dim_{\Psi,L} y^{\bullet}.$$

Proof. Let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X. Then $\mathscr{H}_{\Psi}^{k}(f;\mathscr{A})_{y} \approx H_{\Psi}^{k}(y^{\bullet};\mathscr{A}) = 0$ if $y \notin M_{k}$, so that $\mathscr{H}_{\Psi}^{k}(f;\mathscr{A})$ is concentrated on M_{k} . By 8.1 we have that $H_{\Phi}^{p}(Y; \mathscr{H}_{\Psi}^{k}(f;\mathscr{A})) = 0$ for $p > d_{k}$. Therefore, in the Leray spectral sequence of f we have $E_{2}^{p,q} = 0$ if $p+q > \sup\{k+d_{k}\}$, and so $H_{\Phi(\Psi)}^{n}(X;\mathscr{A}) = 0$ for $n > \sup\{k+d_{k}\}$. The second inequality is obvious. \Box

8.3. Example. Given X there is generally no upper bound for $\dim_L Y$ in the situation of 8.2, as is shown by letting Y be the Hilbert cube, X = Y but with the discrete topology, $f: X \to Y$ the identity, $\Phi = cld$, and Ψ the family of finite subsets of X. Then f is Ψ -closed but not closed. Of course, $\dim_L X = 0$ and $\dim_L Y = \infty$. See, however, 8.12 and its succeeding results. \diamondsuit

When X and Y are both locally compact Hausdorff and $\Psi = c = \Phi$, the conditions of 8.2 are all satisfied and so:

8.4. Corollary. If $f : X \to Y$ is a map of locally compact Hausdorff spaces, then for any base ring L,

$$\dim_L X \le \sup\{k + d_k\} \le \dim_L Y + \sup_{y \in Y} \dim_L y^{\bullet},$$

where $d_k = \sup_K \{\dim K \mid \emptyset \neq K \in c, y \in K \Rightarrow \dim_L y^{\bullet} \ge k\}.$

Now suppose that X is locally compact Hausdorff and that Y is locally paracompact. Since the product of a compact space with a paracompact space is paracompact, $X \times Y$ is locally paracompact, and so dim_L $X \times Y$ makes sense.
8.5. Corollary. If X is locally compact Hausdorff and Y is locally paracompact, then¹⁶

$$\dim_L X \times Y \leq \dim_L X + \dim_L Y$$

for any base ring L. Moreover, if L is a principal ideal domain and there is an open set $U \subset X$ such that $H_c^{\dim X}(U;L)$ has L as a direct summand, then equality holds. In particular, equality always holds when L is a field.

Proof. It follows from the local nature of dimension II-16.8 on locally paracompact spaces that it suffices to consider the case for which X is compact and Y is paracompact. Then 8.2 applies to the projection $X \times Y \rightarrow Y$ with closed supports and immediately yields the desired inequality.

For the second statement, let $n = \dim_L X$ and $m = \dim_L Y$ and recall from II-16.32 that there is an open set $W \subset Y$ with $H^m_{cld|W}(W;L) \neq 0$. Consider the Leray spectral sequence of the projection $\pi_W: U \times W \to W$ with $\Phi = cld_Y|W$ on W and $\Psi = c \times \Phi$ on $U \times W$. This has

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p_{\Phi}(W; \mathscr{H}^q_c(U; L)) \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}_{\Phi(\Psi)}(U \times W; L),$$

and the Leray sheaf $\mathscr{H}^{q}_{c}(U;L)$ on W is constant with stalks $H^{q}_{c}(U;L)$ by 7.2. [The Leray sheaf for $\Psi = c \times W$ as in 7.2 is clearly the same as that for $\Psi = c \times \Phi$ as here.] Therefore $\mathscr{H}^{n}_{c}(U;L)$ has the constant sheaf L as a direct summand, and so $E^{m,n}_{\infty} \approx E^{m,n}_{2} = H^{m}_{\Phi}(W;H^{n}_{c}(U;L)) \neq 0$ since $E^{p,q}_{2} = 0$ for p > m or q > n. It follows that $H^{n+m}_{\Phi(\Psi)}(U \times W;L) \neq 0$ and hence that $\dim_{L} X \times Y \geq n + m$, since $\Phi(\Psi)$ is paracompactifying by 5.5. [It can be seen that $\Phi(\Psi) = cld_{X \times Y}|U \times W$, but that is not needed here.]

8.6. Corollary. If Y is a separable metric space and X is a metric space, then

$$\dim_L X \times Y \le \dim_L X + \operatorname{Ind} Y$$

for any base ring L with unit.

Proof. According to [49, p. 65], Y can be embedded in a compact metric space K with $\operatorname{Ind} K = \operatorname{Ind} Y$. Since $X \times K$ is hereditarily paracompact, we have

$$\dim_L X \times Y \leq \dim_L X \times K \qquad \text{by II-16.8} \\ \leq \dim_L X + \dim_L K \qquad \text{by 8.5} \\ \leq \dim_L X + \operatorname{Ind} K \qquad \text{by II-16.39} \\ = \dim_L X + \operatorname{Ind} Y.$$

¹⁶The inequality is also valid for X locally contractible and $X \times Y$ locally paracompact.

8.7. Example. This example shows that the sets M_k in 8.2 need not be locally closed. Let Y = [0, 1] and let X be the union of Y with the vertical intervals $\{x\} \times [0, 1/q]$, where x ranges over the rational numbers x = p/q in lowest terms. Let $f: X \to Y$ be the projection. Then M_1 is the set of rationals in Y. Both X and Y are compact, whence f is closed. In this example, $d_0 = 0 = d_1$. By 8.2, dim_L X = 1.

8.8. Example. This example shows that the condition that the map f be Ψ -closed is essential to 8.2. Let X be the Knaster explosion set with the explosion point removed; see II-16.22. Let Y be the Cantor set and $f: X \to Y$ the obvious map. The fiber y^{\bullet} is the set of rational points in an interval for some y and the set of irrational points for the other y. Thus $\dim_L y^{\bullet} = 0$ for all y and $\dim_L Y = 0$. Therefore $\sup\{d_k + k\} = 0$, while $\dim_L X = 1$. The map f is open but not closed.

8.9. Theorem. Let Y be paracompact and $X \subsetneq Y$ a dense paracompact proper subspace. Then for a principal ideal domain L we have

$$\dim_L Y \leq \dim_L X + \underline{\dim}_L^Y (Y - X) + 1.$$

Proof. Let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X and let $i: X \hookrightarrow Y$. The Leray spectral sequence of i has

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p(Y; \mathscr{H}^q(i; \mathscr{A})) \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}(X; \mathscr{A}).$$

Now, for $x \in X$ and U ranging over the neighborhoods of x, we have $\mathscr{H}^q(i;\mathscr{A})_x = \varinjlim H^q(U \cap X;\mathscr{A}) = 0$ for q > 0 by II-10.6, since a point is taut. Thus $\mathscr{H}^q(i;\mathscr{A})$ is concentrated on Y - X for q > 0, whence $E_2^{p,q} = 0$ for $p > \dim_L^Y(Y-X)$ and q > 0, by 8.1. Also, $\mathscr{H}^q(i;\mathscr{A}) = 0$ for $q > \dim_L X$ since it is generated by the presheaf $V \cap X \mapsto H^q(\overline{V} \cap X;\mathscr{A}) = 0$ for $q > \dim_L X$, V open in Y. Thus all the terms $E_2^{p,0}$ survive to $E_2^{p,0}$ for $p > \dim_L X + \dim_L^Y(Y-X) + 1$. Consequently, $H^p(Y;i\mathscr{A}) = E_2^{p,0} \approx E_{\infty}^{p,0} = H^p(X;\mathscr{A}) = 0$ for $p > \dim_L X + \dim_L^Y(Y-X) + 1$. Now let $F \subset Y$ be an arbitrary closed subspace, put U = Y - F, and specialize to the case in which $\mathscr{A} = L_U|X$. The canonical homomorphism $L_U \to i(L_U|X)$ is a monomorphism by I-Exercise 18. Let \mathscr{Q} be its cokernel, so that there is the exact sequence

$$0 \to L_U \to i(L_U|X) \to \mathscr{Q} \to 0.$$

Now, $i(L_U|X)|X = L_U|X$ by I-Exercise 2, so that \mathscr{Q} is concentrated on Y - X. Consequently, $H^k(Y; \mathscr{Q}) = 0$ for $k > \underline{\dim}_L^Y(Y - X)$ by 8.1. The cohomology sequence induced by the displayed coefficient sequence has the segment

$$H^{p-1}(Y; \mathscr{Q}) \to H^p(Y; L_U) \to H^p(Y; i(L_U|X)).$$

The two end terms vanish for $p > \dim_L X + \underline{\dim}_L^Y (Y - X) + 1$. Therefore $H^p(Y, F; L) \approx H^p(Y; L_U) = 0$ for $p > \dim_L X + \underline{\dim}_L^Y (Y - X) + 1$, and the result now follows from II-16.33.

8.10. Corollary. If X, Y, and $X \cup Y$ are paracompact, $Y \not\subset X$, and L is a principal ideal domain, then¹⁷

 $\dim_L X \cup Y \le \dim_L X + \underline{\dim}_L^{X \cup Y} (Y - X) + 1 \le \dim_L X + \dim_L Y + 1.$

Proof. If \overline{X} is the closure of X in $X \cup Y$, then

$$\dim_L X \cup Y \leq \max\{\dim_L \overline{X}, \dim_L (Y - \overline{X})\} \\ \leq \max\{\dim_L \overline{X}, \underline{\dim}_L^{\overline{X} \cup Y}(Y - X)\} \\ \leq \max\{\dim_L X + \underline{\dim}_L^{\overline{X}}(\overline{X} - X) + 1, \underline{\dim}_L^{X \cup Y}(Y - X)\} \\ \leq \max\{\dim_L X + \underline{\dim}_L^{X \cup Y}(Y - X) + 1, \underline{\dim}_L^{X \cup Y}(Y - X)\} \\ = \dim_L X + \underline{\dim}_L^{X \cup Y}(Y - X) + 1 \leq \dim_L X + \dim_L Y + 1$$

by II-Exercise 11, II-16.8, and the theorem.¹⁸

This corollary is half of what is called the "decomposition theorem" in the classical dimension theory of metric spaces. That result says that a metric space X has $\operatorname{Ind} X \leq n \Leftrightarrow X$ is the union of n + 1 subspaces A_i with $\operatorname{Ind} A_i \leq 0$. The "decomposition" half of this cannot hold for dim_L in place of Ind because that would imply that dim_L X = Ind X whenever dim_L X < ∞ by II-16.35, and that is generally false even for $L = \mathbb{Z}$ and X compact metric.

8.11. Example. Let X be the closure of the Knaster explosion set K in the plane; see II-16.22. Let A = X - K. Then A is the union of a countable number of sets closed in A and zero-dimensional since each of them is homeomorphic to a totally disconnected subset of an interval (the set of points of irrational height on the ray to a given end point of a complementary interval of the Cantor set, or the set of points of given rational height on all rays to the non-end points). Thus dim_L A = 0 by II-16.40. Also, $\underline{\dim}_{L}^{X} K = 0$ even though dim_L K = 1, since a compact subset C of K is totally disconnected and so has dim_L C = 0. For this example the first inequality in 8.10, for A and K in place of X and Y, reads dim_L $X \leq 0 + 0 + 1$.

We turn now to inequalities of the opposite type to that in 8.2.

8.12. Theorem. Let $f : X \twoheadrightarrow Y$ be a proper closed surjection between locally paracompact spaces such that the Leray sheaf $\mathscr{H}^*(f; L)$ is locally constant with stalks H^* that are finitely generated over the principal ideal domain L. Let $n = \max\{p \mid \operatorname{rank} H^p > 0\}$. Then $\dim_L Y \leq \dim_L X - n$.

¹⁷The case $X \cup Y$ metric and $L = \mathbb{Z}$ of the outside inequality is due to Rubin [71].

¹⁸Note that the proof of the first inequality does not use that Y is paracompact.

Proof. By II-16.8 we may assume that $\mathscr{H}^*(f; L)$ is constant. Since each u^{\bullet} is taut in X and $H^{n}(u^{\bullet}; L)$ is finitely generated, we may also assume that the restriction $H^n(X; L) \to H^n(y^{\bullet}; L)$ is surjective for any given $y \in Y$. By Exercise 5, this restriction is the composition of the edge homomorphism $H^n(X;L) \to E_2^{0,n} = H^0(Y;\mathscr{H}^n(\widehat{f};L)) = \Gamma(\mathscr{H}^n(\widehat{f};L))$ with the map $i_{y}^{*}: \Gamma(\mathscr{H}^{n}(f;L)) \to H^{n}(y^{\bullet};L)$. Let $\beta \in \Gamma(\mathscr{H}^{n}(f;L))$ be in the image of the edge homomorphism and such that $i_{u}^{*}(\beta)$ is a generator of a direct summand isomorphic to L. Since $\mathscr{H}^n(f;L)$ is constant, we can pass to a neighborhood of y over which β is a constant section. Let $0 \neq \alpha \in$ $H^k_{\Phi}(Y;L)$ for any paracompactifying family Φ of supports. The augmentation $L \to \mathscr{H}^0(f; L)$ is to a direct summand, and so it induces a canonical monomorphism $H^k_{\Phi}(Y;L) \rightarrow H^k_{\Phi}(Y;\mathcal{H}^0(f;L))$, whence we may regard α as a class in $E_2^{k,0}(\Phi) = H_{\Phi}^k(Y; \mathscr{H}^0(f; L))$ of the Leray spectral sequence. Also, $\beta \in E_2^{0,n} = H^0(Y; \mathscr{H}^n(f; L)) = \Gamma(\mathscr{H}^n(f; L))$. By the discussion in II-7.4, $\alpha \cup \beta \in E_2^{k,n}(\Phi) = H^k_{\Phi}(Y; \mathscr{H}^n(f; L))$ is the image of α under the map induced by the coefficient homomorphism $L \rightarrow \mathscr{H}^0(f;L) \rightarrow \mathscr{H}^n(f;L)$ given by $1 \mapsto 1 \cdot \beta(y) = \beta(y)$ in the stalks at y. Since the latter is a monomorphism onto a direct summand, we have that $\alpha \cup \beta \neq 0$. Since β is in the image of the edge homomorphism, it is a permanent cocycle. Also, α is automatically a permanent cocycle. It follows that $\alpha \cup \beta$ is a permanent cocycle, since $d_r(\alpha \cup \beta) = d_r \alpha \cup \beta \pm \alpha \cup d_r \beta = 0$.

Now, if L were a field, then n would be the largest degree in which $\mathscr{H}^*(f;L)$ would be nonzero. Then $\alpha \cup \beta$ could not be killed, and so $E_{\infty}^{k,n}(\Phi) \neq 0$, giving $H_{f^{-1}\Phi}^{k+n}(X) \neq 0$, whence $k+n \leq \dim_L X$. It would follow that $H_{\Phi}^k(Y;L) = 0$ for $k > \dim_L X - n$ and any paracompactifying Φ , and so $\dim_L Y \leq \dim_L X - n$ by II-16.33.

In the general case, let p be a prime of L and let $L_p = L/pL$. The appropriate value of n for the field L_p is at least that for L, and so we know that $\dim_{L_p} Y \leq \dim_{L_p} X - n \leq \dim_L X - n$. Let $k > \dim_L X - n$. Then the exact coefficient sequences¹⁹ $0 \to L \xrightarrow{p} L \to L_p \to 0$ show that $H_{\Phi}^k(Y; L)$ is divisible, meaning that given any $0 \neq m \in L$, there is a class $\alpha' \in H_{\Phi}^k(Y; L)$ with $\alpha = m\alpha'$. As with $\alpha, \alpha' \cup \beta$ is a permanent cocycle. Now, for any q > n, $\mathscr{H}^q(f; L)$ is killed by multiplication by some nonzero $m \in L$, and so the same is true of each $E_r^{s,q}$. Therefore, if $\alpha \cup \beta$ survives nonzero to $E_r^{k,n}$ and $E_r^{k-r,n+r-1}$ is killed by m and $\gamma \in E_r^{k-r,n+r-1}$ has $d_r\gamma = \alpha' \cup \beta$, where $m\alpha' = \alpha$, then $0 = d_r(m\gamma) = m\alpha' \cup \beta = \alpha \cup \beta \neq 0$, a contradiction. Thus such an $\alpha' \cup \beta$ survives nonzero to $E_{r+1}^{k,n}$. An inductive argument of this type shows that some element of $E_2^{k,n}$ must survive nonzero to $E_{\infty}^{k,n}$ and so $H_{f-1\Phi}^{k+n}(X; L) \neq 0$, contrary to our assumption that $k+n > \dim_L X$. The result follows as before.

8.13. Corollary. (Dydak and Walsh [37]) Let $f : X \rightarrow Y$ be a proper closed surjection between separable metric spaces. Let L be a principal

¹⁹This is also what shows that $\dim_{L_p} X \leq \dim_L X$.

ideal domain and let H^* be a finitely generated graded L-module such that $H^*(y^{\bullet}; L) \approx H^*$ for all $y \in Y$. Suppose that n is maximal such that rank $H^n > 0$. Then dim_L $Y \leq \dim_L X - n$.

Proof. By 4.14, Y is the union of countably many closed subsets K over which $\mathscr{H}^*(f; L)$ is constant. By 8.12, $\dim_L K \leq \dim_L X - n$, and the result follows from the sum theorem II-16.40.

8.14. Corollary. (Dydak and Walsh [37])²⁰ Let $f: X \twoheadrightarrow Y$ be a proper closed surjection between separable metric spaces. For a given principal ideal domain L, assume that each $H^*(y^{\bullet}; L)$ is finitely generated. Let m be a maximal integer such that there is a sequence²¹ $G_1 \dashv G_2 \dashv \cdots \dashv G_m$ of graded groups $G_i \approx H^*(y^{\bullet}; L)$ for some points $y_i \in Y$. Let n be such that for each $y \in Y$, rank $H^s(y^{\bullet}; L) > 0$ for some $s \ge n$. Then

$$\dim_L Y \le m(\dim_L X - n) + m - 1.$$

Proof. Let Y_i be the set of all points $y \in Y$ such that there exists a chain of maximum length of the form $H^*(y^{\bullet}; L) = G_i \dashv \cdots \dashv G_m$ as in the statement. By 4.14, Y_i is covered by a countable collection of relatively closed sets K such that $\mathscr{H}^*(f; L)|K$ is constant. By 8.13, $\dim_L K \leq \dim_L X - n$. By II-16.40, $\dim_L Y_i \leq \dim_L X - n$. Since $Y = Y_1 \cup \cdots \cup Y_m$, an inductive use of 8.10 gives the desired formula.

Remark: Nowhere in the proofs of 8.12, 8.13, or 8.14 did we use any information, such as the finite generation, about the sheaves $\mathscr{H}^q(f;L)$ for 0 < q < n. Thus all of these results can be sharpened.

Perhaps the item of greatest interest among all of our results in this direction is the following cohomological analogue and strengthening of a well-known fact from classical dimension theory:

8.15. Theorem. Let $f : X \twoheadrightarrow Y$ be a finite-to-one closed map between separable metric spaces. Suppose that $n_1 < \cdots < n_m$ are natural numbers such that each $y \in Y$ has $\#y^{\bullet} = n_i$ for some *i*. Then

 $\dim_L X \le \dim_L Y \le \dim_L X + m - 1$

for any principal ideal domain L^{22} Moreover, if $\dim_L Y = \dim_L X + m - 1$ and if we put $Y_p = \{y \in Y \mid \#y^{\bullet} \ge n_p\}$ and $X_p = f^{-1}(Y_p)$, then $\dim_L X_p = \dim_L X$ and $\dim_L Y_p = \dim_L X + m - p$ for each $1 \le p \le m$.

 $^{^{20}}$ Both the hypotheses and conclusion are slightly weaker in [37].

²¹Here $G \dashv H$ means that G is a graded proper direct summand of H.

²²This also holds for covering dimension because of the classical result implying that $\operatorname{covdim} Y \leq \operatorname{covdim} X + n_m - 1$ and the fact that $\operatorname{covdim} \operatorname{coincides}$ with dim_Z for spaces of finite covering dimension.

Proof. The first inequality follows from 8.2. Put

$$W_p = \{y \in Y \mid \#y^{\bullet} = n_p\}$$
 so that $Y_p = W_p \cup \cdots \cup W_m$.

Then the theorem is the case p = 1 of the formula

$$\dim_L Y_p \le \dim_L X + m - p.$$

The proof of this formula will be by downwards induction on p. Suppose it is true for p > r (a vacuous assumption if r = m) and that $Y = Y_r$. Let $r \leq p \leq m$ and put $k = \dim_L X + m - p$. By 4.14, W_p is covered by a countable number of sets K, closed in Y, such that the constant sheaf L^p on K is a subsheaf of $\mathscr{H}^0(f; L)|K \approx gL$, where $g = f|K^{\bullet}$, with quotient sheaf \mathscr{Q} concentrated on $K \cap Y_{p+1}$. (Note that $\mathscr{Q} = 0$ if p = m.) Let Φ be a paracompactifying family of supports on K. The exact sequence $0 \to L^p \to gL \to \mathscr{Q} \to 0$ of sheaves on K gives the exact sequence

$$H^k_{\Phi}(K;\mathscr{Q}) \to H^{k+1}_{\Phi}(K;L^p) \to H^{k+1}_{\Phi}(K;gL).$$

The term on the right is $H_{\Phi}^{k+1}(K;gL) \approx H_{f^{-1}\Phi}^{k+1}(K^{\bullet};L) = 0$ by II-11.1 and since $k+1 > \dim_L X$. The term on the left is zero since \mathscr{Q} is concentrated on $K \cap Y_{p+1}$, which has dimension at most $\dim_L X + m - (p+1) = k - 1$ by the inductive assumption. Thus $H_{\Phi}^{k+1}(K;L) = 0$ and so $\dim_L K \leq k =$ $\dim_L X + m - p$. (Also, if p < m and $\dim_L Y_{p+1} < k - 1$, we would deduce that $\dim_L K < k$.) Doing this for each $p, r \leq p \leq m$, gives a countable closed covering of Y by sets K with $\dim_L K \leq \dim_L X + m - r$. By the sum theorem II-16.40, $\dim_L Y \leq \dim_L X + m - r$ (with strict inequality if $\dim_L Y_p < k-1$ for any r), completing the induction. If for some <math>p, $\dim_L X_p < \dim_L X$, then we would have that $\dim_L Y_p \leq \dim_L X_p + m - p <$ $\dim_L X + m - p$, whence $\dim_L Y < \dim_L X + m - r$. \Box

It is worthwhile stating some immediate special cases of 8.15. If the n_i form the segment of integers between n and m, then we get:

8.16. Corollary. Let $f : X \twoheadrightarrow Y$ be a finite-to-one closed map between separable metric spaces and let $1 \le n \le m$. Assume that $n \le \#y^{\bullet} \le m$ for all $y \in Y$. Then

 $\dim_L X \leq \dim_L Y \leq \dim_L X + m - n$

for any principal ideal domain L. Moreover, if $\dim_L Y = \dim_L X + m - n$ and if we put $Y_p = \{y \in Y \mid p \leq \#y^{\bullet} \leq m\}$ and $X_p = f^{-1}(Y_p)$, then $\dim_L X_p = \dim_L X$ and $\dim_L Y_p = \dim_L X + m - p$ for each $n \leq p \leq m$.

The cases n = 1 and n = m give the following two corollaries:

8.17. Corollary. If $f : X \twoheadrightarrow Y$ is a closed surjection between separable metric spaces that is at most m-to-1, then $\dim_L Y \leq \dim_L X - m + 1$. \Box

8.18. Corollary. If $f: X \rightarrow Y$ is a closed map between separable metric spaces that is exactly m-to-1, then $\dim_L Y = \dim_L X$.

Remark: Examples exist, for any m, of closed and at most m-to-1 maps $f : X \to Y$ of separable metric spaces for which $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}} Y = \dim_{\mathbb{Z}} X + m - 1$; see, for example, [62, p. 78]. Thus the last part of 8.16 gives that $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}} Y_p = \dim_{\mathbb{Z}} X - m + p$ and $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}} X_p = \dim_{\mathbb{Z}} X$ for all $1 \le p \le m$. This shows that the inequalities in 8.16 are best possible.

Finally, we present Skljarenko's improvement of the Vietoris mapping theorem. Note that 8.2 is an immediate consequence of the following theorem, but the direct proof is just as easy.

8.19. Theorem. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a Ψ -closed map, where Ψ is a family of supports on X, and suppose that each y^{\bullet} is Ψ -taut in X. Let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X and Φ a paracompactifying family of supports on Y. Let

$$S_k = \{ y \in Y \,|\, H^k_{\Psi \cap y^{\bullet}}(y^{\bullet}; \mathscr{A}) \neq 0 \}$$

for k > 0 and put

$$b_k = \underline{\dim}_{\Phi,L}^Y S_k.$$

For a given integer (or ∞) N let

$$n = 1 + \sup\{k + b_k \mid 0 < k < N\}.$$

Then the edge homomorphism

$$f^{\diamond}: H^p_{\Phi}(Y; f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A}) = E_2^{p, 0} \twoheadrightarrow E_{\infty}^{p, 0} \rightarrowtail H^p_{\Phi(\Psi)}(X; \mathscr{A})$$

in the Leray spectral sequence is an isomorphism for n , an epimorphism for <math>p = n, and a monomorphism for p = N.

Proof. As in the proof of 8.2 we have that $E_2^{p,q} = 0$ for $\sup\{k + b_k \mid 0 < k < N\} < p + q < N$, and the result follows immediately. \Box

8.20. Proposition. Let $f : X \rightarrow Y$ be a closed surjection with each y^{\bullet} taut in X. Let \mathcal{B} be a sheaf on Y and Φ a paracompactifying family of supports on Y. Let

$$S_0 = \{y \in Y \mid y^\bullet \text{ is not connected and } \mathcal{B}_y \neq 0\}$$

and

$$b_0 = \underline{\dim}_{\Phi,L}^Y S_0.$$

Then

$$\beta^*: H^p_{\Phi}(Y; \mathscr{B}) \to H^p_{\Phi}(Y; ff^*\mathscr{B})$$

is an isomorphism for $p > 1 + b_0$ and an epimorphism for $p = 1 + b_0$.

Proof. By the proof of II-11.7 it follows that the monomorphism $\beta : \mathscr{B} \to ff^*\mathscr{B}$ is an isomorphism on the complement of S_0 . If \mathscr{C} is the cokernel of β , then \mathscr{C} is concentrated on S_0 , and hence $H^p_{\Phi}(Y; \mathscr{C}) = 0$ for $p > b_0$. Thus the result follows from the cohomology sequence of the coefficient sequence $0 \to \mathscr{B} \to ff^*\mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{C} \to 0$.

8.21. Corollary. (E. G. Skljarenko.) Let $f : X \twoheadrightarrow Y$ be a closed surjection with each y^{\bullet} taut in X. Let \mathcal{B} be a sheaf on Y and Φ a paracompactifying family of supports on Y. Let S_k and b_k , $k \ge 0$, be as in 8.19 (with $\Psi = cld$ and $\mathcal{A} = f^*\mathcal{B}$) and 8.20. For a given integer (or ∞) N let

$$n = 1 + \sup\{k + b_k \,|\, 0 \le k < N\}.$$

Then

$$f^*: H^p_{\Phi}(Y; \mathscr{B}) \to H^p_{f^{-1}\Phi}(X; f^*\mathscr{B})$$

is an isomorphism for n , an epimorphism for <math>p = n, and a monomorphism for p = N.

Proof. Putting $\mathcal{A} = f^* \mathcal{B}$, the result follows from 8.19, 8.20, and the fact that $f^* = f^\circ \circ \beta^*$ when $\Psi = cld$; see 6.3.

9 The spectral sequences of Borel and Cartan

In this section G will denote a compact Lie group (perhaps finite), and X will denote a space upon which G acts as a topological transformation group.²³ We assume that the orbits of G are relatively Hausdorff in X, e.g., X Hausdorff. E_G denotes a compact N-universal G-bundle; that is, for our purposes, E_G is a compact Hausdorff space upon which G acts freely²⁴ and such that $\tilde{H}^p(E_G; L) = 0$ for p < N. An N-universal bundle for G exists for all N and can be taken to be the join of sufficiently many copies of G. Thus we may assume that E_G and $B_G = E_G/G$ are locally contractible (in fact, finite polyhedra). The quotient space B_G is called an N-classifying space for G.

Let G act on the product $X \times E_G$ by the diagonal action, that is, g(x, y) = (g(x), g(y)), and denote by $X_G = X \times_G E_G$ the quotient space of $X \times E_G$ under this action of G.

The projections $X \leftarrow X \times E_G \rightarrow E_G$ are *G*-equivariant, and hence they induce maps

$$X/G \xleftarrow{\eta} X_G \xrightarrow{\pi} B_G.$$

 $^{^{23}}G$ can be any compact group if X is locally compact Hausdorff and if we use compact supports on it throughout.

²⁴That is, for any $y \in E_G$, $g(y) = y \Rightarrow g = e$.

§9. The spectral sequences of Borel and Cartan

For $x \in X$, let $\check{x} = G(x) = \{g(x) \mid g \in G\}$, which is called the *orbit* of x. The *isotropy subgroup* of G at x is defined to be $G_x = \{g \in G \mid g(x) = x\}$. It is easy to see that the natural map $G/G_x \to G(x)$, taking gG_x into g(x), is a homeomorphism, since G is compact. Let f denote the canonical map $X \to X/G$ sending x into its orbit \check{x} , and note that f is a closed map.

The set $\eta^{-1}(\check{x}) = G(x) \times_G E_G \subset X_G$ can be identified with $B_{G_x} = E_G/G_x$ as follows: Map E_G/G_x into $G(x) \times_G E_G$ by taking the orbit $G_x(y), y \in E_G$, into the orbit of (x, y) under the diagonal action. It is immediately verified that this map is continuous and bijective and hence is a homeomorphism since the spaces involved are compact Hausdorff. It is also easily seen that each $\eta^{-1}(\check{x})$ is relatively Hausdorff in X_G and that η is a closed map.

Similarly, since G acts freely on E_G , the fibers of π are homeomorphic to X. It is not difficult to see that π is actually a bundle projection with fiber X and group G. In fact, if $U \subset B_G$ and $h: G \times U \to E_G$ is an admissible homeomorphism (in the sense of Section 7), we see that the composition of the canonical maps

$$X \times U \to X \times_G (G \times U) \xrightarrow{1 \times h} X \times_G E_G = X_G$$
(27)

is an admissible homeomorphism onto $\pi^{-1}(U)$.

Let Φ be a family of supports on X/G and let $\Psi = \eta^{-1}\Phi$ be the corresponding family of supports on X_G . Note that on $X \times U$, as above, $\Psi \cap (X \times U)$ has the form $\Theta \times U$, where $\Theta = f^{-1}\Phi$. (That is, locally in $B_G, \Psi = \Theta \times B_G$.)

Let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X/G, and note that $(\eta^*\mathscr{A})|X = f^*\mathscr{A}$, where X is any fiber of π . Consider the Leray spectral sequence ${}^{'}E_{r}^{p,q}$ of η with coefficients in $\eta^*\mathscr{A}$, with closed supports on X_G , and with Φ -supports on X/G. Then, since $\Phi(cld) = \eta^{-1}\Phi = \Psi$,

$${}^{\prime}E_{2}^{p,q} = H^{p}_{\Phi}(X/G; \mathscr{H}^{q}(\eta; \eta^{*}\mathscr{A})) \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}_{\Psi}(X_{G}; \eta^{*}\mathscr{A}).$$
(28)

Also consider the Leray spectral sequence ${}^{"}E_{r}^{p,q}$ of π with coefficients in $\eta^{*}\mathcal{A}$, with Ψ -supports on X_{G} , and with closed supports on B_{G} . Then

$${}^{\prime\prime}E_2^{p,q} = H^p(B_G; \mathscr{H}^q_{\Psi}(\pi; \eta^*\mathscr{A})) \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}_{\Psi}(X_G; \eta^*\mathscr{A}), \tag{29}$$

since $cld(\Psi) = \Psi(B_G) = \Psi$, because B_G is compact.

We have

$$\mathscr{H}^{q}(\eta;\eta^{*}\mathscr{A})_{\check{x}} \approx H^{q}(B_{G_{x}};\mathscr{A}_{\check{x}}), \tag{30}$$

since η is closed, $\eta^{-1}(\check{x}) \approx B_{G_x}$ is compact and relatively Hausdorff, and $\eta^* \mathscr{A} | \eta^{-1}(\check{x})$ is the constant sheaf with stalk $\mathscr{A}_{\check{x}}$. [Thus the coefficients $\mathscr{A}_{\check{x}}$ on the right side of (30) are *constant*.]

Note that on $\pi^{-1}(U) \approx X \times U$ [as in (27)] $\eta^* \mathscr{A}$ has the form $f^* \mathscr{A} \times U$. This fact, together with the fact that B_G is compact and locally contractible, implies by 7.5 that $\mathscr{H}^q_{\Psi}(\pi; \eta^* \mathscr{A})$ is locally constant with stalks $H^q_\Theta(X;f^*\mathscr{A})$ (and structure group G). Thus, as in Section 7, we use the notation

$$\mathscr{H}^{q}_{\Theta}(X; f^{*}\mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{H}^{q}_{\Psi}(\pi; \eta^{*}\mathscr{A}).$$
(31)

If G is allowed to be any compact group, then this also follows from 7.3 when X is locally compact Hausdorff and the support families Θ and Ψ are c or c restricted to an open set.

9.1. Lemma. Let $V \subset X/G$ be an open set containing $E(\Phi)$; see I-6. Suppose that $G_x = \{e\}$ for all x with $\check{x} \in V$. Then

$$H^*_{\Phi}(X/G; \mathscr{H}^q(\eta; \eta^*\mathscr{A})) = 0$$

for 0 < q < N. [More generally, this is true when $H^q(B_{G_x}; \mathscr{A}_{\check{x}}) = 0$ for 0 < q < N and all $\check{x} \in V$.]

Proof. Since $V \supset E(\Phi)$ it follows directly from the definition of cohomology that $H^*_{\Phi}(X/G; \mathscr{B}) = H^*_{\Phi|V}(V; \mathscr{B})$ for any sheaf \mathscr{B} , since

$$\mathscr{C}^*(X/G;\mathscr{B})|V = \mathscr{C}^*(V;\mathscr{B}).$$

In our situation, the coefficient sheaf vanishes on V, by (30), since $B_{G_x} = E_G$ is *N*-acyclic for $\check{x} \in V$, and the result follows.

Since each fiber B_{G_x} of η is compact and connected, it follows from II-11 that

$$\mathscr{A} \approx \eta \eta^* \mathscr{A} = \mathscr{H}^0(\eta; \eta^* \mathscr{A}).$$

Thus, under the assumptions of 9.1, we see that the first spectral sequence (28) and 6.3 imply that

$$\eta^* : H^n_{\Phi}(X/G; \mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^n_{\Psi}(X_G; \eta^* \mathscr{A}) \quad \text{for} \quad 0 \le n < N.$$
(32)

If $N_1 < N_2$, universal bundles may be so chosen that there is a *canonical G*-equivariant map from the N_1 -universal bundle to the N_2 -universal bundle. This induces a map of spectral sequences that is an isomorphism in total degrees less than N_1 . Thus, it is permissible to pass to a limit on N and think of E_G as being ∞ -universal. With this in mind, the second spectral sequence (29) in the situation of 9.1 yields the following result:

9.2. Theorem. With the notation above, suppose that $H^q(B_{G_x}; \mathscr{A}_{\check{x}}) = 0$ for $\iota : l q > 0$ and all x with \check{x} in some neighborhood of $E(\Phi)$. Then there is a spectral sequence (Borel) with

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p(B_G; \mathscr{H}^q_{\Theta}(X; f^*\mathscr{A})) \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}_{\Phi}(X/G; \mathscr{A}).$$

This also holds for arbitrary compact groups G when X is locally compact Hausdorff and $\Phi = c = \Theta$.

For $G = \mathbb{Z}_p$, p prime, B_G is an infinite lens space (real projective space for p = 2) and so

$$H^k(B_{\mathbb{Z}_p};\mathbb{Z}) pprox \left\{ egin{array}{ll} \mathbb{Z}_p, & ext{for } k>0 ext{ even}, \ 0, & ext{for } k>0 ext{ odd}. \end{array}
ight.$$

Also, for $G = \mathbb{S}^1$, B_G is an infinite complex projective space, so that

$$H^k(B_{\mathbb{S}^1};\mathbb{Z})pprox \left\{egin{array}{cc} \mathbb{Z}, & ext{for } k\geq 0 ext{ even}, \ 0, & ext{for } k>0 ext{ odd}. \end{array}
ight.$$

For a finite group G, the transfer map μ for the covering map $\kappa : E_G \to B_G$ satisfies: $\mu \kappa^* : H^k(B_G; L) \to H^k(E_G; L) \to H^k(B_G; L)$ is multiplication by the order |G| of G. Thus $|G|\gamma = 0$ for all $\gamma \in H^k(B_G; L), k > 0$. In particular,

$$H^{k}(B_{G}; \mathbb{Q}) = 0 \text{ for } G \text{ finite, } k > 0.$$
(33)

9.3. Corollary. Suppose that $\dim_L X = n < \infty$ and that the compact Lie group G acts on X. Assume that $\Theta = f^{-1}\Phi$ is paracompactifying on X. Suppose that $F \subset X$ is closed with G(F) = F. Assume either that $G_x = \{e\}$ for all $x \in X - F$ or that G_x is finite for all $x \in X - F$ and \mathcal{A} is a sheaf of Q-modules. Then the restriction

$$H^k_{\Psi}(X_G;\eta^*\mathscr{A}) \to H^k_{\Psi|F}(F_G;\eta^*\mathscr{A})$$

is an isomorphism for n < k < N.

Proof. Since $\Psi = B_G \times \Theta$ locally in B_G , it follows that Ψ is paracompactifying. If U = X - F, then

$$H^k_{\Psi|U_G}(U_G; \eta^*\mathscr{A}) \approx H^k_{\Phi|(U/G)}(U/G; \mathscr{A}) \text{ for } k < N$$

by 9.2. This is zero for k > n since $\dim_L U/G \le \dim_L X = n$ by II-Exercise 54. Thus the result follows from the cohomology sequence of the pair (X_G, F_G) .

In most cases of interest F is the fixed-point set of G on X. In that case $F_G = F \times B_G$, so that the isomorphism of 9.3 gives a strong connection between the cohomology of X and that of F. The reader will find many applications of this in the references [6], [2], and [15]. We shall be content with the following application of 9.3 and (32).

9.4. Theorem. Let L be a principal ideal domain. Let the circle group G act on a space X with fixed-point set F. Let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf of L-modules on X/G. Assume that either G acts freely on $X - F^{25}$ or $L = \mathbb{Q}$. Let Φ be a family of supports on X/G with $f^{-1}\Phi$ paracompactifying on X and with $\dim_{f^{-1}\Phi,L} X < \infty$.

Then, if $H^p_{f^{-1}\Phi}(X; f^*\mathcal{A}) = 0$ for all $p \neq 0$, we also must have that $H^p_{\Phi|F}(F; \mathcal{A}|F) = 0$, for $p \neq 0$, and that the restriction map $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathcal{A}) \rightarrow \Gamma_{\Phi|F}(\mathcal{A}|F)$ is an isomorphism.

²⁵This type of action on X is called "semi-free."

Proof. Let U = X - F. By (33) we have that $H^p(B_H; \mathbb{Q}) = 0$ for p > 0, where H is any finite group. It follows that $H^p(B_{G_x}; \mathscr{A}_{\check{x}}) = 0$ when p > 0 and $\check{x} \in U/G$. By 9.3 the restriction

$$H^n_{\Psi}(X_G; \eta^* \mathscr{A}) \to H^n_{\Psi|F_G}(F_G; \eta^* \mathscr{A})$$
(34)

is an isomorphism for large n (and larger N). Now $F_G = F \times B_G$ and $\eta^* \mathscr{A} | F_G = \mathscr{A} | F \times B_G$ (where F is regarded as a subspace of X/G). Also, $\Psi | F_G = (\Phi | F) \times B_G$.

Consider the Leray spectral sequence $E_r^{p,q}$ of π . By (29) and (31) we have

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p(B_G; \mathscr{H}^q_{\Theta}(X; f^*\mathscr{A})) \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}_{\Psi}(X_G; \eta^*\mathscr{A}).$$

Since by assumption $H^q_{\Theta}(X; f^*\mathcal{A}) = 0$ for q > 0, the spectral sequence of π degenerates and provides the isomorphism

$$H^n_{\Psi}(X_G;\eta^*\mathscr{A}) pprox H^n(B_G;\mathscr{H}^0_{\Theta}(X;f^*\mathscr{A})).$$

We also have that $H^0_{\Theta}(X; f^*\mathscr{A}) = \Gamma_{\Theta}(f^*\mathscr{A}) = \Gamma_{\Phi}(ff^*\mathscr{A}) = \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A})$ by II-11, since f has compact, connected fibers and since $\Phi(cld) = f^{-1}\Phi = \Theta$. Now, G acts trivially on $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A})$, and it follows that the locally constant sheaf $\mathscr{H}^0_{\Theta}(X; f^*\mathscr{A})$ is actually constant with stalks $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A})$. By the universal coefficient formula,

$$H^n(B_G;\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A})) = H^n(B_G;L)\otimes\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}).$$

There is a natural map of the spectral sequence of $\pi : X_G \to B_G$ into that of $F_G \to B_G$. The differentials of the spectral sequence of the latter map are trivial since $F_G = F \times B_G$. The restriction homomorphism (34) on the total spaces is an isomorphism for large degrees. It follows that the $E_2^{p,q}$ term of the spectral sequence of $F_G \to B_G$ must be zero for p large and q > 0; that is,

$$H^p(B_G; H^q_{\Phi|F}(F; \mathscr{A}|F)) = 0$$

for q > 0 and for p large.²⁶ The universal coefficient formula gives that $H^q_{\Phi|F}(F; \mathscr{A}|F) = 0$ for q > 0. Similarly, for q = 0, we see that we must have an isomorphism

$$H^n(B_G;\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A})) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^n(B_G;\Gamma_{\Phi|F}(\mathscr{A}|F))$$

implying again that $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi|F}(\mathscr{A}|F)$ is an isomorphism.

The reader is invited to prove an analogous result for the cyclic group of prime order. The fact that the circle group is connected was used to show that $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(ff^*\mathscr{A}) = \Gamma_{\Theta}(f^*\mathscr{A})$ is an isomorphism, so that in the analogous case this will have to be assumed.

²⁶Recall that dim $_{L,\Phi|F}F \leq \dim_{L,\Phi}X/G < \infty$.

It should be noted that 9.4 and its generalization to orientable sphere fibrations with singularities also follows easily from the "Smith-Gysin" sequence in Section 13. Moreover, by using the cup product structure (or the $H^*(B_G; L)$ -module structure in the present treatment), one can show that the finite dimensionality assumption can be dropped when X is *locally compact Hausdorff and* $\Phi = c$ (see Exercise 21).

When G is finite, $H^p(B_G; M)$ is denoted by $H^p(G; M)$. (Here M is a G-module and can be regarded as a locally constant sheaf on B_G in a canonical manner: As a topological space it is $E_G \times_G M$, and its map to B_G is the induced projection to $E_G \times_G \{0\} = E_G/G = B_G$.) Thus 9.2 translates to:

9.5. Theorem. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a finite regular²⁷ covering map with group G of deck transformations. Let Φ be a family of supports on Y and put $\Theta = f^{-1}\Phi$. Then for a sheaf \mathscr{A} on Y, there is a spectral sequence (Cartan) with

$$E_2^{p,q}=H^p(G;H^q_\Theta(X;f^*\mathscr{A}))\Longrightarrow H^{p+q}_\Phi(Y;\mathscr{A}),$$

where G operates on the cohomology of X in the canonical manner. \Box

As to applications, we content ourselves with the following well-known result:

9.6. Corollary. If G is a finite group that can act freely on \mathbb{S}^n , then $H^*(G;\mathbb{Z})$ is periodic with period n+1. That is, $H^k(G;\mathbb{Z}) \approx H^{k+n+1}(G;\mathbb{Z})$ for all k > 0.

Proof. Let $X = \mathbb{S}^n$ and Y = X/G. If any element of G reverses orientation on X, then it is easy to see that n is even and $G = \mathbb{Z}_2$. Thus we can assume that G preserves orientation. Now, $H^i(Y;\mathbb{Z}) = 0$ for i > n since $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}} Y = n$. Also, the spectral sequence of 9.5 has $E_2^{p,q} = 0$ for $q \neq 0, n$. It follows that the differential $d_{n+1}: E_2^{k,n} \to E_2^{k+n+1,0}$ must be onto for k = 0 and an isomorphism for k > 0. Thus

$$H^{k}(G;\mathbb{Z}) \approx H^{k}(G;H^{n}(X;\mathbb{Z})) = E_{2}^{k,n} \approx E_{2}^{k+n+1,0} = H^{k+n+1}(G;\mathbb{Z})$$

for k > 0, as claimed.

For much more on this topic see [24].

10 Characteristic classes

In this section we take Y to be any connected space and ξ to be an *n*-plane bundle over Y in either the real orthogonal, complex unitary, or

²⁷Regularity of f means that G is simply transitive on the fibers.

quaternionic symplectic sense. Let d = 1, 2, or 4, respectively, in these three cases, so that nd is the real dimension of ξ . We shall denote by G the multiplicative group of scalars of norm one; that is, G is the real unit (d-1)-sphere.

We shall take the coefficient domain L to be \mathbb{Z}_2 in the real case and \mathbb{Z} in the other two cases. Recall that $H^*(B_G; L) \approx L[t]$, where deg t = d. We shall make the choice of the generator $t \in H^d(B_G; L)$ precise later.

As in 7.9, we let U and F be the total space and fiber of ξ , respectively, and put $U^{\circ} = U - Y$ and $F^{\circ} = F - \{0\}$. The group G operates on U in the canonical way, freely outside the zero section Y. With the notation of Section 9, U_G° is a subspace of U_G . Let $f: U_G \to B_G$ be the projection, as in Section 9, and consider the Leray spectral sequence $E_r^{p,q}$ of $f \mod f|U_G^{\circ}$. By 7.5 the Leray sheaf $\mathscr{H}^q(f, f|U_G^{\circ}; L)$ is the locally constant sheaf $\mathscr{H}^q(U, U^{\circ}; L)$, and we have that

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p(B_G; \mathscr{H}^q(U, U^\circ; L)) \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}(U_G, U_G^\circ; L).$$

By 7.9 we see that $E_r^{p,q} = 0$ for q < nd and moreover, the locally constant sheaf $\mathscr{H}^{nd}(U, U^{\circ}; L)$ with stalks L must actually be *constant*, since $L = \mathbb{Z}_2$ in the real case and since B_G is simply connected in the other two cases. Thus we have the natural isomorphisms

$$H^{nd}(U_G, U_G^{\circ}; L) \approx H^0(B_G; \mathscr{H}^{nd}(U, U^{\circ}; L)) \approx H^{nd}(U, U^{\circ}; L) \approx L.$$

The right-hand side of this equation is generated by the Thom class²⁸ τ , and we shall denote the corresponding generator of $H^{nd}(U_G, U_G^\circ; L)$ by $\tau_G = \tau_G(\xi)$. Then τ_G is the unique class that restricts to the orientation class in $H^{nd}(F, F^\circ; L)$ under the restriction

$$H^{nd}(U_G, U_G^{\circ}; L) \to H^{nd}(U, U^{\circ}L) \to H^{nd}(F, F^{\circ}; L),$$

where $U \hookrightarrow U_G$ is the inclusion of the fiber in the fibration $U_G \to B_G$. Note that $F = \mathbb{R}^{nd}$ has a canonical orientation when d = 2, 4.

The inclusion $r: Y \times B_G = Y_G \hookrightarrow U_G$ induces the homomorphism

$$r^*: H^*(U_G, U_G^{\circ}; L) \to H^*(Y \times B_G; L) \approx H^*(Y; L) \otimes H^*(B_G; L),$$

where we have used 7.6 and the fact that $H^*(B_G; L)$ is torsion-free in the complex and quaternionic cases.

We define the characteristic classes $\chi_i = \chi_i(\xi) \in H^{id}(Y;L)$ by the equation

$$r^*(\tau_G) = \sum_{i=0}^n \chi_i \otimes t^{n-i}.$$
(35)

We also put $\chi = \sum \chi_i \in H^*(Y; L)$.

10.1. Theorem. (Whitney duality.) If ξ_1 and ξ_2 are vector bundles (over the same field) on Y, then $\chi(\xi_1 \oplus \xi_2) = \chi(\xi_1) \cdot \chi(\xi_2)$.

²⁸See 7.9.

§10. Characteristic classes

Proof. Let ξ_i be an n_i -plane bundle and U_i its total space. Then $U_1 \times U_2$ is a bundle over $Y \times Y$ and $\xi_1 \oplus \xi_2$ is, by definition, the restriction of this to the diagonal. We shall denote the total space of $\xi_1 \oplus \xi_2$ by $U_1 \triangle U_2$. Consider the map $(U_1 \triangle U_2) \times E_G \rightarrow U_1 \times E_G \times U_2 \times E_G$ defined by $\langle x, y, z \rangle \mapsto \langle x, z, y, z \rangle$. This induces a map

$$k: (U_1 \triangle U_2)_G \to U_{1,G} \times U_{2,G},$$

and the diagram



commutes. It follows immediately that

$$au_G(\xi_1\oplus\xi_2)=k^*(au_G(\xi_1) imes au_G(\xi_2)),$$

since both sides of this equation restrict to the orientation class of $F_1 \times F_2$.

The diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} Y \times B_G = Y_G & & \stackrel{r}{\longrightarrow} & (U_1 \triangle U_2)_G \\ & & & \downarrow^k \\ Y \times B_G \times Y \times B_G = Y_G \times Y_G & & \stackrel{r_1 \times r_2}{\longrightarrow} & U_{1,G} \times U_{2,G} \end{array}$$

also commutes. Consequently, we compute

$$r^* \tau_G(\xi_1 \oplus \xi_2) = r^* k^* (\tau_G(\xi_1) \times \tau_G(\xi_2)) = \Delta^* (r_1^* \tau_G(\xi_1) \times r_2^* \tau_G(\xi_2))$$

= $r_1^* \tau_G(\xi_1) \cup r_2^* \tau_G(\xi_2).$

This implies, by definition, that

$$\sum_{k} \chi_{k}(\xi_{1} \oplus \xi_{2}) \otimes t^{n_{1}+n_{2}-k} = \left(\sum_{i} \chi_{i}(\xi_{1}) \otimes t^{n_{1}-i}\right) \left(\sum_{j} \chi_{j}(\xi_{2}) \otimes t^{n_{2}-j}\right)$$
$$= \sum_{k} \left(\sum_{i} \chi_{i}(\xi_{1}) \chi_{k-i}(\xi_{2})\right) \otimes t^{n_{1}+n_{2}-k}$$

(since deg t is even or $L = \mathbb{Z}_2$) and the theorem follows.

If $f: X \to Y$ is a map and ξ is a vector bundle on Y, then it is clear that

$$\chi_i(f^*\xi) = f^*(\chi_i(\xi)),$$
(36)

where $f^*\xi$ is the induced bundle on X. That is, the χ_i are natural.

Now consider the exact cohomology sequence of the pair (U_G, U_G°) and note that by (32) we have $H^*(U_G^{\circ}; L) \approx H^*(U^{\circ}/G; L)$. Thus, using the isomorphism $H^p(U_G; L) \approx H^p(Y_G; L)$, we have the exact sequence

$$\cdots \to H^p(U_G, U_G^{\circ}; L) \xrightarrow{r^{\bullet}} H^p(Y_G; L) \to H^p(U^{\circ}/G; L) \to \cdots$$
(37)

Let T be the unit (nd-1)-sphere bundle associated with ξ . Then T/G is a (fiber) deformation retract of U°/G and is the projective space bundle associated with ξ . The exact sequence (37) may be rewritten as

$$\cdots \to H^{p-1}(T/G) \to H^p(U_G, U_G^\circ) \xrightarrow{r^*} H^p(Y_G) \to H^p(T/G) \to \cdots$$
(38)

If Y is a point \star and ξ is a line bundle, we have $T/G \approx Y = \star$ and $Y_G = B_G$, so that the following sequence, resulting from (38), shows that r^* is an isomorphism for p = d:

$$0 \to H^{d-1}(B_G) \to H^{d-1}(\star) \to H^d(U_G, U_G^{\circ}) \xrightarrow{r^{\star}} H^d(B_G) \to 0.$$

Thus, since $r^*(\tau_G) = \chi_0 \otimes t \in H^0(\star) \otimes H^d(B_G)$, χ_0 is a generator of $H^0(\star)$. Since we have not yet made any definite choice of t as a generator of $H^d(B_G)$, we are free to choose t such that $\chi_0 = 1 \in H^0(\star)$. Then, by Whitney duality 10.1 and (36), it follows that

$$\chi_0(\xi)=1\in H^0(Y;L)$$

for any ξ ; for if $f : \star \to Y$, then $f^*(\chi_0(\xi)) = \chi_0(f^*\xi) = 1$. Note that the diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} (Y, \varnothing) & \stackrel{\imath}{\longrightarrow} & (U, U^{\circ}) \\ & & & \downarrow^{g} \\ (Y_{G}, \varnothing) & \stackrel{r}{\longrightarrow} & (U_{G}, U^{\circ}_{G}) \end{array}$$

commutes, so that for an *n*-plane bundle ξ , we have $\chi_n(\xi) = f^*(\sum \chi_i \otimes t^{n-i}) = f^*r^*(\tau_G) = i^*g^*(\tau_G) = i^*(\tau) = \omega(\xi)$, where $\omega(\xi)$ is the Euler class of ξ ; see Section 7. Thus

$$\chi_n(\xi) = \omega(\xi)$$
 for any *n*-plane bundle ξ on *Y*. (39)

From the properties we have proved for the classes $\chi_i(\xi)$ it can be shown that up to a possible sign of $(-1)^i$, $\chi_i(\xi)$ is the *i*th Stiefel-Whitney, Chern, or symplectic Pontryagin class w_i , c_i , or e_i for real, complex, or quaternionic bundles, respectively. [Note that it follows from (39) that $w_n(\xi)$ is the reduction mod two of the *integral* Euler class of the *n*-plane bundle ξ .]

Now let ξ be a complex *n*-plane bundle over Y, and let $\xi_{\mathbb{R}}$ denote the underlying real 2*n*-plane bundle. Let \mathbb{R}^* and \mathbb{C}^* be the sets of real and

complex numbers of norm one, respectively. Since $\mathbb{R}^* \subset \mathbb{C}^*$ we have a natural diagram (taking $E_{\mathbb{R}^*} = E_{\mathbb{C}^*}$)



and it follows that $\rho(\tau_{\mathbb{C}^*}) = \tau_{\mathbb{R}^*}$, where ρ is induced by $U_{\mathbb{R}^*} \to U_{\mathbb{C}^*}$ and by reduction of coefficients modulo two: $\mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z}_2$. The diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H^*(U_{\mathbb{C}^*}, U^{\circ}_{\mathbb{C}^*}; \mathbb{Z}) & \xrightarrow{r^*} & H^*(Y; \mathbb{Z}) \otimes H^*(B_{\mathbb{C}^*}; \mathbb{Z}) \\ & & \downarrow^{\rho} & & \downarrow^{\rho} \\ H^*(U_{\mathbb{R}^*}, U^{\circ}_{\mathbb{R}^*}; \mathbb{Z}_2) & \xrightarrow{r^*} & H^*(Y; \mathbb{Z}_2) \otimes H^*(B_{\mathbb{R}^*}; \mathbb{Z}_2) \end{array}$$

also commutes, where the map $H^*(B_{\mathbb{C}^*};\mathbb{Z}) \to H^*(B_{\mathbb{R}^*};\mathbb{Z}_2)$ is induced by the canonical map $B_{\mathbb{R}^*} = E_{\mathbb{C}^*}/\mathbb{R}^* \to E_{\mathbb{C}^*}/\mathbb{C}^* = B_{\mathbb{C}^*}$ and by reduction mod two. This map is a fiber bundle projection with circle fiber, and it is easily seen that the generator $t_{\mathbb{C}} \in H^2(B_{\mathbb{C}^*};\mathbb{Z})$ must be taken into the nonzero element $t^2_{\mathbb{R}} \in H^2(B_{\mathbb{R}^*};\mathbb{Z}_2)$. Therefore

$$w_{2i+1}(\xi_{\mathbb{R}})=0 \quad ext{and} \quad w_{2i}(\xi_{\mathbb{R}})=
ho(c_i(\xi)).$$

Similarly, if ξ is a quaternionic *n*-plane bundle with underlying complex bundle $\xi_{\mathbb{C}}$, then

$$c_{2i+1}(\xi_{\mathbb{C}})=0 \quad ext{and} \quad c_{2i}(\xi_{\mathbb{C}})=e_i(\xi).$$

We shall now return to our general discussion. Let $\pi_G : U_G \to Y_G$ denote the map induced in the canonical way by the projection $\pi : U \to Y$, and note that $\pi_G r : Y_G \to Y_G$ is the identity. Let $h : Y_G = Y \times B_G \to Y$ be the projection.

Let Φ be any family of supports on Y and put $\Psi = (h\pi_G)^{-1}(\Phi)$ on U_G . Let \mathscr{A} be any sheaf on Y and put $\mathscr{B} = \pi_G^* h^* \mathscr{A}$ on U_G . Note that for $\alpha \in H_{\Phi}^*(Y; \mathscr{A})$, we have

$$h^*(\alpha) = \alpha \otimes 1 \in H^*_{\Phi}(Y; \mathscr{A}) \otimes H^*(B_G) = H^*_{\Psi}(Y_G; \mathscr{B}),$$

using 7.6.

Let ζ be the composition

$$\zeta: H^p_{\Phi}(Y; \mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\pi^*_G h^*} H^p_{\Psi}(U_G; \mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{\tau_G \cup (\bullet)} H^{p+nd}_{\Psi}(U_G, U^\circ_G; \mathscr{B}).$$

Then $r^*(\zeta(\alpha)) = r^*(\tau_G \cup \pi_G^*h^*(\alpha)) = r^*(\tau_G) \cup (\alpha \otimes 1)$, so that the map

$$r^*(\zeta(\bullet)): H^*_{\Phi}(Y; \mathscr{A}) \to H^*_{\Psi}(Y_G; \mathscr{B}) = H^*_{\Phi}(Y; \mathscr{A}) \otimes H^*(B_G)$$

is given by

$$r^*(\zeta(\alpha)) = \sum_{i=0}^n (\chi_i \cup \alpha) \otimes t^{n-i},$$

which generalizes (35). Since $\chi_0 = 1$, the map $r^*(\zeta(\bullet))$ is a monomorphism.

10.2. The definition of characteristic classes that we have given is useful for studying the normal classes of the fixed-point set of a differentiable action of the group G (as above) on a differentiable manifold M. We shall illustrate this in the case of the circle group $G = \mathbb{C}^*$. Let M be (2n + k)-dimensional (real), and let Y be a k-dimensional component of the fixed-point set of some differentiable action of G on M. Assume, for simplicity, that G acts freely on the unit sphere in any normal disk to Y. Then the normal bundle ξ has a canonical complex structure in which the operation by \mathbb{C}^* coincides with the given action of G. Thus, ξ is a complex n-plane bundle. Let $c_i \in H^{2i}(Y; \mathbb{Z})$ be the *i*th Chern class of ξ . Let U be an open tubular neighborhood of Y in M.

Let Φ be a family of supports on M/G with inverse image Θ on M. Let $\Psi = \eta^{-1}(\Phi)$, where $\eta : M_G \to M/G$ is the projection; see Section 9. We shall assume that $\Theta \cap U = \pi^{-1}(\Theta|Y)$, where $\pi : U \to Y$ is the canonical projection of the tubular neighborhood U onto Y. (It follows that $\Psi \cap U_G$ is the same type of support family as that considered in the preceding general discussion.) For example, Φ , and hence Θ and Ψ , could be taken to consist of all compact sets or of all closed sets. By excision, we have the natural isomorphism

$$H^*_{\Psi \cap U_G}(U_G, U^\circ_G) \approx H^*_{\Psi}(M_G, M^\circ_G),$$

where $M^{\circ} = M - Y$. Thus r^* factors as

$$H^*_{\Psi \cap U_G}(U_G, U_G^\circ) \xrightarrow{r^*} H^*_{\Psi \cap Y_G}(Y_G) = H^*_{\Theta}(Y) \otimes H^*(B_G)$$

10.3. Theorem. In the situation of 10.2, suppose that $H^i_{\Theta}(M; \mathbb{Z}) = 0$ for all $i \equiv p \pmod{2}$ with $p + 2(n - j) < i \leq p + 2n$ and let $\alpha \in H^p_{\Theta}(Y)$. Then $c_i \cup \alpha = 0$ for i > n - j, where c_i is the *i*th normal Chern class of Y in M.

Proof. Consider $j^*(\zeta(\alpha)) \in H^{2n+p}_{\Psi}(M_G)$. In the spectral sequence $E_r^{s,t}$ of the map $M_G \to B_G$ with supports in Ψ we have that $E_r^{s,t} = 0$ for all $t \equiv p \pmod{2}$ with $p + 2(n-j) < t \leq p + 2n$. Thus, the complementary degree of $j^*(\zeta(\alpha))$ is at most p + 2(n-j). Since i^* preserves filtration with respect to the spectral sequences of $M_G \to B_G$ and of $Y_G \to B_G$, it follows that $r^*(\zeta(\alpha)) = \sum (c_i \cup \alpha) \otimes t^{n-i}$ has complementary degree at most p + 2(n-j). Thus we must have that $c_i \cup \alpha = 0$ for p + 2i > p + 2(n-j) as claimed.

Taking $\alpha = 1$, we obtain:

10.4. Corollary. If $H^{i}(M) = 0$ for $2(n-j) < i \le 2n$, then $c_{i} = 0$ for i > n-j.

In the real case (Stiefel-Whitney classes of normal bundles to fixed-point sets of involutions) these results are due to Conner and Floyd [28].

We shall illustrate the real case by proving a result of Conner [25]:

10.5. Theorem. Let F be a component of the fixed-point set of a differentiable involution on an m-manifold M, and let Θ be any family of supports on M that is invariant under the involution. Suppose that the restriction $H^i_{\Theta}(M;\mathbb{Z}_2) \to H^i_{\Theta}(F;\mathbb{Z}_2)$ is a monomorphism for all i < r. Then every component $Y \neq F$ of the fixed-point set having some neighborhood in Θ has dimension at most m - r.

Proof. Let Y, as above, have dimension p. Let n = m - p and let ξ be the normal bundle to Y in M. Let U be an open tubular neighborhood of Y in M with closure in Θ . With the notation of 10.2 consider the class $\tau_G \in H^n(U_G, U_G^\circ) = H^n_{\Psi \cap U_G}(U_G, U_G^\circ)$. Let i^* and j^* be as in 10.2 and let $k^* : H^n_{\Psi}(M_G) \to H^n_{\Psi}(F_G)$ be induced

Let i^* and j^* be as in 10.2 and let $k^* : H^n_{\Psi}(M_G) \to H^n_{\Psi}(F_G)$ be induced by the inclusion $k : F_G \hookrightarrow M_G$. Now, $k^*j^* = 0$, but $j^*(\tau_G) \neq 0$ since $i^*j^*(\tau_G) = r^*(\tau_G) = \sum w_i(\xi) \otimes t^{n-i} \neq 0$. Thus $k^* : H^n_{\Psi}(M_G) \to H^n_{\Psi}(F_G)$ is not a monomorphism. However, since the spectral sequence of $F_G \to B_G$ is degenerate, it follows from our hypotheses that

$$k^*: H^i_{\Psi}(M_G) \to H^i_{\Psi}(F_G)$$

is a monomorphism for i < r. Thus $n \ge r$, whence $p = m - n \le m - r$. \Box

11 The spectral sequence of a filtered differential sheaf

Let \mathscr{L}^* be a differential sheaf on the space X, and assume that we are given a filtration $\{F_p\mathscr{L}^*\}$ of \mathscr{L}^* , that is, for each q we have a sequence

$$\cdots \supset F_p \mathscr{L}^q \supset F_{p+1} \mathscr{L}^q \supset \cdots$$

 $(p \in \mathbb{Z})$ of submodules of \mathscr{L}^q with $\mathscr{L}^q = \bigcup_p F_p \mathscr{L}^q$, and such that the differential δ of \mathscr{L}^* maps $F_p \mathscr{L}^q$ into $F_p \mathscr{L}^{q+1}$.

We denote the associated graded sheaf by $\{G_p \mathscr{L}^*\}$, where

$$G_p \mathscr{L}^* = F_p \mathscr{L}^* / F_{p+1} \mathscr{L}^*.$$

The differential δ induces a differential on each $G_p \mathscr{L}^*$, and the associated derived sheaf is denoted by

$$\mathscr{H}^q(G_p\mathscr{L}^*),$$

where q refers to the degree in \mathscr{L}^* . As with filtered differential groups, there is associated with the filtered differential sheaf $F\mathscr{L}^*$ a spectral sequence $\mathscr{E}_r^{p,q}$ of sheaves. (This is of secondary interest to us and is introduced for notational convenience.) Thus, we let

$$\mathcal{J}_r^p = \{ x \in F_p \mathscr{L}^* \, | \, \delta x \in F_{p+r} \mathscr{L}^* \}$$

 and

$$\mathscr{E}_r^p = \mathscr{F}_r^p / (\delta \mathscr{F}_{r-1}^{p-r+1} + \mathscr{F}_{r-1}^{p+1}).$$

We also let $\mathcal{F}_r^{p,q}$ and $\mathscr{E}_r^{p,q}$ be the terms in \mathcal{F}_r^p and \mathscr{E}_r^p respectively of total degree p+q. Then, as with spectral sequences of filtered differential groups, δ induces a differential δ_r on $\mathscr{E}_r^{p,q}$ of degree (r, -r+1), and the resulting derived sheaf is $\mathscr{E}_{r+1}^{p,q}$. We have $\mathscr{E}_0^p = G_p \mathscr{L}^*$ and $\mathscr{E}_1^{p,q} = \mathscr{H}^{p+q}(G_p \mathscr{L}^*)$. In the application we will make of this in the next section, the differentials δ_r will vanish for $r \geq 1$. Note that the stalks $(\mathscr{E}_r^{p,q})_x$, for any $x \in X$, form the spectral sequence of the filtered differential group $F_p(\mathscr{L}_x^*) = (F_p \mathscr{L}^*)_x$.

We now turn to the spectral sequence of primary interest. Consider the double complex $L^{p,q} = \bigcup_t C^p_{\Phi}(X; F_t \mathscr{L}^q)$ with differentials d' and d'' [with d'' induced by $(-1)^p \delta$] and the associated total complex L^* with differential d = d' + d'', as in Section 1.

We shall define a new filtration of L^* and study the resulting spectral sequence. Let

$$F_pL^* = \bigoplus_{s+t=p} C^s_{\Phi}(X; F_t \mathscr{L}^*),$$

where we consider $C^s_{\Phi}(X; F_{t'} \mathscr{L}^*)$ to be a subgroup of $C^s_{\Phi}(X; F_t \mathscr{L}^*)$ for t' > tand hence have that $F_p L^* \supset F_{p+1} L^*$. Both differentials d' and d'' preserve this filtration, and d', in fact, increases the filtration degree by one.

Let $\{E_r^{p,q}\}$ be the spectral sequence of this filtration of L^* . Thus

$$Z_r^p = \{ a \in F_p L^* \, | \, da = (d' + d'')(a) \in F_{p+r} L^* \}$$

and

$$E_r^p = Z_r^p / (dZ_{r-1}^{p-r+1} + Z_{r-1}^{p+1})$$

and as usual, we replace the upper index p by p, q when we refer to homogeneous terms of total degree p + q.

We have

$$E_0^{p,q} = G_p L^{p+q} = \bigoplus_t C_{\Phi}^{p-t}(X; G_t \mathscr{L}^{q+t}).$$

Since d' increases filtration degree, we see that d_0 is induced by d", that is, by δ_0 . We shall continue to use the notation d" for d_0 .

Consequently,

$$E_1^{p,q} = \bigoplus_t C_{\Phi}^{p-t}(X; \mathscr{E}_1^{t,q}) = \bigoplus_t C_{\Phi}^{p-t}(X; \mathscr{H}^{q+t}(G_t \mathscr{L}^*)).$$

§11. The spectral sequence of a filtered differential sheaf

Clearly, any element $a \in C_{\Phi}^{p-t}(X; \mathscr{H}^{q+t}(G_t\mathscr{Q}^*))$ is represented by an element $\alpha \in C_{\Phi}^{p-t}(X; F_t\mathscr{Q}^{q+t})$ with $d''\alpha \in C_{\Phi}^{p-t}(X; F_{t+1}\mathscr{Q}^{q+t+1})$. Now $d'\alpha$ represents the element $d'a \in C_{\Phi}^{p+1-t}(X; \mathscr{H}^{q+t}(G_t\mathscr{Q}^*)) \subset E_1^{p+1,q}$, while $d''\alpha$ represents $(-1)^{p-t}\delta_1^*a \in C_{\Phi}^{p+1-(t+1)}(X; \mathscr{H}^{q+(t+1)}(G_{t+1}\mathscr{Q}^*)) \subset E_1^{p+1,q}$. Thus $d_1 : E_1^{p,q} \to E_1^{p+1,q}$ is given by $d_1 = d' + \varepsilon \delta_1^*$, where ε denotes the sign $(-1)^{p-t}$ above.

We now make the assumption

(A)
$$\delta_1 : \mathscr{E}_1^{t,q} \to \mathscr{E}_1^{t+1,q}$$
 is zero for all t,q .

Under assumption (A), we have

$$E_2^{p,q} = \bigoplus_t H^{p-t}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{E}_2^{t,q}) = \bigoplus_t H^{p-t}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{H}^{q+t}(G_t \mathscr{L}^*))$$

since $\mathscr{E}_{2}^{t,q} = \mathscr{E}_{1}^{t,q} = \mathscr{H}^{q+t}(G_{t}\mathscr{L}^{*}).$

We shall now compute d_2 under assumption (A). Let

$$a \in H^{p-t}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{H}^{q+t}(G_t\mathscr{L}^*)).$$

The class *a* is represented by a *d'*-cocycle in $C_{\Phi}^{p-t}(X; \mathscr{H}^{q+t}(G_t\mathscr{L}^*))$ and hence by an element $b \in C_{\Phi}^{p-t}(X; G_t\mathscr{L}^{q+t})$ with $d''b = 0, 2^9$ and with $d'b \in C_{\Phi}^{p-t+1}(X; \operatorname{Im} \delta_0) = \operatorname{Im} d''$; that is, there is an element

$$c \in C^{p-t+1}_{\Phi}(X; G_t \mathscr{L}^{q+t-1})$$

with d'b = -d''c. Let $\beta \in C^{p-t}_{\Phi}(X; F_t \mathscr{L}^{q+t})$ and $\gamma \in C^{p-t+1}_{\Phi}(X; F_t \mathscr{L}^{q+t-1})$ represent b and c respectively. We have that

$$d'\beta + d''\gamma \in C^{p-t+1}_{\Phi}(X; F_{t+1}\mathscr{L}^{q+t}) \subset F_{p+2}L^*$$

Note that $d''\beta \in C^{p-t}_{\Phi}(X; F_{t+1}\mathscr{L}^{q+t+1})$ represents $\pm \delta_1^* b = 0$ since $\delta_1 = 0$. Thus $d''\beta \in C^{p-t}_{\Phi}(X; F_{t+2}\mathscr{L}^{q+t+1}) \subset F_{p+2}L^*$. Also,

$$d'\gamma \in C^{p-t+2}_{\Phi}(X; F_t \mathscr{L}^{q+t-1}) \subset F_{p+2}L^*.$$

Hence $d(\beta + \gamma) = (d' + d'')(\beta + \gamma) = d'\gamma + (d'\beta + d''\gamma) + d''\beta \in F_{p+2}L^*$, and therefore $\beta + \gamma \in \mathbb{Z}_2^{p,q}$ represents $a \in \mathbb{E}_2^{p,q}$ (since it represents b in $\mathbb{E}_0^{p,q}$). Consequently, $d(\beta + \gamma) = d'\gamma + (d'\beta + d''\gamma) + d''\beta$ represents $d_2a \in \mathbb{E}_2^{p+2,q-1}$.

We now make the further assumption that

(B)
$$\delta_2: \mathscr{E}_2^{t,q} \to \mathscr{E}_2^{t+2,q-1}$$
 is zero for all t,q .

In case (A) and (B) both hold, $d''\beta$ must be in $C_{\Phi}^{p-t}(X; F_{t+3}\mathscr{L}^{q+t+1}) \subset F_{p+3}L^*$, for otherwise δ_2^*b would be nonzero. Thus

$$d(d''\beta) = d'd''\beta \in d'(F_{p+3}L^*) \subset F_{p+4}L^*,$$

²⁹Recall that C^*_{Φ} is exact, so that $\operatorname{Ker} d'' = C^*_{\Phi}(X; \operatorname{Ker} \delta_0)$.

so that $d''\beta \in \mathbb{Z}_2^{p+2}$. Also, $dd'\gamma = d''d'\gamma = -d'd''\gamma$ represents d'(-d''c) = d'd'b = 0 in $C_{\Phi}^{p-t+2}(X; G_t \mathscr{L}^{q+t})$, so that $d''(d'\gamma) \in C_{\Phi}^{p-t+2}(X; F_{t+1} \mathscr{L}^{q+t})$. The latter element represents $\pm \delta_1^*(d'c) = 0$ [by (A)] so that in fact,

$$dd'\gamma \in C^{p-t+2}_{\Phi}(X; F_{t+2}\mathscr{L}^{q+2}) \subset F_{p+4}L^*.$$

Thus $d'\gamma \in \mathbb{Z}_2^{p+2}$. It follows that $d'\beta + d''\gamma = d(\beta + \gamma) - d'\gamma - d''\beta \in \mathbb{Z}_2^{p+2}$ and that all three elements $d'\gamma$, $(d'\beta + d''\gamma)$, and $d''\beta$ represent classes in $\mathbb{Z}_2^{p+2,q-1}$ with sum d_2a . Clearly, $d''\beta$ represents $0 = \pm \delta_2^*a \in H^{p-t}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{E}_2^{t+2,q-1})$, by (B).

Now $d'\gamma$ represents a class $d_2^0 \in H^{p-t+2}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{H}^{q+t-1}(G_t\mathscr{L}^*))$, while $(d'\beta + d''\gamma)$ represents a class $d_2^1a \in H^{p-t+1}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{H}^{q+t}(G_{t+1}\mathscr{L}^*))$, where the superscript indicates the change of the degree "t." Note that both of these groups are direct summands of $E_2^{p+2,q-1}$ and that

$$d_2 = d_2^0 + d_2^1$$

under conditions (A) and (B). We shall now give an interpretation of the operators d_2^0 and d_1^1 .

For t_0 fixed, the differential sheaf $G_{t_0}(\mathscr{Q}^*)$ gives rise to a spectral sequence (1) on page 199 (which coincides with the present spectral sequence when \mathscr{Q}^* has the trivial filtration $F_{t_0}\mathscr{Q}^* = \mathscr{Q}^*$, $F_{t_0+1}\mathscr{Q}^* = 0$). Let us denote this spectral sequence by ${}^{t_0}E_r^{p,q}$ and its differentials by ${}^{t_0}d_r$. Then

$${}^{t_0}E_2^{p-t_0,q+t_0} = H^{p-t_0}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{H}^{q+t_0}(G_{t_0}\mathscr{L}^*)).$$

By the construction of d_2^0 it is clear that

$$d_2^0 = \bigoplus_t {}^t d_2.$$

(This can be seen by direct computation or by a more abstract approach. The details are left to the reader.)

Recall that δ_1 is the connecting homomorphism of the homology sequence of the short exact sequence

$$0 \to \frac{F_{t+1}\mathscr{Q}^*}{F_{t+2}\mathscr{Q}^*} \to \frac{F_t\mathscr{Q}^*}{F_{t+2}\mathscr{Q}^*} \to \frac{F_t\mathscr{Q}^*}{F_{t+1}\mathscr{Q}^*} \to 0,$$

and by (A), the resulting sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{H}^{q+t}(G_{t+1}\mathscr{L}^*) \to \mathscr{H}^{q+t}(F_t\mathscr{L}^*/F_{t+2}\mathscr{L}^*) \to \mathscr{H}^{q+t}(G_t\mathscr{L}^*) \to 0 \quad (40)$$

is exact. This exact "coefficient sequence" gives rise to a connecting homomorphism

$${}^{t}\Delta: H^{p-t}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{H}^{q+t}(G_{t}\mathscr{Q}^{*})) \to H^{p-t+1}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{H}^{q+t}(G_{t+1}\mathscr{Q}^{*})).$$
(41)

We claim that Δ coincides with d_2^1 . This is merely a matter of tracing through the definition of Δ . With notation as above, β determines a class

§11. The spectral sequence of a filtered differential sheaf

$$\begin{split} \beta' &\in \ C_{\Phi}^{p-t}(X; F_t \mathscr{L}^{q+t}/F_{t+2} \mathscr{L}^{q+t}) \ \text{with} \ d''\beta' = 0, \ \text{since} \ d''\beta \in \ F_{p+2}L^*. \\ \text{Thus} \ \beta' \ \text{determines a class} \ b' \in \ C_{\Phi}^{p-t}(X; \mathscr{H}^{q+t}(F_t \mathscr{L}^*/F_{t+2} \mathscr{L}^*)). \ \text{Now} \ d'b' \\ \text{represents} \ d'b = 0 \ \text{in} \ \ C_{\Phi}^{p-t+1}(X; \mathscr{H}^{q+t}(G_t \mathscr{L}^*)), \ \text{and} \ \text{hence} \ d'b' \ \text{may} \ \text{be} \\ \text{regarded, by} \ (40), \ \text{to} \ \text{be} \ \text{in} \ \ C_{\Phi}^{p-t+1}(X; \mathscr{H}^{q+t}(G_{t+1} \mathscr{L}^*)) \ \text{and}, \ \text{by} \ \text{definition}, \\ \text{represents} \ {}^t\Delta a. \ \text{Specifically}, \ d'\beta + d''\gamma \in C_{\Phi}^{p-t+1}(X; F_{t+1} \mathscr{L}^{q+t}) \ \text{represents} \\ \text{an element of} \ \ C_{\Phi}^{p-t+1}(X; \mathscr{H}^{q+t}(G_{t+1} \mathscr{L}^*)) \ \text{that} \ \text{maps into} \ d'b'. \ \text{This gives} \end{split}$$

$$\boxed{d_2^1 a = {}^t \Delta a.}$$

We shall now consider the question of convergence. Recall that the filtration of L^* is called *regular* if $F_pL^n = 0$ for p > f(n) for some function $f : \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z}$.

We shall now make two further assumptions:

- (C) The filtration of \mathscr{L}^* is regular [that is, $F_p\mathscr{L}^n = 0$ for p > g(n) for some function g].
- (D) Either:
 - (i) \mathscr{L}^* is bounded below (that is, $\mathscr{L}^n = 0$ for $n < n_0$), or (ii) $\dim_{\Phi} X < \infty$.

Of course, in case D(ii) we replace C_{Φ}^* by a canonical resolution of *finite* length.

We claim that under these assumptions the filtration of L^* is also regular.

Indeed, in case D(i) assume, for convenience, that $\mathscr{L}^q = 0$ for q < 0. We may also assume, in this case, that g is an increasing function. Note that

$$F_p L^n = \bigoplus_{s=0}^n C^s_{\Phi}(X; F_{p-s} \mathscr{L}^{n-s}).$$

Thus, if p > n + g(n), we have $p - s \ge p - n > g(n) \ge g(n - s)$ and $F_p L^n = 0$.

In case D(ii), where $m = \dim_{\Phi} X$, we have

$$F_p L^n = \bigoplus_{s=0}^m C^s_{\Phi}(X; F_{p-s} \mathscr{L}^{n-s}),$$

which is zero for $p > m + \sup\{g(n-s) \mid 0 \le s \le m\}$.

Note that under assumption (D) we can show, as in Section 1, that

$$H^n(L^*) = H^n(\bigcup_s \Gamma_\Phi(F_s \mathscr{L}^*))$$

when $F\mathscr{L}^*$ consists of Φ -acyclic sheaves. More generally, the assumption

$$\underline{\lim}_{t} H^{q}(H^{p}_{\Phi}(X; F_{t}\mathscr{L}^{*})) = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad p > 0$$

implies this result.

Thus, for example, we have proved the following:

11.1. Theorem. Let \mathscr{L}^* be a differential sheaf on X. Let $\{F_p\mathscr{L}^*\}$ be a filtration of \mathscr{L}^* consisting of Φ -acyclic sheaves. Also assume that (A), (C), and (D) hold. Then there is a spectral sequence with

$$E_2^{p,q} = \bigoplus_t H^{p-t}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{H}^{q+t}(G_t\mathscr{L}^*)) \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}(\bigcup_s \Gamma_{\Phi}(F_s\mathscr{L}^*)).$$

If, moreover, (B) holds, then on the summand $H^{p-t}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{H}^{q+t}(G_t \mathscr{L}^*))$ we have that

$$d_2 = {}^t d_2 + {}^t \Delta,$$

where ${}^{t}d_{2}$ is the second differential of the spectral sequence (1) on page 199 of the differential sheaf $G_{t}\mathscr{L}^{*}$, and ${}^{t}\Delta$ is the connecting homomorphism (41) of the coefficient sequence (40).

12 The Fary spectral sequence

We shall now apply the results of the previous section to a more specific situation.

Let $f: X \to Y$ be a map and let

$$Y = K_0 \supset K_1 \supset K_2 \supset \cdots$$

be a decreasing filtration of Y by *closed* sets. Let

$$U_p = Y - K_{1-p}.$$

Then

$$\cdots \supset U_{-1} \supset U_0 \supset U_1 = \varnothing$$

so that $\{U_p\}$ forms a decreasing filtration of Y by open sets. Also, put

$$A_t = K_t - K_{t+1} = U_{-t} - U_{-t+1}.$$

Let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X, and let Ψ be a family of supports on X. Consider the differential sheaf

$${\mathscr L}^*=f_\Psi{\mathscr A}^*$$

on Y, where $\mathscr{A}^* = \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$. Then \mathscr{L}^* is filtered by the subsheaves

$$F_p \mathscr{L}^* = \mathscr{L}^*_{U_n},$$

and this filtration is bounded above by zero. The associated graded sheaf is

$$G_{-t}\mathscr{L}^* = \mathscr{L}^*_{A_t}$$

and clearly,

$$\mathscr{H}^{q}(G_{-t}\mathscr{L}^{*}) = \mathscr{H}^{q}(\mathscr{L}^{*})_{A_{t}} = \mathscr{H}^{q}_{\Psi}(f;\mathscr{A})_{A_{t}}$$

§12. The Fary spectral sequence

since $\mathscr{B} \mapsto \mathscr{B}_A$ is an exact functor for $A \subset Y$ locally closed. Stalkwise, $\{F_p\mathscr{L}^*\}$ reduces to a filtration with only two terms, and it follows that $\delta_r = 0$ for $r \geq 1$, where δ_r is as in Section 11. Thus conditions (A) and (B) of Section 11 are satisfied. Condition (C) follows from the fact that $\{U_p\}$ is bounded above, and (D) is obviously satisfied. Note that the exact sequence (40) of Section 11 becomes

$$0 \to \mathscr{H}^{q-t}_{\Psi}(f;\mathscr{A})_{A_{t-1}} \to \mathscr{H}^{q-t}_{\Psi}(f;\mathscr{A})_{A_t \cup A_{t-1}} \to \mathscr{H}^{q-t}_{\Psi}(f;\mathscr{A})_{A_t} \to 0.$$
(42)

If Φ is *paracompactifying* on Y, then by II-10.2 we have

$$H^*_{\Phi}(Y; \mathscr{H}^*_{\Psi}(f; \mathscr{A})_{A_t}) \approx H^*_{\Phi|A_t}(A_t; \mathscr{H}^*_{\Psi}(f; \mathscr{A})|A_t).$$

Since $F_p \mathscr{L}^*$ is Φ -soft and $\bigcup_t \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}_{U_t}) = \Gamma_{\Theta}(\mathscr{L}^*) = \Gamma_{\Theta(\Psi)}(\mathscr{A}^*)$, where $\Theta = \bigcup_t (\Phi | U_t)$, the spectral sequence of 11.1, together with 2.3, yields:

12.1. Theorem. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a map, let $Y = K_0 \supset K_1 \supset \cdots$ be a decreasing filtration of Y by closed subsets, and put $A_t = K_t - K_{t+1}$. Let Φ be a paracompactifying family of supports on Y, and let \mathcal{A} be any sheaf on X. Then there is a spectral sequence (Fary) with

$$E_2^{p,q} = \bigoplus_t H^{p+t}_{\Phi|A_t}(A_t; \mathscr{H}^{q-t}_{\Psi}(f; \mathscr{A})|A_t) \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}_{\Theta(\Psi)}(X; \mathscr{A}),$$

where $\Theta = \bigcup_t (\Phi | Y - K_t)$. Moreover,

$$d_2 = \bigoplus_t ({}^t d_2 + {}^t \Delta),$$

where ${}^{t}d_{2}$ is the second differential of the spectral sequence 2.1 of the differential sheaf $(f_{\Psi} \mathscr{C}^{*}(X; \mathscr{A}))|A_{t}$ and ${}^{t}\Delta$ is the connecting homomorphism of the cohomology sequence associated with the coefficient sequence (42) [that is, the cohomology sequence of the pair $(K_{t-1} - K_{t+1}, A_{t})$ with coefficients in $\mathscr{H}_{\Psi}^{q-t}(f; \mathscr{A})$].

We note that with suitable restrictions, $\mathscr{H}_{\Psi}^{q-t}(f;\mathscr{A})|A_t$ is the Leray sheaf $\mathscr{H}_{\Psi\cap A_t^{\bullet}}^{q-t}(f|A_t^{\bullet};\mathscr{A})$ of $f|A_t^{\bullet}$, where $A_t^{\bullet} = f^{-1}(A_t)$. We shall now show that under the same restrictions, the spectral sequence of the differential sheaf $(f_{\Psi} \mathscr{C}^*(X;\mathscr{A}))|A_t$ can be identified with the Leray spectral sequence of $f|A_t^{\bullet}$.

12.2. Proposition. Let $f: X \to Y$ be Ψ -closed, where each $f^{-1}(y), y \in Y$, is Ψ -taut in X. Let Φ be a paracompactifying family of supports on Y and let $A \subset Y$ be locally closed with $A^{\bullet} = f^{-1}(A)$. Then for any sheaf \mathcal{A} on X, the spectral sequence 2.1 of the differential sheaf $(f_{\Psi} \mathscr{C}^{*}(X; \mathcal{A}))|A$ on A, with supports in $\Phi|A$, may be identified with the Leray spectral sequence

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p_{\Phi|A}(A; \mathscr{H}^q_{\Psi \cap A^\bullet}(f|A^\bullet; \mathscr{A}|A^\bullet)) \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}_{\Phi(\Psi)|A^\bullet}(A^\bullet; \mathscr{A}|A^\bullet)$$

of $f|A^{\bullet}$.

Proof. Note that $\Phi(\Psi)|A^{\bullet} = (\Phi|A)(\Psi \cap A^{\bullet})$ by 5.4(8). We have the canonical homomorphism

$$(f_{\Psi} \mathscr{C}^{*}(X; \mathscr{A}))|A \to f_{\Psi \cap A^{\bullet}}(\mathscr{C}^{*}(A^{\bullet}; \mathscr{A}|A^{\bullet})),$$

which induces (20) on page 214, whence there is the homomorphism of double complexes

$$C^*_{\Phi|A}(A; f_{\Psi}(\mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A}))|A) \to C^*_{\Phi|A}(A; f_{\Psi \cap A^{\bullet}}(\mathscr{C}^*(A^{\bullet}; \mathscr{A}))).$$

There results a homomorphism of spectral sequences 2.1, which reduces to

$$r^*: H^p_{\Phi|A}(A; \mathscr{H}^q_{\Psi}(f; \mathscr{A})|A) \to H^p_{\Phi|A}(A; \mathscr{H}^q_{\Psi \cap A^{\bullet}}(f|A^{\bullet}; \mathscr{A}|A^{\bullet}))$$

on the E_2 terms. By 4.4, this map is an isomorphism and the result follows. \Box

13 Sphere bundles with singularities

In this section we will apply the Fary spectral sequence to obtain an exact sequence for a sphere bundle with singularities that we call the Smith-Gysin sequence because it is a generalization of the Gysin sequence of a sphere bundle and an analogue of the Smith sequences of periodic maps of prime order.

Let $f: X \to Y$ be a *closed* map between Hausdorff spaces that is a k-sphere fibration with closed singular set $F \subset Y$. That is, $f: F^{\bullet} = f^{-1}(F) \to F$ is a homeomorphism and $f: X - F^{\bullet} \to Y - F$ is a fiber bundle projection with fiber \mathbb{S}^k ; $k \geq 1$. (More generally, suppose the Leray sheaf of f has stalks as if this were the situation. For example, this applies to the orbit map of a circle group action with rational coefficients or a semi-free circle group action with integer coefficients.)

We have

$$\mathscr{H}^q(f;L)|Y-F=\left\{egin{array}{cc} L,&q=0,\ \mathscr{O},&q=k,\ 0,&q\neq0,k, \end{array}
ight.$$

where \mathcal{O} is a locally constant sheaf on Y - F with stalks L. The fibration f is said to be *orientable* if \mathcal{O} is constant. This is always the case when f is the orbit map of a circle action.

If \mathscr{B} is any sheaf on Y, it follows from 4.6 that

$$\mathscr{H}^q(f;f^*\mathscr{B})|Y-F=\left\{egin{array}{cc} \mathscr{B}|Y-F,&q=0,\ \mathscr{O}\otimes(\mathscr{B}|Y-F),&q=k,\ 0,&q
eq 0,k. \end{array}
ight.$$

Also, it is clear that on F,

$$\mathscr{H}^{q-k}(f|F^{\bullet}; f^{*}\mathscr{B}) = \begin{cases} \mathscr{B}|F, \quad q=k, \\ 0, \quad q \neq k. \end{cases}$$

Now let $K_0 = Y$; $K_1 = K_2 = \cdots = K_k = F$; and $K_p = \emptyset$ for p > k. The Fary spectral sequence with coefficients in $f^*\mathcal{B}$ and supports in the *paracompactifying* family Φ on Y has

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p_{\Phi|Y-F}(Y-F; \mathscr{H}^q(f; f^*\mathscr{B})) \oplus H^{p+k}_{\Phi|F}(F; \mathscr{H}^{q-k}(f|F^\bullet; f^*\mathscr{B}))$$

and converges to $H^{p+q}_{f^{-1}\Phi}(X; f^*\mathscr{B})$. Thus

$$E_{2}^{p,0} = H_{\Phi|Y-F}^{p}(Y-F;\mathscr{B}),$$

$$E_{2}^{p,k} = H_{\Phi|Y-F}^{p}(Y-F;\mathscr{O}\otimes\mathscr{B}) \oplus H_{\Phi|F}^{p+k}(F;\mathscr{B}),$$

and $E_2^{p,q} = 0$ for $q \neq 0, k$. [We have written $\mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{B}$ for $\mathscr{O} \otimes (\mathscr{B}|Y - F)$ for simplicity of notation.]

As with any spectral sequence in which $E_2^{p,q}$ is nonzero in only two complementary degrees q = 0, k, there results an exact sequence

$$\cdots \to E_2^{p,0} \to H^p_{f^{-1}\Phi}(X; f^*\mathscr{B}) \to E_2^{p-k,k} \xrightarrow{d_{k+1}} E_2^{p+1,0} \to \cdots,$$

which yields the exact Smith-Gysin sequence:

$$\cdots \to H^{p}_{\Phi|Y-F}(Y-F;\mathscr{B}) \to H^{p}_{f^{-1}\Phi}(X;f^{*}\mathscr{B})$$

$$\to H^{p-k}_{\Phi|Y-F}(Y-F;\mathscr{O}\otimes\mathscr{B}) \oplus H^{p}_{\Phi|F}(F;\mathscr{B}) \to H^{p+1}_{\Phi|Y-F}(Y-F;\mathscr{B}) \to \cdots$$

$$(43)$$

See [6] for some other applications of the Fary spectral sequence. See [15, III-10] for a more elementary derivation of the Smith-Gysin sequence.

Note that a somewhat less subtle "Smith-Gysin sequence" can be obtained directly from the Leray spectral sequence of f, namely, the exact sequence

$$\cdots \to H^p_{\Phi}(Y;\mathscr{B}) \to H^p_{f^{-1}\Phi}(X; f^*\mathscr{B}) \to H^{p-k}_{\Phi|Y-F}(Y-F; \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{B}) \to \cdots$$

As an example of the use of the Smith-Gysin sequence (43), we have the following result:

13.1. Theorem. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a closed map that is an orientable k-sphere fibration with closed singular set $F \subset Y$. Let Φ be a paracompactifying family of supports on Y. Let L be a field and suppose that $\dim_{\Phi,L} Y < \infty$. Then, with coefficients in L and for any p, we have the inequality

$$\dim H^{p-k}_{\Phi|Y-F}(Y-F) + \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \dim H^{p+j(k+1)}_{\Phi|F}(F) \le \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \dim H^{p+j(k+1)}_{f^{-1}\Phi}(X).$$

Proof. Let

$$a_q = \dim H^q_{f^{-1}\Phi}(X), \ b_q = \dim H^q_{\Phi|F}(F), \ \text{and} \ c_q = \dim H^q_{\Phi|Y-F}(Y-F).$$

Note that $\dim_{\Phi|F} F \leq \dim_{\Phi} Y$ by II-16.9, so that b_q and c_q are both zero for sufficiently large q. The sequence (43) implies that a_q is also zero for large q. The exact sequence

$$H^q_{f^{-1}\Phi}(X) \to H^{q-k}_{\Phi|Y-F}(Y-F) \oplus H^q_{\Phi|F}(F) \to H^{q+1}_{\Phi|Y-F}(Y-F)$$

shows that

$$b_q + c_{q-k} \le a_q + c_{q+1},$$

which degenerates to $0 \le 0$ for q sufficiently large. Adding these inequalities for $q = p + j(k+1), j = 0, 1, 2, \ldots$, we see that the terms in c_i cancel out, except for c_{p-k} , and there remains the inequality

$$c_{p-k} + \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} b_{p+j(k+1)} \le \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_{p+j(k+1)}$$

as claimed.

13.2. Theorem. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a closed map of Hausdorff spaces that is an orientable k-sphere fibration with closed singular set $F \subset Y$. Let L be a principal ideal domain. Assume either that X is paracompact with $\dim_L X < \infty$ or that X is compact. If X is acyclic over L, then Y and F are also acyclic over L.³⁰

Proof. Let $\Phi = cld|Y - F$. The Smith-Gysin sequence shows that

$$H^{p-k}_{\Phi}(Y-F;L) \oplus \tilde{H}^{p}(F;L) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^{p+1}_{\Phi}(Y-F;L).$$

If X, whence Y, is compact, then the map $H^{p-k}_{\Phi}(Y-F;L) \to H^{p+1}_{\Phi}(Y-F;L)$ is the cup product with the Euler class $\omega \in H^{k+1}(Y-F;L)$, whence it is zero for large p by II-Exercise 53. In the paracompact case, $\dim_L(Y-F) \leq \dim_L X - k$ by 8.12. Thus, in either case, a downwards induction shows that $H^*_{\Phi}(Y-F;L) = 0 = \tilde{H}^*(F;L)$. The result then follows from the cohomology sequence of the pair (Y,F).

Some other applications of the Smith-Gysin sequence can be found in [11].

³⁰Also see Exercise 21.

14 The Oliver transfer and the Conner conjecture

In this section we study the transfer map for actions of compact Lie groups due to Oliver [65] and use it to give Oliver's solution to the Conner conjecture. The results in this section are due to Oliver except for those at the end credited to Conner.

Let G be a compact connected Lie group acting on a completely regular space X. In this situation, each orbit $\check{x} = G(x)$ has an invariant neighborhood U^{\bullet} (where $U \subset X/G$ is open) possessing an equivariant retraction $\sigma_{x,U} : U^{\bullet} \to G(x)$; see [15, II-5.4]. The neighborhood U^{\bullet} together with the retraction $\sigma_{x,U}$ is called a "tube" about G(x). Let $A \subset X$ be a closed subspace invariant under G and put W = X - A.

Let L be a given base ring. Let $f: X \to X/G$ be the orbit map. We wish to define a natural homomorphism

$$\pi:\mathscr{H}^n(f;L)\to H^n(G;L)$$

of the Leray sheaf of f to the constant sheaf on X/G with stalks $H^n(G; L)$, where n is arbitrary for the present. Since $\mathscr{H}^n(f, f|A; L) = \mathscr{H}^n(f; L)_{W/G}$, because W/G is open and $\mathscr{H}^n(f, f|A; L)_{\breve{y}} \approx H^n(\breve{y}, \breve{y} \cap A; L) = 0$ for $y \in A$ by 4.2, π will induce a sheaf homomorphism

$$\pi: \mathscr{H}^n(f, f|A; L) \to H^n(G; L)_{W/G} \subset H^n(G; L),$$

and hence, by II-10.2,

$$\pi^*: H^s(X/G; \mathscr{H}^n(f, f|A; L)) \to H^s(X/G; H^n(G; L)_{W/G})$$

$$\approx H^s(X/G, A/G; H^n(G; L)).$$

Because G is compact and, hence, f is closed, the canonical map $r_{\check{x}}^*$: $\mathscr{H}^n(f;L)_{\check{x}} \to H^n(G(x);L)$ of 4.2 is an isomorphism for all $\check{x} \in X/G$.

For $x \in X$ let $\eta_x : G \to G(x)$ be the equivariant map $\eta_x(g) = g(x)$. Since G is connected, η_x depends on x, in its orbit, only up to homotopy. Thus $\eta_x^* : H^n(G(x); L) \to H^n(G; L)$ is well-defined, independent of x in its orbit \breve{x} . Let $\pi_{\breve{x}} = \eta_x^* r_{\breve{x}}^* : \mathscr{H}^n(f; L)_{\breve{x}} \to H^n(G; L)$. Then the $\pi_{\breve{x}}$ fit together to define a function π , and we need only show that this is continuous.

To show continuity, fix x and $\sigma_{x,U} : U^{\bullet} \to G(x)$ as above, and let $y \in U^{\bullet}$. It is no loss of generality to assume that $\sigma_{x,U}(y) = x$. Also, let $i_{U,y} : G(y) \hookrightarrow U^{\bullet}$ be the inclusion. Then $\sigma_{x,U}(i_{U,y}(\eta_y(g))) = \sigma_{x,U}(g(y)) = g(\sigma_{x,U}(y)) = g(x) = \eta_x(g)$; that is, the diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} U^{\bullet} & \xrightarrow{\sigma_{x,U}} & G(x) \\ i_{U,y} & & & \uparrow \eta_x \\ G(y) & \longleftarrow & G \end{array}$$

commutes. Let $\theta_U : H^n(U^{\bullet}; L) \to \Gamma(\mathscr{H}^n(f; L)|U)$ be the canonical map from presheaf to generated sheaf and let

$$\gamma_{U,y}: \Gamma(\mathscr{H}^n(f;L)|U) \to \mathscr{H}^n(f;L)_{\breve{y}}$$

be the restriction. Then we have the diagram

$$\begin{split} \Gamma(\mathscr{H}^{n}(f;L)|U) & \xleftarrow{\theta_{U}} & H^{n}(U^{\bullet};L) & \xleftarrow{\sigma_{x,U}^{*}} & H^{n}(G(x);L) \\ & \downarrow^{\gamma_{U,y}} & \downarrow^{i_{U,y}^{*}} & \downarrow^{\eta_{x}^{*}} \\ \mathscr{H}^{n}(f;L)_{\breve{y}} & \xleftarrow{r_{\breve{y}}^{*}} & H^{n}(G(y);L) & \xleftarrow{\eta_{y}^{*}} & H^{n}(G;L) \end{split}$$

in which the composition along the bottom is $\pi_{\tilde{y}}$. The left-hand square commutes because it is just the definition of $r_{\tilde{y}}^*$. The right-hand square commutes because it is induced by the preceding commutative diagram.

Let $\alpha \in H^n(G(x); L)$, and put $s = \theta_U \sigma^*_{x,U}(\alpha) \in \Gamma(\mathscr{H}^n(f; L)|U)$. Then the value of the section s at \check{y} is $s(\check{y}) = \gamma_{U,y}(s)$ by the definition of γ . We compute:

$$egin{aligned} \pi_{\check{y}}\,s(\check{y}) &= \pi_{\check{y}}\,\gamma_{U,y}(s) \ &= \eta_y^*\,r_{\check{y}}^*\,\gamma_{U,y}\, heta_U\,\sigma_{x,U}^*(lpha) \ &= \eta_y^*\,i_{U,y}^*\,\sigma_{x,U}^*(lpha) \ &= \eta_x^*(lpha) \ &= \pi_x^*\,s(\check{x}), \end{aligned}$$

the last equation holding by substitution of x for y in the preceding parts. This equation shows that π is constant on the image of the section s. The image under the isomorphism $r_{\tilde{x}}^*$ of the value of the section s at \check{x} is $r_{\tilde{x}}^*(s(\check{x})) = r_{\tilde{x}}^*\gamma_{U,x}(s) = r_{\tilde{x}}^*\gamma_{U,x}\theta_U\sigma_{x,U}^*(\alpha) = i_{U,x}^*\sigma_{x,U}^*(\alpha) = 1^*(\alpha) = \alpha$. It follows that π is continuous at the *arbitrary* element $s(\check{x}) = (r_{\tilde{x}}^*)^{-1}(\alpha) \in \mathscr{H}^n(f; L)_{\check{x}}$ and hence is continuous in the large as claimed.

Now let us specialize to the case $n = \dim G$ and let $\lambda : H^n(G; L) \xrightarrow{\approx} L$ be an "orientation." The Leray spectral sequence of the map $f: (X, A) \to (X/G, A/G)$ has $E_2^{s,t} = 0$ for t > n, and so there is the canonical homomorphism

$$H^{s+n}(X,A;L) \twoheadrightarrow E_{\infty}^{s,n} \rightarrowtail E_2^{s,n} = H^s(X/G;\mathscr{H}^n(f,f|A;L)),$$

and the composition of this with $\lambda^* \circ \pi^*$ gives a natural homomorphism

$$\tau_{X,A}: H^{s+n}(X,A;L) \to H^s(X/G,A/G;L),$$

called the "Oliver transfer."

14.1. Proposition. The Oliver transfer τ satisfies the relationship

$$\tau_{X,A}(f^*(\beta)\cup\alpha)=\beta\cup\tau_X(\alpha),$$

where $\alpha \in H^{s+n}(X; L)$ and $\beta \in H^t(X/G, A/G; L)$.

§14. The Oliver transfer and the Conner conjecture

Proof. Let ${}^{\prime}E_{r}^{s,t}$ be the Leray spectral sequence of f and $E_{r}^{s,t}$ the Leray spectral sequence of (f, f|A). The element α represents a class $\alpha_{r} \in {}^{\prime}E_{r}^{s,n}$ for each $2 \leq r \leq \infty$ and $\tau_{X}(\alpha) = \lambda^{*}(\pi^{*}(\alpha_{2}))$. The element $f^{*}\beta$ represents a class $\beta_{r} \in E_{r}^{t,0}$ for each $2 \leq r \leq \infty$, and $\beta_{2} \in H^{t}(X/G; \mathcal{H}^{0}(f, f|A; L))$ corresponds to $\beta \in H^{t}(X/G, A/G; L) \approx H^{t}(X/G; L_{W/G})$ under the canonical isomorphism $\mathcal{H}^{0}(f, f|A; L) \approx L_{W/G}$. By 6.2 and 6.8, the composition $H^{s+n+t}(X, A; L) \twoheadrightarrow E_{\infty}^{s+t,n} \rightarrowtail E_{2}^{s+t,n}$ takes $f^{*}(\beta) \cup \alpha$ to $\beta_{2} \cup \alpha_{2}$, and hence $\lambda^{*} \circ \pi^{*}$ takes this to $\beta \cup \tau_{X}(\alpha)$. But by definition, this composition takes $f^{*}(\beta) \cup \alpha$ to $\tau_{X,A}(f^{*}(\beta) \cup \alpha)$.

14.2. Corollary. The following diagram commutes:

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H^{s+n-1}(A;L) & \stackrel{\delta}{\longrightarrow} & H^{s+n}(X,A;L) \\ & & & \downarrow^{\tau_A} & & \downarrow^{\tau_{X,A}} \\ H^{s-1}(A/G;L) & \stackrel{\delta}{\longrightarrow} & H^s(X/G,A/G;L) \end{array}$$

Proof. The proof is similar to Steenrod's proof of the similar relationship between the Steenrod squares and connecting homomorphisms; see [19, VI-15.2] or [79, 1.2]. We consider the *G*-space $I \times X$ and its various subspaces, where *G* acts trivially on the factor I = [0, 1]. Let $p_X : I \times X \to X$, $p_I : I \times X \to I$, and $\check{p}_I : I \times X/G \to I$ be the projections. Let W = $\{0\} \times X \cup I \times A$. Then the naturality of the Oliver transfer implies that it suffices to prove the result for the pair $(W, I \times A)$. Naturality then shows, in turn, that it suffices to prove it for the pair $(W, \{1\} \times A)$. Put $C = \{1\} \times A$ and $B = [0, \frac{1}{2}] \times A \cup \{0\} \times X \subset W$. Consider the commutative diagram (coefficients in *L*)

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H^{s}(B \cup C) & \xrightarrow{r} & H^{s}(C) & \longrightarrow & 0 \\ & & & & & & \downarrow \delta \\ H^{s+1}(W, B \cup C) & \longrightarrow & H^{s+1}(W, C) \end{array}$$

with exact row. Again, naturality applied to this diagram implies that it suffices to prove the result for the pair $(W, B \cup C)$. By excision and homotopy invariance, it suffices to prove the result for the pair $([\frac{1}{2}, 1] \times A, \{\frac{1}{2}\} \times A \cup \{1\} \times A)$, which is equivalent to the pair $(I \times A, \partial I \times A)$. Now, $H^{s+n}(\partial I \times A)$ is generated by elements of the form $\bar{x} \cup \bar{y} = x \times y$, where $x \in H^0(\partial I), y \in H^{s+n}(A), \bar{x} = p_I^*(x)$, and $\bar{y} = p_X^*(y)$. Let $\check{x} = \check{p}_I^*(x)$, so that $f^*(\check{x}) = \bar{x}$. We compute

$$\begin{aligned} \tau_{I\times A,\partial I\times A}(\delta(\bar{x}\cup\bar{y})) &= \tau_{I\times A,\partial I\times A}(\delta(f^*(\check{x}))\cup\bar{y}) \\ &= \tau_{I\times A,\partial I\times A}(f^*(\delta(\check{x}))\cup\bar{y}) \\ &= \delta(\check{x})\cup\tau_{I\times A}(\bar{y}) \qquad \text{by 14.1} \\ &= \delta(\check{x}\cup\tau_{I\times A}(\bar{y})) \qquad \text{by II-7.1(b)} \\ &= \delta(\tau_{I\times A}(f^*(\check{x})\cup\bar{y})) \qquad \text{by 14.1} \\ &= \delta(\tau_{I\times A}(\bar{x}\cup\bar{y})), \end{aligned}$$

and so $\tau_{I \times A, \partial I \times A} \circ \delta = \delta \circ \tau_{I \times A}$.

This transfer map was the main (unknown at the time) tool in Oliver's solution of the Conner conjecture. We shall now go on to give his proof. The following result sums up the main usage of the transfer:

14.3. Theorem. Let G be a compact, connected, nontrivial Lie group acting on a paracompact space X. Let p be a prime number and let $P \subset X$ be the union of the fixed-point sets of all order p subgroups of G. Then the transfer $\tau_P : H^{s+n}(P; \mathbb{Z}_p) \to H^s(P/G; \mathbb{Z}_p)$ is zero for all s. Assume further that $H^t(X/G, P/G; \mathbb{Z}_p) = 0$ for t > k. Then the transfer $\tau_{X,P} : H^{k+n}(X, P; \mathbb{Z}_p) \to H^k(X/G, P/G; \mathbb{Z}_p)$ is an isomorphism and the canonical map $H^{k+n}(X, P; \mathbb{Z}_p) \to H^{k+n}(X; \mathbb{Z}_p)$ is a monomorphism.

Proof. If $w \in W = X - P$ and if u is sufficiently near w, then G_u is conjugate to a subgroup of G_w , as follows from the existence of a tube about G(w). It follows that $u \in W$. Thus P is closed and it is obviously invariant.

As before, let f be the orbit map. Let $x \in P$. Then the isotropy group G_x contains a subgroup of order p, and so G_x is either of positive dimension or it is finite of order a multiple of p. In both cases the map $\eta_x^*: H^n(G(x); \mathbb{Z}_p) \approx H^n(G/G_x; \mathbb{Z}_p) \to H^n(G; \mathbb{Z}_p)$ is zero. It follows that $\pi : \mathscr{H}^n(f|P; \mathbb{Z}_p) \to H^n(G; \mathbb{Z}_p)$ is zero, and so the Oliver transfer $\tau_P :$ $H^{s+n}(P; \mathbb{Z}_p) \to H^s(P/G; \mathbb{Z}_p)$ is zero for all s, proving the first assertion.

Now, for $x \in W = X - P$, we have that G_x is finite of order prime to p, so that the map $\eta_x^* : H^*(G(x); \mathbb{Z}_p) \approx H^*(G/G_x; \mathbb{Z}_p) \to H^*(G; \mathbb{Z}_p)$ is an isomorphism by II-19.2 since G is connected. It follows that the map $\pi : \mathscr{H}^*(f, f|P; \mathbb{Z}_p) \to H^*(G; \mathbb{Z}_p)_{W/G}$ is an isomorphism, since it is an isomorphism on each stalk. Therefore, for the Leray spectral sequence of (f, f|P), we have

$$E_2^{s,t} = H^s(X/G; \mathscr{H}^t(f, f|P; \mathbb{Z}_p)) \approx H^s(X/G; H^t(G; \mathbb{Z}_p)_{W/G})$$

$$\approx H^s(X/G, P/G; H^t(G; \mathbb{Z}_p)).$$

Thus $E_2^{s,t} = 0$ for s > k and for t > n, and so the Oliver transfer, which is the composition

$$\tau_{X,P}: H^{k+n}(X,P;\mathbb{Z}_p) \xrightarrow{\approx} E_{\infty}^{k,n} \xrightarrow{\approx} E_2^{k,n} \approx H^k(X/G,P/G;H^n(G;\mathbb{Z}_p))$$
$$\approx H^k(X/G,P/G;\mathbb{Z}_p)$$

of isomorphisms, is an isomorphism, proving the second assertion. The commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H^{k+n-1}(P;\mathbb{Z}_p) & \stackrel{\delta}{\longrightarrow} & H^{k+n}(X,P;\mathbb{Z}_p) \\ & & & \downarrow \tau_P = 0 & \approx \downarrow \tau_{X,P} \\ H^{k-1}(P/G;\mathbb{Z}_p) & \stackrel{\delta}{\longrightarrow} & H^k(X/G,P/G;\mathbb{Z}_p) \end{array}$$

of 14.2 shows that $\delta: H^{k+n-1}(P;\mathbb{Z}_p) \to H^{k+n}(X,P;\mathbb{Z}_p)$ is zero, giving the last assertion by the exact sequence of the pair (X,P).

14.4. Theorem. Let G be a compact Lie group acting on the paracompact space X. For a prime p, let P be the union of the fixed-point sets of all order p subgroups of G. Suppose that X is \mathbb{Z}_p -acyclic and has $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}_p} X < \infty$. Then $H^*(X/G, P/G; \mathbb{Z}_p) = 0.^{31}$

Proof. By passing to the unreduced suspension of X, it can be assumed that G has a fixed point x_{\circ} on X. First, we shall reduce this to the case in which G is connected. Let $G \subset K$ where K is a connected compact Lie group. (It is a standard result that this always exists, and in fact, Kcan be taken to be some unitary group.) Let $K \times_G X$ be the quotient space of $K \times X$ by the action $g(k, x) = \langle kg^{-1}, g(x) \rangle$. If [k, x] is the orbit of $\langle k, x \rangle$ under this action, then there is an action of K on Y given by h[k, x] = [hk, x]. The projection $K \times X \to K$ induces a map $\xi : K \times_G X \to K$ K/G, which is a fiber bundle projection with fiber X. Moreover, the set $K \times_G x_{\circ}$ is a cross section of ξ . Let $Y = (K \times_G X)/(K \times_G x_{\circ})$. Since X is \mathbb{Z}_p -acyclic and the stalks of the Leray sheaf of ξ are $H^*(X;\mathbb{Z}_p)$ by 7.2, the map $H^*(K \times_G X; \mathbb{Z}_p) \to H^*(K \times_G x_o; \mathbb{Z}_p)$ is an isomorphism. It follows from the relative homeomorphism theorem II-12.11 that Y is \mathbb{Z}_{p} acyclic. If Q is the union of the fixed point sets of order p subgroups of Kon Y then we claim that $Q = (K \times_G P)/(K \times_G x_\circ)$. Indeed, suppose that $h \in K$ has order p and that h[k, x] = [k, x]. Then [hk, x] = [k, x], which means that there is a $g \in G$ with $\langle hk, x \rangle = \langle kg^{-1}, g(x) \rangle$. Thus $g \in G_x$ and $h = kg^{-1}k^{-1}$. Then g has order p and fixes x, whence $x \in P$.

Now, $Y/K \approx X/G$ and $Q/K \approx P/G$, so that the result for Y and K would imply the result for X and G. Thus we may as well assume that G is connected.

By II-Exercise 54, $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}_p} X/G \leq \dim_{\mathbb{Z}_p} X < \infty$. If the theorem is false, then there exists an integer k with $H^k(X/G, P/G; \mathbb{Z}_p) \neq 0$ and $H^t(X/G, P/G; \mathbb{Z}_p) = 0$ for t > k. But then, since $n = \dim G > 0$, the isomorphism $\tau_{X,P} : H^{k+n}(X, P; \mathbb{Z}_p) \approx H^k(X/G, P/G; \mathbb{Z}_p) \neq 0$ and the monomorphism $H^{k+n}(X, P; \mathbb{Z}_p) \mapsto H^{k+n}(X; \mathbb{Z}_p)$ of 14.3 show that X is not \mathbb{Z}_p -acyclic, contrary to assumption. \Box

A compact Lie group S will be called a *p*-torus if S is an extension of a toral group by a *p*-group. The trivial group is regarded as a *p*-torus for all *p*. If T is a maximal torus of the compact Lie group H, then $\chi(H/N_H(T)) = 1$, as is well known. If $S \subset H$ is a *p*-torus, then Smith theory shows that $\chi((H/N_H(T))^S) \equiv 1 \pmod{p}$, whence $(H/N_H(T))^S \neq \emptyset$.³² This implies that S is conjugate to a subgroup of $N_H(T)$. Assuming, then, that $S \subset N_H(T)$, it follows that ST is a *p*-toral subgroup of H. In particular, if S is a maximal *p*-torus in H, then rank $S = \operatorname{rank} H$. Any two

³¹Also see Exercise 20.

 $^{{}^{32}}X^G$ denotes the set of fixed points of G on X.

maximal *p*-tori of H are conjugate in H, as follows immediately from the corresponding facts about maximal tori and about *p*-Sylow subgroups of a finite group.

For a given action of a compact Lie group G on a space X, let \mathfrak{C}_p be the collection of conjugacy classes in G of maximal p-toral subgroups of isotropy subgroups of G on X. For a subgroup $S \subset G$ we let [S] denote its conjugacy class. Note that an orbit type determines a corresponding member of \mathfrak{C}_p , but two different orbit types might determine the same member of \mathfrak{C}_p . There is a partial ordering of \mathfrak{C}_p given by [S] < [T] if S is conjugate to a proper subgroup of T.

We say that a subset $\mathfrak{F} \subset \mathfrak{C}_p$ is full if $[S] \in \mathfrak{F}$ and $[S] < [T] \Rightarrow [T] \in \mathfrak{F}$. Also, let

$$X^{\mathfrak{F}} = \bigcup_{[S] \in \mathfrak{F}} X^S.$$

Note that $X^{\mathfrak{F}}$ is closed when \mathfrak{F} is full and that $\mathfrak{F} \subset \mathfrak{G} \Rightarrow X^{\mathfrak{F}} \subset X^{\mathfrak{G}}$. Also, $X^{\mathfrak{F}}$ is *G*-invariant.

14.5. Theorem. Suppose that the compact Lie group G acts on the paracompact p-acyclic space X with $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}_p} X < \infty$. Let \mathfrak{F} and \mathfrak{G} be full subsets of \mathfrak{C}_p with $\mathfrak{F} \subset \mathfrak{G}$ and with $\mathfrak{G} - \mathfrak{F}$ finite. Then $\tilde{H}^*(X^{\mathfrak{G}}/G, X^{\mathfrak{F}}/G; \mathbb{Z}_p) = 0$.

Proof. The proof will be by induction on the cardinality of $\mathfrak{G} - \mathfrak{F}$ for a fixed \mathfrak{F} . Of course, the result is true when $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{F}$. Thus assume that $\tilde{H}^*(X^{\mathfrak{G}'}/G, X^{\mathfrak{F}}/G; \mathbb{Z}_p) = 0$ if $\mathfrak{F} \subset \mathfrak{G}' \subsetneq \mathfrak{G}$. Suppose that $[S] \in \mathfrak{G} - \mathfrak{F}$ and is maximal with this property. Put $\mathfrak{G}' = \mathfrak{G} - \{[S]\} \subsetneq \mathfrak{G}$. Consider the map

$$\theta: X^S/N(S) \to X^{\mathfrak{G}}/G.$$

Let $x \in X^S$; then $G_x \supset S$. If $x \in X^{\mathfrak{G}} - X^{\mathfrak{G}'}$, then S is a maximal p-torus of G_x since $S \subset S'$ for some maximal p-torus S' of G_x , so that $[S'] \in \mathfrak{G}'$ (whence $x \in X^{\mathfrak{G}'}$) if $S \neq S'$. We claim that it follows that $G(x)^S/N(S)$ is a single point, whence θ is one-to-one on $(X^S - X^{\mathfrak{G}'})/N(S)$. Indeed, suppose that $g(x) \in G(x)^S$ for some $g \in G$. Then Sg(x) = g(x), whence $g^{-1}Sg \subset G_x$. Since any two maximal p-tori of G_x are conjugate in G_x , there is an element $k \in G_x$ with $k^{-1}g^{-1}Sgk = S$, i.e., $gk \in N(S)$. But then $g(x) = gk(x) \in N(S)(x)$, whence N(S)(g(x)) = N(S)(x) as claimed.

On the other hand, if $x \in X^{\mathfrak{G}'}$, then S is not a maximal *p*-torus in G_x . Then $\chi(G_x/S) \equiv 0 \pmod{p}$. Therefore $\chi((G_x/S)^S) \equiv 0 \pmod{p}$ by Smith theory. But $(G_x/S)^S = N_{G_x}(S)/S$, and it follows that $N_{G_x}(S)/S$ contains an element of order p.

These remarks show that $\theta : (X^S/N(S), P/N(S)) \to (X^{\mathfrak{G}}/G, X^{\mathfrak{G}'}/G)$ is a relative homeomorphism, where

 $P = \{x \in X^S \mid (N(S)/S)_x \text{ contains an element of order } p\}.$

By 14.4, $\tilde{H}^*(X^{\mathfrak{G}}/N(S), P/N(S); \mathbb{Z}_p) = 0$. Since θ is a relative homeomorphism, $\tilde{H}^*(X^{\mathfrak{G}}/G, X^{\mathfrak{G}'}/G; \mathbb{Z}_p) = 0$ by II-12.5. This proves the inductive

step via the exact cohomology sequence of the triple $(X^{\mathfrak{G}}/G, X^{\mathfrak{G}}/G, X^{\mathfrak{F}}/G)$.

The case $\mathfrak{F} = \emptyset$ and $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{C}_p$ gives:

14.6. Corollary. Suppose that the compact Lie group G acts on the paracompact space X with $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}_p} X < \infty$ and only finitely many orbit types. If X is p-acyclic, then X/G is also p-acyclic.

If we define $\mathbb{Z}_0 = \mathbb{Q}$ and the 0-torus to be a torus (so that a maximal 0-torus is just a maximal torus) then all these arguments apply to the case p = 0. (Just replace the Smith theory arguments by ones using the Smith-Gysin sequence for rational coefficients.) Thus we have:

14.7. Corollary. Suppose that the compact Lie group G acts on the paracompact space X with $\dim_{\mathbb{Q}} X < \infty$ and only finitely many orbit types. If X is Q-acyclic, then X/G is also Q-acyclic.

For compact spaces, the universal coefficient theorem II-15.3 gives a corresponding result over the integers:

14.8. Corollary. Suppose that the compact Lie group G acts on the compact space X with $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}} X < \infty$ and only finitely many orbit types. If X is acyclic, then X/G is also acyclic.³³

Finally, a technique of Conner [26] removes the assumption on finiteness of number of orbit types and that of finite cohomological dimension in the last corollary. First, note that the case of $G = \mathbb{S}^1$ and rational coefficients follows from the Smith-Gysin sequence. For $G = \mathbb{S}^1$ and \mathbb{Z}_p coefficients, Smith theory gives that

$$H_{c}^{*}((X^{\mathbb{Z}_{p^{n}}} - X^{\mathbb{Z}_{p^{n+1}}})/\mathbb{Z}_{p^{n+1}}) \approx H^{*}(X^{\mathbb{Z}_{p^{n}}}/\mathbb{Z}_{p^{n+1}}, X^{\mathbb{Z}_{p^{n+1}}}) = 0,$$

since this is just ${}_{\sigma}H^*(X^{\mathbb{Z}_{p^n}})$ for the action of $\mathbb{Z}_p \approx \mathbb{Z}_{p^{n+1}}/\mathbb{Z}_{p^n}$ on $X^{\mathbb{Z}_{p^n}}$. (Also, we are using the fact that finite dimensionality is not needed for the Smith theory of actions on *compact* spaces.) Now, $(X^{\mathbb{Z}_{p^n}} - X^{\mathbb{Z}_{p^{n+1}}})/\mathbb{Z}_{p^{n+1}}$ is an orientable \mathbb{Z}_p -cohomology circle bundle over $(X^{\mathbb{Z}_{p^n}} - X^{\mathbb{Z}_{p^{n+1}}})/G$. Thus the Gysin sequence and II-Exercise 53 show that

$$H^{*}(X^{\mathbb{Z}_{p^{n}}}/G, X^{\mathbb{Z}_{p^{n+1}}}/G; \mathbb{Z}_{p}) \approx H^{*}_{c}((X^{\mathbb{Z}_{p^{n}}} - X^{\mathbb{Z}_{p^{n+1}}})/G; \mathbb{Z}_{p}) = 0.$$

Therefore, for \mathbb{Z}_p coefficients,

$$\tilde{H}^*(X/G) = \tilde{H}^*(X^{\mathbb{Z}_{p^0}}/G) \approx \tilde{H}^*(X^{\mathbb{Z}_{p^1}}/G) \approx \cdots \approx \tilde{H}^*(X^G),$$

the last isomorphism following from continuity II-14.6. Similarly, Smith theory gives

$$0 = \tilde{H}^*(X) = \tilde{H}^*(X^{\mathbb{Z}_{p^0}}) \approx \tilde{H}^*(X^{\mathbb{Z}_{p^1}}) \approx \cdots \approx \tilde{H}^*(X^G).$$

³³Also see 14.10.

Also, the result is true when G is finite by II-19.13.

Now, for any compact nonabelian group G, Oliver has constructed, in [66], an example of a smooth action of G on some disk D with no points left fixed by the whole group. Since such an action has only finitely many orbit types (see [6]) we know from 14.8 that D/H is acyclic for all $H \subset G$. Conner called such a G-space D an acyclic model.

Let $L = \mathbb{Z}$ or a prime field. For a general compact *L*-acyclic space *X* on which *G* acts, Conner's technique is to look at the twisted product $X \times_G D$. There are the maps

$$X/G \xleftarrow{\xi} X \times_G D \xrightarrow{\eta} D/G.$$

The "fibers" of ξ have the form D/G_x for $x \in X$. Consequently, ξ is a Vietoris map. The fibers of η are X/G_y for $y \in D$. Since $G_y \neq G$, we can assume, by induction on the dimension and number of components of G, that these fibers are all *L*-acyclic. Therefore, the Vietoris mapping theorem II-11.7 gives that $\tilde{H}^*(X/G;L) \approx \tilde{H}^*(X \times_G D;L) \approx \tilde{H}^*(D/G;L) = 0$. Thus, this argument gives the following main application of the Oliver transfer, the Conner conjecture, finally proved by Oliver:

14.9. Theorem. (R. Oliver and P. Conner.) Let $L = \mathbb{Z}$ or a prime field. If the compact Lie group G acts on the compact L-acyclic space X, then X/G is also L-acyclic.

Further arguments due to Conner [26] show that any action of a compact Lie group on euclidean space or a disk has a contractible orbit space.

Finally, let us show that 14.8 holds with compactness replaced by paracompactness:

14.10. Corollary. Suppose that the compact Lie group G acts on the paracompact space X with $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}} X < \infty$ and only finitely many orbit types. If X is acyclic, then X/G is also acyclic.

Proof. In Conner's argument concerning the twisted product $X \times_G D$, each orbit of $H \subset G$ on D has an equivariant tubular neighborhood since G acts smoothly on D. It follows that each $r_z^* : \mathscr{H}^*(\eta; \mathbb{Z})_z \to H^*(z^\bullet; \mathbb{Z})$ is an isomorphism. Therefore, the Leray spectral sequence of η shows that η^* is an isomorphism provided we can show that each X/G_y is acyclic, $y \in D$. Thus the argument works for X paracompact with $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}} X < \infty$ and with only finitely many orbit types as soon as we show that the result holds for actions of \mathbb{S}^1 . In the latter case, there is a finite subgroup $H \subset \mathbb{S}^1$ containing all finite isotropy groups.³⁴ By II-19.13, X/H is acyclic. Now, \mathbb{S}^1/H acts semi-freely on X/H and so $X/\mathbb{S}^1 = (X/H)/(\mathbb{S}^1/H)$ is acyclic by 13.2.³⁵

³⁴Here we are using that if an action of a compact Lie group G on a space X has only finitely many orbit types, then the same is true for the action of any subgroup $K \subset G$. This is true since K has only finitely many orbit types on each $G(x) \approx G/G_x$; see [6].

³⁵See [65] for an alternative proof.
Exercises

Exercises

- 1. (s) Let $f : X \to Y$. Let Ψ and Φ be families of supports on X and Y respectively. Assume that Φ and $\Phi(\Psi)$ are both paracompactifying. Show that $f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A}$ is Φ -soft for any $\Phi(\Psi)$ -soft sheaf \mathscr{A} on X.
- 2. (§) If $Y \subset X = \mathbb{S}^n$ separates X, then show that $\underline{\dim}_L^X Y \ge n-1$.
- 3. (5) Let X be a compact metric space with $\dim_L X = n$, where L is a principal ideal domain. Assume that $X = A \cup B$, where B is totally disconnected. Then show that $\dim_L A \ge n-1$.
- 4. Let $f: X \to Y$, where X and Y are locally compact Hausdorff. Let \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} be sheaves on X and Y respectively, such that $\mathscr{A} \ast \mathscr{B} = 0$. Show that there is a natural exact sequence of sheaves on Y of the form

$$0 \to \mathscr{H}^p_c(f;\mathscr{A}) \otimes \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{H}^p_c(f;\mathscr{A} \otimes f^*\mathscr{B}) \to \mathscr{H}^{p+1}_c(f;\mathscr{A}) * \mathscr{B} \to 0.$$

[Hint: $\mathscr{H}^p_c(f; \mathscr{A} \otimes f^*\mathscr{B}) = \mathscr{P}_{heaf}\left(U \mapsto H^p_c(f^{-1}(\overline{U}); \mathscr{A} \otimes (\mathscr{B}(U)))\right)$ by continuity II-14.4. Apply II-15.3.]

5. (§) For differential sheaves \mathscr{L}^* on a space Y define a natural homomorphism

$$\theta: H^n(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*)) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{H}^n(\mathscr{L}^*))$$

and show that the edge homomorphism

$$\xi: H^n_{\Phi(\Psi)}(X; \mathscr{A}) \twoheadrightarrow E^{0,n}_{\infty} \rightarrowtail E^{0,n}_2 = \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{H}^n_{\Psi}(f; \mathscr{A}))$$

of the Leray spectral sequence of $f: X \to Y$ is just the composition

$$H^{n}_{\Phi(\Psi)}(X;\mathscr{A}) = H^{n}(\Gamma_{\Phi(\Psi)}\mathscr{C}^{*}(X;\mathscr{A})) = H^{n}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(f_{\Psi}\mathscr{C}^{*}(X;\mathscr{A}))) \xrightarrow{\theta} \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{H}^{n}(f_{\Psi}\mathscr{C}^{*}(X;\mathscr{A}))) = \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{H}^{n}_{\Psi}(f;\mathscr{A})).$$

Moreover, for $y \in Y$, let $i_y^* : \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{H}^n_{\Psi}(f;\mathscr{A})) \to H^n_{\Psi \cap y^{\bullet}}(y^{\bullet};\mathscr{A})$ be the composition of the restriction $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{H}^n_{\Psi}(f;\mathscr{A})) \to \mathscr{H}^n_{\Psi}(f;\mathscr{A})_y$ with the map $r_y^* : \mathscr{H}^n_{\Psi}(f;\mathscr{A})_y \to H^n_{\Psi \cap y^{\bullet}}(y^{\bullet};\mathscr{A}|y^{\bullet})$. Then show that $i_y^* \circ \xi$ is just the restriction map $H^n_{\Phi(\Psi)}(X;\mathscr{A}) \to H^n_{\Psi \cap y^{\bullet}}(y^{\bullet};\mathscr{A}|y^{\bullet})$. [Note that $\Psi \cap y^{\bullet} = \Phi(\Psi) \cap y^{\bullet}$ unless $\{y\} \notin \Phi$, in which case $\Phi(\Psi) \cap y^{\bullet} = 0$.]

6. (S) In the spectral sequence 9.2 of Borel, show that the edge homomorphism

$$\begin{aligned} H^n_{\Phi}(X/G;\mathscr{A}) \twoheadrightarrow E^{0,n}_{\infty} &\rightarrowtail E^{0,n}_2 = \Gamma(\mathscr{H}^n_{\Theta}(X; f^*\mathscr{A})) \to \mathscr{H}^n_{\Theta}(X; f^*\mathscr{A})_y \\ &\approx H^n_{\Theta}(X; f^*\mathscr{A}) \end{aligned}$$

(where $y \in B_G$) is identical with f^* .

7. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a closed map that is an orientable k-sphere fibration, with $k \ge 1$, with closed singular set $F \subset Y$ as in Section 13. Let L be a principal ideal domain. Let Φ be a paracompactifying family of supports on Y with $\dim_{\Phi,L} Y < \infty$ and assume that

$$H^p_{f^{-1}\Phi}(X;L) \approx \begin{cases} L, & \text{for } p = n, \\ 0, & \text{for } p \neq n, \end{cases}$$

for some integer $n \ge 0$. Show that

$$H^p_{\Phi|F}(F;L) \approx \begin{cases} L, & \text{for } p=r, \\ 0, & \text{for } p\neq r, \end{cases}$$

for some integer r with $0 \le r \le n$ and also compute $H^*_{\Phi}(Y; L)$.

- 8. Let $f: X \to Y$ and let Ψ be a family of supports on X. If \mathscr{R} is a sheaf of rings on Y, show that for any \mathscr{R} -module \mathscr{B} , $f_{\Psi}f^*\mathscr{B}$ is also an \mathscr{R} -module. Thus, if \mathscr{B} is Φ -fine for any paracompactifying family Φ of supports on Y, $f_{\Psi}f^*\mathscr{B}$ is also Φ -fine. [Hint: Use 3.4.]
- 9. (s) Let $f: X \to Y$ be a Ψ -closed map where Ψ is a family of supports on X. Assume that for each $y \in Y$, $f^{-1}(y)$ is Ψ -taut in X and that $\dim_{\Psi} f^{-1}(y) = 0$. Show that the functor f_{Ψ} from sheaves on X to sheaves on Y is *exact*. [In particular, for locally compact Hausdorff spaces, f_c is exact when each $f^{-1}(y)$ has dimension zero.]
- 10. (S) With the notation of 7.9 show that $\tau \cup \pi^*(\omega) = \tau \cup \tau$. That is, the Thom isomorphism applied to the Euler class yields the square of the Thom class.
- (5) If f : X → Y is Ψ-closed for a paracompactifying family Ψ of supports on X and if B ⊂ Y is locally closed, show that there is a natural isomorphism f_Ψ(𝔄_{f⁻¹B}) ≈ (f_Ψ𝔄)_B for sheaves 𝔄 on X.
- 12. (S) Let Y be a k-dimensional component of the fixed point set of a differentiable involution on an m-manifold M. Suppose that $H^p(M; \mathbb{Z}_2) = 0$ for 0 . Show that the fixed-point set is connected and that thenormal Stiefel-Whitney classes of Y in M vanish; Conner [25].
- 13. (§) Let \mathscr{A}^* be a differential sheaf with $\mathscr{H}^q(\mathscr{A}^*) = 0$ for q < 0. Assume either that \mathscr{A}^* is bounded below or that $\dim_{\Phi} X < \infty$. Let *h* denote the differential $\mathscr{A}^{-1} \to \mathscr{A}^0$. If \mathscr{A}^q is Φ -acyclic for all *q*, show that Im *h* and Coker *h* are Φ -acyclic. [*Hint*: Consider the spectral sequence of the differential sheaf \mathscr{B}^* with $\mathscr{B}^q = \mathscr{A}^q$ for q < 0 and $\mathscr{B}^q = 0$ for $q \ge 0$.]
- 14. Let $0 \to \mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{M}^* \to \mathscr{N}^* \to 0$ be an exact sequence of differential sheaves. Assume either that $\dim_{\Phi} X < \infty$ or that $\mathscr{L}^*, \mathscr{M}^*$, and \mathscr{N}^* are all bounded below. Also assume that $H^*(H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{L}^*)) = 0$ for p > 0 and similarly for \mathscr{M}^* and \mathscr{N}^* . Show that the inclusion

$$\operatorname{Im}\{\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathcal{M}^*) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathcal{N}^*)\} \hookrightarrow \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathcal{N}^*)$$

induces an isomorphism in homology, so that there is an induced exact sequence

$$\cdots \to H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*)) \to H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{M}^*)) \to H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{N}^*)) \to H^{p+1}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*)) \to \cdots$$

Also show that the naturality relation (5) on page 199 is valid in this situation [see 2.1].

15. If $f: X \to Y$, let ${}_{\mathcal{S}}\mathscr{H}^q_{\Psi}(f;\mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{H}^q(f_{\Psi}(\mathscr{S}^*(X;\mathscr{A})))$. Investigate the properties of this sheaf. Define a spectral sequence with

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p_{\Phi}(Y; {}_S\mathscr{H}^q_{\Psi}(f; \mathscr{A})) \Longrightarrow {}_SH^{p+q}_{\Phi(\Psi)}(X; \mathscr{A})$$

when Φ is paracompactifying.

16. Use Exercise 15 to prove that if $f: X \to Y$ is closed and surjective and if each fiber $f^{-1}(y)$ has a fundamental system of neighborhoods in X that are contractible, then there are natural isomorphisms

$$H^p_{f^{-1}\Phi}(X;L) \approx H^p_{\Phi}(Y;L) \approx {}_{S}H^p_{f^{-1}\Phi}(X;L)$$

when Φ is paracompactifying.

- 17. With the hypotheses of Exercise 16 assume that Y is locally compact and hereditarily paracompact. Show that Y is clc_L^{∞} .
- 18. Let X and Y be spaces with support families Φ and Ψ respectively. Let A ⊂ X and let A be a sheaf of L-modules on X, where L is a principal ideal domain. Assume that the Leray sheaf of the projection π : X × Y → Y mod A × Y is the constant sheaf H^{*}_Φ(X, A; A) (e.g., Y locally compact, Hausdorff, and clc[∞]_L). Also assume that H^{*}_Φ(X, A; A) is a finitely generated L-module for each p. Show that for Φ paracompactifying or for Φ = cld, there is a split exact sequence

$$\bigoplus_{p+q=n} H^p_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \otimes H^q_{\Psi}(Y;L) \rightarrowtail H^n_{\Theta}((X,A) \times Y;\mathscr{A} \times Y) \twoheadrightarrow \bigoplus_{p+q=n+1} H^p_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \ast H^q_{\Psi}(Y;L)$$

where $\Theta = \Psi(\Phi \times Y)$. (Note that Θ does not coincide with $\Phi \times \Psi$ in general. It does when $\Phi = cld$ or when Ψ consists of compact sets.) [*Hint*: Consider the proof of 7.6 and note that $\Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathcal{B} \otimes M) = \Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathcal{B}) \otimes M$ when \mathcal{B} is flabby and torsion-free and M is finitely generated; see II-15.4.]

- 19. Show that both 7.6 and Exercise 18 remain valid if the coefficient sheaf L on Y is replaced by a locally constant sheaf \mathscr{L} with stalks L and $\mathscr{A} \times Y$ is replaced by $\mathscr{A} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{L}$.
- 20. (S) Let G be a compact connected Lie group acting on a paracompact space X that is acyclic and of finite dimension over \mathbb{Z}_p for some prime p. If $P \subset X$ is the union of the fixed-point sets of all subgroups of G of order p, then show that P is \mathbb{Z}_p -acyclic. (This is due to Oliver [65].)
- 21. Suppose that X and Y are locally compact Hausdorff spaces and that $f: X \to Y$ is an orientable k-sphere fibration with singular set F as in Section 13. If $H_c^p(X; f^*\mathscr{B}) = 0$ for p > n, show that $H_c^p(F; \mathscr{B}) = 0$ for p > n and that $H_c^p(Y F; \mathscr{B}) = 0$ for q > n k.
- 22. (S) If X is arcwise connected and M is an abelian group regarded as a constant sheaf on X, show that the edge homomorphism

$$\theta: H^0(X; M) \to H^0(X; \Delta \mathscr{H}^0(X; M)) = E_2^{0,0} = E_\infty^{0,0} = \Delta H^0(X; M)$$

of 2.6 is an isomorphism.

- 23. (S) If X is locally arcwise connected, show that the map $\varphi : H^1_{\Phi}(X; M) \to H^1_{\Phi}(X; \Delta \mathscr{H}^0(X; M))$ of 2.6 is an isomorphism.
- 24. (§) Discuss the spectral sequence

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p(X; \Delta \mathcal{H}^q(X; M)) \Longrightarrow \Delta H^{p+q}(X; M)$$

of 2.6 for X being the topologist's sine curve of II-10.9.

25. (5) Discuss the spectral sequence

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p(X; \Delta \mathscr{H}^q(X; M)) \Longrightarrow \Delta H^{p+q}(X; M)$$

of 2.6 for X being the union in the plane of circles of radius 1/n, $n = 1, 2, 3, \ldots$, all tangent to the x-axis at the origin.

- 26. Let Y be one strand of Wilder's necklace and $\pi: Y \to T \approx \mathbb{S}^1$ the retraction to its thread; see II-17.14. Show that each stalk of the Leray sheaf $\mathscr{H}^1(\pi; L)$ is isomorphic to L, but that $H^p(T; \mathscr{H}^1(\pi; L)) = 0$ for all p. Describe the rest of the Leray spectral sequence of π . If $K \subset Y$ is the complement of a small open disk in the side of one of the beads, investigate the nature of the Leray spectral sequence of $\pi|K: K \to T$.
- 27. (S) Consider double inverse systems $\{A_{i,j}\}$ as in II-Exercise 59. Show that there is a spectral sequence

$$E_2^{p,q} = \underline{\lim}_i^p (\underline{\lim}_j^q A_{i,j}) \Longrightarrow \underline{\lim}_{i,j}^{p+q} A_{i,j}.$$

Conclude that there is an exact sequence

$$0 \to \underline{\lim}_{i}^{1}(\underline{\lim}_{j}A_{i,j}) \to \underline{\lim}_{i,j}^{1}A_{i,j} \to \underline{\lim}_{i}(\underline{\lim}_{j}^{1}A_{i,j}) \to 0$$

and that $\lim_{i \to i} (\lim_{i \to i} A_{i,j}) = 0.$

- 28. Let \mathscr{A}^* be a flabby resolution of a sheaf \mathscr{A} on X and let \mathfrak{U} be an open covering of X. Discuss the spectral sequences of the double complex $C^{p,q} = \check{C}^{p}_{\phi}(\mathfrak{U};\mathscr{A}^{q})$ for Φ paracompactifying.
- 29. (5) Verify that for the identity map $1: (X, cld) \to (X, \Psi)$, the edge homomorphism

$$1^{\diamond}: H^n_{\Psi}(X; \mathscr{A}) = E^{n,0}_2 \twoheadrightarrow E^{n,0}_{\infty} \rightarrowtail H^n_{\Psi}(X; \mathscr{A})$$

in the Leray spectral sequence, is the identity.

30. (§) Define a spectral sequence

$$E_2^{p,q}(\mathfrak{U}) = \check{H}^p(\mathfrak{U}; H^q(\bullet; \mathscr{A})) \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}(X; \mathscr{A}),$$

natural in the open coverings II, and rework III-Exercise 15 in this context.

31. (S) Let $f: X \to Y$ be a surjective map between compact Hausdorff spaces. Let $F \subset B \subset Y$ be closed subspaces, and assume that F and Y are acyclic (with constant coefficient group \mathbb{Z}). Suppose that f is an orientable \mathbb{S}^3 bundle over Y - B, an orientable \mathbb{S}^2 bundle over B - F, and a homeomorphism over F. Then show that

$$\tilde{H}^p(X;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \tilde{H}^{p-2}(B;\mathbb{Z}) \oplus \tilde{H}^{p-4}(B;\mathbb{Z}).$$

- 32. (5) Let \mathscr{L}^* be a differential sheaf on X that is Φ -acyclic and bounded below. Suppose that $\mathscr{H}^q(\mathscr{L}^*) = 0$ for $0 \neq q < n$ and that each point $x \in X$ has a neighborhood U such that the restriction $H^n(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*)) \to$ $H^n(\Gamma_{\Phi\cap U}(\mathscr{L}^*|U))$ is zero. Then show that the edge homomorphism $\eta^k :$ $H^k_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{H}^0(\mathscr{L}^*)) = E_2^{k,0} \to E_\infty^{k,0} \to H^k(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*))$ of the spectral sequence of IV-2.1 is an isomorphism for $k \leq n$. Also translate this into a statement about singular cohomology.
- 33. (§) With the hypotheses of 2.2, suppose that $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{H}^{N}(\mathscr{L}^{*})) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{H}^{N}(\mathscr{M}^{*}))$ is a monomorphism (respectively, an epimorphism). Then show that the map $H^{N}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^{*})) \to H^{N}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{M}^{*}))$ is a monomorphism (respectively, an epimorphism).

Chapter V Borel-Moore Homology

Throughout this chapter all spaces dealt with are assumed to be locally compact Hausdorff spaces. The base ring L will be taken to be a principal ideal domain, and all sheaves are assumed to be sheaves of L-modules. Note that over a principal ideal domain (and, more generally, over a Dedekind domain) a module is injective if and only if it is divisible.

We shall develop a homology theory, the Borel-Moore homology theory, for locally compact pairs, with coefficients in a sheaf, and with supports in an arbitrary family. For *constant coefficients* and *compact supports* the theory satisfies the axioms of Eilenberg-Steenrod-Milnor on the full category of locally compact pairs and maps. Thus, it coincides with singular homology on locally finite CW-complexes. In Section 12 we show, more generally, that it coincides with singular homology on *HLC* spaces.

The usefulness of the Borel-Moore homology theory lies largely in the fact that this theory corrects some of the "defects" of classical homology theories. The Čech homology theory is not exact, even for compact pairs, and this is a major fault of that theory. Also, singular homology (and cohomology) does not behave well with respect to dimension. The Borel-Moore homology theory does not possess these defects. However, it achieves this by sacrificing other desirable properties (and we shall show that such a sacrifice is necessary). For example, the homology group in dimension zero is generally rather complicated. Also, the group in dimension -1 is not obviously zero, although it does turn out to be so in most cases of interest (no case is known where it fails to be zero). A somewhat troubling "defect" of Borel-Moore theory is that it fails to satisfy "change of rings," that is, the homology groups may depend on the choice of base ring. Although this fault can be circumvented if one is willing to have a theory that is not defined for arbitrary sheaves of coefficients, that sacrifice is, to the author's mind, too great. Also, we shall show that this sacrifice is necessary if one wishes to maintain certain other desirable qualities. All these faults are present only when dealing with spaces with "bad" local properties. On the category of clc_L^∞ spaces, we shall show that all these faults disappear; see Sections 12 through 15.

An important property of the Borel-Moore homology theory is that it is closely related to the sheaf-theoretic cohomology theory. In fact, it is a sort of co-cohomology based on sheaf cohomology. This relationship with sheaf cohomology is exemplified by the universal coefficient formulas (9) and 12.8, the mixed homology-cohomology Künneth formula (58), the cap product (Section 10), the basic spectral sequences (Section 8), and the Poincaré duality theorem (Section 9). In Section 1, we consider the notion of a cosheaf, which is a type of dual to the notion of a sheaf, and in Section 2, we define the basic notion of the dual (differential sheaf) of a differential cosheaf. For most of the chapter the notion of a cosheaf plays a predominantly terminological role, while in Sections 12, 13, and 14 it takes on more significance. See Chapter VI for further development.

The homology theory itself is defined, in Section 3, from a canonical chain complex. In Section 4 it is shown that for suitable supports and coefficient sheaves, every map of spaces induces a natural map on the chain groups of the spaces in question. (This basic property is more complicated in Borel-Moore theory than in the classical theories.) In Section 5, relative homology is introduced, the main problem being to show that the chain groups of a subspace can be canonically embedded as a subcomplex of the chain groups of the ambient space. In the same section, the axiom of excision and the relationship of the homology of a space to that of the members of the support family are considered.

In Section 6 we prove a Vietoris mapping theorem for homology with an arbitrary coefficient sheaf, and this is used to verify the homotopy invariance property for this homology theory.

In Section 7 the homology sheaf of a map is defined. It is analogous to the Leray sheaf and generalizes the sheaf of local homology groups of a space defined in Section 3.

In Section 8 the (mixed homology-cohomology) spectral sequence of a map is defined. Unlike the Leray spectral sequence, the main case of interest is that of the identity map. In this case, the spectral sequence leads to the Poincaré duality theorem of Section 9, which is the central focus of this chapter.

In Section 10 we define the cap product and study its relationship to the cup product and to Poincaré duality. It is applied to intersection theory in Section 11.

In Sections 12 and 13 we prove, among other things, that the homology of an HLC space coincides with the classical singular homology of the space. A universal coefficient formula for clc_L^{∞} spaces is also obtained.

A Künneth formula relating the homology of a product space to the homology of its factors is obtained in Section 14 for clc_L^{∞} spaces.

The problem of change of rings is considered in Section 15. An example is given to show that the homology groups may depend on the base ring. It is then shown that in some cases (e.g., for clc_L^{∞} spaces) the homology groups *are* independent of the base ring.

In Sections 16–18 we study homology (and cohomology) manifolds fairly extensively.

Finally, the transfer map and the Smith theory of periodic transformations are studied in Sections 19 and 20.

Throughout this chapter we will use $\dim_{\Phi} X$ as an abbreviation for $\dim_{\Phi,L} X$.

1 Cosheaves

In this section we introduce, and study to a small extent, some elementary notions dual to those of a sheaf and presheaf. As stated above, throughout this chapter L stands for a given base ring that is a principal ideal domain.

1.1. Definition. A "precosheaf" \mathfrak{A} on X is a covariant functor from the category of open subsets of X to that of L-modules. A precosheaf is a "cosheaf" if the sequence

$$\bigoplus_{\langle \alpha,\beta\rangle}\mathfrak{A}(U_{\alpha}\cap U_{\beta}) \overset{g}{\longrightarrow} \bigoplus_{\alpha}\mathfrak{A}(U_{\alpha}) \overset{f}{\longrightarrow}\mathfrak{A}(U) \to 0$$

is exact for all collections $\{U_{\alpha}\}$ of open sets with $U = \bigcup_{\alpha} U_{\alpha}$, where $g = \sum_{\langle \alpha,\beta \rangle} (i_{U_{\alpha},U_{\alpha,\beta}} - i_{U_{\beta},U_{\alpha,\beta}})$ and $f = \sum_{\alpha} i_{U,U_{\alpha}}$ ($i_{U,V}$ being the canonical homomorphism $\mathfrak{A}(V) \to \mathfrak{A}(U)$ for $V \subset U$).

The constant precosheaf L is the precosheaf taking the value L on each U. There is no generally acceptable notion of a constant cosheaf on spaces that are not locally connected (a point to be commented upon later), but on locally connected spaces, a suitable notion of constant cosheaf is the precosheaf assigning to U the free L-module on the components of U. (To see this, use Exercise 3 and consider the simplicial Mayer-Vietoris sequence of the nerve of triples $(U, V, U \cap V)$.)

1.2. Definition. A cosheaf \mathfrak{A} is said to be "flabby" if $i_{X,U} : \mathfrak{A}(U) \to \mathfrak{A}(X)$ is a monomorphism for each open $U \subset X$.

Note that the constant cosheaf (when it exists) is usually not flabby.

1.3. An important example is that of the singular cosheaf, which is defined as follows: Let $S_p(U)$ be the singular chain group¹ in degree p of U with coefficients in L. This gives a precosheaf but not a cosheaf. Take the direct limit under barycentric subdivision of $S_p(U)$. That is, if $A_n = S_p(U)$ for all n = 1, 2, ... and $A_n \to A_{n+1}$ is the subdivision homomorphism, let $\mathfrak{S}_p(U) = \underline{\lim} A_n$. The reader may check that indeed, \mathfrak{S}_p is a flabby cosheaf on X; see Exercises 3 and 4. Note that the canonical map $S_p(X) \to \mathfrak{S}_p(X)$ induces an isomorphism

$$H_p(S_*(X)) \xrightarrow{\approx} H_p(\mathfrak{S}_*(X))$$

since homology commutes with direct limits. When necessary, we shall denote the singular cosheaf \mathfrak{S}_* by $\mathfrak{S}_*(X; L)$.

1.4. Definition. Let \mathfrak{A} be a flabby cosheaf and let $s \in \mathfrak{A}(U)$. Let $|s| \subset U$ (the "support" of s) be defined by: $x \notin |s|$ if there is an open set $V \subset U$ with $x \notin V$ and with $s \in \text{Im}(i_{U,V} : \mathfrak{A}(V) \to \mathfrak{A}(U))$.

¹Also denoted by $\Delta_p^c(U)$ in I-Exercise 12.

1.5. Proposition. Let \mathfrak{A} be a flabby cosheaf and let $s \in \mathfrak{A}(U)$. Then |s| is compact, and for $V \subset U$ open, $|s| \subset V \Leftrightarrow s \in \operatorname{Im} i_{U,V}$. Moreover, $|s| = \emptyset \Leftrightarrow s = 0$.

Proof. It is immediate that $s \in \operatorname{Im} i_{U,V} \Rightarrow |s| \subset V$. Let $\{U_{\alpha}\}$ be a covering of U by open sets that are relatively compact in U, and let $s \in \mathfrak{A}(U)$. Then, immediately from Definition 1.1, $s \in \operatorname{Im} i_{U,W}$ for some W that is the union of a finite number of the U_{α} . Thus |s| is contained in a compact subset of U. If $x \notin |s|$, then $s \in \operatorname{Im} i_{U,U-\{x\}}$, whence |s| is contained in some compact subset of $U - \{x\}$. It follows that x has a neighborhood disjoint from |s|, whence |s| is compact.

Now suppose that $s = i_{U,P}(s_P)$ and $s = i_{U,Q}(s_Q)$ for some open sets $P, Q \subset U$. In the commutative diagram

the verticals are monomorphic since \mathfrak{A} is flabby. The element $\langle s_P, -s_Q \rangle$ of $\mathfrak{A}(P) \oplus \mathfrak{A}(Q)$ maps to $f\langle s, -s \rangle = s - s = 0$ in $\mathfrak{A}(U)$, whence it maps to zero in $\mathfrak{A}(P \cup Q)$. Therefore there is an element $s_{P \cap Q} \in \mathfrak{A}(P \cap Q)$ with $\langle s_P, -s_Q \rangle = g(s_{P \cap Q}) = \langle i_{P,P \cap Q}(s_{P \cap Q}), -i_{Q,P \cap Q}(s_{P \cap Q}) \rangle$, whence $s \in$ Im $i_{U,P \cap Q}$.

Suppose now that $|s| \subset V \subset U$. We wish to show that $s \in \operatorname{Im} i_{U,V}$. There is a relatively compact open set $W \subset U$ with $s \in \operatorname{Im} i_{U,W}$, and it is no loss of generality to assume that $V \subset W$. If $x \in \overline{W} - V$ then $x \notin |s|$, so that there is a compact neighborhood N_x of x with $s \in \operatorname{Im} i_{U,U-N_x}$. There is a finite set $\{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$ such that $\overline{W} - V \subset N_{x_1} \cup \cdots \cup N_{x_n}$. Let $V_i = U - N_{x_i}$. Since

 $s \in \operatorname{Im} i_{U,W} \cap \operatorname{Im} i_{U,V_1} \cap \cdots \cap \operatorname{Im} i_{U,V_n},$

we have that $s \in \operatorname{Im} i_{U,Q}$, where $Q = W \cap V_1 \cap \cdots \cap V_n = W \cap \bigcap (U - N_{x_i}) = W - \bigcup N_{x_i} \subset V$, as required.

If $|s| = \emptyset$, then this shows that $s \in \text{Im } i_{U,\emptyset} = 0$, so that s = 0. \Box

The following proposition, together with 1.8, characterizes the class of flabby cosheaves as the class of cosheaves of sections with compact support of c-soft sheaves.

1.6. Proposition. If \mathscr{L} is a c-soft sheaf then the precosheaf $\Gamma_c \mathscr{L}$, where

$$(\Gamma_c \mathscr{L})(U) = \Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}|U),$$

is a flabby cosheaf. This cosheaf will also be denoted by^2

$$\Gamma_c\{\mathscr{L}\} = \Gamma_c\mathscr{L}.$$

²Note that it is the absence of parentheses or the use of braces that distinguishes this from the group $\Gamma_{c}(\mathscr{L})$.

Proof. By Exercise 3 it suffices to show that

 $\Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}|U \cap V) \to \Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}|U) \oplus \Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}|V) \to \Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}|U \cup V) \to 0$

is exact for U, V open, since part (b) of that exercise clearly holds for $\mathfrak{A} = \Gamma_c \mathscr{L}$. But this follows from the Mayer-Vietoris sequence (27) on page 94.

Now we wish to prove the converse of 1.6. Let \mathfrak{A} be a flabby cosheaf and let A be the presheaf defined by $A(U) = \mathfrak{A}(X)/\mathfrak{A}_{X-U}(X)$, where

$$\mathfrak{A}_B(X) = \{s \in \mathfrak{A}(X) \mid |s| \subset B\}.$$

Let $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{Sheaf}(A)$. Note that

$$\mathscr{A}_x = \mathfrak{A}(X)/\mathfrak{A}_{X-\{x\}}(X).$$

There is the canonical map

$$\theta: \mathfrak{A}(X) \to \mathscr{A}(X).$$

Clearly, $\theta(s)(x) = 0 \Leftrightarrow |s| \subset X - \{x\}$. Thus $|\theta(s)| = |s|$, and in particular, θ maps $\mathfrak{A}(X)$ into $\Gamma_c(\mathscr{A})$ monomorphically. We shall show that θ maps onto $\Gamma_c(\mathscr{A})$.

1.7. Lemma. Let $U \subset X$ be open and let $t \in \mathcal{A}(U)$. Suppose that $s_1, s_2 \in \mathfrak{A}(X)$ are given such that $\theta(s_1)|U_i = t|U_i$ for some open sets $U_i \subset U$, i = 1, 2. If V_i is any open set with closure in U_i , i = 1, 2, then there exists an element $s \in \mathfrak{A}(X)$ such that $\theta(s)|(V_1 \cup V_2) = t|(V_1 \cup V_2)$.

Proof. Since $|s_1 - s_2| = |\theta(s_1 - s_2)| = |\theta(s_1) - \theta(s_2)|$ is contained in $X - (U_1 \cap U_2)$, it is also contained in $(X - \overline{V}_1) \cup (X - \overline{V}_2)$. Since \mathfrak{A} is a cosheaf, there exist elements $t_i \in \mathfrak{A}(X)$, i = 1, 2, with $|t_i| \subset X - \overline{V}_i$ and with $s_1 - s_2 = t_1 - t_2$. Let $s = s_1 - t_1 = s_2 - t_2$. Then

$$\theta(s)|V_i = \theta(s_i)|V_i = t|V_i,$$

for i = 1, 2, as claimed.

1.8. Proposition. Every flabby cosheaf \mathfrak{A} has the form $\mathfrak{A} = \Gamma_c \mathscr{A}$ for a unique c-soft sheaf \mathscr{A} . Moreover, the sheaf \mathscr{A} is torsion-free $\Leftrightarrow |ms| = |s|$ for all $s \in \mathfrak{A}(X)$ and all $0 \neq m \in L$. (In this case, we say that \mathfrak{A} is "torsion-free.")

Proof. With the preceding notation, we claim that θ maps onto $\Gamma_c(\mathscr{A})$. Indeed, let $t \in \Gamma_c(\mathscr{A})$, and cover |t| by open sets $U_1, ..., U_n$ such that there exist elements $s_i \in \mathfrak{A}(X)$ with $\theta(s_i)|U_i = t|U_i$. (Such a covering exists by the definition of \mathscr{A} .) Let $U_0 = X - |t|$ and $s_0 = 0$. There exists a covering of X by open sets $V_0, V_1, ..., V_n$ with $\overline{V}_i \subset U_i$, and an easy induction on Lemma 1.7 shows that there exists an element $s \in \mathfrak{A}(X)$ with $\theta(s) = t$ on all of X.

Since \mathfrak{A} is flabby, $\mathfrak{A}(U) \approx \mathfrak{A}_U(X)$, and hence θ maps $\mathfrak{A}(U)$ isomorphically onto $\Gamma_{c|U}(\mathscr{A}) = \Gamma_c(\mathscr{A}|U)$.

To show that \mathscr{A} is c-soft, let $K \subset X$ be compact and let $t \in \mathscr{A}(K)$. By II-9.5 there is an extension $t' \in \mathscr{A}(U)$ of t to some open neighborhood U of K. Let $\{U_i\}$, i = 1, ..., n, be an open covering of K in U such that there are elements $s_i \in \mathfrak{A}(X)$ with $\theta(s_i)|U_i = t'|U_i$. Again, an inductive use of Lemma 1.7 shows that there exists an element $s \in \mathfrak{A}(X)$ with $\theta(s)|V = t'|V$ for some neighborhood V of K. Thus $\theta(s)$ is an extension of t to $\Gamma_c(\mathscr{A})$.

To show that \mathscr{A} is unique, let \mathscr{B} be a *c*-soft sheaf such that $\mathfrak{A} \approx \Gamma_c \mathscr{B}$ naturally. That is, suppose that $\mathfrak{A}(U) \approx \Gamma_c(\mathscr{B}|U)$ naturally in U. Let \mathscr{A} be, as in the construction, the sheaf generated by the presheaf

$$A: U \mapsto \frac{\mathfrak{A}(X)}{\mathfrak{A}_{X-U}(X)} \approx \frac{\Gamma_c \mathscr{B}}{\{s \in \Gamma_c(\mathscr{B}) \, | \, |s| \subset X-U\}}$$

There is the canonical map $\lambda : \mathfrak{A}(X) \approx \Gamma_c(\mathscr{B}) \to \mathscr{B}(U)$, which fits in the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathfrak{A}_{X-U}(X) \to \mathfrak{A}(X) \xrightarrow{\lambda} \mathscr{B}(U),$$

and so λ induces a monomorphism $A(U) \xrightarrow{\lambda'} \mathscr{B}(U)$ of presheaves and hence a monomorphism $\mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{\lambda''} \mathscr{B}$ of the generated sheaves. Now, the restriction of sections $\rho_x : \Gamma_c(\mathscr{B}) \to \mathscr{B}_x$ factors as $\Gamma_c(\mathscr{B}) \to A(U) \to \mathscr{B}_x$, for neighborhoods U of x. Hence, in the direct limit, ρ_x factors as $\Gamma_c(\mathscr{B}) \to \mathscr{A}_x \xrightarrow{\lambda''_x} \mathscr{B}_x$. Since \mathscr{B} is c-soft, ρ_x is surjective, and so the monomorphism λ''_x is an isomorphism, whence $\lambda'' : \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B}$ is an isomorphism.

For the last statement, let $s \in \mathfrak{A}(X) = \Gamma_c(\mathscr{A})$. If \mathscr{A} is torsion-free then it is clear that |ms| = |s|. Conversely, if \mathscr{A} is not torsion-free, then some \mathscr{A}_x has *m*-torsion for some integer m > 1; that is, there exists an element $0 \neq s_x \in \mathscr{A}_x$ with $ms_x = 0$. Since \mathscr{A} is *c*-soft, there is a section $s \in \Gamma_c(\mathscr{A})$ having value s_x at x. Then $x \in |s| - |ms|$, so that $|s| \neq |ms|$.

1.9. Let \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{B} be flabby cosheaves on X, where $\mathfrak{A} = \Gamma_c \mathscr{A}$ and $\mathfrak{B} = \Gamma_c \mathscr{B}$ with \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} c-soft. Let $h : \mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{B}$ be a homomorphism of cosheaves, i.e., a natural transformation of functors. It follows easily from the proof of 1.8 that since $|h(a)| \subset |a|$ for $a \in \mathfrak{A}(X)$, h induces a homomorphism of sheaves $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B}$ and that the induced map $\Gamma_c \mathscr{A} \to \Gamma_c \mathscr{B}$ coincides with the original h. This also follows from the fact that, for example,

$$\mathcal{A} = \operatorname{Sheaf}(U \mapsto \mathfrak{A}(X)/\mathfrak{A}_{X-\overline{U}}(X))$$

and that the monomorphism $\mathfrak{A}(X-\overline{U}) \to \mathfrak{A}(X)$ maps onto $\mathfrak{A}_{X-\overline{U}}(X)$.

1.10. Proposition. Let \mathfrak{A} be a cosheaf and M an L-module. Then the presheaf $U \mapsto \operatorname{Hom}(\mathfrak{A}(U), M)$ is a sheaf, denoted by $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathfrak{A}, M)$. It is flabby if \mathfrak{A} is flabby and M is an injective module. It is torsion free if each $\mathfrak{A}(U)$ is divisible.

Proof. This is clear since $Hom(\bullet, M)$ is left exact and is exact when M is injective.

Recall from II-3.3 that $\Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}|U)$ is divisible if \mathscr{L} is injective.

1.11. Lemma. Let \mathfrak{A} be a flabby cosheaf and M an L-module. Let $f \in \Gamma(\mathscr{H}om(\mathfrak{A}, M)) = \operatorname{Hom}(\mathfrak{A}(X), M)$. Then |f| is the smallest closed set K such that f(s) = 0 for all $s \in \mathfrak{A}(X)$ with $|s| \cap K = \emptyset$.

Proof. Let K be such that f(s) = 0 for $|s| \subset X - K$. Then f|X - K = 0, whence $|f| \subset K$. If U = X - |f| and $s \in \mathfrak{A}(X)$ has $|s| \subset U$, then $s = i_{X,U}(s')$ for some $s' \in \mathfrak{A}(U)$ by 1.5. But f(s) = (f|U)(s') = 0 since f|U = 0. Thus f(s) = 0 whenever $|s| \cap |f| = \emptyset$, so that the set |f| does satisfy the stated condition.

1.12. Proposition. Let \mathfrak{A} be a torsion free flabby cosheaf and let M be an injective L-module. Then $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{H}om(\mathfrak{A}, M))$ is divisible for any family Φ of supports.

Proof. Let $f \in \Gamma(\mathcal{H}om(\mathfrak{A}, M)) = \operatorname{Hom}(\mathfrak{A}(X), M)$ and let

$$B = \operatorname{Coker} \{ \mathfrak{A}(X - |f|) \to \mathfrak{A}(X) \}.$$

Then B is torsion-free by 1.8, and

 $\operatorname{Hom}(B, M) = \operatorname{Ker} \{ \operatorname{Hom}(\mathfrak{A}(X), M) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\mathfrak{A}(X - |f|), M) \}.$

If $0 \neq m \in L$, $0 \to B \xrightarrow{m} B$ is exact, so $\operatorname{Hom}(B, M) \xrightarrow{m} \operatorname{Hom}(B, M) \to 0$ is also exact, since M is injective; that is, $\operatorname{Hom}(B, M)$ is divisible. Thus there is an element $g \in \operatorname{Hom}(B, M) \subset \operatorname{Hom}(\mathfrak{A}(X), M)$ with mg = f. By definition, g is zero on X - |f|, whence $|g| \subset X - (X - |f|) = |f|$. \Box

1.13. For \mathfrak{A} flabby and M injective, there is a canonical map $\mathfrak{A}(X) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_c(\mathscr{Hom}(\mathfrak{A}, M)), M)$ defined by $s \mapsto \hat{s}$, where $\hat{s}(f) = f(s)$ for $f \in \operatorname{Hom}(\mathfrak{A}(X), M)$ and |f| compact. Now, $\hat{s}(f) = f(s) = 0$ whenever $|f| \subset X - |s|$, by 1.11, and it follows that $|\hat{s}| \subset |s|$. Hence $|\hat{s}|$ is compact. Thus we have the canonical map

$$\mathfrak{A}(X) \to \Gamma_c(\mathcal{H}om(\Gamma_c\mathcal{H}om(\mathfrak{A},M),M)),$$

which is easily seen to extend to a homomorphism of cosheaves:

 $\mathfrak{A} \to \Gamma_c \mathscr{H}om(\Gamma_c \mathscr{H}om(\mathfrak{A}, M), M).$

If $\mathfrak{A} = \Gamma_c \mathscr{A}$ for \mathscr{A} c-soft, then this corresponds to a homomorphism

$$\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{H}om(\Gamma_c\mathcal{H}om(\Gamma_c\mathcal{A}, M), M)$$

of sheaves by 1.9.

1.14. Let \mathfrak{A} be a torsion-free flabby cosheaf, that is, $\mathfrak{A} = \Gamma_c \mathscr{A}$, where \mathscr{A} is a c-soft torsion free sheaf. Note that by II-15.3, $\mathfrak{A}(U) \otimes M = \Gamma_c(\mathscr{A}|U) \otimes M \approx \Gamma_c((\mathscr{A} \otimes M)|U)$ for any L-module M. Moreover, for any sheaf \mathscr{B} on $X, \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}$ is c-soft by II-16.31. Consequently, we shall define $\mathfrak{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}$ to be the flabby cosheaf

$$\mathfrak{A}\otimes \mathscr{B}=\Gamma_{c}\{\mathscr{A}\otimes \mathscr{B}\}.$$

(This notation will not be essentially used until the end of Section 12.)

1.15. Definition. If $f : X \to Y$ is a map (of locally compact spaces) and \mathfrak{A} is a precosheaf on X, then we let $f\mathfrak{A}$ be the precosheaf on Y defined by

$$(f\mathfrak{A})(U) = \mathfrak{A}(f^{-1}(U)).$$

If f is an inclusion map, then $f\mathfrak{A}$ will also be denoted by \mathfrak{A}^{Y} .

1.16. Proposition. Let \mathfrak{A} be a cosheaf. Then $f\mathfrak{A}$ is also a cosheaf. If \mathfrak{A} is flabby, then $f\mathfrak{A}$ is flabby. If $\mathfrak{A} = \Gamma_c \mathscr{A}$, where \mathscr{A} is c-soft, then $f\mathfrak{A} = \Gamma_c \{f_c \mathscr{A}\}$.

Proof. The first two statements follow immediately from the definitions. For \mathscr{A} c-soft, $f_c \mathscr{A}$ is also c-soft by IV-Exercise 1. Then

| = | $\Gamma_c((f_c\mathscr{A}) U)$ | by definition |
|---|--------------------------------------|--|
| = | $\Gamma_c(f_c(\mathscr{A} f^{-1}U))$ | since $(f_c \mathscr{A}) U = f_c(\mathscr{A} f^{-1}U)$ |
| = | $\Gamma_{c(c)}(\mathscr{A} f^{-1}U)$ | by IV-5.2 |
| | $\Gamma_c(\mathscr{A} f^{-1}U)$ | since $c(c) = c$ |
| = | $(\Gamma_c \mathscr{A})(f^{-1}U)$ | by definition |
| = | $\mathfrak{A}(f^{-1}U)$ | since $\mathfrak{A} = \Gamma_c \mathscr{A}$ |
| = | $(f\mathfrak{A})(U)$ | by definition, |
| | | $= \Gamma_c((f_c\mathscr{A}) U)$ = $\Gamma_c(f_c(\mathscr{A} f^{-1}U))$ = $\Gamma_c(c)(\mathscr{A} f^{-1}U)$ = $\Gamma_c(\mathscr{A} f^{-1}U)$ = $(\Gamma_c\mathscr{A})(f^{-1}U)$ = $\mathfrak{A}(f^{-1}U)$ = $(f\mathfrak{A})(U)$ |

proving the last statement.

1.17. Corollary. If $A \subset X$ is locally closed and $\mathfrak{A} = \Gamma_c \mathscr{A}$ for \mathscr{A} c-soft, then $\mathfrak{A}^X = \Gamma_c \{\mathscr{A}^X\}.$

Proof. If $i : A \hookrightarrow X$ is the inclusion, then $\mathfrak{A}^X = i\mathfrak{A} = \Gamma_c\{i_c\mathscr{A}\} = \Gamma_c\{\mathscr{A}^X\}$ by IV-3.8.

If \mathfrak{A} is a cosheaf, M is an L-module, and $U \subset Y$ is open, then we have that

$$\mathcal{H}_{om}(f\mathfrak{A}, M)(U) = \operatorname{Hom}((f\mathfrak{A})(U), M) = \operatorname{Hom}(\mathfrak{A}(f^{-1}U), M)$$
$$= \mathcal{H}_{om}(\mathfrak{A}, M)(f^{-1}U) = (f\mathcal{H}_{om}(\mathfrak{A}, M))(U),$$

286

§1. Cosheaves

so that we have the natural equality

$$\mathcal{H}om(f\mathfrak{A}, M) = f\mathcal{H}om(\mathfrak{A}, M).$$
 (1)

If \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{B} are precosheaves on X and Y respectively, we define an *f*-homomorphism $h: \mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{B}$ to be a collection of homomorphisms

$$h_U: \mathfrak{A}(f^{-1}(U)) \to \mathfrak{B}(U)$$

for U open in Y, commuting with inclusions. Clearly, f-homomorphisms $\mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{B}$ correspond naturally and in a one-to-one manner with homomorphisms $f\mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{B}$ of precosheaves on Y.

1.18. We shall conclude this section with some further remarks on singular homology.

Let $A \subset X$ be a locally closed subspace. For $U \subset X$ open, the classical relative singular chain group $S_*(U, U \cap A)$ can be identified canonically with the free group generated by those singular simplices of U that do not lie entirely in A^3 . Thus $S_*(U, U \cap A) \to S_*(X, A)$ is a monomorphism, and therefore we have the following commutative diagram with exact rows and columns:

This remains exact upon passage to the direct limit over subdivisions. It follows that the precosheaf $\mathfrak{S}_*(X,A;L): U \mapsto \mathfrak{S}_*(U,U \cap A)$ [the limit over subdivisions of $S_*(U,U \cap A)$] is the cokernel of the canonical monomorphism $\mathfrak{S}_*(A;L)^X \to \mathfrak{S}_*(X;L)$ and it is a flabby and torsion-free cosheaf. [The reader should note that the cokernel of a homomorphism of cosheaves is itself a cosheaf. The fact that $\mathfrak{S}_*(X,A;L)$ is torsion-free in the sense of 1.10 is seen by noting that the limit over subdivisions of $S_*(X,A)/S_*(U,U \cap A)$ is torsion-free.]

Let $\mathscr{S}_*(X, A; L)$ denote the *c*-soft sheaf with

$$\mathfrak{S}_*(X,A;L) = \Gamma_c \mathscr{S}_*(X,A;L)$$

whose existence is guaranteed by 1.8. The exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathfrak{S}_*(A;L)^X \to \mathfrak{S}_*(X;L) \to \mathfrak{S}_*(X,A;L) \to 0$$

of precosheaves is clearly equivalent to an exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{G}_*(A;L)^X \to \mathscr{G}_*(X;L) \to \mathscr{G}_*(X,A;L) \to 0$$

³Note, however, that this isomorphism is not preserved by subdivision.

of c-soft sheaves; see 1.17.

Let \mathscr{A} be any sheaf on X, and define

$$\mathscr{S}_*(X,A;\mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{S}_*(X,A;L) \otimes \mathscr{A}$$

and

$$\mathfrak{S}_*(X,A;\mathscr{A}) = \Gamma_c \mathscr{S}_*(X,A;\mathscr{A}) = \mathfrak{S}_*(X,A;L) \otimes \mathscr{A}$$

(with the notation of 1.14). We have the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{S}_*(A; \mathscr{A}|A)^X \to \mathscr{S}_*(X; \mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{S}_*(X, A; \mathscr{A}) \to 0.$$

Let Φ be a *paracompactifying* family of supports on X. Then, since a c-soft sheaf is Φ -soft by II-16.5, the sequence

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi|A}(\mathscr{S}_*(A;\mathscr{A})) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{S}_*(X;\mathscr{A})) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{S}_*(X,A;\mathscr{A})) \to 0$$

is exact.

We define the singular homology group of X (mod A) with supports in Φ and coefficients in \mathcal{A} to be

$${}_{S}H^{\Phi}_{p}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) = H_{p}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{G}_{*}(X,A;\mathscr{A}))).$$

Then we have the exact sequence (for Φ paracompactifying)

$$\cdots \to {}_{S}H_{p}^{\Phi|A}(A;\mathscr{A}) \to {}_{S}H_{p}^{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \to {}_{S}H_{p}^{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \to {}_{S}H_{p-1}^{\Phi|A}(A;\mathscr{A}) \to \cdots$$

and for $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}'' \to 0$ exact, we also have the exact sequence

$$\cdots \to {}_{S}H^{\Phi}_{p}(X,A;\mathscr{A}') \to {}_{S}H^{\Phi}_{p}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \to {}_{S}H^{\Phi}_{p}(X,A;\mathscr{A}'')$$
$$\to {}_{S}H^{\Phi}_{p-1}(X,A;\mathscr{A}') \to \cdots$$

The derived sheaf $\mathscr{H}_p(\mathscr{G}_*(X,A;\mathscr{A}))$ will be denoted by ${}_S\mathscr{H}_p(X,A;\mathscr{A})$. See Exercise 16.

1.19. Consider the natural map of presheaves

$$\Delta^{c}_{*}(X, X - \overline{U}; L) = S_{*}(X, X - \overline{U}; L) \to \mathfrak{S}_{*}(X, X - \overline{U}; L)$$
(2)

(which is the inclusion into the direct limit over subdivisions), where we use the notation of I-Exercise 12 for reasons that will become apparent. Passing to generated sheaves, this gives rise to a homomorphism

$$\Delta_*(X;L) \to \mathscr{S}_*(X;L). \tag{3}$$

Since (2) induces an isomorphism in homology, so does (3). That is, the map

$$\mathscr{H}_*(\varDelta_*) \to \mathscr{H}_*(\mathscr{P}_*)$$

is an isomorphism.

§2. The dual of a differential cosheaf

Now, Δ_* is homotopically fine, by II-Exercise 32, and $\mathscr{S}_*(X; L)$ is c-soft, and hence Φ -soft for Φ paracompactifying by II-16.5. Thus, by IV-2.2, (3) induces an isomorphism

$$H_p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\Delta_*(X;L))) \xrightarrow{\approx} H_p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{S}_*(X;L))) = {}_SH_p^{\Phi}(X;L)$$

when Φ is paracompactifying and $\dim_{\Phi} X < \infty$ (and similarly for arbitrary coefficient sheaves, since $\Delta_*(X; L)$ and $\mathscr{P}_*(X; L)$ are both torsion-free). We also have this result, as already mentioned, for $\Phi = c$ without the condition on dimension.

Note that by I-Exercise 12, $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\Delta_*(X;L))$ is the group of locally finite singular chains with support in Φ (in the obvious sense). Thus, when Φ is paracompactifying and $\dim_{\Phi} X < \infty$ (or $\Phi = c$), ${}_{S}H_{p}^{\Phi}(X;L)$ coincides with the classical singular homology group based on locally finite (finite if $\Phi = c$) singular chains with support in Φ . Similar remarks also apply to the relative case.

2 The dual of a differential cosheaf

Let M be an L-module. M has the canonical injective resolution $0 \to M \to M^0 \to M^1 \to 0$, where $M^0 = I(M)$ and $M^1 = I(M)/M$; see II-3. M^1 is injective since it is divisible and since L is a principal ideal domain.

A differential cosheaf \mathfrak{A}_* is a graded cosheaf together with a differential $d: \mathfrak{A}_p \to \mathfrak{A}_{p-1}$ of degree -1 with $d^2 = 0$. For our purposes, \mathfrak{A}_p will often vanish for p > 0.

2.1. The dual of the differential cosheaf \mathfrak{A}_* with respect to the *L*-module M is defined to be the differential sheaf

$$\mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{A}_*;M) = \mathscr{H}_{om}(\mathfrak{A}_*,M^*), \tag{4}$$

where as usual, the term in degree n is

$$\mathscr{D}^{n}(\mathfrak{A}_{*};M)=\bigoplus_{p+q=n}\mathscr{H}\!\mathit{om}(\mathfrak{A}_{p},M^{q})=\mathscr{H}\!\mathit{om}(\mathfrak{A}_{n},M^{0})\oplus\mathscr{H}\!\mathit{om}(\mathfrak{A}_{n-1},M^{1})$$

and where the differential $\mathscr{D}^n \to \mathscr{D}^{n+1}$ is d = d' - d'', d' being the homomorphism induced by the differential $M^q \to M^{q+1}$ and $(-1)^n d''$ being that induced by $\mathfrak{A}_{p+1} \to \mathfrak{A}_p$. Explicitly, if

$$f \in \mathscr{D}^{n}(\mathfrak{A}_{*}, M)(U) = \bigoplus_{p+q=n} \operatorname{Hom}(\mathfrak{A}_{p}(U), M^{q})$$

and if $a \in \mathfrak{A}_*(U)$, then

$$(df)(a) = d(f(a)) - (-1)^n f(da).$$

Since M^* is injective, $\mathscr{D}(\bullet; M)$ is an exact functor of differential cosheaves.

2.2. If \mathscr{L}^* is a *c*-soft differential sheaf, then $\Gamma_c \mathscr{L}^*$ will be regarded as a differential cosheaf with the gradation

$$(\Gamma_c \mathscr{L}^*)_p = \Gamma_c \mathscr{L}^{-p}.$$

The differential sheaf $\mathscr{D}(\Gamma_c \mathscr{L}^*; M)$ will also be denoted by

$$\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*; M) = \mathscr{D}(\Gamma_c \mathscr{L}^*; M).$$

Note that

$$\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*|U;M) = \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*;M)|U$$
(5)

for open sets $U \subset X$. Also, as above, we let \mathcal{D}_n stand for \mathcal{D}^{-n} . For our purposes, \mathcal{D}_n will usually vanish for n < -1. Note that $\mathcal{D}(\bullet; M)$ is an exact functor of c-soft differential sheaves.

The differential cosheaf $\Gamma_c \mathscr{D}_*(\mathfrak{A}_*; M)$ will also be denoted by

$$\mathfrak{D}(\mathfrak{A}_*;M)=\Gamma_c \mathcal{D}_*(\mathfrak{A}_*;M).$$

When M = L we shall often delete L from the notation.

For a flabby differential cosheaf \mathfrak{A}_* the construction of 1.13 provides a natural homomorphism

$$\mathfrak{A}_* \to \mathfrak{D}(\mathfrak{D}(\mathfrak{A}_*; M); M) \tag{6}$$

of differential cosheaves. This will be used in Section 12.

Remark: The introduction of graded objects necessitates the use of a standard sign convention in the definition of (6) so that it will be a chain mapping. We shall indicate this for graded modules. The generalization to cosheaves follows immediately from the construction of 1.13. For graded modules A_* and M^* , the map $A_* \to \text{Hom}(\text{Hom}(A_*, M^*), M^*)$ is defined by $a \mapsto \hat{a}$, where

$$\hat{a}(f) = (-1)^{(\deg a)(\deg f)} f(a).$$

Note also that

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{Hom}(A_*, M^*), M^*)_n = \bigoplus_s \operatorname{Hom}\left(\bigoplus_r \operatorname{Hom}(A_{n-r+s}, M^r), M^s\right)$$

and that more explicitly, we have

$$\hat{a}(f) = \begin{cases} (-1)^{n(n+s)} f(a), & \text{if } r = s, \\ 0, & \text{if } r \neq s \end{cases}$$

when $a \in A_n$ and $f \in \text{Hom}(A_{n-r+s}, M^r)$.

§2. The dual of a differential cosheaf

2.3. For any differential cosheaf \mathfrak{A}_* we have

$$\mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{A}_*; M)(U) = \operatorname{Hom}(\mathfrak{A}_*(U), M^*),$$

and standard homological algebra provides a natural exact sequence

$$\operatorname{Ext}(H_{p-1}(\mathfrak{A}_{\ast}(U)), M) \rightarrowtail H^{p}(\mathscr{D}^{\ast}(\mathfrak{A}_{\ast}; M)(U)) \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(H_{p}(\mathfrak{A}_{\ast}(U)), M),$$

which splits, nonnaturally; see [54] and [75].

2.4. If \mathscr{L}^* is a *c*-soft differential sheaf, then with the conventional switching of indices, 2.3 becomes the exact sequence

$$\operatorname{Ext}(H^{p+1}(\Gamma_{c}(\mathscr{L}^{*}|U)),M) \rightarrowtail H_{p}(\mathscr{D}_{*}(\mathscr{L}^{*};M)(U)) \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(H^{p}(\Gamma_{c}(\mathscr{L}^{*}|U)),M),$$

which is natural in the open set U and in M and splits.

2.5. Let \mathscr{L}^* be a *c*-soft differential sheaf. By 1.10, $\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*; M)$ is flabby, and it is also torsion-free when \mathscr{L}^* is injective.

Suppose that each \mathscr{L}^p is a module over a given sheaf \mathscr{R} of rings. Then since $\Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}^*|U)$ is an $\mathscr{R}(U)$ -module, so is $\operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}^*|U), M^*)$. It follows that $\mathscr{D}_p(\mathscr{L}^*; M)$ is an \mathscr{R} -module.

Taking $\mathscr{R} = \prod_p \mathscr{H}_{om}(\mathscr{L}^p, \mathscr{L}^p)$ and recalling that a direct product of any family of Φ -soft sheaves is Φ -soft (II-Exercise 43), it follows that $\mathscr{D}_n(\mathscr{L}^*; M)$ is Φ -fine when each \mathscr{L}^p is Φ -fine, where Φ is paracompactifying.

2.6. Note that we have the natural equalities

$$\mathscr{D}(f\mathfrak{A}_*;M) = f\mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{A}_*;M)$$
(7)

by (1), and

$$\mathscr{D}(f_c\mathscr{L}^*;M) = f\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*;M),$$

where $f: X \to Y$ is any map, since if $\mathfrak{L}^* = \Gamma_c \mathscr{L}^*$, then

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{D}(f_c \mathscr{L}^*; M) &= \mathscr{D}(\Gamma_c \{f_c \mathscr{L}^*\}; M) & \text{by definition} \\ &= \mathscr{D}(f \mathfrak{L}^*; M) & \text{by 1.16} \\ &= f \mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{L}^*; M) & \text{by (7)} \\ &= f \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*; M) & \text{by definition.} \end{aligned}$$

2.7. If M^* is replaced by another injective resolution of M, then $\mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{A}_*; M)$ changes by a chain equivalence (unique up to chain homotopy). Thus such a change does not affect homology and similarly does not affect any other matters that we shall deal with. Thus we may replace M^* by any injective resolution of M. For example, if M = L, it is sometimes convenient to let $L^0 = Q$, the field of quotients of L, and $L^1 = Q/L$.

3 Homology theory

Consider the canonical injective resolution $\mathscr{I}^*(X; L)$ of L (see II-3) and note that $\mathscr{I}^*(X; L)|U = \mathscr{I}^*(U; L)$ for $U \subset X$ open. For a sheaf \mathscr{A} on X, we define

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{A}) &= \mathscr{D}_*(\mathscr{I}^*(X;L)) \otimes \mathscr{A}, \\ \hline C^{\Phi}_*(X;\mathscr{A}) &= \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{A})), \end{aligned}$$

and

$$H_p^{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) = H_p(C^{\Phi}_*(X; \mathscr{A})).$$

[Caution: $H_p(X; \mathscr{A})$ corresponds to homology based on infinite, locally finite chains, while $H_p^c(X; \mathscr{A})$ is analogous to classical homology.] Recall that by our notational conventions,

$$C_p(U;L) = \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_c(\mathscr{I}^p(U;L)), L^0) \oplus \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_c(\mathscr{I}^{p+1}(U;L)), L^1).$$

Thus $C_p^{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) = 0$ for p < -1. Since $\mathscr{I}^*(X; L)$ is a module over the flabby sheaf $\mathscr{C}^0(X; L)$ of rings, 2.5 gives the following facts:

3.1. Proposition. $\mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{A})$ is a $\mathscr{C}^0(X;L)$ -module and hence is Φ -fine for any paracompactifying family of supports Φ . Also, $\mathscr{C}_*(X;L)$ is flabby and torsion-free. Consequently, $\mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{A})$ is an exact functor of \mathscr{A} , as is $C^{\Phi}_*(X;\mathscr{A})$ when Φ is paracompactifying. \Box

Thus, when Φ is *paracompactifying* and $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}'' \to 0$ is exact, we have the induced exact homology sequence

$$\cdots \to H_p^{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}') \to H_p^{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \to H_p^{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}'') \to H_{p-1}^{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}') \to \cdots$$
(8)

Danger: It is important to realize that this sequence is not generally valid without the assumption that Φ is paracompactifying; see 3.12.

For $U \subset X$ open, (5) implies that $\mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{A})|U = \mathscr{C}_*(U;\mathscr{A})$. Hence, for any family Φ of supports on X, we have the natural restriction homomorphism

$$C^{\Phi}_{*}(X;\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi \cap U}(\mathscr{C}_{*}(X;\mathscr{A})|U) = C^{\Phi \cap U}_{*}(U;\mathscr{A})$$

and hence

$$i^{U,X}_*: H^{\Phi}_*(X;\mathscr{A}) \to H^{\Phi \cap U}_*(U;\mathscr{A}).$$

We remark that one may think *intuitively* of $H_*(U; \mathcal{A})$ as the homology of the pair $(X^+, X^+ - U)$, where X^+ is the one-point compactification of X; see 5.10.

By 2.4 with $\mathscr{L}^* = \mathscr{I}^*$, we have the fundamental exact sequence⁴

$$0 \to \operatorname{Ext}(H_c^{p+1}(U;L),L) \to H_p(U;L) \to \operatorname{Hom}(H_c^p(U;L),L) \to 0,$$
(9)

⁴This sequence is the main resource for explicit computations.

§3. Homology theory

which is natural with respect to inclusions $U \hookrightarrow V$ of open subsets of X [that is, with respect to the induced maps $H_p(V;L) \to H_p(U;L)$ and $H_c^p(U;L) \to H_c^p(V;L)$] and which is known to split by standard homological algebra. If \mathscr{L}^* is any c-soft resolution of L, we have a similar sequence 2.4 (for M = L). There is a map $\mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{I}^*(X;L)$ of resolutions, unique up to chain homotopy, inducing a canonical map of (9) into the sequence of 2.4 that is an isomorphism on the ends. Thus the 5-lemma implies that

$$H_p(X;L) \approx H_p(\Gamma(\mathscr{D}_*(\mathscr{L}^*;L)))$$
(10)

when \mathscr{L}^* is any c-soft resolution of L. (We shall generalize this later.) By (9),

$$H_{-1}(X;L) = \operatorname{Ext}(H_c^0(X;L),L) = 0$$

because of Nöbeling's result implying that $H_c^0(X; L)$ is free; see the remarks in II-Exercise 34. Also see 5.13 for the case of arbitrary support families and coefficient sheaves.

The derived sheaf of the differential sheaf $\mathscr{C}_*(X; \mathscr{A})$ is called the *sheaf* of local homology groups, or simply the homology sheaf, and is denoted by

$$\mathcal{H}_*(X; \mathcal{A}) = H_*(\mathcal{C}_*(X; \mathcal{A})).$$

Since $\mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{A})|U = \mathscr{C}_*(U;\mathscr{A})$, we have that

$$\mathcal{H}_*(X;\mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{S}heaf\left(U \mapsto H_*(U;\mathcal{A})\right).$$

The stalk

$$\mathscr{H}_*(X;\mathscr{A})_x = \varinjlim H_*(U;\mathscr{A})$$

(U ranging over the open neighborhoods of x) is called the *local homology* group at x of X.

Note that for coefficients in L, the local homology group at x is given by the sequence (9) upon passage to the limit over the neighborhoods U of x. That is, we have the exact sequence

$$\underbrace{\lim}_{m} \operatorname{Ext}(H_c^{p+1}(U;L),L) \rightarrowtail \mathscr{H}_p(X;L)_x \twoheadrightarrow \underbrace{\lim}_{m} \operatorname{Hom}(H_c^p(U;L),L).$$
(11)

It will be convenient for us to consider resolutions of L consisting of sheaves with the following properties:

3.2. Definition. A sheaf \mathscr{L} of L-modules on the locally compact space X is said to be "replete" if it is c-soft and if $\Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}|U)$ is divisible for all open sets $U \subset X$.

3.3. Proposition. If \mathscr{L} is a replete sheaf on X and if $A \subset X$ is locally closed, then $\mathscr{L}|A$ and \mathscr{L}_A are replete. An injective sheaf is replete.

Proof. By I-6.6, $\Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}_A|U) = \Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}|A \cap U)$, which is divisible when A is open, by assumption. By II-9.3(iii), it is a quotient of $\Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}|U)$ (and hence it is divisible) when A is closed. The result follows from the fact that every locally closed set is the intersection of an open set with a closed set. The last statement follows from II-3.3.

By 1.10 and 1.12 we have the following simple but basic fact:

3.4. Proposition. If \mathscr{L}^* is a replete differential sheaf, then $\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)$ is torsion-free and flabby. If \mathfrak{L}_* is a torsion-free flabby differential cosheaf, then $\mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{L}_*)$ is replete. \Box

Let \mathscr{L}^* be a replete resolution of L. Then $\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*) \otimes \mathscr{A} = \mathscr{G}_{heaf}(U \mapsto \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)(U) \otimes \mathscr{A}(U))$. Thus the derived sheaf is

$${\mathscr H}_*({\mathscr Q}({\mathscr L}^*)\otimes {\mathscr A})={\mathscr I}$$
heaf $(U\mapsto H_*({\mathscr Q}({\mathscr L}^*)(U)\otimes {\mathscr A}(U))).$

Since $\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)$ is torsion-free, we have the natural exact sequence

$$H_p(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)(U)) \otimes \mathscr{A}(U) \rightarrowtail H_p(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)(U) \otimes \mathscr{A}(U)) \twoheadrightarrow H_{p-1}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)(U)) * \mathscr{A}(U).$$

Passing to the associated sheaves, we obtain an exact sequence of sheaves:

$$0 \to \mathcal{H}_p(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)) \otimes \mathscr{A} \to \mathcal{H}_p(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*) \otimes \mathscr{A}) \to \mathcal{H}_{p-1}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)) * \mathscr{A} \to 0.$$
(12)

If we take $\mathscr{L}^* = \mathscr{I}^*(X; L)$, then (12) becomes

$$0 \to \mathscr{H}_p(X;L) \otimes \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{H}_p(X;\mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{H}_{p-1}(X;L) * \mathscr{A} \to 0.$$
(13)

On the stalk at x, (13) is the universal coefficient sequence of the chain complex $\mathscr{C}_*(X;L)_x \otimes \mathscr{A}_x$ and hence (13) is at least *pointwise* split. If $\dim_L X = n$, then $\mathscr{H}_n(X;L)$ is torsion-free since it is generated by $U \mapsto$ $H_n(U;L) = \operatorname{Hom}(H_c^n(U;L),L)$. Therefore

$$\mathscr{H}_k(X;\mathscr{A}) = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad k > \dim_L X$$
 (14)

by (13).

We already know from (10) that any homomorphism $\mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{I}^*(X; L)$ of resolutions, with \mathscr{L}^* c-soft, induces a natural isomorphism

$$H_*(U;L) \xrightarrow{\approx} H_*(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)(U)).$$
(15)

Thus, for \mathscr{L}^* replete we obtain a map of the sequence (13) into (12) that is an isomorphism on the ends. By the 5-lemma, the homomorphism in the middle is also an isomorphism:

$$\mathscr{H}_p(X;\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\approx} \mathscr{H}_p(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*) \otimes \mathscr{A}) \text{ for } \mathscr{L}^* \text{ replete.}$$
 (16)

3.5. Theorem. Let \mathscr{L}^* be a replete resolution of L and Φ a paracompactifying family of supports on X. If dim $_{\Phi} X < \infty$, then the map

$$H_p^{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to H_p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*) \otimes \mathscr{A}))$$

is an isomorphism for any sheaf \mathscr{A} on X. (Also see 5.6.) If \mathscr{L}^* is injective, then this holds without the condition on dimension.⁵

Proof. Since Φ is paracompactifying, $\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*) \otimes \mathscr{A}$ is Φ -soft by II-16.31, and the result follows from (16) and IV-2.2. For the last statement note that for $\mathscr{I}^* = \mathscr{I}^*(X; L)$ there are homomorphisms $\varphi : \mathscr{I}^* \to \mathscr{L}^*$ and $\psi : \mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{I}^*$ of resolutions, and the compositions $\varphi \psi$ and $\psi \varphi$ are chain homotopic to the identity. This persists on passing to duals, and so $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*) \otimes \mathscr{A})$ is chain equivalent to $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{I}^*) \otimes \mathscr{A}) = C^{\Phi}_*(X; \mathscr{A}).$

It will be important to have this isomorphism for families Φ that are not paracompactifying (e.g., the family $\Phi|F$ on X where $F \subset X$ is closed). We also wish to have this result in certain cases without the condition on dimension. For this, the coefficient sheaf must be drastically restricted. In order to retain some degree of generality we make the following definition:

3.6. Definition. A sheaf \mathcal{M} on X will be called "elementary" if it is locally constant with finitely generated stalks (over L). For any sheaf \mathcal{M} on X let $\Omega_{\mathcal{M}}$ be the smallest collection of open subsets $U \subset X$ satisfying the following three properties:

- (a) \mathcal{M} constant on $U \Rightarrow U \in \Omega_{\mathcal{M}}$,
- (b) $U, V, U \cap V \in \Omega_{\mathcal{M}} \Rightarrow U \cup V \in \Omega_{\mathcal{M}}$
- (c) $U = \frac{1}{\alpha} U_{\alpha}, U_{\alpha} \in \Omega_{\mathscr{M}}$ for all $\alpha \Rightarrow U \in \Omega_{\mathscr{M}}$.

[Clearly $\Omega_{\mathcal{M}}$ is the collection of all open sets that can be reached from those of type (a) by a finite number of operations of types (b) and (c).]

We say that "the pair (\mathcal{M}, Φ) is elementary" if \mathcal{M} is elementary and each $K \in \Phi$ is contained in a member of $\Omega_{\mathcal{M}}$.

Note that (\mathcal{M}, Φ) elementary $\Rightarrow (\mathcal{M}|A, \Phi|A)$ elementary for $A \subset X$ locally closed.

Also note that if \mathcal{M} is elementary then (\mathcal{M}, Φ) is elementary in any of the following three cases:

- (i) $\Phi = c$,
- (ii) \mathcal{M} is constant,

(iii) each member of Φ is paracompact.

⁵By (15) we also have this for $\mathscr{A} = L$ and $\Phi = cld$ without the condition on dimension.

Case (i) is obvious and uses only properties (a) and (b). Case (ii) is because $X \in \Omega_{\mathscr{M}}$ in that case. Case (iii) follows from the next lemma:

3.7. Lemma. Let Ω be a collection of open sets in a paracompact, locally compact space X. Suppose that Ω satisfies the following three properties:

- (a) Every point of X has a neighborhood N such that $U \subset N \Rightarrow U \in \Omega$.
- (b) $U, V, U \cap V \in \Omega \Rightarrow U \cup V \in \Omega$.
- (c) $U = \frac{1}{\alpha} U_{\alpha}, U_{\alpha} \in \Omega \text{ for all } \alpha \Rightarrow U \in \Omega.$

Then $X \in \Omega$.

Proof. It is well known (see [19, I-12.11]) that a locally compact space is paracompact if and only if it is the topological sum of σ -compact subspaces. Thus, by (c) it suffices to assume that X is σ -compact. We can express $X = \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} F_i$, where the F_i are compact and $F_i \subset \operatorname{int} F_{i+1}$, using σ -compactness. By use of (a) and (b) we can find open sets $V_i \in \Omega$ that are finite unions of sets of the form in (a) such that V_i contains the compact set $\overline{F_{i+1} - F_i}$ and such that the V_{2j} are all disjoint and the V_{2j-1} are also all disjoint. By (c) $\bigcup V_{2j} \in \Omega$ and $\bigcup V_{2j-1} \in \Omega$. Each $V_i \cap V_{i+1}$ is a finite union of sets of the form in (a), and so by (b), $V_i \cap V_{i+1} \in \Omega$. Now, $(\bigcup V_{2j}) \cap (\bigcup V_{2j-1})$ is the disjoint union of the $V_i \cap V_{i+1}$, and so $X = (\bigcup V_{2j}) \cup (\bigcup V_{2j-1}) \in \Omega$ by (c) and (b). \Box

By II-5.13 we have the following result:

3.8. Lemma. If \mathcal{M} is elementary and \mathcal{A} is flabby and torsion-free, then $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{M}$ is flabby. \Box

We shall need the following result particularly for inclusion maps:

3.9. Proposition. If $f : X \to Y$, \mathscr{A} is a flabby, torsion-free sheaf on X, and \mathscr{M} is an elementary sheaf on Y, then there is a natural isomorphism

$$(f\mathcal{A})\otimes \mathcal{M} \approx f(\mathcal{A}\otimes f^*\mathcal{M}).$$

(Also see 4.3.)

Proof. For $U \subset Y$ open, we have the natural map

$$\begin{aligned} (f\mathscr{A})(U)\otimes\mathscr{M}(U) &\to \mathscr{A}(f^{-1}U)\otimes(f^*\mathscr{M})(f^{-1}U) \\ &\to (\mathscr{A}\otimes f^*\mathscr{M})(f^{-1}U) \\ &= f(\mathscr{A}\otimes f^*\mathscr{M})(U), \end{aligned}$$

and hence we have the following map of the associated sheaves on Y:

$$f\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{M} \to f(\mathcal{A} \otimes f^*\mathcal{M}). \tag{17}$$

§3. Homology theory

Both sides of (17) are exact functors of *elementary* sheaves \mathscr{M} [the right-hand side is exact since $\mathscr{A} \otimes f^*\mathscr{M}$ is flabby for \mathscr{M} , and hence $f^*\mathscr{M}$, elementary and since $f(\mathscr{A} \otimes f^*\mathscr{M})(U) = (\mathscr{A} \otimes f^*\mathscr{M})(f^{-1}U)$]. The assertion is clearly a local matter, in Y, so that we may assume \mathscr{M} to be constant. Since the assertion is clear for \mathscr{M} free and finitely generated, it follows for general \mathscr{M} by passing to a quotient and using the exactness of both sides of (17).

3.10. If $0 \to \mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{M}^* \to \mathscr{N}^* \to 0$ is an exact sequence of replete differential sheaves on X and \mathscr{A} is any sheaf on X, then

$$0 \to \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{N}^*) \otimes \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{M}^*) \otimes \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*) \otimes \mathscr{A} \to 0$$

is exact because of 3.4. Also,

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{N}^*) \otimes \mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{M}^*) \otimes \mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*) \otimes \mathscr{A}) \to 0$$

is exact for Φ paracompactifying since $\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{N}^*) \otimes \mathscr{A}$ is Φ -soft by II-9.18. It is also exact for arbitrary Φ when \mathscr{A} is elementary, by 3.8.

3.11. Let \mathscr{L}^* be a replete resolution of L, and \mathscr{M} an elementary sheaf on X. Then $\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*) \otimes \mathscr{M}$ is flabby, and it follows, as in 3.5, that the natural map

$$H_p^{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{M}) \to H_p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{Q}(\mathscr{L}^*) \otimes \mathscr{M}))$$

is an isomorphism for any family Φ of supports on X for which $\dim_{\Phi} X < \infty$. We shall show that the condition on dimension can be replaced by the condition that (\mathcal{M}, Φ) be elementary, but the proof of that must be deferred until Section 5.

3.12. We remark that if $0 \to \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B} \to 0$ is exact, with \mathcal{M} elementary, and if \mathscr{L}^* is a replete resolution of L, then

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*) \otimes \mathscr{M}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*) \otimes \mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*) \otimes \mathscr{B}) \to 0$$

is exact for any family Φ , since $\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)$ is torsion-free and $\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*) \otimes \mathscr{M}$ is flabby. In particular, when $\mathscr{L}^* = \mathscr{I}^*(X; L)$, we obtain the exact sequence

$$\cdots \to H_p^{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{M}) \to H_p^{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \to H_p^{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{\partial} H_{p-1}^{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{M}) \to \cdots$$

for any family Φ of supports on X.

Danger: It is important to realize that this exact sequence is not valid without the assumption that \mathscr{M} be elementary (or that Φ be paracompactifying). For example, let $F \subset X$ be closed, $\Phi = c|F$, and consider the exact sequence $0 \to L_{X-F} \to L \to L_F \to 0$. Then (using some items later in the chapter)

$$\begin{aligned} H_p^{c|F}(X;L_{X-F}) &\approx H_p^{(c|F)|X-F}(X-F;L) & \text{by (34) on page 306} \\ &= 0 & \text{since supports are empty.} \end{aligned}$$

Also,

$$H_p^{c|F}(X;L) \approx H_p^c(F;L)$$

by 5.7, and

$$\begin{aligned} H_p^{c|F}(X;L_F) &= H_p(\Gamma_{c|F}(\mathscr{C}_*(X;L)\otimes L_F)) & \text{by definition} \\ &= H_p(\Gamma_c(\mathscr{C}_*(X;L)\otimes L_F)) & \text{clearly} \\ &= H_p^c(X;L_F) & \text{by definition} \\ &\approx H_p^c(X,X-F;L) & \text{by (35) on page 306.} \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, if the homology sequence for this example is exact, then we would have that $H_p^c(F;L) \approx H_p^c(X, X - F;L)$, which, of course, is almost never true.

3.13. If M is any L-module, then

$$\Gamma_c(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{I}^*(X;L))) \otimes M \approx \Gamma_c(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{I}^*(X;L)) \otimes M)$$

by II-15.3, since $\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{I}^*(X;L))$ is flabby and torsion-free. Thus

$$C^c_*(X;M)\approx C^c_*(X;L)\otimes M,$$

and, by the algebraic universal coefficient theorem we obtain the split exact sequence 6

$$0 \to H^c_p(X;L) \otimes M \to H^c_p(X;M) \to H^c_{p-1}(X;L) * M \to 0.$$

3.14. Let K be a principal ideal domain that is also an L-module. Then homology with coefficients in K (or in any sheaf of K-modules) has two interpretations depending on whether we regard K or L as the base ring. It is not always the case that these interpretations give isomorphic homology groups (as K-modules). In certain cases, however, they do, as we shall show in Section 15.

3.15. Suppose that L is a field and that X is compact. If $X = \lim_{\alpha \to \infty} X_{\alpha}$ for an inverse system of finite polyhedra X_{α} , then

$$\begin{split} H_p(X;L) &\approx \operatorname{Hom}(H^p(X;L),L) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(\varinjlim H^p(X_{\alpha};L),L) \\ &\approx \varprojlim \operatorname{Hom}(H^p(X_{\alpha};L),L) \approx \varprojlim H_p(X_{\alpha};L) \approx \check{H}_p(X;L), \end{split}$$

the classical Čech homology group of X. Since any compact space is the inverse limit of polyhedra, we conclude that

 $H_p(X;L) \approx \check{H}_p(X;L)$ for X compact and L a field.

This is not generally true for $L = \mathbb{Z}$ since Borel-Moore homology is exact and Čech homology, over \mathbb{Z} , is not. In 5.18 and 5.19 we give conditions under which it does hold for $L = \mathbb{Z}$.

⁶Also see 15.5.

298

4 Maps of spaces

Let $f: X \to Y$ be a map between locally compact spaces. If \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} are sheaves on X and Y respectively and if $k: \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A}$ is an f-cohomomorphism, then the induced maps $I(\mathscr{B}_{f(x)}) \to I(\mathscr{A}_x)$ give rise to an f-cohomomorphism $k^0: \mathscr{I}^0(Y; \mathscr{B}) \to \mathscr{I}^0(X; \mathscr{A})$. This, in turn, induces a compatible f-cohomomorphism of the quotient sheaves: $\mathscr{J}^1(Y; \mathscr{B}) \to \mathscr{J}^1(X; \mathscr{A})$. Continuing inductively, we obtain an f-cohomomorphism $k^*: \mathscr{I}^*(Y; \mathscr{B}) \to \mathscr{I}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$ of resolutions.

We now restrict attention to the case in which \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are the constant sheaves with stalks L. For $U \subset Y$ open, we obtain the canonical chain map

$$k_U^*: \Gamma_c(\mathscr{I}^*(U;L)) \to \Gamma_{f^{-1}c}(\mathscr{I}^*(f^{-1}(U);L))$$

and consequently the chain map

$$\kappa_U : \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_{f^{-1}c}(\mathscr{I}^*(f^{-1}U;L)), L^*) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_c(\mathscr{I}^*(U;L)), L^*).$$
(18)

If f were proper, we would have that $f^{-1}c = c$, so that (18), for U = Y, would provide the chain map $C_*(X; L) \to C_*(Y; L)$ and consequently a canonical homomorphism $f_*: H_*(X; L) \to H_*(Y; L)$. It is worthwhile to record the following immediate consequence of this definition.

4.1. Proposition. If $f : X \to Y$ is proper, then there is the natural commutative diagram

with exact rows, for open sets $U \subset Y$, and where $U^{\bullet} = f^{-1}(U)$.

To define f_* in the general case we must digress for a moment.

4.2. Definition. If Φ is a family of supports on X, let $\Phi^{\#}$ (the "dual" of Φ) denote that family of supports on X consisting of all closed sets $K \subset X$ such that $K \cap K'$ is compact for every $K' \in \Phi$.

Obviously, $c^{\#} = cld$ and $cld^{\#} = c$. By Exercise 17,

$$(f^{-1}c)^{\#} = cld(c) = c(Y)$$

is the family of fiberwise compact supports on X.

Now let \mathscr{L} be a c-soft sheaf on X, let M be an L-module, and let $\Phi \supset c$ be a family of supports on X. The inclusion $\Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}) \hookrightarrow \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L})$ induces the map

 $\tau: \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}), M) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_{c}(\mathscr{L}), M) = \Gamma(\mathscr{H}om(\Gamma_{c}\mathscr{L}, M)).$

We shall now define a natural homomorphism

$$\eta: \Gamma_{\Phi^{\#}}(\mathcal{H}om(\Gamma_{c}\mathcal{L}, M)) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathcal{L}), M)$$
(19)

such that

$$\tau\eta = \varepsilon: \Gamma_{\Phi^{\#}}(\bullet) \hookrightarrow \Gamma(\bullet)$$

is the inclusion. Let $f \in \Gamma_{\Phi^{\#}}(\mathscr{H}om(\Gamma_{c}\mathscr{Q}, M))$ with $|f| = K \in \Phi^{\#}$. If $s \in \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{Q})$ with $|s| = K' \in \Phi$, then $s|K \in \Gamma_{c}(\mathscr{Q}|K)$, because $K \cap K' \in c$. Since \mathscr{Q} is c-soft, it follows that there exists an element $s' \in \Gamma_{c}(\mathscr{Q})$ such that s'|K = s|K. If $s'' \in \Gamma_{c}(\mathscr{Q})$ also satisfies the equation s''|K = s|K, then (s' - s'')|K = 0, so that $|s' - s''| \cap |f| = \emptyset$, and by 1.11 it follows that f(s') = f(s''). Thus it makes sense to define, for any such s',

$$\eta(f)(s)=f(s').$$

If \mathscr{L} and \mathscr{N} are c-soft sheaves on X and Y respectively and if $k : \mathscr{N} \rightsquigarrow \mathscr{L}$ is an f-cohomomorphism, then we have the induced homomorphism

$$\kappa: \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_{f^{-1}c}(\mathscr{L}), M) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_{c}(\mathscr{N}), M)$$

and thus

$$\kappa\eta:\Gamma_{c(Y)}(\mathscr{H}om(\Gamma_{c}\mathscr{L},M))\to\operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_{c}(\mathscr{N}),M)$$

Replacing Y by its open subsets U, this yields a natural homomorphism of sheaves:

$$\kappa\eta: f_c(\mathscr{H}om(\Gamma_c\mathscr{L},M)) \to \mathscr{H}om(\Gamma_c\mathscr{N},M).$$

If \mathscr{L}^* and \mathscr{N}^* are c-soft differential sheaves and $\kappa : \mathscr{N}^* \to \mathscr{L}^*$ is an f-cohomomorphism, then we obtain the homomorphism

$$f_c \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*) \to \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{N}^*) \tag{20}$$

of differential sheaves, which specializes to

1

$$f_c \mathscr{C}_*(X;L) \to \mathscr{C}_*(Y;L)$$

when $\mathscr{L}^* = \mathscr{I}^*(X; L)$ and $\mathscr{N}^* = \mathscr{I}^*(Y; L)$. We shall now generalize this map to the case of general coefficient sheaves.

4.3. Lemma. Let \mathscr{L} be a sheaf on X and \mathscr{A} a sheaf on Y. Then the natural homomorphism $f_c(\mathscr{L}) \otimes \mathscr{A} \to f_c(\mathscr{L} \otimes f^*\mathscr{A})$ of IV-(21) on page 215 is an isomorphism when \mathscr{L} is c-soft and torsion-free or when \mathscr{A} is torsion-free.⁷

⁷Note that this is a special case of IV-Exercise 4.

Proof. Recall that this homomorphism is induced by the cup product

$$\Gamma_{c(U)}(\mathscr{L}|U^{\bullet}) \otimes \mathscr{A}(U) \to \Gamma_{c(U)}(\mathscr{L}|U^{\bullet}) \otimes (f^{*}\mathscr{A})(U^{\bullet}) \to \Gamma_{c(U)}(\mathscr{L} \otimes f^{*}\mathscr{A}|U^{\bullet}),$$

where $U^{\bullet} = f^{-1}(U)$, and that on the stalks at $y \in Y$ it becomes the cup product

$$\Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}|y^{\bullet}) \otimes M \to \Gamma_c(\mathscr{L} \otimes M|y^{\bullet}),$$

where M is the L-module \mathscr{A}_y . The latter map is an isomorphism by the universal coefficient theorem II-15.3 under our hypotheses.

If \mathscr{L}^* is a *replete* differential sheaf on X, then $\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)$ is flabby and torsion-free, so that for any sheaf \mathscr{A} on Y,

$$f_c(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)) \otimes \mathscr{A} \approx f_c(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*) \otimes f^*\mathscr{A})$$
(21)

by 4.3. Combining this with (20), we obtain the natural homomorphism

$$k': f_c(\mathscr{Q}(\mathscr{Q}^*) \otimes f^*\mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{Q}(\mathscr{N}^*) \otimes \mathscr{A},$$
(22)

which specializes to

$$f_c \mathscr{C}_*(X; f^*\mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{C}_*(Y; \mathscr{A}).$$
 (23)

The reader may verify that (23) is a $\mathscr{C}^{0}(Y; L)$ -module homomorphism; see IV-3.4.

For any family Ψ of supports on Y, we apply the functor Γ_{Ψ} to (22) and use the fact that $\Gamma_{\Psi} f_c = \Gamma_{\Psi(c)}$, from IV-5.2, to obtain the chain map

$$\Gamma_{\Psi(c)}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*) \otimes f^*\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{N}^*) \otimes \mathscr{A}).$$
(24)

This specializes to a canonical chain map

$$C^{\Psi(c)}_*(X; f^*\mathscr{A}) \to C^{\Psi}_*(Y; \mathscr{A}).$$
(25)

In turn, (25) induces the homomorphism

$$f_*: H_p^{\Psi(c)}(X; f^*\mathscr{A}) \to H_p^{\Psi}(Y; \mathscr{A}).$$
(26)

(Also see Exercise 7.)

4.4. Definition. Let $f: X \to Y$ and let Φ and Ψ be families of supports on X and Y respectively. Then we say that f is c-proper, with respect to Φ and Ψ , if $\Phi \subset \Psi(c)$. A homotopy $F: X \times \mathbb{I} \to Y$ is said to be c-proper, with respect to Φ and Ψ , if it is a c-proper map with respect to the families $\Phi \times \mathbb{I}$ and Ψ .

Recall from IV-5.3 that a family Φ of supports on X is contained in $\Psi(c)$ $\Leftrightarrow (f(\Phi) \subset \Psi \text{ and } f|K: K \to Y \text{ is proper for each } K \in \Phi)$. Therefore we have: **4.5.** Proposition. A map $f : X \to Y$ between locally compact Hausdorff spaces is c-proper, with respect to Φ and Ψ , \Leftrightarrow for each $K \in \Phi$, $f|K : K \to Y$ is proper and $f(K) \in \Psi$. \Box

In this situation we have the natural induced homomorphisms

$$f_*: H^\Phi_p(X; f^*\mathscr{A}) \to H^\Psi_p(Y; \mathscr{A}) \quad \text{for c-proper maps $f: X \to Y$}.$$

In particular, f_* is always defined for *compact* supports (both Φ and Ψ), as should be expected. For closed supports, f_* is defined when f is a proper map.

Let \mathscr{L}^* and \mathscr{N}^* be replete resolutions of L on X and Y respectively, and let $\mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{I}^*(X; L)$ and $\mathscr{N}^* \to \mathscr{I}^*(Y; L)$ be homomorphisms of resolutions. For any f-cohomomorphism $k : \mathscr{N}^* \to \mathscr{L}^*$ of resolutions, the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathscr{N}^* & \leadsto & \mathscr{L}^* \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ \mathscr{I}^*(Y;L) & \leadsto & \mathscr{I}^*(X;L) \end{array}$$

of cohomomorphisms commutes up to chain homotopy, and it follows that the induced diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} C^{\Psi(c)}_*(X;f^*\mathscr{A}) & \longrightarrow & C^{\Psi}_*(Y;\mathscr{A}) \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ \Gamma_{\Psi(c)}(\mathscr{G}(\mathscr{A}^*) \otimes f^*\mathscr{A}) & \to & \Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{G}(\mathcal{A}^*) \otimes \mathscr{A}) \end{array}$$

also commutes up to chain homotopy. Thus the following diagram commutes:

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
H^{\Psi(c)}_{*}(X; f^{*}\mathscr{A}) & \xrightarrow{f_{*}} & H^{\Psi}_{*}(Y; \mathscr{A}) \\
& \downarrow & & \downarrow \\
H_{*}(\Gamma_{\Psi(c)}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^{*}) \otimes f^{*}\mathscr{A})) & \xrightarrow{k'_{*}} & H_{*}(\Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{N}^{*}) \otimes \mathscr{A})). \end{array}$$
(27)

Note that the vertical maps in (27) are often isomorphisms; see 3.5 and 5.6.

The reader may make the straightforward verification of the fact that for

$$W \xrightarrow{g} X \xrightarrow{f} Y$$

we have

$$(fg)_* = f_*g_*.$$

Mapping X to a point induces, for any L-module M, the canonical "augmentation"

$$\varepsilon: H^c_0(X; M) \to M,$$

which is surjective because of the composition $\star \to X \to \star$. The kernel of ε is, of course, called the *reduced* homology group of X in degree zero and is denoted by $\tilde{H}_0^c(X; M)$.

5 Subspaces and relative homology

Let $A \subset X$ be locally closed and hence locally compact. If Φ is a family of supports on X, note that for the inclusion $i = i^{X,A} : A \hookrightarrow X$ we have that $\Phi(c) = \Phi|A$; see IV-5.3(b). Therefore, Section 4 provides the chain map

$$C^{\Phi|A}_*(A;\mathscr{A}|A) \to C^{\Phi}_*(X;\mathscr{A})$$
(28)

and the induced homomorphism

$$i_*: H_p^{\Phi|A}(A; \mathscr{A}|A) \to H_p^{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$$

for any sheaf \mathcal{A} on X. In order to define relative homology, we shall show that (28) is a monomorphism. To do this we must consider the construction in Section 4 in more detail for this special case.

Suppose that \mathscr{A} is a sheaf on X and that \mathscr{B} is a sheaf on A for which there is a surjective *i*-cohomomorphism $k : \mathscr{A} \rightsquigarrow \mathscr{B}$ (i.e., an epimorphism $\mathscr{A}|A \to \mathscr{B}$). Suppose, moreover, that for each $x \in A$ we are given a splitting homomorphism $j_x : \mathscr{B}_x \to \mathscr{A}_x$, i.e., such that $k_x j_x$ is the identity. We then have the induced maps

$$I(\mathscr{A}_x) \xrightarrow{I(k_x)} I(\mathscr{B}_x)$$

Taking the product of these maps, we obtain the maps

$$\mathscr{I}^{0}(X;\mathscr{A})(U) = \prod_{x \in U} I(\mathscr{A}_{x}) \underbrace{\stackrel{k_{U}^{0}}{\longleftarrow}}_{j_{U}^{0}} \prod_{x \in U \cap A} I(\mathscr{B}_{x}) = \mathscr{I}^{0}(A;\mathscr{B})(U \cap A)$$

with $k_U^0 j_U^0 = 1$, for $U \subset X$ open. These induce

$$\mathscr{I}^{0}(X;\mathscr{A})_{x} \xrightarrow{k_{x}^{0}}_{f_{x}^{0}} \mathscr{I}^{0}(A;\mathscr{B})_{x}$$

with $k_x^0 j_x^0 = 1$ and hence

$$\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{I}^{0}(X;\mathscr{A})) \xrightarrow{k^{0}}_{j^{0}} \Gamma_{\Phi \cap A}(\mathscr{I}^{0}(A;\mathscr{B}))$$

with $k^0 j^0 = 1$. (Note that j^0 does not commute with the augmentations, so that we cannot pass directly to quotient sheaves here.) Now,

$$\operatorname{Ker} k_U^0 = \prod_{x \in U \cap A} \operatorname{Ker} I(k_x) \times \prod_{x \in U - A} I(\mathscr{A}_x),$$

and Ker $I(k_x) \approx I(\mathscr{A}_x) / \operatorname{Im} I(j_x)$ is an injective *L*-module, since it is divisible. Also, Ker k_U^0 is the value on *U* of the kernel \mathscr{K} of the homomorphism

 $\mathscr{I}^0(X; \mathscr{A}) \to i\mathscr{I}^0(A; \mathscr{B})$ canonically associated with the *i*-cohomomorphism k^0 . From this and II-(6) on page 41, we deduce that \mathscr{K} is an injective sheaf. In particular, each stalk \mathscr{K}_x is divisible by II-3.3 and hence is injective. Let $x \in A$, and consider the diagram

which is commutative (defining ${}^{\prime}k_x$) and which has exact rows and columns (defining K). It follows by a diagram chase that g is surjective. Thus K is divisible and hence injective. Since K is injective, the bottom row of this diagram splits, that is, for each $x \in A$ there is a homomorphism ${}^{\prime}j_x : \mathcal{J}^1(A; \mathcal{B})_x \to \mathcal{J}^1(X; \mathcal{A})_x$ with ${}^{\prime}k_x{}^{\prime}j_x = 1$. But this is just our initial situation with $\mathcal{J}^1(X; \mathcal{A})$ replacing \mathcal{A} and $\mathcal{J}^1(A; \mathcal{B})$ replacing \mathcal{B} , etc. It follows that by induction and then taking $\mathcal{A} = L$ and $\mathcal{B} = L$, we have the maps

$$\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{I}^{*}(X;L)) \xrightarrow{k^{*}}_{\mathfrak{I}^{*}} \Gamma_{\Phi \cap A}(\mathscr{I}^{*}(A;L))$$

with $k^*j^* = 1$. (Note, however, that j^* is not a chain map.)

Translating (18) and (19), we have the diagram

$$\Gamma_{cld|A}(\mathscr{H}om(\Gamma_{c}\mathscr{I}^{*}(A;L),L^{*})) \xrightarrow{\varepsilon} \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_{c}(\mathscr{I}^{*}(A;L)),L^{*})$$

$$\downarrow^{\eta}$$

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_{c\cap A}(\mathscr{I}^{*}(A;L)),L^{*}) \xrightarrow{\kappa}_{\gamma} \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_{c}(\mathscr{I}^{*}(X;L)),L^{*})$$

in which ε is the inclusion, $\varepsilon = \tau \eta$, and $\gamma \kappa = 1$ (where κ and γ are induced by k^* and j^* respectively). Note that $cld|A = (c \cap A)^{\#}$ by Exercise 17(c).

Let $f \in \text{Hom}(\Gamma_c(\mathscr{I}^*(A; L)), L^*) = \Gamma(\mathscr{Hom}(\Gamma_c\mathscr{I}^*(A; L), L^*))$. Since this is a torsion-free sheaf on A, we have that |mf| = |f| for all $0 \neq m \in L$. Assume that $f = \varepsilon(g)$ and that $\kappa \eta(g) = mh$ for some $m \in L$ and

$$h \in \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_c(\mathscr{I}^*(X;L)), L^*).$$

Let $f' = \tau \gamma(h)$. Then $|f'| = |mf'| = |\tau \gamma \kappa \eta(g)| = |\tau \eta(g)| = |\varepsilon(g)| = |f|$, and it follows that $f' = \varepsilon(g')$ for some g'. We have $\varepsilon(mg') = mf' = \tau \gamma(mh) = \tau \gamma \kappa \eta(g) = \varepsilon(g)$ and hence g = mg'. Therefore $m(\kappa \eta(g')) = \kappa \eta(g) = mh$, and it follows that $h = \kappa \eta(g')$ by torsion-freeness. We have shown that if $mh \in \text{Im}(\kappa \eta)$, then $h \in \text{Im}(\kappa \eta)$. It follows from this fact that the quotient of $\text{Hom}(\Gamma_c(\mathscr{I}^*(X; L)), L^*)$ by the image of the monomorphism $\kappa\eta$ is torsion-free. This also holds if we replace X by an open subset $U \subset X$ and A by $A \cap U$. Thus, the map

$$i_c \mathscr{C}_*(A;L) \to \mathscr{C}_*(X;L)$$

is a monomorphism, and the quotient presheaf, and hence the quotient sheaf, of this is torsion-free. Recall that $i_c \mathcal{B} = \mathcal{B}^X$ for any sheaf \mathcal{B} on A by IV-3.8. Thus we have the canonical monomorphism

$${\mathscr C}_*(A;L)^X\otimes {\mathscr A}\rightarrowtail {\mathscr C}_*(X;L)\otimes {\mathscr A}$$

for any sheaf \mathcal{A} on X. By (21) this map can be identified with a map

$${\mathscr C}_*(A;{\mathscr A}|A)^X\rightarrowtail {\mathscr C}_*(X;{\mathscr A}).$$

We shall regard $\mathscr{C}_*(A;\mathscr{A}|A)^X$ as a subsheaf of $C_*(X;\mathscr{A})$.⁸

For any family Φ of supports on X, the map (28) arises from this by applying Γ_{Φ} and noting that $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{B}^X) = \Gamma_{\Phi|A}(\mathscr{B})$ for sheaves \mathscr{B} on A by I-6.6. It follows that the canonical map (28) is a *monomorphism* for each \mathscr{A} . Thus we shall define the relative chain groups by the exactness of the sequence

$$0 \to C^{\Phi|A}_*(A; \mathscr{A}|A) \to C^{\Phi}_*(X; \mathscr{A}) \to C^{\Phi}_*(X, A; \mathscr{A}) \to 0,$$
(29)

and we also define the relative homology as

$$H_p^{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) = H_p(C^{\Phi}_*(X,A;\mathscr{A})).$$

As usual, we obtain from (29) the exact homology sequence

$$\cdots \to H_p^{\Phi|A}(A;\mathscr{A}) \to H_p^{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \to H_p^{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \to H_{p-1}^{\Phi|A}(A;\mathscr{A}) \to \cdots$$

of the pair (X, A).

We also define

$$\mathscr{C}_*(X,A;\mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{A})/\mathscr{C}_*(A;\mathscr{A})^X \approx \mathscr{C}_*(X,A;L) \otimes \mathscr{A}.$$

Note that this sheaf vanishes on int(A) and that it is a $\mathscr{C}^0(X; L)$ -module. In general, $\mathscr{C}_*(A; \mathscr{A})^X$ is not Φ -acyclic, so that we *cannot* generally assert that

$$C^{\Phi}_{*}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \approx \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}_{*}(X,A;\mathscr{A})).$$
(30)

However, (30) does hold when Φ is paracompactifying, since $\mathscr{C}_*(A; \mathscr{A})^X$ is then Φ -soft, and it also holds when A is closed and \mathscr{A} is elementary, by II-5.4, since $\mathscr{C}_*(A; \mathscr{A})^X$ is then flabby by 3.8 and II-5.8. We record these remarks for future reference:

⁸Note that these sheaves coincide on int(A).

5.1. Proposition. The sheaf $\mathscr{C}_*(X, A; L)$ is torsion-free. Also, the sheaf $\mathscr{C}_*(X, A; \mathcal{A})$ vanishes on int(A) and it is a $\mathscr{C}^0(X; L)$ -module (whence it is Φ -fine when Φ is paracompactifying). For A closed and \mathcal{M} elementary, $\mathscr{C}_*(X, A; \mathcal{M})$ is flabby.

We also let

$$\mathcal{H}_p(X,A;\mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{H}_p(\mathcal{C}_*(X,A;\mathcal{A})).$$

Now, $\mathscr{C}_*(X,A;\mathscr{A})$ can also be described as the sheaf generated by the presheaf

$$U \mapsto \mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{A})(U)/\mathscr{C}_*(A;\mathscr{A})^X(U) = C_*(U;\mathscr{A})/C_*^{cld_U|A}(U \cap A;\mathscr{A})$$
$$= C_*(U,U \cap A;\mathscr{A}).$$

It follows that

$$\mathscr{H}_p(X,A;\mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{G}$$
heaf $(U \mapsto H_p(U,U \cap A;\mathscr{A}))$

Since A is locally closed, we have

$$\mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{A}_A) = \mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{A})_A \tag{31}$$

since

$$\mathscr{C}_*(X;L)\otimes \mathscr{A}_A=\mathscr{C}_*(X;L)\otimes \mathscr{A}\otimes L_A=\mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{A})\otimes L_A=\mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{A})_A.$$

For U open in X we have

$$\mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{A})_U = (\mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{A})|U)^X = \mathscr{C}_*(U;\mathscr{A})^X,$$

so that

$$\mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{A}_U) = \mathscr{C}_*(U;\mathscr{A})^X \tag{32}$$

by (31). It follows that for F closed in X and with U = X - F we have

$$\mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{A}_F) = \mathscr{C}_*(X,U;\mathscr{A}). \tag{33}$$

Applying Γ_{Φ} to (32) and using I-6.6, we obtain

$$H^{\Phi}_{*}(X;\mathscr{A}_{U}) \approx H^{\Phi|U}_{*}(U;\mathscr{A}|U)$$
(34)

for arbitrary Φ . Similarly, from (33) we obtain

$$H^{\Phi}_{*}(X;\mathscr{A}_{F}) \approx H^{\Phi}_{*}(X,U;\mathscr{A})$$
(35)

when Φ is paracompactifying.

§5. Subspaces and relative homology

Moreover, when Φ is paracompactifying, the homology sequence of the pair (X, U) can be identified, by (34) and (35), with the sequence (8) associated with the coefficient sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{A}_U \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}_F \to 0.$$

If $f: (X, A) \to (Y, B)$ is a map of pairs and if Φ and Ψ are families of supports on X and Y respectively with $\Phi \subset \Psi(c)$, then $\Phi|A \subset (\Psi|B)(c)$, and for any sheaf \mathscr{A} on Y we obtain a canonical chain map

$$C^{\Phi}_*(X,A;f^*\mathscr{A}) \to C^{\Psi}_*(Y,B;\mathscr{A})$$

and a map of the homology sequence of (X, A) into that of (Y, B).

The following is the basic excision result for Borel-Moore homology:

5.2. Theorem. Let $A \subset X$ and suppose that Φ is paracompactifying. Let V be a subset of X with X - V locally closed and $\overline{V} \subset int(A)$. Then the map

$$H_p^{\Phi|X-V}(X-V,A-V;\mathscr{A}) \to H_p^{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}),$$

induced by inclusion, is an isomorphism for any sheaf \mathscr{A} on X. This also holds for arbitrary Φ when A is closed and \mathscr{A} is elementary.

Proof. We shall use the relatively obvious fact that for an open subset $U \subset X$, the canonical map $\mathscr{C}_*(U;\mathscr{A}|U)^X \to \mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{A})$ of Section 4 is a monomorphism onto the subsheaf $\mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{A})_U$. Consider the diagram (coefficients in \mathscr{A})

in which the rows are exact.

For $x \in X - \overline{V}$, the maps f_x and g_x are isomorphisms (by the preceding remark), and hence h_x is also an isomorphism. For $x \in \overline{V} \subset \text{int}(A)$, i_x is an isomorphism, so that $\mathscr{C}_*(X, A)_x = 0$. Now, $\mathscr{C}_*(X - \overline{V}, A - \overline{V})_x^X = 0$ for $x \in \overline{V}$, so that h_x is trivially an isomorphism for $x \in \overline{V}$.

Thus h is an isomorphism. Similarly, we see that the map

$$\mathscr{C}_*(X-\overline{V},A-\overline{V})^{X-V} \to \mathscr{C}_*(X-V,A-V)$$

is an isomorphism. It follows that the canonical map

 $\mathscr{C}_*(X-V,A-V;\mathscr{A})^X \to \mathscr{C}_*(X,A;\mathscr{A})$

is an isomorphism, and hence that the induced map

$$C^{\Phi|X-V}_*(X-V,A-V;\mathscr{A}) \to C^{\Phi}_*(X,A;\mathscr{A})$$

(obtained by applying Γ_{Φ}) is also an isomorphism, which is an even stronger result than that claimed by the theorem.

5.3. Theorem. If Φ is a paracompactifying family of supports on X and \mathcal{A} is any sheaf on X, then the canonical map

$$\lim_{K \in \Phi} H_*(K; \mathscr{A} | K) \to H^{\Phi}_*(X; \mathscr{A})$$

is an isomorphism.⁹

Proof. It is sufficient to show that $\lim_{\to} C^{\Phi}_{*}(X, K; \mathscr{A}) = 0$, whence $\lim_{\to} H^{\Phi}_{*}(X, K; \mathscr{A}) = 0$. But $C^{\Phi}_{*}(X, K; \mathscr{A}) = \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}_{*}(X, K; \mathscr{A}))$ and the sheaf $\mathscr{C}_{*}(X, K; \mathscr{A})$ vanishes on $\operatorname{int}(K)$. The assertion follows from the fact that each member of Φ has a neighborhood in Φ . [If $s \in \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}_{*}(X, K; \mathscr{A}))$ has $|s| \subset \operatorname{int}(K'), K' \in \Phi$, then the image of s in $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}_{*}(X, K'; \mathscr{A}))$ will be zero.]

We wish to obtain an analogue of 5.3 for nonparacompactifying families of supports. For this, the coefficient sheaf will have to be taken to be elementary. We shall now work towards this goal.

5.4. Let \mathscr{L}^* be a replete differential sheaf on X and let $A \subset X$ be locally closed with $i: A \hookrightarrow X$ the inclusion. Since $i_c(\mathscr{L}^*|A) = \mathscr{L}^*_A$ by IV-3.8, 2.6 and 3.9 yield the isomorphism

$$\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}_{A}^{*}) \otimes \mathscr{M} \approx i(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^{*}|A) \otimes \mathscr{M}|A)$$

when \mathcal{M} is elementary. If A = F is closed, then $i\mathcal{B} = i_c \mathcal{B} = \mathcal{B}^X$ for any sheaf \mathcal{B} on F, so that 2.6 and 4.3 yield the isomorphism

$$\mathscr{Q}(\mathscr{L}_{F}^{*})\otimes\mathscr{A}\approx(\mathscr{Q}(\mathscr{L}^{*}|F)\otimes\mathscr{A}|F)^{X}$$

for any sheaf \mathscr{A} on X.

5.5. Proposition. If \mathscr{L}^* is replete, $F \subset X$ is closed, and \mathscr{M} is elementary, then there are natural isomorphisms

$$\Gamma_{\Phi|F}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)\otimes\mathscr{M})\approx\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}_F^*)\otimes\mathscr{M})\approx\Gamma_{\Phi|F}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*|F)\otimes\mathscr{M}|F)$$

for any family Φ of supports on X. This also holds when \mathscr{L}^* is only c-soft and $\mathscr{M} = L$.

Proof. The second isomorphism follows from 5.4 and I-6.6. Let U = X - F. The exact sequence $0 \to \mathscr{L}_U^* \to \mathscr{L}_T^* \to 0$ induces an exact sequence $0 \to \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}_F^*) \otimes \mathscr{M} \to \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*) \otimes \mathscr{M} \to \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}_U^*) \otimes \mathscr{M} \to 0$ since \mathscr{L}_U^* is replete [whence $\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}_U^*)$ is torsion-free]. These sheaves are all flabby, since \mathscr{M} is elementary, by 3.8. Consider the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} (\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*) \otimes \mathscr{M})(X) \to (\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*_U) \otimes \mathscr{M})(X) \\ \downarrow & \downarrow \\ (\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*) \otimes \mathscr{M})(U) \to (\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*_U) \otimes \mathscr{M})(U). \end{array}$$

 9 Also see 5.6.

The bottom map is an isomorphism since $(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}_F^*) \otimes \mathscr{M})(U) = 0$. The vertical map on the right is also an isomorphism by 5.4. Consideration of supports shows that we have the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^{*})\otimes\mathscr{M}) & \stackrel{h}{\longrightarrow} & \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^{*}_{U})\otimes\mathscr{M}) \\ & & \downarrow^{g} & & \downarrow^{\approx} \\ \Gamma_{\Phi\cap U}((\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^{*})\otimes\mathscr{M})|U) & \stackrel{\approx}{\longrightarrow} & \Gamma_{\Phi\cap U}((\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^{*}_{U})\otimes\mathscr{M})|U). \end{array}$$

Thus $\Gamma_{\Phi|F}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*) \otimes \mathscr{M}) = \operatorname{Ker} g = \operatorname{Ker} h \approx \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}_F^*) \otimes \mathscr{M})$, as claimed. The last statement follows easily from the foregoing proof with minor changes.

The following is our major result on elementary coefficient sheaves.

- **5.6.** Theorem. Let (\mathcal{M}, Φ) be elementary.¹⁰ Then:
 - (i) The natural map $\varinjlim_{K \in \Phi} H_*(K; \mathcal{M}) \to H^{\Phi}_*(X; \mathcal{M})$ is an isomorphism.
 - (ii) The canonical map $H^{\Phi}_{*}(X; \mathcal{M}) \to H_{*}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{L}^{*}) \otimes \mathcal{M}))$ is an isomorphism for any replete resolution \mathcal{L}^{*} of L.
- If $\Phi = c$, then these statements hold for arbitrary sheaves $\mathcal{M}^{,11}$

Proof. Note that we already have part (ii) for $\mathcal{M} = L$ and $\Phi = cld$ by (10) on page 293.

Let \mathscr{L}^* be a replete resolution of L on X and let $\mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{I}^*(X;L)$ be a homomorphism of resolutions. This induces a homomorphism $\mathscr{L}^*|K \to \mathscr{I}^*(X;L)|K \to \mathscr{I}^*(K;L)$ for $K \in \Phi$, which in turn induces

$$\mathscr{C}_*(K;\mathscr{M}) = \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{I}^*(K;L)) \otimes \mathscr{M}|K \to \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{I}^*(X;L)|K) \otimes \mathscr{M}|K \to \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*|K) \otimes \mathscr{M}|K.$$

Using 5.4, this gives rise to the commutative diagram

¹⁰This theorem also holds under the hypothesis that \mathscr{M} is elementary and $\dim_{\Phi,L} X < \infty$, the proof of which uses 3.11. This case was included in the first edition, but it has been dropped in this edition from the results using this theorem because of the unlikelihood of its usefulness beyond that covered by the (\mathscr{M}, Φ) elementary case, which gives stronger results than the " Φ -elementary" condition used in the first edition. E.g., if X has finite covering dimension, then X is paracompact, and so any elementary sheaf \mathscr{M} is (\mathscr{M}, Φ) -elementary for any Φ .

 $^{^{11}\}mathrm{Also}$ see 3.5 and 5.3.

The reader may check that the vertical homomorphism on the left is the canonical inclusion described at the beginning of this section. Applying Γ_{Φ} , we obtain the following commutative diagram (since $K \in \Phi$):

$$\begin{array}{ccc} C_*(K;\mathscr{M}) & \xrightarrow{f} & \Gamma(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*|K) \otimes \mathscr{M}|K) \\ & & & \downarrow^g \\ C^{\Phi}_*(X;\mathscr{M}) & \xrightarrow{h} & \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*) \otimes \mathscr{M}). \end{array}$$

By 5.5, since $K \in \Phi$, g can be identified with the inclusion

$$\Gamma_{\Phi|K}(\mathscr{Q}(\mathscr{L}^*)\otimes\mathscr{M})\hookrightarrow\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{Q}(\mathscr{L}^*)\otimes\mathscr{M}),$$

and hence it becomes an isomorphism upon passage to the direct limit over $K \in \Phi$.

Assume for the moment that for any replete \mathscr{L}^* , f induces an isomorphism in homology. If $\mathscr{L}^* = \mathscr{I}^*(X; L)$, then h = 1, and thus we would obtain part (i) of our theorem; that is, k would induce an isomorphism in the limit. But then for any replete \mathscr{L}^* , h would induce an isomorphism; that is, we would obtain part (ii) of our theorem.

Thus it suffices to prove part (ii) (only) of the theorem for X replaced by any $K \in \Phi$. That is, it suffices to prove (ii) for the case in which $\Phi = cld$.

Part (ii) clearly holds for \mathcal{M} constant with finitely generated free stalks. An exact sequence $0 \to \mathcal{M}' \to \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}'' \to 0$ of elementary sheaves induces the following commutative diagram with exact rows (see 3.12):

The 5-lemma implies that (ii) holds for all constant sheaves \mathcal{M} with finitely generated stalks, since any finitely generated *L*-module is the quotient of free finitely generated modules.

Now let \mathcal{M} be a fixed sheaf on X with (\mathcal{M}, cld) elementary. Consider the collection

$$\Omega = \{ U \subset X \text{ open } | H_*(U; \mathscr{M}|U) \to H_*(\Gamma(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*|U) \otimes \mathscr{M}|U)) \text{ is an isomorphism} \}.$$

We have just shown that if $\mathcal{M}|U$ is constant then $U \in \Omega$.

Now let $U = U_1 \cup U_2$ and $V = U_1 \cap U_2$, and suppose that U_1, U_2 , and V are all in Ω . The exact sequence¹² $0 \to \mathscr{X}_V^* \to \mathscr{X}_{U_1}^* \oplus \mathscr{X}_{U_2}^* \to \mathscr{X}_U^* \to 0$ induces the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}_{U}^{*}) \otimes \mathscr{M} \to (\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}_{U_{1}}^{*}) \otimes \mathscr{M}) \oplus (\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}_{U_{2}}^{*}) \otimes \mathscr{M}) \to \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}_{V}^{*}) \otimes \mathscr{M} \to 0.$$

Let us temporarily use the abbreviation $G_*(U) = \Gamma(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*|U) \otimes \mathscr{M}|U)$ for open sets $U \subset X$. Then, applying Γ to the preceding sequence and

¹²See II-13.
using 3.10 and 5.4, we obtain the following commutative diagram of chain complexes:

where the first row coincides with the second when $\mathscr{Q}^* = \mathscr{I}^*(U; L)$. By assumption, g and h induce isomorphisms in homology. The 5-lemma, applied to the induced homology ladder, then implies that f induces an isomorphism in homology. This shows that $U \in \Omega$.

Next, if $U = + U_{\alpha}$ and each $U_{\alpha} \in \Omega$, then it is obvious that $U \in \Omega$.

Therefore, Ω satisfies all the properties (a)–(c) of 3.6. Since $\Omega_{\mathscr{M}}$ is the smallest such collection, we have $\Omega_{\mathscr{M}} \subset \Omega$. Since $X \in cld$ we have $X \in \Omega_{\mathscr{M}}$ and hence $X \in \Omega$, which is the desired result.

For the last statement of the theorem, part (i) already follows from 5.3. For part (ii), when $\Phi = c$, consider the homomorphism

$$\theta: \Gamma_c(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{I}^*(X;L)) \otimes \mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_c(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*) \otimes \mathscr{A}).$$

By 3.4, II-Exercise 18, and II-14.5, it follows that both sides are exact functors of \mathscr{A} and commute with direct limits in \mathscr{A} . When $\mathscr{A} = L_U$, for U open, θ induces a homology isomorphism, since

$$\Gamma_{c}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^{*}) \otimes L_{U}) \approx \Gamma_{c|U}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^{*})) \approx \Gamma_{c|U}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^{*})|U) \approx \Gamma_{c|U}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^{*}|U))$$

[by (5) on page 290] and by that part of 5.6 already proved. It follows immediately from II-16.12 that the class of sheaves \mathcal{A} for which θ yields an isomorphism in homology consists of all sheaves.

5.7. Corollary. Let $A \subset X$ be locally closed, let \mathcal{M} be a sheaf on X, and assume that $(\mathcal{M}, \Phi | A)$ is elementary. Then the canonical map

$$H^{\Phi|A}_*(A;\mathcal{M}|A) \to H^{\Phi|A}_*(X;\mathcal{M})$$

is an isomorphism.

Now we shall extend the excision property to more general situations than are covered by 5.2.

5.8. Theorem. Let $A \subset X$ be locally closed. Suppose that \mathcal{M} is a sheaf on X such that $(\mathcal{M}, \Phi | A)$ is elementary. Then

$$H^{\Phi}_{*}(X,A;\mathcal{M}) \approx H_{*}(C^{\Phi}_{*}(X;\mathcal{M})/C^{\Phi|A}_{*}(X;\mathcal{M})).$$

Moreover, if X - A is Φ -taut and locally closed in X, this may be identified with

 $H_*(\Gamma_{\Phi\cap(X-A)}(\mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{M})|X-A)).$

Proof. We have the commutative diagram

in which the rows are exact. The first two vertical maps induce isomorphisms in homology by 5.7, and the result follows from the 5-lemma. The second statement follows from the fact that the bottom of this diagram can be identified with the exact sequence

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi|A}(\mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{M})) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{M})) \to \Gamma_{\Phi\cap(X-A)}(\mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{M})|X-A) \to 0,$$

where the exactness on the right is due to the tautness assumption and the fact that $\mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{M})$ is flabby by 3.8.

5.9. Corollary. Let $B \subset A \subset X$, where $\overline{B} \subset A$ and where A and X - B are locally closed in X. Let Φ and Ψ be families of supports on X and X - B respectively, and assume that $\Phi \cap X - A = \Psi \cap X - A$ and that X - A is Φ -taut in X and Ψ -taut in X - B. Let \mathcal{M} be a sheaf on X such that $(\mathcal{M}, \Phi|A)$ is elementary and $(\mathcal{M}|X - B, \Phi|A - B)$ is elementary. Then there is a natural isomorphism

$$H^{\Phi}_{*}(X,A;\mathcal{M}) \approx H^{\Psi}_{*}(X-B,A-B;\mathcal{M}).$$

Proof. We have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{M})|X-A &= (\mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{M})|X-\overline{B})|X-A \\ &\approx \mathscr{C}_*(X-\overline{B};\mathscr{M})|X-A \\ &\approx (\mathscr{C}_*(X-B;\mathscr{M})|X-\overline{B})|X-A \\ &= \mathscr{C}_*(X-B;\mathscr{M})|X-A. \end{aligned}$$

Thus

$$\Gamma_{\Phi\cap(X-A)}(\mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{M})|X-A)\approx\Gamma_{\Psi\cap(X-A)}(\mathscr{C}_*(X-B;\mathscr{M})|X-A),$$

and the result follows from 5.8.

Applying this to the case in which B = A = F is closed we get:

5.10. Corollary. If $F \subset X$ is closed and if \mathcal{M} is a sheaf on X such that $(\mathcal{M}, \Phi|F)$ is elementary, then

$$H^{\Phi}_*(X,F;\mathscr{M}) \approx H^{\Phi\cap(X-F)}_*(X-F;\mathscr{M}).$$

Let U = X - F with F closed and let $(\mathcal{M}, \Phi|F)$ be elementary as in 5.10. Then by 5.10 the exact homology sequence of the pair (X, F) may be written in the form

$$\cdots \to H_p^{\Phi|F}(F;\mathcal{M}) \to H_p^{\Phi}(X;\mathcal{M}) \to H_p^{\Phi\cap U}(U;\mathcal{M}) \to H_{p-1}^{\Phi|F}(F;\mathcal{M}) \to \cdots$$
(36)

If (\mathcal{M}, Φ) is elementary and if \mathscr{L}^* is a replete resolution of L, then this sequence is induced, via 5.4 and 5.6(ii), by the exact sequence

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}_{F}^{*}) \otimes \mathscr{M}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^{*}) \otimes \mathscr{M}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}_{U}^{*}) \otimes \mathscr{M}) \to 0$$

of chain complexes, which derives from the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{L}_U^* \to \mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{L}_F^* \to 0.$$

5.11. Corollary. $\mathscr{H}_p(X;L)_x \approx H_p(X,X-\{x\};L).$

Proof. Since $\{x\}$ is taut, the theorem gives

$$H_p(X, X - \{x\}; L) \approx H_p(\Gamma(\mathscr{C}_*(X; L) | \{x\}) = H_p(\mathscr{C}_*(X; L)_x) = \mathscr{H}_p(X; L)_x$$
as claimed.

as claimed.

5.12. Example. This simple example shows that 5.10 does not hold for general coefficient sheaves. Let X = [0,1] and $F = \{0,1\}$. Consider the sheaf L_F on X. By (34) we have that

$$H_p(X; L_{X-F}) \approx H_p^c(X-F; L) \approx \begin{cases} L, & p = 0, \\ 0, & p \neq 0. \end{cases}$$

The exact homology sequence of X induced by the coefficient sequence $0 \to L_{X-F} \to L \to L_F \to 0$ shows that $H_p(X; L_F) = 0$ for all p. Then the exact sequence of the pair (X, F) with coefficients in L_F shows that $H_1(X,F;L_F) \approx H_0(F;L) \approx L \oplus L$. This is the left-hand side of the isomorphism in 5.10, but the right-hand side is $H_1(X - F; L_F|X - F) =$ $H_1(X - F; 0) = 0$. Thus 5.10 fails even for closed supports on the compact space [0,1] for the coefficient sheaf $L_{\{0,1\}}$. Consequently, it seems unlikely that there is a general "single space" interpretation of homology relative to a closed subspace analogous to that for cohomology or to that relative to an open subspace. \diamond

Now we shall provide some criteria for H_{-1} to be zero and investigate the nature of H_0^c .

5.13. Theorem. $H^{\Phi}_{-1}(X; \mathscr{A}) = 0$ for Φ paracompactifying and for any sheaf \mathcal{A} on X and also for arbitrary Φ if \mathcal{A} is elementary.

Proof. By 5.6, $H_{-1}^{\Phi}(X;L) \approx \lim_{L \to 0} H_{-1}(K;L)$, K ranging over Φ . But $H_{-1}(K;L) = \operatorname{Ext}(H_c^0(K;L),L) = 0$ since $H_c^0(K;L)$ is free by the result of Nöbeling; see II-Exercise 34. Therefore

$$H^{\Phi}_{-1}(X;L) = 0 \tag{37}$$

for any family Φ of supports.

Let $\mathscr{L}_p = \mathscr{C}_p(X; L)$. For $U \subset X$ open, $d : \mathscr{L}_0(U) \to \mathscr{L}_{-1}(U)$ is onto since $H_{-1}(U; L) = 0$ by (37). Let \mathscr{K} be the kernel of $d : \mathscr{L}_0 \to \mathscr{L}_{-1}$, so that

$$0 \to \mathscr{K} \to \mathscr{L}_0 \to \mathscr{L}_{-1} \to 0 \tag{38}$$

is exact. The cohomology sequence with supports in Φ of the coefficient sequence (38) shows that

$$H^1_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{K})\approx \operatorname{Coker}\{\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}_0)\to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}_{-1})\}=H^{\Phi}_{-1}(X;L)=0$$

by (37). Therefore \mathcal{K} is flabby by II-Exercise 21. The sheaves in (38) are torsion-free, so that (38) remains exact upon tensoring with \mathcal{A} . Its cohomology sequence has the segment

$$\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}_0 \otimes \mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{d_0} \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}_{-1} \otimes \mathscr{A}) \to H^1_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{K} \otimes \mathscr{A}),$$

and by definition

$$H^{\Phi}_{-1}(X; \mathscr{A}) = \operatorname{Coker} d_0.$$

If Φ is paracompactifying, then $\mathcal{K} \otimes \mathcal{A}$ is Φ -soft by II-9.6 and II-9.18, so that d_0 is onto, whence $H^{\Phi}_{-1}(X; \mathcal{A}) = 0$. If \mathcal{A} is elementary, then $\mathcal{K} \otimes \mathcal{A}$ is flabby by 3.8, and so we have the same conclusion for arbitrary Φ . \Box

5.14. Theorem. Let X be locally connected. If either L is a field or X is clc_L^1 , then $H_0^c(X;L)$ is the free L-module on the components of X.¹³

Proof. We may as well assume X to be connected. Then $H_0^c(X; L) = \lim_{K \to 0} H_0(K; L)$, K ranging over the compact connected subsets of X. If L is a field, then $H_0(K; L) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(H^0(K; L), L) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(L, L) \approx L$, and the result follows.

Suppose that X is clc_L^1 . By Exercise 28 of Chapter II we have that $H^1(K; L)$ is torsion-free for any $K \subset X$. If $K \subset K'$ are both compact and connected with $K \subset int K'$, then it follows from II-17.5 that the homomorphism

$$H^1(K';L) \to H^1(K;L)$$

has a finitely generated image. This image is torsion-free, and hence free, so that

 $\operatorname{Ext}(H^1(K), L) \to \operatorname{Ext}(H^1(K'), L)$

factors through zero. Therefore $\lim_{L \to \infty} \operatorname{Ext}(H^1(K), L) = 0$, and we deduce that $H^c_0(X; L) \approx \lim_{L \to \infty} H_0(K; L) \approx \lim_{L \to \infty} \operatorname{Hom}(H^0(K; L), L) \approx L$. \Box

¹³Also see Exercise 26 and VI-10.3.

§5. Subspaces and relative homology

5.15. Suppose that $K_1 \leftarrow K_2 \leftarrow \cdots$ is an inverse sequence of compact spaces with inverse limit $K = \varprojlim K_n$. By passing to a union of mapping cylinders, we may assume that $K_1 \supset K_2 \supset \cdots$ is a decreasing sequence of spaces and $K = \bigcap K_i$. Let M be a finitely generated L-module, and hence an elementary sheaf on K_1 . By 5.5 and 5.6, if \mathscr{L}^* is a replete resolution of L on K_1 , then $H_p(K_n; M) \approx H_p(\Gamma_{cld|K_n}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*) \otimes M))$. Also, $\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*) \otimes M$ is flabby by 3.4. Therefore, a translation of IV-2.10 shows that there is an exact sequence of the form

$$0 \to \underline{\lim}^{1} H_{p+1}(K_{n}; M) \to H_{p}(K; M) \to \underline{\lim} H_{p}(K_{n}; M) \to 0$$

Now suppose that the K_n are all polyhedra, so that their homology is simplicial homology. Then the right-hand term is just the Čech homology $\check{H}_p(K; M)$ of K by the continuity property of Čech homology. Thus the sequence can be written¹⁴

$$0 \to \underline{\lim}^{1} H_{p+1}(K_n; M) \to H_p(K; M) \to \check{H}_p(K; M) \to 0.$$
(39)

Since $H_{-1}(K; M) = 0$, there is the consequence that

$$\underline{\lim}^1 H_0(K_n; M) = 0,$$

which is perhaps not too hard to see directly.

As an explicit instance of this, let each $K_n = \mathbb{S}^1$ and let $K_n \to K_{n-1}$ be the standard covering map of degree n. Then $\mathbb{Z} \approx H_1(K_n; \mathbb{Z}) \to H_1(K_{n-1}; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}$ is multiplication by n. The space K is a "solenoid" and has

$$H_0(K;\mathbb{Z}) pprox \operatorname{Hom}(H^0(K;\mathbb{Z}),\mathbb{Z}) \oplus \operatorname{Ext}(H^1(K;\mathbb{Z}),\mathbb{Z}) pprox \mathbb{Z} \oplus \operatorname{Ext}(\mathbb{Q},\mathbb{Z}),$$

by (9) on page 292. The sequence (39) takes the form

$$0 \to \underline{\lim}^1 \{ \cdots \xrightarrow{4} \mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{3} \mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{2} \mathbb{Z} \} \to H_0(K;\mathbb{Z}) \to \mathbb{Z} \to 0.$$

It is not hard to see that the \mathbb{Z} splits off uniquely, and so we conclude that

$$\underline{\lim}^{1}\{\cdots \xrightarrow{4} \mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{3} \mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{2} \mathbb{Z}\} \approx \operatorname{Ext}(\mathbb{Q}, \mathbb{Z}).$$

It will be shown in 14.8 that this group is uncountable. This also follows from 5.17.

5.16. Proposition. If $\mathscr{A} = \{\cdots \to A_2 \to A_1\}$ is an inverse sequence of countable abelian groups and if $\lim_{\to \infty} \mathbb{I}_{\mathscr{A}} \neq 0$, then $\lim_{\to \infty} \mathbb{I}_{\mathscr{A}}$ is uncountable.

Proof. If $\lim^{1} \mathscr{A} \neq 0$, then \mathscr{A} is not Mittag-Leffler, and so by passing to a subsequence (see II-11.6), we can assume that the subgroups $I_{k} = \operatorname{Im}(A_{k} \to A_{1})$ are strictly decreasing. Let $K_{i} = \operatorname{Ker}(A_{i} \to A_{1})$, so that we have the exact sequence $0 \to \mathscr{K} \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{I} \to 0$ of sheaves on \mathbb{N}^{15} .

¹⁴This sequence is not valid without the finite-generation condition on M. For example, it does not hold when $L = \mathbb{Z}$ and $M = \mathbb{Q}$, as can be seen by computing its terms for an inverse sequence of lens spaces and p = 1.

¹⁵Here \mathbb{N} is the topology on the positive integers from II-Exercise 27.

It follows that $\lim_{\to} 1 \mathscr{A} \to \lim_{\to} 1 \mathscr{G}$ is surjective. Thus it suffices to show that $\lim_{\to} 1 \mathscr{G}$ is uncountable. That is, it suffices to prove the following lemma. \Box

5.17. Lemma. If $\mathscr{A} = \{A_1 \supset A_2 \supset \cdots\}$ is a strictly decreasing sequence of countable groups, then $\lim^{1} \mathscr{A}$ is uncountable.

Proof. Let $Q_i = A_1/A_i$, and note that $\operatorname{Ker}(Q_{i+1} \to Q_i) \approx A_i/A_{i+1} \neq 0$. It follows that $\varprojlim \mathscr{Q}$ is uncountable. Consider the inverse system \mathscr{B} , which is constant with group A_1 . Then we have the exact sequence $0 \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{Q} \to 0$ of sheaves on N with \mathscr{B} flabby.¹⁵ Therefore there is the exact sequence $A_1 = \varprojlim \mathscr{B} \to \varprojlim \mathscr{Q} \to \bigcup \mathfrak{M}^1 \mathscr{A} \to 0$. Since A_1 is countable and $\varprojlim \mathscr{Q}$ is uncountable, $\varprojlim^1 \mathscr{A}$ must be uncountable. \Box

5.18. Corollary. If X is a compact metrizable space with $H^p(X;\mathbb{Z})$ and $H^{p+1}(X;\mathbb{Z})$ finitely generated, then $H_p(X;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \check{H}_p(X;\mathbb{Z})$ naturally.

Proof. Such a space is an inverse limit of an inverse sequence of finite polyhedra K_n . By (9) on page 292, $H_p(X;\mathbb{Z})$ is finitely generated and hence countable. By (39), $\lim^{1} H_{p+1}(K_n;\mathbb{Z})$ is finitely generated, and by 5.16 it must be zero.

5.19. Corollary. If X is compact, metrizable, and $clc_{\mathbb{Z}}^{k+1}$, then we have that $H_k(X;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \check{H}_k(X;\mathbb{Z})$ naturally.

Proof. This follows immediately from 5.18 and II-17.7. \Box

This last corollary is known without metrizability and holds for general constant coefficients; see VI-10.

Note that since $H_p(K; L) \approx \check{H}_p(K; L)$ naturally for compact spaces K when L is a field by 3.15, we must have that

$$\underline{\lim}^1 H_p(K_i; L) = 0$$

for any inverse sequence of compact spaces K_i when L is a field. Since $\underline{\lim}^1$ need not vanish over a field as base ring (see 5.20), this represents a limitation on inverse sequences of vector spaces that can arise this way.

5.20. Example. Let $X_n = \bigcup_{i=n}^{\infty} C_i$, where C_i is the circle in the plane of radius 1/i tangent to the real axis at the origin. We have

$$H_0(X_n; L) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(L, L) \oplus \operatorname{Ext}(\bigoplus L, L) \approx L.$$

Then the inclusions $X_{n+1} \hookrightarrow X_n$ give an inverse sequence whose inverse limit is a point $\star = \bigcap X_n$. Now, $H^1(X_n; L)$ is the free *L*-module on

¹⁵Here \mathbb{N} is the topology on the positive integers from II-Exercise 27.

§6. The Vietoris theorem, homotopy, and covering spaces

the basis $\{a_n, a_{n+1}, \ldots\}$, and the restriction $H^1(X_n; L) \to H^1(X_{n+1}; L)$ takes $a_n \mapsto 0$ and $a_k \mapsto a_k$ for k > n. Dualizing to $H_1(X_n; L) =$ $\operatorname{Hom}(H^1(X_n; L), L)$, we may regard $H_1(X_n; L)$ as the *L*-module of sequences $\alpha = \{\alpha_n, \alpha_{n+1}, \ldots\}$, where $\alpha_k \in L$ and where $\alpha(a_j) = \alpha_j$ for $j \ge n$. For the inclusion $i: X_{n+1} \hookrightarrow X_n$ we have $i_*(\alpha)(a_j) = \alpha(i^*(a_j)) = \alpha_j$ for j > n and $i_*(\alpha)(a_n) = \alpha(i^*(a_n)) = \alpha(0) = 0$. Thus $i_*(\alpha_{n+1}, \alpha_{n+2}, \ldots) =$ $(0, \alpha_{n+1}, \alpha_{n+2}, \ldots)$. That is, i_* is the inclusion $\prod_{i=n+1}^{\infty} L \hookrightarrow \prod_{i=n}^{\infty} L$. Call this inverse sequence of *L*-modules \mathscr{P} . Then we have the exact sequence

$$0 \to \underline{\lim}^{1} \mathscr{P} \to H_{0}(\star; L) \to \underline{\lim} L \to 0,$$

and it follows that $\lim \mathcal{P} = 0$. This shows that the countability hypothesis in 5.17 is essential.

Note that $\mathscr{P} = \prod_n \mathscr{P}_n$, where $\mathscr{P}_n = \{L \leftarrow \cdots \leftarrow L \leftarrow 0 \leftarrow 0 \leftarrow \cdots\}$ with the last nonzero term in the *n*th place. Since the inverse sequence \mathscr{P}_n is Mittag-Leffler, it is acyclic. Since \mathbb{N} is a rudimentary space, it follows from II-Exercise 57 that \mathscr{P} is acyclic, giving another, more direct, proof that $\underline{\lim}^{1}\mathscr{P} = 0$. (It is also quite easy to prove this directly from the definition.)

Now let \mathscr{S} be the similar inverse system obtained from \mathscr{P} by replacing the direct products by direct sums. There is the monomorphism $\mathscr{S} \to \mathscr{P}$. Now the map $\prod_{i=n}^{\infty} L \hookrightarrow \prod_{i=n+1}^{\infty} L$ induces an isomorphism

$$\left(\prod_{i=n}^{\infty} L\right) / \left(\bigoplus_{i=n}^{\infty} L\right) \xrightarrow{\approx} \left(\prod_{i=n+1}^{\infty} L\right) / \left(\bigoplus_{i=n+1}^{\infty} L\right).$$

Call this quotient group Q, so that there is the constant inverse sequence \mathscr{Q} with all terms Q. The exact sequence $0 \to \mathscr{S} \to \mathscr{P} \to \mathscr{Q} \to 0$ of sheaves on \mathbb{N} induces the exact sequence

$$\underline{\lim} \, \mathscr{P} \to \underline{\lim} \, \mathscr{Q} \to \underline{\lim}^1 \mathscr{S} \to \underline{\lim}^1 \mathscr{P},$$

whose terms on the ends are both zero. This shows that

$$\underline{\lim}^{1}\mathscr{S}\approx Q,$$

which is an uncountably generated L-module for any L. In particular, when L is a field, this gives an example showing that $\underline{\lim}^1$ need not vanish over a field. (Of course, the fact that $\underline{\lim}^1 \mathscr{S}$ is uncountable also follows from 5.17, provided that L is countable.)

6 The Vietoris theorem, homotopy, and covering spaces

In this section we consider the homological version of the Vietoris mapping theorem and apply that to prove the homotopy invariance of homology. We also apply the general theorem to the case of covering maps, obtaining a homological transfer map.

6.1. Theorem. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a proper surjective map between locally compact spaces, and suppose that each $f^{-1}(y), y \in Y$, is connected and has $H^p(f^{-1}(y); L) = 0$ for 0 . Then

$$f_*: H_p^{f^{-1}\Phi}(X; f^*\mathscr{B}) \to H_p^{\Phi}(Y; \mathscr{B})$$

is an isomorphism for p < n and an epimorphism for p = n, for all sheaves \mathscr{B} on Y and all families Φ of supports on Y. If L is a field, then f_* is an isomorphism for p < n + 1 and an epimorphism for p = n + 1.

Proof. Let $\mathscr{I}^* = \mathscr{I}^*(X; L)$. By 2.6 we have $\mathscr{D}(f\mathscr{I}^*) = f\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{I}^*)$ since f is proper.¹⁶ By (21) on page 301 we also have the natural isomorphism

$$\mathscr{D}(f\mathscr{I}^*) \otimes \mathscr{B} \approx f(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{I}^*) \otimes f^*\mathscr{B}) = f\mathscr{C}_*(X; f^*\mathscr{B}).$$
(40)

Applying $H_*(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\bullet))$, this yields the isomorphism

$$H_p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(f\mathscr{I}^*)\otimes\mathscr{B}))\approx H_p^{f^{-1}\Phi}(X;f^*\mathscr{B}).$$
(41)

Now, f_* is clearly induced from (41) via the homomorphism $h: \mathscr{L}^* \to f\mathscr{I}^*$ of differential sheaves associated with the canonical *f*-cohomomorphism $\mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{I}^*$, where $\mathscr{L}^* = \mathscr{I}^*(Y; L)$.

The derived sheaf $\mathscr{H}^*(f\mathscr{I}^*)$ is just the Leray sheaf $\mathscr{H}^*(f;L)$ of f. Since f is proper and since each $f^{-1}(y)$ is connected and acyclic through degree n, we have that $\mathscr{H}^0(f;L) \approx L$ and $\mathscr{H}^p(f;L) = 0$ for $0 . Moreover, <math>f\mathscr{I}^*$ is injective by II-3.1. Therefore there exists an injective resolution \mathscr{J}^* of L on Y with $\mathscr{J}^p = f\mathscr{I}^p$ for $p \leq n+1$, and there is a map $j: \mathscr{J}^* \to f\mathscr{I}^*$ extending the identity in degrees at most n+1. There also exist homomorphisms $g: \mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{J}^*$ and $k: \mathscr{J}^* \to \mathscr{L}^*$ of resolutions. Then kg and gk are chain homotopic to the identity maps, and j is chain homotopic to hk. This situation persists upon passing to duals, so that

$$k': C^{\Phi}_{*}(Y; \mathscr{B}) = \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^{*}) \otimes \mathscr{B}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{J}^{*}) \otimes \mathscr{B})$$

is a chain equivalence. Also,

$$j':\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(f\mathscr{I}^{*})\otimes\mathscr{B})
ightarrow\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathcal{J}^{*})\otimes\mathscr{B})$$

is the identity map in degrees at most n, whence

$$j_*: H_p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{Q}(f\mathscr{I}^*) \otimes \mathscr{B})) \to H_p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{Q}(\mathcal{J}^*) \otimes \mathscr{B}))$$

is an isomorphism for p < n and an epimorphism for p = n. But $j' \simeq k'h'$, whence $j_* = k_*h_*$. Since k_* is an isomorphism in all degrees, the result

¹⁶ f being proper implies that $f_c \mathscr{I}^* = f \mathscr{I}^*$.

follows. If L is a field, then we can take $L^1 = 0$, whence j' is the identity in degrees at most n + 1, giving the one-degree improvement. \Box

For coefficients in L one can prove much stronger results from the corresponding facts for cohomology:

6.2. Theorem. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a proper surjective map between locally compact spaces. Let

$$S_k = \{y \in Y \mid \tilde{H}^k(f^{-1}(y); L) \neq 0\}, \quad b_k = \underline{\dim}_{c,L}^Y S_k.$$

For a given integer (or ∞) N let

$$n = 1 + \sup\{k + b_k \,|\, 0 \le k < N\}.$$

Then for any support family Φ on Y consisting of paracompact sets,

$$f_*: H_p^{f^{-1}\Phi}(X;L) \to H_p^{\Phi}(Y;L)$$

is an isomorphism for n , a monomorphism for <math>p = n, and an epimorphism for p = N-1. If L is a field, then f_* is also an isomorphism for p = N-1 and an epimorphism for p = N.

Proof. By 5.6 it suffices to prove the same thing for $f|f^{-1}K: f^{-1}K \to K$, where $K \in \Phi$. But that follows immediately from IV-8.21 and 4.1. \Box

Let us call a space T acyclic if $\tilde{H}^*(T; L) = 0$. It should be noted that if L is a field or the integers, then by (9) on page 292, cohomological acyclicity for a compact space [e.g., $f^{-1}(y)$] is equivalent to homological acyclicity, since Hom(M, L) = 0 = Ext(M, L) implies M = 0 in these cases; see [64] and 14.7.

6.3. Theorem. Let T be a compact acyclic space. Let Φ be a family of supports on X and let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X. Then the inclusion $i^t : X \to X \times T$ [where $i^t(x) = (x, t)$] induces an isomorphism

$$i^t_*: H^{\Phi}_*(X; \mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^{\Phi \times T}_*(X \times T; \mathscr{A} \times T),$$

which is independent of $t \in T$.

Proof. If $\pi: X \times T \to X$ is the projection, then $\pi_* i_*^t = 1$. But π_* is an isomorphism by 6.1, and so $i_*^t = \pi_*^{-1}$.

6.4. Corollary. If $f, g : X \to Y$ are c-properly homotopic maps, with respect to the families Φ and Ψ of supports, then

$$f_* = g_* : H^{\Phi}_*(X;L) \to H^{\Psi}_*(Y;L).$$

6.5. Corollary. If $f, g: X \to Y$ are homotopic maps, then

$$f_* = g_* : H^c_*(X; L) \to H^c_*(Y; L).$$

If f and g are properly homotopic, then also

$$f_* = g_* : H_*(X;L) \to H_*(Y;L).$$

6.6. It is important to notice that the analogue of II-11.1 does not hold for homology. (Indeed, such a homomorphism is not even generally defined.) For example, if f projects the unit circle onto the interval I = [-1, 1], then $fL \approx L \oplus L_U$, where $U = I - \partial I$, and it is easily seen from (34) on page 306 and 6.5 that $H_1(I; fL) = 0$; whence $H_1(I; fL) \not\approx H_1(\mathbb{S}^1; L) \approx L$.

However, such a result does hold for covering maps, and more generally for local homeomorphisms. We shall proceed to establish this contention and to indicate some further facts. In this connection, also see Section 19.

Suppose from now on that $\pi: X \to Y$ is a *local homeomorphism* (not necessarily proper). Since the definition of $\mathscr{C}_*(\bullet; L)$ is of a "local" character, we see easily that there is a natural isomorphism

$$\mathscr{C}_*(X;L) \xrightarrow{\approx} \pi^* \mathscr{C}_*(Y;L).$$
 (42)

By 4.3 there is also a natural isomorphism

$$\mathscr{C}_*(Y;L) \otimes \pi_c \mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{\approx} \pi_c(\pi^* \mathscr{C}_*(Y;L) \otimes \mathscr{A})$$
(43)

for any sheaf \mathcal{A} on X. Thus we have the isomorphisms

$$\pi_c(\mathscr{C}_*(X;L)\otimes\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\approx} \pi_c(\pi^*\mathscr{C}_*(Y;L)\otimes\mathscr{A}) \xleftarrow{\approx} \mathscr{C}_*(Y;L) \otimes \pi_c\mathscr{A}.$$
(44)

Therefore

$$\pi_c \mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{A}) \approx \mathscr{C}_*(Y;\pi_c \mathscr{A}),$$

$$C^{\Phi(c)}_*(X;\mathscr{A}) \approx C^{\Phi}_*(Y;\pi_c\mathscr{A}),$$

and

$$H^{\Phi(c)}_*(X;\mathscr{A}) \approx H^{\Phi}_*(Y;\pi_c\mathscr{A}).$$

It can be shown that the diagram



commutes, where h_* is induced from the canonical homomorphism h: $\pi^*\pi_c \mathscr{A} \to \pi^*\pi \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}$. Since this will not be used, we leave the verification of it to the reader.

§6. The Vietoris theorem, homotopy, and covering spaces

Now let \mathscr{B} be a sheaf on Y, and note that for $y \in Y$,

$$(\pi_c \pi^* \mathscr{B})_y = \bigoplus_{\pi(x)=y} (\pi^* \mathscr{B})_x = \bigoplus \mathscr{B}_y$$

[one copy for each $x \in \pi^{-1}(y)$]. Summation produces a natural map $(\pi_c \pi^* \mathscr{B})_y \xrightarrow{\sigma} \mathscr{B}_y$, and it is not hard to see that this gives a (continuous) homomorphism

$$\sigma: \pi_c \pi^* \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{B}.$$

Note that the homomorphism

$$\pi_c \pi^* \mathscr{C}_*(Y;L) \approx \pi_c \mathscr{C}_*(X;L) \to \mathscr{C}_*(Y;L),$$

obtained from (42) and (20) on page 300, is of this type.]

It can be checked that the diagram

commutes and hence so does the diagram

$$H_{p}^{\Phi}(Y; \pi_{c}\pi^{*}\mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{\approx} H_{p}^{\Phi(c)}(X; \pi^{*}\mathscr{B})$$

$$\sigma_{*}$$

$$H_{p}^{\Phi}(Y; \mathscr{B}).$$

Now, if π is proper, so that $\pi_c \pi^* \mathscr{B} = \pi \pi^* \mathscr{B}$, then the canonical map $\beta : \mathscr{B} \to \pi \pi^* \mathscr{B}$ has the property that $\sigma\beta$ is multiplication by the number k of sheets of π (in this case, π is necessarily a covering map, and k is constant on components of Y). Thus β induces a *transfer* homomorphism

$$\mu: H_p^{\Phi}(Y; \mathscr{B}) \to H_p^{\pi^{-1}\Phi}(X; \pi^*\mathscr{B})$$

(when π is proper) with $\pi_*\mu = k$ (when k is constant). If π is a regular covering map (i.e., if the group G of deck transformations is transitive on each fiber), then we also have that $\mu\pi_* = \sum_{g \in G} g_*$.

Also, see Section 19 for a different, and essentially more general, treatment of the transfer map. Also, with a niceness assumption, an even closer analogue of II-11.1 can be proved for infinite coverings; see Exercise 37.

We note that the discussion in 6.6 is also valid for singular homology with $\mathscr{S}_*(\bullet; L)$ replacing $\mathscr{C}_*(\bullet; L)$. This is not generally the case for the method utilized in Section 19, and indeed, transfer maps in singular homology (or cohomology) do not generally exist for ramified coverings as is shown by the following example: Let X be the union in \mathbb{R}^3 of 2-spheres X_n of radius 1/n that are all tangent to one another at a given common point x. Let $g: X \to X$ be the reflection through some plane through x that intersects each X_n in a great circle. Let $G = \{e, g\}$. In [3] a nontrivial element $\gamma \in {}_{S}H_3(X; \mathbb{Q})$ is constructed, and it is easy to check that $g_*(\gamma) = \gamma$. Hence, if there were a transfer map $\mu : {}_{S}H_3(X/G; \mathbb{Q}) \to {}_{S}H_3(X; \mathbb{Q})$ with $\mu\pi_* = 1 + g_*$, we would have that $0 \neq 2\gamma = \mu\pi_*(\gamma) = 0$, since X/G is contractible.

7 The homology sheaf of a map

In this section, $f: X \to Y$ is a map between locally compact spaces, \mathscr{A} is a sheaf on X, and Ψ is a family of supports on X. For $B \subset Y$, B^{\bullet} denotes $f^{-1}B \subset X$.

7.1. Definition. The "homology sheaf" of the map f, with coefficients in \mathscr{A} and supports in Ψ , is defined to be the derived sheaf $\mathscr{H}^{\Psi}_{*}(f;\mathscr{A})$ of the differential sheaf $f_{\Psi} \mathscr{C}_{*}(X;\mathscr{A})$ on Y. Similarly, if $A \subset X$ is locally closed, then the derived sheaf of $f_{\Psi} \mathscr{C}_{*}(X,A;\mathscr{A})$ is denoted by $\mathscr{H}^{\Psi}_{*}(f,f|A;\mathscr{A})$.

Recall that

Thus

$$\mathscr{H}_p^{\Psi}(f;\mathscr{A})=\mathscr{S}$$
heaf $\left(U\mapsto H_p^{\Psi\cap U^{\bullet}}(U^{\bullet};\mathscr{A})
ight).$

Note that $\mathscr{C}_*(X, A; \mathscr{A})$ vanishes on int A and coincides with $\mathscr{C}_*(X; \mathscr{A})$ on $X - \overline{A}$. Hence, for $V \subset U$ open in Y with $\overline{V} \subset U$ and for Ψ paracompactifying, there are the natural maps (coefficients in \mathscr{A})

$$C^{\Psi}_*(X, X - \overline{U}^{\bullet}) \to C^{\Psi \cap U^{\bullet}}_*(U^{\bullet}) \to C^{\Psi}_*(X, X - \overline{V}^{\bullet}) \to C^{\Psi \cap V^{\bullet}}_*(V^{\bullet}).$$

It follows that

$$\mathscr{H}_{p}^{\Psi}(f;\mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{G}heaf\left(U \mapsto H_{p}^{\Psi}(X, X - \overline{U}^{\bullet}; \mathscr{A})\right).$$
(45)

Clearly, \overline{U}^{\bullet} may be replaced by U^{\bullet} in (45) without changing the associated sheaf.

By (45) there is a canonical homomorphism, for $y \in Y$,

$$r^y_*: \mathscr{H}^\Psi_p(f; \mathscr{A})_y \to H^\Psi_p(X, X - y^\bullet; \mathscr{A}).$$

7.2. Proposition. If f is Ψ -closed and Ψ is paracompactifying, then the homomorphism r_*^y is an isomorphism for each $y \in Y$.

§7. The homology sheaf of a map

Proof. If follows immediately from 5.3 that $H^{\Psi|X-y^{\bullet}}_{*}(X-y^{\bullet};\mathscr{A}) = \lim_{\to} H^{\Psi|X-\overline{U}^{\bullet}}_{*}(X-\overline{U}^{\bullet};\mathscr{A}), U$ ranging over the neighborhoods of y in Y, and the result follows upon consideration of the homology sequences of the pairs $(X, X-y^{\bullet})$ and $(X, X-\overline{U}^{\bullet}).$

Note that if $1_X : X \to X$ is the identity map and if Ψ contains a neighborhood of each point, then

$$\mathscr{H}^{\Psi}_{*}(1_{X};\mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{H}_{*}(X;\mathscr{A}).$$

We now consider the case in which $\Psi = c$ and $\mathscr{A} = f^*\mathscr{B}$ for some sheaf \mathscr{B} on Y. By (21) on page 301 there is the natural isomorphism

 $f_c(\mathscr{C}_*(X; f^*\mathscr{B})) \approx f_c(\mathscr{C}_*(X; L)) \otimes \mathscr{B}.$

The right-hand side is, by definition, generated by the presheaf

$$U \mapsto (f_c \mathscr{C}_*(X;L))(U) \otimes \mathscr{B}(U) = C^{c(U)}_*(U^{\bullet};L) \otimes \mathscr{B}(U).$$

Since $C^{c(U)}_{*}(U^{\bullet}; L)$ is torsion-free, we have the natural exact sequence $0 \to H^{c(U)}_{p}(U^{\bullet}; L) \otimes \mathscr{B}(U) \to H_{p}(C^{c(U)}_{*}(U^{\bullet}; L) \otimes \mathscr{B}(U)) \to H^{c(U)}_{p-1}(U^{\bullet}; L) * \mathscr{B}(U) \to 0$ and hence the exact sequence of associated sheaves

$$0 \to \mathscr{H}_{p}^{c}(f;L) \otimes \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{H}_{p}^{c}(f;f^{*}\mathscr{B}) \to \mathscr{H}_{p-1}^{c}(f;L) * \mathscr{B} \to 0,$$

$$(46)$$

which generalizes (13) on page 294.

Note that the map $f_c \mathscr{C}_*(X; f^*\mathscr{B}) \to \mathscr{C}_*(Y; \mathscr{B})$ of (35) on page 306 induces a natural map

$$\mathscr{H}^{c}_{*}(f; f^{*}\mathscr{B}) \to \mathscr{H}_{*}(Y; \mathscr{B})$$

$$\tag{47}$$

(the reader is urged to consider generalizations of this). By definition, (47) is induced by the homomorphism

$$f_*: H^{c(U)}_*(U^{\bullet}; f^*\mathscr{B}) \to H_*(U; \mathscr{B}),$$

from (26), of presheaves on Y.

If f is proper, then for $\Psi \supset c$, $\mathscr{H}_*(f;\mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{H}^{\Psi}_*(f;\mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{H}^c_*(f;\mathscr{A})$, and we note that trivially, (47) is induced by the homomorphism

$$f_*: H_*(U^{ullet}; f^*\mathscr{B}) o H_*(U; \mathscr{B})$$

If f is a Vietoris map [i.e., proper, surjective, and with acyclic point inverses] then it follows that (47) provides an isomorphism

$$\mathscr{H}_*(f; f^*\mathscr{B}) \approx \mathscr{H}_*(Y; \mathscr{B}) \quad \text{for } f \text{ a Vietoris map.}$$
(48)

8 The basic spectral sequences

Here we produce the fundamental spectral sequence of a map that will be used in the next section to prove a very general Poincaré duality theorem.

8.1. Theorem. Let $f : X \to Y$, let Ψ and Φ be families of supports on X and Y respectively, and assume that $\dim_{\Phi} Y < \infty$. Let $A \subset X$ be locally closed and let \mathcal{A} be a sheaf on X. Assume that at least one of the following three conditions is satisfied:

- (a) Φ and $\Phi(\Psi)$ are paracompactifying;
- (b) A is closed, \mathcal{A} is elementary, and either Φ is paracompactifying or $\Psi = cld;$
- (c) $A = \emptyset$ and Φ is paracompactifying.

Then there is a spectral sequence with

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p_\Phi(Y; \mathscr{H}^{\Psi}_{-q}(f, f|A; \mathscr{A}) \Longrightarrow H^{\Phi(\Psi)}_{-p-q}(X, A; \mathscr{A}).$$

Proof. Consider the differential sheaf $\mathscr{L}^q = f_{\Psi} \mathscr{C}_{-q}(X, A; \mathscr{A})$. Now \mathscr{L}^q is a $\mathscr{C}^0(Y; L)$ -module, by 5.1 and IV-3.4, whence it is Φ -fine for Φ paracompactifying. If $\Psi = cld$, \mathscr{A} is elementary, and A is closed, then \mathscr{L}^q is flabby by 5.1 and II-5.7. Thus, the spectral sequence is given by IV-2.1, since $\dim_{\Phi} Y < \infty$. (The hypotheses ensure that the isomorphism (30) on page 305 holds.)

8.2. We shall describe some important special cases of 8.1. Let $B \subset Y$ be *closed*. Put U = Y - B. Let Φ be a *paracompactifying* family of supports on Y and assume that $\dim_{\Phi} Y < \infty$. Also assume that f is Ψ -closed. Then there is a spectral sequence with

$${}^{\prime}E_{2}^{p,q}=H^{p}_{\Phi}(Y,B;\mathscr{H}^{\Psi}_{-q}(f;\mathscr{A}))\Longrightarrow H^{\Phi(\Psi)|U^{\bullet}}_{-p-q}(U^{\bullet};\mathscr{A}),$$

where $U^{\bullet} = f^{-1}(U)$ as usual. To obtain this, apply 8.1 to the case in which A is empty and with supports on Y being $\Phi|U$ [use II-12.1 and note that $(\Phi|U)(\Psi) = \Phi(\Psi)|U^{\bullet}$ by IV-5.4(8) since f is Ψ -closed].

If Φ , Ψ , and $\Phi(\Psi)$ are all paracompactifying and if f is Ψ -closed, then we have a spectral sequence with

$${}^{\prime\prime}E_2^{p,q} = H^p_{\Phi|B}(B; \mathscr{H}^{\Psi}_{-q}(f; \mathscr{A})|B) \Longrightarrow H^{\Phi(\Psi)}_{-p-q}(X, U^{\bullet}; \mathscr{A}),$$

which is obtained from 8.1 by taking $A = U^{\bullet}$, noting that

$$\mathscr{H}^{\Psi}_{*}(f,f|U^{\bullet};\mathscr{A}) \approx \mathscr{H}^{\Psi}_{*}(f;\mathscr{A})_{B}$$

(see Exercise 11 of Chapter IV) and using II-10.2.

§8. The basic spectral sequences

8.3. We note that the spectral sequences E_r , E_r (with A empty) and E_r are respectively the spectral sequences of the double complexes

$$\begin{split} {}^{\prime}M^{p,q} &= C^p_{\Phi}(Y; (f_{\Psi} \mathscr{C}_{-q}(X; \mathscr{A}))_U), \\ \\ \\ \hline M^{p,q} &= C^p_{\Phi}(Y; f_{\Psi} \mathscr{C}_{-q}(X; \mathscr{A})), \\ \\ \\ {}^{\prime\prime}M^{p,q} &= C^p_{\Phi}(Y; (f_{\Psi} \mathscr{C}_{-q}(X; \mathscr{A}))_B). \end{split}$$

and

Thus, the exact sequence $0 \to 'M^{p,q} \to M^{p,q} \to ''M^{p,q} \to 0$ yields a relationship among them. This will be applied in Section 9.

8.4. Unlike the case of the Leray spectral sequence, the main case of importance of 8.1 is that for which f is the identity map $X \to X$. We shall now reformulate 8.1 for this important case.

Let Φ be a family of supports on X with $\dim_{\Phi} X < \infty$. Let $A \subset X$ be locally closed, and let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X. Assume either that A is closed and \mathscr{A} is elementary, or that Φ is paracompactifying. Then there is a spectral sequence with

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{H}_{-q}(X,A; \mathscr{A})) \Longrightarrow H^{\Phi}_{-p-q}(X,A; \mathscr{A}).$$

In this case, 8.2 becomes the following: Let $F \subset X$ be closed with U = X - F, and assume that Φ is paracompactifying with $\dim_{\Phi} X < \infty$. Then there are the spectral sequences

$${}^{\prime}E_{2}^{p,q} = H^{p}_{\Phi}(X,F;\mathscr{H}_{-q}(X;\mathscr{A})) \Longrightarrow H^{\Phi|U}_{-p-q}(U;\mathscr{A})$$

and

$${}^{\prime}E_{2}^{p,q} = H^{p}_{\Phi|F}(F; \mathscr{H}_{-q}(X; \mathscr{A})|F) \Longrightarrow H^{\Phi}_{-p-q}(X, U; \mathscr{A}).$$

(Here, the family Ψ in 8.2 may be taken to be c.)

8.5. For nonopen subsets (U as in 8.4) or nonparacompactifying supports Φ , we can still obtain these spectral sequences provided we consider only elementary coefficient sheaves. Thus let us assume $A \subset X$ is locally closed, that $\dim_{\Phi} X < \infty$, and $\dim_{\Phi|A} X < \infty$, and let $(\mathcal{M}, \Phi|A)$ be elementary, where X - A is Φ -taut. Then there is the spectral sequence

$${}^{t}E_{2}^{p,q} = H^{p}_{\Phi}(X, X - A; \mathscr{H}_{-q}(X; \mathscr{M})) \Longrightarrow H^{\Phi|A}_{-p-q}(A; \mathscr{M})$$

(use 5.7 and II-12.1), and we also have the spectral sequence

$${}^{\prime\prime}E_2^{p,q} = H^p_{\Phi\cap X-A}(X-A;\mathscr{H}_{-q}(X;\mathscr{M})) \Longrightarrow H^\Phi_{-p-q}(X,A;\mathscr{M}).$$

[The latter spectral sequence is obtained from 5.8 using the double complex $C^p_{\Phi \cap X-A}(X-A; \mathscr{C}_{-q}(X;\mathscr{M})|X-A)$.] Again, as in 8.3, these spectral sequences are linked together through a short exact sequence of their defining double complexes.

Note that when X - A is Φ -taut and $\dim_{\Phi} X < \infty$, it follows from the cohomology sequence of the pair (X, X - A) that the condition $\dim_{\Phi|A} X < \infty$ is equivalent to $\dim_{\Phi\cap(X-A)}(X - A) < \infty$, whence the convergence of the spectral sequence " E_r .

8.6. Similar considerations apply to the case of singular homology. We shall remark on the case of one space and leave the extension to maps to the reader. (See, however, IV-Exercise 1.)

Let Φ be a paracompactifying family of supports on X and let \mathscr{B} be any sheaf on X and let $A \subset X$ be locally closed. Consider the differential sheaf $\mathscr{L}^q = \mathscr{S}_{-q}(X, A; \mathscr{B})$, which is c-soft and hence Φ -soft. It follows from IV-2.1 that if dim_{Φ} $X < \infty$, then there is a spectral sequence with

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p_{\Phi}(X; {}_{S}\mathscr{H}_{-q}(X, A; \mathscr{B})) \Longrightarrow {}_{S}H^{\Phi}_{-p-q}(X, A; \mathscr{B}).$$

Remarks analogous to 8.2 and 8.3 also apply in this situation. Also see IV-2.9.

As an immediate application of 8.1 we have the following.

8.7. Proposition. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a map between locally compact spaces with $\dim_L Y < \infty$. Let $n = \max\{k \mid \mathscr{H}_k(f; L) \neq 0\}$, assuming that this exists. Then

$$\Gamma(\mathscr{H}_n(f;L)) \approx H_n(X;L).$$

Proof. In the spectral sequence of 8.1 we have that $E_2^{p,q} = 0$ for q < -n, whence $\Gamma(\mathscr{H}_n(f;L)) \approx H^0(Y;\mathscr{H}_n(f;L)) = E_2^{0,-n} \approx E_{\infty}^{0,-n} \approx H_n(X;L)$.

8.8. Example. As a simple example of 8.7 consider the case in which $X = \mathbb{S}^1$, and Y is the figure eight with $f: X \to Y$ the obvious map with one double point at $y \in Y$. Take coefficients in $L = \mathbb{Z}$ throughout. Then $\mathscr{H}_p(f) = 0$ for $p \neq 1$, and $\mathscr{H}_1(f)$ has stalks \mathbb{Z} except at y, where the stalk is $\mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}$. From 8.7 we have $\Gamma(\mathscr{H}_1(f)) \approx H_1(X) \approx \mathbb{Z}$. Also, consider the space $W = \mathbb{S}^1 + \mathbb{S}^1$, the topological sum of two circles, and the map $g: W \to Y$ with one double point. Then $\mathscr{H}_1(g)$ has the same stalks as does $\mathscr{H}_1(f)$, but these are not isomorphic sheaves on the figure eight since by the same reasoning, $\Gamma(\mathscr{H}_1(g)) \approx H_1(W) \approx \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}$. The sheaf $\mathscr{H}_1(Y)$ differs from both since $\mathscr{H}_1(Y)_y \approx H_1(Y, Y - \{y\}) \approx \tilde{H}_0(4 \text{ points}) \approx \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}$. The reader might try to understand just how these sheaves look as spaces as well as to understand the homomorphisms $\mathscr{H}_1(f) \to \mathscr{H}_1(Y) \leftarrow \mathscr{H}_1(g)$, which are isomorphisms away from the point y.

8.9. Example. As an example of 8.1 consider the bundle projection $f : K \to Y = \mathbb{S}^1$, where K is the Klein bottle. Use coefficients in \mathbb{Z} throughout. The stalks of $\mathcal{H}_i(f)$ are

$$\mathscr{H}_{i}(f)_{y} \approx H_{i}(\mathbb{S}^{1} \times (\mathbb{I}, \partial \mathbb{I})) \approx H_{i-1}(\mathbb{S}^{1}) \approx \begin{cases} \mathbb{Z}, & \text{for } i = 1, 2, \\ 0, & \text{for } i \neq 1, 2. \end{cases}$$

It is clear that $\mathscr{H}_1(f)$ is the constant sheaf \mathbb{Z} and that $\mathscr{H}_2(f)$ is the twisted sheaf \mathbb{Z}^t of II-11.3. In the spectral sequence we have $E_2^{0,-1} = H^0(Y;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}$, $E_2^{1,-1} = H^1(Y;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}$, $E_2^{0,-2} = H^0(Y;\mathbb{Z}^t) = \Gamma(\mathbb{Z}^t) = 0$, $E_2^{1,-2} = H^1(Y;\mathbb{Z}^t) \approx \mathbb{Z}_2$ (by II-11.3), and $E_2^{p,q} = 0$ otherwise. Thus the spectral sequence degenerates into the isomorphisms $H_2(K) \approx E_{\infty}^{0,-2} \approx E_2^{0,-2} \approx 0$, $H_0(K) \approx E_{\infty}^{1,-1} \approx E_2^{1,-1} \approx H^1(Y;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}$, and the exact sequence $0 \to E_2^{1,-2} \to H_1(K) \to E_2^{0,-1} \to 0$, which is $0 \to \mathbb{Z}_2 \to H_1(K) \to \mathbb{Z} \to 0$.

8.10. Example. Consider the map $f : \mathbb{S}^n \to [-1,1]$, the projection to a coordinate axis, and take coefficients in \mathbb{Z} . At a point $y \in (-1,1)$ the stalk of $\mathscr{H}_i(f)$ is

$$\mathscr{H}_{i}(f)_{y} \approx H_{i}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1} \times (\mathbb{I}, \partial \mathbb{I})) \approx H_{i-1}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1}) \approx \begin{cases} \mathbb{Z}, & \text{for } i = 1, n \\ 0, & \text{for } i \neq 1, n \end{cases}$$

At an end point, $\mathscr{H}_i(f)_y \approx H_i(\mathbb{D}^n, \mathbb{S}^{n-1})$, which is \mathbb{Z} for i = n and is zero otherwise. It is clear that $\mathscr{H}_n(f) \approx \mathbb{Z}$, the constant sheaf, and $\mathscr{H}_1(f) \approx \mathbb{Z}_{(-1,1)}$. Thus the spectral sequence has

$$E_2^{p,-1} = H^p([-1,1]; \mathbb{Z}_{(-1,1)}) \approx H^p_c((-1,1); \mathbb{Z}) \approx \begin{cases} \mathbb{Z}, & \text{for } p = 1\\ 0, & \text{for } p \neq 1 \end{cases}$$

and

$$E_2^{p,-n} = H^p([-1,1];\mathbb{Z}) \approx \begin{cases} \mathbb{Z}, & \text{for } p = 0, \\ 0, & \text{for } p \neq 0. \end{cases}$$

Thus it degenerates into the isomorphisms $H_0(\mathbb{S}^n) \approx E_2^{1,-1} \approx \mathbb{Z}$ and $H_n(\mathbb{S}^n) \approx E_2^{0,-n} \approx \mathbb{Z}$.

8.11. Example. Consider $X = \mathbb{RP}^2$ with the usual action of the circle group G on it. (Thinking of X as the 2-disk with antipodal points on the boundary identified, the action is by rotations of the disk.) Let $f: X \to X/G = Y$ be the orbit map. Now Y can be thought of as the interval [0,1] with 0 corresponding to the fixed orbit, a point called the singular orbit; 1 corresponding to the boundary of the disk, called the exceptional orbit; and points 0 < y < 1 corresponding to the other circles about the origin, called principal orbits. Let us compute the stalks of the sheaves $\mathscr{H}_p(f)$. We have, with integer coefficients,

$$\mathcal{H}_p(f)_0 \approx H_p(\mathbb{D}^2, \mathbb{S}^1) \approx \begin{cases} 0, & p = 0, \\ 0, & p = 1, \\ \mathbb{Z}, & p = 2. \end{cases}$$

Also, for 0 < y < 1,

$$\mathcal{H}_p(f)_y \approx H_p(\mathbb{S}^1 \times (\mathbb{I}, \partial \mathbb{I})) \approx \begin{cases} 0, & p = 0, \\ \mathbb{Z}, & p = 1, \\ \mathbb{Z}, & p = 2, \end{cases}$$

and

$$\mathcal{H}_p(f)_1 \approx H_p(M, \partial M) \approx \begin{cases} 0, & p = 0, \\ \mathbb{Z}_2, & p = 1, \\ 0, & p = 2 \end{cases}$$

where M is a neighborhood of the exceptional orbit and is a Möbius strip. It is clear that

$$\mathscr{H}_2(f) \approx \mathbb{Z}_{[0,1)}.$$

Similarly, it is clear that $\mathscr{H}_1(f)$ is constant over (0,1), and of course it vanishes at 0. To see its topology at 1, consider a local section s about 1 giving the nonzero element of $\mathscr{H}_1(f)_1 \approx \mathbb{Z}_2$. Since 2s vanishes at 1, it must vanish over a neighborhood of 1. Since the stalks of $\mathscr{H}_1(f)$ are free at points other than 1, s itself must vanish on a neighborhood of 1, except at 1 itself.¹⁷ From this it is clear that

$$\mathscr{H}_1(f) \approx \mathbb{Z}_{(0,1)} \oplus (\mathbb{Z}_2)_{\{1\}}.$$

Thus we compute

$$H^{p}(Y; \mathscr{H}_{2}(f)) \approx H^{p}([0,1]; \mathbb{Z}_{[0,1]}) \approx H^{p}([0,1], \{1\}; \mathbb{Z}) = 0$$

for all p. Also,

$$H^{p}(Y;\mathscr{H}_{1}(f)) \approx H^{p}([0,1];\mathbb{Z}_{(0,1)}) \oplus H^{p}(\{1\};\mathbb{Z}_{2}) \approx \begin{cases} \mathbb{Z}_{2}, & p = 0, \\ \mathbb{Z}, & p = 1, \\ 0, & p \neq 0, 1. \end{cases}$$

Therefore $E_2^{0,-1} = H^0(Y; \mathscr{H}_1(f)) \approx \mathbb{Z}_2$, $E_2^{1,-1} = H^1(Y; \mathscr{H}_1(f)) \approx \mathbb{Z}$, and all other terms are zero. Thus the spectral sequence degenerates to give the familiar homology groups $H_0(X) \approx E_2^{1,-1} \approx \mathbb{Z}$ and $H_1(X) \approx E_2^{0,-1} \approx \mathbb{Z}_2$ of \mathbb{RP}^2 .

8.12. Example. Let $X = \mathbb{I}^{\infty}$, the Hilbert cube. Then $\mathscr{H}_p(X; L) = 0$ for all p since every point has an open neighborhood basis consisting of sets homeomorphic to $Y \times (0,1]$ for some locally compact Y and since $H^p_c((0,1];L) \approx H^p([0,1],\{0\};L) = 0$ for all p. If the spectral sequence of 8.4 were valid in this case, we would have $E_2^{p,q} = 0$ for all p, q whence $H^c_0(X;L) = 0$, which is false. Consequently, the dimensional hypothesis of 8.1 is essential.

¹⁷A more direct way to see this is to note that the generator of the stalk at 1 is given by the singular cycle made up of the exceptional orbit, as a cycle of $(M, \partial M)$, and that this induces the zero homology class at a nearby principal orbit.

8.13. Example. Let $X = \mathbb{I}^{\infty}$, $Y = \mathbb{I}$, and $f : X \to Y$ a projection. Then for y = 0, 1 we have $\mathscr{H}_q(f; L)_y \approx H_q([0, 1) \times \mathbb{I}^{\infty}; L) \approx H_q([0, 1); L) = 0$ for all q. For $y \neq 0, 1$ we have

$$\mathscr{H}_q(f;L)_y \approx H_q((0,1) \times \mathbb{I}^\infty;L) \approx H_q((0,1);L) \approx \begin{cases} L, & \text{for } q=1\\ 0, & \text{for } q \neq 1 \end{cases}$$

Clearly, $\mathscr{H}_1(f; L) \approx L_{(0,1)}$ and $\mathscr{H}_q(f; L) = 0$ for $q \neq 1$. The basic spectral sequence 8.1 is valid here even though $\dim_L X = \infty$. For it, we have $E_2^{1,-1} \approx H^1([0,1]; L_{(0,1)}) \approx L$, and $E_2^{p,q} = 0$ in all other cases. Thus the spectral sequence degenerates into the uninteresting isomorphism $L \approx E_2^{1,-1} \approx H_{-1+1}(\mathbb{I}^\infty; L)$.

9 Poincaré duality

In this section we will establish Poincaré duality for spaces having the local homological properties of n-manifolds with or without boundary. A general class of such spaces is given by the following definition:

9.1. Definition. A locally compact space X is called an "n-dimensional weak homology manifold over L" (abbreviated as n-whm_L) if dim_L $X < \infty$ and $\mathcal{H}_p(X; L) = 0$ for $p \neq n$ and is torsion-free if p = n. $\mathcal{H}_n(X; L)$ is called the "orientation sheaf" of X and will be denoted by $\mathcal{O} = \mathcal{O}_X$. An n-whm_L X is said to be an "n-dimensional homology manifold over L" (abbreviated as n-hm_L) if \mathcal{O} is locally constant¹⁸ with stalks isomorphic to L. It is said to be "orientable" if \mathcal{O} is constant.

Note that for any n-whm_L X,

$${\mathscr H}_p(X;{\mathscr A})=\left\{egin{array}{cc} {\mathscr O}\otimes {\mathscr A}, & p=n,\ 0, & p
eq n \end{array}
ight.$$

by (13) on page 294. Also note that a topological *n*-manifold, with or without boundary, is an n-whm_L, and it is an n-hm_L if the boundary is empty. (We shall study homology manifolds with boundary in Section 16.) From 8.4 we immediately obtain:

From 8.4 we immediately obtain:

9.2. Theorem. If X is an n-whm_L and Φ is a paracompactifying family of supports on X, then there is a natural isomorphism

$$\Delta: H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^{\Phi}_{n-p}(X; \mathscr{A})$$

for sheaves \mathscr{A} on X. Moreover, Δ is an isomorphism of connected sequences of functors of \mathscr{A} ; that is, $\partial \Delta = (-1)^n \Delta \delta$ in the diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{A}'') & \stackrel{\Delta}{\longrightarrow} & H^{\Phi}_{n-p}(X; \mathscr{A}'') \\ & & & \downarrow^{\partial} \\ H^{p+1}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{A}') & \stackrel{\Delta}{\longrightarrow} & H^{\Phi}_{n-p-1}(X; \mathscr{A}') \end{array}$$

¹⁸See, however, 16.8.

induced by the exact coefficient sequence $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}'' \to 0$, in addition to naturality in the coefficient sheaf \mathscr{A} .

Proof. In the spectral sequence $E_r^{p,q}$ of 8.4 we have $E_2^{p,q} = 0$ for $q \neq -n$. Thus $H_{\Phi}^p(X; \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{A}) \approx E_2^{p,-n} \approx E_{\infty}^{p,-n} \approx H_{-p+n}^{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$ as claimed. The last statement follows from the compatibility relations proved in IV-1, the sign $(-1)^n$ being achieved by redefinition of Δ by induction on p if necessary.

If $F \subset X$ is closed and U = X - F, then we also obtain from 8.4 the isomorphisms

$$H^p_{\Phi|U}(U; \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{A}) \approx H^p_{\Phi}(X, F; \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{A}) \approx H^{\Phi|U}_{n-p}(U; \mathscr{A})$$

and

$$\overline{H^p_{\Phi|F}}(F; \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{A}) \approx \overline{H^\Phi_{n-p}}(X, U; \mathscr{A}).$$

However, these also follow directly from 9.2 by replacing \mathcal{A} by \mathcal{A}_U and \mathcal{A}_F respectively.

It follows easily from 8.3 that the diagram

commutes up to the indicated signs, where the first row is the cohomology sequence of (X, F) and the second row is the homology sequence of (X, U).

For elementary coefficient sheaves we obtain, from 8.5, the following generalization of 9.2 valid for nonparacompactifying families of supports and more general subspaces:

9.3. Theorem. Let X be an n-whm_L, \mathcal{M} an elementary sheaf on X, and Φ a family of supports on X with dim_{Φ} $X < \infty$. Then there is an isomorphism

$$\Delta: H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{M}) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^{\Phi}_{n-p}(X; \mathscr{M})$$

natural in \mathcal{M} . Assume, moreover, that A is a locally closed subspace of X such that X - A is Φ -taut in X, and that $(\mathcal{M}, \Phi|A)$ is elementary. If, in addition, $\dim_{\Phi|A} X < \infty$, then

$$H^p_{\Phi}(X, X - A; \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{M}) \approx H^{\Phi|A}_{n-p}(A; \mathscr{M})$$

and

$$H^p_{\Phi\cap(X-A)}(X-A;\mathscr{O}\otimes\mathscr{M})\approx H^{\Phi}_{n-p}(X,A;\mathscr{M}).$$

If all the conditions of 9.3 are satisfied, then as in 9.2 the following diagram commutes up to the indicated sign:

$$\cdots \to H^p_{\Phi}(X, X-A; \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{M}) \to H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{M}) \to H^p_{\Phi\cap(X-A)}(X-A; \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{M}) \to \cdots$$

$$(-1)^n \qquad \Delta \downarrow \approx \qquad 1 \qquad \Delta \downarrow \approx \qquad 1 \qquad \Delta \downarrow \approx \qquad (-1)^n$$

$$\cdots \to \qquad H^{\Phi|A}_{n-p}(A; \mathscr{M}) \qquad \to \qquad H^{\Phi}_{n-p}(X; \mathscr{M}) \qquad \to \qquad H^{\Phi}_{n-p}(X, A; \mathscr{M}) \qquad \to \cdots$$

Danger: When Φ is not paracompactifying, then as far as the author knows, unless X is locally hereditarily paracompact, one cannot draw the conclusion that $\dim_{\Phi} X < \infty$ from the assumption that $\dim_{L} X < \infty$; see II-16 and II-Exercise 25. Note, however, II-16.10.

9.4. As an example of the use of 9.3, let X be an orientable *n*-manifold with boundary consisting of the disjoint union $A \cup B$ of closed sets. (A or B can be empty.) Then $\ell = L_{X-A-B}$, and we have

$$\begin{aligned} H^c_{n-p}(X,A;L) &\approx H^p_{c\cap(X-A)}(X-A;L_{X-A-B}) \\ &\approx H^p_{c\cap(X-A)}(X-A,B;L) \approx H^p_{c}(X,B;L), \end{aligned}$$

the last isomorphism following from invariance under homotopy. Also see 16.30 for a generalization of this.

9.5. If Φ consists of all closed sets in 9.3 and $\mathcal{M} = L$, we can substitute $H^{n-p}(U; \mathcal{O})$ for $H_p(U; L)$ in (9) on page 292 and obtain the exact sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Ext}(H^{p+1}_c(U;L),L) \to H^{n-p}(U;\mathscr{O}) \to \operatorname{Hom}(H^p_c(U;L),L) \to 0$$

natural in U. In particular, if L is a *field*, then there is a natural isomorphism $H^{n-p}(U; \mathscr{O}) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(H^p_c(U; L), L)$ for U open in an n-whm_L X with $\dim_{cld} U < \infty$. Also see 10.6.

9.6. If X is an *n*-*hm_L*, then \mathscr{O} is a "bundle" of coefficients locally isomorphic to L. This implies that there is an "inverse sheaf" \mathscr{O}^{-1} such that $\mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{O}^{-1} \approx L$ and \mathscr{O}^{-1} is unique up to isomorphism. In this case, 9.2 shows that

$$H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \approx H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{O}^{-1} \otimes \mathscr{A}) \approx H^{\Phi}_{n-p}(X; \mathscr{O}^{-1} \otimes \mathscr{A})$$

for Φ paracompactifying. Similarly 9.3 can be used to obtain the isomorphism

$$H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{M}) \approx H^{\Phi}_{n-p}(X;\mathscr{O}^{-1}\otimes\mathscr{M})$$

when \mathcal{M} is elementary and $\dim_{\Phi} X < \infty$.

In [11] it is claimed that $\mathscr{O} \approx \mathscr{O}^{-1}$ in general. Unfortunately, the proof is irretrievably incorrect, and this remains an unsolved conjecture.

In particular, we have $H_c^{n+1}(U;L) \approx H_{-1}^c(U; \mathbb{O}^{-1}) = 0$ by 5.13. Then it follows from II-16.14 that

$$\dim_L X = n \quad \text{for an } n - hm_L X.$$

 \diamond

9.7. For a topological *n*-manifold X (or a "singular homology manifold") we obtain the Poincaré duality

$$H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{B} \otimes \mathscr{O}) \approx {}_S H^{\Phi}_{n-n}(X; \mathscr{B})$$

(for Φ paracompactifying and \mathscr{B} arbitrary) directly from 8.6. However, this also follows from the general Theorem 9.2 and from the uniqueness theorems that we shall prove in Section 12 showing that singular homology coincides with Borel-Moore homology in this case. Also see IV-2.9.

9.8. Example. Duality, and indeed Borel-Moore homology itself, is useful mostly for reasonably locally well behaved spaces such as clc_L spaces. However, let us illustrate duality in the case of a "bad" space, the solenoid, i.e., an inverse limit $\Sigma = \underline{\lim} C_n$, where C_n is a circle and $C_n \to C_{n-1}$ is the usual covering map of degree n. Coefficients will be in $L = \mathbb{Z}$ if not otherwise specified. By continuity, $H^0(\Sigma) \approx \mathbb{Z}, H^1(\Sigma) \approx \mathbb{Q}$, and $H^i(\Sigma) = 0$ for i > 1. Also, $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}} \Sigma = 1$. By Exercise 6 the precosheaf $\mathfrak{H}^1_c(\Sigma): U \mapsto H^1_c(U)$ is a cosheaf, and by 1.10 and (9) on page 292, the presheaf $U \mapsto \operatorname{Hom}(H_c^1(U), \mathbb{Z}) \approx H_1(U)$ is a sheaf.¹⁹ It is, of course, the homology sheaf $\mathscr{H}_1(\Sigma)$. Now, every point in Σ has a fundamental sequence of neighborhoods U of the form $U \approx K \times (0, 1)$, where K is a Cantor set. For such a set U, $H^1_c(U) \approx H^0(K) \otimes \mathbb{Z} \approx C(K)$, the group of continuous (i.e., locally constant) functions $K \to \mathbb{Z}$. This is the free abelian group on a countably infinite set of generators; see II-Exercise 34. Similarly, $H^0_c(U) = 0$, so that $\mathcal{H}_0(U) = 0$, and $\mathcal{H}_i(U) = 0$ for i > 1 trivially. Thus X is a 1-whm_Z with orientation sheaf $\mathscr{O} = \mathscr{H}_1(\Sigma) : U \mapsto \operatorname{Hom}(H^1_c(U), \mathbb{Z}).$

The sheaf \mathscr{O} is not readily understood, but duality gives some easy information about it. We have $H^p(\Sigma; \mathscr{O}) \approx H_{1-p}(\Sigma)$. In particular,

$$\Gamma(\mathscr{O}) = H^0(\Sigma; \mathscr{O}) \approx H_1(\Sigma) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(H^1_c(\Sigma), \mathbb{Z}) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{Q}, \mathbb{Z}) = 0,$$

so that ${\mathscr O}$ has no nonzero global sections. On the other hand, ${\mathscr O}$ is a very big sheaf because

$$H^1(\Sigma; \mathscr{O}) \approx H_0(\Sigma) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(H^0_c(\Sigma), \mathbb{Z}) \oplus \operatorname{Ext}(H^1_c(\Sigma), \mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z} \oplus \operatorname{Ext}(\mathbb{Q}, \mathbb{Z})$$

and $\text{Ext}(\mathbb{Q},\mathbb{Z})$ is uncountable; see 14.8.

9.9. Example. Again, let Σ be the solenoid. We will show that 9.3 cannot hold for $L = \mathbb{Z}$ and $\mathcal{M} = \mathbb{Q}$ (which is not an elementary sheaf since \mathbb{Q} is not finitely generated over \mathbb{Z}). By classical dimension theory, Σ can be embedded in \mathbb{S}^3 ; also, see the next example for an explicit embedding. The exact homology sequence of the pair (\mathbb{S}^3, Σ) shows that

$$H_2(\mathbb{S}^3, \Sigma; \mathbb{Q}) \approx H_1(\Sigma; \mathbb{Q}) \approx H_1(\Sigma; \mathbb{Z}) \otimes \mathbb{Q} = 0$$

 $^{^{19}}$ These facts are not important for the example but are helpful in understanding the sheaf $\mathscr{O}.$

by 3.13 and the computations in the previous example. If 9.3 held in this case, we would have that this is isomorphic to $H^1(\mathbb{S}^3 - \Sigma; \mathbb{Q})$. However, using \mathbb{Q} as base ring,²⁰ we compute

$$\begin{array}{ll} H^1(\mathbb{S}^3 - \Sigma; \mathbb{Q}) &\approx H_2(\mathbb{S}^3, \Sigma; \mathbb{Q}) & \text{by 9.3} \\ &\approx H_1(\Sigma; \mathbb{Q}) & \text{exact sequence of } (\mathbb{S}^3, \Sigma) \\ &\approx \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Q}}(H^1(\Sigma; \mathbb{Q}), \mathbb{Q}) & \text{by (9) on page 292} \\ &\approx \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Q}}(\mathbb{Q}, \mathbb{Q}) \approx \mathbb{Q}. \end{array}$$

9.10. Example. Consider a standard solid torus T_1 in \mathbb{S}^3 . Inside T_1 we can embed another solid torus T_2 that winds around T_1 twice. Inside that we can embed another solid torus T_3 that winds around T_2 three times, and so on. If we make the diameters of the disk cross sections of T_n go to zero as $n \to \infty$, then the intersection of the tori is a solenoid $\Sigma = \bigcap T_n$. With integer coefficients, we have that $\mathbb{Z} \approx H_1(T_{n+1}) \to H_1(T_n) \approx \mathbb{Z}$ is multiplication by n. By duality 9.3, this is equivalent to $H^2(\mathbb{S}^3, \mathbb{S}^3 - T_{n+1}) \to H^2(\mathbb{S}^3, \mathbb{S}^3 - T_{n+1})$, and by the exact sequences of the pairs $(\mathbb{S}^3, \mathbb{S}^3 - T_i)$ this is equivalent to $H^1(\mathbb{S}^3 - T_{n+1}) \to H^1(\mathbb{S}^3 - T_n)$. Thus the latter maps give the inverse sequence $\cdots \xrightarrow{4} \mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{3} \mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{2} \mathbb{Z}$. Also, $H^2(\mathbb{S}^3 - T_n) \approx H_1(\mathbb{S}^3, T_n) \approx \operatorname{Ker}(H_1(T_n) \to H_1(\mathbb{S}^3)) = 0$. It follows from this and IV-2.11 that

$$H^2(\mathbb{S}^3 - \Sigma; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \operatorname{Ext}(\mathbb{Q}, \mathbb{Z}).$$

This can also be seen by the isomorphism $H^2(\mathbb{S}^3 - \Sigma) \approx H_1(\mathbb{S}^3, \Sigma)$ of 9.3, the exact homology sequence of the pair (\mathbb{S}^3, Σ) , and the calculation in 9.8 that $H_0(\Sigma) \approx \mathbb{Z} \oplus \text{Ext}(\mathbb{Q}, \mathbb{Z})$.

9.11. Example. Suppose that $X \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is compact, and let M be a *finitely* generated L-module. By 9.3 we have the natural isomorphism

$$H_p(X; M) \approx H^{n-p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n - X; M),$$

and the cohomology group here can be taken to be singular cohomology by III-2.1. Thus Borel-Moore homology for such spaces can be computed from ordinary singular cohomology. This is not true for coefficient groups M that are not finitely generated over L, as is shown by taking X to be a solenoid and computing these groups for $L = \mathbb{Z}$ and $M = \mathbb{Q}$. (This is the failure of "change of rings"; see Section 18.)

9.12. Example. Another example of an $n \cdot whm_L$ that is not an $n \cdot hm_L$ is the mapping cone C_f of the covering map $f : X = \mathbb{S}^1 \to \mathbb{S}^1 = Y$ of degree d. This is a $2 \cdot whm_{\mathbb{Z}}$. Its orientation sheaf \mathscr{O} is constant with stalks \mathbb{Z} over $C_f - Y$. Over Y, \mathscr{O} has stalks \mathbb{Z}^{d-1} , and it is not too hard to see that $\mathscr{O}|_Y \approx f\mathbb{Z}/\mathbb{Z}$, where \mathbb{Z} sits in $f\mathbb{Z}$ as the "diagonal." It is somewhat

²⁰See Section 18.

harder to understand how these two portions of \mathcal{O} fit together, and we will not attempt to describe that. Duality gives

$$H^p(C_f; \mathscr{O}) \approx H_{2-p}(C_f; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \begin{cases} \mathbb{Z}, & p = 2, \\ \mathbb{Z}_d, & p = 1, \\ 0, & p \neq 1, 2 \end{cases}$$

as follows easily from the homology sequence of (M_f, X) . One can compute these cohomology groups directly by looking at the exact sequence

$$\cdots \to H^p_c(C_f - Y; \mathbb{Z}) \to H^p(C_f; \mathscr{O}) \to H^p(Y; \mathscr{O}|Y) \to \cdots$$

as follows: $H_c^p(C_f - Y; \mathbb{Z}) \approx H_c^p(\mathbb{R}^2; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}$ for p = 2 and is zero otherwise. The exact cohomology sequence induced on Y by $0 \to \mathbb{Z} \to f\mathbb{Z} \to \mathscr{O}|Y \to 0$ has the portion $H^p(Y; \mathbb{Z}) \to H^p(Y; f\mathbb{Z}) \approx H^p(X; \mathbb{Z})$ identified with f^* , so that $H^p(Y; \mathscr{O}|Y) \approx \mathbb{Z}_d$ for p = 1 and is zero otherwise, yielding the desired calculation. \diamondsuit

9.13. Example. The purpose of this example is to show how Borel-Moore homology and duality can be used to understand a particular cohomology group (closed supports) of a certain space X. The space X is perhaps the simplest space that is locally compact but not compact, and connected but not locally connected. It is the "comb space" with the "base accumulation point" removed. Precisely,

$$X = \{(a,0) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \mid 0 < a \le 1\} \cup \{(a,b) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \mid 0 < b \le 1, \ a = 0, 1/2, 1/4, \ldots\}.$$

Note that the point (0,0) is missing. Regarding \mathbb{S}^2 as the compactified \mathbb{R}^2 , let $M = \mathbb{S}^2 - \{(0,0)\}$, a euclidean plane containing X as a closed subspace.

The group we wish to investigate is $H^1(X;\mathbb{Z})$.²¹ One's first guess concerning this group might be that it is zero. The singular cohomology group ${}_{S}H^1(X;\mathbb{Z})$ is clearly zero. Also, the closure of X in \mathbb{R}^2 , the comb space itself, is contractible and so has the cohomology of a point. However, we will show that this guess is about as far from true as it can be.

The exact sequence (coefficients are in \mathbb{Z} when omitted)

$$0 = H^1(M) \to H^1(X) \to H^2(M, X) \to H^2(M) = 0$$

shows that $H^1(X) \approx H^2(M, X)$. By duality 9.2, $H^2(M, X) \approx H_0^{\Psi}(U)$, where U = M - X and $\Psi = \{K \subset U \mid K \text{ is closed in } M\}$. Thus, by 5.3,

$$H^1(X) \approx H_0^{\Psi}(U) \approx \lim_{K \in \Psi} H_0(K).$$

Also, there is the exact sequence

$$0 \to \lim_{K \in \Psi} \operatorname{Ext}(H^1_c(K), \mathbb{Z}) \to \lim_{K \in \Psi} H_0(K) \to \lim_{K \in \Psi} \operatorname{Hom}(H^0_c(K), \mathbb{Z}) \to 0.$$

 $^{^{21}}$ This example arose in an attempt to prove, for homology manifolds, a certain dimensionality property that is a standard result for topological manifolds.

The term in Ext is surely zero, but we shall ignore it, as it is unimportant for the main conclusion. One set in Ψ is

$$K_0 = \{(a, a/2) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \mid a = 3/2^n, \ n = 2, 3, 4, \ldots\}.$$

We have $H_c^0(K_0) \approx \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\infty} \mathbb{Z}$, so that $\operatorname{Hom}(H_c^0(K_0), \mathbb{Z}) \approx \prod_{i=1}^{\infty} \mathbb{Z}$, which is uncountable. Note that for any set $K \supset K_0$ in Ψ , all but a finite number of the points of K_0 must be in separate pseudo-components of K. This implies that

$$\operatorname{Ker} \{ \operatorname{Hom}(H^0_c(K_0), \mathbb{Z}) \to \operatorname{Hom}(H^0_c(K), \mathbb{Z}) \} \subset \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\infty} \mathbb{Z},$$

which is countable. It follows that $\lim_{K \in \Psi} \operatorname{Hom}(H^0_c(K), \mathbb{Z})$, and hence $H^1(X) \approx H^{\Psi}_0(U)$, is uncountable. It also seems likely that this group is not free, although it is torsion-free by II-Exercise 28.

10 The cap product

For sheaves \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} on the locally compact space X, consider the canonical map

$$\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}_{*}(X;L)\otimes\mathscr{A})\otimes\Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{B})\to\Gamma_{\Phi\cap\Psi}(\mathscr{C}_{*}(X;L)\otimes\mathscr{A}\otimes\mathscr{B})$$

of I-5, that is,

$$C^{\Phi}_{*}(X;\mathscr{A}) \otimes H^{0}_{\Psi}(X;\mathscr{B}) \to C^{\Phi \cap \Psi}_{*}(X;\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}),$$
 (49)

which is a chain map. For any integer m, we have the induced map

$$\cap: H^{\Phi}_{m}(X;\mathscr{A}) \otimes H^{0}_{\Psi}(X;\mathscr{B}) \to H^{\Phi}_{m}^{\Phi}(Y;\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}).$$

$$(50)$$

If $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}'' \to 0$ is exact and is such that $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \otimes \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A}'' \otimes \mathscr{B} \to 0$ is also exact, then the fact that (49) is a chain map implies that for $\alpha \in H^{\Phi}_m(X; \mathscr{A}'')$ and $s \in H^{\Phi}_{\Psi}(X; \mathscr{B})$ we have

$$\partial(\alpha \cap s) = (\partial \alpha) \cap s \tag{51}$$

(defined when Φ and $\Phi \cap \Psi$ are paracompactifying).

Now let m and $\alpha \in H^{\Phi}_{m}(X; \mathscr{A})$ be fixed. If $\Phi \cap \Psi$ is paracompactifying, the functors

$$F^{q}(\mathscr{B}) = H^{\Phi \cap \Psi}_{m-q}(X; \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}),$$

with connecting homomorphism $(-1)^m$ times that in $H^{\Phi\cap\Psi}_*(X;\bullet)$, form an \mathscr{E} -connected sequence of functors, where \mathscr{E} is the class of pointwise split short exact sequences. By II-6.2 the natural transformation $\beta \mapsto \alpha \cap \beta$ of

$$H^0_{\Psi}(X;\mathscr{B}) \to F^0(\mathscr{B}) = H^{\Phi \cap \Psi}_m(X;\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B})$$

has a unique extension

$$\alpha \cap : H^p_{\Psi}(X; \mathscr{B}) \to H^{\Phi \cap \Psi}_{m-p}(X; \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B})$$

commuting with connecting homomorphisms. The uniqueness of $\alpha \cap$ implies immediately that $\alpha \cap \beta$ is linear in α as well as in β , so that we obtain the "cap product"

$$\cap: H^{\Phi}_{m}(X;\mathscr{A}) \otimes H^{p}_{\Psi}(X;\mathscr{B}) \to H^{\Phi\cap\Psi}_{m-p}(X;\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B})$$
(52)

when $\Phi \cap \Psi$ is paracompactifying. By definition and II-6.2, we have that if $0 \to \mathscr{B}' \to \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{B}'' \to 0$ and $0 \to \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}' \to \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}'' \to 0$ are both exact, then

$$\partial(\alpha \cap \beta) = (-1)^m \alpha \cap \delta\beta, \tag{53}$$

where $\alpha \in H^{\Phi}_m(X; \mathscr{A}), \ \beta \in H^p_{\Psi}(X; \mathscr{B}'')$, and ∂ and δ are the connecting homomorphisms in $H^{\Phi \cap \Psi}_*(X; \bullet)$ and $H^*_{\Psi}(X; \bullet)$ respectively.

By the uniqueness portion of II-6.2 we obtain, in the situation of (51) and for $\beta \in H^p_{\Psi}(X; \mathscr{B})$,

$$\partial(\alpha \cap \beta) = (\partial \alpha) \cap \beta.$$
(54)

That is, the two homomorphisms $H^p_{\Psi}(X; \mathscr{B}) \to H^{\Phi \cap \Psi}_{m-p-1}(X; \mathscr{A}' \otimes \mathscr{B})$ defined by (54) for fixed $\alpha \in H^{\Phi}_m(X; \mathscr{A}'')$ are identical.

If $\alpha \in H^{\Phi}_m(X; \mathscr{A}), s \in \Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{B}), t \in \Gamma_{\Theta}(\mathscr{C})$, then it follows immediately from the definition of (49) and (50) that

$$(\alpha \cap s) \cap t = \alpha \cap (s \cup t), \tag{55}$$

where $s \cup t \in \Gamma_{\Phi \cap \Theta}(\mathscr{B} \otimes \mathscr{C})$. The uniqueness part of II-6.2 applied, in the appropriate way, to the functors

$$H^*_{\Psi}(X;\mathscr{B}), \quad H^*_{\Theta}(X;\mathscr{C}), \quad \mathrm{and} \quad H^{\Phi\cap\Psi\cap\Theta}_*(X;\mathscr{A}\otimes\mathscr{B}\otimes\mathscr{C})$$

 $(\mathscr{A} \text{ being fixed}) \text{ shows immediately that if } \Phi \cap \Psi \text{ and } \Phi \cap \Psi \cap \Theta \text{ are paracom$ $pactifying, then for } \alpha \in H^{\Phi}_{m}(X; \mathscr{A}), \ \beta \in H^{p}_{\Psi}(X; \mathscr{B}), \text{ and } \gamma \in H^{q}_{\Theta}(X; \mathscr{C}) \text{ we have}$

$$(\alpha \cap \beta) \cap \gamma = \alpha \cap (\beta \cup \gamma)$$
(56)

(given by (55) in degree zero).

Let $f: X \to Y$ be a map between locally compact spaces and let Φ and Ψ be families of supports on Y with $\Phi \cap \Psi$ paracompactifying. Let \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} be sheaves on Y. By definition of the isomorphism (21) and of the homomorphism (23) on page 23, we see that the following diagram commutes:

It follows that we also have the commutative diagram

[recalling from IV-5.4(7) that $\Phi(c) \cap f^{-1}(\Psi) = (\Phi \cap \Psi)(c)$].

Therefore the following diagram commutes for p = 0:

$$\begin{array}{c|c} H_n^{\Phi(c)}(X; f^*\mathscr{A}) \otimes H_{f^{-1}\Psi}^p(X; f^*\mathscr{B}) & \stackrel{\cap}{\longrightarrow} & H_{n-p}^{(\Phi \cap \Psi)(c)}(X; f^*(\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B})) \\ & & \uparrow^{1 \otimes f^*} \\ & & & \downarrow^{1 \otimes f^*} \\ & & & \downarrow_{f_* \otimes 1} \\ & & & \downarrow_{f_* \otimes 1} \\ & & & & H_n^{\Phi}(Y; \mathscr{A}) \otimes H_{\Psi}^p(Y; \mathscr{B}) & \stackrel{\cap}{\longrightarrow} & H_{n-p}^{\Phi \cap \Psi}(Y; \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B}). \end{array}$$

For $\alpha \in H_n^{\Phi(c)}(X; f^*\mathscr{A})$ it follows that the natural transformations $H_{\Psi}^n(Y; \mathscr{B}) \to H_{n-p}^{\Phi\cap\Psi}(Y; \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B})$ of functors of \mathscr{B} defined by $\beta \mapsto f_*(\alpha \cap f^*\beta)$ and $\beta \mapsto f_*(\alpha) \cap \beta$ coincide for p = 0. Using (53), it follows from II-6.2 that these transformations are identical. Thus, for $\alpha \in H_n^{\Phi(c)}(X; f^*\mathscr{A})$ and $\beta \in H_{\Psi}^n(Y; \mathscr{B})$, we always have that

$$f_*(\alpha \cap f^*\beta) = f_*(\alpha) \cap \beta.$$
(57)

10.1. Theorem. Let X be such that $\dim_L X < \infty$ and $\mathscr{H}_p(X; L) = 0$ for p > n and with $\mathscr{O} = \mathscr{H}_n(X; L)$ torsion-free for p = n (as is always the case if $n = \dim_L X$; see Exercise 32). Then, for Φ paracompactifying, there is a natural homomorphism

$$\Delta: H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{A}) \to H^{\Phi}_{n-p}(X; \mathscr{A})$$

generalizing that of 9.2, which is an isomorphism for p = 0 and satisfies $\partial \Delta = (-1)^n \Delta \delta$, where ∂ and δ are the connecting homomorphisms for the variable \mathscr{A} . If Φ and $\Phi \cap \Psi$ are both paracompactifying families of supports on X, then, for $\alpha \in H^r_{\Phi}(X; \mathcal{O} \otimes \mathscr{A})$ and $\beta \in H^r_{\Psi}(X; \mathcal{B})$, we have

$$\Delta(\alpha \cup \beta) = (\Delta \alpha) \cap \beta.$$

Proof. The homomorphism Δ is, up to sign, just the edge homomorphism

$$H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{A}) = E_2^{p, -n} \twoheadrightarrow E_{\infty}^{p, -n} \rightarrowtail H^{\Phi}_{n-p}(X; \mathscr{A})$$

in the basic spectral sequence. The sign can be modified by induction on p, with no change when p = 0, to satisfy the stated formula with ∂ and δ .

The fact that this generalizes the isomorphism Δ of 9.2 is immediate, as is the fact that it is always an isomorphism when p = 0.

The map

$$\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}_{*}(X;L)\otimes\mathscr{A})\otimes\Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{B})\to\Gamma_{\Phi\cap\Psi}(\mathscr{C}_{*}(X;L)\otimes\mathscr{A}\otimes\mathscr{B})$$

induces the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H_n(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}_*(X;L)\otimes\mathscr{A}))\otimes\Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{B})&\stackrel{\cap}{\longrightarrow}& H_n(\Gamma_{\Phi\cap\Psi}(\mathscr{C}_*(X;L)\otimes\mathscr{A}\otimes\mathscr{B}))\\ & & \downarrow & & \downarrow\\ \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{H}_n(X;L)\otimes\mathscr{A})\otimes\Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{B})&\stackrel{\cup}{\longrightarrow}& \Gamma_{\Phi\cap\Psi}(\mathscr{H}_n(X;L)\otimes\mathscr{A}\otimes\mathscr{B})), \end{array}$$

that is,

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H_n^{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}))\otimes\Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{B}) & \stackrel{\cap}{\longrightarrow} & H_n^{\Phi\cap\Psi}(X;\mathscr{A}\otimes\mathscr{B}) \\ & & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ H_{\Phi}^0(X;\mathscr{O}\otimes\mathscr{A})\otimes\Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{B}) & \stackrel{\cup}{\longrightarrow} & H_{\Phi\cap\Psi}^0(X;\mathscr{O}\otimes\mathscr{A}\otimes\mathscr{B}), \end{array}$$

and it is clear that the vertical maps are precisely $\Delta^{-1} \otimes 1$ and Δ^{-1} .

Thus, we see that the formula $\Delta(\alpha \cup \beta) = (\Delta \alpha) \cap \beta$ of 10.1 holds when p = 0 = r. However, both sides of this formula are natural transformations $F_1^r(\mathscr{A}) \otimes F_2^p(\mathscr{B}) \to F^{r,p}(\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{B})$ commuting with connecting homomorphisms, as the reader may show, and where $F_1^r(\mathscr{A}) = H_{\Phi}^r(X; \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{A})$, $F_2^p(\mathscr{B}) = H_{\Psi}^p(X; \mathscr{B})$, and $F^{r,p}(\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{B}) = H_{n-r-p}^{\Phi \cap \Psi}(X; \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B})$. Thus the result follows from II-6.2.

10.2. Corollary. In the situation of 10.1 assume that \mathscr{O} is locally constant with stalks L and that X is paracompact, e.g., X a paracompact n- hm_L . Put $[X] = \Delta(1) \in H_n(X; \mathscr{O}^{-1})$, which is called the "fundamental homology class" of X, where $1 \in L \subset \Gamma(L) = H^0(X; L)$ is the section with constant value 1. Then for Φ paracompactifying, the homomorphism $\Delta: H^{\Phi}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to H^{\Phi}_{n-p}(X; \mathscr{O}^{-1} \otimes \mathscr{A})$ is given by

$$\Delta(\alpha) = [X] \cap \alpha.$$

Proof. We have $[X] \cap \alpha = \Delta(1) \cap \alpha = \Delta(1 \cup \alpha) = \Delta(\alpha)$ by 10.1. \Box

10.3. We shall now consider "computation" of the cap product by means of resolutions and shall obtain in the process some additional facts about the cap product.

For the remainder of this section we let \mathscr{L}^* be a *c*-soft, torsion-free resolution of *L* on *X*. Let \mathscr{N}^* be a *c*-soft resolution of *L* on a space *Y*. Then $\mathscr{L}^*\widehat{\otimes}\mathscr{N}^*$ is a *c*-soft resolution of *L* on $X \times Y$ by Exercise 14(b) of Chapter II. Moreover, if X = Y then $\mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{N}^*$ is a *c*-soft resolution of *L* on *X*, by II-9.2 applied to the diagonal, or, more directly, by II-16.31.

By II-15.5, $\Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}^*\widehat{\otimes}\mathscr{N}^*) \approx \Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}^*) \otimes \Gamma_c(\mathscr{N}^*)$ and so, using the identity $\operatorname{Hom}(A \otimes B, C) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(A, \operatorname{Hom}(B, C))$, we obtain the canonical isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}^*\widehat{\otimes}\mathscr{N}^*), L^*) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}^*), \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_c(\mathscr{N}^*), L^*)))$$

The homology of the left-hand side of this equation is $H_*(X \times Y; L)$. If \mathscr{N}^* is torsion-free, then $\operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_c(\mathscr{N}^*), L^*)$ is divisible, whence injective, so that the algebraic Künneth formula (see [54] or [75]) yields the exact sequence

$$\bigoplus_{p+q=n+1} \operatorname{Ext}(H^p_c(X;L), H_q(Y;L)) \to H_n(X \times Y;L) \twoheadrightarrow \bigoplus_{p+q=n} \operatorname{Hom}(H^p_c(X;L), H_q(Y;L)),$$
(58)

which splits.

We now restrict our attention to the case of one space X = Y, and we let $\mathcal{N}^* = \mathscr{I}^*(X; L)$ (or any injective resolution of L) for the remainder of this section. Consider the homomorphism

$$\cap : \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_{c}(\mathscr{L}^{*} \otimes \mathscr{N}^{*}|U), L^{*}) \otimes \mathscr{L}^{*}(U) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_{c}(\mathscr{N}^{*}|U), L^{*})$$

of presheaves on X defined by $(f \cap s)(t) = f(s \cup t)$, where $\cup : \mathscr{L}^*(U) \otimes \Gamma_c(\mathscr{N}^*|U) \to \Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{N}^*|U)$. This defines a homomorphism of sheaves

$$\cap: \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{N}^*) \otimes \mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{N}^*).$$

Let $\mathcal{M}^* = \mathcal{J}^*(X; L)$ (or any injective resolution of L) and let $\mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{N}^* \to \mathscr{M}^*$ be a homomorphism of resolutions. We have the induced homomorphism $\mathfrak{D}(\mathcal{M}^*) \to \mathfrak{D}(\mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{N}^*)$ and hence a homomorphism

$$\cap: \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}_{m}(\mathscr{M}^{*})) \otimes \Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{L}^{p}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi \cap \Psi}(\mathscr{D}_{m-p}(\mathscr{N}^{*})).$$
(59)

We shall show shortly that this product induces the cap product defined earlier.

We claim that for $f \in \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}_m(\mathscr{M}^*))$ and $s \in \Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{L}^*)$ we have

$$d(f \cap s) = df \cap s + (-1)^m f \cap ds.$$
(60)

In fact, for $t \in \Gamma_c(\mathscr{N}^*)$ we compute [recall the definition of the differential in $\mathscr{D}^*(\mathscr{N}^*)$]

$$\begin{aligned} (d(f \cap s))(t) &= d((f \cap s)(t)) - (-1)^{m-p}(f \cap s)(dt) \\ &= d(f(s \cup t)) - (-1)^{m-p}f(s \cup dt) \\ &= (df)(s \cup t) + (-1)^m f(d(s \cup t)) - (-1)^{m-p}f(s \cup dt) \\ &= (df)(s \cup t) + (-1)^m f(ds \cup t) \\ &= [df \cap s + (-1)^m f \cap ds](t). \end{aligned}$$

Now, if \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} are sheaves on X, we have the homomorphism

$$(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{M}^*) \otimes \mathscr{A}) \otimes (\mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{B}) \to \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{N}^*) \otimes (\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B})$$
(61)

and hence

$$\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{M}^*)\otimes\mathscr{A})\otimes\Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{L}^*\otimes\mathscr{B})\to\Gamma_{\Phi\cap\Psi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{N}^*)\otimes\mathscr{A}\otimes\mathscr{B}),\qquad(62)$$

which, of course, also satisfies (60). Since \mathscr{L}^* is torsion free, $\mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{B}$ is c-soft and hence Ψ -soft for Ψ paracompactifying, by II-16.31 and II-16.5. Also, if \mathscr{L}^* is flabby and \mathscr{B} is elementary, then $\mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{B}$ is flabby by 3.8. Thus we see that (62) induces a product

> $\cap: H^{\Phi}_{m}(X; \mathscr{A}) \otimes H^{p}_{\Psi}(X; \mathscr{B}) \to H^{\Phi \cap \Psi}_{m-n}(X; \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B})$ (63)

when either Ψ is paracompactifying or \mathscr{B} is elementary.

When Ψ and $\Phi \cap \Psi$ are both paracompactifying, it is easy to see that (63) coincides with our previous definition (52). This can be seen directly for p = 0 and follows in general from II-6.2 and the fact from (60) that (63) commutes with connecting homomorphisms in the variable \mathcal{B} .

10.4. We shall digress a moment to consider a slight generalization of the exact sequence (9) on page 292. Let \mathcal{T} be a locally constant sheaf on X with stalks isomorphic to L and let \mathscr{R}^* be a replete resolution of L on X. (Note that repletion is easily seen to be a local property, so that $\mathscr{R}^*\otimes\mathscr{T}$ is a replete resolution of \mathcal{T} .) The homomorphism

$$\theta: \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_{c}(\mathscr{R}^{*}\otimes\mathscr{T}|U), L^{*})\otimes\mathscr{T}(U) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_{c}(\mathscr{R}^{*}|U), L^{*})$$

of presheaves defined as in the development of (59) by $\theta(f \otimes t)(s) = f(s \cup t)$ induces a homomorphism

$$\mathcal{H}om(\Gamma_{c}\{\mathcal{R}^{*}\otimes\mathcal{T}\},L^{*})\otimes\mathcal{T}\to\mathcal{H}om(\Gamma_{c}\mathcal{R}^{*},L^{*})$$

of sheaves. This is an isomorphism since \mathscr{T} is locally isomorphic to L. Now, \mathscr{T} has an "inverse" sheaf \mathscr{T}^{-1} (i.e., such that $\mathscr{T} \otimes \mathscr{T}^{-1} \approx L$). Thus we obtain the natural isomorphism

$$\mathcal{H}om(\Gamma_{c}\{\mathcal{R}^{*}\otimes\mathcal{T}\},L^{*})\approx\mathcal{H}om(\Gamma_{c}\mathcal{R}^{*},L^{*})\otimes\mathcal{T}^{-1},$$

and in particular, we have that

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_{c}(\mathscr{R}^{*}\otimes\mathscr{T}),L^{*})\approx\Gamma(\mathscr{H}om(\Gamma_{c}\mathscr{R}^{*},L^{*})\otimes\mathscr{T}^{-1}).$$
(64)

If we take $\mathscr{R}^* = \mathscr{I}^*(X; L)$, then (64) and 2.3 provide the split exact sequence

$$\operatorname{Ext}(H_c^{p+1}(X;\mathscr{T}),L) \rightarrowtail H_p(X;\mathscr{T}^{-1}) \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(H_c^p(X;\mathscr{T}),L).$$
(65)

We claim that when L is a field, the isomorphism provided by (65) is given by the cap product pairing. (Recall that we may take $L^* = L$ when L is a field, by 2.7.)

10.5. Theorem. If L is a field and if \mathscr{T} is a locally constant sheaf with stalks L, then for each degree p the cap product pairing

$$\cap: H_p(X; \mathscr{T}^{-1}) \otimes H^p_c(X; \mathscr{T}) \to H^c_0(X; L) \xrightarrow{\varepsilon} L$$

is nonsingular, and in fact, the induced map

$$H_p(X; \mathscr{T}^{-1}) \to \operatorname{Hom}(H^p_c(X; \mathscr{T}), L)$$

is an isomorphism coinciding with that of (65).

Proof. Note that over a field every c-soft sheaf is replete. Let \mathscr{L}^* , \mathscr{N}^* and \mathscr{M}^* all be $\mathscr{I}^*(X; L)$, and as above, let $\cup : \mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{N}^* \to \mathscr{M}^*$ be any given homomorphism of resolutions. Use \cup to also denote the obvious map $\mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{T} \otimes \mathscr{N}^* \to \mathscr{M}^* \otimes \mathscr{T}$, and consider the homomorphism

$$\zeta: \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_c(\mathscr{M}^* \otimes \mathscr{T}), L) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{T}), \Gamma_c(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{N}^*)))$$
(66)

defined by

$$\left(\zeta(f)(s)\right)(t) = f(s \cup t).$$

Clearly, $|\zeta(f)(s)| \subset |f| \cap |t| \in c$; compare (62).

Since L is a field, the homology in degree m of the right-hand side of (66) can be identified with

$$\bigoplus_{p} \operatorname{Hom}(H^{p}_{c}(X;\mathscr{T}), H^{c}_{m-p}(X;L)).$$

Thus, using (64), (66) induces a map

$$H_m(X;\mathscr{F}^{-1}) \to \bigoplus_p \operatorname{Hom}(H^p_c(X;\mathscr{F}), H^c_{m-p}(X;L)),$$

which is $\alpha \mapsto \bigoplus \alpha \cap (\bullet)$ by the definition of (66) and of (63).

Now, by (19) on page 300, there is a natural map

$$\eta: \Gamma_c(\mathcal{H}om(\Gamma_c\mathcal{N}^*, L)) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma(\mathcal{N}^*), L)$$

defined as follows: If $f \in \text{Hom}(\Gamma_c(\mathscr{N}^*), L)$ with $|f| \in c$ and if $s \in \Gamma(\mathscr{N}^*)$, select $s' \in \Gamma_c(\mathscr{N}^*)$ such that s = s' on some neighborhood of |f| and put

$$\eta(f)(s) = f(s').$$

The augmentation $L \to \mathscr{N}^*$ provides a canonical section $1 \in \Gamma(\mathscr{N}^*)$ and a homomorphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma(\mathcal{N}^*), L) \to \operatorname{Hom}(L, L) \to L$$

taking g into $g(1) \in L$. Together with η , we obtain, finally, a homomorphism

$$\nu: \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_{c}(\mathscr{L}^{*} \otimes \mathscr{T}), \Gamma_{c}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{N}^{*}))) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_{c}(\mathscr{L}^{*} \otimes \mathscr{T}), L)$$

defined by $\nu(f)(s) = \eta(f(s))(1)$. Note that the map $\Gamma_c(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{N}^*)) \to L$ induces the canonical surjection $H_0^c(X; L) \xrightarrow{\varepsilon} L$ defined by mapping X into a point.

The homomorphism $\mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{N}^*$ defined by tensoring with $1 \in \Gamma(\mathscr{N}^*)$ induces a map

$$\mu: \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_c(\mathscr{M}^* \otimes \mathscr{T}), L) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{T}), L)$$

defined by $\mu(g)(s) = g(s \cup 1) \in L$. Thus we have the diagram

We claim that this commutes. In fact, for $f \in \text{Hom}(\Gamma_c(\mathcal{M}^* \otimes \mathcal{T}), L)$ we have $\mu(f)(s) = f(s \cup 1)$, while

$$\nu(\zeta(f))(s) = \eta(\zeta(f)(s))(1) = (\zeta(f)(s))(1') = f(s \cup 1') = f(s \cup 1),$$

where 1' = 1 on a neighborhood of $|s| \cup |\zeta(f)(s)| \in c$ and the support of 1' is compact.

Now using (64), (67) induces the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} H_m(X;\mathscr{T}^{-1}) & \stackrel{\zeta^{\bullet}}{\longrightarrow} & \bigoplus_{p} \operatorname{Hom}(H^p_c(X;\mathscr{T}), H^c_{m-p}(X;L)) \\ & & \downarrow_{\mu^{\bullet}=1} & & \downarrow_{\nu^{\bullet}} \\ H_m(X;\mathscr{T}^{-1}) & \stackrel{\approx}{\longrightarrow} & \operatorname{Hom}(H^m_c(X;\mathscr{T}), L), \end{array}$$

where $\zeta^*(\alpha)(\beta) = \alpha \cap \beta$ and ν^* is the projection onto the factor with p = m followed by the canonical epimorphism $\varepsilon : H_0^c(X; L) \twoheadrightarrow L$. The bottom horizontal map coincides, by definition, with that given by (65). The result follows.

10.6. Corollary. Let X be a paracompact n-whm_L, where L is a field. Let \mathscr{T} be a locally constant sheaf on X with stalks L. Then the cup product pairing $\alpha \otimes \beta \mapsto \varepsilon \Delta(\alpha \cup \beta) \in L$ of

$$H^{p}(X; \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{T}^{-1}) \otimes H^{n-p}_{c}(X; \mathscr{T}) \to H^{n}_{c}(X; \mathscr{O}) \xrightarrow{\Delta} H^{c}_{0}(X; L) \xrightarrow{\varepsilon} L$$

is nonsingular, and in fact, the induced homomorphism

 $H^p(X; \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{T}^{-1}) \to \operatorname{Hom}(H^{n-p}_c(X; \mathscr{T}), L)$

is an isomorphism.

Proof. We have $\Delta(\alpha \cup \beta) = (\Delta \alpha) \cap \beta$ by 10.1, and the result follows immediately from this and 10.5.

10.7. Corollary. Let X be a compact $n-hm_L$, where L is a field. Let \mathscr{F} be a locally constant sheaf on X with stalks L. Then $H^p(X; \mathscr{F})$ has finite dimension over L for all p.

Proof. We have

$$H^p(X;\mathscr{T}) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(H^{n-p}(X;\mathscr{O}\otimes\mathscr{T}^{-1}),L)$$

and

$$H^{n-p}(X; \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{T}^{-1}) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(H^p(X; \mathscr{T}), L)$$

since $\mathscr{O} \otimes (\mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{T}^{-1})^{-1} \approx \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{O}^{-1} \otimes \mathscr{T} \approx \mathscr{T}$. Therefore

$$H^p(X;\mathscr{T}) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{Hom}(H^p(X;\mathscr{T}),L),L),$$

which can happen only for a finite-dimensional vector space.

Let us briefly indicate another definition of the cap product. By an inductive process we can define a natural homomorphism

$$\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{B}) \to \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B})$$

of differential sheaves. Thus we have the map

$$\mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{A})\otimes \mathscr{C}^*(X;\mathscr{B})\to \mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{C}^*(X;\mathscr{A}\otimes \mathscr{B}))$$

[recalling that $\mathscr{C}_*(X; \mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{C}_*(X; L) \otimes \mathscr{A}$] and hence also

$$C^{\Phi}_{m}(X;\mathscr{A}) \otimes C^{p}_{\Psi}(X;\mathscr{B}) \to C^{\Phi \cap \Psi}_{m}(X;\mathscr{C}^{p}(X;\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B})).$$
(68)

If $\Phi \cap \Psi$ is paracompactifying, so that $C^{\Phi \cap \Psi}_*(X; \bullet)$ is exact, a spectral sequence argument on the double complex on the right shows that its total homology is naturally isomorphic to $H^{\Phi \cap \Psi}_*(X; \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B})$. Thus (68) induces a product that, as the reader is invited to prove, coincides with the cap product (52).

10.8. Example. We shall illustrate the basic spectral sequence of 8.4 for 3-manifolds with isolated singularities. Let K be a finite simplicial complex that is an orientable 3-manifold with boundary. (The main case of interest is that for which K is a convex solid polyhedron in \mathbb{R}^3 .) Let M arise from K by identification, in pairs, of the 2-faces in ∂K . Then it is easy to see that M is locally euclidean except at its vertices. It will be orientable if the identifications all reverse orientation. In this case let $L = \mathbb{Z}$ or $L = \mathbb{Z}_2$. Otherwise, take $L = \mathbb{Z}_2$. The boundary of a star of a vertex (possibly after subdivision) is then a closed 2-manifold that is orientable if $L = \mathbb{Z}$. Thus M is a manifold \Leftrightarrow each of these are 2-spheres. The sheaf $\mathscr{H}_3(M; L)$ is constant with stalks L since it is represented everywhere by the 3-cycle that is the sum of all 3-simplices (coherently oriented if $L = \mathbb{Z}$). The sheaf $\mathscr{H}_2(M; L)$ is concentrated at the vertices, and the stalk at a vertex is $H_2(U; L) \approx H_2(\overline{U}, B; L) \approx H_1(B; L)$; see 5.10, where U is the star at the vertex and B is its boundary, a 2-manifold. Hence $\mathscr{H}_2(M; L) = 0 \Leftrightarrow M$ is

a 3-manifold. Therefore $\Gamma(\mathscr{H}_2(M;L)) \approx L^k$ for some k, where $k = 0 \Leftrightarrow M$ is a 3-manifold. In the spectral sequence of 8.4 we have

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p(M; \mathcal{H}_{-q}(M; L)) \approx \begin{cases} H^p(M; L), & \text{for } q = -3, \\ L^k, & \text{for } q = -2 \text{ and } p = 0, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Thus the spectral sequence degenerates into the exact sequence

$$0 \to E_2^{1,-3} \to H_2(M;L) \to E_2^{0,-2} \xrightarrow{d_2} E_2^{2,-3} \to H_1(M;L) \to 0,$$

which is

$$0 \to H^1(M;L) \xrightarrow{[M] \cap} H_2(M;L) \to L^k \to H^2(M;L) \xrightarrow{[M] \cap} H_1(M;L) \to 0$$

by 10.2. The Euler characteristic of this sequence gives $b_1 - b_2 + k - b_2 + b_1 = 0$, where b_i is the *i*th Betti number of M over L. Hence $\chi(M) = 1 - b_1 + b_2 - 1 = b_2 - b_1 = k/2$. We conclude that M is a 3-manifold $\Leftrightarrow \chi(M) = 0$. Of course, this is easy to derive by the elementary methods of simplicial homology and, in fact, is given in [73, p. 216].

11 Intersection theory

This section is a continuation of the previous one. In it we show how to define a very nice intersection product in an $n-hm_L$. For the sake of simplicity we restrict attention, for the most part, to the case of compact supports. Again for simplicity we shall assume that the $n-hm_L$ we deal with is *locally hereditarily paracompact*. This is so that we can conclude that $\dim_{c|A} X < \infty$ for any subspace $A \subset M$.

Let M be a locally hereditarily paracompact $n-hm_L$ with orientation sheaf $\mathscr{O} = \mathscr{H}_n(M; L)$. Let \mathscr{M} and \mathscr{N} be elementary sheaves on M. By 5.7 we have that

$$H_p^c(F; \mathscr{O}^{-1} \otimes \mathscr{M}) \approx H_p^{c|F}(M; \mathscr{O}^{-1} \otimes \mathscr{M})$$

for any closed subset $F \subset M$. By 9.6 we also have the isomorphism

$$D = \Delta^{-1} : H_p^{c|F}(M; \mathscr{O}^{-1} \otimes \mathscr{M}) \xrightarrow{\approx} H_{c|F}^{n-p}(M; \mathscr{M}).$$

For A and B both closed in M there is also the cup product

$$H^{n-p}_{c|A}(M;\mathscr{M})\otimes H^{n-q}_{c|B}(M;\mathscr{N})\xrightarrow{\cup} H^{2n-p-q}_{c|A\cap B}(M;\mathscr{M}\otimes\mathscr{N}).$$

Combining these we define the *intersection product*

• :
$$H_p^c(A; \mathscr{O}^{-1} \otimes \mathscr{M}) \otimes H_q^c(B; \mathscr{O}^{-1} \otimes \mathscr{N}) \to H_{p+q-n}^c(A \cap B; \mathscr{O}^{-1} \otimes \mathscr{M} \otimes \mathscr{N})$$

§11. Intersection theory

by

$$a \bullet b = \Delta(Db \cup Da).$$

(The reason for the reversal of order is indicated in [19].) [The reader can verify that this generalizes to arbitrarily locally closed A and B with arbitrary support families Φ on A, Ψ on B, and $\Phi \cap \Psi$ on $A \cap B$.]

For the case A = M = B we have, using 10.2,

$$a \bullet b = \Delta(Db \cup Da) = [M] \cap (Db \cup Da) = ([M] \cap Db) \cap Da,$$

so that

$$a \bullet b = b \cap Da.$$

In the general case, using the notation $i^{M,A} : A \hookrightarrow M$, etc., we conclude from naturality that

$$i_*^{M,A\cap B}(a \bullet b) = i_*^{M,A}(a) \bullet i_*^{M,B}(b) = i_*^{M,B}(b) \cap D(i_*^{M,A}a)$$
(69)

for $a \in H_p^c(A; \mathscr{O}^{-1} \otimes \mathscr{M})$ and $b \in H_q^c(B; \mathscr{O}^{-1} \otimes \mathscr{N})$. Also, note the formulas

$$a \bullet b = (-1)^{(n-\deg(a))(n-\deg(b))}b \bullet a$$

and

$$a \bullet (b \bullet c) = (a \bullet b) \bullet c.$$

An obvious consequence of (69) is that for closed sets $A, B \subset M$, if $a \in H_p^c(A; \mathscr{O}^{-1} \otimes \mathscr{M}), b \in H_q^c(B; \mathscr{O}^{-1} \otimes \mathscr{N})$, and $i_*^{M,A}(a) \bullet i_*^{M,B}(b) \neq 0$, then $A \cap B \neq \emptyset$.

If $\mathscr{O}^{-1} \otimes \mathscr{M} \otimes \mathscr{N} \approx L$, then there is the augmentation $\varepsilon : H_0^c(A \cap B; L) \twoheadrightarrow L$, and so we can define the *intersection number*

$$a \cdot b = \varepsilon(a \bullet b) \in L$$

for $a \in H_p^c(A; \mathbb{O}^{-1} \otimes \mathcal{M}), b \in H_q^c(B; \mathbb{O}^{-1} \otimes \mathcal{N})$, and $\mathbb{O}^{-1} \otimes \mathcal{M} \otimes \mathcal{N} \approx L$, with a given such isomorphism understood. Note then that

$$a \cdot b = \varepsilon(a \bullet b) = \varepsilon(b \cap Da)$$

for $a \in H_p^c(A; \mathscr{O}^{-1} \otimes \mathscr{M})$, $b \in H_q^c(B; \mathscr{O}^{-1} \otimes \mathscr{N})$, and $\mathscr{M} \otimes \mathscr{N} \approx \mathscr{O}$. In particular, $a \cdot b$ is defined when $a \in H_p^c(A; L)$ and $b \in H_q^c(B; \mathscr{O}^{-1} \otimes L)$ or when $a \in H_p^c(A; \mathscr{O}^{-1} \otimes L)$ and $b \in H_q^c(B; L)$. Note that the intersection number is a duality pairing.

In [19, p. 373] an example is given of two tori A and B embedded in a 3-torus M such that $0 \neq [A] \bullet [B] \in H_1(M)$ but with ${}_{S}H_1(A \cap B) = 0$. In Borel-Moore homology, of course, we must have that $H_1(A \cap B) \neq 0$. It is clear that Borel-Moore homology is the proper domain of intersection theory. **11.1.** For the remainder of this section we shall restrict our attention to the case in which L is a *field*. Let \mathscr{T} be a locally constant sheaf on X with stalks L. Then we have the isomorphism

$$\eta: H_p(X; \mathscr{T}^{-1}) \xrightarrow{\approx} \operatorname{Hom}(H^p_c(X; \mathscr{T}), L)$$

of 10.5 given by $\eta(a)(\beta) = \varepsilon(a \cap \beta)$. We introduce the notation

$$\langle a, eta
angle = arepsilon (a \cap eta)$$

for this pairing. Here $a \in H_p(X; \mathscr{F}^{-1})$ and $\beta \in H_c^p(X; \mathscr{F})$. Note the formulas

all of which are immediate. Also note that since this "Kronecker pairing" is nonsingular, to define an element $a \in H_p(X; \mathcal{F}^{-1})$ it suffices to define $\langle a, \beta \rangle$ for β in a basis of $H_c^p(X; \mathcal{F})$.

We digress for a moment to discuss the homology cross product. Let \mathscr{T} and \mathscr{P} be locally constant sheaves on X and Y respectively with stalks L. By the Künneth theorem, $H^n_c(X \times Y; \mathscr{T} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{S})$ has a basis consisting of elements of the form $\alpha \times \beta$, where $\alpha \in H^p_c(X; \mathscr{T})$ and $\beta \in H^q_c(Y; \mathscr{S})$. Therefore we can define a homology cross product

$$\times: H_p(X; \mathscr{T}^{-1}) \otimes H_q(Y; \mathscr{T}^{-1}) \to H_{p+q}(X \times Y; \mathscr{T}^{-1} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{S}^{-1})$$

by

$$\langle a \times b, \alpha \times \beta \rangle = (-1)^{\deg(\alpha) \deg(b)} \langle a, \alpha \rangle \langle b, \beta \rangle.$$

(Note that $\deg(\alpha) = \deg(a)$ and $\deg(\beta) = \deg(b)$ when this expression is nonzero.) If $T: X \times Y \to Y \times X$ is T(x, y) = (y, x), then

$$T_*(a \times b) = (-1)^{(\deg b)}b \times a$$
(70)

since

$$\begin{array}{l} \langle a \times b, \alpha \times \beta \rangle &= (-1)^{\deg(a) \deg(b)} \langle a, \alpha \rangle \langle b, \beta \rangle \\ &= (-1)^{\deg(a) \deg(b)} \langle b, \beta \rangle \langle a, \alpha \rangle \\ &= \langle b \times a, \beta \times \alpha \rangle \\ &= (-1)^{\deg(a) \deg(b)} \langle b \times a, T^*(\alpha \times \beta) \rangle \\ &= (-1)^{\deg(a) \deg(b)} \langle T_*(b \times a), \alpha \times \beta \rangle. \end{array}$$

In dimension zero we have

l

$$\varepsilon(a\times b)=\langle a\times b,1\rangle=\langle a\times b,1\times 1\rangle=\langle a,1\rangle\langle b,1\rangle=\varepsilon(a)\varepsilon(b).$$
In general, we have

$$(a \times b) \cap (\alpha \times \beta) = (-1)^{\deg(\alpha) \deg(b)} (a \cap \alpha) \times (b \cap \beta),$$

as can be verified easily by pairing both sides with cohomology classes of the form $\alpha' \times \beta'$ and comparing results. It is also easy to verify that in an *n*-hm_L we have

$$(a \bullet b) \times (c \bullet d) = (-1)^{(n-\deg(a))(n-\deg(d))}(a \times c) \bullet (b \times d).$$

Remark: It is natural to ask how much more generally the homology cross product can be defined. In the present situation where L is a field, it is not hard to generalize to the case of arbitrary paracompactifying support families and arbitrary coefficient sheaves. If L is not a field, then one can still define the cross product for closed supports and coefficients in L by using the fact that $H_p(X; L) \approx H_p(\operatorname{Hom}(F^*\Gamma_c(\mathscr{I}^*(X; L)), L))$, where F^* denotes the passage to a projective resolution. However, I see no way to pass from this to general coefficient sheaves.

11.2. Now we confine our attention to the case in which M^n is a compact, connected, metrizable $n-hm_L$ and L is a field. Recall from 10.7 that $H_*(M;L)$ is finitely generated. Let $[M] \in H_n(M; \mathscr{O}^{-1}) \approx H^0(M;L) \approx L$ be the fundamental class or any generator and let $\gamma \in H^n(M; \mathscr{O})$ be its Kronecker dual class; i.e., $\langle [M], \gamma \rangle = 1$. Note then that $[M] \times [M] \neq 0$ since

$$\langle [M] \times [M], \gamma \times \gamma \rangle = \pm \langle [M], \gamma \rangle \langle [M], \gamma \rangle = \pm 1.$$

Thus we may take

$$[M \times M] = [M] \times [M].$$

Note that $([M] \times [M]) \cap (Da \times Db) = (-1)^{n \deg(b)} ([M] \cap Da) \times ([M] \cap Db) =$

 $(-1)^{n \operatorname{deg}(b)} a \times b$, so that

$$D(a \times b) = (-1)^{n \deg(b)} D(a) \times D(b).$$

Let $d: M \to M \times M$ be the diagonal map. Then there are two "diagonal" classes,

$$[\Delta_1] = d_*[M] \in H_n(M \times M; L\widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{O}^{-1})$$

and

$$[\Delta_2] = d_*[M] \in H_n(M \times M; \mathscr{O}^{-1} \widehat{\otimes} L).$$

11.3. Theorem. We have

$$[\Delta_1] = \sum_{a \in B} a \times a^{\circ},$$

where B is a basis of $H_*(M; L)$ and $a^{\circ} \in H_*(M; \mathcal{O}^{-1})$ is the element corresponding to a in the intersection product dual basis (i.e., $a \cdot b^{\circ} = \delta_{a,b}$ for $a, b \in B$). Also,

$$[\Delta_2] = \sum_{a \in B} (-1)^{\deg(a)(n - \deg(a))} a^{\circ} \times a.$$

Proof. We can write $[\Delta_1] = \sum_{a,b} \lambda_{a,b} a \times b^\circ$ for some coefficients $\lambda_{a,b} \in L$. Note that $\deg(a) = \deg(b)$ in this sum. Then, using $|a| = \deg(a)$, we compute

$$\begin{split} \lambda_{a,b} &= \varepsilon(\lambda_{a,b}(a \bullet a^{\circ}) \times (b \bullet b^{\circ})) \\ &= (-1)^{|a|(n-|a|)} \varepsilon(\lambda_{a,b}(a^{\circ} \bullet a) \times (b \bullet b^{\circ})) \\ &= (-1)^{|a|(n-|a|)+|a||b|} \varepsilon(\lambda_{a,b}(a^{\circ} \times b) \bullet (a \times b^{\circ})) \\ &= (-1)^{n|a|} \varepsilon((a^{\circ} \times b) \bullet \lambda_{a,b}(a \times b^{\circ})) \\ &= (-1)^{n|a|} \varepsilon((a^{\circ} \times b) \bullet [\Delta_{1}]) \\ &= (-1)^{n|a|} \langle [\Delta_{1}], D(a^{\circ} \times b) \rangle \\ &= (-1)^{n|a|} \langle [M], D(a^{\circ} \times b) \rangle \\ &= \langle [M], d^{*}(D(a^{\circ}) \times D(b)) \rangle \\ &= \langle [M], D(a^{\circ}) \cup D(b) \rangle \\ &= \langle [M] \cap D(a^{\circ}), D(b) \rangle \\ &= \langle a^{\circ}, D(b) \rangle = b \cdot a^{\circ} = \delta_{a,b}, \end{split}$$

which gives the first formula. The second formula follows from the first by the rule (70) for changing order in a cross product. \Box

Now suppose that $f: M \to M$ is a self map, and put

$$[\Gamma_f] = (1 \times f)_*[\Delta_2] \in H_n(M \times M; \mathscr{O}^{-1} \widehat{\otimes} L),$$

the fundamental class of the graph of f. Now, $f_*: H_n(M; L) \to H_n(M; L)$ can be written in terms of the basis B as $f_*(b) = \sum_{a \in B} \lambda_{a,b} a$ for some coefficients $\lambda_{a,b} \in L$. Then the Lefschetz fixed-point number is defined to be $L(f) = \sum_{a \in B} (-1)^{\deg(a)} \lambda_{a,a}$.

11.4. Theorem. (Lefschetz fixed-point theorem.) Let M be a compact metrizable $n-hm_L$ where L is a field, and let $f: M \to M$. Then

$$L(f) = [\Gamma_f] \cdot [\Delta_1].$$

In particular, if $L(f) \neq 0$, then f has a fixed point.

Proof. We compute

$$\begin{split} [\Gamma_f] \cdot [\Delta_1] &= (1 \times f)_* [\Delta_2] \cdot [\Delta_1] \\ &= \varepsilon \left((1_* \times f_*) \left(\sum_{b \in B} (-1)^{|b|(n-|b|)} (b^{\circ} \times b) \right) \bullet \sum_{a \in B} (a \times a^{\circ}) \right) \\ &= \varepsilon \left(\sum_{b \in B} (-1)^{|b|(n-|b|)} (b^{\circ} \times f_*(b)) \bullet \sum_{a \in B} (a \times a^{\circ}) \right) \\ &= \varepsilon \left(\sum_{a,b \in B} (-1)^{|b|(n-|b|)} b^{\circ} \times \sum_{c \in B} \lambda_{c,b} c \bullet (a \times a^{\circ}) \right) \\ &= \varepsilon \left(\sum_{a,b,c \in B} \lambda_{c,b} (-1)^{|b|(n-|b|)} (b^{\circ} \times c) \bullet (a \times a^{\circ}) \right) \\ &= \varepsilon \left(\sum_{a,b,c \in B} \lambda_{c,b} (-1)^{|b|(n-|b|)+|a||b|} (b^{\circ} \bullet a) \times (c \bullet a^{\circ}) \right) \\ &= \varepsilon \left(\sum_{a,b,c \in B} \lambda_{c,b} (-1)^{|b|(n-|b|)+|a||b|} (a \bullet b^{\circ}) \times (c \bullet b^{\circ}) \right) \\ &= \sum_{b \in B} (-1)^{|b|} \lambda_{b,b} = L(f). \end{split}$$

,

Of course, the last statement holds because $[\Gamma_f] \cdot [\Delta_1] \neq 0$ implies that the graph $\Gamma_f = \{\langle x, f(x) \rangle\}$ intersects the diagonal $\Delta = \{\langle x, x \rangle\}$ nontrivially, since $[\Gamma_f] \bullet [\Delta_1]$ can be regarded as a class in $H_0(\Gamma_f \cap \Delta; L)$. \Box

This can easily be generalized to the case of homology manifolds with boundary (see Section 16) either directly or by the technique of doubling; see [19, p. 402]. The present version of the Lefschetz fixed-point theorem is not quite subsumed by the classical one, as given in [19, IV-23.5], since there are homology manifolds that are not locally contractible.

12 Uniqueness theorems

In this section we show that on the category of clc_L^{∞} spaces the definition of cohomology by means of flabby resolutions can be dualized to obtain the homology theory in an essentially unique manner.

12.1. Definition. A precosheaf \mathfrak{A} on X is said to be "locally zero" if for any open set $U \subset X$ and $y \in U$ there is a neighborhood $V \subset U$ of y with $i_{U,V} : \mathfrak{A}(V) \to \mathfrak{A}(U)$ trivial.

Note that a *cosheaf* is locally zero \Leftrightarrow it is zero.

12.2. Definition. A homomorphism $h : \mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{B}$ of precosheaves is said to be a "local isomorphism" if the precosheaves Ker h and $\mathfrak{B}/\operatorname{Im} h$ are both locally zero.

If \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{B} are cosheaves and $h: \mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{B}$ is a local isomorphism, then a simple diagram chase shows that $\mathfrak{B}/\operatorname{Im} h$ is a cosheaf. Another diagram chase then shows that h is actually an isomorphism of precosheaves. Thus a local isomorphism of cosheaves is an isomorphism. More generally, see Exercise 1 and Chapter VI. Note that for locally connected X the constant cosheaf \mathfrak{L} , as defined in Section 1, exists and that the canonical homomorphism $\mathfrak{L} \to L$ to the constant precosheaf is a local isomorphism.

For any precosheaf \mathfrak{A} on X and any L-module M we put $\mathcal{H}om(\mathfrak{A}, M) =$ $\mathcal{H}om(\mathfrak{A}(U), M)$ and $\mathcal{E}xt(\mathfrak{A}, M) = \mathcal{H}oaf(U \mapsto \operatorname{Ext}(\mathfrak{A}(U), M)).$

12.3. Proposition. If $h : \mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{B}$ is a local isomorphism of precosheaves, then the induced sheaf homomorphisms $\mathscr{H}om(\mathfrak{B}, M) \to \mathscr{H}om(\mathfrak{A}, M)$ and $\mathscr{E}x\ell(\mathfrak{B}, M) \to \mathscr{E}x\ell(\mathfrak{A}, M)$ are isomorphisms for any L-module M.

Proof. Let $\mathfrak{K}(U) = \operatorname{Ker} h(U)$, $\mathfrak{I}(U) = \operatorname{Im} h(U)$, and $\mathfrak{C}(U) = \mathfrak{B}(U)/\mathfrak{I}(U)$. We have the exact sequences of precosheaves

$$0 \to \mathfrak{K} \to \mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{I} \to 0$$

and

For $x \in X$, the definition of local isomorphism implies that for any neighborhood U of x there is a neighborhood $V \subset U$ of x with $\mathfrak{K}(V) \to \mathfrak{K}(U)$ and $\mathfrak{C}(V) \to \mathfrak{C}(U)$ both trivial. We have the following exact sequences, natural in U:

$$\begin{split} 0 &\to \operatorname{Hom}(\mathfrak{I}(U), M) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\mathfrak{A}(U), M) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\mathfrak{K}(U), M) \\ &\to \operatorname{Ext}(\mathfrak{I}(U), M) \to \operatorname{Ext}(\mathfrak{A}(U), M) \to \operatorname{Ext}(\mathfrak{K}(U), M) \to 0, \end{split}$$

and

$$0 \to \operatorname{Hom}(\mathfrak{C}(U), M) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\mathfrak{B}(U), M) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\mathfrak{I}(U), M)$$
$$\to \operatorname{Ext}(\mathfrak{C}(U), M) \to \operatorname{Ext}(\mathfrak{B}(U), M) \to \operatorname{Ext}(\mathfrak{I}(U), M) \to 0.$$

These sequences remain exact upon passage to the direct limit over neighborhoods U of x. However,

$$\varinjlim \operatorname{Hom}(\mathfrak{K}(U), M) = 0 = \varinjlim \operatorname{Ext}(\mathfrak{K}(U), M)$$

and

$$\varinjlim \operatorname{Hom}(\mathfrak{C}(U), M) = 0 = \varinjlim \operatorname{Ext}(\mathfrak{C}(U), M).$$

This implies that the homomorphisms $\mathscr{H}om(\mathfrak{B}, M)_x \to \mathscr{H}om(\mathfrak{A}, M)_x$ and $\mathscr{E}x\ell(\mathfrak{B}, M)_x \to \mathscr{E}x\ell(\mathfrak{A}, M)_x$ are isomorphisms. \Box

12.4. Definition. A locally compact space X is said to be k-hlc_L if for each $x \in X$ and each neighborhood U of x there is a neighborhood $V \subset U$ of x such that the homomorphism

$$i^{U,V}_*: \tilde{H}^c_k(V;L) \to \tilde{H}^c_k(U;L)$$

is trivial. The space X is hlc_L^n if it is k-hlc_L for all $k \leq n$.

For convenience we make the following definition. Note that it is not entirely symmetrical.

12.5. Definition. Let M be an L-module. Let \mathscr{L}^* be a differential sheaf and let $\varepsilon : M \to H^0(\mathscr{L}^*)$ be a homomorphism of presheaves [i.e., $M \to H^0(\mathscr{L}^*(U))$ for all open U]. Then \mathscr{L}^* , together with ε , is called a "quasin-resolution" of M provided that

(a) \mathscr{L}^* is bounded below,

(b) $\mathscr{H}^p(\mathscr{L}^*) = 0$ for all $0 \neq p \leq n$,

(c) ε induces an isomorphism $M \to \mathcal{H}^0(\mathcal{L}^*)$ of sheaves.

Similarly, let \mathfrak{L}_* be a differential cosheaf and $\eta : H_0(\mathfrak{L}_*) \to L$ a homomorphism of precosheaves. Then \mathfrak{L}_* , together with η , is called a "quasi-n-coresolution" of L provided that

(a') \mathfrak{L}_* is bounded below,

(b')
$$H_p(\mathfrak{L}_*) = 0$$
 for $p < 0$ and $H_p(\mathfrak{L}_*)$ is locally zero for $0 \neq p \leq n$,

(c') η is a local isomorphism of precosheaves.

We call \mathfrak{L}_* an "n-coresolution" if also $\mathfrak{L}_p = 0$ for p < 0.

In the above situation we define $\tilde{H}^0(\mathscr{L}^*) = \operatorname{Coker} \varepsilon$ and $\tilde{H}_0(\mathfrak{L}_*) = \operatorname{Ker} \eta$, the "reduced" groups in degree zero. Note, then, that the precosheaf $\tilde{H}_0(\mathfrak{L}_*)$ is locally zero, and the presheaf $\tilde{H}^0(\mathscr{L}^*)$ generates the zero sheaf.

Immediately from the definition of Borel-Moore homology we have:

12.6. Theorem. X is $hlc_L^n \Leftrightarrow C^c_*(\bullet; L)$ is a quasi-n-coresolution of L.

12.7. Theorem. If there exists a quasi-n-coresolution \mathfrak{L}_* of L by flabby cosheaves, then X is clc_L^n and $\mathscr{D}^*(\mathfrak{L}_*; M)$ is a quasi-n-resolution of M by flabby sheaves for any L-module M.

Proof. For U open in X, we have, by 2.3, the natural exact sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Ext}(H_{p-1}(\mathfrak{L}_{*}(U)), M) \to H^{p}(\mathscr{D}^{*}(\mathfrak{L}_{*}; M)(U)) \to \operatorname{Hom}(H_{p}(\mathfrak{L}_{*}(U)), M) \to 0.$$

$$(71)$$

Since $\mathscr{E}_{\mathscr{A}}(H_{p-1}(\mathfrak{L}_*), M) = 0$ for $1 \neq p \leq n+1$ and $\mathscr{E}_{\mathscr{A}}(H_0(\mathfrak{L}_*), M) \approx \mathscr{E}_{\mathscr{A}}(L, M) = 0$ by 12.3, we obtain, also by 12.3,

$$\mathscr{H}^{p}(\mathscr{D}^{*}(\mathfrak{L}_{*};M)) \approx \mathscr{H}\!\mathit{om}(H_{p}(\mathfrak{L}_{*}),M) \approx \begin{cases} \mathscr{H}\!\mathit{om}(L,M) \approx M, & \text{for } p = 0, \\ 0, & \text{for } 0 \neq p \leq n. \end{cases}$$

Also, by 12.5(b') we have $H^0(\mathscr{D}^*(\mathfrak{L}_*; M)(U)) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(H_0(\mathfrak{L}_*(U)), M)$ and $H^p(\mathscr{D}^*(\mathfrak{L}_*; M)) = 0$ for $0 . The hypothesized map <math>H_0(\mathfrak{L}_*) \to L$ induces a map

$$M \approx \operatorname{Hom}(L, M) \to \operatorname{Hom}(H_0(\mathfrak{L}_*(U)); M) \approx H^0(\mathscr{D}^*(\mathfrak{L}_*; M)(U)),$$

which induces the isomorphism $M \approx \mathscr{H}^0(\mathscr{D}^*(\mathfrak{L}_*; M))$. This shows that $\mathscr{D}^*(\mathfrak{L}_*; M)$ is a quasi-*n*-resolution of M. Since $\operatorname{Ext}(L, M) = 0$, it is easy to see that (71) also holds for the *reduced* groups in all three terms.

Now, $\mathscr{D}^*(\mathfrak{L}_*; M)$ is flabby by 1.10, so that there is a natural isomorphism (in the reduced case also)

$$H^{p}(\mathscr{D}^{*}(\mathfrak{L}_{*};M)(U)) \approx H^{p}(U;M) \text{ for } p \leq n$$
(72)

by IV-2.5. Now take $p \leq n$, M = L, and let $W \subset V \subset U$ be neighborhoods of any point $x \in X$ for which the maps $\tilde{H}_r(\mathfrak{L}_*(W)) \to \tilde{H}_r(\mathfrak{L}_*(V)) \to \tilde{H}_r(\mathfrak{L}_*(U))$ are both zero for r = p or p - 1. We have the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} & \tilde{H}^p(U;L) & \to & \operatorname{Hom}(\tilde{H}_p(\mathfrak{L}_*(U)),L) \\ & & & & \downarrow^0 \\ \operatorname{Ext}(\tilde{H}_{p-1}(\mathfrak{L}_*(V)),L) & \to & \tilde{H}^p(V;L) & \to & \operatorname{Hom}(\tilde{H}_p(\mathfrak{L}_*(V)),L) \\ & & \downarrow^0 & & \downarrow \\ \operatorname{Ext}(\tilde{H}_{p-1}(\mathfrak{L}_*(W)),L) & \to & \tilde{H}^p(W;L) \end{array}$$

with exact middle row. By II-17.3, the map $\tilde{H}^p(U;L) \to \tilde{H}^p(W;L)$ is trivial, and it follows from II-17.5 that X is clc_{I}^n .

12.8. Suppose that X is hlc_L^n . Then combining 12.7 with (72) and the sequence (71) we obtain the split exact universal coefficient sequence

 $0 \to \operatorname{Ext}(H^c_{p-1}(X;L),M) \to H^p(X;M) \to \operatorname{Hom}(H^c_p(X;L),M) \to 0$

for $p \leq n$, where M is any L-module. In 13.7 we will extend this to the relative case.

12.9. Theorem. Suppose that X is clc_L^{n+1} . Then $\mathfrak{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)$ is a flabby quasin-coresolution of L for any c-soft quasi-(n + 1)-resolution \mathscr{L}^* of L. Also, X is hlc_L^n and there is a natural isomorphism $H_p(\mathfrak{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)(U)) \approx H_p^c(U;L)$ for $p \leq n$.

Proof. Recall that $\mathfrak{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)$ is the cosheaf $U \mapsto \Gamma_c(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)|U)$. Note that for K compact, $\mathscr{L}^*|K$ is also a *c*-soft quasi-(n+1)-resolution of L on K. Also recall that

$$\mathfrak{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)(U) = \Gamma_c(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)|U) \approx \varinjlim \Gamma_{c|K}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)) \approx \varinjlim \Gamma(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)|K))$$

by 5.5, where K ranges over the compact subsets of U.

By IV-2.4 there are natural isomorphisms

 $H^p(\Gamma(\mathscr{L}^*|K)) \approx H^p(K;L)$ and $H^p(\Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}^*|U)) \approx H^p_c(U;L)$

for $p \leq n+1$. By 2.4 we have the natural exact sequence

$$\operatorname{Ext}(H^{p+1}(K;L),L) \rightarrowtail H_p(\Gamma(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*|K))) \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(H^p(K;L),L)$$
(73)

for $p \leq n$, and passing to the limit over $K \subset U$ (K compact, U open) we obtain the exact sequence $(p \leq n)$

$$\underline{\lim} \operatorname{Ext}(H^{p+1}(K), L) \rightarrowtail H_p(\mathfrak{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)(U)) \twoheadrightarrow \underline{\lim} \operatorname{Hom}(H^p(K), L).$$
(74)

In particular, we conclude that $H_p(\mathfrak{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)(U)) = 0$ for p < 0 because $H^0(K)$ is free, whence $\operatorname{Ext}(H^0(K), L) = 0$. We also have the surjection

$$H_0(\mathfrak{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)(U)) \twoheadrightarrow \varinjlim \operatorname{Hom}(H^0(K), L) \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(L, L) \approx L.$$

Thus we can form the reduced group $\tilde{H}_0(\mathfrak{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)(U))$, and it is clear that (74) is defined and remains exact for the reduced groups in all three terms. It is also clear that it now suffices to show that for $p \leq n$ the precosheaf $\tilde{H}_p(\mathfrak{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)(\bullet))$ is locally zero for the first part of the theorem.

Let U be a given neighborhood of $x \in X$. According to the definition of the property clc_L^{n+1} , we can find a compact neighborhood N of x with $N \subset U$ and an open neighborhood $V \subset N$ of x such that the restriction $\tilde{H}^r(N) \to \tilde{H}^r(V)$ is trivial for $r \leq n+1$. Thus, if K' and K are compact with $K' \subset V \subset N \subset K \subset U$, then $\tilde{H}^r(K) \to \tilde{H}^r(K')$ is trivial, as are

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\tilde{H}^p(K'), L) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\tilde{H}^p(K), L)$$

 \mathbf{and}

$$\operatorname{Ext}(\tilde{H}^{p+1}(K'), L) \to \operatorname{Ext}(\tilde{H}^{p+1}(K), L),$$

for $p \leq n$. Thus the latter two maps induce zero homomorphisms upon passage to the direct limits over $K' \subset V$ and $K \subset U$. If $W \subset V$ bears the same relationship to V as does V to U, an argument using II-17.3, similar to the one employed in the proof of 12.7, shows that the map

$$\tilde{H}_p(\mathfrak{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)(W)) \to \tilde{H}_p(\mathfrak{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)(U))$$

is trivial for $p \leq n$, and this finishes the proof of the first part of the theorem.

For the second part of the theorem, note that there exists a homomorphism $\mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{I}^*(X;L)$ of differential sheaves, unique up to homotopy and inducing an isomorphism of derived sheaves through dimension n+1 (which generalizes the same statement for resolutions), and in the same way as in the proof of (10) on page 293, we obtain an isomorphism $H_p(X;L) \approx H_p(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)(X))$ for $p \leq n$. Thus, we have (K ranging over the compact subsets of U)

$$H_p(\mathfrak{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)(U)) \approx \varinjlim H_p(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*|K)(K)) \approx \varinjlim H_p(K;L) \approx H_p^c(U;L)$$

by 5.3 or 5.6 for $p \leq n$. That X is hlc_L^n is implicit in the foregoing proof; it is also immediate from (9) on page 292.

From 12.6, 12.7, and 12.9 we have:

12.10. Corollary.
$$hlc_L^n \Rightarrow clc_L^n \Rightarrow hlc_L^{n-1}$$
.

12.11. Theorem. If \mathfrak{L}_* is a quasi-(n + 1)-coresolution of L by flabby cosheaves, then there is a natural isomorphism $H_p^c(X; L) \approx H_p(\mathfrak{L}_*(X))$ for $p \leq n$. If \mathfrak{N}_* is also a flabby quasi-(n + 1)-coresolution of L and $f: \mathfrak{L}_* \to \mathfrak{N}_*$ is a chain map preserving the augmentations, then the induced map $H_p(\mathfrak{L}_*(X)) \to H_p(\mathfrak{N}_*(X))$ is an isomorphism for $p \leq n$.²²

Proof. Consider the differential cosheaf $\mathfrak{A}_* = \mathfrak{D}(\mathfrak{D}(\mathfrak{L}_*))$. The natural map $\mathfrak{L}_* \to \mathfrak{A}_*$ of differential cosheaves from (6) on page 290 induces a homomorphism

$$\mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{A}_*; M) \to \mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{L}_*; M) \tag{75}$$

of differential sheaves. Both sides of (75) are flabby quasi-*n*-resolutions of M, by 12.7 and 12.9. It is easy to check that (75) preserves the augmentations and hence that the induced homomorphism of derived sheaves is an isomorphism through degree n. By IV-2.2 it follows that the induced map

$$H^p(\mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{A}_*; M)(X)) \to H^p(\mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{L}_*; M)(X))$$

²²If we also assume that X is hlc_L^{n+1} in this theorem, then the conclusion can be improved to $p \le n+1$ by using results from Chapter VI.

is an isomorphism for $p \leq n$.

If M is injective, $Hom(\bullet, M)$ is exact, and since we may take $M^* = M$, we obtain the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} H^p(\mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{A}_{\star};M)(X)) & \stackrel{\approx}{\longrightarrow} & \operatorname{Hom}(H_p(\mathfrak{A}_{\star}(X)),M) \\ & & & \downarrow \\ H^p(\mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{L}_{\star};M)(X)) & \stackrel{\approx}{\longrightarrow} & \operatorname{Hom}(H_p(\mathfrak{L}_{\star}(X)),M) \end{array}$$

for M injective and for $p \leq n$ [or use (71)]. Thus, for $p \leq n$,

$$\operatorname{Hom}(H_p(\mathfrak{A}_*(X)), M) \to \operatorname{Hom}(H_p(\mathfrak{L}_*(X)), M)$$

is an isomorphism for all injective M. We claim that it follows that $H_p(\mathfrak{L}_*(X)) \to H_p(\mathfrak{A}_*(X))$ must be an isomorphism for $p \leq n$. Indeed, suppose $h: A \to B$ to be a homomorphism of L-modules with $\operatorname{Hom}(B, M) \xrightarrow{\approx} \operatorname{Hom}(A, M)$ for all injective M. Letting $K = \operatorname{Ker} h$, $I = \operatorname{Im} h$, and C = B/I, we have the exact sequences

$$0 \to \operatorname{Hom}(I, M) \to \operatorname{Hom}(A, M) \to \operatorname{Hom}(K, M) \to 0$$

 and

$$0 \to \operatorname{Hom}(C, M) \to \operatorname{Hom}(B, M) \to \operatorname{Hom}(I, M) \to 0.$$

If follows that $\operatorname{Hom}(C, M) = 0 = \operatorname{Hom}(K, M)$ for all injective M. But any module admits a monomorphism into some injective module, whence C = 0 = K, and hence $h: A \xrightarrow{\approx} B$ as claimed.

Moreover, by 12.7 and 12.9, $H_p(\mathfrak{A}_*(X)) \approx H_p^c(X; L)$ for $p \leq n$, and this completes the proof of the first part of the theorem. The last part of the theorem follows easily from the proof of the first part. \Box

12.12. Example. Take $L = \mathbb{R}$ and let Ω^p be the sheaf of germs of differentiable *p*-forms on the oriented smooth manifold M^n . Put $\mathfrak{L}_p = \Gamma_c \Omega^{n-p}$ with the induced differential. If $V \approx \mathbb{R}^n$ is an open set in M^n , then $H_p(\mathfrak{L}_*(V)) = H_c^{n-p}(V; \mathbb{R}) = \mathbb{R}$ for p = 0 and is zero otherwise. There is the augmentation

$$H_0(\mathfrak{L}_*(U)) = H^n_c(U; \mathbb{R}) \xrightarrow{\int_M} \mathbb{R}$$

It follows that \mathfrak{L}_* is a flabby coresolution of \mathbb{R} . Thus, by 12.11,

$$H^c_n(M^n;\mathbb{R}) \approx H_p(\mathfrak{L}_*(M^n)) = H^{n-p}_c(M^n;\mathbb{R}),$$

which is Poincaré duality in this situation.

12.13. Example. Let $X = \mathbb{R}^n$ and suppose that $F \subset X$ is any closed subspace. Let $0 \to L \to \mathcal{A}^0 \to \cdots \to \mathcal{A}^n \to 0$ be any flabby resolution of L on X. For example, by Exercise 28, we can take $\mathcal{A}^p = \mathscr{C}^p(X; L)$ for

 \diamond

p < n and $\mathscr{A}^n = \mathscr{J}^n(X; L)$. For an open set $U \subset X$, define the precosheaf \mathfrak{L}_p on F by

$$\mathfrak{L}_p(U \cap F) = \Gamma_{c|U \cap F}(\mathscr{A}^{n-p}),$$

with the induced differential. (Note that this depends only on $U \cap F$ rather than on U.) Then \mathfrak{L}_p is a flabby cosheaf on F by Exercise 3 and the remarks below (27) on page 94. Now,

$$\begin{array}{ll} H_p(\mathfrak{L}_*(U \cap F)) \ = \ H^{n-p}_{c|U \cap F}(U;L) & \text{since } \mathscr{A}^* \text{ is flabby} \\ &\approx \ H^{n-p}_c(U,U-F;L) & \text{by II-12.1} \\ &\approx \ H^c_p(U \cap F;L) & \text{by 9.3.} \end{array}$$

There is the augmentation

$$H_0(\mathfrak{L}_*(U \cap F)) \approx H_0^c(U \cap F; L) \xrightarrow{\epsilon} L.$$

This is a local isomorphism of precosheaves on F if F is clc_L^1 by 5.14. Also, for $U \subset W$, the map $H_k(\mathfrak{L}_*(U \cap F)) \to H_k(\mathfrak{L}_*(W \cap F))$ is equivalent to the map $H_k^c(U \cap F; L) \to H_k^c(W \cap F; L)$ induced by inclusion. For $k \neq 0$ this is zero when U is a sufficiently small neighborhood of a given point $x \in W$ provided that F is k-hlc_L. Consequently, $H_k(\mathfrak{L}_*)$ is locally zero \Leftrightarrow F is k-hlc_L. Thus \mathfrak{L}_* is a flabby *n*-coresolution of L on F if F is hlc_L^n . \diamondsuit

12.14. Theorem. If X is HLC_L^n , then the singular cosheaf \mathfrak{S}_* of 1.3 is a flabby quasi-n-coresolution of L.

Proof. Since $H_*(\mathfrak{S}_*(U))$ is naturally isomorphic to the singular homology of U, by 1.3, the result follows immediately from the definition of the property HLC_L^n .

12.15. Corollary. If X is HLC_L^{n+1} then the Borel-Moore homology groups $H_p^c(X; L)$ are naturally isomorphic to the classical singular homology groups of X with coefficients in L for $p \le n$.

We shall now consider general sheaves of coefficients. Recall the notation introduced in 1.14.

12.16. Theorem. Suppose that \mathfrak{L}_* is a flabby, torsion-free quasi-(n+2)-coresolution of L on X. For sheaves \mathscr{B} on X, there is a natural isomorphism

$$H_p^c(X;\mathscr{B}) \approx H_p((\mathfrak{L}_* \otimes \mathscr{B})(X))$$

for $p \leq n$.

Proof. Note that X is clc_L^{n+2} by 12.7 and hence hlc_L^{n+1} by 12.10. Thus $\mathfrak{D}(\mathscr{I}^*(X;L))$ is a flabby, torsion-free quasi-(n+1)-coresolution of L but perhaps not a quasi-(n+2)-coresolution. Let $\mathfrak{L}_* = \Gamma_c \mathscr{L}_*$. There is the natural homomorphism

$$\mathscr{L}_* \to \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{Q}(\mathscr{L}_*))$$

resulting from (6) on page 290. Note that $\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{Q}_*))$ is also torsion-free by 3.4. We have the induced homomorphism

$${\mathscr L}_*\otimes {\mathscr B} o {\mathscr D}({\mathscr D}({\mathscr L}_*))\otimes {\mathscr B}$$

and hence, applying Γ_c ,

$$\mathfrak{L}_* \otimes \mathscr{B} \to \mathfrak{D}(\mathfrak{D}(\mathfrak{L}_*)) \otimes \mathscr{B} = \mathfrak{D}(\mathscr{N}^*) \otimes \mathscr{B},$$

where $\mathcal{N}^* = \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{L}_*)$, which is a flabby quasi-(n+2)-resolution of L by 12.7. Note that $\mathfrak{D}(\mathcal{N}^*)$ is a quasi-(n+1)-coresolution of L by 12.9.

Letting $\mathscr{I}^* = \mathscr{I}^*(X; L)$, there is a homomorphism of quasi-(n + 2)-resolutions $\mathscr{N}^* \to \mathscr{I}^*$. We have the induced maps

$$(\mathfrak{L}_* \otimes \mathscr{B})(X) \to (\mathfrak{D}(\mathscr{N}^*) \otimes \mathscr{B})(X) \leftarrow (\mathfrak{D}(\mathscr{I}^*) \otimes \mathscr{B})(X),$$

that is,

 $\Gamma_{c}(\mathscr{L}_{*}\otimes\mathscr{B})\to\Gamma_{c}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{N}^{*})\otimes\mathscr{B})\leftarrow\Gamma_{c}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{I}^{*})\otimes\mathscr{B}).$ (76)

The terms in (76) are all exact functors of \mathscr{B} by II-16.31. Thus we have the induced maps of connected sequences of functors

$$H_p((\mathfrak{L}_* \otimes \mathscr{B})(X)) \to H_p((\mathfrak{D}(\mathscr{N}^*) \otimes \mathscr{B})(X)) \leftarrow H_p^c(X; \mathscr{B}).$$
(77)

By II-14.5 the terms of (76), and hence of (77), commute with direct limits in \mathscr{B} . By 12.11 the homomorphisms of (77) are isomorphisms when $\mathscr{B} = L$ and $p \leq n$. The same fact also follows easily for $\mathscr{B} = L_U$, U open, since, for example, $(\mathfrak{L}_* \otimes L_U)(X) = \mathfrak{L}_*(U)$. By the 5-lemma and by II-16.12 it follows that the class of sheaves \mathscr{B} for which the maps (77) are isomorphisms for $p \leq n$ consists of all sheaves.²³

12.17. Corollary. If X is HLC_L^{n+2} , then for any sheaf \mathscr{B} on X there is the natural isomorphism

$$_{S}H^{c}_{p}(X;\mathscr{B}) \approx H^{c}_{p}(X;\mathscr{B})$$

for $p \leq n$; see 1.18.

Note that if \mathscr{B} is locally constant, then ${}_{\mathcal{S}}H^c_p(X;\mathscr{B})$ is the classical singular homology group of X with local coefficients in \mathscr{B} .

356

 $^{^{23}}$ For \mathscr{B} constant, an alternative proof is suggested in Exercises 12 and 13.

12.18. Let \mathfrak{L}_* be a flabby, torsion-free quasi-(n+2)-coresolution of L on X and let $U \subset X$ be open. Then

$$H_p((\mathfrak{L}_* \otimes \mathscr{B}_{X-U})(X)) \approx H_p^c(X; \mathscr{B}_{X-U}) \approx H_p^c(X, U; \mathscr{B})$$

for $p \leq n$, by 12.16 and (35) on page 306. If $\mathfrak{L}_* = \Gamma_c \mathscr{L}_*$, then

$$(\mathfrak{L}_* \otimes \mathscr{B}_U)(X) = \Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}_* \otimes \mathscr{B}_U) = \Gamma_{c|U}((\mathscr{L}_* \otimes \mathscr{B})|U) = (\mathfrak{L}_* \otimes \mathscr{B})(U).$$

Since $(\mathfrak{L}_* \otimes (\bullet))(X)$ is an exact functor of sheaves, it follows that

$$(\mathfrak{L}_* \otimes \mathscr{B}_{X-U})(X) \approx (\mathfrak{L}_* \otimes \mathscr{B})(X)/(\mathfrak{L}_* \otimes \mathscr{B})(U)$$

and hence that

$$H_p^c(X,U;\mathscr{B}) \approx H_p((\mathfrak{L}_* \otimes \mathscr{B})(X)/(\mathfrak{L}_* \otimes \mathscr{B})(U))$$
(78)

for $p \leq n$. In Section 13 this fact will be generalized to arbitrary locally closed subspaces.

12.19. We shall now consider arbitrary paracompactifying families of supports. We need some preliminary remarks. Suppose that $h: \mathfrak{A}_* \to \mathfrak{B}_*$ is a homomorphism of flabby differential cosheaves, where $\mathfrak{A}_* = \Gamma_c \mathscr{A}_*$ and $\mathfrak{B}_* = \Gamma_c \mathscr{B}_*$ with \mathscr{A}_* and $\mathfrak{B}_* c$ -soft. By 1.9, h induces (and is induced by) a homomorphism $\mathscr{A}_* \to \mathfrak{B}_*$, which we shall also denote by h. On stalks at $x \in X$ the latter is the induced map

$$\mathfrak{A}_{*}(X)/\mathfrak{A}_{*}(X-\{x\}) \to \mathfrak{B}_{*}(X)/\mathfrak{B}_{*}(X-\{x\})$$
(79)

of quotient groups. Suppose that

$$h_*: H_p(\mathfrak{A}_*(U)) \to H_p(\mathfrak{B}_*(U)) \tag{80}$$

is an *isomorphism* for all $p \leq n$ and all open $U \subset X$. Then the 5-lemma implies that (79) induces an isomorphism in homology, and thus the map

$$\mathcal{H}_p(\mathcal{A}_*) \to \mathcal{H}_p(\mathcal{B}_*)$$

is an isomorphism for all $p \leq n$. If Φ is a paracompactifying family of supports on X and if dim_{Φ} $X < \infty$, then it follows from IV-2.2 and II-16.5 that

$$h_*: H_p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}_*)) \to H_p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{B}_*))$$

is also an isomorphism for $p \leq n$.

12.20. Theorem. Let $\mathfrak{L}_* = \Gamma_c \mathscr{L}_*$ be a flabby quasi-(n + 2)-coresolution of L on X, where $\dim_L X < \infty$. Let \mathscr{B} be a sheaf on X, and assume that either $\mathscr{B} = L$ or that \mathfrak{L}_* is torsion-free. Then for any paracompactifying family Φ of supports on X, there is a natural isomorphism

$$H^{\Phi}_p(X;\mathscr{B}) \approx H_p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}_* \otimes \mathscr{B})) \text{ for } p \leq n.$$

Proof. Consider the maps in (76) that are maps of differential *cosheaves*, as follows either from their definition or by replacing \mathscr{B} by \mathscr{B}_U and using their functorial nature. Both of these maps satisfy the hypotheses of 12.19 that (80) is an isomorphism, as shown in the proof of 12.16, and the present result follows from 12.19.

12.21. Corollary. If X is HLC_L^{n+2} and has $\dim_L X < \infty$, then for Φ paracompactifying and \mathcal{B} arbitrary there is a natural isomorphism

$${}_{S}H^{\Phi}_{p}(X;\mathscr{B}) \approx H^{\Phi}_{p}(X;\mathscr{B})$$

for $p \leq n$; see 1.18.

12.22. Let X be hlc_L^n ; $n \ge 0$. Consider the canonical flabby quasi-*n*-coresolution $\mathfrak{L}_* = \Gamma_c \mathscr{L}_*$, where $\mathscr{L}_* = \mathscr{C}_*(X; L)$. By the proof of 5.13 we see that $d: \mathfrak{L}_0 \to \mathfrak{L}_{-1}$ is an epimorphism and that its kernel \mathfrak{K} is a *flabby*, torsion-free cosheaf. It follows that the differential cosheaf

$$\cdots \to \mathfrak{L}_2 \to \mathfrak{L}_1 \to \mathfrak{K} \to 0$$

is a flabby, torsion-free *n*-coresolution of L; i.e., it vanishes in negative degrees.

13 Uniqueness theorems for maps and relative homology

In this section we shall apply the methods of the last section to maps of spaces and to relative homology theory.

Suppose that $f: X \to Y$ is a map between locally compact spaces. Let \mathscr{N}^* and \mathscr{L}^* be replete differential sheaves on X and Y respectively and let $k': \mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{N}^*$ be an *f*-cohomomorphism. By (24) on page 301 we have the induced homomorphism

$$\Gamma_{\Phi(c)}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{N}^*) \otimes f^*\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*) \otimes \mathscr{A})$$
(81)

for any sheaf \mathscr{A} on Y and family Φ of supports on Y. If \mathscr{N}^* and \mathscr{L}^* are quasi-resolutions of L, then as in (27) on page 302 it can be seen that in homology, (81) induces the canonical homomorphism

$$f_*: H^{\Phi(c)}_*(X; f^*\mathscr{A}) \to H^{\Phi}_*(Y; \mathscr{A})$$
(82)

either when $\Phi = c$ or when Φ is paracompactifying and $\dim_L X$ and $\dim_L Y$ are both finite, as well as in other cases (see 5.6). This was proved for resolutions, but the proofs apply to quasi-resolutions.

Let \mathfrak{N}_* and \mathfrak{L}_* be flabby, torsion-free quasi-(n+2)-coresolutions of L on X and Y respectively, with $\mathfrak{N}_* = \Gamma_c \mathscr{N}_*$ and $\mathfrak{L}_* = \Gamma_c \mathscr{L}_*$. Suppose we are given an f-homomorphism

$$k:\mathfrak{N}_* \rightsquigarrow \mathfrak{L}_* \tag{83}$$

(i.e., a homomorphism $f\mathfrak{N}_* \to \mathfrak{L}_*$). Since $f\mathfrak{N}_* = \Gamma_c\{f_c\mathscr{N}_*\}$, k corresponds to a homomorphism $f_c\mathscr{N}_* \to \mathscr{L}_*$. The homomorphisms $k_U : \mathfrak{N}_*(f^{-1}U) \to \mathfrak{L}_*(U)$ induce homomorphisms

$$\mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{L}_*)(U) \to \mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{N}_*)(f^{-1}U),$$

that is, an f-cohomomorphism

$$k': \mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{L}_*) \rightsquigarrow \mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{N}_*). \tag{84}$$

Letting $\mathscr{L}^* = \mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{L}_*)$ and $\mathscr{N}^* = \mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{N}_*)$, we obtain the diagram.

where the lower map is from (81) and the vertical maps are from 1.13. It is easy to check that this diagram commutes. Tensoring with \mathcal{A} , using 4.3, and applying Γ_{Φ} , we obtain the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccccc}
\Gamma_{\Phi(c)}(\mathscr{N}_{*}\otimes f^{*}\mathscr{A}) &\longrightarrow & \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}_{*}\otimes\mathscr{A}) \\
& \downarrow & & \downarrow \\
\Gamma_{\Phi(c)}(\mathscr{Q}(\mathscr{N}^{*})\otimes f^{*}\mathscr{A}) &\longrightarrow & \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{Q}(\mathscr{L}^{*})\otimes\mathscr{A}).
\end{array}$$
(86)

If $\Phi = c$ or if Φ is paracompactifying and $\dim_L X$ and $\dim_L Y$ are both finite, then the vertical maps in (86) induce isomorphisms in homology in degrees at most n + 1 by 12.11 and 12.19. Thus, in either of these cases, the induced homomorphism

$$H_p(\Gamma_{\Phi(c)}(\mathscr{N}_*\otimes f^*\mathscr{A}))\to H_p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}_*\otimes \mathscr{A}))$$

may be identified, via 12.16 or 12.20, with f_* for $p \leq n$.

In particular, if X and Y are both HLC_L^{n+2} , the classical homomorphism ${}_{S}H_p^c(X) \to {}_{S}H_p^c(Y)$ coincides with $f_*: H_p^c(X) \to H_p^c(Y)$ via 12.15 for $p \leq n$.

We shall now consider the relative homology of a pair (X, A) where A is locally closed in X. For A open this already has been discussed in 12.18. The discussion will be divided into several subsections.

13.1. Let \mathcal{N}^* be a *c*-soft differential sheaf on *A*. Then there is the canonical homomorphism

$$\begin{aligned} (i_c \mathscr{D}(\mathcal{N}^*))(X) &= \Gamma_{cld|A}(\mathscr{H}_{om}(\Gamma_c \mathcal{N}^*, L^*)) \xrightarrow{\eta} \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_{c\cap A}(\mathcal{N}^*), L^*) \\ &= \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_c(i\mathcal{N}^*), L^*) = \mathscr{D}(i\mathcal{N}^*)(X) \end{aligned}$$

(see Section 4), where η is the monomorphism (19) on page 300. We have a similar map when X is replaced by an open subset $U \subset X$, and therefore we obtain the canonical monomorphism

$$\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{N}^*)^X = i_c \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{N}^*) \rightarrowtail \mathscr{D}(i\mathscr{N}^*).$$
(87)

Now let \mathscr{L}^* and \mathscr{N}^* be replete quasi-resolutions of the *L*-module *M* on *X* and *A* respectively, and let

$$\mathscr{L}^* \twoheadrightarrow i\mathscr{N}$$

be an epimorphism with c-soft kernel \mathcal{K}^* . Then the composition

$$\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{N}^*)^X \to \mathscr{D}(i\mathscr{N}^*) \to \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*)$$

is a monomorphism. Denote its cokernel by \mathcal{M}_* , so that the sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{D}_*(\mathscr{N}^*)^X \to \mathscr{D}_*(\mathscr{L}^*) \to \mathscr{M}_* \to 0$$
(88)

is exact.

Note that if A were closed, then (87) would be an isomorphism by 2.6, and it would follow that $\mathcal{M}_* = \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{K}^*)$.

As in Section 4 (also see II-8), we can construct a diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathscr{Q}^* & \longrightarrow & i\mathcal{N}^* \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ \mathscr{I}^*(X;M) & \longrightarrow & i\mathcal{I}^*(A;M), \end{array}$$

which commutes up to chain homotopy. Letting M = L, we then obtain the "dual" diagram

in which the square commutes up to chain homotopy. According to II-Exercise 47 this diagram induces, in a natural way, a commutative diagram

and it follows from the 5-lemma and (16) on page 294 that the vertical maps are all isomorphisms.

The diagram (89) can be tensored with any sheaf \mathscr{A} , and the rows will remain exact provided that $\mathscr{M}_* * \mathscr{A} = 0$ [e.g., when A is *closed* and \mathscr{K}^* is replete, since $\mathscr{M}_* = \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{K}^*)$ is then torsion free]. Thus, by the same argument we have that

$$\mathscr{H}_*(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \approx \mathscr{H}_*(\mathscr{M}_* \otimes \mathscr{A}) \tag{91}$$

when $\mathcal{M}_* * \mathcal{A} = 0$.

Taking sections with supports in Φ , the rows of (89) (having previously been tensored with \mathscr{A}) will remain exact provided that Φ is paracompactifying (or that A is closed and \mathscr{A} is elementary). Thus, using 3.5, 5.6,

§13. Uniqueness theorems for maps and relative homology

and the above argument [on the analogue of (90) for global homology], we obtain the isomorphism

$$H^{\Phi}_{*}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \approx H_{*}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{M}_{*}\otimes\mathscr{A}))$$
(92)

when $\mathcal{M}_* * \mathcal{A} = 0$, provided either that $\Phi = c$ or that Φ is paracompactifying and $\dim_L X < \infty$ [as well as other cases resulting from 5.6].

13.2. In this subsection we shall specialize the discussion to the case of a closed subset F = A and shall consider the situation in which $\mathcal{N}^* = \mathscr{L}^* | F$. Then the sequence $0 \to \mathcal{K}^* \to \mathscr{L}^* \to i \mathcal{N}^* \to 0$ becomes

$$0 \to \mathscr{L}_{X-F}^* \to \mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{L}_F^* \to 0 \tag{93}$$

(all of which are replete by 3.3, since \mathscr{L}^* is replete). Thus, in this case, we obtain the natural isomorphism

$$\mathscr{H}_*(X,F;\mathscr{A}) \approx \mathscr{H}_*(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*_{X-F}) \otimes \mathscr{A}).$$
(94)

When $\Phi = c$ or when Φ is paracompactifying and $\dim_L X < \infty$, then

$$H^{\Phi}_{*}(X,F;\mathscr{A}) \approx H_{*}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{Q}(\mathscr{L}^{*}_{X-F})\otimes\mathscr{A})).$$
(95)

Moreover, the homology sequence of the pair (X, F) may be identified with the sequence induced by (93). Also, see the remark below 5.10.

13.3. Let \mathfrak{N}_* and \mathfrak{L}_* be flabby quasi-(n + 1)-coresolutions of L on A and on X respectively, and recall that by 2.6 we have

$$\mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{N}_*^X) \approx i \mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{N}_*). \tag{96}$$

Recall also that by definition $\mathfrak{N}^X_* = i\mathfrak{N}_*$ and that, if $\mathfrak{N}_* = \Gamma_c \mathscr{N}_*$ then $\mathfrak{N}^X_* = \Gamma_c \{\mathscr{N}^X_*\}$ by 1.16. Let

$$k:\mathfrak{N}^X_*\rightarrowtail\mathfrak{L}_*$$

be a monomorphism (of differential precosheaves) with flabby cokernel \Re_* (which is automatically a cosheaf, as is seen by an easy diagram chase). Then for any *L*-module *M* we have the induced exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{K}_*; M) \to \mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{L}_*; M) \to i\mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{N}_*; M) \to 0$$
(97)

[by (96)] of differential sheaves. Note that by 12.6 this situation exists if X and A are both hlc_L^{n+1} .

13.4. Theorem. Suppose we are given flabby quasi-(n + 1)-coresolutions \mathfrak{N}_* and \mathfrak{L}_* of L on A and X respectively and a monomorphism $\mathfrak{N}^X_* \rightarrowtail \mathfrak{L}_*$

with flabby cokernel $\Re_* = \Gamma_c \mathscr{K}_*$ (where \mathscr{K}_* is c-soft). Then there is a natural isomorphism

$$H_p(\mathfrak{K}_*(X)) \approx H_p^c(X,A;L)$$

for $p \leq n$. If dim_L $X < \infty$, then for any paracompactifying family Φ we have the natural isomorphism

$$H_p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathcal{K}_*)) \approx H_p^{\Phi}(X,A;L)$$

for p < n.

Proof. Let $\mathfrak{L}_* = \Gamma_c \mathscr{L}_*$, $\mathfrak{N}_* = \Gamma_c \mathscr{N}_*$, and $\mathfrak{K}_* = \Gamma_c \mathscr{K}_*$. Also, put $\mathscr{L}^* = \mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{L}_*)$, $\mathscr{N}^* = \mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{N}_*)$, and $\mathscr{K}^* = \mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{K}_*)$. The sequence

$$0 \to \mathfrak{N}^X_* \to \mathfrak{L}_* \to \mathfrak{K}_* \to 0$$

is equivalent to an exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{N}^X_* \to \mathscr{L}_* \to \mathscr{K}_* \to 0$$

[see 1.9] and induces an exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{K}^* \to \mathscr{L}^* \to i\mathscr{N}^* \to 0$$

[see (97)]. In turn, the latter sequence induces an exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{N}^*)^X \to \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*) \to \mathscr{M}_* \to 0$$

[see (88)], that defines \mathcal{M}_* .

The natural maps $\mathcal{N}_* \to \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{N}_*)) = \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{N}^*)$ and $\mathcal{L}_* \to \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{L}_*)) = \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{L}^*)$, from (6) on page 290, induce a commutative diagram

[This is a special case of (85).] Applying Γ_{Φ} to this diagram, we see that the first two vertical maps induce isomorphisms in homology through degree n-1, by 12.11 and 12.19 [i.e., the proof of 12.20]. The theorem now follows from the 5-lemma and formula (92). For $\Phi = c$ we have the same conclusion through degree n by the proof of 12.11.

Note that if all the sheaves in (98) are torsion-free, then we can tensor (98) with any sheaf \mathscr{A} , retaining the exact rows, so that the conclusion of the theorem would remain true for arbitrary coefficient sheaves. In particular, this is the case when L is a field. If A is *closed* and if \mathscr{R}_* is torsion-free (i.e., \mathscr{H}_* is torsion-free), then $\mathscr{H}^* = \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{R}_*)$ is replete and $\mathscr{M}_* = \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{H}^*)$ (since A is closed) is torsion-free; see 3.4. Thus we have proved:

13.5. Theorem. If in 13.4, A is closed or if L is a field, and if \mathfrak{L}_* , \mathfrak{N}_* , and \mathfrak{K}_* are torsion-free and $\dim_L X < \infty$, then

$$H_p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{K}_*\otimes\mathscr{A}))\approx H_p^{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A})$$

for p < n, for any sheaf \mathscr{A} and any paracompactifying family Φ . If $\Phi = c$, then dim_L X need not be finite.

By 1.18 the preceding two theorems apply to the singular homology of HLC spaces. That is, we have the following consequence:

13.6. Corollary. Let X and A be HLC_L^{n+1} . If either $\Phi = c$ or $\dim_L X < \infty$ with Φ paracompactifying, then there is a natural isomorphism

$$_{S}H_{p}^{\Phi}(X,A;L) \approx H_{p}^{\Phi}(X,A;L)$$

for p < n ($p \le n$ if $\Phi = c$). If A is closed, or if L is a field, we also have the isomorphism

$${}_{S}H^{\Phi}_{p}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \approx H^{\Phi}_{p}(X,A;\mathscr{A})$$

for any sheaf \mathcal{A} on X and p < n.

13.7. Theorem. Suppose that $A \subset X$ are both hlc_L^n and that M is an L-module. Then there is a natural exact sequence

$$\operatorname{Ext}(H^c_{p-1}(X,A;L),M)\rightarrowtail H^p(X,A;M)\twoheadrightarrow\operatorname{Hom}(H^c_p(X,A;L),M),$$

for $p \leq n$, which splits. (Also see 12.8.)

Proof. First consider the diagram

from 13.1, which has exact rows (by definition of \mathcal{K}^* and $'\mathcal{K}^*$) and homotopy commutative square. The sheaf $'\mathcal{K}^*$ is easily seen to be flabby; see II-12, which is analogous.²⁴ We shall *assume* that \mathcal{K}^* , \mathscr{L}^* , and \mathcal{N}^* are all flabby and that \mathscr{L}^* and \mathcal{N}^* are quasi-*n*-resolutions of the *L*-module *M*.

Applying Γ_{Φ} to (99) and using II-Exercise 47, we obtain the isomorphism

$$H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{K}^*)) \approx H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{K}^*)) \text{ for } p \leq n.$$

²⁴Using the constructions at the beginning of Section 5, it can actually be seen that $'\mathcal{K}^*$ is injective, but this is not needed.

We could take $\mathscr{H}^* = \mathscr{C}^*(X, A; M)$, and it follows that for general \mathscr{H}^*

$$H^p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathcal{K}^*)) \approx H^p_{\Phi}(X,A;M)$$

for $p \leq n$. In particular, for $p \leq n$ we have that

$$H^{p}(\Gamma(\mathcal{K}^{*})) \approx H(X, A; M).$$
(100)

Now take $\mathscr{K}^* = \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{K}_*; M)$, where $\mathscr{K}_* = \Gamma_c \mathscr{C}_*(X, A; L)$, and similarly for \mathscr{L}^* and \mathscr{N}^* . We have the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{K}^* \to \mathscr{L}^* \to i\mathscr{N}^* \to 0,$$

so that (100) holds for this choice of \mathscr{K}^* by 12.7. The desired universal coefficient sequence now follows from 2.3 applied to \mathfrak{K}_* .

Remark: The sequence analogous to 13.7, with homology and cohomology exchanged, is not generally valid if A is not closed. For example, let A be the disjoint union of infinitely many disjoint open arcs in $X = S^1$ and let L be a field. Then dim $H^1(X, A; L)$ is uncountable, but dim $H_1(X, A)$ is countable, which rules out the existence of such a sequence.

14 The Künneth formula

Recall that in II-15 we proved a Künneth formula for cohomology. In (58) on page 339 we also found a Künneth formula for mixed homology and cohomology. The homology Künneth formula does not always hold in Borel-Moore theory, and an example of that will be given at the end of this section. In certain situations, however, one does have a Künneth formula. We shall first show that this is the case for clc_L^{∞} spaces, with compact supports and arbitrary coefficients, using the results of Section 12. Then we shall also derive a Künneth formula for general spaces X, Y provided that one of them has finitely generated cohomology modules.

Assume, for the time being, that X and Y are both hlc_L^n . Let $\mathfrak{L}_* = \Gamma_c \mathscr{L}_*$ and $\mathfrak{N}_* = \Gamma_c \mathscr{N}_*$ be flabby, torsion-free quasi-*n*-coresolutions of L on X and Y respectively, where \mathscr{L}_* and \mathscr{N}_* are c-soft and torsion-free. By 12.22 we may assume that they vanish in negative degrees.

Let $\mathfrak{L}_*\widehat{\otimes}\mathfrak{N}_*$ denote the differential cosheaf $\Gamma_c\{\mathscr{L}_*\widehat{\otimes}\mathscr{N}_*\}$ on $X \times Y$.²⁵ By II-15.5 we have that

$$(\mathfrak{L}_*\widehat{\otimes}\mathfrak{N}_*)(U\times V) = \mathfrak{L}_*(U)\otimes\mathfrak{N}_*(V)$$

for U and V open in X and Y respectively. It follows that the precosheaf $H_n(\mathfrak{L}_*\widehat{\otimes}\mathfrak{N}_*)$, where $\mathfrak{L}_*\widehat{\otimes}\mathfrak{N}_*$ is given the usual total degree and differential, satisfies a natural Künneth formula

$$0 \to \bigoplus_{p+q=k} H_p(\mathfrak{L}_*(U)) \otimes H_q(\mathfrak{N}_*(V)) \to H_k((\mathfrak{L}_*\widehat{\otimes}\mathfrak{N}_*)(U \times V))$$
$$\to \bigoplus_{p+q=k-1} H_p(\mathfrak{L}_*(U)) * H_q(\mathfrak{N}_*(V)) \to 0,$$

²⁵The sheaf $\mathscr{L}_* \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{N}_*$ is *c*-soft by II-Exercise 14.

and it follows that $\mathfrak{L}_*\widehat{\otimes}\mathfrak{N}_*$ is a flabby quasi-*n*-coresolution of L on $X \times Y$. In particular, $X \times Y$ is clc_L^n by 12.7.

Now let \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} be sheaves on X and Y, respectively, such that $\mathscr{A} \ast \mathscr{B} = 0$. By definition we have

$$(\mathfrak{L}_*\widehat{\otimes}\mathfrak{N}_*)\otimes(\mathscr{A}\widehat{\otimes}\mathscr{B})=(\mathfrak{L}_*\otimes\mathscr{A})\widehat{\otimes}(\mathfrak{N}_*\otimes\mathscr{B}),$$
(101)

and the value of this on $X \times Y$ is

$$(\mathfrak{L}_* \otimes \mathscr{A})(X) \otimes (\mathfrak{N}_* \otimes \mathscr{B})(Y) = \Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}_* \otimes \mathscr{A}) \otimes \Gamma_c(\mathscr{N}_* \otimes \mathscr{B})$$
(102)

because of II-16.31, II-Exercise 36, and II-15.5. By II-Exercise 36 we have that

$$\Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}_* \otimes \mathscr{A}) * \Gamma_c(\mathscr{N}_* \otimes \mathscr{B}) = 0, \qquad (103)$$

so that the algebraic Künneth formula [54], [75] may be applied to (102). Thus, using (101), 12.11, and 12.16, we obtain the following result:

14.1. Theorem. Let X and Y be hlc_L^{n+1} and let \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} be sheaves on X and Y, respectively, such that $\mathscr{A} \ast \mathscr{B} = 0$. Then there is a natural exact sequence

$$\begin{array}{l} 0 \to \bigoplus_{p+q=k} H_p^c(X;\mathscr{A}) \otimes H_q^c(Y;\mathscr{B}) \to H_k^c(X \times Y;\mathscr{A} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{B}) \\ \to \bigoplus_{p+q=k-1} H_p^c(X;\mathscr{A}) * H_q^c(Y;\mathscr{B}) \to 0 \end{array}$$

for k < n ($k \leq n$ if $\mathcal{A} = L$ and $\mathcal{B} = L$) which splits.

Taking Y to be a point, we deduce the universal coefficient formula:

14.2. Corollary. Let X be hlc_L^{n+1} and let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X. Let M be an L-module such that $\mathscr{A} * M = 0$. Then there is a split exact sequence

$$0 \to H_k^c(X;\mathscr{A}) \otimes M \to H_k^c(X;\mathscr{A} \otimes M) \to H_{k-1}^c(X;\mathscr{A}) * M \to 0$$

for k < n.

We wish to obtain, from 14.1, a Künneth sequence for the sheaves of local homology groups. Note that, for example,

$$\mathscr{H}_*(X;L) = \mathscr{G}heaf(U \mapsto H^c_*(X,X-U;L)), \tag{104}$$

since this is clearly the same as the sheaf generated by the presheaf

$$U \mapsto H^c_*(X, X - U; L)$$

and since

$$H^c_*(X, X-U; L) \approx H_*(U; L)$$

when \overline{U} is compact, by 5.10. Also, we have that

$$H^c_*(X, X - \overline{U}; L) \approx H^c_*(X; L_{\overline{U}})$$
(105)

by (35) on page 306. Taking $\mathscr{A} = L_{\overline{U}}$ and $\mathscr{B} = L_{\overline{V}}$ in 14.1 and passing to generated sheaves yields the desired result:

14.3. Corollary. If X and Y are hlc_L^{n+1} , then there is an exact sequence

$$\begin{split} 0 &\to \bigoplus_{p+q=k} \mathscr{H}_p(X;L) \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{H}_q(Y;L) \to \mathscr{H}_k(X \times Y;L) \\ &\to \bigoplus_{p+q=k-1} \mathscr{H}_p(X;L) \widehat{*} \mathscr{H}_q(Y;L) \to 0 \end{split}$$

of sheaves on $X \times Y$ for k < n.

We now turn to the case of general (locally compact) spaces X and Y. We shall indicate the proof of the following result:

14.4. Theorem. Suppose that $H_c^p(X; L)$ is finitely generated for each p. Let Φ be any family of supports on Y. Then there is a natural exact sequence

$$0 \to \bigoplus_{p+q=k} H_p(X;L) \otimes H_q^{\Phi}(Y;L) \to H_k^{X \times \Phi}(X \times Y;L)$$
$$\to \bigoplus_{p+q=k-1} H_p(X;L) * H_q^{\Phi}(Y;L) \to 0.$$

This sequence splits when $\Phi = cld$.

Proof. By 5.6(i) and naturality it suffices to treat the case in which $\Phi = cld$. For the proof we introduce the notation

$$C_X^p = C_c^p(X;L)$$
 and $C_Y^q = C_c^q(Y;L)$

Note that $C_X^* \otimes C_Y^* = \Gamma_c(\mathscr{C}^*(X;L) \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{C}^*(Y;L))$, so that

$$H_p(\operatorname{Hom}(C_X^* \otimes C_Y^*, L^*)) \approx H_p(X \times Y; L)$$
(106)

by (10) on page 293.

Let F_X^* and F_Y^* be free chain complexes such that there exist chain maps

$$F_X^* \to C_X^*$$
 and $F_Y^* \to C_Y^*$

inducing isomorphisms in homology.²⁶ Since $H_c^p(X; L)$ is finitely generated for each p, it can be shown that F_X^* can be chosen to be finitely generated in each degree.²⁷ We assume that this is done.

366

²⁶For this one could take projective resolutions of the C^* .

²⁷The proof, which is not difficult, can be found in [75].

The induced homomorphisms

$$\operatorname{Hom}(C^*, L^*) \to \operatorname{Hom}(F^*, L^*) \leftarrow \operatorname{Hom}(F^*, L)$$

induce isomorphisms in homology (the first, as in the proof of (10) on page 293; the second, since F^* is free). Also, the map

$$F_X^* \otimes F_Y^* \to C_X^* \otimes C_Y^*$$

induces a homology isomorphism since the C^* are torsion-free. It follows that

$$H_p(X \times Y; L) \approx H_p(\operatorname{Hom}(F_X^* \otimes F_Y^*, L)).$$
(107)

However,

$$\operatorname{Hom}(F_X^* \otimes F_Y^*, L) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(F_X^*, L) \otimes \operatorname{Hom}(F_Y^*, L)$$
(108)

(naturally) since F_X^* is free of finite type. Thus the algebraic Künneth formula applied to the right-hand side of (108) yields the desired result. The reader may make the straightforward verification of naturality. \Box

14.5. We shall now provide the promised counterexample to the general Künneth formula (for compact spaces). Let X = Y be a solenoid, that is, the inverse limit of a sequence of circles C_n , where $C_n \to C_{n-1}$ has degree n. By continuity II-14.6 we see that $H^1(X;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Q}$, the groups in higher degrees vanishing. From II-15.2 and (9) on page 292 we calculate

$$H_1(X \times Y; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \operatorname{Ext}(\mathbb{Q}, \mathbb{Z}) \neq 0$$

[see 14.8 below]. However, $H_0(X) \otimes H_1(Y) = 0$ since $H_1(Y) = \text{Hom}(\mathbb{Q}, \mathbb{Z})$ = 0, and $H_0(X) * H_0(Y) = 0$ since $H_0(Y) = \mathbb{Z} \oplus \text{Ext}(\mathbb{Q}, \mathbb{Z})$ and $\text{Ext}(\mathbb{Q}, \mathbb{Z})$, being a vector space over \mathbb{Q} , is torsion free. Thus the Künneth formula is not valid in this case.

14.6. If $L = \mathbb{Z}$ or if L is a field, then the condition in 14.4 that $H_c^p(X; L)$ be finitely generated for all p is equivalent to the condition that $H_p(X; L)$ be finitely generated for all p. This is clear when L is a field. When $L = \mathbb{Z}$, it follows from (9) on page 292 and the following algebraic fact.

14.7. Proposition. For an abelian group A, if $\text{Hom}(A, \mathbb{Z})$ and $\text{Ext}(A, \mathbb{Z})$ are both finitely generated (respectively zero) then A is also finitely generated (respectively zero).

Proof. (The parenthetical case can be found in [64].) It is easy to reduce the proposition to the cases in which A is either a torsion group or is torsion-free. If A is all torsion, then the exact sequence

$$0 = \operatorname{Hom}(A, \mathbb{R}) \to \operatorname{Hom}(A, \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}) \to \operatorname{Ext}(A, \mathbb{Z}) \to \operatorname{Ext}(A, \mathbb{R}) = 0$$

(induced by $0 \to \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z} \to 0$) shows that

$$\operatorname{Ext}(A, \mathbb{Z}) \approx \hat{A} \quad \text{if } A \text{ is all torsion},$$
 (109)

where \hat{A} denotes the Pontryagin dual of the discrete group A. The proposition follows immediately for torsion groups.

If A is torsion-free, consider the canonical map

$$A \to \operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{Hom}(A,\mathbb{Z}),\mathbb{Z}).$$
 (110)

Let the kernel of this map be denoted by A_0 . Since the right-hand side of (110) is a finitely generated free abelian group, we have an exact sequence

$$0 \to A_0 \to A \to F \to 0, \tag{111}$$

where F is free and finitely generated. Note that (111) must split. Since by definition, the restriction $\operatorname{Hom}(A, \mathbb{Z}) \to \operatorname{Hom}(A_0, \mathbb{Z})$ is trivial, it follows from (111) that $\operatorname{Hom}(A_0, \mathbb{Z}) = 0$ and that $\operatorname{Ext}(A_0, \mathbb{Z})$ is finitely generated. Since A_0 is torsion-free, the exact sequence

$$0 \rightarrow A_0 \xrightarrow{n} A_0 \rightarrow A_0/nA_0 \rightarrow 0$$

implies that $\operatorname{Ext}(A_0, \mathbb{Z})$ is divisible. Hence $\operatorname{Ext}(A_0, \mathbb{Z}) = 0$ since it is finitely generated and divisible. The latter sequence also implies that $\operatorname{Ext}(A_0/nA_0, \mathbb{Z}) = 0$ and hence that $A_0/nA_0 = 0$ by (109). Thus A_0 , being divisible and torsion-free, is a vector space over the field \mathbb{Q} of rational numbers. Thus it suffices to show that $\operatorname{Ext}(\mathbb{Q}, \mathbb{Z}) \neq 0$. This follows from the next lemma.

14.8. Lemma. $Ext(\mathbb{Q},\mathbb{Z})$ is a \mathbb{Q} -vector space of uncountable dimension.

Proof. Consider the exact sequence $0 \to \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Q} \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \to 0$. By (109), $\operatorname{Ext}(\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z},\mathbb{Z}) = \widehat{\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}}$. This is a *compact* group. It is not finite since its dual \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} is not finite. Thus it must be uncountable by the Baire category theorem on locally compact spaces [19, p. 57]. We have the exact sequence

$$\mathbb{Z} = \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{Z}, \mathbb{Z}) \to \operatorname{Ext}(\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}, \mathbb{Z}) \to \operatorname{Ext}(\mathbb{Q}, \mathbb{Z}) \to \operatorname{Ext}(\mathbb{Z}, \mathbb{Z}) = 0,$$

and the lemma follows.

15 Change of rings

Suppose that K is a principal ideal domain that is also an L-module, and let \mathscr{B} be a sheaf of K-modules on X. The homology of X with coefficients in \mathscr{B} then has two interpretations depending on whether L or K is used as the base ring. We shall indicate the base ring, in this section only, by affixing it as a left superscript. Thus

$${}^{L}H^{\Phi}_{n}(X;\mathscr{B}) = H_{n}(\Gamma_{\Phi}({}^{L}\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{I}^{*}(X;L);L) \otimes_{L} \mathscr{B})),$$
(112)

368

while

$${}^{K}H^{\Phi}_{n}(X;\mathscr{B}) = H_{n}(\Gamma_{\Phi}({}^{K}\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{I}^{*}(X;K);K)\otimes_{K}\mathscr{B})).$$
(113)

Both of these are K-modules, but it is not clear whether or not there exists any relationship between them in general.

The K-modules (112) and (113) need not be isomorphic, as is shown by the following example: Let X be a compact space with $H^2(X;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ and $H^1(X;\mathbb{Z}) = 0$ (e.g., an inverse limit of lens spaces). By (9) on page 292, 3.13, and (109) we have ${}^{\mathbb{Z}}H_1(X;\mathbb{Q}) \approx (\widehat{\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}}) \otimes \mathbb{Q} \neq 0$, since $\widehat{\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}}$ is torsion-free, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} being divisible. However, by II-15.3 and (9), we have that ${}^{\mathbb{Q}}H_1(X;\mathbb{Q}) = 0$. Another example is provided by a solenoid; see 14.5.

We shall say that "change of rings is valid," for X, Φ , K, and L, if (112) and (113) are naturally isomorphic. In the present section we shall see that change of rings is valid in two general situations. First this is shown for clc_L^{∞} spaces, with suitable restrictions on Φ , using the results of Section 12. Then we show that change of rings is valid when $K = L_p = L/pL$, where p is a prime in L, for general spaces X and support families Φ .

15.1. Theorem. Let X be hlc_L^{n+2} . Then there is a natural isomorphism

$${}^{L}\mathscr{H}_{k}(X;\mathscr{B}) \approx {}^{K}\mathscr{H}_{k}(X;\mathscr{B})$$

of sheaves of K-modules for $k \leq n$. If $\Phi = c$ or if $\dim_{\Phi,L} X < \infty$ with Φ paracompactifying, then there is a natural isomorphism

$${}^{L}H^{\Phi}_{k}(X;\mathscr{B}) \approx {}^{K}H^{\Phi}_{k}(X;\mathscr{B})$$

of K-modules for $k \leq n.^{28}$

Proof. By definition, $\dim_{\Phi,L} X \ge \dim_{\Phi,K} X$. Let \mathcal{L}_* be a flabby, torsionfree quasi-(n + 2)-coresolution of L on X [such as $\mathfrak{D}(\mathscr{I}^*(X; L))$] and let $\mathcal{L}_* = \Gamma_c \mathscr{L}_*$ with \mathscr{L}_* c-soft. The algebraic universal coefficient theorem implies, quite easily, that $\mathcal{L}_* \otimes_L K = \Gamma_c \{\mathscr{L}_* \otimes_L K\}$ is a flabby, torsion-free quasi-(n + 2)-coresolution of K on X. Since $(\mathscr{L}_* \otimes_L K) \otimes_K \mathscr{B} \approx \mathscr{L}_* \otimes_K \mathscr{B}$, the last statement of the theorem follows directly from 12.16 and 12.20. The first statement of the theorem follows from the fact that, for example,

$${}^{L}\mathcal{H}_{k}(X;\mathcal{B}) \approx \mathcal{H}_{k}(\mathcal{L}_{*} \otimes_{L} \mathcal{B})$$

[see 12.19 and the proof of 12.20]. Alternatively, the first statement of the theorem follows from the last and the fact that

15.2. Theorem. Let \mathscr{B} be a sheaf of L_p -modules, p prime in L, and let Φ be any family of supports on the arbitrary locally compact Hausdorff space X. Then there is a natural isomorphism of L_p -modules

$${}^{L}H^{\Phi}_{n}(X;\mathscr{B}) \approx {}^{L_{p}}H^{\Phi}_{n}(X;\mathscr{B}).$$

 $^{^{28}\}mathrm{Also}$ see VI-11.5.

Proof. We note first that since L can be embedded in a torsion-free injective module (e.g., its field of quotients), $\mathscr{I}^*(X; L)$ may be replaced by an injective resolution \mathscr{I}^* such that \mathscr{I}^0 is torsion-free [see the construction of II-3.2].

Since an injective L-module is divisible, there is, for any L-injective sheaf \mathscr{I} , an exact sequence

$$0 \to {}_p \mathscr{I} \to \mathscr{I} \xrightarrow{p} \mathscr{I} \to 0,$$

where p stands for multiplication by $p \in L$ and ${}_{p}\mathcal{I}$ is its kernel. Clearly, ${}_{p}\mathcal{I}$ is a sheaf of L_{p} -modules. We need the following lemma:

15.3. Lemma. $_{p}\mathcal{I}$ is an L_{p} -injective sheaf.

Proof. Consider the commutative diagram with exact row

where f and g are given homomorphisms of sheaves of L_p -modules. Since \mathscr{I} is *L*-injective, there exists the *L*-homomorphism h, as indicated, making the diagram commute. The diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathcal{B} & \stackrel{p=0}{\longrightarrow} & \mathcal{B} \\ h & & & \downarrow \\ \mathcal{J} & \stackrel{p}{\longrightarrow} & \mathcal{J} \end{array}$$

shows that $\operatorname{Im} h \subset {}_{p}\mathcal{I}$. As a homomorphism into ${}_{p}\mathcal{I}$, h is clearly L_{p} -linear, and this completes the proof of the Lemma.

Since ${}_{p}\mathcal{I}$ is L_{p} -injective, it is also flabby, and it follows that the sequence

$$0 \to \Gamma_c({}_p\mathscr{G}|U) \to \Gamma_c(\mathscr{G}|U) \xrightarrow{p} \Gamma_c(\mathscr{G}|U) \to 0$$
(114)

is exact for all open sets U in X.

Note that the homology sequence (of sheaves) of

$$0 \to {}_p \mathscr{I}^* \to \mathscr{I}^* \xrightarrow{p} \mathscr{I}^* \to 0$$

shows that the differential sheaf \mathcal{J}^* , where $\mathcal{J}^n = {}_p \mathcal{J}^{n+1}$, is a resolution of L_p (since ${}_p \mathcal{J}^0 = 0$).

Let us fix the open set $U \subset X$ for the moment and use the abbreviation $I^n = \Gamma_c(\mathscr{I}^n|U)$ and $J^n = {}_pI^{n+1} = \Gamma_c({}_p\mathscr{I}^{n+1}|U)$; see (114). Then the sequence

$$0 \to J^{n-1} \to I^n \xrightarrow{p} I^n \to 0 \tag{115}$$

is exact for each n.

Let Q denote the field of quotients of L and note that we may take $L^0 = Q$ and $L^1 = Q/L$ [see 2.7]. Similarly, we take $(L_p)^0 = L_p$ and $(L_p)^1 = 0$. Then there is an exact sequence

$$0 \to L_p \to Q \oplus (Q/L) \xrightarrow{p} Q \oplus (Q/L) \to 0.$$

Applying this to the functor $\operatorname{Hom}(I^*, \bullet)$ and using the fact that $A \otimes L_p \approx \operatorname{Coker}(p: A \to A)$ for an L-module A, we obtain the isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}(I^*, L^*)_n \otimes L_p \approx \operatorname{Ext}(I^*, L_p)_{n+1}.$$
(116)

(The subscripts n, n + 1 indicate total degree.) The sequences (115) also show that

$$\operatorname{Ext}(I^*, L_p)_{n+1} \approx \operatorname{Hom}(J^*, L_p)_n \tag{117}$$

since $p : \operatorname{Ext}(I^*, L_p) \to \operatorname{Ext}(I^*, L_p)$ is trivial and $\operatorname{Hom}(I^*, L_p) = 0$ (since I^* is divisible). (Also note that $\operatorname{Hom}_L = \operatorname{Hom}_{L_p}$ and $\otimes_L = \otimes_{L_p}$ for L_p -modules so that we need not affix these subscripts.)

The isomorphisms (116) and (117) are clearly natural in U. Thus they induce an isomorphism of sheaves of L_p -modules:

$${}^{L}\mathscr{D}(\Gamma_{c}\mathscr{I}^{*};L)\otimes L_{p}\approx {}^{L_{p}}\mathscr{D}(\Gamma_{c}\mathscr{J}^{*};L_{p})$$
(118)

[where we are using L^* and $(L_p)^*$ as defined above; see 2.7]. The isomorphism (118) may be tensored over L_p with any sheaf \mathscr{B} of L_p -modules, and we may take sections with supports in any family Φ . Since \mathscr{I}^* is an L-injective resolution of L and \mathscr{J}^* is an L_p -injective resolution of L_p , the theorem follows upon passage to homology.

15.4. It is possible to define an alternative homology theory that does satisfy change of rings provided one is willing to sacrifice other desirable properties. For simplicity we shall confine the discussion to *compact* spaces and supports in this discussion. For an L-module M, define

$$\overline{H}_p(X;M) = H_p(\Gamma(\mathscr{Q}(\mathscr{I}^*;M))).$$

This does satisfy change of rings because²⁹

$$\begin{aligned} \overline{H}_{p}(X;M) &\approx H_{p}(\Gamma(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{C}^{*}(X;\mathbb{Z})\otimes L;M))) & 2.4 \text{ and } (9) \\ &\approx H_{p}(\operatorname{Hom}^{L}(C^{*}(X;\mathbb{Z})\otimes L;^{L}M^{*})) & \text{II-15.5(b)} \\ &\approx H_{p}(\operatorname{Hom}^{L}(F^{*}C^{*}(X;\mathbb{Z})\otimes L;M)) & \text{hyperhomology} \\ &\approx H_{p}(\operatorname{Hom}^{\mathbb{Z}}(F^{*}C^{*}(X;\mathbb{Z});M)) & \text{algebra} \\ &\approx H_{p}(\operatorname{Hom}^{\mathbb{Z}}(C^{*}(X;\mathbb{Z});^{\mathbb{Z}}M^{*})) & \text{hyperhomology}, \end{aligned}$$

where F^* denotes taking a free resolution over \mathbb{Z} . However, this theory has two weaknesses: it does not extend³⁰ to general coefficient sheaves, and it does not satisfy a universal coefficient formula such as 3.13. Indeed, we have (roughly stated):

²⁹The references are to *similar* items.

³⁰As far as I know.

15.5. Theorem. There exists no "homology theory" ${}^{L}H_{*}(X; M)$ defined for compact X and L-modules M that satisfies all three of the following conditions:

(a) There is an exact sequence (with sheaf cohomology)

$$0 \to \operatorname{Ext}^{L}(H^{p+1}(X;L),L) \to {}^{L}H_{p}(X;L) \to \operatorname{Hom}^{L}(H^{p}(X;L),L) \to 0.$$

(b) There is an exact sequence

$$0 \to {}^{L}H_{p}(X;L) \otimes_{L} M \to {}^{L}H_{p}(X;M) \to {}^{L}H_{p-1}(X;L) *_{L} M \to 0.$$

(c) Change of rings: ${}^{L}H_{p}(X; M) \approx {}^{M}H_{p}(X; M)$ when M is an L-module that is also a principal ideal domain.

Also, there is no theory satisfying (a') and (b) where (a') is the stronger condition:

(a') There is an exact sequence

$$\operatorname{Ext}^{L}(H^{p+1}(X;L),M) \rightarrowtail {}^{L}H_{p}(X;M) \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}^{L}(H^{p}(X;L),M).$$

Proof. Assume that $H_*(\bullet; M)$ satisfies all three conditions. (The superscript L can be omitted because of (c).) Let X be the solenoid of 14.5. Then $H^0(X;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}$, $H^1(X;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Q}$ and $H^1(X;\mathbb{Q}) \approx \mathbb{Q}$ by II-15.3. By (a) we have $H_1(X;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \operatorname{Hom}^{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathbb{Q},\mathbb{Z}) = 0$. From (b) we have $H_1(X;\mathbb{Q}) \approx \mathbb{Q} = 0 \otimes \mathbb{Q} = 0$. However, from (a) we have $H_1(X;\mathbb{Q}) \approx \operatorname{Hom}^{\mathbb{Q}}(\mathbb{Q},\mathbb{Q}) \approx \mathbb{Q}$, a contradiction.

For the second statement let $L = \mathbb{Z}$. Then by (b) we have

$${}^{\mathbb{Z}}H_0(X;\mathbb{Q})pprox{}^{\mathbb{Z}}H_0(X;\mathbb{Z})\otimes\mathbb{Q}\stackrel{\mathrm{(a)}}{pprox}\mathrm{Ext}(\mathbb{Q},\mathbb{Z})\otimes\mathbb{Q}\oplus\mathbb{Q},$$

which is a rational vector space of uncountable dimension. But from $\left(a'\right)$ we have

$${}^{\mathbb{Z}}H_{0}(X;\mathbb{Q}) pprox \operatorname{Ext}^{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathbb{Q},\mathbb{Q}) \oplus \operatorname{Hom}^{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathbb{Z},\mathbb{Q}) pprox 0 \oplus \mathbb{Q} pprox \mathbb{Q},$$

a contradiction.

Note that Borel-Moore theory satisfies (a) and (b); singular theory satisfies (b) and (c); and the $\overline{H}_*(X; M)$ theory satisfies (a') and (c).

In a similar vein we have the following result showing that on compact spaces, sheaf-theoretic cohomology is not a "co" theory to any homology theory with integer coefficients.

15.6. Theorem. There do not exist functors $H_*(X)$ of compact spaces X that provide an exact universal coefficient sequence of the form

$$0 \to \operatorname{Ext}(H_{k-1}(X), M) \to H^k(X; M) \to \operatorname{Hom}(H_k(X), M) \to 0$$

for abelian groups M (with sheaf-theoretic cohomology).

Proof. Consider again the solenoid X, and note that $H^1(X; \mathbb{Z}_p) = 0$ for all primes p. Then the sequence implies that $\operatorname{Hom}(H_1(X), \mathbb{Z}_p) = 0$, whence also $\operatorname{Hom}(H_1(X), \mathbb{Z}) = 0$. Similarly, since $H^2(X; \mathbb{Z}) = 0$, the sequence implies that $\operatorname{Ext}(H_1(X), \mathbb{Z}) = 0$. By the result 14.7 of Nunke we have that $H_1(X) = 0$. However, the sequence for $M = \mathbb{Q}$ shows that $\mathbb{Q} \approx H^1(X; \mathbb{Q}) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(H_1(X), \mathbb{Q}) = 0$, a contradiction.

Even easier arguments of dimensionality give a similar result over the rationals as base ring.

It is of interest to ask under what conditions the \overline{H}_* theory coincides with H_* . In VI-11 it is shown that $\overline{H}_*^c(X; M) \approx H_*^c(X; M)$ when X is clc_L^∞ , but we do not know whether or not this extends to the case of general paracompactifying supports. See VI-11 for further remarks on this.

16 Generalized manifolds

In this section we shall study various conditions on a locally compact space X that are equivalent to X being an $n-hm_L$. We also prove a number of results about these spaces.

First suppose that the homology sheaves $\mathscr{H}_p(X; L)$ are all locally constant. We shall show that under suitable conditions this implies that X is an $n-hm_L$ for some n. We first consider the case in which L is a field:

16.1. Theorem. If L is a field and X is a connected and locally connected space for which $\dim_L X = n < \infty$ and such that $\mathscr{H}_p(X; L)$ is locally constant for all p, then X is an n-hm_L.

Proof. Let A_p denote the stalk of $\mathscr{H}_p(X; L)$. We must show that $A_n \approx L$ and that $A_p = 0$ for all $p \neq n$. Let $r = \max\{p | A_p \neq 0\}$ and $s = \min\{p | A_p \neq 0\}$. Consider the spectral sequence of 8.4:

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p_c(U; \mathscr{H}_{-q}(X; L)) \Longrightarrow H^c_{-p-q}(U; L)$$

(for U open in X). By passing to a small open subset we may as well assume that $\mathscr{H}_*(X;L)$ is constant. Then $E_2^{p,q} = 0$ for p > n or q > -s, and hence $E_2^{n,-s} = H_c^n(U;A_s) \approx H_c^n(U;L) \otimes A_s$ is isomorphic to $H_{s-n}^c(U;L)$. This must vanish for n > s. By II-16.14, $H_c^n(U;A_s) \neq 0$ for some U. Hence $n \leq s$. Also, (11) on page 293 shows that $r \leq n$. Thus n = r = s. We now have that

$$H_0^c(U;L) \approx H_c^n(U;L) \otimes A_n.$$

Taking U to be connected, we have that $H_0^c(U; L) \approx L$ by 5.14, and hence $A_n \approx L$.

We now take up the general case.

16.2. Theorem. Let X be a connected and locally connected space for which $\dim_L X = n < \infty$ and such that $\mathscr{H}_p(X; L)$ is locally constant and has finitely generated stalks for all p. Then X is an n-hm_L.

Proof. For the field K = L/pL where p is a prime of L we have the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{H}_k(X;L) \otimes K \to \mathscr{H}_k(X;K) \to \mathscr{H}_{k-1}(X;L) * K \to 0$$

of (13) on page 294. By I-Exercise 9, $\mathscr{H}_k(X; K)$ is also locally constant, and by 15.2 the hypotheses of 16.1 are satisfied by K in place of L. If A_k is the stalk of $\mathscr{H}_k(X; L)$, which is finitely generated by assumption, then A_k can have no p-torsion because otherwise $\mathscr{H}_k(X; K)$ and $\mathscr{H}_{k+1}(X; K)$ would both be nonzero. Since this is true for all primes p of L, A_k is free over L, and it follows that $A_m \approx L$ for some m and $A_k = 0$ for $k \neq m$. Thus X is an m- hm_L . From 9.6 it follows that m = n.

16.3. Theorem. Let X be a connected clc_L^{∞} space for which $\dim_L X = n < \infty$ and such that $\mathscr{H}_p(X; L)$ is locally constant for each p. Then X is an n-hm_L.

Proof. Let m be the largest integer such that $\mathscr{H}_m(X;L) \neq 0$. By 8.7, $H_m(U;L)$ can be identified with $\Gamma(\mathscr{H}_m(X;L)|U)$ for U open and paracompact. For $V \subset U$, the canonical homomorphism $H_m(U) \to H_m(V)$ corresponds to section restriction. Since $\mathscr{H}_m(X)$ is locally constant, there is an open set U over which it is constant. We may take U to be paracompact and connected, and thus $\Gamma(\mathscr{H}_m(X)|U)$ is isomorphic to the stalk. Let V be another connected paracompact open set with compact closure in U. Then $\Gamma(\mathscr{H}_m(X)|U) \to \Gamma(\mathscr{H}_m(X)|V)$ is an isomorphism. But $H_m(U) \to H_m(V)$ has finitely generated image by II-17.5 and II-17.3, since X is clc_L^∞ . Thus $\mathscr{H}_m(X;L)$ has finitely generated stalks. For any prime p of L, X is an hm_{L_p} , and this implies that $\mathscr{H}_m(X;L)$ has no p-torsion; see the proof of 16.2. Similarly, the stalks of $\mathscr{H}_m(X;L)$ must be free of rank 1. If $M = \mathscr{H}_s(X; L)$, $s \neq m$, then we must have, for the same reason, $M \otimes K = 0 = M * K$ for any L-module K that is a field; see 15.1. This implies that M = 0, whence X is an $m-hm_L$ and m = n.

16.4. Definition. Precosheaves \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{B} on X are said to be "equivalent" if \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{B} are equivalent under the smallest equivalence relation containing the relation of local isomorphism of 12.2 (see Exercise 5).

16.5. Definition. A precosheaf \mathfrak{A} will be said to be "locally constant" if each point $x \in X$ has a neighborhood U such that the precosheaf $\mathfrak{A}|U$ on U [i.e., $V \mapsto \mathfrak{A}(V)$ for $V \subset U$] is equivalent to a constant precosheaf. If this is the constant precosheaf M, where M is an L-module, then \mathfrak{A} is said to be "locally equivalent to M."

16.6. Definition. The space X will be said to possess "locally constant cohomology modules over L locally equivalent to M^* ," where M^* is a graded L-module, if the precosheaf $\mathfrak{H}^p_c(X;L): U \mapsto H^p_c(U;L)$ is locally equivalent to M^p for all p.

16.7. Definition. The space X is called an "n-dimensional cohomology manifold over L" (denoted n-cm_L) if X has locally constant cohomology modules, locally equivalent to L in degree n, and to zero in degrees other than n, and if dim_L $X < \infty$.

16.8. Theorem. If X is connected, then the following four conditions are equivalent:

- (a) X is an $n-cm_L$.
- (b) [27] dim_L X = n < ∞ and X has locally constant cohomology modules locally equivalent to M^{*}, where M^{*} is finitely generated.
- (c) X is clc_L^{∞} and is an $n-hm_L$.
- (d) [20], [14] X is clc_L^{∞} , $\dim_L X < \infty$, and the stalks of $\mathscr{H}_i(X; L)$ are zero for $i \neq n$ and are isomorphic to L for i = n.³¹

Proof. Using II-16.17, (a) \Rightarrow (b) is clear. Assume that (b) holds. Then it follows from II-17.5 that X is clc_L^{∞} . By 12.3 we see that the sheaves $\mathscr{H}om(\mathfrak{H}_c^p(X;L),L)$ and $\mathscr{E}xl(\mathfrak{H}_c^p(X;L),L)$ are locally constant with stalks $\operatorname{Hom}(M^p,L)$ and $\operatorname{Ext}(M^p,L)$, respectively (which are finitely generated). By (9) on page 292 we have the exact sequence of sheaves:

$$0 \to \mathscr{E}\!\!\mathscr{s}\!\mathscr{l}(\mathfrak{H}^{p+1}_{c}(X;L),L) \to \mathscr{H}_{p}(X;L) \to \mathscr{H}\!\!\mathscr{om}(\mathfrak{H}^{p}_{c}(X;L),L) \to 0,$$

and it follows from I-Exercise 9 that $\mathscr{H}_p(X; L)$ is locally constant with finitely generated stalks. Thus X is an $n-hm_L$ by 16.2.

Now suppose that condition (c) holds. Using the definition of clc_L^{∞} , II-17.3, and the exact sequences

$$0 \to \operatorname{Ext}(H^{p+1}(K;L),L) \to H_p(K;L) \to \operatorname{Hom}(H^p(K;L),L) \to 0$$

for K compact in X, we see that for any compact neighborhood K of a point $x \in X$ there is a compact neighborhood $K' \subset K$ of x with $H_p(K') \to$ $H_p(K)$ trivial for $p \neq 0$. It follows that for every neighborhood U of x there is a neighborhood $V \subset U$ of x with $H_p^c(V) \to H_p^c(U)$ trivial for $p \neq 0$. By Poincaré duality (assuming, as we may, that \emptyset is constant), $H_c^q(V) \to$ $H_c^q(U)$ is trivial for $q \neq n$. Also, for any open set U, $H_c^n(U;L) \approx H_0^c(U;L)$ is the free L-module on the components of U by 5.14. Thus $\mathfrak{H}_c^q(X;L)$ is locally equivalent to L for q = n, and to zero for $q \neq n$, which is condition (a).

Trivially, (c) implies (d). Assuming (d), to prove (c) we must show that X is "locally orientable," meaning that $\mathcal{H}_n(X; L)$ is locally constant. Since this is a local matter and every point in X has an arbitrarily small

³¹The implication (d) $\Rightarrow X$ is an $n-hm_L$ requires only the assumption that X is locally connected rather than the full clc_L condition. This implication is the "Wilder local orientability (former) conjecture." Also see 16.15.

open paracompact neighborhood (the union of an increasing sequence of compact neighborhoods), we may as well assume that X is connected and paracompact. With $\mathscr{O} = \mathscr{H}_n(X; L)$, suppose that L is a field and that $\sigma \in \Gamma(\mathscr{O})$ is nonzero. We claim that σ must be everywhere nonzero. Let $A = |\sigma|$ and suppose that $A \neq X$. Since L is a field, the section σ induces a homomorphism $L \to \mathscr{O}$ that is an isomorphism over A. Therefore

$$H_c^n(A;L) \approx H_c^n(A;\mathscr{O}|A) \approx H_0^c(X,X-A;L) = 0$$

by 9.2 and the exact sequence

$$H^c_0(X-A;L) \to H^c_0(X;L) \to H^c_0(X,X-A;L) \to 0,$$

the first map of which is onto. The exact sequence

$$H^n_c(X-A;L) \xrightarrow{j^*} H^n_c(X;L) \to H^n_c(A;L) = 0$$

shows that j^* is onto. Now $H_c^n(X-A;L) \approx \lim_{U \to U} H_c^n(U;L)$, where U ranges over the open paracompact sets with compact closure in X-A, by II-14.5 applied to $L \approx \lim_{U \to U} L_U$.³² Since $H_n(U;L) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(H_c^n(U;L),L)$, naturally in U, by (9) on page 292, we deduce that

$$j_*: H_n(X; L) \to \lim H_n(U; L)$$

is a monomorphism. But by Poincaré duality 9.2 or 8.7, j_* can be identified with section restriction

$$\Gamma(\mathscr{O}) = H^0(X; \mathscr{O}) \to \varprojlim H^0(U; \mathscr{O}|U) = \varprojlim \Gamma(\mathscr{O}|U) = \Gamma(\mathscr{O}|X - A).$$

Since $\sigma \in \Gamma(\mathcal{O})$ restricts to zero on X - A, this is a contradiction. Thus σ must be everywhere nonzero as claimed.

Now, in the general case where L is a principal ideal domain, which may not be a field, note that if p is a prime in L then X satisfies (d) over the field K = L/pL with orientation sheaf $\mathscr{O} \otimes K$ by 15.2. Let $x \in X$ and let σ be a local section of \mathscr{O} near x that gives a generator of the stalk at x. Since xhas a neighborhood basis at x consisting of open paracompact sets, we may assume that σ is defined on a connected paracompact open neighborhood U of x. Then σ defines a homomorphism of the constant sheaf L on Uto $\mathscr{O}|U$ that is an isomorphism on the stalks at x. By the case of a field applied to K = L/pL, the map $L/pL \to (\mathscr{O} \otimes L/pL)|U$ is an *isomorphism* for each prime p of L. But a homomorphism $L \to L$ of L-modules that induces an isomorphism $L/pL \to L/pL$ for all primes p of L is necessarily an isomorphism. Therefore the homomorphism $L \to \mathscr{O}|U$ of sheaves over U is an isomorphism on each stalk and hence is an isomorphism of sheaves. Thus \mathscr{O} is constant over U, proving (c).

For the case in which $L = \mathbb{Z}$ or is a field, we have the following simple cohomological criterion:

³²This is to avoid a paracompactness assumption on X - A.

16.9. Corollary. [20] If L is the integers or a field, then a locally compact space X is an $n-cm_L \Leftrightarrow X$ is clc_L^{∞} , $\dim_L X < \infty$, and

$$H^p(X, X - \{x\}; L) \approx \begin{cases} L, & \text{for } p = n, \\ 0, & \text{for } p \neq n \end{cases}$$

for all $x \in X$.

Proof. By 7.2 applied to the identity map we have

$$\mathscr{H}_i(X;L)_x \approx H_i^c(X,X-\{x\};L).$$

Thus from 13.7 we have the exact sequence

$$\operatorname{Ext}(\mathscr{H}_{i-1}(X;L)_x,L)\rightarrowtail H^i(X,X-\{x\};L)\twoheadrightarrow\operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{H}_i(X;L)_x,L).$$

It follows from this and 14.7 that $H^*(X, X - \{x\}; L)$ is of finite type $\Leftrightarrow \mathscr{H}_*(X; L)_x$ is of finite type. Hence the condition in the corollary is equivalent to

$$\mathscr{H}_p(X;L)_x \approx \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} L, & \mathrm{for} \ p=n, \\ 0, & \mathrm{for} \ p \neq n \end{array} \right.$$

for all $x \in X$. But this is precisely condition (d) of 16.8 (given the other conditions).

16.10. Example. Let C be the open cone on \mathbb{RP}^2 , let E be the open ball of radius 1 in \mathbb{R}^3 , and let X be the one point union $C \vee E$ at the vertex x_0 of the cone. Then if \overline{C} denotes the closed cone on \mathbb{RP}^2 and $\overline{E} = \mathbb{D}^3$, we have

$$\mathcal{H}_n(X;\mathbb{Z})_{x_0} \approx H_n(\overline{C} \vee \overline{E}, \mathbb{RP}^2 + \mathbb{S}^2) \approx \tilde{H}_{n-1}(\mathbb{RP}^2 + \mathbb{S}^2) \approx \begin{cases} \mathbb{Z}, & n = 1, \\ \mathbb{Z}_2, & n = 2, \\ \mathbb{Z}, & n = 3 \end{cases}$$

and is otherwise zero. Outside x_0 , of course, X is a 3-manifold. The sheaf $\mathscr{H}_3(X;\mathbb{Z})$ is isomorphic to $\mathscr{O}^X \oplus \mathbb{Z}_E$, where \mathscr{O} is the orientation sheaf of $C - \{x_0\}$. Thus $\mathscr{H}_3(X;\mathbb{Z})$ has stalks \mathbb{Z} everywhere but is not locally constant. The sheaves \mathscr{H}_1 and \mathscr{H}_2 are, of course, concentrated at x_0 . Note that with coefficients in a field K of characteristic other than two, we have

$$\mathscr{H}_n(X;K)_{x_0} \approx \left\{ egin{array}{cc} K, & ext{for } n=1,3, \ 0, & ext{otherwise.} \end{array}
ight.$$

Also,

$$\mathscr{H}_3(X;K) \approx (\mathscr{O}^X \otimes K) \oplus K_E$$

has stalks K everywhere but is not locally constant, and the homology sheaves in the adjacent dimensions 2 and 4 are zero.

This shows that the local orientability theorem, $(d) \Rightarrow (a)$ of 16.8, does not generalize in any obvious way to spaces in which the other homology sheaves are not all zero. There are many variations on this example. \diamond The following result is responsible for much of the interest in generalized manifolds, because there are spaces X that are not manifolds but for which $X \times \mathbb{R}$ is a manifold. Factorizations of manifolds of this form are important in the theory of topological transformation groups on manifolds.

16.11. Theorem. [6] The locally compact space $X \times Y$ is an $n \cdot cm_L \Leftrightarrow X$ is a $p \cdot cm_L$ and Y is a $q \cdot cm_L$ for some p, q with n = p + q. Moreover, the orientation sheaves satisfy the equation $\mathscr{O}_{X \times Y} \approx \mathscr{O}_X \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{O}_Y$ (with the obvious notation).

Proof. It is not hard to prove that $X \times Y$ is $clc_L^{\infty} \Leftrightarrow$ both X and Y are clc_L^{∞} . The proof of this follows from the Künneth formula II-15.2 applied to compact product neighborhoods of a point in $X \times Y$, and will be left to the reader. The \Leftarrow part of the theorem is also easy, so we shall prove only the \Rightarrow part.

Let $x \in X$ and $y \in Y$ and let $M_p = \mathscr{H}_p(X; L)_x$ and $N_q = \mathscr{H}_q(Y; L)_y$. By 14.3 we have the exact sequence

$$0 \to \bigoplus_{p} M_{p} \otimes N_{n-p} \to L \to \bigoplus_{p} M_{p} * N_{n-p-1} \to 0,$$

and we also have that

$$M_p \otimes N_q = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad p + q \neq n$$

and

$$M_p * N_q = 0$$
 for $p + q \neq n - 1$.

Clearly, we must have $M_p \otimes N_{n-p} \approx L$ for some p (which we now fix).

Let $b \in N_{n-p}$ be such that $a \otimes b \neq 0 \in M_p \otimes N_{n-p}$ for some $a \in M_p$. The map $M_p \to M_p \otimes N_{n-p} \approx L$ defined by $a \mapsto a \otimes b$ has a nontrivial ideal of L as its image. Since L is a principal ideal domain, this implies that M_p has L as a direct summand. Similarly, N_{n-p} has L as a direct summand. The fact that $M_p \otimes N_{n-p} \approx L$ implies that $M_p \approx L$ and $N_{n-p} \approx L$. Since $M_r \otimes N_s = 0$ for $r + s \neq n$, we see that $M_r = 0$ for $r \neq p$ and $N_s = 0$ for $s \neq n-p$.

Now p depends on x, but n - p depends only on $y \in Y$. Thus p is, in fact, constant. By 14.3

$$\mathscr{H}_p(X)\widehat{\otimes}\mathscr{H}_{n-p}(Y)\approx \mathscr{H}_n(X\times Y).$$

Thus

$$\mathscr{H}_p(X) \approx \mathscr{H}_p(X) \widehat{\otimes} (\mathscr{H}_{n-p}(Y)|\{y\}) \approx \mathscr{H}_n(X \times Y)|X \times \{y\}$$

is locally constant (with stalks L). Similarly, $\mathscr{H}_{n-p}(Y)$ is locally constant. (Of course, local constancy also follows from 16.8(d).)

§16. Generalized manifolds

Now we shall consider further weakenings of the condition (d) of 16.8. In particular, we shall show that the condition clc_L^{∞} can be dropped if L is a field and X is first countable.³³ First we need to discuss some technical items about "local Betti numbers."

We define, for L a field, the "ith local Betti number of X at x" to be

$$b_i(x) = \dim_L \mathscr{H}_i(X; L)_x = \dim_L H_i(X, X - \{x\}; L).$$

The following lemma is an elaboration of a method due to J. H. C. Whitehead [82] and Wilder [84].

16.12. Lemma. [14] Let $V_1 \leftarrow V_2 \leftarrow V_3 \leftarrow \cdots$ be an inverse sequence of vector spaces over the field L. Put $V_i^* = \operatorname{Hom}(V_i, L)$ and $W = \varinjlim V_i^*$. Then $\dim_L W$ is countable \Leftrightarrow for each i there exists an index j > i such that $\dim_L \operatorname{Im}(V_j \to V_i) < \infty$.

Proof. Put $G_i = \text{Im}(V_j \to V_1)$. It suffices to show that if each G_i has infinite dimension then W has uncountable dimension. Now $G_1 \supset G_2 \supset \cdots$. Suppose there is a j with $G_j = G_{j+1} = \cdots$ Then for $i > j, V_i \to G_i = G_j$ is onto, and hence $G_j^* \to V_i^*$ is injective. Therefore $G_j^* \to W$ is injective, showing that W has uncountable dimension.

If, on the contrary, the G_i are not eventually constant, we may assume that they decrease strictly. Then let $g_i \in G_i - G_{i+1} \subset V_1$. The g_i are independent and hence are a basis of a subspace H of V_1 . Let $V_1 \to H$ be a projection, and consider the dual $H^* \to V_1^* \to W$. If $u \in H^*$ maps to zero in W, then $u(g_i) = 0$ except for finitely many i. Since such elements u form a countable-dimensional subspace of H^* , we deduce that the image of $H^* \to W$, and hence W itself, has uncountable dimension. The converse is clear.

16.13. Theorem. [14] Let L be a field. If the locally compact space X is first countable and has $\dim_L X < \infty$, then $b_i(x)$ is countable for all i and all $x \in X \Leftrightarrow X$ is clc_L .³⁴

Proof. Let $U_1 \supset U_2 \supset \cdots$ be a countable neighborhood basis at x. Then $H_p(U_i) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(H^p_c(U_i), L)$ by (9) on page 292. By 16.12, $\mathscr{H}_p(X)_x = \lim_{r \to \infty} H_p(U_i)$ has countable dimension \Leftrightarrow for each i there exists a j > i with $\dim_L \{\operatorname{Im}(H^p_c(U_j) \to H^p_c(U_i)\} < \infty$. Since $\dim_L X < \infty$, this is equivalent to the condition clc_L by II-17.5. \Box

An old problem of Alexandroff [1] asks whether a finite-dimensional space that has constant finite local Betti numbers must be a manifold. Since hm's satisfy this, it is false; but it is reasonable to ask whether such spaces must be homology manifolds. We shall show that this is, indeed, the

³³We do not know whether these conditions are needed.

³⁴See [60] for a generalization to countable principal ideal domains L.

case under some mild restrictions. The original, slightly weaker, versions of these results can be found in [14].

16.14. Lemma. [14] Let L be a field. Suppose that X is second countable and that $\dim_L X < \infty$. For each i assume that $b_i(x)$ is finite and independent of x. Then X is an n-cm_L for some n.

Proof. By 16.13, X is clc_L^{∞} . By IV-4.12, there is an open set U such that $\mathscr{H}_i(X; L)$ is constant over U with finitely generated stalks. By 16.8(b), U is an $n - cm_L$ for some n. Thus $b_n(x) = 1$ and $b_i(x) = 0$ for $i \neq n$ for all $x \in X$. The result now follows from 16.8(d).

16.15. Theorem. [14] Let X be second countable with $\dim_L X < \infty$, and assume that the stalks $\mathscr{H}_i(X; L)_x$ are finitely generated and mutually isomorphic (i.e., independent of x) for each i. Then X is an n-hm_L for some n.

Proof. (If we assume that X is clc_L^{∞} , then there is a direct proof out of IV-4.12.) Let p be a prime of L. Then $L_p = L/pL$ is a field. Note that X is $clc_{L_p}^{\infty}$ by 16.13 and change of rings 15.2. Let A_i be an isomorph of $\mathscr{H}_i(X;L)_x$. There is the universal coefficient sequence

$$0 \to A_i \otimes L_p \to \mathscr{H}_i(X; L_p)_x \to A_{i-1} * L_p \to 0$$

of (13) on page 294. If A_i contains a factor L_{p^r} , then $\mathscr{H}_i(X; L_p)_x$ and $\mathscr{H}_{i+1}(X; L_p)_x$ are both nonzero, contrary to 16.14. Thus A_i is free. Similarly, it follows that at most one A_i , say A_n , is nonzero, and this one has rank one. Since X is $clc_{L_p}^{\infty}$, it is locally connected. Thus by 16.8(d) and its footnote, X is an n- hm_L .

It has been shown in [43] and [60] that a first-countable $n-hm_{\mathbb{Z}}$ is necessarily $clc_{\mathbb{Z}}$ and hence is an $n-cm_{\mathbb{Z}}$. Thus, for $L = \mathbb{Z}$ or a field, the conclusion of 16.15 can be sharpened to say that X is an $n-cm_{\mathbb{Z}}$. [No example of an $n-hm_L$ that is not clc_L is known to the author.]

16.16. Theorem. Let X be a connected $n - cm_L$, let $F \subsetneq X$ be a proper closed subset, let $U \subset X$ be any nonempty open subset, and let \mathcal{M} be an elementary sheaf on X. Then:

- (a) If \mathcal{M} has stalks L, then $H_n(F; \mathcal{M}) = 0$ and $H_{n-1}(F; \mathcal{M})$ is torsion-free;
- (b) $H^n_c(U; \mathscr{O})$ is the free L-module on the components of U;
- (c) $H_c^n(F; \mathcal{M}) = 0;$
- (d) $j_{X,U}^*: H_c^n(U; \mathcal{M}) \to H_c^n(X; \mathcal{M})$ is surjective;
- (e) $j_{X,U}^*: H_c^n(U; \mathscr{O}) \to H_c^n(X; \mathscr{O})$ is an isomorphism if U is connected;

(f) X is orientable $\Leftrightarrow H^n_c(X;L) \approx L$.

Moreover, if $L = \mathbb{Z}$ and \mathcal{T} is a locally constant sheaf on X with stalks \mathbb{Z} , then:

- (g) $H^n_c(X; \mathscr{T}) \approx \mathbb{Z}_2$ unless $\mathscr{T} \approx \mathscr{O}$;
- (h) $H_c^n(U; \mathscr{T}) \approx \bigoplus_{\alpha} \mathbb{Z} \oplus \bigoplus_{\beta} \mathbb{Z}_2$, where α ranges over the components V of U for which $\mathscr{T}|V \approx \mathscr{O}|V$ and β ranges over the remaining components;
- (i) The torsion subgroup of $H_{n-1}(X; \mathcal{F}^{-1})$ is zero if $\mathcal{F} \approx \mathcal{O}$ and is \mathbb{Z}_2 otherwise.

Proof. The case n = 0 is trivial, so assume that n > 0. Assuming part (c) for the moment, we have that $H_n(F; \mathcal{M}) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(H_c^n(F; \mathcal{M}^{-1}), L) = 0$ by 10.5, giving the first part of (a). The last part of (a) follows from the exact sequence (3.12) on page 297 induced by the coefficient sequence $0 \to \mathcal{M} \xrightarrow{p} \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M} \otimes L_p \to 0$, where p is a prime in L; from (a) in the case of the field L_p as base ring; and from change of rings 15.2.

From 9.2 we have that $H_c^n(U; \mathscr{O}) \approx H_0^c(U; L)$, whence (b) follows from 5.14. Also, if U = X - F, then there is the exact sequence

$$H^n_c(U; \mathscr{O}) \to H^n_c(X; \mathscr{O}) \to H^n_c(F; \mathscr{O}) \to H^{n+1}_c(U; \mathscr{O}) = 0,$$

since $\dim_L X = n$, whence (b) implies that $H^n_c(F; \mathscr{O}) = 0$. Therefore $H^n_c(F; L) = 0$ provided that $\mathscr{O}|F$ is constant, hence for F sufficiently small. The cohomology sequence of the coefficient sequence $0 \to L \to L \to L/pL \to 0$, for $p \in L$ a prime, shows that $H^n_c(F; L/pL) = 0$ for F small. It follows that $H^n_c(F; \mathscr{M}) = 0$ for F small (so small that $\mathscr{M}|F$ and $\mathscr{O}|F$ are both constant). Now suppose that $0 \neq a \in H^n_c(F; \mathscr{M})$. By II-10.8 there is a closed subset $C \subset F$ with $a|C \neq 0 \in H^n_c(C; \mathscr{M})$ but with a|C' = 0 for all proper subsets $C' \subset C$. Now C cannot be a singleton since n > 0. Let $x \in C$ and let U be a connected open neighborhood of x such that \mathscr{O} and \mathscr{M} are both constant on U. Then the exact sequence

$$H^n_c(U \cap C; \mathscr{M}) \xrightarrow{\mathfrak{f}} H^n_c(C; \mathscr{M}) \to H^n_c(C - U; \mathscr{M})$$

shows that $a \in \text{Im } j^*$. But $H^n_c(U \cap C; \mathscr{M}) = 0$, provided that $U \cap C \neq U$, by the part of (c) already proven, since \mathscr{M} is constant on $U \cap C$ and $U \cap C$ is a proper closed subset of U. Thus we must have that $U \cap C = U$, and so x is an interior point of C. Hence C = X since C is open and closed and Xis connected. Thus F is not proper, contrary to assumption, proving (c).

Part (d) follows from the cohomology sequence of (X, U) and part (c) with F = X - U. Part (e) holds because an epimorphism $L \twoheadrightarrow L$ must be an isomorphism since L is a principal ideal domain. For (f), suppose that $H^n_c(X;L) \approx L$. Let $V \subset X$ be connected, open, and orientable. Then

by (e), $H_c^n(V;L) \to H_c^n(X;L)$ is surjective and hence is an isomorphism. From this and the natural isomorphisms

$$\mathscr{O}(U) \approx H^0(U; \mathscr{O}) \approx H_n(U; L) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(H^n_c(U; L), L)$$

we deduce that the restriction $\mathscr{O}(X) \to \mathscr{O}(V)$ is an isomorphism, whence X is orientable, giving (f).

For part (g), note that $H_c^n(X; \mathscr{F})$ is a quotient group of \mathbb{Z} by (b) and (d), and so it has the form $\mathbb{Z}_m = \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}$ for some m, possibly 0. Since the union of an increasing sequence of compact subsets of X is paracompact, $H_c^n(X; \mathscr{F}) \approx \underline{\lim}_V H_c^n(V; \mathscr{F})$, where V ranges over the connected, paracompact, and relatively compact subspaces of X. This shows, using (b) and (d), that we may assume that X is paracompact in the proof of (g). The exact sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Ext}(H^n_c(X;\mathscr{F}),\mathbb{Z}) \to H_{n-1}(X;\mathscr{F}^{-1}) \to \operatorname{Hom}(H^{n-1}_c(X;\mathscr{F}),\mathbb{Z}) \to 0$$

of (65) on page 340 shows that the torsion subgroup of $H_{n-1}(X; \mathcal{T}^{-1})$ is \mathbb{Z}_m . This sequence also gives (i), assuming (b) and (g). From duality 9.2 we have

$$H_n(X;\mathscr{T}^{-1}) \approx H^0(X; \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{T}^{-1}) = \Gamma(\mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{T}^{-1}) = 0,$$

and similarly, for any integer k > 1,

$$H_n(X; \mathscr{T}^{-1} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_k) \approx \Gamma(\mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{T}^{-1} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_k) \approx \begin{cases} \mathbb{Z}_2, & \text{if } k \text{ is even}, \\ 0, & \text{if } k \text{ is odd}, \end{cases}$$

because $\mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{T}^{-1}$ is a nonconstant bundle with fiber \mathbb{Z} and structure group \mathbb{Z}_2 . The coefficient sequence $0 \to \mathscr{T}^{-1} \xrightarrow{k} \mathscr{T}^{-1} \to \mathscr{T}^{-1} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_k \to 0$ induces the exact sequence

$$0 = H_n(X; \mathscr{T}^{-1}) \to H_n(X; \mathscr{T}^{-1} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_k) \to H_{n-1}(X; \mathscr{T}^{-1}) \xrightarrow{k} H_{n-1}(X; \mathscr{T}^{-1}),$$

which shows that $H_{n-1}(X; \mathscr{F}^{-1})$ contains 2-torsion \mathbb{Z}_2 and no odd torsion, whence m = 2, proving (g).³⁵ Part (h) is an immediate consequence of (b) and (g).

16.17. Corollary. (F. Raymond [69].) Let X be an n-cm_L, and assume that $H_c^*(X;L) \approx H_c^*(\mathbb{R}^n;L)$. Then the one-point compactification X^+ of X is an n-cm_L with $H^*(X^+;L) \approx H^*(\mathbb{S}^n;L)$.

Proof. That X^+ has the stated global cohomology is immediate from the cohomology sequence of the pair (X^+, ∞) . By 16.16(f), X is orientable. Thus $H_q^c(X; L) \approx H_c^{n-q}(X; L)$, whence $\tilde{H}_*^c(X; L) = 0$. By II-17.16, X^+ is clc_L^∞ . By (9) on page 292, $H_*(X^+; L) \approx H_*(\mathbb{S}^n; L)$. The exact homology sequence of (X^+, X) then shows that $\mathscr{H}_p(X^+; L)_\infty \approx H_p(X^+, X)$ is L for p = n and is zero for $p \neq n$. This gives the result by 16.8(d).

 $^{^{35}}$ Part (g) can also be proved by an argument similar to that of II-16.29.
16.18. Corollary. If A is a locally closed subspace of an $n - cm_L X$, then $\dim_L A = n \Leftrightarrow \operatorname{int} A \neq \emptyset$.³⁶

Proof. The \Leftarrow part is trivial. Also, we may as well assume that X is connected and orientable and that A is closed. In that case, if $\operatorname{int} A = \emptyset$ then $H_c^n(A \cap U; L) = 0$ by 16.16(c) for all open U. Then it follows from II-16.14 that $\dim_L A < n$.

16.19. Corollary. (Invariance of domain.) If $A \subset X$ and if A and X are both $n-cm_L$'s, then A is open in X.

Proof. By passing to a small open neighborhood of a point $x \in A$ we can assume that A and X are both orientable, that A is closed in X, and that X is connected. Since $H_c^n(A; L) \neq 0$ by 16.16(b), we must have A = X (locally at x in general) by 16.16(c).

16.20. Theorem. Let X be a connected n-cm_L and let $F \subset X$ be a closed subspace with dim_L $F \leq n-2$. Then X - F is connected.

Proof. There is the exact sequence

$$0 = H_c^{n-1}(F; \mathscr{O}) \to H_c^n(X - F; \mathscr{O}) \to H_c^n(X; \mathscr{O}) \to 0,$$

so that the result follows from part (b) of 16.16.

16.21. Theorem. Let X be an n-cm_L and let $F \subset X$ be a closed subspace with dim_L F = n - 1. Then there exists a point $x \in F$ such that all sufficiently small open neighborhoods of x are disconnected by F; i.e., there exists an open neighborhood U of x such that for all open neighborhoods $V \subset U$ of x, V - F is disconnected. Moreover, every point of X has an arbitrarily small open connected neighborhood V such that V - F is disconnected for all compact subspaces F of V with dim_L F = n - 1 and $H^{n-1}(F; L) \neq 0$.

Proof. This is a local matter, and so we may as well assume that X is connected and orientable. By II-16.17 there exists a point $x \in F$ and an open neighborhood W of x such that for all open neighborhoods $U \subset W$ of $x, H_c^{n-1}(U \cap F; L) \to H_c^{n-1}(W \cap F; L)$ is nonzero. However, by definition of an *n*-cm, there is a neighborhood U of x so small that $H_c^{n-1}(U; L) \to H_c^{n-1}(W; L)$ is zero. Let $V \subset U$ be a connected neighborhood of x. In the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H^{n-1}_{c}(V;L) & \to & H^{n-1}_{c}(V \cap F;L) & \to & H^{n}_{c}(V - F;L) & \to & H^{n}_{c}(V;L) \\ & & & & \downarrow^{\neq 0} \\ H^{n-1}_{c}(W;L) & \to & H^{n-1}_{c}(W \cap F;L) \end{array}$$

³⁶In a topological manifold, this holds for arbitrary subspaces; see [49, p. 46].

the map $H_c^n(V-F; L) \to H_c^n(V; L)$ is an isomorphism by 16.16(e) if V-F is connected. That contradicts the remainder of the diagram. Therefore V-F is disconnected for all open neighborhoods $V \subset U$ of x. The last statement also follows from the displayed diagram, where now $F \subset V$. \Box

16.22. Corollary. If $F \subset X$ is a closed subspace of the n- $cm_L X$, then $\dim_L F = n - 1 \Leftrightarrow \operatorname{int} F = \emptyset$ and F separates X locally near some point.

We shall now introduce the notion of a generalized manifold *with boundary*. As always in this chapter, all spaces considered are assumed to be locally compact Hausdorff spaces.

16.23. Definition. A space X is said to be an $n-cm_L$ with boundary B if $B \subset X$ is closed, X - B is an $n-cm_L$, B is an $(n-1)-cm_L$, and the homology sheaf $\mathcal{H}_n(X; L)$ vanishes on B.

By 16.8 this is equivalent to the following five conditions:

- 1. $B \subset X$ is closed.
- 2. X and B are clc_L^{∞} .
- 3. dim_L $X < \infty$.
- 4. The stalks $\mathscr{H}_p(X; L)_x$ are isomorphic to L for $x \in X B$ and p = n, and are zero otherwise.
- 5. The stalks $\mathscr{H}_p(B; L)_y$ are isomorphic to L for p = n 1 and are zero for $p \neq n 1$.

Also, it follows from 9.6 and II-Exercise 11 that $\dim_L X = n$. Note that an $n-cm_L$ with boundary is an $n-whm_L$.

16.24. Proposition. If X is hereditarily paracompact and X - B is orientable over L, then condition 5 follows from the other conditions.

Proof. By 9.2, $H_{n-p}^c(X, X - B) \approx H_p^p(B; \ell | B) = 0$ since $\ell | B = 0$. By 13.7, $H^*(X, X - B; L) = 0$. By II-16.10, 9.3, and the cohomology sequence of (X, X - B) and the coefficient sequence $0 \to L_{X-B} \to L \to L_B \to 0$ we have $H_p(B) \approx H^{n-p}(X, X - B; L_{X-B}) \approx H^{n-p-1}(X, X - B; L_B)$. By the exact sequence of the pair (X, X - B) with coefficients in L_B , this is isomorphic to $H^{n-p-1}(X; L_B) \approx H^{n-p-1}(B)$. These isomorphisms are natural, and so we have the natural isomorphism $H_p(B \cap U) \approx H^{n-p-1}(B \cap U)$ for U open. Taking the limit over neighborhoods U of $x \in B$ gives $\mathscr{H}_p(B)_x = 0$ for $p \neq n-1$ and $\mathscr{H}_{n-1}(B)_x \approx L$.

Remark: That orientability is needed for 16.24 is shown by the example of an open cone over \mathbb{RP}^2 with B the vertex and L a field of characteristic other than 2. We conjecture, however, that orientability is not needed if $L = \mathbb{Z}$.

16.25. Theorem. Let X and Y have common intersection $B = X \cap Y$ that is closed and nowhere dense in both X and Y. Then $X \cup Y$ is an n- cm_L and B is an (n-1)- $cm_L \Leftrightarrow both X$ and Y are n- cm_L 's with boundary B.

Proof. From a diagram using the Mayer-Vietoris sequence one sees easily from II-17.3 that if B is clc_L^{∞} then $X \cap Y$ are $clc_L^{\infty} \Leftrightarrow X$ and Y are clc_L^{∞} . From the first Mayer-Vietoris sequence of Exercise 9 one derives the Mayer-Vietoris exact sequence (coefficients in L)

$$\cdots \to \mathscr{H}_p(B) \to \mathscr{H}_p(X)|B \oplus \mathscr{H}_p(Y)|B \to \mathscr{H}_p(X \cup Y)|B \to \mathscr{H}_{p-1}(B) \to \cdots$$

of sheaves on B, and the \Leftarrow implication follows immediately from this by examining stalks at points of B. For the \Rightarrow portion, let W be a connected paracompact open neighborhood in $X \cup Y$ of any point in B. Then $W \cap X$ and $W \cap Y$ are nonempty proper closed subsets of W. By 16.16(a) we have that $H_n(W \cap X) = 0 = H_n(W \cap Y)$ and that $H_{n-1}(W \cap X)$ and $H_{n-1}(W \cap Y)$ are torsion-free. It follows that $\mathcal{H}_n(X)|B = 0 = \mathcal{H}_n(Y)|B$ and that $\mathcal{H}_{n-1}(X)|B$ and $\mathcal{H}_{n-1}(Y)|B$ are torsion-free. This again gives the result upon examination of the displayed sequence. \Box

16.26. Corollary. Let X be a connected, orientable $n-cm_L$ such that $H_1^c(X; L) = 0$ and let $B \subset X$ be a closed, connected $(n-1)-cm_L$. Assume either that $L = \mathbb{Z}$ or that B is orientable. Then X - B has two components U and V. Moreover, $\overline{U} = U \cup B$ is an $n-cm_L$ with orientable boundary B, and similarly with \overline{V} .

Proof. Since $H_c^{n-1}(X;L) \approx H_1^c(X;L) = 0$, the exact cohomology sequence of (X, B) has the segment

$$0 \to H^{n-1}_c(B;L) \to H^n_c(X-B;L) \to H^n_c(X;L) \to 0,$$

from which we deduce from 16.16(b, g) that X - B has exactly two components, say U and V (and that B is orientable in the case $L = \mathbb{Z}$). That $\overline{U} = U \cup B$ follows from 16.21, and the result then follows from 16.25. \Box

Remark: Even in the case n = 3 and $X = \mathbb{S}^3$ the Alexander horned sphere shows that \overline{U} need not be an actual 3-manifold with boundary. The standard embedding of \mathbb{RP}^2 in \mathbb{RP}^3 and $L = \mathbb{Z}_3$ shows that the condition " $L = \mathbb{Z}$ or B is orientable" is required.

16.27. Theorem. Let $B \subset X$ be closed and nowhere dense. Then X is an n-cm_L with boundary $B \Leftrightarrow$ the double $dX = X \cup_B X$ is an n-cm_L.

Proof. The \Rightarrow part follows immediately from the preceding result. For \Leftarrow , let Y denote a copy of X, let $T: X \cup Y \to X \cup Y$ be the map switching copies, let $i: X \hookrightarrow X \cup Y$ be the inclusion, and let $\pi: X \cup Y \to X$ be the

folding map. Then $\pi i: X \to X$ is the identity. Let U be a connected open neighborhood in $X \cup Y$ of some point in $B = X \cap Y$ that is invariant under T. Then the composition

$$H_p(U \cap X) \xrightarrow{\iota_*} H_p(U) \xrightarrow{\pi_*} H_p(U \cap X)$$

is the identity, and it induces maps of sheaves

$$\mathscr{H}_p(X)|B \to \mathscr{H}_p(X \cup Y)|B \to \mathscr{H}_p(X)|B$$

whose composition is the identity. It follows that $\mathscr{H}_p(X)|B = 0$ for $p \neq n$. But $H_n(U \cap X) = 0$ by 16.16(a). Thus $\mathscr{H}_p(X)|B = 0$ for all p. Then the Mayer-Vietoris sequence

$$\cdots \to \mathscr{H}_p(B) \to \mathscr{H}_p(X)|B \oplus \mathscr{H}_p(Y)|B \to \mathscr{H}_p(X \cup Y)|B \to \mathscr{H}_{p-1}(B) \to \cdots$$

shows that $\mathscr{H}_{n-1}(B) \approx \mathscr{H}_n(X \cup Y)|B$ is locally constant with stalks L and that $\mathscr{H}_p(B) = 0$ for $p \neq n-1$; that is, B is an (n-1)- cm_L . Hence X is an n- cm_L with boundary B by definition.

16.28. Proposition. Let $B \subset X$ be closed with both X and B being clc_L^{∞} . Then X is an n-cm_L with boundary $B \Leftrightarrow$ the sheaf $\overline{\emptyset} = \mathscr{H}_p(X, B; L)$ has stalks L for p = n and vanishes for $p \neq n$, and $\mathscr{H}_p(X; L)|B = 0$ for all p.

Proof. It follows from 16.8(d) that under either hypothesis, X - B is an $n-cm_L$. For an open set U of X we have the exact sequence

$$\cdots \to H_p(U) \to H_p(U, B \cap U) \to H_{p-1}(B \cap U) \to H_{p-1}(U) \to \cdots,$$

natural with respect to inclusions, and hence the exact sequence of sheaves

$$\cdots \to \mathscr{H}_p(X) \to \mathscr{H}_p(X, B) \to \mathscr{H}_{p-1}(B)^X \to \mathscr{H}_{p-1}(X) \to \cdots$$

yielding the isomorphism $\mathcal{H}_p(X, B)|B \approx \mathcal{H}_{p-1}(B)$. Thus the result follows from 16.8(d). \Box

16.29. Proposition. For an $n - cm_L X$ with boundary B and its orientation sheaves $\mathscr{O} = \mathscr{H}_n(X; L)$ and $\overline{\mathscr{O}} = \mathscr{H}_n(X, B; L)$, we have $\mathscr{O} \approx \overline{\mathscr{O}}_{X-B}$. Moreover, $\overline{\mathscr{O}}$ is locally constant on X with stalks L.

Proof. The first part is immediate. Let $X \cup Y$ be the double of X along B. Then similarly to the previous proof, there is the exact sequence

$$\cdots \to \mathscr{H}_p(Y)^{X \cup Y} \to \mathscr{H}_p(X \cup Y) \to \mathscr{H}_{p-1}(X \cup Y, Y) \to \mathscr{H}_{p-1}(Y)^{X \cup Y} \to \cdots$$

and by excision 5.10, $\mathscr{H}_p(X \cup Y, Y) \approx \mathscr{H}_p(X, B)^{X \cup Y}$. Since $\mathscr{H}_p(Y)^{X \cup Y}$ restricts to the zero sheaf on X, we have that $\mathscr{H}_p(X, B) \approx \mathscr{H}_p(X \cup Y) | X$. The latter sheaf is locally constant with stalks L by 16.8.

16.30. Theorem. Let X be an $n \cdot cm_L$ with boundary $A \cup B$ where A and B are closed and are $(n-1) \cdot cm_L$'s with common boundary $A \cap B$. Let $(\mathcal{M}, \Phi | A)$ be elementary on X, and assume that $\dim_{\Phi} X < \infty$.³⁷ Then³⁸

$$H^p_\Phi(X,A;\mathcal{M}\otimes\overline{\mathscr{O}})\approx H^\Phi_{n-p}(X,B;\mathcal{M}).$$

Proof. To simplify notation we shall give the proof in the case for which $\mathcal{M} = L$ and X is orientable, i.e., $\overline{\mathscr{O}} = L$. There is no difficulty in generalizing it. Note that $\mathscr{O} = L_{X-A-B}$ in this case.

Let $X^+ = X \cup_{B=B \times \{0\}} (B \times \mathbb{I})$, let B^+ be the image of $B \times \{1\}$, and put $X^\circ = X^+ - B^+$. Extend Φ to X^+ by adding the sets of the form $K \times \mathbb{I}$ and their subsets. (Similarly, extend \mathscr{M} in the general case.) We shall still call this extended family Φ . Put $A^+ = A \cup ((A \cap B) \times \mathbb{I})$, and similarly for A° . In the same manner as in previous proofs, one can show that X^+ is an $n-cm_L$ with boundary $A^+ \cup B^+$ and X° is an $n-cm_L$ with boundary A° and orientation sheaf $L_{X^\circ - A^\circ}$. Consider the following diagram (coefficients in L when omitted):

$$H^{p}_{\Phi}(X; L_{X-A}) \stackrel{\approx}{\leftarrow} H^{p}_{\Phi}(X^{\circ}; L_{X^{\circ}-A^{\circ}}) \stackrel{\approx}{\to} H^{\Phi\cap X^{\circ}}_{n-p}(X^{\circ}) \approx H^{\Phi}_{n-p}(X^{+}, B^{+})$$

$$\downarrow^{i^{*}} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{j_{*}}$$

$$H^{p}_{\Phi\cap(X-B)}(X-B; L_{X-B-A}) \stackrel{\approx}{\to} H^{\Phi\cap(X-B)}_{n-p}(X-B) \approx H^{\Phi}_{n-p}(X, B),$$

which commutes. (The isomorphism on the upper left is a consequence of invariance of cohomology under proper homotopies.) Now, via the isomorphisms on the right (from 5.10), the map j_* is the composition

$$H^{\Phi}_{n-p}(X^+, B^+) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^{\Phi}_{n-p}(X^+, B \times \mathbb{I}) \xleftarrow{\approx} H^{\Phi}_{n-p}(X, B)$$

(these maps are isomorphisms due to invariance of homology under c-proper homotopies) and hence is an isomorphism. The required isomorphism is then just the composition from the upper left to the lower right. \Box

The typical case of interest of 16.30 is the product $(M, \partial M) \times (N, \partial N)$ of two orientable manifolds (or *cm*'s) with boundary and $A = \partial M \times N$, $B = M \times \partial N$. Thus, with $m = \dim_L M$ and $n = \dim_L N$, one gets the isomorphism

$$H^p_\Phi((M,\partial M)\times N;L)\approx H^\Phi_{m+n-p}(M\times (N,\partial N);L)$$

when Φ is paracompactifying or when $M \times N$ is locally hereditarily paracompact.

The first term on the bottom of the diagram in the proof of 16.30 and the commutativity of the diagram were not used in the proof. However,

³⁷E.g., Φ paracompactifying, or X locally hereditarily paracompact.

³⁸See [19, p. 358] for a classical account of this version of duality.

the composition

$$H^p_{\Phi}(X; L_{X-A}) \xleftarrow{\approx} H^p_{\Phi}(X^\circ; L_{X^\circ - A^\circ}) \xrightarrow{i^*} H^p_{\Phi \cap (X-B)}(X-B; L_{X-B-A})$$

is just the restriction homomorphism for the inclusion $X - B \hookrightarrow X$, and so in the case $A = \emptyset$ we also conclude the following result from the commutativity of the diagram:

16.31. Proposition. Let X be an $n-cm_L$ with boundary B. Assume that $\dim_{\Phi} X < \infty$ and $\dim_{\Phi \cap (X-B)} X - B < \infty$.³⁹ Then for \mathcal{M} an elementary sheaf on X and an arbitrary family of supports Φ on X, the restriction

$$H^p_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{M}) \to H^p_{\Phi\cap(X-B)}(X-B;\mathscr{M})$$

is an isomorphism for all p. Also see [68].

An example of a 3-cm with boundary that is not a manifold is the closure M of one of the components of the complement of an Alexander horned sphere B in 3-space. In this case there is no internal collar of the bounding 2-sphere. An example of a 3-cm without boundary that is not a manifold is the quotient space M/B, as follows from 16.35. An example of a 1-cm that is not a manifold is the double of a compactified long line. However, separable metric n-cm_L's are manifolds for $n \leq 2$ and any L, as we now show.

16.32. Theorem. If X is a second countable $n-hm_L$, with or without boundary, and $n \leq 2$, then X is a topological n-manifold.

Proof. Since X is completely regular and second countable, it is separable metrizable by the Urysohn metrization theorem; see [19, I-9.11]. Also, X is an $n-hm_K$ for K = L/pL for any prime p in L, and so it suffices to consider the case in which L is a *field*. Then by 16.13, X is clc_L . In particular, X is locally connected. A locally compact and locally connected metric space is locally arcwise connected in the sense that an "arc" is a *homeomorphic* image of [0, 1]; see [47, p. 116].

In case n = 0, X is totally disconnected by II-16.21. Since it is locally connected, it is discrete, proving that case.

In case n = 1, first assume that $\partial X = \emptyset$. By 16.21 any point $x \in X$ has a connected neighborhood U with $U - \{x\}$ disconnected. Let $a, b \in U - \{x\}$ be points from different components. Then there is an arc A in U joining a and b. By invariance of domain 16.19, $A - \{a, b\}$ is open in X, so that X is locally euclidean near x, proving that case. The case in which X has a boundary can be verified by looking at the double of X. The details of that argument are left to the reader.

For the case n = 2, we must use the topological characterization of 2manifolds with boundary due to G. S. Young [87]. This says that a locally

³⁹E.g., Φ paracompactifying and X - B paracompact.

compact metric space X for which each point has a connected neighborhood U such that U - C is disconnected for all simple closed curves C in U, is a 2-manifold, possibly with boundary. Consider first the case in which $\partial X = \emptyset$. Then the last part of 16.21 shows that X satisfies Young's criterion. Since the sheaf $\mathscr{H}_n(X; L)$ vanishes on the boundary of an n-manifold, the topological manifold notion of boundary coincides with that defined for homology manifolds. Now consider the case in which $B = \partial X \neq \emptyset$. Let $X \cup Y$ be the double of X along B. Let $x \in B$ and let U be a symmetric neighborhood of x in $X \cup Y$ such that $U \cap X$ is connected and with U not containing any component of B (which we now know to be a 1-manifold). Also, take U so small that U is disconnected by all simple closed curves $C \subset U$. Then note that

$$U-C = (U \cap X - C) \cup (U \cap (Y - B)).$$

Now, $U \cap (Y - B)$ is connected since $H^0(U \cap Y; L) \to H^0(U \cap (Y - B); L)$ is an isomorphism by 16.31. Also, the closure of $U \cap (Y - B)$ intersects $U \cap X - C$ nontrivially, since otherwise C would be a component of B, contrary to the selection of U as not containing a component of B. Thus, since U - C is disconnected, $U \cap X - C$ must be disconnected. This shows that X satisfies Young's criterion.⁴⁰

16.33. Theorem. (Wilder's monotone mapping theorem.) Let X be an $n-hm_L$. Assume either that X is orientable or that $L = \mathbb{Z}$. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a Vietoris map (i.e., proper, surjective, and with acyclic point inverses). Then Y is also an $n-hm_L$, which is orientable if X is orientable. Also, Y is clc_L^{∞} (and hence is an $n-cm_L$) if X is clc_L^{∞} .

Proof. The hypothesis implies that f is proper and that the Leray sheaf $\mathscr{H}^p(f;L)$ is L for p = 0 and vanishes otherwise. We shall prove the last statement first. For $U \subset Y$ open and with $U^{\bullet} = f^{-1}U$, the Leray spectral sequence degenerates to the natural isomorphism $H^p_c(U;L) \approx H^p_c(U^{\bullet};L)$. If U and V are open with $\overline{U} \subset V$, then $\overline{U^{\bullet}} \subset V^{\bullet}$. Therefore if X is clc^{∞}_L , then by II-17.5, $H^p_c(U^{\bullet};L) \to H^p_c(V^{\bullet};L)$ has finitely generated image. Hence $H^p_c(U;L) \to H^p_c(V;L)$ has finitely generated image for all p, which means that Y is clc^{∞}_L by II-17.5.

Now assume that X is orientable. Note that a point in a locally compact Hausdorff space has a fundamental system of open paracompact neighborhoods U (e.g., the union of an increasing sequence of compact neighborhoods). Since f is proper, U^{\bullet} is also paracompact. Now $\mathscr{H}_p(f;L) = \mathscr{H}p(U^{\bullet};L) \approx H^{n-p}(U^{\bullet};L)) \approx \mathscr{H}^{n-p}(f;L)$. Thus we have

$$\begin{split} \mathscr{H}_p(Y;L) &\approx \ \mathscr{H}_p(f;L) & \text{by (48) on page 323} \\ &\approx \ \mathscr{H}^{n-p}(f;L) & \text{since } X \text{ is orientable} \\ &\approx \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} L, & p=n \\ 0, & p \neq n \end{array} \right. & \text{since } f \text{ is a Vietoris map,} \end{split}$$

 40 Another treatment of these matters can be found in [85].

which means that Y is an $n-hm_L$ as claimed.

Now assume X to be nonorientable and that $L = \mathbb{Z}$. Let $y \in Y$, and put $F = f^{-1}(y)$. We claim that \mathscr{O} is constant on F. If not, then the units in the stalks give a nontrivial double covering space of F, so that $H^1(F; \mathbb{Z}_2) \neq 0$ by II-19.6. This contradicts the universal coefficient theorem II-15.3. Now, \mathscr{O} must be constant on some open neighborhood of $F = f^{-1}(y)$ by II-9.5, and this neighborhood can be taken to be of the form $U^{\bullet} = f^{-1}U$, U open. Then U^{\bullet} is orientable, and so U is an $n - hm_{\mathbb{Z}}$ by the part of the theorem previously proved.

This result would be false for L a field of characteristic other than 2 and X nonorientable, as shown by the map of \mathbb{RP}^2 to a point. Of course, it is only the dimension of Y that goes wrong here. A more convincing example is given by $X = \mathbb{RP}^2 \times \mathbb{R}$ and $Y = (-\infty, 0] \cup \mathbb{RP}^2 \times (0, \infty)$, where $f: X \to Y$ is the obvious map and Y is given the quotient topology. Here f is a Vietoris map over fields L of characteristic other than 2, but Y fails to be an hm_L for any L and even fails to have a uniform dimension over L.

As an example of the use of 16.33, the identification space \mathbb{R}^3/A is a 3- $cm_{\mathbb{Z}}$, where A is a wild arc. Note that if x is the identification point, then $U - \{x\}$ is not simply connected for any neighborhood U of x in this 3- $cm_{\mathbb{Z}}$.

In Section 18 we shall present a considerable generalization of 16.33.

16.34. Corollary. Let X be an $n-cm_L$, and assume either that X is orientable or that $L = \mathbb{Z}$. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a Vietoris map. Then the mapping cylinder M_f is an $(n+1)-cm_L$ with boundary X + Y.

Proof. The obvious map $X \times \mathbb{S}^1 \to dM_f$ of the double of $X \times \mathbb{I}$ to the double of M_f is a Vietoris map, and so dM_f is an (n+1)- cm_L by 16.33. Thus M_f is an (n+1)- cm_L with boundary by 16.27.

16.35. Corollary. Let X be an $n - cm_L$ with boundary and let B be a compact component of the boundary such that $H_*(B; L) \approx H_*(\mathbb{S}^{n-1}; L)$. Then the quotient space X/B is an $n - cm_L$ with boundary being the image of $\partial X - B$.

Proof. The boundary component *B* is orientable by 16.16(f), and it follows that *M* is orientable in a neighborhood of *B*. If *M* is the union of *X* with the cone *CB* on *B*, then *M* is an $n\text{-}cm_L$ by 16.9 (or 5.10) and 16.25. Also $X/B \approx M/CB$. Since the map $M \to M/CB$ is Vietoris, the result follows from 16.33.

16.36. We conclude this section with a short discussion of compactifications of generalized manifolds. Let U be a connected $n-hm_L$. By a *compactification* of U we mean a compact space X containing U as a dense

subspace and such that F = X - U is totally disconnected. It is the *endpoint compactification* of U if, in addition, F does not disconnect X locally near any point; see Raymond [69], on which this discussion is largely based.

16.37. Theorem. Suppose that X is a compactification of the n-hm_L U. Then $\Gamma(\mathscr{H}_r(X;L)) \approx H_r(X,U;L)$ for r < n. Moreover, for r < n, $\mathscr{H}_r(X;L) = 0 \Leftrightarrow H_r(X,U;L) = 0$.

Proof. By II-Exercise 11, $\dim_L X = n$. Let F = X - U. By 8.4, there is a spectral sequence with

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p(F; \mathscr{H}_{-q}(X; L)|F) \Longrightarrow H_{-p-q}(X, U; L).$$

Since F is totally disconnected, this reduces to the isomorphism

$$\Gamma(\mathscr{H}_r(X;L)|F) \approx H_r(X,U;L).$$

For r < n, $\mathscr{H}_r(X; L)$ is concentrated on F, so that

$$\Gamma(\mathscr{H}_r(X;L)) \approx \Gamma(\mathscr{H}_r(X;L)|F).$$

The last statement follows from II-Exercise 61.

16.38. Lemma. Let X be the end-point compactification of the connected n-cm_L U, n > 1. If U is orientable in the neighborhood of each point of X, then $\mathscr{O} = \mathscr{H}_n(X; L)$ is locally constant with stalks L. If X is hlc_L^1 , then $\mathscr{H}_1(X; L) = 0 = \mathscr{H}_0(X; L)$.

Proof. Suppose that V is an open connected subset of X with $U \cap V$ orientable. If W is a connected open subset of V, then W - F is connected and $H_c^n(W - F; L) \to H_c^n(W; L)$ is an isomorphism. By 16.16, $H_c^n(W - F; L) \to H_c^n(V \cap U; L) \approx L$ is an isomorphism, whence $H_c^n(W; L) \xrightarrow{\simeq} H^n(V; L) \approx L$. It follows that $\emptyset | V$ is constant with stalks L.

Now assume, instead, that X is hlc_L^1 . Then a point $x \in X$ has a connected open neighborhood V so small that $H_1^c(V; L) \to H_1^c(X; L)$ is zero. Since $V - \{x\}$ and $X - \{x\}$ are connected and locally connected, we have that $\tilde{H}_0^c(V - \{x\}; L) = 0 = \tilde{H}_0^c(X - \{x\}; L)$ by 5.14. Therefore we have the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{rcl} H_1^c(V;L) & \to & H_1^c(V,V-\{x\};L) & \to & 0 \\ & & & & \downarrow \approx \\ H_1^c(X;L) & \to & H_1^c(X,X-\{x\};L) & \to & 0, \end{array}$$

where the vertical isomorphism is due to excision. It follows that

$$\mathscr{H}_1(X;L)_x \approx H_1^c(X,X-\{x\};L) = 0.$$

A similar but easier argument shows that $\mathcal{H}_0(X; L) = 0$.

391

16.39. Theorem. Let X be the end-point compactification of the connected $n-cm_L U$, n > 1, that is orientable in the neighborhood of each point of X. Then the following three conditions are equivalent:⁴¹

- (a) X is an $n-cm_L$.
- (b) $H^*(X;L)$ is finitely generated and $H_r(X,U;L) = 0$ for all 1 < r < n.
- (c) $H^*(X; L)$ is finitely generated and

 $[X] \cap (\bullet) : H^r(X; \mathscr{O}) \to H_{n-r}(X; L)$

is an isomorphism for all 0 < r < n.

Proof. By II-17.15, X is $clc_L \Leftrightarrow H^*(X;L)$ is finitely generated. This gives (a) \Leftrightarrow (b) by 16.37 and 16.38. The basic spectral sequence

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p(X; \mathscr{H}_{-q}(X; L)) \Longrightarrow H_{-p-q}(X; L)$$

has $E_2^{0,-q} = \Gamma(\mathscr{H}_q(X;L)) \approx H_q(X,U;L)$ for q < n by 16.38. Also, $E_2^{p,-n} \approx H^p(X; \mathscr{O})$. All other terms are zero. By 10.2, and the proof of 10.1, the edge homomorphism

$$H^p(X; \mathscr{O}) = E_2^{p, -n} \twoheadrightarrow E_{\infty}^{p, -n} \rightarrowtail H_{n-p}(X)$$

is the cap product $[X] \cap (\bullet)$ with $[X] = \Delta(1) \in H_n(X; \mathscr{O}^{-1})$, up to sign. Thus the latter is an isomorphism for 0 for <math>1 < q < n, since $E_2^{0,-1} \approx H_1(X, U) = 0$ by 16.38. Hence (b) \Leftrightarrow (c). \Box

Remark: As noted by Raymond [69, 4.12], the example of $U = \mathbb{RP}^2 \times \mathbb{R}$, $X = \Sigma \mathbb{RP}^2$, and L a field of characteristic other than 2 shows that the hypothesis of orientability of U near points of X is essential in 16.39.

17 Locally homogeneous spaces

A (locally compact, Hausdorff) space X is called "locally homogeneous" if for every pair $x, y \in X$ there is a homeomorphism h of some neighborhood of x onto a neighborhood of y with h(x) = y; see [4] and [29]. Bing and Borsuk [4] have asked whether every locally contractible, locally homogeneous, finite dimensional, separable metric space is a generalized manifold (or, indeed, a topological manifold). A partial result in this direction follows immediately from 16.15:

17.1. Theorem. [14] Suppose that X is second countable, that $\dim_L X < \infty$, that X is locally homogeneous, and that $H_i(X, X - \{x\}; L)$ is finitely generated for each i. Then X is an n-hm_L for some n. \Box

⁴¹Raymond's Theorem 4.5 in [69] is equivalent to the present (a) \Leftrightarrow (b) by the exact sequence of his Theorem 2.16, which is the homological analogue of the second exact sequence of our II-18.2.

§17. Locally homogeneous spaces

The problem with this result is the condition that $H_i(X, X - \{x\}; L)$ be finitely generated. This is a very strong condition that does not follow from any reasonable set-theoretic properties that we are aware of. For instance, local contractibility does not imply it. It would be nice if this condition could be replaced by condition clc_L , for example. We shall prove such a result under a stronger type of local homogeneity:

17.2. Definition. A space X will be called "locally isotopic" if X is locally arcwise connected and for each path $\lambda : \mathbb{I} \to X$ there is a neighborhood N of $\lambda(0)$ in X and a map $\Lambda : \mathbb{I} \times N \to X$ such that $\Lambda(t, \lambda(0)) = \lambda(t)$ and such that each Λ^t is a homeomorphism of N onto a neighborhood of $\lambda(t)$, where $\Lambda^t(x) = \Lambda(t, x)$. [With no loss of generality we may also assume that $\Lambda(0, x) = x$ for all $x \in N$.]

This condition is slightly stronger than the notion of local homogeneity defined by Montgomery [61]. It is weaker than that defined by Hu [48], which coincides with the condition 1-LH of Ungar [81].

Throughout the remainder of this section we shall impose the standing assumption that X is locally compact, Hausdorff, second countable and clc_L^{∞} , and that L is a *countable* principal ideal domain.

17.3. Lemma. If X is also locally homogeneous, then the homology sheaf $\mathcal{H}_{p}(X; L)$ is a Hausdorff space.

Proof. Let $\{V_i\}$ be a countable basis for the topology of X. For any $x \in X$ and $\alpha \in \mathscr{H}_p(X)_x$, there are indices i, j with $x \in V_j, \overline{V}_j \subset V_i$, and such that α is in the image of the canonical map $r_{x,j,i}^* : \operatorname{Im}(H_p(V_i) \to H_p(V_j)) \to \mathscr{H}_p(X)_x$. Since X is clc_L^∞ , $\operatorname{Im}(H_p(V_i) \to H_p(V_j))$ is finitely generated, whence it is countable because L is countable. For $s_n \in \operatorname{Im}(H_p(V_i) \to H_p(V_j))$ the definition $\sigma_n(x) = r_{x,j,i}^*(s_n)$ gives a section $\sigma_n \in \Gamma(\mathscr{H}_p(U_n))$, where $U_n = V_j$. Therefore $\mathscr{H}_p(X)$ is covered by the countable collection $\{\sigma_n\}$ of local sections. Put $A_n = |\sigma_n|$ and $C_n = (\partial U_n) \cup (\partial A_n)$. By the Baire category theorem, there is a point x not in any C_n . Each point of the stalk $\mathscr{H}_p(X)_x$ has the form $\sigma_n(x)$ for some n. If $\sigma_n(x) \neq 0$, then since $x \in A_n - \partial A_n$, σ_n is nonzero on some neighborhood of x. By the group structure this implies that any two points of $\mathscr{H}_p(X)_x$ can be separated by open sets in $\mathscr{H}_p(X)$. Since X is locally homogeneous, this is true at all points of X.

17.4. Lemma. Suppose that X is also locally isotopic. Then the projection $\pi : \mathscr{H}_{p}(X; L) \to X$ has the path-lifting property.

Proof. Let $\lambda : \mathbb{I} \to X$ be any path and let $\alpha \in H_p^c(X, X - \lambda(0)) = \mathscr{H}_p(X)_{\lambda(0)}$ be given. Let N be a compact neighborhood of $\lambda(0)$ so small that $\Lambda : \mathbb{I} \times N \to X$ exists as in Definition 17.2. For $t \in \mathbb{I}$, Λ^t is a

homeomorphism of $(N, N - \lambda(0))$ onto $(N_t, N_t - \lambda(t))$, where $N_t = \Lambda^t(N)$ is a neighborhood of $\lambda(t)$. Thus

$$\Lambda^t_*: H^c_p(N, N - \lambda(0)) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^c_p(N_t, N_t - \lambda(t)),$$

and we put

$$\alpha_t = \Lambda^t_*(\alpha) \in \mathscr{H}_p(X)_{\lambda(t)}.$$

We must show that $t \mapsto \alpha_t$ is continuous. For this, let $U \subset N$ be an open neighborhood of $\lambda(0)$ so small that α is the image of an element $\beta \in H_p^c(N, N - U)$. Put $U_t = \Lambda^t(U)$ and $\beta_t = \Lambda_*^t(\beta) \in H_p^c(N_t, N_t - U_t)$. Let $s \in \mathbb{I}$ be given and let V be a neighborhood of $\lambda(s)$ so small that for some $\varepsilon > 0$, $V \subset U_t$ for all $s - \varepsilon < t < s + \varepsilon$. By homotopy invariance 6.5, β_t maps to the same element $\gamma \in H_p^c(X, X - V) = H_p(V)$ for all $t \in (s - \varepsilon, s + \varepsilon)$. Thus γ defines a section of $\mathcal{H}_p(X)$ over V whose value at $\lambda(t)$ is α_t for $s - \varepsilon < t < s + \varepsilon$, and this shows that α_t is continuous in t. Since π is a local homeomorphism, the path lifting is unique.

Since a fibration with unique path lifting over a semilocally 1-connected space is a covering map [75, p. 78], we have:

17.5. Corollary. If X is semilocally 1-connected and locally isotopic in addition to the standing assumptions, then each $\mathscr{H}_p(X; L)$ is locally constant.

From 16.1 and 16.3 we conclude:

17.6. Theorem. [14] Let L be a countable principal ideal domain. Let X be second countable, semilocally 1-connected, and locally isotopic. Assume further that $n = \dim_L X < \infty$ and that X is connected and locally connected. If L is a field, then X is an n-cm_L. If L is arbitrary and X is clc_L^{∞} , then X is an n-cm_L.

18 Homological fibrations and *p*-adic transformation groups

The major unsolved question in the theory of continuous (as opposed to differentiable) transformation groups on topological manifolds is whether a compact group acting effectively on a manifold must necessarily be a Lie group. It is known that a counterexample to this would imply that some p-adic group

$$A_p = \varprojlim \{ \cdots \to \mathbb{Z}_{p^3} \to \mathbb{Z}_{p^2} \to \mathbb{Z}_p \},\$$

p prime, can also act effectively on a manifold.⁴² In one direction, it is even unknown whether such a group A_p can act *freely*. (It might be expected

 $^{^{42}}$ This follows from the known structure of compact groups together with Newman's Theorem [15, p. 156], stating that a finite group cannot act effectively on a manifold with uniformly small orbits.

that an effective action would imply a free one on some open subspace, but no one has been able to prove that either.) In this section we will present much of what is known about the homological implications of the existence of such an action. First we will study the notion of a homological fibration.

18.1. Definition. [11] A "cohomology fiber space" over L (abbreviated cfs_L) is a proper map $f: X \to Y$ between locally compact Hausdorff spaces X and Y such that the Leray sheaf $\mathcal{H}^i(f; L)$ is locally constant for all i. We shall call it a cfs_L^k if $\mathcal{H}^i(f; L) = 0$ for i > k and $\mathcal{H}^k(f; L) \neq 0$. In this case we denote the common stalk of $\mathcal{H}^i(f; L)$ by $H^i(F)$.

18.2. Proposition. [11] Suppose that $f: X \to Y$ is a cfs_L^k , and assume that $\dim_L X = n < \infty$. If L is a field, then $\dim_L Y \le n - k$. If L is any principal ideal domain, then $\dim_L Y \le n + 1$.

Proof. We may as well assume that $\mathscr{H}^i(f; L)$ is the constant sheaf $H^i(F)$. Let L be a field. Let $y \in Y$. For $U \subset Y$ open, consider the Leray spectral sequence

$$E_2^{p,q}(U) = H^p(U; H^q(F)) \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}(U^{\bullet})$$

(and also its analogue with compact supports) with coefficients in L, where $U^{\bullet} = f^{-1}(U)$. Let $0 \neq a \in H^k(F)$. Since $H^k(F) = \lim_{t \to T} H^k(V^{\bullet})$, there is a neighborhood V of y and an element $a_V \in H^k(V^{\bullet})$ extending a. For $U \subset V$ connected, let $a_U \in H^k(U^{\bullet})$ be the restriction of a_V and let $\alpha \in E_2^{0,k} = H^0(U; H^k(F))$ be the image of a_U under the edge homomorphism $H^k(U^{\bullet}) \twoheadrightarrow E_{\infty}^{0,k} \to E_2^{0,k}$. Then $\alpha \neq 0$ is a permanent cocycle. Let $0 \neq \beta \in H_c^r(U; H^0(F)) = E_2^{r,0}$. Then β is trivially a permanent cocycle, and so $\alpha \cup \beta \in E_2^{r,k}$ is a permanent cocycle since $d_r(\alpha \cup \beta) = d_r \alpha \cup \beta \pm \alpha \cup d_r \beta = 0$. Also, $\alpha \cup \beta \neq 0$ by II-7.4. Therefore $H_c^{r+k}(U^{\bullet}) \neq 0$, and so $r + k \leq n$. Consequently, $H_c^r(U; H^0(F)) = 0$ for r > n - k. Since $H^0(F)$ is a free L-module, the composition $L \to H^0(F) \to L$ of coefficient groups implies that $H_c^r(U; L) = 0$ for r > n - k. Therefore $\dim_L U \leq n - k$ by II-16.14, and $\dim_L Y \leq n - k$ by II-16.8. The case of a general principal ideal domain L follows from an easy universal coefficient argument.

18.3. Proposition. [11][36] Suppose that $f: X \to Y$ is a cfs_L such that each $\mathscr{H}^i(f; L)$ has finitely generated stalks for $i \leq k$. If X is clc_L^k , then Y is also clc_L^k .⁴³

Proof. We may as well assume that each $\mathscr{H}^i(f; L)$ is constant for $i \leq k$. Let $A, B \subset Y$ be compact sets with $A \subset \operatorname{int} B$. If Y is not clc_L^k , then by II-17.5 there is a *minimal* integer $m \leq k$ such that there are such sets A, B with the image of the restriction $H^m(B; L) \to H^m(A; L)$ not being finitely

⁴³The proof uses only that the sheaves $\mathscr{H}^i(f; L)$ are locally constant for $i \leq k$ rather than the full cfs_L condition.

generated. From the universal coefficient sequence and II-17.3, it follows that $E_2^{p,q}(B') = H^p(B'; H^q(F)) \to H^p(A'; H^q(F)) = E_2^{p,q}(A')$ has finitely generated image for all $p \leq m-2$, $q \leq k$ and all such pairs A', B'. Let K be compact and such that $A \subset \operatorname{int} K$ and $K \subset \operatorname{int} B$. Then by the diagram

$$E_{2}^{m,0}(B) \to E_{3}^{m,0}(B)$$

$$\downarrow^{f} \qquad \downarrow^{h}$$

$$E_{2}^{m-2,1}(K) \to E_{2}^{m,0}(K) \to E_{3}^{m,0}(K)$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \downarrow^{g}$$

$$E_{2}^{m-2,1}(A) \to E_{2}^{m,0}(A)$$

and II-17.3 it follows that Im h is not finitely generated. Continuing this way, we see that there is such a K such that the image of $E^{m,0}_{\infty}(B) \to E^{m,0}_{\infty}(K)$ is not finitely generated. It follows that the image of $H^m(B^{\bullet}) \to H^m(K^{\bullet})$ is not finitely generated, contrary to II-17.5.

18.4. Lemma. Suppose that $f : X \to Y$ is a cfs_L^k with each $\mathscr{H}^i(f; L)$ constant, where L is a field. Then for U open in Y there is a spectral sequence of homological type⁴⁴ with

$$E^2_{p,q} = \operatorname{Hom}(H^q(F), H_p(U)) \Longrightarrow H_{p+q}(U^{\bullet})$$

and that is natural in U. Consequently, there is a spectral sequence of sheaves with

$$\mathscr{E}_{p,q}^2 = \operatorname{Hom}(H^q(F), \mathscr{H}_p(Y)) \Longrightarrow \mathscr{H}_{p+q}(f).$$

(Coefficients in L are omitted.) Also, the stalks satisfy

$$\operatorname{Hom}(H^q(F), \operatorname{H}_p(Y))_y \approx \operatorname{Hom}(H^q(F), \operatorname{H}_p(Y)_y).$$

Proof. In the Leray spectral sequence

$$E_2^{p,q} = H_c^p(U; H^q(F)) \Longrightarrow H_c^{p+q}(U^{\bullet})$$

we have $H^p_c(U; H^q(F)) \approx H^p_c(U) \otimes H^q(F)$ since L is a field. Also, $\operatorname{Hom}(\bullet, L)$ is exact, and so if we apply it to the spectral sequence and adjust indices, we get a homological spectral sequence with

$$\begin{split} E^2_{p,q} &= \operatorname{Hom}(H^p_c(U) \otimes H^q(F), L) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(H^q(F), \operatorname{Hom}(H^p_c(U), L)) \\ &\approx \operatorname{Hom}(H^q(F), H_p(U)) \end{split}$$

and converging to $\operatorname{Hom}(H_c^{p+q}(U^{\bullet}), L) \approx H_{p+q}(U^{\bullet})$. The last statement is from the fact that $\operatorname{Hom}(\bullet, \bullet)$ commutes with direct limits in the second variable.

⁴⁴This means that $d_r: E_{p,q}^r \to E_{p-r,q+r-1}^r$.

18.5. Theorem. [11] Suppose that $f: X \to Y$ is a cfs_L^k , and assume that X is an orientable $n-hm_L$, where L is a field. Then Y is an $(n-k)-hm_L$. Also, Y is orientable if each $\mathcal{H}^i(f; L)$ is constant. Moreover, each $H^i(F; L)$ is finitely generated, and $H^i(F; L) \approx H^{k-i}(F; L)$ for all i.

Proof. We may as well assume that the Leray sheaf of f is constant. As in the proof of 16.33, we have that $\mathcal{H}_i(f) \approx \mathcal{H}^{n-i}(f)$. By assumption, this vanishes for n-i > k, that is, for i < n-k. It also vanishes, trivially, for n-i < 0, that is, i > n. Let $m = \min\{p \mid \mathcal{H}_p(Y) \neq 0\}$ and $M = \max\{p \mid \mathcal{H}_p(Y) \neq 0\}$. Then, since L is a field and $H^k(F) \neq 0 \neq H^0(F)$, the terms $\mathscr{E}^2_{m,0}$ and $\mathscr{E}^2_{M,k}$ are nonzero and survive to $\mathscr{E}^{\infty, 45}_{*,*}$. Therefore, $m \ge n-k$ and $M+k \le n$, whence m = M = n-k. Thus $\mathscr{H}_p(Y) = 0$ for $p \ne n-k$, and the spectral sequence degenerates to the isomorphism

$$\mathcal{H}om(H^q(F),\mathcal{H}_{n-k}(Y))\approx \mathcal{H}_{n-k+q}(f)\approx \mathcal{H}^{k-q}(f)=H^{k-q}(F).$$

It follows that $\mathscr{H}_{n-k}(Y)$ is constant. Call its common stalk S. Then we deduce that

$$\operatorname{Hom}(H^{q}(F), S) \approx H^{k-q}(F).$$
(119)

In particular

$$\operatorname{Hom}(H^0(F), S) \approx H^k(F)$$
 and $\operatorname{Hom}(H^k(F), S) \approx H^0(F)$,

which implies that rank $H^0(F)$ · rank $S = \operatorname{rank} H^k(F)$ and rank $H^k(F)$ · rank $S = \operatorname{rank} H^0(F)$ and that all these ranks are finite. Thus rank S = 1 and $H^q(F) \approx H^{k-q}(F)$ by (119).⁴⁶

Remark: Orientability is needed in 18.5, as is shown by the orbit map of an action of \mathbb{S}^1 on a Klein bottle. This is a cfs_L^1 for any field L with $char(L) \neq 2$. The orbit space is an interval [0, 1]. Also, see the examples below 16.33.

A little work with the universal coefficient theorem yields a corresponding result over the integers:

18.6. Corollary. [11] Suppose that $f: X \to Y$ is a $cfs_{\mathbb{Z}}^k$, and assume that X is an orientable $n-hm_{\mathbb{Z}}$ and that the Leray sheaves $\mathscr{H}^i(f;\mathbb{Z})$ have finitely generated stalks. Then Y is an $(n-k)-hm_{\mathbb{Z}}$ and $H^k(F;\mathbb{Z}) \approx H^0(F;\mathbb{Z})$. Moreover, Y is orientable if each $\mathscr{H}^i(f;\mathbb{Z})$ is constant.⁴⁷

18.7. Let us now turn to actions of the *p*-adic group A_p on generalized manifolds. There is the *p*-adic solenoid Σ_p , which is the inverse limit of circle groups $\cdots \to \mathbb{S}^1 \to \mathbb{S}^1$, where all the maps are the *p*-fold covering maps. Then $A_p \subset \Sigma_p$ are compact topological groups and $\Sigma_p/A_p \approx \mathbb{S}^1$. Continuity implies that

$$H^1(\Sigma_p;\mathbb{Z}) \approx Q_p,$$

⁴⁵Look at the spectral sequence restricted to any stalk.

⁴⁶Another proof can be based on Exercise 38.

⁴⁷Also see Exercise 39.

the group of rational numbers whose denominators are powers of p. Also,

$$H^{1}(\Sigma_{p}; \mathbb{Q}) \approx \mathbb{Q}, H^{1}(\Sigma_{p}; \mathbb{Z}_{p}) \approx 0, H^{1}(\Sigma_{p}; \mathbb{Z}_{q}) \approx \mathbb{Z}_{q}$$

for any prime $q \neq p$. All cohomology vanishes above dimension 1.

Now suppose that A_p acts freely on an orientable $n-hm_L M^n$. We shall assume that A_p preserves orientation; this is no loss of generality in studying the local properties of the orbit space since for L a prime field or \mathbb{Z} (so that $\operatorname{Aut}(L)$ is finite) there is a subgroup of finite index in A_p that does preserve orientation. Let

$$N^{n+1} = \Sigma_p \times_{A_n} M^n$$

with the notation of IV-9. Then N^{n+1} is a bundle over $\mathbb{S}^1 = \Sigma_p / A_p$ with fiber M^n , and so N^{n+1} is an (n+1)- hm_L . Moreover, Σ_p acts freely on N^{n+1} and $N^{n+1}/\Sigma_p \approx M^n/A_p$. Now, Σ_p is a compact connected group, and so it operates trivially on the cohomology of N^{n+1} by II-11.11. (This is the primary reason for making this construction here.)

The orbit map

$$f: N^{n+1} \to N^{n+1} / \Sigma_p \approx M^n / A_p$$

is a Vietoris map when $L = \mathbb{Z}_p$, and so we conclude from 16.33 that

$$M^n/A_p$$
 is an $(n+1)$ - hm_L if $L = \mathbb{Z}_p$.

18.8. Lemma. In the above situation the Leray sheaf $\mathscr{H}^{s}(f; L)$ is constant with stalks $H^{s}(\Sigma_{p}; L)$ for any L.

Proof. Let $\pi_i: \Sigma_p \to \mathbb{S}^1$ be the *i*th map in the inverse system defining Σ_p . Let $K_i = \operatorname{Ker} \pi_i$ and let $f_i: N^{n+1}/K_i \to N^{n+1}/\Sigma_p$ be the orbit map of $\Sigma_p/K_i \approx \mathbb{S}^1$. For $U \subset N^{n+1}/\Sigma_p$ open with \overline{U} compact, $\overline{U}^{\bullet} = f^{-1}(\overline{U}) = \lim_{i \to i} f_i^{-1}(\overline{U})$, and so $H^s(\overline{U}; L) \approx \lim_{i \to i} H^s(f_i^{-1}(\overline{U}); L)$ by continuity. Since the presheaf $U \mapsto H^s(f_i^{-1}(\overline{U}); L)$ generates the Leray sheaf $\mathscr{H}^s(f_i; L)$, we conclude that $\mathscr{H}^s(f; L) \approx \lim_{i \to i} \mathscr{H}^s(f_i; L)$. But the sheaf $\mathscr{H}^1(f_i; L)$, being the Leray sheaf in the top dimension of an action of a compact Lie group, is constant, as is shown in IV-14. Hence $\mathscr{H}^1(f; L)$ is constant. The same statement in other degrees is trivial.

By the lemma the orbit map f is a cfs_L^1 when L is a field of characteristic $q \neq p$. Thus, by 18.5, we have that

$$M^n/A_p$$
 is an n - hm_L if $L = \mathbb{Q}$ or $L = \mathbb{Z}_q$, $q \neq p$ prime.

If M^n is an $n - cm_{\mathbb{Z}}$, then it is also an $n - cm_L$ for all fields L (for \mathbb{Q} since M^n is $clc_{\mathbb{Z}}$). Thus the foregoing statements might seem contradictory,

but in fact, they appear to be logically consistent, and spaces with similar properties have been presented in the literature.⁴⁸

18.9. Now suppose that we are given an orientation preserving free action of A_p on an orientable $n\text{-}cm_Z$. We retain the notation of the previous subsection. Then the orbit map $f: N^{n+1} \to N^{n+1}/\Sigma_p \approx M^n/A_p$ is a cfs_Z^1 by 18.8, but it does not satisfy the finite-generation condition of 18.6, and so we cannot assert that the orbit space is a homology manifold over \mathbb{Z} ; indeed, it cannot be one by the foregoing results and the universal coefficient theorem; also see 18.11.

There are two tools we shall use to study this situation further. Consider the diagram

$$N^{n+1} \xrightarrow{\pi} N^{n+1}/A_p$$

$$f \downarrow \Sigma_p \qquad g \downarrow \mathbb{S}^1$$

$$N^{n+1}/\Sigma_p = N^{n+1}/\Sigma_p \approx M^n/A_p$$

Note that $N^{n+1}/A_p = (\Sigma_p \times_{A_p} M^n)/A_p \approx (\Sigma_p/A_p) \times M^n/A_p \approx \mathbb{S}^1 \times M^n/A_p$. Let $U \subset M^n/A_p \approx N^{n+1}/\Sigma_p$ be an open set, and put $U^{\bullet} = f^{-1}U$ and $U' = g^{-1}U \approx U \times \mathbb{S}^1$. The first tool is the Gysin sequence of $f: U^{\bullet} \to U$ as derived from the Leray spectral sequence of f. The second tool is the Borel spectral sequence

$$E_2^{s,t} = H^s(B_{Ap}; H^t_c(U^{\bullet})) \Longrightarrow H^{s+t}_c(U'),$$

whose coefficients are constant because $A_p \subset \Sigma_p$, and the latter operates trivially on $H_c^t(U^{\bullet})$ by II-11.11.

In order to use the Borel spectral sequence, we must calculate the cohomology of B_{A_p} :

18.10. Lemma. We have

$$H^{s}(B_{A_{p}};\mathbb{Z}) = \begin{cases} \mathbb{Z}, & \text{for } s = 0, \\ Q_{p}/\mathbb{Z}, & \text{for } s = 2, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Proof. A direct proof of this can be found in [21]. We shall give a much more efficient indirect proof. The cohomology of B_{Σ_p} follows immediately from the Leray spectral sequence of $E_{\Sigma_p} \to B_{\Sigma_p}$, which gives

$$H^{s}(B_{\Sigma_{p}};\mathbb{Z}) = \left\{ egin{array}{ll} \mathbb{Z}, & ext{for } s=0, \ Q_{p}, & ext{for } s>0 ext{ even}, \ 0, & ext{otherwise} \end{array}
ight.$$

and also shows that the map

$$Q_{p} \approx H^{2s}(B_{\Sigma_{p}}; H^{1}(\Sigma_{p})) = E_{2}^{0,1} \xrightarrow{d_{2}} E_{2}^{2,0} = H^{2s+2}(B_{\Sigma_{p}}; H^{0}(\Sigma_{p}))$$

⁴⁸See the bibliography in [15], which is complete on this subject.

is an isomorphism. The diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} E_{\Sigma_p} & \to & B_{A_p} \\ & & & \downarrow^{\varsigma} \\ B_{\Sigma_p} & = & B_{\Sigma_p} \end{array}$$

induces a map of the spectral sequence of ζ into that of η . On the $E_2^{0,1}$ terms this is just the canonical inclusion

$$\mathbb{Z} \approx H^0(B_{\Sigma_p}; H^1(\mathbb{S}^1)) \to H^0(B_{\Sigma_p}; H^1(\Sigma_p)) \approx Q_p,$$

and on the $E_2^{2s,1}$ terms, for s > 0, it is the isomorphism

$$Q_p \approx H^{2s}(B_{\Sigma_p}; H^1(\mathbb{S}^1)) \to H^{2s}(B_{\Sigma_p}; H^1(\Sigma_p)) \approx Q_p.$$

It follows that

$$\mathbb{Z} \approx H^0(B_{\Sigma_p}; H^1(\mathbb{S}^1)) = E_2^{0,1} \xrightarrow{d_2} E_2^{2,0} = H^2(B_{\Sigma_p}; H^0(\mathbb{S}^1)) \approx Q_p,$$

in the spectral sequence of ζ , is the canonical inclusion and that

$$Q_p \approx H^{2s}(B_{\Sigma_p}; H^1(\mathbb{S}^1)) = E_2^{2s,1} \xrightarrow{d_2} E_2^{2s+2,0} = H^{2s+2}(B_{\Sigma_p}; H^0(\mathbb{S}^1)) \approx Q_p$$

is an isomorphism for s > 0. Therefore, the only nonzero terms of the $E_3^{p,q}$ for ζ are $E_3^{0,0} \approx \mathbb{Z}$ and $E_3^{2,0} \approx Q_p/\mathbb{Z}$, whence $H^*(B_{A_p};\mathbb{Z})$ is as claimed. \Box

Finally, we collect some miscellaneous facts about free actions of A_p on generalized manifolds. Again we stress that no examples of such actions are known, so the following theorem may be completely empty.

18.11. Theorem. For an orientation-preserving free action of A_p on an orientable $n - cm_{\mathbb{Z}} M^n$ with $Y = M^n / A_p$ let $\mathfrak{H}_c^i(Y)$ denote the precosheaf $U \mapsto H_c^i(U;\mathbb{Z})$ on Y. Then we have:

- (a) $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}} Y = n + 2,^{49}$
- (b) Y is an (n+1)-cm_{Z_p},
- (c) Y is an n-cm_{Z_q} for $q \neq p$ prime,
- (d) Y is an $n-cm_{\mathbb{Q}}$,
- (e) $\mathfrak{H}_{c}^{i}(Y)$ is locally zero for $i \neq n, n+2$,
- (f) $\mathfrak{H}^n_c(Y)$ is equivalent to the precosheaf $U \mapsto H^n_c(U^{\bullet}; \mathbb{Z}) \approx H^c_1(U^{\bullet}; \mathbb{Z})$,
- (g) $\mathfrak{H}^{n+2}_{c}(Y)$ is the constant cosheaf Q_{p}/\mathbb{Z} ,
- (h) $\mathscr{H}_i(Y;\mathbb{Z}) = 0$ for $i \neq n, n+1$,

⁴⁹Part (a) also holds for all *effective* actions; see [21] and [86].

- (i) $\mathscr{H}_n(Y;\mathbb{Z})$ is constant with stalks Q_p ,
- (j) $\mathscr{H}_{n+1}(Y;\mathbb{Z})$ is constant with stalks $\widehat{Q_p/\mathbb{Z}}$,
- (k) Y is j-clc_Z for all $j \neq 2$,
- (l) Y is not $2\text{-}clc_{\mathbb{Z}}$,
- (m) $f: N^{n+1} \to Y$ is a $cfs^1_{\mathbb{Z}}$, where $N^{n+1} = \Sigma_p \times_{A_p} M^n$,

```
(n) n \geq 3.
```

Proof. Statements (b), (c), (d), and (m) have already been shown. In the Borel spectral sequence $E_2^{s,t} = H^s(B_{A_p}; H_c^t(U^{\bullet})) \Longrightarrow H_c^{s+t}(U')$, for U connected, we have that $E_2^{s,t} = 0$ for s > 2 or t > n + 1. Therefore $H_c^{n+3}(U') \approx H^2(B_{A_p}; H_c^{n+1}(U^{\bullet})) \approx Q_p/\mathbb{Z}$, and $H_c^i(U') = 0$ for i > n + 3. Since $U' \approx U \times \mathbb{S}^1$, we deduce that $H_c^i(U) = 0$ for i > n+2 and $H_c^{n+2}(U) \approx Q_p/\mathbb{Z}$ naturally in U, proving (g). By II-16.14 this also gives (a).

To prove (e), note that for an open set V with $\overline{V} \subset U$, the image of $H^i(U^{\bullet}) \to H^i(V^{\bullet})$ is finitely generated by II-17.5. Since the direct limit of these is the cohomology of an orbit Σ_p , it follows that V can be chosen so small that $H^i(U^{\bullet}) \to H^i(V^{\bullet})$ is zero for $i \neq 0, 1$. By duality, $H_j(U^{\bullet}) \to H_j(V^{\bullet})$ is zero for $j \neq n, n+1$. By the sequences (9) on page 292 we derive that

$$\operatorname{Hom}(H^j_c(U^{\bullet}),\mathbb{Z}) \to \operatorname{Hom}(H^j_c(V^{\bullet}),\mathbb{Z}) \quad \text{is zero for } j \neq n, n+1$$

and

$$\operatorname{Ext}(H^j_c(U^{\bullet}),\mathbb{Z}) \to \operatorname{Ext}(H^j_c(V^{\bullet}),\mathbb{Z}) \quad \text{is zero for } j \neq n+1, n+2.$$
(120)

Now the maps $H_c^j(V^{\bullet}) \to H_c^j(U^{\bullet})$ have finitely generated images by II-17.5. It follows fairly easily that V can be taken so small that $H_c^j(V^{\bullet}) \to H_c^j(U^{\bullet})$ is zero for j < n. Inductively assume that V can be taken so small that $H_c^j(V) \to H_c^j(U)$ is zero for $j < j_0$. Then by the universal coefficient theorem, we have that $H_c^j(V;Q_p) \to H_c^j(U;Q_p)$ is zero for $j < j_0$. The Gysin sequence of f has the segment

$$H^{j_0-2}_c(V;Q_p) \to H^{j_0}_c(V) \to H^{j_0}_c(V^{\bullet}).$$

and it follows from II-17.3 that V can be taken so that $H_c^{j_0}(V) \to H_c^{j_0}(U)$ is zero, as long as $j_0 < n$. This proves (e) except in dimension n + 1. Now, from the Borel spectral sequence we get that

$$H^{n+2}_c(U') \approx H^2(B_{A_p}; H^n_c(U^{\bullet})) \approx Q_p/\mathbb{Z} \otimes H^n_c(U^{\bullet})$$

is all torsion. Thus its direct factor $H_c^{n+1}(U)$ is all torsion. The Gysin sequence has the segment

$$H_c^{n-1}(U;Q_p) \to H_c^{n+1}(U) \xrightarrow{f^*} H_c^{n+1}(U^{\bullet}) \approx \mathbb{Z},$$

so that $f^* = 0$ here. Since the left-hand term is locally zero (by the universal coefficient theorem), so is the middle term, giving (e).

For part (f) consider the segment

$$H^{n-2}_c(U;Q_p) \to H^n_c(U) \to H^n_c(U^{\bullet}) \to H^{n-1}_c(U;Q_p)$$

of the Gysin sequence. The two outer terms are locally zero, so that the middle arrow is a local isomorphism as claimed.

There is the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{E}\!\!\mathscr{U}(\mathfrak{H}^{i+1}_{c}(Y),\mathbb{Z}) \to \mathscr{H}_{i}(Y;\mathbb{Z}) \to \mathscr{H}\!\!\mathscr{om}(\mathfrak{H}^{i}_{c}(Y),\mathbb{Z}) \to 0,$$

from which part (h) follows immediately.⁵⁰ It also gives $\mathscr{H}_{n+1}(Y;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathscr{E}_{\mathscr{A}}(\mathfrak{H}_{c}^{n+2}(Y),\mathbb{Z}) \approx \widehat{Q_{p}/\mathbb{Z}}$, proving (j); see (109) on page 368. Also

$$\mathscr{H}_n(Y;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathscr{H}om(\mathfrak{H}^n_c(Y),\mathbb{Z})$$

since $\mathfrak{H}_c^{n+1}(Y)$ is locally zero. By (f) this is the same as the sheaf generated by the presheaf $U \mapsto \operatorname{Hom}(H_c^n(U^{\bullet}), \mathbb{Z})$, which is the same as the sheaf generated by the presheaf $U \mapsto H_n(U^{\bullet}) \approx H^1(U^{\bullet})$ since $\operatorname{Ext}(H_c^{n+1}(U^{\bullet}), \mathbb{Z}) \approx$ $\operatorname{Ext}(\mathbb{Z}, \mathbb{Z}) = 0$. This is just the Leray sheaf of f. Thus $\mathscr{H}_n(Y; \mathbb{Z}) \approx$ $\mathscr{H}^1(f; \mathbb{Z})$, which is constant with stalks $H^1(\Sigma_p) \approx Q_p$ by 18.8, proving (i).

To prove (k) and (l), note that by (e), for U an open neighborhood of $y \in Y$ there are open neighborhoods $W \subset V \subset U$ of y with $H_c^{i+1}(W) \to H_c^{i+1}(V)$ and $H_c^i(V) \to H_c^i(U)$ both zero for i < n-1. By (9) on page 292 and II-17.3, $H_i(U) \to H_i(W)$ is zero for i < n-1. By duality, assuming as we may that U and W are paracompact, we have that $H^{n-i+1}(U) \to H^{n-i+1}(W)$ is zero for i < n-1; that is, $H^j(U) \to H^j(W)$ is zero for j > 2. This shows that Y is j-clc_{\mathbb{Z}} for j > 2. Consider the Gysin sequences of $f : A^{\bullet} \to A$ for compact connected neighborhoods A of a given point $y \in Y$. For $B \subset \text{int } A$ another such set, we have the diagram

in which $H^i(B^{\bullet}) \to H^i(y^{\bullet})$ has finitely generated image by II-17.5. Since y is a retract of A, $H^0(A; Q_p) \to H^0(y; Q_p) \approx Q_p$ is onto and hence does not have a finitely generated image. By II-17.3, the image of $H^2(A) \to H^2(B)$ is not finitely generated. Thus Y is not 2- clc_Z . The left part of the diagram shows that $H^1(A) \to H^1(B)$ has finitely generated image, and since the direct limit of these is $H^1(y) = 0$, it follows that Y is clc_Z^1 .

Part (n) follows from (a), (d), and 16.32.

⁵⁰The case i = n - 1 uses (120).

Remark: Since Y is not $clc_{\mathbb{Z}}$, it may not satisfy change of rings between Z and \mathbb{Q} coefficients. Indeed, by (j) we have that $\mathscr{H}_{n+1}(Y;\mathbb{Q}) \neq 0$ with Z as base ring even though Y is an $n-cm_{\mathbb{Q}}$. If one is trying to find a contradiction in the homology of this situation, care must be taken on this point.

19 The transfer homomorphism in homology

In homology, the strict analogue of II-11.1 is false (except for covering maps), as seen in 6.6, so that to define the transfer homomorphism we must use a method different from that employed in II-19.

Let G be a finite group of homeomorphisms of the locally compact space X and let $\pi: X \to X/G$ be the orbit map. The following lemma is basic. (The parenthetical cases are used only for dealing with arbitrary coefficient sheaves.)

19.1. Lemma. If \mathscr{L} is a sheaf on X/G that is c-soft (respectively, c-fine or replete), then $\pi^*\mathscr{L}$ is also c-soft (respectively, c-fine or replete).⁵¹

Proof. For any integer t let

 $U_t = \{ y \in X/G \,|\, \pi^{-1}(y) \text{ contains at least } t \text{ points} \}.$

Then U_t is open and

$$X/G = U_1 \supset U_2 \supset U_3 \supset \cdots$$

is a finite filtration of X/G. Correspondingly, \mathscr{L} is filtered by

$$\mathscr{L} = \mathscr{L}_{U_1} \supset \mathscr{L}_{U_2} \supset \cdots$$

Let $U_t^{\bullet} = \pi^{-1}(U_t)$. Then $\pi^* \mathscr{L}$ is filtered by the subsheaves

$$(\pi^*\mathscr{L})_{U_{\bullet}^{\bullet}} \approx \pi^*(\mathscr{L}_{U_t}).$$

Let \mathscr{L} be c-soft. Since an extension of a c-soft sheaf by a c-soft sheaf is c-soft, an easy decreasing induction on t shows that in order to prove that $\pi^*\mathscr{L}$ is c-soft we need only show that

$$(\pi^*\mathscr{L})_{U_t^{\bullet}}/(\pi^*\mathscr{L})_{U_{t+1}^{\bullet}} \approx (\pi^*(\mathscr{L} \mid U_t - U_{t+1}))^X$$

is c-soft. By II-9.12 it further suffices to show that $\pi^*(\mathscr{L} | U_t - U_{t+1})$ is c-soft. But c-softness is a local property, by II-9.14, and $\pi | U_t - U_{t+1}$ is a local homeomorphism. Thus $\pi^*\mathscr{L}$ is c-soft when \mathscr{L} is c-soft.

Repletion is also a local property, as follows easily from II-Exercise 13. This property is also easily seen to be preserved by extensions. Thus, again, an inductive argument shows that if \mathscr{L} is replete, then so is $\pi^*\mathscr{L}$.

⁵¹Compare IV-6.7.

If \mathscr{L} is c-fine, then it is a module over a c-soft sheaf \mathscr{R} of rings with unit; $\mathscr{R} = \mathscr{H}_{om}(\mathscr{L}, \mathscr{L})$, for example. Then $\pi^*\mathscr{L}$ is a module over the c-soft sheaf $\pi^*\mathscr{R}$. Thus $\pi^*\mathscr{L}$ is c-fine.

19.2. Proposition. Let \mathscr{L}^* be a replete resolution of L on X/G, let Φ be a family of supports on X/G, and let \mathscr{B} be a sheaf on X/G. Assume that at least one of the following four conditions holds:

- (a) $\Phi = c$.
- (b) $\pi^{-1}\Phi$ is paracompactifying and $\dim_{\pi^{-1}\Phi} X < \infty$.
- (c) (\mathcal{B}, Φ) is elementary.⁵²
- (d) $(\pi^* \mathcal{B}, \pi^{-1} \Phi)$ is elementary.

Then there is a natural isomorphism

$$H_p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{Q}(\pi\pi^*\mathscr{L}^*)\otimes\mathscr{B}))\approx H_p^{\pi^{-1}\Phi}(X;\pi^*\mathscr{B}).$$

Proof. Since π is proper, we have, by 2.6, that

$$\mathscr{D}(\pi\pi^*\mathscr{L}^*) = \pi \mathscr{D}(\pi^*\mathscr{L}^*). \tag{121}$$

By (21) on page 301 we also have that

$$\mathscr{D}(\pi\pi^*\mathscr{L}^*)\otimes\mathscr{B}=(\pi\mathscr{D}(\pi^*\mathscr{L}^*))\otimes\mathscr{B}\approx\pi(\mathscr{D}(\pi^*\mathscr{L}^*)\otimes\pi^*\mathscr{B}),\qquad(122)$$

and by applying Γ_{Φ} we obtain the natural isomorphism

$$\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\pi\pi^{*}\mathscr{L}^{*})\otimes\mathscr{B})\approx\Gamma_{\pi^{-1}\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\pi^{*}\mathscr{L}^{*})\otimes\pi^{*}\mathscr{B})$$

by IV-5.2 and IV-5.4(3). The proposition, in cases (a), (b), and (d), now follows from 3.5, 5.6, and 19.1. It is easily seen that $(\pi^*\mathcal{B}, \pi^{-1}\Phi)$ is elementary when (\mathcal{B}, Φ) is elementary, so that case (c) follows from case (d). \Box

Now, by II-19, G acts, in a natural way, as a group of automorphisms of $\pi\pi^*\mathscr{L}^*$.

The reader may verify the fact that the action of G on $\pi\pi^*\mathscr{L}^*$ induces, via 19.2, the natural action of G on $H_*^{\pi^{-1}\Phi}(X;\pi^*\mathscr{B})$. There are the maps

$$\mathscr{L}^* \xrightarrow{\beta}_{\mu} \pi \pi^* \mathscr{L}^*$$

of II-19, where $\mu\beta$ is multiplication by $\operatorname{ord}(G)$ and $\beta\mu = \sigma = \sum g$. We have the induced homomorphisms

$$\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*) \otimes \mathscr{B} \xrightarrow[\beta' \otimes 1]{} \mathscr{D}(\pi \pi^* \mathscr{L}^*) \otimes \mathscr{B}.$$
(123)

Applying $H_*(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\bullet))$ and using 19.2, we obtain the homomorphisms

$$H_p^{\Phi}(X/G;\mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow[\pi_*]{\mu_*} H_p^{\pi^{-1}\Phi}(X;\pi^*\mathscr{B})$$

⁵²Recall that (c) is satisfied for any Φ when $\mathscr{B} = L$.

§19. The transfer homomorphism in homology

when (a), (b), (c), or (d) of 19.2 is satisfied, since \mathscr{L}^* can be taken to be $\mathscr{I}^*(X/G; L)$. (The fact that π_* is indeed induced from $\beta' \otimes 1$ follows easily from its definition in Section 4.) The map μ_* is called the *transfer* homomorphism. It is clear that

$$\mu_*\pi_* = \sigma_* = \sum g_*$$

and that

 $\pi_*\mu_*$ is multiplication by $\operatorname{ord}(G)$.

With the appropriate restrictions on supports and coefficient sheaves, we have the diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H^{\Phi}_{m}(X/G;\mathscr{A}) \otimes H^{p}_{\Psi}(X/G;\mathscr{B}) & \stackrel{\cap}{\longrightarrow} & H^{\Phi\cap\Psi}_{m-p}(X/G;\mathscr{A}\otimes\mathscr{B}) \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ H^{\pi^{-1}\Phi}_{m}(X;\pi^{*}\mathscr{A}) \otimes H^{p}_{\pi^{-1}\Psi}(X;\pi^{*}\mathscr{B}) & \stackrel{\cap}{\longrightarrow} & H^{\pi^{-1}(\Phi\cap\Psi)}_{m-p}(X;\pi^{*}(\mathscr{A}\otimes\mathscr{B})), \end{array}$$

for which we claim that

$$\mu_*(a\cap b)=\mu_*(a)\cap\pi^*(b)$$

for $a \in H^{\Phi}_m(X/G; \mathscr{A})$ and $b \in H^p_{\Psi}(X/G; \mathscr{B})$. To see this, note that the diagram

commutes. This shows that the formula holds for p = 0. The general formula then follows from II-6.2. There is also the formula

$$\pi_*(a) \cap \mu^*(b) = \pi_*(a \cap \pi^*\mu^*(b))$$

for $a \in H_m^{\pi^{-1}\Phi}(X; \pi^* \mathscr{A})$ and $b \in H_{\pi^{-1}\Psi}^p(X; \pi^* \mathscr{B})$, by the more general formula (57) on page 337. The reader can verify the additional formulas

$$\pi_*(\mu_*(a)\cap b)=a\cap\mu^*(b)$$

for $a \in H^{\Phi}_{m}(X/G; \mathscr{A})$ and $b \in H^{p}_{\pi^{-1}\Psi}(X; \pi^{*}\mathscr{B})$, and, for the cup product,

$$\mu^*(b\cup\pi^*(c))=\mu^*(b)\cup c$$

for $b \in H^p_{\pi^{-1}\Phi}(X; \pi^*\mathscr{A})$ and $c \in H^q_{\Psi}(X/G; \mathscr{B})$. The reader should also verify these formulas for the case of the transfer for proper covering maps discussed in Section 6.

Consider a subgroup $H \subset G$ and the map $\varpi : X/H \to X/G$. Then, using the fact from (48) on page 140 that $(\pi\pi^*\mathscr{B})^H \approx \varpi \varpi^*\mathscr{B}$, we have that

 $H_p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{Q}((\pi\pi^*\mathscr{L}^*)^H)\otimes\mathscr{B}))\approx H_p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{Q}(\varpi\varpi^*\mathscr{L}^*)\otimes\mathscr{B}))\approx H_p^{\varpi^{-1}\Phi}(X/H;\varpi^*\mathscr{B})$

under conditions (a), (b), or (c). This leads to the transfer ν_* :

$$H_p^{\Phi}(X/G;\mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow[\varpi_*]{\nu_*} H_p^{\varpi^{-1}\Phi}(X/H;\varpi^*\mathscr{B})$$

with $\varpi_*\nu_* = \operatorname{ord}(G/H)$.

19.3. Theorem. If X is an orientable $n-hm_{\mathbb{Z}}$ and if G is an effective finite group of orientation preserving transformations of X, then the homology sheaf $\mathscr{H}_n(X/G;\mathbb{Z})$ is constant with stalks \mathbb{Z} .

Proof. We may assume that X is connected. We will use some items from the next section. Let $S = \{ \check{x} \in X/G | G_x \neq \{e\} \}$. We claim that $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}} S \leq n-2$. If, on the contrary, $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}} S = n$, then S^{\bullet} contains an open set U. Since U is a finite union of the fixed-point sets of elements $q \in G$ of prime order, some such g must leave fixed an open set $U \subset S^{\bullet}$. Since g has prime order, Smith theory implies that g leaves all of X fixed, and so G is not effective. If $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}} S = n - 1$, then similarly there is a q of prime order whose fixed-point set F separates X locally at some point x. Then there is a connected invariant open set U containing x such that U - Fis disconnected. By Smith theory, F is an $(n-1)-hm_{\mathbb{Z}_2}$ and $g^2 = e$. It follows easily that locally at x, U - F consists of exactly two components, say V and W. If g preserves a component of U - F then, putting h(x) = xfor $x \in W$ and h(x) = g(x) for $x \notin W$, h is a nontrivial transformation of period two fixing an open subset of U. This is contrary to Smith theory. Thus g must permute V and W. It follows from an easy Mayer-Vietoris argument that q reverses orientation, contrary to assumption. This proves our contention that $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}} S \leq n-2$.

If $x \in X - S^{\bullet}$, then there is a connected open neighborhood U of x such that G(U) is the *disjoint* union of the sets $gU, g \in G$. Consider the transfer

$$\mu_*: H_n(\pi U) \to H_n(G(U)) = \bigoplus_{g \in G} H_n(gU)$$

Let $b \in H_n(\pi U) \approx \mathbb{Z}$ be a generator and let $\mu_*(b) = \bigoplus b_g$, where $b_g \in H_n(gU)$. Since $g_*\mu_* = \mu_*$, we have that $b_g = g_*(b_e)$. Then $\operatorname{ord}(G)b = \pi_*\mu_*(b) = \pi_*(\sum b_g) = \pi_*(\sum g_*(b_e)) = \operatorname{ord}(G)\pi_*(b_e)$. Thus $\pi_*(b_e) = b$. Consequently, b_e is a generator of $H_n(U)$. That is, the composition

$$H_n(\pi U) \xrightarrow{\mu_*} H_n(G(U)) \xrightarrow{j_*} H_n(U)$$

is an isomorphism, where j_* is restriction.

§20. Smith theory in homology

Now let $y \in X/G$ be arbitrary and let W be a connected open neighborhood of y. Since $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}} S \leq n-2$, the map $H_c^n(W-S) \to H_c^n(W)$ is an isomorphism, and it follows that the restriction $H_n(W) \to H_n(W-S)$ is an isomorphism. Let $x \in X - S^{\bullet}$ and U be as above with $\pi(x) \in W$. Let W' be the component of W^{\bullet} containing U. We have the commutative diagram

in which the isomorphism on the left follows from 8.7 since W - S is a connected orientable $n - hm_{\mathbb{Z}}$.⁵³ Since $j_*\mu_*$ is an isomorphism, as just shown, so is $r_*\mu_*$. Therefore the composition of $r_*\mu_*$ with the inverse of the isomorphism $\mathbb{Z} \approx H_n(X) \xrightarrow{\approx} H_n(W')$ gives isomorphisms $H_n(W) \xrightarrow{\approx} \mathbb{Z}$ compatible with restrictions.

20 Smith theory in homology

We shall now apply the constructions of Section 19 to the special case in which G is cyclic of prime order p with generator g, and L is a field of characteristic p. These assumptions are made throughout this section. We shall also retain the notation of Section 19 and assume that at least one of the conditions (a), (b), or (c) of 19.2 is satisfied when we are dealing with global homology [as in (127), (132), and (134)] rather than with homology sheaves. Let F denote the fixed-point set of the action.

As in II-19, we put

 $\tau = 1 - g$

and

$$\tau = 1 + g + g^2 + \dots + g^{p-1} = \tau^{p-1}.$$

Let $\mathscr{L}^* = \mathscr{I}^*(X/G; L)$, and put

$$\mathscr{A}^* = \pi^* \mathscr{L}^*.$$

Note that $\mathscr{D}(\pi \mathscr{A}^*) = \pi \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{A}^*)$ by (121).

1

By (49) on page 141 we have the exact sequence

$$0 \to \rho(\pi \mathscr{A}^*) \xrightarrow{i} \pi \mathscr{A}^* \xrightarrow{\bar{\rho} \oplus j} \bar{\rho}(\pi \mathscr{A}^*) \oplus \mathscr{L}_F^* \to 0.$$
 (124)

Since \mathscr{L}^* is a $\mathscr{C}^0(X/G; L)$ -module, it follows that $\pi \mathscr{A}^* = \pi \pi^* \mathscr{L}^*$ is also a $\mathscr{C}^0(X/G; L)$ -module by IV-Exercise 8, and hence it is *c*-fine. The operations of G on $\pi \mathscr{A}^*$ are clearly $\mathscr{C}^0(X/G; L)$ -module isomorphisms, and it follows that $\rho(\pi \mathscr{A}^*)$ is *c*-fine for both $\rho = \sigma$ and $\rho = \tau$.

⁵³It is orientable since $\mu_*\pi_* = \text{ord } G$, whence $H_n(W - S) \neq 0$.

Thus, applying \mathcal{D} to (124), we obtain the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{D}(\bar{\rho}(\pi\mathscr{A}^*)) \oplus \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}_F^*) \to \mathscr{D}(\pi\mathscr{A}^*) \to \mathscr{D}(\rho(\pi\mathscr{A}^*)) \to 0,$$
(125)

which remains exact upon tensoring with the sheaf \mathscr{B} of *L*-modules on X/G [since *L* is a field here], and upon applying Γ_{Φ} [since either Φ is paracompactifying or \mathscr{B} is elementary by assumption (a), (b), or (c)].

Note that $\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}_{F}^{*}) \otimes \mathscr{B} \approx (\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^{*}|F) \otimes \mathscr{B}|F)^{X/G}$ by 5.4, so that

$$\mathscr{H}_p(\mathscr{Q}(\mathscr{L}_F^*) \otimes \mathscr{B}) \approx \mathscr{H}_p(F; \mathscr{B})^{X/G}$$
(126)

by (16) on page 294 and

$$H_p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}_F^*)\otimes\mathscr{B}))\approx H_p^{\Phi|F}(F;\mathscr{B})$$
(127)

under one of the conditions (a) through (c) of 19.2 by 3.5 or 5.6.

We define

$${}_{\rho}\mathcal{H}_{p}(X;\mathcal{B}) = \mathcal{H}_{p}(\mathscr{D}(\rho(\pi\mathcal{A}^{*})) \otimes \mathcal{B})$$
(128)

(which is a sheaf on X/G) and

$$_{\rho}H_{p}^{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{B}) = H_{p}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\rho(\pi\mathscr{A}^{*}))\otimes\mathscr{B})).$$
(129)

Note that ${}_{\rho}\mathscr{H}_p(X;\mathscr{B}) = \mathscr{P}heaf(U \mapsto {}_{\rho}H_p(\pi^{-1}U;\mathscr{B})).$

Since π is proper and finite-to-one, the direct image functor $\mathscr{F} \mapsto \pi \mathscr{F}$ is exact by IV-Exercise 9. Thus we have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{H}_{p}(\mathscr{D}(\pi\mathscr{A}^{*})\otimes\mathscr{B}) &\approx \mathscr{H}_{p}(\pi(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{A}^{*})\otimes\pi^{*}\mathscr{B})) & \text{by (122)} \\ &\approx \pi\mathscr{H}_{p}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{A}^{*})\otimes\pi^{*}\mathscr{B}) & \text{exactness of } \pi \\ &\approx \pi\mathscr{H}_{p}(X;\pi^{*}\mathscr{B}) & \text{by (16), p. 294.} \end{aligned}$$

[Note also that $\pi \mathscr{H}_p(X; \pi^* \mathscr{B}) \approx \mathscr{H}_p(\pi; \pi^* \mathscr{B})$ directly from the definitions and the exactness of π .]

Using (126), (128), and (130), the sequence (125) induces the exact sequence

$$\cdots \to {}_{\rho} \mathscr{H}_{p+1}(X;\mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{\partial_{\star}} {}_{\bar{\rho}} \mathscr{H}_{p}(X;\mathscr{B}) \oplus \mathscr{H}_{p}(F;\mathscr{B})^{X/G}$$

$$\xrightarrow{\bar{\rho}_{\star} \oplus j_{\star}} \pi \mathscr{H}_{p}(X;\pi^{*}\mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{i_{\star}} {}_{\rho} \mathscr{H}_{p}(X;\mathscr{B}) \to \cdots$$

$$(131)$$

of sheaves on X/G. This is called the "local Smith sequence."

Under any of the conditions (a) through (c) of 19.2, we also obtain the "global" exact Smith sequence

$$\cdots \to {}_{\rho}H^{\Phi}_{p+1}(X;\mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{\partial_{\star}} {}_{\bar{\rho}}H^{\Phi}_{p}(X;\mathscr{B}) \oplus H^{\Phi|F}_{p}(F;\mathscr{B})$$

$$\xrightarrow{\bar{\rho}_{\star} \oplus j_{\star}} H^{\pi^{-1}\Phi}_{p}(X;\pi^{\star}\mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{i_{\star}} {}_{\rho}H^{\Phi}_{p}(X;\mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{\delta_{\star}} \cdots$$

$$(132)$$

408

By II-(50) on page 142 we have that $\sigma(\pi \mathscr{A}^*) \approx \mathscr{L}^*_{(X-F)/G}$. Thus, by (94) on page 361, we have the natural isomorphism

$$_{\sigma}\mathcal{H}_{*}(X;\mathcal{B}) \approx \mathcal{H}_{*}(X/G,F;\mathcal{B}).$$
(133)

Moreover, under any of the conditions (a) through (c) of 19.2, we have

$${}_{\sigma}H^{\Phi}_{*}(X;\mathscr{B}) \approx H^{\Phi}_{*}(X/G,F;\mathscr{B})$$
(134)

by (95) on page 361 [or by the remark below 5.10 in case (c)]. Note that in case (c) this is isomorphic to $H^{\Phi \cap (X-F)/G}_*((X-F)/G;\mathscr{B})$ by 5.10.

We shall now confine our attention to the case of coefficients in L, and we shall take $L = \mathbb{Z}_p$ for the most part. The following result is the "local" Smith Theorem. By using the Smith sequence (131) of local homology groups, its proof is no harder than the proof of the corresponding "global" theorem.

20.1. Theorem. Let X be an n-hm_L where $L = \mathbb{Z}_p$. Then F is the disjoint union of open and closed subsets F_r of F for $r \leq n$ such that F_r is an r-hm_L. Moreover, the orientation sheaf \mathcal{O}_{F_r} of F_r is canonically isomorphic to the restriction $\mathcal{O}_X|F_r$ of the orientation sheaf \mathcal{O}_X of X. Similarly, $\mathcal{H}_k(X/G, F; L)|F_r$ is isomorphic to $\mathcal{O}_X|F_r$ for $r < k \leq n$ and is zero for $k \leq r$ and for k > n.

Proof. Since dim_L $X < \infty$, it follows that dim_L $X/G < \infty$ and dim_L $F < \infty$.⁵⁴ Thus, by (133), ${}_{\sigma}\mathscr{H}_k(X;L) = 0$ for k large. Using (131) inductively for both $\rho = \sigma$, τ , we see that ${}_{\rho}\mathscr{H}_k(X;L) = 0 = \mathscr{H}_k(F;L)$ for k > n. Now restrict the sequence (131) to F and use the notation $\mathscr{H}_k(\rho)$ for ${}_{\rho}\mathscr{H}_k(X;L)|F$. Then (131) becomes the exact sequence

$$\cdots \to \mathscr{H}_{k+1}(\rho) \xrightarrow{\partial_{\star}} \mathscr{H}_{k}(\bar{\rho}) \oplus \mathscr{H}_{k}(F) \xrightarrow{\bar{\rho}_{\star} \oplus j_{\star}} \mathscr{H}_{k}(X) | F$$

$$\xrightarrow{i_{\star}} \mathscr{H}_{k}(\rho) \xrightarrow{\partial_{\star}} \cdots$$

$$(135)$$

Note that the composition

$$\mathscr{H}_n(X)|F \xrightarrow{\iota_*} \mathscr{H}_n(\rho) \xrightarrow{\rho_*} \mathscr{H}_n(X)|F$$
 (136)

is just operation by ρ_* (which is $1 - g_*$ or $1 + g_* + \cdots + g_*^{p-1}$). Now, g_* is an automorphism of period p, and the stalks of $\mathscr{H}_n(X)|F$ (which are isomorphic to $L = \mathbb{Z}_p$) have no nontrivial automorphisms of period p. Thus the composition (136) is zero for both $\rho = \sigma$, τ . It follows that

$$\mathscr{H}_{n}(\bar{\rho}) \oplus \mathscr{H}_{n}(F) \xrightarrow{\bar{\rho}_{\star} \oplus j_{\star}} \mathscr{H}_{n}(X)|F = \mathscr{O}_{X}|F$$
(137)

⁵⁴See II-Exercise 11.

is an isomorphism. Also

$$\mathscr{H}_{k+1}(\rho) \xrightarrow{\partial_{\bullet}} \mathscr{H}_{k}(\bar{\rho}) \oplus H_{k}(F)$$
 (138)

is an isomorphism for k < n, since $\mathscr{H}_k(X)|F = 0$ for $k \neq n$.

Using the elementary fact that if $\mathscr{A} \oplus \mathscr{B}$ is a locally constant sheaf with stalks L on F then the sets $\{x \mid \mathscr{A}_x = 0\}$ and $\{x \mid \mathscr{B}_x = 0\}$ are disjoint closed sets with union F, we see immediately from (137) and (138) that $F = \bigcup_{r=0}^{n} F_r$, where $F_r = \{x \in F \mid \mathscr{H}_r(F)_x \neq 0\}$, and that the F_r are disjoint closed sets. Moreover, restricting the sheaves to F_r , we see that the homomorphisms

$$\mathscr{O}_X|F_r \stackrel{\bar{\rho}_{\bullet}}{\longleftrightarrow} \mathscr{H}_n(\bar{\rho}) \xrightarrow{\partial_{\bullet}} \mathscr{H}_{n-1}(\rho) \xrightarrow{\partial_{\bullet}} \cdots \xrightarrow{\partial_{\bullet}} \mathscr{H}_{r+1}(\eta) \xrightarrow{\partial_{\bullet}} \mathscr{H}_r(F_r)$$
(139)

are isomorphisms for r < n [and $\mathscr{H}_n(F_n) \xrightarrow{\approx} \mathscr{O}_X[F_n]$, where $\eta = \rho$ or $\eta = \bar{\rho}$ according as n - r is even or odd. Moreover, it also follows that $\mathscr{H}_k(\rho) = 0$ for $k \leq r$ and $\mathscr{H}_k(F_r) = 0$ for $k \neq r$. The theorem follows. \Box

With the same notation and assumptions we have the following additional information:

20.2. Proposition. The isomorphism $\mathscr{O}_X|F_r \approx \mathscr{O}_{F_r}$ resulting from (139) is independent of $\rho \ (=\sigma, \tau)$. Moreover, n-r is even if $p \neq 2$.

Proof. This is trivial for p = 2, so that we may assume that p > 2. The commutative diagram (55) on page 143 for $\mathscr{A} = \mathscr{A}^*$ and $\mathscr{B} = \mathscr{L}^*$ induces a commutative diagram in homology that in particular takes the form

where s_* is induced by the inclusion $\sigma(\pi \mathscr{A}^*) \hookrightarrow \tau(\pi \mathscr{A}^*)$ and t_* is induced by operation by $\tau^{p-2} : \tau(\pi \mathscr{A}^*) \to \sigma(\pi \mathscr{A}^*)$ (and $\pi \mathscr{A}^* \to \pi \mathscr{A}^*$). Since p > 2and $\mathscr{H}_n(X)|F_r$ has stalks $L = \mathbb{Z}_p$, we see that t_* is zero on $\mathscr{H}_n(X)|F_r$. Obviously, t_* is also zero on $\mathscr{H}_k(F_r)$. We have the commutative diagram

where $h = s_*$ or $h = t_*$ according as $\rho = \tau$ or $\rho = \sigma$, and k = 1 or k = 0 according as $h = s_*$ or $h = t_*$. Since the horizontal maps are isomorphisms, we must have that k = 1. Thus $\rho = \tau$, and n - r is even.

Exercises

Note that if X is clc_L^{∞} (and hence is a cm_L), then so is F by II-Exercise 44.

Exercises

1. If $\cdots \to \mathfrak{A}_{p+1} \to \mathfrak{A}_p \to \mathfrak{A}_{p-1} \to \cdots$ is a sequence of cosheaves on X, we say that it is *locally exact* if it is of order two as a sequence of precosheaves and if the precosheaf $U \mapsto H_p(\mathfrak{A}_*(U))$ is locally zero for all p; see 12.1.

If $0 \to \mathfrak{A}' \to \mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{A}'' \to 0$ is a locally exact sequence of cosheaves on X, then show that $\mathfrak{A}'(U) \to \mathfrak{A}(U) \to \mathfrak{A}''(U) \to 0$ is exact for all open $U \subset X$. If, moreover, \mathfrak{A}'' is a flabby cosheaf, show that $\mathfrak{A}'(U) \to \mathfrak{A}(U)$ is a monomorphism. If \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{A}'' are both flabby cosheaves, then show that \mathfrak{A}' is flabby.

2. For any c-soft sheaf \mathscr{A} and any injective L-module M define the natural homomorphism

$$\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{H}om(\Gamma_c\mathcal{H}om(\Gamma_c\mathcal{A}, M), M)$$

- of 1.13 directly without the use of 1.9. [Hint: Use (19) on page 300.]
- 3. (s) Suppose that \mathfrak{A} is a covariant functor on the open sets of X to L-modules that satisfies the following two conditions:
 - (a) If U and V are open, then the sequence

$$\mathfrak{A}(U \cap V) \xrightarrow{\alpha} \mathfrak{A}(U) \oplus \mathfrak{A}(V) \xrightarrow{\beta} \mathfrak{A}(U \cup V) \to 0$$

is exact, where $\alpha = i_{U,U\cap V} - i_{V,U\cap V}$ and $\beta = i_{U\cup V,U} + i_{U\cup V,V}$.

(b) If $\{U_{\alpha}\}$ is an upward-directed family of open sets with $U = \bigcup U_{\alpha}$, then $\mathfrak{A}(U) = \lim \mathfrak{A}(U_{\alpha})$.

Show that \mathfrak{A} is a cosheaf and conversely [12].

- 4. (S) Show that the precosheaf \mathfrak{S}_* of 1.3 is a flabby cosheaf.
- 5. (S) Let \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{B} be precosheaves on X. Show that \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{B} are equivalent in the sense of 16.4 \Leftrightarrow there exists a precosheaf \mathfrak{C} and local isomorphisms $\mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{C}$ and $\mathfrak{B} \to \mathfrak{C}$.
- 6. (s) If dim_L X = n, show that $\mathfrak{H}^n_c(X; \mathscr{A})$ [that is, $U \mapsto H^n_c(U; \mathscr{A})$] is a cosheaf for any sheaf \mathscr{A} of L-modules.
- 7. (§) Let $f: X \to Y$ and let \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} be sheaves on X and Y respectively. Define an f-homomorphism $h: \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B}$ to be a map of spaces such that the diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathscr{A} & \stackrel{h}{\longrightarrow} & \mathscr{B} \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ X & \stackrel{f}{\longrightarrow} & Y \end{array}$$

commutes and such that the induced maps $h_x: \mathscr{A}_x \to \mathscr{B}_{f(x)}$ are all homomorphisms. Show that there is a natural homomorphism

$$h_*: H_p^{\Psi(c)}(X; \mathscr{A}) \to H_p^{\Psi}(Y; \mathscr{B})$$

and investigate its properties.

8. (§) Let \mathscr{A} be any sheaf on X and Φ a paracompactifying family of supports on X. Let U_1 and U_2 be open subsets of X with $U = U_1 \cup U_2$ and $V = U_1 \cap U_2$. Derive the following Mayer-Vietoris sequences (with coefficients in \mathscr{A}):

$$\cdots \to H_p^{\Phi|V}(V) \to H_p^{\Phi|U_1}(U_1) \oplus H_p^{\Phi|U_2}(U_2) \to H_p^{\Phi|U}(U) \to H_{p-1}^{\Phi|V}(V) \to \cdots,$$
$$\cdots \to H_p^{\Phi}(X, V) \to H_p^{\Phi}(X, U_1) \oplus H_p^{\Phi}(X, U_2) \to H_p^{\Phi}(X, U) \to \cdots$$

9. (§) Let \mathcal{M} be an elementary sheaf on X and Φ an arbitrary family of supports on X. If U_1 and U_2 are open, with $X = U_1 \cup U_2$ and $V = U_1 \cap U_2$, derive the Mayer-Vietoris sequence

$$\cdots \to H_p^{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{M}) \to H_p^{\Phi\cap U_1}(U_1;\mathscr{M}) \oplus H_p^{\Phi\cap U_2}(U_2;\mathscr{M}) \to H_p^{\Phi\cap V}(V;\mathscr{M}) \to \cdots$$

If F_1 and F_2 are closed, with $F = F_1 \cap F_2$ and $X = F_1 \cup F_2$, derive the Mayer-Vietoris sequence

$$\cdots \to H_p^{\Phi|F}(F;\mathscr{M}) \to H_p^{\Phi|F_1}(F_1;\mathscr{M}) \oplus H_p^{\Phi|F_2}(F_2;\mathscr{M}) \to H_p^{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{M}) \to \cdots$$

provided that (\mathcal{M}, Φ) is elementary.

- 10. Use 5.3 to define homology groups of a general (i.e., not locally compact) space X with supports in some family Φ consisting of locally compact subspaces of X (e.g., $\Phi = c$) and develop properties of these groups.
- 11. (S) Let $\{A_{\alpha}\} \supset \Phi$ be an upward-directed system of locally closed subspaces of X. If Φ is arbitrary and (\mathscr{A}, Φ) is elementary or if Φ is paracompactifying and \mathscr{A} is arbitrary, show that the canonical map

$$\lim H^{\Phi|A_{\alpha}}_{*}(A_{\alpha};\mathscr{A}) \to H^{\Phi}_{*}(X;\mathscr{A})$$

is an isomorphism.

- 12. Call a sheaf or a cosheaf weakly torsion-free (respectively, weakly divisible) if its value on each open set is torsion-free (respectively, divisible). If \mathfrak{A}_* is a weakly torsion-free differential cosheaf, show that $\mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{A}_*)$ is weakly divisible. If \mathscr{A}^* is a c-soft and weakly divisible differential sheaf, show that $\mathfrak{D}(\mathscr{A}^*)$ is weakly torsion-free. [Hint: Use (19) on page 300.]
- 13. If X is clc_L^{∞} and \mathfrak{L}_{\star} is a flabby, weakly torsion free quasi-coresolution of L on X, show that

$$H_p^c(X; M) \approx H_p(\mathfrak{L}_*(X) \otimes M)$$

for any L-module M. [Hint: Consider the proof of 12.11 and use the algebraic universal coefficient theorem.]

14. Define, under suitable conditions, a relative cap product

$$\cap: H^{\Phi}_{m}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \otimes H^{p}_{\Psi}(X;\mathscr{B}) \to H^{\Phi \cap \Psi}_{m-p}(X,A;\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B})$$

(for $A \subset X$ locally closed) and discuss the conditions under which it is defined.

15. Define a cap product

 $\cap: {}_{S}H^{\Phi}_{m}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \otimes H^{p}_{\Psi}(X;\mathscr{B}) \to {}_{S}H^{\Phi\cap\Psi}_{m-p}(X,A;\mathscr{A}\otimes\mathscr{B})$

when Φ and $\Phi \cap \Psi$ are paracompactifying.

Exercises

- 16. For $x \in X$, show that ${}_{S}\mathscr{H}_{p}(X;\mathscr{A})_{x} \approx {}_{S}H_{p}(X, X \{x\};\mathscr{A}).$
- 17. (5) With the notation of 4.2 prove the following statements:
 - (a) $\Phi \subset \Psi \Rightarrow \Psi^{\#} \subset \Phi^{\#}$.
 - (b) $\Phi \subset \Phi^{\#\#}; \Phi^{\#} = \Phi^{\#\#\#}.$
 - (c) If $f: X \to Y$ and $\Phi \supset c$ is a family of supports on Y, then $(f^{-1}\Phi)^{\#} = \Phi^{\#}(c)$.
- 18. Let $f: X \to Y$ and let Ψ be a family of supports on X. Show that there exists a spectral sequence of *sheaves* with

$$\mathscr{E}_{2}^{p,q} = \mathscr{H}_{\Psi}^{p}(f; \mathscr{H}_{-q}(X; L)) \Longrightarrow \mathscr{H}_{-p-q}^{\Psi}(f; L),$$

and generalize to arbitrary coefficient sheaves.

- 19. (S) Determine the sheaves $\mathscr{H}_p(X;\mathbb{Z})$ for the one-point union $X = \mathbb{S}^1 \vee \mathbb{S}^2$ and compute the E_2 terms of the (absolute) spectral sequence of 8.4 for it.
- 20. Let X be an n-whm_L and let Φ be paracompactifying. Let $A \subset B \subset X$ be closed subspaces. Then show that

$$H^{p}_{\Phi|B}(B,A; \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathscr{A}) \approx H^{\Phi|X-A}_{n-p}(X-A, X-B; \mathscr{A}),$$

naturally, for any sheaf \mathcal{A} on X.

21. (S) If $\{\mathscr{A}_{\lambda}\}$ is a direct system of sheaves on X and $\mathscr{A} = \lim \mathscr{A}_{\lambda}$, then show that there is a natural isomorphism

$$\lim H^c_p(X; \mathscr{A}_\lambda) \approx H^c_p(X; \mathscr{A}).$$

22. Let X be an HLC space and let Φ and Ψ be paracompactifying families of supports on X. Show that the cap product (52) on page 336 coincides with the singular cap product

$${}_{S}H^{\Phi}_{m}(X;\mathscr{A})\otimes {}_{S}H^{p}_{\Psi}(X;\mathscr{B}) \to {}_{S}H^{\Phi\cap\Psi}_{m-p}(X;\mathscr{A}\otimes\mathscr{B})$$

(defined either in the classical manner or similarly to (52)) via the isomorphisms of III-1 and 12.21 or 12.17 when either dim_L $X < \infty$ or $\Psi \supset \Phi = c$.

- 23. (S) Let the finite group G act on the locally connected, orientable $n-hm_Q X$, preserving orientation. Then show that X/G is also an orientable $n-hm_Q$.
- 24. Show that there is a natural isomorphism

$$\Delta H^*_{\Phi}(X;M) \approx H^*(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}^*(\mathfrak{S}_*;M)))$$

for Φ paracompactifying and with the left-hand side defined as in I-7. [*Hint*: Show that the natural maps

$$\operatorname{Hom}(S_*(U), M) \to \operatorname{Hom}(S_*(U), M^*) \leftarrow \operatorname{Hom}(\mathfrak{S}_*(U), M^*)$$

of presheaves induce homology isomorphisms. Then pass to the associated sheaves.]

25. Let X and Y be locally compact and clc_{L}^{∞} and assume that $H_{p}^{c}(X;L)$ is finitely generated for each p. Let M be any L-module. Show that there is a split exact Künneth sequence

$$\bigoplus_{p+q=n} H^p(X;L) \otimes H^q(Y;M) \mapsto H^n(X \times Y;M) \xrightarrow{\rightarrow} \bigoplus_{p+q=n+1} H^p(X;L) * H^q(Y;M).$$

[*Hint*: Use 12.7 and Section 14.] Also show that this does not hold when X and Y are interchanged in the sequence. In addition, show that the condition of finite generation is necessary even for M = L. [Note that if $L = \mathbb{Z}$ or is a field, the condition on $H^{c}_{*}(X; L)$ is equivalent to the analogous condition on $H^{*}(X; L)$; see 14.7.]

In particular, there is a split exact sequence

$$0 \to H^p(X;L) \otimes M \to H^p(X;M) \to H^{p+1}(X;L) * M \to 0$$

under the above hypotheses.

26. (S) If X is a separable metric, locally connected, and locally compact space, show that $H_0(X; L) \approx \prod_{\alpha} L_{\alpha}$, where $L_{\alpha} \approx L$ and α ranges over the *compact* components of X.

[Note that this implies that if X is a separable metric $n-cm_L$ with orientation sheaf \mathcal{O} , then $H^n(X; \mathcal{O}) \approx \prod_{\alpha} L_{\alpha}$, as above.]

27. Let (X, A) be a locally compact pair, let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X, and let Φ be a family of supports on X. Let K range over the members of $\Phi|A$. Show that the canonical map

$$\varinjlim H^{\Phi}_{*}(X,K;\mathscr{A}) \to H^{\Phi}_{*}(X,A;\mathscr{A})$$

is an isomorphism \Leftrightarrow the canonical map

$$\underline{\lim} H_*(K;\mathscr{A}) \to H^{\Phi|A}_*(A;\mathscr{A})$$

is an isomorphism. [See 5.3 and 5.6 for cases to which this applies, and also note that by 5.10 the homology of (X, K) can sometimes be replaced by that of X - K.]

- 28. (S) Suppose that X is a separable metric $n cm_L$. Show that $H^p(X, U; L) = 0$ for p > n and for any open set $U \subset X$. Conclude that $\mathcal{J}^n(X; L)$ is flabby. [*Hint*: Use the fact, from Exercise 26, that $H^n(V; L) = 0$ when $V \subset X$ is open and has no compact components.]
- 29. Show that the exact sequences

$$0 \to \operatorname{Ext}(H_c^{p+1}(X;L),L) \to H_p(X;L) \to \operatorname{Hom}(H_c^p(X;L),L) \to 0$$

and the corresponding sequences for F and for U = X - F, where F is closed, are compatible with the homology and cohomology sequences of the pair (X, F) (i.e., the sequences (36) on page 313 with $\Phi = cld$ and II-10.3 with $\Phi = c$).

30. Let (\mathcal{M}, Φ) be elementary on X. Let U and V be open sets in X and put F = X - U and G = X - V. Show that there is a diagram (with coefficients

in \mathcal{M} and where the supports for each subspace A appearing are taken in $\Phi \cap A$)

in which the rows and columns are the homology sequences (36) on page 313 and that commutes except for the lower right-hand corner square, which anticommutes.

31. Let X be an *n*-hm_z with orientation sheaf $\ell = \mathscr{H}_n(X;\mathbb{Z})$ that has stalks \mathbb{Z} . Let $G = \mathbb{Z}_p$, p prime, act on M with fixed set $F = \frac{1}{r} F_r$, where F_r is an *r*-hm_{z_p} as in 20.1. Show that

$$\mathscr{H}_k(X/G;\mathbb{Z})|F_r \approx \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} \mathscr{O}\otimes\mathbb{Z}_p, & \text{for } r+2\leq k< n, \ k-r \text{ even}, \\ \mathscr{O}, & \text{for } k=n \text{ if } n-r \text{ is even}, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise}. \end{array} \right.$$

(In particular, in the neighborhood of F_{n-1} (for p = 2) X/G is an *n*-hmz with boundary F_{n-1} , and in the neighborhood of F_{n-2} , X/G is an *n*-hmz.) [*Hint*: Compare II-19.11.]

32. (S) Assume that $\dim_{\Phi} X = n < \infty$ and either that Φ is paracompactifying or that \mathscr{A} is elementary. Show that

$$H_p^{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \approx \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for } p > n, \\ \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{H}_n(X;\mathscr{A})), & \text{for } p = n. \end{cases}$$

Moreover, if \mathscr{A} is torsion-free, show that $H_n^{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$ is torsion-free.

- 33. (S) If dim_L $X < \infty$ and $X \neq \emptyset$, show that $\mathscr{H}_p(X; L) \neq 0$ for some p. [Also note Example 8.12.]
- 34. Let L be a field and suppose that the point $x \in X$ has a countable fundamental system of neighborhoods. Show that $\mathscr{H}_p(X; L)_x = 0 \Leftrightarrow$ for each neighborhood U of x there is an open neighborhood $V \subset U$ of x such that the homomorphism $H_c^p(V; L) \to H_c^p(U; L)$ is trivial.
- 35. (§) Let X be a hereditarily paracompact $n-hm_L$, let Φ be a paracompactifying family of supports on X, let \mathscr{M} be an elementary sheaf on X, and let $A \subset X$ be an arbitrary subspace, not necessarily locally compact. Then show that $H^p_{\Phi}(X, X A; \mathscr{M}) = 0$ for $p < n \dim_{\Phi,L}^X A$. (This shows, for example, that if M^n is a paracompact n-manifold and $A \subset M^n$ is totally disconnected, then the restriction $H^p_{\Phi}(M^n; \mathbb{Z}) \to H^p_{\Phi \cap M A}(M^n A; \mathbb{Z})$ is an isomorphism for p < n 1 and a monomorphism if p = n 1.)
- 36. Let L be a field and assume that X is first countable. Consider the precosheaf $\mathfrak{H}^p_c(X; L)$ of Exercise 6. Show that

$$\mathscr{H}_p(X;L) = 0 \Leftrightarrow \mathfrak{H}_c^p(X;L)$$
 is locally zero.

If dim_L $X \leq n$, then show that

$$\mathscr{H}_n(X;L) = 0 \Leftrightarrow \mathfrak{H}_c^n(X;L) = 0 \Leftrightarrow \dim_L X < n,$$

and hence that $\dim_L X = n \Leftrightarrow \mathscr{H}_n(X; L) \neq 0$.

For \mathbb{Z} coefficients then as far as the author knows, it may be possible that $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}} X = n$ but $\mathscr{H}_n(X;\mathbb{Z}) = 0$; see 18.11.

37. (S) Suppose that $\dim_L Y < \infty$, that Y is clc_L^{∞} , and that each $\mathscr{H}_p(Y; L)$ has finitely generated stalks. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a covering map (generally with infinitely many sheets), let Φ be a paracompactifying family of supports on Y, and let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X. Then show that there is a natural isomorphism

$$H_p^{\Phi}(Y; f\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\approx} H_p^{f^{-1}\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}).$$

- 38. (5) Let $f: X \to Y$ be a cfs_L^k where L is a field. Assume that X is clc_L^∞ and that $\dim_L Y = n < \infty$. Then show that Y is an $n-hm_L \Leftrightarrow$ the homology sheaves $\mathscr{H}_p(f; L)$ are all locally constant. In this case, also show that the stalks of $\mathscr{H}^q(f; L)$ and $\mathscr{H}_{n+q}(f; L)$ are of the same finite rank for all q.
- 39. (S) Let $f: X \to Y$ be a $cfs_{\mathbf{Z}}^{k}$ with connected fibers, and assume that the stalks $H^{i}(F;\mathbb{Z})$ of $\mathscr{H}^{i}(f;\mathbb{Z})$ are finitely generated for all *i*. If X is an *n*- $cm_{\mathbf{Z}}$, then show that the following statements are equivalent and imply that Y is an (n-k)- $hm_{\mathbf{Z}}$:
 - (a) Some fiber has an orientable neighborhood.
 - (b) $H^k(F;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}$.
 - (c) Every fiber has an orientable neighborhood.
- 40. Show that the map

$$\mathfrak{A}(X) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_c(\operatorname{Hom}(\mathfrak{A}, M)), M)$$

of 1.13 is a monomorphism.

- 41. (§) If X is an n-whm_Z, then show that dim_Z $X \le n+1$.
- 42. (S) Suppose that $\dim_L X < \infty$ and that $A \subset X$ is closed with $\dim_L A = 1$, e.g., A an arc. Show that there is an exact sequence

$$0 \to H^1_c(A; \mathscr{H}_{n+1}(X; L)|A) \to H^c_n(X, X - A; L) \to \Gamma_c(\mathscr{H}_n(X; L)|A) \to 0.$$

Chapter VI

Cosheaves and Čech Homology

In this short chapter we study the notion of cosheaves on general topological spaces and we go into it a bit deeper than was done in Chapter V. Our main purpose, in this chapter, is to obtain isomorphism criteria connecting various homology theories. With the minor exceptions of some definitions, and excepting the sections (10 and 11) concerning Borel-Moore homology, this chapter does not depend on Chapter V.

Basic definitions and simple results are given in Section 1. The notions of local triviality and local exactness are treated in Section 2. Local isomorphisms and the notion of "equivalence" of precosheaves are discussed in Section 3.

Section 4 is the backbone of this chapter. It initiates the study of Čech homology with coefficients in a precosheaf. This is used in Section 5 to produce a functor $\mathfrak{Cosheaf}$ that is a reflector from the category of precosheaves that are locally isomorphic to cosheaves to the category of cosheaves. This is analogous to the functor *Sheaf* in the theory of sheaves and presheaves.

The basic spectral sequence attached to an open covering of a space and a differential cosheaf on the space is developed in Section 6. These spectral sequences are of central importance in the remainder of this chapter.

Section 7 treats the notion of a coresolution and a semi-coresolution. Also in this section the spectral sequences of Section 6 are applied to prove theorems for coresolutions analogous to the fundamental theorems of sheaves in Chapter IV. This is generalized to relative Čech homology in Section 8.

In Section 9, a method of Mardešić is used to remove a (global) paracompactness assumption in the fundamental theorems when dealing with locally paracompact spaces.

In Sections 10, 11, and 12, the general theory is applied to get some comparison results for Borel-Moore homology, singular homology, and a modified version of Borel-Moore homology. The results in these sections complement the uniqueness theorems of V-12 and V-13.

An application to acyclic open coverings is given in Section 13. In Section 14 the main spectral sequences are generalized to apply to maps, and some consequences of this are given.

Throughout this chapter, L will denote a given principal ideal domain, which will be taken as the base ring.

1 Theory of cosheaves

Here we shall present a more elaborate discussion of the theory of cosheaves than the short exposition in Chapter V. We do not require the spaces here to be locally compact. In particular, there is no known fact about flabby cosheaves analogous to that on locally compact spaces that they are the cosheaves of sections with compact supports of c-soft sheaves.

1.1. Definition. A precosheaf \mathfrak{A} is called an "epiprecosheaf" if

$$\bigoplus_{\alpha} \mathfrak{A}(U_{\alpha}) \xrightarrow{f} \mathfrak{A}(U) \to 0$$

is exact for every collection of open sets U_{α} with $U = \bigcup_{\alpha} U_{\alpha}$ and where $f = \sum_{\alpha} i_{U,U_{\alpha}}$.

The following result shows that the cokernel of a homomorphism of cosheaves is a cosheaf. The proof is an elementary diagram chase, which will be omitted, and similarly with the second proposition.

1.2. Proposition. Let $\mathfrak{A}' \to \mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{A}'' \to 0$ be an exact sequence of precosheaves. If \mathfrak{A}' is an epiprecosheaf and \mathfrak{A} is a cosheaf, then \mathfrak{A}'' is a cosheaf.

1.3. Proposition. Let $0 \to \mathfrak{A}' \to \mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{A}'' \to 0$ be an exact sequence of precosheaves. If \mathfrak{A} is an epiprecosheaf and \mathfrak{A}'' is a cosheaf then \mathfrak{A}' is an epiprecosheaf.

1.4. Proposition. Let \mathfrak{A} be a precosheaf. Then \mathfrak{A} is a cosheaf \Leftrightarrow the following two conditions are satisfied:

- (a) $\mathfrak{A}(U \cap V) \xrightarrow{g} \mathfrak{A}(U) \oplus \mathfrak{A}(V) \xrightarrow{f} \mathfrak{A}(U \cup V) \rightarrow 0$ is exact for all open U and V, where $g = \langle i_{U,U \cap V}, -i_{V,U \cap V} \rangle$ and $f = i_{U \cup V,U} + i_{U \cup V,V}$.
- (b) If {U_α} is directed upwards by inclusion, then the canonical map lim_α𝔄(U_α) → 𝔅(∪_α U_α) is an isomorphism.

Proof. It suffices to prove that if (a) is satisfied then for any *finite* collection $\{U_0, \ldots, U_n\}$ of open sets, the sequence

$$\bigoplus_{\langle i,j\rangle} \mathfrak{A}(U_i \cap U_j) \xrightarrow{g} \bigoplus_i \mathfrak{A}(U_i) \xrightarrow{f} \mathfrak{A}(U) \to 0$$

is exact, where $U = \bigcup_i U_i$. Exactness on the right is clear by an easy induction. The proof of exactness in the middle will also be by induction on n. Let $U' = U_1 \cup \cdots \cup U_n$, $U = U_0 \cup U'$, and $V = U_0 \cap U'$. Let $s_j \in \mathfrak{A}(U_j)$, $0 \leq j \leq n$, be such that $\sum_{j=0}^n i_{U,U_j}(s_j) = 0$ in $\mathfrak{A}(U)$. Let
§1. Theory of cosheaves

 $t' = \sum_{j=1}^{n} i_{U',U_j}(s_j) \in \mathfrak{A}(U')$. Then $i_{U,U_0}(s_0) + i_{U,U'}(t') = 0$, so that (a) implies that there exists an element $v \in \mathfrak{A}(U_0 \cap U')$ with

$$i_{U_0,V}(v) = s_0$$
, and $i_{U',V}(v) = -t'$.

Now, $V = (U_0 \cap U_1) \cup \cdots \cup (U_0 \cap U_n)$, so that there exist $v_j \in \mathfrak{A}(U_0 \cap U_j)$, for $1 \leq j \leq n$, with

$$v = \sum_{j=1}^n i_{V,U_0 \cap U_j}(v_j).$$

Therefore

$$g\left(\bigoplus_{\langle 0,j\rangle} v_j\right) = \left\langle \sum_{j=1}^n i_{U_0,U_0\cap U_j}(v_j), -i_{U_1,U_0\cap U_1}(v_1), \dots, -i_{U_n,U_0\cap U_n}(v_n) \right\rangle,$$

and a short computation shows that the element

$$\bigoplus_{i=0}^{n} s_{i} - g\left(\bigoplus_{\langle 0,j\rangle} v_{j}\right) \in \bigoplus_{i=0}^{n} \mathfrak{A}(U_{i})$$

has zero component in $\mathfrak{A}(U_0)$ and projects to zero in $\mathfrak{A}(U_1 \cup \cdots \cup U_n)$. Thus the result follows from the inductive assumption.

The following simple result is basic.

1.5. Proposition. Let $0 \to \mathfrak{A}' \xrightarrow{f} \mathfrak{A} \xrightarrow{g} \mathfrak{A}'' \to 0$ be an exact sequence of precosheaves. Assume that \mathfrak{A} is a cosheaf and that \mathfrak{A}'' is a flabby cosheaf. Then \mathfrak{A}' is a cosheaf.

Proof. We will verify (a) and (b) of 1.4 for \mathfrak{A}' . Part (b) is an immediate consequence of the exactness of the direct limit functor. Part (a) follows from a diagram chase in the commutative diagram

with exact rows and columns (except for the \mathfrak{A}' column).

1.6. Proposition. Let \mathfrak{A} be a precosheaf. Then the set of subprecosheaves of \mathfrak{A} that are epiprecosheaves contains a maximum element, which will be denoted by $\widetilde{\mathfrak{A}}$. Any homomorphism $\mathfrak{B} \to \mathfrak{A}$, with \mathfrak{B} an epiprecosheaf, factors through $\widetilde{\mathfrak{A}}$.

Proof. This follows from results of the general theory of categories, but we give a direct proof. Define, by transfinite induction,

 $\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{A}_0 &= \mathfrak{A}, \\ \mathfrak{A}_{\alpha+1} &= \{ s \in \mathfrak{A}_{\alpha}(U) \mid \forall \text{ coverings } \{ U_{\beta} \} \text{ of } U, \, s \in \mathrm{Im}(\bigoplus \mathfrak{A}_{\alpha}(U_{\beta}) \to \mathfrak{A}(U)) \}, \\ \mathfrak{A}_{\beta} &= \bigcap_{\alpha < \beta} \mathfrak{A}_{\alpha}(U) \text{ for } \beta \text{ a limit ordinal.} \end{aligned}$

Then there exists an ordinal α with $\mathfrak{A}_{\alpha+1} = \mathfrak{A}_{\alpha}$, and we let $\widetilde{\mathfrak{A}} = \mathfrak{A}_{\alpha}$. The claimed properties are immediate.

Note that the last statement of 1.6 implies that every homomorphism $\mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{B}$ restricts to a homomorphism $\widetilde{\mathfrak{A}} \to \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}$, and hence $\mathfrak{A} \mapsto \widetilde{\mathfrak{A}}$ is a *functor*.

2 Local triviality

Recall that a precosheaf \mathfrak{A} is said to be locally zero if for each $x \in X$ and open neighborhood U of x there is an open neighborhood $V \subset U$ of x with $i_{V,U} : \mathfrak{A}(V) \to \mathfrak{A}(U)$ zero. An epiprecosheaf is locally zero \Leftrightarrow it is zero by Exercise 2.

2.1. Definition. A precosheaf \mathfrak{A} is said to be "semilocally zero" if each point $x \in X$ has a neighborhood U with $i_{X,U} : \mathfrak{A}(U) \to \mathfrak{A}(X)$ zero.

2.2. Definition. A sequence $\mathfrak{A}' \xrightarrow{f} \mathfrak{A} \xrightarrow{g} \mathfrak{A}''$ of precosheaves is said to be "locally exact" if $g \circ f = 0$ and if the precosheaf Ker g/Im f is locally zero.

2.3. Proposition. If \mathfrak{A}'' is a cosheaf and \mathfrak{A} is an epiprecosheaf, then the sequence $\mathfrak{A}' \xrightarrow{f} \mathfrak{A} \xrightarrow{g} \mathfrak{A}'' \to 0$ of cosheaves is locally exact \Leftrightarrow it is exact.

Proof. The precosheaf Coker g is a cosheaf by 1.2 and so it is zero since it is locally zero by hypothesis. This gives exactness on the right. By 1.3, Ker g is an epiprecosheaf, and it follows that Ker g/Im f is an epiprecosheaf. Since Ker g/Im f is locally zero, it must be zero, whence Ker g = Im f. \Box

2.4. Proposition. If $0 \to \mathfrak{A}' \xrightarrow{f} \mathfrak{A} \xrightarrow{g} \mathfrak{A}'' \to 0$ is a locally exact sequence of cosheaves with \mathfrak{A}'' flabby, then this sequence is exact. If \mathfrak{A} is also flabby, then so is \mathfrak{A}' .

Proof. This sequence is exact at \mathfrak{A} and at \mathfrak{A}'' by 2.3. By 1.5, Ker $g = \operatorname{Im} f$ is a cosheaf. Then $0 \to \mathfrak{A}' \to \operatorname{Im} f \to 0$ is locally exact and hence exact by 2.3. The last statement follows from an easy diagram chase.

2.5. Corollary. If $\mathfrak{A}_N \xrightarrow{d_N} \cdots \xrightarrow{d_3} \mathfrak{A}_2 \xrightarrow{d_2} \mathfrak{A}_1 \xrightarrow{d_1} \mathfrak{A}_0 \to 0$ is a locally exact sequence of flabby cosheaves, then it is exact, and Ker d_N is a flabby cosheaf.

Proof. Let $\mathfrak{Z}_n = \operatorname{Ker} d_n$. Then

 $\cdots \to \mathfrak{A}_{n+3} \to \mathfrak{A}_{n+2} \to \mathfrak{A}_{n+1} \to \mathfrak{Z}_n \to 0$

is locally exact. Also, by 2.3,

$$0 \to \mathfrak{Z}_1 \to \mathfrak{A}_1 \to \mathfrak{A}_0 \to 0$$

is exact. By 1.5, \mathfrak{Z}_1 is a cosheaf, and by 2.4 it is flabby. By induction we see that each \mathfrak{Z}_n is a flabby cosheaf and that each sequence

$$0 \to \mathfrak{Z}_n \to \mathfrak{A}_n \to \mathfrak{Z}_{n-1} \to 0$$

is exact.

2.6. Lemma. The class of locally zero precosheaves is closed under the formation of subprecosheaves, quotient precosheaves, and extensions.

Proof. All three parts may be handled simultaneously. Let $\mathfrak{A}' \to \mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{A}''$ be exact with \mathfrak{A}' and \mathfrak{A}'' locally zero. Let U be open and $x \in U$. Let $V \subset U$ be a neighborhood of x such that $\mathfrak{A}''(V) \to \mathfrak{A}''(U)$ is zero and let $W \subset V$ be such that $\mathfrak{A}'(W) \to \mathfrak{A}'(V)$ is zero. Then $\mathfrak{A}(W) \to \mathfrak{A}(U)$ is zero by II-17.3. The cases of subprecosheaves and quotient precosheaves are given by taking $\mathfrak{A}' = 0$ or $\mathfrak{A}'' = 0$ respectively.

3 Local isomorphisms

Recall from Chapter V that a homomorphism $h : \mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{B}$ of precosheaves is said to be a *local isomorphism* if Ker h and Coker h are locally zero.

If \mathfrak{A} is an epiprecosheaf and \mathfrak{B} is a cosheaf, then a local isomorphism $h: \mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{B}$ is necessarily an isomorphism by 1.2, 1.3, and Exercise 2.

Consider commutative diagrams of precosheaves of the form

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathfrak{A} & \xrightarrow{g} & \mathfrak{B} \\ & & & \downarrow^{f} & & \downarrow^{h} \\ \mathfrak{C} & \xrightarrow{k} & \mathfrak{D}. \end{array}$$
(1)

3.1. Proposition. If (1) is a pushout diagram and if the map f is a local isomorphism, then so is h. Dually, if (1) is a pullback diagram and if the map h is a local isomorphism, then so is f.

Proof. We shall give the proof of the second part only since the two parts are analogous. If (1) is a pullback, then we may as well assume that \mathfrak{A} is given by

$$\mathfrak{A}(U) = \{ \langle b, c \rangle \in \mathfrak{B}(U) \times \mathfrak{C}(U) \, | \, h(b) = k(c) \}.$$

Moreover, g and f are given by the projections to the first and second factors respectively. We see that Ker $f = \{\langle b, 0 \rangle | h(b) = 0\}$, so that

$$0 \to \operatorname{Ker} f \xrightarrow{g} \operatorname{Ker} h$$

is exact. Similarly, if $c \in \mathfrak{C}(U)$ and if $k(c) \in \operatorname{Im} h$, then $c \in \operatorname{Im} f$, and it follows that

$$0 \rightarrow \operatorname{Coker} f \xrightarrow{k} \operatorname{Coker} h$$

is exact. The contention follows from 2.6 applied to these exact sequences. $\hfill\square$

3.2. Corollary. Let \mathfrak{B} and \mathfrak{C} be precosheaves. Then the following two statements are equivalent:

(a) There exist a precosheaf \mathfrak{A} and local isomorphisms $\mathfrak{B} \leftarrow \mathfrak{A} \rightarrow \mathfrak{C}$.

(b) There exist a precosheaf \mathfrak{D} and local isomorphisms $\mathfrak{B} \to \mathfrak{D} \leftarrow \mathfrak{C}$. \Box

If one, hence both, of the conditions in 3.2 are satisfied, then \mathfrak{B} and \mathfrak{C} are said to be *equivalent*. That this is an equivalence relation, and hence coincides with the definition given in Chapter V, follows from 3.2 and the next lemma.

3.3. Lemma. Composites of local isomorphisms are local isomorphisms.

Proof. Suppose that $\mathfrak{A} \xrightarrow{f} \mathfrak{B} \xrightarrow{g} \mathfrak{C}$ are local isomorphisms. Then we have the exact sequences

$$0 \to \operatorname{Ker} f \to \operatorname{Ker} gf \xrightarrow{f} \operatorname{Ker} g,$$

Coker $f \xrightarrow{g}$ Coker $gf \to \operatorname{Coker} g \to 0$,

and the result follows from 2.6.

As we have remarked, locally isomorphic *cosheaves* are isomorphic. It is not so clear that this is true of *equivalent* cosheaves, but in fact, we will prove that in 5.7

3.4. Definition. A precosheaf is said to be "smooth" if it is equivalent to a cosheaf.

Later, we shall show that for any smooth precosheaf \mathfrak{A} there is an associated cosheaf $\mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\mathfrak{A})$, unique up to isomorphism, and a *canonical* local isomorphism $\mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\mathfrak{A}) \to \mathfrak{A}$. Also, the functor $\mathfrak{Cosheaf}$ will be shown to be a reflector¹ from the category of smooth precosheaves to the category of cosheaves. This is analogous to the functor *Sheaf*.

¹This means that any homomorphism $\mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{B}$ of smooth precosheaves factors as $\mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\mathfrak{B}) \to \mathfrak{B}$.

3.5. Proposition. Suppose that we have a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathfrak{A} & \stackrel{h}{\longrightarrow} & \mathfrak{B} \\ \downarrow_{\alpha} & & \downarrow_{\beta} \\ \mathfrak{A}' & \stackrel{h'}{\longrightarrow} & \mathfrak{B}' \end{array}$$

of precosheaves such that α and β are local isomorphisms. Then the induced maps Ker $h \rightarrow$ Ker h', Im $h \rightarrow$ Im h', and Coker $h \rightarrow$ Coker h' are all local isomorphisms.

Proof. Denote kernels, images, and cokernels by \mathfrak{K} , \mathfrak{I} , and \mathfrak{C} respectively. Then we have the commutative diagrams

| 0 | \rightarrow | R | \rightarrow | 21 | \rightarrow | I | > | 0 |
|---|---------------|----|---------------|----|---------------|-----------------------|----------|---|
| | | 6 | | 10 | | | | |
| 0 | \rightarrow | £′ | | ณ' | \rightarrow | $\vec{\mathfrak{I}}'$ | → | 0 |
| | | | | | | | | |

and

| 0 | \rightarrow | I | \rightarrow | B | \rightarrow | C | \rightarrow | 0 |
|---|---------------|-----------------|---------------|-----------------|---------------|-----------------------|---------------|----|
| | | 1. | | A | | | | |
| | | Ļ | | \downarrow^p | | \downarrow^{γ} | | |
| 0 | \rightarrow | \mathfrak{I}' | \rightarrow | \mathfrak{B}' | \rightarrow | \mathfrak{C}' | \rightarrow | 0, |

which induce the exact sequences

$$0 \to \operatorname{Ker} \kappa \to \operatorname{Ker} \alpha \to \operatorname{Ker} \iota \to \operatorname{Coker} \kappa \to \operatorname{Coker} \alpha \to \operatorname{Coker} \iota \to 0,$$

 $0 \to \operatorname{Ker} \iota \to \operatorname{Ker} \beta \to \operatorname{Ker} \gamma \to \operatorname{Coker} \iota \to \operatorname{Coker} \beta \to \operatorname{Coker} \gamma \to 0.$

By hypothesis, Ker α , Ker β , Coker α , and Coker β are locally zero. It follows that Ker κ , Ker ι , Coker ι , and Coker γ are locally zero and that Ker $\iota \to$ Coker κ and Ker $\gamma \to$ Coker ι are local isomorphisms. Since Ker ι and Coker ι are locally zero, it follows from 2.6 that their local isomorphs Coker κ and Ker γ are also locally zero.

3.6. Corollary. Suppose that we have a commutative diagram

of precosheaves in which the verticals are local isomorphisms and the compositions in the rows are zero. Then the induced map

$$\operatorname{Ker} \alpha'' / \operatorname{Im} \alpha' \to \operatorname{Ker} \beta'' / \operatorname{Im} \beta'$$

of precosheaves is a local isomorphism.

4 Čech homology

This section begins the major topic of this chapter. We shall define Cech homology with coefficients in a precosheaf and investigate its properties.

Let \mathfrak{A} be a precosheaf on a space X and let $\mathfrak{U} = \{U_{\alpha}\}$ be any open covering of X. For a p-simplex $\sigma = \langle \alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_p \rangle$ of the nerve $N(\mathfrak{U})$ (i.e., $U_{\sigma} = U_{\alpha_0,\ldots,\alpha_p} = U_{\alpha_0} \cap \cdots \cap U_{\alpha_p} \neq \emptyset$) let $\sigma^{(i)} = \langle \alpha_0,\ldots,\widehat{\alpha_i},\ldots,\alpha_p \rangle$. We define the group of Čech p-chains of the covering \mathfrak{U} to be

$$\check{C}_p(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A}) = \bigoplus_{\sigma} \mathfrak{A}(U_{\sigma}),$$

where the sum ranges over all *p*-simplices $\sigma = \langle \alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_p \rangle$. Thus a *p*-chain *c* is a finite formal sum

$$c = \sum a_{\sigma} \sigma$$

of *p*-simplices, where $a_{\sigma} \in \mathfrak{A}(U_{\sigma})$. Note that $\check{C}_p(\mathfrak{U}; \mathfrak{A})$ is an exact functor of precosheaves \mathfrak{A} . The differential

$$\partial : \check{C}_p(\mathfrak{U}; \mathfrak{A}) \to \check{C}_{p-1}(\mathfrak{U}; \mathfrak{A})$$

is defined by

$$\partial(a_\sigma\sigma) = \sum_{i=0}^p (-1)^i (a_\sigma \lfloor U_{\sigma^{(i)}}) \sigma^{(i)},$$

where $\lfloor U \text{ indicates operation by the map } \mathfrak{A}(V) \to \mathfrak{A}(U)$ when $V \subset U$, i.e., it is the dual of restriction. Also, there is the augmentation

 $\varepsilon: \check{C}_0(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A}) \to \mathfrak{A}(X)$

given by

$$\varepsilon = \sum_{\alpha} i_{X,U_{\alpha}} : \bigoplus_{\alpha} \mathfrak{A}(U_{\alpha}) \to \mathfrak{A}(X).$$

Note that $\varepsilon(\sum_{\sigma} a_{\sigma}\sigma) = \sum_{\sigma} (a_{\sigma} \lfloor X).$

As usual, the homology of the chain complex $\check{C}_*(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A})$ is denoted by

$$\check{H}_p(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A}) = H_p(\check{C}_*(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A})),$$

and the augmentation ε induces a homomorphism

$$\varepsilon_* : \check{H}_0(\mathfrak{U}; \mathfrak{A}) \to \mathfrak{A}(X).$$

Recall that for an open set $V \subset X$, $\mathfrak{U} \cap V$ denotes the covering $\{U_{\alpha} \cap V\}$ of V. Thus $V \mapsto \check{H}_n(\mathfrak{U} \cap V; \mathfrak{A})$ defines a precosheaf on X denoted by

$$\check{\mathfrak{H}}_n(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A}):V\mapsto\check{H}_n(\mathfrak{U}\cap V;\mathfrak{A}).$$

Also, there is the homomorphism

 $\varepsilon_*:\check{\mathfrak{H}}_0(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A})
ightarrow\mathfrak{A}$

of precosheaves. The following is an easy observation:

4.1. Proposition. The homomorphism

$$\varepsilon_*: \mathfrak{H}_0(\mathfrak{U}; \mathfrak{A}) \to \mathfrak{A},$$

induced by the augmentation, is epimorphic for all \mathfrak{U} if \mathfrak{A} is an epiprecosheaf and is isomorphic for all \mathfrak{U} if \mathfrak{A} is a cosheaf. \Box

If \mathfrak{V} is a refinement of \mathfrak{U} and $\mathfrak{V} \to \mathfrak{U}$ is a refinement projection, then there is the induced chain map $\check{C}_*(\mathfrak{V};\mathfrak{A}) \to \check{C}_*(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A})$, which induces the homomorphism

$$\check{H}_p(\mathfrak{V};\mathfrak{A}) \to \check{H}_p(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A}).$$

The latter is independent of the particular refinement projection used; see the proof of the corresponding fact for cohomology in Chapter I. Thus we may define the Čech homology of X with coefficients in the precosheaf \mathfrak{A} by

$$\check{H}_n(X;\mathfrak{A}) = \varprojlim_{\mathfrak{U}}\check{H}_n(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A}).$$

Let $\check{\mathfrak{H}}_n(X;\mathfrak{A})$ denote the precosheaf

$$\check{\mathfrak{H}}_n(X;\mathfrak{A}): U \mapsto \check{H}_n(U;\mathfrak{A}).$$

From 4.1 we deduce:

4.2. Proposition. If \mathfrak{A} is a cosheaf, then the augmentation homomorphism

 $\varepsilon_* : \check{\mathfrak{H}}_0(X; \mathfrak{A}) \to \mathfrak{A}$

is an isomorphism.

For a covering \mathfrak{U} of X, the precosheaf

$$V \mapsto \check{C}_n(\mathfrak{U} \cap V; \mathfrak{A})$$

will be denoted by $\check{\mathfrak{C}}_n(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A})$. Thus

$$\check{\mathfrak{C}}_n(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A})(V)=\check{C}_n(\mathfrak{U}\cap V;\mathfrak{A}).$$

Since $\check{C}_p(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A})$ is an exact functor of precosheaves, any short exact sequence

 $0 \to \mathfrak{A}' \to \mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{A}'' \to 0$

induces a long exact sequence

 $\cdots \to \check{H}_n(\mathfrak{U}; \mathfrak{A}') \to \check{H}_n(\mathfrak{U}; \mathfrak{A}) \to \check{H}_n(\mathfrak{U}; \mathfrak{A}'') \to \check{H}_{n-1}(\mathfrak{U}; \mathfrak{A}') \to \cdots$

but, of course, this generally fails for the groups $\check{H}_*(X;\mathfrak{A})$ since the inverse limit functor is not generally exact.

4.3. Lemma. If \mathfrak{A} is a cosheaf, then so is $\check{\mathfrak{C}}_n(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A})$. The latter is flabby when \mathfrak{A} is flabby.

Proof. It is clear that the direct sum of a family of cosheaves is a cosheaf. But $\check{\mathfrak{C}}_n(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A})$ is the direct sum of precosheaves of the form $V \mapsto \mathfrak{A}(U \cap V)$ (where $U = U_{\alpha_0,...,\alpha_n}$), and these are easily seen to be cosheaves when \mathfrak{A} is a cosheaf. The last statement holds by similar reasoning. \Box

4.4. Theorem. For a precosheaf \mathfrak{A} on X the sequence

$$\cdots \rightarrow \check{\mathfrak{C}}_2(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A}) \rightarrow \check{\mathfrak{C}}_1(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A}) \rightarrow \check{\mathfrak{C}}_0(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A}) \rightarrow \mathfrak{A} \rightarrow 0$$

of precosheaves is locally exact for any covering \mathfrak{U} of X.

Proof. Since this is a statement about small neighborhoods of a point, it suffices to prove that the sequence is exact if $U_{\gamma} = X$ for some index γ . In that case, we can define a chain contraction $D : \check{C}_n(\mathfrak{U}; \mathfrak{A}) \to \check{C}_{n+1}(\mathfrak{U}; \mathfrak{A})$ by

$$D(a_{\sigma}\sigma) = a_{\sigma}\gamma\sigma,$$

where $\gamma \sigma = \gamma \langle \alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_p \rangle = \langle \gamma, \alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_p \rangle$. Then $\partial D + D \partial = 1$, as the reader may check, if we interpret ∂ as ε in degree 0. The naturality of this chain contraction implies that it induces one on the precosheaves $\mathfrak{C}_*(\mathfrak{U}; \mathfrak{A})$ when $X \in \mathfrak{U}$.

4.5. Corollary. If \mathfrak{A} is a flabby cosheaf, then for any open covering \mathfrak{U} of X we have $\check{\mathfrak{H}}_n(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A}) = 0$ for n > 0, whence $\check{\mathfrak{H}}_n(X;\mathfrak{A}) = 0$ for n > 0.

Proof. This is an immediate consequence of 2.5, 4.3, and 4.4. \Box

4.6. Theorem. Let X be a paracompact space and let \mathfrak{A} be a locally zero precosheaf on X. Then, for any open covering \mathfrak{U} of X there is a refinement $\mathfrak{V} \to \mathfrak{U}$ such that the induced map $\check{C}_n(\mathfrak{V}; \mathfrak{A}) \to \check{C}_n(\mathfrak{U}; \mathfrak{A})$ is zero for all $n \geq 0$.

Proof. We may assume that \mathfrak{U} is locally finite and "self-indexing." Let \mathfrak{U}' be a shrinking of \mathfrak{U} , i.e., a covering that assigns to each $U \in \mathfrak{U}$ an open set U' with $\overline{U}' \subset U$. For each $U \in \mathfrak{U}$ and $x \in U'$ we choose an open set $W = W(x,U) \subset U'$ with the property that whenever U_1,\ldots,U_n are in \mathfrak{U} and $W \cap U'_1 \cap \cdots \cap U'_n \neq \emptyset$ then $W \subset U_1 \cap \cdots \cap U_n$ and the map $\mathfrak{A}(W) \to \mathfrak{A}(U_1 \cap \cdots \cap U_n)$ is trivial. The existence of such sets follows easily from the local finiteness of \mathfrak{U} and local triviality of \mathfrak{A} . We take the refinement projection $W(x,U) \mapsto U$.

We claim that this covering satisfies the conclusion of the theorem. In fact, let

$$W_i = W(x_i, U_i), i = 0, \ldots, n,$$

and suppose that $W_0 \cap \cdots \cap W_n \neq \emptyset$. Then since $W_0 \cap \cdots \cap W_n \subset U'_0 \cap \cdots \cap U'_n$, we must have $W_i \subset U_0 \cap \cdots \cap U_n$ for each $i = 0, \ldots, n$ and that $\mathfrak{A}(W_i) \to \mathfrak{A}(U_0 \cap \cdots \cap U_n)$ is zero. Since $\mathfrak{A}(W_0 \cap \cdots \cap W_n) \to \mathfrak{A}(U_0 \cap \cdots \cap U_n)$ factors through $\mathfrak{A}(W_0)$, it is zero.

4.7. Corollary. If X is paracompact and if \mathfrak{A} is a locally zero precosheaf on X then $\check{H}_n(X;\mathfrak{A}) = 0$ for all $n \ge 0$.

4.8. Corollary. Let X be paracompact and let $h : \mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{B}$ be a local isomorphism. Then $h_* : \check{H}_n(X; \mathfrak{A}) \to \check{H}_n(X; \mathfrak{B})$ is an isomorphism.

Proof. Clearly, this reduces to the two cases in which Coker h = 0 or Ker h = 0. These are sufficiently alike that we will deal only with the first. Thus let $0 \to \Re \to \mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{B} \to 0$ be exact with \Re locally zero. For each open covering \mathfrak{U} of X we have the exact homology sequence

$$\cdots \to \check{H}_n(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{K}) \to \check{H}_n(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A}) \to \check{H}_n(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{B}) \to \check{H}_{n-1}(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{K}) \to \cdots$$

Using 4.6 and the following lemma, we see that the induced map h_* is an isomorphism.

4.9. Lemma. Let $\{A_{\alpha}, f_{\alpha,\beta}\}$, $\{B_{\alpha}, g_{\alpha,\beta}\}$, $\{C_{\alpha}, h_{\alpha,\beta}\}$, and $\{D_{\alpha}, k_{\alpha,\beta}\}$ be inverse systems of abelian groups and let

$$A_{\alpha} \xrightarrow{\lambda_{\alpha}} B_{\alpha} \xrightarrow{\mu_{\alpha}} C_{\alpha} \xrightarrow{\nu_{\alpha}} D_{\alpha}$$

be exact sequences commuting with the projections. Assume that for each α there is a $\beta > \alpha$ such that $f_{\alpha,\beta} : A_{\beta} \to A_{\alpha}$ and $k_{\alpha,\beta} : D_{\beta} \to D_{\alpha}$ are zero. Then the induced map

$$\mu: \lim B_{\alpha} \to \lim C_{\alpha}$$

is an isomorphism.

Proof. Let $\{b_{\alpha}\} \in \underline{\lim} B_{\alpha}$ be in Ker μ . Then $\mu_{\alpha}(b_{\alpha}) = 0$ for all α , and so $b_{\alpha} = \lambda_{\alpha}(a_{\alpha})$ for some $a_{\alpha} \in A_{\alpha}$. Given α , there is a $\beta > \alpha$ with $f_{\alpha,\beta} = 0 = k_{\alpha,\beta}$. Thus $b_{\alpha} = g_{\alpha,\beta}(b_{\beta}) = g_{\alpha,\beta}(\lambda_{\beta}(a_{\beta})) = \lambda_{\alpha}(f_{\alpha,\beta}(a_{\beta})) = 0$, which shows that μ is monomorphic.

Now let $\{c_{\alpha}\} \in \underline{\lim} C_{\alpha}$. With β as above, we have

$$\nu_{\alpha}(c_{\alpha}) = \nu_{\alpha}(h_{\alpha,\beta}(c_{\beta})) = k_{\alpha,\beta}(\nu_{\beta}(c_{\beta})) = 0,$$

so that $c_{\alpha} = \mu_{\alpha}(b'_{\alpha})$ for some $b'_{\alpha} \in B_{\alpha}$. Let β be as above in relation to α and let $\gamma > \beta$ be arbitrary. Note that $b'_{\beta} \equiv g_{\beta,\gamma}(b'_{\gamma}) \pmod{\max \lambda_{\beta}}$ since μ_{β} takes them to the same thing. Applying $g_{\alpha,\beta}$, we obtain $g_{\alpha,\beta}(b'_{\beta}) = g_{\alpha,\gamma}(b'_{\gamma})$ since $g_{\alpha,\beta}\lambda_{\beta} = \lambda_{\alpha}f_{\alpha,\beta} = 0$. Let b_{α} be this common element $g_{\alpha,\beta}(b'_{\beta})$ for $\beta > \alpha$ sufficiently large. Then we have $g_{\gamma,\delta}(b_{\delta}) = b_{\gamma}$ for any $\delta > \gamma$, whence $\{b_{\alpha}\} \in \underline{\lim} B_{\alpha}$. Also $\mu_{\alpha}(b_{\alpha}) = \mu_{\alpha}(g_{\alpha,\beta}(b'_{\beta})) = h_{\alpha,\beta}(\mu_{\beta}(b'_{\beta})) = h_{\alpha,\beta}(c_{\beta}) = c_{\alpha}$, which shows that μ is epimorphic.

5 The reflector

For a smooth precosheaf \mathfrak{A} on X we define the precosheaf

$$\mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\mathfrak{A})=\check{\mathfrak{H}}_0(X;\widetilde{\mathfrak{A}}),$$

where $\widetilde{\mathfrak{A}}$ is the maximal epiprecosheaf in \mathfrak{A} of 1.6. (This makes sense for all precosheaves \mathfrak{A} , but $\widetilde{\mathfrak{A}}$ will be a cosheaf only if \mathfrak{A} is smooth, as we shall show presently.) Note that $\mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\widetilde{\mathfrak{A}}) = \mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\mathfrak{A})$. There is the natural homomorphism

$$\theta:\mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\mathfrak{A})\to\mathfrak{A}$$

given by the composition

$$\theta: \check{\mathfrak{H}}_0(X; \widetilde{\mathfrak{A}}) \xrightarrow{\varepsilon_*} \widetilde{\mathfrak{A}} \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{A}.$$

By 4.2, θ is an isomorphism if \mathfrak{A} is a cosheaf. Also, if $h : \mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{B}$ is a homomorphism of precosheaves, then there is an induced homomorphism

$$h: \mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\mathfrak{A}) \to \mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\mathfrak{B}).$$

The following is a basic result:

5.1. Theorem. If $h : \mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{B}$ is a local isomorphism of precosheaves and if either \mathfrak{A} or \mathfrak{B} is a cosheaf, then \overline{h} is an isomorphism of $\mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\mathfrak{A})$ onto $\mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\mathfrak{B})$.

Prcof. First assume that \mathfrak{A} is a cosheaf. Then $h(\mathfrak{A}) \subset \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}$ since $h(\mathfrak{A})$ is an epiprecosheaf by Exercise 1. It is also clear that $h : \mathfrak{A} \to \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}$ is a local isomorphism. Thus we may as well assume that $\mathfrak{B} = \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}$, i.e., that \mathfrak{B} is an epiprecosheaf. Then Coker h is also an epiprecosheaf by Exercise 1, and being locally zero, it is zero by Exercise 2. Let $\mathfrak{K} = \operatorname{Ker} h$.

Let $\mathfrak{U} = \{U_{\alpha}\}$ be an open covering of an open set $U \subset X$ so fine that $\mathfrak{K}(U_{\alpha}) \to \mathfrak{K}(U)$ is zero for all α . Consider the commutative diagram

which is exact except for the \mathfrak{B} column. We see that $\operatorname{Ker} f \supset \operatorname{Ker} g$, so that the additive relation $j = fg^{-1}$ is single-valued and hence is a

homomorphism. Clearly, j is onto, and diagram chasing shows that Ker j = g(Ker f) = Im k. Thus we have the induced isomorphism

$$\varphi:\check{H}_0(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{B})\overset{\approx}{\longrightarrow}\check{H}_0(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A}).$$

Note that φ is an inverse of the natural map

$$h_*(\mathfrak{U}):\check{H}_0(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A})\to\check{H}_0(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{B}).$$

Therefore, $h_*(\mathfrak{U})$ is an isomorphism, and upon passage to the limit over \mathfrak{U} , we see that $\overline{h}(U) = \underline{\lim}_{\mathfrak{U}} h_*(\mathfrak{U})$ is an isomorphism, as claimed.

Now suppose that \mathfrak{B} is a cosheaf and that \mathfrak{A} is arbitrary. Again Coker h is an epiprecosheaf, and hence it is zero. Let $\mathfrak{K} = \operatorname{Ker} h$ as before. Fix an open set $U \subset X$ for the time being, and choose an open covering $\{U_{\alpha}\}$ of U such that each $\mathfrak{K}(U_{\alpha}) \to \mathfrak{K}(U)$ is zero. Let $A = \operatorname{Im}\{\bigoplus \mathfrak{A}(U_{\alpha}) \to \mathfrak{A}(U)\}$. The maps $\bigoplus \mathfrak{A}(U_{\alpha}) \to \bigoplus \mathfrak{B}(U_{\alpha}) \to \mathfrak{B}(U)$ are onto, whence $A \to \mathfrak{B}(U)$ is onto. Consider the commutative diagram

which is exact except the middle vertical at the $\bigoplus \mathfrak{A}(U_{\alpha})$ term, where it is of order two. Diagram chasing reveals that the left-hand vertical map is onto, whence $\mathfrak{K}(U) \cap A = 0$. Therefore the map $A \to \mathfrak{B}(U)$ is an isomorphism. It follows that a refinement of $\{U_{\alpha}\}$ yields the same subgroup A of $\mathfrak{A}(U)$. Thus, in fact, in the notation of the proof of 1.6, $A = \mathfrak{A}_1(U)$, which is the set of elements of $\mathfrak{A}(U)$ in the image of $\bigoplus \mathfrak{A}(U_{\alpha})$ for every open covering $\{U_{\alpha}\}$ of U. This shows that $\mathfrak{A}_1 \to \mathfrak{B}$ is an isomorphism, and since \mathfrak{B} is a cosheaf, $\mathfrak{A}_1 = \widetilde{\mathfrak{A}}$ and it is a cosheaf. Thus

$$h: \mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\mathfrak{A}) = \widetilde{\mathfrak{A}} \xrightarrow{\approx} \mathfrak{B} = \mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\mathfrak{B}),$$

as claimed.

The latter part of the proof of 5.1 shows more:

5.2. Theorem. Let $h : \mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{B}$ be a local isomorphism, and suppose that \mathfrak{B} is a cosheaf. Then there exists a local isomorphism $k : \mathfrak{B} \to \mathfrak{A}$ such that hk = 1.

Proof. The map k is merely the inverse of the restriction $\widetilde{\mathfrak{A}} \to \mathfrak{B}$ of h followed by the inclusion $\widetilde{\mathfrak{A}} \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{A}$. We have the split exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathfrak{K} \to \mathfrak{A} \xrightarrow{h} \mathfrak{B} \to 0,$$

and it follows that $\operatorname{Ker} k = 0$ and that $\operatorname{Coker} k \approx \operatorname{Ker} h = \mathfrak{K}$ is locally zero, whence k is a local isomorphism.

5.3. Corollary. If the precosheaf \mathfrak{A} is equivalent to the cosheaf \mathfrak{B} , then there exists a local isomorphism $\mathfrak{B} \to \mathfrak{A}$.

5.4. Corollary. For a smooth precosheaf \mathfrak{A} , $\mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\mathfrak{A})$ is a cosheaf and $\theta : \mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\mathfrak{A}) \to \mathfrak{A}$ is a local isomorphism.

Proof. By 5.3 there is a local isomorphism $h: \mathfrak{B} \to \mathfrak{A}$ for some cosheaf \mathfrak{B} . We have the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\mathfrak{B}) & \stackrel{h}{\longrightarrow} & \mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\mathfrak{A}) \\ & \downarrow \approx & \downarrow \\ & \mathfrak{B} & \stackrel{h}{\longrightarrow} & \mathfrak{A}. \end{array}$$

By 5.1, \overline{h} is an isomorphism, and hence the map $\mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\mathfrak{A}) \to \mathfrak{A}$ may be identified with $h: \mathfrak{B} \to \mathfrak{A}$, and the result follows.

5.5. Corollary. Let \mathscr{C} be the category of cosheaves on X and \mathscr{S} the category of smooth precosheaves on X. Then $\mathfrak{Cosheaf} : \mathscr{S} \to \mathscr{C}$ is a reflector from \mathscr{S} to \mathscr{C} .

5.6. Corollary. If $h : \mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{B}$ is a local isomorphism, where \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{B} are smooth, then $\overline{h} : \mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\mathfrak{A}) \to \mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\mathfrak{B})$ is an isomorphism.

Proof. By 5.3 there exists a *cosheaf* \mathfrak{C} and a local isomorphism $k : \mathfrak{C} \to \mathfrak{A}$. The diagram



consists of local isomorphisms. In the induced diagram



the diagonals are isomorphisms by 5.1, and so \bar{h} is also an isomorphism. \Box

5.7. Corollary. If \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{B} are equivalent cosheaves, then they are isomorphic. \Box

5.8. Proposition. If $\mathfrak{A}' \to \mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{A}''$ is a locally exact sequence of smooth precosheaves, then $\mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\mathfrak{A}') \to \mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\mathfrak{A}) \to \mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\mathfrak{A}'')$ is also locally exact.

Proof. Apply 3.6 and 5.4 to the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\mathfrak{A}') & \to & \mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\mathfrak{A}) & \to & \mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\mathfrak{A}'') \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ \mathfrak{A}' & \to & \mathfrak{A} & \to & \mathfrak{A}''. \end{array}$$

5.9. Example. Not every precosheaf is smooth. For a simple example let $X = \mathbb{I}$ and let \mathfrak{A} be the precosheaf on X that assigns to U the group of singular 1-chains of U. The associated epiprecosheaf \mathfrak{A} has $\mathfrak{A}(U)$ equal to the subgroup generated by the *constant* singular 1-simplices. The inclusion $\mathfrak{A} \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{A}$ is *not* a local isomorphism, and it follows that $\mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\mathfrak{A}) \to \mathfrak{A}$ cannot be a local isomorphism. This would contradict 5.4 if \mathfrak{A} were smooth.

5.10. If \mathfrak{A} is a smooth precosheaf, then the inclusion $\widetilde{\mathfrak{A}} \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{A}$ is a local isomorphism. Therefore, if X is *hereditarily paracompact*, then it follows from 4.8 that the induced map $\mathfrak{Cosheaf}(\mathfrak{A}) = \check{\mathfrak{H}}_0(X; \widetilde{\mathfrak{A}}) \to \check{\mathfrak{H}}_0(X; \mathfrak{A})$ is an *isomorphism*. This probably does not hold without the paracompactness assumption.

5.11. Proposition. If X is locally connected and M is an L-module, then the constant precosheaf M on X is smooth. The associated cosheaf $\mathfrak{M} = \mathfrak{Cosheaf}(M)$ is the constant cosheaf of Chapter V.

Proof. Recall that the constant cosheaf \mathfrak{M} is defined by letting $\mathfrak{M}(U)$ be the free *L*-module on the components of *U*. The summation map $\mathfrak{M}(U) \to M$ gives a local isomorphism of precosheaves since *X* is locally connected, whence $\mathfrak{M} \approx \mathfrak{Cosheaf}(M)$ by 5.7. \Box

6 Spectral sequences

Let \mathfrak{A}_* be a *flabby* differential cosheaf that is bounded below; i.e., $\mathfrak{A}_i = 0$ for $i < i_0$ for some i_0 . Given an open covering \mathfrak{U} of X, consider the double complex

$$L_{p,q} = \check{C}_p(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A}_q).$$

There are two spectral sequences of this double complex. In one of them we have

$$E_{p,q}^{1} = {}^{\prime}H_{q}(L_{*,p}) = \check{H}_{q}(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A}_{p}) = \begin{cases} \mathfrak{A}_{p}(X), & \text{for } q = 0, \\ 0, & \text{for } q \neq 0 \end{cases}$$

by 4.5. Thus

$$E_{p,q}^2 = \begin{cases} H_p(\mathfrak{A}_*(X)), & \text{for } q = 0, \\ 0, & \text{for } q \neq 0. \end{cases}$$

Since this spectral sequence degenerates, we have the natural isomorphism

$$H_n(L_*) \approx H_n(\mathfrak{A}_*(X)),$$

where L_* is the total complex of $L_{*,*}$.

In the other spectral sequence we have

$$E^1_{p,q} = {''}H_q(L_{p,*}) = \check{C}_p(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{H}_q(\mathfrak{A}_*)),$$

whence

$$E_{p,q}^2 = \check{H}_p(\mathfrak{U}; \mathfrak{H}_q(\mathfrak{A}_*))$$

By the assumption that \mathfrak{A}_* is bounded below, this spectral sequence converges to $H_n(L_*)$. Therefore we have the spectral sequences

$$E_{p,q}^{2}(\mathfrak{U}) = \check{H}_{p}(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{H}_{q}(\mathfrak{A}_{*})) \Longrightarrow H_{p+q}(\mathfrak{A}_{*}(X)),$$

$$(2)$$

which are functorial in the coverings \mathfrak{U} as well as in the flabby differential cosheaves \mathfrak{A}_* .

7 Coresolutions

Let n be an integer. By a semi-n-coresolution of a cosheaf \mathfrak{A} we mean a differential cosheaf \mathfrak{A}_* vanishing in negative degrees together with an augmentation homomorphism $\mathfrak{A}_0 \to \mathfrak{A}$ such that the precosheaf $\tilde{H}_p(\mathfrak{A}_*(\bullet))$ is locally zero for $p \leq n-1$ and $\tilde{H}_n(\mathfrak{A}_*(\bullet))$ is semilocally zero. It is an n-coresolution if $\tilde{H}_n(\mathfrak{A}_*(\bullet))$ is locally zero. Of course, the statement that $\tilde{H}_p(\mathfrak{A}_*(\bullet))$ is locally zero for $p \leq n-1$ just means that the sequence

$$\mathfrak{A}_n \xrightarrow{d} \cdots \xrightarrow{d} \mathfrak{A}_2 \xrightarrow{d} \mathfrak{A}_1 \xrightarrow{d} \mathfrak{A}_0 \xrightarrow{\varepsilon} \mathfrak{A} \to 0$$

is *locally* exact. Note that by 2.3 the portion $\mathfrak{A}_1 \to \mathfrak{A}_0 \to \mathfrak{A} \to 0$ is actually exact, and so

$$\mathfrak{A} \approx H_0(\mathfrak{A}_*).$$

In this section we fix the integer n > 0 and assume that \mathfrak{A}_* is a given flabby semi-*n*-coresolution of a given cosheaf \mathfrak{A} . We shall study the spectral sequences of the previous section. We shall also assume that X is *paracompact*.

7.1. Lemma. If \mathfrak{U} is a sufficiently fine open covering of X, then the canonical projection $H_k(\mathfrak{A}_*(X)) \twoheadrightarrow E_{k,0}^{\infty}(\mathfrak{U})$ is an isomorphism for all $k \leq n$. **Proof.** Let $\mathfrak{U}_0 = \{X\}$, the trivial covering. Construct a sequence of coverings \mathfrak{U}_i such that

$$E_{i,k-i}^2(\mathfrak{U}_{i+1}) \to E_{i,k-i}^2(\mathfrak{U}_i)$$

is zero. If i = 0, then this is $\check{H}_0(\mathfrak{U}_1; \mathfrak{H}_k(\mathfrak{A}_*)) \to \check{H}_0(\{X\}; \mathfrak{H}_k(\mathfrak{A}_*)) = \mathfrak{H}_k(\mathfrak{A}_*)(X)$, which is zero for some \mathfrak{U}_1 since $\mathfrak{H}_k(\mathfrak{A}_*)$ is semilocally zero. If 0 < i < k, then $\mathfrak{H}_{k-i}(\mathfrak{A}_*)$ is locally zero, so that the refinement \mathfrak{U}_{i+1} exists by 4.6. The fact that $E^2_{i,k-i}(\mathfrak{U}_{i+1}) \to E^2_{i,k-i}(\mathfrak{U}_i)$ is zero implies that $E^r_{i,k-i}(\mathfrak{U}_{i+1}) \to E^r_{i,k-i}(\mathfrak{U}_i)$ is zero for all $r \geq 2$ including $r = \infty$, for i < k.

Now, for the spectral sequence of \mathfrak{U}_i the total term $H_k(\mathfrak{A}_*(X))$ is filtered by submodules

$$H_k(\mathfrak{A}_*(X)) = J_{k,0}^i \supset J_{k-1,1}^i \supset \cdots \supset J_{0,k}^i \supset 0$$

such that $E_{p,k-p}^{\infty}(\mathfrak{U}_i) \approx J_{p,k-p}^i/J_{p-1,k-p+1}^i$. Since the refinements have no effect on the common total terms $H_k(\mathfrak{U}_*(X))$, each map $J_{k,0}^{i+1} \to J_{k,0}^i$ is an isomorphism. Consequently each map $J_{p,k-p}^{i+1} \to J_{p,k-p}^i$ is a monomorphism. Note that $J_{0,k}^0 = J_{k,0}^0$. The fact that $E_{i,k-i}^{\infty}(\mathfrak{U}_{i+1}) \to E_{i,k-i}^{\infty}(\mathfrak{U}_i)$ is zero means that the refinement takes $J_{i,k-i}^{i+1} \to J_{i-1,k-i+1}^i$. Thus

$$J_{k-1,1}^k \rightarrowtail J_{k-2,2}^{k-1} \rightarrowtail \cdots \rightarrowtail J_{0,k}^1 \rightarrowtail J_{-1,k+1}^0 = 0,$$

whence $H_k(\mathfrak{A}_*(X)) = J_{k,0}^k = J_{k,0}^k / J_{k-1,1}^k = E_{k,0}^\infty(\mathfrak{U}_k).$

Now let \mathfrak{U} be a given open covering sufficiently fine so that it satisfies 7.1, and put $\mathfrak{U}_1 = \mathfrak{U}$. Fix some $k \leq n$. Construct refinements \mathfrak{U}_i of \mathfrak{U}_{i-1} for $i = 2, \ldots, k$ such that

$$E_{p,q}^2(\mathfrak{U}_i) \to E_{p,q}^2(\mathfrak{U}_{i-1})$$

is zero for all p, q with p + q < k and $q \neq 0$. This can be done by 4.6 since $\mathfrak{H}_q(\mathfrak{A}_*)$ is locally zero for 0 < q < k.

Then the image of $E_{k,0}^2(\mathfrak{U}_n) \to E_{k,0}^2(\mathfrak{U}_{n-1})$ consists of d_2 -cycles and hence induces a homomorphism

$$E_{k,0}^2(\mathfrak{U}_k) \to E_{k,0}^3(\mathfrak{U}_{k-1}).$$

Similarly, we obtain homomorphisms

$$E^3_{k,0}(\mathfrak{U}_{k-1}) \to E^4_{k,0}(\mathfrak{U}_{k-2}) \to \cdots \to E^{k+1}_{k,0}(\mathfrak{U}_1) = E^{\infty}_{k,0}(\mathfrak{U}),$$

whence the composition gives a homomorphism

$$E_{k,0}^2(\mathfrak{U}_k) \to E_{k,0}^\infty(\mathfrak{U}). \tag{3}$$

This provides the commutative diagram

Letting $\mathfrak{U}_k = \mathfrak{V}$, this yields the diagram

$$\begin{split} \check{H}_{k}(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{V}) & \xrightarrow{\mu} H_{k}(\mathfrak{A}_{*}(X)) \\ & \downarrow_{j} & \parallel \\ \check{H}_{k}(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A}) & \xleftarrow{\lambda} H_{k}(\mathfrak{A}_{*}(X)), \end{split}$$

where j is the refinement projection, the λ 's are edge homomorphisms, and μ is induced by (3). Checking the definitions, we see that the following commutativity relations hold:

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{l} \lambda = j\lambda', \\ j = \lambda\mu, \\ \mu\lambda' = 1. \end{array} \right.$$

Also, λ and λ' are monomorphisms. The relations show that $\mathrm{Im}\,j=\mathrm{Im}\,\lambda$ and that

$$j: \operatorname{Im} \lambda' \xrightarrow{\approx} \operatorname{Im} \lambda$$

Thus we have proved the following result:

7.2. Theorem. Let \mathfrak{A}_* be a flabby semi-*n*-coresolution of the cosheaf \mathfrak{A} on the paracompact space X. Then for $k \leq n$, the edge homomorphisms $\lambda_{\mathfrak{U}} : H_k(\mathfrak{A}_*(X)) \to \check{H}_k(\mathfrak{U}; \mathfrak{A})$ of the spectral sequences of the coverings \mathfrak{U} induce an isomorphism in the limit over $\{\mathfrak{U}\}$:

$$\lambda_X: H_k(\mathfrak{A}_*(X)) \xrightarrow{\approx} \check{H}_k(X; \mathfrak{A}).$$

In fact, we have shown that if \mathfrak{U} is a sufficiently fine open covering of X, then $\lambda_{\mathfrak{U}}: H_k(\mathfrak{A}_*(X)) \to \check{H}_k(\mathfrak{U}; \mathfrak{A})$ is a monomorphism onto the image of the canonical projection

$$\pi: \check{H}_k(X; \mathfrak{A}) \to \check{H}_k(\mathfrak{U}; \mathfrak{A})$$

and, moreover, that π is a monomorphism. Moreover, given this \mathfrak{U} , then for any sufficiently fine refinement \mathfrak{V} of \mathfrak{U} we have $\operatorname{Im} j = \operatorname{Im} \lambda = \operatorname{Im} \pi$ and $j : \operatorname{Im} \lambda' \xrightarrow{\approx} \operatorname{Im} \lambda$, with the notation as in the proof.

8 Relative Čech homology

Here we shall indicate how to generalize the previous results to relative cohomology. This is relatively important since we do not have a way of introducing support families into Čech homology.

Let $A \subset X$ be an arbitrary subspace. For a precosheaf \mathfrak{A} on A recall that \mathfrak{A}^X denotes the precosheaf

$$\mathfrak{A}^X(U) = \mathfrak{A}(U \cap A)$$

§8. Relative Čech homology

on X. Also take note of Exercise 3.

A covering of the pair (X, A) is a pair $(\mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{U}_{\circ})$, where \mathfrak{U} is a covering of X and $\mathfrak{U}_{\circ} \subset \mathfrak{U}$ is a covering of A in X. If \mathfrak{A} is a precosheaf on A, then we have the canonical isomorphism

$$\check{C}_*(\mathfrak{U}_\circ;\mathfrak{A}^X)pprox\check{C}_*(\mathfrak{U}_\circ\cap A;\mathfrak{A}).$$

Suppose that \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{B} are precosheaves on A and X respectively and that we are given a *monomorphism* of precosheaves

$$\eta:\mathfrak{A}^X\rightarrowtail\mathfrak{B}.$$

Then we obtain the induced monomorphic chain map

$$\check{C}_*(\mathfrak{U}_{\circ} \cap A; \mathfrak{A}) \rightarrow \check{C}_*(\mathfrak{U}; \mathfrak{B}),$$

and we shall denote its cokernel by

$$\check{C}_*(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_{\circ};\mathfrak{B},\mathfrak{A}).$$

Thus we have the natural exact sequence

$$0 \to \check{C}_*(\mathfrak{U}_{\circ} \cap A; \mathfrak{A}) \to \check{C}_*(\mathfrak{U}; \mathfrak{B}) \to \check{C}_*(\mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{U}_{\circ}; \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{A}) \to 0$$

of chain complexes. As usual, we define

$$\check{H}_n(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_\circ;\mathfrak{B},\mathfrak{A})=H_n(\check{C}_*(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_\circ;\mathfrak{B},\mathfrak{A})).$$

There is the usual long exact sequence in homology

$$\cdots \to \check{H}_n(\mathfrak{U}_{\circ} \cap A; \mathfrak{A}) \to \check{H}_n(\mathfrak{U}; \mathfrak{B}) \to \check{H}_n(\mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{U}_{\circ}; \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{A}) \to \check{H}_{n-1}(\mathfrak{U}_{\circ} \cap A; \mathfrak{A}) \to \cdots$$

We also define

$$\check{H}_n(X,A;\mathfrak{B},\mathfrak{A})=\varprojlim_{(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_\circ)}\check{H}_n(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_\circ;\mathfrak{B},\mathfrak{A}).$$

Now assume that \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{B} are *flabby cosheaves*. Then 4.5 applied to the relative homology sequence yields the conclusion that $\check{H}_n(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_o;\mathfrak{B},\mathfrak{A})=0$ for n > 1 and also yields the exact sequence

$$0 \to \check{H}_1(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_{\circ};\mathfrak{B},\mathfrak{A}) \to \check{H}_0(\mathfrak{U}_{\circ} \cap A;\mathfrak{A}) \to \check{H}_0(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{B}) \to \check{H}_0(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_{\circ};\mathfrak{B},\mathfrak{A}) \to 0.$$

The two middle terms of this sequence are canonically isomorphic to $\mathfrak{A}^X(X) = \mathfrak{A}(A)$ and $\mathfrak{B}(X)$ respectively by 4.1, and the map between them is the monomorphism $\eta(X)$. Therefore

$$\check{H}_n(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_{\mathfrak{o}};\mathfrak{B},\mathfrak{A})=\left\{egin{array}{cc} 0, & ext{for }n
eq 0, \ ext{Coker}\,\eta(X):\mathfrak{A}(A) o\mathfrak{B}(X), & ext{for }n=0 \end{array}
ight.$$

when \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{B} are flabby cosheaves.

Now suppose that \mathfrak{A}_* and \mathfrak{B}_* are flabby differential cosheaves on A and X respectively that are bounded below. Also suppose that we are given an exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathfrak{A}_*^X \to \mathfrak{B}_* \to \mathfrak{C}_* \to 0,$$

defining \mathfrak{C}_* , of differential cosheaves.

Given the pair $(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_{\circ})$ of coverings, we consider the double complex

$$L_{p,q}(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_{\circ})=\check{C}_{p}(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_{\circ};\mathfrak{B}_{q},\mathfrak{A}_{q}).$$

As before, it follows that there is a natural spectral sequence $E^r_{p,q}(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_{\diamond})$ with

$$E^1_{p,q}(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_{\circ})=''H_q(L_{p,st}(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_{\circ}))$$

 and

$$E_{p,q}^{2}(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_{\circ}) = 'H_{p}(''H_{q}(L_{*,*}(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_{\circ}))) \Longrightarrow H_{p+q}(\mathfrak{C}_{*}(X)).$$
(5)

Now suppose that \mathfrak{B}_* is a flabby semi-*n*-coresolution of the cosheaf \mathfrak{B} on X and that \mathfrak{A}_* is a flabby (n-1)-coresolution of the cosheaf \mathfrak{A} on A.² For each p, the exact sequence

$$0 \to \check{C}_p(\mathfrak{U}_{\circ} \cap A; \mathfrak{A}_*) \to \check{C}_p(\mathfrak{U}; \mathfrak{B}_*) \to \check{C}_p(\mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{U}_{\circ}; \mathfrak{B}_*, \mathfrak{A}_*) \to 0$$

induces a long exact sequence of the form

$$\cdots \to \check{C}_p(\mathfrak{U}_{\circ} \cap A; \mathfrak{H}_q(\mathfrak{A}_*)) \to \check{C}_p(\mathfrak{U}; \mathfrak{H}_q(\mathfrak{B}_*)) \to E^1_{p,q}(\mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{U}_{\circ}) \to \\ \cdots \to \check{C}_p(\mathfrak{U}; \mathfrak{H}_1(\mathfrak{B}_*)) \to E^1_{p,1}(\mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{U}_{\circ}) \to \check{C}_p(\mathfrak{U}_{\circ} \cap A; \widetilde{\mathfrak{H}}_0(\mathfrak{A}_*)) = 0,$$

$$(6)$$

where $\widetilde{\mathfrak{H}}_0(\mathfrak{A}_*) = \operatorname{Ker} \{ \mathfrak{H}_0(\mathfrak{A}_*) \to \mathfrak{A} \} = 0$. Moreover, we have the exact sequence

$$\check{C}_p(\mathfrak{U}_{\circ} \cap A; \mathfrak{A}) \to \check{C}_p(\mathfrak{U}; \mathfrak{B}) \to E^1_{p,0}(\mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{U}_{\circ}) \to 0.$$

This gives

$$E_{p,0}^{1}(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_{\circ}) = C_{p}(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_{\circ};\mathfrak{B},\mathfrak{A}),$$
$$E_{p,0}^{2}(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_{\circ}) = \check{H}_{p}(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_{\circ};\mathfrak{B},\mathfrak{A}).$$

Moreover, if X and A are both paracompact, then by (6) and 4.6 (twice) there exists a refining pair $(\mathfrak{V}, \mathfrak{V}_{\circ})$ of $(\mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{U}_{\circ})$ and a refinement projection such that the induced homomorphism

$$E^1_{p,q}(\mathfrak{V},\mathfrak{V}_\circ) \to E^1_{p,q}(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_\circ)$$

is zero for all p < k and all q > 0 with $p + q = k \leq n.$ Also, the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} E^{1}_{0,k}(\mathfrak{V},\mathfrak{V}_{\circ}) \to \check{C}_{0}(\mathfrak{V}_{\circ} \cap A;\mathfrak{H}_{k-1}(\mathfrak{A}_{*})) \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow_{0} \\ \check{C}_{0}(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{H}_{k}(\mathfrak{B}_{*})) \to E^{1}_{0,k}(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_{\circ}) \to \check{C}_{0}(\mathfrak{U}_{\circ} \cap A;\mathfrak{H}_{k-1}(\mathfrak{A}_{*})) \\ \downarrow_{0} & \downarrow \\ H_{k}(\mathfrak{B}_{*}(X)) \to H_{k}(\mathfrak{C}_{*}(X)) \end{array}$$

²Note that unless A is closed, it does not generally follow that \mathfrak{C}_* is a coresolution of $\operatorname{Coker}(\mathfrak{A}^X \to \mathfrak{B})$.

shows that $(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_{\circ})$ and $(\mathfrak{V},\mathfrak{V}_{\circ})$ can be arranged so that $E^{1}_{0,k}(\mathfrak{V},\mathfrak{V}_{\circ}) \to H_{k}(\mathfrak{C}_{*}(X))$ is zero.

We now have all the information needed to repeat the arguments in Section 7 in the relative case. Summing up, we have the following relative version of 7.2:

8.1. Theorem. Let $A \subset X$ both be paracompact, let \mathfrak{A}_* be a flabby (n - 1)-coresolution of the cosheaf \mathfrak{A} on A, and let \mathfrak{B}_* be a flabby semi-*n*-coresolution of the cosheaf \mathfrak{B} on X. Suppose that $0 \to \mathfrak{A}^X_* \to \mathfrak{B}_* \to \mathfrak{C}_* \to 0$ is an exact sequence of differential cosheaves. Then for $k \leq n$ the edge homomorphisms

$$H_k(\mathfrak{C}_*(X)) \twoheadrightarrow E^\infty_{k,0}(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_\circ) \rightarrowtail E^2_{k,0}(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_\circ) = \check{H}_k(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_\circ;\mathfrak{B},\mathfrak{A})$$

of the spectral sequences (5) induce isomorphisms

$$H_k(\mathfrak{C}_*(X)) \xrightarrow{\approx} \check{H}_k(X,A;\mathfrak{B},\mathfrak{A})$$

in the limit over covering pairs $(\mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{U}_{\circ})$.

It is easy to see that via 8.1 and 7.2 the exact sequence

$$\cdots \to H_k(\mathfrak{A}_*(A)) \to H_k(\mathfrak{B}_*(X)) \to H_k(\mathfrak{C}_*(X)) \to H_{k-1}(\mathfrak{A}_*(A)) \to \cdots$$

can be identified with the sequence

$$\cdots \to \check{H}_k(A;\mathfrak{A}) \to \check{H}_k(X;\mathfrak{B}) \to \check{H}_k(X,A;\mathfrak{B},\mathfrak{A}) \to \check{H}_{k-1}(A;\mathfrak{A}) \to \cdots,$$

which is the inverse limit of the sequences for covering pairs. In particular, it follows that this homology sequence is *exact*, a fact that limits the possibilities for the existence of the hypothesized coresolutions, since Čech homology is not generally exact.

8.2. We wish to generalize 4.8 to the relative case. Thus assume that \mathfrak{A}_1 and \mathfrak{A}_2 are precosheaves on A and that \mathfrak{B}_1 and \mathfrak{B}_2 are precosheaves on X, and assume that we are given homomorphisms forming the commutative diagram

Then we have the following result, whose proof is essentially the same as that for 4.8 and so will be omitted.

8.3. Proposition. If (X, A) is a paracompact pair and h and k are local isomorphisms, then the induced map

$$\dot{H}_*(X,A;\mathfrak{B}_1,\mathfrak{A}_1)\to \dot{H}_*(X,A;\mathfrak{B}_2,\mathfrak{A}_2)$$

is an isomorphism.

9 Locally paracompact spaces

By a strategy introduced by Mardešić [59] in the locally compact case, one can prove a result similar to 8.1 for locally paracompact, but possibly not paracompact, spaces. This is the process of introducing *paracompact carriers*.

Suppose that Φ is a paracompactifying family Φ of supports on X with $E(\Phi) = X$. Then the family Φ° of paracompact open sets U with $\overline{U} \in \Phi$ will be called a *carrier family*. We shall not be concerned with any other type of support family in this chapter. Recall that for any sets $K, K' \in \Phi$ with $K \subset \operatorname{int} K'$ there is a set $U \in \Phi^{\circ}$ with with $K \subset U$ and $\overline{U} \subset \operatorname{int} K'$ (the union of an increasing sequence of members of Φ containing K, each a neighborhood of the last and contained in $K'' \in \Phi$ for some $K'' \subset \operatorname{int} K'$; see [34, p. 165]). Therefore a carrier family exists $\Leftrightarrow X$ is locally paracompact.

The most important case is that of locally compact spaces and $\Phi = c$. The next most important is the case in which X is paracompact and $\Phi = cld$.

Let (X, A) be a locally paracompact pair. Let Φ° and Ψ° be carrier families on X and A respectively. Then we define³

$$\check{H}_{k}^{\diamond}(X,A;\mathfrak{B},\mathfrak{A}) = \underline{\lim}\check{H}_{k}(U,V;\mathfrak{B},\mathfrak{A}),$$

where the limit is taken over pairs (U, V), where $V \subset U$, $U \in \Phi^{\circ}$, and $V \in \Psi^{\circ}$. Note that for any cosheaf \mathfrak{C} ,

$$\mathfrak{C}(X) = \underline{\lim}_{U \in \Phi^{\circ}} \mathfrak{C}(U),$$

because for any $c \in \mathfrak{C}(X)$ and a covering $\mathfrak{U} = \{U_{\alpha} \in \Phi^{\circ}\}, c \text{ comes from some } \mathfrak{C}(U_{\alpha_0} \cup \cdots \cup U_{\alpha_k}) \text{ and } U_{\alpha_0} \cup \cdots \cup U_{\alpha_k} \text{ is contained in some } U \in \Phi^{\circ}.$ Consequently,

$$H_{k}(\mathfrak{C}_{*}(X)) = \underline{\lim}_{U \in \Phi^{\circ}} H_{k}(\mathfrak{C}_{*}(U)),$$

for any differential cosheaf \mathfrak{C}_* . Therefore we have:

9.1. Theorem. With the hypotheses of 8.1 except that X and A are assumed to be locally paracompact rather than paracompact, there is a canonical isomorphism

$$H_k(\mathfrak{C}_*(X)) pprox \check{H}_k^\diamond(X,A;\mathfrak{B},\mathfrak{A})$$

for all $k \leq n$. In particular, if such a \mathfrak{C}_* exists, then the groups on the right are independent of the carrier family Φ° used to define them. Also,

$$\check{H}_{k}^{\diamond}(X,A;\mathfrak{B},\mathfrak{A}) \approx \check{H}_{k}(X,A;\mathfrak{B},\mathfrak{A})$$

if X and A are paracompact.

The analogue of 8.3 also obviously holds in this case.

³Of course these groups may depend on the families Φ and Ψ , but in our applications they will not. Thus we chose this relatively uncluttered notation over one displaying the families explicitly.

10 Borel-Moore homology

We now apply 8.1 to the case of Borel-Moore homology. Thus we consider only locally compact spaces in this section.

First, we shall associate to any sheaf \mathscr{A} on a locally connected (and locally compact) space a certain cosheaf on X:

10.1. Proposition. Let X be locally compact. Then for any sheaf \mathcal{A} on X, the precosheaf $H_0^c(\bullet; \mathcal{A})$ is a cosheaf.

Proof. Let $\mathscr{L}_p = \mathscr{C}_p(X; L)$, the sheaf of germs of Borel-Moore *p*-chains, and let $\mathscr{H} = \operatorname{Ker}(d : \mathscr{L}_0 \to \mathscr{L}_{-1})$. Then by the proof of V-5.13, $\mathscr{H} \otimes \mathscr{A}$ is *c*-soft and the sequence

$$0 \to \Gamma_c(\mathscr{K} \otimes \mathscr{A}|U) \to \Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}_0 \otimes \mathscr{A}|U) \to \Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}_{-1} \otimes \mathscr{A}|U) \to 0$$

is exact. Thus $\Gamma_c(\mathcal{K}\otimes \mathcal{A}|U)$ is the group of 0-cycles of U. Therefore, by definition, we have the exact sequence

$$\Gamma_c(\mathscr{L}_1 \otimes \mathscr{A}|U) \to \Gamma_c(\mathscr{K} \otimes \mathscr{A}|U) \to H^c_0(U;\mathscr{A}) \to 0$$

of precosheaves. Since the first two terms are cosheaves by V-1.6, the last is also a cosheaf by 1.2. $\hfill \Box$

By the proof of 10.1, the Borel-Moore chain complex $C^c_*(X; \mathscr{A})$ can be replaced by a chain complex vanishing in negative degrees without changing the homology with compact supports, namely:

$$\bar{C}_p^c(U;\mathscr{A}) = \begin{cases} C_p^c(U;\mathscr{A}), & \text{for } p > 0, \\ \operatorname{Ker}\{C_0^c(U;\mathscr{A}) \to C_{-1}^c(U;\mathscr{A})\}, & \text{for } p = 0, \\ 0, & \text{for } p < 0. \end{cases}$$

Also note that by the proof of 10.1 the precosheaf

$$\overline{\mathfrak{C}}^c_{p}(X;\mathscr{A}):U\mapsto ar{C}^c_{p}(U;\mathscr{A})$$

is a flabby cosheaf.

By general results from Chapter V there is an exact sequence

$$0 \to \overline{\mathfrak{C}}_p^c(A; \mathscr{A} | A)^X \to \overline{\mathfrak{C}}_p^c(X; \mathscr{A}) \to \overline{\mathfrak{C}}_p^c(X, A; \mathscr{A}) \to 0,$$

which defines the right-hand term.

10.2. Definition. A locally compact space X is said to be semi-hlcⁿ_L if the precosheaf $U \mapsto \tilde{H}^c_k(U; L)$ is locally zero for all k < n and semilocally zero for k = n.

10.3. Proposition. Let X be hlc_L^0 . Then X is locally connected, and for the constant sheaf M we have

$$H^c_0(\bullet\,;M)\approx \mathfrak{Cosheaf}(M).$$

Proof. The universal coefficient sequence V-3.13 shows that $H_0^c(U; M) \approx$ $H^c_0(U;L) \otimes M$ since $H^c_{-1}(U;L) = 0$. It follows that $\tilde{H}^c_0(\bullet;M)$ is locally zero. There is the natural exact sequence

$$0 \to \tilde{H}_0^c(U; M) \to H_0^c(U; M) \to M \to 0$$

of precosheaves, by definition of the reduced groups. Thus $H_0^c(\bullet; M) \rightarrow$ M is a local isomorphism. Since $H_0^c(\bullet; M)$ is a cosheaf by 10.1, M is smooth, and the local isomorphism $H_0^c(\bullet; M) \to M$ induces an isomorphism $H_0^c(\bullet; M) \to \mathfrak{Cosheaf}(M)$. By Exercise 5,⁴ X is locally connected.

10.4. Proposition. If X is semi-hlcⁿ_L and if M is a constant sheaf, then $\overline{\mathfrak{C}}^c_*(X;M)$ is a flabby semi-n-coresolution of the cosheaf $H^c_0(\bullet;M)$. If X is hlc_L^n and if \mathscr{A} is locally constant, then $\overline{\mathfrak{C}}^c_{\star}(X;\mathscr{A})$ is a flabby n-coresolution of the cosheaf $H_0^c(\bullet; \mathscr{A})$.

Proof. By the definition of semi- hlc_L^n , the precosheaf $U \mapsto H_p^c(U;L)$ is locally zero for 0 , is semilocally zero for <math>p = n, and is locally isomorphic to L for p = 0. That takes care of the case M = L. For general M the universal coefficient formula V-3.13 and II-17.3 show that $\hat{H}_{k}^{c}(\bullet; M)$ is locally zero for k < n. For k = n and appropriate choices of U and Vthey give the diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H_n^c(V;M) & \twoheadrightarrow & H_{n-1}^c(V;L) * M \\ & & & & \downarrow & & \downarrow_0 \\ H_n^c(U;L) \otimes M & \mapsto & H_n^c(U;M) & \twoheadrightarrow & H_{n-1}^c(U;L) * M \\ & & & \downarrow & & \\ & & \downarrow & & & \\ H_n^c(X;L) \otimes M & \mapsto & H_n^c(X;M), \end{array}$$

again giving the result via II-17.3. The locally constant case with the stronger condition obviously reduces to the constant case.

Finally, from 10.4, 8.1, and 9.1 we have:

10.5. Theorem. Let (X, A) be a locally compact pair. Let \mathcal{A} be a sheaf on X and let $\mathfrak{H}_0(X,A;\mathscr{A})$ denote the cosheaf pair $H_0^c(\bullet;\mathscr{A}|A) \to H_0^c(\bullet;\mathscr{A})$ on X. Then we have a canonical isomorphism

$$H^c_k(X,A;\mathscr{A})\approx\check{H}^\diamond_k(X,A;\mathfrak{H}_0(X,A;\mathscr{A}))$$

for all $k \leq n$ under either of the following two conditions:

(a) X is semi-hlcⁿ_L, A is hlc^{n-1}_L , and \mathscr{A} is constant.

(b) X is hlc_L^n , A is hlc_L^{n-1} , and \mathscr{A} is locally constant.

10.6. Corollary. (Jussila [50].) Let (X, A) be a locally compact pair, and assume that X is semi-hlcⁿ_L and A is hlc^{n-1}_L for some n > 0.5 Then for

⁴Or by the implications $hlc_L^0 \Rightarrow clc_L^0 \Rightarrow$ locally connected. ⁵The condition n > 0 is to ensure that M is smooth.

any L-module M regarded as a constant sheaf and constant precosheaf pair,

$$H^c_k(X,A;M)\approx \check{H}^\diamond_k(X,A;M)$$

for all $k \leq n$.

Proof. By 10.3, M is locally isomorphic to $\operatorname{Cosheaf}(M) \approx H_0^c(\bullet; M)$, and similarly on A. Thus the result follows from 10.5 and 8.3.

10.7. Example. For i = 1, 2, ... let K_i be a copy of \mathbb{S}^n . Let $f_i : K_{i+1} \to K_i$ be a base point preserving map of degree i and let M_i be the mapping cylinder of f_i . Let I_i be the generator of M_i between the base points and let $g : I_i \to \mathbb{S}^1$ wrap the arc I_i once around the circle. Let

$$X_m = \left((M_1 \cup \cdots \cup M_m) \cup_q \mathbb{D}^2 \right) / (K_1 \cup K_m).$$

There is a surjection $\pi_m : X_{m+1} \twoheadrightarrow X_m$ collapsing M_{m+1} to its generator. Finally, let $X = \varprojlim X_m$. Then with integer coefficients one can compute that $H_i(X_m) = 0$ for $0 < i \le n$ and $H_{n+1}(X_m) \approx \mathbb{Z}$ for all m. Also, the inverse system

$$H_{n+1}(X_1) \leftarrow H_{n+1}(X_2) \leftarrow \cdots$$

has the form

$$\mathbb{Z} \xleftarrow{2} \mathbb{Z} \xleftarrow{3} \mathbb{Z} \xleftarrow{4} \mathbb{Z} \xleftarrow{5} \cdots$$

Consequently, $H^i(X_m) = 0$ for $0 < i \le n$ and the direct system

$$H^{n+1}(X_1) \to H^{n+1}(X_2) \to \cdots$$

has the form

 $\mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{2} \mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{3} \mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{4} \mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{5} \cdots$

Therefore, by continuity II-14.6, we have

$$H^n(X;\mathbb{Z}) = 0$$
 and $H^{n+1}(X;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Q}$.

Thus

$$H_n(X;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \operatorname{Ext}(\mathbb{Q},\mathbb{Z}),$$

which is a rational vector space of uncountable dimension by V-14.8. Also,

$$\check{H}_n(X;\mathbb{Z}) = \lim \{\mathbb{Z} \xleftarrow{2} \mathbb{Z} \xleftarrow{3} \cdots \} = 0.$$

Now, any point of X has arbitrarily small neighborhoods that are either contractible or homotopy-equivalent to the one-point union of *n*-spheres converging to a point. Thus X is $hlc_{\mathbb{Z}}^{n-1}$ and $HLC_{\mathbb{Z}}^{n-1}$. Since $Ext(\mathbb{Q},\mathbb{Z}) \approx H_n(X;\mathbb{Z}) \not\approx \check{H}_n(X;\mathbb{Z}) = 0$, X cannot be semi- $hlc_{\mathbb{Z}}^n$, something for which there is no obvious direct argument.

11 Modified Borel-Moore homology

Here we shall treat the theory

$$\overline{H}_{k}^{c}(X;M) = H_{k}(\mathfrak{D}_{*}(\mathscr{I}^{*}(X;L);M)) = H_{k}(\Gamma_{c}(\mathscr{H}om(\mathscr{I}^{*}(X;L);M^{*}))),$$

where M^* is an injective resolution of the *L*-module *M*. Recall that this was discussed briefly in V-18. Of course, this coincides with Borel-Moore homology when M = L. We shall confine the discussion to the absolute case. Again, this section is restricted to locally compact Hausdorff spaces.

11.1. Lemma. If X is clc_L^{n+1} then $\mathfrak{D}_*(\mathscr{I}^*(X;L);M)$ is a flabby quasi-n-coresolution of the constant precosheaf M.⁶

Proof. There are the exact sequences (natural in compact A by an analogue of V-4.1)

$$0 \to \operatorname{Ext}(H_c^{k+1}(A;L),M) \to \overline{H}_k(A;M) \to \operatorname{Hom}(H_c^k(A;L),M) \to 0,$$

which with II-17.3 show that for any compact neighborhood A of a point $x \in X$ there is a compact neighborhood B of x such that $\overline{H}_k(B; M) \to \overline{H}_k(A; M)$ is zero for $0 < k \leq n$. Thus the precosheaf $\overline{H}_k^c(\bullet; M)$ is locally zero for $0 < k \leq n$. An argument similar to the proof of V-5.14 shows that $\overline{H}_0^c(\bullet; M)$ is locally isomorphic to M.

In the same way as for standard Borel-Moore homology, one can modify $\mathfrak{D}_*(\mathscr{I}^*(X;L);M)$ in degree zero, without changing $\overline{H}^c_*(\bullet;M)$, to produce a flabby *n*-coresolution of M. Then 7.2 gives us:

11.2. Theorem. If X is clc_L^{n+1} , then there is a canonical isomorphism

$$\overline{H}_{k}^{c}(X;M)\approx\check{H}_{k}^{\diamond}(X;M)$$

for all $k \leq n$.

Since $clc_L^{n+1} \Rightarrow hlc_L^n$ by V-12.10, we deduce the following sufficient condition for this modified theory to be equivalent to the standard Borel-Moore homology theory, using 10.5 and 11.2.

11.3. Corollary. If X is clc_L^{n+1} , then there is a canonical isomorphism

$$\overline{H}_{k}^{c}(X;M) \approx H_{k}^{c}(X;M)$$

for all $k \leq n$.

⁶If X is compact and $H^{n+1}(X; L) \to H^{n+1}(K; L)$ is zero for some compact neighborhood K of each point, then this is a flabby semi-(n + 1)-coresolution. This is true, for example if X is compact and $H^{n+1}(X; L)$ is finitely generated over L.

- Remark: This result also follows fairly easily from the results of V-12 as long as M is finitely generated over L. But for general M, that approach does not seem to work. Some such result is probably true for general paracompactifying supports, but one such is not known to the author.
 - It is worth noting the following consequence of the last corollary.

11.4. Corollary. If X is compact and clc_L^{n+1} , then there are the split exact sequences

$$0 \to \operatorname{Ext}(H^{k+1}(X;L),M) \to H_k(X;M) \to \operatorname{Hom}(H^k(X;L),M) \to 0$$

for all $k \leq n$.

11.5. Corollary. If X is clc_L^{n+1} , then change of rings is valid for Borel-Moore homology with compact supports through degree n. \Box

12 Singular homology

Now we apply the results of this chapter to classical singular homology. We shall use the approach to singular homology suggested in I-7. Thus, for a sheaf \mathcal{A} on X, we define

$$S_p(U; \mathscr{A}) = \bigoplus_{\sigma} \Gamma(\sigma^*(\mathscr{A})),$$

where the sum ranges over all singular *p*-simplices $\sigma : \Delta_p \to U$. (Although this makes sense for all sheaves \mathscr{A} , our main results will require \mathscr{A} to be locally constant.) Then $S_*(U; \mathscr{A})$ has a boundary operator as in I-7. There is also a subdivision operator $\Upsilon : S_p(U; \mathscr{A}) \to S_p(U; \mathscr{A})$ defined in the obvious way via the map $\Delta'_p \to \Delta_p$ on the barycentric subdivision Δ'_p of the standard *p*-simplex Δ_p .

Consider the direct system

$$S_p(U;\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\Upsilon} S_p(U;\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\Upsilon} \cdots,$$

and let $\mathfrak{S}_p(X; \mathscr{A})(U)$ be its direct limit. Then $\mathfrak{S}_p(X; \mathscr{A})$ is a precosheaf on X. Now subdivision induces an isomorphism in homology, and so the canonical map

$$H_p(S_*(U;\mathscr{A})) \to H_p(\mathfrak{S}_*(X;\mathscr{A})(U))$$

is an isomorphism. We denote it by

$${}_{\Delta}H^c_p(U;\mathscr{A}) = H_p(\mathfrak{S}_*(X;\mathscr{A})(U)).$$

If \mathscr{A} is constant, then this is the classical singular homology group, and for \mathscr{A} locally constant it is the classical singular homology group with twisted coefficients as defined by Steenrod.⁷

12.1. Proposition. The precosheaf $\mathfrak{S}_p(X; \mathscr{A})$ is a flabby cosheaf.

⁷The superscript c is used to maintain notational consistency with other parts of the book.

Proof. For $U \subset X$ open, $S_p(U; \mathscr{A}) \to S_p(X; \mathscr{A})$ is a monomorphism. Since the direct limit functor is exact, $\mathfrak{S}_p(X; \mathscr{A})(U) \to \mathfrak{S}_p(X; \mathscr{A})(X)$ is a monomorphism. This will show that $\mathfrak{S}_p(X; \mathscr{A})$ is flabby once we show it to be a cosheaf. To see the latter, note that for open sets U and V and any *n*-chain $s \in S_p(U \cup V; \mathscr{A})$, there is an integer k such that the kth subdivision $\Upsilon^k(s)$ is the sum $s = s_U + s_V$, $s_U \in S_p(U; \mathscr{A})$ and $s_V \in S_p(V; \mathscr{A})$. This means that $f\langle s, t \rangle = s + t$ of

$$\mathfrak{S}_p(X;\mathscr{A})(U)\oplus\mathfrak{S}_p(X;\mathscr{A})(V)\stackrel{f}{\longrightarrow}\mathfrak{S}_p(X;\mathscr{A})(U\cup V)$$

is onto. It is also clear that its kernel is the image of

$$\mathfrak{S}_p(X;\mathscr{A})(U\cup V) \xrightarrow{g} \mathfrak{S}_p(X;\mathscr{A})(U) \oplus \mathfrak{S}_p(X;\mathscr{A})(V),$$

where $g(s) = \langle s, -s \rangle$. Thus $\mathfrak{S}_p(X; \mathscr{A})$ satisfies condition (a) of 1.4. It also satisfies (b) since direct limits commute with one another.

If $A \subset X$ is any subspace, then there is the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathfrak{S}_p(A; \mathscr{A} | A) \to \mathfrak{S}_p(X; \mathscr{A}) \to \mathfrak{S}_p(X, A; \mathscr{A}) \to 0,$$

where the relative precosheaf $\mathfrak{S}_p(X, A; \mathscr{A})$ is defined in a manner similar to that of the absolute groups. By 1.2, $\mathfrak{S}_p(X, A; \mathscr{A})$ is a cosheaf. It is flabby for the same reason that the absolute ones are.

12.2. Proposition. For any sheaf \mathscr{A} on X, the precosheaf ${}_{\Delta}H_0^c(\bullet;\mathscr{A})$ is a cosheaf. If X is locally arcwise connected and if $\mathscr{A} = M$ is constant, then this cosheaf is the constant cosheaf

$${}_{\Delta}H^c_0(\bullet\,;M)=\mathfrak{Cosheaf}(M).$$

Proof. By definition, we have the exact sequence

$$\mathfrak{S}_1(X;\mathscr{A}) \to \mathfrak{S}_0(X;\mathscr{A}) \to {}_{\Delta}H_0(\bullet;\mathscr{A}) \to 0$$

of precosheaves on X. By 1.2, $\Delta H_0^c(\bullet; \mathscr{A})$ is a cosheaf.

Also, $_{\Delta}H_0^c(U; M)$ is the direct sum of copies of M over the arc components of U. Thus the augmentation $_{\Delta}H_0^c(U; M) \to M$ is an isomorphism if U is arcwise connected, and this means that $_{\Delta}H_0^c(\bullet; M) \to M$ is a local isomorphism of cosheaves when X is locally arcwise connected. \Box

12.3. Definition. A space X is said to be semi-HLCⁿ_L if the precosheaf $U \to \Delta \tilde{H}_k^c(U;L)$ is locally zero for all k < n and semilocally zero for k = n.

Using the usual universal coefficient formula for singular homology, the proof of the following fact is completely analogous to that of 10.4:

12.4. Proposition. If X is semi-HLCⁿ_L and if M is a constant sheaf, then $\mathfrak{S}_*(X, A; M)$ is a flabby semi-n-coresolution of the cosheaf ${}_{\Delta}H^c_0(\bullet; M)$. If X is HLCⁿ_L and if \mathscr{A} is locally constant, then $\mathfrak{S}_*(X, A; \mathscr{A})$ is a flabby n-coresolution of the cosheaf ${}_{\Delta}H^c_0(\bullet; \mathscr{A})$.

Finally, from 12.4, 8.1, and 9.1 we have:

12.5. Theorem. Let $A \subset X$ be locally paracompact, let \mathscr{A} be a sheaf on X, and let $\Delta \mathfrak{H}_0(X, A; \mathscr{A})$ denote the cosheaf pair $\Delta H_0^c(\bullet; \mathscr{A}|A) \to \Delta H_0^c(\bullet; \mathscr{A})$ on X. Then there is a canonical isomorphism

$${}_{\Delta}H^c_k(X,A;\mathscr{A})\approx\check{H}^{\diamond}_k(X,A;{}_{\Delta}\mathfrak{H}_0(X,A;\mathscr{A}))$$

for $k \leq n$, under either of the following two conditions:

- (a) X is semi-HLCⁿ_L, A is HLCⁿ⁻¹_L, and \mathscr{A} is constant.
- (b) X is HLC_L^n , A is HLC_L^{n-1} , and \mathscr{A} is locally constant.

12.6. Corollary. (Mardešić [59].) Let (X, A) be a locally paracompact pair and assume that X is semi-HLCⁿ_L and A is HLC^{n-1}_L . Then for any L-module M regarded as a constant sheaf and constant precosheaf pair,

$$_{\Delta}H_{k}^{c}(X,A;M)\approx\check{H}_{k}^{\diamond}(X,A;M)$$

for all $k \leq n$.

13 Acyclic coverings

Let \mathfrak{A}_* be a flabby differential cosheaf vanishing in negative degrees, and put $\mathfrak{A} = \operatorname{Coker} \{\mathfrak{A}_1 \to \mathfrak{A}_0\}$. Consider the spectral sequence (2). We have the edge homomorphism

$$\lambda_{\mathfrak{U}}: H_n(\mathfrak{A}_*(X)) \twoheadrightarrow E_{n,0}^{\infty} \rightarrowtail E_{n,0}^2 = \check{H}_n(\mathfrak{U}; \mathfrak{A}).$$

The following is immediate:

13.1. Theorem. If each intersection U of at most m + 1 members of \mathfrak{U} has

$$H_q(\mathfrak{A}_*(U)) = 0 \text{ for all } 0 \neq q < n,$$

then

$$\lambda_{\mathfrak{U}}: H_k(\mathfrak{A}_*(X)) \to \check{H}_k(\mathfrak{U}; \mathfrak{A})$$

is an isomorphism for all $k < \min\{n, m\}$ and a monomorphism for $k = \min\{n, m\}$.

Applying this to Borel-Moore homology, we have:

13.2. Corollary. Let \mathscr{A} be an arbitrary sheaf on the locally compact Hausdorff space X. Let \mathfrak{U} be an open covering of X such that for each intersection U of at most m + 1 members of \mathfrak{U} , $H_q^c(U; \mathscr{A}) = 0$ for all 0 < q < n. Then the canonical map

$$H_k^c(X; \mathscr{A}) \to \check{H}_k(\mathfrak{U}; H_0^c(\bullet; \mathscr{A}))$$

is an isomorphism for all $k < \min\{n, m\}$ and a monomorphism for $k = \min\{n, m\}$.

Similarly, for singular homology we have:

13.3. Corollary. Let \mathscr{A} be an arbitrary sheaf on the space X. Let \mathfrak{U} be an open covering of X such that for each intersection U of at most m + 1 members of \mathfrak{U} , $\Delta H^c_a(U; \mathscr{A}) = 0$ for all 0 < q < n. Then the canonical map

$$\Delta H_k^c(X;\mathscr{A}) \to \check{H}_k(\mathfrak{U}; \Delta H_0^c(\bullet; \mathscr{A}))$$

is an isomorphism for all $k < \min\{n, m\}$ and a monomorphism for $k = \min\{n, m\}$.

14 Applications to maps

In this section we consider a map

 $f: E \to X.$

Recall that for a precosheaf \mathfrak{B} on E there is the direct image $f\mathfrak{B}$ on X defined by

$$(f\mathfrak{B})(U) = \mathfrak{B}(f^{-1}U).$$

Obviously, $f\mathfrak{B}$ is a cosheaf when \mathfrak{B} is a cosheaf, and $f\mathfrak{B}$ is flabby when \mathfrak{B} is flabby.

If \mathfrak{B}_* is a flabby differential cosheaf on E, then $\mathfrak{A}_* = f\mathfrak{B}_*$ is a flabby differential cosheaf on X. Also $\mathfrak{H}_q(\mathfrak{A}_*) = f\mathfrak{H}_q(\mathfrak{B}_*)$ since f is an exact functor of *pre*cosheaves, and so the spectral sequence (2) has

$$E^2_{p,q}(\mathfrak{U}) = \check{H}_p(\mathfrak{U}; f\mathfrak{H}_q(\mathfrak{B}_*)) \Longrightarrow H_{p+q}(\mathfrak{A}_*(X)) = H_{p+q}(\mathfrak{B}_*(E)),$$

natural in coverings \mathfrak{U} of X.

In particular, for Borel-Moore homology (with X locally compact Hausdorff), we have the spectral sequences

$$E^2_{p,q}(\mathfrak{U}) = \check{H}_p(\mathfrak{U}; H^c_q(f^{-1}(\bullet); \mathscr{A}) \Longrightarrow H^c_{p+q}(E; \mathscr{A}),$$

natural in coverings \mathfrak{U} and in sheaves \mathscr{A} on E.

Similarly, for singular homology, we have the spectral sequences

$$E_{p,q}^{2}(\mathfrak{U})=\check{H}_{p}(\mathfrak{U};{}_{\Delta}H_{q}^{c}(f^{-1}(\bullet);\mathscr{A})\Longrightarrow{}_{\Delta}H_{p+q}^{c}(E;\mathscr{A}),$$

natural in coverings \mathfrak{U} and in sheaves \mathscr{A} on E.

Now we shall prove a generalization of 7.2. Suppose that \mathfrak{A}_* is a flabby differential cosheaf with $\mathfrak{A}_p = 0$ for p < 0 (or generally just bounded below). Also suppose that we are given integers $0 \leq k < n$ such that

(A) $\mathfrak{H}_q(\mathfrak{A}_*)$ is locally zero for all $q \neq k$, q < n, and semilocally zero for q = n.

Let
$$\mathfrak{Z}_p = \operatorname{Ker} \{ d_p : \mathfrak{A}_p \to \mathfrak{A}_{p-1} \}$$
. Then, by 2.5,

$$\mathfrak{A}_k \to \mathfrak{A}_{k-1} \to \cdots \to \mathfrak{A}_0 \to 0$$

is exact and

 \mathfrak{Z}_k is a flabby cosheaf.

Moreover, it is clear that

$$\mathfrak{A}_{n+1} \to \cdots \to \mathfrak{A}_{k+1} \to \mathfrak{Z}_k \to \mathfrak{H}_k(\mathfrak{A}_*) \to 0$$

is locally exact. Thus, under the assumption (A), we see that $\mathfrak{H}_k(\mathfrak{A}_*)$ is a cosheaf and that the differential cosheaf \mathfrak{A}'_* , defined by

$$\mathfrak{A}_q' = \left\{ egin{array}{ll} 0, & ext{for } q < 0, \ \mathfrak{Z}_k, & ext{for } q = 0, \ \mathfrak{A}_{k+q} & ext{for } q > 0 \end{array}
ight.$$

is a flabby semi-(n-k)-coresolution of $\mathfrak{H}_k(\mathfrak{A}_*)$.

By 7.2 and 9.1 we deduce:

14.1. Theorem. Let X be locally paracompact and let \mathfrak{A}_* be a flabby differential cosheaf on X that is bounded below and is such that condition (A) is satisfied. Then there is the canonical isomorphism

$$H_p(\mathfrak{A}_*(X)) \approx \check{H}_{p-k}^{\diamond}(X;\mathfrak{H}_k(\mathfrak{A}_*))$$

for all $p \leq n$.

Returning to the case of a map $f: E \to X$, let $E_{\circ} \subset E$ be any subspace. Applying 14.1 to the flabby differential cosheaves $f \mathfrak{C}^{c}_{*}(E, E_{\circ}; \mathscr{A})$ and $f \mathfrak{S}_{*}(E, E_{\circ}; \mathscr{A})$, we have:

14.2. Corollary. Suppose that X and (E, E_{\circ}) are locally compact, that \mathscr{A} is a sheaf on E, and that there are integers k < n such that the precosheaf

$$H^c_q(f^{-1}(ullet), f^{-1}(ullet) \cap E_\circ; \mathscr{A})$$

is locally zero for $k \neq q < n$ and semilocally zero for q = n. Then this precosheaf is zero for q < k and is a cosheaf for q = k. Moreover, there is a canonical isomorphism

$$H_p^c(E, E_{\circ}; \mathscr{A}) \approx \check{H}_{p-k}^{\diamond}(X; H_k^c(f^{-1}(\bullet), f^{-1}(\bullet) \cap E_{\circ}; \mathscr{A}))$$

for all $p \leq n$.

14.3. Corollary. Suppose that X is a locally paracompact space, that \mathcal{A} is a sheaf on E, and that there are integers k < n such that the precosheaf

$$\Delta H^c_q(f^{-1}(\bullet), f^{-1}(\bullet) \cap E_\circ; \mathscr{A})$$

is locally zero for $k \neq q < n$ and semilocally zero for q = n. Then this precosheaf is zero for q < k and is a cosheaf for q = k. Moreover, there is a canonical isomorphism

$${}_{\Delta}H^{c}_{p}(E, E_{\circ}; \mathscr{A}) \approx \check{H}^{\circ}_{p-k}(X; {}_{\Delta}H^{c}_{k}(f^{-1}(\bullet), f^{-1}(\bullet) \cap E_{\circ}; \mathscr{A}))$$

for all $p \leq n$.

Exercises

- 1. If $h: \mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{B}$ is an epimorphism of precosheaves and \mathfrak{A} is an epiprecosheaf, then show that \mathfrak{B} is an epiprecosheaf.
- 2. If \mathfrak{A} is a locally zero epiprecosheaf, then show that $\mathfrak{A} = 0$.
- 3. For an inclusion $A \subset X$ and a precosheaf \mathfrak{A} on A, show that \mathfrak{A}^X is a cosheaf $\Leftrightarrow \mathfrak{A}$ is a cosheaf and that \mathfrak{A}^X is flabby $\Leftrightarrow \mathfrak{A}$ is flabby.
- 4. (s) Let \mathfrak{A}_* be a flabby *n*-coresolution of the cosheaf \mathfrak{A} on the paracompact space X. Show that for every open covering \mathfrak{U} of X, the canonical maps $H_{n+1}(\mathfrak{A}_*(X)) \to \check{H}_{n+1}(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A}) \leftarrow \check{H}_{n+1}(X;\mathfrak{A})$ have equal images.
- 5. (§) If the constant precosheaf $M \neq 0$ on X is smooth, show that X is locally connected.
- 6. (s) If X is connected and semi- hlc_L^0 , then show that $\tilde{H}_0^c(X; L) = 0$. (This shows, for example, that the solenoid is not semi- hlc_L^0 , something that is not immediately obvious.)

Appendix A Spectral Sequences

This appendix is not intended as an exposition of the theory of spectral sequences, but rather as a vehicle for the establishment of the notation and terminology that we adopt and as an outline of the basic theory. Most of the proofs, which are not difficult, are omitted. We assume that a base ring L is given.

1 The spectral sequence of a filtered complex

Let C^* be a complex, that is, a graded module with differential $d: C^* \to C^*$ of degree +1. A (decreasing) filtration $\{F_pC^*\}$ of C^* is defined to be a collection of submodules F_pC^n of C^n (for each n) such that the following three conditions are satisfied:

$$\cdots \supset F_{p-1}C^n \supset F_pC^n \supset F_{p+1}C^n \supset \cdots;$$
(1)

$$C^n = \bigcup_p F_p C^n; \tag{2}$$

$$d(F_p C^n) \subset F_p C^{n+1}.$$
(3)

The filtration is said to be *regular* if $F_pC^n = 0$ for p > f(n), for some function f. (This definition of regularity is stronger than the usual one, but it is convenient for our purposes.)

The graded module associated with the filtration $\{F_pC^*\}$ is defined to be $\{G_pC^*\}$, where

$$G_p C^* = F_p C^* / F_{p+1} C^*.$$
(4)

We define the graded modules

$$Z_r^p = \{ c \in F_p C^* \, | \, dc \in F_{p+r} C^* \}$$
(5)

 and

$$E_r^p = \frac{Z_r^p}{dZ_{r-1}^{p-r+1} + Z_{r-1}^{p+1}} = \frac{Z_r^p}{B_r^p} \tag{6}$$

(for $r \ge 0$), and we let $Z_r^{p,q}$ and $E_r^{p,q}$ denote the summands of Z_r^p and E_r^p , respectively, consisting of terms of total degree (that degree induced from the degree in C^*) equal to p + q. That is,

$$Z_r^{p,q} = Z_r^p \cap F_p C^{p+q} = \{ c \in F_p C^{p+q} \, | \, dc \in F_{p+r} C^{p+q+1} \}$$

and

$$E_r^{p,q} = \frac{Z_r^{p,q}}{dZ_{r-1}^{p-r+1,q+r-2} + Z_{r-1}^{p+1,q-1}}.$$

The index p is called the *filtration degree* and q is called the *complementary* degree.

The differential d on C^* induces a differential d_r on $E_r^{*,*}$, which increases the filtration degree by r by (5) and hence decreases the complementary degree by r-1 since the total degree of d is +1. That is,

$$d_r: E_r^{p,q} \to E_r^{p+r,q-r+1}.$$
(7)

It is easy to check that the homology of E_r with respect to d_r is naturally isomorphic to E_{r+1} . That is,

$$E_{r+1} \approx H(E_r, d_r)$$
 preserving both degrees. (8)

It may also be checked that

$$E_1^{p,q} \approx H^{p+q}(G_p C^*),$$

with d_1 corresponding to the connecting homomorphism associated with the short exact sequence

$$0 \rightarrow \frac{F_{p+1}C^*}{F_{p+2}C^*} \rightarrow \frac{F_pC^*}{F_{p+2}C^*} \rightarrow \frac{F_pC^*}{F_{p+1}C^*} \rightarrow 0$$

of chain complexes.

The collection of bigraded modules $E_r^{p,q}$ for $r \ge 2$ (and sometimes for $r \ge 1$) together with the differentials d_r as in (7) and satisfying (8) is what is known abstractly as a *spectral sequence*. We have described the construction of *the* spectral sequence of a filtered complex. We continue with the discussion of this special case.

The definitions (5) and (6) can be extended in a reasonable manner to make sense for $r = \infty$ if we define $F_{\infty}C^* = 0$ and $F_{-\infty}C^* = C^*$. Thus we define

$$Z_{\infty}^{p} = \{ c \in F_{p}C^{*} \, | \, dc = 0 \}$$
(9)

and

$$E_{\infty}^{p} = \frac{Z_{\infty}^{p}}{(F_{p}C^{*} \cap dC^{*}) + Z_{\infty}^{p+1}} = \frac{Z_{\infty}^{p}}{B_{\infty}^{p}}.$$
 (10)

We introduce a filtration on $H^*(C^*)$ by setting

$$F_p H^n(C^*) = \operatorname{Im}(H^n(F_p C^*) \to H^n(C^*)).$$
 (11)

Then there is a natural isomorphism

$$E_{\infty}^{p,q} \approx G_p H^{p+q}(C^*) = \frac{F_p H^{p+q}(C^*)}{F_{p+1} H^{p+q}(C^*)}.$$
 (12)

Note that there are inclusions

$$\dots \subset B_r^p \subset B_{r+1}^p \subset \dots \subset B_{\infty}^p \subset Z_{\infty}^p \subset \dots \subset Z_{r+1}^p \subset Z_r^p \subset \dots$$
(13)

Suppose now that the filtration $\{F_pC^*\}$ of C^* is regular. Then $Z_r^{p,q} = Z_{r+1}^{p,q} = \cdots = Z_{\infty}^{p,q}$ for r sufficiently large, p and q being fixed. (Equivalently, $d_r: E_r^{p,q} \to E_r^{p+r,q-r+1}$ is zero for large r.) Thus there are natural epimorphisms (for r sufficiently large)

$$E_r^{p,q} \twoheadrightarrow E_{r+1}^{p,q} \twoheadrightarrow \cdots \twoheadrightarrow E_{\infty}^{p,q}.$$
 (14)

One can check that in fact,

$$E_{\infty}^{p,q} = \lim_{t \to \infty} E_r^{p,q} \tag{15}$$

when the filtration is regular. (Usually, in the applications we even have that the $E_r^{p,q}$ are constant for large r and fixed p and q.)

Let $\{E_r^{p,q}; d_r\}$ be any spectral sequence such that for fixed p and q we have that $d_r: E_r^{p,q} \to E_r^{p+r,q-r+1}$ is zero for sufficiently large r. Then we have the epimorphisms $E_r^{p,q} \to E_{r+1}^{p,q}$ for r large as in (14), taking a d_r -cycle in E_r into its homology class in E_{r+1} , and we define $E_{\infty}^{p,q}$ by (15). Suppose that we are given a graded module A^* and a filtration $\{F_pA^*\}$ of A^* such that

$$E^{p,q}_{\infty} \approx G_p A^{p+q}$$

Then this fact will be abbreviated by the notation

$$E_2^{p,q} \Longrightarrow A^{p+q}.$$

For example, in the case of a regularly filtered complex C^* we have, by (12),

$$E_2^{p,q} \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}(C^*).$$

2 Double complexes

Suppose that $C^{*,*}$ is a double complex, that is, a family of modules doubly indexed by the integers and with differentials

$$d': C^{p,q} \to C^{p+1,q}$$
 and $d'': C^{p,q} \to C^{p,q+1}$

such that $(d')^2 = 0$, $(d'')^2 = 0$ and d'd'' + d''d' = 0. Let C^* be the "total" complex, with

$$C^n = \bigoplus_{p+q=n} C^{p,q}$$

and differential d = d' + d''.

We introduce two filtrations into the complex C^* . The first filtration 'F is defined by

$$F_t C^n = \bigoplus_{p \ge t} C^{p,q} \qquad p+q = n.$$

Similarly, the second filtration "F is given by

$$''F_tC^n = \bigoplus_{q \ge t} C^{p,q} \qquad p+q = n.$$

From these filtrations we obtain spectral sequences denoted by $\{E_r^{p,q}\}$ and $\{E_r^{p,q}\}$ respectively.

Denoting homology with respect to d' and d'' by 'H and "H respectively, it can be seen that

$${}^{\prime}E_{1}^{p,q} \approx {}^{\prime\prime}H^{q}(C^{p,*}) \quad \text{and} \quad {}^{\prime\prime}E_{1}^{p,q} \approx {}^{\prime}H^{q}(C^{*,p}),$$
(16)

with differentials d_1 corresponding to the differentials induced by d' and d'' respectively. Therefore

$${}^{\prime}E_{2}^{p,q} \approx {}^{\prime}H^{p}({}^{\prime\prime}H^{q}(C^{*,*})) \text{ and } {}^{\prime\prime}E_{2}^{p,q} \approx {}^{\prime\prime}H^{p}({}^{\prime}H^{q}(C^{*,*})).$$
(17)

Note that if $C^{p,q} = 0$ for $p < p_0$ (p_0 fixed), then the second filtration is regular, while if $C^{p,q} = 0$ for $q < q_0$, the first spectral sequence is regular. Another useful condition implying regularity of both filtrations is that there exist integers p_0 and p_1 such that $C^{p,q} = 0$ for $p < p_0$ and for $p > p_1$.

Assume, for the remainder of this section, that $C^{*,*}$ is a double complex, with $C^{p,q} = 0$ for q < 0. For $r \ge 2$, $E_r^{p,0}$ consists entirely of d_r -cycles, so that there is a natural epimorphism

$$E_r^{p,0} \twoheadrightarrow E_{r+1}^{p,0}$$

assigning to a cycle its homology class. Also,

$${}^{\prime}E_{\infty}^{p,0} = {}^{\prime}G_{p}H^{p}(C^{*}) = {}^{\prime}F_{p}H^{p}(C^{*}) \subset H^{p}(C^{*})$$

[since ${}^\prime F_{p+1}H^p(C^*) = 0$ in the present situation]. Thus we obtain the homomorphisms

$${}^{\prime}H^{p}({}^{\prime\prime}H^{0}(C^{*,*})) = {}^{\prime}E^{p,0}_{2} \twoheadrightarrow {}^{\prime}E^{p,0}_{\infty} \rightarrowtail H^{p}(C^{*}),$$
(18)

whose composition is called an *edge homomorphism*. Since " $H^0(C^{*,*})$ may be identified with the d"-cycles of $C^{*,0}$, there is a monomorphism

$${}^{\prime\prime}H^0(C^{*,*}) \rightarrowtail C^*, \tag{19}$$

which is seen to be a chain map with respect to the differentials $d' = d_1$ and d respectively. The homology homomorphism induced by (19) is easily checked to be identical with (18). [The reader should note that the homomorphism (18) is defined under more general circumstances. For example, it suffices that $C^{p,q} = 0$ for $q < q_0$ and that $'E_2^{p,q} = 0$ for q < 0.]

If $C^{p,q} = 0$ for p < 0 as well as for q < 0, then there is an analogous edge homomorphism

$$H^{p}(C^{*}) = {}^{\prime}F_{0}H^{p}(C^{*}) \twoheadrightarrow {}^{\prime}G_{0}H^{p}(C^{*}) = {}^{\prime}E_{\infty}^{0,p} \rightarrowtail {}^{\prime}E_{2}^{0,p} = {}^{\prime}H^{0}({}^{\prime\prime}H^{p}(C^{*,*})).$$

There are also, of course, similar edge homomorphisms for the second spectral sequence.

3 Products

Let ${}_{1}C^{*}$, ${}_{2}C^{*}$, and ${}_{3}C^{*}$ be complexes, and assume we are given homomorphisms

$$h: {}_{1}C^{p} \otimes {}_{2}C^{q} \to {}_{3}C^{p+q} \tag{20}$$

such that

$$d(\alpha\beta) = (d\alpha)\beta + (-1)^{\deg\alpha}\alpha(d\beta), \qquad (21)$$

where we denote $h(\alpha \otimes \beta)$ by the juxtaposition $\alpha\beta$.

Assume further that we are given filtrations of each of these complexes such that

$$\alpha \in F_s({}_1C^p) \text{ and } \beta \in F_t({}_2C^q) \Rightarrow \alpha\beta \in F_{s+t}({}_3C^{p+q}).$$
 (22)

Denote the spectral sequence of the filtered complex ${}_{i}C^{*}$ by $\{{}_{i}E^{p,q}_{r}\}$. It follows easily from the definition (6) that there are induced products

$$h_r: {}_1E_r^{p,q} \otimes {}_2E_r^{s,t} \to {}_3E_r^{p+s,q+t}$$

$$\tag{23}$$

and that the differentials d_r satisfy the analogue of (21). Also, the product h_{r+1} is induced from h_r via the isomorphism $E_{r+1} \approx H(E_r)$. It is also clear that h_{∞} is induced from the h_r via the isomorphism $E_{\infty} \approx \lim E_r$ when the filtrations in question are regular.

On the other hand, because of (21), h induces a product

$$H^p(_1C^*) \otimes H^q(_2C^*) \to H^{p+q}(_3C^*)$$

satisfying the analogue of (22), for the filtrations given by (11). Because of this analogue of (22) we obtain an induced product

$$G_p H^{p+q}({}_1C^*) \otimes G_s H^{s+t}({}_2C^*) \to G_{p+s} H^{p+s+q+t}({}_3C^*).$$

By (12) this is equivalent to a product

$$_{1}E_{\infty}^{p,q}\otimes _{2}E_{\infty}^{s,t} \rightarrow _{3}E_{\infty}^{p+s,q+t}$$

which can be seen to coincide with h_{∞} .

A special case of importance is that in which the ${}_{i}C^{*}$ are the total complexes of double complexes ${}_{i}C^{*,*}$ and in which h arises from a product

$$_{1}C^{p,q} \otimes _{2}C^{s,t} \rightarrow _{3}C^{p+s,q+t}$$

In this case the condition (22) is satisfied for both the first and second filtrations.

4 Homomorphisms

Let ${}_1C^*$ and ${}_2C^*$ be complexes with given filtrations and assume that we are given a chain map

$$h: {}_1C^* \to {}_2C^* \tag{24}$$

such that

$$h(F_p({}_1C^*)) \subset F_p({}_2C^*).$$
 (25)

This situation is actually a special case of that considered in Section 3.

In brief, h induces homomorphisms

$$h_r: {}_1E_r^{p,q} \to {}_2E_r^{p,q}, \tag{26}$$

which commute with the differentials d_r ; h_{r+1} is induced from h_r via the isomorphism $E_{r+1} \approx H(E_r)$; and in the case of regularly filtered complexes, h_{∞} is induced from the h_r via the isomorphism $E_{\infty} \approx \underline{\lim} E_r$. Moreover, h_{∞} is compatible, in the obvious sense, with the homomorphism

$$h^*: H^n({}_1C^*) \to H^n({}_2C^*).$$

It is sometimes useful to note that h^* cannot decrease the filtration degree of an element, which is the same as to say that it cannot increase the complementary degree.

A basic and often used fact concerning this situation is that if h is a chain map of regularly filtered complexes such that for some k,

$$h_k: {}_1E_k^{p,q} \to {}_2E_k^{p,q}$$

is an isomorphism for all p and q, then so is $h^*: H^n({}_1C^*) \to H^n({}_2C^*)$. This is proved by a standard spectral sequence argument as follows: The fact that h_k is a d_k -chain map and that h_{k+1} is the induced homomorphism in homology implies that h_{k+1} is an isomorphism. Inductively, h_r is an isomorphism for $r \ge k$, and consequently, h_∞ is also an isomorphism, by regularity. Then a repeated 5-lemma argument, using the regularity of the filtrations of $H^n({}_iC^*)$, shows that

$$h^*: F_p H^n({}_1C^*) \to F_p H^n({}_2C^*)$$

is an isomorphism for each p. The contention then follows from the fact that $H^n({}_iC^*) = \bigcup_n F_p H^n({}_iC^*)$.

When h_r is an isomorphism for all $r \ge k$ including $r = \infty$ and when h^* is also an isomorphism, then we say that this map of spectral sequences is an "isomorphism from E_k on." Thus, for regularly filtered complexes, this is equivalent to the hypothesis that h_k be an isomorphism.
Appendix B

Solutions to Selected Exercises

This appendix contains the solutions to a number of the exercises. Those exercises chosen for inclusion are the more difficult ones, or more interesting ones, or were chosen because of the importance of their usage in the main text.

Solutions for Chapter I:

- 1. By definition, $i^*\mathscr{A} = \{\langle b, a \rangle \in B \times \mathscr{A} \mid b = \pi(a)\}$ and $\mathscr{A} \mid B = \pi^{-1}(B)$. The functions $\langle b, a \rangle \mapsto a$ of $i^*\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A} \mid B$ and $a \mapsto \langle \pi(a), a \rangle$ of $\mathscr{A} \mid B \to i^*\mathscr{A}$ are both continuous and mutually inverse.
- 2. We will use the fact from I-Exercise 1 that $(i\mathscr{B})|B \approx i^*i\mathscr{B}$. The canonical homomorphism $\alpha : i^*i\mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{B}$ of Section I-4 is the composition

$$(i^*i\mathscr{B})_b = (i\mathscr{B})_{i(b)} = \varinjlim_{i(b) \in U} (i\mathscr{B})(U) = \varinjlim_{i(b) \in U} \mathscr{B}(i^{-1}U) \to \varinjlim_{b \in V} \mathscr{B}(V) = \mathscr{B}_b$$

on the stalks at $b \in B$, this holding for any map $i: B \to X$ of arbitrary spaces. In our case, in which $i: B \hookrightarrow X$ is an inclusion of a subspace, the sets $i^{-1}U = U \cap B$ form a neighborhood basis of b in B. It follows that the arrow in the displayed composition is an isomorphism. Thus α is an isomorphism on each stalk and hence is an isomorphism.

4. Let X be a locally connected Hausdorff space without isolated points and let \mathscr{P} be a projective sheaf on X. Suppose that $G = \mathscr{P}_{x_0} \neq 0$ for some $x_0 \in X$. Let \mathscr{G} be the constant sheaf on X with stalk G. Let $A = \{x_0\}$, and note that $\mathscr{G}_A \approx \mathscr{P}_A$. Let $k : \mathscr{P} \to \mathscr{G}_A$ be the composition of the canonical epimorphism $\mathscr{P} \to \mathscr{P}_A$ with an isomorphism $\mathscr{P}_A \to \mathscr{G}_A$. The diagram



can be completed since \mathscr{P} is projective. Let s be a section, nonzero at x_{0} , of \mathscr{P} over a connected neighborhood U of x_{0} . Then $h(s(x_{0})) \neq 0$, and this implies that $h \circ s$ is nonzero on some connected neighborhood $V \subset U$ of x_{0} since \mathscr{G} is constant. Let $x \in V$, $x \neq x_{0}$, and put $B = \{x_{0}, x\}$. There is the inclusion map $i : \mathscr{G}_{A} \hookrightarrow \mathscr{G}_{B}$. Consider the diagram



where j is the canonical epimorphism. Since V is connected, $h' \circ s$ is everywhere nonzero on V (since each $W_g = \{y \in V \mid h'(s)(y) = g\}$ is open for $g \in G$ and also closed since its complement is $\bigcup \{W_{g'} \mid g' \neq g\}$, which is open). Therefore $0 \neq j \circ h' \circ s(x) = i \circ k \circ s(x) = 0$, because $(\mathscr{G}_A)_x = 0$. This contradiction shows that $\mathscr{P} = 0$, as claimed.

8. Let $s \in (f \mathscr{A})(Y)$ correspond to $t \in \mathscr{A}(X)$. For $y \in Y$ we have that

$$y \notin |s| \iff \exists \text{ open neighborhood } V \text{ of } y \text{ with } V \cap |s| = \emptyset$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \exists V \ni 0 = r_{V,Y}(s) \in (f\mathscr{A})(V)$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \exists V \ni 0 = r_{f^{-1}(V),X}(t) \in \mathscr{A}(f^{-1}V)$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \exists V \ni f^{-1}(V) \cap |t| = \emptyset$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \exists V \ni V \cap \underline{f(|t|)} = \emptyset$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \exists V \underbrace{\ni V \cap f(|t|)}_{f(|t|)} = \emptyset$$

$$\Leftrightarrow y \notin \overline{f(|t|)}.$$

Therefore $|s| = \overline{f(|t|)}$. Consequently, if $|s| \in \Phi$, then $|t| \subset f^{-1}(|s|) \in f^{-1}(\Phi)$. Conversely, if $|t| \in f^{-1}(\Phi)$, then there is a closed set $K \in \Phi$ with $|t| \subset f^{-1}(K)$, and so $f(|t|) \subset K$. Hence $|s| = \overline{f(|t|)} \subset K$, and so $|s| \in \Phi$.

9. Let y₀ ∈ Y. For a sufficiently small open and connected neighborhood U of y₀ we have that j'_{y0,U} : 𝒜'(U) → 𝒜'_{y0} and j''_{y0,U} : 𝒜''(U) → 𝒜''_{y0} are isomorphisms. If s''₁,..., s''_k are generators of 𝒜''_{y0}, let s_i be elements of 𝒜_{y0} mapping to s''_i. Then U can also be assumed so small that s₁,..., s_k are in the image of j_{y0,U} : 𝒜(U) → 𝒜_{y0}. Then the composition 𝒜(U) → 𝒜_{y0} → 𝒜''_{y0} is onto. It follows that 𝒜(U) → 𝒜''(U) is onto. Since 𝒜' and 𝒜'' are locally constant and U is connected, j'_{y,U} : 𝒜'(U) → 𝒜_y and j''_{y,U} : 𝒜''(U) → 𝒜''_y are isomorphisms for all y ∈ U. Consider the following commutative diagram:

The 5-lemma implies that $j_{y,U} : \mathscr{A}(U) \xrightarrow{\approx} \mathscr{A}_y$ for all $y \in U$. Let $A = \mathscr{A}_{y_0}$. Then the map $J : U \times A \to \mathscr{A}|U$, given by $J(y,a) = j_{y,U}(j_{y_0,U}^{-1}(a))$, is an isomorphism of sheaves. The continuity of J follows from the fact that each $j_{y_0,U}^{-1}(a) \in \mathscr{A}(U)$ is a section.

Note that \mathscr{A} may be nonconstant even when \mathscr{A}' and \mathscr{A}'' are constant, which is shown by the "twisted" sheaf \mathscr{A} on \mathbb{S}^1 with stalks \mathbb{Z}_4 and the subsheaf $\mathscr{A}' = 2\mathscr{A} \approx \mathbb{Z}_2$.

Let C_n, n ≥ 1, be the circle of diameter 1/n tangent to the real axis at the origin. Let X = ∪C_n. Let S_n be the locally constant sheaf with stalk Z₄ on X that is "twisted" on C_n (only), and put A = ⊕ S_n. Then the subgroups Z₂ in each summand of each stalk of A provide a subsheaf A' ⊂ A. The quotient sheaf A'' = A/A' is isomorphic to A', and both A' and A'' are constant sheaves with stalks ⊕ Z₂. The sheaf A is not locally constant since A|C_n is not constant because of the twisted Z₄ in the nth factor.

- 11. It is only necessary to show that $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}'')$ is surjective. Let G'' be the common stalk of \mathscr{A}'' . For $s \in \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}'')$ and $g \in G''$ let $U_g = \{x \in X \mid s(x) = g\}$. This is an open set since it is essentially the intersection of s(x) with the constant section equal to g. Since $X U_g = \bigcup \{U_h \mid h \neq g\}$ is open, U_g is also closed. If G is the stalk of \mathscr{A} , let $f : G'' \to G$ be a function (not a homomorphism) splitting the surjection $G \to G''$ such that f(0) = 0. Put t(x) = f(s(x)). Then t is a section of \mathscr{A} and |t| = |s|. Thus $t \in \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A})$, and it maps to $s \in \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}'')$.
- 12. Take G as coefficient group. For a (possibly infinite) singular p-chain s, we will use the notation s = ∑_σ s(σ)σ, where σ ranges over all singular simplices σ : Δ_p → X and s(σ) ∈ G. By abuse of notation we also set σ ∩ U = σ(Δ_p) ∩ U ⊂ X. If s ∈ Δ_p(X, X − U) and x ∈ U, then there is an open neighborhood V of x such that s(σ) ≠ 0, for at most a finite number of σ such that σ ∩ V ≠ Ø. Let t(σ) = s(σ) if σ ∩ V ≠ Ø and t(σ) = 0 if σ ∩ V = Ø. Then t ∈ Δ^c_p(X, X − V), and the canonical inclusion Δ^c_p(X, X − U). To show that A is a monopresheaf, let U = ⋃U_α, and suppose that s ∈ A(U) has each s_α = s|U_α = 0 in A(U_α). This means that s is a chain in X − ⋃U_α = X − U, but that means that s = 0 in A(U).

Now let $X = \bigcup U_{\alpha}$ and $s_{\alpha} \in A(U_{\alpha})$. Assume that $s_{\alpha}|U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta} = s_{\beta}|U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta}$ for all α, β . Given the singular simplex σ , define $f : \Delta_{p} \to G$ by $f(x) = s_{\alpha}(\sigma)$ for any α such that $\sigma(x) \in U_{\alpha}$. If $\sigma(x) \in U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta}$, then $s_{\alpha}(\sigma) = s_{\beta}(\sigma)$ since $s_{\alpha} - s_{\beta}$ is a chain in $X - (U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta}) \subset X - \{x\}$. Thus f is well-defined. Now, f is locally constant and hence continuous, where G has the discrete topology. Since Δ_{p} is connected, f is constant. Therefore the definition $s(\sigma) = f(x)$ for $x \in \sigma(\Delta_{p})$ makes sense and defines a chain s. Since $s(\sigma) = s_{\alpha}(\sigma)$ for all σ such that $\sigma \cap U_{\alpha} \neq \emptyset$, it follows that s is locally finite and that $s|U_{\alpha} = s_{\alpha}$. Thus A is conjunctive for coverings of X. By I-6.2, $\theta : A(X) \to \Gamma(\Delta_{\bullet})$ is isomorphic when X is paracompact. If $s \in A(X)$ is a locally finite chain such that $\theta(s) \in \Gamma_{c}(\Delta_{\bullet})$ and $K = |\theta(s)|$, then $s(\sigma) = 0$ whenever $\sigma \cap K \neq \emptyset$. Since K is compact and s is locally finite, it follows that s is finite. Therefore, θ restricts to an isomorphism $\Delta_{\bullet}^{*}(X) \xrightarrow{\approx} \Gamma_{c}(\Delta_{\bullet})^{-1}$

To see that A(U) is not generally fully conjunctive, consider two open sets U_1 and U_2 and a singular simplex σ intersecting both U_1 and U_2 but not intersecting $U_1 \cap U_2$. Then $\sigma \in A(U_1)$ and $0 \in A(U_2)$ restrict to the same element $0 \in A(U_1 \cap U_2)$ but do not come from a common element of $A(U_1 \cup U_2)$. Also, if X = [0, 1] and $U_n = (1/n, 1)$, then one can find locally finite chains $s_n \in A(U_n)$ that do come from a (unique) chain s in (0, 1), but with s not locally finite in X.²

14. That d is onto is the statement that a continuous function is locally integrable. That Im i = Ker d is the statement that a differentiable function on an open neighborhood U of $x \in X$ whose derivative is zero on U is

¹Note, however, that c is not paracompactifying unless X is locally compact.

 $^{^{2}}$ Note that the boundary operator does not make sense for infinite non-locally finite chains in general.

constant on some smaller neighborhood V of x, indeed V can be taken to be the component of U containing x. The statement that d is onto is that a continuous function on an open neighborhood U of x can be integrated on a smaller open neighborhood V of x. The group $\mathbb{R}(X)$ of global sections is just the group of constant functions on X since X is connected. Also, $\mathscr{D}(X)$ is the group of continuously differentiable functions on X, and $\mathscr{C}(X)$ is the group of continuous functions on X. Several standard results of elementary calculus imply that

$$0 \to \mathbb{R}(X) \xrightarrow{i_X} \mathscr{D}(X) \xrightarrow{d_X} \mathscr{C}(X) \xrightarrow{\oint} \mathbb{R} \to 0$$

is exact, whence $\operatorname{Coker} d_X \approx \mathbb{R}$. Note also that $0 \to \mathbb{R}(U) \to \mathscr{D}(U) \to \mathscr{C}(U) \to 0$ is exact for all *proper* open $U \subset X$. Also keep in mind that for example, $\mathbb{R}(U)$ is *not* the group of constant functions on U but rather the group of functions on U that are constant on each component of U.

15. First let us show that the presheaf U → G(U) = 𝔅(U)/𝔅(U) is a sheaf. (ℤ is regarded as a *sheaf* here, so that 𝔅(U) is the set of all locally constant functions U → 𝔅; i.e., functions that are constant on each component of U.) Let U = ⋃U_α and let j : 𝔅(U) → G(U) be the projection. To prove (S1), let s, t ∈ 𝔅(U) be such that j(s)|U_α = j(t)|U_α for each α. This means that s-t is locally constant on U. But that implies that j(s) = j(t) on U.

To show that G is conjunctive, let $s_{\alpha} \in \mathscr{F}(U_{\alpha})$ be such that $j(s_{\alpha}) = j(s_{\beta})$ on $U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta}$. This means that $s_{\alpha} - s_{\beta}$ is locally constant on $U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta}$. If V is a component of U, then V is an open interval. One can find an increasing, doubly infinite, discrete on V set of points $x_n \in V$, $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, such that each (x_{n-1}, x_{n+1}) is contained in some U_{α} .³ Let U_n denote one such U_{α} . On the interval (x_n, x_{n+1}) , both s_n and s_{n+1} are defined and their difference is constant on (x_n, x_{n+1}) . Let $p_n = s_n - s_{n+1} \in \mathbb{Z}$ be this constant value. Define a function $s: V \to \mathbb{Z}$ by $s(x) = s_0$ on (x_{-1}, x_1) , by $s(x) = s_n + p_{n-1} + \cdots + p_0$ on (x_{n-1}, x_{n+1}) for n > 0, and by $s(x) = s_n - (p_n + \cdots + p_{-1})$ on (x_{n-1}, x_{n+1}) for n < 0. We see immediately that these definitions agree on the overlaps $(x_{n-1}, x_{n+1}) \cap (x_n, x_{n+2}) = (x_n, x_{n+1})$, and so s is well-defined. Putting these together on all components of U gives a function $s \in \mathscr{F}(U)$ that differs from s_{α} on U_{α} by a locally constant function. Hence, $j(s) \in \mathscr{F}(U)/\mathbb{Z}(U)$ extends each $j(s_{\alpha})$.

Thus the generated sheaf \mathscr{G} is just $\mathscr{G}(U) = \mathscr{F}(U)/\mathbb{Z}(U)$, and in particular, $\mathscr{F}(X) \to \mathscr{G}(X)$ is onto.

Let $t \in \Gamma_c(\mathscr{G})$, and pull t back to some $s \in \Gamma(\mathscr{F})$. Suppose that $|t| \subset [-n, n]$. Then s is constant on $(-\infty, -n)$. We can modify s by a constant function so that the new s is zero on $(-\infty, -n)$. Then s is uniquely defined by this requirement and the fact that it maps into t by the exact sequence $0 \to \mathbb{Z} \to \mathscr{F}(X) \to \mathscr{G}(X) \to 0$. Then t is constant on (n, ∞) . Set k(s) equal to this constant value. Clearly $k(s) = 0 \Leftrightarrow t \in \Gamma_c(\mathscr{F})$. Therefore k induces an exact sequence $0 \to \Gamma_c(\mathbb{Z}) \to \Gamma_c(\mathscr{F}) \to \Gamma_c(\mathscr{G}) \xrightarrow{k} \mathbb{Z} \to 0$, as claimed. Note that $\Gamma_c(\mathbb{Z}) = 0$.

³One chooses x_n (and x_{-n}) by induction on $n \ge 0$ as follows: If x_n has been chosen, consider all intervals (u, v) with $x_n \in (u, v) \subset U_\alpha \cap V$ for some α . Let $N = \sup(v - x_n)$ over this collection of intervals and choose $x_{n+1} > x_n$ so that $x_{n+1} - x_n > N/2$.

Those who have delved into Chapters II and III will note a trivial solution of this problem coming from the exact sequences

$$0 \to \Gamma(\mathbb{Z}) \to \Gamma(\mathscr{F}) \to \Gamma(\mathscr{G}) \to H^1(\mathbb{R};\mathbb{Z})$$

and

$$0 \to \Gamma_c(\mathbb{Z}) \to \Gamma_c(\mathscr{F}) \to \Gamma_c(\mathscr{G}) \to H^1_c(\mathbb{R};\mathbb{Z}) \to H^1_c(\mathbb{R};\mathscr{F})$$

and the facts that $H^1(\mathbb{R};\mathbb{Z}) = 0$, $H^1_c(\mathbb{R};\mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}$, and $H^1_c(\mathbb{R};\mathscr{F}) = 0$ since \mathscr{F} is (obviously) flabby. This indicates the power of the theory in Chapter II.

18. As remarked in I-4, the composition

$$f^*\mathcal{M} \xrightarrow{f^*(\beta)} f^*ff^*\mathcal{M} \xrightarrow{\alpha} f^*\mathcal{M}$$

is the identity. This implies that β is monomorphic over f(A) (for any sheaf \mathcal{M}). But Ker β is a subsheaf of a constant sheaf (hence an open subset as a space) and this implies that $N = \{x \in X \mid (\text{Ker }\beta)_x \neq 0\}$ is open. Since $N \cap f(A) = \emptyset$ and f(A) is dense in X we must have that $N = \emptyset$, i.e., that Ker $\beta = 0$. For the requested counterexample for arbitrary \mathcal{M} , take $A = (0, 1), X = [0, 1], f : A \hookrightarrow X$, and $\mathcal{M} = \mathbb{Z}_{\{0\}}$. Then $ff^*\mathcal{M} = 0$.

19. We know that ${}_{AS}H^n_x(X;G) \approx \check{H}^n_x(X;G)$. But for a cochain $c \in \check{C}^n(\mathfrak{U};G)$, $c(\alpha_0,\ldots,\alpha_n) \neq 0 \Rightarrow U_{\alpha_0,\ldots,\alpha_n} \subset |c|$. Thus, if $0 \neq c \in \check{C}^n_x(\mathfrak{U};G)$, then $\{x\}$ is open in X, in which case the result is trivial.

Solutions for Chapter II:

1. (Compare Section II-18.) Take X = [0, 1], $F = \{0, 1\}$, A = X - F = (0, 1), $\Phi = cld|F$, G any nonzero constant sheaf on X, and $\mathcal{B} = G|A$. Then \mathcal{B} is constant on A and $\mathcal{B}^X = G_A$. We have that

$$H^*_{\Phi|A}(A;\mathscr{B}) = 0$$

since $\Phi|A=0$. Also,

$$H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{B}^X) = H^*_{cld|F}(X; G_A) \approx H^*(X, A; G_A)$$

by II-12.1 since an open set A is always taut. The exact sequence of the pair (X, A) with coefficients in G_A has the segment

$$H^{0}(X;G_{A}) \to H^{0}(A;G|A) \to H^{1}(X,A;G_{A}).$$

$$\tag{1}$$

But the first term is $\Gamma(G_A) = 0$ and the second term is $\Gamma(G|A) \approx G \neq 0$, so that $H^1_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{B}^X) \approx H^1(X, A; G_A) \neq 0$.

It is of interest to note that the next term in the exact sequence (1) is $H^1(X; G_A) \approx H^1(X, F; G) \approx G$ by II-12.3 and using the fact from Chapter III that this is isomorphic to singular cohomology (or using a direct computation). The next term is $H^1(A; G|A) = 0$ since A is contractible and G|A is constant. It follows that for $G = \mathbb{Z}$ we have that $H^1(X, A; \mathbb{Z}_A) \approx \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}$.

2. First suppose that $A \subset X$ is closed. Then we claim that A contains a smallest element. To see this, consider the family \mathfrak{F} of sets of the form $F_x = \{y \in A \mid y \leq x\}$ for $x \in A$. Then \mathfrak{F} satisfies the finite intersection property and so has a nonempty intersection. Obviously this intersection must be a single element, which is min A. Similarly, A contains a largest element. Now assume that $0 \neq \alpha \in H^p(X)$ for some p > 0. Let A be a minimal closed set such that $0 \neq \alpha \in H^p(A)$, which exists by II-10.8. Let $x_0 = \min A$ and $x_1 = \max A$. Now, $A \neq \{x_0, x_1\}$, since $H^p(A) \neq 0$, and so there is an $x \in A$ with $x_0 < x < x_1$. Put $A_0 = \{y \in A \mid y \leq x\}$ and $A_1 = \{y \in A \mid y \geq x\}$. Then $A_0 \cap A_1 = \{x\}$ and $A_0 \cup A_1 = A$. The exact Mayer-Vietoris sequence

$$0 = \tilde{H}^{p-1}(\{x\}) \to H^p(A) \to H^p(A_0) \oplus H^p(A_1)$$

shows that α restricts nontrivially to at least one of A_0 , A_1 . This contradiction shows that α cannot exist.

3. Let T be the "long ray" [0, Ω) compactified by the point Ω at infinity. By II-Exercise 2, T is acyclic. Let L be the long line (-Ω, 0] ∪ [0, Ω). Define the "long contraction" h : L × T → L by h(a, b) = min(a, b) and h(-a, b) = -min(a, b) for a ≥ 0. Then h(x, 0) = 0 and h(x, Ω) = x for all x ∈ L. Let π : L × T → L be the projection and i_t : L → L × T the inclusion i_t(a) = (a, t). By II-11.8, π* is an isomorphism and i_t^{*} = (π*)⁻¹. Now, h ∘ i₀(x) = h(x, 0) = 0 and h ∘ i_Ω(x) = h(x, Ω) = x. Therefore

$$0 = \text{constant}^* = (h \circ i_0)^* = (h \circ i_\Omega)^* = 1^* = 1 : H^p(L) \to H^p(L)$$

for p > 0, whence $H^p(L) = 0$.

- 4. Let $\mathscr{A}_n = \mathbb{Z}_{(-\infty,n)}$. Then $\lim_{n \to \infty} \mathscr{A}_n = \mathbb{Z}$, $\Gamma(\mathscr{A}_n) = 0$ and $\Gamma(\mathbb{Z}) = \mathbb{Z}$, so that θ is not onto. Let $\mathscr{B}_n = \mathbb{Z}_{[n,\infty)}$. Then $\lim_{n \to \infty} \mathscr{B}_n = 0$ and $\lim_{n \to \infty} \Gamma(\mathscr{B}_n) = \mathbb{Z}$, so that θ is not one-to-one.
- 6. Let A and B be two closed subspaces of X that cannot be separated by open sets. There is the canonical map ρ : lim_Γ(ℤ|W) → Γ(ℤ|A ∪ B), induced by restrictions, where W ranges over the open neighborhoods of A∪B. The section s ∈ Γ(ℤ|A∪B) taking value 0 on A and 1 on B cannot be in Im ρ because if t ∈ Γ(ℤ|W) has ρ(t) = s, then the sets U = {w ∈ W | t(w) = 0} and V = {w ∈ W | t(w) = 1} are open neighborhoods of A and B that are disjoint. This shows, by II-10.6, that A∪B is not taut.

One example in which the subspace $A \cup B$ is paracompact is given by the topological 2-manifold M whose boundary consists of an uncountable number of components each homeomorphic to \mathbb{R} and whose boundary can be split into two unions A and B, of its components, that cannot be separated by open sets; see [19, I-17.5].

9. Let $X^+ = X + \{\infty\}$ with open sets the open sets of X and the complements $X^+ - K$ of the members of Φ . Since every point of X has a neighborhood in Φ , X^+ is Hausdorff. We claim that X^+ is paracompact. To see this, let $\{U_{\alpha}\}$ be an open covering of X^+ , and assume that $\infty \in U_{\alpha_0}$. Then $K = X^+ - U_{\alpha_0} \in \Phi$. Let $K' \in \Phi$ be a neighborhood of K. Then K' is covered by the sets $V_{\alpha} = U_{\alpha} \cap \operatorname{int} K'$ and V = K' - K. Let $\{W_{\beta}\}$ be a locally finite refinement of $\{V_{\alpha}\}$ on K'. Then the sets $W_{\beta} \cap \operatorname{int} K'$ and $U_{\alpha_0} = X^+ - K$ form a locally finite refinement of $\{U_{\alpha}\}$. For a sheaf \mathscr{A}

on X we have $H^*(X^+; \mathscr{A}^{X^+}) \approx H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$ by II-10.1 since $\Phi = cld|X$ and cld is paracompactifying on X^+ .

- 10. Let s ∈ 𝔄(V) for V ⊂ X open. Consider the collection 𝔑 of all pairs (W, s_W), where W ⊃ V is open, s_W ∈ 𝔄(W), and s_W|V = s. Order 𝔑 by (W, s_W) < (W', s_{W'}) if W ⊂ W' and s_{W'}|W = s_W. The union of any chain in 𝔑 is in 𝔑, and so 𝔑 is inductively ordered. Suppose that (W, s_W) is maximal in 𝔑. If W ≠ X, then let x ∈ X − W and let U = U_x. Then there is a section s_U ∈ 𝔄(U) with s_U|U ∩ V = s|U ∩ V. Now, s_W − s_U on W ∩ U extends to some t ∈ 𝔄(U), since 𝔄|U is flabby. Then s_W − s_U or W ∩ U to give an extension of s_W to W ∪ U. This contradicts the maximality of (W, s_W) and shows that W = X as desired.
- 11. This an immediate consequence of the cohomology sequence of (X, F), II-10.1, and II-10.2.
- 12. Since Φ is paracompactifying, K has a neighborhood K' ∈ Φ with K' ⊂ U. Suppose that A is Φ-fine. Then, by definition, the sheaf Hom(A, A) is Φ-soft. Thus the section f ∈ Γ(Hom(A, A)|K ∪ ∂K'), which is 1 on K and 0 on ∂K', can be extended to K and then can be extended by 0 to all of X. The resulting extension g ∈ Γ(Hom(A, A)) = Hom(A, A) has the desired properties. Conversely, suppose that the stated property holds. Let f ∈ Γ(Hom(A, A)|K). By II-9.5, f extends to g ∈ Γ(Hom(A, A)|V) = Hom(A|V, A|V) for some open V ⊃ K. There is an open neighborhood U of K with U ⊂ V since K has a paracompact neighborhood. Let h ∈ Hom(A, A)|V) is g on K and vanishes on V − U. Extending hg by 0 to all of X gives an extension of f to some k ∈ Γ(Hom(A, A)). Thus Hom(A, A) is Φ-soft, whence A is Φ-fine.
- 14. (a) This reduces immediately to the compact case by II-9.12. Let K, W, {U_α}, and {V_β} be as in the hint. By II-Exercise 13 there are partitions of unity {h_α} ⊂ Hom(A, A) and {k_β} ⊂ Hom(B, B) subordinate to {U_α} and {V_β} respectively. Let s = ∑h_α⊗k_β, the sum ranging over those pairs ⟨α, β⟩ for which U_α × V_β ⊂ W, and let t be the same sum over all other pairs ⟨α, β⟩. Then

$$s+t=\sum_{lpha}\sum_{eta}h_{lpha}\widehat{\otimes}k_{eta}=\sum_{lpha}h_{lpha}\widehat{\otimes}\sum_{eta}k_{eta}=\sum_{lpha}h_{lpha}\widehat{\otimes}1=1\widehat{\otimes}1=1,$$

so that s is an endomorphism of $\mathscr{A}\widehat{\otimes}\mathscr{B}$ that is 1 on K and 0 outside W. Consequently, $\mathscr{A}\widehat{\otimes}\mathscr{B}$ is c-fine by II-Exercise 12.

(b) Let $\mathscr{L} = \mathscr{A} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{B}$ and let \mathscr{M} denote the collection of all open sets W of $X \times Y$ such that \mathscr{L}_W is c-acyclic. Let \mathscr{M}_1 denote the collection of all open subsets $W = U \times V$ where $U \subset X$ and $V \subset Y$ are open. Since $\mathscr{L}_{U \times V} = \mathscr{A}_U \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{B}_V$, II-15.2 implies that $U \times V \in \mathscr{M}$, that is, $\mathscr{M}_1 \subset \mathscr{M}$. Let \mathscr{M}_k be the collection of all unions of k members of \mathscr{M}_1 . Since

$$(U \times V) \cap \bigcup_{i=1}^{k} (U_i \times V_i) = (U_1 \cap U) \times (V_1 \cap V) \cup \cdots \cup (U_k \cap U) \times (V_k \cap V),$$

we see that $W \in \mathcal{M}_1, W' \in \mathcal{M}_k \Rightarrow W \cap W' \in \mathcal{M}_k$. Suppose that $\mathcal{M}_k \subset \mathcal{M}$, and let $W \in \mathcal{M}_1$ and $W' \in \mathcal{M}_k$. Then W, W', and $W \cap W'$ are all in

 \mathcal{M} , and it follows from the Mayer-Vietoris sequence (27) on page 94 that $W \cup W' \in \mathcal{M}$. Thus $\mathcal{M}_{k+1} \subset \mathcal{M}$. By induction, $\mathcal{M}_{\infty} = \bigcup_k \mathcal{M}_k \subset \mathcal{M}$. Now, \mathcal{M}_{∞} is directed by inclusion, and any open set $W \subset X \times Y$ is the directed union of those members of \mathcal{M}_{∞} contained in W. By continuity, II-14.5, it follows that \mathcal{M} consists of all open sets in $X \times Y$. Thus \mathscr{L} is *c*-soft by II-16.1.

- 15. We are to show that iA(W) → iA(K) is onto for K ⊂ W closed. Let s ∈ iA(K). If ∞ ∉ K, then the argument in the proof of II-9.3 shows that s, as a member of A(K), extends to X so as to be zero outside some compact neighborhood of K. Hence it extends by 0 to a global section of iA. If ∞ ∈ K, then s extends to a compact neighborhood K' of K by II-9.5. Let C = W int(K') ⊂ X, which is compact. Since A is c-soft and A = (iA)|X, s|∂C extends to C, and this extends s to a global section of iA. (Note that a virtually identical argument applies to the one-point paracompactification of II-Exercise 9.)
- 18. The hypothesized exact sequence of (X, A) has $H^p_{\Phi|X-A}(X; \mathscr{A}) = 0 = H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$ for p > 0 and \mathscr{A} flabby. Thus $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_{\Phi\cap A}(\mathscr{A}|A)$ is onto and $H^p_{\Phi\cap A}(A; \mathscr{A}|A) = 0$ for p > 0 and \mathscr{A} flabby, which is precisely the definition of A being Φ -taut.
- 21. (a) \Rightarrow (b) by II-5.5.
 - (b) \Rightarrow (c) is tautological.
 - (c) \Rightarrow (d) by $H^1(X, U; \mathscr{L}) \approx H^1_{cld|X-U}(X; \mathscr{L})$ from II-12.1.
 - (d) \Rightarrow (a) by the exact sequence $H^0(X; \mathscr{L}) \to H^0(U; \mathscr{L}|U) \to H^1(X, U; \mathscr{L}).$
- 23. Let $U = \{1/n \mid n \ge 1\}$, which is open in X, and consider the sheaf $\mathscr{A} = \mathbb{Z}_U$. The section 1 of \mathbb{Z}_U over U cannot be extended to X because an extension would have to be 0 at $\{0\}$, since \mathbb{Z}_U has stalk 0 at $\{0\}$, and hence would have to be 0 in a neighborhood of $\{0\}$. Thus \mathscr{A} is not flabby, and so Dim X > 0by II-Exercise 21. The inclusion $\mathscr{A} \hookrightarrow \mathscr{C}^0(X; \mathscr{A})$ is an isomorphism on U, and so $\mathfrak{Z}^1(X; \mathscr{A})$ is concentrated on $\{0\}$ and hence is flabby. By II-Exercise 22, Dim $X \le 1$, and so Dim X = 1. (Alternatively, use II-16.11.) Note that $H^1_{cld|\{0\}}(X; \mathbb{Z}_U) \approx H^1(X, U; \mathbb{Z}_U) \neq 0$ by II-12.1 and the exact sequence $H^0(X; \mathbb{Z}_U) \to H^0(U; \mathbb{Z}_U|U) \to H^1(X, U; \mathbb{Z}_U)$.
- 25. By II-16.8 and II-16.11, every point has a neighborhood U with Dim U ≤ n + 1. By II-Exercise 22, ℑⁿ⁺¹(X; 𝔄)|U is flabby. By II-Exercise 10, ℑⁿ⁺¹(X; 𝔄) is flabby. By II-Exercise 22, Dim X ≤ n + 1.

For the second part let $F \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be the union of the spheres about the origin x = 0 of radii $1, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{3}, \ldots$ Let \mathbb{S}^n be the compactified \mathbb{R}^n , and let $U = \mathbb{S}^n - \{x\} - F$. Let Ψ be the family of supports on $\mathbb{S}^n - \{x\}$ consisting of the sets K closed in $\mathbb{S}^n - \{x\}$ and contained in U. Then we have $H^n(\mathbb{S}^n - \{x\}; \mathbb{Z}_U) \approx H^n_{\Psi}(U; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \prod_{i=1}^{\infty} \mathbb{Z}$, which is uncountable. Also, regarding \mathbb{Z}_U as a sheaf on \mathbb{S}^n , $H^n(\mathbb{S}^n; \mathbb{Z}_U) \approx H^\infty_c(U; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\infty} \mathbb{Z}_U$ is countable. The exact sequence of $(\mathbb{S}^n, \mathbb{S}^n - \{x\})$ with coefficients in \mathbb{Z}_U has the segment

$$H^{n}(\mathbb{S}^{n};\mathbb{Z}_{U}) \to H^{n}(\mathbb{S}^{n}-\{x\};\mathbb{Z}_{U}) \to H^{n+1}(\mathbb{S}^{n},\mathbb{S}^{n}-\{x\};\mathbb{Z}_{U}).$$

It follows that $H^{n+1}(\mathbb{S}^n, \mathbb{S}^n - \{x\}; \mathbb{Z}_U)$ is uncountable. By excision,

$$H^{n+1}_{\Theta}(\mathbb{R}^n;\mathbb{Z}_U)\approx H^{n+1}(\mathbb{R}^n,\mathbb{R}^n-\{x\};\mathbb{Z}_U)$$

is uncountable, where $\Theta = \{\{x\}, \emptyset\}$. Therefore $\text{Dim } M^n = n + 1$ for any *n*-manifold M^n (n > 0). This fact is due to Satya Deo [31].

27. If $\{\mathscr{A}_n, \pi_n\}$ is an inverse sequence, then the definition $\mathscr{A}(U_n) = \mathscr{A}_n$ with $\pi_n : \mathscr{A}(U_n) \to \mathscr{A}(U_{n-1})$ and $\mathscr{A}(\mathbb{N}) = \varprojlim \mathscr{A}_n$ gives a presheaf on N that is clearly a conjunctive monopresheaf and hence a sheaf. Conversely, if \mathscr{A} is a presheaf, then putting $\mathscr{A}_n = \mathscr{A}(U_n)$ with π_n the restriction map gives an inverse sequence. Moreover, the only thing preventing \mathscr{A} from being a sheaf is the requirement that $\mathscr{A}(\mathbb{N}) = \varprojlim \mathscr{A}(U_n)$. (Hence also $H^0(\mathbb{N}; \mathscr{A}) = \varprojlim \mathscr{A}_n$.)

A serration over U_n is just an *n*-tuple $\langle a_1, \ldots, a_n \rangle$ with $a_i \in \mathscr{A}_i$, whence $C^0(U_n;\mathscr{A})$ is the group of such *n*-tuples. The sheaf $\mathscr{C}^0(\mathbb{N};\mathscr{A})$ is equivalent to the inverse sequence in which the *n*th term $C^0(U_n;\mathscr{A})$ is the group of *n*-tuples $\langle a_1, \ldots, a_n \rangle$ and the restriction $C^0(U_n;\mathscr{A}) \to C^0(U_{n-1};\mathscr{A})$ takes $\langle a_1, \ldots, a_n \rangle$ to $\langle a_1, \ldots, a_{n-1} \rangle$. The inclusion $\varepsilon : \mathscr{A} \hookrightarrow \mathscr{C}^0(\mathbb{N};\mathscr{A})$ takes $a_n \in \mathscr{A}(U_n)$ to the *n*-tuple $\langle a_1, \ldots, a_n \rangle$, where $a_{i-1} = \pi_i a_i$ for all $1 < i \leq n$. The presheaf cokernel of ε has value on U_n that is the quotient of the group of *n*-tuples $\langle a_1, \ldots, a_n \rangle$ modulo those that satisfy $a_{i-1} = \pi_i a_i$. The map $\langle a_1, \ldots, a_n \rangle \mapsto \langle a_1 - \pi_2 a_2, \ldots, a_{n-1} - \pi_n a_n \rangle \in C^0(U_{n-1};\mathscr{A})$ induces an isomorphism on this cokernel, and it is onto $C^0(U_{n-1};\mathscr{A})$, since given $\langle a'_1, \ldots, a'_{n-1} \rangle$, the system of equations

$$a'_1 = a_1 - \pi_2 a_2$$

 $a'_2 = a_2 - \pi_3 a_3$
...
 $a'_{n-1} = a_{n-1} - \pi_n a_n$

has a solution (solving backward from $a_n = 0$). Therefore $Z^1(U_n; \mathscr{A})$, $\mathscr{J}^1(\mathbb{N}; \mathscr{A})$, and $d: C^0(U_n; \mathscr{A}) \to Z^1(U_n; \mathscr{A})$ are as claimed. Now \mathscr{A} is flabby \Leftrightarrow each $\mathscr{A}(\mathbb{N}) \to \mathscr{A}(U_n)$ is surjective. This means that given $a_n \in \mathscr{A}_n$, there are a_{n+1}, \ldots with $\pi_i a_i = a_{i-1}$ for all i > n. Therefore \mathscr{A} is flabby \Leftrightarrow each π_n is surjective.

Since $\mathcal{J}^1(\mathbb{N}; \mathscr{A}) \approx \eta \mathscr{C}^0(\mathbb{N}; \mathscr{A})$, where $\eta : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{N}$ is given by $\eta(n) = n+1$, it is flabby by II-5.7 or by direct examination. Therefore

$$0 \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{C}^{0}(\mathbb{N}; \mathscr{A}) \to \mathscr{Z}^{1}(\mathbb{N}; \mathscr{A}) \to 0$$

is a flabby resolution of \mathscr{A} , and so dim $\mathbb{N} \leq 1$ (indeed Dim $\mathbb{N} \leq 1$; see Exercise II-22). Using this resolution, $H^1(\mathbb{N};\mathscr{A})$ is the cokernel of $d : C^0(\mathbb{N};\mathscr{A}) \to Z^1(\mathbb{N};\mathscr{A})$, and so \mathscr{A} is acyclic $\Leftrightarrow d : \langle a_1, \ldots, a_n, \ldots \rangle \mapsto \langle a_1 - \pi_2 a_2, \ldots, a_n - \pi_{n+1} a_{n+1}, \ldots \rangle$ is surjective, leading to the claimed criterion.

The inverse system \mathscr{A} in which $\mathscr{A}_n = \mathbb{Z}$ for all n and $\pi_n : \mathscr{A}_n \to \mathscr{A}_{n-1}$ is multiplication by n gives a sheaf that is not acyclic since the system of equations

$$2a_2 = a_1 - 1$$

 $3a_3 = a_2 - 1$

has no solution in integers. [For if there is a solution, then an induction shows that

$$a_1 = n!a_n + (n-1)! + \dots + 2! + 1!.$$

From this we conclude that if n + 1 is prime, then $a_n \neq 0$, since if $a_n = 0$ then $a_1 = (n-1)! + \cdots + 2! + 1!$ and $a_1 = (n+1)!a_{n+1} + n! + a_1$, whence n+1 divides n!. But if $a_n \neq 0$, then

$$|a_1| \ge |n! - \{(n-1)! + \dots + 1!\}| > |n! - (n-1)(n-1)!| = (n-1)!,$$

and this cannot happen for infinitely many n.] Therefore this $H^1(\mathbb{N}; \mathscr{A}) \neq 0$, and so dim $\mathbb{N} \geq 1$, whence dim $\mathbb{N} = 1$. (For another proof of this, and in fact, a proof that if $\mathscr{A} = \{A_1 \supset A_2 \supset \cdots\}$ is any strictly decreasing inverse sequence of subgroups of \mathbb{Z} then $\lim^{1} \mathscr{A}$ is uncountable, see V-5.17.)

To prove the last statement, suppose that \mathscr{A} satisfies the Mittag-Leffler condition. For each n, let $\mathscr{I}_n = \operatorname{Im} \pi_{n,m}$ for m large. Then this is an inverse sequence that is clearly a flabby sheaf on N; i.e., each $\mathscr{I}_{n+1} \to \mathscr{I}_n$ is surjective. Also, there is the inclusion $i: \mathscr{I} \hookrightarrow \mathscr{A}$. Let \mathscr{C} be the cokernel of i, so that there is the short exact sequence $0 \to \mathscr{I} \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{C} \to$ 0 of sheaves on N. The induced exact cohomology sequence shows that $\varliminf^{1} \mathscr{A}_n \approx \varliminf^{1} \mathscr{C}_n$. Now \mathscr{C} has the property that for each n, there is an m > n with $\mathscr{C}_m \to \mathscr{C}_n$ zero. Since by II-11.6 passage to a subsequence does not affect \varliminf^{1} , we may assume that each $\mathscr{C}_{n+1} \to \mathscr{C}_n$ is zero. But then \mathscr{C} is obviously acyclic by our given criterion for acyclicity.

The reader might note that every sheaf on \mathbb{N} is soft, so that this exercise gives another example of a soft sheaf that is not acyclic.

28. For $0 \neq n \in L$ we have the exact sequence $0 \to M \xrightarrow{n} M \to M/nM \to 0$, which induces the exact sequence

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(M) \xrightarrow{n} \Gamma_{\Phi}(M) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(M/nM) \xrightarrow{0} H^{1}_{\Phi}(X;M) \xrightarrow{n} H^{1}_{\Phi}(X;M)$$

since Γ_{Φ} is exact on sequences of *constant* sheaves by I-Exercise 11. This gives the first statement. The requested example is given by II-11.5. For another example, let Z^t be the twisted locally constant sheaf on \mathbb{S}^1 with stalk \mathbb{Z} ; see I-Example 3.4. Take n = 2. Then there is the exact sequence $0 \to Z^t \xrightarrow{2} Z^t \to \mathbb{Z}_2 \to 0$, which induces the exact cohomology sequence

$$0 \to \Gamma(Z^t) \to \Gamma(Z^t) \to \Gamma(\mathbb{Z}_2) \to H^1(\mathbb{S}^1; Z^t).$$

Since $\Gamma(Z^t) = 0$, $H^1(\mathbb{S}^1; Z^t)$ has 2-torsion. Although not requested, we shall go on to show that in fact, $H^1(\mathbb{S}^1; Z^t) \approx \mathbb{Z}_2$. Consider the covering map $f : X = \mathbb{S}^1 \to \mathbb{S}^1 = Y$ of degree 2. From I-Example 3.4 we have the exact sequence $0 \to \mathbb{Z} \to f\mathbb{Z} \to Z^t \to 0$. The induced cohomology sequence has the segment

$$H^1(Y;\mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{h} H^1(Y;f\mathbb{Z}) \to H^1(Y;Z^t) \to H^2(Y;\mathbb{Z}) = 0.$$

By II-11.2 the composition of h with $f^{\dagger}: H^1(Y; f\mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^1(X; \mathbb{Z})$ is just f^* , which is multiplication by 2 (using that this is the same as the map in singular theory). The contention follows. Another, more direct, way of doing this computation is to decompose \mathbb{S}^1 as the union of two intervals and apply the Mayer-Vietoris sequence II-(26):

$$0 \to H^0(\mathbb{I};\mathbb{Z}) \oplus H^0(\mathbb{I};\mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{g} H^0(\mathbb{S}^0;\mathbb{Z}) \to H^1(\mathbb{S}^1;Z^t) \to 0.$$

A little thought about sections of Z^t over the two intervals and their intersection \mathbb{S}^0 shows that with appropriate choices of generators a, b of the lefthand group and u, v for $H^0(\mathbb{S}^0; \mathbb{Z})$, we have g(a) = u - v and g(b) = u + v. Thus $H^1(\mathbb{S}^1; Z^t) \approx \operatorname{Coker} g = \{u, v | u = v, u = -v\} \approx \mathbb{Z}_2$. Also see the solution to III-Exercise 13.

- 29. Let $A_n = \{1, \frac{1}{2}, ..., \frac{1}{n}\}$. Then $\mathscr{L}_n = \mathbb{Z}_{A_n}$ is obviously flabby. Then we claim that the sheaf $\mathscr{L} = \varinjlim \mathscr{L}_n$ is not flabby. Indeed, the restriction $\mathscr{L}(\mathbb{I}) \to \mathscr{L}((0, 1])$ is not onto because the section over (0, 1] which is 1 at all points $1, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{3}, ...$ does not extend to \mathbb{I} since it would be 0 at 0 (since the stalk at 0 is trivial), and so must coincide with the zero section on some neighborhood of $0 \in \mathbb{I}$.
- 31. Let Z-dim X = n, and assume that the result holds for Zariski spaces K with Z-dim K < n. We need only show that $H^{n+1}(X; \mathbb{Z}_U) = 0$ for all open $U \subset X$ since then II-16.12 and II-Exercise 30 would imply that dim_Z $X \leq n$. Now, one can express $X = X_1 \cup X_2 \cup \cdots \cup X_k$ where the X_i are irreducible and no X_i contains X_j for $j \neq i$. (These are called the irreducible components of X.) Let $Y = X_1 \cup \cdots \cup X_{i-1}$. Then clearly Z-dim $Y \cap X_i < n$, so that dim_Z $Y \cap X_i < n$. Then the Mayer-Vietoris sequence

$$H^{n}(Y \cap X_{i}; \mathscr{A}) \to H^{n+1}(Y \cup X_{i}; \mathscr{A}) \to H^{n+1}(Y; \mathscr{A}) \oplus H^{n+1}(X_{i}; \mathscr{A})$$

shows that by a finite induction, we need only show that $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}} X_i \leq n$; i.e., we may as well assume that X is irreducible. In that case note that if U and V are nonempty open subsets of X, then $U \cap V \neq \emptyset$ since otherwise $(X - U) \cup (X - V) = X$ and so X is not irreducible. Therefore any open subspace $U \subsetneq X$ is connected, and so any section of Z over U is constant. That implies that $\Gamma(\mathbb{Z}) \to \Gamma(\mathbb{Z}|U)$ is surjective, whence Z is a flabby sheaf on X. Now, F = X - U is a Zariski space with Z-dim F < n. Also, $H^n(X; \mathbb{Z}_F) \approx H^n(F; \mathbb{Z})$ by II-10.2. Therefore the exact sequence

$$0 = H^n(X; \mathbb{Z}_F) \to H^{n+1}(X; \mathbb{Z}_U) \to H^{n+1}(X; \mathbb{Z}) = 0$$

proves the result. (The equality on the left is by the inductive assumption and the one on the right is because \mathbb{Z} is flabby on X.)

33. (a) Let M be generated by $a_1, a_2, ...,$ and put

$$N_n = \{a \in M \mid ka = \sum_{i=1}^n k_i a_i \text{ for some } k_i \in L, \ 0 \neq k \in L\}.$$

By hypothesis, N_n is free. By looking at $M \otimes Q$, where Q is the field of fractions of L, we see that rank $N_n \leq n$. We inductively construct a basis for each N_n as follows. Suppose that $\{b_1, ..., b_s\}$ is a basis of N_n . If $N_{n+1} = N_n$, then take the same basis. If $N_{n+1} \neq N_n$, then N_{n+1}/N_n is finitely generated and torsion-free, whence free, and is of rank one. Let $b_{s+1}N_n$ be a generator (whence $a_{n+1}N_n = qb_{s+1}N_n$ for some $q \in L$). Then $b_1, ..., b_{s+1}$ form a basis of N_{n+1} . Finally, $b_1, b_2, ...$ span $N = \bigcup N_n$ and are independent, so they form a free basis of N.

(b) Since $H^0_c(X; L) \approx \tilde{H}^0(X^+; L)$, it suffices to consider reduced cohomology of a compact space, and so we shall assume X to be compact.

B. Solutions to Selected Exercises

Let $\{a_1, ..., a_n\} \subset H^0(X; L)$ be given and let N be as described. Let \tilde{N} be the image of N in $\tilde{H}^0(X; L)$. It suffices to show that N and \tilde{N} are finitely generated since 0-dimensional cohomology with coefficients in L is torsion-free. Also, N is finitely generated $\Leftrightarrow \tilde{N}$ is finitely generated. Let $K_1, ..., K_k$ be as described in part (b). We argue, by induction, that the image of N (or \tilde{N}) in $H^0(K_1 \cup \cdots \cup K_i)$ is finitely generated. If $a \in N$, then $ka \mapsto 0$ in $\tilde{H}^0(K_j)$ for some $k \in L$. This implies that $a \mapsto 0$ in $\tilde{H}^0(K_j)$ since this group is torsion-free. Thus the contention is true for i = 1. Suppose it is true for i and put $K = K_1 \cup \cdots \cup K_i$. If $K \cap K_{i+1} \neq \emptyset$, then the Mayer-Vietoris sequence

$$0 \to \tilde{H}^0(K \cup K_{i+1}) \to \tilde{H}^0(K) \oplus \tilde{H}^0(K_{i+1}) \to \tilde{H}^0(K \cap K_{i+1})$$

proves the inductive step since the images of \tilde{N} in $\tilde{H}^0(K_{i+1})$ and (hence) in $\tilde{H}^0(K \cap K_{i+1})$ are zero. If $K \cap K_{i+1} = \emptyset$, then $H^0(K \cup K_{i+1}) \approx$ $H^0(K) \oplus H^0(K_{i+1})$, and the contention again follows from this.

(c) Let K_i be as in the hint. Assume, by induction on r, that whenever $D_i \subset \operatorname{int} K_i$, with $\{D_i\}$ a closed covering of X, the image of N in $H_c^1(D_1 \cup \cdots \cup D_{r-1})$ is finitely generated. Let E_i be compact sets with $D_i \subset \operatorname{int} E_i$, $E_i \subset \operatorname{int} K_i$. Put $D = D_1 \cup \cdots \cup D_{r-1}$, $E = E_1 \cup \cdots \cup E_{r-1}$, and $K = K_1 \cup \cdots \cup K_{r-1}$. By the inductive assumption, the image of N in $H_c^1(E)$ is finitely generated. By choice of the K_i , all $b_j|K_i = 0$. Since $H_c^1(K_i)$ is torsion-free by II-Exercise 28, the image of N in $H_c^1(K_i)$ is zero. Consider the diagram

The image of j_r is finitely generated by II-17.5. Also, the image of N in $H_c^1(E) \oplus H_c^1(E_r)$ is finitely generated by the inductive assumption. By II-17.3, the image of N in $H_c^1(D \cup D_r)$ is finitely generated, completing the induction and the proof of (c).

(d) Since the one-point compactification of a locally compact separable metric space is separable metric, we may restrict attention to the compact case. Now X can be embedded in the Hilbert cube \mathbb{I}^{∞} . Let $p_n : \mathbb{I}^{\infty} \to \mathbb{I}^n$ be the projection, and put $X_n = p_n(X)$. Then $X \approx \lim X_n$, and so $H^*(X) \approx \lim H^*(X_n)$. Thus it suffices to show that $H^*(X_n)$ is countably generated. But any compact subset X_n of $\mathbb{I}^n \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is the intersection of a descending sequence of finite polyhedra, and so $H^*(X_n)$ is obviously countably generated.

34. (a) If \mathbb{Z} is regarded as the constant sheaf, then $H^0(X;\mathbb{Z}) = \Gamma(\mathbb{Z}) \approx C(X)$. Now, $A^0(U;\mathbb{Z}) = \{f : U \to \mathbb{Z}\}$ is a sheaf. For $f \in A^0(X;\mathbb{Z})$ we have $df(x_0, x_1) = f(x_1) - f(x_0)$. Also, $A_0^1(X;\mathbb{Z}) = \{f : X \times X \to \mathbb{Z} \mid f = 0 \text{ on a neighborhood of the diagonal } \Delta \subset X \times X\}$. Therefore ${}_{AS}H^0(X;\mathbb{Z}) =$ Ker $\{d : A^0(X) \to A^1(X)/A_0^1(X)\} = \{f : X \to \mathbb{Z} \mid f \text{ is locally constant}\} = C(X)$. The reader may handle the arbitrary coefficient case. (b) $f \in B(S) \Rightarrow \exists$ unique extension $\hat{f} \in C(\hat{S})$. Conversely, $\hat{f} \in C(\hat{S})$ $\Rightarrow \hat{f}$ is bounded $\Rightarrow f = \hat{f} | S \in B(S)$.

(c) (i) \Rightarrow (ii): Let $S \subset X$ be dense of cardinality $\leq \eta$. Restriction gives a monomorphism $C(X) \rightarrow B(S)$. Thus B(S) free $\Rightarrow C(X)$ free, since a subgroup of a free group is free. (ii) \Rightarrow (i): Let card(S) $\leq \eta$ and put $X = \hat{S}$. By (ii), C(X) is free. By (b), B(S) is free.

(d) The proof is identical to that of (c) using that $\mathrm{Ext}(\bullet,\mathbb{Z})$ is right exact.

- 37. Let $\Omega' = \Omega \cup \{\Omega\}$ be the set of ordinals up to and including the least uncountable ordinal Ω and $\omega' = \omega \cup \{\omega\}$ the set of ordinals up to and including the least infinite ordinal ω . Give these the order topologies. Then let X be the "Tychonoff plank" $\Omega' \times \omega'$ and let $A = \Omega \times \{\omega\} \cup \{\Omega\} \times \omega$. For any constant sheaf \mathscr{A} with stalks $L \neq 0$ on X, let $0 \neq a \in L$ and let $s \in \mathscr{A}(A)$ be defined by s(x) = 0 for $x \in \Omega \times \{\omega\}$ and s(x) = a for $x \in \{\Omega\} \times \omega$. If s extends to $t \in \mathscr{A}(U)$ for some open $U \supset A$, then $V = \{x \in U \mid t(x) = 0\}$ and $W = \{x \in U \mid t(x) = a\}$ are disjoint open sets with $U = V \cup W$. For $n \in \omega$ there is an element $\alpha_n \in \Omega$ such that $[\alpha_n, \Omega] \times \{n\} \subset W$. There is a $\beta < \Omega$ with $\alpha_n < \beta$ for all n. Then $([\beta, \Omega] \times \omega') - \{\Omega \times \omega\} \subset W$; but this must intersect V, a contradiction. Therefore $s \in \mathscr{A}(A)$ does not come from $\varprojlim \mathscr{A}(U)$.
- 38. Since $\mathscr{A} = \mathscr{A}_{\bar{A}}$, we have $H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) = H^*_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}_{\bar{A}}) \approx H^*_{\Phi \cap \bar{A}}(\bar{A}; \mathscr{A}|\bar{A})$ by II-10.2. The desired result then comes from the 5-lemma applied to the pairs (X, A) and (\bar{A}, A) .
- 39. By construction, $\mathscr{C}^*(\bar{A}, A; \mathscr{A})$ is zero on int A, whence $C^*_{\Phi \cap \bar{A}}(\bar{A}, A; \mathscr{A}) = 0$ by the hypothesis on Φ . The last part follows from II-Exercise 38 and the cohomology sequence of (X, A).
- 40. Let $M(U, \mathbb{R})$ stand for the group of continuous functions $U \to \mathbb{R}$, etc. This is a conjunctive monopresheaf and so $\mathscr{F} = M(\bullet, \mathbb{R})$. Similarly, $\mathbb{Z} = M(\bullet, \mathbb{Z})$ and $\mathscr{F}_0 = M(\bullet, T)$. Standard covering-space theory applied to the covering $\mathbb{R} \to T$ shows that

$$0 \to M(U,\mathbb{Z}) \to M(U,\mathbb{R}) \xrightarrow{j_U} M(U,T) \to [U;T] \to 0$$

is exact. Now, if $f: U \to T$ and $x \in U$, then there is a neighborhood $V \subset U$ of x such that f|V is homotopic to the constant map to $0 \in T$. (Just take $V = f^{-1}(W)$, where W is an open arc about f(x).) It follows that *Sheaf*([\bullet ; T]) = 0, whence we have the induced exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathbb{Z} \to \mathscr{F} \to \mathscr{F}_0 \to 0$$

of sheaves. Now assume that X is paracompact. Then \mathscr{F} is soft by II-9.4. Therefore the exact cohomology sequence of this coefficient sequence has the form

$$0 \to \Gamma(\mathbb{Z}) \to \Gamma(\mathscr{F}) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{I}_{\Gamma}} \Gamma(\mathscr{F}_0) \to H^1(X;\mathbb{Z}) \to 0,$$

where j_{Γ} is equivalent to j_X . Hence

$$[X;T] \approx \operatorname{Coker} j_X \approx \operatorname{Coker} j_{\Gamma} \approx H^1(X;\mathbb{Z}),$$

finishing the first part. See II-13.2 for an interesting example of this.

For a paracompactifying family of supports $\Phi \neq cld$ on X, the sequence

$$0 \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{F}) \xrightarrow{\jmath} \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{F}_{0}) \to H^{1}_{\Phi}(X;\mathbb{Z}) \to 0$$

is exact, and it is clear that $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{F}) = M_{\Phi}(X, \mathbb{R})$ and $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{F}_0) = M_{\Phi}(X; T)$, with M_{Φ} standing for maps that vanish outside some member of Φ . Again, covering space theory immediately yields that Coker $j \approx [X;T]_{\Phi}$, where the latter denotes homotopy classes where one demands all maps and homotopies to be constant to the zero element of \mathbb{R} or T outside some element of Φ . In particular, for locally compact spaces we deduce that

$$[X;T]_c \approx H_c^1(X;\mathbb{Z})$$

and in particular that

$$[\mathbb{R};T]_c \approx H^1_c(\mathbb{R};\mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}.$$

That this formula, in the case $\Phi = cld$, does not hold for spaces that are not paracompact is shown by the following example. Let L be the "long ray" compactified at both ends; see II-Exercise 3. Let $x \in L$ be the maximal element. Let L_1 and L_2 be two copies of L with $x_i \in L_i$ corresponding to $x \in L$. Let A be the one-point union of L_1 and L_2 obtained by identifying x_1 with x_2 . We will denote this common point by x. Let I = [-1, 1]. Define

$$\tilde{X} = A \times I, \quad X = \tilde{X} - \{x \times 0\}.$$

We claim that $H^1(X;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}$. To see this, let $X_1 = (A \times [0,1]) \cap X$ and $X_2 = (A \times [-1,0]) \cap X$. Since X_1 has $A \times \{1\}$ as a strong deformation retract, we have that $H^n(X_1;\mathbb{Z}) \approx H^n(A;\mathbb{Z})$ by II-11.12. But $H^n(A;\mathbb{Z}) =$ 0 for n > 0 by II-Exercise 2, and $H^0(A;\mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}$ since A is connected. Now, $X_1 \cap X_2$ consists of two disjoint copies of the "open" long ray, and the latter is acyclic by II-Exercise 3. Thus, the Mayer-Vietoris sequence (26) on page 94 completes the computation.

Next, we claim that [X;T] = 0. To see this, let $f: X \to \mathbb{S}^1$ and let $r \in [-1,1] = I$. Then a well-known property of the long interval implies that there is an interval $[y_1(r), y_2(r)] \subset A$ containing x on which f is constant. A similar property of the long ray shows that there is a $y_i \in L$, $y_i \neq x$, such that $y_i > y_i(r)$ for all rational r. Then f is constant on $[y_1, y_2] \times \{r\}$ for all rational r, and continuity shows that this is also the case for irrational r. That means that on $[y_1, y_2] \times I$, f is the projection $[y_1, y_2] \times I \to I$ followed by some continuous function $I \to T$. It follows that f extends continuously to a map $\tilde{X} \to T$. Since \tilde{X} is compact, the first part of the problem gives $[\tilde{X};T] \approx H^1(\tilde{X};\mathbb{Z}) \approx H^1(A;\mathbb{Z}) = 0$, since \tilde{X} has A as a deformation retract.

Note that it follows that in the example, \mathscr{F} is a c-soft sheaf on X which is *not* acyclic for *cld* supports.

41. (a) $\mathscr{H}^*(X, A; \mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{H}_{locaf}(U \mapsto H^*(U, A \cap U; \mathscr{A}))$. There is the exact sequence $0 \to H^0(U, A \cap U; \mathscr{A}) \to H^0(U; \mathscr{A}) \to H^0(A \cap U; \mathscr{A})$, and the last map is just the restriction $j : \Gamma(\mathscr{A}|U) \to \Gamma(\mathscr{A}|A \cap U)$. Thus $\mathscr{H}^0(X, A; \mathscr{A}) = \mathscr{H}_{locaf}(\operatorname{Ker} j) = \mathscr{H}_{locaf}(U \mapsto \Gamma_{U-A}(\mathscr{A}|U))$. Since \mathscr{A} is constant, a section

of $\mathscr{A}|U$ with support in U - A must actually have support in $U - \overline{A}$. Hence $(\operatorname{Ker} j)(U) = \Gamma_{U-\overline{A}}(\mathscr{A}|U) \approx \Gamma(\mathscr{A}_{X-\overline{A}}|U)$, which generates the sheaf $\mathscr{A}_{X-\overline{A}}$.

(b) The stalk $\mathscr{H}^n(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n - \{0\}; \mathbb{Z})_0 \approx H^n(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n - \{0\}; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}.$

(c) If $\mathscr{H}^n(X,A;\mathscr{A})=0$ for q>0, then $\mathscr{C}^*(X,A;\mathscr{A})$ is a flabby resolution of $\mathscr{A}_{X-\bar{A}}$, and so

$$H^*_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A}) \approx H^*(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}^*(X,A;\mathscr{A}))) \approx H^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}_{X-\bar{A}}).$$

(d) Under the hypothesis, the stalk at x is

$$\mathcal{H}^{p}(X,A;\mathscr{A})_{x} = \lim_{x \to 0} H^{p}(U,A \cap U;\mathscr{A}) \approx \lim_{x \to 0} H^{p}(U;\mathscr{A}_{U-\bar{A}})$$
$$= \mathcal{H}^{p}(X;\mathscr{A}_{X-\bar{A}})_{x} = 0$$

for p > 0, since $\mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A}_{X-\bar{A}})$ is a resolution.

- 45. Let $x \in |s|$. Since $\mathscr{X}_{X-\{x\}}$ is flabby, there is a section $t \in \mathscr{L}(X)$ such that t(x) = 0 and t(y) = s(y) for all $y \neq x$. But t(x) = 0 implies that t is zero on a neighborhood of x. Thus, also s = 0 on some $U \{x\}$ with U open in X. Therefore x is isolated in |s|, and so |s| is discrete. We note that this shows that flabbiness of a sheaf \mathscr{A} rarely implies the flabbiness of \mathscr{A}_U , as distinct from the situation for soft sheaves; see II-9.13.
- 46. Note that $\mathscr{L} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_U = \mathscr{L}_U$. Thus $H^1_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{L}_U) = 0$ for all Φ . By II-Exercise 21, \mathscr{L}_U is flabby for all open U. But $M \hookrightarrow \mathscr{L}$ gives a section s which is nowhere zero. By II-Exercise 45, X = |s| is discrete.

This exercise shows dramatically that resolutions of the type $\mathscr{L}^* \otimes \mathscr{A}$ do not suffice for computing cohomology for all sheaves \mathscr{A} and support families Φ , in distinction to the case of paracompactifying families, where such resolutions do suffice.

- 51. Following θ by a map of \mathscr{B}^* to an injective resolution shows that we may as well assume that \mathscr{B}^* is injective over \mathbb{Z}_2 . Then the map h_0 of II-20 can be taken to be θ . Then $h_0\tau = 0 = h_0\sigma$, so that we can take h_1 and k_1 , and hence the rest of the h_i and k_i , to be zero. It follows that $St_n(a) = 0$ for n > 0 and all $a \in H^q_{\Phi}(X; \mathbb{Z}_2)$, whence $St^j(a) = 0$ for j = q - n < q. Therefore, $a = St^0(a) = 0$ for deg(a) > 0. For $U \subset X$ open, passage to \mathscr{A}^U_U and \mathscr{B}^U_U gives $H^q_{\Phi}(U; \mathbb{Z}_2) = 0$ for q > 0, whence dim $\mathbb{Z}_2 X = 0$ by II-16.32.
- 53. Let $K = |a| \in \Phi$, where $a \in C_{\Phi}^{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$ is a cocycle representative of α . For any point $x \in X$ there is a neighborhood U_x of x such that $\beta | U_x = 0$ in $H^q(U_x; \mathscr{B})$ since a point is always taut and q > 0. Since K is compact, $K \subset U_{x_1} \cup \cdots \cup U_{x_n}$ for some points x_i . Let $U_0 = X - K$, $U_i = U_{x_i}$ and $V_k = U_0 \cup \cdots \cup U_k$. Let

$$\mathscr{C}_k = \mathscr{A} \otimes \underbrace{\mathscr{B} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathscr{B}}_{k \text{ times}}.$$

For $0 \le k \le n$ we claim that $\alpha \beta^k | V_k = 0$ in $H_{\Phi \cap V_k}^{p+kq}(V_k; \mathscr{C}_k)$. The proof is by induction on k. It is true for k = 0 since $a | V_0 = a | X - K = 0$. Suppose it is true for a particular value of k. Then by the exact sequence of $(X, V_k), \alpha \beta^k$

comes from an element $\gamma \in H^{p+kq}_{\Phi|X-V_k}(X; \mathscr{C}_k) \approx H^{p+kq}_{\Phi}(X, V_k; \mathscr{C}_k)$. Similarly, β comes from an element $\beta' \in H^q_{\Phi|X-U_{k+1}}(X; \mathscr{B}) \approx H^q_{\Phi}(X, U_{k+1}; \mathscr{B})$. Thus $\alpha \beta^{k+1}$ comes from

$$\gamma \cup \beta' \in H^{p+(k+1)q}_{\Phi|X-V_{k+1}}(X; \mathscr{C}_{k+1}) \approx H^{p+(k+1)q}_{\Phi}(X, V_{k+1}; \mathscr{C}_{k+1})$$

since $(\Phi|A) \cap (\Phi|B) = \Phi|(A \cap B)$. Consequently, $\alpha \beta^{k+1}|V_{k+1} = 0$, completing the induction. Since $V_n = X$, we conclude that $\alpha \beta^n = 0$ in $H^{p+nq}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{C}_n)$.

- 54. Using double induction on dim G and the number of components of G, we can assume the result holds for any action of a proper subgroup of G. Let $F \subset X$ be the fixed-point set of G on X. Then dim_L X/G =max{dim_L F, dim_L(X - F)/G} by II-Exercise 11. By the inductive assumption, the existence of slices, and the local nature of dimension (see II-16.8), we have that dim_L(X - F)/G \leq dim_L X - F \leq dim_L X. Since dim_L F \leq dim_L X, the result follows.
- 55. We may as well assume that \mathscr{A}' and \mathscr{A}'' are constant. The conditions are to assure that for any point $x \in X$ and neighborhood U of x there is a neighborhood V of x such that $H^1(U; \mathscr{A}') \to H^1(V; \mathscr{A}')$ is zero. In case (a) this follows by selecting *compact* neighborhoods and using the universal coefficient formula II-15.3 and II-17.3. In case (b) it follows from the exact sequence of the coefficient sequence $0 \to \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z}_n \to 0$ and II-17.3. In case (c) it is obvious. Since X is $clc_{\mathbb{Z}}^1$, it is locally connected. Then for such U and V, which can be taken to be open and connected, and any $x \in V$, consult the commutative diagram

A diagram chase shows that $\mathscr{A}(V) \to \mathscr{A}_x$ is an isomorphism (for any $x \in V$). Now the same argument as in the last part of the proof of I-Exercise 9 shows that \mathscr{A} is constant on V. For the counterexample let X be similar to the example in the solution of I-Exercise 10 but using projective planes rather than circles. This space is seen to be $clc_{\mathbf{Z}}^1$ from continuity and the fact that $H^1(\mathbb{P}^2;\mathbb{Z}) = 0$, but it is not, of course, $clc_{\mathbf{Z}}^2$, nor is it $clc_{\mathbf{Z}_2}^1$.

56. This follows immediately from II-15.2, II-16.14, and II-16.26 provided we can show that $A \otimes A = 0 = A * A \Rightarrow A = 0$ for abelian groups A (applied to $A = H_c^n(U; \mathbb{Z})$). To prove this, consider the exact sequence

$$A \otimes \mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{p} A \otimes \mathbb{Z} \to A \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p \to 0$$

Now $(A \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p) \otimes (A \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p) \approx (A \otimes A) \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p = 0$. But $A \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p$ is a \mathbb{Z}_p -vector space, and so this implies that $A \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p = 0$. The sequence then shows that

 $A \approx A \otimes \mathbb{Z}$ is divisible and hence injective. If $A \neq 0$, then $\operatorname{Ext}(\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}, A) = 0$ since A is injective, so that the exact sequence

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{Q}, A) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{Z}, A) \to \operatorname{Ext}(\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}, A)$$

shows that A contains a nonzero subgroup of the form \mathbb{Q}/K for some subgroup K of \mathbb{Q} . Since \mathbb{Q}/K is divisible, it is injective, and that implies that \mathbb{Q}/K is a direct summand of A, whence \mathbb{Q}/K satisfies the same hypotheses as does A. Since $\mathbb{Q} \otimes \mathbb{Q} \neq 0$, we have $K \neq 0$. Now $\mathbb{Q} \otimes \mathbb{Q}/K = 0$ since \mathbb{Q}/K is all torsion. Thus the exact sequence

$$0 = \mathbb{Q} * \mathbb{Q}/K \to \mathbb{Q}/K \otimes \mathbb{Q}/K \to \mathbb{Z} \otimes \mathbb{Q}/K \to \mathbb{Q} \otimes \mathbb{Q}/K = 0$$

shows that $0 = \mathbb{Q}/K \otimes \mathbb{Q}/K \approx \mathbb{Z} \otimes \mathbb{Q}/K \approx \mathbb{Q}/K \neq 0$, a contradiction.

We remark that Boltjanskiĭ constructed a compact metric space X with $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}} X = 2$ and $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}} X \times X = 3$.

- 57. For $x \in X$, the minimal neighborhood U of x must be open and unique. Also, $\mathscr{L}_x = \mathscr{L}(U)$ for any sheaf \mathscr{L} on X, and it follows that $(\prod_{\lambda} \mathscr{L}_{\lambda}^*)_x = \prod_{\lambda} (\mathscr{L}_{\lambda}^*)_x$. The remainder of the proof of II-5.10 now applies.
- 58. If $a \in A$ then $U_a \cap A$ is the smallest neighborhood of a in A, and so A is rudimentary. If $x \in A \subset U_x$, then the only relatively open set in A containing x is A itself. Let \mathscr{A}^* be a flabby resolution of a given sheaf \mathscr{A} on X. Then the restriction $\mathscr{A}^*(U_x) \to \mathscr{A}^*_x$ is an isomorphism by definition. Consequently,

$$H^p(U_x;\mathscr{A}) \approx H^p(\mathscr{A}_x^*) \approx \begin{cases} \mathscr{A}_x & p = 0, \\ 0 & p \neq 0. \end{cases}$$

Therefore $H^*(U_x; \mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^*(\{x\}; \mathscr{A}_x)$. This also applies to the space A and shows that $H^*(A; \mathscr{A}|A) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^*(\{x\}; \mathscr{A}_x)$, whence $\mathscr{A}|A$ is acyclic. It also follows that $H^*(U_x; \mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^*(A; \mathscr{A}|A)$, whence A is taut by II-10.6.

59. Let $U_{n,m} = U_n \times U_m$. These only form a basis for the open sets, but that is sufficient for describing sheaves, and so we will ignore the other open sets. For any sheaf \mathscr{A} , $C^0(U_{n,m};\mathscr{A})$ is just the group of $n \times m$ matrices $(a_{i,j})$, where $a_{i,j} \in A_{i,j}$. Using π and ϖ for all the $\pi_{i,j}$ and $\varpi_{i,j}$, there is the sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{A}(U_{n,m}) \to C^{0}(U_{n,m};\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{d^{0}} C^{0}(U_{n-1,m};\mathscr{A}) \oplus C^{0}(U_{n,m-1};\mathscr{A})$$
$$\xrightarrow{d^{1}} C^{0}(U_{n-1,m-1};\mathscr{A}) \to 0,$$

where $d^0(a_{i,j}) = (a_{i,j} - \pi a_{i+1,j}) \oplus (a_{i,j} - \varpi a_{i,j+1})$ and $d^1((a_{i,j}) \oplus (b_{i,j})) = (a_{i,j} - b_{i,j} - \varpi a_{i,j+1} + \pi b_{i+1,j})$. It is easy to see that this sequence is exact and gives the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{C}^{0}(\mathbb{M}; \mathscr{A}) \to \eta' \, \mathscr{C}^{0}(\mathbb{M}; \mathscr{A}) \oplus \eta'' \, \mathscr{C}^{0}(\mathbb{M}; \mathscr{A}) \to \eta' \eta'' \, \mathscr{C}^{0}(\mathbb{M}; \mathscr{A}) \to 0,$$

where $\eta'(n,m) = (n+1,m)$ and $\eta''(n,m) = (n,m+1)$. We omit the other details, which are straightforward.

For the last part, consider the map $f : \mathbb{M} \to \mathbb{N}$ given by $f(n,m) = \max(n,m)$. Then one sees easily that f is closed and continuous. Also,

each $f^{-1}(n)$ is taut and acyclic by II-Exercise 58 since $U_{n,n}$ is the smallest open set containing (n,n) and $(n,n) \in f^{-1}(n) \subset U_{n,n}$. Also, $(f\mathscr{A})(U_n) = \mathscr{A}(f^{-1}U_n) = \mathscr{A}(U_{n,n})$, so that $f\mathscr{A} \approx \mathscr{A}|\Delta$. By II-11.1 we have

$$\underline{\lim}_{k}^{n} A_{k,k} = H^{n}(\mathbb{N}; f\mathscr{A}) \approx H^{n}(\mathbb{M}; \mathscr{A}) = \underline{\lim}_{i,j}^{n} A_{i,j}.$$

Solutions for Chapter III:

- 4. Let $U \subset X$ be open. Since U is paracompact, $S^p(U;G) \to \Gamma(\mathscr{P}^p|U)$ is onto by I-6.2. Any singular cochain on U can be arbitrarily extended to one on X, and so $S^p(X;G) \to S^p(U;G)$ is onto. Thus the composition $S^p(X;G) \to \Gamma(\mathscr{P}^p) \to \Gamma(\mathscr{P}^p|U)$ is onto, which implies that \mathscr{P}^p is flabby by definition. The analogous argument works for $\mathscr{A}^*(X;G)$.
- 7. A disjoint union of lens spaces converging to a point serves for X. Then

$$_{\Delta}H^{2}(X;\mathbb{Q}) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(0;\mathbb{Q}) \oplus \operatorname{Ext}(\bigoplus \mathbb{Z}_{n};\mathbb{Q}) = 0.$$

Also, by II-15.1,

$$sH^{2}(X;\mathbb{Q}) \approx H^{2}(\Gamma(\mathscr{G}^{*}\otimes\mathbb{Q})) \approx H^{2}(\Gamma(\mathscr{G}^{*})\otimes\mathbb{Q}) \\\approx H^{2}(\Gamma(\mathscr{G}^{*}))\otimes\mathbb{Q} \\\approx H^{2}(X;\mathbb{Z})\otimes\mathbb{Q} \approx \operatorname{Ext}(\bigoplus \mathbb{Z}_{n},\mathbb{Z})\otimes\mathbb{Q} \\\approx \operatorname{Hom}(\bigoplus \mathbb{Z}_{n},\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})\otimes\mathbb{Q} \\\approx (\prod \mathbb{Z}_{n})\otimes\mathbb{Q} \neq 0.$$

- 10. If U_x is the minimal open set containing x, then the covering 𝔅 = {U_x} refines all other coverings of X, so that Hⁿ(X; A) = Hⁿ(𝔅; A). Also, A(U_x) = 𝔅_x = 𝔅(U_x) for all x. Since y ∈ U_x ⇒ U_y ⊂ U_x, A agrees with 𝔅 on all simplices {x₀,..., x_n} of N(𝔅), whence Hⁿ(X; A) = Hⁿ(X; 𝔅). In particular, Hⁿ(X; A) = 0 if 𝔅 = 0. Thus Hⁿ(X; 𝔅) is a fundamental connected sequence of functors of sheaves 𝔅 on X with H⁰(X; 𝔅) ≈ Γ(𝔅). Therefore Hⁿ(X; A) ≈ Hⁿ(X; 𝔅) ≈ Hⁿ(X; 𝔅) by II-6.2.
- Any locally finite covering of N contains {N}. Thus the result follows from III-4.8 (or by direct examination).
- 13. For an arc (x, y) of S¹ containing x₀ one sees that A_n|(x, y) has a subsheaf isomorphic to Z_(x0,y) with quotient sheaf isomorphic to Z_{(x,x0]}. We have H^{*}((x, y); Z_(x0,y)) ≈ H^{*}((x, y), (x, x0]; Z) = 0 and H^{*}((x, y); Z_(x0)) ≈ H^{*}((x, x0]; Z) ≈ H^{*}((x, y); A_n) = 0 for i > 0, whence III-4.13 applies and shows that H(X; A_n) can be computed using a covering U by three arcs (actually two arcs would also do). For an appropriate choice of bases one computes easily that the incidence matrix for d : C¹(U; A_n) → C²(U; A_n) is

| Γ -1 | n | 0 7 | |
|------|----|-----|----|
| 0 | -1 | 1 | Ι, |
| [0 | 1 | -1 | |

which is unimodularly equivalent to diag(1, 1, n-1), whence $\check{H}^1(\mathbb{S}^1; \mathscr{A}_n) \approx \mathbb{Z}/(n-1)\mathbb{Z}$. Particularly note the cases $\check{H}^1(\mathbb{S}^1; \mathscr{A}_0) = 0$ and $\check{H}^1(\mathbb{S}^1; \mathscr{A}_{-1}) \approx \mathbb{Z}_2$. [The sheaf \mathscr{A}_{-1} is the same as Z^t of I-3.4 and so the solution to II-Exercise 28 gives another computation of $\check{H}^1(\mathbb{S}^1; \mathscr{A}_{-1})$.]

14. There is an open covering \mathfrak{U} of X such that γ is the image of some $\gamma_{\mathfrak{U}} \in \check{H}^{n}(\mathfrak{U})$ via the canonical map $\check{H}^{n}(\mathfrak{U}) \to \check{H}^{n}(X) \approx H^{n}(X)$. Let ε be a Lebesgue number for \mathfrak{U} and let $f : X \twoheadrightarrow Y$ be as described. If $y \in Y$, then diam $f^{-1}(y) < \varepsilon$, whence $f^{-1}(y) \subset U$ for some $U \in \mathfrak{U}$. Thus y has a neighborhood V_{y} with $f^{-1}(V_{y}) \subset U$. Let $\mathfrak{V} = \{V_{y} | y \in Y\}$. Then $f^{-1}\mathfrak{V}$ refines \mathfrak{U} . Since f is surjective, it maps the nerve $N(f^{-1}\mathfrak{V})$ isomorphically onto $N(\mathfrak{V})$. Thus the induced map $\check{H}^{n}(\mathfrak{V}) \to \check{H}^{n}(f^{-1}\mathfrak{V})$ is an isomorphism. The result then follows from the commutative diagram

$$\gamma_{\mathfrak{U}} \in \check{H}^{n}(\mathfrak{U}) \to \check{H}^{n}(f^{-1}\mathfrak{V}) \to \check{H}^{n}(X)$$

$$\uparrow^{\approx} \qquad \uparrow^{n}(\mathfrak{V}) \to \check{H}^{n}(Y)$$

16. Let X be any space with a nonisolated point x. Let A be the constant presheaf with values M ≠ 0 and let A" be the presheaf with A"(U) = 0 if x ∉ U and A"(U) = M if x ∈ U. Then there is the epimorphism A → A" of presheaves. Let Φ = {{x}, Ø}. Then Č⁰_Φ(𝔅; A) = 0 for any covering 𝔅 since if 0 ≠ c ∈ Č⁰_Φ(𝔅; A), then c(U) ≠ 0 for some U ∈ 𝔅, whence {x} ⊃ |c| ⊃ Ū. But č⁰(𝔅; A") is concentrated on {x} so that Č⁰_Φ(𝔅; A") = Č⁰(𝔅; A") = ∏{M | x ∈ U ∈ 𝔅}. Now any open covering is refined by some 𝔅 = {U_y} such that x ∉ U_y for all y ≠ x. For such 𝔅, Č⁰_Φ(𝔅; A") = A"(U_x) = M. Consequently, Č⁰_Φ(X; A) = 0 and Č⁰_Φ(X; A") ≈ M, so that Č⁰_Φ(X; A) → Č⁰_Φ(X; A") is not surjective.

Solutions for Chapter IV:

- 1. Let $K \in \Phi$ and $s \in (f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A})(K)$. Extend s to an open set $U \supset K$ giving $t \in (f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A})(U) = \Gamma_{\Psi(U)}(\mathscr{A}|f^{-1}(U))$. Let $L \in \Phi$ with $K \subset \operatorname{int} L$ and $L \subset U$. As a section of \mathscr{A} over $f^{-1}(U)$, t restricts to $t' \in \Gamma_{\Phi(\Psi)|f^{-1}(L)}(\mathscr{A}|f^{-1}L)$. Since \mathscr{A} is $\Phi(\Psi)$ -soft, t' extends to $s' \in \Gamma_{\Phi(\Psi)}(\mathscr{A})$ by II-9.3. But $\Gamma_{\Phi(\Psi)}(\mathscr{A}) = \Gamma_{\Phi}(f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A})$ by IV-5.2, and under that equivalence s' becomes an extension of the original section s. This shows that $\Gamma_{\Phi}(f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A}) \to (f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A})(K)$ is onto for all $K \in \Phi$, which implies that $f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A}$ is Φ -soft by definition.
- 2. By assumption there are compact sets A, B in X with $A \cap B \subset Y$ and $A \cup B \cup Y = X$. If $A \cup B \neq X$, then Y contains an open set, and we are finished. If $A \cup B = X$, then $X (A \cap B) = U \cup V$ (disjoint), where $U = A (A \cap B) = X B$ and $V = B (A \cap B) = X A$, which shows that the compact set $A \cap B$ disconnects X. The Mayer-Vietoris sequence

$$H^{n-1}(A \cap B) \to H^n(X) \to H^n(A) \oplus H^n(B)$$

has the direct sum term zero by II-16.29, and so $\dim_L A \cap B \ge n-1$. It follows that $\underline{\dim}_L^X Y \ge n-1$ since $A \cap B \in c|Y$.

- 3. Since a compact totally disconnected space has dimension zero by II-16.19, we have $\underline{\dim}_{L}^{X}(B-A) = 0$. The result then follows from the first inequality of IV-8.10.
- 5. Let A be the presheaf with $A(U) = H^n(\mathscr{L}^*(U))$ and let $\mathscr{A} = \mathscr{H}_{eaf}(A) = \mathscr{H}^n(\mathscr{L}^*)$ by definition. Then there is the canonical map $\theta : A(Y) \to \mathscr{A}(Y)$ of Chapter I. Now $A(Y) = H^n(\Gamma(\mathscr{L}^*))$ and $\mathscr{A}(Y) = \Gamma(\mathscr{H}^n(\mathscr{L}^*))$, so that

 $\theta: H^n(\Gamma(\mathscr{L}^*)) \to \Gamma(\mathscr{H}^n(\mathscr{L}^*)).$ If $s \in \Gamma(\mathscr{L}^*)$ is a cocycle representing $[s] \in H^n(\Gamma(\mathscr{L}^*))$, then for $y \in Y$, s(y) is an *n*-cocycle of \mathscr{L}^*_x representing the cohomology class $[s(y)] \in \mathscr{H}^n(\mathscr{L}^*)_y$. By definition $\theta[s](y) = [s(y)]$. Now, if s(y) = 0, then [s(y)] = 0, so that $y \notin |\theta(s)|$. That is,

 $|\theta(s)| \subset |s|.$

Therefore if $s \in \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*)$, then $\theta(s) \in \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{H}^n(\mathscr{L}^*))$, so that

$$\theta: H^n(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*)) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{H}^n(\mathscr{L}^*))$$

as desired.

We shall treat the remainder more generally in the context of IV-2.1, where \mathscr{L}^* is a differential sheaf on Y consisting of Φ -acyclic sheaves. (The case of the Leray spectral sequence is that for which $\mathscr{L}^q = f_{\Psi}(\mathscr{C}^q(X;\mathscr{A}))$.) The spectral sequence in question is the first spectral sequence of the double complex $L^{p,q} = \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}^p(Y;\mathscr{L}^q))$ together with the fact that the second spectral sequence of this degenerates to an isomorphism induced by the monomorphism

$$\varepsilon: \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*) \rightarrowtail \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}^0(Y; \mathscr{L}^*)),$$

which identifies $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*)$ with the d' 0-cocycles of $L^{*,*} = \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}^*(Y;\mathscr{L}^*))$. Thus cohomology classes of the total complex L^* are given by the image of ε^* : $H^n(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*)) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^n(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}^*(Y;\mathscr{L}^*)))$. Let us describe this explicitly. Start with a section $s \in \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^n)$ that is a cocycle. Then $\varepsilon(s)$ is given just by regarding s as a servation, and we shall continue to name it s. Then $s(y) \in \mathscr{L}_y^n$ is a cocycle of \mathscr{L}_y^* representing $[s(y)] \in \mathscr{H}^n(\mathscr{L}^*)_y$. Then $y \mapsto [s(y)]$ is a servation of $\mathscr{H}^n(\mathscr{L}^*)$, that is, an element of $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}^0(Y;\mathscr{H}^n(\mathscr{L}^*)))$. By general principles this is a cocycle, and its cohomology class in $H^0(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}^*(Y;\mathscr{H}^n(\mathscr{L}^*)))) = H^0_{\Phi}(Y;\mathscr{H}^n(\mathscr{L}^*)) = 'E_2^{0,n}$ is just $\xi[s]$, where ξ is the edge homomorphism. Hence, as a section of $\mathscr{H}^n(\mathscr{L}^*)$, we have that $\xi[s](y) = [s(y)] = \theta[s](y)$. Therefore $\xi = \theta$ as claimed.

If Y is a single point y, then it is clear that ξ is the identity. Thus naturality applied to the diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} y^{\bullet} & \hookrightarrow & X \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ y & \hookrightarrow & Y \end{array}$$

gives the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} H^n_{\Phi(\Psi)}(X;\mathscr{A}) & \stackrel{\xi}{\longrightarrow} & \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{H}^n_{\Psi}(f;\mathscr{A})) \\ \text{restriction} & & & & \downarrow^{i^*_{\Psi}} \\ H^n_{\Psi \cap y^{\bullet}}(y^{\bullet};\mathscr{A}|y^{\bullet}) & \stackrel{\xi=1}{\longrightarrow} & H^n_{\Psi \cap y^{\bullet}}(y^{\bullet};\mathscr{A}|y^{\bullet}), \end{array}$$

since we may as well assume that $\{y\} \in \Phi$. This proves the last statement. The proof could also be based on II-6.2.

6. The indicated edge homomorphism is the composition $\zeta = i_y^* \circ \xi \circ \eta^*$, where

$$\eta^*: H^n_{\Phi}(X/G; \mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^n_{\Psi}(X_G; \eta^*\mathscr{A})$$

is induced by $\eta: X_G \to X/G$;

$$\xi: H^n_{\Psi}(X_G; \eta^*\mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma(\mathscr{H}^n_{\Theta}(X; f^*\mathscr{A}))$$

is the edge homomorphism of the Leray spectral sequence of $\pi: X_G \to B_G$, as in IV-Exercise 5; and

$$i_{\boldsymbol{y}}^{*}: \Gamma(\mathscr{H}^{n}_{\Theta}(X; f^{*}\mathscr{A})) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^{n}_{\Theta}(X; f^{*}\mathscr{A})$$

is as in IV-Exercise 5, where $y \in B_G$. Let $j: X \approx X \times_G G \hookrightarrow X \times_G E_G = X_G$ be the inclusion of the fiber corresponding to $y \in B_G$. Then the diagram

commutes; that is, $\eta \circ j = f$. By IV-Exercise 5 we have $i_y^* \circ \xi = j^*$. Therefore $\zeta = i_y^* \circ \xi \circ \eta^* = j^* \circ \eta^* = f^*$ as claimed.

- 9. The first derived functor of f_{Ψ} is $\mathscr{A} \mapsto \mathscr{H}^1(f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A})$, whose stalk at $y \in Y$ is $\mathscr{H}^1_{\Psi}(f;\mathscr{A})_y \approx H^1_{\Psi \cap y^{\bullet}}(y^{\bullet};\mathscr{A}) = 0$ by IV-4.2 and the assumption that $\dim_{\Psi}(y^{\bullet}) = 0$. Therefore f_{Ψ} is exact.
- 10. We have $\tau \cup \pi^*(\omega) = \tau \cup \pi^*(i^*j^*(\tau)) = \tau \cup j^*(\tau) = \tau \cup \tau$ by (23) on page 236 and II-12.2.
- 11. It suffices to treat the two cases B = V open and B = F closed. Thus let $F \subset Y$ be closed, and put V = Y F. For U open in Y, the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{A}_V \bullet \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}_F \bullet \to 0$$

(restricted to U) induces the exact cohomology sequence

$$0 \to H^0_{\Psi \cap U^{\bullet}}(U^{\bullet}; \mathscr{A}_{V^{\bullet}}) \to H^0_{\Psi \cap U^{\bullet}}(U^{\bullet}; \mathscr{A}) \to H^0_{\Psi \cap U^{\bullet}}(U^{\bullet}; \mathscr{A}_{F^{\bullet}}) \to \cdots$$

and hence the exact sequence of sheaves

$$0 \to f_{\Psi}(\mathscr{A}_{V^{\bullet}}) \xrightarrow{\varphi} f_{\Psi}(\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{\theta} f_{\Psi}(\mathscr{A}_{F^{\bullet}}) \to \mathscr{H}^{1}_{\Psi}(f; \mathscr{A}_{V^{\bullet}}) \to \cdots$$

For $y \in F$ there is the commutative diagram

$$egin{array}{cccc} f_\Psi(\mathscr{A})_y & \xrightarrow{ extsf{by}} & f_\Psi(\mathscr{A}_{F^ullet})_y \ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & \\ f_\Psi^0(y^ullet;\mathscr{A}|y^ullet) & \xrightarrow{ au} & H_\Psi^0(y^ullet;\mathscr{A}_{F^ullet}|y^ullet), \end{array}$$

and τ is trivially an isomorphism since $\mathscr{A}_{F^{\bullet}}|y^{\bullet} = \mathscr{A}|y^{\bullet}$. Since f is Ψ closed, the maps r_{y}^{*} are isomorphisms by IV-4.2. Therefore θ_{y} is an isomorphism for $y \in F$, and so

$$f_{\Psi}(\mathscr{A})|F \xrightarrow{\theta|F} f_{\Psi}(\mathscr{A}_{F^{\bullet}})|F$$

is an isomorphism. It is obvious that $f_{\Psi}(\mathscr{A}_{F^{\bullet}})|V = 0$, and so θ induces an isomorphism $f_{\Psi}(\mathscr{A})_F \xrightarrow{\approx} f_{\Psi}(\mathscr{A}_{F^{\bullet}})$, which is our result for B = F. On the other hand, the fact that $\theta|F$ is an isomorphism implies that $f_{\Psi}(\mathscr{A}_{V^{\bullet}})|F = 0$ by exactness of the previous sequence. Consequently, φ induces a homomorphism $f_{\Psi}(\mathscr{A}_{V^{\bullet}}) \to f_{\Psi}(\mathscr{A})_V$, which is an isomorphism since $f_{\Psi}(\mathscr{A}_{F^{\bullet}})|V = 0$, and this is our result for B = V.

- 12. The statement about normal Stiefel-Whitney classes follows from the obvious real analogue of IV-10.4. If Y is not the complete fixed-point set, then let F be some other component. By hypothesis, $H^i(M; \mathbb{Z}_2) \to H^i(F; \mathbb{Z}_2)$ is vacuously a monomorphism for i < m k + 1. Therefore, by IV-10.5 we have that $k = \dim Y \leq m (m k + 1) = k 1$, a contradiction.
- 13. Since $\mathscr{H}^{-1}(\mathscr{A}^*) = 0$, we have

$$\mathscr{H}^{q}(\mathscr{B}^{*}) pprox \left\{ egin{array}{c} \mathscr{A}^{-1}/\operatorname{Ker} h pprox \operatorname{Im} h, & ext{for } q = -1, \\ 0, & ext{otherwise.} \end{array}
ight.$$

Thus the spectral sequence of IV-2.1 has

$$E_2^{p,q} = \begin{cases} H_{\Phi}^p(X; \operatorname{Im} h), & \text{for } q = -1, \\ 0, & \text{for } q \neq -1. \end{cases}$$

Consequently, there is the induced isomorphism

$$H^p_{\Phi}(X; \operatorname{Im} h) \approx H^{p-1}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{B}^*)),$$

which vanishes for $p \ge 1$ since $\mathscr{B}^q = 0$ for $q \ge 0$. Therefore Im h is Φ -acyclic. The exact cohomology sequence induced by the exact coefficient sequence $0 \to \text{Im } h \to \mathscr{A}^0 \to \text{Coker } h \to 0$ then shows that Coker h is Φ -acyclic since \mathscr{A}^0 and Im h are Φ -acyclic.

- 20. By IV-14.4, $H^*(X/G, P/G; \mathbb{Z}_p) = 0$. By the proof of IV-14.3, the Leray spectral sequence of (f, f|P), where $f: X \to X/G$ is the orbit map, has $E_2^{s,t} = H^s(X/G, P/G; H^t(G; \mathbb{Z}_p)) = 0$ converging to $H^{s+t}(X, P; \mathbb{Z}_p)$. Thus the latter group is zero, and the result follows from the exact sequence of the pair (X, P). (This result, due to Oliver [65], is not true without the condition that the group be connected.)
- 22. Mapping X to a point \star induces, by the naturality of θ , the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H^{0}(\star;M) & \stackrel{\approx}{\longrightarrow} & {}_{\Delta}H^{0}(\star;M) \\ & \downarrow \approx & & \downarrow \approx \\ H^{0}(X;M) & \stackrel{\theta}{\longrightarrow} & {}_{\Delta}H^{0}(X;M), \end{array}$$

so that θ is an isomorphism as claimed.

- 24. It is clear that ${}_{\Delta}\mathcal{H}^q(X;M) = 0$ for $q \neq 0$, so that the spectral sequence degenerates to the isomorphism

$$\Delta H^p(X; M) \approx H^p(X; \Delta \mathcal{H}^0(X; M)),$$

and it is elementary that the group on the left is zero for $p \neq 0$. Let \mathscr{H} and $\tilde{\mathscr{H}}$ denote $\Delta \mathscr{H}^0(X; M)$ and $\Delta \tilde{\mathscr{H}}^0(X; M)$ respectively. Note that $\tilde{\mathscr{H}}$ is concentrated on the closed line segment where X is not locally arcwise connected. There is an exact sequence

$$0 \to M \to \mathscr{H} \to \mathscr{H} \to 0,$$

which induces the exact sequence

$$0 \to H^{0}(X; M) \xrightarrow{\theta} H^{0}(X; \mathscr{H}) \to H^{0}(X; \tilde{\mathscr{H}}) \to H^{1}(X; M) \to H^{1}(X; \mathscr{H}),$$

and $H^{1}(X; \mathscr{H}) \approx {}_{A}H^{1}(X; M) = 0$ and similarly, $\Gamma(\mathscr{H}) = H^{0}(X; \mathscr{H}) \approx M.$

Thus this sequence has the form

$$0 \to M \xrightarrow{\theta} M \to \Gamma(\tilde{\mathscr{H}}) \to M \to 0.$$

The map θ here is an isomorphism by IV-Exercise 22. Consequently we have that $\Gamma(\Delta \tilde{\mathcal{H}}^0(X; M)) \approx M$. The reader might attempt to see this directly by studying the sheaf $\tilde{\mathcal{H}}$.

25. Since X is locally arcwise connected, the sheaf $_{\Delta}\mathscr{H}^{0}(X;M) \approx M$ via the augmentation. It is also clear that the sheaves $_{\Delta}\mathscr{H}^{q}(X;M)$ are concentrated at the origin x_{0} for q > 0. [For q > 1 these are probably zero, but we know no proof of that. The analogue in higher dimensions is false.] Let $\mathfrak{B} = _{\Delta}\mathscr{H}^{1}(X;M)_{x_{0}}$, which is expected to be quite large. [At least for $M = \mathbb{Q}$ this is uncountable.] Then we have $E_{2}^{0,0} \approx M$, $E_{2}^{1,0} = H^{1}(X;M) \approx \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\infty} M$ by continuity II-14.6, $E_{2}^{0,q} = \Gamma(_{\Delta}\mathscr{H}^{q}(X;M)) \approx _{\Delta}\mathscr{H}^{q}(X;M)_{x_{0}}$, and all others are zero. Consequently, there is an exact sequence

$$0 \to \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\infty} M \to {}_{\Delta}H^1(X;M) \to \mathfrak{B} \to 0$$

and isomorphisms

$$\Delta H^q(X;M) \approx \Delta \mathscr{H}^q(X;M)_{x_0},$$

probably all zero, for q > 1. Note that the term $\bigoplus_{i=1}^{\infty} M$ represents those classes in $\Delta H^1(X; M)$ that are locally zero.

- 27. This follows immediately from IV-2.11 applied to the open subspaces $A_n = U_n \times \mathbb{N}$, and the fact, from II-Exercise 59, that $\varprojlim_{i,j}^2 A_{i,j} = 0$, once we show that $H^q(U_n \times \mathbb{N}; \mathscr{A}) \approx \varprojlim_{j}^q A_{n,j}$. To see this, consider the projection $f: U_n \times \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{N}$. This is closed and each $f^{-1}(m)$ is taut and $\mathscr{A}|f^{-1}(m)$ is acyclic by II-Exercise 58. Also, $f\mathscr{A}(U_k) = \mathscr{A}(f^{-1}U_k) = \mathscr{A}(U_{n,k}) = A_{n,k}$, so that $f\mathscr{A}$ is the inverse sequence $\{A_{n,1} \leftarrow A_{n,2} \leftarrow \cdots\}$. Therefore $H^q(U_n \times \mathbb{N}; \mathscr{A}) \approx H^q(\mathbb{N}; f\mathscr{A}) = \varprojlim_{j}^q A_{n,j}$ by II-11.1, as claimed. The spectral sequence can also be derived as the Leray spectral sequence of the projection $\pi_1: \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{N}$.
- 29. Let $\mathscr{A}^* = \mathscr{C}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$. By definition, 1° is the composition of the edge homomorphism in the first spectral sequence of the double complex $L^{p,q} = C_{\Psi}^p(X; \mathscr{A}^q)$ with the inverse of that for the second spectral sequence. These edge homomorphisms are induced by the canonical monomorphisms

$$C_{\Psi}^{n}(X;\mathscr{A}) \rightarrowtail \bigoplus_{p+q=n} C_{\Psi}^{p}(X;\mathscr{A}^{q}) \leftarrow \Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{A}^{n}).$$

These are all exact functors of \mathcal{A} . Consequently, the derived maps

$$H^n_{\Psi}(X;\mathscr{A}) \to H^n(L^*) \stackrel{\approx}{\longleftarrow} H^n(\Gamma_{\Psi}(\mathscr{A}^*)) = H^n_{\Psi}(X;\mathscr{A}),$$

which are the edge homomorphisms, are maps of fundamental connected sequences of functors of \mathscr{A} . In degree zero this composition is the identity, as is seen by chasing the exact commutative diagram

Thus the contention follows from II-6.2.

30. Let $L^{p,q} = \check{C}^p(\mathfrak{U}; C^q(\bullet; \mathscr{A})) = \check{C}^p(\mathfrak{U}; \mathscr{C}^q(X; \mathscr{A}))$. In the second spectral sequence of this double complex we have

$${}^{\prime\prime}E_1^{p,q} = \check{H}^p(\mathfrak{U}; \mathscr{C}^q(X; \mathscr{A})) = \begin{cases} \Gamma(\mathscr{C}^q(X; \mathscr{A})), & \text{for } p = 0, \\ 0, & \text{for } p \neq 0 \end{cases}$$

by III-4.10. Therefore this spectral sequence degenerates to the isomorphism

$$H^n(L^*) \approx H^n(X; \mathscr{A}).$$

In the first spectral sequence $E_r^{p,q}(\mathfrak{U}) = E_r^{p,q}$ we have

$$E_1^{p,q}(\mathfrak{U}) = \check{C}^p(\mathfrak{U}; H^q(\bullet; \mathscr{A}))$$

by III-4.1, whence

$$E_2^{p,q}(\mathfrak{U}) = \check{H}^p(\mathfrak{U}; H^q(\bullet; \mathscr{A})) \Longrightarrow H^n(X; \mathscr{A}).$$

In the situation of III-Exercise 15, $E_2^{p,q}(\mathfrak{U}) = \check{H}^p(\mathfrak{U}; H^q(\bullet; \mathscr{A})) = 0$ for p < m and $0 \neq q < n$, which implies that the edge homomorphism

$$\check{H}^{k}(\mathfrak{U};\mathscr{A}) = E_{2}^{k,0} \twoheadrightarrow E_{\infty}^{k,0} \rightarrowtail H^{k}(X;\mathscr{A})$$

is isomorphic for $k < \min(n, m)$ and monomorphic for $k = \min(n, m)$.

31. Put $K_0 = Y$, $K_1 = B$, and $K_2 = K_3 = F$. Then, for the Fary spectral sequence, we have $A_0 = Y - B$, $A_1 = B - F$, $A_2 = \emptyset$, and $A_3 = F$. Thus

$$E_2^{p,q} = H_c^p(Y - B; \mathscr{H}^q(f)) \oplus H_c^{p+1}(B - F; \mathscr{H}^{q-1}(f)) \oplus H^{p+3}(F; \mathscr{H}^{q-3}(f)),$$

where the coefficient sheaves are constant and either 0 or \mathbb{Z} . The nonzero cases are

$$\begin{aligned} E_2^{p,3} &= H_c^p(Y-B) \oplus H_c^{p+1}(B-F) \oplus H^{p+3}(F), \\ E_2^{p,1} &= H_c^{p+1}(B-F), \\ E_2^{p,0} &= H_c^p(Y-B). \end{aligned}$$

Also, $d_2 = {}^t d_2 + {}^t \Delta$, where ${}^t d_2 = 0$ since $E_2^{p,1}$ and $E_2^{p,0}$ do not involve a common A_t . Thus $d_2 : E_2^{p-1,1} \to E_2^{p+1,0}$ is the connecting homomorphism ${}^t \Delta = \delta$ in the exact sequence

$$H^p_c(Y-F) \to H^p_c(B-F) \xrightarrow{\delta} H^{p+1}_c(Y-B) \to H^p_c(Y-F).$$

But $H_c^*(Y - F) = H^*(Y, F) = 0$ since Y and F are both acyclic. Consequently, d_2 is an isomorphism, killing everything except the $E_2^{p,3}$ terms. Therefore the spectral sequence degenerates from $E_3^{p,q}$ on, giving

$$H^{p}(X) \approx E_{3}^{p-3,3} \approx E_{2}^{p-3,3} \approx H_{c}^{p-3}(Y-B) \oplus H_{c}^{p-2}(B-F) \oplus H^{p}(F).$$

Now, $H_c^{p-3}(Y-B) \approx H^{p-3}(Y,B) \approx \tilde{H}^{p-4}(B)$ and $H_c^{p-2}(B-F) \approx H^{p-2}(B,F) \approx \tilde{H}^{p-2}(B)$, yielding the claimed isomorphism.

32. By IV-2.5, η^k is an isomorphism for k < n and a monomorphism for k = n. By the solution of IV-Exercise 5, the edge homomorphism $\xi : H^n(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*)) \twoheadrightarrow E_{\infty}^{0,n} \mapsto E_2^{0,n} = \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{H}^n(\mathscr{L}^*))$ is just the canonical map $\theta : H^n(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*)) \to \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{H}^n(\mathscr{L}^*))$. The assumption that $H^n(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*)) \to H^n(\Gamma_{\Phi\cap U}(\mathscr{L}^*|U))$ is zero for small U implies that $\theta = 0$. This implies that $E_{\infty}^{0,n} = 0$, whence $E_{\infty}^{n,0} \to H^n(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{L}^*))$ is onto, so that η^n is onto.

For the application to singular cohomology take, for example, $\mathscr{G}^* = \mathscr{G}^*(X; M) = \mathscr{G}_{heaf}(U \mapsto S^*(U; M))$, which is Φ -soft when Φ is paracompactifying. Then the result, together with IV-2.5, says (for X paracompact): If every neighborhood U of $x \in X$ contains a neigborhood V of x with $\Delta \tilde{H}^k(U; M) \to \Delta \tilde{H}^k(V; M)$ zero for all k < n, then $\eta^k : H^k(X; M) \to \Delta H^k(X; M)$ is an isomorphism for k < n and a monomorphism for k = n. If in addition, each point has a neighborhood V with $\Delta H^n(X; M) \to \Delta H^n(V; M)$ zero, then η^n is an isomorphism. (Actually, as the proof shows, it is enough that for each $\gamma \in \Delta H^n(X; M)$ and each $x \in X$ there is a $V = V(\gamma, x)$ with $\gamma | V = 0$.)

33. Let ${}^{'}E_{r}^{p,q} = E_{r}^{p,q}(\mathscr{Q}^{*})$ and $E_{r}^{p,q} = E_{r}^{p,q}(\mathscr{M}^{*})$. By hypothesis, ${}^{'}E_{2}^{0,N} \rightarrow E_{2}^{0,N}$. But ${}^{'}E_{\infty}^{0,N} \rightarrow {}^{'}E_{2}^{0,N}$ and $E_{\infty}^{p,N} \rightarrow E_{2}^{0,N}$, so that ${}^{'}E_{\infty}^{0,N} \rightarrow E_{\infty}^{0,N}$. The proof of IV-2.2 showed that ${}^{'}E_{\infty}^{p,N-p} \xrightarrow{\approx} E_{\infty}^{p,N-p}$ for p > 0. Thus, for the filtrations of the total terms, we have $H^{N}(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{Q}^{*})) = {}^{'}F_{N-1} \supset \cdots$, and we deduce that ${}^{'}F_{N-1} \xrightarrow{\approx} F_{N-1}$ in both cases. In the first case, we have that ${}^{'}F_{N-1} = {}^{'}E_{\infty}^{0,N} \rightarrow E_{\infty}^{0,N} = F_{N}/F_{N-1}$, which implies that ${}^{'}F_{N} \rightarrow F_{N}$ as claimed.

For the second case, note that the proof of IV-2.2 also showed that $E_r^{r,N-r+1} \xrightarrow{\approx} E_r^{r,N-r+1}$ since

$$k_r(r) = N - r + \#(S_r \cap [0, r]) = N - r + 2 > N - r + 1$$

Hence, if we have proved that $E_r^{0,N} \rightarrow E_r^{0,N}$, then the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} {}'E^{0,N}_{r} & \twoheadrightarrow & E^{0,N}_{r} \\ & \downarrow' d^{0,N}_{N} & & \downarrow d^{0,N}_{N} \\ {}'E^{r,N-r+1}_{r} & \stackrel{\approx}{\longrightarrow} & E^{r,N-r+1}_{r} \end{array}$$

shows that ${}^{\prime}E_{r+1}^{0,N} = \operatorname{Ker}{}^{\prime}d_{N}^{0,N} \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{Ker}{}^{0,N}_{N} = E_{r+1}^{0,N}$. Thus ${}^{\prime}F_{N}/{}^{\prime}F_{N-1} = {}^{\prime}E_{\infty}^{0,N} \twoheadrightarrow E_{\infty}^{0,N} = F_{N}/F_{N-1}$, and we conclude that ${}^{\prime}F_{N} \twoheadrightarrow F_{N}$, as claimed.

Solutions for Chapter V:

- 3. The solution is given in VI-1.4.
- 4. The solution is given in VI-12.1.
- 5. The solution is given in VI-3.2 and VI-3.3.
- 6. The Mayer-Vietoris sequence (coefficients in \mathscr{A})

$$H^n_c(U \cap V) \to H^n_c(U) \oplus H^n_c(V) \to H^n_c(U \cap V) \to H^{n+1}_c(U \cap V) = 0$$

shows that $\mathfrak{H}^n_c(X; \mathscr{A})$ satisfies condition (a) of V-Exercise 3, and continuity II-14.5 applied to the direct system $\{\mathscr{A}_{U_{\alpha}}\}$ shows that it satisfies condition (b).

7. Such a map h induces a homomorphism $h' : \mathscr{A} \to f^*\mathscr{B}$ (and conversely). Thus h_* can be defined as the composition

$$H_p^{\Psi(c)}\left(X;\mathscr{A}\right) \xrightarrow{h'_*} H_p^{\Psi(c)}(X;f^*\mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{f_*} H_p^{\Psi}(Y;\mathscr{B})$$

of h'_* with the homomorphism f_* of (26) on page 301.

Let $g: Y \to Z$ and let $k: \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{C}$ be a g-homomorphism. Let Φ be a family of supports on Z, and put $\Psi = \Phi(c)$ and $\Theta = \Psi(c)$. Then we have the diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} H_{p}^{\Theta}(X;\mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{h'_{\star}} H_{p}^{\Theta}(X;f^{\star}\mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{k''_{\star}} H_{p}^{\Theta}(X;f^{\star}g^{\star}\mathscr{C}) \\ & & & \downarrow f_{\star} & \downarrow f_{\star} & \downarrow f_{\star} \\ & & & \downarrow f_{\star} & \downarrow f_{\star} \\ & & & H_{p}^{\Psi}(Y;\mathscr{B}) \xrightarrow{k'_{\star}} & H_{p}^{\Psi}(Y;g^{\star}\mathscr{C}) \\ & & & \downarrow g_{\star} \\ & & & & H_{p}^{\Phi}(Z;\mathscr{C}) \end{array}$$

in which the square commutes by the naturality of f_* and the triangles commute by the definitions of h_* and k_* . This shows that

$$k_*h_* = g_*f_*k_*''h_*' = (gf)_*(kh)_*' = (kh)_*,$$

the last equality being by the definition of $(kh)_*$.

- 8. The first sequence is induced by the exact coefficient sequence $0 \to \mathscr{A}_V \to \mathscr{A}_{U_1} \oplus \mathscr{A}_{U_2} \to \mathscr{A}_U \to 0$ via (34) on page 306 and (8) on page 292. The second is similarly induced by the coefficient sequence $0 \to \mathscr{A}_G \to \mathscr{A}_{F_1} \oplus \mathscr{A}_{F_2} \to \mathscr{A}_F \to 0$, where G = X V, $F_i = X U_i$, and F = X U, and using (35) on page 306.
- 9. Let $\mathscr{L}^* = \mathscr{J}^*(X; L)$, and plug the exact sequence $0 \to \mathscr{L}^*_V \to \mathscr{L}^*_{U_1} \oplus \mathscr{L}^*_{U_2} \to \mathscr{L}^* \to 0$ into the functor $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\bullet) \otimes \mathscr{M})$, which is exact on replete sheaves by V-3.10. Then use that $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*_U) \otimes \mathscr{M}) \approx \Gamma_{\Phi \cap U}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*|U) \otimes \mathscr{M}|U) \approx C^{\Phi \cap U}_*(U; \mathscr{M})$ by V-5.4. This gives the first sequence. The second follows similarly from the sequence $0 \to \mathscr{L}^* \to \mathscr{L}^*_{F_1} \oplus \mathscr{L}^*_{F_2} \to \mathscr{L}^*_F \to 0$, V-5.4 [showing that $\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*_F) \otimes \mathscr{M}) \approx \Gamma_{\Phi}((\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*|F) \otimes \mathscr{M}|F)^X) \approx \Gamma_{\Phi|F}(\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*|F) \otimes \mathscr{M}|F)]$, V-3.3, and V-5.6.
- 11. This is an immediate consequence of V-5.6 when (\mathcal{A}, Φ) is elementary, and of V-5.3 when Φ is paracompactifying.

from Chapter V

- 17. (a) $\Phi \subset \Psi \Rightarrow \Psi^{\#} = \{K | L \in \Psi \Rightarrow K \cap L \in c\} \subset \{K | L \in \Phi \Rightarrow K \cap L \in c\} = \Phi^{\#}.$
 - (b) $\Phi^{\#\#} = \{K \mid L \in \Phi^{\#} \Rightarrow K \cap L \in c\} \supset \Phi$ by the definition of $\Phi^{\#}$. Hence also $(\Phi^{\#})^{\#\#} \supset \Phi^{\#}$, and $(\Phi^{\#\#})^{\#} \subset \Phi^{\#}$ by (a) applied to (b).
 - (c) Recall that $\Phi^{\#}(c) = \{K \in c(Y) | \overline{f(K)} \in \Phi^{\#}\} = \{K \in c(Y) | f(K) \in \Phi^{\#}\}$ since $K \in c(Y)$ implies that f|K is closed and proper. We have

$$(f^{-1}\Phi)^{\#} = \{K \subset X \mid K' \in f^{-1}(\Phi) \Rightarrow K' \cap K \in c\}$$

= $\{K \subset X \mid L \in \Phi \Rightarrow f^{-1}(L) \cap K \in c\}.$

Since $\Phi \supset c$, such sets K are in c(Y). Also note that $f(f^{-1}(L) \cap K) = L \cap f(K)$, and so $f^{-1}(L) \cap K$ is compact $\Leftrightarrow L \cap f(K)$ is compact, for $K \in c(Y)$, since f|K is proper. Thus

$$(f^{-1}\Phi)^{\#} = \{K \in c(Y) \mid L \in \Phi \Rightarrow f^{-1}(L) \cap K \in c\}$$

=
$$\{K \in c(Y) \mid L \in \Phi \Rightarrow L \cap f(K) \in c\}$$

=
$$\{K \in c(Y) \mid f(K) \in \Phi^{\#}\}$$

=
$$\Phi^{\#}(c).$$

19. We omit the details concerning the sheaf $\mathscr{H}_2(X)$, which is easy to understand and is isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}_{s^2} . Consequently, $E_2^{p,-2} = H^p(X; \mathbb{Z}_{s^2}) \approx$ $H^p(\mathbb{S}^2;\mathbb{Z})$. The sheaf $\mathscr{H}_1(X)$ is more difficult. It is clear that it vanishes on $\mathbb{S}^2 - \{x\}$, where x is the common point of the two spheres. On $\mathbb{S}^1 - \{x\}$ it is constant with stalks Z. At the point x we have $\mathcal{H}_1(X)_x \approx H_1(N, \partial N) \approx$ $\tilde{H}_0(\partial N) \approx \tilde{H}_0(\mathbb{S}^1 + \mathbb{S}^0) \approx \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}$, where N is a neighborhood of x having the structure of a 2-disk punctured at x with an arc. To understand the way the stalks fit together around x, it is useful to think in terms of the singular homology of $(N, N - \{x\})$ and note that this has a basis consisting of the class s of the singular cycle given by a singular 1-simplex running from the \mathbb{S}^1 portion of $N - \{x\}$ through x and to the \mathbb{S}^2 portion. Similarly let t be the class of such a 1-simplex running from the \mathbb{S}^2 portion through x and to the \mathbb{S}^1 portion on the "opposite" side of x from that side along which s runs. Then s induces a local section of $\mathscr{H}_1(X)$ near x that gives a generator at points in \mathbb{S}^1 to one side of x and 0 at points on the other side. The section given by t is 0 on the first of these sides and a generator on the other. Neither of these local sections extends to a global section, but s + t does come from a global section (since we arranged for s and t to travel along \mathbb{S}^1 in the same direction). There is only one topology consistent with these facts. Let $\mathscr{L} = \mathscr{H}_1(X)|\mathbb{S}^1$. Since $\mathscr{H}_1(X)$ vanishes outside \mathbb{S}^1 , we have $H^p(X; \mathscr{H}_1(X)) \approx H^p(\mathbb{S}^1; \mathscr{L})$. To compute this, consider $U = \mathbb{S}^1 - \{y\}$, where $y \neq x$, and let A and B be the two rays from x making up U. (Then $A \cap B = \{x\}$.) Note that $\mathscr{L}|_U \approx \mathbb{Z}_A \oplus \mathbb{Z}_B$. (We remark that \mathscr{L} could be described as $\mathbb{Z}_A \oplus \mathbb{Z}_B$ patched at the missing point y in an essentially unique manner.) Now, $H^p_c(U;\mathbb{Z}_A) \approx H^p_c(A;\mathbb{Z}) \approx H^p([0,1],\{0\};\mathbb{Z}) = 0.$ Consequently, $H_c^p(U; \mathscr{L}|U) = 0$. The exact sequence of the pair $(\mathbb{S}^1, \{y\})$ with coefficients in \mathscr{L} then shows that $H^p(\mathbb{S}^1; \mathscr{L}) \approx \mathbb{Z}$ for p = 0 and is zero for $p \neq 0$. Therefore we have $E_2^{0,-1} = H^0(X; \mathscr{H}_1(X)) \approx H^0(\mathbb{S}^1; \mathscr{L}) \approx \mathbb{Z}$, $E_2^{0,-2} = H^0(X; \mathscr{H}_2(X)) \approx H^0(\mathbb{S}^2; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}$, $E_2^{2,-2} = H^2(X; \mathscr{H}_2(X)) \approx H^2(\mathbb{S}^2; \mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}$, and all other terms are zero. 21. We have

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\to} H_p^c(X; \mathscr{A}_{\lambda}) &= \lim_{\to} H_p(\Gamma_c(\mathscr{C}_*(X; L) \otimes \mathscr{A}_{\lambda})) & \text{by definition} \\ &\approx H_p(\lim_{\to} \Gamma_c(\mathscr{C}_*(X; L) \otimes \mathscr{A}_{\lambda})) & \text{since } \lim_{\to} \text{ is exact} \\ &\approx H_p(\Gamma_c(\lim_{\to} (\mathscr{C}_*(X; L) \otimes \mathscr{A}_{\lambda}))) & \text{by II-14.5} \\ &\approx H_p(\Gamma_c(\mathscr{C}_*(X; L) \otimes \lim_{\to} \mathscr{A}_{\lambda})) & \text{by (13) on page 20} \\ &= H_p^c(X; \mathscr{A}) & \text{by definition.} \end{split}$$

23. If $\pi: X \to X/G$, then there are the maps

$$H_p(U^{\bullet};\mathbb{Q}) \xrightarrow{\pi_{\bullet}} H_p(U;\mathbb{Q})$$

for $U \subset X/G$ open. These induce sheaf homomorphisms

$$\pi \mathscr{H}_p(X;\mathbb{Q}) \xrightarrow{\check{\pi}_{\star}}_{\check{\mu}_{\star}} \mathscr{H}_p(X/G;\mathbb{Q})$$

with $\check{\pi}_*\check{\mu}_* = \operatorname{ord} G$ and $\check{\mu}_*\check{\pi}_* = \sum_{g \in G} g_*$. Since

$$(\pi \mathscr{H}_p(X; \mathbb{Q}))_y \approx \bigoplus_{\pi(x)=y} \mathscr{H}_p(X; \mathbb{Q})_x = 0,$$

for $p \neq n$, we have that $\check{\pi}_*\check{\mu}_*$ is an isomorphism factoring through 0, whence $\mathscr{H}_p(X/G;\mathbb{Q}) = 0$ for $p \neq n$. Also, $\check{\mu}_* : \mathscr{H}_n(X/G;\mathbb{Q})_y \to (\pi\mathscr{H}_p(X;\mathbb{Q}))_y$ is a monomorphism onto the group $(\pi\mathscr{H}_n(X;\mathbb{Q}))_y^G$ of invariant elements, which is the diagonal in $\bigoplus_{\pi(x)=y} \mathbb{Q}$, since G preserves orientation. It follows that $\mathscr{H}_n(X/G;\mathbb{Q})_y \approx \mathbb{Q}$, so that X/G is an n- $hm_{\mathbb{Q}}$ by V-16.8(d), since X/G is locally connected. Also, $\Gamma(\mathscr{H}_n(X/G;\mathbb{Q}) \approx H_n(X/G;\mathbb{Q}) \neq 0$ since $\check{\mu}_*\check{\pi}_* = \operatorname{ord} G \neq 0$, so that X/G is orientable. (Note that the proof applies to any field L of characteristic prime to $\operatorname{ord} G$, in place of \mathbb{Q} . Also note that X/G is clc_L^∞ if X is clc_L^∞ by II-19.3.)

- 26. By II-Exercise 33, $H_c^1(X; L)$ is free, whence $\operatorname{Ext}(H_c^1(X; L), L) = 0$. By (9) on page 292, $H_0(X; L) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(H_c^0(X; L), L) \approx \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_c(L), L)$. Since $\Gamma_c(L)$ is the direct sum of copies of L over the compact components of X, this is the direct product of copies of L over the compact components of X, as claimed. For an $n \cdot cm_L$ this is isomorphic to $H^n(X; \emptyset)$ by V-9.2. For Xorientable it follows similarly from V-12.8 and duality that $H^n(X; M) =$ $\prod_{\alpha} M_{\alpha}$ for any L-module M. The consequence that $H^n(U; M) = 0$ for Uopen in \mathbb{R}^n , where this can be regarded as ordinary singular cohomology, seems surprisingly difficult to prove without advanced tools. I know of no way to prove it that is suitable for a first course in algebraic topology.
- 28. First restrict attention to the case in which X is orientable and has no compact components. By V-Exercise 26 and duality, $H^p(U;L) = 0$ for $p \ge n$. The exact sequence

$$H^{p-1}(U;L) \to H^p(X,U;L) \to H^p(X;L)$$

shows that $H^p(X, U; L) = 0$ for all p > n. Since $H^1(X, U; \mathcal{J}^n(X; L)) \approx H^{n+1}(X, U; L) = 0$ (see II-12.1 and the proof of II-16.2), $\mathcal{J}^n(X; L)$ is flabby by II-Exercise 21. Since flabbiness is a local property by II-Exercise 10, it follows that $\mathcal{J}^n(X; L)$ is flabby in the general case of an arbitrary separable metric *n*-cm X. This implies, by the reverse of the reasoning above, that $H^{n+1}(X, U; L) = 0$ in the general case.

32. Under the hypotheses, the spectral sequence of V-8.4 has

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{H}_{-q}(X; \mathscr{A})) \Longrightarrow H^{\Phi}_{-p-q}(X; \mathscr{A}).$$

By (9) on page 292, $\mathcal{H}_k(X;L) = 0$ for k > n and for k < -1. Also, $\mathcal{H}_k(X;\mathcal{A}) = 0$ for k > n by (14) on page 294.

Now $E_2^{p,q} = 0$ for p+q < -n, whence $H_k^{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) = 0$ for k > n. For p+q = -n, the only nonzero term in $\{E_2^{p,q}\}$ is $E_2^{0,-n} = H_{\Phi}^0(X; \mathscr{H}_n(X; \mathscr{A})) = \Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{H}_n(X; \mathscr{A}))$, whence this is isomorphic to the "total" group $H_n^{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$. If \mathscr{A} is torsion-free, then for $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ there is an exact sequence $0 \to \mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{k} \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B} \to 0$. The induced exact sequence

$$0 = H_{n+1}^{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{B}) \to H_n^{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A}) \xrightarrow{k} H_n^{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$$

shows that $H_n^{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$ is torsion-free.

33. Assume that $\mathscr{H}_n(X; L) = 0$ for all n. Since the union of an increasing sequence of compact subsets of X is paracompact, there exists an open paracompact subspace of X. Thus we may as well assume that X is paracompact. Let $\Phi = cld$ on X. Let $x \in X$ and construct a sequence of open neighborhoods U_i of x in X with $\overline{U}_{i+1} \subset U_i$ for all i and with \overline{U}_1 compact. Let $A = \bigcap U_i = \bigcap \overline{U}_i$, which is compact and nonempty. Then $X - A = \bigcup X - U_i$ is paracompact, and so $\dim_{\Phi|A,L} X \leq 1 + \dim_L X < \infty$ by II-16.10. Now the spectral sequence

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p(X, X - A; \mathscr{H}_{-q}(X; L)) \Longrightarrow H_{-p-q}(A; L)$$

of V-8.5 has $E_2^{p,q} = 0$, so that we have that $H_0(A; L) = 0$ in particular. Hence $\operatorname{Hom}(H^0(A; L), L) = 0$ by (9) on page 292. But $H^0(A; L)$ has L as a direct summand since $A \neq \emptyset$, a contradiction.

Here is another proof in the case $L = \mathbb{Z}$ (the argument also applies to L being a field). If $\dim_L X < \infty$ and $\mathscr{H}_*(X; L) = 0$, then the basic spectral sequence of 8.1 implies that $H_*(U; L) = 0$ for all open $U \subset X$. This implies, by (11) on page 293, that $\operatorname{Ext}(H_c^*(U), L) = 0 = \operatorname{Hom}(H_c^*(U), L)$. This implies, by V-14.7, that $H_c^*(U; L) = 0$. By II-16.14 dim_L X = 0, and by II-16.21, X is totally disconnected. Therefore, x has a compact open neighborhood K. But then $H^0(K; L) = H_c^0(K; L) = 0$ implies that $K = \emptyset$, a contradiction.

Note that this, together with V-Exercise 32 shows that the assumption that $\dim_{\Phi,L} Y < \infty$ in V-8.1 cannot be usefully weakened to the hypothesis that $\mathscr{H}_p^{\Psi}(f, f | A; \mathscr{A}) = 0$ for $p \leq n < \infty$.

- 35. By tautness and the cohomology sequence of (X, X A), or directly from II-12.1, we see that $H^p_{\Phi}(X, X A; \mathcal{M}) \approx \lim_{\to} H^p_{\Phi}(X, X K; \mathcal{M})$ where K ranges over $\Phi|A$. This is isomorphic to $\lim_{\to} H_{n-p}(K; \mathcal{M} \otimes \mathcal{O}^{-1})$ by V-9.3 since $K \in \Phi$. By V-Exercise 32 this vanishes for $n-p > \dim_L K$ and hence for $n-p > \dim_{\Phi,L} A$ by the definition of the latter.
- 37. Consider the f-cohomomorphism

$$\mathscr{C}_*(Y)\otimes f\mathscr{A} \rightsquigarrow f^*\mathscr{C}_*(Y)\otimes \mathscr{A} \approx \mathscr{C}_*(X)\otimes \mathscr{A},$$

which corresponds to a homomorphism $\mathscr{C}_*(Y) \otimes f\mathscr{A} \to f(f^*\mathscr{C}_*(Y) \otimes \mathscr{A})$. First, we claim that this induces a homology isomorphism

$$\mathcal{H}_*(\mathscr{C}_*(Y)\otimes f\mathscr{A})\to \mathcal{H}_*(f(f^*\mathscr{C}_*(Y)\otimes \mathscr{A}))\approx f\mathcal{H}_*(f^*\mathscr{C}_*(Y)\otimes \mathscr{A})$$

since the direct image functor $\mathscr{B} \mapsto f\mathscr{B}$ is exact here by IV-7.5. It suffices to prove this on the stalks at $y \in Y$. Let $K_p = \mathscr{C}_p(Y)_y$ and let A_α be the stalk at $x_\alpha \in f^{-1}(y)$ of \mathscr{A} . Then the map on the stalks at y is

$$H_p(K_* \otimes \prod_{\alpha} A_{\alpha}) \to \prod_{\alpha} H_p(K_* \otimes A_{\alpha}).$$

There is the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} 0 \to H_p(K_{\star}) \otimes \prod A_{\alpha} \to H_p(K_{\star} \otimes \prod A_{\alpha}) \to H_{p-1}(K_{\star}) * \prod A_{\alpha} \to 0 \\ & & \downarrow \approx & & \downarrow \approx \\ 0 \to \prod (H_p(K_{\star}) \otimes A_{\alpha}) \to \prod (H_p(K_{\star} \otimes A_{\alpha})) \to \prod (H_{p-1}(K_{\star}) * A_{\alpha}) \to 0 \end{array}$$

in which the isomorphisms on the ends are due to $H_p(K_*)$ being finitely generated. By the five-lemma the map in the center is also an isomorphism, proving the contention. Since Y is finite-dimensional and Φ is paracompactifying, the induced maps

$$H_p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(\mathscr{C}_*(Y)\otimes f\mathscr{A}))\to H_p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(f(\mathscr{C}_*(X)\otimes \mathscr{A})))$$

are isomorphisms by IV-2.2. The term on the left is $H_p^{\Phi}(Y; f \mathscr{A})$ by definition, and the one on the right is

$$H_p(\Gamma_{\Phi}(f\mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{A}))) \approx H_p(\Gamma_{\Phi(cld)}(\mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{A}))) = H_p^{f^{-1}\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A})$$

since $\Phi(cld) = f^{-1}\Phi$ by IV-5.4.

38. Let $H^q(F)$ denote the stalk of $\mathscr{H}^q(f;L)$. For \Rightarrow consider the spectral sequence $\mathscr{E}^2_{p,q} = \mathscr{H}_{om}(H^q(F), \mathscr{H}_p(Y;L)) \Longrightarrow \mathscr{H}_{p+q}(f;L)$ of V-18.4. Assuming, as we may, that Y is orientable and that $\mathscr{H}^*(f;L)$ is constant, this degenerates into the isomorphism $\mathscr{H}_{om}(H^q(F),L) \approx \mathscr{H}_{n+q}(f)$, which shows that the latter sheaf is locally constant.

For \Leftarrow let $H_q(F)$ denote the common stalk of $\mathscr{H}_q(f; L)$ and assume that this sheaf is constant. Also assume that the Leray sheaf $\mathscr{H}^p(f; L)$ is constant with stalks $H^p(F)$. Suppose that $H_q(F) = 0$ unless $s \leq q \leq t$ and that it is nonzero on the two ends of this interval. Then in the basic spectral sequence $E_2^{p,q} = H_c^p(U; \mathscr{H}_{-q}(f; L)) \Longrightarrow H_{-p-q}^c(U^{\bullet})$ the term $E_2^{n,-s}$ survives and shows that $H_{s-n}^c(U^{\bullet}) \neq 0$. Consequently, $s \geq n$. However, if s > n, the same spectral sequence shows that $H_0^c(U^{\bullet}) = 0$, an absurdity. Thus s = n.

Now, using the basic spectral sequence V-8.1 in the same way as the Leray spectral sequence was used in the proof of V-18.4, and using V-12.8, we derive the spectral sequence

$$\mathscr{G}^{2}_{p,q} = \mathscr{H}om(H_{q}(F), \mathscr{H}_{-p}(Y; L)) \Longrightarrow \mathscr{H}^{p+q}(f; L) = H^{p+q}(F)$$

The term $\mathscr{E}_{-n,n}^2 = \mathscr{H}_{om}(H_n(F), \mathscr{H}_n(Y; L))$ survives and is isomorphic to the limit term $\mathscr{H}^0(f; L) = H^0(F)$, which is constant. This can happen

only if $\mathscr{H}_n(Y;L)$ is constant. Let its common stalk be denoted by $S \neq 0$. Now let $r = \min\{p \mid \mathscr{H}_p(Y;L) \neq 0\}$ and note that $r \leq n = \dim_L Y$. Then $\mathscr{H}_r(Y;L)_y \neq 0$ for some $y \in Y$. The $\mathscr{E}_{-r,t}^2$ term of the spectral sequence survives to give the isomorphism $\mathscr{H}_m(H_t(F), \mathscr{H}_r(Y;L)) \approx \mathscr{H}^{t-r}(f;L)$. In particular, $H^{t-r}(F) \approx \mathscr{H}^{t-r}(f;L)_y \approx \mathscr{H}_m(H_t(F), \mathscr{H}_r(Y;L)_y) \neq 0$. It follows that $t - r \leq k$. Now, in the spectral sequence of V-18.4, the term $\mathscr{E}_{n,k}^2 = \mathscr{H}_m(H^k(F), \mathscr{H}_n(Y))$ survives and shows that $H_{n+k}(F) \neq 0$, whence $n + k \leq t$. From the last two inequalities we get $n + t - r \leq n + k \leq t$, whence $n \leq r$. But we had that $r \leq n$, and so n = r. Therefore $\mathscr{H}_p(Y;L) = 0$ for $p \neq n$.

Now, both homological spectral sequences degenerate to the isomorphisms $\operatorname{Hom}(H_q(F), S) \approx H^{q-n}(F)$ and $\operatorname{Hom}(H^{q-n}(F), S) \approx H_q(F)$, from which it follows that all these are all finite-dimensional and S has rank one. Thus Y is an $n\text{-}hm_L$, and rank $H_q(F) = \operatorname{rank} H^{q-n}(F)$.

We remark that X need not be a homology manifold in this situation. For example, f could be the projection to the y-axis Y of $X = Y \cup ([0, 1] \times \{0\})$. Another example is the one-point union of a manifold Y with the Hilbert cube \mathbb{I}^{∞} with f being the quotient map identifying \mathbb{I}^{∞} to a point. This shows that X need not even be finite-dimensional.

39. Condition (a) implies (b) by V-18.6. Thus we need only show that (b) implies (c). Since X is orientable over \mathbb{Z}_2 , we know that Y is an (n-k)- $hm_{\mathbb{Z}_2}$ by V-18.5. Note that $\dim_{\mathbb{Z}} Y \leq n-k$ by IV-8.12. Suppose that $y \in Y$ is such that $f^{-1}(y)$ has no orientable neighborhood. Let U be a connected open neighborhood of y and consider the Leray spectral sequence of $f^{-1}(U) \to U$. We have

$$H_{c}^{n-k}(U;\mathbb{Z}) = E_{2}^{n-k,k} = E_{\infty}^{n-k,k} = H_{c}^{n}(f^{-1}(U);\mathbb{Z}) \approx \mathbb{Z}_{2}$$

by V-16.16(g) since $f^{-1}(U)$ is not orientable. Moreover, for $V \subset U$ another connected open neighborhood of y we have that $H_c^n(f^{-1}(V);\mathbb{Z}) \to H_c^n(f^{-1}(U);\mathbb{Z})$ is an isomorphism by V-16.16(d). Applying Hom (\bullet,\mathbb{Z}_2) to II-15.3 and using that Hom $(H_c^i(U;\mathbb{Z}_2),\mathbb{Z}_2) \approx H_i(U;\mathbb{Z}_2)$, we get the exact commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} 0 & \to & \operatorname{Hom}(H_c^{n-k}(U;\mathbb{Z}) * \mathbb{Z}_2, \mathbb{Z}_2) & \to & H_{n-k-1}(U;\mathbb{Z}_2) \\ & & & & & \downarrow \\ 0 & \to & \operatorname{Hom}(H_c^{n-k}(V;\mathbb{Z}) * \mathbb{Z}_2, \mathbb{Z}_2) & \to & H_{n-k-1}(V;\mathbb{Z}_2). \end{array}$$

The groups in the middle are isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}_2 and so it follows that $\mathscr{H}_{n-k-1}(Y;\mathbb{Z}_2)_y \neq 0$, contrary to Y being an $(n-k)-hm_{\mathbb{Z}_2}$.

41. If m > n and $U \subset X$ is open and paracompact, then

$$\operatorname{Ext}(H_c^{m+1}(U;\mathbb{Z}),\mathbb{Z}) \oplus \operatorname{Hom}(H_c^m(U;\mathbb{Z}),\mathbb{Z}) \approx H_m(U;\mathbb{Z}) \approx H^{n-m}(U;\ell) = 0,$$

whence $\operatorname{Ext}(H_c^{m+1}(U;\mathbb{Z}),\mathbb{Z}) = 0 = \operatorname{Hom}(H_c^m(U;\mathbb{Z}),\mathbb{Z})$. By V-14.7 we deduce that $H_c^k(U;\mathbb{Z}) = 0$ for k > n+1, and the result follows from II-16.16.

42. This follows immediately from the spectral sequence $E_{\tau}^{p,q}$ of V-8.4.

Solutions for Chapter VI:

- 4. As the proof shows, the diagram (4) on page 433 is valid for k = n + 1, except that the horizontal maps on the right side are only epimorphisms. The result follows. [Note that this does not imply that $H_{n+1}(\mathfrak{A}_*(X)) \rightarrow \tilde{H}_{n+1}(X; \mathfrak{H}_0(\mathfrak{A}_*))$ is surjective, and indeed, that is not generally true.]
- 5. Let $\mathfrak{M} = \mathfrak{Cosheaf}(M)$. Then there is the local isomorphism $h: \mathfrak{M} \to M$. Let $\mathfrak{K} = \operatorname{Ker} h$ and $\mathfrak{C} = \operatorname{Coker} h$. Since \mathfrak{M} is a cosheaf and M is an epiprecosheaf, \mathfrak{C} is an epiprecosheaf by VI-Exercise 1. By VI-Exercise 2, $\mathfrak{C} = 0$. Thus we have the natural exact sequence $0 \to \mathfrak{K}(U) \to \mathfrak{M}(U) \xrightarrow{j_U} M \to 0$. In particular, $j_U \neq 0$ whenever $U \neq \emptyset$. Let U be an open neighborhood of the point $x \in X$ and let $V \subset U$ be an open neighborhood of x so small that $\mathfrak{K}(V) \to \mathfrak{K}(U)$ is zero. Suppose that $U = U_0 + U_1$ is a decomposition of U into two disjoint open sets with $x \in U_0$. Let $W \subset U_0$ be an open neighborhood of x so small that $\mathfrak{K}(W) \to \mathfrak{K}(V)$ is zero. Let $V_i = V \cap U_i$. Then the commutative diagram

shows that the image of $\mathfrak{M}(V) \to \mathfrak{M}(U)$ equals the image of $\mathfrak{M}(W) \to \mathfrak{M}(U)$. But the component of this image in $\mathfrak{M}(U_1)$ is zero since $W \subset U_0$. It follows that $\mathfrak{M}(V_1) \to \mathfrak{M}(U_1)$ is zero. However, this contradicts the fact that $j_{V_1} : \mathfrak{M}(V_1) \to M$ is nonzero unless $V_1 = \emptyset$. Therefore $V \subset U_0$. Since this is independent of the choice of the decomposition $U = U_0 \cup U_1$, it follows that the psuedo-component of U containing x is open. This being true for all x and U implies that X is locally connected.

6. Let $\gamma \in \tilde{H}_0^c(X; L)$. Since $\tilde{H}_0^c(X; L) = \varinjlim \tilde{H}_0(K; L)$, where K ranges over compact subsets of X, there is a compact set K such that γ is in the image from $\tilde{H}_0(K; L)$. Cover K by sets U_0, \ldots, U_n such that each $\tilde{H}_0^c(U_i; L) \to \tilde{H}_0^c(X; L)$ is zero. Adding sets to this collection, if necessary, we can assume that $U_0 \cup \cdots \cup U_n$ is connected, since X is connected. We can then reindex this collection such that $(U_0 \cup \cdots \cup U_k) \cap U_{k+1} \neq \emptyset$ for all $0 \le k < n$. Then, with $U = U_0 \cup \cdots \cup U_k$ and $V = U_{k+1}$ we have the exact commutative Mayer-Vietoris diagram (coefficients in L)

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \tilde{H}^c_0(U \cap V) \ \to \ \tilde{H}^c_0(U) \oplus \tilde{H}^c_0(V) \ \to \ \tilde{H}^c_0(U \cup V) \ \to \ 0 \\ & & \downarrow^o & & \downarrow^g \\ \tilde{H}^c_0(X) \ \to \ \tilde{H}^c_0(X) \oplus \tilde{H}^c_0(X) \ \to \ \tilde{H}^c_0(X) \ \to \ 0, \end{array}$$

by V-Exercise 9. By induction on k, this shows that g = 0. Consequently, $\tilde{H}^{c}_{0}(U_{0} \cup \cdots \cup U_{n}) \rightarrow \tilde{H}^{c}_{0}(X)$ is zero. Since by construction, γ is in the image of this map, $\gamma = 0$.

Bibliography

- Alexandroff, P., On the local properties of closed sets, Annals of Math., 36 (1935) 1-35.
- [2] Allday, C., and Puppe, V., Cohomological Methods in Transformation Groups, Cambridge Univ. Press (1993).
- [3] Barratt, M. G., and Milnor, J., An example of anomalous singular homology, Proc. A.M.S., 13 (1962) 293-297.
- [4] Bing, R. H., and Borsuk, K., Some remarks concerning topologically homogeneous spaces, Annals of Math., 81 (1965) 100-111.
- [5] Borel, A., The Poincaré duality in generalized manifolds, Michigan Math. Jour., 4 (1957) 227-239.
- [6] Borel, A., et al, Seminar on Transformation Groups, Annals of Mathematics Study, 46 (1960).
- [7] Borel, A., and Haefliger, A., La classe d'homologie fondamentale d'un espace analytique, Bulletin, Soc. Math. de France, 89 (1961) 461-513.
- [8] Borel, A., and Hirzebruch, F., On characteristic classes of homogeneous spaces, I, Amer. Jour. of Math., 80 (1958) 458-538; II, Amer. Jour. of Math., 81 (1959) 315-382.
- Borel, A., and Moore, J. C., Homology theory for locally compact spaces, Michigan Math. Jour., 7 (1960) 137-159.
- [10] Bourgin, D. G., Modern Algebraic Topology, Macmillan (1963).
- [11] Bredon, G. E., Cohomology fibre spaces, the Smith-Gysin sequence and orientation in generalized manifolds, Michigan Math. Jour., 10 (1963) 321-333.
- Bredon, G. E., Cosheaves and homology, Pacific Jour. of Math., 25 (1968) 1-23.
- [13] Bredon, G. E., Examples of differentiable group actions, Topology 3 (1965) 115-122.
- [14] Bredon, G. E., Generalized manifolds, revisited, in Topology of Manifolds, Markham Publ. Co., Chicago (1970) 461-469.
- [15] Bredon, G. E., Introduction to Compact Transformation Groups, Academic Press, New York (1972).
- [16] Bredon, G. E., On the continuous image of a singular chain complex, Pacific Jour. of Math., 15 (1965) 1115-1118.
- [17] Bredon, G. E., Orientation in generalized manifolds and applications to the theory of transformation groups, Michigan Math. Jour., 7 (1960) 35-64.
- [18] Bredon, G. E., The cohomology ring structure of a fixed point set, Annals of Math., 80 (1964) 534-537.
- [19] Bredon, G. E., Topology and Geometry, Springer-Verlag, New York (1993).
- [20] Bredon, G. E., Wilder manifolds are locally orientable, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 63 (1969), 1079-1081.
- [21] Bredon, G. E., Raymond, F., and Williams, R. F., p-adic groups of transformations, Trans. A.M.S., 99 (1961), 488-498.
- [22] Cartan, H., Espaces Fibrés et Homotopy, Seminaire, Ecole Normal Sup., (1949/50).

- [23] Cartan, H., Cohomologie des Groups, Suite Spectral, Faisceaux, Seminaire, Ecole Normal Sup., (1950/51).
- [24] Cartan, H., and Eilenberg, S., Homological Algebra, Princeton Univ. Press., (1956).
- [25] Conner, P. E., Diffeomorphisms of period two, Michigan Math. Jour., 10 (1963) 341-352.
- [26] Conner, P. E., Retraction properties of the orbit space of a compact topological transformation group, Duke Math. Jour., 27 (1960) 341-357.
- [27] Conner, P. E., and Floyd, E. E., A characterization of generalized manifolds, Michigan Math. Jour., 6 (1959) 33-43.
- [28] Conner, P. E., and Floyd, E. E., Differentiable Periodic Maps, Academic Press (1964).
- [29] van Dantzig, D., Über topologisch homogene kontinua, Fund. Math., 15 (1930) 102-125.
- [30] Deheuvals, R., Homologie des ensembles ordonnés et des espaces topologiques, Bulletin, Soc. Math. de France, 90 (1962) 261-321.
- [31] Deo, S., The cohomological dimension of an n-manifold is n + 1, Pacific Jour. of Math., 67 (1978) no. 1, 155-160.
- [32] Dolbeault, P., Sur la cohomologie des variétés analytiques complexes, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, 236 (1953) 175-177.
- [33] Dranishnikov, A. N., On a problem of P. S. Aleksandroff, Mat. Sbornik, 135 (1988) 551-557.
- [34] Dugundji, J., Topology, Allyn and Bacon (1966).
- [35] Dydak, J., and Walsh, J., Sheaves that are locally constant with applications to homology manifolds, in Geometric Topology and Shape Theory, Springer-Verlag, New York, (1987) 65-87.
- [36] Dydak, J., and Walsh, J., Cohomological local connectedness of decomposition spaces, Proc., A. M. S., 107 (1989) 1095-1105.
- [37] Dydak, J., and Walsh, J., Estimates of the cohomological dimension of decomposition spaces, Topology and its Applications, 40 (1991) 203-219.
- [38] Eilenberg, S., and Steenrod, N., Foundations of Algebraic Topology, Princeton Univ. Press (1952).
- [39] Fary, I., Values critiques et algèbres spectrales d'une application, Annals of Math., 63 (1956) 437-490.
- [40] Godement, R., Topologie Algébrique et Théorie des Faisceaux, Hermann, Paris (1958).
- [41] Grothendieck, A., Sur quelques points d'algèbre homologique, Tohoku Math. Jour., 9 (1957) 119-221.
- [42] Grothendieck, A., (with Dieudonné, J.), Éléments de Géometrie Algébrique, Pub. Math. Inst. des Hautes Etudes, Paris (1960-).
- [43] Harlap, A. E., Local homology and cohomology, homology dimension and generalized manifolds, Mat. Sbornik, 96 (1975) 347-373.
- [44] Heller, A., and Rowe, K. A., On the category of sheaves, Amer. Jour. of Math., 84 (1962) 205-216).
- [45] Hilton, P. J., and Wylie, S., Homology Theory, Cambridge Univ. Press (1960).
- [46] Hirzebruch, F., Topological Methods in Algebraic Topology, Third Edition, Springer-Verlag (1966).
- [47] Hocking, J. G., and Young, G. S., Topology, Addison-Wesley (1961).
- [48] Hu, S. T., Fiberings of enveloping spaces, Proc. London Math. Soc., 11

(1961) 691-707.

- [49] Hurewicz, W., and Wallman, H., Dimension Theory, Princeton Univ. Press (1948).
- [50] Jussila, O., On homology theories in locally connected spaces, II, Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn. (A) 378 (1965) 8pp.
- [51] Kan, D. M., Adjoint functors, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 87 (1958) 295-329.
- [52] Kawada, Y., Cosheaves, Proc. Japan Academy, 36 (1960) 81-85.
- [53] Kelley, J. L., General Topology, Van Nostrand (1955).
- [54] Kelly, G. M., Observations on the Künneth theorem, Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc., 59 (1963) 575-587.
- [55] Kuz'minov, V. I., and Liseĭkin, V. D., The softness of an inductive limit of soft sheaves, Siberian Math. Jour., 12 (1971) 820-821.
- [56] Leray, J., L'anneau spectral et l'anneau filtré d'homologie d'un espace localement compact et d'une application continue, Jour. Math. Pures et Appl., 29 (1950) 1-139.
- [57] Leray, J., L'homologie d'un espace fibré dont la fibre est connexe, Jour. Math. Pures et Appl., 29 (1950) 169-213.
- [58] Mac Lane, S., Homology, Academic Press (1963).
- [59] Mardešić, S., Comparison of singular and Čech homology in locally connected spaces, Mich. Math. J., 6 (1959) 151-166.
- [60] Mitchell, W. J. R., Homology manifolds, inverse systems and cohomological local connectedness, J. London Math. Soc. (2), 19 (1979) 348-358.
- [61] Montgomery, D. Locally homogeneous spaces, Annals of Math., 51 (1950) 261-271.
- [62] Nagata, J., Modern Dimension Theory, Interscience Publ. (1965).
- [63] Nöbeling, G., Verallgemeinerung eines Satzes von Herrn E. Specker, Inventiones Math., 6 (1968) 41-55.
- [64] Nunke, R. J., Modules of extensions over Dedekind rings, Illinois Jour. of Math., 3 (1959) 222-241.
- [65] Oliver, R., A proof of the Conner conjecture, Annals of Math., 103 (1976) 637-644.
- [66] Oliver, R., Smooth Compact Lie Group Actions on Disks, Mathematische Zeitschrift, 149 (1976) 79-96.
- [67] Pol, E., and Pol, R., A hereditarily normal strongly zero-dimensional space with a subspace of positive dimension and an N-compact space of positive dimension, Fund. Math., 97 (1977) 43-50.
- [68] Raymond, F., Local cohomology groups with closed supports, Mathematische Zeitschrift, 76 (1961) 31-41.
- [69] Raymond, F., The end point compactification of manifolds, Pacific Jour. of Math., 10 (1960) 947-963.
- [70] Roy, P., Failure of equivalence of dimension concepts for metric spaces, Bull.
 A. M. S., 68 (1962) 609-613.
- [71] Rubin, L. R., Characterizing cohomological dimension: The cohomological dimension of A∪B, Topology and its Appl., 40 (1991) 233-263.
- [72] Rubin, L. R., and Schapiro, P. L., Compactifications which preserve cohomological dimension, Glasnik Mat., 28 (1993) 155-165.
- [73] Seifert, H., and Threlfall, W., A Textbook of Topology (translation), Acad. Press (1980)
- [74] Serre, J.-P., Faisceaux algébraique cohérents, Annals of Math., 61 (1955) 179-278.

- [75] Spanier, E. H., Algebraic Topology, McGraw-Hill (1966).
- [76] Spanier, E. H., Cohomology theory for general spaces, Annals of Math., 49 (1948) 407-427.
- [77] Specker, E., Additive Gruppen von Folgen ganzer Zahlen, Port. Math., 9 (1950) 131-140.
- [78] Steenrod, N., The Topology of Fibre Bundles, Princeton Univ. Press (1951).
- [79] Steenrod, N., and Epstein, D. B. A., Cohomology Operations, Annals of Math. Study, 50 (1962).
- [80] Swan, R. G., The Theory of Sheaves, Univ. of Chicago Press (1964).
- [81] Ungar, G. S., Local homogeneity, Duke Math. Jour., 34 (1967) 693-700.
- [82] Whitehead, J. H. C., Note on the condition n-colc, Michigan Math. Jour., 4 (1957) 25-26.
- [83] Wilder, R. L., Monotone mappings of manifolds, I, Pacific J. Math., 7 (1957) 1519-1528; II, Michigan Math. Jour., 5 (1958) 19-23.
- [84] Wilder, R. L., Some consequences of a method of proof of J. H. C. Whitehead, Michigan Math. Jour., 4 (1957) 27-31.
- [85] Wilder, R. L., Topology of Manifolds, Amer. Math. Soc. Colloquium Pub. 32 (1949).
- [86] Yang, C. T., p-adic transformation groups, Michigan Math. Jour., 7 (1960) 201-218.
- [87] Young, G. S., A characterization of 2-manifolds, Duke Math. Jour., 14 (1947), 979-990.
List of Symbols

| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | \mathcal{A}_x | 2 | $\operatorname{covdim} X$ | 29 |
|---|---|----|--|-----|
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | Sheaf(A) | 3 | $S_n(X; \mathscr{A})$ | 30 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $\mathcal{A} \bigtriangleup \mathcal{B}$ | 3 | $\Delta_*(X,A)$ | 31 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $\mathscr{A}(Y)$ | 4 | Δ_* | 31 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $\mathscr{A} Y$ | 7 | $\mathscr{H}^p(\mathscr{L}^*)$ | 34 |
| $ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | s | 7 | HLC | 35 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | B/A | 10 | $U \dashrightarrow \mathscr{A}$ | 36 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | \mathscr{B}^{X} | 11 | $\mathscr{C}^{*}(X;\mathscr{A})$ | 37 |
| $ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | \mathcal{A}_{A} | 11 | $\mathfrak{Z}^{*}(X; \mathscr{A})$ | 37 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $f \mathscr{A}$ | 12 | $C^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A})$ | 38 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $f^*\mathscr{B}$ | 12 | $H^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A})$ | 38 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $\mathcal{B} \sim \mathcal{A}$ | 14 | $\mathscr{F}^{*}(X;\mathscr{A})$ | 39 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $\mathscr{A}\otimes\mathscr{B}$ | 18 | $F^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A})$ | 39 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $\mathcal{A} * \mathcal{B}$ | 18 | $M^{\star}(X; \mathscr{A})$ | 39 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $\mathscr{A}\widehat{\otimes}\mathscr{B}$ | 19 | $\operatorname{Ext}_{\Phi,\mathscr{R}}^{P}(\mathscr{A},\mathscr{B})$ | 43 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $\mathscr{A} \widehat{*} \mathscr{B}$ | 19 | I(A) | 44 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $\mathscr{A} \oplus \mathscr{B}$ | 19 | $\mathscr{I}^{*}(X;\mathscr{A})$ | 44 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$ | 19 | $\mathcal{J}^*(X; \mathscr{A})$ | 44 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $\lim \mathscr{A}_{\alpha}$ | 20 | $\alpha \cup \beta$ | 57 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | Hom (A. B) | 21 | $\alpha \times \beta$ | 59 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $E(\Phi)$ | 22 | f^* | 62 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | c | 22 | f' | 63 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | cld | 22 | | 78 |
| $ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | Γ_{Φ} | 22 | $\mathscr{C}(X,A;\mathscr{A})$ | 84 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $\Phi \cap Y$ | 23 | $C_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A})$ | 84 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | ΦY | 23 | $H_{\Phi}(X,A;\mathscr{A})$ | 84 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $\Phi \times \Psi$ | 23 | $\dim_{\Phi,L} X$ | 111 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $f^{-1}\Psi$ | 23 | $\dim_L X$ | 112 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $A^*(X;G)$ | 24 | $\operatorname{III}_{\Phi} A$ | 122 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $_{AS}H^{*}_{\Phi}(X; \mathscr{A})$ | 25 | $\tilde{\mathbf{H}}^{*}(\mathbf{Y}, \mathbf{I})$ | 124 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $S^*(X; \mathscr{A})$ | 26 | $\prod_{n \in \mathbb{N}} (X, L)$ | 120 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $\mathscr{P}^{*}(X; \mathscr{A})$ | 26 | $T(\mathcal{A})$ | 1/0 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $\Delta H^*_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A})$ | 26 | $f_p(\infty)$ St St ^j | 153 |
| $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $\overline{\Omega}^*(X)$ | 27 | Sa^{j} | 168 |
| $\begin{array}{cccc} \check{C}^{*}_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U};G) & 27 & \overset{p}{\operatorname{Dim}} X & 171 \\ \check{\mathscr{C}}^{*}(\mathfrak{U};G) & 27 & {}_{S}H^{*}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{A}) & 179 \\ \check{H}^{*}_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U};G) & 28 & {}_{A}H^{*}_{\Phi}(X;\mathscr{B}) & 185 \\ \check{C}^{*}_{\Phi}(X;G) & 28 & E^{p,q}_{2} \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}(\bullet) & 198 \\ \check{H}^{*}_{\Phi}(X;G) & 28 & U^{\bullet} & 210 \end{array}$ | $_{\Omega}H^{*}_{\Phi}(X)$ | 27 | ω^{j} | 168 |
| $ \begin{array}{cccc} \check{\mathscr{C}}^{*}(\mathfrak{U};G) & 27 & _{S}H_{\Phi}^{*}(X;\mathscr{A}) & 179 \\ \check{H}_{\Phi}^{*}(\mathfrak{U};G) & 28 & _{A}H_{\Phi}^{*}(X;\mathscr{B}) & 185 \\ \check{C}_{\Phi}^{*}(X;G) & 28 & E_{2}^{p,q} \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}(\bullet) & 198 \\ \check{H}_{\Phi}^{*}(X;G) & 28 & U^{\bullet} & 210 \end{array} $ | $\check{C}^*_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U};G)$ | 27 | $\operatorname{Dim}^{p} X$ | 171 |
| $\begin{array}{cccc} \check{H}_{\Phi}^{*}(\mathfrak{U};G) & 28 & {}_{A}H_{\Phi}^{*}(X;\mathscr{B}) & 185 \\ \check{C}_{\Phi}^{*}(X;G) & 28 & {}_{2}P^{2} \xrightarrow{q} \longrightarrow H^{p+q}(\bullet) & 198 \\ \check{H}_{\Phi}^{*}(X;G) & 28 & U^{\bullet} & 210 \end{array}$ | $\check{\mathscr{C}}^*(\mathfrak{U};G)$ | 27 | $_{S}H_{*}^{*}(X;\mathscr{A})$ | 179 |
| $\check{C}_{\Phi}^{*}(X;G) \qquad 28 \qquad E_{2}^{p,q} \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}(\bullet) \qquad 198$ $\check{H}_{\Phi}^{*}(X;G) \qquad 28 \qquad U^{\bullet} \qquad 210$ | $\check{H}^*_{\Phi}(\mathfrak{U};G)$ | 28 | $_{A}H^{*}_{\Phi}(X;\mathcal{B})$ | 185 |
| $\check{H}^{*}_{\Phi}(X;G)$ 28 U^{\bullet} 210 | $\check{C}^{*}_{\Phi}(X;G)$ | 28 | $E_2^{p,\tilde{q}} \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}(\bullet)$ | 198 |
| | $\check{H}^{*}_{\Phi}(X;G)$ | 28 | U | 210 |

| $\Psi(U)$ | 210 |
|--|-----|
| $f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A}$ | 210 |
| ${\mathscr H}_{\Psi}^{*}(f,f A;{\mathscr A})$ | 213 |
| $\Phi(\Psi)$ | 219 |
| f^\diamond | 222 |
| $\underline{\dim}_{\Phi,L}^{Y}A$ | 237 |
| $\mathfrak{A}(U)^{-}$ | 281 |
| $\mathfrak{S}_*(X;L)$ | 281 |
| $\Gamma_c \mathscr{L}, \Gamma_c \{\mathscr{L}\}$ | 282 |
| $\mathcal{H}om(\mathfrak{A},M)$ | 285 |
| $\mathfrak{A}\otimes \mathscr{B}$ | 286 |
| fA | 286 |
| \mathfrak{A}^X | 286 |
| ${\mathscr S}_*(X,A;{\mathscr A})$ | 287 |
| ${}_{S}H^{\Phi}_{n}(X,A;\mathscr{A})$ | 288 |
| $\mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{A}_*;M)$ | 289 |
| $\mathfrak{D}(\mathfrak{A}_*;M)$ | 290 |
| $\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^*;M)$ | 290 |
| $\mathscr{C}_*(X;\mathscr{A})$ | 292 |
| $C^{\Phi}_{*}(X; \mathscr{A})$ | 292 |
| $H^{\Phi}_{p}(X; \mathscr{A})$ | 292 |
| $\mathscr{H}_{*}(X;\mathscr{A})$ | 293 |
| $\Phi^{\#}$ | 299 |
| $C^{\Phi}_{*}(X,A;\mathscr{A})$ | 305 |
| $H^{\Phi}_{ullet}(X,A;\mathscr{A})$ | 305 |
| ${\mathscr C}_{*}(X,A;{\mathscr A})$ | 305 |
| $\mathscr{H}^{\Phi}_{*}(f,f A;\mathscr{A})$ | 322 |
| n - whm_L | 329 |
| n - hm_L | 329 |
| Ø | 329 |
| Δ | 329 |
| \emptyset^{-1} | 331 |
| $\alpha \cap \beta$ | 336 |
| $\mathscr{E}_{xt}(\mathfrak{A},M)$ | 349 |
| hld_L^n | 350 |
| n - cm_L | 375 |
| $\alpha \bullet \beta$ | 345 |
| $lpha\cdoteta$ | 345 |
| $\langle a, \beta \rangle$ | 346 |
| ณ | 419 |
| $C_p(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A})$ | 424 |
| $H_p(\mathfrak{U};\mathfrak{A})$ | 424 |
| $H_p(X;\mathfrak{A})$ | 425 |
| $\mathfrak{H}_p(X;\mathfrak{A})$ | 425 |
| $E^{r}_{p,q}(\mathfrak{U})$ | 432 |

| 428 |
|-----|
| 435 |
| 435 |
| 435 |
| 449 |
| 449 |
| 449 |
| 450 |
| |

List of Selected Facts

The relationships among the various classes of acyclic sheaves are many and varied. Since they are also scattered throughout the text, we have appended this list of many of them for the convenience of the reader. The cross-references provide justifications for the statements. For the full statements, see these references. In statements involving the properties Φ -soft and Φ -fine, we tacitly assume that Φ is paracompactifying.

(a) We have the following implications:



II-5.3, II-9.6, II-9.16, II-Exercise 17, V-3.2.

- (b) \mathscr{I} injective $\Rightarrow f \mathscr{I}$ injective; II-3.1.
- (c) \mathscr{A} flabby $\Rightarrow f \mathscr{A}$ flabby; II-5.7.
- (d) \mathscr{A} flabby, \mathscr{M} locally constant with finitely generated stalks, $\mathscr{A} * \mathscr{M} = 0 \Rightarrow \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{M}$ flabby; II-5.13.
- (e) \mathscr{A} flabby $\Rightarrow f_{\Psi}\mathscr{A} \Phi$ -soft; IV-3.3.
- (f) \mathscr{A}_{λ} flabby $\Rightarrow \prod_{\lambda} \mathscr{A}_{\lambda}$ flabby; II-5.9.
- (g) $\mathscr{A}_{\lambda} \Phi$ -soft $\Rightarrow \prod_{\lambda} \mathscr{A}_{\lambda} \Phi$ -soft; II-Exercise 43.
- (h) $\mathscr{A} \Phi(\Psi)$ -soft $\Rightarrow f_{\Psi} \mathscr{A} \Phi$ -soft; IV-Exercise 1.
- (i) $\mathscr{A} \Phi$ -soft $\Rightarrow \mathscr{A}|A (\Phi|A)$ -soft; II-9.2.
- (j) $\mathscr{A} \Phi$ -soft $\Rightarrow \mathscr{A}_A \Phi$ -soft; II-9.13.
- (k) $\mathscr{B}(\Phi|A)$ -soft $\Rightarrow \mathscr{B}^X \Phi$ -soft; II-9.12.
- (l) $E(\Phi) \supset E(\Psi), \mathscr{A} \Phi$ -soft $\Rightarrow \mathscr{A} \Psi$ -soft; II-16.5.

- (m) \mathscr{R} a sheaf of rings with unit, \mathscr{A} an \mathscr{R} -module, \mathscr{R} Φ -fine $\Leftrightarrow \mathscr{R}$ Φ -soft $\Rightarrow \mathscr{A}$ Φ -fine; II-9.16.
- (n) $\mathscr{A} \cong \mathscr{C}^{0}(X; L)$ -module $\Rightarrow f_{\Psi} \mathscr{A} \cong \mathscr{C}^{0}(Y; L)$ -module; IV-3.4.
- (o) \mathscr{I} injective $\Rightarrow \mathscr{H}om(\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{I})$ flabby; II-Exercise 17.
- (p) $\mathscr{A} \Phi$ -fine $\Rightarrow \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B} \Phi$ -fine; II-9.18.
- (q) $\mathscr{A} \Phi$ -soft, torsion-free $\Rightarrow \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B} \Phi$ -soft; II-16.31.
- (r) $\mathscr{A}_{\lambda} \Phi$ -soft $\Rightarrow \lim_{\lambda \to \infty} \mathscr{A}_{\lambda} \Phi$ -soft; II-16.30.
- (s) \mathscr{A}, \mathscr{B} *c*-fine, X locally compact, Hausdorff $\Rightarrow \mathscr{A} \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{B}$ *c*-fine; II-Exercise 14.
- (t) $\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{B} c$ -soft, $\mathscr{A} \ast \mathscr{B} = 0, X$ locally compact, Hausdorff $\Rightarrow \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{B} c$ -soft; II-Exercise 14.
- (u) $\mathscr{A}_U \Phi$ -acyclic, all open $U \Leftrightarrow \mathscr{A} \Phi$ -soft $\Leftrightarrow \mathscr{A}|U(\Phi|U)$ -acyclic, all U; II-16.1.
- (v) \mathscr{A} Φ -acyclic, all $\Phi \Leftrightarrow \mathscr{A}$ flabby; II-Exercise 21.
- (w) \mathscr{A} flabby, $A \subset X$ Φ -taut $\Rightarrow \mathscr{A} | A \ (\Phi \cap A)$ -acyclic; II-10.5.
- (x) $f: X \to Y$ locally c-Vietoris, \mathscr{A} c-fine on $Y \Rightarrow f^* \mathscr{A}$ c-fine; IV-6.7.

A

acyclic sheaf see sheaf, acyclic adjoint functor see functor, adjoint Alexander horned sphere, 385, 388 Alexander-Spanier sheaf see sheaf, Alexander-Spanier Alexander-Whitney formula, 25 Alexandroff, P., 122, 379 augmentation, 34, 302 axioms Eilenberg-Steenrod, 83 for cohomology, 56 for cup product, 57

в

base point nondegenerate, 95 Betti number local, 379 Bing, R. H., 392 Bockstein, 158 Boltjanskiĭ, 471 Borel spectral sequence see spectral sequence, of Borel Borsuk, K., 392 bouquet, 130, 184, 277, 316 bundle fiber, 228 normal, 256 orientable, 236 sphere, 234, 236, 254 universal, 246 vector, 233, 254

\mathbf{C}

Cantor set, 184, 228 cap product see product, cap carrier paracompact, 438 Cartan formula, 162, 168 Cartan spectral sequence see spectral sequence, of Cartan

cfs (cohomology fiber space), 395-397, 401, 416 chain locally finite, 206, 292 relative, 305 singular, 2, 31 change of rings, 195, 298, 333, 369, 372, 443 Chern class, 254, 256 circle maps to, 96, 174 classifying space, 246 clc (cohomology locally connected), 126-127, 129, 131-133, 139, 147, 175, 195, 229, 231-232, 277, 316, 351-352, 355, 357-358, 361, 363-366, 369, 379, 395, 414, 442-443 cm (cohomology manifold), 375, 377, 383-384, 390, 392, 394, 399.414example of, 388 factorization of, 378 local orientability of, 375 properties of, 380 with boundary, 384-388 coboundary, 25-26 cochain Alexander-Spanier, 24 de Rham, 27 singular, 2, 26-27 coefficients bundle of, 26 local, 26, 30 twisted, 77 Cohen, H., 117, 123 cohomology Alexander-Spanier, 25, 29, 71, 185-186, 188, 206 at a point, 136 Čech, 27–29, 189–196 de Rham, 27, 71, 187, 194 finite generation of, 129 is not cohomology, 372 local, 136, 208-209

of collapse, 90 of euclidean space, 82, 110 of infinite product, 130 of intersection, 208 of manifolds, 119 of product of spheres, 83 of product with a sphere, 83 of sphere, 82, 110 of suspension, 95 of union, 123, 209 reduced, 126 relative, 83, 86, 92, 182, 186, 206 sheaf theoretic, 38 single space, 86, 94 singular, 2, 26, 35, 71, 75, 83, 116, 179, 183, 186, 188, 195, 206, 276, 333 torsion-free, 172 with supports, 38 cohomology ring, 59 cohomomorphism, 14, 61 factorization of, 14 surjective, 84 comb space, 334 compact basewise, 23, 220 fiberwise, 23, 220 compactification end point, 391 one point, 133, 170 Stone-Čech, 173 cone, 95 conjunctive presheaf see presheaf, conjunctive Conner conjecture, 270, 274 Conner, P., 257, 267, 274, 276 continuity, 102-103, 315, 412-413 weak, 74 coresolution, 432, 434, 437, 442, 445, 448 cosheaf, 281 constant, 281 differential, 289, 431, 436, 445

differential, dual of, 289 direct image of, 286, 446

f-homomorphism of, 287

flabby, 281, 283, 285–287 singular, 281, 355, 443

equivalent, 430

supports in, 285

torsion-free, 283, 285, 287 weakly torsion-free, 412 covering acyclic, 193, 196, 278, 446 covering space see map, covering cross product see product, cross cup product see also product, cup associativity of, 58 commutativity of, 58 computation of, 60 CW-complex, 35, 183

D

deck transformations, 251 Dedekind domain, 173 Deo, S., 171, 463 derivative exterior. 27 derived functor see functor, derived diagonal class, 347 diagram, 16, 20 homotopically commutative, 175 - 176differential, 25 total, 60 differential form see form, differential differential sheaf see sheaf, differential Dim, 171, 462-463 dimension, 110-113, 115, 117-118, 121, 125, 170-171, 177, 209, 238-241, 257, 275, 383, 395 covering, 29, 122 decomposition theorem for, 241 inductive, 122, 124, 239 monotonicity of, 112-113 of connected space, 116 of dense set, 240 of homology manifold, 331 of manifold, 118 of product, 117-118, 239 of square, 178 of totally disconnected space, 116 of union, 123, 125, 241

496

product theorem for, 117-118, 239 relative, 237, 240-241, 275, 415 separation theorem for, 383-385 sum theorem for, 123, 125, 178, 208weak inductive, 124 Zariski, 172 direct image see also image, direct derived functor of, 213 sections of, 31, 219 direct limit see limit, direct Dolbeault's theorem, 195 Dranishnikov, 122 duality Poincaré, 77, 207, 330, 332, 341-342, 354, 387 Whitney, 252 ductile map see map, ductile Dydak, J., 216, 242-243

\mathbf{E}

elementary sheaf see sheaf, elementary epiprecosheaf, 418 Euler characteristic, 143 Euler class, 236, 254, 276 exact locally, 420 exactness failure of, 10–11 excision, 83, 87, 89–90, 92, 307, 311–312 excisive see pair, excisive

F

family of supports, 21 dual of, 299, 413 extent of, 112 Fary spectral sequence *see* spectral sequence, of Fary Fary, I., 178 fiber restriction to, 214, 227 fiber bundle *see* bundle, fiber fibration spherical, 236, 254, 264-265, 275 figure eight, 326 fine see also sheaf, fine homotopically, 289 fixed point set, 143, 175, 257, 264, 276-277, 348, 407-411, 415 flabby see sheaf, flabby or cosheaf, flabby Floyd, E. E., 143, 147, 257 form differential, 2, 27, 36, 69, 187, 354 function analytic, 5, 32 differentiable, 32 integer valued, 32 functor adjoint, 15 derived, 12, 43, 49, 53, 85 Hom, 9, 21, 31-32 of presheaves, 17 of sheaves, 17 functors connected sequence of, 18

G

germ, 2, 32, 66, 69
see also sheaf, of germs
Godement, 12, 37, 39
group
Lie, 178, 246, 267
transformation, 76, 80, 137, 175, 178, 194, 216, 246, 256-257, 264, 267, 270, 277, 327, 394, 397, 399, 403, 407, 413, 415
Gysin sequence
see sequence, Gysin

H

Hilbert cube, 118, 238, 328, 485 Hilbert space, 125 HLC (singular homology locally connected), 35, 71, 130–131, 180, 183–184, 186–187, 195, 232, 355–356, 358–359, 363, 413, 441, 444 semi-, 444–445

498

hlc (homology locally connected), 350, 355, 439 semi-, 439-440, 448 hm (homology manifold), 329, 331, 342, 347, 373, 375, 380, 388-389, 392, 397, 409, 413, 415 - 416dimension of, 331 homeomorphism local, 320 relative, 87-88, 183 homology Alexander-Spanier, 35 alternative theories, 371-372 Borel-Moore, 292, 439-440, 443, 446 - 447Čech, 298, 315–316, 424–425, 435, 438de Rham, 36 in degree -1, 293, 313 in degree 0, 314, 414 modified Borel-Moore, 442 reduced, 302 relative, 359 sequence, 39 single space, 313 singular, 7, 30, 32, 206, 281, 287-289, 321, 326, 332, 356, 358-359, 363, 413, 443, 445, 448 homology class fundamental, 338 homology sheaf see sheaf, homology homomorphism edge, 199-200, 202, 205, 223, 275, 277-278, 452 f-, of cosheaves, 287 f-, of sheaves, 411 induced, 56, 62, 64 of presheaves, 8 of sheaves, 8 homotopy, 79-80, 319 Hu, S. T., 393

I

ideal boundary, 135, 137
image, 9
direct, 12, 49, 76, 170, 210, 276
inverse, 12

injective sheaf see sheaf, injective
intersection number, 345
intersection product see product, intersection
invariance of domain, 383
inverse image, 12
inverse limit see also limit, inverse derived functor of, 78, 208-209, 315-317
involution, 257, 276
isomorphism local, 13, 349, 421
isotropy subgroup, 247

J

Jones, L., 145 Jussila, O., 440

K

kernel, 9 Klein bottle, 327, 397 Knaster set, 117, 237, 240–241 Künneth theorem, 108, 109, 126, 175, 231, 227, 339, 364–367, 414 Kuz'minov, 119

\mathbf{L}

Lefschetz fixed point theorem, 348 lens space see space, lens Leray sheaf see sheaf, Leray Leray spectral sequence see spectral sequence, of Leray Lie group see group, Lie limit direct, 413, 20, 66-67, 102-103, 119, 169, 172, 174, 308-309, 412, 414 inverse, 100, 103, 171, 178, 225, 278, 298, 315-316, 427 Liseĭkin, 119 local homology group, 293 locally finite, 49 long line, 91, 122, 130, 169, 388, 460

M

Mac Lane, S., 52 manifold, 129, 133-134, 137, 171, 207, 331-332 manifold cohomology, see cm homology, see hm as identification space, 343 characterization of, 388 cohomology, 131 complex, 195 differentiable, 27, 36, 66, 69, 354 dimension of, 118 generalized, 373, 375, 377-378, 380, 383-384, 386-388, 392, 394non-Hausdorff, 5 singular homology, 332 map c-proper, 301-302 c-Vietoris, 225 covering, 76, 78, 143, 320, 333, 416 ductile, 195 equivariant, 178, 246, 248, 267 finite to one, 76, 225, 243-244 orbit, 264, 267, 327, 397-399, 403 Φ -closed, 74 proper, 80, 102 mapping cone, 157, 176 Mardešić, 438, 445 Mayer-Vietoris see sequence, Mayer-Vietoris minimality principle see principle, minimality Mittag-Leffler, 172, 209, 315, 464 monodromy, 229 monopresheaf, 6, 23, 31 monotone mapping, 389, 397 Montgomery, D., 393 multifunctor, 53

Ν

nerve, 29 Nöbeling, G., 173, 293, 314 Nunke, 373

0

Oliver, R., 145, 267, 277, 476 operation

cohomology, 148 orbit, 137, 178, 216, 247, 267 orientable, 329 locally, 372, 377 orientation, 236, 268 orientation sheaf *see* sheaf, orientation

Ρ

p-adic group, 394, 397, 399 classifying space of, 399 orbit space of, 398, 400 pair excisive, 96, 98-100, 170 pairing intersection, 345 Kronecker, 346 Poincaré, 341-342 paracompact hereditarily, 21, 66, 73, 112-113, 277locally, 112 paracompactification, 170 paracompactifying, 22 for a pair, 70, 73 Poincaré duality see duality, Poincaré Poincaré Lemma, 36 pointwise split, 18 Pol, E. and R., 123 Pontryagin, 118 Pontryagin class, 254 precosheaf, 281 constant, 281 equivalent, 374, 422 local isomorphism of, 349, 421 locally constant, 374 locally zero, 349, 421, 426 smooth, 422, 428, 430, 448 presheaf, 1 conjunctive, 6, 31 conjuntive, 22 constant, 2 differential, 34 f-cohomomorphism of, 14 graded, 34 locally finitely generated, 217 mono-, 6 principle minimality, 74, 169

500

product cap, 336, 340-341, 343, 412-413 cartesian, 19 commutative, 177 cross, 59, 81, 100, 107, 126, 346 cup, 25, 27, 57, 64, 71, 81, 86, 94, 100, 149, 171, 178, 180-181, 183, 185-186, 215, 225-226, 237 direct, 19 intersection, 344 tensor, 18, 70, 120 torsion, 18 total tensor, 19, 107, 110, 170, 175total torsion, 19 projective plane, 216, 223 projective sheaf see sheaf, projective projective space, 13, 77 proper map see map, proper

Q

R

Raymond, F., 134, 137, 382, 391 reduced cohomology see cohomology, reduced reduced homology see homology, reduced refinement, 28 reflector, 422, 428, 430 relative homeomorphism see homeomorphism, relative relatively Hausdorff, 66, 73 resolution, 34, 47, 51, 111, 175 canonical, 37, 39 canonical injective, 44 homotopically trivial, 37-38 injective, 42, 45 restriction, 73 Roy, P., 125 Rubin, L. R., 241

\mathbf{S}

S1, 6 S2, 6 section, 2, 4 discontinuous, 16, 36 locally trivial, 6 of homology sheaf, 326 presheaf of, 4 support of, 7 zero, 4 sections restriction of, 24 sequence admissible, 52 cohomology, 84, 170 connected, 18, 52, 56 exact, 9 fundamental, 53 Gysin, 236 homology, 292, 305, 307 left exact, 9, 22 locally exact, 411 Mayer-Vietoris, 94, 98, 100, 169, 412of a pair, 72 of order two, 34 of triple, 88 pointwise split, 18, 52 Smith, 142, 408 Smith-Gysin, 251, 264-265 Wang, 237 Künneth, see Künneth theorem, serration, 16, 36 sheaf, 3 acyclic, 46-47, 49, 65, 68, 110-111, 171, 175, 276 Alexander-Spanier, 201 concentrated on subspace, 106-107, 174, 212, 238 constant, 7, 31 constant, subsheaf of, 12, 32 derived, 34, 174 differential, 34, 198, 202 elementary, 295, 297, 305, 307-309, 311-313, 325 f-cohomomorphism of, 14 f-homomorphism of, 411 filtered differential, 257 fine, 69-70, 107, 169-170, 225, 276

flabby, 47, 49, 66, 70-71, 170-172, 175, 294, 296-298 fundamental theorem of, 202, 205generated, 3, 5, 8 graded, 34 Hom, 21 homology, 7, 34, 137, 322 homotopically fine, 172 injective, 41, 48, 170, 293 Leray, 213-216, 218, 222, 227-229, 231-233, 236, 252, 267, 277, 395 Leray, of bundle, 228 Leray, of projection, 227, 229 locally constant, 7, 31, 178 locally finitely generated, 217 of germs, 3, 10, 174, 195 of local homology groups, 293 of modules, 3 of rings, 3, 8, 38, 211 orientation, 7, 77, 207, 234, 329, 386.414orientation, of product, 378 projective, 30 quotient, 10, 16 replete, 293, 295, 297, 301, 308-309, 403 restriction of, 7, 66, 71 soft, 65-66, 68-70, 102, 110-111, 119-120, 170, 175, 210, 275, 282, 284, 286, 288, 299, 352, 403, 464 topology of, 2, 4-5 torsion-free, 38, 177, 286 twisted, 13 weakly torsion-free, 412 sine curve topologist's, 74, 184, 277 Skljarenko, E. G., 121, 232, 238, 245 - 246slice, 178 Smith sequence see sequence, Smith Smith theorem, 143, 409 Smith, P. A., 143 Smith-Gysin sequence see sequence, Smith-Gysin soft see sheaf, soft

solenoid, 80, 103, 228, 315, 332-333, 367, 372-373, 397 embedding of, 333 space acyclic, 79-80, 144, 147, 169, 271-274, 319 countable connected, 125 lens, 145, 472 locally connected, 126, 133-134 locally contractible, 35, 131 locally homogeneous, 392 locally isotopic, 393 orbit, 137, 144, 146-147, 216, 271, 398, 400, 409 paracompact, 21 rudimentary, 78, 178, 317 simply ordered, 169 well pointed, 95 zero dimensional, 122 Spanier, E. H., 35, 73 Specker, E., 173 spectral sequence for inverse system, 207 for relative cohomology, 206 for singular cohomology, 276 for singular homology, 206 of a cfs, 396, 484 of a covering, 278, 431-432, 436 of Borel, 248, 275 of Cartan, 251 of Fary, 263-265 of filtered differential sheaf, 258, 262of filtered space. 263 of inclusion, 240 of Leray, 222, 225, 229-230, 233, 236-237, 263, 268, 270, 275 of map for homology, 324 sphere separation of, 275 sphere bundle see bundle, sphere stalk, 3, 5 Steenrod, 30, 148, 162 Steenrod power, 168 Steenrod square, 168 Stiefel-Whitney class, 254, 276 Stokes' theorem, 188 structure group, 228 subdivision, 26

502

subsheaf, 9 subspace locally closed, 11 neighborhoods of, 73 taut, see taut sum direct, 19 support, 7, 281 supports closed, 22 compact, 22, 74 empty, 22 extension of, 219 extent of, 22 family of, 21, 23, 219 suspension, 95 system direct, 20, 30 inverse, 100

Т

taut, 35, 73, 85, 90-91, 99, 169-170 hereditarily, 169 tensor product universal property of, 31 theory cohomology, 56 Thom class, 235, 252, 276 Thom isomorphism, 235, 276 Torhorst, 134 torsion, 172-173 transfer, 77, 139, 321, 405 of Oliver, 268-270 transformation group see group, transformation tube, 178, 267 Tychonoff plank, 467

U

Ungar, G. S., 393 unity partition of, 170 universal coefficient theorem, 109, 275, 298, 352, 363, 365, 414

V

vector bundle see bundle, vector Vietoris, 76, 78, 222, 245–246, 317 Vietoris map, 323, 389–390, 398 c-, 225

W

Walsh, J., 216, 242-243
Wang sequence see sequence, Wang
Whitehead, J. H. C., 379
Whitney duality see duality, Whitney
whm (weak homology manifold), 329-330, 333, 342, 384, 413, 416
wild arc, 390
Wilder's necklace, 131-132, 278
Wilder, R. L., 127, 131, 133-134, 379, 389

Y

Young, G. S., 388

\mathbf{Z}

Zariski space, 172 zero extension by, 11, 49, 71, 212, 286 locally, 9, 349 semilocally, 420

Graduate Texts in Mathematics

continued from page ii

- 61 WHITEHEAD. Elements of Homotopy Theory.
- 62 KARGAPOLOV/MERLZJAKOV. Fundamentals of the Theory of Groups.
- 63 BOLLOBAS. Graph Theory.
- 64 EDWARDS. Fourier Series. Vol. I 2nd ed.
- 65 WELLS. Differential Analysis on Complex Manifolds. 2nd ed.
- 66 WATERHOUSE. Introduction to Affine Group Schemes.
- 67 SERRE. Local Fields.
- 68 WEIDMANN. Linear Operators in Hilbert Spaces.
- 69 LANG. Cyclotomic Fields II.
- 70 MASSEY. Singular Homology Theory.
- 71 FARKAS/KRA. Riemann Surfaces. 2nd ed.
- 72 STILLWELL. Classical Topology and Combinatorial Group Theory. 2nd ed.
- 73 HUNGERFORD. Algebra.
- 74 DAVENPORT. Multiplicative Number Theory. 2nd ed.
- 75 HOCHSCHILD. Basic Theory of Algebraic Groups and Lie Algebras.
- 76 **ΙΙΤΑΚΑ.** Algebraic Geometry.
- 77 HECKE. Lectures on the Theory of Algebraic Numbers.
- 78 BURRIS/SANKAPPANAVAR. A Course in Universal Algebra.
- 79 WALTERS. An Introduction to Ergodic Theory.
- 80 ROBINSON. A Course in the Theory of Groups. 2nd ed.
- 81 FORSTER. Lectures on Riemann Surfaces.
- 82 BOTT/TU. Differential Forms in Algebraic Topology.
- 83 WASHINGTON. Introduction to Cyclotomic Fields. 2nd ed.
- 84 IRELAND/ROSEN. A Classical Introduction to Modern Number Theory. 2nd ed.
- 85 EDWARDS. Fourier Series. Vol. II. 2nd ed.
- 86 VAN LINT. Introduction to Coding Theory. 2nd ed.
- 87 BROWN. Cohomology of Groups.
- 88 PIERCE. Associative Algebras.
- 89 LANG. Introduction to Algebraic and Abelian Functions. 2nd ed
- 90 BRØNDSTED. An Introduction to Convex Polytopes.
- 91 BEARDON. On the Geometry of Discrete Groups.

- 92 DIESTEL. Sequences and Series in Banach Spaces.
- 93 DUBROVIN/FOMENKO/NOVIKOV. Modern Geometry—Methods and Applications. Part I. 2nd ed.
- 94 WARNER. Foundations of Differentiable Manifolds and Lie Groups.
- 95 SHIRYAEV. Probability. 2nd ed.
- 96 CONWAY. A Course in Functional Analysis. 2nd ed.
- 97 KOBLITZ. Introduction to Elliptic Curves and Modular Forms. 2nd ed.
- 98 BRÖCKER/TOM DIECK. Representations of Compact Lie Groups.
- 99 GROVE/BENSON. Finite Reflection Groups. 2nd ed.
- 100 BERG/CHRISTENSEN/RESSEL. Harmonic Analysis on Semigroups: Theory of Positive Definite and Related Functions.
- 101 EDWARDS. Galois Theory.
- 102 VARADARAJAN. Lie Groups, Lie Algebras and Their Representations.
- 103 LANG. Complex Analysis. 3rd ed.
- 104 DUBROVIN/FOMENKO/NOVIKOV. Modern Geometry—Methods and Applications. Part II.
- 105 LANG. SL₂(**R**).
- 106 SILVERMAN. The Arithmetic of Elliptic Curves.
- 107 OLVER. Applications of Lie Groups to Differential Equations. 2nd ed.
- 108 RANGE. Holomorphic Functions and Integral Representations in Several Complex Variables.
- 109 LEHTO. Univalent Functions and Teichmüller Spaces.
- 110 LANG. Algebraic Number Theory.
- 111 HUSEMÖLLER. Elliptic Curves.
- 112 LANG. Elliptic Functions.
- 113 KARATZAS/SHREVE. Brownian Motion and Stochastic Calculus. 2nd ed.
- 114 KOBLITZ. A Course in Number Theory and Cryptography. 2nd ed.
- 115 BERGER/GOSTIAUX. Differential Geometry: Manifolds, Curves, and Surfaces.
- 116 KELLEY/SRINIVASAN. Measure and Integral. Vol. I.
- 117 SERRE. Algebraic Groups and Class Fields.
- 118 PEDERSEN. Analysis Now.

- 119 ROTMAN. An Introduction to Algebraic Topology.
- 120 ZIEMER. Weakly Differentiable Functions: Sobolev Spaces and Functions of Bounded Variation.
- 121 LANG. Cyclotomic Fields I and II. Combined 2nd ed.
- 122 REMMERT. Theory of Complex Functions. Readings in Mathematics
- 123 EBBINGHAUS/HERMES et al. Numbers. Readings in Mathematics
- 124 DUBROVIN/FOMENKO/NOVIKOV. Modern Geometry—Methods and Applications. Part III.
- 125 BERENSTEIN/GAY. Complex Variables: An Introduction.
- 126 BOREL. Linear Algebraic Groups.
- 127 MASSEY. A Basic Course in Algebraic Topology.
- 128 RAUCH. Partial Differential Equations.
- 129 FULTON/HARRIS. Representation Theory: A First Course. Readings in Mathematics
- 130 DODSON/POSTON. Tensor Geometry.
- 131 LAM. A First Course in Noncommutative Rings.
- 132 BEARDON. Iteration of Rational Functions.
- 133 HARRIS. Algebraic Geometry: A First Course.
- 134 ROMAN. Coding and Information Theory.
- 135 ROMAN. Advanced Linear Algebra.
- 136 ADKINS/WEINTRAUB. Algebra: An Approach via Module Theory.
- 137 AXLER/BOURDON/RAMEY. Harmonic Function Theory.
- 138 COHEN. A Course in Computational Algebraic Number Theory.
- 139 BREDON. Topology and Geometry.
- 140 AUBIN. Optima and Equilibria. An Introduction to Nonlinear Analysis.
- 141 BECKER/WEISPFENNING/KREDEL. Gröbner Bases. A Computational Approach to Commutative Algebra.
- 142 LANG. Real and Functional Analysis. 3rd ed.
- 143 DOOB. Measure Theory.
- 144 DENNIS/FARB. Noncommutative Algebra.
- 145 VICK. Homology Theory. An Introduction to Algebraic Topology. 2nd ed.

- 146 BRIDGES. Computability: A Mathematical Sketchbook.
- 147 ROSENBERG. Algebraic K-Theory and Its Applications.
- 148 ROTMAN. An Introduction to the Theory of Groups. 4th ed.
- 149 RATCLIFFE. Foundations of Hyperbolic Manifolds.
- 150 EISENBUD. Commutative Algebra with a View Toward Algebraic Geometry.
- 151 SILVERMAN. Advanced Topics in the Arithmetic of Elliptic Curves.
- 152 ZIEGLER. Lectures on Polytopes.
- 153 FULTON. Algebraic Topology: A First Course.
- 154 BROWN/PEARCY. An Introduction to Analysis.
- 155 KASSEL. Quantum Groups.
- 156 KECHRIS. Classical Descriptive Set Theory.
- 157 MALLIAVIN. Integration and Probability.
- 158 ROMAN. Field Theory.
- 159 CONWAY. Functions of One Complex Variable II.
- 160 LANG. Differential and Riemannian Manifolds.
- 161 BORWEIN/ERDÉLYI. Polynomials and Polynomial Inequalities.
- 162 ALPERIN/BELL. Groups and Representations.
- 163 DIXON/MORTIMER. Permutation Groups.
- 164 NATHANSON. Additive Number Theory: The Classical Bases.
- 165 NATHANSON. Additive Number Theory: Inverse Problems and the Geometry of Sumsets.
- 166 SHARPE. Differential Geometry: Cartan's Generalization of Klein's Erlangen Program.
- 167 MORANDI. Field and Galois Theory.
- 168 EWALD. Combinatorial Convexity and Algebraic Geometry.
- 169 BHATIA. Matrix Analysis.
- 170 BREDON. Sheaf Theory. 2nd ed.